Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange") take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

This announcement is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for securities. This announcement does not constitute or form a part of any offer of securities for sale in the United States. The securities referred to herein have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction and may not be offered, sold or delivered in the United States (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. No public offering of the securities will be made in the United States.

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein have been published for information purposes only as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules") and do not constitute an offer to sell nor a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. Neither this announcement nor anything referred to herein (including the listing document) forms the basis for any contract or commitment whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, the publication of this announcement and the listing document referred to herein shall not be deemed to be an offer of securities made pursuant to a prospectus issued by or on behalf of the Issuer (as defined below) for the purposes of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong nor shall it constitute an advertisement, invitation or document containing an invitation to the public to enter into or offer to enter into an agreement to acquire, dispose of, subscribe for or underwrite securities for the purposes of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer (as defined below) confirms that the Notes (as defined below) are intended for purchase by Professional Investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) only and have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

PUBLICATION OF OFFERING CIRCULAR, SUPPLEMENTAL OFFERING CIRCULAR AND PRICING SUPPLEMENTS ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED



交通銀行股份有限公司

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(the "Bank") (Stock Code: 03328)

交通銀行股份有限公司香港分行 Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Issuer")

Issue of U.S.\$300,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027 (the "USD Notes") and issue of CNY3,600,000,000 2.38 per cent. Notes due 2026 (the "CNY Notes", together with the USD Notes, the "Notes")

(Stock Code: 5342 for the USD Notes and 84597 for the CNY Notes)

under its

U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This announcement is issued pursuant to Rule 37.39A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the notices of listing of the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange each dated 11 December 2024 published by the Issuer.

The offering circular dated 22 July 2024 in relation to the Programme, the supplemental offering circular dated 4 December 2024 and the pricing supplements each dated 4 December 2024 in relation to the Notes are appended to this announcement.

Hong Kong, 12 December 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Bank are Mr. Ren Deqi, Mr. Zhang Baojiang, Mr. Yin Jiuyong, Mr. Zhou Wanfu, Mr. Li Longcheng*, Mr. Wang Linping*, Mr. Chang Baosheng*, Mr. Liao, Yi Chien David*, Mr. Chan Siu Chung*, Mr. Mu Guoxin*, Mr. Chen Junkui*, Mr. Luo Xiaopeng*, Mr. Shi Lei#, Mr. Zhang Xiangdong#, Ms. Li Xiaohui#, Mr. Ma Jun#, Mr. Wong Tin Chak#, and Mr. Xiao Wei#.

- * Non-executive directors
- # Independent non-executive directors

Appendix 1 Offering Circular dated 22 July 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES OR IN CONTRAVENTION OF SUCH OTHER RESTRICTIONS AS MAY BE SPECIFIED IN THE APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT.

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the offering circular following this page (the "Offering Circular"), and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Circular. In accessing the Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive any information from us as a result of such access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

THE OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE DOWNLOADED, FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY US ADDRESS. ANY DOWNLOADING, FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED THEREIN.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view the Offering Circular or make an investment decision with respect to the securities, investors must be purchasing the securities outside the United States in an offshore transaction in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. By accepting the e-mail and accessing the Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Arranger" and a "Dealer") and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time by an Issuer (together with the Arranger, the "Dealers") and Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch or any other branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. located outside the PRC that (i) accedes to the Programme (as defined in the Offering Circular) in accordance with the relevant terms of the Dealer Agreement (as defined in the Offering Circular) and (ii) is specified as an issuer in the applicable Pricing Supplement (each an "Issuer") (1) that you and any customers you represent are and that the electronic mail address that you gave the relevant Issuer and to which this e-mail has been delivered is not located in the United States and (2) that you consent to delivery of the Offering Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

Notice to capital market intermediaries and prospective investors pursuant to paragraph 21 of the Hong Kong SFC Code of Conduct – Important Notice to Prospective Investors: Prospective investors should be aware that certain intermediaries in the context of certain offerings of Notes (as defined in the Offering Circular) pursuant to this Programme, each such offering, a "CMI Offering", including certain Dealers, may be "capital

market intermediaries" ("CMIs") subject to Paragraph 21 of the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the Securities and Futures Commission (the "SFC Code"). This notice to prospective investors is a summary of certain obligations the SFC Code imposes on such CMIs, which require the attention and cooperation of prospective investors. Certain CMIs may also be acting as "overall coordinators" ("OCs") for a CMI Offering and are subject to additional requirements under the SFC Code. The application of these obligations will depend on the role(s) undertaken by the relevant Dealer(s) in respect of each CMI Offering.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the relevant Issuer, a CMI or its group companies would be considered under the SFC Code as having an association ("Association") with such Issuer, the CMI or the relevant group company. Prospective investors associated with the relevant Issuer or any CMI (including its group companies) should specifically disclose this when placing an order for the relevant Notes and should disclose, at the same time, if such orders may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering. Prospective investors who do not disclose their Associations are hereby deemed not to be so associated. Where prospective investors disclose their Associations but do not disclose that such order may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering, such order is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering.

Prospective investors should ensure, and by placing an order prospective investors are deemed to confirm, that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute duplicated orders (i.e. two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more CMIs). A rebate may be offered by the relevant Issuer to all private banks for orders they place (other than in relation to Notes subscribed by such private banks as principal whereby it is deploying its own balance sheet for onward selling to investors), payable upon closing of the relevant CMI Offering based on the principal amount of the Notes distributed by such private banks to investors. Private banks are deemed to be placing an order on a principal basis unless they inform the CMIs otherwise. As a result, private banks placing an order on a principal basis (including those deemed as placing an order as principal) will not be entitled to, and will not be paid, the rebate. Details of any such rebate will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement or otherwise notified to prospective investors. If a prospective investor is an asset management arm affiliated with any relevant Dealer, such prospective investor should indicate when placing an order if it is for a fund or portfolio where the relevant Dealer or its group company has more than 50 per cent. interest, in which case it will be classified as a "proprietary order" and subject to appropriate handling by CMIs in accordance with the SFC Code and should disclose, at the same time, if such "proprietary order" may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not a "proprietary order". If a prospective investor is otherwise affiliated with any relevant Dealer, such that its order may be considered to be a "proprietary order" (pursuant to the SFC Code), such prospective investor should indicate to the relevant Dealer when placing such order. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not a "proprietary order". Where prospective investors disclose such information but do not disclose that such "proprietary order" may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering, such "proprietary order" is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant CMI Offering.

Prospective investors should be aware that certain information may be disclosed by CMIs (including private banks) which is personal and/or confidential in nature to the prospective investor. By placing an order, prospective investors are deemed to have understood and consented to the collection, disclosure, use and transfer of such information by the relevant Dealers and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, including to the relevant Issuer, any OCs, relevant regulators and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, it being understood and agreed that such information shall only be used for the

purpose of complying with the SFC Code, during the bookbuilding process for the relevant CMI Offering. Failure to provide such information may result in that order being rejected.

You are reminded that this Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession this Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver or disclose the contents of this Offering Circular to any other person. You should not reply by e-mail to this notice, and you may not purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the "Reply" function on your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.

This Offering Circular does not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the Dealers or any affiliate of the Dealers is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the Dealers or such affiliate on behalf of the relevant Issuer in such jurisdiction.

This Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents (as defined in the Offering Circular), nor any person who controls any of them, nor any director, officer, employee, nor agent of any of them, or affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request from the Dealers.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(a joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

U.S.\$12,000,000,000

Medium Term Note Programme

Under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme described in this Offering Circular (the "**Programme**"), Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch or any other branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "**Bank**") located outside the PRC that (i) accedes to the Programme in accordance with the relevant terms of the Dealer Agreement (as defined below) and (ii) is specified as an issuer in the applicable Pricing Supplement (each an "**Issuer**"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Notes (the "**Notes**"). The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed U.S.\$12,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies), subject to increases of the programme size made in accordance with the terms of amended and restated dealer agreement dated 7 June 2023 (the "**Dealer Agreement**").

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers appointed under the Programme from time to time by the relevant Issuer (each a "Dealer" and together, the "Dealers"), which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Offering Circular to the "relevant Dealer" shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed for by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to subscribe for such Notes.

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 19.

Application has been made to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("HKSE") for the listing of the Programme under which Notes may be issued by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) ("Professional Investors") only on the HKSE during the 12-month period after the date of this Offering Circular. This document is for distribution to Professional Investors only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuers and the Bank confirm that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and the Programme and the Notes, to the extent such Notes are to be listed on HKSE, will be listed on HKSE on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuers and the Bank confirm that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

HKSE has not reviewed the contents of this document, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this document to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this document. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on HKSE is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Bank, the Group or any Issuer or quality of disclosure in this document. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and HKSE take no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.

Each Series (as defined in "Summary of the Programme") of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a "temporary Global Note") or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a "permanent Global Note" together with the temporary Global Note, (the "Global Notes")). Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a "Certificate"), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series or in dematerialised form where no Certificates will be issued but a deed poll will be executed in respect of the relevant Series. The Notes of each Series in certificated registered form will initially be represented by a permanent global certificate (each a "Global Certificate") without interest coupons. The Global Notes and the Global Certificates may be deposited on the relevant issue date (a) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream") or with a sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service, operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "CMU") and (b) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and/or Clearstream or the CMU, or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

This Offering Circular is for distribution to Professional Investors only. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and the Notes may include Bearer Notes that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold, or, in the case of Bearer Notes, delivered within the United States or, in the case of Notes being offered or sold in reliance on Category 2 of Regulation S of the Securities Act, to, or for the account or the benefit of U.S. persons unless an exemption from the registration requirement of the Securities Act is available and in accordance with all applicable securities laws of any state of the United States and any other jurisdiction. Registered Notes are subject to certain restrictions on transfer, see "Subscription and Sale".

Any Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes herein (the "Conditions"), in which event a supplemental Offering Circular, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

The Programme is rated "A2" by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") and "A" by Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch"). These ratings are only correct as at the date of this Offering Circular. Tranches of Notes (as defined in "Summary of the Programme") to be issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction, revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Arranger and Dealer for the Programme

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Offering Circular dated 22 July 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – If the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

IMPORTANT – UK RETAIL INVESTORS – If the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (as amended, the "UK **Prospectus Regulation**"). Consequently no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MiFID II product governance/target market — The applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MIFIR product governance / target market – The applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MIFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person

subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the relevant Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and 'Excluded Investment Products' (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

This Offering Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules") for the purposes of giving information with regard to the Issuers, the Bank and the Group. The Issuers and the Bank accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading. This Offering Circular is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"). This Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated and form part of this Offering Circular.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Offering Circular in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the relevant Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers (as defined in "Summary of the Programme") or the Agents (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"). Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should be considered as a recommendation by the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. This Offering Circular does not take into account the objectives, financial situation or needs of any potential investor. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer. Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the relevant Issuer or the Bank and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the relevant Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection

with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the Issuers, the Arranger and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes and distribution of this Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale".

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAS ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UP ON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR THE ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. None of the Issuers, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents makes any representation to any investor in the Notes regarding the legality of its investment under any applicable law. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions.

None of the Issuers, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents represents that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Pricing Supplement, no action has been taken by the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the EEA, the UK, Hong Kong, Singapore, the PRC, Taiwan and Japan. See "Subscription and Sale".

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents accept any responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by an Arranger or a Dealer or any Agent or on its behalf in connection with the relevant Issuer, the Bank, the Group or the issue and offering of the Notes. Each Arranger, each Dealer and each Agent accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Circular or any such statement. Neither this Offering Circular nor any financial statements of the relevant Issuer or the Group are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any financial statements of the relevant Issuer or the Group should purchase the Notes. Each potential investor of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Arranger or the Dealers or the Agents undertakes to review the

financial condition or affairs of any of the Issuers or the Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Arranger, the Dealers or the Agents.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of business, certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have provided advisory and investment banking services, and entered into other commercial transactions with the Issuers, the Group and their respective affiliates, including commercial banking services, for which customary compensation has been received. It is expected that the Dealers and their affiliates will continue to provide such services to, and enter into such transactions, with the Issuers, the Group and their respective affiliates in the future.

The Dealers or certain of their respective affiliates may purchase the Notes and be allocated Notes for asset management and/or proprietary purposes and not with a view to distribution.

In making an investment decision, each potential investor must rely on its own examination of the relevant Issuer and the terms of the Notes being offered, including the merits and risks involved. The relevant Issuer does not and the Arranger, the Dealers and the Agents do not make any representation regarding the legality of investment under any applicable laws.

Potential investors should be able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Notes for an indefinite period of time.

In connection with any Tranche of Notes, one or more of the Dealers (or persons acting on their behalf) may act as the stabilisation manager(s) (the "Stabilisation Manager(s)"). The identity of the Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any) will be disclosed in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more of the Dealers named as Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager) in the applicable Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

In the Offering Circular, unless otherwise specified, references to "Hong Kong" are to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, all references to the "PRC" or "China" are to the People's Republic of China, excluding Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau, references to "U.S.\$", "USD" or "U.S. dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America, references to "Renminbi", "RMB" or "CNY" are to the lawful currency of the PRC, and references to "Hong Kong dollar", "HKD" or "HK\$" are to the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

In this Offering Circular, unless otherwise specified, references to:

- the "Bank" and the "Group" refer to Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. and, in the case of the "Bank" except as the context otherwise requires, the subsidiaries of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.;
- the "branch outlets" include the head office, branches and outlets and other establishments of the Bank;

• a "business day" is a day that is not Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday in Hong Kong; and the terms "associate", "subsidiary" and "substantial shareholder" shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires.

For ease of reference, in this Offering Circular, unless otherwise indicated, the terms "loans and advances to customers", "loans" and "loans to customers" are used synonymously.

In this Offering Circular, unless otherwise indicated, the discussions on loans are based on the Bank's gross loans and advances to customers, before taking into account the related allowance for impairment losses, rather than its net loans to customers. The Bank's loans and advances to customers are reported net of the allowance for impairment losses on its consolidated balance sheet.

The growth rates with respect to the business and financial data of the Bank presented in this Offering Circular are calculated based on amounts in millions of Renminbi.

Presentation of financial information

Certain financial information in this Offering Circular has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "2021 Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 21 April 2022, on the website of the HKSE, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the "2022 Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 25 April 2023, on the website of the HKSE and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the "2023 Historical Financial Statements" together with the 2021 Historical Financial Statements and the 2022 Historical Financial Statements, the "Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 22 April 2024, on the website of the HKSE. The Historical Financial Statements were prepared and presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRS") and have been audited by PwC and KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISA").

Certain financial information in this Offering Circular has been derived from the unaudited condensed consolidated first quarter financial statements of the Group as at and for the three months ended 31 March 2024 (the "2024 First Quarter Financial Information"), which were published on 26 April 2024, on the website of the HKSE.

The 2024 First Quarter Financial Information have not been audited or reviewed by PwC or KPMG. Consequently, the 2024 First Quarter Financial Information should not be relied upon by the investor to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit, as appropriate. Investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Group's financial condition and results of operations. The 2024 First Quarter Financial Information should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition and results of operations of the Group as at and for the full financial year ending 31 December 2024.

The Group implemented the *International Financial Reporting Standard 17—Insurance Contracts* and its amendments ("**IFRS 17**") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board from 1 January 2023 ("**new insurance contracts standard**"). The main amendments of the IFRS 17 include adjusting the recognition principles for insurance revenue and revising the measurement of insurance contract liabilities. Changes in the accounting policies have not had any material impact on the Group's financial position and operating results. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to and re-presented the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports.

Unless otherwise stated, all financial data contained herein which is stated as relating to the Bank are referring to the consolidated data of the Group.

In this Offering Circular, because certain amounts have been rounded, totals of columns or rows of numbers in tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items, and actual numbers may differ from those contained herein due to rounding.

Solely for the sake of convenience, this Offering Circular contains translations of certain Renminbi amounts into US dollar amounts. Unless indicated otherwise, the translation of Renminbi amounts into US dollar amounts has been made at the rate of RMB7.0999 to U.S.\$1.00, the noon buying rate as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on 29 December 2023. These translations should not be construed as representations that the Renminbi amounts could actually be converted into any US dollar amounts at the rates indicated or at all.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

The relevant Issuer hereby incorporates by reference (i) each Pricing Supplement, (ii) the most recently published audited consolidated annual financial statements and the most recently published unaudited but reviewed interim consolidated financial statements of the Bank published from time to time after the date of this Offering Circular in each case together with any audit or review reports prepared in connection therewith, (iii) the most recently published unaudited consolidated quarterly interim reports, published subsequent to the most recently published consolidated financial statements of the Bank, and (iv) all amendments and supplements from time to time to this Offering Circular, each of which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular and which shall be deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any such document is inconsistent with the contents of this Offering Circular.

The Bank publishes its consolidated quarterly interim reports in respect of the three months ended 31 March and the nine months ended 30 September of each financial year. A copy of the quarterly interim reports can be found on the website of the HKSE. The quarterly interim reports have not been and will not be audited by the Bank's auditors and were and will be prepared under International Accounting Standards 34 "Interim Financial Reporting". The quarterly interim reports should not be relied upon by investors to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit. Potential investors should exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Bank's financial condition and results of operation. The quarterly interim reports should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition or results of operations of the Bank for the relevant full financial year.

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular shall not form part of this Offering Circular.

Copies of all such documents which are so deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular will be available free of charge during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) from the specified offices of the relevant Issuer and of the Fiscal Agent (as defined below).

Supplemental Offering Circular

The relevant Issuer has given or will give an undertaking to the Arranger and Dealer that if it has notified the Arranger and Dealer in writing that it intends to issue Notes under the Programme for the time being, and if a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy arises or is noted relating to the information included in the Offering Circular which is capable of affecting an assessment by investors of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses, and prospects of the relevant Issuer, the Group and/or of the rights attaching to the Notes, it shall (i) prepare and publish an amendment or supplement to the Offering Circular, (ii) advise the Arranger and Dealer promptly of any proposal to amend or replace the Offering Circular, (iii)

advise the Arranger and Dealer promptly of any proposal to supplement the Offering Circular and (iv) provide the Arranger and Dealer with a copy of any such proposed amendment, supplement or replacement immediately prior to its publication.

Forward-looking statements

Certain statements under "Risk Factors", "Business" and elsewhere in this Offering Circular constitute "forward-looking statements". The words including "believe", "expect", "plan", "anticipate", "schedule", "estimate", "may", "will", "would", "could", "aim", "intend", "project", "potential", "future", "seek", "should" and similar words or the negative thereof, or expressions identify forward-looking statements. In addition, all statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Offering Circular, including, but without limitation, those regarding the financial position, business strategy, prospects, capital expenditure and investment plans of the Group and the plans and objectives of the Group's management for its future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to the Group's operations), are forward-looking statements.

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results or performance of the Group to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group's present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. The relevant Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the relevant Issuer's or the Group's expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances, on which any such statements were based. This Offering Circular discloses, under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere, important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the relevant Issuer's expectations. All subsequent written and forward-looking statements attributable to the Issuer or persons acting on behalf of the Issuer are expressly qualified in their entirety by such cautionary statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DEFINITIONS AND CONVENTIONS	1
SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME	4
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION	10
RISK FACTORS	19
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	52
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE REPRESENTED BY NOTES OR THE GLOBAL CERTIFICATE	
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	82
CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS	95
USE OF PROCEEDS	96
DESCRIPTION OF THE HONG KONG BRANCH	97
DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK	99
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL	122
DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	128
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS	136
MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK	137
BANKING REGULATION AND SUPERVISION IN THE PRC	150
TAXATION	157
PRC CURRENCY CONTROLS	161
CLEARANCE AND SETTLEMENT	166
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	168
GENERAL INFORMATION	178
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	1

DEFINITIONS AND CONVENTIONS

In this Offering Circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

Accountholder each person who is for the time being shown in the records of

the CMU operator as the holder of a particular principal amount

of the Notes.

Additional Tier 1 Capital has the meaning given to Additional Tier 1 Capital (其他一級

資本) (or any equivalent or successor term) in the Capital

Management Rules.

AUM assets under management.

Bank and the Group Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong)

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited.

Basel Committee the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Basel II the revised Basel Capital Framework promulgated in June

2004.

Basel III the newest Basel Capital Accord promulgated in December

2010 and 13 January 2011.

Board the board of directors.

BOCOM Financial Asset InvestmentBOCOM Financial Asset Investment Co., Ltd.

BoCom Insurance China BOCOM Insurance Co., Ltd.

BoCom International Holdings

BoCom International Trust

BoCom Leasing

BoCommLife BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited

BoCom Schroder Fund Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co.,

Ltd.

BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.

Capital Adequacy Measures the Administrative Measures on the Capital Adequacy Ratio of

Commercial Banks (商業銀行資本充足率管理辦法), which was promulgated by the CBRC on 23 February 2004, became effective on 1 March 2004 and was repealed on 1 January 2013.

Capital Management Rules the Measures on Capital Management of Commercial Banks (

商業銀行資本管理辦法) issued by the NAFR on 16 October 2023, which became effective on 1 January 2024 (as amended

from time to time).

CBIRC The former China Banking and Insurance Regulatory

Commission. (原中國銀行保險監督管理委員會), now the

NAFR.

CBRC The former China Banking Regulatory Commission (原中國

銀行業監督管理委員會).

China or PRC the People's Republic of China, but for the purpose of this

Offering Circular only and except where the context requires, references in this Offering Circular to "China" and the "PRC"

do not include Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

Clearstream Banking S.A.

CMU Central Moneymarkets Unit Service.

CNH HIBOR Offshore Renminbi Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, a daily

reference rate published by the Hong Kong Association of

Banks.

Common Equity Tier-1 Capital has the meaning given to Common Equity Tier-1 Capital (核心

一級資本) (or any equivalent or successor term) in the Capital

Management Rules.

CIRC The former China Insurance Regulatory Commission (原中國

保險監督管理委員會).

CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission (中國證券監督管理

委員會).

EURIBOR Euro Interbank Offered Rate, a daily reference rate published

by Thomson Reuters.

Euroclear Bank SA/NV.

FDI Foreign Direct Investment.

Fitch Ratings Ltd.

FSMA the Financial Services and Market Act 2000 of the United

Kingdom.

GDP gross domestic product.

HIBOR Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, a daily reference rate

published by the Hong Kong Association of Banks.

Hong Kong or **HK** the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's

Republic of China.

HKMA Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

HKSE The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

HSBC The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited.

KPMG KPMG (Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor).

Listing Rules the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to

time).

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC.

MOF Ministry of Finance of the PRC (中華人民共和國財政部).

MOFCOM Ministry of Commerce of the PRC (中華人民共和國商務部).

Moody's Investors Service Limited.

NAFR National Administration of Financial Regulation (國家金融監

督管理總局).

NDRC National Development and Reform Commission (中華人民共

和國國家發展和改革委員會).

Notes issued under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Note

Programme.

Offering Circular this offering circular.

PBOC People's Bank of China (中國人民銀行).

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certificated Public Accountant,

Hong Kong.

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act.

S&P S&P Global Ratings.

SAFE State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC (中華人

民共和國國家外匯管理局).

SFO the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws

of Hong Kong) (as amended from time to time).

State Council (中華人民共和國國務院).

United States or U.S. the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and

all areas subject to its jurisdiction.

U.S. Securities Act or Securities Act the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and

regulations promulgated thereunder.

WTO World Trade Organisation.

SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular. Words and expressions defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meaning in this summary.

The Issuer

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch and, in relation to any issue of Notes under the Programme, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch or any other branch of the Bank located outside the PRC that (i) accedes to the Programme in accordance with the relevant terms of the Dealer Agreement and (ii) is specified as an issuer in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme. **Description**

Up to U.S.\$12,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other Size

currencies at the date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch may increase the amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the Dealer Agreement. The Dealer Agreement provides for the U.S.\$ equivalent of any Note denominated in another currency to be determined on or around the date agreement is reached to issue those Notes or, if the agreement date is not a date that commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London, on the preceding day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for

general business in London.

There are certain factors that may affect the relevant Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. These are set out under "Risk Factors" below. In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme. These are set out under "Risk Factors" and include the fact that the Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors, certain risks relating to the structure of particular Series of Notes and certain market risks.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch may from time to time terminate the appointment of any dealer under the Programme and may from time to time appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this Offering Circular to "Permanent Dealers" are to the persons listed above as a Dealer and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and

Risk Factors

Arranger

Dealers

whose appointment has not been terminated) and to "Dealers" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more Tranches.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

The Notes may be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes may be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates (each tranche within such Series a "Tranche") and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in a pricing supplement (a "Pricing Supplement").

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to their nominal amount. Partly Paid Notes may be issued, the issue price of which will be payable in two or more instalments.

Notes may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes"). Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice versa.

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of either a temporary Global Note or a permanent Global Note, in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Each Global Note will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a common depositary or sub-custodian for Euroclear, Clearstream and/or as the case may be, the CMU and/or any other relevant clearing system. Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable for a permanent Global Note or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, for Definitive Notes. If the TEFRA D Rules are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as applicable, certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership will be a condition precedent to any exchange of an interest in a temporary Global Note or receipt of any payment of interest in respect of a temporary Global Note. Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes in accordance with its terms. Definitive Notes

Fiscal Agent and Paying Agent

Transfer Agent

Calculation Agent

Registrar

CMU Lodging and Paying Agent

Method of Issue

Issue Price

Form of Notes

will, if interest-bearing, have Coupons attached and, if appropriate, a Talon for further Coupons.

Registered Notes will either be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series or in dematerialised form. Certificates representing Registered Notes that are registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems are referred to as "Global Certificates". Where Notes are issued in dematerialised form, a deed poll will be executed by the Issuer in respect of such Series.

Registered Notes sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S will initially be represented by a Global Certificate.

Clearstream, Euroclear, the CMU and, in relation to any Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealers.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, the Global Note representing Bearer Notes or the Global Certificate representing Registered Notes may be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream or deposited with a sub-custodian for the HKMA as operator of the CMU or deposited with a depositary or sub-custodian for any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealers. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the name of, or in the name of nominees or a common nominee for, such clearing systems.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealers.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, any maturity, including for the avoidance of doubt, undated perpetual Notes with no fixed maturity.

See Condition 5(b)(iii)(C) (Benchmark Replacement).

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, save that unless otherwise permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) which must be redeemed before the first anniversary of their date of issue and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the relevant Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 will have a minimum

Clearing Systems

Initial Delivery of Notes

Currencies

Maturities

Benchmark Discontinuation Specified Denomination

Fixed Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes

denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for each Series as follows:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA"), as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes) or the 2021 ISDA Definitions (the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions, including any Matrices referred to therein, as published by ISDA as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes), plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, if any;
- (ii) by reference to EURIBOR or HIBOR or CNH HIBOR (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) as adjusted for any applicable margin.

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The Margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each series of Floating Rate Notes.

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Zero Coupon Notes

Dual Currency Notes

Index Linked Notes

Interest Periods and Interest Rates

Redemption and Redemption Amounts

The relevant Pricing Supplement will specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable. Unless permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) which must be redeemed before the first anniversary of their date of issue and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the relevant Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 must have a minimum redemption amount of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

Redemption by Instalments

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

Other Notes

Terms applicable to high interest Notes, low interest Notes, step-up Notes, step-down Notes, reverse dual currency Notes, optional dual currency Notes, partly paid Notes and any other type of Note that the relevant Issuer and any Dealer or Dealers may agree to issue under the Programme will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Optional Redemption

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the relevant Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption.

Status of the Notes

The Notes issued by the relevant Issuer will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the relevant Issuer other than any such obligations as are preferred by law, all as further described in Condition 4.

Events of Default Cross Default

See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default". See the relevant sub-condition under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default".

Ratings

The Programme is rated "A2" by Moody's and "A" by Fitch. Tranches of Notes will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is to be rated, such rating will be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Early Redemption

Except as provided in "Optional Redemption" above, Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity

8

only for tax reasons. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption, Purchase and Options".

Withholding Tax

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding taxes of the relevant jurisdiction of Hong Kong, the PRC, or any other jurisdiction to which the Issuer becomes subject to tax in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes, subject to customary exceptions, all as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Taxation".

Governing Law

Listing

English law.

Application has been made to the HKSE for the listing of the Programme under which Notes may be issued during the 12-month period after the date of this Offering Circular on the HKSE by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only.

Separate application will be made for the listing of the relevant Notes on the HKSE.

Unlisted Notes may also be issued.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will state whether or not the relevant Notes are to be listed and, if so, on which stock exchange(s).

Notes listed on the HKSE will be traded on the HKSE in a board lot size of at least HK\$500,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

Selling Restrictions

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in the United States, the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Singapore, the PRC, Taiwan and Japan, see "Subscription and Sale" below.

Legal Entity Identifier of the Bank

549300AX1UM10U30HK09.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth the summary consolidated financial information of the Group as at and for the periods indicated.

The summary consolidated financial information as at and for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 set forth below is derived from the Historical Financial Statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS. The summary consolidated financial information as at and for the three months ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 set forth below are derived from the 2024 First Quarter Financial Information, which is prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Historical Financial Statements have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA. The 2024 First Quarter Financial Information have not been audited or reviewed by KPMG. Investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Group's financial condition and results of operations. Such summary consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with such published audited consolidated financial statements and the unaudited consolidated first quarter financial statements and the notes thereto.

The 2024 First Quarter Financial Information should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition and results of operations of the Group as at and for the full financial year ending 31 December 2024.

With effect from 1 January 2023, the Group adopted IFRS 17 under which the Group was required to adjust certain amounts recognised in the Group's audited consolidated financial statements. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to and re-presented the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports. Please refer to Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) of the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements for the effects of the adoption of IFRS 17.

The Group's financial information as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 was restated in the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements and may not be directly comparable against the 2022 Historical Financial Statements. Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures prior to 31 December 2022 against the financial figures on or after 31 December 2022 and when evaluating the Group's financial position and results of operations.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023

The consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set forth below are extracted from the Historical Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA.

As at 31 December

			2022	
	2021	2022	(after restatement)	2023
		(RMB in n		
		(audit	ed)	
Assets				
Cash and balances with central banks	734,728	806,102	806,102	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and	622 7 00	600 421	600.421	050 640
other financial institutions	632,708	690,421	690,421	859,642
Derivative financial assets	39,220	69,687	69,687	67,387
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	638,483	705,357	705,357	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost		·	2,450,775	
	2,203,037	2,450,775	2,430,773	2,573,911
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	681,729	799,075	799,075	887,949
Loans and advances to customers	6,412,201	7,136,677	7,135,454	7,772,060
Investment in associates and joint ventures	5,779	8,750	8,750	8,990
Property and equipment	171,194	194,169	194,169	217,751
Deferred tax assets	32,061	38,771	39,512	40,379
Other assets	114,617	92,635	92,269	92,099
Total assets	11,665,757	12,992,419	12,991,571	14,060,472
Liabilities				
Due to and placements from banks and other				
financial institutions	1,947,768	2,034,894	2,034,894	2,424,537
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit				
or loss	50,048	47,949	47,949	56,557
Derivative financial liabilities	36,074	46,804	46,804	50,975
Deposits from customers	7,039,777	7,949,072	7,949,072	8,551,215
Certificates of deposits issued	892,020	1,092,366	1,092,366	1,027,461
Income tax payable	4,725	3,937	3,937	4,538
Deferred tax liabilities	1,889	1,786	1,786	2,407
Debt securities issued	503,525	530,861	530,861	592,175
Other liabilities	212,695	249,010	250,380	251,157
Total liabilities	10,688,521	11,956,679	11,958,049	12,961,022
Equity				
Share capital	74,263	74,263	74,263	74,263
Other equity Instruments	174,790	174,790	174,790	174,790

			As	at 31 December
			2022 (after	
	2021	2022	restatement)	2023
		(RMB in r	nillion)	
		(audit	ed)	
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838	129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	111,428	111,429	111,429	111,428
Other reserves	346,092	369,259	368,808	400,805
Retained earnings	258,074	293,668	292,734	326,744
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	964,647	1,023,409	1,022,024	1,088,030
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	9,424	8,873	8,040	7,912
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments	3,165	3,458	3,458	3,508
Non-controlling interests	12,589	12,331	11,498	11,420
Total equity	977,236	1,035,740	1,033,522	1,099,450
Total equity and liabilities	11,665,757	12,992,419	12,991,571	14,060,472

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023

The consolidated statements of Profit or Loss and Other comprehensive income of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set forth below are extracted from the Historical Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA.

Year ended 31	December
---------------	----------

	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	2023
-		(RMB in million unles	s otherwise stated)	
		(audit	ed)	
Interest income	377,646	418,122	418,067	459,861
Interest expense	(215,953)	(248,185)	(248,185)	(295,738)
Net interest income	161,693	169,937	169,882	164,123
Fee and commission income	52,285	49,339	49,339	47,148
Fee and commission expense	(4,712)	(4,700)	(4,484)	(4,144)
Net fee and commission income	47,573	44,639	44,855	43,004
Net gains arising from trading activities	23,344	17,607	17,607	23,224
Net gains arising from financial investments	1,311	494	494	727

			Year ended	l 31 Decembe
_	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	202
_		(RMB in million unles	ss otherwise stated)	
		(audit	red)	
Including: Net gains/(losses) on derecognition				
of financial assets measured at amortised cost	46	64	64	4
Share of profits of associates and joint	277	202	202	25
venture	277	292	292	35
Insurance business income	16,515	18,100	-	26.50
Other operating income	19,035	22,459	24,216	26,58
Net operating income	269,748	273,528	257,346	258,01
Credit impairment losses	(66,371)	(60,411)	(60,411)	(56,90
Other assets impairment losses	(2,320)	(1,897)	(1,897)	(1,06
Insurance business expense	(17,054)	(19,380)	-	
Other operating expense	(90,044)	(93,625)	(96,923)	(100,34
Profit before tax	93,959	98,215	98,115	99,69
Income tax	(5,020)	(6,185)	(6,160)	(6,44
Net profit for the period	88,939	92,030	91,955	93,2
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI				
Amount recognised in equity	3,649	(7,745)	(7,737)	7,5
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(870)	(669)	(669)	(66
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI	` ,	,	· ,	`
Amount recognised in equity	(394)	1,219	1,219	1,0
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	-	-	-	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedges				
Amount recognised in equity	891	2,004	2,004	(66
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(463)	(1,204)	(1,204)	:
Others	14	136	(641)	(2,36
Translation difference on foreign operations	(3,450)	8,562	8,562	2,1
Subtotal	(623)	2,303	1,534	7,13
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:				
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension benefits	55	(34)	(34)	:
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	(1,555)	(1,301)	(1,214)	9

			Year end	ed 31 December
_	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	2023
_		(RMB in million unles	s otherwise stated)	
		(audit	ed)	
Changes in fair value attributable to change in the credit risk of financial liability designated				
at FVPL	(36)	(133)	(133)	458
Others	2	(1)	(19)	(313)
Subtotal	(1,534)	(1,469)	(1,400)	1,166
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	(2,157)	834	134	8,300
Total Comprehensive income for the year	86,782	92,864	92,089	101,552
Net profit attributable to:				
Shareholders of the parent company	87,581	92,149	92,102	92,728
Non-controlling interests	1,358	(119)	(147)	524
Total comprehensive income attributable to:				
Shareholders of the parent company	85,696	92,607	92,122	100,862
Non-controlling interests	1,086	257	(33)	690
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent				
company (in RMB yuan)	1.10	1.14	1.14	1.15

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2024

The consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2024, as set forth below are extracted from the 2024 First Quarter Financial Statements prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS.

	As at 31 December	As at 31 March	
	2023	2024	
	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)	
	(restated)	(unaudited)	
Assets			
Cash and balances with central banks	898,022	761,645	
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	859,642	939,332	
Derivative financial assets	67,387	68,092	
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	642,282	626,751	
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,573,911	2,536,707	

	As at 31 December	As at 31 Ma
	2023	2
	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	887,949	891,
Loans and advances to customers	7,772,060	8,011,
Investment in associates and joint ventures	8,990	9,
Property and equipment	217,751	221,
Deferred tax assets	40,379	40,
Other assets	92,099	130,
Total assets	14,060,472	14,238,
Liabilities		
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	2,424,537	2,299,
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	56,557	59,
Derivative financial liabilities	50,975	50,
Deposit from customers	8,551,215	8,679,
Certificates of deposits issued	1,027,461	1,182,
Income tax liabilities	4,538	6,
Debt securities issued	592,175	578,
Deferred tax liabilities	2,407	2,
Other liabilities	251,157	253,
Total liabilities	12,961,022	13,112,
Equity		
Share capital	74,263	74,
Other equity Instruments	174,790	174,
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,
Capital surplus	111,428	111,
Other reserves	400,805	402,
Retained earnings	326,744	351,
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	1,088,030	1,114,
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	7,912	7,
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments	3,508	3,
Non-controlling interests	11,420	11,
Total equity	1,099,450	1,125,
Total equity and liabilities	14,060,472	14,238,

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Three Months Ended 31 March 2023 and 2024

The consolidated statements of Profit or Loss and Other comprehensive income of the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 as set forth below are extracted from the 2024 First Quarter Financial Statements prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS.

Three months ended 31 March

	2023	2024
	(RMB in million unle	ss otherwise
	(unaudited	<i>l</i>)
Interest income	112,010	114,704
Interest expense	(71,362)	(73,146)
Net interest income	40,648	41,558
Fee and commission income	13,774	12,838
Fee and commission expense	(1,089)	(959)
Net fee and commission income	12,685	11,879
Net gains arising from trading activities	8,304	6,267
Net gains arising from financial investments	(132)	600
Including: Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost	15	39
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	53	93
Other operating income	5,611	6,804
Net operating income	67,169	67,201
Credit impairment losses	(15,398)	(14,424)
Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal	(72)	(174)
Other operating expense	(25,297)	(25,254)
Profit before tax	26,402	27,349
Income tax	(1,451)	(2,096)
Net profit for the period	24,951	25,253
Other comprehensive income		
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI		
Amount recognised in equity	733	5,148
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	6	(547)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI		
Amount recognised in equity	(115)	(332)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	_	-
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedges		

			Three months ended 31 M	
			2023	202
			(RMB in million u	
			(unaud	ited)
Amount recognised in equity			305	(43
Amount reclassified to profit or loss			(424)	27
Translation difference on foreign operations			(1,788)	(47-
Others			(61)	(2,18
Subtotal			(1,344)	1,84
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit o	or loss:			
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension benefits			(1)	(
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at f comprehensive income	•		665	(20
Changes in fair value attributable to change in the credit ri at FVPL			(114)	(19
Others			(17)	(26
Subtotal			533	(66
Other comprehensive income for the year			(811)	1,1
Total Comprehensive income for the period			24,140	26,4
Net profit attributable to:		_		
Shareholders of the parent company			24,633	24,9
Non-controlling interests			318	2
			24,951	25,2
Total comprehensive income attributable to:		_		
Shareholders of the parent company			23,578	26,5
Non-controlling interests			562	(10
•		_	24,140	26,4
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable company (in RMB yuan)		•	0.33	0.:
Financial Indicators				
	As at	t/ for the years endo	ed 31 December	As at/for three mor ended 31 Ma
-	2021	2022	2023	2
_		(%)		_
Return on average assets ⁽¹⁾	0.80	0.75	0.69	(
Cost-to-income ratio ⁽²⁾	27.67	29.65	30.04	29

	As at/for the
	three months
As at/ for the years ended 31 December	ended 31 March

	2021	2022	2023	2024
<u> </u>				
	(%)			
Provision coverage ratio	166.50	180.68	195.21	197.05
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio ⁽³⁾	13.01	12.18	12.22	12.40
Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio ⁽³⁾	10.62	10.06	10.23	10.44
Capital adequacy ratio ⁽³⁾	15.45	14.97	15.27	16.09

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Calculated by dividing annualised net profit of the periods indicated by the average of total assets at the beginning and the end of the periods indicated.

⁽²⁾ Calculated pursuant to China Accounting Standards, as business and management fees divided by operating income, consistent with the financial report under China Accounting Standards.

⁽³⁾ Calculated pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for Trial Implementation) by the Regulatory Authorities.

RISK FACTORS

This Offering Circular contains forward-looking statements relating to events that involve risks and uncertainties. Investors should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below, as well as the other information contained elsewhere in this Offering Circular. The risks described below are not the only ones that may affect the Bank or the Notes. Additional risks and uncertainties of which the Bank is not aware or that the Bank currently believes are immaterial may also adversely affect the Bank's financial condition or results of operations. If any of the possible events described below occur, the Bank's financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such case, the Bank may not be able to satisfy its obligations under the Notes, and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Relating to the Bank's Business

Uncertainties and instability in global market conditions could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group has been, and in the future will continue to be, materially affected by geo-political, economic and market conditions, including factors such as the liquidity of the global financial markets, any Sino-U.S. trade friction, recent conflicts between Russian and Ukraine, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, the level and volatility of debt and equity prices, interest rates, currency and commodities prices, investor sentiment, inflation, and the availability and cost of capital and credit. International Monetary Fund revised global GDP growth forecasts downward for 2023 in response to the economic slowdown caused by Russia's war in Ukraine, tighter global financing costs and the financial market conditions.

Since 2017, there has been a more inward-looking policy agenda in the U.S. aimed at encouraging U.S. companies to bring back jobs, renegotiating trade pacts and stimulating the domestic economy via infrastructure spending and tax reforms. In Europe, the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, and any prolonged period of uncertainty which results, could have a significant negative impact on international markets. These could include further falls in stock exchange indices, a fall in the value of the Pound, an increase in exchange rates between the Pound and the Euro and/or greater volatility of markets in general due to the increased uncertainty.

The implications of these developments for the world and the Group are significant. First, a rise in global trade protectionism may negatively impact the trade-dependent economies in Asia. Second, the interplay of U.S. fiscal and monetary policies, and ongoing quantitative easing programmes in Japan and Europe may lead to more volatile global capital flows, which could in turn impact global growth. Third, financial market volatility and increased uncertainty may have a broader global economic impact that may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The international economy has faced complex and intertwined changes in 2023, with the phenomenon of "three highs and one low" (high inflation, high interest rate, high debt and low growth). This adds to the uncertain global economic outlook.

To the extent uncertainty regarding the economic outlook negatively impacts consumer confidence and consumer credit factors globally, the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations could be significantly and adversely affected.

Investors should be aware that there are recent historical financial crises and boom-bust cycles in multiple markets in both emerging and developed economies which leads to risks for all financial institutions, including the Group. In addition, the Group remains subject to the risks posed by the indirect economic effect of the global credit crisis, some of which cannot be anticipated and the vast majority of which are not under its control. The Group also remains subject to counterparty risk arising from financial institutions that can fail or are otherwise

unable to meet their obligations under their contractual commitment to the Group. If there is another global or regional financial crisis or a downturn in the economic condition of the Group's primary markets, this would likely have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

If the Bank is unable to effectively maintain the quality of its loan portfolio or to manage its off-balance sheet statement exposures, its financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Results of the Bank's operations may be negatively impacted by its non-performing loans. Under IFRS, the accounting standards that are applicable to the Bank, loans are impaired if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of loans. In this regard, the Bank seeks to continue to improve its credit risk management policies, procedures and systems, and has been able to effectively control the level of its non-performing loans in recent years, despite the ongoing weak macroeconomic environment. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Bank's total non-performing loan balance were RMB96,796 million, RMB98,526 million and RMB105,688 million, respectively, and its non-performing loan ratios were 1.48 per cent., 1.35 per cent. and 1.33 per cent, respectively. However, there can be no assurance that the Bank's credit risk management policies, procedures and systems are free from any deficiency. The occurrence of any deficiencies in the Bank's credit risk management policies, procedures and systems may result in an increase in the level of its non-performing loans and adversely affect the quality of its loan portfolio. As a result, there can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to continue to effectively control the level of non-performing loans in its loan portfolio. In particular, the amount of the Bank's reported nonperforming loans and the ratio of its non-performing loans to its loans and advances to customers may increase in the future as a result of deterioration in the quality of its loan portfolio. Such deterioration may occur for a variety of reasons, including factors which are beyond the Bank's control, such as a recent slowdown in economic growth and other adverse macroeconomic trends in China, the significant decline in market liquidity of China's interbank market or a deterioration in the financial condition or results of operations of the Bank's borrowers, which could impair the ability of the Bank's borrowers to service their debt. These include the Bank's corporate and individual loan borrowers, as well as the domestic and overseas commercial banks and non-bank financial institutions with whom the Bank engages in interbank lending activities. If such a deterioration occurs, it could materially and adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the Bank has issued credit related commitments, guarantees and letters of credit. The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required. These instruments represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties. As a result, these instruments carry similar credit risk as loans and in the event of default by the relevant customers, the Bank's financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank has a concentration of loans to certain industries and borrowers, and any significant or extended downturn in any of these industries or deterioration in the financial condition of the Bank's major borrowers may adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 11.38 per cent., 12.00 per cent., 10.89 per cent., 6.15 per cent., 5.86 per cent. and 4.92 per cent. of the Bank's loans were concentrated in the transportation, storage and postal services sector, the manufacturing sector, the leasing and commercial services sector, the real estate sector, the water conservancy, environmental and other public facilities sector and the production and supply of electric power, heat, gas and water sector, respectively. Although the Bank follows credit risk management policies with respect to extensions of credit to different industry sectors, including credit extension guidelines for different industry sectors, closely monitors its credit risks in different industries and has recently enhanced its guidelines in extending credit, any significant or extended downturn in any of these sectors may reduce the borrowing activities in these sectors, increase the level of the Bank's non-performing loans, impaired loans and related

provision for impaired loans, reduce the Bank's net profit and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

In accordance with PRC national policies aimed at restricting the over-development of certain industries with excess capacity, including wind power equipment, steel, cement, coal, chemical and flat glass, among other industries, the Bank adopts a strict policy towards making loans to these industries. In order to reduce its loan exposure and strictly control risks associated with loans to these high-risk industries, the Bank carefully manages the size of its loans to these industries. If the PRC government introduces policies which further restrict these industries and/or these industries otherwise experience deterioration in their operations, such changes may adversely affect the quality of the Bank's loans to these industries.

Governmental financing platforms primarily comprise state-owned or state-run investment or financing institutions whose financing activities are primarily applied to infrastructure construction or governmental investment projects of a quasi-social welfare nature and whose financing activities are fully or partially indemnified or guaranteed by local financial authorities. In recent years, the Bank made continuous improvement in the monitoring and management of its loans, by ways of raising standards and introducing stricter requirements for guarantees. Similar measures in disbursement control and with respect to new projects were implemented on loans made to local government financing platforms. The default of any portion of such loans for any reason, including macroeconomic volatility or policy changes, may adversely affect the quality of the Bank's loans to these entities.

As at 31 December 2023, 18.39 per cent. of the Bank's loans were mortgage loans and 6.15 per cent. of its loans were lent to the real estate sector, which together accounted for 24.54 per cent. of the Bank's gross amount of loans and advances before impairment allowance. In recent years, the PRC real estate market has been subject to volatility and property prices have experienced significant fluctuations. The PRC government has in recent years, from time to time, imposed macroeconomic control measures that are aimed at preventing the real estate market and certain other industries from over-heating, such as setting minimum down payment requirements and minimum mortgage rates on residential housing purchases, imposing value-added taxes on the transfer of certain residential properties and levying mandatory personal income tax for second home sales and imposing the "three red lines" (which refers to prescribed asset to liability ratio, net debt to equity ratio and cash to shortterm borrowings ratio requirements) on certain real estate developers to control their growing debt levels and restore the real estate's sector growth to more sustainable levels. Such measures may adversely affect the growth and quality of the Bank's loans related to real estate and such other industries. As the result of these cooling down measures, the PRC real estate sector has slowed down materially, which has resulted in a financial crisis in the sector and lead to defaults on bonds issued by certain real estate companies. This has in turn had negative impact on property prices and transaction volumes and resulted in an oversupply of residential and commercial properties. As a result, the PRC government has recently promulgated certain stimulus measures to support the PRC real estate market and certain real estate property developers, but there is no guarantee that any such measures could achieve their intended effect. A continued decline in the PRC's real estate market may materially and adversely affect the quality of the Bank's existing loans and the Bank's ability to generate new loans and recover on its loans in the event of default as the value of the real estate secured loans may decrease, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operation. In accordance with the PRC government's macroeconomic policy and the guidance and compliance requirements of the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the Bank aims to maintain a cautious approach to real estate development loans, and has further adopted industry-specific risk management procedures with respect to the real estate sector. The Bank has also adopted a rigorous mortgage evaluation system to ensure the quality of its mortgage customers. In addition, the Bank regularly subjects its assets to multi-factor stress tests, including movements in housing prices, which the Bank's loans have been able to withstand without significant deterioration.

According to Measures for the Administration of the Large Exposures of Commercial Banks (商業銀行大額 風險暴露管理辦法) issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the total outstanding credit exposure to a single group customer may not exceed 15 per cent. of the net capital base of a bank and the total outstanding loans to the same borrower shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the net capital base of a bank. The Bank is currently in compliance with these regulatory requirements.

If any of the sectors in which the Bank's loans are highly concentrated significantly deteriorates, the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. Moreover, any inaccurate assessment of the credit risks regarding the borrowers in any of these sectors may adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank is subject to risks associated with real estate related loans.

The Bank's loans and advances to the real estate sector primarily comprise loans issued to real estate companies and individual housing loans. The Bank's loans issued to real estate companies include, among others, loans for real estate development, land reservation loans and asset-backed loans.

With respect to its real estate loans, the Bank follows strictly its credit risk management procedures, including ongoing credit monitoring of borrowers' financial information, and strict enforcement of repayment schedules. In addition, the Bank has established a regional risk alert system and loan policy adjustment mechanism applicable to the real estate sector. The Bank has instructed its branches to strengthen research of regional and local real estate market conditions, adjust credit guidelines applicable to real estate loans and implement different credit limits to reflect different levels of risk for these loans. However, the real estate market may be affected by factors beyond the Bank's control, including cyclical economic volatility and downturns. In addition, the PRC government has in recent years, from time to time, imposed macroeconomic control measures that are aimed at preventing the real estate market from over-heating and also transforming the real estate market into a steady, healthy and sound market for necessity but not speculation. Such factors may adversely affect the growth and quality of the Bank's loans to the real estate industry and its financial condition and results of operations. As the result of these cooling down measures, the PRC real estate sector has slowed down materially, which has resulted in a financial crisis in the sector and lead to defaults on bonds issued by certain real estate companies. This has in turn had negative impact on property prices and transaction volumes and resulted in an oversupply of residential and commercial properties. As a result, the PRC government has recently promulgated certain stimulus measures to support the PRC real estate market and certain real estate property developers, but there is no guarantee that any such measures could achieve their intended effect. A continued decline in the PRC's real estate market may materially and adversely affect the quality of the Bank's existing loans and the Bank's ability to generate new loans and recover on its loans in the event of default as the value of the real estate secured loans may decrease, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operation.

Deterioration in the debt repayment abilities of local government financing vehicles to which the Bank extends loans may adversely affect its asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's loans to local government financing platforms are mainly made to the investment and financing platforms of various development zones, state-owned asset management companies, land reserve companies and urban construction investment companies, covering a number of industries including the production and supply of electric power, heat, gas and water, water conservancy, environmental and other public facilities, transportation, storage and postal services, leasing and commercial services, real estate and manufacturing.

Recently, with the aim of reinforcing the risk management of loans to local government financing platforms, the PRC State Council, the CBIRC (now the NAFR) and the PBOC, along with several other PRC regulatory authorities promulgated a series of notices, guidelines and other regulatory documents to direct PRC banks and other financial institutions to optimise and strengthen their risk management measures regarding their loans to

local government financing platforms. The Bank has consistently focused on the risks associated with loans to the local government financing platforms through a series of measures such as imposing stringent regional controls on disbursing loans to local government financing platforms, establishing a list of approved cities and lending limits and establishing credit and credit product related policies. Through such measures, the risks associated with loans to local government financing platforms, the aggregate volume of loans and their investment direction are subject to control with the goal of ensuring that the Bank's loans are primarily disbursed to key construction and development areas of the state and projects of high quality. While the Bank has taken various measures to reduce the risks of default, unfavourable developments in macroeconomic conditions, adverse changes to state policies, adverse changes to the financial condition of local governments or other factors may adversely affect the debt repayments of these financing platforms, which may in turn materially and adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's outstanding loans are heavily concentrated in certain regions, and any significant downturn in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 27.98 per cent., 13.21 per cent. and 16.19 per cent. of the Bank's loans and advances were concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and the Bohai Rim Economic Zone, respectively. In addition, a substantial portion of the Bank's corporate customers and the majority of its branches, sub-branches and self-service centres are located in the Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai Rim Economic Zone and the Pearl River Delta. The Bank currently expects that the future growth of its corporate and personal finance businesses, especially its corporate and individual loan businesses, will continue to be concentrated in these areas. Any significant economic downturn in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, any inaccurate assessment of the credit risks regarding the borrowers in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of the Bank's loans are secured by collateral or pledge (the "security") or guarantees. Any significant decline in the value of the collateral or deterioration of the financial condition of the guarantors or any failure by the Bank to enforce its rights as a creditor may adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of the Bank's loans is secured by collateral or pledge or guarantees. The loans secured by collateral and pledge are collectively referred to as the loans secured by security. The Bank's loan security primarily includes real estate and other assets that are located in the PRC, the value of which may significantly fluctuate or decline due to factors beyond the Bank's control, including macroeconomic factors affecting the PRC economy. An economic slowdown in the PRC may lead to a downturn in the PRC real estate markets, which may in turn result in declines in the value of the security securing many of the Bank's loans to levels below the outstanding principal balance of such loans. Any decline in the value of the security securing the Bank's loans may result in a reduction in the amount the Bank can recover from security realisation and an increase in its impairment losses.

The Bank conducts internal re-evaluations of security regularly, and it hires independent appraisers to re-evaluate certain security from time to time. However, the Bank may not have current information on the value of such security, which may adversely affect the accurate assessment of its loans secured by such security. Losses might also result from the Bank's failure to conduct property preservation in a timely or proper manner while the borrowers' financial and credit conditions deteriorate. In addition, in certain circumstances, the Bank's rights to the security securing its loans may have lower priority than certain other rights.

In China, the procedures for liquidating or otherwise realising the value of security in the form of tangible assets may be protracted and it may be difficult to enforce claims in respect of such security. As a result, it may be

difficult and time-consuming for the Bank to take control of and liquidate the security securing the impaired loans.

With respect to guarantees of the Bank's loans provided by third parties, the Bank is subject to the risk that the financial condition of the guaranters of these loans may deteriorate significantly, or that a court or other judicial or government authorities may declare such guarantees to be invalid. The Bank is therefore exposed to the risk that it may not be able to recover all or any part of the amount of these guarantees in respect of its loans.

As a result, any significant decline in the value of the security or deterioration of the financial condition of the guarantors or any failure by the Bank to enforce its rights as a secured creditor may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may not be able to manage the various risks it will face as the Bank expands the range of its products and services, which also include non-commercial banking financial products and services.

Part of the Bank's strategy is to expand the range of products and services that the Bank offers to its customers in the PRC and overseas, including non-commercial banking financial products and services. For example, the Bank has recently introduced and sought to strengthen new products and services in the areas of wealth management (such as its "Win to Fortune" accounts), mobile banking (such as its e-Mobile BOCOM product), insurance, finance leasing, asset management, trust services, offshore financial services, custodian and investment banking services. The Bank operates its non-commercial banking financial products and services through separate subsidiaries. In 2000, the Bank established BoCom Insurance, formerly China Communications Insurance Co., Ltd. prior to the change in its name in 2007) to provide different types of general insurance products and services to its customers. BoCom Schroder Fund, which was established in 2005 as a joint venture with Schroder Investment Management Limited and the China International Marine Containers (Group) Co., Ltd., offers wealth management products and services. In 2007, the Bank established BoCom International Holdings through the restructuring and integration of its wholly owned subsidiary BOCOM International Securities Limited (registered and established in June 1998) to provide investment banking, securities trading and asset management services. In January 2010, the Bank acquired a controlling interest in China Life CMG Life Assurance Co., Ltd. from China Life Insurance Company Limited. The company, which the Bank renamed BoComm Life Insurance Company Limited following the acquisition, offers life insurance products and services. With the acquisition, the Bank became the first of the domestic banks in the PRC to acquire a controlling interest in a domestic insurance company and receive an insurance license. In 2019, the Bank established BOCOM Wealth to continuously enrich and optimise the wealth management product service system. In August 2020, the Bank incorporated BOCOM Financial Technology Company Limited (交銀金融科技有限公司) to explore innovations of FinTech talent management technology introduction, and research and development mechanism of application system and promote the digital and intelligent transformation of the Bank. In 2022, the Bank steadily pursued digital transformation by achieving breakthroughs in retail transformation, supply chain finance and the financial ecosystem. The Bank has also entered into a cooperation arrangement with HSBC with respect to credit card and other financial products and services. As the Bank expands the range of its products and services, it will be exposed to new and potentially increasingly complex risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

- the Bank may not have sufficient experience or expertise in certain new products and services and may not compete effectively in these areas;
- the Bank's new products and services may not be accepted by its customers or meet its expectations for profitability;
- the Bank may need to hire additional qualified personnel who may not be available on commercially viable terms;

- the Bank may not have sufficient financial, operational, management and other human resources to support the expanded range of its products and services;
- the Bank may have disagreements with the joint venture partners and other entities with which the Bank offers certain of its new financial products and services, and they may be unable or unwilling to continue their arrangements with the Bank due to financial difficulties or other reasons;
- the Bank may be faced with risks in integrating the acquired businesses with which the Bank offers certain of these new products and services;
- the Bank may fail to obtain regulatory approval for its new products or services;
- a slowdown in China's economic development could adversely affect the ability of personal borrowers
 and credit card holders to make payments, thereby increasing the probability of defaults and reducing
 the demand for personal loans and credit cards; and
- the Bank may not be successful in enhancing its risk management and internal control capabilities and information technology systems to support a broader range of products and services.

Any or all of these types of risks could have an adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may not be able to detect money laundering and other illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis, which could expose it to additional liability and harm its business or reputation.

The Bank is required to comply with applicable anti-money-laundering, anti-terrorism laws and other regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong and other jurisdictions where the Bank has operations. These laws and regulations require the Bank, among other things, to adopt and enforce "know your customer" policies and procedures and to report suspicious and large transactions to the applicable regulatory authorities in different jurisdictions. While the Bank has adopted policies and procedures aimed at detecting and preventing the use of its banking network for money laundering activities or by terrorists and terrorist-related organisations and individuals generally, such policies and procedures may not completely eliminate instances where the Bank may be used by other parties to engage in money laundering or other illegal or improper activities. To the extent the Bank may fail to fully comply with applicable laws and regulations, the relevant government agencies to whom the Bank reports have the power and authority to impose fines and other penalties on the Bank, which could harm its business and reputation, which in turn may negatively affect the Bank's ability to service the Notes and to satisfy its other obligations under the Notes.

Any failure or ineffectiveness in implementing its centralised management may adversely affect the Bank's business operations, financial condition and reputation.

The Bank's efforts to centralise its management and initiatives it has undertaken and continues to undertake to improve management of its branches may not be sufficient to prevent all irregular transactions or incidents. Furthermore, in the event that any irregular transactions or incidents occur, the Bank may not be able to timely detect and take appropriate measures to resolve them. If incidents or other irregular transactions do occur, relevant PRC regulatory authorities may take disciplinary actions or impose fines or other types of penalties against the Bank, and the Bank's business and reputation as a result may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank is subject to a number of risks inherent in the Bank's business, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk, and there can be no assurance that the Bank's risk management and internal control policies and procedures can protect the Bank against all such risks.

In its operations as a commercial bank, the Bank is subject to a number of risks inherent in the Bank's business, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. One of the principal risks inherent in the

Bank's business is credit risk. The Bank may not be able to effectively implement its credit risk management system or continue to improve it so that it can function effectively. The Bank's credit rating system process involves detailed analysis of the borrower's credit risk, taking into account both quantitative and qualitative factors. The qualitative factors are, by their nature, subject to the individual judgment of the Bank's employees. In exercising their judgment, if the Bank's employees are not able to assign an accurate credit rating to a borrower, the Bank may be exposed to risks associated with the inaccurate assessment. In addition, the Bank may not be able to timely detect potential risks associated with particular industries or types of customers, such as affiliated entities or groups of customers, or, due to limited resources or tools available to the Bank, its employees may not be able to effectively implement them. With respect to market risk, the Bank's methods to manage market risks, including observing historical market behaviour, may not be able to timely or precisely predict future market risk exposures, which could be significantly greater than those indicated by historical measures. Liquidity risk is inherent in banking operations and can be heightened by a number of factors, including changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena such as financial market instability. While it is the Bank's policy to manage its liquidity prudently, exceptional market events may materially and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations. The Bank may also be exposed to the risk of unexpected increases in the cost of funding its asset portfolio at appropriate maturities and the risk of being unable to liquidate a position in a timely manner and/or at a reasonable price. With respect to operational risk, the Bank's internal control system is the essential means to maintain the integrity of its business, financial condition and results of operation. Although the Bank has significantly enhanced its risk management and internal control policies and procedures in recent years in an effort to improve its risk management capabilities and enhances its internal control, including its internal audit function, there can be no assurance that the Bank's staff will be able to consistently follow these policies and guidelines at all times.

There can be no assurance that the Bank's risk management and internal control policies and procedures will adequately control, or protect the Bank against, all credit, market, liquidity and other risks. Further, the Bank's risk management capabilities are limited by the information, tools or technologies available to it. Information, including information provided by third parties, may not be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated in all cases. There can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to continue to upgrade its risk management tools and information technology systems, or operate such tools and systems and monitor and analyse the effectiveness of such tools and systems. To the extent that the Bank cannot effectively enhance its risk management and internal controls or its risk management and internal control system are not effectively implemented or consistently applied, the Bank's business operations, financial results and reputation may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank's business, reputation and prospects may be adversely affected if the Bank is not able to timely detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties.

The Bank is subject to fraud and other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties, which could adversely affect the Bank's business, reputation or prospects. Such misconduct could take a variety of forms including, among other things:

- hiding unauthorised or illegal activities that may result in unknown and unmanaged risks or losses;
- engaging in unauthorised transactions to the Bank's detriment, breaching applicable laws or its internal control procedures or violating financial accounting rules;
- improper extensions of credit;
- misapplying or failing to apply the loan classification standards thereby resulting in misclassifications within the Bank's loan portfolio;

- engaging in misrepresentation or fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise improper activities when marketing or selling products to the Bank's customers;
- improperly using or disclosing confidential information;
- falsifying or concealing information, including illegal or unlawful activities or credit information, during the credit application or loan classification process;
- binding the Bank to transactions that exceed authorised limits; and
- accepting bribes, soliciting illegal commission payments and embezzling the Bank's money.

The Bank has in the past experienced incidents of fraud and other misconduct committed by employees, customers and other third parties. Although these incidents have not materially adversely affected the Bank's financial condition or results of operations, the Bank has enhanced its risk management and internal controls to avoid future occurrences of similar incidents. Specifically, the Bank has strengthened its auditing efforts over key business processes and key personnel as well as strengthened its efforts in identifying illegal dealings between its employees and customers. While the Bank seeks to continue improving its risk management and internal control systems, including internal audit, management information systems, reporting procedures and staff awareness, to help prevent and detect such fraud or misconduct, the Bank cannot predict whether or when such fraud or misconduct will happen and in what form, and there can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to timely detect or prevent such fraud or misconduct. As a result, the Bank's business, reputation and prospects may be adversely affected if the Bank is not able to timely detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties.

The Bank's banking business may be adversely affected by inflationary pressure.

China has continued to experience high inflationary pressure in recent years due to, among other things, improvement of liquidity in the global financial system, rises in asset prices and cost. The Bank believes that under the PRC government's macroeconomic control, inflation is currently being kept under control. Meanwhile, the spread between bank deposit and bank loans is effectively controlled and protected by the government, and as long as such control persists, the Bank anticipates that its business will be somewhat insulated from inflation impacts. Nonetheless, if the inflationary pressure intensifies and if the Bank's interest margin narrows as a result of governmental action, the Bank's business and operation results may be materially and adversely affected.

The growth rate of the Bank's loan portfolio may slow down, and the Bank may not be successful in implementing its strategies to grow its business.

The Bank's total loans and advances to customers have grown significantly in recent years, increasing from RMB6,560,400 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB7,294,965 million as at 31 December 2022, representing an increase of 11.20 per cent., and increased further to RMB7,957,085 million as at 31 December 2023, representing an increase of 9.08 per cent.. The growth of the Bank's loan portfolio may be affected by various factors, such as China's macroeconomic policies and capital constraints. In the future, the growth rate of the Bank's loan portfolio may slow down, or the Bank's loan portfolio may not grow or may even decline. In addition, due to the constraints from the amount of its regulatory capital, the Bank may adopt strategies to reduce its reliance on its loan portfolio or expand its activities in other lower risk businesses that have relatively lower capital requirements. Any of the foregoing factors could impact the growth of the Bank's loan portfolio and thereby adversely affect the Bank's business and future prospects.

In addition, the Bank has implemented a variety of strategies to grow its business, including continuing to expand its domestic and overseas branch network and introducing new products and services, such as mobile banking services, additional fee-based services, such as wealth management services, additional credit card

products and services and insurance products and services. The Bank may not be successful in implementing its strategies to grow its business, and the Bank's efforts to provide new products and services may strain its resources and divert management attention from its core lending business.

The Bank may need additional capital in the future, and it may not be able to obtain such capital on acceptable terms, or at all, which may result in a lower capital adequacy ratio.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision formally promulgated Basel III in December 2010. On 26 October 2023, the NAFR promulgated the Capital Management Rules, which became effective on 1 January 2024. According to the Capital Management Rules, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio of 5 per cent., a minimum tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of 6 per cent. and a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent. The capital conservation buffer requirement for the Bank is 2.5 per cent., which should be satisfied through Common Equity Tier-1 Capital. In addition, pursuant to the Provisions on Additional Regulation of Systemically Important Banks (for Trial Implementation) and the list of systemically important banks jointly announced by the PBOC and the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the Bank is designated as a domestic systemically important bank and is required to maintain additional capital. The relevant regulatory authorities are also able to impose countercyclical capital buffer requirements on an individual bank from time to time. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio were 10.23 per cent., 12.22 per cent. and 15.27 per cent., respectively, which satisfy the regulation requirements. Although the Bank was in compliance with the regulatory requirements as at 31 December 2023, future developments could affect the Bank's ability to continue to satisfy applicable capital adequacy requirements, including:

- changes in PRC accounting rules or in the guidelines regarding the calculation of the capital adequacy ratios of commercial banks;
- increases in the minimum capital adequacy requirements by the banking regulators;
- increases in the Bank's risk-weighted assets as a result of the rapid expansion of its business;
- decreases in the value of the Bank's investment assets;
- losses resulting from deterioration in the Bank's asset quality; and
- decreases in the Bank's net profits and thus decreases in its retained earnings.

In order for the Bank to grow, remain competitive, enter into new businesses, expand its base of operations or meet regulatory capital adequacy requirements, the Bank may require new funding in the future. Moreover, the Bank may need to raise additional capital in the event of any increase in the minimum regulatory capital adequacy requirements by the NAFR or large losses in its loan portfolio that result in a reduction of its shareholders' equity. The Bank's ability to obtain additional capital in the future is subject to a variety of factors, including:

- its future financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;
- any necessary government regulatory approvals;
- its credit rating;
- general market conditions, especially conditions for capital-raising activities by commercial banks and other financial institutions; and
- economic, political and other conditions both within and outside the PRC.

If the Bank is unable to obtain sufficient additional capital in a timely and cost-effective manner, its business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

If the Bank fails to meet the capital adequacy requirements, the NAFR may require it to take corrective actions, including, for example, restricting the growth of its loans and other assets or restricting its declaration or distribution of dividends. These measures could adversely affect the Bank's reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's liabilities mainly comprise short-term funding, principally in the form of deposits, and the Bank's liquidity may be materially and adversely affected if a substantial portion of its short-term deposits fails to roll over upon maturity or if the Bank's banking business is not able to attract sufficient deposits to fund its loan activities.

The Bank regularly monitors the maturity gap between assets and liabilities and assesses liquidity risk of different periods. Most of the funding requirements of the Bank's banking business are met through short-term funding, principally in the form of deposits, including customer deposits and interbank deposits. In the past, the Bank's customer deposits have been a stable source of funding for its banking business since the short-term deposits are normally not withdrawn until the maturities of them. There can be no assurance, however, that this practice will continue. If a substantial portion of the Bank's depositors take out their demand deposits or do not roll over deposited funds upon maturity, the Bank's liquidity could be materially and adversely affected, and the Bank may be required to seek more expensive sources of short-term or long-term funding to finance its operations. There can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to obtain finance on normal commercial terms when necessary. Besides, the Bank's ability to obtain additional funding is subject to other factors of which may not be under the Bank's control such as the deterioration in overall market conditions, severe disruptions in financial markets or the poor prospects of Bank's industries with significant credit exposure. These factors could adversely affect the liquidity, business, financial conditions and operation performance of the Bank and have further adverse effect on the market value of the Notes and the Bank's ability of performing obligations under the Notes.

The Bank's loan classification may be different in certain respects from those applicable to banks in certain other countries or regions.

The Bank classifies its loans as "normal", "special-mention", "substandard", "doubtful" and "loss" by using the five-category classification system according to PRC regulations. The Bank's five-category classification system may be different in certain respects from those of banks incorporated in other countries or regions. As a result, it may reflect a different degree of risk than would be reported if the Bank were incorporated in those countries or regions.

The Bank may be exposed to risks relating to labour and employment.

The Bank faces intense competition in recruiting and retaining employees as other banks are competing for the same pool of talent. Given that PRC labour laws and regulations allow employees to freely choose their jobs, the Bank's employees may choose to resign at any time to pursue other opportunities and may seek to take with them customer relationships that they have developed while working for the Bank. Consequently, the Bank has entered into confidentiality agreements with all of its employees and non-compete agreements with its senior management and other staff members owing a special duty of confidentiality which specify the scope, territory and duration of non-competition. There can be no assurance that such confidentiality agreements and non-compete agreements will enable the Bank to retain its employees effectively or at all.

The Bank may not be able to hire, train or retain a sufficient number of qualified staff.

Most aspects of the Bank's business are dependent on the quality of its staff. The Bank devotes considerable resources to recruiting, training and compensating these personnel. However, the Bank faces increased

competition in recruiting and retaining these individuals as other banks are competing for the same pool of potential employees. In addition, the Bank's employees may choose to resign at any time to pursue other opportunities and may seek to divert customer relationships that they have developed while working for the Bank. The majority of the Bank's employees are not subject to non-compete agreements.

The Bank's corporate finance operations depend to a significant extent on qualified relationship managers to distribute the Bank's products, and the Bank plans to increase the number and efficiency of these relationship managers. In addition, the Bank intends to increase the number of financial advisers employed by its personal finance operations and enhance their training. However, these plans may not be implemented successfully, if at all.

The Bank's largest shareholders may individually or collectively take actions that are not in, and may conflict with, the best interests of the Bank or the Noteholders.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's top three shareholders, the MOF, HSBC and the National Council for Social Security Fund, collectively own, directly and indirectly, 59.27 per cent. of the Bank's outstanding shares. Accordingly, the Bank's largest shareholders may have the ability to individually or collectively exercise significant influence over the Bank's business, including matters relating to:

- the issuance of new securities;
- the election of the Bank's directors and supervisors;
- the Bank's management, especially the composition of its senior management, due to their significant influence over the Bank's Board;
- the Bank's business strategies and policies;
- the timing and amount of the distribution of dividends;
- any plans relating to mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures, investments or divestitures; and
- amendments to the Bank's articles of association (the "Articles of Association").

The Bank's largest shareholders may individually or collectively take actions that investors may not agree with or that are not in the best interests of the Bank or the Noteholders.

The Bank's operations management is dependent on the proper functioning and improvement of its information technology systems. Inability to maintain an effective technology system may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's business is highly dependent on the ability of its information technology systems to timely and accurately collect and process a large amount of financial and other information across numerous and diverse markets and products at its various branches and subsidiaries, at a time when transaction processes and volumes have become increasingly complex and large. The proper functioning of the Bank's financial control, risk management, accounting or other data collection and processing systems, together with the communication networks connecting the Bank's various branches and its main data processing centre, is critical to the Bank's businesses and to its ability to compete effectively. Although the Bank has backup systems that could be used in the event of catastrophe or failure of the primary systems, a partial or complete failure of any of these primary systems or communication networks could adversely affect the decision-making process, the risk management and internal controls of the Bank as well as its timely response to changing market conditions. If the Bank cannot maintain an effective data collection and management system, the Bank's business operations, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, the Bank must continually make significant investments, upgrades and improvements in its information technology infrastructure in order to remain competitive. The quality and timing of information available to and received by the Bank's management through its existing information systems may not be sufficient to manage risks or to plan for and respond to changes in market conditions and other developments in the Bank's operations. The Bank may experience difficulties in upgrading, developing and expanding its information technology systems quickly enough to accommodate its growing customer base.

The Bank generates and processes a large amount of data, and any improper use or disclosure of such data could subject us to significant reputational, financial, legal, and operational consequences, and deter current and potential customers from using its services.

The Bank generates and processes a large quantity of personal and transaction data. It faces risks inherent in handling large volumes of data and in protecting the security of such data. In particular, the Bank faces a number of challenges relating to data from transactions and other activities on its platforms, including:

- protecting the data in and hosted on its system, including against attacks on its system by outside parties or fraudulent behaviour by its employees;
- addressing concerns related to privacy and sharing, safety, security, and other factors; and
- complying with applicable laws, rules, and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, disclosure, or security of personal information, including any requests from regulatory and government authorities relating to such data.

Any systems failure or security breach or lapse that result in the release of user data could harm the Bank's reputation and brand and, consequently, its business, in addition to exposing it to potential legal liability. Any failure, or perceived failure, to comply with the Bank's privacy policies or with any regulatory requirements or privacy protection-related laws, rules, and regulations could result in proceedings or actions against it by governmental entities or others. These proceedings or actions may subject the Bank to significant penalties and negative publicity, require the Bank to change its business practices, increase its costs, and severely disrupt its business.

The Bank is subject to domestic and international laws relating to the collection, use, retention, security, and transfer of personally identifiable information, with respect to its customers and employees. In many cases, these laws do not only apply to third-party transactions, but may also restrict transfers of personally identifiable information among the Bank and its affiliates. Several jurisdictions have passed laws in this area, and other jurisdictions are considering imposing additional restrictions. These laws continue to develop and may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Complying with emerging and changing international requirements may cause the Bank to incur substantial costs or require it to change its business practices, and failure to comply with any data protection laws could subject the Bank to significant penalties and negative publicity and severely disrupt its operations.

The Bank may be affected by the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance.

On 7 July 2017, the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong Kong (the "FIRO") came into operation. The FIRO provides for, among other things, the establishment of a resolution regime for authorised institutions and other within scope financial institutions (as defined in FIRO) (including the holding company of a within scope financial institution) in Hong Kong which may be designated by the relevant resolution authorities, which may include the Bank to the extent it conducts licensed activities in Hong Kong. The resolution regime seeks to provide the relevant resolution authorities with administrative powers to bring about timely and orderly resolution in order to stabilise and secure continuity for a failing authorised institution or within scope financial institution (including the holding company of a within scope financial institution) in Hong Kong. In particular, the relevant resolution authority is provided with powers to affect contractual and

property rights as well as payments (including in respect of any priority of payment) that creditors would receive in resolution. These may include, but are not limited to, powers to cancel, write off, modify, convert or replace all or a part of the Notes or the principal amount of, or interest on, the Notes, and powers to amend or alter the contractual provisions of the Notes, all of which may adversely affect the value of the Notes, and the holders thereof may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result. Holders of Notes (whether senior or subordinated) may become subject to and bound by the FIRO. The implementation of FIRO remains untested and certain detail relating to FIRO will be set out through secondary legislation and supporting rules. Therefore, the Bank is unable to assess the full impact of FIRO on the financial system generally, the Bank's counterparties, the Bank, any of its consolidated subsidiaries, its operations and/or its financial position.

Certain PRC regulations limit the Bank's ability to diversify its investments, and as a result, a decrease in the value of a particular type of investment may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

As a result of current PRC regulatory restrictions, substantially all of the Bank's Renminbi-denominated investment assets are concentrated in a limited number of investments permitted for PRC commercial banks, such as debt securities issued by central governments and central banks, public sector entities, banks and other financial institutions. The Bank is only permitted to a limited degree to invest in debt and equity securities of eligible corporate entities. These restrictions on the Bank's ability to diversify its investment portfolio limit the Bank's ability to seek an optimal return. In addition, the Bank is exposed to a certain level of risk as a result of the concentration of its Renminbi-denominated investment securities. For example, any deterioration of the financial condition of commercial banks in China would increase the risks associated with holding their debt securities. Consequently, a decrease in the value of any of these types of investments could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may be subject to administrative sanctions, fines and other penalties for violations, particularly for using its funds in a manner that is inconsistent with, or impermissible under, the applicable limitations set forth in the PRC Commercial Banking Law.

The PRC Commercial Banking Law, which became effective in July 1995 and last amended in 2015, prohibits any investment by a PRC financial institution in a non-financial institution. The Bank's holdings or investments were completed prior to the enactment of the 1995 PRC Commercial Banking Law. The Bank has been unable to completely dispose of these investments primarily because: (1) certain of these institutions are undergoing bankruptcy or liquidation; (2) the Bank's investments in certain institutions is small, making it difficult to find a buyer for these investments; and (3) the Bank is unable to find buyers for some of the investments due to their poor market liquidity and low rates of return. The Bank has been active in its efforts to terminate these investments, including making provisions for impairment; writing off or disposing of these investments in accordance with relevant rules and policy changes; actively seeking purchasers for its shareholdings in these institutions; and otherwise disposing of these investments in accordance with reasonable market terms. While the Bank has not been subject to any material administrative sanctions, fines or other penalties for such investments, there can be no assurance that the relevant regulatory authorities would not take additional actions against the Bank in the future. Any future administrative sanctions, fines or other penalties, including those discussed above, may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank is subject to various PRC and overseas regulatory requirements, and the Bank's failure to fully comply with such requirements, if any, could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation.

The Bank is subject to various PRC and overseas regulatory requirements, and the PRC and overseas regulatory authorities conduct periodic inspections, examinations and inquiries in respect of its compliance with such

requirements. On occasion the Bank fails to comply with certain requirements and guidelines set by the relevant regulatory authorities. If sanctions, fines and other penalties are imposed on the Bank for failing to comply with applicable requirements, guidelines or regulations, the Bank's business, financial condition, results of operations and its reputation may be materially and adversely affected.

Notwithstanding that such business activities may not themselves be subject to sanctions, the Group may face secondary sanctions if it is determined to be providing material support to countries or entities that are the subject of sanctions. If the Group engages in any prohibited transactions by any means, or if it is otherwise determined that any of its transactions violated sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. State Department, any other agency of the U.S. government, the United Kingdom, the European Union or any other relevant governmental entity, the Group could be subject to penalties, and the Group's reputation and ability to conduct future business in the United States or with U.S. entities, or in other relevant jurisdictions, could be affected, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations and the Issuer's ability to make payments, and satisfy the Group's other obligations, under the Notes may also be adversely affected.

The Bank is subject to counterparty risks in its derivative transactions.

The Bank acts primarily as an intermediary in domestic and international foreign exchange and derivative markets, and the Bank currently has foreign currency forward and swap arrangements with a number of domestic and international banks, financial institutions and other entities. The Bank also has interest rate swap arrangements. The Bank does not typically enter into foreign currency or interest rate derivative arrangements for its own account but are subject to credit risk from its various counterparties. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's derivative financial assets and liabilities amounted to RMB67,387 million and RMB50,975 million, respectively. Although the Bank believes that the overall credit quality of its counterparties is adequate, there can be no assurances that parties which the Bank has significant exposures to will not face difficulty in paying amounts on derivative contracts when due.

The Bank has expanded its business in jurisdictions other than China, which has increased the complexity of the risks that the Bank faces.

In recent years, the Bank has continued to expand its international operations. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had overseas subsidiaries branches and representative offices in Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg (including the representative office). As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had established 23 overseas branches (sub-branches) and representative offices in 18 countries and regions, with 69 overseas operating outlets. The Bank's international expansion into multiple jurisdictions exposes it to a variety of regulatory and business challenges and risks and has increased the complexity of the Bank's risks in a number of areas, including currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, regulatory and compliance risk, reputational risk and operational risk. The loan portfolio of the Bank's international branches includes foreign currency-denominated loans to PRC companies engaged in international trade. This exposes the Bank to additional risks including default risk resulting from the failure in the performance of the import or export agreements by any party, trade protectionist measures or other factors, and the Bank's inexperience in various aspects of the economic and legal framework in overseas markets. Adverse market conditions in these international jurisdictions may result in mark-to-market and realised losses on the investment assets held by the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries and increase their cost of funding. Furthermore, despite the Bank's best efforts to comply with all applicable regulations in all the jurisdictions in which the Bank operates, there may be incidents of its failure to comply with the regulations in certain jurisdictions. Regulators have the power to bring administrative or judicial proceedings against the Bank or its employees, representatives, agents and third-party service providers, which could result, among other things, in suspension or revocation of one or more of the Bank's licenses, cease and desist orders, fines, civil penalties, criminal penalties or other disciplinary actions. In addition, the recent global financial crisis is expected to lead to significant regulatory changes in various jurisdictions, including those in which the Bank has operations. These changes may include changes with respect to capital and liquidity ratios, cross-border capital flows and consumer protection.

The extent and impact of such changes is difficult to anticipate and estimate and such changes could have an adverse impact on the Bank's growth, capital adequacy and profitability. If the Bank is unable to manage the risks resulting from its international expansion, its business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The Bank may not possess the relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates in respect of some of the properties held by it, and the Bank may be required to seek alternative premises for some of its offices due to its landlords' lack of relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates.

The Bank may not hold the land use right certificates or building ownership certificates of some land or buildings it occupies. The Bank will apply for relevant land use right certificates and building ownership certificates that it does not yet hold. Upon obtaining the relevant certificates for these properties, the Bank will have the legal right to occupy, let, transfer and mortgage such property. The Bank may not be able to obtain all of the title deeds for the defective properties and the Bank is uncertain how the Bank's rights as owner/occupier of these defective properties would be adversely affected as a result of the absence of the title deeds as described above.

The Bank leases multiple properties as its operating offices for its branches in China. There can be no assurance that the lessors of all these properties possess the relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates and third parties may therefore challenge the validity of the Bank's lease. If any of the Bank's leases were terminated as a result of being challenged by third parties, the Bank may be forced to seek alternative premises for these offices. If the Bank fails to find alternatives of these offices with acceptable terms, the Bank's business, financial conditions and operation performance may be adversely affected.

The Bank has increased its allowance for impairment losses to cover future actual losses and estimated losses to its loan portfolio in accordance with the implementation of IFRS 9.

The Bank determines a level of allowance for impairment losses and recognises any related provisions made in a year using the concept of impairment under IFRS 9. The Bank's provisioning policies may be different in certain respects from those of banks incorporated in certain other countries or regions which do not assess loans under IFRS 9. As a result, the Bank's allowance for impairment losses, as determined under the provisioning policies, may differ from those that would be reported if it was incorporated in those countries or regions.

As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Bank's allowance for impairment losses were RMB160,089 million, RMB176,178 million and RMB203,775 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Bank's provision coverage ratio, calculated by dividing the outstanding balance of its impairment allowances by the outstanding balance of impaired loans, was 166.50 per cent., 180.68 per cent and 195.21 per cent., respectively. The Bank's business, financial position and results of operations may be affected by its policies regarding provisioning. If the Bank's approach to provisioning policies proves not to be adequate, the Bank's business, financial position and results of operations may be negatively affected, which in turn may negatively affect the Bank's ability to service the Notes and to satisfy its other obligations under the Notes.

Historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results of operations.

The historical financial information of the Group included in this Offering Circular may not be indicative of its current or future financial results. With effect from 1 January 2023, the Group adopted IFRS 17 under which

the Group was required to adjust certain amounts recognised in the Group's audited consolidated financial statements. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to the financial reports and reorganised the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports. For further details regarding the restatement, please refer to Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) of the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements for the effects of the adoption of IFRS 17.

Investors should note that the Group's financial information is not intended to represent or predict the results of operations of any future periods. The Group's future results of operations may change materially if its future growth does not follow the historical trends for various reasons, including factors beyond the Group's control, such as changes in economic environment, changes in laws and regulations applicable to the Group's business, and the competitive landscape of the industries in which the Group operates its business. Furthermore, the future results of operations of the Group may also fluctuate or change materially as a result of the business model of the Group and the accounting treatments applied thereto. Since the historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results of operations, there is no assurance that the Group will not record an operating loss in the future, which may have a negative effect on the Group's payment capabilities.

Risks Relating to the PRC Banking Industry

The highly competitive nature of the PRC banking industry could adversely affect the Bank's profitability.

The PRC banking industry is intensely competitive. The Bank competes primarily with the other four largest PRC commercial banks (including Industrial & Commercial Bank of China, Agricultural Bank of China, China Construction Bank and Bank of China), as well as to a lesser extent with other national commercial banks and foreign financial institutions. Certain of the other largest PRC commercial banks may have greater financial and other resources than the Bank does and may be able to provide more access to customers due to their geographical coverage. In addition, the expansion of joint stock commercial banks in the PRC has intensified competition. In particular, some of these commercial banks may have less impaired loans due to their shorter operating history or better credit management. Furthermore, many other PRC commercial banks compete with the Bank for substantially the same loan, deposit and fee customers.

Following the removal of regulatory restrictions on foreign-invested commercial banks' geographical presence, customer base and operating license in China in December 2006 as part of WTO accession commitments, the Bank has experienced increased competition from such banks. Furthermore, the Mainland and Hong Kong Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement, which permits smaller Hong Kong banks to operate in China, has also increased competition in China's banking industry.

The increased competitive pressures resulting from these and other factors may materially and adversely affect the Bank's business and prospects, as well as have a material adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations by, among other things:

- reducing the Bank's market share in its principal products and services;
- affecting the growth of the Bank's loan or deposit portfolios and other products and services;
- decreasing the Bank's interest income or increasing its interest expense, thereby decreasing its net interest margin;
- reducing the Bank's fee and commission income;
- increasing the Bank's non-interest expenses, such as marketing expenses;

- deteriorating the Bank's asset quality; and
- increasing competition for senior management and qualified professional personnel.

The Bank's businesses are highly regulated and the Bank may be materially and adversely affected by future regulatory changes.

The Bank's business and operations are directly affected by changes in China's policies, laws and regulations relating to the banking industry, such as those affecting the extent to which the Bank can engage in specific businesses, as well as changes in other governmental policies. The principal regulators of the PRC banking industry include the NAFR, the PBOC and the National Audit Office.

In exercising their authority, these regulators are given wide discretion. The bank regulatory regime in China has been undergoing significant changes, some of which are applicable to the Bank and may result in additional costs or restrictions on the Bank's activities. There can be no assurance that the policies, laws and regulations governing the banking industry will not change in the future or that any such changes will not materially and adversely affect the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operations nor can there be any assurance that the Bank will be able to adapt to all such changes on a timely basis. In addition, there may be uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of new policies, laws and regulations. Failure to comply with the applicable policies, laws and regulations may result in fines and restrictions on the Bank's activities, which could also have a significant adverse impact on the Bank's business.

The rate of growth of the PRC banking market may not be sustainable.

The Bank expects the banking market in the PRC to expand as a result of anticipated growth in the PRC's economy, increases in household income, further social welfare reform, demographic changes and the opening of the PRC's banking market to foreign participants. The prospective impact on the PRC banking industry of certain trends and events, such as the pace of economic growth in the PRC, the PRC's implementation of its commitment to WTO accession and the ongoing reform of the social welfare system is currently not clear. Consequently, there can be no assurance that the growth and development of the PRC banking market will be sustainable.

Fluctuations in interest rates as well as the Bank's limited ability to adjust the interest rates the Bank charge on its assets or pay on its liabilities may adversely affect the Bank's lending operations and its financial condition.

As with most commercial banks, results of the Bank's operations depend to a great extent on its net interest income. Fluctuations in interest rates could affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations and profitability in different ways. For example, a decrease in interest rates may reduce the Bank's interest income as well as yields from interest-earning investments. An increase in interest rates may decrease the value of the Bank's investment debt securities portfolio and raise its funding costs. In addition, an increase in interest rates may reduce overall demand for loans, and, accordingly, reduce the Bank's origination of new loans, as well as increase the risk of customer default. Interest rate fluctuations will also affect the market value of and return on derivative financial instruments. Volatility in interest rates may also result in a gap between the Bank's interest rate sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive liabilities. As a result, the Bank may be required to incur additional costs to adjust its interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities, and its net interest income may decrease.

In addition, increasing competition in the banking industry and further liberalisation of the interest rate regime may result in more volatility in market interest rates. If the interest rates the Bank pays for its deposits increase to a greater extent than the interest rates the Bank receives for its loans, the Bank's net interest margin will narrow, leading to a reduction in the Bank's net interest income. Increases in interest rates might also affect borrowers' financial condition and hence their ability to repay loans.

As a result, fluctuations in interest rates may adversely affect the Bank's deposit taking and lending operations and its financial condition.

Results of the Bank's operations may be materially and adversely affected if the PBOC further liberalises the regulation of interest rates.

In recent years, the PBOC has adopted reform measures to liberalise China's interest rate regime. For example, in 2002, the PBOC substantially liberalised interest rates for foreign currency-denominated loans and deposits. In October 2004, the PBOC eliminated restrictions in respect of the maximum interest rate for Renminbidenominated loans and the minimum interest rate for Renminbi-denominated deposits. In June 2012, the PBOC adjusted the upper limit for the floating range of interest rates on deposits and the lower limit for such floating range of interest rates on loans.

On 19 July 2013, the PBOC published the "Notice on Furthering Market-based Interest Rate Reform" pursuant to which, other than the restriction that commercial banks in China cannot set interest rates for Renminbidenominated residential mortgage loans below 70 per cent. of the relevant PBOC benchmark rate applicable (since 27 October 2008), restrictions on the loan interest rates were fully liberalised. According to existing PBOC regulations, Renminbi-denominated deposits in commercial banks in China remain subject to restrictions and the interest rate for Renminbi-denominated deposits cannot be set above 150 per cent. of the relevant PBOC benchmark rate. On 25 October 2013, the PBOC introduced a new prime lending rate, officially known as the "loan prime rate", which is based on a weighted average of lending rates from nine commercial banks. In recent years, the PBOC has adjusted the benchmark interest rates several times. The PBOC released the Announcement No. 15 [2019] – Announcement of the People's Bank of China on the Decision to Reform and Improve the Formation Mechanism of Loan Prime Rate (LPR) on 16 August 2019, for the purposes of deepening the market-oriented reform of interest rate, improving the transmission efficiency of interest rate, and promoting the reduction of the financing cost of the real economy.

Considering the status and trends of China's reform on interest rates, the PBOC may further promote the market-orientation reform in respect of the interest rates actively and steadily and liberalise the restrictions on the interest rates. If the existing regulations were substantially liberalised or eliminated, competition in China's banking industry would likely intensify as China's commercial banks seek to offer more attractive rates to customers. Further adjustments by the PBOC to the benchmark interest rates or liberalisation by the PBOC would result in the narrowing of the spread in the average interest rates between Renminbi-denominated loans and Renminbi-denominated deposits, thereby materially and adversely affecting the Banks's business, financial conditions and results of operations, and further affecting the Bank's ability to perform its obligations under the Notes.

The effectiveness of the Bank's credit risk management system is affected by the quality and scope of information available in the PRC.

National credit information databases developed by the PBOC have been operational for a few years. However, due to limitations on the availability of information and the developing information infrastructure in China, national credit information databases are generally under-developed and are not able to provide complete credit information on many of the Bank's credit applicants. Therefore, the Bank's assessment of the credit risk associated with a particular customer may not be based on complete, accurate or reliable information. As a result, the Bank's ability to effectively manage its credit risk may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank cannot guarantee the accuracy of facts and statistics contained in this Offering Circular with respect to the PRC, its economy or its banking industry or its leasing industry.

Some of the facts and statistics in this Offering Circular relating to the PRC, its economy and its banking industry are derived from various official and other publicly available sources generally believed to be reliable.

However, the Bank cannot guarantee the quality and reliability of such sources. In addition, these facts and statistics have not been independently verified by the Bank and therefore the Bank makes no representation as to the accuracy of such facts and statistics, which may not be consistent with other information compiled within or outside the PRC and may not be complete or up to date. Due to possibly flawed or ineffective collection methods or discrepancies between published information and market practice and other problems, the statistics herein may be inaccurate or may not be comparable from period to period or to statistics produced for other economies and should not be unduly relied upon.

Risks Relating to the PRC

Substantially all of the Bank's assets are located in the PRC, and substantially all of the Bank's revenues are derived from its operations in the PRC. Accordingly, the Bank's financial condition, results of operations and prospects will be affected to a significant extent by economic, political and legal developments in the PRC.

PRC economic, political and social conditions and government policies could affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operation.

A substantial majority of the Bank's businesses, assets and operations are located in China. Accordingly, the Bank's financial condition, results of operations and business prospects are, to a significant degree, subject to the economic, political and legal developments in China. China's economic development model differs from that of most developed countries in many respects, including, among other things, government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources.

China's economy has historically been subject to macro-control by the government. A substantial portion of productive assets in China is still state-owned by the PRC government. The government also exercises significant control over China's economic growth by allocating resources, setting monetary or fiscal policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. These measures are aimed to benefit the overall economy of the PRC, but some of them may have a negative effect on certain industries, including the commercial banking industry. For example, the Bank's operating results may be adversely affected by government control over capital investments or changes in, interpretation of, and application of applicable tax regulations.

The global crisis in financial services and credit markets in 2008 caused a slowdown in the economic growth in many countries, including the PRC. Although the PRC's economic growth has increased compared to its level immediately after the global financial crisis, it has displayed signs of slowdown as evidenced by a decrease in the growth rate of the PRC's GDP in recent years. This was caused by a combination of factors most of which are beyond the Bank's control, such as the global economic conditions, governmental policies and changes in market dynamics globally and regionally, the trade war between the United States and China and global pandemic. In 2023, the PRC government reported a GDP of RMB126.06 trillion, representing year-on-year growth of 5.2 per cent. Although the PRC government has recently taken several measures and actions with an aim to increase investors' confidence in the PRC economy, there can be no assurance that those measures will be effective. There are uncertainties relating to the overall prospects for the global and the PRC economies this year and beyond, which may have a material adverse impact on the Bank's business, prospects, financial conditions and results of operations. Furthermore, the sustained tension between China and the United States over trade policies could undermine the stability of the global economy. China and the United States have recently been involved in disputes over trade barriers that have created trade tensions between the two countries. Both countries have implemented tariffs on certain imported products from the other, casting uncertainty over tariffs and barrier to entry for products on both sides. The two governments have entered into an initial phase one agreement to resolve the disputes on 15 January 2020. However, there are uncertainties as to when and whether the phase two negotiations will begin and whether the two governments will fulfil their respective obligations under the phase one agreement and ultimately whether the trade disputes will be resolved and trade barriers lifted.

All these would add to the uncertainties relating to the overall prospects for the global and the PRC economies this year and beyond, which may have a material adverse impact to the Group's business, prospects, financial conditions and results of operations.

Interpretation and implementation of PRC laws and regulations may involve uncertainties.

The Bank is incorporated and exist under the laws of PRC. The PRC legal system is based on written statutes. Since the late 1970s, China has promulgated laws and regulations dealing with such economic matters as the issuance and trading of securities, foreign investment, corporate organisation and governance, commerce, taxation and trade. However, as many of these laws and regulations are relatively new and continue to evolve, especially with respect to the PRC banking regulatory regime, these laws and regulations may be subject to different interpretations and inconsistently enforced. In addition, there is only a limited volume of published court decisions, which may be cited for reference but are not binding on subsequent cases and have limited precedential value. These uncertainties relating to the interpretation and implementation of PRC laws and regulations may adversely affect the legal protections and remedies that are available to the Bank in its operations.

It may be difficult to effect service of process or to enforce any judgments obtained from non-PRC courts against the Bank and its management residing in the PRC.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the transaction documents are governed by English law and the Bank has submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. However, the Bank is a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC, and substantially all of the Bank's business, assets and operations are located in the PRC. In addition, a majority of the Bank's directors, supervisors and executive officers reside in the PRC, and substantially all of the assets of such directors, supervisors and executive officers are located in the PRC. Therefore, it may be difficult for investors to effect service of process from outside of the PRC upon the Bank or those persons residing in the PRC.

Moreover, it is understood that the enforcement of foreign judgments in the PRC is still subject to uncertainties. In addition, the mechanisms for enforcement of rights under the corporate governance framework to which the Group is subject are also relatively undeveloped and untested. The PRC has not entered into treaties or arrangements providing for the recognition and enforcement of judgments made by the courts in most other jurisdictions. Therefore, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process upon the Bank or its management in the PRC.

On 14 July 2006, the Supreme People's Court of the PRC and the Hong Kong government signed the Arrangement on Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters by the Courts of the Mainland and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Pursuant to Choice of Court Agreements between Parties Concerned (關於內地與香港特別行政區法院相互認可和執行當事人協議管轄的民商事案件判決的安排) (the "Arrangement"). On 18 January 2019, Hong Kong and the PRC entered into the Arrangement on Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters by the Courts of the Mainland and Hong Kong (關於內地與香港特別行政區法院相互認可和執行民商事案件判決的安排) (the "New Arrangement"), which establishes a bilateral legal mechanism with greater clarity and certainty for recognition and enforcement of judgments in a wider range of civil and commercial matters between the courts of Hong Kong and the PRC. The Supreme People's Court promulgated a judicial interpretation to implement the New Arrangement on 26 January 2024 (the "Judicial Interpretation"), and thus the New Arrangement came into operation on 29 January 2024 and terminated the Arrangement on the same date, which applies to judgments made on or after 29 January 2024.

Unlike other notes issued in the international capital markets where holders of such notes would typically not be required to submit to an exclusive jurisdiction, the Noteholders will be deemed to have submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. Thus, the Noteholders' ability to initiate a claim outside Hong Kong will be limited.

Under the New Arrangement, if the Hong Kong court has given a legally effective judgment in a civil and commercial matter, any party concerned may apply to the relevant People's Court of the Mainland for recognition and enforcement of the judgment, subject to the provisions, limits, procedures and other terms and requirements of the New Arrangement and the Judicial Interpretation. The recognition and enforcement of a Hong Kong court judgment could be refused if the relevant People's Court of the Mainland consider that the enforcement of such judgment is contrary to the basic principles of law of the Mainland or the social and public interests of the Mainland. While it is expected that the PRC courts will recognise and enforce a judgment given by a Hong Kong court and governed by English law, there can be no assurance that the PRC courts will do so for all such judgments as there is no established practice in this area.

Any force majeure events, including future occurrence of natural disasters or outbreaks of contagious diseases in Asia and globally may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

Any force majeure events, including future occurrence of natural disasters or outbreaks of contagious diseases in Asia and globally, such as the COVID-19 outbreak, all variants of the avian influenza, severe acute respiratory syndrome ("SARS"), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome ("MERS"), Ebola virus, and swine flu caused by H1N1 virus ("H1N1 Flu"), may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business operations, financial condition and results of operations. Possible force majeure events may give rise to additional costs to be borne by the Bank and have adverse effects on the quality of the Bank's assets, business, financial condition and results of operations. An outbreak of a health epidemic or contagious disease could result in a widespread health crisis and restrict the level of business activity in affected areas, which may in turn adversely affect the Bank's business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

In particular, the COVID-19 pandemic has been one of the most significant global health crises in recent times. COVID-19 and the administrative actions taken by governments have caused substantial disruptions in the PRC and international economies and markets as well as additional uncertainties in the Group's operating environment. While the WHO has in May 2023 declared that COVID-19 is no longer a global health emergency and there has been a gradual recovery in economic activity due to governments gradually loosening up the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions including lockdowns and social distancing measures and the roll out of vaccination programmes, regional resurgence of COVID-19 or emergence of new COVID-19 variants may occur in the future and it is difficult to predict the extent to which the Bank may be affected.

Any occurrence of a similar epidemic with a severe domestic or global impact, such as avian influenza, SARS, MERS, Ebola virus, and H1N1 Flu, could restrict the level of economic activities generally and/or slow down or disrupt the Bank's business activities including, but not limited to, a decline in demand for residential mortgage advances, a reduction in the number of customers visiting the Bank's branches and an adverse impact on asset quality due to a weakened economy and higher unemployment rate which could in turn adversely affect the Bank's business or financial condition or results of operations.

Moreover, China has experienced natural disasters like earthquakes, floods and drought in the past few years. Any future occurrence of severe natural disasters in China may adversely affect its economy and in turn the Bank's business. The Bank will continue to pay close attention to the progression of the epidemic and actively assess and respond to its impacts on the Bank's financial position and operating results. There can be no assurance that the Bank's business operation, financial condition and result of operations would not be adversely affected if an outbreak of a similar pandemic such as COVID-19, avian influenza, SARS, MERS, Ebola virus,

H1N1 Flu or another highly contagious disease, or the measures taken by the PRC government or other countries in response to such future outbreak of epidemics. There can be no assurance that the Bank's business operation, financial condition and result of operations would not be adversely affected if another outbreak of a natural disaster occurs.

Risk Relating to the Notes issued under the Programme

Potential investors should not place undue reliance on the financial information incorporated by reference that is not audited.

This Offering Circular incorporates the most recently published unaudited but reviewed interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Bank published from time to time after the date of this Offering Circular in each case together with any review reports prepared in connection therewith, as well as the most recently published unaudited consolidated quarterly interim reports, published subsequent to the most recently published condensed consolidated financial statements of the Bank. The Bank publishes its consolidated quarterly interim reports in respect of the three months ended 31 March and 30 September of each financial year. A copy of the quarterly interim reports can be found on the website of the HKSE.

The quarterly interim reports have not been and will not be audited by the Bank's auditors and were and will be prepared under IFRS. The quarterly interim reports should not be relied upon by investors to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit. Potential investors should exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Bank's financial condition and results of operations. The quarterly interim reports should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition or results of operations of the Bank for the relevant full financial year.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the
 merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
 reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;
- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes may be complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to the purchaser's overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform underchanging conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

Additionally, the investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation to such series.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Fiscal Agent may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to (a) any modification (except such modifications in respect of which an increased quorum is required as mentioned above) of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement (as defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or (b) any modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law as described in Condition 11(b).

A change in English law which governs the Notes may adversely affect Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by English law in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the relevant Notes.

Additional procedures may be required to be taken to hear English law governed matters in the Hong Kong courts. There is also no assurance that the PRC courts will recognise and enforce judgments of the Hong Kong courts in respect of English law matters.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Programme documents are governed by English law, whereas parties to these documents have submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. In order to hear English law governed matters, Hong Kong courts may require certain additional procedures to be taken. Under the New Arrangement, judgments of Hong Kong courts are likely to be recognised and enforced by the PRC courts where the contracting parties to the transactions pertaining to such judgments have agreed to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of Hong Kong courts. However, recognition and enforcement of a Hong Kong court judgment could be refused if the PRC courts consider that the enforcement of such judgment is contrary to the social and public interest of the PRC or meets other circumstances specified by the New Arrangement. While it is expected that the PRC courts will recognise and enforce a judgment given by Hong Kong courts governed by English law, there can be no assurance that the PRC courts will do so for all such judgments as there is no established practice in this area. Compared to other similar debt securities issuances in the international capital markets where the relevant holders of the debt securities would not typically be required to submit to an exclusive jurisdiction, the Noteholders will be deemed to have submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts, and thus the holder's ability to initiate a claim outside of Hong Kong will be limited.

The Notes may be represented by Global Notes and holders of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System(s).

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Notes. Such Global Notes will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, or lodged with the CMU (each of Euroclear, Clearstream, and the CMU, a "Clearing System"). Except in the circumstances described in the relevant Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Definitive Notes. The relevant Clearing System(s) will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the Clearing Systems. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, or, as the case may be, to the relevant paying agent, in the case of the CMU, for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System(s) to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Notes. Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the relevant Clearing System(s) to appoint appropriate proxies.

Noteholders should be aware that Definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Notes may be issued with a minimum denomination. The Pricing Supplement of a Tranche of Notes may provide that, for so long as the Notes are represented by a Global Note and the relevant Clearing System(s) so permit, the Notes will be tradable in nominal amounts (i) equal to, or integral multiples of, the minimum denomination, and (ii) the minimum denomination plus integral multiples of an amount lower than the minimum denomination. Definitive Notes will only be issued if the relevant Clearing System(s) is/are closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announce(s) an intention to permanently cease business. The Pricing Supplement may provide that, if Definitive Notes are issued, such Notes will be issued in respect of all holdings of Notes equal to or greater than the minimum denomination. However, Noteholders should be aware that Definitive Notes that have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade. Definitive Notes will in no circumstances be issued to any person holding Notes in an amount lower than the minimum denomination and such Notes will be cancelled and holders will have no rights against the Issuer (including rights to receive principal or interest or to vote) in respect of such Notes.

Risks Relating to the Structure of a Particular Issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features:

The relevant Issuer may redeem outstanding notes for tax reasons.

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies otherwise, in the event that the relevant Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Hong Kong, PRC, or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer may have a lower market value than Notes that cannot be redeemed.

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any redemption period. The relevant Issuer may be expected to exercise its right to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At such times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Index linked Notes and dual currency Notes.

Notes may be issued with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a "Relevant Factor"). In addition, Notes may be issued with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

- the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- they may receive no interest;
- payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable will likely be magnified; and
- the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index should not be viewed as an indication of the future performance of such index during the term of any index linked Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any index linked Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.

Failure by an investor to pay a subsequent instalment of partly-paid Notes may result in an investor losing all of its investment.

Notes may be issued where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of its investment.

The market price of variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor may be volatile.

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile securities. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

Inverse floating rate Notes are typically more volatile than conventional floating rate debt.

Inverse floating rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference rate. The market values of such Notes are typically more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse floating rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

Notes carrying an interest rate which may be converted from fixed to floating interest rates and vice versa, may have lower market values than other Notes.

Fixed or floating rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the relevant Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The relevant Issuer's ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes since such Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the relevant Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the fixed or floating rate Notes may be less favourable than the then prevailing spreads on comparable floating rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the relevant Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than the then prevailing rates on its Notes.

The regulation and reform of "benchmark" rates of interest and indices may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks".

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be or used as "benchmarks" (including the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR")), have been the subject of national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others have yet to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Note linked to or referencing such a benchmark.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed). Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") among other things, applies to the provision of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark in the UK. Similarly, it prohibits the use in the UK by UK supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised by the UK Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") or registered on the FCA register (or, if non-UK based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

The euro risk free-rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates. On 4 December 2023, the group issued its final statement, announcing completion of its mandate.

Such factors may have the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discourage market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmark or (iii) lead to the disappearance of the "benchmark". Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

The Conditions provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a Benchmark Event occurs, including if an inter-bank offered rate (such as EURIBOR) or other relevant reference rate (which could include, without limitation, a mid-swap rate), and/or any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any successor service) becomes unavailable, or if any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party is no longer permitted lawfully to calculate interest on any Notes by reference to such benchmark. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate (both as defined in the Conditions), with or without the application of an Adjustment Spread (as defined in the Conditions). Adjustment Spread is (i) the spread or a formula or methodology for calculating a spread which is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate (as defined in the Conditions) with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body (as defined in the Conditions); (ii) if no such recommendation has been made or in the case of an Alternative Reference Rate, the spread, formula or methodology which the Independent Adviser (as defined in the Conditions) (in consultation with the relevant Issuer) or the relevant Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable) determines is recognised or acknowledged as being in customary market usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable); or (iii) if the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the relevant Issuer) or the relevant Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable) determines that no such customary market usage is recognised or acknowledged, the spread, formula or methodology which the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the relevant Issuer) or the relevant Issuer in its discretion (as applicable), determines (acting in a reasonable manner) to be appropriate, having regard to the objective, so far as is reasonably practicable in the circumstances, of reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to the Noteholders. There is no guarantee that any Adjustment Spread will be determined or applied. If no Adjustment Spread is determined, a Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate may nonetheless be used to determine the Rate of Interest.

The use of any such Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate or, if applied, Adjustment Spread to determine the Rate of Interest may result in Notes linked to or referencing the initial inter-bank offered rate or other relevant reference rate performing differently (including paying a lower Rate of Interest) than they would do if the initial inter-bank offered rate or other relevant reference rate (as applicable) were to continue to apply in its current form.

Under these fallback arrangements, the Issuer will use all reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably practicable, an Independent Adviser (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) to determine the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) no later than five Business Days (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date (the "IA Determination Cut-off Date"), but in the event that the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) is unable to

appoint an Independent Adviser, or such Independent Adviser fails to determine the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) prior to the relevant IA Determination Cut-off Date, the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) will have discretion to, amongst other things, determine the relevant Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable). There can be no assurance that such Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) determined by the Issuer will be set at a level which is on terms commercially acceptable to all Noteholders.

In certain circumstances, the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of Rate of Interest for a particular Interest Accrual Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Accrual Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. Due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of Successor Rates and Alternative Reference Rates, any determinations that may need to be made by the Issuer with the involvement of an Independent Adviser entails a risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant reference rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, the Floating Rate Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the EU Benchmarks Regulation, the UK Benchmarks Regulation or any other international or national reforms, in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

The market prices of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Investors may lose part or all of their investment in any Index-Linked Notes issued.

If, in the case of a particular Tranche of Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that the Notes are Index Linked Notes or variable redemption amount Notes, there is a risk that the investor may lose the value of its entire investment or part of it.

Perpetual Notes may be issued for which investors have no right to require redemption.

Any perpetual Notes issued under the Programme are perpetual and have no fixed final maturity date. Holders of perpetual Notes have no right to require the Issuer to redeem perpetual Notes at any time, and an investor who acquires perpetual Notes may only dispose of such perpetual Notes by sale.

Holders of perpetual Notes who wish to sell their perpetual Notes may be unable to do so at a price at or above the amount they have paid for them, or at all. Therefore, holders of perpetual Notes should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of an investment in perpetual Notes for an indefinite period of time.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks.

The Programme is rated "A2" by Moody's "A" by Fitch. The rating is only correct as at the date of this Offering Circular. Each Tranche of Notes may be rated or unrated and one or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market and additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy,

sell or hold securities. The rating can be lowered or withdrawn at any time. On 10 April 2024, Fitch updated its sovereign credit rating for China, maintaining A+ rating while lowering its outlook to negative, which may affect the outlook or rating of the Notes in the future. A reduction or withdrawn of a rating may adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

Risks Relating to the Market Generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

Notes issued under the Programme have no current active trading market and may trade at a discount to their initial offering price and/or with limited liquidity.

Notes issued under the Programme will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no active trading market (unless in the case of any particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Notes which is already issued). There can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the Notes or that an active trading market will develop. The liquidity of the Notes could be affected by various factors, and in particular, if a limited number of investors subscribes for a significant portion of the Notes. Such investors may include the Issuer and entities affiliated with the Issuer. If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. If the Notes are trading at a discount, investors may not be able as receive a favourable price for their Notes, and in some circumstances investors may not be able to sell their Notes at all or at their fair market value. Although an application will be made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing on the HKSE, there is no assurance that such application will be accepted, that any particular Tranche of Notes will be so admitted or that an active trading market will develop. In addition, the market for investment grade and crossover grade debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in prices of securities similar to the Notes that may be issued under the Programme. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market, or that disruptions will not occur, for any particular Tranche of Notes.

This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have an adverse effect on the market value of the Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls may result in investors receiving less interest or principal than expected.

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the currency specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement (the "Specified Currency"). This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Inventor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of fixed rate Notes.

Investment in fixed rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of fixed rate Notes.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Risks Relating to Renminbi-denominated Notes

Notes denominated in RMB ("RMB Notes") may be issued under the Programme. RMB Notes contain particular risks for potential investors.

Renminbi is not completely freely convertible; there are significant restrictions on remittance of Renminbi into or out of the PRC.

Renminbi is not completely freely convertible at present. The PRC government continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar, despite significant reduction in control by it in recent years over trade transactions involving the import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions. These transactions are known as current account items. However, remittance of Renminbi by foreign investors into the PRC for settlement of capital account items, such as capital contributions, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from or completing specific registrations or filing with the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into the PRC for settlement of capital account items are being adjusted from time to time to match the policies of the PRC government.

Although the Renminbi was added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by the International Monetary Fund in 2016, and the PBOC and the MOF have implemented policies for further improving accessibility to Renminbi to settle cross-border transactions in foreign currencies, there is no assurance that the PRC government will continue to gradually liberalise control over cross-border remittance of Renminbi in the future, that any pilot schemes for Renminbi cross-border utilisation will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or out of the PRC. Despite Renminbi internationalisation pilot programme and efforts in recent years to internationalise the currency, there can be no assurance that the PRC Government will not impose interim or long-term restrictions on the cross-border remittance of Renminbi. In the event that any regulatory restrictions inhibit the ability of the relevant Issuer to repatriate funds outside the PRC to meet its obligations under Notes denominated in Renminbi, the relevant Issuer will need to source Renminbi offshore to finance such obligations under the relevant Notes denominated in Renminbi, and its ability to do so will be subject to overall availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC.

In addition, holders of beneficial interest of the RMB Notes may be required to provide certifications and other information (including Renminbi account information) in order to allow such holder to receive payments in Renminbi in accordance with the Renminbi clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Kong.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes and the relevant Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service RMB Notes.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by the PRC government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability of Renminbi outside the PRC is limited. While the PBOC has entered into agreements on the clearing of Renminbi business (the "Settlement Arrangements") with financial institutions in a number of financial centres and cities (the "Renminbi Clearing Banks"), including but not limited to Hong Kong, London, Frankfurt and Singapore, has established the Cross-Border Inter-Bank Payments System (CIPS) to facilitate cross-border Renminbi settlement and is further in the process of establishing Renminbi clearing and settlement mechanisms in several other jurisdictions, the current size of Renminbi denominated financial assets outside the PRC remains limited.

There are restrictions imposed by the PBOC on Renminbi business participating banks in respect of cross-border Renminbi settlement, such as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises. Furthermore, Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from the PBOC. The Renminbi Clearing Banks only have access to onshore liquidity support from the PBOC to square open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions and are not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or conversion services. In such cases, the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from the offshore market to square such open positions.

The offshore Renminbi market is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the Settlement Arrangements will not be terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside the PRC. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes.

To the extent the relevant Issuer is required to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the RMB Notes, there is no assurance that the relevant Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Remittance of proceeds into or outside of the PRC in Renminbi may be difficult.

In the event that the relevant Issuer decides to remit some or all of the proceeds into the PRC in Renminbi, its ability to do so will be subject to obtaining all necessary approvals from, and/or registration or filing with, the relevant PRC government authorities. However, there can be no assurance that the necessary approvals from, and/or registration or filing with, the relevant PRC government authorities will be obtained at all or, if obtained, they will not be revoked or amended in the future.

In the event that the relevant Issuer does remit some or all of the proceeds into the PRC in Renminbi and the Issuer or subsequently is not able to repatriate funds outside the PRC in Renminbi, the relevant Issuer will need to source Renminbi outside the PRC to finance its obligations under the RMB Notes, and their ability to do so will be subject to the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC.

Investment in RMB Notes is subject to exchange rate risks.

The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions as well as other factors. In August 2015, the PBOC changed the way it calculates the mid-point price of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar, requiring the market-makers who submit for the PBOC's reference rates to consider the previous day's closing spot rate, foreign-exchange demand and supply as well as changes in major currency rates. This change, and other changes such as widening the trading band that may be implemented, may increase volatility in the value of the Renminbi against foreign currencies. In May 2017, the PBOC further decided to introduce countercyclical factors to offset the market pro-cyclicality, so that the midpoint quotes could adequately reflect China's

actual economic performance. However, the volatility in the value of the Renminbi against other currencies still exists. The relevant Issuer will make all payments of interest and principal with respect to the RMB Notes in Renminbi unless otherwise specified. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If an investor measures its investment returns by reference to a currency other than Renminbi, an investment in the RMB Notes entails foreign exchange related risks, including possible significant changes in the value of Renminbi relative to the currency by reference to which an investor measures its investment returns. Depreciation of Renminbi against such currency could cause a decrease in the effective yield of the RMB Notes below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss when the return on the RMB Notes is translated into such currency. Accordingly, the value of the investment made by a holder of the RMB Notes in that foreign currency will decline.

Payments with respect to the RMB Notes may be made only in the manner designated in the RMB Notes.

All payments to investors in respect of the RMB Notes will be made solely (i) for so long as the RMB Notes are represented by a temporary Global Note or a permanent Global Note (as defined in the Conditions) held with the common depositary, for Euroclear and Clearstream or with a sub-custodian for the CMU or any alternative clearing system by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong, or (ii) for so long as the Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained by or on behalf of the holder with a bank in Hong Kong in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations. The relevant Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

There may be PRC tax consequences with respect to investment in the RMB Notes

In considering whether to invest in the RMB Notes, investors should consult their individual tax advisers with regard to the application of PRC tax laws to their particular situation as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any other tax jurisdictions. The value of the holder's investment in the RMB Notes may be materially and adversely affected if the holder is required to pay PRC tax with respect to acquiring, holding or disposing of and receiving payments under those RMB Notes. In addition, there may be tax consequences for the investor, as a result of any foreign currency gains resulting from any investment in the RMB Notes.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to interest rate risks

The value of Renminbi payments under RMB Notes may be susceptible to interest rate fluctuations occurring within and outside the PRC, including PRC Renminbi repo rates and/or the Shanghai inter-bank offered rate. The PRC government has gradually liberalised its regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for Renminbi in markets outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for Renminbi in the PRC as a result of foreign exchange controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.

The RMB Notes may carry a fixed interest rate. Consequently, the trading price of such Notes will vary with the fluctuations in the Renminbi interest rates. If holders of RMB Notes propose to sell their Notes before their maturity, they may receive an offer lower than the amount they have invested.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of Part A of the relevant Pricing Supplement, shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or the Global Certificate representing each Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of the Pricing Supplement or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in Part A of the relevant Pricing Supplement. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in the Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are part of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Issuer") and are issued pursuant to an amended and restated agency agreement dated 7 June 2023 (as may be further amended, restated or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch as fiscal agent and the other agents named in it and with the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (as amended, restated or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Deed of Covenant") dated 7 June 2023 executed by the Issuer in relation to the Notes. The fiscal agent, the CMU lodging and paying agent, the other paying agents, the registrars, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Fiscal Agent", the "CMU Lodging and Paying Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent and the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent), the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agents" and the "Calculation Agent(s)". For the purposes of these terms and conditions (the "Conditions"), all references to the Fiscal Agent shall, with respect to a Series of Notes to be held in the CMU, be deemed to be a reference to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent and all such references shall be construed accordingly. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") relating to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") (the "Couponholders") and the holders of the receipts for the payment of instalments of principal (the "Receipts") relating to Notes in bearer form of which the principal is payable in instalments are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

As used in these Conditions, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

1 Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes") in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) shown hereon.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked Interest Note, an Index Linked Redemption Note (together with an Index Linked Interest Note, an "Index Linked Note"), an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note or a Partly Paid Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest

due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates") and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the "Register"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), "holder" (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

2 No Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

- (a) **No Exchange of Notes**: Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination. Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.
- (b) Transfer of Registered Notes: One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate, (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Noteholders. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request.
- (c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes: In the case of an exercise of an Issuer's or Noteholders' option in respect of, or a partial redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.

- (d) **Delivery of New Certificates**: Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2 (b) or (c) shall be available for delivery within five business days of receipt of the form of transfer or Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 6(e)) and surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such form of transfer, Exercise Notice or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the form of transfer, Exercise Notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).
- (e) **Transfer Free of Charge**: Transfers of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, partial redemption or exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).
- (f) Closed Periods: No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of, or payment of any Instalment Amount in respect of, that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days before any date on which Notes may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption or (iv) during the period of 15 days ending on (and including) any due date for any payment of principal or interest.

3 Covenant related to NDRC

The Issuer undertakes to report or cause to be reported the relevant information in connection with each Tranche of Notes, to the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC ("NDRC"), within the prescribed period and in accordance with the Administrative Measures for the Review and Registration of Medium- and Long-Term Foreign Debts of Enterprises (企业中长期外债审核登记管理办法(中华人民共和国国家发展和改革委员会令(第 56 号))) as issued by the NDRC and effective from 10 February 2023 and as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time.

4 Status

The Notes and the Receipts and the Coupons relating to them constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and the Receipts and the Coupons relating to them shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer, present and future.

5 Interest and other Calculations

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes: Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h).

(b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes:

- (i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(h). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.
- (ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.
- (iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified hereon.
 - (A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, if any. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon
- (y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon and
- (z) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise specified hereon.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
 - (x) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be either:
 - (1) the offered quotation; or
 - (2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time in the case of EURIBOR or Hong Kong time in the case of HIBOR) or 11.15 a.m. (Hong Kong time) or if, at or around that time it is notified that the fixing will be published at 2.30 p.m. (Hong Kong time), then as of 2.30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) (in the case of CNH HIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified hereon as being other than EURIBOR, HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided hereon.

- if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if sub-paragraph (x)(1) applies and (y) no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page, or, if subparagraph (x)(2) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page, in each case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall request, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks, or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
- (z) if paragraph (y) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would

have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is HIBOR or CNH HIBOR, the Hong Kong inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

(C) Benchmark Replacement

In addition, notwithstanding the provisions above in Condition 5(b), if the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to the relevant Reference Rate specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement when any Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) remains to be determined by such Reference Rate, then the following provisions shall apply:

- (i) the Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably practicable, an Independent Adviser to determine (acting in a reasonable manner), no later than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date relating to the next succeeding Interest Period (the "IA Determination Cut-off Date"), a Successor Rate or, alternatively, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative Reference Rate for the purposes of determining the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) applicable to the Notes;
- (ii) if the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser, or the Independent Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date, the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) may determine a Successor Rate or, if there is no Successor Rate, an Alternative Reference Rate;
- (iii) if a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) is determined in accordance with the preceding provisions, such Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) shall be the Reference Rate for each of the future Interest Periods (subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(b)(iii)(C); provided, however,

that if sub-paragraph (ii) applies and the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) is unable to or does not determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Interest Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the preceding Interest Period (or alternatively, if there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the rate of interest shall be the initial Rate of Interest) (subject, where applicable, to substituting the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate Interest that applied to such preceding Interest Period for the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate Interest that is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period); for the avoidance of doubt, the proviso in this sub-paragraph (iii) shall apply to the relevant Interest Period only and any subsequent Interest Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(b)(iii)(C);

- (iv) if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) determines a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) in accordance with the above provisions, the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) (as applicable), may also specify changes to these Conditions, including but not limited to the Day Count Fraction, Relevant Screen Page, Business Day Convention, business days, Interest Determination Date and/or the definition of Reference Rate applicable to the Notes, and the method for determining the fallback rate in relation to the Notes, if such changes are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Reference Rate and/ or Adjustment Spread (as applicable). If the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable), determines that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) and determines the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable). If the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable) is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread. For the avoidance of doubt, the Fiscal Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 5(b)(iii)(C). Noteholder or Couponholder consent shall not be required in connection with effecting the Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) or such other changes, including for the execution of any documents or other steps by the Fiscal Agent (if required); and
- (v) the Issuer shall promptly, following the determination of any Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable), give notice thereof to the Fiscal Agent, Noteholders and Couponholders, which shall specify the effective date(s) for such Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) and any consequential changes made to these Conditions,

provided that the determination of any Successor Rate or Alternative Reference Rate, and any other related changes to the Notes, shall be made in accordance with applicable law.

In these Conditions:

- "Adjustment Spread" means (a) a spread (which may be positive or negative or zero) or (b) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
- in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or;
- (2) in the case of a Successor Rate for which no such recommendation has been made or in the case of an Alternative Reference Rate, the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable) determines is recognised or acknowledged as being in customary market usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable); or
- (3) (if the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer (acting in a reasonable manner) (as applicable) determines that no such customary market usage is recognised or acknowledged, the Independent Adviser (in consultation with the Issuer) or the Issuer in its discretion (as applicable), determines (acting in a reasonable manner) to be appropriate, having regard to the objective, so far as is reasonably practicable in the circumstances and solely for the purposes of this sub-paragraph (iii) only, of reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to the Noteholders and Couponholders.

"Alternative Reference Rate" means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) determines has replaced the relevant Reference Rate in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest in respect of bonds denominated in the Specified Currency and of a comparable duration to the relevant Interest Period, or, if the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) determines that there is no such rate, such other rate as the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) determines in its discretion (acting in a reasonable manner) is most comparable to the relevant Reference Rate.

"Benchmark Event" means, in respect of a Reference Rate:

- (1) such Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least five Business Days or ceasing to exist;
- (2) a public statement by the administrator of such Reference Rate that it has ceased or will cease publishing such Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of such Reference Rate);
- (3) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of such Reference Rate that such Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued;

- (4) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of such Reference Rate that means such Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally or in respect of the Notes or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences;
- (5) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of such Reference Rate that, in the view of such supervisor, such Reference Rate is no longer representative of an underlying market or the methodology to calculate such Reference Rate has materially changed; or
- (6) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder or Couponholder using such Reference Rate,

provided that in the case of sub-paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) of this definition, the Benchmark Event shall occur on the date of the cessation of publication of such Reference Rate, the discontinuation of such Reference Rate, or the prohibition of use of such Reference Rate, as the case may be, and not the date of the relevant public statement;

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent financial adviser of recognised standing and with appropriate expertise, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- (1) the central bank for the currency to which the reference rate relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the reference rate; or
- (2) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the reference rate relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the reference rate, (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and

"Successor Rate" means the rate that the Independent Adviser or the Issuer (as applicable) determines is a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

- (iv) Rate of Interest for Index Linked Interest Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified hereon and interest will accrue by reference to an Index or Formula as specified hereon.
- (c) **Zero Coupon Notes**: Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)).
- (d) **Dual Currency Notes**: In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to a Rate of Exchange or a method of calculating Rate of Exchange, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified hereon.

- (e) **Partly Paid Notes**: In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified hereon.
- (f) Accrual of Interest: Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

(g) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption Amounts and Rounding:

- (i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with Condition 5(b) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin subject always to the next paragraph.
- (ii) If any Maximum Rate of Interest, Minimum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.
- (iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 of a percentage point being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (provided that if the eighth significant figure is a 5 or greater, the seventh significant figure shall be rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with half a unit being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency.
- (h) Calculations: The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified hereon, and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.
- (i) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts: The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest

Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(j) **Definitions**: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Business Day" means:

- in the case of Notes denominated in a currency other than euro and Renminbi, a day (other than
 a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments
 in the principal financial centre for such currency; and/or
- (ii) in the case of Notes denominated in euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a "TARGET Business Day"); and/or
- (iii) in the case of Notes denominated in Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong; and/or
- (iv) in the case of Notes denominated in a currency and/or one or more Business Centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such currency in the Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business Centres.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual ISDA" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365)
- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365

- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360
- (v) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$Day\ Count\ Fraction = \frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30.

(vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$Day\ Count\ Fraction = \frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D₂ will be 30.

(vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D₂ will be 30.

- (viii) if "Actual/Actual-ICMA" is specified hereon,
- (ix) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
 - (a) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
 - (x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
 - (y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

where:

"Determination Period" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date.

"Determination Date" means the date(s) specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date(s).

"Euro-zone" means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Period Date and each

successive period beginning on and including an Interest Period Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

"Interest Amount" means:

- (i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period forms part; and
- (ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that period.

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon.

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi other than where the Specified Currency is Renminbi and the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR or (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor euro nor Hong Kong dollars nor Renminbi or (iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is euro or (iv) the day falling two Business Days in Hong Kong prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Renminbi and the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date unless specified hereon.

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon.

"ISDA Definitions" means (i) if "2006 ISDA Definitions" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA"), as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes; or (ii) if "2021 ISDA Definitions" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions, including any Matrices referred to therein, as published by ISDA as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes.

"Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon.

"Reference Banks" means, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market and, in the case of a determination of HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks in the Hong Kong inter-bank market and, in the case of a determination of CNH HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks dealing in Chinese Yuan in the Hong Kong inter-bank market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent or as specified hereon.

"Reference Rate" means the rate specified as such hereon.

"Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified hereon (or any successor or replacement page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service).

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer System or any successor or replacement for that system (known as T2).

(k) Calculation Agent: The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

6 Redemption, Purchase and Options

(a) Redemption by Instalments and Final Redemption:

- (i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 6, each Note that provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the related Instalment Amount specified hereon. The outstanding nominal amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the Instalment Amount (or, if such Instalment Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such proportion) for all purposes with effect from the related Instalment Date, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case, such amount shall remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.
- (ii) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided, is its nominal amount) or, in the case of a Note falling within paragraph (i) above, its final Instalment Amount.

(b) **Early Redemption**:

- (i) Zero Coupon Notes:
 - (A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, the Early Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified hereon.

- (B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.
- (C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

- (ii) Other Notes: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon.
- Redemption for Taxation Reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, (c) but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is either a Floating Rate Note or an Index Linked Interest Note) or, at any time, (if this Note is neither a Floating Rate Note nor an Index Linked Interest Note), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above) (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of any of the Relevant Jurisdictions (as defined in Condition 8), or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(c), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment.
- (d) **Redemption at the Option of the Issuer**: If Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem, all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount

specified hereon (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers of the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements.

(e) **Redemption at the Option of Noteholders**: If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, upon the holder of such Note giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)), together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of Registered Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice ("Exercise Notice") in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

- (f) **Partly Paid Notes**: Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the provisions specified hereon.
- (g) **Purchases**: The Issuer and its Subsidiaries (as defined in Condition 10) may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price.
- (h) Cancellation: All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in the case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7 Payments and Talons

(a) **Bearer Notes**: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented

for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 7(f)(vi)), as the case may be:

- (i) in the case of Notes denominated in a currency other than Renminbi, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank; and
- (ii) in the case of Notes denominated in Renminbi, by transfer to a Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of the Noteholder with a Bank in Hong Kong.

In this Condition 7(a), "Bank" means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes held in the CMU will be made to the CMU for their distribution to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Bearer Note are credited as being held with the CMU in accordance with the CMU Rules (as defined in the Agency Agreement) at the relevant time and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment.

(b) Registered Notes:

- (i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 7(b) shall include final Instalment Amounts but not other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below.
- (ii) Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 7(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts other than final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business on the fifth (in the case of Notes denominated in Renminbi) and fifteenth (in the case of Notes denominated in a currency other than Renminbi) day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made:
 - (x) in the case of Notes denominated in a currency other than Renminbi, in the relevant currency by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first-named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank; and
 - (y) in the case of Notes denominated in Renminbi, by transfer to the registered account of the Noteholder.

In Condition 7(b)(ii), "**registered account**" means the Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of the Noteholder with a bank in Hong Kong, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the fifth business day before the due date for payment.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Registered Notes held in the CMU will be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Registered Note are credited as being held with the CMU in accordance with the CMU Rules at the relevant time and payment made in accordance thereof shall discharge the obligations of the Issuer in respect of that payment.

- (c) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.
- (d) Payments subject to Fiscal Laws: All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8, and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8) any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
- (e) Appointment of Agents: The Fiscal Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrars, Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent(s) act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or any Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) a CMU Lodging and Paying Agent in relation to Notes accepted for clearance through the CMU, (v) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require and (vi) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 7(c) above.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

(f) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:

(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes (other than Dual Currency Notes or Index Linked Notes), those Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9).

- (ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note, Dual Currency Note or Index Linked Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note that is redeemable in instalments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (v) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be.
- (g) **Talons**: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 9).
- (h) Non-Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this Condition 7, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Hong Kong, in the relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as "Financial Centres" hereon and:
 - (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro and Renminbi) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency; or
 - (ii) (in the case of a payment in euro) which is a TARGET Business Day; or
 - (iii) (in the case of a payment in Renminbi) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong.

8 Taxation

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or

within any of the Relevant Jurisdictions, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon:

- (a) held by or on behalf of a holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the jurisdiction by which such taxes, duties, assessments or charges have been imposed levied, collected, withheld or assessed other than the mere holding of the Note, Receipt or Coupon; or,
- (b) where (in the case of a payment of principal or interest on redemption) the relevant Certificate is surrendered for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the relevant holder would have been entitled to such additional amounts if it had surrendered the relevant Certificate on the last day of such period of 30 days; or
- (c) held by or on behalf of a holder who would not be liable for or subject to such withholding or deduction by making a declaration of identity, non residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority if, after having been requested to make such declaration or claim, such holder fails to do so within any applicable period prescribed by such relevant tax authority.

As used in these Conditions:

- (a) "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation; and
- (b) "Relevant Jurisdiction" means Hong Kong, the PRC (as defined in Condition 10) or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes.

References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition 8.

9 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

10 Events of Default

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") occurs and is continuing, the holder of any Note may give written notice to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office that such Note is immediately repayable, whereupon the

Early Redemption Amount of such Note together (if applicable) with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable:

- (a) **Non-Payment**: the Issuer fails to pay the principal of or any premium (if any) or interest on any of the Notes when due and such failure continues for a period of 30 days; or
- (b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations in the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or the Agency Agreement which default continues for a period of 45 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office by any Noteholder; or
- (c) Cross-Default: (A) any other present or future Public External Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any default, event of default or the like (howsoever described) in respect of the terms thereof, or (B) any such Public External Indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any applicable grace period, provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant Public External Indebtedness in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this Condition 10(c) have occurred equals or exceeds U.S.\$25,000,000 or its equivalent; or
- (d) Insolvency: the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries is insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops or suspends payment of all or a material part of its debts, proposes or makes any agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment of all or a material part of its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or a material part of the debts of the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries; or
- (e) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution or administration of the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries, or the Issuer ceases to carry on all or a material part of its business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (i) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders or (ii) in the case of a Material Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another of its Material Subsidiaries; or
- (f) **Illegality**: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of its obligations under any of the Notes, the Deed of Covenant or the Agency Agreement.

In these Conditions:

"Material Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary of the Issuer whose total assets or total revenue as of the date at which its latest audited financial statements were prepared or, as the case may be, for the financial period to which such audited financial statements relate, account for five per cent. or more of the consolidated assets or consolidated revenue of the Issuer as of such date or for such period. If a Material Subsidiary transfers all of its assets and business to another Subsidiary of the Issuer the transferee shall become a Material Subsidiary and the transferor shall cease to be a Material Subsidiary on completion of such transfer;

"Person" means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality;

"Public External Indebtedness" means any indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or any guarantee or indemnity by such entity of indebtedness, for money borrowed which, (i) is in the form of or represented by any bond, note, debenture, debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other instrument which is, or is capable of being listed, quoted or traded on any stock exchange or in any securities market (including,

without limitation, any over-the-counter market) outside the People's Republic of China (for the purposes hereof not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administration Regions or Taiwan) ("PRC") (without regard, however, to whether or not such instruments are sold through public offerings or private placements); and (ii) has an original maturity of more than 365 days, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall exclude any asset-backed securities offered or issued by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries to investors where payments made under such securities are serviced primarily by the cash flows of certain assets of the Issuer; and

"Subsidiary" means in relation to any Person (the "first Person"), any other Person whose financial statements at any time are required by law or in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles to be fully consolidated with those of the first Person.

11 Meeting of Noteholders and Modifications

Meetings of Noteholders: The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of a modification of any of these Conditions. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the nominal amount of, or any Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if a Minimum Rate of Interest and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is shown hereon, to reduce any such Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount or the Optional Redemption Amount, including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, or (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Notes, in which case the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing not less than three-quarters or at any adjourned meeting not less than one quarter of the nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.

The Agency Agreement provides that a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the Noteholders of not less than 90 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders.

These Conditions may be amended, modified or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the relevant Pricing Supplement in relation to such Series.

(b) **Modification of Agency Agreement**: The parties to the Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision thereof, but the Issuer shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such

modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature, it is made to correct a manifest error or it is, in the opinion of such parties, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

12 Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange or other relevant authority regulations, at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the principal amount, the Issue Date and the first payment of interest thereon and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these Conditions to "Notes" shall be construed accordingly.

14 Notices

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in Hong Kong. So long as the Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the rules of that Exchange so require, notices to holders of the Notes shall also be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Hong Kong (which is expected to be the South China Morning Post in Hong Kong). If any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Asia. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above.

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition 14.

15 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

16 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- (a) Governing Law: The Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons and any non—contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.
- (b) **Jurisdiction**: The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them ("**Proceedings**") may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Hong Kong and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- (c) Waiver of immunity: To the extent that the Issuer may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets or revenues immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that such immunity (whether or not claimed) may be attributed in any such jurisdiction to the Issuer, or its assets or revenues, the Issuer agrees not to claim and irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE REPRESENTED BY THE GLOBAL NOTES OR THE GLOBAL CERTIFICATE

Initial Issue of Notes

Global Notes and Global Certificates may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (the "Common Depositary") or a sub-custodian for the HKMA as operator of the CMU.

Upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with the Common Depositary or with a sub-custodian for the HKMA as operator of the CMU or registration of Registered Notes in the name of (i) any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream or (ii) the HKMA and delivery of the relevant Global Certificate to the Common Depositary or the sub-custodian for the HKMA as operator of the CMU (as the case may be), Euroclear or Clearstream or the CMU (as the case may be) will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Pricing Supplement) other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream or other clearing systems.

Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Save as provided in the following paragraph, each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream or any other clearing system as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream or such clearing system (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream or such clearing system (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

If a Global Note or a Global Certificate is lodged with a sub-custodian for, or registered with, the CMU, the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such Global Note or Global Certificate are credited as being held in the CMU in accordance with the CMU Rules shall be the only person(s) entitled (in the case of Registered Notes, directed or deemed by the CMU as entitled) to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, such person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such Global Note or Global Certificate are credited as being held in the CMU in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of the CMU, as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate must look solely to the CMU for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer in respect of such Global Note or Global Certificate.

Exchange

Temporary Global Notes

Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date:

(i) if the relevant Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in compliance with the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "Summary of the

- Programme Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined and described below; and
- (ii) otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the relevant Pricing Supplement, for Definitive Notes.

The CMU may require that any such exchange for a permanent Global Note is made in whole and not in part and in such event, no such exchange will be effected until all relevant account holders (as set out in a CMU Issue Position Report (as defined in the rules of the CMU) or any other relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent by the CMU) have so certified.

Permanent Global Notes

Each permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under "Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes" below, in part for Definitive Notes or, in the case of (i) below, Registered Notes:

- (i) if the permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or the CMU or any other clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System") and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so or
- (ii) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, by the holder giving notice to the Fiscal Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent) of its election for such exchange.

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be issued in Specified Denomination(s) only. A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

Global Certificates

If the relevant Pricing Supplement states that the Notes are to be represented by a Global Certificate on issue, the following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream or the CMU or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system whilst they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2 may only be made in part:

- (i) if the relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so;
- (ii) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due; or
- (iii) with the prior consent of the Issuer,

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to (i) or (ii) above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer.

Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes

For so long as a permanent Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that clearing system permit, such permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more occasions for Definitive Notes (i) if principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due or (ii) if so provided in, and in accordance with, the Conditions (which will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement) relating to Partly Paid Notes.

Delivery of Notes

On or after any due date for exchange the holder of a Global Note may surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent). In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, the Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate nominal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes and/or Certificates, as the case may be. Global Notes and Definitive Notes will be delivered outside the United States and its possessions. In this Offering Circular, "Definitive Notes" means, in relation to any Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or Installment Amounts that have not already been paid on the Global Note and a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed and Certificates will be printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Agency Agreement. On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes.

Exchange Date

"Exchange Date" means (i) in relation to an exchange of a temporary Global Note to a permanent Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 days after its issue date; or (ii) in relation to an exchange of a permanent Global Note to a Definitive Note, a day falling not less than 60 days or in the case of exchange following failure to pay principal in respect of any Notes when due 30 days, after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing systems are located.

Amendment to Conditions

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the Conditions set out in this Offering Circular. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any temporary Global Note issued in compliance with the D Rules before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note (except with respect to Global Note held through the CMU) will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. A record of each payment so made

will be endorsed on each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Notes.

All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate (other than a Global Certificate held through the CMU) will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the relevant Register at the close of business on the record date which shall be on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where "Clearing System Business Day" means Monday to Friday inclusive except 25 December and 1 January.

In respect of a Global Note or Global Certificate representing Notes held through the CMU, any payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts shall be made to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the relevant Global Note or Global Certificate are credited (as set out in the records of the CMU) at the close of business on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment and, save in the case of final payment, no presentation of the relevant bearer Global Note or Global Certificate shall be required for such purpose. For the purposes of this paragraph, "Clearing System Business Day" means a day on which the CMU is operating and open for business.

Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

Meetings

The holder of a permanent Global Note or of the Notes represented by a Global Certificate shall (unless such permanent Global Note or Global Certificate represents only one Note) be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, the holder of a permanent Global Note or a Global Certificate shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes. (All holders of Registered Notes are entitled to one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes comprising such Noteholder's holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.)

Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note represented by a permanent Global Note or Global Certificate that is required by the Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the nominal amount of the relevant permanent Global Note or Global Certificate.

Purchase

Notes represented by a permanent Global Note or Global Certificate may only be purchased by the Issuer or any of its respective subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest and Installment Amounts (if any) thereon.

The Option of the Issuer

Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a permanent Global Note or Global Certificate shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain, in the case of Bearer Notes, the certificate numbers of Notes drawn or, in the case of Registered Notes, the holder of the Notes in respect of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event that any option of the Issuer is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes

will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, the CMU or any other clearing system (as the case may be).

Noteholders' Options

Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate and such Global Note or Global Certificate is held by or on behalf of a clearing system, may be exercised by (i) the holder giving notice to the Fiscal Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent) within the time limits in respect of which the option is exercised and presenting the Global Note or Global Certificate for endorsement or exercise (if required) or (ii) a holder of a book-entry interest in the Notes represented by the Global Note or Global Certificate delivering to the Fiscal Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent) the relevant exercise notice, duly completed by or on behalf of such holder (on appropriate proof of its identity and interest), in each case within the time limits specified in the Conditions and otherwise in accordance with the rules and procedures of the relevant clearing system. In the case of (ii) above, deposit of the Global Note or Global Certificate with the Fiscal Agent (or, in the case of Notes lodged with the CMU, the CMU Lodging and Paying Agent) together with such exercise notice shall not be required.

Notices

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Certificate and such Global Note or Global Certificate is held on behalf of (i) Euroclear and/or Clearstream or any other clearing system (except as provided in (ii) below), notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note or Global Certificate, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the day on which such notice is delivered to Euroclear, Clearstream or such other clearing system; or (ii) the CMU, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the CMU in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note or Global Certificate, and any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the day on which such notice is delivered to the CMU.

Partly Paid Notes

The provisions relating to Partly Paid Notes are not set out in this Offering Circular, but will be contained in the relevant Pricing Supplement and thereby in the Global Notes or Global Certificates. While any instalments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Global Note or Global Certificate representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes (as the case may be). If any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment due on any Partly Paid Notes within the time specified, the Issuer may forfeit such Notes and shall have no further obligation to their holder in respect of them.

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

The form of Pricing Supplement that will be issued in respect of each Tranche, subject only to the deletion of non-applicable provisions, is set out below:

[PRIIPs REGULATION – PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes (as defined below) are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II[.]/[; or] [(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation").]¹ Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[UK PRIIPs REGULATION — PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the [European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA")/EUWA]; (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA[.]/[; or] [(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Prospectus Regulation")]. Consequently no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

[MiFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II")][MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPs ONLY TARGET MARKET — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market

¹ Paragraph (iii) is not required where the Notes have a denomination of at least €100,000 or equivalent.

² Paragraph (iii) is not required where the Notes have a denomination of at least €100,000 or equivalent.

assessment in respect of the Notes [(as defined below)] has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA") ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures Act (Capital Market Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are [prescribed capital markets products] / [capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products] (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and [are] [Excluded] / [Specified] Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products).]

Pricing Supplement dated [●]

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. [Hong Kong/[•]] Branch Legal entity identifier (LEI): 549300AX1UM10U30HK09

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] (the "Notes") under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Offering Circular dated [original date] [and the supplemental Offering Circular dated [date]]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with such Offering Circular [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular[, the supplementary Offering Circular dated [date]] and this Pricing Supplement.

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated [original date]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated [current date] [and the supplemental Offering Circular dated [date]], save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Circular dated [original date] and are attached hereto. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular[, the supplementary Offering Circular dated [date]] and this Pricing Supplement.]

_

For any Notes to be offered to Singapore investors, the Issuer to consider whether it needs to re-classify the Notes pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA prior to the launch of the offer.

[This Pricing Supplement is for distribution to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange") ("Professional Investors") only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Pricing Supplement, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Pricing Supplement to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Pricing Supplement. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, or quality of disclosure in this Pricing Supplement. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Pricing Supplement.

The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers or their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Managers or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Programme or the issue and offering of the Notes under the Programme. The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Pricing Supplement or any such statement.

This Pricing Supplement, together with the Offering Circular, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pricing Supplement and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.¹

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1 Issuer:

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. [Hong Kong/[●]] Branch

2 [(i)] Series Number:

[•]

[(ii) Tranche Number:]

[•]

[(iii) Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:]

The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the date that is 40 days after the

Applicable for Notes to be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange only.

Issue Date/exchange of the temporary Global Note for interests in the permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph 27 below, which is expected to occur on or about [date]][Not Applicable]⁽¹⁾

		[uaie]][Not Applicable]			
3	Specified Currency or Currencies:	[•]			
4	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	[•]			
	[(i)] Series:	[•]			
	[(ii) Tranche:	[•]]			
5	[(i)] Issue Price:	[•] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case of fungible issues only, if applicable)]			
	[(ii) Net proceeds:	[●] (Required only for listed issues)]			
6	Use of Proceeds	[•] (If applicable, include relevant disclosure if proceeds are used to repay indebtedness of relevant Dealer(s))			
7	(i) Specified Denominations:	[●] ⁽²⁾			
	(ii) Calculation Amount ⁽⁵⁾ :	[•]			
8	(i) Issue Date:	[•]			
	(ii) Interest Commencement Date:	[Specify/Issue date/Not Applicable]			
9	Maturity Date:	[specify date (for Fixed Rate Notes) or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year] ⁽³⁾			
10	Interest Basis:	[[●] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify reference rate] +/- [●] per cent. Floating Rate] [Zero Coupon] [Index Linked Interest] [Other (specify)] (further particulars specified below)			
11	Redemption/Payment Basis:	[Redemption at par] [Index Linked Redemption] [Dual Currency] [Partly Paid] [Instalment] [Other (specify)]			
12	Change of Interest or Redemption/ Payment Basis:	[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes into another interest or redemption/payment basis]			
13	Put/Call Options:	[Put] [Call] [(further particulars specified below)]			

14 (i) Status of the Notes: Senior Notes

(ii) Regulatory approval for issuance of Notes obtained⁽⁶⁾:

[[•]/None required] (6)

15 Listing: [[●]/Other (specify)/None]

16 Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

17 Private Bank Rebate/Commission: [Not Applicable / [Applicable]

A rebate of [•] basis points is being offered by the Issuer to all private banks for orders they

place (other than in relation to Notes

subscribed by such private banks as principal whereby it is deploying its own balance sheet for onward selling to investors), payable upon closing of this offering based on the principal amount of the Notes distributed by such private

banks to investors.]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

18 Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Rate [(s)] of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum [payable

[annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in

arrear]

(ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [●] in each year⁽⁴⁾ [adjusted in accordance with

[specify Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s) for the definition

of "Business Day"]/not adjusted]

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [●] per Calculation Amount⁽⁵⁾

(iv) Broken Amount: [●] per Calculation Amount, payable on the

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [●]

[Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)] and the Interest

Payment Date(s) to which they relate]

(v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): [30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/Other]

(Day count fraction should be Actual/Actual-ICMA for all fixed rate issues other than those denominated in US dollars or Hong Kong dollars, unless the client requests otherwise)

(vi) Determination Date(s) (Condition 5(j)): [●] in each year. [Insert regular interest

payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last

coupon]⁽⁷⁾

	(vii)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]			
19	Floa	ting Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)			
	(i)	Interest Period(s):	[•]			
	(ii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]			
	(iii)	Interest Period Date(s):	[Not Applicable/specify dates] (Not applicable unless different from Interest Payment Date)			
	(iv)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Business Day Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]			
	(v)	Business Centre(s) (Condition 5(j)):	[•]			
	(vi)	Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/ are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/other (give details)]			
	(vii)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the Calculation Agent):	[•]			
	(viii	Screen Rate Determination (Condition 5(b)(iii)(B)):				
		— Reference Rate:	[•]			
		— Interest Determination Date:	[[•] [TARGET] Business Days in [specify city] for [specify currency] prior to [the first day in each Interest Accrual Period/each Interest Payment Date]]			
		— Relevant Screen Page:	[•]			
	(ix)	ISDA Determination (Condition 5(b)(iii)(A)):				
		— Floating Rate Option:	[•]			
		— Designated Maturity:	[•]			
		— Reset Date:	[•]			
		— ISDA Definitions: (if different from those set out in the Conditions)	[2006/2021]			
	(x)	Margin(s):	[+/–] [●] per cent. per annum			
	(xi)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[●] per cent. per annum			
	(xii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[●] per cent. per annum			
	(xiii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)):	[•]			
	(xiv) Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating	[•]			

Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in the Conditions: 20 Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Amortisation Yield (Condition 6(b)): [•] per cent. per annum (ii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): [•] (iii) Any other formula/basis of determining [•] amount payable: 21 Index Linked Interest Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Index/Formula: [Give or annex details] (ii) Party responsible for calculating the $[\bullet]$ Rate(s) of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Agent]): (iii) Provisions for determining Coupon where [•] calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable: (iv) Interest Period(s): [•] (v) Specified Interest Payment Dates: [•] (vi) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Business Day Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)] (vii) Business Centre(s) (Condition 5(j)): [•] (viii) Minimum Rate of Interest: [•] per cent. per annum (ix) Maximum Rate of Interest: [•] per cent. per annum (x) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): 22 **Dual Currency Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) Rate of Exchange/Method of calculating [Give details]

to the method of calculating interest on

[ullet]

 $[\bullet]$

Rate of Exchange:

(ii) Party, if any, responsible for calculating

the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Agent]): (iii) Provisions applicable where calculation

by reference to Rate of Exchange impossible or impracticable:

- (iv) Person at whose option Specified Currency(ies) is/are payable:
- (v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): [●]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

23 Call Option

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

- (i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
- (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
- [•] per Calculation Amount

- (iii) If redeemable in part:
 - (a) Minimum Redemption Amount:
- [•] per Calculation Amount
- (b) Maximum Redemption Amount:
- [•] per Calculation Amount

(iv) Notice period:

[•]

[•]

 $[\bullet]$

24 Put Option

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

- (i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
- [ullet]
- (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
- [•] per Calculation Amount

(iii) Notice period:

- [•]
- Final Redemption Amount of each Note
- [•] per Calculation Amount

- 26 Early Redemption Amount
 - (i) Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) or Event of Default (Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

 $[\bullet]$

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

Form of Notes: [Bearer Notes/Registered Notes/

Dematerialised Registered Notes

[Delete as appropriate]

[temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note which is exchangeable

for Definitive Notes in the limited

circumstances specified in the permanent

Global Note] [temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [•] days' notice] [permanent Global Note/Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Certificates on [•] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the permanent Global Note/Certificate]⁽⁸⁾

Financial Centre(s) (Condition 7(h)) or other special provisions relating to payment dates:

[Not Applicable/Give details. Note that this item relates to the date and place of payment, and not interest period end dates, to which item 17(ii), 18(iv) and 20(vii) relate]

29 Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

30 Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:

[Not Applicable/give details]

- 31 Details relating to Instalment Notes:
 - (i) Instalment Amount(s):
 - (ii) Instalment Date(s):
 - (iii) Minimum Instalment Amount:
 - (iv) Maximum Instalment Amount:
- Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:
- 33 Consolidation provisions:
- 34 Other terms or special conditions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

- [•]
- [•]
- [ullet]
- [ullet]

[Not Applicable/The provisions annexed to this Pricing Supplement apply]

[Not Applicable/The provisions annexed to this Pricing Supplement apply]

[Not Applicable/give details] (9)

[The definition of the "Relevant Jurisdiction" as set out in Condition 8 shall be deemed to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

""Relevant Jurisdiction" means [jurisdiction where the relevant branch is located], the PRC (as defined in Condition 10) or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes."] (10)

[Condition 1 (Form, Denomination and Title) and Condition 2 (No Exchange of Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes) — no definitive Certificates shall be issued, and all references to "Noteholders" shall mean the accountholders at [the relevant clearing system] as from time to time certified by [the relevant clearing system] (the "[the relevant clearing system] Accountholders").

Condition 7 (*Payments and Talons*) – all payments shall be made to [the relevant clearing system] Accountholders.

Condition 11 (*Meeting of Noteholders and Modifications*) – the persons entitled to attend and vote at a meeting shall be [the relevant clearing system] Accountholders.

Condition 14 (*Notices*) – notices shall be given to [the relevant clearing system] for communications purposes in accordance with rules and procedures of [the relevant clearing system] for the time being.

All Conditions requiring presentation or surrender of Certificate are not applicable.

A deed poll dated the Issue Date has been executed by the Issuer and delivered to the Fiscal Agent.] (11)

DISTRIBUTION

35 If syndicated, names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names] Stabilisation Manager (if any): [Not Applicable/give name] 36 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name] 37 U.S. Selling Restrictions [Reg. S Category 1/2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA Not Applicable] 38 Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details] 39 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If the Notes clearly do not constitute "packaged" products or the Notes do constitute "packaged" products and a key information document will be prepared, "Not Applicable" should be specified. If the Notes may constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared, "Applicable" should be specified.) 40 Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute "packaged" products or the Notes do constitute "packaged" products and a key information document will be prepared, "Not Applicable" should be specified. If the Notes may constitute "packaged" products and no Key Information Document (as provided for under the UK PRIIPs Regulation) will be prepared, "Applicable" should be specified.)

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

- 41 ISIN Code: [●]
- 42 Common Code: [•]
- 43 CMU Instrument Number: [•]
- Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear, Clearstream and the CMU and the relevant identification number(s):

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

- 45 Delivery:
- 46 Additional Paying Agents (if any): [●]

GENERAL

The aggregate principal amount of Notes issued has been translated into US dollars at the rate of [●], producing a sum of (for Notes not denominated in US dollars):

[Not Applicable/US\$[●]]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

In the case of Registered Notes, specify the location of the office of the Registrar if other than Hong Kong:

[Not Applicable/Luxembourg]

In the case of Bearer Notes, specify the location of the office of the Fiscal Agent if other than London:

[Not Applicable/Hong Kong]

HONG KONG SFC CODE OF CONDUCT

Contact email addresses of the Overall Coordinators where underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should be sent:

[Include relevant contact email addresses of the Overall Coordinators where the underlying investor information should be sent – Overall Coordinators to provide] / [Not Applicable]

[Marketing and Investor Targeting Strategy:

[Provide details if different from the programme Offering Circular]]

ILISTING APPLICATION

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the US\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.]

[USE OF PROCEEDS

Give details if different from the "Use of Proceeds" section in the Offering Circular.]

[STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, [any of the Managers named as Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s))] in this Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot and effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.]

[MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT

[Except as disclosed in this document, there/There](12) has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since [insert date of last audited accounts or interim accounts (if later)] and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since [insert date of last published annual accounts].]

RESPONSIBILITY

Notes:

	-		44 444	0 .1			4	a 1
Γh	e Issuer a	accepts res	ponsibility	tor the	ıntormatıon	contained in	ı this Pricin	g Supplement.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By:	
•	Duly authorised

- (1) For a tap of a Reg S Cat 2 issue and where notes are in registered form or go straight into permanent global form (TEFRA C) (such that there is not a TEFRA D temporary global note), consider whether a temporary ISIN may still be necessary to comply with the distribution compliance period. If so, the following wording may be considered "The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series with the [identify earlier Tranches] (the "Original Notes") on the date that is 40 days after the Issue Date (the "Exchange Date"). Until the Exchange Date the Notes will have a temporary ISIN and temporary Common Code ("Temporary ISIN" and "Temporary Common Code", respectively). After the Exchange Date the Notes will have the same ISIN and Common Code ("Permanent ISIN"
- (2) Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA and which have a maturity of less than one year must have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

and "Permanent Common Code" respectively) as the Original Notes".

If the specified denomination is expressed to be $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\in}}} 100,000\]$ or its equivalent and multiples of a lower principal amount (for example $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\in}} 1,000$), insert the additional wording set out in the Guidance Note published by ICMA in November 2006 (or its replacement from time to time) as follows: " $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\in}}} 100,000\]$ and integral multiples of $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\in}}} 1,000\]$ in excess thereof up to and including $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\in}}} 199,000\]$. No notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{}}}} 100,000\]$.

- (3) Note that for Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be necessary to use the second option here.
- (4) Note that for certain Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification and the following words should be added: "provided that if any Interest Payment Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day, the Interest Payment Date will be the next succeeding Business Day unless it would thereby fall in the next calendar month in which event the Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day."
- (5) For Renminbi or Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification the following alternative wording is appropriate: "Each Fixed Coupon Amount shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest CNY0.01, CNY0.05 in the case of Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes or to the nearest HK\$0.01, HK\$0.005 in the case of Hong Kong dollar denominated Fixed Rate Notes, being rounded upwards."
- (6) State either the date of the Pre-Issuance NDRC Registration or that the annual quota from NDRC has been obtained.
- (7) Only to be completed for an issue where the Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual-ICMA.
- (8) If the temporary Global Note is exchangeable for definitives at the option of the holder, the Notes shall be tradeable only in amounts of at least the Specified Denomination (or if more than one Specified Denomination, the lowest Specified Denomination) provided in paragraph 6 and multiples thereof.
- (9) If full terms and conditions are to be used, please add the following here:
 - "The full text of the Conditions which apply to the Notes [and which will be endorsed on the Notes in definitive form] are set out in [the Annex hereto], which Conditions replace in their entirety those appearing in the Offering Circular for the purposes of these Notes and such Conditions will prevail over any other provision to the contrary."
 - The first set of bracketed words is to be deleted where there is a permanent global Note instead of Notes in definitive form. The full Conditions should be attached to and form part of the Pricing Supplement.
- (10) Required only for an Issuer other than Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.
- (11) Required only for dematerialised Registered Notes.
- (12) If any change is disclosed in the Pricing Supplement, it may require approval by the Stock Exchange(s). Consideration should be given as to whether or not such disclosure should be made by means of a supplemental Offering Circular rather than in a Pricing Supplement.

CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

Capitalisation and Indebtedness of the Bank

The following table sets forth the actual consolidated debt and capitalisation of the Bank as at 31 December 2023. Investors should read this table in conjunction with the Bank's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the notes thereto included in this Offering Circular.

Except for the translation amount shown in U.S.\$, the Bank's audited consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2023 set forth below are derived from the published audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023

	ns at of December 2020		
	(RMB in million)	$(U.S.\$ in million)^{(3)}$	
Debt			
Debt securities issued	592,175	83,406	
Other borrowings ⁽¹⁾	10,975,752	1,545,902	
Total debt	11,567,927	1,629,308	
Equity			
Share capital	74,263	10,460	
Other equity instruments	174,790	24,619	
Capital surplus	111,428	15,694	
Other reserves	400,805	56,452	
Retained earnings	326,744	46,021	
Non-controlling interests	11,420	1,608	
Total equity	1,099,450	154,854	
Total capitalisation ⁽²⁾	12,667,377	1,784,163	

Notes:

Unless otherwise disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has not been any material change in the capitalisation of the Bank since 31 December 2023.

⁽¹⁾ Other borrowings include amounts due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions and deposits from customers.

⁽²⁾ Total capitalisation equals the sum of total debt and total equity.

⁽³⁾ For convenience only, all translations from Renminbi into U.S. dollars are made at the rate of RMB7.0999 to U.S.\$1.00, the noon buying rate as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on 29 December 2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of any Notes issued under the Programme shall be used for the relevant Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF THE HONG KONG BRANCH

Business Activities

Established in 1934, the Hong Kong branch of the Bank is the largest overseas branch of the Bank. As at 31 December 2023, it had 47 outlets in Hong Kong.

The Hong Kong branch of the Bank has placed an increasing emphasis on serving personal banking customers. For corporate finance operations, it targets, among others, listed companies and large PRC state-owned enterprises. Apart from generating interest income, it continues to focus on generating fee income. It provides a variety of fee-based products and services.

On 14 July 2017, the Bank announced to invest in the establishment of Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) for a total amount of HK\$7.9 billion, which amounted to 100 per cent. of the share capital of Bank of Communication (Hong Kong). The establishment of Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) was approved by the China Banking Regulatory Commission on 20 January 2014. Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) also obtained a full banking licence under the Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "Ordinance") from the Hong Kong Monetary Authority on 29 September 2015 to operate banking business and specialised in retail banking business and private banking business. On 29 January 2018, the Bank further announced the existing activities, assets and liabilities which constituted the retail and private banking businesses of the Hong Kong branch of the Bank on that day was transferred to the Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) in accordance with section 4(1) of the Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited (Merger) Ordinance (Chapter 1182 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank through establishing a complete corporate governance structure in accordance with the Ordinance and other relevant regulatory requirements. The establishment of Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) aimed to expand and intensify the Bank's retail and private banking business by building on its strong foundation in Hong Kong. The establishment demonstrated the Bank's long-term commitment to Hong Kong customers, employees and business partners and signifies a clearer and more focused separation in the serving of different customer groups. The Hong Kong branch of the Bank continues to exist and hold a full banking licence under the Ordinance to operate its banking business as a licensed bank in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2023, the Hong Kong branch of the Bank had 973 employees and Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) had 852 employees.

Hong Kong Banking Industry Regulatory Regime

The banking industry in Hong Kong is regulated under the provisions of the Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "Banking Ordinance") and subject to the powers and functions ascribed by the Banking Ordinance to the HKMA. The Banking Ordinance provides that only banks which have been granted a banking license ("license") by the HKMA may carry on banking business (as defined in the Banking Ordinance) in Hong Kong and contains controls and restrictions on such banks ("licensed banks").

The provisions of the Banking Ordinance are implemented by the HKMA, the principal function of which is to promote the general stability and effectiveness of the banking system, especially in the area of supervising compliance with the provisions of the Banking Ordinance. The HKMA supervises licensed banks through, *inter alia*, a regular information gathering process, the main features of which are as follows:

each licensed bank must submit a monthly return to the HKMA setting out the assets and liabilities of
its principal place of business in Hong Kong and all local branches and a further comprehensive quarterly
return relating to its principal place of business in Hong Kong and all local branches, unless the HKMA
permits returns to be made at less frequent intervals;

- the HKMA may order a licensed bank, any of its subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiaries of its holding company to provide such further information (either specifically or periodically) as it may reasonably require for the exercise of its functions under the Banking Ordinance or as it may consider necessary in the interests of the depositors or potential depositors of the licensed bank concerned. Such information shall be submitted within such period and in such manner as the HKMA may require. The HKMA may also require a report by a licensed bank's auditors (approved by the HKMA for the purpose of preparing the report) confirming whether or not such information or return is correctly compiled in all material respects;
- licensed banks may be required to provide information to the HKMA regarding companies in which they have an aggregate of 20 per cent. or more direct or indirect shareholding or with which they have common directors or managers (as defined in the Banking Ordinance), the same controller (as defined in the Banking Ordinance), with common features in their names or a concert party arrangement to promote the licensed bank's business;
- licensed banks are obliged to report to the HKMA immediately of their likelihood of becoming unable to meet their obligations;
- the HKMA may direct a licensed bank to appoint an auditor to report to the HKMA on the state of affairs and/or profit and loss of the licensed bank or the adequacy of the systems of control of the licensed bank or other matters as the HKMA may reasonably require; and
- the HKMA may, at any time, with or without prior notice, examine the books, accounts and transactions of any licensed bank, and in the case of a licensed bank incorporated in Hong Kong, any local branch, overseas branch, overseas representative office or subsidiary, whether local or overseas, of such licensed bank. Such inspections are carried out by the HKMA on a regular basis.

In addition, the Hong Kong branch of the Bank is also subject to the FIRO. Please refer to the risk factor "Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Bank's Business – The Bank may be affected by the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance" for further information.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK

OVERVIEW

Founded in 1908, the Bank is one of the note-issuing banks with the longest history in modern China. In 1986, the State Council of the PRC decided to reorganise the Bank. The Bank reopened after reorganisation on 1 April 1987. It is the first nationwide state-owned joint-stock commercial bank in China, with the head office located in Shanghai. The Bank made its first public offering of its H shares and listing on the HKSE in June 2005, and its first public offering of its A shares and listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in May 2007. The Group was ranked in Fortune 500 for sixteen consecutive years, and ranked No. 48 in 2023. The Group ranked No.9 among the Global Top 1000 World Banks 2023 rated by *The Banker*.

Substantially all of the Bank's operations are located in the PRC and the Bank is headquartered in Shanghai. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 253 domestic branches, including 38 provincial branches and directly-managed branches and 215 branches managed by provincial branches, most of which are concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Rim Economic Zone, as well as large cities in other areas. Through this network and other distribution channels, the Group provides a broad range of financial products and services to its corporate and personal finance customers. As at 31 December 2023, in addition to its PRC operations, the Bank had branches or subsidiaries which are located in Hong Kong, New York, San Francisco, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. The "Others Business" segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group's profit before tax were RMB93,959 million, RMB98,115 million and RMB99,698 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group had total assets of RMB11,665,757 million, RMB12,991,571 million and RMB14,060,472 million, respectively, loans and advances to customers before impairment allowance of RMB6,560,400 million, RMB7,294,965 million and RMB7,957,085 million, respectively, deposits from customers of RMB7,039,777 million, RMB7,949,072 million and RMB8,551,215 million, respectively, and total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company of RMB964,647 million, RMB1,022,024 million and RMB1,088,030 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group's non-performing loan ratios were 1.48 per cent., 1.35 per cent. and 1.33 per cent., respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the Group's provision coverage ratios were 166.50 per cent., 180.68 per cent. and 195.21 per cent., respectively.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Highlights of first quarter 2024 results

The 2024 First Quarter Financial Information was published on 26 April 2024 on the website of the HKSE. During the first quarter of 2024, the Group abided by the guidance of Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for a New Era, and fully implemented the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China, the Central Financial Work Conference and the Central Economic Work Conference. The Group adhered to the general principle of making progress while maintaining stability, implemented the new development concept in a complete, accurate and comprehensive manner. The Group supported the new development model and coordinated high-quality development with security, as well as

maintained and consolidated growth momentum in business operations in a manner of "make progress and improve quality while maintaining stability".

As at 31 March 2024, the total assets of the Group increased by 1.26 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB14,238.091 billion; the total liabilities increased by 1.17 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB13,112.273 billion; the shareholders' equity (attributable to shareholders of the Bank) increased by 2.44 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB1,114.564 billion. For the three months ended 31 March 2024, the net operating income increased by 0.05 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to RMB67.201 billion. For the three months ended 31 March 2024, the net profit (attributable to shareholders of the Bank) increased by 1.44 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to RMB24.988 billion. For the three months ended 31 March 2024, the annualised return on average assets and the annualised return on weighted average net assets were 0.71 per cent. and 10.79 per cent., representing year-on-year decreases of 0.04 percentage point and 0.68 percentage point, respectively.

Proposed appointments of independent non-executive director and executive directors

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Board of the Bank comprises 17 members being three executive directors, eight non-executive directors and six independent non-executive directors. Each director of the Bank is elected at a shareholder meeting for a term of three years, which is renewable upon re-election. The chairman and the vice chairman of the Board are elected by a simple majority of the Board.

On 26 April 2024, the Board of the Bank has resolved to propose to appoint Mr. Xiao Wei as an Independent Non-Executive Director, the chairman of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee under the Board and a member of the Risk Management and Related Party Transactions Control Committee under the Board.

In accordance with the laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, the appointment of Mr. Xiao Wei as an Independent Director and members of the special committees under the Board is subject to the approval of the shareholders on his appointment as an Independent Non-Executive Director at the general meeting as well as the approval of the NAFR on his qualification as the Independent Non-Executive Director. Please refer to details in "Management of the Bank – Directors – Independent Non-executive Director" and "Management of the Bank – Directors", respectively.

Resignation of Vice Chairman of the Board, the Executive Directors and President

On 14 May 2024, Mr. Liu Jun has resigned as the vice chairman of the Board, an executive director and the president of the Bank, as well as a member of the Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee) under the Board and the chairman of the Social Responsibility (Environment, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee under the Board due to work reassignment with effect from 14 May 2024. Mr. Liu Jun has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board and there is no matter relating to his resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders and creditors of the Bank.

THE BANK'S AWARDS

The Bank believes the brand of "Bank of Communications" is one of the most recognised financial service brand names in China. The Bank ranked No. 9 among the Top 1000 World Banks 2023 by *The Banker*. The Bank was honoured in Fortune 500 for sixteen consecutive years and was ranked No. 48 in 2023. In 2023, the Bank was awarded the "First Prize of Shanghai Financial Innovation" by Shanghai Municipal People's Government, "First Prize of FinTech Development Award" by the PBOC, "Best Personal Mobile Banking Award" and "Best Corporate Mobile Banking and Corporate Internet Banking Awards" by China Financial Certification Authority, "Data Governance Best Practice Award" by International Data Management Association, "Best Custodian, Pension, China" by *The Asset*, and "ESG Best Practice Examples for Listed Companies 2023 by China Listed Companies Association. In 2022, the Bank was awarded "Best Cash

Management Bank, China" by *The Asset*, "Top 10 Transaction Banking Innovation Award" by *The Banker*, "First prize of FinTech Development Award" by the PBOC, "Innovation Achievement award" by the MOF and Information Technology of the PRC, "Digital Pioneer Enterprise Award" by Tencent, "Best Custodian, Pension, China" by The Asset, "The 17th People's Enterprise Social Responsibility Award – Annual Enterprise Award The 19th People's Ingenuity Award – Ingenuity Service Award" by People. cn, "MSCI ESG Rating Grade A" by Morgan Stanley Capital International. In 2021, the Bank was awarded "Advanced Unit in National Poverty Alleviation" by the CPC Central Committee, the State Council, "First prize of FinTech Development Award in 2020" and "Assessment A+ on Protecting Financial Consumers' Rights and Interests of the People's Bank of China in 2020" by the PBOC, "First prize of Shanghai Financial Innovation Achievement Award in 2020" by Shanghai Municipal People's Government, "Best Open Bank Award, Best Corporate Mobile Banking Award and Best Personal Mobile Banking Award" by China Financial Certification Authority ("CFCA"), "Best Bank for Payment and Settlement Solution (Project of Intelligent Financial Services Platform of Jiangsu Financial Leasing)" by The Asset, "Best Bank for International Business" by Trade Finance, "Best Innovative Investment Bank in 2021" and "Best Bank for Securitisation Deal in 2021" by Asia Money and "Credit Card Centre in 2021" by 21st Century Business Herald. Besides, the Bank was also awarded "Excellent Bank for Brand Construction in 2021" by China.com.cn and "2021 People's Corporate Social Responsibility - Corporate Performance Award" by People.cn.

THE BANK'S COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

A fast-growing state-owned bank in China with sustainable improvement in value creation

Known as a "centuries-old bank", the Bank established its time-honoured financial brand with a long-standing history and accumulative competitive advantages. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of the Group amounted to RMB14,060,472 million. As at 31 December 2023, the deposits from customers of the Group reached RMB8,551,215 million and the loans and advances balances of the Group amounted to RMB7,957,085 million. The Bank enjoys high recognition and reputation nationwide. The Bank was ranked in Fortune 500 for sixteen consecutive years, and ranked No. 48 in 2023. The Bank ranked No. 9 among the Top 1000 World Banks 2023 by *The Banker*.

The Bank has always been a pioneer of reformation in banking sector since reorganisation. The Bank is the first national joint-stock commercial bank in China, the first integrated commercial bank to carry out banking, insurance and securities businesses and the first domestic large scale commercial bank to successfully bring in foreign capital and to list overseas. In 2015, the Bank took the initiative to be responsible for the financial pilot reform in China after its reformation plan, BoCom's Plan to Strengthen Reformation, approved by the State Council. In taking "creating shared value and providing the best service" as its core value, the Bank will continue to implement reformation as appropriate and place emphasis on the continuous strategic landscape for stronger wealth management characteristics, with an aim to become a bank with top wealth management businesses and global competitive capabilities in the world.

The Bank is one of the first banks to initiate the concept of wealth management services in the industry. The brand and characteristics of wealth management became more and more prominent with the continuous development of the Bank's wealth management service system. The Bank has also obtained various licenses relating to trust, leasing, fund, insurance, securities and financial investment, to develop its wealth management business. In 2019, the Bank set up and continuously expanded its asset management subsidiary and fund management subsidiary. The Bank has built up a product and service system categorised by wealth preservation and incrementation, financial planning and risk hedging in order to provide online and offline financial services in relation to on-and-off balance sheet and debt and equity investment. Targeting retail customers, the Bank also integrated certain retail services into the system with respect to wealth management, family trust, insurance broker and asset management. As at 31 December 2023, the individual financial AUM managed by domestic

branches was RMB5,001,919 million, representing an increase of 8.23 per cent. over the end of the previous year; and number of monthly active users ("MAU") of personal mobile banking increased by 7.96 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB49 million. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reported fee and commission income from wealth management business of RMB7,808 million through the consignment of wealth management products, funds and wealth management business.

The Group maintains constant and steady growth in terms of its business scale. The Group's corporate banking businesses routinely increased. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's corporate loan balance increased by RMB468,180 million or 9.94 per cent. as compared with the end of the previous year, in which related loans to the manufacturing industry, green credit and the agriculture-related loans increased 39.14 per cent., 29.37 per cent., and 24.80 per cent., respectively, all exceeding the average growth rate of the Group's loans. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the business volume of industrial value chain financing increased by 21.20 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, and the sci-tech finance credit customers increased by 41.20 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of loans of inclusive loans for small and micro enterprises amounted to RMB590,279 million, representing an increase of 29.38 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the number of customers with loan balances was 341.5 thousand, representing an increase of 16.51 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

The Group's personal banking business also showed an upward trend. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's balance of personal deposits increased by 13.62 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB3,358,156 million, and its balance of personal loans increased by 4.56 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB2,473,100 million. As at 31 December 2023, the credit cards in force reached approximately 71 million. As at 31 December 2023, the accumulated number of debit cards issued amounted to approximately 178 million, representing a net increase of approximately 4 million over the end of the previous year. The Group also focused on developing consumer finance, optimising its online application named "Benefit Loan" (namely online credit consumption loans launched by the Bank for qualified customers), leveraging its FinTech services and improving its intelligent risk management capabilities during the same period. The Bank accelerated the innovation and iteration of personal consumer loan products, on the basis of meeting customers' diversified financial needs concerning clothing, food, housing, travel and medical care to improve the whole-process customer experience. The Bank also provided supporting differentiated credit policies and service solutions to enhance consumer loan services for new citizens. It actively provided relief measures to the retail credit customers affected by the pandemic. As at 31 December 2023, the personal consumption loan balance of domestic branches increased by 86.25 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB158,117 million, and the market share of personal consumption loans domestic branches increased by 1.54 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

Committed to building the international and comprehensive financial service platform

The Bank is committed to becoming a first-class international bank with advantages in international businesses and delivering global financial services. The Bank is one of the most internationalised domestic banks in China and its international layouts are at the forefront with respect to its domestic counterparts. Its overseas banking institutions have initially sprouted up within the Asia-Pacific area. The layout of offshore service network has been progressing steadily. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank established 23 overseas branches (sub-branches) and representative offices with 69 operating outlets in 18 countries and regions, providing customers with comprehensive financial services including deposits, loans and advances, international settlement, trade financing and foreign currency exchange. In the year of 2023, the Bank strengthened the convenience of trade and the construction of CNY cross-border payment scenarios, while enhancing financial services in the field of foreign investment and foreign trade. As at 31 December 2023, the receipt and payment of cross-border Renminbi increased by 23.30 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 31 December 2023, cross-border Renminbi trade financing balance increased by 91.92 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023,

the Bank had established overseas banking service network with 1,032 banks in 131 countries and regions, and opened 220 service accounts for 93 overseas Renminbi participating banks in 29 countries and regions, and opened 113 foreign currency clearing accounts in 28 currencies with 66 banks in 31 countries and regions. In addition, for the year ended 31 December 2023, the net profit of the Group's overseas banking institutions was RMB5,318 million, accounting for 5.74 per cent. of the Group's total net profit. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of the Group's overseas banking institutions was RMB1,249,946 million, accounting for 8.89 per cent. of the Group's total assets.

To facilitate the globalisation of domestic enterprises, the Bank and HSBC has also jointly launched a program named "1+1 Global Financial Services" to provide related services and advice. The Bank also connected to the "Single Window" of the customs to provide one-stop trading, settlement and financing services to foreign trade companies. In addition, the Bank developed a new format of trade services, actively connected the Bank with cross-border e-Commerce enterprises and integrated foreign trade service platforms to improve the foreign exchange settlement autonomy and capital turnover efficiency of medium, small and micro enterprises. To enhance its global influence, the Bank is also devoted to promoting the integration of its businesses. To be facilitated by its various wholly-owned and controlling subsidiaries, the Group provides comprehensive financial services and products to its customers, comprising fund, trust, financial leasing, onshore insurance, investment banking, offshore insurance, debt-to-equity swap and wealth management.

BoCom Schroder Fund, whose primary businesses are fund raising, fund sales and asset management, was awarded "Golden Bull Fund Management Company" by *China Securities Journal*, "Golden Fund Top Company Award" by *Shanghai Securities Journal* and "Top 10 Star Fund Company Award" by *Securities Times* in 2023. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were RMB7,783 million and RMB6,705 million respectively, and the public fund under management reached RMB487.2 billion. Affected by the fluctuations in the market, its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1,201 million, representing a decrease of 24 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

Staying committed to fulfil the original mission as a trust company to serve the real economy, BoCom International Trust focuses on, among others, trust loans, equity investment trusts, credit asset securitisation, corporate asset securitisation, qualified domestic institutional investor (QDII), family trusts, charitable trusts. It was awarded "Integrity Trust - Excellent Company Award" by *Shanghai Securities News*, "Golden Bull Award for One-Year Trust TOF/FOF" by *China Securities Journal* and "Top Ten Family Trust Management Innovation Award" by *The Banker* in 2023. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets, net assets and the AUM were RMB17,466 million, RMB16,145 million and RMB563,581 million, respectively. BoCom International Trust's net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB771 million, representing a decrease of 18.21 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. It has been rated as Level A (the highest level) for eight consecutive years in the industry rating launched by the China Trustee Association.

BoCom Leasing continues to promote financing leasing and operating leasing in sectors such as aviation, shipping and energy power, transportation infrastructure, equipment manufacturing and livelihood services. It was awarded "Gold Medal List of Chinese Financial Institutions - Best Financial Leasing Company of the Year" by *Financial Times*, "Banking ESG Practices – Green Finance Exemplary Award" by *China Banking and Insurance News* and "Best Financial Leasing Company of the Year" by *Global Leasing Industry Competitiveness Forum* in 2023. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets, net assets and balance of leasing assets amounted to RMB404,664 million, RMB44,881 million and RMB355,951 million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing's net profit reached RMB4,006 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.02 per cent.. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, it owned and managed 447 ships and RMB124,922 million of aircraft charter assets. BoCom Leasing was the largest leasing company in the domestic merchant fleet. As at 31 December 2023, it has a fleet of 307 planes and had aviation leasing assets of RMB101,589 million.

In relation to onshore insurance, BoCommLife remains committed to provide life insurance, health insurance, accident insurance and reinsurance business. It was awarded "Examples of Excellence in ESG Practices" by *The Financial Sector* and "Gold Medal Insurance Product Ark Award" by *Securities Times*. As at 31 December 2023, BoCommLife's total assets and net assets were RMB125,587 million and RMB5,502 million respectively. BoCommLife took the initiative to optimise its business structure, focusing on the development of value-based term business, for the year ended 31 December 2023, BocommLife achieved insurance service income of RMB1,449 million, representing an increase of 11.97 per cent. on a year-on-year basis and new business value of RMB1,287 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 46.13 per cent. For the year ended 31 December 2023, its net profit was RMB292 million, representing a year-on year increase of RMB958 million.

With respect to offshore insurance, BoCom Insurance expands its banking-related insurance business domestically and overseas and officially obtains the full-coverage aviation insurance license issued by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority (namely, No. 5 Aviation Insurance License and No.11 Aviation Liability Insurance License). As at 31 December 2023, BoCom Insurance had total assets and net assets of HKD1,271 million and HKD554 million, respectively. Its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to HKD2.63 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 121.16 per cent.

As one of the first pilot banks to implement debt-to equity swap as determined by the State Council, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment is mainly engaged in debt-to-equity swap and supporting services. As at 31 December 2023, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment's total assets and net assets were RMB65,074 million and RMB23,613 million, respectively. Its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB3,125 million, representing an increase of 178.04 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank from the subsidiaries amounted to RMB9,170 million, the proportion of which to the Group's net profit was 9.89 per cent. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of the Group's subsidiaries were RMB663,140 million, the proportion of which to the total assets of the Group was 4.72 per cent.

Prominent wealth management services

The Group grasped market opportunities and cooperated with sophisticated fund managers to manage its funds and investments, aiming to create conventional, popular and featured wealth management products and build up the name of BOCOM Wealth. In addition, the Group strengthened the operation of full volume of customers, brought wealth management products' and service brand's superiorities into full play, better met the multi-level wealth management needs of the people. As at 31 December 2023, individual financial AUM managed by domestic branches of the Group increased by 8.23 per cent. over the end of the previous year, whereas the personal mobile banking MAU increased by 7.96 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, there were 83.6 thousand private banking customers of the Group, representing an increase of 8.54 per cent. over the end of the previous year; the assets of private banking customers under management of the Group were RMB1,166 billion, representing an increase of 7.56 per cent. over the end of the previous year. In addition, the Group has established comprehensive service brands for its customers in relation to wealth preservation. The Group provided retail and individual customers, corporations and financial institutions with comprehensive financial services, building up a complete series structure comprising "Win to Fortune", a corporate and interbank wealth management brand of the Bank providing comprehensive one-stop wealth management solutions for corporate, government institutions and interbank financial customers through intelligent financial service and digital transformation and "OTO Fortune", a main brand of retail business of the Bank with core value of "creating and sharing abundant wealth with noble virtue" devoted to realising value maintenance and

٠

Excluding Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) S.A., Bank of Communications (Brazil) Co., Ltd. and Bank of Communications (Hong Kong), same applies hereinafter

appreciation of wealth for customers. As at 31 December 2023, the number of qualified customers of OTO Fortune increased by 9.07 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB2.42 million. As at 31 December 2023, the scale of AUM increased by 8.23 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB5,001,919 million.

Comprehensive and robust risk management

The Board of Directors of the Bank assumed the ultimate responsibility, served the highest function of decision making and monitored the Bank's risk management through its Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee. The Bank's Senior Management established a Risk Management Committee, namely the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee, and two business review committees, namely the Credit and Investment Review Committee and the High-risk Asset Review Committee. The business review committees were guided by and reported to the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee. Each provincial and directly managed branch, overseas branch, subsidiary and directly operating institution correspondingly established the Risk Management Committee accordingly referring to the aforementioned framework, which served as the main platform to study the prevention and control of systematic and regional risks and decision-making risks on major issues, ensured that the comprehensive risk management system had been implemented throughout the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reinforced risk identification and prompted risk response. The business accountability mechanism for credit granting of key customers was continuously deepened, the approval procedures of credit business were also continuously deepened, the post-loan management was continuously improved and enhanced. The Bank continuously strengthened the credit risk identification and management in key sectors, further optimised systems and models of risk monitoring, assessment and measurement, and the direct operation and management mechanism for the asset preservation was significantly effective. By maintaining strict asset quality classification standards, the foundation of asset quality was continuously strengthened, and the asset quality was steadily improved. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of non-performing loans was RMB105,688 million and the non-performing loan ratio was 1.33 per cent., representing an increase of RMB7,162 million and a decrease of 0.02 percentage points, respectively, over the end of the previous year.

Experienced and professional management team and talent pool

The Group's senior management has an average of more than 20 years' experience in banking practice and is well experienced in management. Among the Group's senior management, Mr. Ren Deqi, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive Director, has over 30 years' experience in banking sector, holding important positions. In 2023, the Bank continued to optimise the talent development system and mechanism as well as the talent policy in key areas, and strengthened the professional talent team building to provide strong talent protection to facilitate and promote the Bank's high-quality development and digital transformation. The Bank continuously deepened the reform of the talent development system and mechanism, established and improved the relevant criteria, issued the "Action Plan for Enhancing the Quality of Key Talents of the Ban of Communications", which enhanced the talent quality to the level of the Bank's strategic development, and strived to establish a talent work pattern of coordination and join management. Focusing on the Bank's digital transformation strategy, the Bank focused on promoting the implementation of the "Ten Thousand People Technology Engagement Plan", with the proportion of newly recruited science and technology graduates in the Bank has increased to 70 per cent. in 2023. The Bank intensified the opening up of high-level leading talent to attract global talent, and achieved a breakthrough in talent attraction in 2023, with around 10 high-level talents introduced in key shortage areas such as financial technology, risk measurement, compliance and anti-money laundering.

The Group also adheres to pursue operational improvements and actively reforms its corporate governance structure in a professional manner. Currently, the Bank has established its modern corporate governance

mechanism comprising the Shareholders' General Meeting, the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors and Senior Management with clearly defined roles, authorities and responsibilities. Based on their mutual coordination and individual operation, the Group protects the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders and other stakeholders and functions fairly and efficiently.

Strategic cooperation with HSBC

In 2022, the Bank and HSBC were strongly committed to promote the cooperation in various fields under the framework of the strategic cooperation mechanism, as well as consolidating the mutually beneficial and win-win cooperation situation. The Bank and HSBC held the top-level meetings at the Chairman/Group Chairman through online channels; established and conducted the dialogue mechanism for the President/Group CEO; communicated the significant matters of business development in a timely manner, and determined the direction and route of cooperation. The Bank and HSBC steadily promoted cooperation in various fields under the unified framework of "1+1 Global Financial Service" based on the market-oriented principles. The Bank and HSBC have joined hands to provide syndicated loans to "going out" Chinese enterprises, continued to promote cross-border Renminbi settlement, interbank bond trading and other business corporation, as well as promote fund distribution corporation in a steadily increasing scale. The Bank and HSBC continued to maintain their advantages in overseas corporation. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount of bond underwriting and cooperative syndicated loans by the Bank in Hong Kong grew by 18 per cent. and 32 year per cent. on a year-on-year basis, respectively.

Under the framework of "Resources and Experience Sharing (RES)", both parties focused on the transformation and development, business innovation and other issues, and also continued carrying out the mutual training and business experience exchange. In 2022, the Bank and HSBC successfully resumed Hong Kong exchange projects, and promoted in-depth exchanges around trade finance, sci-tech finance and green finance by organising three key training sessions.

2024 marks the 20th anniversary of the Bank and HSBC cooperation. The Bank intends to work with HSBC through close communication and collaboration to further expand cooperation in key areas and key fields around the common strategic priorities of both parties to produce more fruitful results.

THE GROUP'S PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Bank provides the customers with corporate banking, personal banking and interbank and financial market businesses. Corporate banking businesses include offering deposits and loans, supply chain finance, cash management, international settlement and trade finance, investment banking, asset custody, wealth management and all kinds of intermediary businesses to corporate customers and government agencies. Personal banking businesses include services such as deposits and loans, wealth management, bank cards, private banking and all kinds of intermediary businesses for individual customers. Interbank and financial market businesses include cooperation with customers in the markets of interest rates, exchange rates, commodities, providing comprehensive services such as investment and financing, transactions, agency, settlement and liquidation. In addition, the Group is involved in businesses in financial leasing, fund, trust, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity conversion and asset management through wholly-owned or controlling subsidiaries.

Corporate Banking Business

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's corporate deposit balance increased to RMB5,060,932 million. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's corporate loan balance was RMB5,179,533 million, representing an increase of RMB468,180 million or 9.94 per cent. over the end of the previous year, among which short term loans increased by RMB58,170 million, and medium and long-term loans increased by RMB410,010 million, the proportion of medium and long-terms in loans and advances to customers increased to 46.28 per cent.

Customer development

The Bank continuously optimised the management of corporate customers by tiered classification and built a refined and professional service system. As at 31 December 2023, the total number of corporate customers of domestic branches increased by 8.18 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

For group customers, the Bank increased its services and support for national strategies such as the building of a strong power in technology, manufacturing, green development, digital economy and agriculture. It also established a group—wide integrated and collaborative service system and continued to optimise customer service policies and credit procedures in order to improve service level and business synergy. As at 31 December 2023, the total number of the Bank's group customers reached 97,500, representing an increase of 9,650 over the end of the previous year. In terms of government institutions customers, the Bank actively participated in the construction of digital government and the process of digital transformation of cities, helped to provide convenient administrative services, and built a system of intelligent government products. As at 31 December 2023, the number of government institutions customers reached 77,000, representing an increase of 2,944 over the end of the previous year. For small and micro basic customers, the Bank further implemented the strategy of "Internet Management, Online Management and Remote Management", and established a new generation for the call system, enhanced support for digital batch financial services, and improved the quality and efficiency of online-offline collaborative services. As at 31 December 2023, the number of small and micro basic customers reached 2,444.7 thousand, representing an increase of 188.8 thousand over the end of the previous year.

Scenario construction

The Bank intensively explored scenario construction through digital thinking and gained noticeable achievement in subdivided scenarios such as medical care, industrial parks, central corporate treasury and interbank fund management. The "Credit for Medical Treatment" initiative has been launched in 82 cities, including Shanghai, Nanjing, Dalian, Guangzhou and Kunming, to solve the problem of queuing for medical treatment through the new model of "Treatment First and Payment Later". With the focus on "fee collection" and "fee reconciliation", the Group created a comprehensive service solution combining both online and offline channels to offer distinct features in different scenarios, including industrial parks and electricity payment. The total number of customers signed up on the Intelligent Financial Services Platform exceeded 138.5 thousand, representing an increase of 27,200 over the end of the previous year, with a collection and settlement volume of RMB1,985,751 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 121.11 per cent.. The Group actively served the construction of a treasury system for central and state-owned enterprises, and the Group is among the first in the industry to launch account monitoring services based on the request of customers to enhance the visibility of their accounts. With a focus on the informatisation of enterprise financial management, the Group launched an inter-bank fund management system to address the pain points and difficulties of enterprises in inter-bank fund management.

Services to inclusive small and micro enterprises

The Group has continued to increase the scale and coverage of its credit business to strengthen financial support to key areas including small and micro enterprises who are first-time lenders, credit lending, sci-tech-based small and micro enterprises, and small and micro manufacturing enterprises. The Group has created a unified brand for inclusive finance and rural revitalisation – BoCom Zhanyetong and BoCom Yinongtong, to enable the driving of online standard products and customised scenario products. The Group consistently optimises its business processes to facilitate remote audio and video verification, direct connection and handling of mortgage registrations, as well as centralised post-loan monitoring and management. By focusing on customer operation pain points in payroll, tax, personnel and other issues, the Group provides the BoCom Jiaoxintong digital platform free of charge to support enterprises in their transformation and upgrade. The Group consistently enhances its evaluation, incentive and resource mechanisms to promote the "conduct of inclusive finance by all

employees". By concentrating on technological empowerment, the Bank has consolidated the digital risk control system and strengthened post-loan management and compliance management to firmly uphold the risk bottom line.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of inclusive loans to small and micro enterprises was RMB590,279 million, representing an increase of 29.38 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the number of customers with loan balances was 341.5 thousand, representing an increase of 16.51 per cent. over the end of the previous year. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the accumulated average interest rate of inclusive loans to small and micro enterprises was 3.43 per cent., representing a year-on-year decrease of 32 basis points. As at 31 December 2023, the non-performing loan ratio of inclusive small and micro enterprises was 0.70 per cent., representing a decrease of 0.11 percentage points over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, 2,780 business outlets of the Bank provided financing services to small and micro enterprises.

Industrial chain finance

By capturing the strategic opportunity brought about by the construction of a modern industrial system, the Bank continues to conduct the "100 cores and 1,000 chains" initiatives, with a focus on key customer groups such as central and state-owned enterprises, strategic customers and leading local enterprises, increasing the support given to key sectors, including manufacturing, scientific and technological innovation and green development, as well as assisting the real economy to strengthen, supplement and extend the industrial chain. The Bank enhanced the iterative optimisation and marketing of the self-built smart transaction chain platform, continued its integration with core enterprises and third-party supply chain platforms, and created digital scenario-based service features for industrial chain finance. The Bank continued to enrich its rapid financing product line to improve service efficiency, optimise the customer experience, and enhance the digitalisation of business development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the industrial chain financial business volume was RMB577,685 million, representing an increase of 21.20 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 31 December 2023, the number of upstream and downstream enterprises in the industrial chain amounted to 47,300, representing an increase of 79.79 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

Sci-tech finance

The Bank proactively adhered to the strategy of strengthening the country through science and technology, reinforced the connection between industry and finance, and leveraged the advantage of full licenses to provide sci-tech enterprises with diversified financial products and services throughout their entire life cycle in order to excel in sci-tech finance area. The Bank optimised customer structure and asset structure by focusing on, among others, serving strategic emerging industries, advanced manufacturing industries, sci-tech innovation, green and low-carbon, and the upgrading of traditional industries. The Bank focused on key clients including high-tech enterprises, sci-tech small and micro enterprises, national manufacturing leaders, specialised and new "little giants", specialised and new small and micro enterprises, and model companies for national technology innovation, to build an "eight specialists" mechanism to serve sci-tech innovation enterprises. In addition, the Bank also launched the "BoCom Sci-tech Innovation" brand to introduce exclusive service solutions covering the four major product lines of "equity, debt, lending and rental" and the three major scenarios of "industrial chain, business cycle and industrial park". Focusing on the different life stages of inclusive sci-tech innovation enterprises, the Bank has improved the level of online financing services. As at 31 December 2023, the number of sci-tech finance credit customers increased by 41.20 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the loan balance of strategic emerging industries increased by 31.12 per cent. compared with the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, there were 4,783 "little giant" enterprises of "specialisation, delicacy, characterisation and novelty", with a market coverage rate of 39.26 per cent., and their loan balances increased by 55.41 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Investment bank

The Bank continues to consolidate a comprehensive range of products for all customers and establish itself as the most innovative investment bank. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the bond underwriting according to NAFMII (debt financing instruments for non-financial enterprises) reached RMB301.88 billion. The Bank strives to serve the sci-tech financial strategy by providing services such as bill underwriting, M&A loans, and as at 31 December 2023, equity investment to sci-tech enterprises amounting to RMB35.89 billion, representing an increase of 126.7 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. The Bank promoted the establishment of BoCom Scitech Innovation - Shanghai sci-tech finance master-feeder fund to meet the needs of technology start-ups for equity investment with the purpose of reaching customers at an earlier stage. The Bank served the green development strategy and witnessed rapid growth in the green bond underwriting business, green M&A loans, and the green equity investment business. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank implemented RMB38.45 billion in green finance investment banking business, representing a year-on-year growth of 107.6 per cent. The Bank was invited to join as a member of the Green Bond Standards Committee jointly established by the PBOC and the CSRC. In order to meet the reasonable direct financing needs of real estate enterprises, as at 31 December 2023, the Bank had underwritten real estate corporate bonds of RMB13.59 billion, representing an increase of 56.5 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, taking advantage of its diversified product portfolios such as private enterprise bond financing and credit risk mitigation warranty (CRMW). In order to shape new advantages in digital finance, the Bank continued to iteratively upgrade the "Win to Fortune e-Smart" information consultancy system. The first batch of hybrid sci-tech innovation bills in interbank market underwritten by the Bank as the lead underwriter won the "Excellence Award" of the Science and Technology Innovation Centre of Shanghai Financial Industry Federation.

Personal Banking Business

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of personal deposits of the Group amounted to RMB3,358,156 million representing an increase of 13.62 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of personal loans was RMB2,473,100 million, representing an increase of 4.56 per cent. over the end of the previous year, and the market share¹ of personal consumption loans of domestic branches increased by 1.54 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

Retail customers and AUM

The Bank deepened the management of retail customer stratification and classification to build precise customer profiles for the purpose of enabling the sophisticated and intelligent reach to different customer groups. The Bank strived to promote retail digital transformation by creating an integrated "online + offline" full process service system, enriched financial service scenarios, enhanced the effectiveness of customer acquisition and activation within all channels and scenarios, improved the ability for value creation, and enabled sustained and stable growth in AUM. As at 31 December 2023, the number of retail customers of domestic branches (including debit card and credit card customers) increased by 0.25 per cent. over the end of the previous year to 192 million². As at 31 December 2023, the number of qualified customers of OTO Fortune increased by 9.07 per cent. over the end of the previous year to 2.42 million. As at 31 December 2023, the scale of AUM increased by 8.23 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB5,001,919 million.

Wealth management

Adhering to the customer orientation, the Bank constantly improved it product offerings, enhancing the availability and coverage of its services so as to benefit its customers with secured and profitable financial

Among 17 commercial banks

The slower growth in the number of the customers for the entire year over that in the first half of the year was due to the clearing of dormant accounts.

products with high liquidity and to meet the increasing demand for wealth management products. The Bank proactively responded to the unfavourable external environment to build a robust full-chain operating system for the wealth management business. Further driven by investment and research, the Bank integrated group resources to establish a collaborative investment strategic meeting mechanism within the entire Group. By holding on to the principles of openness and integration, the Bank selected high-quality products from the market to enrich inclusive financial products with low starting points and stable returns, and established strict selection criteria for "OTO Best Choice" products. The Bank adopted a data driven approach to facilitate the re-engineering and reshaping of asset allocation, operating system, and service models to empower business development. The Bank also improved customer accompaniment by working with leading partner institutions to leverage an open wealth management platform to provide outstanding full-process services. The "OTO Best Choice" product series outperformed its market counterparts in 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of personal public funds product on consignment was RMB224,280 million; the balance of insurance products on consignment was RMB853,135 million; and the balance of insurance products on consignment was RMB291,412 million.

Payment and scenarios

The Bank increased financial support for consumption by launching promotional activities for the purchase of automobiles, household items, home electrical appliances and conduced time-honoured carnival-themed marketing activities together with China UnionPay. Themed debit cards were issued alongside a reduction of handling fees and an increased promotion of benefits such as consumption discounts for four major types of new citizens made up of migrant workers and farmers, self-employed business owners and small and micro entrepreneurs, white-collar workers, and college students, as well as elderly people moving alongside their children. The Bank also provided support to flexible employment workers to settle their provident fund and pension insurance through mobile banking or in branches. As at 31 December 2023, a total of 863,300 debit cards were issued to new citizens and the accumulated number of debit cards issued amounted to approximately 177.9 million, representing a net increase of approximately 4.4 million over the end of the previous year.

The Bank enhanced financial services through digital transformation to build a service model of "finance + technology + scenarios". The Bank focused on the construction of government affairs scenarios and government APP for citizens, and provided full-link financial services from account management, bill collection, consumer lending to quick payment for the purpose of improving its service capabilities in high-frequency scenarios such as travel and payment. In specific transportation scenarios, such as the charging of new energy vehicles, public transportation, and ETC travel, the Bank provided convenient services to more than 70 million passengers in 360 urban areas across the country. The Bank focused on medical and health scenarios, optimised the payment process for medical treatment, expanded service scenarios such as community hospitals, cross provincial medical treatment, and drug purchases, and established a mobile payment platform for medical insurance, so as to provide convenient and beneficial payment services. By leveraging BoCom smart schools, the Bank provided comprehensive, secured, and intelligent solutions to meet the financial needs of teachers and students. The Bank provided agency settlement services for student loans granted by China Development Bank in 11 provinces (autonomous regions and municipalities). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the proportion of customers acquired through online channels accounted for 26.88 per cent., representing an increase of 9.01 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

Consumer finance

The Bank adapted to the new changes and trends in the real estate market and actively supported residents' demand for both rigid and improved housing and it successfully completed the stock mortgage interest rate adjustment project, with the whole process of digitisation to enhance customer experience. In order to serve the country's strategy of expanding domestic demand, the Bank innovated and launched new citizen exclusive consumer loans for college graduates "Elite Benefit Loan", and enhanced end-to-end digital operations to better

cover diverse customer credit needs. The Bank set up a new automobile scene loan matrix process, which combined credit and mortgage, head office and branch, online and offline. As a result of the Bank's increased cooperation with car brands and dealers, the balance of new energy vehicle loans accounted for nearly 50 per cent.. The Bank promoted digital transformation in depth, relied on enterprise-level architecture to improve the efficiency of product innovation, and took data as the core driving force; furthermore, the Bank upgraded digital risk prevention and control system, supported unified risk management and differentiated operations, and promoted business accessibility, thereby greatly improving management efficiency.

Private banking

By adhering to a customer-oriented philosophy, the Bank improved product structure and research services, and strengthened wealth finance features. The Bank consistently enriched its product offering by selecting high-quality products from the market and increasing the supply of low-volatility products and private equity products with multiple terms and strategies. It also launched innovative solutions, such as equity and real estate family trusts, insurance family trusts, and family trusts, to continuously enhance the unique features of its wealth management services. The Bank enhanced its asset allocation by improving the "private banking selection" quantitative model and optimising product selection to assist customers with negative market risks and reduce the fluctuation of investment portfolios. The Bank established an investment and research driving mechanism to steadfastly conduct research on the macroeconomic environment and major types of assets, fixed income products, equity investment products, precious metals and foreign exchanges, to provide support for the Group's asset management and wealth management business. The Bank proactively promoted shared prosperity by launching an innovative charitable trust ecosystem to give full play to the synergy of "finance + charity" to implement a number of charitable trust projects, such as "White Tea Charity Program", "Heartfelt Happiness", and "Let's Light Up Dreams", to form a virtuous cycle for multiple parties to participate in charity.

As at 31 December 2023, there were 83.6 thousand private banking customers of the Group, representing an increase of 8.54 per cent. over the end of the previous year; the assets of private banking customers under management of the Group was RMB1,166.4 billion, representing an increase of 7.56 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Credit card

The Bank proactively promoted consumption to benefit people's livelihoods. With the goal of "giving back to customers, brand building, and stimulating consumption", the Bank renewed and upgraded the "Red Hot Friday" activity. The Bank also launched a number of large-scale card-payment activities, such as the Yearly Prize, the Double-Five Shopping Festival, the 618 Shopping Festival and the Double 11 E-commerce Festival, to boost consumption. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank focused on premium customer segments to launch a variety of card products, such as new citizen credit cards and car owner credit cards. As at 31 December 2023, the total spending of credit cards ranked third in the industry, remaining unchanged from the beginning of the year. As at 31 December 2023, among the new active users, high-quality target customers accounted for 64.86 per cent., representing an increase of 17.93 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

As at 31 December 2023, the cards in force reached approximately 71.3 million and as at 31 December 2023, accounts receivables from domestic branches reached RMB489,606 million, representing an increase of 2.50 per cent. over the end of the previous year. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total spending of credit cards reached RMB2,811,639 million, in which the volume of online payment transactions increased by 5.84 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

Pension finance

The Bank proactively served the national strategy of coping with the aging population and strived to deliver a remarkable performance in pension finance. The Bank solidly promoted its personal pension business, with the scale of personal pension accounts continuing to grow. The Bank also integrated various government affairs with people's livelihood scenarios to continuously optimise the customer experience and improve the availability and convenience of services. A total of 159 types of products were sold on a commission basis, with all categories of product shelves available, maintaining an industry leading position in terms of the total number of products offered. The Bank continued to strengthen account management and custody services of the national social security fund, basic pension funds and enterprise (occupational) annuity, with the scale of pension custody ranking at the forefront in the industry. By serving the construction of the national inclusive elderly care service system, the Bank proactively promoted the development of its special inclusive pension refinancing business, improving financial support for elderly care service institutions. As at 31 December 2023, the credit balance of the elderly care service industry was increased by 22.09 per cent. and the number of credit customers was increased by 23.08 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Giving full play to the advantages of integrated operations, in 2023, the Bank's subsidiaries proactively carried out the pension finance business, with the management scale of pension target funds ranking first in the industry, and the yield of pension wealth management products being among the leaders in the market. To leverage the inclusive protection offered by insurance products, the Bank offered the first personal pension annuity insurance product and relaxed the age limit for pension annuity products to serve the diversified pension wealth management needs of the people.

Inter-bank and Financial Market Business

The Bank actively supported the construction of a modern financial system with Chinese characteristics. The Bank intensively participated in the financial market development of bonds, currencies and foreign exchange within China, improved its market making and quotation ability, deepened its business cooperation in financial market, optimised its professional custody services, and transformed financial market products into quality services that meet the needs of economic and social development as well as the demands of all kinds of customers, constantly strengthening the capabilities to serve the real economy.

Inter-bank business

The Bank optimised the settlement business within the financial market, ensuring its smooth operations. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the volume of the Bank's agency clearing business in the Shanghai Clearing House, the volume of the agency settlement business in the Shanghai Gold Exchange, and the volume of the securities and futures settlement business were leading the market. The Bank proactively participated in the innovation of the financial market, being the first to carry out standard interest rate swap agency clearing business, and one of the first to carry out agency clearing business for foreign currency pairs in the Shanghai Clearing House. The Bank acted as clearing agent for the first foreign institutional investor participating in the central counterparty clearing business for interbank standard bond forward transactions, and processed the first agency clearing business of "Southbound Trading" for domestic investors. The Bank enriched the scene of interbank cooperation in order to better meet the financial service needs of all kinds of customers. At the same time, the Bank served the construction of the local market, and as at 31 December 2023, the Bank carried out third party deposit service cooperation with 107 securities companies, financing and lending deposit service cooperation with 93 securities companies, and transferred service cooperation with 148 futures companies, in order to serve customers and market investment transactions in the market. In addition, the Bank strengthened its cooperation with cross-border inter-bank payment and clearing limited companies, vigorously expanded domestic and foreign participants, and helped the people to expand the global network of cross border payment systems. The Bank actively applies the deployment of new products of the people's cross-border payment system to provide safe and efficient renminbi cross-border payment services for enterprises to "go out". As at 31 December 2023, the standard payers of the cross-border payment system and the number of customers of the Bank ranked at the forefront of the market.

Financial market business

Focusing on national strategies and the needs of the real economy, the Bank leveraged a combination of investment and trading instruments to provide financial support to major strategies, key regions, and weak links, for the purpose of serving high-quality economic development.

The Bank gave full play to its role as "financial stabiliser" as a leading state-owned bank, and proactively conducted market making, quotations and trading to help shape the "Shanghai Price". For the year ended 31 December 2023, the trading volume in Renminbi currency market amounted to RMB119.42 trillion; the trading volume in foreign currency market amounted to U.S.\$1.12 trillion; the trading volume of Renminbi bonds amounted to RMB6.33 trillion; the trading volume in interbank foreign exchange market amounted to U.S.\$4.23 trillion; the trading volume of self-operated gold amounted to 5,604 tons, maintaining its market position as an active trading bank.

Serving the construction of Shanghai as an international financial centre, the Bank was one of the first to conduct innovative businesses such as "Swap Connect", green repurchasing, standard interest rate swap contract trading, the central counterparty clearing business of foreign currency pairs in the interbank market, and single-click trading of foreign exchange options. As one of the first batch of quotation agencies, the Bank created the "BoCom 1-5 Years Treasury Bond Basket" strategy and completed the first batch of trading.

Asset custody business

The Bank met the needs of residents for wealth management and asset allocation, maintained the improvement in the capacity of high-quality custody products, and expanded the custody business of public funds. Focusing on the "three pillars" of old-age care of stabilising the current capacity, promoting growth, and optimising services, the Bank consolidated its brand advantage in the pension custody business. It also focused on expanding the customer groups of interbank cooperation and the custody market of various asset management products. By focusing on key industries encouraged and supported by national policies, such as sci-tech innovation, "specialisation, delicacy, characterisation and novelty" enterprises, the Bank improved its comprehensive service system and expanded its custody business for private equity funds. By seizing the opportunities afforded by policies promoting connectivity of financial markets, the Bank promoted the development of cross-border custody business. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's assets under custody reached RMB13.74 trillion.

INTEGRATED OPERATION

The Group has developed a structure where the commercial banking business serves as the core, closely integrated and connected with other financial sectors including financial leasing, funds, wealth management, trust, insurance, overseas securities, and debt-to-equity swaps. This arrangement provides comprehensive financial services to customers. For the year ended 31 December 2023, net profits of subsidiaries¹ that are attributable to shareholders of the Bank amounted to RMB9,170 million, the proportion of which to the Group's net profit was 9.89 per cent. As at 31 December 2023, total assets of the subsidiaries¹ was RMB663,140 million, the proportion of which to the total assets of the Group was 4.72 per cent.

_

Excluding Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) S.A., Bank of Communications (Brazil) Co., Ltd. and Bank of Communications (Hong Kong).

Major Subsidiaries

BoCom Leasing

As the Bank's wholly-owned subsidiary, BoCom Leasing was set up in December 2007 with a registered capital of RMB20.0 billion as at 31 December 2023. The main business scope includes financing leasing and operating leasing in sectors such as aviation, shipping and energy power, transportation infrastructure, equipment manufacturing and livelihood services. BoCom Leasing was elected as the Fifth Chief Administration Unit of China Banking Association (CBA) Financial Leasing Committee. During the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing adhered to the development strategies of "Professionalism, Internationalisation, Differentiation and Characteristics", and was deeply engaged in aviation, shipping, traditional financing leasing and other businesses. As at 31 December 2023, total assets, net assets and leasing assets were RMB404,664 million, RMB44,881 million and RMB355,951 million respectively. As at 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing's total assets, leasing assets, operating income, net profit and other main business indicators were ranked first in the financial leasing industry. As at 31 December 2023, it owned and managed 447 ships and RMB124,922 million of aircraft charter assets. BoCom Leasing was the largest leasing company in the domestic merchant fleet, as at 31 December 2023, it had a fleet of 307 planes and had aviation leasing assets cost RMB101,589 million. For the year ended 31 December 2023, its net profit was RMB4,006 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.02 per cent. BoCom Leasing has won a total of 36 internal and external honorary awards, such as successively winning the "Best Financial Leasing Company of the Year" in the Gold Medal Award of Chinese Financial Institutions by the Financial Times.

In 2023, BoCom Leasing deeply served the major national strategies and continued to increase support for key strategic regions such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, the Yangtze River Delta, and Guangdong-Hong Kong Macau. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of leasing assets of BoCom Leasing in these three regions accounted to RMB104.4 billion, representing an increase of 20.76 per cent. over the end of the previous year, accounting for 47 per cent. of domestic business. Focusing on "a new development stage, philosophy and pattern, as well as high-quality development", BoCom Leasing deepened its transformation and innovation, and supported the self-development of high-level technologies. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing invested RMB32,721 million, RMB22,225 million and RMB16,825 million in new infrastructure and new energy leasing businesses, manufacturing industry and 89 sci-tech enterprises, representing a year-on-year increase of 94.41 per cent, 141.26 per cent. and 100 per cent., respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing was the only financial leasing company selected as a sci-tech finance pilot institution by the Shanghai Office of the former CBIRC (now the NAFR) and took the lead in establishing the Shanghai Financial Leasing Service Integrated Circuit Industrial Laboratory.

BoCom International Trust

BoCom International Trust was set up in October 2007 with a registered capital of RMB5,765 million, of which the Bank and Hubei Provincial Communications Investment Group Co., Ltd. contributed 85 per cent. and 15 per cent. shares respectively as at 31 December 2023. The main business scope includes, among others, trust loans, equity investment trusts, securities investment trusts, credit asset securitisation, corporate asset securitisation, qualified domestic institutional investor (QDII), family trusts, charitable trusts. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom International Trust adhered to the principle of stability, set the strategic goal of creating "the most trustworthy first-class trust company", accelerated the transformation and development and deepened the synergy effect of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets, net assets and the assets under management of BoCom International Trust were RMB17,466 million, RMB16,145 million and RMB563,581 million respectively. Its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB771 million, representing a decrease of 18.21 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. BoCom International Trust has been rated as Level A (the highest level) for eight consecutive years in the industry rating launched by the China Trustee Association.

In 2023, in accordance with the regulatory requirements of the "Three Categories" of trust management, BoCom International Trust made intensive efforts in the fields of asset service trusts, asset management trusts, and charity trusts to promote the development of business transformation. The "Thousand Points of Light" family service trusts were innovatively launched to promote the inclusive application of trusts. As at 31 December 2023, the size of the family wealth management business reached RMB14,948 million, representing an increase of 70.02 per cent. over the end of the previous year, the size of self-managed fixed-income standard products reached RMB105,859 million, representing an increase of 74.39 per cent. over the end of the previous year and 13 charitable trusts were set up covering, among others, rural revitalisation, education subsidies, medical care, helping the elderly and the disabled.

BoCom Schroder Fund

BoCom Schroder Fund was set up in August 2005 with a registered capital of RMB0.2 billion as at 31 December 2023. It was jointly contributed by the Bank, Schroder Investment Management Limited and China International Marine Containers (Group) Co., Ltd., with the shares accounting for 65 per cent., 30 per cent. and 5 per cent. respectively. The primary businesses include fund raising, fund sales and asset management. BoCom Schroder Fund has won the "Golden Bull Fund Management Company" award for five consecutive years, and once again secured the "grand slam" of Golden Bull, Star Fund and Golden Fund awards. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets and net assets of BoCom Schroder Fund were RMB7,783 million and RMB6,705 million respectively, and the public fund under management reached RMB487.2 billion. Affected by the fluctuations in the market, its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1,201 million, representing a decrease of 24 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

BoCom Schroder Fund continuously improved core competitiveness in investment research, forming a product system with clear risk-return characteristics in areas such as equity investment, multi-asset investment, fixed-income investment, and its investment advisory strategy, striving to develop into a first-class fund company with core competitiveness for high-quality development to help the Group deepen its wealth finance features. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Schroder Fund fulfilled its institutional responsibility towards public equity funds by insisting on maintaining equity funds at a low-level and with a countercyclical layout, being the first batch of financial institutions to participate in public fund rate reform, and purchasing its own equity funds several times. In October 2023, the BoCom Schroders Ruiyuan 3-year Fixed Period Open Hybrid Securities Investment Fund of RMB1,668 million was issued, becoming the first profit-giving floating rate fund established after the public fund rate reform that had raised the largest amount in the market.

BOCOM Wealth

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, BOCOM Wealth was set up in June 2019 with a registered capital of RMB8.0 billion as at 31 December 2023. It primarily issues wealth management products of fixed income, equity, commodities, financial derivatives and hybrid categories to customers. In 2023, BOCOM Wealth adhered to the customer-centric and investor- oriented principles and adjusted the focus of product design and issuance in a timely manner. It actively expanded consignment agencies outside the Bank, and the balance of products sold under consignment outside the Bank reached RMB662,536 million, accounting for 53.80 per cent. of the balance of products for the year ended 31 December 2023. It has preliminarily established an open and diversified omni-channel system with the Bank as the main body. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of wealth management products increased by 13.45 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB1,231,417 million. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were RMB12,770 million and RMB12,369 million respectively. Its net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1.24 billion, indicating an increase of 4.39 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

In 2023, BOCOM Wealth adhered to the "dual drive" of assets and liabilities, constantly improving the inclusive feature of wealth management, accelerating digital transformation, keeping the risk bottom-line, and helping

the Group create the features of wealth finance. In 2023, BOCOM Wealth won several honorary awards including the Golden Bull, Golden Shell, and Golden Wealth Management awards. Its "Innovative Cases of Pension Wealth Management Services" won the "Cases of China's Banking and Insurance Services" for the first time.

BoCommLife

BoCommLife was set up in January 2010 with a registered capital of RMB5.1 billion, of which the Bank and the MS&AD Insurance Group contributed 62.50 per cent. and 37.50 per cent. shares respectively as at 31 December 2023. The business scope includes life insurance, health insurance, accident insurance and reinsurance businesses of the aforementioned insurances in Shanghai as well as regions where its branches were established. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were RMB125,587 million and RMB5,502 million respectively. BoCommLife took the initiative to optimise its business structure, focusing on the development of value-based term business, achieving insurance service income of RMB1,449 million, which increased by 11.97 per cent. on a year on-year basis, and new business value of RMB1,287 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 46.13 per cent. The equity market outperformed that of the same period last year, and investment income increased, realising a net profit of RMB292 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of RMB958 million on a year-on-year basis. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCommLife gave full play to the economic "shock absorber" and "social stabiliser" functions of the insurance industry. With a synergy effect within the Group, it further created the business characteristics of "inclusiveness, pensions and wealth" to meet the insurance needs of all customers. In terms of inclusive finance, BoCommLife actively participated in the "Shanghai additional commercial medical insurance" and was awarded the Innovative Case of Serving New Citizens by China Banking and Insurance News. In terms of pension finance, it developed and launched individual pension insurance products, actively integrating them into the Group's strategy of pension finance. In terms of wealth finance, it focused on the wealth protection and inheritance needs of high-net-worth customers, starting with insurance premium and insurance premium trusts to meet the one-stop service needs of customers within the Group.

BOCOM Financial Asset Investment

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, it was set up in December 2017 with a registered capital of RMB15.0 billion as at 31 December 2023. As one of the first pilot banks to implement debt-to-equity swap as determined by the State Council, it is mainly engaged in debt-to-equity swap and supporting services. For the year ended 31 December 2023, it made efforts to develop the main business of market-oriented debt-to-equity swap, and actively reduced leverage ratio and controlled risks for the real economy. For the year ended 31 December 2023, its net incremental investment of the year was RMB14,298 million. For the year ended 31 December 2023, its net profit was RMB3,125 million, representing an increase of 178.04 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were RMB65,074 million and RMB23,613 million respectively. As at 31 December 2023, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment filed 27 funds through its subsidiary, BOCOM Capital Management Co., Ltd. with a contribution scale of RMB18,024 million, representing an increase of 116.87 per cent., which further strengthened the momentum of the development of the equity investment business.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment adhered to its original responsibility of serving the real economy. Guided by the "14th Five-Year Plan" of the Bank, it focused on scitech finance, green finance, support for the private economy, and other key fields to take its advantage of equity investment and improve its comprehensive financial service capabilities.

BoCom International Holdings

BoCom International Holdings was set up in June 1998 (formerly known as Communications Securities Co., Ltd. It changed its name to BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited in May 2007). It was listed on

the main board of the HKSE on 19 May 2017. The main businesses include securities brokerage and margin financing, corporate financing and underwriting, asset management and consulting, investment and loan. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's shareholding in BoCom International Holdings was 73.14 per cent. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom International Holdings focused on key national regions such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, Yangtze River Delta, the Greater Bay Area and Hainan Free Trade Port, actively responded to market shocks, endeavored to reduce operating losses and promoted the transformation of its operating structure. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were HKD18,211 million and HKD1,797 million respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom International Holdings' loss decreased on a year-on-year basis, with a net loss of HKD1,470 million.

BoCom Insurance

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, it was set up in November 2000 with a registered capital of HKD0.4 billion as at 31 December 2023. The main business includes the operation of 17 types of general insurances approved by the Insurance Authority of Hong Kong. In 2023, A.M. Best, an international professional rating agencies in insurance industry, assigned BoCom Insurance with a financial strength rating of "A-" (Excellent) and a long-term issuer credit rating of "A-" (Excellent), and recognised both items with a "Stable" outlook. As at 31 December 2023, its total assets and net assets were HKD1,271 million and HKD554 million respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Insurance realised a net profit of HKD2.63 million, representing a year on-year increase of 121.16 per cent.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Insurance promoted the upgrading and innovation of insurance products to continuously optimise the customer experience and meet customers' insurance demands. Its gross premiums for the year ended 31 December 2023 increased by 7.25 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to HKD300 million, reaching a record high. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the premium profits before expenditure were HKD28.67 million, representing an increase of 53.88 per cent on a year-on-year basis and the net compensation rate was 30.86 per cent., maintaining a favorable condition.

GLOBAL SERVICE CAPABILITIES

The Group has formed an overseas operating network covering major international financial centres across five continents, with 23 overseas branches (sub-branches) and representative offices worldwide and 69 overseas operating outlets as at 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2023, net profit of overseas banking institutions of the Group was RMB5,318 million, accounting for 5.74 per cent of the Group's net profit. As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of overseas banking institutions were RMB1,249,946 million, accounting for 8.89 per cent. of the Group's total assets.

The Bank strengthened the convenience of trade and the construction of CNY cross-border scenarios, while enhancing financial services in the field of foreign investment and foreign trade. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the receipt and payment of cross-border Renminbi increased by 23.30 per cent. year-on-year. As at 31 December 2023, cross-border Renminbi trade financing balance increased by 91.92 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Hong Kong Branch

Established in 1934, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Hong Kong Branch") is the Bank's largest overseas branch. In addition to foreign exchange deposits, foreign exchange loans and international settlement services, the Hong Kong Branch also provides non-banking services through its subsidiaries.

The Hong Kong Branch has placed an increasing emphasis on serving personal finance customers. For corporate finance operations, the Hong Kong Branch targets, among others, listed companies and large PRC state-owned

enterprises. In addition, the Hong Kong Branch also actively participates in the syndicated loan market. In addition to generating interest income, the Hong Kong Branch continues to focus on generating fee income. The Hong Kong Branch provides a variety of fee-based products and services.

On 29 January 2018, the Bank established Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) in order to expand and intensify the Bank's retail and private banking business. The activities, assets and liabilities which constitute the retail and private banking businesses of the Hong Kong Branch were transferred to the Bank of Communications (Hong Kong).

Other overseas branches

Other overseas branches and subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 were:

- The Bank's New York branch commenced operation in November 1991.
- The Bank's Tokyo branch commenced operation in December 1995.
- The Bank's Singapore branch commenced operation in September 1996.
- The Bank's Seoul branch commenced operation in August 2005.
- The Bank's Frankfurt branch commenced operation in October 2007.
- The Bank's Macau branch commenced operation in November 2007.
- The Bank's Ho Chi Minh City branch commenced operation in February 2011.
- The Bank's London branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's Sydney branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's San Francisco branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's Taipei branch commenced operation in July 2012.
- The Bank's representative office in Toronto was opened in November 2014.
- The Bank's tier-2 branch in Brisbane commenced operation in April 2015.
- The Bank's subsidiary in Luxembourg commenced operation in May 2015.
- The Bank's subsidiary's branch in Paris commenced operation in November 2016.
- The Bank's subsidiary's branch in Rome commenced operation in November 2016.
- Banco BBM S.A. became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank in November 2016.
- The Bank's tier-2 branch in Melbourne commenced operation in December 2018.
- The Bank's Prague branch commenced operation in May 2019.
- The Bank's Johannesburg branch commenced operation in November 2020.

Internationalisation development

The Group actively responded to changes in internal and external conditions, continuously optimised its development structure and consolidated its advantages in globalised development. The Group is also actively serving the country's new development pattern of opening up to the outside world at a high level and providing financial services for Chinese enterprises going global. To build financial bridges connecting internal and external markets, and to provide financial protection for the smooth flow of the domestic and international

"double cycle", the Group will guard the bottom line of risk and safety, strengthen dynamic monitoring and risk pre-study and predetermination, and build the foundation of sustainable and high-quality development of offshore banks.

International settlement and trade financing

The Bank actively supported the stabilisation of foreign investment and foreign trade. It built Silk Road e-commerce/cross-border e-commerce platforms and a direct linking market procurement platform to support small and micro merchants carry out export collection settlement based on electronic transaction information. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank has 23 projects under the new forms of foreign trade, with a business volume of RMB48,592 million, representing an increase of 73.88 per cent. year-on-year. The Bank launched a shipping finance integrated service plan, a high-quality development financial service platform for Sino-Europe trains, and an electronic bill of lading finance service plan, included small currency businesses such as Indonesian rupiahs, Thai baht, UAE dirhams, Saudi riyals, South African rand, and Mexican pesos, and iteratively upgraded the digital exchange rate risk-prevention service system to keep improving the quality and efficiency of financial services for foreign trade enterprises. The Bank actively connected with the PBOC, SAFE and other government – regulatory platforms, increased technology enablement, promoted more convenient receipt of fees and payment of service trade and capital account, and steadily carried out new forms of offshore international trade. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank's international settlements reached USD509,653 million. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's cross-border trade financing amounted to USD65,991 million, in which the cross-border Renminbi trade financing balance increased by 91.92 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Overseas service network

The Group's layout of its offshore service network has been progressing steadily. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 23 overseas branches and representative offices in Hong Kong, New York, London, Singapore, Tokyo, Frankfurt, Luxembourg and Sydney, with 69 overseas operating outlets, providing customers with comprehensive financial services such as deposits, loans, international settlements, trade finance and foreign exchange. Additionally, the Group had established an overseas service network with the head offices of 1,032 banks across 131 countries and regions, and it had opened 220 service accounts for 93 overseas Renminbi participating banks in 29 countries and regions and has opened 113 foreign currency clearing accounts in 28 currencies with 66 banks in 31 countries and regions.

Cross-border Renminbi transactions

The Bank proactively facilitates cross-border Renminbi settlement of oil and gas trade, providing financial services for both the first Renminbi transaction involving the purchase of imported liquefied natural gas and the first digital Renminbi cross-border payment of oil and gas trade in China. The Bank continued to promote the construction of cross-border Renminbi payment scenarios, launching innovative functions such as full amount of remittance and transfer, as well as account visualisation. The number of customers using online standard transmission products ranked first in the market. In Shanghai, the Bank established a unique FTZ offshore bond integrated financial services system of "investor, underwriter, trustee, the clearing bank of CGSDTC, and the local clearing bank", with its clearing business ranking first in the market as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's cross-border renminbi settlement of domestic banking institutions reached RMB1.9 trillion, representing an increase of 23.30 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

Offshore businesses

The Bank strengthened the integrated development of offshore and onshore businesses as well as the integrated operation of non-resident accounts, and fully explored the business potentials of the integration of Yangtze River Delta and Lin-Gang Special Area of Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone. As at 31 December 2023, the asset balance of offshore business amounted to U.S.\$14,440 million.

MARKETING

The Bank develops specific marketing strategies for both corporate and personal banking clients. The Bank's head office organises bank-wide marketing and provides supporting resources for local marketing efforts formulated and coordinated by the Bank's branches. The Bank's sub-branches are responsible for the implementation of local marketing plans.

The Bank has created marketing strategies based on region, customer size and product type. The Bank focuses its advertising spending on television advertising, outdoor billboards, and to a lesser extent, internet, print and radio advertising. Regionally, in addition to continuing to focus on the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, and Bohai Rim Economic Zone regions, the Bank pays specific attention to other economic zones and projects, such as Shanghai's "Two Centres" plan to develop into an international financial and shipping centre. The Bank also develops marketing strategies based on customer segmentation. The Bank intends to continue to strengthen branding efforts for the specific products it offers. For example, the Bank will continue to promote its personal banking business service brand of "OTO Fortune" (沃德財富), and corporate business service brand of "Win to Fortune" (蘊通財富), as well as promote more customised and comprehensive wealth management solutions and product combinations under those brands and gradually position its brand as the "wealth management bank".

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Bank's information technology systems are integral to the Bank's business operations, including its customer services, transaction processing, risk management and financial management. The Bank believes that the establishment of advanced information technology systems complement its overall business strategies and will greatly improve its operational efficiency and the quality of its customer services as well enhance its risk and financial management capabilities. The Bank has invested and will continue to make profound investments in promoting its information technology systems.

The Bank expects to increasingly leverage information technology to drive its business in the future. In addition to the upgrades and improvements the Bank has made in recent years to its information technology systems, the Bank will continue to upgrade and integrate its information technology systems to facilitate operational efficiency, risk management and business development.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 94,275 employees, of whom 87,810 employees were based in domestic banking institutions and 2,587 were local employees in overseas branches (sub-branches). As at 31 December 2023, there were 3,878 employees in total working for the Bank's subsidiaries, excluding staff dispatched from the Head Office and branches.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Bank conducts business under the brand names and logos of "交通銀行", "太平洋卡", "Bank of Communications" "蘊通財富 WINTOFORTUNE", "沃德 OTO", "交銀沃德", "BOCOM FORTUNE", "交銀理財" and "得利寶". The Bank has registered, or is in the process of applying for registration or renewal of, these brand names and logos and other related logos in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Bank is also the registered owner of the domain name "www.bankcomm.com".

LEGAL AND REGULATORY PROCEEDINGS

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not involved in any material litigation and arbitration. As at 31 December 2023, the Group was involved in certain outstanding litigations/arbitrations as defendant or third party with an amount of approximately RMB1,480 million. The Bank believes that there is sufficient provision for current and pending litigations and arbitrations against the Bank or its branches. Even if any judgment or award of the said current and pending litigations or arbitrations against the Bank or its branches is adverse to the Bank, the Bank does not anticipate that any such cases (individually or jointly) would have a material adverse impact on the Bank's financial condition or results of operations.

PROPERTIES

The address of the headquarter of the Bank is No.188 Yin Cheng Zhong Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai, China. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 253 domestic branches, including 38 branches at provinces, autonomous regions or municipalities level or directly-managed level and 215 branches managed by branches at provinces, autonomous regions or municipalities level, most of which are concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Rim Economic Zone, as well as large cities in other areas. As at 31 December 2023, in addition to its PRC operations, the Bank had branches or subsidiaries which are located in Hong Kong, New York, San Francisco, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors of the Bank established the overall risk appetite of "Stability, Balance, Compliance and Innovation" for the Bank and further set specific indicators of risk limits for various risks including credit, market, operation, liquidity, interest rate of banking book, information technology and country to exercise strict control over various risk types. In 2023, the Group consistently adhered to the bottom-line thinking, integrated development and safety, solidly promoted the work of the Year of Asset Quality Consolidation, strengthened the unified risk management of the Group, enhanced the comprehensive risk management capabilities, continuously promoted the digital transformation of risk management and promoted the high-quality development of the entire Bank with high-quality risk management.

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors of the Bank assumed the ultimate responsibility, served the highest function of decision-making and monitored the Bank's risk condition through the subordinate Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee. The Bank's senior management established the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee, as well as two business review committees namely the Credit and Investment Review Committee and the Risk Asset Review Committee. The business review committees were guided by and reported regularly to the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee. Each provincial and directly managed branch, overseas branch and subsidiary established the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee accordingly based on the aforementioned framework, which served as the main platform to study the prevention and control of systematic and regional risks and decision-making risk management on major issues, ensuring that the comprehensive risk management system had been implemented throughout the Group.

Risk Management Tool

The Group continued to promote the digital transformation of risk management and was committed to building a full- process, full-coverage digital risk management system oriented to market-oriented, customer- oriented, grass roots-oriented and urgency-oriented, building a bank-wide risk data base, constructing enterprise-level risk management applications, and enhancing the level of risk management intelligence. In 2022, the Risk Management Department/Risk Measurement Centre at the sub-department level under Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office was established to strengthen the unified risk measurement and monitoring throughout the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank further promoted the construction of the Risk Measurement Centre, strengthened the supply of risk management tools such as measurement models for strategic areas and risk monitoring, and continuously enhanced the Group's risk measurement and monitoring capabilities. The Group also built a unified model management system and completed preparations for the implementation of the new capital regulations.

Credit Risk Management

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank continued to strengthen centralised credit risk management. The Bank actively served the real economy, optimised the structure of credit assets, vigorously developed the green finance, and adopted the structural monetary policy tools (such as the special refinancing) to support key areas such as carbon emission reduction, clean and efficient use of coal, transportation and logistics, scientific and technological innovation, inclusive pensions, equipment renovation, and "guaranteed delivery of houses". The Bank continuously optimised the framework of its credit granting policy, proactively implemented major national strategies and regulatory requirements, closely tracked market changes, and expanded the coverage of special strategic guidance on the basis of the outline of the credit granting and risk policy, the guidelines on industry investment, and the "one policy for one bank" principle. The Bank continued to improve the degree of online and automation in the credit approval process, completed docking with the unified registration and publicity system for the financing of movable property in the Credit Information Centre of the PBOC, and

started the promotion of online real estate mortgage registration throughout China, enabling the "cross-provincial registration" of mortgage loans in many cities across the country. Risk classification became more sophisticated as the asset quality steadily improved.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank strengthened its risk identification process and accelerated risk resolution. The business accountability mechanism for granting credit to key customers was continuously enhanced, alongside the approval procedures for the credit business. The post-loan (post-investment) management, risk monitoring and early-warning measures were also continuously enhanced, aiming to upgrade system tools. The Bank consistently reinforced credit risk screening and management in key areas. Moreover, the Bank intensified its effort in the collection of non-performing assets, focusing on key areas to leverage professional disposal capabilities of the Head Office for steady and orderly risk exposure management in significant items. The direct operations and management mechanism for asset preservation provide to be remarkably effective. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the disposal of non-performing loans reached RMB64.70 billion, of which the substantial recovery amount was RMB33.33 billion.

The Bank adheres to the regulatory requirements and maintains strict asset risk classification standards. The foundation of asset quality has been continuously strengthened, leading to a steady improvement in asset quality level. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's non-performing loan balance stood at RMB105,688 million, with a non-performing loan ratio of 1.33 per cent., representing an increase of RMB7,162 million and a decrease of 0.02 percentage point respectively compared with the end of the previous year. Additionally, the percentage of overdue loan balance increased compared with the beginning of the year. The Group adopts prudent classification criteria for overdue loans. Domestic corporate loans overdue for more than 60 days have been classified as non-performing loans. Furthermore, all loans overdue for more than 90 days have been classified as non-performing loans, with loans overdue for more than 90 days accounting for 64.71 per cent. of non-performing loans.

Distribution of loans by five categories of loan classification

	31 December 2023		31 December 2022		31 December 2021	
	Amount	Proportion (%)	Amount	Proportio n (%)	Amount	Proportion (%)
Pass loan	7,731,141	97.16	7,091,355	97.21	6,374,975	97.17
Special mention loan	120,256	1.51	105,084	1.44	88,629	1.35
Total performing loan balance	7,851,397	98.67	7,196,439	98.65	6,463,604	98.52
Sub-standard loan	28,523	0.36	40,465	0.55	52,960	0.81
Doubtful loan	32,383	0.41	33,257	0.46	25,978	0.40
Loss loan	44,782	0.56	24,804	0.34	17,858	0.27
Total non-performing loan balance	105,688	1.33	98,526	1.35	96,796	1.48
Total	7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00	6,560,400	100.00

As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the breakdown of the Bank's migration rate stipulated by the CBIRC (now the NAFR) is as follows:⁽¹⁾

	31 December 2023	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
		(%)	
Loan migration rates			
Pass loan migration rate	1.70	1.89	1.86
Special mention loan migration rate	24.12	26.55	45.72
Sub-standard loan migration rate	57.06	52.87	29.61
Doubtful loan migration rate	58.63	26.61	17.42

Note:

Market Risk Management

Market risk refers to the risk of losses of on-and-off balance sheet businesses of the Group arising from unfavourable changes in interest rate, exchange rate, commodity price and share price. Interest rate risk and exchange rate risk are the major market risks encountered by the Group.

The objective of the Group's market risk management is to proactively identify, measure, monitor, control and report its market risks in accordance with the risk appetite determined by the Board of Directors. By using methods and means of quota management, risk hedging and risk transfer, the Group was able to manage its market risk exposure to an acceptable level and pursued a maximisation of its risk-adjusted profits based on its controlled risks.

The Group measures capital employed using the internal modelling approach for general market risks related to exchange rate risk and trading book interest rate risk for legal entities and it adopts the standardised approach for market risks not covered by the internal modelling approach. The internal modelling approach calculates value at risk ("VaR") and stressed value at risk ("SVaR") using the historical simulation method. This involves a historical observation period of one year, a holding period of ten business days and a one-tailed confidence interval of 99 per cent. The Bank systematically gathers its capital trading positions and the latest market data in a timely manner for daily position valuation and sensitivity analysis. Additionally, the VaR for market risk is measured separately across the dimensions of risk factors, portfolios and products, using the historical simulation method daily. Additionally, return tests are conducted daily to verify the accuracy of the VaR model. The results from the internal modelling approach are applied to capital measurement, limit monitoring, performance appraisal, risk monitoring and analysis.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group kept improving the market risk management system, improved management policies and procedures, optimised the risk management system, strengthened product management, optimised limit setting, and improved derivatives business risk management. The Group closely monitored the financial market fluctuations, strengthened market research and judgement, enhanced risk monitoring and early warning systems, enhanced the risk assessment and inspection, and maintained strict control over various market risk exposure limits to. These measures collectively contributed to a continuous improvement in the level of market risk management.

⁽¹⁾ Data calculated pursuant to the Notice on the Distribution of the Regulatory Indicator and Calculation Formula for Off-Field Investigation issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR).

Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the commercial bank cannot obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfil other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The main factors affecting the liquidity risk include, among others, early withdrawal by deposit customers, deferred repayment by loan customers, mismatch of asset and liability structure, difficulty in asset realisation and decline in financing capability.

The governance structure of liquidity risk management of the Group consisted of a decision-making body comprised the Board of Directors and its Special Committees and Senior Management, a supervisory body comprised the Board of Supervisors and the Audit and Supervision Bureau and an executive body comprised the Finance and Management Department, Financial Markets Department, Risk Management Department, Operations and Channels Management Department, the subsidiaries, the branches, and the competent authorities in charge of the Head Office of various businesses.

The Group annually determined liquidity risk appetite and formulated liquidity risk management strategies and policies according to business strategies, business characteristics, financial strength, financing abilities, overall risk appetite and market influence.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group continue to enhance its liquidity risk management system. It flexibly adjusted its liquidity management strategies and business development structure and the pace in a timely manner, promoting the coordinated growth of its asset and liability businesses. The Group expanded its diversified financing channels and issued bonds with longer maturities to secure stable funding. Additionally, it conducted thorough cash flow measurement and analysis, and closely monitored liquidity risk indicators to ensure liquidity safety and the smooth functioning of these indicators during major holidays and critical times. The Group also organised liquidity risk emergency drills to enhance its response speed and improve its liquidity risk management capabilities.

The Group regularly conducted liquidity risk stress tests, considering numerous factors that could affect liquidity levels. Suitable stress scenarios were devised to thoroughly assess these factors. The outcomes of these stress tests showed that the Bank's liquidity risk remained manageable across different stress scenarios.

Operational Risk Management

The Group has established a comprehensive operational risk management system that is tailored to the nature, scale and product complexity of the Group's business. This system standardised the processes of operational risk self-assessment, monitoring key risk indicators, and managing operational risk events. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group further refined the operational risk categorisation and matrix assessment mechanisms. The integrated management of operational risk across the Group was strengthened, alongside enhanced monitoring and assessment of operational risks in critical areas. Additionally, the Group bolstered its management of business continuity and outsourcing risks.

Legal Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group has established a compliance management system tailored to its operation scale, business scope and risk level. It has continuously strengthened its ability to identify, monitor, prevent, control and resolve compliance risks. This has enhanced the quality and efficiency of compliance management, effectively ensured lawful and compliant operation and high-quality development. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank further improved its compliance management system and institutional tools, refined the inspection and rectification mechanisms and promoted the development of a compliance culture. It also undertook key tasks such as enhancing anti-money laundering customer due diligence, data governance and advancing digital transformation, thereby continuously enhance its anti-money laundering management capability.

Reputation Risk Management

The Group implemented the Administrative Measures for Reputational Risk of Bank and Insurance Institution (for Trial Implementation) and adhered to the management strategy of prevention-oriented, effective disposal, timely repair and comprehensive coverage. At the institutional level, the Measures for Reputation Risk Management of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. was revised to continuously improve the Group's reputation risk management system. At the implementation level, the Group excelled in front-end management, response and resolution of critical timelines and key events, and accelerated the digital transformation of reputation risk management. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's reputational risk management system operated effectively, ensuring that reputational risks were appropriately managed and controlled.

Cross-industry, Cross-Border and By-Country Risk Management

The Group has established a robust cross-industry and cross-border risk management system characterised by "unified management, clear divisions of labour, complete tools, IT support, risk quantification and substantial consolidation." This system ensures that the risk management practices of its subsidiaries and offshore banks align with both the Group's unified requirements and the specific mandates of their respective supervisory authorities, effectively mitigating potential risks from cross-industry and cross-border operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in response to uncertainties from external changes, the Bank strengthened the risk management of its overseas institutions. Enhancements were made to the system, the assessment mechanisms were optimised, and various contingency plans were developed and rehearsed to ensure smooth business operations. Key areas such as liquidity, business continuity and the asset quality of offshore institutions were strengthened. Moreover, the Group enhanced consolidated management, refined the full lifecycle management of subsidiaries at all levels, and bolstered the Group's unified risk management and risk preferences transmission. Moving forward, the Bank will further strengthen country risk management by increasing the frequency of monitoring country risk exposure, enhancing the management of country risk limits, conducting detailed country risk analysis and ratings, continuously monitoring and promptly responding to country risk events, and integrating country risk management requirements throughout the entire process of relevant business development.

Management of Large Exposure Risk

The Group thoroughly implemented the requirements of the *Administrative Measures for the Large Exposures of Commercial Banks* issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR), promoted the development of the management system and optimised management process and organisation structure. The Group continuously monitored large risk exposures, strictly adhered to various delegated authorities' standards and enhanced the Group's capability to prevent systemic and regional risks. During the year ended 31 December 2023, all indicators of the Group's large risk exposure complied with regulatory requirements.

Climate and Environmental Risk Management

The Group actively supports the objectives of achieving "carbon peak and carbon neutrality." It promotes the integration of climate and environmental risks into its comprehensive risk management system, continuously enhances its governance structure, strengthens institutional constraints, enhances risk assessments, and optimises the management and control measures according to the risk appetite determined by the Board of Directors. These efforts are aimed at effectively responding to the new challenges posed by climate change and the socio-economic transition towards low-carbon alternatives.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank identified climate risk as a separate risk category when identifying major risks, in line with the latest requirements of the new capital regulations. The Bank increased focus on climate change factors during the risk assessment stages of new products and businesses, further standardised the method for measuring the carbon emissions of investment and financing clients, expanded the

coverage of information collection, conducted investigations on eight key customers in high carbon-emitting industries and their upstream and downstream sectors with significant transformation potential, monitored the potential impacts of the EU's carbon border adjustment mechanism on relevant clients, promoted investigations and stress testing of projects related to the PBOC's carbon emission reduction support tools and continued to strengthen the calculation of the environmental benefits of such projects. Conducting investigations; paying attention to the potential impact of the EU carbon border adjustment mechanism on the Bank's relevant clients, promoting investigations and stress tests for clients in key industries that may be affected; continuously strengthening the accounting of environmental benefits of projects related to the PBOC's carbon emission reduction support tools.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ASSETS

The Bank's total assets as at 31 December 2023 were RMB14,060,472 million, which represents an increase of 8.23 per cent. from RMB12,991,571 million as at 31 December 2022. The four principal components of the Bank's assets consist of loans and advances to customers (after provision), financial investments, cash and balances with central banks and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. As at 31 December 2023, the balances (after provision) of the Bank's loans and advances to customers, financial investments, cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions and others constituted 55.28 per cent., 29.19 per cent., 6.39 per cent., 6.11 per cent. and 3.03 per cent., respectively, of its total assets. The following table sets forth the balances of significant components of the Bank's total assets as at the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

2021	2022	2023	
	(RMB in million)		
734,728	806,102	898,022	
632,708	690,421	859,642	
39,220	69,687	67,387	
6,412,201	7,135,454	7,772,060	
638,483	705,357	642,282	
2,203,037	2,450,775	2,573,911	
681,729	799,075	887,949	
5,779	8,750	8,990	
171,194	194,169	217,751	
32,061	39,512	40,379	
114,617	92,269	92,099	
11,665,757	12,991,571	14,060,472	
	734,728 632,708 39,220 6,412,201 638,483 2,203,037 681,729 5,779 171,194 32,061 114,617	(RMB in million) 734,728 806,102 632,708 690,421 39,220 69,687 6,412,201 7,135,454 638,483 705,357 2,203,037 2,450,775 681,729 799,075 5,779 8,750 171,194 194,169 32,061 39,512 114,617 92,269	

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's capital position is among the best in the industry, its Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio being 10.23 per cent., 12.22 per cent. and 15.27 per cent., respectively.

Loans and Advances to Customers

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's corporate loans and personal loans represented approximately 65.09 per cent. and 31.08 per cent., respectively, of its total loans and advances to customers. While the Bank's corporate banking business remains its core banking business, the Bank believes that the PRC personal banking sector continues to offer significant growth opportunities. As part of the Bank's growth strategy, the Bank has taken,

⁽¹⁾ Other assets consist of interest receivable, settlement accounts, other receivables and prepayments, investment properties, land use rights and others, intangible assets, long-term deferred expenses, precious metal, foreclosed assets, goodwill, refundable deposits and unsettled assets.

and will continue to take, various initiatives to enhance its personal banking business. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's personal loans reached RMB2,473,100 million, representing an increase of RMB107.783 million or 4.56 per cent. compared to 31 December 2022.

The balances (after provision) of Bank's loans and advances to customers represent a significant portion of its assets and accounted for 55.28 per cent. of its total assets as at 31 December 2023. The balance (after provision) of the Bank's loans and advances to customers increased by 8.92 per cent. to RMB7,772,060 million as at 31 December 2023 from RMB7,135,454 million as at 31 December 2022.

Distribution of Loans by Industry

The Bank's corporate loan portfolio represents a broad range of industries, but is concentrated in particular in the transportation, storage and postal services, manufacturing, leasing and commercial services, water conservancy, environmental and other public services and real estate sectors. The following table sets forth the Bank's corporate loan portfolio by industry and as a percentage of its loan portfolio as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 December 2022		31 December 2023	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
	(RMB in million, except percentages)					
Corporate loans	4,138,582	63.09	4,711,353	64.58	5,179,533	65.09
Transportation, storage and postal services	763,419	11.64	823,156	11.28	905,624	11.38
Manufacturing	732,565	11.16	836,532	11.46	954,586	12.00
Leasing and commercial services	650,742	9.92	729,818	10.00	866,601	10.89
Water conservancy, environmental and other public services	382,201	5.83	429,222	5.88	466,137	5.86
Real estate	419,820	6.40	519,857	7.13	489,080	6.15
Wholesale and retail	215,554	3.29	254,447	3.49	292,168	3.67
Production and supply of electric power, heat, gas and water	268,772	4.10	342,617	4.70	391,742	4.92
Construction	157,729	2.40	176,696	2.42	188,716	2.37
Mining	120,216	1.83	118,246	1.62	116,467	1.46
Finance	132,633	2.02	148,747	2.04	159,183	2.00
Education, science, culture and public health	122,196	1.86	128,762	1.76	141,254	1.78
Others	77,884	1.19	94,839	1.31	88,640	1.11
Accommodation and catering	34,133	0.52	40,168	0.55	38,159	0.48
Information transmission, software and information technology services	60,718	0.93	68,246	0.94	81,176	1.02
Personal loans	2,285,096	34.83	2,365,317	32.43	2,473,100	31.08
Discounted bills	136,722	2.08	218,295	2.99	304,452	3.83
Total	6,560,400	100.00	7,294,965	100.00	7,957,085	100.00

As at 31 December 2023, the Group continued to strengthen its financing support for the real economy, with manufacturing industry loans increasing by RMB118,054 million, or 14.11 per cent., compared with the end of last year; transportation, storage and postal services industry loans increasing by RMB82,468 million, or 10.02 per cent., compared with the end of last year; leasing and commercial services industry loans increasing by RMB136,783 million, or 18.74 per cent., compared with the end of last year; water conservancy, environmental

and other public facilities industry loans increasing by RMB36,915 million, or 8.60 per cent., compared with the end of last year; and electric power, heat, gas and water production and supply industry loans increasing by RMB49,125 million, or 14.34 per cent., compared with the end of last year.

Personal Banking Loan Concentration by Product

The Bank's personal finance loan portfolio consists primarily of mortgage loans, credit card advances and others. The following table sets forth the Bank's personal finance loan portfolio by products and as a percentage of its personal finance loan portfolio as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 December 2022		31 December 2023	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
		(RM	MB in million, e.	xcept percentage	es)	
Mortgage	1,489,517	65.18	1,512,648	63.92	1,462,634	59.14
Credit card	492,580	21.56	477,746	20.19	489,725	19.80
Personal business loans	188,293	8.24	239,271	10.11	342,198	13.84
Others	114,706	5.02	135,652	5.78	178,543	7.22
Total personal loans	2,285,096	100.00	2,365,317	100.00	2,473,100	100.00

As at 31 December 2023, the personal loan balance was RMB2,473,100 million, representing an increase of RMB107,783 million or 4.56 per cent. over the end of the previous year, the proportion of which in loans and advances to customers decreased by 1.35 percentage points to 31.08 per cent. over the end of the previous year, among which mortgage loans decreased by RMB50,014 million or 3.31 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, the proportion of mortgage loans in loans and advances to customers decreased by 2.36 percentage points to 18.38 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, credit card loans increased by RMB11,979 million or 2.51 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 31 December 2023, discounted bills increased by RMB86,157 million or 39.47 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Maturity of Loans

When a short-term loan is renewed following repayment within the credit term of the loan, no re-application for a credit line is required, provided such loan is drawn in accordance with relevant rules and within the effective credit line. Upon expiration of the credit term of a loan, a borrower must re-apply for a new loan, subject to the Bank's standard credit approval procedures. The interest rates for the Bank's Renminbidenominated loans and advances are regulated by the PBOC, and banks have discretion to determine the interest rates for Renminbi-denominated loans and advances within a permitted range. The interest rate for discounted bills is determined with reference to the PBOC market re-discount interest rate.

Borrower Concentration

Under the current PRC banking regulations, the aggregate amount of the Bank's loan exposure to any single borrower may not exceed 10 per cent. of its net capital. The Bank is currently in compliance with this regulatory requirement.

Loans and Advances Balances by Geographical Segments

The following table sets forth the geographic distribution of the Bank's gross loans and advances as at the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

	2021	2022	2023
•		(RMB in million)	
Yangtze River Delta	1,780,637	1,999,175	2,226,422
Pearl River Delta	857,521	978,749	1,051,204
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	965,957	1,137,282	1,288,078
Central China	1,092,985	1,196,075	1,290,880
Western China	774,445	875,476	947,510
North Eastern China	247,023	250,190	265,215
Overseas	348,948	376,277	359,446
Head Office (1)	492,884	481,741	528,330
Total	6,560,400	7,294,965	7,957,085

Note:

The Bank's business is concentrated on the economically developed areas of China. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank's loans and advances balances from Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, Bohai Rim Economic Zone and Central China accounted for 27.98 per cent., 13.21 per cent., 16.19 per cent. and 16.22 per cent., respectively, of its total loans and advances balances.

LOAN QUALITY

The Bank measures and monitors the asset quality of the Bank's loan portfolio through its loan classification system. The Bank classifies its loans using a five-category loan classification system, which complies with the applicable regulatory guidelines.

The Bank intends to continue to improve its loan quality and to generate stable profits while maintaining its credit risk exposure within acceptable parameters through a diversified loan portfolio. The Bank has established an integrated credit risk management system with comprehensive policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk across its organisation. See the section headed "Risk Management and Internal Control".

Impaired loans are a concept under IFRS, which has been adopted by the Bank in the preparation of its financial statements set forth in the Offering Circular. A loan is impaired if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of such loan. Non-performing loan is used to refer to a loan that is classified as "substandard", "doubtful" or "loss" under the five-category loan classification system established by the CBIRC (now the NAFR).

Overdue loans are (1) for loans with a specific expiry date – these loans should be treated as overdue where the principal or interest is overdue and remains unpaid as at the reporting date; (2) for loans with regular instalments – these loans should be treated as overdue when an instalment payment is overdue and remains unpaid as at the reporting date.

⁽¹⁾ Head Office included the Pacific Credit Card Centre.

Provision for Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances to Customers

Since 2017, for a financial asset that is individually significant, the Group assesses the asset individually for impairment. For a financial asset that is not individually significant, the Group assesses the asset individually for impairment or includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset (whether significant or not), it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively reassesses them for impairment. Assets for which an impairment loss is individually recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If financial assets carried at amortised cost are impaired, the carrying amounts of the financial assets are reduced to the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The amount of reduction is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or loss and is recorded through the use of an allowance account. When a financial asset is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. If, subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost, there is objective evidence of a recovery in value of the financial assets which can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. However, the reversal is made to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Effective from 1 January 2018, IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses – the expected credit losses ("ECL") model, which constitutes a change from the incurred loss model in the International Accounting Standards ("IAS") 39.

Under IFRS 9, ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. A credit loss is the difference between the total cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the total cash flows that the Group expects to receive discounted at the original effective interest rate, i.e. the present value of the total cash flows shortage. Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets shall be discounted at the credit-adjusted effective interest rate. The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects (1) an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (2) the time value of money; and (3) reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Bank's individually identified impaired loans and its loans overdue by more than 90 days as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2022	31 December 2023	
	(RMB in	million, except perce	centages)	
Non-performing loans	96,796	98,526	105,688	
Loans overdue by more than 90 days	63,998	57,091	68,394	
Non-performing loan ratio	1.48%	1.35%	1.33%	

Distribution of non-performing loans by region

The following table sets forth the geographic distribution of the Bank's non-performing loans as at the dates indicated:

		As at 31 December 2021			As at 31 December 2022			As at 31 December 2023		
	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	
		(RMB in millio	RMB in million, except percentages)							
Yangtze River Delta	22,399	23.14	1.26	21,107	21.42	1.06	20,582	19.47	0.92	
Pearl River Delta	5,559	5.74	0.66	8,403	8.53	0.86	12,214	11.56	1.16	
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,893	14.35	1.44	10,707	10.87	0.94	16,472	15.59	1.28	
Central China	19,224	19.86	1.76	14,520	14.74	1.21	13,311	12.59	1.03	
Western China	9,661	9.98	1.25	9,333	9.47	1.07	9,443	8.93	1.00	
North Eastern China	12,090	12.49	4.89	13,595	13.80	5.43	11,221	10.62	4.23	
Head Office(1)	10,831	11.19	2.20	9,310	9.45	1.93	9,392	8.89	1.78	
Overseas	3,139	3.24	0.90	11,551	11.72	3.07	13,053	12.35	3.63	
Total	96,796	100.00	1.48	98,526	100.00	1.35	105,688	100.00	1.33	

Notes:

TRADING ASSETS

The Bank invests in and trades Renminbi-denominated and foreign currency-denominated listed and unlisted debt and equity securities for its own account to (1) maintain the stability and diversification of the Bank's assets, (2) maintain adequate sources of back-up liquidity to match the Bank's funding requirements, and (3) supplement income from the Bank's core lending activities.

The Bank's investment securities include primarily securities issued by central governments and central banks, securities issued by banks and other financial institutions, securities issued by corporate entities, as well as a small portion of investment securities issued by public sector entities.

The Bank's trading assets include primarily listed and unlisted debt and equity securities, as well as derivative financial instruments, issued by banks and financial institutions, corporate entities, governments and central banks and public sector entities. The majority of the unlisted bonds in this category are traded in the interbank market in the PRC.

From 1 January 2018, the Bank applied IFRS 9 and records and reclassifies its investment securities and trading assets on its statement of financial position as financial assets by measurement of fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or amortised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI.

The following table sets forth the Bank's debt securities at FVPL as analysed by issuer as at the dates indicated:

⁽¹⁾ Head Office included the Pacific Credit Card Centre

	31 December 2021	31 December 2022	31 December 2023	
	Amount	Amount	Amount	
	(RMB in million)			
Governments and central banks	99,079	102,349	107,622	
Public sector entities	1,302	560	41	
Banks and other financial institutions	100,898	80,601	81,756	
Corporate entities	46,655	69,443	37,823	

LIABILITIES AND SOURCES OF FUNDS

The Group's total liabilities as at 31 December 2023 were RMB12,961,022 million, which represents an increase of 8.39 per cent. from RMB11,958,049 million as at 31 December 2022. The amount of the Group's deposits from customers accounted for 65.98 per cent. of its total liabilities as at 31 December 2023. The Bank obtains funding for its lending and investment activities from a variety of sources, both domestic and international. The Bank's principal sources of funding are corporate and individual deposits. The Bank's funding operations are designed to ensure both a stable source of funds and effective liquidity management. The Bank continuously adjusts its funding operations to minimise funding costs and also endeavours to match currencies and maturities with those of its loan portfolio.

The table below illustrates the balance and breakdown of the Group's deposits from customers as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 E	31 December 2022		31 December 2023	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	
			(RMB in million, ex	ccept percentages)			
Corporate deposits	4,550,020	64.63	4,877,033	61.36	5,041,991	58.96	
Corporate demand deposits	2,061,672	29.28	1,989,383	25.03	2,050,524	23.98	
Corporate time deposits	2,488,348	35.35	2,887,650	36.33	2,991,467	34.98	
Personal deposits	2,402,812	34.13	2,955,724	37.18	3,358,156	39.27	
Personal demand deposits	850,831	12.09	885,013	11.13	884,746	10.35	
Personal time deposits	1,551,981	22.04	2,070,711	26.05	2,473,410	28.92	
Other deposits	3,359	0.05	4,227	0.05	3,240	0.04	
Accrued interest	83,586	1.19	112,088	1.41	147,828	1.73	
Total deposits from customers	7,039,777	100.00	7,949,072	100.00	8,551,215	100.00	

DISTRIBUTION OF DEPOSITS BY GEOGRAPHY

The following table sets forth the distribution of the Bank's deposit balances as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 December 2022		31 December 2023	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
		(RM	MB in million, except percentage		s)	
Yangtze River Delta	1,878,481	26.68	2,157,812	27.15	2,363,907	27.64
Pearl River Delta	871,667	12.38	1,024,315	12.89	1,057,766	12.37
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,491,168	21.18	1,671,923	21.02	1,825,945	21.35
Central China	1,130,712	16.06	1,260,425	15.86	1,365,881	15.99

	31 December 2021		31 De	31 December 2022		31 December 2023	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	
		(RM	AB in million, e.	xcept percentage:	s)		
Western China	763,629	10.85	846,610	10.65	894,662	10.46	
North Eastern China	360,775	5.12	391,719	4.93	426,274	4.98	
Overseas	456,074	6.48	480,408	6.04	465,463	5.44	
Head office ⁽¹⁾	3,685	0.05	3,772	0.05	3,489	0.04	
Accrued interest	83,586	1.20	112,088	1.41	147,828	1.73	
Total	7,039,777	100.00	7,949,072	100.00	8,551,215	100.00	

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Head Office included the Pacific Credit Card Centre.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The table below sets forth certain information regarding ownership of outstanding shares of the Bank as at 31 December 2023 by those persons who hold or are beneficially interested in any substantial part of the share capital of the Bank.

Particulars of shareholdings disclosed pursuant to H shares regulatory requirements

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Bank, the substantial shareholders and other persons (excluding the directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Bank) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial shareholders	Capacity	Number of A shares	Nature of interest ⁽¹⁾	Approximate percentage of total issued A shares	Approximate percentage of total issued shares
				(%	6)
MOF	Beneficial owner	13,178,424,446 (2)	Long position	33.57	17.75
HSBC Holding plc	Interest of controlled corporations	19,300 ⁽³⁾	Long position	0.00	0.00
National Council for Social Security Fund	Beneficial owner	3,105,155,568 (4)	Long position	7.91	4.18
Name of substantial				Approximate percentage of	Approximate percentage of
shareholders	Capacity	Number of H shares	Nature of interest ⁽¹⁾	total issued H shares ⁽⁸⁾	total issued shares ⁽⁸⁾
shareholders	Capacity	Number of H shares	- 100000 0		shares(8)
MOF	Capacity Beneficial owner	Number of H shares 4,553,999,999 ⁽²⁾	- 100000 0	shares ⁽⁸⁾	shares(8)
			interest ⁽¹⁾	shares ⁽⁸⁾	shares ⁽⁸⁾

Notes:

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person (excluding the Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executive of the Bank) or corporation were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as holding any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank that would fall to be disclosed to the Bank and the HKSE pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

⁽¹⁾ Long positions held other than through equity derivatives.

⁽²⁾ To the knowledge of the Bank, as at 31 December 2023, the MOF held 4,553,999,999 H shares and 13,178,424,446 A shares of the Bank, respectively, representing 6.13 per cent. and 17.75 per cent. of the total ordinary shares issued by the Bank.

⁽³⁾ HSBC Holdings plc wholly owns HSBC Asia Holdings Limited, which wholly owns HSBC. As at 31 December 2023, HSBC beneficially held 19,300 A shares and 14,135,636,613 H shares of the Bank. Pursuant to the SFO, HSBC Holdings plc was deemed to own the interests associated with the 14,135,636,613 H shares and 19,300 A shares held by HSBC.

⁽⁴⁾ To the knowledge of the Bank, as at 31 December 2023, the SSF held a total of 9,043,702,332 H shares and 3,105,155,568 A shares (please refer to the details in the 2023 Historical Financial Statements) of the Bank, respectively representing 12.18 per cent. and 4.18 per cent. of the Bank's total ordinary shares issued.

MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK

GENERAL

The Board of the Bank currently comprises 17 members being three executive directors, eight non-executive directors and six independent non-executive directors. Each director of the Bank is elected at a shareholder meeting for a term of three years, which is renewable upon re-election. The chairman and the vice chairman of the Board are elected by a simple majority of the Board.

The business address of the directors, supervisors and senior management personnel named below is No. 188 Yin Cheng Zhong Road, Pudong District, Shanghai, PRC, 200120.

DIRECTORS

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the directors of the Bank.

Name	Position
Mr. REN Deqi	Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. YIN Jiuyong	Executive Director
Mr. ZHOU Wanfu	Executive Director
Mr. LI Longcheng	Non-executive Director
Mr. WANG Linping	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHANG Baosheng	Non-executive Director
Mr. LIAO, Yi Chien David	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHAN Siu Chung	Non-executive Director
Mr. MU Guoxin	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHEN Junkui	Non-executive Director
Mr. LUO Xiaopeng	Non-executive Director
Mr. CAI Haoyi	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. SHI Lei	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. ZHANG Xiangdong	Independent Non-executive Director
Ms. LI Xiaohui	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. MA Jun	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. WONG Tin Chak	Independent Non-executive Director

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. REN Deqi, Chairman and Executive Director. Mr. Ren serves as the Chairman of the Board from 16 January 2020. He has been a Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President of the Bank since August 2018. Mr. Ren resigned as President of the Bank on 13 December 2019 and served as Acting President from 13 December 2019 to 6 July 2020. Mr. Ren worked successively in the Changling Sub-branch of Yueyang Branch, Yueyang City Central Sub-branch, Yueyang Branch, Credit Management Committee Office and Credit Risk Management Department of China Construction Bank ("CCB") from July 1988 to August 2003. He

successively served as Deputy General Manager of Credit Approval Department, General Manager of Risk Control Department, General Manager of Credit Management Department, President of the Hubei Provincial Branch and General Manager of Risk Management Department of CCB from August 2003 to May 2014. He served as Executive Vice President of Bank of China ("BOC") from July 2014 to November 2016, and served as Executive Director and Executive Vice President of BOC from December 2016 to June 2018; during such period, he also served as Non-executive Director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited from October 2015 to June 2018 and President of Shanghai RMB Trading Unit of BOC from September 2016 to June 2018. Mr. Ren obtained his master's degree in engineering from Tsinghua University in 1988 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. YIN Jiuyong, Executive Director and Executive Vice President. Mr. Yin has been serving as an Executive Director of the Bank since February 2024 and as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since September 2019. Mr. Yin held various positions in Agricultural Development Bank of China, including Executive Vice President, Director of the General Office, President of the Henan Branch, General Manager and Deputy General Manager of the First Customer Department (during the period, Mr. Yin served a temporary position as Deputy Manager of Business Department of the Baoding Branch and Executive Vice President of the Baoding Branch), Deputy Director of the First Credit Department, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Division, Deputy Division Chief of Comprehensive Division of the First Industrial and Commercial Credit Department, and Deputy Division Chief of Purchase and Sale Division of the Industrial and Commercial Credit Department. Mr. Yin obtained his doctoral degree in agriculture from China Agricultural University in 1993 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. ZHOU Wanfu, Executive Director and Executive Vice President. Mr. Zhou has been serving as an Executive Director of the Bank since February 2024 and as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since July 2020. Mr. Zhou held various positions in Agricultural Bank of China, including Secretary of the Board of Directors, General Manager of the Strategic Planning Department, Director of Tianjin Training Institute, Executive Vice President of Chongqing Branch, General Manager of the Asset and Liability Management Department of the Head Office, Deputy General Manager of the Budget and Finance Department, Deputy General Manager of the Asset and Liability Management Department, Executive Vice President of the Ningbo Branch, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Planning Department and Deputy Division Chief of the Development and Planning Department. Mr. Zhou obtained his master's degree in economics from the Graduate School of the People's Bank of China in 1988 and obtained his MBA degree from Nanyang Technological University in Singapore in 2003.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Longcheng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Li has been serving as a Non-executive Director since June 2020. Mr. Li served as the Director of Heilongjiang Supervision Bureau of the MOF since April 2019, the Chief Inspector of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2015 to April 2019, the Chief Inspector of Liaoning Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2012 to August 2015, the Deputy Inspector of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2008 to August 2012; the Deputy Inspector of Zhejiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from January 2006 to August 2008. From January 1995 to January 2006, Mr. Li successively served as a Staff Member of the General Division, a Senior Staff Member of the General Division, the Director of the First Division and the Assistant Commissioner of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF. From August 1986 to January 1995, Mr. Li worked in Beijing Forestry Management Cadres College of the MOF and Heilongjiang Finance Department. Mr. Li obtained a doctorate degree in management from Northeast Forestry University in 2003.

Mr. WANG Linping, Non-executive Director. Mr. Wang has served as Level-one inspector of the Retired Cadres Bureau of the MOF since December 2019, Chairman of China Finance and Economic Media Group from June 2018 to December 2019, department level cadre of the MOF from March 2018 to June 2018. From

May 2004 to March 2018, he successively served as chief and director-level cadre of the Financial Division and vice minister and minister of the Department of Administrative Finance of the Liaison Office of the Central People's Government in Macao Special Administrative Region. From July 1994 to May 2004, Mr. Wang successively served as chief staff member, assistant researcher of the Management Division of Retirement Funds of Administrative Institutions, deputy director and researcher of Pension Security Division of the Social Security Department of the MOF, and from August 1986 to July 1994, he served successively as a staff member, deputy chief staff member and chief staff member of the Party Committee of the MOF. Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor's degree in philosophy from Zhongnan University of Finance and Economy in 1986.

Mr. CHANG Baosheng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chang has been serving as a Non-executive Director since January 2021, and holds position at Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Mr. Chang served as Level-two Inspector and Deputy Inspector of the Ningxia Supervision Bureau of the MOF. Mr. Chang served as Deputy Inspector, Assistant Commissioner, Deputy Director of the Third Business Department, Deputy Director of the Second Business Department and Deputy Director of the General Office of Ningxia Supervision and Inspection Office of the MOF. Mr. Chang graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1989.

Mr. LIAO, Yi Chien David, Non-executive Director. Mr. Liao has been serving as a Non-executive Director of the Bank since May 2021 and he also serves as Co-chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of HSBC, a substantial shareholder of the Bank, and Chief Administrative Officer and a member of the Group Executive Committee of the HSBC Group. Additionally, Mr. Liao serves as the Chairman of HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited and a Non-executive Director of Hang Seng Bank Limited. Prior to his current role, Mr. Liao served as group general manager at HSBC, head of Asia Pacific Global Banking Coverage of HSBC, president and chief executive officer of HSBC China, head of Global Banking and Markets at HSBC China, executive vice president of HSBC China, treasurer of HSBC China and executive director of HSBC Group. Mr. Liao previously worked at IBJ International (now Mizuho International). Mr. Liao obtained a bachelor's degree with honours from the University of London in 1995.

Mr. CHAN Siu Chung, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chan has been serving as a Non-executive Director since October 2019. Mr. Chan has been serving as the Co-head of Markets for Greater China Region at HSBC, a substantial shareholder of the Bank, since August 2013. Mr. Chan joined HSBC in 1986, and from July 1986 to July 2013, Mr. Chan successively served as the Senior Dealer, Senior Interest Rate Dealer, Head of Hong Kong Dollar Interest Rate and Derivatives Trading, Head of Trading in Hong Kong, and concurrently served as Deputy Head of Global Markets Asia Pacific and Head of Trading in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering in 1986 and obtained his master's degree from Macquarie University in Australia of Applied Finance in 1994.

Mr. MU Guoxin, Non-executive Director. Mr. Mu has been serving as a Non-executive Director since August 2022. Mr. Mu is currently the Director of Fund Finance Department of the National Council for Social Security Fund, a substantial shareholder of the Bank. Mr. Mu also serves as a Non-executive Director of China CITIC Limited and a Non-independent Director of COFCO Fulinmen Co. Mr. Mu served as the Director and the Deputy Director of the Fund Finance Department, Chief of the Accounting Division, the Deputy Chief of Accounting Division of Finance and Accounting Department of the National Council for Social Security Fund and Deputy Chief of the System Division II of the Accounting Department of the MOF. Mr. Mu obtained a master's degree of public administration from a joint programme organised by Peking University and the National Institute of Administration in July 2008 and he is a Senior Accountant.

Mr. CHEN Junkui, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chen has been serving as a Non-executive Director since June 2019. Mr. Chen has been serving as the Deputy Director-General of Financial Management and Supervision (Internal Audit) Department of the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration since February 2019. Mr. Chen also serves as a Supervisor of China Tobacco Machinery Group Co., Ltd., China Tobacco International Inc. and China Tobacco Magazine House Co., Ltd., Director of Nantong Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd., Zhuhai

Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd. and Kunming Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen successively served as the Deputy Head, Head of the Finance and Asset Department of China Tobacco Machinery Group Co., Ltd. from December 2005 to February 2019, the Principal Staff Member in Financial Management Department of China Tobacco Investment Management Co. from September 2005 to December 2005, a Cadre of Financial Department and the Senior Staff Member and Principal Staff Member of Financial Department of National Tobacco Commodity Company (Cigarette Filter Material Company) from September 2000 to September 2005, and worked in Beijing Bureau of Geology and Mineral from July 1997 to September 2000. Mr. Chen obtained his master's degree in management science from Capital University of Economics and Business in July 2002 and he is a Senior Accountant.

Mr. LUO Xiaopeng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Luo has been serving as a Non-executive Director since August 2022. Mr. Luo is currently the President of Capital Operation Department of Capital Airport Group, a substantial shareholder of the Bank (as defined in the Interim Measures for the Management of Equity in Commercial Banks). He also serves as a Supervisor of Tianjin Binhai International Airport Co., Ltd., Jilin Civil Airport Group Co., Ltd. and Jiangxi Airport Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Luo was formerly the Financial Controller of Inner Mongolia Civil Aviation Airport Group Co., Ltd., Secretary of the Board of Directors and General Manager of Finance Department of Beijing Capital International Airport Co., Ltd. Mr. Luo obtained a master's degree of finance from Jiangxi Finance and Economics University in 2003 and he is a Senior Accountant.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CAI Haoyi, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Cai has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since August 2018. Mr. Cai served as Chairman of the Board of Supervisors in Everbright Bank of China from November 2012 to June 2015 and Non-executive Director in Bank of China from August 2007 to November 2012. Mr. Cai held various positions in Bank of China from July 1986 to March 2007, including Principal Staff of Graduate Department, Deputy Division Chief of Political Department, Division Chief of Political Department, Director, Deputy Director of the General Office of Financial Research Institute, Deputy Head of Research Bureau and Secretary General of Monetary Policy Committee. Mr. Cai obtained his doctoral degree from Financial Research Institute of the PBOC in 2001 and he is also a Researcher who obtained special government allowances from the State Council in 2003.

Mr. SHI Lei, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Shi has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since December 2019. Mr. Shi currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Hangzhou Meideng Technology Co., Ltd., a Professor, a Doctoral Supervisor of Fudan University and the Head of the Public Economic Research Centre of Fudan University. Mr. Shi joined Fudan University in 1993, since then, he subsequently served as the Head of the China Socialism Market Economy Research Centre, the Director of the Publicity Department of the Communist Party Committee of Fudan University, and the Secretary of the Communist Party Committee of Fudan University Economics College. Currently, Mr. Shi also serves as the Independent Non-executive Director of Ko Yo Chemical (Group) Limited and Sanxiang Impression Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi obtained his Doctorate degree from the Institute of Economics at Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences in 1993. Mr. Shi enjoys the special allowance of the State Council.

Mr. ZHANG Xiangdong, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since August 2020. Mr. Zhang served as a Non-executive Director of Bank of China Limited from July 2011 to June 2018 and a Non-executive Director of China Construction Bank Corporation from November 2004 to June 2010 (acting as Chairman of the Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors from April 2005 to June 2010). From January 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Zhang concurrently served as Member of China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission. From August 2001 to November 2004, he successively served as Vice President of Haikou Branch of the PBOC and

Deputy Director General of Hainan Branch of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange concurrently, Deputy Director General and Inspector of the General Affairs Department of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange. From September 1999 to September 2001, Mr. Zhang concurrently served as a Member of the Issuance Approval Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor's degree in law from Renmin University of China in 1986, graduated with a postgraduate degree in international economic law from Renmin University of China in 1988 and obtained a master's degree in law in 1990 and he is a Senior Economist.

Ms. LI Xiaohui, Independent Non-executive Director. Ms. Li has been serving as an Independent Nonexecutive Director of the Bank since November 2020. Ms. Li has been a Professor and Doctoral Supervisor at the School of Accounting, Central University of Finance and Economics from September 2003. Ms. Li also services an independent non-executive director of Fangda Special Steel Technology Co., Ltd., State Grid Information and Communication Co., Ltd., Poly Culture Group Co., Ltd., and BBMG Corporation, external supervisor of Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd., member of the Professional Technical Advisory Committee of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, member of the Audit Committee of the Accounting Society of China and member of the Audit Standards Committee of the China Internal Audit Association. From July 2001 to August 2003, she worked in the Professional Standards Department of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. From April 1993 to August 1998, Ms. Li worked successively in Cangzhou Accounting Firm, Cangshi Accounting Firm and the State-owned Assets Administration under Hebei Province Department of Finance. Ms. Li is a national leading accountant, and a member of the Professional Technical Advisory Committee of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Audit Committee of the Accounting Society of China and a member of the Audit Standards Committee of the China Internal Audit Association. Ms. Li currently serves as Independent Director of Fangda Special Steel Technology Co., Ltd., State Grid Information and Communication Co., Ltd., Jizhong Energy Co., Ltd., and Camel Group Co., Ltd. Ms. Li previously served as Director of Fangda Carbon New Material Co., Ltd., Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. and China U-Ton Holdings Limited. Ms. Li obtained a doctorate degree in economics from Central University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and she is a Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. MA Jun, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Ma has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since August 2022 and he also serves as the President of the Institute of Finance and Sustainability. Mr. Ma is currently the Independent Director of China Taiping Life Insurance (Hong Kong), Independent Director of Postal Savings Bank of China Ubank, Director of the Green Finance Committee of China Society for Finance, Co-Chairman of the Steering Committee of the "Belt and Road" Green Investment Principals, President of the Beijing Green Finance Association (Beijing Emissions Trading Association) and Chairman of the Hong Kong Green Finance Association. Mr. Ma served as a Member of the Monetary Policy Committee of the People's Bank of China; Director of the Finance and Development Research Centre, Institute of International Finance, Tsinghua University and Director of the Green Finance Development Research Centre; Chief Economist of the Research Bureau of the People's Bank of China. He also served as Chief Economist, Investment Strategist and Managing Director for Greater China of Deutsche Bank AG; Senior Economist and Adviser to the World Bank and Economist at the International Monetary Fund. Mr. Ma also served for the Development Research Centre of the State Council. Mr. Ma obtained his doctor's degree in economics from Georgetown University, USA in 1994.

Mr. WONG Tin Chak, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Wong has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since November 2023 and he is an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Since November 2022, Mr. Wong has been the Chief Partner of Shanghai Dekun Tianyu Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) and a member of the Digital Economy Strategy Committee of the Chinese Association of Development Strategy Studies. He has previously worked as, among others, a Chief Commercial Officer, a Risk Advisory Managing Partner and a member of Management Committee of Deloitte China, a member of the Risk Advisory Management Committee of Deloitte

Asia Pacific, an Audit and Assurance Deputy Managing Partner and a Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants and a Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor of social science degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1988, majoring in accounting and economics.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Bank comprises members of the senior management and secretary of the Board, of which, members of the senior management include, among others, the president, executive vice presidents, chief business officer, chief risk officer and HSBC strategic cooperation adviser. The Bank adopts the system of accountability by the president under the leadership of the Board. The president is accountable to the Board, whereas various functional departments, branch offices and other members of senior management of the Bank are accountable to the president. The president has the right to organise, develop and operate management activities in accordance with laws, regulations, the Bank's Articles of Association and authorisation from the Board.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning members of the senior management of the Bank.

Name	Position
Mr. ZHANG Baojiang	President
Mr. YIN Jiuyong	Executive Vice President
Mr. HUANG Hongyuan	Executive Vice President
Mr. ZHOU Wanfu	Executive Vice President
Mr. QIAN Bin	Executive Vice President, Chief Information Officer
Mr. TU Hong	Chief Business Officer (Interbank and Market Business Sector)
Mr. HE Zhaobin	Company Secretary
Mr. LIN Hua	Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business Sector)
Mr. LIU Jianjun	Chief Risk Officer
Mr. WANG Wenjin	Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business Sector)
Mr. CHO, Kwok Hung Arthur	Senior Management Member, BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Advisor

Mr. ZHANG Baojiang, has been President of the Bank since June 2024, senior economist. Mr. Zhang had worked for Agricultural Development Bank of China, serving as the Vice President of such bank, President of the Anhui Branch, Director of the General Office of the Head Office, Vice President of the Shaanxi Branch, Deputy General Manager (In Charge of Work) of the Policy Research Office, Deputy Director of the General Office and Deputy General Manager of the Research Office of the Head Office, etc. Mr. Zhang obtained a master's degree in Economics from the Graduate School of the Party School of the Central Committee of Communist Party of China in 1998 and a doctoral degree in Economics from the Graduate School of the Party School of the Central Committee of Communist Party of China in 2004.

Mr. YIN Jiuyong, please refer to details in "Executive Directors".

Mr. HUANG Hongyuan, Executive Vice President. Mr. Huang has been serving as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since December 2022. Mr. Huang served as the Chairman, General Manager and Deputy General Manager of the Board of Governors of Shanghai Stock Exchange, Director of Institutional Supervision

Department and Director of Risk Control Office of Securities Companies under CSRC, Deputy Director of Shanghai Regulatory Bureau under CSRC and Commissioner of Shanghai Securities Regulatory Commissioner's Office, Deputy Director of Shanghai Securities Regulatory Office, Member of Planning and Development Committee under CSRC, Deputy Director of Fund Supervision Department under CSRC, Chief of Overseas Listing Division of Overseas International Business Department under CSRC, Deputy Chief of Overseas Listing Division of Overseas Listing Department under CSRC. Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor's degree in electronic engineering from Shanghai Jiaotong University in 1986, a master's degree in finance from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University in 1992, a master degree in finance from Imperial College London in 2001 and a Ph.D.in economics from the School of Finance of Renmin University of China in 2000.

Mr. ZHOU Wanfu, please refer to details in "Executive Directors".

Mr. QIAN Bin, Executive Vice President. Mr. Qian has been serving as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since July 2021. Mr. Qian has concurrently been serving as Chief Information Officer of the Bank since October 2022. Mr. Qian served as General Manager and Principal of the Internet Finance Department, General Manager of Data Centre (Shanghai), Deputy General Manager of the Private Banking Department, Deputy General Manager of the Information Technology Department and Director of the Technology Security Centre, Deputy General Manager of the Information Technology Department and Assistant to General Manager of the Information Technology Department of the Shanghai Branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. Mr. Qian obtained his MBA degree from The University of Hong Kong – Fudan University IMBA Programme in 2004 and he is a Senior Engineer.

Mr. HE Zhaobin, Secretary of the Board of Directors. Mr. He has been serving as the Secretary of the Board of Directors of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. He served as, among others, a Non-executive Director of the Bank, Deputy Director of National Agricultural Comprehensive Development Office of the State, Deputy Director of Agriculture Comprehensive Reform Group Office of the State Council, Deputy Director of the Department of Supervision and Inspection of the MOF (Vice Mayor in Huangshi municipal people's government in Hubei Province during this period), Division Chief, and Deputy Division Chief. Mr. He obtained his master's degree in public administration in China National School of Administration and Peking University in 2007 and he is a Certified Public Accountant and a Senior Economist.

Mr. TU Hong, Chief Business Officer (Inter-bank and Market Business Sector). Mr. Tu has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Inter-bank and Market Business Sector) of the Bank since September 2018, and concurrently serves as the President of Shanghai Branch of the Bank since April 2022. Mr. Tu held various positions in the Bank, including Chairman of the Board of BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd., Directors of the General Manager of the Financial Institution Department of the Bank's Head Office, during which period he concurrently served as Chief Executive Officer of the Asset Management Business Centre, Chief Executive Officer of the Financial Market Business Centre/Precious Metal Business Centre, General Manager of the Financial Market Department, General Manager of the New York Branch, Deputy General Manager of the International Business Department of the Bank's Head Office, Executive Vice President of the Guangzhou Branch, Division Chief of the General Administration of Foreign Exchange Business of the Beijing Branch, Deputy Manager of the Foreign Exchange Credit Department and Executive Vice President of the Sanyuan Sub-branch, serving the Bank for 34 years. Mr. Tu obtained his master's degree in economics from Fudan University in 1998.

Mr. LIN Hua, Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business). Mr. Lin has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business) of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. Lin held various positions in the Bank, including Chief Risk Officer, General Manager of the Risk Management Department, Director of Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office, President of the Jiangsu Branch, President and Executive Vice President (on behalf, performed the duties of the President) of the Jiangsi Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Shanghai Branch, Senior Manager of the Credit Department, Division Chief of

the Credit Management Division, Director and Deputy Director (in charge of overall work) of the General Office, Assistant to Manager of the Marketing Department and Assistant to Division Chief of the Credit Division of the Shanghai Branch, serving the Bank for 35 years. Mr. Lin obtained his MBA degree from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2004 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. LIU Jianjun, Chief Risk Officer. Mr. Liu has been serving as the Chief Risk Office since June 2023. Mr. Liu has been concurrently serving as the General Manager of the Risk Management Department of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. Liu held various positions in the Bank, including Chief Expert, President of the Beijing Branch and Chief Executive Officer of the Beijing Management Department (Group Customer Department), Executive Vice President of the Beijing Management Department (Group Customer Department), President, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Jilin Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Beijing Branch, etc, serving the Bank for 35 years. Mr. Liu obtained his MBA degree from Beijing Institute of Technology in 2003 and he is an Intermediate Economist.

Mr. WANG Wenjin, Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business). Mr. Wang has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business Sector) of the Bank since June 2023. He has been concurrently serving as the Vice President of the Management Headquarters of the Bank for the Integrated Development of Yangtze River Delta since July 2023 and General Manager of the Corporate and Institutional Banking Department of the Bank since October 2019.Mr. Wang held various positions in the Bank, including, among others, General Manager of the Pension Finance Department, President and Executive Vice President of the Fujian Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Hunan Branch, Executive Vice President and Assistant to President of the Changsha Branch, President of the Yueyang Branch, Division Chief of the Corporate Business Division, Deputy Division Chief and Assistant to Division Chief of the Credit Management Division of the Changsha Branch, serving the Bank for 29 years. Mr. Wang obtained his master's degree in management from Hunan University in 2008.

Mr. CHO, Kwok Hung Arthur, BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Consultant. Mr. Cho has been serving as the BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Consultant since April 2023. He was the Chief Risk Officer of Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited, Risk Management Consultant assigned by HSBC to the Bank (as an expatriate employee of HSBC), President of HSBC Shanghai Branch, Director of Credit Risk Training of HSBC (China), Director of Commercial Banking School of HSBC Asia Pacific, Director of Corporate Banking Training Department of HSBC Asia Pacific, Senior Training Manager (Credit Risk) and Deputy Department Head of HSBC Asia Pacific. Mr Cao obtained his MBA degree from the City University of Hong Kong in 1996.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

In accordance with the requirements of the company law of the PRC and the Bank's Articles of Association, the board of supervisors of the Bank monitors the Board's execution of the resolutions approved at shareholders' meetings and decisions made within the Board's scope of power. The board of supervisors of the Bank also monitors the senior management's implementation of resolutions approved at shareholders' general meetings and Board's meetings, and the business activities that were carried out within the senior management's scope of power. The board of supervisors is also responsible for monitoring the performance of the directors and senior management, and for investigating the Bank's financial condition.

The board of supervisors of the Bank includes the following members:

Mr. XU Jiming, Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and Shareholder Supervisor. Mr. Xu has been serving as the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and a Shareholder Supervisor of the Bank since October 2021. Mr. Xu serves as the Chairman of the Labour Union of the Bank and the standing committee member of the 14th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference concurrently. Mr. Xu served as

the standing committee member of the 13th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Xu served as Head of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Group and Head of the Discipline Inspection Group of the Party Leadership Group. Mr. Xu also held various positions in the National Audit Office, including Director of the General Office, Director of the Department of Administration Institutions Audit, Director of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Director of the Audit Cadre Training Centre, Director and Deputy Director of the Audit Bureau of Health and Drugs, Deputy Director of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Assistant to the Special Commissioner of Kunming Resident Office (Division Chief Level), Division Chief of the First Division of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Division of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit and Deputy Division Auditor of the Second Division of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit. Mr. Xu obtained his doctoral degree in economics from EHESS (École des hautes études en sciences socials) in 1995 and he is a Senior Auditor.

Mr. WANG Xueqing, Shareholder Supervisor. Mr. Wang has been serving as a Shareholder Supervisor of the Bank since June 2017. Mr. Wang has been concurrently serving as Deputy General Manager Daqing Oilfield Co., Ltd. (Daging Petroleum Administration Bureau), a substantial shareholder of the Bank. Mr. Wang also serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daging Petroleum (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd., Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daqing Energy (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd., Director of DPS Indonesia Co. Ltd., Director of China Petroleum Halfaya Co., Ltd. and Executive Vice President of the Six Council of China Association of Plant Engineering. Mr. Wang served as Director of Finance Department of Daqing Oilfield Company from October 2009 to February 2018. From July 2008 to October 2009, Mr. Wang was appointed as Director of Financial Assets of the First Department in Daging Oilfield Company. He was Head of the Accounting Department (Centre) of the Financial Assets Department in Daqing Oilfield Company and became Section Chief, First Deputy Director and Director from November 1999 to July 2008. At present, Mr. Wang holds difference positions including Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daqing Petroleum (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd. and Daqing Energy (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd., Director of Qingdao Qingxin Plastic Co. Ltd. and DPS Indonesia Co. Ltd., Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of Daqing Oilfield Lishen Pump Co. Ltd. and PTINDOSPECENERGY and Vice President of the Sixth Council of China Association of Plant Engineering. Mr. Wang obtained a master's degree in accounting from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in June 2002. He is also a Professorate Senior Accountant.

Mr. LI Yao, External Supervisor. Mr. Li has been serving as an External Supervisor of the Bank since October 2017. Mr. Li has been working as professor and chairman of the Professor Committee of the School of Finance, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Li served as Vice President of School of Finance from December 2014 to January 2018. During the period from September 2002 to September 2003. He also served as Vice Professor in visiting scholar program for the purpose of governmental exchange between Chinese and Canadian exchange at the University of Toronto Rotman. Mr. Li was appointed as Professor in the management buyout and private equity research centre of Nottingham University Business School from August 2009 to January 2010 and served as Professor in visiting Sino-US Fulbright Scholar Program at Boston College from August 2018 to July 2019. Mr. Li also served as Independent Director of Chongqing Rural Commercial Bank Co. Ltd. from October 2014 to December 2015. Mr. Li obtained his Ph.D. in economics from East China Normal University in July 1998.

Mr. CHEN Hanwen, External Supervisor. Mr. Chen has been serving as an External Supervisor of the Bank since April 2019. Mr. Chen is currently a professor in Nanjing Audit University and he is a Professor, doctoral supervisor and contact of the Postdoctoral Research Station of University of International Business and Economics, chair professor of China Business Executives Academy, Dalian, co-editor in chief of China Journal of Accounting Studies (publication of the Accounting Society of China), member of Editorial Board of Auditing Research (publication of the China Audit Society), member of the Senior Professional Rank Evaluation Committee of the National Audit Office, member of the Specialised Guidance Committee of the Chinese

Institute of Certified Public Accountant, executive council member of the China Audit Society, Independent Non-executive Director of China Shenhua Energy Company Limited, Beijing Tri-Prime Gene Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen worked as the Secretary General of the Academic Committee of Xiamen University from January 2014 to June 2015, the Vice President of the Graduate School from August 2012 to June 2015, the vice president of School of Management from June 2008 to August 2012, Dean of the Accounting Department of Xiamen University from May 2004 to December 2008, and received the prestigious Xiamen University Nanqiang Award for outstanding contributions. Mr. Chen currently acts as an Independent Director of Yango Group Co., Ltd (form April 2017 to April 2020), Dalian Wanda Commercial Properties (from May 2017 to March 2022), Beijing Sanyuan Gene Pharmacy Co. Ltd. (from November 2018 to November 2021), Xiamen International Bank (from May 2013 to May 2019) and Xiamen Bank (from January 2015 to January 2021). Mr. Chen acted as independent non-executive director of Industrial Securities from September 2011 to November 2017 and Minsheng Holdings from December 2015 to December 2017. Mr. Chen obtained his doctoral degree in economics from Xiamen University in 1997.

Mr. SU Zhi, External Supervisor. Mr. Su has been serving as an External Supervisor of the Bank since June 2022. Mr. Su is currently the Special Appointed Professor of "Longma Scholars", the Double Appointed Professor and the Tutor for Doctoral Students of the School of Statistics and Mathematics and the School of Finance, as well as the first Chief Dean of the Department of Financial Technology at Central University of Finance and Economics. He is also the Executive Director of Central University of Finance and Economics & University of Electronic Science and Technology of China Joint Research Data Centre, the Deputy Director of the Academic Committee of Institute of International Technology Development of Research Centre of the State Council, the Professional Consultant in Financial Technology of Beijing Xicheng District Government, the Special Appointed Expert of "Sci-Tech Finance Expert Think Tank" of Beijing Haidian District Financial Services Office, the Special Researcher of the International Monetary Institute of Renmin University of China, the Special Appointed Professor of the Business Model Innovation Centre of Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management, the Senior External Expert of Centralised Procurement Management Committee of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, the Guiding Expert of Postdoctoral Fellow of Shenzhen Stock Exchange; the Co-Tutor of Postdoctoral Fellow of JD Finance, the Supervisor of Bank of Guizhou Co., Ltd. as well as the Independent Directors of Shanghai Haohai Biological Technology Co., Ltd., Fujian Start Group Co., Ltd. and Changzhou Kaneken Steel Section Co., Ltd. Mr. Su obtained his doctoral degree in quantitative economics from Jilin University in 2006.

Mr. GUAN Xingshe, Employee Supervisor. Mr. Guan has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since October 2018. He has been concurrently serving as the Director of the Office of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank since August 2018. From September 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Guan served as General Manager of Department of General Affairs of the Bank. Mr. Guan held various positions from May 2003 to September 2011, including Deputy Manager of Henan Branch (Zhengzhou), Secretary of the Commission for Discipline Inspection (from September 2007 to September 2011) and Senior Credit Executive (from May 2006 to June 2008). He also held several positions from December 1994 to May 2003, including Deputy Division Chief of Finance and Accounting Department of Zhengzhou Branch, Deputy Division Chief of Internal Audit Division (in charge of overall work), Deputy Director of Finance and Accounting Department (in charge of overall work), Division Chief of Finance and Accounting Department (during which he took a temporary post in Internal Audit Division of the Head Office from April 2002 to March 2003). From April 1993 to December 1994, Mr. Guan served as Deputy Division Chief of Financial Audit Department of Zhengzhou Audit Bureau. Mr. Guan obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1988 and his master's degree in economics from Xiamen University in 1999. Mr. Guan is a Senior Auditor.

Ms. LIN Zhihong, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Lin has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since December 2020. Ms. Lin has been concurrently serving as Head of the Audit and Supervision Bureau of the Bank and Supervisor of the BoCom Financial Asset Investment Co., Ltd. Previously, she also served as

Non-executive Director of BoCom International Holdings Co., General Manager of the Financial Service Centre (Business Operation Department) of the Head Office, General Manager of the Budget and Finance Department (Data and Information Management Centre), General Manager, Deputy General Manager and Senior Budget Manager of the Budget and Finance Department, serving the Bank for 33 year. Ms. Lin obtained her EMBA degree from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010 and she is an Intermediate Accountant.

Ms. FENG Bing, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Feng has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since December 2020, and she also serves as Deputy General Manager and Integrity Commissioner and Senior Expert of the Bank's Singapore Branch. Ms. Feng held various positions in the Bank, including Director of the Office of Labour Union, Executive Vice President of Labour Union, Secretary of Youth League Committee, Deputy General Manager, Senior Manager of Structural Planning, Senior Manager of Performance Management (During the period, she served a temporary position in the Jiaxing Branch of the Bank as Executive Vice President) and Deputy Senior Manager of Performance Management of the Human Resource Department of the Bank's Head Office, and she also served as Deputy Head of Economic Research Office of the Development Research Department of the Bank's Head Office, serving the Bank for 23 years. Ms. Feng obtained her master's degree in national economics from University of Shanghai for Science and Technology in 2000 and she is a Senior Economist.

Ms. PO Ying, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Po has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since November 2021. Ms. Po is currently the Head of Sub-bureaus of Audit Supervision of the Bank and the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd. Previously, she served as the General Manager of the Equity and Investment Management Department of the Bank, the General Manager of the Strategic Investment Department of the Bank's Head Office, the non-executive director of BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited and a non-executive director of Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. Ms. Po also served as the vice president of Suzhou Branch of the Bank, senior manager of management accounting, senior manager of management accounting and pricing of the Budget and Finance Department of the head office of the Bank, deputy director of the Financial Accounting (Budget Finance) Department of the head office of the Bank, deputy director of the Financial Accounting Department of the head office of the Bank and deputy director and assistant director of the Planning Division of Nanning Branch of the Bank, serving the Bank for 27 years. Ms. Po obtained a master's degree in economics from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 1996 and she is a Senior Accountant.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors set up Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee), Audit Committee, Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee, Personnel and Remuneration Committee and Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee, among which, the Strategy Committee and Inclusive Finance Development Committee perform duties in combination, the Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee assumed the responsibilities of the US Risk Management Committee and the Personnel and Remuneration Committee performed the functions of both nomination and remuneration.

The Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee)

The Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee) is primarily responsible for formulating the operations and management objectives as well as long-term development plans, regularly analysing and evaluating the results of capital management, conducting research and making recommendations on major equity investment plans. The committee supervises and inspects the implementation of the annual business

plans, examines and assesses the implementation of corporate governance system. Furthermore, it formulates and reviews the strategic plans for the development of inclusive financial business and business operating plan, and also evaluates the achievements of inclusive finance business development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 25 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for proposing the appointments, changes or removals of the Bank's auditors, monitoring the Bank's internal audit system and its implementation, acting as the communication channel between the Bank's internal and external auditors, reviewing the Bank's financial information and disclosure, examining the Bank's accounting policies, financial position and financial reporting procedures, and monitoring the implementation of the Bank's internal controls. The Audit Committee and the senior management have reviewed the Bank's accounting policies and practices and discussed issues relating to internal controls and financial reporting including reviewing interim financial reports. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held five meetings and reviewed and approved 31 proposals.

The Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee

The Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee is primarily responsible for monitoring and evaluating the risk management and controls of the Bank in areas of credit, market, operations, compliance, case prevention, money laundering and terrorism financing; periodically assessing the risks, management status and risk tolerance level; supervising and evaluating the risk management of America-related operations, reviewing significant related party transactions, asset disposals, asset pledges or external guarantees; approving policies and procedures of money laundering risk management; reviewing anti-money laundering reports regularly, keeping abreast of major money laundering risk events and their resolutions, and evaluating the status of anti-money laundering risk management. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 42 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board of Directors on its scale and structure according to the operating results, the scale of assets and the structure of shareholding; approving and amending the policies on diversification of members of the Board of Directors; making recommendations to the Board of Directors on formulating the selection procedures and assessment criteria for the Bank's directors and senior management personnel and reviewing the basic systems and policies of remuneration management; proposing suggestions on the remuneration distribution plan of directors and senior management and submitting them to the Board of Directors for approval. The Personnel and Remuneration Committee performed the functions both as a Nomination Committee and a Remuneration Committee.

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee's nomination procedures for the directors and senior management of the Bank are as follows: Firstly, understand the Bank's demands for directors and senior management in time. Secondly, extensively search for candidates of directors and senior management. Thirdly, determine the initial candidates and obtain their agreements. Fourthly, convene the meetings of the Personnel & Remuneration Committee to conduct examinations for the qualification of the initial candidates. Fifthly, propose to the Board of Directors about the election of new directors and the appointment of new senior management. Sixthly, implement other following duties based on decisions and feedback of the Board of Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 21 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee

The Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee is primarily responsible for formulating the Bank's social responsibility strategies and policies, reviewing the achievements of the social responsibility targets and submitting the Annual Social Responsibility Report to the Board of Directors; researching and assessing the measures of the ESG performance and promoting ESG information disclosure; reviewing the strategies, policies and goals on protecting the consumers' rights, studying key issues and significant policies on consumer's rights protection, approving external donations; reviewing credit policies concerning environmental and sustainable development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee held four meetings, reviewed and approved 12 proposals and reports and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

BANKING REGULATION AND SUPERVISION IN THE PRC

OVERVIEW

The banking industry in the PRC is highly regulated. The principal regulatory authorities in the PRC banking industry include the NAFR and the PBOC. The NAFR is responsible for supervising and regulating banking institutions, and the PBOC, as the central bank of the PRC, is responsible for formulating and implementing monetary policies. The principal laws and regulations relating to the PRC banking industry are the People's Bank of China Law of the People's Republic of China(中華人民共和國中國人民銀行法), the Commercial Banking Law of the People's Republic of China (中華人民共和國商業銀行法) and the Banking Supervision and Regulatory Law of the People's Republic of China (中華人民共和國銀行業監督管理法), and the rules and regulations established thereunder.

NAFR

Pursuant to the Plan for the Institution Reform of the State Council issued by the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China on 10 March 2023, the NAFR was established on 18 May 2023, building on the foundation of the CBIRC. With the formation of the NAFR, the CBIRC is no longer retained. The NAFR undertakes daily regulatory responsibilities of the PBOC for financial holding companies and other financial groups, as well as the responsibilities for consumer protection in the financial sector, and the investor protection responsibilities of the CSRC will also be transferred to the NAFR. The proposed reform is expected to be completed before the end of 2023 at the central government level. On 18 May 2023, the NAFR was officially established.

Functions and Powers

The NAFR is the principal regulatory authority in the PRC responsible for the supervision and regulation of banking institutions operating within the PRC, including commercial banks, urban credit cooperatives, rural credit cooperatives, other deposit-taking financial institutions and policy banks, as well as certain non-bank financial institutions, such as asset management companies, trust and investment companies, finance companies, financial leasing companies and other financial institutions.

The NFRA is responsible for implementing the policies and decisions of the CPC Central Committee on financial work. The main responsibilities are:

- To conduct unified supervision and regulation of the financial industry except the securities sector in accordance with laws and regulations, strengthen institutional supervision, conduct supervision, functional supervision, look-through supervision and on-going supervision, and ensure the lawful and stable operation of the financial industry.
- 2. To carry out systematic research on issues concerning the reform and opening up as well as effective supervision of the financial industry. To participate in the formulation of strategic plans for reform and development of the financial industry. To draft relevant laws and regulations on banking, insurance and financial holding companies, and put forward recommendations for their formulation and revision. To formulate relevant rules and regulations for banking institutions, insurance institutions, and financial holding companies.
- 3. To conduct and coordinate work concerning the protection of financial consumers' rights and interests.

 To formulate development planning, establish a sound system and study major issues concerning the protection of financial consumers' rights and interests, to carry out financial consumer education, and

build complaint handling mechanisms as well as diversified dispute resolution mechanisms for financial consumers.

- 4. To conduct authorisation of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies and others in accordance with law, and carry out supervision and regulation of these institutions in respect of their corporate governance, risk management, internal controls, capital adequacy, solvency, business operations, information disclosure.
- 5. To conduct on-site examination and off-site surveillance of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies and others, in accordance with law. To carry out risk and compliance assessment of these institutions, investigate and impose administrative penalties over violations.
- 6. To prepare regulatory data statements of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies and others on a consolidated basis, and release such information in accordance with relevant provisions. To fulfil the responsibilities concerning comprehensive statistics of the financial industry.
- 7. To carry out technology supervision of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies. To establish technology supervisory systems and formulate relevant policies. To build a regulatory big data platform, carry out risk monitoring, analysis, assessment and early warning, and make full use of technological means to strengthen supervision and prevent risks.
- 8. To conduct look-through supervision of the banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies. To formulate rules on equity supervision, and review and approve shareholders, actual controllers as well as equity changes in accordance with law. To carry out investigation on shareholders, actual controllers, persons acting in concert and ultimate beneficiaries according to law, and take relevant measures or impose penalties on violations of laws and regulations.
- 9. To set up financial inspection and oversight systems outside of the fields of currency, payment, credit reporting, anti-money laundering, foreign exchange, securities and futures. To set up mechanisms connecting the administrative law enforcement with criminal justice, and investigate, collect evidence on and deal with related subjects of violations or illegal financial activities, and transfer those suspected of committing a crime to judicial organs.
- 10. To establish recovery and resolution mechanisms of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies. To study and put forward recommendations on the recovery and resolution of financial institutions in collaboration with relevant departments and organise their implementation.
- 11. To take the lead in cracking down on illegal financial activities, organise the establishment of monitoring and early warning system on illegal financial activities, coordinate, guide and urge relevant departments and local governments to carry out work to prevent and deal with illegal financial activities according to law. To study and put forward relevant suggestions on cross-sector and cross-region illegal financial activities and those involving new products and new types of business, and organise their implementation as required.
- 12. To establish a local financial supervision system as required which is mainly based on local offices directly under the central financial authorities. To guide and oversee the local financial supervisory work, and guide and coordinate local governments to fulfil their respective jurisdictional responsibility in resolving related financial risks.
- 13. To supervise the outsourcing of information technology, as well as other cooperating activities of banking institutions, insurance institutions, financial holding companies and other supervised entities with information technology service agencies and other intermediaries. To conduct investigation over

violations of laws and regulations in accordance with law, and take relevant measures against financial institutions.

- 14. To participate in the regulatory and rule-making work of international financial organisations and international regulatory standard-setting bodies. To carry out overseas exchanges and international cooperation work.
- 15. To implement other tasks assigned by the CPC Central Committee and the State Council.

Supervision over Capital Adequacy

In February 2004, the CBRC (the predecessor of the CBIRC and the NAFR) issued the Capital Adequacy Measures applicable to all commercial banks in the PRC. The Capital Adequacy Measures provided for a phase-in period whereby all domestic banks must have met the minimum ratios of capital adequacy by 1 January 2007.

On 3 July 2007, the CBRC issued an amendment to the Capital Adequacy Measures to set forth new and more stringent capital adequacy guidelines that must be complied with from 3 July 2007 onwards.

On 7 June 2012, the CBRC announced the Capital Management Rules to replace the Capital Adequacy Measures, setting up a new capital adequacy regulatory system by reference to Basel III to replace the Capital Adequacy Measures. The Capital Management Rules have been in effect since 1 January 2013. In particular, the Capital Management Rules establish a unified and comprehensive capital adequacy regulatory system, redefine the meaning of capital, enlarge the scope of risks to be covered by capital, require the scientific classification and differentiated supervision of the capital adequacy levels of commercial banks and give commercial banks a transitional period for meeting the new capital adequacy requirements.

Under the Capital Management Rules, capital adequacy ratios are calculated according to the following formulae in accordance with CBRC requirements:

Capital Adequacy Ratio
$$= \frac{\text{Total capital - corresponding capital deductions}}{\text{Risk-weight assets}} \times 100\%$$
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
$$= \frac{\text{Tier 1 capital - corresponding capital deductions}}{\text{Risk-weight assets}} \times 100\%$$
Common Equity Tier-1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
$$= \frac{\text{Common Equity Tier-1 Capital - corresponding}}{\text{Capital deductions}} \times 100\%$$
Risk-weight assets

On 29 November 2012, the CBRC released *The Guiding Opinions on Capital Instrument Innovation of Commercial Banks* (中國銀監會關於商業銀行資本工具創新的指導意見) (the "Guiding Opinions") which was further revised on 22 November 2019, allowing and encouraging commercial banks to develop capital instruments (including tier 2 capital instruments) that comply with the Capital Management Rules. Pursuant to the Guiding Opinions, Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments and tier 2 capital instruments issued by a commercial bank after 1 January 2013 must contain a provision that requires such instruments to be either written off or converted into common stock upon the occurrence of a triggering event. A triggering event for Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments occurs when the Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio of the commercial bank falls to 5.125 per cent. or below. A triggering event for tier 2 capital instruments occurs upon the earlier of: (i) a decision of write-down or share conversion, without which the commercial bank would

become non-viable, as determined by the CBRC; or (ii) a decision to make a public sector injection of capital or equivalent support, without which the commercial bank would have become non-viable, as determined by relevant authorities. On 18 January, 2018, the CBRC, the PBOC, the CSRC, the CIRC and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange jointly released The Opinions on Further Supporting Commercial Banks' Innovation on Capital Instruments (中國銀監會、中國人民銀行、中國證監會、中國保監會、國家外匯管理局關於進一步支持商業銀行資本工具創新的意見) (the "Opinions"), further supporting the beneficial exploration of commercial banks for innovating capital instruments, expanding the channels for issuance of capital instruments, increasing capital instrument types, creating favourable conditions for commercial banks to issue capital bonds without fixed terms, Tier-2 capital bonds to be converted into shares, capital bonds containing regular share conversion clauses, bonds with total loss-absorbing capacity and other capital instruments and improving the approval of issuance of capital instruments.

On 26 October 2023, the NAFR promulgated the Rules Governing Capital Management of Commercial Banks (商業銀行資本管理辦法) (the "New Capital Management Rules"), which became effective on 1 January 2024. According to the New Capital Management Rules, the minimum capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital adequacy ratio and Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio for commercial banks are 8 per cent., 6 per cent. and 5 per cent., respectively. A commercial bank is also subject to the capital conservation buffer over and above the minimum capital requirement at 2.5 per cent. of total risk weighted assets of the bank comprised of Common Equity Tier-1 Capital, and under certain circumstances, a countercyclical buffer is required and the specific requirement of the countercyclical buffer shall be separately stipulated by the PBOC in conjunction with the NAFR. In addition, if a commercial bank is designated as a domestic systematically important commercial bank by the CBIRC (now the NAFR), such domestic systematically important bank is required to maintain a further capital surcharge above prevailing Common Equity Tier-1 Capital requirements as separately stipulated by the PBOC in conjunction with the NAFR.

On 27 October 2021, the PBOC, the CBIRC (now the NAFR) and the MOF promulgated the Measures for the Administration of the Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity of Global Systemically Important Banks, which became into effect on 1 December 2021. In accordance with these Measures, the external total loss absorption capacity (the "TLAC") ratio of a global systemically important bank shall meet the following requirements: (1) the risk-weighted ratio of total external TLAC shall not be lower than 16 per cent. from 1 January 2025, and shall not be lower than 6 per cent. from 1 January 2028, and shall not be lower than 6 per cent. from 1 January 2028.

Examination and Supervision

The NAFR monitors the operations of banks and their branches through on-site examinations and off-site surveillance. On-site examinations generally include inspecting a bank's business premises, interviewing its employees, senior management and directors for an explanation of significant issues relating to its operations and risk management and reviewing relevant documents and materials kept by the bank. The NAFR also conducts off-site surveillance by reviewing financial and other reports regularly submitted by banks and monitoring banks' business activities and risk exposure status to evaluate and analyse the operational risk of the banks.

If a banking institution is not in compliance with an applicable banking regulation, the NAFR is authorised to impose corrective and punitive measures, including imposing fines, ordering the suspension of certain business activities, imposing restrictions on dividends and other forms of distributions and asset transfers and suspending the opening of new branches. In extreme cases or when a commercial bank fails to take corrective action within the time period specified by the NAFR, the NAFR may order the banking institution to suspend operations and may revoke its operating-business licence. In the event of a crisis or failure within a banking institution, the NAFR may assume control over, or facilitate the restructuring of, such banking institution.

PBOC

As the central bank of the PRC, the PBOC is responsible for formulating and implementing monetary policies and maintaining the stability of the PRC financial markets. According to the *People's Bank of China Law of the People's Republic of China* (中華人民共和國中國人民銀行法) and relevant regulations, the PBOC is empowered to:

- issue and implement orders and regulations in relation to its duties;
- formulate and implement monetary policy in accordance with laws;
- issue Renminbi and administer its circulation;
- regulate the inter-bank money market and the inter-bank bond market;
- implement foreign exchange controls and regulate the inter-bank foreign exchange market;
- supervise and regulate the gold market;
- hold, administer and manage state reserves of foreign exchange and gold;
- manage the national treasury;
- safeguard the normal operation of payment and clearing systems;
- guide and coordinate the financial industry in its anti-money laundering activities and take responsibility for monitoring capital in respect of anti-money laundering;
- take responsibility for financial industry statistics, surveys, analyses and forecasts;
- participate in international financial activities in its capacity as the central bank of the PRC; and
- undertake other duties as prescribed by the State Council.

On 15 August 2013, the State Council issued the Reply of the State Council on the Establishment of the Interdepartmental Coordination Joint Meeting System for Financial Supervision (國務院關於同意建立金融監管協調部際聯席會議制度的批覆), which aims to build up such system. The PBOC shall take the lead at the joint meetings, with the CBRC, the CSRC, the CIRC and the SAFE being the major members. The NDRC and the MOF may be invited to attend the joint meetings, if necessary.

On 13 January 2017, the PBOC promulgated the PBOC Notice on Issues Relating to the Macro-prudential Management of Overall Cross-border Financing (《中國人民銀行關於全口徑跨境融資宏觀審慎管理有關事宜的通知》) (the "PBOC Notice"), which came into effect from the date of promulgation and imposes certain filing, reporting and other requirements on PRC companies and financial institutions that engage in cross-border financing activities. According to the consultation with the PBOC regarding the relevant filing and reporting requirements under the PBOC Notice, the PBOC hold the opinion that if (a) the proceeds raised from the issuance under the Programme are not repatriated into the PRC, and (b) the PRC parent bank takes the view that its offshore branch is not a PRC entity for the purpose of the PBOC Notice, then the PBOC Notice is not applicable to the notes issuance of its offshore branch. In connection with the update of the Programme or any issuance by an offshore branch under the Programme, the Bank holds the view that the PBOC Notice is not applicable and consequently has not made and does not intend to make any filing with the PBOC under the PBOC Notice. As advised by the PRC legal advisors, considering (a) the update of the Programme (without any issuance hereunder) and the entering into of the contracts solely in connection with the update does not amount to "cross-border financing activities" under the PBOC Notice; and (b) an issuance by an offshore branch where the proceeds will not be repatriated into the PRC does not involve any "cross-border financing activities" under

the PBOC Notice, the update of the Programme and any issuance by the Issuer with its proceeds not being repatriated into the PRC shall not trigger filing requirements under the PBOC Notice. Furthermore, if the proceeds of the Notes are repatriated into the PRC, the PBOC Notice may be applicable for the issuance and thus the Issuer shall make filings with the PBOC regarding the Notes according to the requirements under the PBOC Notice. It should be noted that the PBOC Notice is new and the implementation rules have not yet been published, and if following the date of this Offering Circular, the relevant Issuer or the Bank is required to make any filing, reporting or take other steps to comply with the PBOC Notice, the relevant Issuer or the Bank will take the necessary steps to comply with such requirements.

NDRC

On 14 September 2015, the NDRC published the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations (關於推進企業發行外債備案登記制管理改革的通知) (the "Circular 2044"), which came into effect on the same date.

On 5 January 2023, the NDRC published the Administrative Measures for the Examination and Registration of Medium- and Long-Term Foreign Debts of Enterprises (企業中長期外債審核登記管理辦法) (the "Order 56"), which came into effect on 10 February 2023 and repealed the Circular 2044 on the same date. The Order 56 applies to medium and long-term foreign debts with a maturity of more than one year that are borrowed from overseas by enterprises within the territory of the PRC and by overseas enterprises or branches controlled by aforementioned PRC enterprises, denominated in local or foreign currency, and of which principal is repaid with payment of interest as agreed. For the purpose of the Order 56, the forms of foreign debts include but are not limited to senior bonds, perpetual bonds, capital bonds, medium-term notes, convertible bonds, exchangeable bonds, financial leasing, and commercial loans. Before borrowing any foreign debt, the Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises (企業借用外債審核登 記證明) ("**Examination and Registration Certificate**") shall be obtained from the NDRC, and such certificate shall be valid for one year from the date of issuance and be automatically invalidated upon expiry. Apart from the foregoing pre-issuance requirement, the Order 56 stipulates post-issuance filing requirements as following: (1) filing the information of foreign debts within 10 business days after borrowing each foreign debt; (2) filing the information on the borrowing of foreign debts within 10 business days upon the expiration of the Examination and Registration Certificate; (3) filing the information on the use of proceeds raised from foreign debts, including, among others, the repayment of principal with the payment of interest, plans and arrangements, and major business indicators, within five business days prior to the end of January and the end of July each year. In addition, in case of any major event that may affect the normal performance of debt obligations, enterprises shall promptly report relevant information and take risk control measures to prevent the spill-over of onshore default risks and cross default risks. With respect to conducts in violation of the Order 56, legal liabilities and consequences to enterprises borrowing foreign debts have been stipulated in the Order 56. If any enterprise borrows foreign debts in violation of the Order 56, the NDRC will take disciplinary actions such as holding an interview and giving a public warning against the relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. If any application documents to apply for foreign debt approval submitted by enterprises contain concealing, false record, misleading statement, or material omission, the NDRC will give a warning to relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. If the approval is obtained by concealment, deception, bribery, or any other improper means, such approval will be revoked. For any enterprise failing to comply with filing and reporting requirements under the Order 56, the NDRC will order such enterprise to take rectification actions within a prescribed time limit; and if the circumstances are severe or the enterprise fails to take rectification action within the prescribed time limit, give a warning to the relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. Furthermore, conducts in violation of the Order 56 committed by enterprises will be publicised on, among others, the Credit China (信用中國) website and the National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System (國家企業信用信 息公示系統).

The NDRC issued the Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises (企業借用外債審核登記證明) (發改辦外債[2023]398 號) to the Bank on 19 October 2023 (the "NDRC Certificate"). The recipient may at its own discretion issue notes of any amount up to the granted amount under such annual foreign debt quota, although it still has to make post-issuance filing within 10 business days after the completion of the issuance of the relevant notes. The relevant Issuer is entitled to utilise the annual quota of the Bank under the NDRC Certificate. As such, the relevant Issuer is not required to carry out any pre-issuance registration in relation to the Notes pursuant to the Order 56, as the issue size and other terms and conditions of the Notes will all fall within the scope of the NDRC Certificate. However, the relevant Issuer and the Bank still have to comply with regulations regarding risk management and interim and ex-post supervision of the Order 56 and any other rules and regulations promulgated by the NDRC in relation with the supervision and management of foreign debt from time to time.

As new regulation, the Order 56 and the NDRC Certificate will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities, and it remains unclear what impact non-compliance will have on the legality, enforceability and validity of the Notes.

TAXATION

The following summary of certain PRC and Hong Kong of the purchase, ownership and disposal of the Notes is based upon applicable laws, regulations, rulings and decisions in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular, all of which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect). This discussion does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and does not purport to deal with consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules. Neither these statements nor any other statements in this Offering Circular are to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any holder of the Notes or any persons acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing in the Notes or on any tax implications arising from the acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect of the Notes. Persons considering the purchase of the Notes should consult their own tax advisers concerning the possible tax consequences of buying, holding or selling any Notes under the laws of their country of citizenship, residence or domicile.

PRC Taxation

The following summary describes the principal PRC tax consequences of ownership of the Notes by beneficial owners who, or which, are not residents of mainland China for PRC tax purposes. These beneficial owners are referred to as non-PRC Noteholders in this section. In considering whether to invest in the Notes, potential purchasers should consult their individual tax advisers with regard to the application of PRC tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any other tax jurisdiction. Reference is made to PRC taxes from the taxable year beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

Pursuant to the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation regulations, enterprises that are established under laws of foreign countries and regions (including Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) but whose "de facto management bodies" are within the territory of the PRC shall be PRC tax resident enterprises for the purpose of the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and they shall pay enterprise income tax at the rate of 25 per cent. in respect of their income sourced from both within and outside the PRC. If relevant PRC tax authorities decide, in accordance with applicable tax rules and regulations, that the "de facto management body" of the Issuer is within the territory of the PRC, the Issuer may be held to be a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purpose of the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and be subject to enterprise income tax at the rate of 25 per cent. for its income sourced from both within and outside PRC. As confirmed by the Issuer, as at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer has not been notified or informed by the PRC tax authorities that it is considered as a PRC tax resident enterprise for the purpose of the New Enterprise Income Tax Law. On that basis, holders of the Notes will not be subject to withholding tax, income tax or any other taxes or duties (including stamp duty) imposed by any governmental authority in the PRC in respect of the holding of the Notes or any repayment of principal and payment of interest made thereon.

However, there is no assurance that the Issuer will not be treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise under the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and related implementation regulations in the future. If the Issuer is treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise, the interest payable by the Issuer may be considered as income sourced inside the PRC. Pursuant to the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation regulations, any non-resident enterprise without establishment within the PRC or its income has no actual connection to its establishment inside the PRC may be subject to enterprise income tax at the rate of 10 per cent. on the passive incomes including interest payable sourced inside the PRC unless a lower tax treaty rate applies. Similarly, pursuant to the PRC Individual Income Tax Law, any non-resident individual Noteholders may be subject to individual income tax at the rate of 20 per cent. on the interest payable, which may be further decreased by an applicable tax treaty. Such income tax shall be withheld at source by the PRC entity making payment, who shall be obliged to withhold the tax amount from each payment or payment due. Accordingly, in the event the Issuer is deemed to be a PRC tax resident enterprise by the PRC tax authorities in the future, the Issuer shall withhold income

tax from the payments of interest in respect of the Notes for any non-PRC enterprise and individual Noteholders. However, notwithstanding the potential withholding of PRC tax by the Issuer, the Issuer has agreed to pay additional amounts to holders of the Notes so that holders of the Notes would receive the full amount of the scheduled payment, as further set out in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Non-PRC Noteholders will not be subject to the PRC tax on any capital gains derived from a sale or exchange of Notes consummated outside mainland China between non-PRC Noteholders, except however, if the Issuer is treated as a PRC tax resident enterprise under the New Enterprise Income Tax Law and related implementation regulations in the future, any gain realised by the non-PRC enterprise Noteholders from the transfer of the Notes may be regarded as being derived from sources within the PRC and accordingly would be subject to up to 10 per cent. of PRC withholding tax unless decreased or exempted by an applicable tax treaty. Further, non-PRC individual Noteholders may be subject to individual income tax at the rate of 20 per cent. on the capital gains, which may be decreased or exempted by an applicable tax treaty.

No PRC stamp duty will be chargeable upon the issue or transfer (for so long as the register of Noteholders is maintained outside the PRC) of a Note.

Hong Kong

Withholding Tax

No withholding tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of payments of principal or interest on the Notes or in respect of any capital gains arising from the sale of the Notes.

Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Interest on the Notes may be deemed to be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances:

- (i) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a corporation carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong;
- (ii) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a person, other than a corporation, carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and is in respect of the funds of that trade, profession or business;
- (iii) interest on the Notes is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong (the "**IRO**")) and arises through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong; or
- (iv) interest on the Notes is received by or accrues to a corporation, other than a financial institution, and arises through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO).

Pursuant to the Exemption from Profits Tax (Interest Income) Order, interest income accruing to a person other than a financial institution on deposits (denominated in any currency and whether or not the deposit is evidenced by a certificate of deposit) placed with, *inter alia*, an authorised institution in Hong Kong (within the meaning of section 2 of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of Hong Kong) is exempt from the payment of Hong Kong profits tax. This exemption does not apply, however, to deposits that are used to secure or guarantee money borrowed in certain circumstances. Provided no prospectus involving the issue of Notes is registered under the

Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, the issue of Notes by the Bank is expected to constitute a deposit to which the above exemption from payment will apply.

Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal and redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. Sums received by or accrued to a corporation, other than a financial institution, by way of gains or profits arising through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO) from the sale, disposal or other redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax where received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, who carries on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source unless otherwise exempted. The source of such sums will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in which the Notes are acquired and disposed of.

In addition, with effect from 1 January 2024, pursuant to various foreign-sourced income exemption legislation in Hong Kong (the "FSIE Amendments"), certain specified foreign-sourced income (including interest, dividend, disposal gain or intellectual property income, in each case, arising in or derived from a territory outside Hong Kong) accrued to an MNE entity (as defined in the FSIE Amendments) carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong is regarded as arising in or derived from Hong Kong and subject to Hong Kong profits tax when it is received in Hong Kong. The FSIE Amendments also provide for relief against double taxation in respect of certain foreign-sourced income and transitional matters.

In certain circumstances, Hong Kong profits tax exemptions (such as concessionary tax rates) may be available. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors to ascertain the applicability of any exemptions to their individual position.

Stamp duty

Stamp duty will not be payable on the issue of Bearer Notes by the Bank, provided either:

- (a) such Bearer Notes are denominated in a currency other than the currency of Hong Kong and are not repayable in any circumstances in the currency of Hong Kong; or
- (b) such Bearer Notes constitute loan capital (as defined in the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Cap. 117) of Hong Kong (the "SDO")).

If stamp duty is payable it is payable by the Bank on the issue of Bearer Notes at a rate of 3 per cent. of the market value of the Notes at the time of issue. No stamp duty will be payable on any subsequent transfer of Bearer Notes.

No stamp duty is payable on the issue of Registered Notes. Stamp duty may be payable on any transfer of Registered Notes if the relevant transfer is required to be registered in Hong Kong. Stamp duty will, however, not be payable on any transfer of Registered Notes provided that either:

- (i) such Registered Notes are denominated in a currency other than the currency of Hong Kong and are not repayable in any circumstances in the currency of Hong Kong; or
- (ii) such Registered Notes constitute loan capital (as defined in the SDO).

With effect from 17 November 2023, if stamp duty is payable in respect of the transfer of Registered Notes, it will be payable at the rate of 0.2 per cent. (of which 0.1 per cent. is payable by the seller and 0.1 per cent. is payable by the purchaser) normally by reference to the consideration or its value, whichever is higher. In

addition, stamp duty is payable at the fixed rate of HK\$5.00 on each instrument of transfer executed in relation to any transfer of the Registered Notes if the relevant transfer is required to be registered in Hong Kong.

POTENTIAL FATCA WITHHOLDING AFTER 2019

Pursuant to certain provisions of U.S. law, commonly known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. A number of jurisdictions (including Hong Kong and the PRC) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of these rules to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change.

Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining foreign passthru payments are published in the U.S. Federal Register and Notes characterised as debt (or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are published generally would be "grandfathered" for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on the Notes, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding.

The proposed financial transactions tax ("FTT")

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

PRC CURRENCY CONTROLS

Remittance of Renminbi into and outside the PRC

The Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency. The remittance of Renminbi into and outside the PRC is subject to controls imposed under PRC law.

Current Account Items

Under PRC foreign exchange control regulations, current account item payments include payments for imports and exports of goods and services, payments of income and current transfers into and outside the PRC.

Prior to July 2009, all current account items were required to be settled in foreign currencies. On July 2009, the PRC government promulgated Measures for the Administration of the Pilot Program of Renminbi Settlement of Cross-Border Trades (跨境貿易人民幣結算試點管理辦法) (the "Measures") and its implementation rules, pursuant to which designated and eligible enterprises are allowed to settle their cross-border trade transactions in Renminbi. Since July 2009, subject to the Measures and its implementation rules, the PRC has commenced a scheme pursuant to which Renminbi may be used for settlement of cross-border trade between approved pilot enterprises in five designated cities in the PRC including Shanghai, Guangzhou, Dongguan, Shenzhen and Zhuhai and enterprises in designated offshore jurisdictions including Hong Kong and Macau. On 17 June 2010, the PRC government promulgated the Circular on Issues concerning the Expansion of the Scope of the Pilot Program of Renminbi Settlement of Cross-Border Trades (關於擴大跨境貿易人民幣結算試點有關問題的 通知), pursuant to which (i) the list of designated pilot districts was expanded to cover 20 provinces including Beijing, Shanghai, Tianjin, Chongqing, Guangdong, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Liaoning, Shandong and Sichuan, and (ii) the restriction on designated offshore districts was lifted. Accordingly, any enterprises in the designated pilot districts and offshore enterprises are entitled to use Renminbi to settle any current account items between them (except in the case of payments for exports of goods from the PRC, such Renminbi remittance may only be effected by approved pilot enterprises in 16 provinces within the designated pilot districts in the PRC). On 27 July 2011, the PRC government promulgated the Circular on the Expansion of the Regions of Renminbi Settlement of Cross-Border Trades(關於擴大跨境貿易人民幣結算地區的通知), pursuant to which the list of designated pilot districts was expanded to the whole country. On 3 February 2012, the PRC government promulgated the Circular on the Relevant Issues Pertaining to Administration over Enterprises Engaging in RMB Settlement of Export of Goods (關於出口貨物貿易人民幣結算企業管理有關問題的通知), pursuant to which any enterprises in China which are qualified to engage in import and export trade are allowed to settle their goods export trade in Renminbi.

On 5 July 2013, the PBOC promulgated the Circular on Policies related to Simplifying and Improving Crossborder Renminbi Business Procedures (關於簡化跨境人民幣業務流程和完善有關政策的通知, 銀發 [2013] 168 號), which, in particular, simplifies the procedures for cross-border Renminbi trade settlement under current account items. For example, PRC banks may conduct settlement for the PRC enterprises (excluding those on the Supervision List) upon the PRC enterprises presenting the payment instruction. PRC banks may also allow the PRC enterprises to make/receive payments under current account items prior to the relevant PRC bank's verification of underlying transactions (noting that verification of underlying transactions is usually a precondition for cross-border remittance).

On 23 October 2019, the SAFE promulgated Notice by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of Simplifying Foreign Exchange Accounts (國家外匯管理局關於精簡外匯帳戶的通知, 匯發[2019]29 號) which became effective on 1 February 2020. SAFE has decided to review and integrate certain foreign exchange accounts and further reduce the types of accounts in order to further intensify the reform of foreign exchange administration, simplifying the relevant business operating procedures, and facilitate true and compliant foreign exchange transactions by banks, enterprises and other market participants, for example, "Current accounts -

foreign currency cash account" and "current accounts - foreign exchange account under current accounts of overseas institutions" are included in "current accounts - foreign exchange settlement account".

On the same day, the SAFE issued Notice by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of Further Facilitating Cross-border Trade and Investment (國家外匯管理局關於進一步促進跨境貿易投資便利化的通知, 匯發[2019]28 號), based on which, for the revenue obtained by an enterprise from trade in goods, the enterprise may, on its own, decide whether to open a to-be-inspected account for export revenue ("to-be-inspected account"). If an enterprise has not opened a to-be-inspected account, the examined revenue from trade in goods by the bank in accordance with the existing provisions may be directly deposited into the foreign exchange account under current accounts or used for foreign exchange settlement.

The Measures and the subsequent circulars will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities. Local authorities may adopt different practices in applying the Measures and impose conditions for settlement of current account items.

Capital Account Items

Under PRC foreign exchange control regulations, capital account items include cross-border transfers of capital, direct investments, securities investments, derivative products and loans. Capital account payments are generally subject to approval of the relevant PRC authorities.

Capital account items are generally required to be made in foreign currencies. For instance, foreign investors (including any Hong Kong investors) are generally required to make any capital contribution to foreign invested enterprises in a foreign currency in accordance with the terms set out in the relevant joint venture contracts and/or articles of association as approved by the relevant authorities. Foreign invested enterprises or any other relevant PRC parties are also generally required to make capital account item payments including proceeds from liquidation, transfer of shares, reduction of capital and principal repayment under foreign debt to foreign investors in a foreign currency. That said, the relevant PRC authorities may approve a foreign entity to make a capital contribution or shareholder's loan to a foreign invested enterprise with Renminbi lawfully obtained by it outside the PRC and for the foreign invested enterprise to service interest and principal repayment to its foreign investor outside the PRC in Renminbi on a trial basis. The foreign invested enterprise may also be required to complete registration and verification process with the relevant PRC authorities before such Renminbi remittances.

On 3 June 2011, the PBOC promulgated the Circular on Clarifying Issues concerning Cross-border Renminbi Settlement (中國人民銀行關於明確跨境人民幣業務相關問題的通知) (the "PBOC Circular"). The PBOC Circular provides instructions to local PBOC authorities on procedures for the approval of settlement activities for non-financial Renminbi foreign direct investment into the PRC. The PBOC Circular applies to all nonfinancial Renminbi foreign direct investment into the PRC, and includes investment by way of establishing a new enterprise, acquiring an onshore enterprise, transferring the shares, increasing the registered capital of an existing enterprise, or providing loan facilities in Renminbi. The domestic settlement banks of foreign investors or foreign invested enterprises in the PRC are required to submit written applications to the relevant local PBOC authorities which include, inter alia, requisite approval letters issued by the relevant MOFCOM authorities. The PBOC Circular only applies to cases where the receiving onshore enterprise is not a financial institution. On 13 October 2011, the PBOC issued the PBOC RMB FDI Measures, to commence the PBOC's detailed RMB FDI administration system, which covers almost all aspects of RMB FDI, including capital injection, payment of purchase price in the acquisition of PRC domestic enterprises, repatriation of dividends and distribution, as well as RMB denominated cross-border loans. Under the PBOC RMB FDI Measures, special approval for RMB FDI and shareholder loans from the PBOC which was previously required by the PBOC Circular is no longer necessary.

On 14 June 2012, the PBOC issued the Notice on Clarifying the implementation of Settlement of Cross-Border Renminbi Direct Investment (中國人民銀行關於明確外商直接投資人民幣結算業務操作細則的通知), which provides more detailed rules for cross-border Renminbi direct investments and settlements.

On 3 December 2013, MOFCOM promulgated the Announcement on Issues Related to Cross-border RMB Direct Investment (关于跨境人民币直接投资有关问题的公告) (the "MOFCOM RMB FDI Circular"), which has become effective on 1 January 2014, to further facilitate FDI by simplifying and streamlining the applicable regulatory framework. Pursuant to the MOFCOM RMB FDI Circular, the competent counterpart of MOFCOM will grant written approval for each FDI and specify "Renminbi Foreign Direct Investment" and the amount of capital contribution in the approval. Unlike previous MOFCOM regulations on FDI, the MOFCOM RMB FDI Circular removes the approval requirement for changes in the relevant joint venture contract or the articles of association of the joint venture company where foreign investors change the currency of its existing capital contribution from a foreign currency to Renminbi. In addition, the MOFCOM RMB FDI Circular also clearly prohibits the FDI funds from being used for any direct or indirect investment in securities and financial derivatives (except for strategic investment in the PRC listed companies) or for entrustment loans in the PRC.

On 13 February 2015, the SAFE promulgated the Circular of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Further Simplifying and Improving the Direct Investment-related Foreign Exchange Administration Policies (國家外匯管理局關於進一步簡化和改進直接投資外匯管理政策的通知) (the "2015 SAFE Circular"), which became effective on 1 June 2015. The 2015 SAFE Circular aims to deepen the reform of foreign exchange administration of capital accounts, promote and facilitate the capital operation of enterprises in making cross-border investments, regulate the direct investment-related foreign exchange administration business, improve the administration efficiency. The 2015 SAFE Circular set forth the following reformation: (i) cancel the Administrative Examination and Approval Procedures relating to the Foreign Exchange Registration Approval under Domestic Direct Investment and the Foreign Exchange Registration Approval under Overseas Direct Investment; (ii) cancel the requirements to provide the confirmation, and apply for the registration, of foreign investors' non-monetary contribution and provide the confirmation, and apply for the registration, of foreign investors' monetary contribution has been replaced by the requirement to apply for a book-entry registration of domestic direct investment monetary contribution.

On 9 June 2016, the SAFE issued the Notice on Reforming and Regulating the Policies for the Administration of Settlement of Foreign Exchange under Capital Accounts (國家外匯管理局關於改革和規範資本項目結匯管理政策的通知), which provided, among others, that the settlement of foreign exchange funds under capital accounts (including, among others, the foreign capital, debt financing and overseas listing repatriation of funds) that are subject to willingness settlement as already specified by relevant policies may be handled at banks based on the domestic institutions' actual requirements for business operation, and where there are restrictive provisions in any current regulations on the settlement of foreign exchange funds under capital accounts of domestic institutions, these provisions shall prevail.

On 26 January 2017, the SAFE issued the Notice on Further Promoting the Reform of Foreign Exchange Administration and Improving the Examination of Authenticity and Compliance (國家外匯管理局關於進一步推進外匯管理改革完善真實合規性審核的通知, 匯發 [2017] 3 號) to further advance the reform of foreign exchange administration, such as:

• settlement of domestic foreign exchange loans is allowed for export trade in goods. A domestic institution shall repay loans with the foreign exchange funds received from export trade in goods, rather than, in principle, purchased foreign exchange;

- a debtor may directly or indirectly repatriate the funds under guarantee and use them domestically by, among others, granting loans and making equity investment domestically. Where a bank performs its guarantee obligation under overseas loans with domestic guarantee, relevant foreign exchange settlement and sale shall be managed as the bank's own foreign exchange settlement and sale;
- the deposits absorbed by a domestic bank through its principal international foreign exchange account and allowed to be used domestically are no more than 100 per cent. of the average daily deposit balance in the previous six months as opposed to the former 50 per cent.; and the funds used domestically are not included in the bank's outstanding short-term external debt quota;
- allowing foreign exchange settlement in the domestic foreign exchange accounts of overseas institutions
 within pilot free trade zones: Where funds are repatriated and used domestically after settlement, a
 domestic bank shall, under the relevant provisions on cross-border transactions, handle such funds by
 examining the valid commercial documents and vouchers of domestic institutions and domestic
 individuals; and
- where a domestic institution grants overseas loans, the total of the balance of overseas loans granted in domestic currency and the balance of overseas loans granted in foreign currency shall not exceed 30 per cent. of owner's equity in the audited financial statements of the previous year.

Since September 2015, qualified multinational enterprise groups can extend Renminbi-denominated loans to, or borrow Renminbi-denominated loans from, eligible offshore member entities within the same group by leveraging the cash pooling arrangements. The Renminbi funds will be placed in a special deposit account and may not be used to invest in stocks, financial derivatives, or non-self-use real estate assets, or purchase wealth management products or extend loans to enterprises outside the group.

The securities markets, specifically the Renminbi Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor ("RQFII") regime and the China Interbank Bond Market ("CIBM"), have been further liberalised for foreign investors. The PBOC has relaxed the quota control for RQFII, initiated a bond market mutual access scheme between mainland and Hong Kong to allow eligible investors to invest in CIBM and has also expanded the list of foreign investors eligible to directly invest in CIBM, removed quota restriction, and granted more flexibility for the settlement agents to provide the relevant institutions with more trading facilities (for example, in relation to derivatives for hedging foreign exchange risk).

Interbank foreign exchange market is also opening-up. In 2018, CFETS further relaxed qualifications, application materials and the procedures for foreign participating banks (which needs to have a relatively large scale of Renminbi purchase and sale business and international influence) to access the inter-bank foreign exchange market.

On 23 October 2019, the SAFE promulgated Notice by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of Simplifying Foreign Exchange Accounts (國家外匯管理局關於精簡外匯帳戶的通知, 匯發[2019]29 號) which became effective on 1 February 2020, according to which, several measures were taken to intensify, for example, "Capital accounts - special account for domestic reinvestment" is included in "capital accounts - foreign exchange capital account".

On the same day, the SAFE issued Notice by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of Further Facilitating Cross-border Trade and Investment (國家外匯管理局關於進一步促進跨境貿易投資便利化的通知, 匯發[2019]28 號) in order to further promote the reform of "simplification of administrative procedures and decentralisation of powers, combination of decentralisation and appropriate control, and optimisation of services". It cancelled restrictions on the use of funds in domestic asset realisation accounts for foreign exchange settlement and restrictions on the number of opened foreign exchange accounts under capital accounts.

As the MOFCOM RMB FDI Circular, the PBOC RMB FDI Measures and other normative documents mentioned above are relatively new rules, they will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities.

Further, if any new PRC regulations are promulgated in the future which have the effect of permitting or restricting (as the case may be) the remittance of Renminbi for payment of transactions categorised as capital account items, then such remittances will need to be made subject to the specific requirements or restrictions set out in such rules.

CLEARANCE AND SETTLEMENT

The information set out below is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream or the CMU (together, the "Clearing Systems") currently in effect. The information in this section concerning the Clearing Systems has been obtained from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but neither the relevant Issuer nor the Arranger nor any Dealers takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. Investors wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are advised to confirm the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System. Neither the Issuer nor any other party to the Agency Agreement will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Notes held through the facilities of any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to, or payments made on account of, such beneficial ownership interests.

The relevant Pricing Supplement will specify the Clearing System(s) applicable for each Series.

The Clearing Systems

Euroclear and Clearstream

Euroclear and Clearstream each holds securities for participating organisations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants. Euroclear and Clearstream provide to their respective participants, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally-traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream participants are financial institutions throughout the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear or Clearstream participant, either directly or indirectly.

Distributions of principal with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream will be credited, to the extent received by the Paying Agent, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream participants in accordance with the relevant system's rules and procedures.

CMU

The CMU is a central depositary service provided by the Central Moneymarkets Unit of the HKMA for the safe custody and electronic trading between the members of this service ("CMU Members") of Exchange Fund Bills and Notes Clearing and Settlement Service securities and capital markets instruments (together, "CMU Instruments") which are specified in the CMU Reference Manual as capable of being held within the CMU.

The CMU is only available to CMU Instruments issued by a CMU Member or by a person for whom a CMU Member acts as agent for the purposes of lodging instruments issued by such persons. Membership of the CMU is open to all financial institutions regulated by Hong Kong Monetary Authority, Securities and Futures Commission, Insurance Authority or Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. For further details on the full range of the CMU's custodial services, please refer to the CMU Reference Manual.

The CMU has an income distribution service which is a service offered by the CMU to facilitate the distribution of interest, coupon or redemption proceeds (collectively, the "**income proceeds**") by CMU Members who are paying agents to the legal title holders of CMU Instruments via the CMU system. Furthermore, the CMU has a corporate action platform which allows an issuer (or its agent) to make an announcement/notification of a corporate action and noteholders to submit the relevant certification. For further details, please refer to the CMU Reference Manual.

An investor holding an interest through an account with either Euroclear or Clearstream, in any Notes held in the CMU will hold that interest through the respective accounts which Euroclear and Clearstream, each have with the CMU.

Book-Entry Ownership

Bearer Notes

The Issuer has made applications to Euroclear and Clearstream for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of any Series of Bearer Notes. The Issuer may also apply to have Bearer Notes accepted for clearance through the CMU. In respect of Bearer Notes, a temporary Global Note and/or a permanent Global Note will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream or a sub-custodian for the CMU. Transfers of interests in a temporary Global Note or a permanent Global Note will be made in accordance with the normal market debt securities operating procedures of the CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream. Each Global Note will have an International Securities Identification Number ("ISIN") and a Common Code or, if lodged with a sub-custodian for the CMU, will have a CMU Instrument Number. An ISIN and a Common Code may also be provided upon request.

Registered Notes

The Issuer may make applications to Euroclear and Clearstream for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of the Notes to be represented by a Global Certificate. The Issuer may also apply to have Notes to be represented by a Global Certificate accepted for clearance through the CMU. Each Global Certificate will have an ISIN and a Common Code or, if lodged with a sub-custodian for the CMU, will have a CMU Instrument Number. Investors in Notes of such Series may hold their interests in a Global Certificate through Euroclear, Clearstream or the CMU (if applicable). An ISIN and a Common Code may also be provided upon request.

Each Global Certificate will be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in a legend appearing on the front of such Global Certificate, as set out under "Subscription and Sale".

All Registered Notes will initially be in the form of a Global Certificate. Individual Certificates will be available, in the case of Notes initially represented by a Global Certificate, in amounts specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Dealer Agreement

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in the amended and restated dealer agreement dated 7 June 2023, as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time (the "**Dealer Agreement**") between Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (as an Issuer) and Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (as Arranger and Dealer), the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the relevant Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers as at the date of the Dealer Agreement. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the relevant Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the relevant Issuer. The Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The relevant Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of Notes subscribed by it. Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with the Programme.

The relevant Issuer will indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the relevant Issuer.

In connection with the issue of the Notes, the relevant Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilisation manager(s) (the "Stabilisation Manager") or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot the Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail, but in so doing, the Stabilisation Manager or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager shall act as principal and not as agent of the relevant Issuer. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilisation Manager or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager will undertake Stabilisation action. Any loss or profit sustained as a consequence of any such over-allotment or stabilisation shall be for the account of the relevant Dealer(s).

The Arranger, the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates are financial institutions engaged in various activities which may include certain trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advice, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities advisory services for the relevant Issuer, the Bank and/or their respective affiliates from time to time for which they have received customary fees and expenses and may, from time to time, engage in transactions with and perform services for the relevant Issuer, the Bank and/or their respective subsidiaries and affiliates in the ordinary course of the relevant Issuer's, the Bank's or their business. In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Arranger, the Dealers and their respective affiliates may make or hold (on their own account, on behalf of clients or in their capacity of investment advisers) a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities and instruments and enter into other transactions, including credit derivatives (such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps) in relation thereto. Such transactions, investments and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of the relevant Issuer, the Bank and/or their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, including Notes issued under the Programme, may be entered into at the same time or proximate to offers and sales of Notes or at other times in the secondary market and be carried out with counterparties that are also purchasers, holders or sellers of Notes. Notes issued under the Programme may be purchased by or be allocated to any Dealer or its affiliate for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view to distribution.

In connection with the offer and sale of the Notes, the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers and/or their respective affiliates may place orders, receive allocations and purchase Notes for their own account (without a view to distributing such Notes) and such orders and/or allocations of the Notes may be material. Such entities may hold or sell such Notes or purchase further Notes for their own account in the secondary market or deal in any other securities of the relevant Issuer, and therefore, they may offer or sell the Notes or other securities otherwise than in connection with the offering. Accordingly, references herein to the Notes being 'offered' should be read as including any offering of the Notes to the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers and/or their respective affiliates for their own account. Such entities are not expected to disclose such transactions or the extent of any such investment, otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. Furthermore, it is possible that only a limited number of investors may subscribe for a significant proportion of the Notes. If this is the case, liquidity of trading in the Notes may be constrained (see "Risk Factors — Risks Relating to the Market Generally — Notes issued under the Programme have no current active trading market and may trade at a discount to their initial offering price and/or with limited liquidity"). The Issuer, the Arranger and the Dealers are under no obligation to disclose the extent of the distribution of the Notes amongst individual investors.

SFC Code of Conduct – Important Notice to CMIs (including private banks) –

This notice to CMIs (including private banks) is a summary of certain obligations the SFC Code imposes on CMIs, which require the attention and cooperation of other CMIs (including private banks). Certain CMIs may also be acting as OCs for the relevant CMI Offering and are subject to additional requirements under the SFC Code. The application of these obligations will depend on the role(s) undertaken by the relevant Dealer(s) in respect of each CMI Offering.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the relevant Issuer, a CMI or its group companies would be considered under the SFC Code as having an Association with the relevant Issuer, the CMI or the relevant group company. CMIs should specifically disclose whether their investor clients have any Association when submitting orders for the relevant Notes. In addition, private banks should take all reasonable steps to identify whether their investor clients may have any Associations with the relevant Issuer or any CMI (including its group companies) and inform the relevant Dealers accordingly.

CMIs are informed that, unless otherwise notified, the marketing and investor targeting strategy for the relevant CMI Offering includes institutional investors, sovereign wealth funds, pension funds, hedge funds, family offices and high net worth individuals, in each case, subject to the selling restrictions and any MiFID II product governance language or any UK MiFIR product governance language set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement.

CMIs should ensure that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute duplicated orders (i.e. two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more CMIs). CMIs should enquire with their investor clients regarding any orders which appear unusual or irregular. CMIs should disclose the identities of all investors when submitting orders for the relevant Notes (except for omnibus orders where underlying investor information may need to be provided to any OCs when submitting orders). Failure to provide underlying investor information for omnibus orders, where required to do so, may result in that order being rejected. CMIs should not place "X-orders" into the order book.

CMIs should segregate and clearly identify their own proprietary orders (and those of their group companies, including private banks as the case may be) in the order book and book messages.

CMIs (including private banks) should not offer any rebates to prospective investors or pass on any rebates provided by the relevant Issuer. In addition, CMIs (including private banks) should not enter into arrangements which may result in prospective investors paying different prices for the relevant Notes. CMIs are informed that

a private bank rebate may be payable as stated above and in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or otherwise notified to prospective investors.

The SFC Code requires that a CMI disclose complete and accurate information in a timely manner on the status of the order book and other relevant information it receives to targeted investors for them to make an informed decision. In order to do this, those Dealers in control of the order book should consider disclosing order book updates to all CMIs.

When placing an order for the relevant Notes, private banks should disclose, at the same time, if such order is placed other than on a "principal" basis (whereby it is deploying its own balance sheet for onward selling to investors). Private banks who do not provide such disclosure are hereby deemed to be placing their order on such a "principal" basis. Otherwise, such order may be considered to be an omnibus order pursuant to the SFC Code. Private banks should be aware that placing an order on a "principal" basis may require the relevant affiliated Dealer(s) (if any) to categorise it as a proprietary order and apply the "proprietary orders" requirements of the SFC Code to such order and will result in that private bank not being entitled to, and not being paid, any rebate.

In relation to omnibus orders, when submitting such orders, CMIs (including private banks) that are subject to the SFC Code should disclose underlying investor information in respect of each order constituting the relevant omnibus order (failure to provide such information may result in that order being rejected). Underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should consist of:

- The name of each underlying investor;
- A unique identification number for each investor;
- Whether an underlying investor has any "Associations" (as used in the SFC Code);
- Whether any underlying investor order is a "Proprietary Order" (as used in the SFC Code); and
- Whether any underlying investor order is a duplicate order.

Underlying investor information in relation to omnibus order should be sent to: the Managers named in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

To the extent information being disclosed by CMIs and investors is personal and/or confidential in nature, CMIs (including private banks) agree and warrant: (A) to take appropriate steps to safeguard the transmission of such information to any OCs; and (B) that they have obtained the necessary consents from the underlying investors to disclose such information to any OCs. By submitting an order and providing such information to any OCs, each CMI (including private banks) further warrants that they and the underlying investors have understood and consented to the collection, disclosure, use and transfer of such information by any OCs and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, including to the relevant Issuer, relevant regulators and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, for the purpose of complying with the SFC Code, during the bookbuilding process for the relevant CMI Offering. CMIs that receive such underlying investor information are reminded that such information should be used only for submitting orders in the relevant CMI Offering. The relevant Dealers may be asked to demonstrate compliance with their obligations under the SFC Code, and may request other CMIs (including private banks) to provide evidence showing compliance with the obligations above (in particular, that the necessary consents have been obtained). In such event, other CMIs (including private banks) are required to provide the relevant Dealer with such evidence within the timeline requested.

Selling Restrictions

General

The distribution of this Offering Circular or any offering material and the offering, sale or delivery of the Notes is restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Therefore, persons who may come into possession of this Offering Circular or any offering material are advised to consult with their own legal advisers as to what restrictions may be applicable to them and to observe such restrictions. This Offering Circular may not be used for the purpose of an offer or invitation in any circumstances in which such offer or invitation is not authorised. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering of Notes be made by a licensed broker or dealer and any Dealer or any affiliate of that Dealer is a licensed broker in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by that Dealer or its affiliate on behalf of the relevant Issuer in such jurisdiction.

United States

This paragraph shall apply in respect of any Notes the Pricing Supplement for which specifies that "Regulation S Category 1" applies. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and the Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Each Dealer has represented, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, that it has not offered or sold the Notes, and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will not offer or sell, any Notes constituting part of its allotment in the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation S.

This paragraph shall apply in respect of any Notes the Pricing Supplement for which specifies that "Regulation S Category 2" applies. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has offered and sold, and shall offer and sell, any Series (1) as part of their distribution at any time and (2) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of an identifiable tranche of which such Notes are a part, only in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and it and they have complied and shall comply with the offering restrictions requirement of Regulation S. Each Dealer has agreed to notify the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of a Syndicated Issue, the Lead Manager when it has completed the distribution of its portion of the Notes of any identifiable tranche so that the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of a Syndicated Issue, the Lead Manager may determine the completion of the distribution of all Notes of that tranche and notify the other relevant Dealers of the end of the distribution compliance period. Each Dealer has agreed that, at or prior to confirmation of sale of Notes, it will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration that purchases Notes from it during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or notice to substantially the following effect:

"The Securities covered hereby have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of an identifiable tranche of Notes of which such Notes are a part, except in either case in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. Terms used above have the meaning given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act."

Unless the Pricing Supplement or the Subscription Agreement relating to one or more Tranches specifies that the applicable TEFRA exemption is either "C Rules" or "not applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed in relation to each Tranche of Notes in bearer form:

- (i) except to the extent permitted under U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code")) (the "D Rules"):
 - (a) it has not offered or sold, and during a 40 day restricted period shall not offer or sell, Notes in bearer form to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person; and
 - (b) it has not delivered and shall not deliver within the United States or its possessions definitive Notes in bearer form that are sold during the restricted period;
- (ii) it has and throughout the restricted period shall have in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes in bearer form are aware that such Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except as permitted by the D Rules;
- (iii) if it is a United States person, it is acquiring the Notes in bearer form for purposes of resale in connection with their original issuance and if it retains Notes in bearer form for its own account, it shall only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6); and
- (iv) with respect to each affiliate that acquires from it Notes in bearer form for the purpose of offering or selling such Notes during the restricted period, it either (a) repeats and confirms the representations contained in sub-paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) on behalf of such affiliate or (b) agrees that it shall obtain from such affiliate for the benefit of the Issuer the representations contained in sub-paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii).

Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder, including the D Rules.

To the extent that the Pricing Supplement or the Subscription Agreement relating to one or more Tranches of Bearer Notes specifies that the applicable TEFRA exemption is "C Rules", under U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) (the "C Rules"), Notes in bearer form must be issued and delivered outside the United States and its possessions in connection with their original issuance. In relation to each such Tranche, each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or delivered, and shall not offer, sell or deliver, directly or indirectly, Notes in bearer form within the United States or its possessions in connection with their original issuance. Further, in connection with their original issuance of Notes in bearer form, it has not communicated, and shall not communicate, directly or indirectly, with a prospective purchaser if either such purchaser or it is within the United States or its possessions or otherwise involve its U.S. office in the offer or sale of Notes in bearer form. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder, including the C Rules and IRS Notice 2012-20.

Each issuance of index-, commodity- or currency-linked Notes shall be subject to such additional U.S. selling restrictions as the relevant Dealer(s) shall agree with the Issuer as a term of the issuance and purchase or, as the case may be, subscription of such Notes. Each relevant Dealer has agreed that it shall offer, sell and deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors

Unless the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the EEA. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Regulation

If the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", in relation to each Member State of the EEA (each a "Member State"), each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to the public in that Member State except that it may make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Member State:

- (a) if the Pricing Supplement in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Member State (a "Non-exempt Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Member State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Pricing Supplement contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Pricing Supplement, as applicable and the relevant Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer;
- (b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation;
- (c) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the relevant Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the

terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes.

United Kingdom

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors

Unless the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the UK. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA;
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the UK Prospectus Regulation

If the Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to the public in the UK except that it may make an offer of such Notes to the public in the UK:

- (a) if the Pricing Supplement in relation to the Notes specifies that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to section 86 of the FSMA (a "Public Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the Financial Conduct Authority, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Pricing Supplement contemplating such Public Offer, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Pricing Supplement, as applicable, and the relevant Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Public Offer;
- (b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation;
- (c) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation) in the UK, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the relevant Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within section 86 of the FSMA.

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of the FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

Other regulatory restrictions in the UK

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the relevant Issuer;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the relevant Issuer; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the UK.

Hong Kong

In relation to each Tranche of Notes issued by the relevant Issuer, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO of Hong Kong and any rules made under the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and
- (ii) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the

Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the CMP Regulations 2018, unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the relevant Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

PRC

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any of the Notes in the PRC (for such purposes, not including Hong Kong, Macau or Taiwan) or to residents of the PRC unless such offer or sale is made in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Taiwan

Unless the Notes have been registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan, the Notes may not be sold, issued or offered within Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances which constitutes an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan or relevant laws and regulations that requires a registration, filing or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act"). Accordingly, each Dealer

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

⁽i) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

⁽ii) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

⁽i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(c)(ii) of the SFA;

⁽ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

⁽iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;

⁽iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

 ⁽v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Clearing Systems: The Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The Issuer may also apply to have Notes accepted for clearance through the CMU. The relevant CMU instrument number will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant ISIN, the Common Code and (where applicable) the identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each series of Notes will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate information will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any alternative clearing system will be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

- 2. Legal Entity Identifier of the Bank: 549300AX1UM10U30HK09
- 3. **Listing**: Application has been made to the HKSE for listing of the Programme under which Notes may be issued by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only during the 12-month period after the date of this Offering Circular on the HKSE. Notes to be listed on the HKSE are required to be traded on the HKSE in a board lot size of at least HK\$500,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).
- 4. Litigation: None of the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries is involved in any material litigation or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts which are material in the context of the issue of the Notes, nor is the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries aware that any such proceedings are pending or threatened.
- 5. **Authorisations**: Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations as may be required in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the issue of this Offering Circular. The establishment of the Programme have been duly authorised by a resolution of the Board of the Bank dated 27 October 2017 and the issue of Notes thereunder will be duly authorised the Bank's internal resolution from time to time. The Issuer has obtained and has agreed to obtain from time to time all necessary internal consents, approvals and authorisations for the issue of Notes under the Programme.
- 6. **No Material Adverse Change**: Except as disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.
- 7. Available Documents: For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Offering Circular, the following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer and at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent:
 - (a) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;
 - (b) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and a copy of the related auditor's report of PwC;
 - (c) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 and a copy of the related auditor's report of KPMG;
 - (d) copies of the most recent annual and interim reports (including the financial statements) published by the Bank;

- (e) the Agency Agreement (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the Global Certificate, the definitive Bearer Notes, the Certificates, the Coupons, the Receipts and the Talons) and the Deed of Covenant;
- (f) the Dealer Agreement;
- (g) a copy of this Offering Circular together with any Supplement to this Offering Circular or further Offering Circular; and
- (h) each Pricing Supplement (save that Pricing Supplement relating to an unlisted Note will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the relevant Issuer and the Fiscal Agent as to its holding of Notes and identity).
- 8. Auditor: PwC, the Bank's previous independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021 has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2021. KPMG, the Bank's independent auditor for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 has audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.
- 9. Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Receipt, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".
- 10. The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined, before filing of the relevant Pricing Supplement of each Tranche, based on the prevailing market conditions. The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any issue of Notes.

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021	
Independent Auditor's Report (1)	F-2
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	F-10
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-12
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-13
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-15
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-17
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-152
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022	
Independent Auditor's Report (2)	F-166
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	F-175
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-177
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-178
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-180
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-182
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-304
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023	
Independent Auditor's Report (3)	F-318
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	F-327
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-329
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-330
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-332
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-334
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-468
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Information for the three March 2024	months ended 31
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Oth Income	•
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-480
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-482

Notes:

- (1) The independent auditor's report on the Group's consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2021 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2021. Page references referred to in the abovenamed reports refer to pages set out in such annual report.
- (2) The independent auditor's report on the Group's consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2022 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2022. Page references referred to in the abovenamed reports refer to pages set out in such annual report.
- (3) The independent auditor's report on the Group's consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2023 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2023. Page references referred to in the abovenamed reports refer to pages set out in such annual report.

APPENDIX - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Contents

Financi	ial Statements:		26	Property and equipment	
Indeper	ndent auditor's report	162	27	Deferred income tax	
Consoli	dated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other		28	Other assets	
Comp	rehensive Income	170	29	Due to and placements from banks and other financia	al
Consoli	dated Statement of Financial Position	172		institutions	
Consoli	dated Statement of Changes in Equity	173	30	Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	
Consoli	dated Statement of Cash Flows	175	31	Due to customers	
			32	Certificates of deposit issued	
Notes t	to the Consolidated Financial Statements:	177	33	Debt securities issued	
1	General		34	Other liabilities	
2	Summary of significant accounting policies		35	Share capital and capital surplus	
3	Financial risk management		36	Other equity instruments	
4	Net interest income		37	Other reserves and retained earnings	
5	Fee and commission income		38	Dividends	
6	Fee and commission expense		39	Non-controlling interests	
7	Net gains arising from trading activities		40	Credit related commitments and financial guarantees,	
8	Insurance business income			other commitments and contingent liabilities	
9	Other operating income		41	Collaterals	
10	Credit impairment losses		42	Other comprehensive income	
11	Other assets impairment losses		43	Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows	
12	Insurance business expense		44	Consolidated structured entities	
13	Other operating expenses		45	Unconsolidated structured entities	
14	Staff costs and benefits		46	Transfers of financial assets	
15	Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior		47	Related party transactions	
	management		48	Segmental analysis	
16	Income tax		49	Financial statements of the bank	
17	Basic and diluted earnings per share		50	Comparative figures	
18	Cash and balances with central banks		51	Non-adjusting events after reporting period	
19	Due from and placements with banks and other fina	ncial			
	institutions		Unaudi	ted supplementary financial information:	312
20	Financial investments at fair value through profit or I	oss	1	Currency concentrations	
21	Derivative financial instruments		2	International claims	
22	Loans and advances to customers		3	Overdue and restructured assets	
23	Financial investments		4	Segmental information of loans	
24	Principal subsidiaries		5	Loans and advances to customers	

25 Investments in associates and joint ventures

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 170 to 311, which comprise:

- the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
- the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
- the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explainatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

- Expected credit impairment allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees
- 2. Consolidation assessment of structured entities
- Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Expected credit impairment allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Refer to Notes 2.3, 2.29(a), 3.1.1(a), 3.1.1(b), 3.1.1(c), 3.1.1(d), 3.1.2, 3.1.3.1, 22.3, 23, 34 and 40 to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's gross loans and advances to customers amounted to RMB6,574,385 million, and an expected credit loss ("ECL") allowance of RMB162,184 million was recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position; the gross amount of financial investments at amortised cost was RMB2,205,995 million and an ECL allowance of RMB2,958 million was recognised; the exposure of credit related commitments and financial guarantees was RMB1,906,425 million, for which a provision of RMB9,242 million was recognised.

The ECL on loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost and credit related commitments and financial guarantees recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB65,371 million.

We understood, evaluated and tested the internal controls relating to ECL for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost and credit related commitments and financial quarantees, primarily comprising:

- (1) Governance over ECL models, including the selection, approval and application of the accounting policies and ECL modelling methodology; and the internal controls relating to the ongoing monitoring and optimization of the models;
- Internal controls relating to significant management judgments and assumptions, including the assessment and approval of portfolio segmentation, model selections, parameters estimation, the judgement of significant increase in credit risk, or of defaults or credit-impaired, forward-looking and management overlay adjustments;
- (3)Internal controls over the accuracy and completeness of key inputs used by the models;
- Internal controls relating to estimation of future cash flows and calculations of present values of such cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost using DCF to calculate loss allowances:
- Internal controls over the information systems for ECL measurement.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Expected credit impairment allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

The Group assesses whether or not loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost and credit related commitments and financial guarantees have a significant increase in credit risk, or a default was incurred, and applies a three-stage impairment model and discounted cash flow model ("DCF") to calculate their ECL. For loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost and credit related commitments and financial guarantees using the three-stage impairment model, the management assesses loss allowance using the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates key parameters, including probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default. For loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost using DCF to calculate ECL, the management assesses loss allowance by estimating the cash flows from the business.

The models of ECL involves significant management judgments and assumptions, primarily including:

Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters:

The substantive procedures we performed primarily comprised:

Based on the risk profile of the asset portfolio, we evaluated the reasonableness of the portfolio segmentation. By comparing with regulatory guidance and industry practice, we assessed the reasonableness of modelling methodologies for ECL measurement of different portfolios. We examined the calculation for the model measurement on selected samples, to test whether or not the models reflect the modelling methodologies documented by management. We also performed back-testing of the actual defaults against expected defaults generated from the model as at the end of previous year on sample basis to assess the reasonableness of the model.

We examined key data inputs to the ECL models on selected samples, including historical data and data at the measurement date, to assess their accuracy and completeness.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Expected credit impairment allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- (3) Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings:
- (4) Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

The Group established governance processes and controls for the measurement of ECL.

For measuring ECL, the Group adopted complex models, employed numerous parameters and data inputs, and applied significant management judgments and assumptions. In addition, the loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, exposures of credit related commitments and financial guarantees and the related ECL allowance and provision involve significant amounts. In view of these reasons, we identified this as a key audit matter.

We selected samples, in consideration of the financial information and non-financial information of the borrowers, relevant external evidence and other factors, to assess the appropriateness of the management's criteria of significant increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-impaired loans.

For forward-looking measurements, we applied statistical methods to assess management's selection of economic indicators and their analysis of co-relations with credit risk portfolios. We further tested the reasonableness of the prediction of economic indicators by comparing with available external expert estimates. In addition, we performed sensitivity test of economic indicators and weightings of economic scenarios.

For loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost that DCF model used to calculate ECL, we examined, on a sample basis, forecasted future cash flows prepared by the Group based on financial information of borrowers and guarantors, latest collateral valuations and other available information together with discount rates in supporting the computation of ECL.

Based on our procedures performed, we considered that the models, key parameters, significant judgements and assumptions adopted in the ECL measurement together with the measurement results were considered acceptable.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Consolidation assessment of structured entities

Refer to Notes 2.2, 2.29(d), 44 and 45 to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group has managed or invested in a number of structured entities. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of unconsolidated structured entities invested by the Group amounted to RMB245,245 million. In addition, as at 31 December 2021, the balances of the non-principal guaranteed wealth management products, funds, trust and asset management plans and others originated and managed by the Group amounted to RMB1,426,253 million, RMB547,188 million, and RMB721,946 million respectively.

The management performed assessment on each of the three elements of control (power to direct relevant activities of structured entities, exposure to variable returns and the Group's ability to use its power to affect its variable returns from the structured entities) in determining whether structured entities managed or invested in by the Group should be consolidated or not. In performing the assessment, significant judgment was involved to determine the role of the Group in the arrangement as either a principal or an agent. If the Group acts as a principal, the structured entities should be consolidated.

We focused on this area because the amount of the Group's structured entities was significant and the consolidation assessment of these structured entities involved significant judgments.

We understood, evaluated and validated the design and operating effectiveness of relevant controls over management's assessment of consolidation of structured entities.

In addition, we selected samples of the structured entities that the Group invested in or managed, and performed the following procedures on the management's assessment of consolidation of structured entities:

- Analysed the transaction structures, inspected related (1) contract terms, and evaluated whether the Group had the power to direct the relevant activities of these structured entities;
- Inspected contract terms related to the Group's variable (2)returns from these selected structured entities, including management fee, expected investment returns and returns from liquidity support, and agreed these information to the corresponding inputs used in the management's assessment;
- Recalculated the magnitude and variability of the variable returns to the Group from these structured entities based on contract terms;
- Assessed the Group's role in these structured entities as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which the Group was entitled for its management services provided to the structured entities, its exposure to variability of returns from other interests that it held in them, and the rights held by other parties, and compared our assessment results with the management's assessment outcomes.

Based on the work undertaken above, we found the overall consolidation assessment of structured entities performed by the management acceptable.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Refer to Notes 2.3, 2.29(b) and 3.4 to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, certain trusts and asset management plans, equity derivatives and certain loans and advances to customers held by the Group, whose fair value are determined based on certain unobservable inputs, were classified by the Group as level 3 in fair value measurement. The management determines the fair value of these financial assets using a variety of techniques. The valuation methods mainly include discounted cash flow and comparable values, involving various unobservable inputs such as cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts, etc.

As at 31 December 2021, financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 amounted to RMB78,951 million.

Financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 involve significant amounts, and unobservable inputs adopted by the Group involve significant judgement. In view of these, valuation of these financial assets is identified as a key audit matter.

We understood, evaluated and validated the internal controls established by management over valuation on financial assets measured at fair valued classified as level 3, mainly comprising:

- Internal controls relating to selection, approval and application of valuation methods;
- Internal controls relating to the determination of the (2)valuation inputs.

The substantive procedures we performed, primarily included:

- Assessed on sample basis the appropriateness of (1) valuation methods adopted in the valuation of level 3 financial assets based on industry practice;
- Leveraging our internal valuation specialists, evaluated the appropriateness and accuracy of various unobservable inputs involved in measuring financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3, such as cash flow, riskadjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts on sample basis;
- Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of fair (3)value of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 on sample basis.

Based on the work undertaken above, we found that the overall valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 performed by the management was acceptable.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS**

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Ling Tung Man, Tom.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

ended		

	Note	2021	2020
Interest income		377,646	369,101
Interest expense		(215,953)	(215,765)
Net interest income	4	161,693	153,336
Fee and commission income	5	52,285	49,298
Fee and commission expense	6	(4,712)	(4,212)
Net fee and commission income		47,573	45,086
Net gains arising from trading activities	7	23,344	13,844
Net gains arising from financial investments		1,311	1,177
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at			
amortised cost		46	27
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures		277	222
Insurance business income	8	16,515	15,170
Other operating income	9	19,035	17,889
Net operating income		269,748	246,724
Credit impairment losses	10	(66,371)	(62,059)
Other assets impairment losses	11	(2,320)	(484)
Insurance business expense	12	(17,054)	(15,729)
Other operating expenses	13	(90,044)	(82,027)
Profit before tax		93,959	86,425
Income tax	16	(5,020)	(6,855)
Net profit for the year		88,939	79,570

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

\ \	loor	anda	4 21	Door	mber
_ Y	ear	enae	นงเ	Dece	mber

		Year ended 31 Dec	cember
	Notes	2021	2020
Other comprehensive income, net of tax Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity		459	19
Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(428)	(183)
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity		2,796	(920)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(442)	(825)
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity		891	(1,362)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(463)	815
Translation difference on foreign operations		(3,450)	(4,776)
Others		14	(8)
Subtotal		(623)	(7,240)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through			
other comprehensive income		(1,555)	(1,204)
Actuarial losses on pension benefits		55	(132)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial		(26)	7
liability designated at fair value through profit or loss Others		(36)	20
Subtotal		(1,534)	(1,309)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	42	(2,157)	(8,549)
Total comprehensive income for the year		86,782	71,021
Net profit attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Bank		87,581	78,274
Non-controlling interests		1,358	1,296
		88,939	79,570
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Bank		85,696	69,960
Non-controlling interests		1,086	1,061
		86,782	71,021
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the			
shareholders of the Bank (in RMB yuan)	17	1.10	0.99

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		As at	As at
	Notes	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
ASSETS			
Cash and balances with central banks	18	734,728	817,561
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	19	632,708	571,130
Derivative financial assets	21	39,220	54,212
Loans and advances to customers	22	6,412,201	5,720,568
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	20	638,483	482,588
Financial investments at amortised cost	23	2,203,037	2,019,529
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	23	681,729	735,220
Investments in associates and joint ventures	25	5,779	4,681
Property and equipment	26	171,194	169,471
Deferred income tax assets	27	32,061	27,991
Other assets	28	114,617	94,665
Total assets		11,665,757	10,697,616
LIABILITIES			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	29	1,947,768	1,787,491
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	30	50,048	29,279
Derivative financial liabilities	21	36,074	55,942
Due to customers	31	7,039,777	6,607,330
Certificates of deposits issued	32	892,020	634,297
Current income tax liabilities		4,725	3,786
Deferred income tax liabilities	27	1,889	1,286
Debt securities issued	33	503,525	497,755
Other liabilities	34	212,695	201,822
Total liabilities		10,688,521	9,818,988
EQUITY			
Share capital	35	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	36	174,790	133,292
Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds		129,838	88,340
Capital surplus	35	111,428	111,428
Other reserves		346,092	333,176
Retained earnings		258,074	214,448
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank		964,647	866,607
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		9,424	8,763
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments	39	3,165	3,258
Non-controlling interests		12,589	12,021
Total equity		977,236	878,628
Total equity and liabilities		11,665,757	10,697,616

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi

Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Non-controlling interests	Attributable to	Attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	866,607 8,763 3,258 878,628	87,581 1,236 122 88,939	(1,885) (179) (93) (2,157)	85,696 1,057 29 86,782	41,498 41,498	(366)	(357,1)			- (122)				200 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000
		Attributable to the Retained shareholders of earnings the Bank Note 37,38	1,375 214,448	- 87,581		16 87,581		- (23,541)	- (1,755)	(3,858)			- (14,745)	(99)		720 020
		Actuarial changes reserve C	(142)		55	99										!
	Effective portion of gains or losses	on hedging Translation instruments reserve in cash flow on foreign hedges operations	(532) (3,517)		428 (3,367)	428 (3,367)		1		1						
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities gains	designated on at fair value ins through profit in o	12		(36)	(36)		ı					1			
	Revaluation reserve for financial assets	at fair value Statutory through other general comprehensive reserve income Note 37 Note 37	123,163 456		- 1,019	- 1,019							- 711,7	g		
		Discretionary reserve Note 37	139,930										92			
		Capital Statutory surplus reserve Note 35 Note 37	111,428 72,431										- 7,536			
Other equity instruments		Perpetual bonds Note 36	88,340			•	41,498									
Other equity		Share Preference capital Shares Note 35 Note 36	74,263 44,952													
			As at 1 January 2021	Net profit for the year	Other comprehensive income	Total comprehensive income	Capital contribution by other equity instruments holders	Dividends paid to ordinary shares	Dividends paid to preference shares	Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	Interest paid to non-cumulative subordinated	additional tier-1 capital securities holders	Transfer to reserves	comprehensive	As at 31 December	

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

		Total	800,912	79,570 (8,549)	71 091	701	34,679	(23,525)	(2,714)	(1,680)		<u>8</u>	<u>)</u> 1		,	1	878,628
nterests	Attributable to non-controlling interests of	other equity instruments Note 36	' :	(500) 82	(135)	(m)	3,458	ı	ı	ı		(65)	(2)		1	1	3,258
Non-controlling interests	Attributable to no	interests of interests of ordinary shares	7,665	1,231	- 61	8	ı	(132)	1	1		ı	ı		1	\$	8,763
l	Attivities of a state of the st		793,247	78,274 (8,314)	. 69 980	Porlon	31,221	(23,393)	(2,714)	(1,680)		,	1		•	(8)	866,607
		Retained the earnings Note 37,38	177,141	78,274	78 274	12101	ı	(23,393)	(2,714)	(1,680)		,	(13,207)		27	1	214,448
		Others	1,363	1 2	10	2	1	ı	ı	1		1	ı		1	1	1,375
		Actuarial inges reserve	(10)	- (132)	(139)	(101)	ı	ı	ı	1		ı	1		1	1	(142)
	Translation	on foreign Actuarial operations changes reserve	1,199	- (4,716)	(4716)	Ē.	ı	1	1	ı		,	1		1	1	(3,517)
	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments	in cash flow hedges	15	- (547)	6471	Ē	ı	1	1	ı		ı	ı		1	1	(532)
Other reserves		value through profit or loss	2		~		ı	ı	ı	1		ı	1		1	1	12
Б	Revaluation reserve for the reserve for the reserve for changes in financial assets credit risk of the at fair value financial labilities at fair value, reservanted at through other personated at the contract of the change of the contract of the change of the contract of the change	5世	3,421	- (5,938)	() 038)	(00017)	ı	1	1	ı		,	1		(27)	1	426
	Statutory ff		117,567	1 1	1		ı	1	1	ı		,	5,596		1	1	123,163
		Discretionary reserve Note 37	139,853	1 1	ı		ı	1	1	ı		1	22		1	1	139,930
		Capital Statutory reserve Note 35 Note 37	64,897	1 1	,		ı	1	ı	ı		ı	7,534		ı	1	72,431
		Capital surplus Stat Note 35	113,663	1 1	1		(2,201)	1	1	ı		,	1		1	(38)	111,428
uments		ference Shares Perpetual bonds Vote 36 Note 36	39,994	1 1	1		48,346	1	1	ı		,	,		1	1	88,340
Other equity instruments		Preference Shares Per Note 36	59,876		1		(14,924)	ı	ı	1		,	ı		1	1	44,952
		Share capital Note 35	74,263	1 1	ı		1	1	ı	1		ı	1		1	1	74,263
			As at 1 January 2020	Net profit for the year Other comprehensive income	Total comprehensive	Capital contribution	by other equity instruments holders Dividends paid to	ordinary shares Dividends paid to	preference shares	Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	meres para to non-cumulative subordinated	additional tier-1 capital	Transfer to reserves	Transferred from other comprehensive	income	Others	As at 31 December 2020

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

					_		
V	ar /	and	00	21	רו	ecem	hor

	Todi chaca of	OT December			
Note	es 2021	2020			
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Profit before tax:	93,959	86,425			
Adjustments for:					
Provision for impairment losses	66,371	62,059			
Provision for other assets impairment losses	2,320	484			
Provision for insurance contracts reserve	15,518	15,495			
Depreciation and amortisation	14,839	14,776			
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation	(199)	32			
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	(454)	(166)			
Interest income from financial investments	(88,262)	(90,683)			
Accreted interests on impaired financial assets	(1,251)	(1,369)			
Fair value gains	(1,474)	(5,951)			
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures	(277)	(222)			
Net gains arising from financial investments	(1,311)	(1,177)			
Interest expense on debt securities issued	16,341	14,566			
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities	116,120	94,269			
Net decrease in balances with central banks	14,515	29,357			
Net (increase)/decrease in due from and placements with banks and other					
financial institutions	(106,359)	127,404			
Net increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	(128,020)	(83,695)			
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(776,234)	(597,926)			
Net (increase)/decrease in other assets	(22,218)	7,907			
Net increase/(decrease) in due to and placements from banks and other					
financial institutions	161,477	(113,503)			
Net increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	2,317	8,899			
Net increase in due to customers and certificates of deposits issued	674,635	669,890			
Net increase in other liabilities	26,622	19,878			
Net increase/(decrease) in value-added tax and surcharge payable	1,431	(328)			
Income tax paid	939	(12,754)			
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities	(34,775)	149,398			

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Vear	ended	31 F)ecem	her

	Notes	2021	2020
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payments for financial investments		(896,387)	(838,096)
Cash received on disposal or redemption of financial investments		750,323	671,877
Dividends received		2,936	1,562
Interest received from financial investments		86,558	89,464
Cash payments for acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(2,467)	(2,735)
Cash received on disposal of intangible assets and other assets		507	372
Cash payments for purchase and construction of property and equipment		(20,480)	(21,414)
Cash received on disposal of property and equipment		3,462	4,379
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(75,548)	(94,591)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Cash received from issuing other equity instruments		41,498	51,804
Cash received on debt securities issued		96,121	177,486
Repayment of principals and interests of lease liabilities		(2,413)	(2,415)
Cash payments for distribution of dividends		(88,834)	(27,785)
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(15,350)	(80,476)
Cash payments for interest on debt securities		-	(13,050)
Cash payments for redemption of other equity instruments		(29,152)	(17,125)
Dividends and others paid to non-controlling interests		(564)	(162)
Net cash flows generated from financing activities		1,306	88,277
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		(3,795)	(3,699)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents		(112,812)	139,385
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		307,120	167,735
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	43	194,308	307,120
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		291,450	285,937
Interest paid		(185,593)	(205,169)

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank headquartered in Shanghai, which was reorganised on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The Bank possesses the Finance Permit No. B0005H131000001 issued by the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the "CBIRC") of the PRC and a Business License for Enterprise Legal Person with the registration number of 9131000010000595XD. The Bank has a registered capital of RMB74.263 billion, whose legal representative is Ren Degi.

The Bank's A Shares are listed on the SSE and H Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with the stock codes of 601328 and 03328 respectively. The stock code of domestic preference shares listed on the SSE is 360021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank operates 248 branches in Mainland China and 23 branches, subsidiary banks and representative offices overseas. The Bank manages domestic branches and sub-branches by province upon the 3-level general structure of Head Office-provincial (directly managed) branches-provincially managed branches (sub-branches).

The main business scope of the Bank includes: absorbing public deposits; issuing short-term, medium-term and long-term loans; handling domestic and foreign settlements; handling bill acceptance and discounting; issuing financial bonds; agency issuance, agency redemption, and underwriting government bonds; buying and selling government bonds and financial bonds; engaging in interbank lending; buying and selling foreign exchange; engaging in bank card business; providing letter of credit services and guarantees; agent collection and payment services; providing safe deposit box services; other businesses approved by various regulatory agencies or institutions (as stated on the approval documents); operating foreign exchange settlement, foreign exchange sales and business approved by the relevant regulatory agencies where overseas institutions are located.

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the periods presented unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all the applicable International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and investment property which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.29.

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following new and amendments to the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs"):

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Amendments to IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 COVID-19-related Rent Concessions

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16("Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2"). The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with early application permitted.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Continued)

The amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial instruments (that is, financial instruments classified as amortised cost and debt instruments at FVOCI), lease receivables and lease liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.

The amendment provides a provisional exemption. When a company expects reasonably that the alternative benchmark interest rate will meet the separately identifiable requirements within 24 months from the date when it is designated as a non-contractually clear risk component, it shall be deemed to meet the separately identifiable requirements. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose additional information to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity's financial instruments and risk management strategy.

Amendments to IFRS 16

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published 'Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16)' that extends, by one year, the May 2020 amendment that provides lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification, and the changes in Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16) amend IFRS 16 to:

- permit a lessee to apply the practical expedient regarding COVID-19-related rent concessions to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 (rather than only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021);
- require a lessee applying the amendment to do so for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021;
- require a lessee applying the amendment to do so retrospectively, recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the lessee first applies the amendment; and
- specify that, in the reporting period in which a lessee first applies the amendment, a lessee is not required to disclose the information required by paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8.

The adoption of these standards and amendments does not have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

2.1.2 Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective

		Effective for annual period commencing on or after
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	The amendments were originally intended to be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The effective date has now been deferred/removed.
Amendments to IAS 16	Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use	1 January 2022
Amendments to IFRS 3	Reference to the Conceptual Framework	1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 37	Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract	1 January 2022
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41	Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018– 2020	1 January 2022
IFRS 17 and its amendments	Insurance Contracts	1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 8	Accounting Estimates	1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 12	Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction F-18	1 January 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

The amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.

Amendments to IAS 16

The amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PP&E any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. It also clarifies that an entity is 'testing whether the asset is functioning properly' when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset. The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment.

Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are not an output of the entity's ordinary activities.

Amendments to IFRS 3

The amendments to IFRS 3, 'Business combinations', referred to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, are in order to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability in a business combination. In addition, the amendments add a new exception in IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent liabilities. The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to IAS 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets', or IFRIC 21, 'Levies', rather than the 2018 Conceptual Framework. The amendments also clarify that the acquirer should not recognise contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the acquisition date.

Amendments to IAS 37

The amendment clarifies the meaning of 'costs to fulfill a contract' and explains that the direct cost of fulfilling a contract comprises:

- The incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (for example, direct labour and materials); and
- An allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of PP&E used to fulfil the contract).

The amendment also clarifies that, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, an entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than on assets dedicated to that contract.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 - 2020 Cycle include a number of amendments to various IFRSs:

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments clarifies which fees should be included in the 10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.
- IFRS 16 Leases amendment of its illustrative example to remove the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements, to remove any confusion about the treatment of lease incentives.
- IFRS 1 First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards allows entities that have measured their assets and liabilities at carrying amounts recorded in their parent's books to also measure any cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent. This amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken the same IFRS 1 exemption.
- IAS 41 Agriculture removal of the requirement for entities to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value under IAS 41. This amendment is intended to align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash flows on a post-tax basis.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 17 and its amendments

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4. It requires a current measurement model where estimates are re-measured in each reporting period. Contracts are measured using the building blocks of discounted probability weighted cash flows, an explicit risk adjustment, and a contractual service margin ("CSM") representing the unearned profit of the contract which is recognised as revenue over the coverage period.

The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount rates either in the statement of profit or loss or directly in other comprehensive income. The choice is likely to reflect how insurers account for their financial assets under IFRS 9.

An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permitted for the liability for the remaining coverage for short duration contracts, which are often written by non-life insurers.

There is a modification of the general measurement model called the "variable fee approach" for certain contracts written by life insurers where policyholders share in the returns from underlying items. When applying the variable fee approach, the entity's share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is included in the CSM. The results of insurers using this model are therefore likely to be less volatile than under the general model.

The IASB issued the amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts, on 25 June 2020, together with an amendment to IFRS 4, so that eligible insurers can still apply IFRS 9 alongside IFRS 17. This concluded the IASB's targeted amendments to IFRS 17 which aimed to ease implementation of the standard by reducing implementation costs and making it easier for entities to explain, to investors and others, the results from applying IFRS 17. The amendments to IFRS 17 include:

Effective date

The effective date of IFRS 17 (incorporating the amendments) has been deferred by two years to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023; and the fixed expiry date of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 in IFRS 4 has also been deferred to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Expected recovery of insurance acquisition cash flows

An entity is required to allocate part of the acquisition costs to related expected contract renewals, and to recognise those costs as an asset until the entity recognises the contract renewals. Entities are required to assess the recoverability of the asset at each reporting date, and to provide specific information about the asset in the notes to the financial statements.

Contractual service margin attributable to investment services

Coverage units should be identified, considering the quantity of benefits and expected period of both insurance coverage and investment services, for contracts under the variable fee approach and for other contracts with an 'investment-return service' under the general model. Costs related to investment activities should be included as cash flows within the boundary of an insurance contract, to the extent that the entity performs such activities to enhance benefits from insurance coverage for the policyholder.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 17 and its amendments (Continued)

Reinsurance contracts held - recovery of losses

When an entity recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts, or on addition of onerous underlying contracts to a group, an entity should adjust the contractual service margin of a related group of reinsurance contracts held and recognise a gain on the reinsurance contracts held. The amount of the loss recovered from a reinsurance contract held is determined by multiplying the loss recognised on underlying insurance contracts and the percentage of claims on underlying insurance contracts that the entity expects to recover from the reinsurance contract held. This requirement would apply only when the reinsurance contract held is recognised before or at the same time as the loss is recognised on the underlying insurance contracts.

- Other amendments to IFRS 17 include:
- Scope exclusions for some credit card (or similar) contracts, and some loan contracts;
- Presentation of insurance contract assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position in portfolios instead of groups;
- Applicability of the risk mitigation option when mitigating financial risks using reinsurance contracts held and nonderivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss;
- An accounting policy choice to change the estimates made in previous interim financial statements when applying IFRS 17;
- Inclusion of income tax payments and receipts that are specifically chargeable to the policyholder under the terms of an insurance contract in the fulfilment cash flows;
- Selected transition reliefs and other minor amendments.

The Group is assessing the impact on the Group's operating results and financial position of adopting IFRS 17.

Amendments to IAS 8

The changes to IAS 8 focus entirely on accounting estimates and clarify the following:

- The definition of a change in accounting estimates is replaced with a definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty".
- Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty.
- The Board clarifies that a change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is not the correction of an error. In addition, the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior period errors.
- A change in an accounting estimate may affect only the current period's profit or loss, or the profit or loss of both the current period and future periods. The effect of the change relating to the current period is recognised as income or expense in the current period. The effect, if any, on future periods is recognised as income or expense in those future periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) amends IAS 1 in the following ways:

- An entity is now required to disclose its material accounting policy information instead of its significant accounting policies;
- Several paragraphs are added to explain how an entity can identify material accounting policy information and to give examples of when accounting policy information is likely to be material;
- The amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial;
- The amendments clarify that accounting policy information is material if users of an entity's financial statements would need it to understand other material information in the financial statements; and
- The amendments clarify that if an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy information, such information shall not obscure material accounting policy information.

Amendments to IAS 12

The main change in Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) is an exemption from the initial recognition exemption provided in IAS 12.15(b) and IAS 12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. This is also explained in the newly inserted paragraph IAS 12.22A.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Early adoption is permitted.

An entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. It also, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, recognises deferred tax for all temporary differences related to leases and decommissioning obligations and recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at that date.

Except for the above-mentioned impact of IFRS 17 and its amendments, the adoption of the above new standards and amendments issued but not yet effective is not expected to have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

2.2 Consolidation

2.2.1 Subsidiary undertakings

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

2.2.1 Subsidiary undertakings (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are not consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combinations is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisitiondate fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.2.2 Transactions with non-controlling interests

For acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

loses control of a subsidiary due to the disposal of a portion of an equity investment, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive are reclassified to profit or loss and retained earning.

2.2.3 Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entities, for example when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, and key activities are directed by contractual agreement. Structured entities often have restricted activities and a narrow and well-defined objective. Examples of structured entities include investment funds, trusts, securitisation vehicles and asset backed financings. Involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in Note 44 and 45.

2.2.4 Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement through a separate entity, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal form, contract terms, and other facts and circumstances. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an activity, and exists only when the decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

2.2.4 Investment in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results of an associate or a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is an indication of possible impairment with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested as a single asset for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of sale) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate or joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

2.2.5 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit ("CGU") or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group performs an impairment test on goodwill at least once a year.

On disposal of the related CGU or group of CGUs, any attributable amount of goodwill net of allowances for impairment losses, if any, is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

2.3 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss for the period. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss for the period when an asset is newly originated.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the entity recognises the difference as follows:

- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.
- In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

The method of determining fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement date. For financial instruments with active markets, the Group uses quotations from active markets to determine their fair value, and for financial instruments where there is no active market, the Group uses valuation techniques to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques include references to prices used in recent market transactions by parties familiar with the situation and voluntary transactions, the current fair value of other financial instruments with reference to the same substantially, the discounted cash flow method and the option pricing model.

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POCI') financial assets – assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

2.3.1 Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
- Amortised cost.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.1 Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- (i) The Group's business model for managing the asset; and
- (ii) The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. According to the business category, these financial assets are presented as 'Cash and balances with central banks', 'Due from banks and other financial institutions', 'Loans and advances to customers' and 'Financial investments at amortised cost' respectively. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. According to the business category, respectively, these financial assets are presented as 'Loans to customers' and 'Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income'. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net gains arising from financial investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on the debt investment, which is measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and presented as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.1 Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

When, and only when, the Group changes the business model for managing its financial assets, shall it reclassify all affected financial assets, and apply the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the Group reclassifying financial assets.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, listed as 'Financial investments at FVPL'. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to sell. When this election is used, fair value gains or losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 'Net gains arising from financial investments' when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on equity investments at FVPL are recognised as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group assesses the expected credit losses ('ECL') of debt instrument assets at amortised cost and FVOCI, exposures arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantees. The Group recognises a loss allowance accordingly at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- The time value of money; and
- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Regarding these judgment and estimates, please refer to note 3.1.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.1 Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Write-off

The book value of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.1 Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets; (i)
- (ii) Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the Group applies continuing involvement approach. Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors. The Group holds part or all of the subordinated tranche notes, which are not transferrable before both the principals and interests of the senior tranche notes are repaid. The Group serves as the asset management supplier, providing services including loan collection for the investment pool, keeping accounting records related to the investment pool and issuing reports as the service agency. The assets under securitisation are used to repay the principals and interests of the senior tranche notes first after deducting related taxation and expenses, and the remaining assets under securitisation are repaid to the Group and subordinated tranche notes investors. The Group derecognises the transferred assets in full or in part based on the extent of the risks and rewards retained over.

The Group evaluates the extent to which it transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to the other party and determines whether it retains control while applying the accounting policy in respect of asset securitisation.

The financial asset is derecognised when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.1 Financial assets (Continued)

Asset securitisation (Continued)

- The financial asset continues to be recognised when the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and does not retain control it derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and retains control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. The Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

2.3.2 Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial asset did not qualify for derecognition, a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; when continuing involvement approach applies, see note 2.3.1; and
- Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (refer to Note 2.26)

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.2 Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is more than 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (i) and (ii) below are met:

- The financial instrument includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; and
- If the financial instrument will or may be settled in the Group's own equity instruments, it is a non-derivative instrument that includes no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments; or a derivative that will be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the fair value of proceeds received, net of direct issuance expenses.

2.3.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid (combined) instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

- The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract; (i)
- (ii) A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative; and
- The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated or qualified as hedging instruments, including those intended to provide effective economic hedges of specific interest rate and foreign exchange risks, but do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognised in "Net trading gains" in the income statement.

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment of hedging effectiveness both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, that is, the extent to which changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedge instrument can offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items resulting from the hedge risk.

The hedging relationship should meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. That means the hedging (i) instrument and hedged item have values that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk.
- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and (ii)
- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

- Increase or decrease in the amounts of hedged items or hedging instruments;
- Significant changes in counterparties' credit risk.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised (the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument does not constitute an expiration or termination), or the hedging relationship ceases to meet the risk management objective, or to meet other qualifying criteria for hedging accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedge

Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses over the period to maturity and recorded as net interest income.

Cash flow hedge

Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the statement of profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

- Impact of the Interbank Offered Rate Reform (hereinafter referred to as the "IBOR reform") on hedge accounting In view of the potential impact of IBOR reform on financial reporting, targeted exemptions are provided for financial instruments eligible for hedge accounting until the IBOR reform is completed. The major changes are as follows:
- The specific requirements for hedge accounting have been modified so that the Group, when applying such hedge accounting requirements, can assume that the benchmark rate used in the measurement of the hedged cash flows and the cash flows from the hedging instruments will not be affected by the changes due to the IBOR reform;
- When performing forward-looking tests, the Group assumes that the benchmark applicable to the cash flows of the hedged item, hedging instrument or the hedged risk will not change along with the IBOR reform;
- Provided that the Group reasonably expects ibor to be separately identifiable within 24 months since the first designation. even if it is not separately identifiable at the date when it is designated, the Group shall designate it as a non-contractually clear risk component of hedged items or of the hedged risk.
- The nominal amount of the hedging instruments to which the above provisions apply and any significant assumptions or judgments made pursuant to the above provisions shall be disclosed. The Group's impact by the IBOR reform and its management during the transition period shall also be disclosed qualitatively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Financial instruments (Continued)

2.3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability at the same time, the financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Otherwise, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.4 Interest income and expense

The "Interest income" and "Interest expense" in the Group's income statement are the interest income and expense calculated by using the effective interest method on debt investment at amortised cost, debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at amortised cost, etc.

For those purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. For those financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have become credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

2.5 Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised when the Group fulfills its performance obligation, either over time or at a point in time when a customer obtains control of the service.

For the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue when control is passed to the customer at a certain point in time. For the performance obligations satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue according to the progress toward satisfaction of the obligation over the time.

2.6 Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

2.7 Assets transferred under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date at a fixed or determinable price are not derecognised in the statement of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are presented under "due to banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the selling price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific future date are not recognised in the statement of financial position. The cost of purchasing such assets is presented under "due from banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Precious metals

Precious metals that are not related to the Group's trading activities are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Precious metals that are related to the Group's trading activities are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from re-measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

2.9 Property and equipment

The Group's property and equipment mainly comprise buildings, construction in progress, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement.

The assets purchased or constructed are initially measured at acquisition cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the property and equipment are included in the cost of the property and equipment if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting date.

Buildings comprise primarily office premises. The estimated useful lives, depreciation rate and estimated residual value rate of buildings, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement are as follows:

		Estimated residual	Depreciation
Type of assets	Estimated useful lives	value rate	rate
Buildings	25 years - 50 years	3%	1.94% - 3.88%
Equipment	3 years - 11 years	3%	8.82% - 32.33%
Transportation equipment (excluding equipment			
under operating leases)	4 years – 8 years	3%	12.13% - 24.25%
Property improvement	Over the economic useful lives		

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a property and equipment when it is ready for intended use.

Equipment under operating leases where the Group is the lessor is aircraft or vessel. The estimated useful lives and depreciation rate of the aircraft or vessel are determined considering their conditions and the estimated residual values are determined by external appraiser using historical data on an item-by-item basis. The estimated useful lives range from 5 to 25 years.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, and foreclosed non-financial assets are initially recognised at cost. At the end of each reporting period, foreclosed non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the net realisable value. When the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment allowance is recognised.

When a foreclosed asset is disposed, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group disposes of foreclosed assets through various means. In principle, foreclosed assets should not be transferred for own use, but, in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business or management purposes, they are transferred at their net carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and equipment.

When a foreclosed asset needs to be transferred for own use, it is transferred at its carrying amount including the impairment allowance at the transition day.

Foreclosed assets of the Group mainly include buildings and land use rights.

2.11 Land use rights

Land use rights are classified as other assets and amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term.

2.12 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is available for use, its original cost is amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised.

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when necessary.

An intangible asset is derecongnised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecongnised.

2.13 Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both and initially measured at cost.

As there is an active property market in the location in which the Group's investment property is situated, and the Group can obtain the market price and other relevant information regarding the same or similar type of property from the property market so as to reasonably estimate the fair value of the investment property; therefore, the Group uses the fair value model for subsequent measurement of the investment property, with changes in the fair value included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognises the amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss for the period.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the impairment of deferred tax assets and financial assets, with the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any indication that an asset may be impaired exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired and it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the CGU to which the asset belongs.

CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets, and the cash inflows generated by a CGU are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU, group of CGUs) is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the expected future cash flows. The Group considers all relevant factors in estimating the present value of future cash flows, such as the expected future cash flows, the useful life and the discount rate.

Testing CGU with goodwill for impairment

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by the Group at least annually, or whenever there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs are impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs. The recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs are the estimated future cash flows, which are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU or group of CGUs with allocated goodwill.

At the time of impairment testing of a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, there may be an indication of an impairment of an asset within the CGU containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the asset for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that asset before testing for impairment on the CGU or group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Similarly, there may be an indication of an impairment of a CGU within a group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the CGU for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that CGU, before testing for impairment the group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.

Impairment loss

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is recognised as an impairment loss and charged to the profit or loss.

For a CGU or a group of CGUs, the amount of impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, and then reduces the carrying amount of other assets (other than goodwill) within the CGU or group of CGUs, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Impairment of assets (Continued)

Reversing an impairment loss

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss of the non-financial asset except for goodwill decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss. A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

2.15 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, the customer has both of the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

The Group as Lessee (a)

The Group recognises the right-of-use asset on the start date of the lease term and recognises the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made when it is reasonably determined to exercise purchase option or terminate lease option. Variable rent determined based on a certain proportion of sales is not included in the lease payments and is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's right-of-use assets include leased properties, venues, parking lots, advertising spaces, vehicles and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, the lease payments already paid on or before the lease start date, the initial direct costs etc., and deducts any lease incentives received. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life if the Group could reasonably determine to obtain the ownership at the expiration of the lease term; if it is unsure whether the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained at the expiration of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the recoverable value is lower than the book value of the right-of-use asset, the Group reduces the book value to the recoverable value.

For short-term leases with a lease term shorter than 12 months and leases of asset with low value when it is new, the Group recognises relevant rental expenses on a straight-line basis in profit or loss or in the related asset costs in each lease period rather than recognising the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate lease if both:(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and (b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, in the case where the COVID-19 directly caused contract changes, a simplified method is adopted; otherwise, at the effective date of the lease modification, the Group remeasures the lease term and the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset for lease modifications that decrease the scope or term of the lease, and recognised the gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss. The Group makes a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Leases (Continued)

The Group as Lessee (Continued)

For rent concessions that are directly related to COVID-19 and applicable only before 30 June 2022, the Group uses a expedient, with the undiscounted concessions recognised in profit or loss and lease liabilities adjusted accordingly when original payments are exempted upon agreement.

The Group as Lessor

Operating Lease

When the Group leases out its own buildings and properties, equipment and transportation vehicles, the rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable rent gained by the Group is recognised in rental income when incurred.

Finance Lease

As lessor of the finance lease, the Group recognises the finance lease receivables for the finance lease on the commencement date of the lease period and derecognises the related assets. Finance lease receivables are recognised at the net lease investment to "Loans and advances to customers" for the initial measurement. The net lease investment is the sum of the unsecured residual value and the present value of the lease payments unreceived at the commencement date of the lease period discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

Finance lease receivables are derecognised when the contractual rights of receiving cash from the finance lease receivables have expired or have been transferred and all substantial risks and rewards regarding the lease have been transferred.

During the lease period, the lessor applies the fixed periodic interest rate to calculate the interest income for each period. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase under balances with central banks, due from banks and other financial institutions.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the provision.

2.18 Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Income taxes (Continued)

Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax (b)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Share capital

(a) Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares issued.

(b) Share issue costs

External costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.20 Dividend distribution

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the period in which they are declared and approved by the Bank's shareholders.

(b) Dividends on preference shares

Preference share dividend distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(c) Distribution on perpetual bonds

Perpetual bond interest distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the interest distribution approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

2.21 Acceptances

Acceptances comprise the Group's commitments on payment for bills that are issued to customers. Acceptances are accounted for as credit related commitments and financial guarantees and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments.

2.22 Staff costs and benefits

(a) Staff costs

Staff costs include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds, labor union fees as well as staff education expenses and housing allowance. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the staff costs payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

The Group participates in the employee social security systems established by the government, including medical insurance, housing funds and other social securities, in accordance with relevant requirements. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(b) Post-employment benefits

The Group divides post-employment benefit plans into defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions. Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. During the reporting period, post-employment benefits for the employees of the Group mainly include payment to basic retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, annuity plan and supplementary retirement benefits.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Staff costs and benefits (Continued)

Post-employment benefits (Continued)

Basic retirement insurance

Employees of the Group have joined basic retirement insurance arranged by local ministry of labour and social security. The Group makes monthly contributions to the retirement insurance according to the base and proportion set by local government. When employees retire, local ministry of labour and social security is responsible for the payment of the basic pension to the retired employees. Such basic retirement insurance is a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the amounts payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

Annuity plan

Employees of domestic branches who retire at or after 1 January 2009 participate in the annuity plan established by the Group. The Group contributes a certain portion of employees' gross salaries to the annuity plan. Such annuity plan is a defined benefit plan. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees of domestic branches who retired at or before 31 December 2008. Such supplementary retirement benefits are defined benefit plans. The Group accrues a liability based on actuarial techniques and recognises all actuarial gains or losses in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains or losses will not be reversed to profit or loss subsequently. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability and recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(c) Early retirement expenses

The Group pays the welfare benefits for employees, who have not yet reached the statutory retirement age limit and are approved by the Group to voluntarily retire from their employment, from the early retirement date to the statutory retirement age limit. These welfare benefits are recognised in profit or loss based on the discounted cash flow calculation over the implementation period. The Group reviews present value of the welfare benefits on each reporting date, with any changes recognised in profit or loss.

2.23 Foreign currency translation

Renminbi ("RMB") is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as their functional currency. The Bank and the Group's foreign subsidiaries choose their respective functional currencies on the basis of the primary economic environment in which they operate. The Group adopts RMB to prepare its consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date and those on initial recognition or at the previous reporting date are recognised in profit or loss for the period, except that (1) exchange differences related to hedging instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign exchange risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (2) exchange differences arising from non-monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as shares) denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the carrying amounts (other than the amortised cost) of monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised as other comprehensive income; and (3) exchange differences arising on a foreign currency monetary item that forms part of the Bank's net investment in a foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions or a rate that approximates the spot exchange rates of the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or upon a loss of control over a foreign operation due to disposal of certain interest in it or other reasons, the Group transfers the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of this foreign operation and foreign currency monetary items that form part of the net investment in such foreign operation attributable to the owners' equity of the Group and presented under shareholder's equity in the statement of financial position, to profit or loss in the period in which the disposal occurs.

In case of a disposal or other reason that does not result in the Group losing control over a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit and loss. For partial disposals of equity interests in foreign operations which are associates and joint ventures, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of foreign operations is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.24 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable and can be reliably estimated, it will then be recognised as a provision.

2.25 Insurance contracts

(a) Insurance contracts classification and division

Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Group has undertaken significant insurance risk, relative to an insured event or occurrence. The Group issues primarily life insurance contracts, which insure events associated with mortality over a long duration. The Group also issues non-life insurance contracts, which cover short-term casualty and health insurance risk. When necessary, the Group enters into reinsurance contracts to transfer insurance risks to a reinsurer. A significant insurance risk test is performed at inception of the insurance contracts.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Insurance contracts (Continued)

Insurance contracts classification and division (Continued)

Under the contract the insurer signed with the policyholder, the insurer may undertake insurance risk or other risks, or both insurance risk and other risks.

Where the Group undertakes both the insurance risk and other risks, and the insurance risk and other risks can be distinguished and separately measured, the insurance risk shall be separately accounted for as insurance contracts while the other risks shall be accounted for as either investment contracts or service contracts. Where the insurance risk and other risks cannot be distinguished from each other, or can be distinguished but cannot be separately measured, significant insurance risk test shall be performed at the contract's initial recognition date. If the insurance risk is significant, the contract is classified as an insurance contract; otherwise, it is classified as an investment contract or service contract.

Insurance income recognition

Insurance premium income is recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

- The insurance contract is issued, and related insurance risk is undertaken by the Group;
- (ii) The related economic benefits are likely to flow to the Group; and
- Related income can be reliably measured. (iii)

Premiums from long-term life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when due from policyholders. Premiums related to short-term non-life insurance contracts are recognised when received at the inception of the policy, as unearned insurance premiums in the consolidated statement of financial position, and are amortised on a straight-line basis into the consolidated income statement over the term of the policy. When the Group has transferred insurance risk through reinsurance contracts, the Group calculates the amount of premium ceded and the reinsurers' share of expenses and recognises them through the consolidated income statement in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contracts.

Insurance contract reserves

Insurance contract liabilities are measured based on a reasonable estimate of the amount of payments that the Group will be required to make to fulfil its obligations under the insurance contracts, which represents the difference between expected future cash outflows and inflows related to such contracts. A reasonable estimate of expected future net cash flows is determined based on information currently available as at the end of the reporting period. The Group has considered the impact of time value in the liability calculation for long-term life insurance.

The Group performs liability adequacy tests based on information currently available, as at the reporting date. Additional insurance contract liabilities should be recorded if any deficiency exists.

2.26 Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of guarantee fees, and the best estimate of the expected credit loss provision required to settle the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

The impairment allowance of loan commitments provided by the Group is measured by ECL. The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For credit related commitments and financial guarantees, the loss allowance is recognised as an provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group can not separately identify the ECL on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECL on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined ECL exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the ECL are recognised as a provision.

2.27 Fiduciary activities

In activities where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as trustee, custodian or agent, the assets and income arising from the transaction together with the related undertakings to return the assets to customers are excluded from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group conducts entrusted lending for the third-party lenders. The Group grants loans to borrowers, as trustee, according to the instruction of the third-party lenders who fund these loans. The Group is responsible for the arrangement and collection of the entrusted loans and receives a commission for the services rendered. As the Group does not assume the risks and rewards of the entrusted loans and does not provide funding for the corresponding entrusted funds, the entrusted loans are not recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.

2.28 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors and the senior management team represented by the governor as its chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group with all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) that component can earn revenues and incur expenses from ordinary activities; (2) the component's operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (3) discrete financial information for the component is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic characteristics, and certain conditions are satisfied, they may be aggregated into a single operating segment. Intra-segment income and expenses are eliminated. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are considered in determining segment performance.

The Group has the following segments: Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Central China, Western China, Northeastern China, Overseas and Head Office.

2.29 Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance require the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and credit related commitments and financial guarantees, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g., the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Note 3.1 specifies the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques used in the measurement of expected credit loss and also discloses the sensitivity of expected credit losses to changes in these factors.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;
- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings;
- Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3.1.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm's length transactions, observable prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted interest rates, and commonly used market pricing models. To the extent practical, models use observable data such as interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option volatilities, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty's), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market observable data. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation techniques including review of valuation model assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumptions, the quality of market data, whether markets are active or inactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approval processes. Valuation techniques are validated and periodically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at the financial reporting date.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3.4.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax various jurisdictions; principally, in Mainland China and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC. There are certain transactions and activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group has made estimates for application of tax legislation and items of uncertainty taking into account existing tax legislation and past practice. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax in the period during which such a determination is made.

(d) Consolidation of structured entities

Where the Group acts as asset manager of or investor in structured entities, the Group makes significant judgement on whether the Group controls and should consolidate these structured entities. When performing this assessment, the Group assesses the Group's contractual rights and obligations in light of the transaction structures, and evaluates the Group's power over the structured entities, performs analysis and tests on the variable returns from the structured entities, including but not limited to commission income and asset management fees earned as the asset manager, the retention of residual income, and, if any, the liquidity and other support provided to the structured entities. The Group also assesses whether it acts as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which it is entitled for asset management services, the Group's exposure to variability of returns from its other interests in the structured entities, and the rights held by other parties in the structured entities.

(e) Derecognition of financial assets

In judging whether the transaction in which a loan transfer through packaging and asset securitisation is consistent with the termination confirmation of a financial asset, the Group needs to assess whether the Group meets the criteria for the transfer of financial assets and whether almost all risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan are transferred. If there is neither a transfer nor a retention of almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the transferred loan, the Group will further assess whether control over the transferred loan has been retained. In assessing and judging, the Group has taken into account a wide range of factors, such as whether trading arrangements are accompanied by repurchase clauses. The Group sets situational assumptions and uses the future cash flow discount model for risk and compensation transfer testing. The Group derecognised the loan only if the loan has been transferred and almost all risks and benefits in ownership have been transferred to another subject. If the Group retains almost all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred loan, it shall continue to confirm the loan and at the same time recognise the proceeds received as a financial liability. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained almost all of the risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan and has not waived its control over the loan, the financial assets concerned are recognised to the extent that the loan continues to be involved and the relevant liability is recognised accordingly.

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are periodically reviewed for impairment and where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the asset's expected future cash flow.

Fair value is usually based on market prices, and the management obtains it from professional appraisal agencies. Disposal costs include legal fees and taxes related to the asset disposal. When estimating the present value of the expected future cash flow of fixed assets leased out by the subsidiary, the management takes the rents agreed in the leasing contracts and the asset value at the end of the lease term as the basis of estimation and uses appropriate discount rates to determine the present value of future cash flows. Since the outbreak of the pandemic influenced the liquidity of some lessees, the Group considers various scenarios of these lessees under the circumstances of the pandemic and makes estimations of future cash flows under different scenarios. The asset value at the end of the lease term is obtained from professional appraisal agencies. Due to the uncertainty over the development and prevention of the pandemic, there remains uncertainty over the future cash flows and pre-tax discount rates of the rents in the calculation of the present value of future cash flow.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Bank is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

3.1.1 Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Retail Credit Department, Corporate Business Department, Inclusive Finance Department, Personal Finance Business Department, Pacific Credit Card Centre, Credit Management Department, Credit Authorisation Department, Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office, Asset Preservation Department, Financial institution Department and Financial Market Department. They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

Loans and advances to customers and off-balance sheet commitments

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more guidance on credit investment, formulate guidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of postloan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk filtering, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.1 Credit risk management (Continued)

(a) Loans and advances to customers and off-balance sheet commitments (Continued)

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and pre-warning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating manuals for personal loans and small-enterprise loans, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various supervisory and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through subsequent credit investigation and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(b) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The investment in those debts and bills is to have better credit quality assets while maintaining readily available liquidity resource. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and wealth management products set up by banking financial institutions. Fund trust schemes and asset management plans, the funds of which ultimately go to trust loans, are mainly managed and operated by third-party trustees and asset managers. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right, ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and issuers of inter-bank wealth management products, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i.e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i.e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market fluctuations. Collateral or other security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except when the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.1 Credit risk management (Continued)

Treasury business (Continued)

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

Credit-related commitments

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

Credit risk quality

In accordance with the Guideline for Loan Credit Risk Classification issued by the CBIRC, the Group measures and manages the quality of corporate and personal loans and advances by classifying loans into the following five categories: normal, special-mention, substandard, doubtful and loss, of which substandard, doubtful and loss loans are regarded as nonperforming loans.

The five categories of loan classification into which the Group classifies its loans and advances to customers are set out below:

Normal: Borrowers can honour the terms of their loans. There is no reason to doubt their ability to repay principal

and interest in full on a timely basis.

Special-mention: Borrowers are able to service their loans currently, although repayment may be adversely affected by

specific factors.

Substandard: Borrowers' ability to service their loans is in question and they cannot rely entirely on normal operating

revenues to repay principal and interest. Losses may ensue even when collaterals or guarantees are

Doubtful: Borrowers cannot repay principal and interest in full and significant losses will need to be recognised

even when collaterals or guarantees are invoked.

Only a small portion or none of the principal and interest can be recovered after taking all possible Loss:

measures and exhausting all legal remedies.

3.1.2 Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- (2)the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past (3)events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.2 Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

The criteria adopted by the Group to determine whether a credit impairment occurs under IFRS 9 is consistent with the internal credit risk management objectives for relevant financial instrument, in addition to consideration of quantitative and qualitative indicators.

In general, the Group considers a financial instrument to be credit-impaired or otherwise in default when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

- (1) Principal (including advances, applies to below) or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- (2) The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- (3) It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- (4) An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- 5) Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

A significant increase in credit risk

The Group assesses quarterly whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. In determining the stage classification of a financial asset, the Group considers all reasonable and supportable information which reflects whether there have been significant changes in credit risk, including that which is forward-looking. Based on an individual financial instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments with similar credit risk characteristics, the Group compares risk of default occurring at reporting date as with initial recognition, in order to determine possible changes in risk of default occurring during the expected life of the financial instrument. The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

- (1) Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- (2) Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow: (a) a significant increase in credit risk is determined when internal and external rating during the reporting period is below the Group's credit acceptance standards; (b) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (3) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (4) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.2 Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Definition of credit-impaired and default (Continued)

A significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

After the outbreak of the pandemic of COVID-19, the Group strictly followed the regulatory policies and requirements and prudently evaluates the repayment ability of the clients who apply for payment holiday. On the premise that the subsequent risks will not be enlarged and subsequent settlement will not be affected, the Group provided relief measures to those clients meeting specific criteria by extending the maturity and so on. The Group has assessed whether the relief measures would cause a significant increase in credit risks and has adjusted the stage classification as appropriate.

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-onyear Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario". The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted quarterly, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

In 2021, The Group forecasts the 2022 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be 5.0% in the Basic Scenario, 7.0% in the Optimistic Scenario and 4.3% in the Pessimistic Scenario. The Group fully considered the the macroeconomic forecast for 2022 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models, and made prudential adjustments to the macro scenario settings.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches and subsidiaries regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.2 Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques (Continued)

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types, repayment methods and so on.

Sensitivity analysis

As at the balance sheet date, the basic scenario weighting is higher than the non-basic scenario weighting. The probability-weighted impairment allowance under three scenarios is higher than the basic scenario impairment allowance by the following amounts:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Corporate loans	(167)	337
Personal loans	203	96
Debt investments at amortised cost and fair value through		
other comprehensive income	1	10

If the optimistic scenario weighting increases by 10%, and the basic scenario weighting decreases by 10%, the impairment allowance of loans and advances will decrease by RMB813 million (31 December 2020: RMB484 million), and the impairment allowance of debt investments at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income will decrease by RMB6 million (31 December 2020: RMB6 million). If the Pessimistic scenario weighting increases by 10%, and the Basic scenario weighting decreases by 10%, the impairment allowance of loans and advances will increase by RMB849 million (31 December 2020: RMB1,402 million), and the impairment allowance of debt investments at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income will increase by RMB7 million (31 December 2020: RMB23 million).

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk

3.1.3.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk - financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group categorises asset risk characteristics based on the quality of the assets, differentiating financial instruments that are likely to incur expected credit losses as "Low risk", "Medium risk", "High risk" and "Impaired". "Low risk" refers to counterparty with strong repayment ability, low probability of impairment in the future, and minor effect of adverse external factors. "Medium risk" refers to counterparty with certain repayment ability, but business, finance, and economic conditions that are continuously unstable and worsening will potentially cause its repayment ability to descend. "High risk" refers to counterparty with adverse factors that are likely to impact its repayment ability significantly or with high probability of impairment in the future. And "Impaired" refers to the assets met the Group's definition of credit-impaired.

The table below analyses exposure to credit risk of financial instruments included in expected credit losses assessment. The balance of financial instruments below is the maximum exposure to credit risk of these instruments in the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk – financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	Impaired	Domestic branches	Overseas and subsidiaries	Group total	Allowance for impairment losses	Group carrying amount
On-balance sheet item									
Cash and balances with central banks (Stage 1)	667,440	-	-	-	667,440	53,990	721,430	-	721,430
Loans and advances to customers (Corporate)									
- at amortised cost	2,066,574	1,376,123	73,821	69,992	3,586,510	504,061	4,090,571	(121,252)	3,969,319
Stage 1	2,064,723	1,291,448	8,132	-	3,364,303	479,277	3,843,580	(37,786)	3,805,794
Stage 2	1,851	84,675	65,689	-	152,215	17,158	169,373	(34,382)	134,991
Stage 3	-	-	-	69,992	69,992	7,626	77,618	(49,084)	28,534
- at FVOCI	137,735	39,981	4,466	10	182,192	2,514	184,706	-	184,706
Stage 1	137,735	38,773	2,003	-	178,511	2,514	181,025	-	181,025
Stage 2	-	1,208	2,463	-	3,671	-	3,671	-	3,671
Stage 3	-	-	-	10	10	-	10	-	10
Loans and advances to customers (Personal)									
- at amortised cost	1,555,659	613,486	44,146	18,932	2,232,223	52,873	2,285,096	(38,837)	2,246,259
Stage 1	1,555,409	612,762	33,941	-	2,202,112	52,329	2,254,441	(19,617)	2,234,824
Stage 2	250	724	10,205	-	11,179	308	11,487	(4,510)	6,977
Stage 3	-	-	-	18,932	18,932	236	19,168	(14,710)	4,458
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	411,544	419	-	-	411,963	223,051	635,014	(2,306)	632,708
Stage 1	411,544	419			411,963	219,552	631,515	(2,304)	629,211
Stage 2						3,499	3,499	(2)	3,497
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,097,849	26,999	-	1,088	2,125,936	80,059	2,205,995	(2,958)	2,203,037
Stage 1	2,097,849	23,277	-	-	2,121,126	77,343	2,198,469	(1,695)	2,196,774
Stage 2	-	3,722	-	-	3,722	515	4,237	(371)	3,866
Stage 3	-	-	-	1,088	1,088	2,201	3,289	(892)	2,397
Debt investments at FVOCI	247,469	3,497	-	-	250,966	414,501	665,467	-	665,467
Stage 1	247,469	3,497	-	-	250,966	410,700	661,666	-	661,666
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	-	3,772	3,772	-	3,772
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	-	29	29	-	29
Other financial assets at amortised cost	40,235	10,683	144	2,901	53,963	14,148	68,111	(3,460)	64,651
Stage 1	40,060	10,475	-	-	50,535	14,106	64,641	(182)	64,459
Stage 2	54	95	38	-	187	-	187	(119)	68
Stage 3	121	113	106	2,901	3,241	42	3,283	(3,159)	124
On-balance sheet total	7,224,505	2,071,188	122,577	92,923	9,511,193	1,345,197	10,856,390	(168,813)	10,687,577
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees									
Stage 1	1,470,719	379,185	3,058	-	1,852,962	45,815	1,898,777	(8,736)	1,890,041
Stage 2	-	2,943	3,973	-	6,916	732	7,648	(506)	7,142
Off-balance sheet total	1,470,719	382,128	7,031	-	1,859,878	46,547	1,906,425	(9,242)	1,897,183
Total	8,695,224	2,453,316	129,608	92,923	11,371,071	1,391,744	12,762,815	(178,055)	12,584,760

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk – financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

								Allowance for	
					Domestic	Overseas and		impairment	Group carrying
As at 31 December 2020	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	Impaired	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
On-balance sheet item									
Cash and balances with central banks (Stage 1)	731,772	-	-	-	731,772	70,436	802,208	-	802,208
Loans and advances to customers (Corporate)									
- at amortised cost	1,862,280	1,155,378	70,714	72,874	3,161,246	495,804	3,657,050	(104,425)	3,552,625
Stage 1	1,860,944	1,077,691	5,140	-	2,943,775	475,755	3,419,530	(27,418)	3,392,112
Stage 2	1,336	77,687	65,574	-	144,597	14,093	158,690	(29,034)	129,656
Stage 3	-	-	-	72,874	72,874	5,956	78,830	(47,973)	30,857
- at FVOCI	94,543	106,440	9,335	95	210,413	79	210,492	-	210,492
Stage 1	94,542	105,458	3,627	-	203,627	79	203,706	-	203,706
Stage 2	1	982	5,708	-	6,691	-	6,691	-	6,691
Stage 3	-	-	-	95	95	-	95	-	95
Loans and advances to customers (Personal)									
- at amortised cost	1,341,584	542,393	31,885	18,610	1,934,472	46,410	1,980,882	(34,849)	1,946,033
Stage 1	1,341,429	541,708	24,607	-	1,907,744	46,020	1,953,764	(16,008)	1,937,756
Stage 2	155	685	7,278	-	8,118	227	8,345	(3,836)	4,509
Stage 3	-	-	-	18,610	18,610	163	18,773	(15,005)	3,768
Due from and placements with banks and other financial									
institutions (Stage 1)	370,162	259	-	-	370,421	201,957	572,378	(1,248)	571,130
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,936,199	26,277	793	465	1,963,734	58,845	2,022,579	(3,050)	2,019,529
Stage 1	1,936,199	20,930	-	-	1,957,129	56,207	2,013,336	(1,844)	2,011,492
Stage 2	-	5,347	793	-	6,140	2,309	8,449	(682)	7,767
Stage 3	-	-	-	465	465	329	794	(524)	270
Debt investments at FVOCI	291,786	2,515	-	-	294,301	429,572	723,873	-	723,873
Stage 1	291,786	2,515	-	-	294,301	429,222	723,523	-	723,523
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	-	278	278	-	278
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	-	72	72	-	72
Other financial assets at amortised cost	14,624	8,560	127	3,842	27,153	13,908	41,061	(4,088)	36,973
Stage 1	14,455	8,353	-	-	22,808	13,838	36,646	(166)	36,480
Stage 2	45	83	28	10	166	-	166	(115)	51
Stage 3	124	124	99	3,832	4,179	70	4,249	(3,807)	442
On-balance sheet total	6,642,950	1,841,822	112,854	95,886	8,693,512	1,317,011	10,010,523	(147,660)	9,862,863
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees									
Stage 1	1,283,391	319,352	2,499	-	1,605,242	61,620	1,666,862	(6,858)	1,660,004
Stage 2	_	4,422	5,031	_	9,453	397	9,850	(3,642)	6,208
Off-balance sheet total	1,283,391	323,774	7,530	-	1,614,695	62,017	1,676,712	(10,500)	1,666,212
Total	7,926,341	2,165,596	120,384	95,886	10,308,207	1,379,028	11,687,235	(158,160)	11,529,075

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3.2Maximum exposure to credit risk - financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

Maximum exposure to credit risk

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		
Derivative financial instruments	39,220	54,212
Loans and advances to customers	27	-
Debt securities	247,934	153,034
Fund investments and other asset management products	305,176	252,098
Precious metal contracts	21,924	19,975
Total	614,281	479,319

3.1.3.3 Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

(a) Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(a) Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

	Maximum loan-to-
Collaterals	value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured, while revolving individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek additional collaterals and pledges from the counterparties as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

		Impairment		Fair value of
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral held
As at 31 December 2021				
Credit-impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised				
cost	96,786	(63,794)	32,992	46,184
Loans and advances to customers at fair value				
through other comprehensive income	10	_	10	10
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	3,289	(892)	2,397	4,876
Debt investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	29	_	29	-

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

	Impairment		Fair value of	
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral held
As at 31 December 2020				
Credit-impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised				
cost	97,603	(62,978)	34,625	46,264
Loans and advances to customers at fair value				
through other comprehensive income	95	_	95	95
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	794	(524)	270	2
Debt investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	72	-	72	-

(b) Master netting arrangements

The Group further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into master netting arrangements with counterparties with which it undertakes a significant volume of transactions. Master netting arrangements do not generally result in an offset of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favourable contracts is reduced by a master netting arrangement to the extent that if a default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis. The Group's overall exposure to credit risk on derivative instruments subject to master netting arrangements can change substantially within a short period, as each transaction subject to the arrangement affects credit risk.

3.1.4 Derivative instruments

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, commodity, interest rate and other derivative contracts with other financial institutions and customers. The management has established limits for these contracts based on counterparties, industry sectors and countries. Actual credit risk exposures are regularly monitored and controlled by the management.

Credit risk-weighted amounts

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Counterparty credit risk-weighted amount	53,789	50,052

The credit risk-weighted amounts are the amounts calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the CBIRC and are dependent on, amongst other factors, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the maturity of each type of contract.

The credit risk-weighted amounts stated above have not taken the effects of netting arrangements into account.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.5 Foreclosed assets

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Buildings	1,424	1,085
Land use rights	8	10
Others	5	14
Gross	1,437	1,109
Less: Impairment allowances	(407)	(142)
Net	1,030	967

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

3.1.6 Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

	Mainland China	Hong Kong	Others	Total
As at 31 December 2021				
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	670,925	28,814	21,387	721,126
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	463,774	68,572	100,362	632,708
Derivative financial assets	26,989	9,284	2,947	39,220
Financial investments at FVPL	511,854	6,511	56,669	575,034
Loans and advances to customers	6,065,792	206,433	139,976	6,412,201
Debt investments at FVOCI	394,613	58,562	212,292	665,467
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,161,046	6,621	35,370	2,203,037
Other financial assets	52,737	11,201	3,567	67,505
	10,347,730	395,998	572,570	11,316,298
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	917,943	6,458	12,073	936,474
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	943,804	23,598	2,549	969,951
	1,861,747	30,056	14,622	1,906,425

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.6 Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Concentration risk for geographical sectors (Continued)

	Mainland China	Hong Kong	Others	Total
As at 31 December 2020				
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	733,895	33,431	34,562	801,888
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	365,731	113,071	92,328	571,130
Derivative financial assets	42,150	9,617	2,445	54,212
Financial investments at FVPL	375,565	7,813	41,729	425,107
Loans and advances to customers	5,362,745	194,300	163,523	5,720,568
Debt investments at FVOCI	373,966	120,315	229,592	723,873
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,967,344	6,195	45,990	2,019,529
Other financial assets	28,229	15,436	2,772	46,437
	9,249,625	500,178	612,941	10,362,744
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	796,707	9,979	9,151	815,837
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	825,973	25,552	9,350	860,875
	1,622,680	35,531	18,501	1,676,712

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 Decemb	er 2020
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	1,780,637	27.14	1,556,325	26.61
Pearl River Delta	857,521	13.07	711,150	12.16
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	965,957	14.72	838,415	14.34
Central China	1,092,985	16.66	960,512	16.42
Western China	774,445	11.80	681,997	11.66
North Eastern China	247,023	3.77	232,864	3.98
Overseas	348,948	5.32	359,368	6.14
Head Office	492,884	7.52	507,793	8.69
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	6,560,400	100.00	5,848,424	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 48.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Credit risk (Continued)

3.1.6 Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

(b) Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 December	er 2020
		%		%
Corporate loans				
Mining	120,216	1.83	125,367	2.14
Manufacturing	732,565	11.16	658,203	11.25
- Petroleum and chemical	126,354	1.93	118,387	2.02
– Electronics	168,825	2.57	130,836	2.24
- Steel	40,781	0.62	41,680	0.71
- Machinery	102,338	1.56	100,571	1.72
- Textile and clothing	26,817	0.41	27,057	0.46
- Other manufacturing	267,450	4.07	239,672	4.10
Production and supply of power, heat, gas and water	268,772	4.10	221,313	3.78
Construction	157,729	2.40	135,732	2.32
Transportation, storage and postal service	763,419	11.64	708,649	12.12
Information transmission, software and IT services	60,718	0.93	41,148	0.70
Wholesale and retail	215,554	3.29	204,856	3.50
Accommodation and catering	34,133	0.52	34,886	0.60
Finance	132,633	2.02	118,702	2.03
Real estate	419,820	6.40	348,185	5.95
Leasing and commercial services	650,742	9.92	577,500	9.87
Water conservancy, environmental and other public				
services	382,201	5.83	334,399	5.72
Education, science, culture and public health	122,196	1.86	112,961	1.93
Others	77,884	1.19	85,570	1.48
Discounted bills	136,722	2.08	160,071	2.74
Total corporate loans	4,275,304	65.17	3,867,542	66.13
Personal loans				
Mortgages	1,489,517	22.70	1,293,773	22.12
Credit cards	492,580	7.51	464,110	7.94
Others	302,999	4.62	222,999	3.81
Total personal loans	2,285,096	34.83	1,980,882	33.87
Gross amount of loans and advances before				
impairment allowances	6,560,400	100.00	5,848,424	100.00

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk

3.2.1 Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the CBIRC, the Group's financial instrument positions are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the trading book. The banking book consists of all financial instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

3.2.2 VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.2 VaR (Continued)

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

Items	Year ended 31 December 2021			
	31 December			
	2021	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	261	381	746	256
Including: Interest rate risk	269	306	453	197
Foreign exchange risk	133	209	743	100

Items	Year ended 31 December 2020			
	31 December			
	2020	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	594	501	617	423
Including: Interest rate risk	268	296	472	127
Foreign exchange risk	464	485	555	417

3.2.3 Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in het profit		
	As at		
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020	
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves - 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	10,562 (10,562)	13,551 (13,551)	

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in other co	mprehensive income
	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(12,995)	(11,882)
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	14,012	12,363

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.3 Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes. The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

	Changes in	net profit
	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
5% appreciation of RMB	(1,803)	(1,662)
5% depreciation of RMB	1,803	1,662

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

	Changes in other co	mprehensive income	
	As at	As at	
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020	
5% appreciation of RMB	(1,403)	(1,397)	
5% depreciation of RMB	1,403 1,39		

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding nonmonetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.3 Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

3.2.4 Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing and maturity mismatching of assets and liabilities, and the fluctuation of market interest rates, as well as from the adjustments in the interest rate policies made by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC"). On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group pays high attention to the transition of interest rate benchmark and has established a task force to speed up the launch and implementation of this LIBOR reform project. At the current stage, the progress of this reform is basically on schedule. According to the overall timetable of the LIBOR reform, libors in sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen, as well as one week and 2-month libors in US dollars, have exited the market on 1 January 2022. The business scale of the Group's contracts in reference to LIBOR with the above currencies and maturities is relatively small, ready for orderly transition according to repricing periods of each business, and the impact of the methods of benchmark transition on interest rate risk is generally under control, which has a relatively limited substantial impact on the operations.

The Group has initially established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

						Non-interest	
	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
As at 31 December 2021							
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	714,689	_	_	_	_	20,039	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	274,884	105,476	212,107	28,423	7,950	3,868	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	_	_	_	_	39,220	39,220
Financial investments at FVPL	32,659	52,942	90,657	35,428	45,306	381,491	638,483
Loans and advances to customers	1,752,819	740,873	2,904,431	442,783	259,155	312,140	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVOCI	49,415	109,842	91,364	227,236	181,312	22,560	681,729
Financial investments at amortised cost	18,908	35,803	262,899	1,009,017	846,114	30,296	2,203,037
Other assets	458	_	_	-	_	323,193	323,651
Total assets	2,843,832	1,044,936	3,561,458	1,742,887	1,339,837	1,132,807	11,665,757
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,167,169)	(261,570)	(486,143)	(20,848)	(2,889)	(9,149)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,196)	(1,266)	_	(11,637)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	_	_	_	_	_	(36,074)	(36,074)
Due to customers	(3,787,796)	(534,784)	(1,020,946)	(1,607,059)	(39)	(89,153)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(125,188)	(183,613)	(722,988)	(224,408)	(216,154)	(142,503)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(5,105,107)	(981,962)	(2,240,273)	(1,853,581)	(219,082)	(288,516)	(10,688,521)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,261,275)	62,974	1,321,185	(110,694)	1,120,755	844,291	977,236

						Non-interest	
	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
As at 31 December 2020							
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	795,102	-	-	-	-	22,459	817,561
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	291,121	97,782	162,611	13,718	2,792	3,106	571,130
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	54,212	54,212
Financial investments at FVPL	22,761	21,369	34,378	31,955	51,251	320,874	482,588
Loans and advances to customers	1,661,920	749,592	2,420,672	334,404	260,828	293,152	5,720,568
Financial investments at FVOCI	82,187	134,536	83,786	237,760	179,006	17,945	735,220
Financial investments at amortised cost	41,734	49,906	258,697	962,447	678,347	28,398	2,019,529
Other assets	466	-	_	_		296,342	296,808
Total assets	2,895,291	1,053,185	2,960,144	1,580,284	1,172,224	1,036,488	10,697,616
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(913,880)	(265,073)	(537,732)	(47,277)	(13,181)	(10,348)	(1,787,491)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(6,291)	(8,254)	(7,384)	(134)	-	(7,216)	(29,279)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(55,942)	(55,942)
Due to customers	(3,515,457)	(552,070)	(924,291)	(1,529,725)	(2)	(85,785)	(6,607,330)
Other liabilities	(90,687)	(214,973)	(366,449)	(329,911)	(192,715)	(144,211)	(1,338,946)
Total liabilities	(4,526,315)	(1,040,370)	(1,835,856)	(1,907,047)	(205,898)	(303,502)	(9,818,988)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(1,631,024)	12,815	1,124,288	(326,763)	966,326	732,986	878,628

Nam interest

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.5 Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

As at 31 December 2021, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB6.3757 (31 December 2020: RMB6.5249) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.8176 (31 December 2020: RMB0.8416), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
As at 31 December 2021					
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	659,377	32,034	30,113	13,204	734,728
Due from and placements with banks					
and other financial institutions	316,755	276,807	19,944	19,202	632,708
Derivative financial assets	32,268	5,982	482	488	39,220
Financial investments at FVPL	539,513	79,414	727	18,829	638,483
Loans and advances to customers	5,882,592	294,495	164,923	70,191	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVOCI	309,518	283,663	37,699	50,849	681,729
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,169,831	29,760	812	2,634	2,203,037
Other assets	173,258	137,483	7,292	5,618	323,651
Total assets	10,083,112	1,139,638	261,992	181,015	11,665,757
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(1,496,464)	(389,507)	(22,857)	(38,940)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(34,217)	(3,196)	(41)	(12,594)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	(27,910)	(7,021)	(614)	(529)	(36,074)
Due to customers	(6,341,729)	(387,816)	(262,148)	(48,084)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(1,392,157)	(176,573)	(20,418)	(25,706)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(9,292,477)	(964,113)	(306,078)	(125,853)	(10,688,521)
Net position	790,635	175,525	(44,086)	55,162	977,236
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	1,721,510	137,769	19,797	27,349	1,906,425

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Market risk (Continued)

3.2.5 Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
As at 31 December 2020					
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	729,631	31,298	35,151	21,481	817,561
Due from and placements with banks					
and other financial institutions	218,074	319,227	16,750	17,079	571,130
Derivative financial assets	46,761	4,082	2,669	700	54,212
Financial investments at FVPL	407,126	41,616	2,484	31,362	482,588
Loans and advances to customers	5,248,201	240,514	149,366	82,487	5,720,568
Financial investments at FVOCI	329,481	305,772	49,133	50,834	735,220
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,000,225	15,357	50	3,897	2,019,529
Other assets	153,647	130,805	8,453	3,903	296,808
Total assets	9,133,146	1,088,671	264,056	211,743	10,697,616
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(1,421,873)	(299,201)	(7,899)	(58,518)	(1,787,491)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(7,703)	(1,251)	(6,419)	(13,906)	(29,279)
Derivative financial liabilities	(41,556)	(10,217)	(2,360)	(1,809)	(55,942)
Due to customers	(5,894,179)	(378,083)	(301,781)	(33,287)	(6,607,330)
Other liabilities	(1,101,641)	(188,070)	(23,211)	(26,024)	(1,338,946)
Total liabilities	(8,466,952)	(876,822)	(341,670)	(133,544)	(9,818,988)
Net position	666,194	211,849	(77,614)	78,199	878,628
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	1,534,447	106,293	20,787	15,185	1,676,712

3.2.6 Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

3.3 Liquidity risk

3.3.1 Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group cannot obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.3.2 Liquidity risk management process

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc.
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities;
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions;
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

3.3.3 Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

			On	Up to 1	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over 5	
	Overdue	Undated	Demand	month	months	months	years	years	Total
As at 31 December 2021									
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	-	-	(816,423)	(339,984)	(249,157)	(500,344)	(47,994)	(8,049)	(1,961,951)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	-	-	(11,631)	(24,958)	(1,999)	(10,248)	(1,287)	-	(50,123)
Due to customers	-	-	(2,917,674)	(896,297)	(548,993)	(1,062,886)	(1,719,819)	(40)	(7,145,709)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(102,215)	(159,431)	(627,356)	(15,167)	(29)	(904,198)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(8,495)	(12,810)	(125,943)	(243,207)	(177,668)	(568,123)
Other financial liabilities	-	-	(47,545)	(157)	(719)	(1,547)	(27,187)	(64,710)	(141,865)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)	-	_	(3,793,273)	(1,372,106)	(973,109)	(2,328,324)	(2,054,661)	(250,496)	(10,771,969)
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	630,776	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	-	88,993	171,571	89,939	229,521	47,273	11,908	639,205
Financial investments at FVPL	-	376,060	2,697	25,865	47,830	96,235	53,221	56,240	658,148
Loans and advances to customers	50,266	-	-	526,302	331,408	1,600,584	1,962,475	4,708,281	9,179,316
Financial investments at FVOCI	29	16,262	-	17,767	57,326	129,941	327,239	205,699	754,263
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,397	-	-	18,705	41,124	328,799	1,216,983	983,448	2,591,456
Other financial assets	4,198	-	63,307	-	-	-	-	-	67,505
Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual maturity dates)	56,890	1,023,098	258,645	760,210	567,931	2,385,080	3,607,191	5,965,576	14,624,621
Net position	56,890	1,023,098	(3,534,628)	(611,896)	(405,178)	56,756	1,552,530	5,715,080	3,852,652

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.3.3 Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

			On	Up to 1	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over 5	
	Overdue	Undated	Demand	month	months	months	years	years	Total
As at 31 December 2020									
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	-	-	(664,483)	(249,435)	(272,305)	(555,383)	(51,554)	(13,537)	(1,806,697)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	-	-	(7,107)	(6,323)	(7,692)	(8,131)	(137)	-	(29,390)
Due to customers	-	-	(2,826,645)	(720,090)	(564,855)	(961,376)	(1,633,891)	(2)	(6,706,859)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(88,752)	(209,113)	(315,930)	(27,036)	(42)	(640,873)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(2,459)	(7,700)	(65,629)	(327,846)	(165,290)	(568,924)
Other financial liabilities	-	-	(50,017)	(173)	(783)	(1,675)	(20,363)	(55,710)	(128,721)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)	_	_	(3,548,252)	(1,067,232)	(1,062,448)	(1,908,124)	(2,060,827)	(234,581)	(9,881,464)
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	641,025	176,216	-	320	-	-	-	817,561
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	-	111,953	175,013	92,064	158,106	39,227	7,165	583,528
Financial investments at FVPL	314	316,982	2,100	9,963	13,373	39,918	49,113	65,737	497,500
Loans and advances to customers	44,408	-	-	503,713	357,214	1,451,002	1,677,966	4,134,699	8,169,002
Financial investments at FVOCI	72	11,347	-	29,004	47,520	136,836	368,919	204,359	798,057
Financial investments at amortised cost	270	-	-	41,759	52,029	315,772	1,148,818	799,669	2,358,317
Other financial assets	4,432	_	42,005	-	-	_	-	_	46,437
Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual maturity dates)	49,496	969,354	332,274	759,452	562,520	2,101,634	3,284,043	5,211,629	13,270,402
Net position	49,496	969,354	(3,215,978)	(307,780)	(499,928)	193,510	1,223,216	4,977,048	3,388,938

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

3.3.4 Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.3.4 Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(a) Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2021						
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	10	1	23	-	-	34
- Interest rate contracts and others	416	823	2,880	7,044	647	11,810
Total	426	824	2,903	7,044	647	11,844
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	-	(34)	(27)	-	-	(61)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(408)	(900)	(3,096)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,774)
Total	(408)	(934)	(3,123)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,835)
	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2020						
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	3	2	54	-	-	59
- Interest rate contracts and others	215	590	2,730	5,990	247	9,772
Total	218	592	2,784	5,990	247	9,831
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	(44)	(51)	(29)	-	-	(124)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(291)	(751)	(3,825)	(10,349)	(1,173)	(16,389)
Total	(335)	(802)	(3,854)	(10,349)	(1,173)	(16,513)

(b) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2021						
Derivative financial instruments settled on						
a gross basis						
Cash outflow	(1,094,721)	(879,191)	(1,402,398)	(109,071)	(15,480)	(3,500,861)
- Cash inflow	1,095,392	879,647	1,404,576	111,697	14,918	3,506,230
Total	671	456	2,178	2,626	(562)	5,369

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.3.4 Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(b) Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2020						
Derivative financial instruments settled on						
a gross basis						
- Cash outflow	(775,033)	(567,895)	(979,175)	(86,979)	(5,464)	(2,414,546)
- Cash inflow	776,108	567,520	981,843	88,209	7,732	2,421,412
Total	1,075	(375)	2,668	1,230	2,268	6,866

3.3.5 Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

		Up to 1	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 - 5	Over 5			
	On demand	month	months	months	years	years	Overdue	Undated	Total
As at 31 December 2021									
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	-	630,776	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	88,993	171,428	89,547	225,329	45,687	11,724	-	-	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	6,099	7,172	13,032	11,052	1,865	-	-	39,220
Financial investments at FVPL	2,697	25,684	47,293	92,313	43,656	50,780	-	376,060	638,483
Loans and advances to customers	-	504,850	289,612	1,435,771	1,309,429	2,837,626	34,913	-	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVOCI	-	17,504	56,506	120,183	289,879	181,366	29	16,262	681,729
Financial investments at amortised cost	-	18,227	37,752	284,065	1,014,207	846,389	2,397	-	2,203,037
Other assets	93,428	150	18	505	35,656	2,509	4,198	187,187	323,651
Total assets	288,766	743,942	528,204	2,171,198	2,749,566	3,932,259	41,537	1,210,285	11,665,757
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(816,423)	(339,771)	(247,890)	(491,785)	(44,522)	(7,377)	-	-	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(11,631)	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,202)	(1,266)	-	-	-	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	(5,493)	(6,739)	(11,698)	(10,266)	(1,878)	-	-	(36,074)
Due to customers	(2,917,672)	(892,406)	(544,620)	(1,043,211)	(1,641,829)	(39)	-	-	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(59,181)	(113,511)	(198,029)	(739,771)	(285,206)	(219,156)	-	-	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(3,804,907)	(1,376,135)	(999,273)	(2,296,667)	(1,983,089)	(228,450)	-	-	(10,688,521)
Net amount on liquidity gap	(3,516,141)	(632,193)	(471,069)	(125,469)	766,477	3,703,809	41,537	1,210,285	977,236

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.3.5 Maturity analysis (Continued)

is a substantial design of the second of the		Up to 1	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over 5			
	On demand	month	months	months	years	years	Overdue	Undated	Total
As at 31 December 2020									
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	176,216	-	320	-	-	-	-	641,025	817,561
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	111,953	174,623	91,078	153,121	33,242	7,113	-	-	571,130
Derivative financial assets	-	9,718	11,570	22,283	9,068	1,573	-	-	54,212
Financial investments at FVPL	2,100	9,722	12,857	37,651	44,167	58,795	314	316,982	482,588
Loans and advances to customers	-	484,371	319,698	1,305,770	1,103,053	2,476,035	31,641	-	5,720,568
Financial investments at FVOCI	-	28,930	46,507	126,501	339,517	182,346	72	11,347	735,220
Financial investments at amortised cost	-	41,210	49,086	278,043	972,565	678,355	270	-	2,019,529
Other assets	61,973	286	19	15,410	16,448	4,047	4,432	194,193	296,808
Total assets	352,242	748,860	531,135	1,938,779	2,518,060	3,408,264	36,729	1,163,547	10,697,616
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(664,483)	(247,467)	(268,704)	(544,824)	(48,745)	(13,268)	-	-	(1,787,491)
Financial liabilities at FVPL	(7,107)	(6,291)	(7,636)	(8,111)	(134)	-	-	-	(29,279)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	(8,357)	(10,798)	(20,858)	(12,210)	(3,719)	-	-	(55,942)
Due to customers	(2,826,643)	(716,981)	(560,281)	(942,581)	(1,560,842)	(2)	-	-	(6,607,330)
Other liabilities	(68,467)	(94,306)	(235,723)	(374,652)	(367,189)	(198,609)	-	-	(1,338,946)
Total liabilities	(3,566,700)	(1,073,402)	(1,083,142)	(1,891,026)	(1,989,120)	(215,598)	-	-	(9,818,988)
Net amount on liquidity gap	(3,214,458)	(324,542)	(552,007)	47,753	528,940	3,192,666	36,729	1,163,547	878,628

3.3.6 Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

	Up to 1 year	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2021				
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	924,244	30,785	14,922	969,951
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	796,027	138,818	1,629	936,474
Total	1,720,271	169,603	16,551	1,906,425
As at 31 December 2020				
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	813,687	26,668	20,520	860,875
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	682,540	126,206	7,091	815,837
Total	1,496,227	152,874	27,611	1,676,712

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Certain financial assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair value or with fair value disclosed for financial reporting purposes. The fair value has been determined using appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. The appropriateness of the valuation techniques and the inputs to the fair value measurements are reviewed by the Board of Directors periodically.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date:
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities, certificates of deposit without quotations from active market, loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals, debt securities issued and restricted shares. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the yield curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards, swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method and Black-Scholes model; the fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include recent market prices, the relevant yield curve, exchange rates and counterparty's credit spread. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant yield curve, exchange rate, level of volatilities and counterparty's credit spread, etc. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments are determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as Discount for Lack of Marketability (DLOM). The Group has established internal control procedures to monitor the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and due to customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 Decem	nber 2020
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
Financial assets Financial investments at amortised cost	2,203,037	2,234,814	2,019,529	2,031,222
Financial liabilities Debt securities issued	(491,372)	(496,082)	(484,382)	(485,175)

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2021	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets				
Financial investments at amortised cost	7,757	2,138,742	88,315	2,234,814
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	_	(496,082)	_	(496,082)
		(100,000)		(100,000)
As at 31 December 2020	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets				
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,530	1,920,866	107,826	2,031,222
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued		(485,175)	-	(485,175)

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

As at 31 December 2021	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss		'		
Debt securities				
- Governments and central banks	2,719	96,360	_	99,079
- Public sector entities	_	1,302	_	1,302
- Banks and other financial institutions	7,272	93,464	162	100,898
 Corporate entities 	3,317	40,347	2,991	46,655
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	685	287,847	16,644	305,176
Equity securities and others	7,826	5,081	50,542	63,449
Precious metal contracts	_	21,924	_	21,924
Derivative financial instruments				
- Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	_	27,196	_	27,196
- Interest rate contracts and others	_	10,987	1,037	12,024
Loans and advances to customers	_	27	_	27
	21,819	584,535	71,376	677,730
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI				
 Governments and central banks 	50,353	254,012	_	304,365
 Public sector entities 	1,422	3,148	_	4,570
 Banks and other financial institutions 	114,620	139,981	_	254,601
 Corporate entities 	72,810	28,825	296	101,931
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	7,357	1,636	7,269	16,262
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	_	184,696	10	184,706
	246,562	612,298	7,575	866,435
Total assets	268,381	1,196,833	78,951	1,544,165
Financial liabilities at FVPL				
 Certificates of deposits issued 	-	(1,400)	-	(1,400)
- Financial liabilities related to precious metal				
contracts	-	(15,247)	-	(15,247)
 Short position of securities held for trading 	-	(134)	-	(134)
 Notes issued 	_	(1,385)	-	(1,385)
- Others	-	(31,882)	-	(31,882)
Derivative financial instruments				
- Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	_	(24,898)	-	(24,898)
- Interest rate contracts and others	-	(11,176)	-	(11,176)
Debt securities issued	_	(12,153)		(12,153)
Total liabilities	_	(98,275)	_	(98,275)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities				
- Governments and central banks	3,191	3,343	_	6,534
- Public sector entities	_	1,585	_	1,585
- Banks and other financial institutions	7,673	91,904	94	99,671
 Corporate entities 	2,312	39,642	3,290	45,244
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	370	238,963	12,765	252,098
Equity securities and others	6,270	3,233	47,978	57,481
Precious metal contracts	_	19,975	_	19,975
Derivative financial instruments				
- Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	_	44,435	_	44,435
 Interest rate contracts and others 	_	8,880	897	9,777
	19,816	451,960	65,024	536,800
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI				
- Governments and central banks	72,209	268,514	_	340,723
 Public sector entities 	1,273	2,103	_	3,376
- Banks and other financial institutions	123,223	181,467	_	304,690
 Corporate entities 	49,033	25,687	364	75,084
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	1,798	1,842	7,707	11,347
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	-	210,397	95	210,492
	247,536	690,010	8,166	945,712
Total assets	267,352	1,141,970	73,190	1,482,512
Financial liabilities at FVPL				
- Certificates of deposits issued	_	(7,868)	_	(7,868)
- Financial liabilities related to precious metal				
contracts	_	(16,104)	_	(16,104)
- Notes issued	_	(417)	_	(417)
- Others	_	(4,890)	_	(4,890)
Derivative financial instruments				
- Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	-	(40,914)	-	(40,914)
- Interest rate contracts and others	-	(15,028)	-	(15,028)
Debt securities issued		(10.070)		(10 070)
	_	(13,373)	_	(13,373)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

December of Lavel O Hamas

Reconciliation of Level 3 items		
	Financial assets at	Financial assets at
	FVPL	FVOCI
Balance at 1 January 2021	65,024	8,166
Total gains or losses		
 Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 	4,951	48
- Other comprehensive income	_	(1,233)
Additions	10,723	975
Disposals and settlement	(9,286)	(381)
Transfer to other levels	(36)	_
Balance at 31 December 2021	71,376	7,575
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities held by the Group as at		
31 December 2021		
- Realised gains	1,998	46
- Unrealised losses	2,000	(1,231)
	Financial assets at	Financial assets at
	FVPL	FVOCI
Balance at 1 January 2020	63,696	7,520
Total gains or losses		
- Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	1,291	(40)
- Other comprehensive income	-	(1,696)
Additions	11,587	2,932
Disposals and settlement	(11,550)	(550)
Balance at 31 December 2020	65,024	8,166
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities held by the Group as at		
31 December 2020		
- Realised gains	2,218	2
- Unrealised losses	(975)	(1,738)

These financial instruments with fair values determined based on unobservable inputs are primarily convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, part of the trust and asset management plan, equity derivatives and part of loans and advances to customers. The fair value of these financial instruments is determined primarily using discounted cash flow method and market comparison method. These valuation methods involve inputs from various unobservable assumptions such as cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts.

3.5 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

As at 31 December 2021, the amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements is not material to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.6 Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Group management adopts administrative measures issued by the CBIRC, which was developed based on guideline issued by the Basel Committee, in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of regulatory capital on a quarterly basis. The guarterly monitored information is then submitted to CBIRC.

The Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) specified the regulatory requirements for minimum capital, capital conservation buffer, additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks, countercyclical buffer and Pillar II capital as follows:

- Minimum regulatory requirements for core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio are 5%, 6% and 8%, respectively;
- Capital conservation buffer requires additional 2.5% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks requires additional 0.75% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio:
- Should the regulators require countercyclical buffer under particular circumstances or regulators impose additional Pillar
 Il capital requirements for specific banks, these requirements shall be met within the specified time limits.

The Group's capital as monitored by its Planning and Finance Department consists of the following:

- Core tier-1 capital, including ordinary shares, eligible portion of capital surplus, statutory reserve, statutory general reserve, retained earnings, eligible portion of non-controlling interests and translation reserve on foreign operations;
- Additional tier-1 capital, including Additional tier-1 capital instruments issued and related premium and eligible portion
 of non-controlling interests;
- Tier-2 capital, including tier-2 capital instruments issued and related premium, excess loan loss provisions and eligible portion of non-controlling interests.

The Group's deductible items from core tier-1 capital include: Goodwill, other intangible assets (except land use rights), investments in core tier-1 capital of financial institutions with controlling interests but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.6 Capital management (Continued)

In April 2014, the CBIRC officially approved the implementation of the advanced approach of capital management adopted by the Group. In this approach, the Group elected to use elementary internal rating based ("IRB") approach for corporate risk exposure, IRB approach for retail risk exposure, internal model approach for market risk and standardised approach for operational risk exposure which is compliant with regulatory requirements. For risk exposures not covered by the advanced approaches, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by adopting non-advanced approaches. The capital ratios calculated based on Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) are as follows:

Item	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	10.62	10.87
Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	13.01	12.88
Capital adequacy ratio (%)	15.45	15.25
Core tier-1 capital Core tier-1 capital deductions	789,887 (6,010)	732,863 (5,252)
Net core tier-1 capital	783,877	727,611
Additional tier-1 capital	176,348	134,610
Net tier-1 capital	960,225	862,221
Tier-2 capital	179,732	159,025
Net capital	1,139,957	1,021,246
Risk-weighted assets	7,379,912	6,695,462

NET INTEREST INCOME

	Year ended 3	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020		
Interest income				
Loans and advances to customers	266,419	251,468		
Financial investments	88,262	90,683		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	12,266	16,180		
Balances with central banks	10,699	10,770		
	377,646	369,101		
Interest expense				
Due to customers	(140,982)	(139,142)		
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(38,581)	(46,653)		
Certificates of deposit issued	(20,049)	(15,404)		
Debt securities issued	(16,341)	(14,566)		
	(215,953)	(215,765)		
Net interest income	161,693	153,336		
Including:				
Interest income on impaired financial assets	1,251	1,369		

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Bank cards	20,136	20,107
Wealth management business	11,775	9,856
Custody and other fiduciary business	7,484	7,033
Agency services	5,664	4,200
Investment banking	3,120	3,706
Guarantee and commitment	2,527	2,617
Settlement services	1,296	1,531
Others	283	248
	52,285	49,298

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Fee income, other than amounts included in determining the effective interest rate, arising from financial assets or financial liabilities that are not held for trading or		
designated at FVPL	1,576	1,342
Fee income on trust and other fiduciary activities where the Group holds or invests on		
behalf of its customers	3,758	3,458

FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Bank card business	2,560	2,473
Settlement and agency services	1,744	1,321
Others	408	418
	4,712	4,212

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Fee expense, other than amounts included in determining the effective interest rate,		
arising from financial assets or financial liabilities that are not held for trading or		
designated at FVPL	_	

NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Financial instruments at FVPL	20,621	14,277
Foreign exchange	2,539	1,100
Interest rate instruments and others	184	(1,533)
	23,344	13,844

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Net gains arising from trading activities for the year ended 31 December 2021 included a gain of RMB227 million (for the year ended 31 December 2020: a loss of RMB184 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

INSURANCE BUSINESS INCOME 8

Year e	nded :	31 D	eceml	oer
--------	--------	------	-------	-----

	2021	2020
Premiums earned	17,141	15,731
Less: Premiums ceded	(626)	(561)
	16,515	15,170

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Leasing income	13,843	13,436
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	2,020	1,848
Revaluation of investment properties	183	180
Net gain on the disposal of fixed and foreclosed assets	454	166
Other miscellaneous income	2,535	2,259
	19,035	17,889

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

10 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,085	225
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	63,339	55,303
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	158	(12)
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	1,998	4,874
Financial investments at amortised cost	(124)	(129)
Debt investments at FVOCI	(87)	316
Others	2	1,482
	66,371	62,059

11 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Impairment losses on operating lease assets	1,981	485
Impairment losses on precious metal	55	_
Impairment losses on foreclosed assets	284	(1)
	2,320	484

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 INSURANCE BUSINESS EXPENSE

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Change in insurance reserves	15,643	13,282
Less: Change in insurance reserves recovered from reinsurers	958	(401)
Surrenders	1,084	2,288
Others	(631)	560
	17,054	15,729

13 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Staff costs and benefits (Note 14)	36,825	32,749
General operating and administrative expenses	29,621	25,367
Depreciation and amortisation	8,099	7,888
Costs of operating lease business	9,108	9,518
Tax and surcharges	3,001	2,823
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigations	(199)	32
Others	3,589	3,650
	90,044	82,027

Since the presentation of "Staff costs and benefits" and "General operating and administrative expenses" has been changed, we have restated the comparative information of the year before

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies	25,383	22,920
Post-employment benefit (a)	4,093	3,062
Other social security and benefit costs	7,349	6,767
	36,825	32,749

(a) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by municipal and provincial governments in Mainland China, under which it is required to make monthly contributions to these plans at rates ranging from 10% to 27% of the employees' basic salary for the year. The Group's contributions to these pension plans are charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

Employees who retire at or after 1 January 2009 can voluntarily participate in an Annuity Plan. The Bank contributes to the Annuity Plan based on certain percentage of the employees' gross salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no forfeited contributions under the Group's retirement benefit plans which can be used to deduct contributions payable for future years.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The amount recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	2,494	1,577
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	1,575	1,468
Total	4,069	3,045

The amount payable at the end of the year is as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	105	69
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	50	73
Total	155	142

Defined benefit plans

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees in Mainland China, who retired at or before 31 December 2008. The Group's obligations in respect of supplementary retirement benefits are calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that the Group is committed to pay to the employees after their retirement using actuarial techniques. Such benefits, which are estimated by using key parameters such as inflation rate and mortality ratio, are discounted to their present values. The discount rate is the yield on government bonds at the end of reporting date, the maturity dates of which approximate to the terms of the Group's obligations. Actuarial gains or losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income, and amendments to pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of unfunded obligations.

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Mainland China are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Statement of financial position		
- Obligations for pension benefits	385	467

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	24	17
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income	(55)	132
Total	(31)	149

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

(a) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Movements in the unfunded obligations over the year are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Present value of unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year	467	399
Retirement benefits paid during the year	(51)	(81)
Interest expense	21	14
Past service cost	3	3
Net actuarial losses recognised in the current year	(55)	132
Present value of unfunded obligations at the end of the year	385	467

The average duration of the supplementary retirement benefits plan at 31 December 2021 is 12.31 years (31 December 2020: 13.20 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of RMB39 million (2020: RMB40 million) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

The supplementary retirement benefits plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest risk, longevity risk and inflation risk. A decrease in the government bond yield will increase the present value of unfunded obligations. The present value of unfunded obligations is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability. The present value of unfunded obligations is also measured by future payment standards, which are determined by inflation rate. Hence, an increase in inflation rate will increase the present value of the unfunded obligations.

The principal actuarial assumptions regarding interest risk and inflation risk used by the Group are discount rate and inflation rate, which were 3.07% (31 December 2020: 3.51%) and 0.81% (31 December 2020: 2.87%) respectively as at 31 December 2021. In the meantime, assumptions regarding future mortality rate are set based on published statistics by the CBIRC. As at 31 December 2021, an average longevity of a pensioner after retirement at age 60 for male is 23.13 years (31 December 2020: 23.13 years) while a pensioner after retirement at age 55 for female is 33.13 years (31 December 2020: 33.13 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the unfunded obligation are discount rate, inflation rate and mortality. The sensitivity analysis below is based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

- (1) If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by RMB35 million (increase by RMB40 million).
- (2) If the expected inflation rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB39 million (decrease by RMB35 million).
- (3) If the life expectancy increases (decreases) by one year for men and women, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB29 million (decrease by RMB30 million).

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of the actual change in the unfunded obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value at the end of the reporting period of the unfunded obligation has been calculated in the same method as that applied in calculating the unfunded obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis in prior years.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	619	210	829
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	619	206	825
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Chan Siu Chung	_	_	_	-
Mr. Song, Hongjun	_	_	_	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	_	_	_	-
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	_	_	_	-
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	310	_	_	310
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	_	_	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	_	_	_	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	_	_	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	_	_	_	_
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	-	_	330
Supervisors				
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	_	_	_	-
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	_	_	_	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	_	_	_	-
Mr. Li, Yao	_	280	_	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	_	260	_	260
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	_	260	_	260
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	_	956	211	1,167
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	_	962	211	1,173
Ms. Po,Ying	_	79	18	97
Mr. Xu, Jiming	_	258	87	345
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	819	211	1,030
Total	1,260	5,112	1,154	7,526

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Du, Yarong	_	416	84	500
Mr. Cai, Yunge	-	103	34	137
Mr. He, Zhaobin	_	73	22	95
Total	_	592	140	732

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued)

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2020			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	783	161	944
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	457	93	550
Non-executive directors				
Mr. He, Zhaobin	-	866	161	1,027
Mr. Chan Siu Chung	-	-	-	_
Mr. Song, Hongjun	-	-	-	_
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	_
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	-	-	_	_
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	_	_
Mr. Wang, Linping	_	_	_	_
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	310	-	_	310
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	-	_	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	_	_	_	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	_	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	_	_	_	_
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	39	_	-	39
Supervisors				
Mr. Cai, Yunge	-	155	41	196
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	-	-	-	_
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	_	_
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	-	-	_	_
Mr. Li, Yao	_	270	_	270
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	_	260	_	260
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	_	130	_	130
Mr. Du, Yarong	_	946	167	1,113
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	_	905	167	1,072
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	_	-	-	_
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	_	_	_
Total	969	4,772	790	6,531

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2020			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Hou, Weidong	_	235	52	287
Mr. Wang, Taiyin	-	444	75	519
Mr. Song, Guobin	-	574	101	675
Ms. Li, Jian	-	211	-	211
Mr. Liu, Li	-	291	-	291
Ms. Tang, Xinyu	-	-	-	_
Ms. Chen, Qing	-	569	91	660
Mr. Wang, Xuewu	_	921	167	1,088
Total	_	3,245	486	3,731

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

- Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued) (a)
- The total compensation package for directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2021 has not yet been (1) finalised in accordance with regulations of the PRC relevant authorities. The amount of the compensation not provided for is not expected to have significant impact to the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The final compensation will be disclosed in a separate announcement when determined. The final total compensation for the year ended 31 December 2020 was disclosed in the Information on the Second Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in 2021 issued on 10 September 2021.
- Employee supervisors Mr. Du Yarong, Mr. Guan Xingshe, Ms. Lin Zhihong and Ms. Feng Bing received compensation according to their positions as employees of the Bank and did not receive additional compensation as employee supervisors.
- During 2021 and 2020, there was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
- Other benefits include social insurance, housing allowances, enterprise annuity paid by the Bank.
- Mr. Wang Linping and Mr. Chang Baosheng begin to assume office on the 8 January 2021. (5)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the related years are as follows:

Year	ended	31	December
------	-------	----	----------

	2021	2020
Salary	15	14
Discretionary bonuses	13	15
Employer's contribution to pension scheme and other benefits	2	2
Total	30	31

Emoluments of the above five highest paid individuals in the Group are within the following bands:

Number of individuals As at 31 December

	2021	2020
HKD4,500,001 - 5,000,000	1	2
HKD5,000,001 - 5,500,000	3	2
HKD5,500,001 - 6,000,000	_	-
HKD6,000,001 - 6,500,000	_	-
HKD6,500,001 - 7,000,000	_	-
HKD7,000,001 - 7,500,000	_	-
HKD7,500,001 - 8,000,000	-	_
HKD8,000,001 - 8,500,000	-	-
HKD8,500,001 - 9,000,000	-	-
HKD9,000,001 - 9,500,000	-	-
HKD9,500,001 - 10,000,000	-	-
HKD10,000,001 - 10,500,000	1	-
HKD10,500,001 - 11,000,000	-	-
HKD11,000,001 – 11,500,000	_	1
	5	5

During 2021 and 2020, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

16 INCOME TAX

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Current income tax		
- Mainland China enterprise income tax	7,522	8,247
- Hong Kong profits tax	608	630
- Income tax arising in Macao, Taiwan and other countries or regions	753	577
Subtotal	8,883	9,454
Deferred income tax (Note 27)	(3,863)	(2,599)
Total	5,020	6,855

The provision for enterprise income tax in Mainland China is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% (2020: 25%) of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Mainland China. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Mainland China shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%). The major reconciliation items are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Profit before tax	93,959	86,425
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%	23,490	21,606
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and other		
countries or regions	(207)	(152)
Effects of non-deductible expenses (1)	2,445	3,644
Effects of non-taxable income (2)	(19,663)	(17,393)
Others	(934)	(420)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years	(111)	(430)
Income tax	5,020	6,855

⁽¹⁾ Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs.

Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds and fund investment income gained in Mainland China.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Bank	87,581	78,274
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,755)	(2,714)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(3,858)	(1,680)
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	81,968	73,880
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions) at the end		
of the year	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	1.10	0.99

For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,755 million on non-cumulative preference shares declared for the period was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the Bank. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the year ended 31 December 2021, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, distributions on non-cumulative perpetual bonds declared for the period was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the Bank. The Bank has declared an interest of RMB3,858 million on perpetual bonds during the year ended 31 December 2021.

18 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Cash	13,298	15,353
Mandatory reserve deposits	624,340	634,239
Excess reserve deposits	90,350	160,863
Fiscal deposits and others	6,436	6,786
Accrued interest	304	320
	734,728	817,561

The Group places mandatory reserves with the PBOC and several other central banks of overseas countries and regions. Such mandatory reserves are not available for use by the Group in its day-to-day operations.

The Bank's domestic mandatory deposit reserve rates as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
	%	%
Domestic mandatory reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB	10.00	11.00
Domestic mandatory reserve rate for deposits denominated in foreign currencies	9.00	5.00

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS (Continued)

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

Excess reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

19 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	83,372	90,965
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	36,422	68,274
Accrued interest	298	196
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(202)	(265)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
Securities		
- Governments	15,410	6,332
- Policy banks	13,040	3,657
- Financial institutions	31,498	27,905
- Corporates	16	-
Bills	13,512	3,670
Accrued interest	33	26
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(141)	(34)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	111,677	113,890
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	77,490	95,886
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Mainland China	194,502	118,172
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Mainland China	54,176	40,515
Accrued interest	3,568	2,890
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1,963)	(949)
	632,708	571,130

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Government bonds		
- Listed in Hong Kong	1,246	2,370
- Listed outside Hong Kong (a)	97,132	3,043
- Unlisted	701	1,121
Other debt securities		
- Listed in Hong Kong	42,371	23,853
- Listed outside Hong Kong (a)	90,909	109,422
- Unlisted - corporate entities	3,002	4,445
- Unlisted - banks	12,573	8,780
Equity securities and others		
Listed in Hong Kong	1,823	1,419
- Listed outside Hong Kong	11,493	7,956
- Unlisted	50,133	48,106
Fund investments and other asset management products		
 Listed in Hong Kong 	42	-
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	663	474
- Unlisted	304,471	251,624
Durainus anatal araturata	04.004	10.075
Precious metal contracts	21,924	19,975
Total	638,483	482,588

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in "Listed outside Hong Kong".

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss are analysed by issuer as follows:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
- Banks and other financial institutions	100,898	99,671
- Corporate entities	46,655	45,244
- Governments and central banks	99,079	6,534
- Public sector entities	1,302	1,585
	247,934	153,034

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the Solely Payments of Principal and Interest Test("SPPI test").

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following derivative financial instruments are utilised by the Group for trading or hedging purposes:

Currency and commodity forwards are contracts between two parties to buy or sell certain currencies or commodities at a specified future date at a predetermined price. The party agreeing to buy the underlying currency or commodities in the future assumes a long position, and the party agreeing to sell the currency or commodities in the future assumes a short position. The price agreed upon is called the delivery price, which is equal to the forward price at the time the contract is entered into.

Currency, commodity and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies, commodities or interest rates (i.e. fixed-for-floating swaps) or a combination of these (i.e. cross-currency interest rate swaps). The Group's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

Currency, commodity and interest rate options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the buyer (holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) on or before a set date or during a set period, a specific amount of a currency or commodity at a predetermined price or to receive an interest payment based on a variable interest rate and pay at a fixed interest rate or vice versa. The seller receives a premium from the buyer in consideration for assuming foreign exchange, interest rate risk or commodity price fluctuations. Options may be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Group and a customer (over the counter market).

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a reference of the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative financial instruments may become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, foreign exchange rates or commodity price relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair values of derivative financial instruments held are set out in the following tables.

	Contractual/ Notional	Fair value	es
As at 31 December 2021	Amount	Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,501,041	27,195	(24,899)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,626,588	12,025	(11,175)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,127,629	39,220	(36,074)
	Contractual/		
	Notional	Fair values	S
As at 31 December 2020	Amount	Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	2,435,423	44,435	(40,914)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,101,818	9,777	(15,028)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	5.537.241	54.212	(55.942)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The tables above provide a breakdown of the contractual or notional amounts and the fair values of the Group's derivative financial instruments outstanding at year end. These instruments, comprising foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity derivatives allow the Group and its customers to transfer, mitigate or reduce their foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity price fluctuation risks.

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, interest rates and commodity contracts with other financial institutions and customers. Management has established limits for these contracts based on counterpart types, industry sectors and countries. Related risks are regularly monitored and controlled by management.

Notional amounts of derivative financial instruments by original currency:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
RMB	4,686,806	3,772,066
USD	1,981,299	1,387,805
HKD	231,035	247,659
Others	228,489	129,711
Total	7,127,629	5,537,241

Hedge accounting

The above derivative financial instruments including those designated as hedging instruments by the Group are as follows:

	Contractual/ Notional	Fair valu	es
As at 31 December 2021	Amount	Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in			
fair value hedges	141,731	1,871	(1,274)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in			
cash flow hedges	71,805	519	(973)
Total	213,536	2,390	(2,247)

	Contractual/ Notional	Fair values	
As at 31 December 2020	Amount	Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in			
fair value hedges	139,555	184	(4,689)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in			
cash flow hedges	58,382	268	(1,901)
Total	197,937	452	(6,590)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

(a) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective. The hedged items include due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, debt investments at FVOCI, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers and certificates of deposits issued.

The following table shows the profit or loss effects of the fair value hedges:

Year end	ded 3	1 Dece	ember
----------	-------	--------	-------

	2021	2020
Net gains/(losses) from fair value hedges:		
Hedging instruments	4,405	(4,314)
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	(4,386)	4,462
Total	19	148

(b) Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks, and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include debt investments at FVOCI, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, debt securities issued, loans and advances to customers, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions and certificates of deposits issued. The Group mainly uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the supporting of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a profit of RMB1,133 million (31 December 2020: a loss of RMB1,761 million) from effective portion of cash flow hedge in other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies a loss of RMB617 million from other comprehensive income to profit or loss(31 December 2020: a profit of RMB1,085 million). Gains or losses arising from ineffective portion of cash flow hedge were immaterial. There were no transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting had to be ceased as a result of the highly probable cash flows no longer being expected to occur.

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

22.1 Loans and advances to customers

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	6,375,667	5,637,932
- Carried at FVOCI	184,706	210,492
- Carried at FVPL	27	-
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(160,089)	(139,274)
	-	-
Accrued interest	13,985	12,980
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(2,095)	(1,562)
	6,412,201	5,720,568

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

22.2 Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Unsecured loans	2,085,835	1,812,785
Guaranteed loans	1,056,138	990,248
Collateralised and other secured loans	3,418,427	3,045,391
Including: Loans secured by collateral	2,488,276	2,191,847
Pledged loans	930,151	853,544
Total	6,560,400	5,848,424

22.3 Movements of gross carrying amount and ECL allowance

Movements of gross carrying amount - Corporate loan at amortised cost:

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2021	3,419,530	158,690	78,830	3,657,050
Addition, net	563,949	(76,364)	(13,664)	473,921
Written-offs and disposals	-	_	(32,518)	(32,518)
Transfers:	(132,463)	87,398	45,065	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(111,830)	111,830	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(20,633)	-	20,633	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(24,432)	24,432	-
Exchange differences	(7,436)	(351)	(95)	(7,882)
As at 31 December 2021	3,843,580	169,373	77,618	4,090,571
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2020	3,114,979	139,701	59,416	3,314,096
Addition, net	466,884	(70,303)	(11,437)	385,144
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(33,214)	(33,214)
Transfers:	(153,797)	89,415	64,382	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(131,542)	131,542	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(22,255)	-	22,255	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(42,127)	42,127	-
Exchange differences	(8,536)	(123)	(317)	(8,976)
As at 31 December 2020	3,419,530	158,690	78,830	3,657,050

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

22.3 Movements of gross carrying amount and ECL allowance (Continued)

Movements of ECL allowance - Corporate loan at amortised cost:

	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	27,418	29,034	47,973	104,425
Addition/(Reversal), net	7,072	(12,343)	(3,338)	(8,609)
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(32,518)	(32,518)
Transfers:	(823)	(6,046)	6,869	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(708)	708	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(115)	-	115	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(6,754)	6,754	-
Remeasurement	4,198	23,500	26,739	54,437
Exchange and other differences	(79)	237	3,359	3,517
As at 31 December 2021	37,786	34,382	49,084	121,252

	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total_
As at 1 January 2020	23,125	39,960	42,085	105,170
Addition/(Reversal), net	2,477	(7,358)	(7,717)	(12,598)
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(33,214)	(33,214)
Transfers:	(838)	(15,668)	16,506	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(762)	762	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(76)	-	76	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(16,430)	16,430	-
Remeasurement	2,805	11,452	28,208	42,465
Exchange and other differences	(151)	648	2,105	2,602
As at 31 December 2020	27,418	29,034	47,973	104,425

Movements of principal gross carrying amount - Personal loan at amortised cost:

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2021	1,953,764	8,345	18,773	1,980,882
Addition, net	323,943	(1,673)	(2,411)	319,859
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(14,633)	(14,633)
Transfers:	(22,259)	4,814	17,445	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(8,772)	8,772	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(13,487)	-	13,487	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(3,958)	3,958	-
Exchange differences	(1,007)	1	(6)	(1,012)
As at 31 December 2021	2,254,441	11,487	19,168	2,285,096

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

22.3 Movements of gross carrying amount and ECL allowance (Continued)

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2020	1,727,106	9,085	18,574	1,754,765
Addition, net	254,353	(2,056)	(2,943)	249,354
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(20,580)	(20,580)
Transfers:	(25,057)	1,328	23,729	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(6,125)	6,125	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(18,932)	-	18,932	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(4,797)	4,797	-
Exchange differences	(2,638)	(12)	(7)	(2,657)
As at 31 December 2020	1,953,764	8,345	18,773	1,980,882

Movements of ECL allowance - Personal loan at amortised cost:

	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	16,008	3,836	15,005	34,849
Addition/(Reversal), net	1,854	(93)	(1,379)	382
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(14,633)	(14,633)
Transfers:	290	(1,410)	1,120	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	566	(566)	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(276)	-	276	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(844)	844	-
Remeasurement	1,469	2,179	12,929	16,577
Exchange and other differences	(4)	(2)	1,668	1,662
As at 31 December 2021	19,617	4,510	14,710	38,837

	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2020	8,394	3,193	15,962	27,549
Addition/(Reversal), net	2,001	(100)	(1,102)	799
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(20,580)	(20,580)
Transfers:	270	(1,078)	808	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	378	(378)	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(108)	-	108	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(700)	700	-
Remeasurement	5,349	1,823	18,443	25,615
Exchange and other differences	(6)	(2)	1,474	1,466
As at 31 December 2020	16,008	3,836	15,005	34,849

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

22.3 Movements of gross carrying amount and ECL allowance (Continued)

Movements of gross carrying amount - Loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2021	203,706	6,691	95	210,492
Addition, net	(22,530)	(3,020)	303	(25,247)
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(368)	(368)
Transfers:	(1)	_	1	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(1)	-	1	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Changes in the fair value	(150)	_	(21)	(171)
As at 31 December 2021	181,025	3,671	10	184,706

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2020	228,957	6,404	53	235,414
Addition, net	(18,373)	(6,209)	(134)	(24,716)
Written-offs and disposals	_	-	(34)	(34)
Transfers:	(6,833)	6,603	230	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(6,763)	6,763	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(70)	-	70	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(160)	160	-
Changes in the fair value	(45)	(107)	(20)	(172)
As at 31 December 2020	203,706	6,691	95	210,492

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income:

	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	878	47	362	1,287
Addition/(Reversal), net	34	(47)	(2)	(15)
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(368)	(368)
Transfers:	(84)	64	20	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(64)	64	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(20)	-	20	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Remeasurement	109	(16)	80	173
Exchange and other differences	_	_	(4)	(4)
As at 31 December 2021	937	48	88	1,073

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

22.3 Movements of gross carrying amount and ECL allowance (Continued)

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2020	839	205	289	1,333
Addition/(Reversal), net	(10)	(121)	(32)	(163)
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(34)	(34)
Transfers:	(114)	(42)	156	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(75)	75	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(39)	-	39	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(117)	117	-
Remeasurement	163	5	(17)	151
As at 31 December 2020	878	47	362	1,287

22.4 Overdue loans analysed by security type

		As	s at 31 December 2021		
	Overdue within three months	Overdue between three months and one year	Overdue between one year and three years	Overdue over three years	Total
Unsecured loans	10,351	10,096	5,215	1,035	26,697
Guaranteed loans	3,315	7,693	6,853	2,364	20,225
Collateralised and other secured loans	9,498	11,644	15,096	4,002	40,240
Including: Loans secured by collateral	7,729	8,925	12,324	3,419	32,397
Pledged loans	1,769	2,719	2,772	583	7,843
Total	23,164	29,433	27,164	7,401	87,162

As at 31 December 2020

		Overdue between	Overdue between		
	Overdue within	three months and	one year and three	Overdue over three	
	three months	one year	years	years	Total
Unsecured loans	8,850	13,686	694	217	23,447
Guaranteed loans	5,867	8,904	12,222	1,415	28,408
Collateralised and other secured loans	10,763	11,555	13,000	3,030	38,348
Including: Loans secured by collateral	8,640	9,825	10,661	2,856	31,982
Pledged loans	2,123	1,730	2,339	174	6,366
Total	25,480	34,145	25,916	4,662	90,203

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Financial investments at amortised cost		
- Listed in Hong Kong	13,474	7,743
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	2,044,176	1,864,919
- Unlisted	120,387	121,740
Accrued interest	27,958	28,177
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(2,958)	(3,050)
Total	2,203,037	2,019,529
Financial investments at FVOCI		
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	168,690	161,286
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	417,119	435,675
- Unlisted	73,382	120,306
Accrued interest	6,276	6,606
Subtotal	665,467	723,873
Equity investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	3,238	158
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	5,755	3,473
- Unlisted	7,269	7,716
Subtotal	16,262	11,347
Total	681,729	735,220

The Group designates part of non-trading equity investments as financial investments measured at FVOCI.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB615 million (for the year ended 31 December 2020: RMB49 million).

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Bond investments at amortised cost	0. 2000201	0 : D000:::::01:0
- Governments and central banks	1,922,479	1,710,428
- Banks and other financial institutions	117,156	148,404
- Corporate entities	47,035	29,983
- Public sector entities	21,201	21,979
Total	2,107,871	1,910,794
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Governments and central banks	304,365	340,723
- Banks and other financial institutions	254,601	304,690
- Corporate entities	101,931	75,084
- Public sector entities	4,570	3,376
Total	665,467	723,873

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The movements in the gross carrying amount of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2021	2,013,336	8,449	794	2,022,579
New financial assets originated or purchased	529,086	1,219	2,481	532,786
Financial assets derecognised during the year	(344,577)	(1,844)	(2,025)	(348,446)
Transfers:	1,550	(3,575)	2,025	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	1,550	(1,550)	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(2,025)	2,025	-
Changes in accrual interest	(222)	(12)	14	(220)
Exchange differences	(704)	_	_	(704)
As at 31 December 2021	2,198,469	4,237	3,289	2,205,995

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2020	1,930,072	1,497	1,383	1,932,952
New financial assets originated or purchased	408,635	-	-	408,635
Financial assets derecognised during the year	(317,005)	(5)	(615)	(317,625)
Transfers:	(6,956)	6,956	_	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(6,956)	6,956	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		-	-	-
Changes in accrual interest	(414)	1	26	(387)
Exchange differences	(996)	_	_	(996)
As at 31 December 2020	2,013,336	8,449	794	2,022,579

The movements in the gross carrying amount of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2021	723,523	278	72	723,873
New financial assets originated or purchased	362,679	_	_	362,679
Financial assets derecognised during the year	(411,717)	(553)	(39)	(412,309)
Transfers:	(4,006)	4,006	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(4,006)	4,006	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Changes in accrual interest	(368)	41	(4)	(331)
Exchange differences	(6,694)	_	_	(6,694)
Changes in fair value	(1,751)	_	_	(1,751)
As at 31 December 2021	661,666	3,772	29	665,467

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
As at 1 January 2020	660,711	_	_	660,711
New financial assets originated or purchased	429,354	_	-	429,354
Financial assets derecognised during the year	(356,820)	-	-	(356,820)
Transfers:	(350)	278	72	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(278)	278	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(72)	-	72	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Changes in accrual interest	147	_	_	147
Exchange differences	(10,513)	-	-	(10,513)
Changes in fair value	994	-	-	994
As at 31 December 2020	723,523	278	72	723,873

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	1,844	682	524	3,050
Addition/(Reversal), net	45	19	91	155
Transfer out	_	258	(223)	35
Written-offs	_	_	_	_
Recovery after written-offs	_	_	_	_
Transfers:	274	(673)	399	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	274	(274)	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	(399)	399	-
Remeasurement	(465)	85	101	(279)
Exchange differences	(3)	_	_	(3)
As at 31 December 2021	1,695	371	892	2,958

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2020	2,455	178	630	3,263
Addition/(Reversal), net	(602)	-	(26)	(628)
Transfer out	-	-	(83)	(83)
Written-offs	-	-	-	-
Recovery after written-offs	-	-	-	-
Transfers:	(191)	191		
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(191)	191	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Remeasurement	183	313	3	499
Exchange differences	(1)	_	_	(1)
As at 31 December 2020	1,844	682	524	3,050

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	670	11	563	1,244
Addition/(Reversal), net	(4)	_	_	(4)
Transfer out	_	(11)	(116)	(127)
Written-offs	_	_	_	_
Recovery after written-offs	_	_	_	_
Transfers:	(9)	9	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(9)	9	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Remeasurement	(111)	1	27	(83)
Exchange differences	9	_	(18)	(9)
As at 31 December 2021	555	10	456	1,021

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2020	660	_	393	1,053
Addition/(Reversal), net	84	-	-	84
Transfer out	-	-	(27)	(27)
Written-offs	-	-	-	_
Recovery after written-offs	-	-	-	_
Transfers:	(28)	3	25	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(3)	3	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(25)	-	25	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Remeasurement	31	8	193	232
Exchange differences	(77)	_	(21)	(98)
As at 31 December 2020	670	11	563	1,244

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

24.1 Details of the principal subsidiaries

Non-et-Little	Legal representative/		Not on the Pro-	No. of contrast	Place of	Nature of			Proportion of shares held		
Name of subsidiaries Princ	Principal	Principal Registered capital Nati	nature of entity	Nature of entity Place of operation	registration	business	Principal business	Direct			
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Zhao Jiong	RMB14,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment	
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment	
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 8 Century Avenue, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment	
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Zhang Hongliang	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment	
BoCom International Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as BoCom Securities Company Limited)	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 68 Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment	
China BoCom Insurance Co., Ltd. (formerly known as China Communications Insurance Company Limited)	FENG WANG	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment	
Dayi BoCom Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Sun Jian	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 168-170 Central Fumin Road, Dayi County, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment	
Zhejiang Anji BoCom Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Tower 1, Changshuo Square, Changshuo Street, Anji County, Huzhou City, Zheijang Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment	
Xinjiang Shihezi BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Yang Xiaohui	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	No. 127 Dongyi Road, Shihezi, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment	
Qingdao Laoshan BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Room 101, Building 1, No. 156 Shenzhen Road, Laoshan District, Qingdao, Shandong	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment	
Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	7 Rue de la Chapelle, L-1325 Luxembourg, Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment	
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Zheng Zhiyang	RMB10,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment	
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Wu Ye	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment	

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

24.1 Details of the principal subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proportion of shar	es held	Means of acquisition
			,					Direct	Indirect	
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Tu Hong	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda	Sun Xu	BRL533,377,877	Foreign legal entity	Rua Voluntários daPátria, 89 - 1st floor - room 103 and 104, Botafogo, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Brazil	Non-financial industry	Investment	100.00	-	Establishment
BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.	Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL313,686,111	Foreign legal entity	Av Barão de Tefé, 34- 20th, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 20220-460	Brazil	Financial industry	Commercial banking	-	80.00	Investment

As at 31 December 2021, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

24.2 Auditors of subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2021, PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited was the auditor of all principal subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong (for the year ended 31 December 2020: PricewaterhouseCoopers).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, PricewaterhouseCoopers ZhongTian LLP was the auditor of all principal subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (for the year ended 31 December 2020: PricewaterhouseCoopers ZhongTian Certified Public Accountants LLP).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited was audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative (for the year ended 31 December 2020: PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, BoCom Brazil Holding Company Ltda and BANCO Bocom BBM S.A. were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP(for the year ended 31 December 2020: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP).

25 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	4,062	3,312
Share of net profit of associates for the year	1,599	1,328
Share of other equity changes of associates for the year	93	77
Dividend income	(204)	(147)
Subtotal	5,550	4,570
Investments in joint ventures	229	111
Total	5,779	4,681

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 9.01%).

There are 14 directors at the Board of Directors of Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., of which 3 directors were nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the Group is able to exert significant influence on such company, so such company is accounted for as an associate.

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 10.60%).

There are 11 directors at the Board of Directors of Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd., of which 3 directors were nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the Group is able to exert significant influence on such company, so such company is accounted for as an associate.

26 PROPERTY AND FOUIPMENT

			Equipment And			
		Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	Property	
	Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	improvement	Total
Cost						
As at 1 January 2021	62,743	3,369	26,655	136,705	9,654	239,126
Additions	36	1,351	3,486	16,758	200	21,831
Disposals	(422)	_	(2,687)	(9,596)	(150)	(12,855)
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	1,334	(1,727)	-	-	393	_
Transfer in from investment properties	899	_	-	-	_	899
Transfer into investment properties	_	_	-	-	_	_
Other transfers out	_	(30)	_	_	_	(30)
As at 31 December 2021	64,590	2,963	27,454	143,867	10,097	248,971
Accumulated depreciation						
As at 1 January 2021	(20,459)	_	(20,679)	(21,241)	(6,485)	(68,864)
Charge for the year	(2,007)	_	(2,242)	(6,738)	(731)	(11,718)
Disposals	183	_	2,592	2,430	104	5,309
Transfer into investment properties	_	_	_	_	_	_
As at 31 December 2021	(22,283)		(20,329)	(25,549)	(7,112)	(75,273)
Allowance for impairment losses						
As at 1 January 2021	_	(16)	_	(775)	_	(791)
Provision for impairment	_	_	_	(1,981)	_	(1,981)
Decrease	_	_	_	268	_	268
As at 31 December 2021	_	(16)	_	(2,488)	_	(2,504)
Net book value						
As at 31 December 2021	42,307	2,947	7,125	115,830	2,985	171,194

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the net book value of the aircrafts and vessels used as collateral for borrowings was RMB57,988 million (31 December 2020: RMB58,496 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the property and equipment with re-registration procedure not completed amounted to RMB198 million (31 December 2020: RMB198 million). However, this registration process does not affect the rights of the Bank to these assets.

			Equipment And			
		Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	Property	
	Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	improvement	Total
Cost						
As at 1 January 2020	61,764	2,625	26,034	133,756	9,378	233,557
Additions	70	1,870	2,822	18,424	98	23,284
Disposals	(293)	-	(2,201)	(15,475)	(156)	(18,125)
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	616	(950)	-	-	334	-
Transfer in from investment properties	589	-	-	-	-	589
Transfer into investment properties	(3)	-	-	-	-	(3)
Other transfers out	-	(176)	_	-	-	(176)
As at 31 December 2020	62,743	3,369	26,655	136,705	9,654	239,126
Accumulated depreciation						
As at 1 January 2020	(18,678)	-	(20,644)	(16,876)	(5,824)	(62,022)
Charge for the year	(1,982)	-	(2,027)	(6,882)	(783)	(11,674)
Disposals	200	-	1,992	2,517	122	4,831
Transfer into investment properties	1		_	_	_	1
As at 31 December 2020	(20,459)		(20,679)	(21,241)	(6,485)	(68,864)
Allowance for impairment losses						
As at 1 January 2020	-	(16)	-	(340)	-	(356)
Provision for impairment	-	-	-	(485)	-	(485)
Decrease	_		_	50	-	50
As at 31 December 2020	_	(16)	-	(775)	_	(791)
Net book value						
As at 31 December 2020	42,284	3,353	5,976	114,689	3,169	169,471

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December 2020: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2020: 16.5%).

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 31 De	cember 2021	As at 31 Dec	ember 2020
	Deductible/		Deductible/	
	(Taxable)	Deferred income	(Taxable)	Deferred income
	temporary	tax assets/	temporary	tax assets/
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)
Deferred income tax liabilities				
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(6,240)	(1,560)	(6,272)	(1,568)
Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities				
at FVPL	(3,464)	(866)	(3,724)	(931)
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	(39,220)	(9,667)	(54,212)	(13,648)
Changes in fair value of investment properties	(3,020)	(755)	(2,836)	(709)
Others	(6,764)	(1,691)	(3,014)	(754)
	(58,708)	(14,539)	(70,058)	(17,610)
Deferred income tax assets				
Allowance for impairment of assets	119,972	29,993	101,480	25,370
Provisions	9,672	2,418	8,672	2,168
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	5,132	1,283	4,292	1,073
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	36,074	9,250	55,942	13,740
Others	7,067	1,767	7,885	1,964
	177,917	44,711	178,271	44,315
Net deferred income tax assets	119,209	30,172	108,213	26,705

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Deferred income tax assets	32,061	27,991
Deferred income tax liabilities	(1,889)	(1,286)
	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Net opening balance	26,705	23,147
Including: Deferred income tax assets	44,315	33,452
Deferred income tax liabilities	(17,610)	(10,305)
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in the current		
period/ year	3,863	2,599
Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in the		
current period/year	(396)	959
Net ending balance	30,172	26,705
Including: Deferred income tax assets	44,711	44,315
Deferred income tax liabilities	(14,539)	(17,610)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 OTHER ASSETS

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Accounts receivable and temporary payments	66,062	44,950
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (a)	(3,265)	(2,764)
Advance payments	16,328	11,865
Investment properties (b)	6,340	7,353
Right-of-use assets (c)	6,777	6,669
Precious metal	4,878	10,631
Interest receivable (1)	4,250	3,784
Land use rights and others	2,077	2,057
Intangible assets (d)	1,797	1,550
Long-term deferred expenses	721	599
Foreclosed assets	1,030	967
Goodwill (e)	395	401
Refundable deposits	458	466
Unsettled assets	31	33
Others	6,738	6,104
	114,617	94,665

Note 1: The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(a) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at 1 January 2021	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers (in)/	Recoveries after written-	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2021
Other receivables and prepayments	(2,764)	(2,137)	1,020	1,111	(356)	(140)	1	(3,265)
	As at 1 January 2020	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers (in)/	Recoveries after written- offs	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2020
Other receivables and prepayments	(2,717)	(1,972)	1,117	929	-	(107)	(14)	(2,764)

(b) Investment properties

		Increases/			
	As at	(Decreases) of the	Gains on property	Exchange	As at
	1 January 2021	year	revaluation	differences	31 December 2021
Investment properties	7,353	(899)	183	(297)	6,340
		Increases/			
	As at	(Decreases) of the	Gains on property	Exchange	As at
	1 January 2020	year	revaluation	differences	31 December 2020
Investment properties	7,894	(577)	180	(144)	7,353

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(b) Investment properties (Continued)

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices of the similar properties.

As at 31 December 2021, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

				As at
				31 December
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2021
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	-	-	770	770
Commercial property units located outside Hong Kong	-	-	5,570	5,570

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Direct Comparison Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, capitalisation rate and unit price.

(c) Right-of-use assets

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Cost		
Opening balance	13,693	13,513
Additions	2,946	3,030
Decreases	(2,659)	(2,850)
As at the end of the year	13,980	13,693
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,024)	(6,992)
Additions	(2,416)	(2,445)
Decreases	2,237	2,413
As at the end of the year	(7,203)	(7,024)
Net book value	6,777	6,669
Lease liabilities	6,640	6,532

As at 31 December 2021, committed by leases but not yet commenced amount to RMB158 million (as at 31 December 2020: RMB136 million).

The Group's right-of-use assets include the above assets and land use rights.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(d) Intangible assets

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2021	3,888
Additions	633
Transfers in	-
Disposals	(17)
As at 31 December 2021	4,504
Accumulated amortisation	
As at 1 January 2021	(2,338)
Amortisation expense	(376)
Transfers in	-
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2021	(2,707)
Net book value	1,797

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2020	3,386
Additions	522
Transfers in	-
Disposals	(20)
As at 31 December 2020	3,888
Accumulated amortisation	
As at 1 January 2020	(2,018)
Amortisation expense	(326)
Transfers in	-
Disposals	6
As at 31 December 2020	(2,338)
Net book value	1,550

(e) Goodwill

	As at	Addition during the	Decrease during	Exchange	As at
	1 January 2021	year	the year	differences	31 December 2021
Bank of Communications International					
Trust Co., Ltd.	200	_	-	-	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company					
Limited	122	-	-	-	122
BANCO Bocom BBM S.A.	79	_	-	(6)	73
Total	401	_	_	(6)	395

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(e) Goodwill (Continued)

	As at	Addition during the	Decrease during	Exchange	As at
	1 January 2020	year	the year	differences	31 December 2020
Bank of Communications International					
Trust Co., Ltd.	200	-	-	-	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company					
Limited	122	-	-	-	122
BANCO Bocom BBM S.A.	108	_		(29)	79
Total	430	-	-	(29)	401

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

29 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Borrowing from central banks	334,794	472,460
Accrued interest	4,564	6,285
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	242,492	200,025
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	11,871	28,084
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	831,784	664,299
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	6,810	9,548
Accrued interest	3,683	3,002
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	284,232	164,583
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	170,980	153,341
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	2,364	2,500
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	8,583	9,124
Accrued interest	860	1,019
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities		
- Governments	9,782	9,706
- Policy banks	801	3,283
- Financial institutions	32,411	25,515
- Corporates	1,716	9,312
Bills	_	25,363
Accrued interest	41	42
Total	1,947,768	1,787,491

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Short position of securities held for trading	134	-
Certificates of deposit issued	1,400	7,868
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	15,247	16,104
Notes issued	1,385	417
Others(a)	31,882	4,890
Total	50,048	29,279

As at 31 December 2021, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

Except for certificates of deposit issued by branch in Hong Kong, notes issued by BoCom International Holdings Company Limited, and shares of consolidated structured entities held by other parties rather than the Group which are designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial liabilities held for trading.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Difference between carrying amount and maturity amount		
Fair values	34,667	13,175
Amount payable at maturity	34,709	12,962
	(42)	213

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and the year ended 31 December 2020, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

31 DUE TO CUSTOMERS

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Corporate demand deposits	2,061,672	2,005,934
Corporate time deposits	2,488,348	2,335,590
Personal demand deposits	850,831	812,534
Personal time deposits	1,551,981	1,379,697
Other deposits	3,359	5,499
Due to customers	6,956,191	6,539,254
Accrued interest	83,586	68,076
Total	7,039,777	6,607,330
Including:		
Deposits pledged as collateral	220,878	229,546

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by the Bank's domestic branches, branches in Macau, Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Sydney, London and Luxembourg, Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited and BANCO Bocom BBM S.A., which were measured at amortised cost.

33 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Carried at amortised cost:			
Subordinated bonds			
The Bank	33.1	_	25,950
Subsidiaries	33.1	4,800	_
Tier-2 capital bonds			
The Bank	33.2	139,971	113,945
Subsidiaries	33.2	8,371	1,995
Bonds			
The Bank	33.3	256,571	251,580
Subsidiaries	33.3	75,501	85,767
Accrued interest		6,158	5,145
Subtotal		491,372	484,382
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds			
The Bank	33.3	12,153	13,373
Total		503,525	497,755

Note: Debt securities issued are designated as fair value through profit or loss upon initiation as the Hong Kong branch of the Bank considers such designation could eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise result from measuring the corresponding derivative assets or recognising the gains or losses on them on different basis. Accordingly, the debts are designated as fair value through profit or loss with changes in fair values charged to profit and loss account. For the year ended 31 December 2021 and the year ended 31 December 2020, there were no significant changes that were attributable to the Group's changes in credit risks.

33.1 Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

				Par value					Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	Ending balance	balance
11 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	5.75	26,000	2011/10/21	15 years	(a)	-	25,950
Subtotal								-	25,950
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(b)	3,000	-
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(c)	1,800	
Subtotal								4,800	
Total								4,800	25,950

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

33.1 Subordinated bonds (Continued)

- The Group has redeemed full face value of 11 BoComm 01 by exercising redemption option on 24 October 2021.
- BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem 21 Insurance 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and CBIRC is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.
- BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem 21 Insurance 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and CBIRC is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.

33.2 Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

				Par value					Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	Ending balance	balance
The Bank									
14 BoComm 01-Euro	EUR	Hong Kong China	3.625	500	2014/10/03	12 years	(a)	-	3,984
17 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	4.50	30,000	2017/04/11	10 years	(b)	29,978	29,973
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(C)	29,998	29,993
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Mainland China	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(d)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(e)	39,996	39,996
21 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(f)	30,000	
Subtotal								139,971	113,945
Subsidiaries									
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	5.15	2,000	2018/09/18	10 years	(g)	1,996	1,995
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(h)	6,375	
Subtotal								8,371	1,995
Total								148,342	115,940

- The Group has redeemed full face value of 14 BoComm 01-Euro by exercising redemption option on 3 October 2021.
- The Group has an option to redeem 17 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 13 April 2022, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

33.2 Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 18 Leasing 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 20 September 2023, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

33.3 Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

			Coupon	Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
The Bank								
16 BoComm Green Financial bond 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.25	20,000	2016/11/18	5 years	-	20,000
18 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB	Mainland China	3.79	10,000	2018/11/28	3 years	-	10,000
19 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	50,000	2019/11/25	3 years	50,000	50,000
19 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	40,000	2019/12/11	3 years	40,000	40,000
20 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.18	50,000	2020/08/05	3 years	50,000	50,000
20 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.50	40,000	2020/11/11	3 years	40,000	40,000
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB	Mainland China	3.40	40,000	2021/04/06	3 years	40,000	-
14 Formosa Bond C	RMB	Taiwan China	4.15	500	2014/06/23	7 years	-	500
17 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.88	300	2017/05/15	5 years	1,912	1,957
17 medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.90	600	2017/12/04	5 years	3,825	3,915
18 medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.75	600	2018/05/17	3 years	-	3,915
18 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.85	700	2018/05/17	5 years	4,462	4,567
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.25	2,800	2020/01/22	2 years	2,289	2,357
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.58	1,300	2020/01/22	3 years	8,287	8,482
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.75	100	2020/06/05	3 years	637	651
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.8	650	2020/07/20	3 years	4,143	4,241
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.9	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,550	2,610
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,084	5,199
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.8	350	2020/09/10	3 years	2,231	2,284
21 Macau PA-medium-term notes	MOP	Macau China	0.85	1,200	2021/12/15	2 years	951	-

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

33.3 Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

	0	laava alaaa	Coupon	Par value	laana data	Matouito	Ending	Opening
D. C.	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
P14JHTP1C	RMB	Taiwan China	3.90	700	2014/12/04	7 years	-	702
P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	200	200
Subtotal							256,571	251,580
Subsidiaries								
13 Azure Orbit	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	500	2013/03/06	10 years	3,187	3,260
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	2.625	600	2016/03/15	5 years	-	3,914
3 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	3.50	300	2018/01/25	3 years	-	1,957
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	950	2018/01/25	5 years	6,047	6,179
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,580	1,614
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110%SELIC	200	2019/01/30	5 years	46	48
16 Leasing 03	RMB	Mainland China	3.25	500	2016/09/07	5 years	-	449
18 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.53	4,000	2018/07/05	3 years	-	3,998
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	4.14	4,000	2018/10/22	3 years	_	3,997
19 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.68	5,000	2019/05/20	3 years	4,998	4,994
19 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	5,000	2019/07/08	3 years	4,998	4,994
19 Leasing 03	RMB	Mainland China	3.49	3,500	2019/10/22	3 years	3,498	3,495
20 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	3,000	2020/11/05	3 years	2,996	2,915
21 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.62	4,000	2021/03/01	3 years	3,993	_
21 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.45	3,000	2021/04/22	3 years	2,625	_
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	2.625	1,000	2016/10/25	5 years	_	6,514
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	3.50	1,050	2017/03/21	5 years	6,692	6,843
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,589	1,626
19 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	800	2019/01/22	3 years	3,693	3,726
19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	2,766	2,713
19 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.20	120	2019/04/12	3 years	765	783
19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.175	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,129	1,319
19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	723	767
19 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.05	180	2019/10/25	3 years	1,148	1,174
19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.075	600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,585	1,773
20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.95	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,710	2,021
20 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.83	300	2020/03/02	3 years	1,492	1,602
20 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	1.750	350	2020/07/08	3 years	1,515	1,650
20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.70	450	2020/07/08	5 years	1,348	1,457
21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.125	500	2021/06/16	3 years	1,865	-,
21 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	1.07	100	2021/09/27	3 years	634	_
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	2,890	_
20 Financial Investing 01	RMB	Mainland China	2.70	3,000	2020/03/11	3 years	2,999	2,997
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,990	6,988
Subtotal	TIND	amara omia	2.00	1,000	2020/00/11	0 10010	75,501	85,767
Total							332,072	337,347

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

33.3 Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows:

							Fair value at	Fair value at
			Coupon	Par value			the end of the	the beginning
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	period	of the period
14 Hong Kong bond	HKD	Hong Kong China	4.00	500	2014/02/14	7 years	-	428
19 Hong Kong RMB medium-term notes	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.40	2,500	2019/03/21	2 years	-	2,526
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	3,027	3,157
19 Hong Kong USD medium-term notes	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.78	800	2019/03/21	3 years	5,106	5,226
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	2,000	2020/01/22	2 years	2,034	2,036
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	0.95	1,200	2021/12/13	2 years	980	-
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	1,006	-
Total							12,153	13,373

34 OTHER LIABILITIES

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Insurance liabilities	74,493	58,842
Clearing and settlement	24,056	31,482
Temporary receipts	16,015	23,212
Staff compensation payable	14,401	11,591
Deposits received for finance lease	6,842	6,893
Lease liabilities	6,640	6,532
Provision for outstanding litigations (a)	472	1,032
Expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial		
guarantees (b)	9,242	10,500
VAT and other taxes payable	5,639	4,208
Special purpose funding	2,108	2,571
Dividends payable	81	124
Others	52,706	44,835
Total	212,695	201,822

(a) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

				Amounts		As at
	As at	Amounts accrued	Amounts settled	reversed during	Exchange	31 December
	1 January 2021	during the year	during the year	the year	differences	2021
Provision for outstanding litigations	1,032	99	(361)	(298)	-	472
				Amounts		As at
	As at	Amounts accrued	Amounts settled	reversed during	Exchange	31 December
	1 January 2020	during the year	during the year	the year	differences	2020
Provision for outstanding litigations	1,029	120	(29)	(88)	-	1,032

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Tabel
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	6,858	3,642	_	10,500
Addition	1,200	(65)	_	1,135
Transfer out	-	(3,244)	_	(3,244)
Transfers:	(37)	37	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(37)	37	-	-
Remeasurement	725	138	_	863
Exchange differences	(10)	(2)	_	(12)
As at 31 December 2021	8,736	506	-	9,242

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2020	5,358	974	-	6,332
Addition	1,443	2,261	-	3,704
Transfer out	(35)	(651)	_	(686)
Transfers:	(928)	928	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(928)	928	-	-
Remeasurement	1,037	133	_	1,170
Exchange differences	(17)	(3)	_	(20)
As at 31 December 2020	6,858	3,642	_	10,500

35 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS

	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 31 December 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428

	Number of shares	Ordinary shares	Capital surplus
	(in millions)	of RMB1 each	
As at 1 January 2020	74,263	74,263	113,663
As at 31 December 2020	74,263	74,263	111,428

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

				As at
	As at			31 December
	1 January 2021	Additions	Reductions	2021
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	658	_	-	658
Total	111,428	-	-	111,428

				As at
	As at			31 December
	1 January 2020	Additions	Reductions	2020
Share premium	113,005	_	(2,235)	110,770
Other capital reserve	658		-	658
Total	113,663	_	(2,235)	111,428

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

36.1 Preference shares

36.1.1 Preference shares outstanding at the end of the period

					ili original				
	Accounting	Dividend			currency (in	In RMB (in		Conversion	
Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	Amount in shares	millions)	millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/ share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity date	Mandatory	No conversion during the period
				Total		45,000			
				Less: Issuance fees		(48)			
				Carrying amount		44,952			
	2 September	Issue date classification 2 September Equity	Issue date classification rate % 2 September Equity 4.07	Issue date classification rate % Issue price 2 September Equity 4.07 RMB100/	Issue date classification rate % Issue price Amount in shares 2 September 2016 Equity 4.07 RMB100/ share 450,000,000 Total Items: Issuance fees	Issue date Accounting classification Dividend rate % Issue price Amount in shares currency (in millions) 2 September 2016 Equity 4.07 RMB100/ share 450,000,000 45,000 Total Less: Issuance fees	Issue dateAccounting classificationDividend rate %Issue priceAmount in sharescurrency (in millions)In RMB (in millions)2 September 2016Equity4.07RMB100/ share450,000,00045,00045,000Total45,000Less: Issuance fees(48)	Issue date Accounting classification Dividend rate % rate % Issue price Issue price Amount in shares Millions currency (in millions) In RMB (in millions) Maturity 2 September 2016 Equity 4.07 RMB100/ share 450,000,000 45,000 45,000 No maturity date Total 45,000 Less: Issuance fees (48)	Issue date Accounting classification Dividend rate % rate % lssue price Amount in shares currency (in millions) In RMB (in millions) Maturity Conversion condition 2 September 2016 Equity 4.07 RMB100/ share 450,000,000 45,000 45,000 No maturity date Mandatory Total 45,000 45,000 Less: Issuance fees (48)

36.1.2Movements of preference shares issued

Movements

				As at
	As at			31 December
	1 January 2021	Additions	Decreases	2021
Domestic reference shares				
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	-	-	450,000,000
In RMB(millions)	44,952	-	-	44,952

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36.1 Preference shares (Continued)

36.1.3 Main clauses

Domestic preference shares

(a) Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding (2)off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

(b) Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

(c) Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

(d) Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36.1 Preference shares (Continued)

36.1.3Main clauses (Continued)

Domestic preference shares (Continued)

(d) Order of distribution and liquidation method (Continued)

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

(e) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the CBIRC approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 2 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

36.2 Perpetual bonds

36.2.1Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the period

		Original			In original		
	Accounting	interest			currency	In RMB	
Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	Amount in shares	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity
20 September 2019	Equity	4.20	RMB100/ bond	400,000,000	40,000	40,000	No fixed maturity date
25 September 2020	Equity	4.59	RMB100/ bond	300,000,000	30,000	30,000	No fixed maturity date
10 June 2021	Equity	4.06	RMB100/ bond	415,000,000	41,500	41,500	No fixed maturity date
18 November 2020	Equity	3.80	USD 200,000/ bond	14,000	2,800	18,366	No fixed maturity date
				Total		129,866	
				Less: Issuance fees		(28)	
				Carrying amount		129,838	
	20 September 2019 25 September 2020 10 June 2021	Issue date classification 20 September 2019 Equity 25 September 2020 Equity 10 June 2021 Equity	Issue date Accounting classification interest rate % 20 September 2019 Equity 4.20 25 September 2020 Equity 4.59 10 June 2021 Equity 4.06	Issue dateAccounting classificationinterest rate %Issue price20 September 2019Equity4.20RMB100/ bond25 September 2020Equity4.59RMB100/ bond10 June 2021Equity4.06RMB100/ bond	Issue date Accounting classification interest rate % Issue price Amount in shares 20 September 2019 Equity 4.20 RMB100/ bond 400,000,000 25 September 2020 Equity 4.59 RMB100/ bond 300,000,000 10 June 2021 Equity 4.06 RMB100/ bond 415,000,000 18 November 2020 Equity 3.80 USD 200,000/ bond 14,000 Total Less: Issuance fees	Issue date Accounting classification interest rate % Issue price Amount in shares currency (in millions) 20 September 2019 Equity 4.20 RMB100/ bond 400,000,000 40,000 25 September 2020 Equity 4.59 RMB100/ bond 300,000,000 30,000 10 June 2021 Equity 4.06 RMB100/ bond 415,000,000 41,500 18 November 2020 Equity 3.80 USD 200,000/ bond 14,000 2,800 Total Less: Issuance fees	Issue date Accounting classification interest rate % Issue price Amount in shares currency (in millions) In RMB (in millions) 20 September 2019 Equity 4.20 RMB100/ bond 400,000,000 40,000 40,000 25 September 2020 Equity 4.59 RMB100/ bond 300,000,000 30,000 30,000 10 June 2021 Equity 4.06 RMB100/ bond 415,000,000 41,500 41,500 18 November 2020 Equity 3.80 USD 200,000/ bond 14,000 2,800 18,366 Total 129,866 Less: Issuance fees (28)

36.2.2Main clauses

(1) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40.0 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the issuance was completed on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Perpetual bonds (Continued)

36.2.2Main clauses (Continued)

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the CBIRC but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30.0 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the issuance was completed on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the issuance was completed on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Perpetual bonds (Continued)

36.2.2Main clauses (Continued)

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(3) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank has completed the issuance of the USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 18 November 2020. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the CBIRC, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds. Once the principal amount of the Bonds (in whole or in part) has been written-off, such relevant written-off portion of the bonds will not be restored or become payable again in any circumstances (including where the relevant Non-Viability Triggering Event ceases to continue), and any accrued but unpaid distribution in respect of such relevant written-off portion of the bonds shall cease to be payable. In addition, there will be no compensation in any form to remedy the loss of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	964,647	866,607
Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company	789,857	733,315
Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company	44,952	44,952
Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company	129,838	88,340
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	12,589	12,021
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	9,424	8,763
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of Non-cumulative Subordinated		
Additional Tier-1 Capital Securities (Note 39)	3,165	3,258

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 38.

37 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval. The Bank appropriate RMB6,897 million to the statutory surplus upon approval from the 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 29 June 2021.

				As at
	As at			31 December
The Group	1 January 2021	Appropriate	Decrease	2021
Statutory reserve	72,431	7,536	_	79,967
Discretionary reserve	139,930	92	-	140,022
Total	212,361	7,628	_	219,989

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20). The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Bank's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by local regulation requirements, also need to make such general reserve. The 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, held on 29 June 2021, considered and adopted the 2020 profit distribution scheme, which stipulates as follows:

				As at
	As at			31 December
The Group	1 January 2021	Appropriate	Decrease	2021
Statutory general reserve	123,163	7,117	_	130,280

The Bank appropriated RMB6,432 million to the statutory general reserve upon approval from the 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 29 June 2021, of which the overseas branches of the Bank have appropriated RMB11 million to statutory general reserve according to the requirement of local regulatory authorities in the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

37 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Revaluation reserve

The movements of revaluation reserve are set out below:

As at 31 December 2020	456
Changes in fair value recorded in equity	2,526
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss	(1,160)
Tax effects arising from components of other comprehensive income	(347)
Transferred from other comprehensive income	56
As at 31 December 2021	1,531
As at 31 December 2019	3,421
As at 31 December 2019 Changes in fair value recorded in equity	3,421 (2,452)
	*
Changes in fair value recorded in equity	(2,452)
Changes in fair value recorded in equity Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss	(2,452) (1,344)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

As at 1 January 2021	214,448
Profit for the year	87,581
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(7,536)
Appropriation to general reserve	(7,117)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(92)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(23,541)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(1,755)
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	(3,858)
Others	(56)
As at 31 December 2021	258,074
As at 1 January 2020	177,141
Profit for the year	78,274
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(7,534)
Appropriation to general reserve	(5,596)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(77)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(23,393)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(2,714)
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	(1,680)
Others	27
As at 31 December 2020	214,448

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

38 DIVIDENDS

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	23,541	23,393
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,755	2,714
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	3,858	1,680

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity.

The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 29 April 2021, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends on 7 September 2021 with a dividend yield of 3.9% (the actual dividend yield obtained by the preference shareholders), with total amount of RMB1,755 million.

Pursuant to the approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 29 June 2021, the Bank appropriated RMB6,432 million to the statutory general reserve. It was also resolved that a cash dividend of RMB0.317 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB23,541 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding (the par value per share is RMB1) as at 31 December 2020, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB801 million on 18 November 2021.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2019 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,680 million on 20 September 2021.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,377 million on 25 September 2021.

On 25 March 2022, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed to appropriate RMB7,522 million to the statutory reserve and RMB11,422 million to the statutory general reserve. A cash dividend of RMB0.355 (before tax) for each share, totalling RMB26,363 million, calculated based on the total number of shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares (RMB1 per share) as at 31 December 2021 was also proposed. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

39 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 31 December 2021, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3,165 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

3 March 2020 Issue Date USD500 million Face Value First Call Date 3 March 2025

Distribution Rate (i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum

(ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing

US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum

Frequency of distribution payments Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 Capital Securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB122 million during the year ended 31 December 2021.

40 CREDIT RELATED COMMITMENTS AND FINANCIAL GUARANTEES, OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Letters of guarantee	373,630	333,610
Letters of credit commitments	194,724	163,151
Acceptance bills	368,120	319,076
Credit card commitments	908,358	800,441
Loan commitments		
- Under 1 year	3,936	5,111
- 1 year and above	57,657	55,323
	1,906,425	1,676,712

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Contracted but not provided for	71,053	62,224

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

40 CREDIT RELATED COMMITMENTS AND FINANCIAL GUARANTEES, OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Operating lease commitments

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircraft and vessels leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft and vessel under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Within 1 year (inclusive)	13,186	13,074
Beyond 1 year but no more than 2 years (inclusive)	12,864	12,622
Beyond 2 years but no more than 3 years (inclusive)	12,269	12,220
Beyond 3 years but no more than 5 years (inclusive)	21,388	22,062
More than 5 years	38,879	36,562
	98,586	96,540

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The investors of Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds have early redemption right while the Group has the obligation to buy back those Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The redemption price is the principal value of the Certificated Bonds or Savings Bonds plus unpaid interest till redemption date. As at 31 December 2021, the principal value of the certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds that the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB78,594 million (31 December 2020: RMB81,548 million). The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds on a back-to-back basis but will pay interest and principal at maturity. The Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds through the Group will not be material.

The original maturities of these bonds vary from 1 to 5 years.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (31 December 2020: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 34. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Outstanding litigations	4,096	3,876
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 34)	472	1,032

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

41 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. All of these arrangements mature within 12 months from the date they take effect. The carrying amount of these collaterals and the balance of operations related are listed below:

	Pledged	d assets	Associated	d liabilities
	As at As at		As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Investment securities	382,640	520,254	326,776	456,210
Bills	3,531	28,854	3,531	28,854
Total	386,171	549,108	330,307	485,064

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 46 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for placements from banks by the Group as at 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB5,090 million in total (31 December 2020: RMB6,401 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

As part of the repurchase agreements, the Group has received securities that is allowed to sell or repledge in the absence of default by their owners. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had received securities with a fair value of RMB731 million on such terms(31 December 2020:Nil). As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group did not sell or repledge any collaterals received.

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 31 December 2021		
	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Loans and advances to customers - carried at FVOCI	43	(12)	31
Amount recognised in equity	614	(155)	459
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(571)	143	(428)
Debt investments at FVOCI	2,925	(571)	2,354
Amount recognised in equity	3,514	(718)	2,796
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(589)	147	(442)
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash			
flow hedges	516	(88)	428
Amount recognised in equity	1,133	(242)	891
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(617)	154	(463)
Translation difference on foreign operations	(3,450)	_	(3,450)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,830)	275	(1,555)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVPL	(36)	-	(36)
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	55	-	55
Others	16	_	16
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,761)	(396)	(2,157)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Loans and advances to customers - carried at FVOCI	(218)	54	(164)
Amount recognised in equity	26	(7)	19
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(244)	61	(183)
Debt investments at FVOCI	(2,122)	377	(1,745)
Amount recognised in equity	(1,022)	102	(920)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,100)	275	(825)
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash			
flow hedges	(676)	129	(547)
Amount recognised in equity	(1,761)	399	(1,362)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	1,085	(270)	815
Translation difference on foreign operations	(4,776)	_	(4,776)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,606)	402	(1,204)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVPL	7	_	7
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	(132)	_	(132)
Others	15	(3)	12
Other comprehensive income for the year	(9,508)	959	(8,549)

43 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Cash and balances with central banks	103,648	171,950
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	90,660	135,170
	194,308	307,120

44 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns. As at 31 December 2021, the consolidated structured entities amounted to RMB182,733 million (As at 31 December 2020, the consolidated structured entities amounted to RMB36,716 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through investments in structured entities or acting as sponsors of structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 31 December 2021, those structured entities sponsored by the Group consist primarily of funds, trusts, asset management products, limited partnerships, wealth management products with principals not guaranteed by the Group and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities. In addition, the Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2021, the balance of the non-principal guaranteed wealth management products set up by the Group amounted to RMB1,426,253 million (As at 31 December 2020: RMB1,211,959 million), the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB547,188 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB721,946 million(As at 31 December 2020: the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB339,871 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB843,540 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB11,775 million (For the year ended 31 December 2020: RMB9,856 million), and no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated wealth management products (For the year ended 31 December 2020: RMB1 million).

To achieve a smooth transition and steady development of the wealth management business, in 2021, in accordance with the requirements of the Guidance on Regulating the Asset Management Business of Financial Institutions, the Group has consistently promoted net worth transformation of its wealth management products and the disposal of existing portfolios, included part of the wealth management assets into the balance sheet from the wealth management products off the balance sheet, and measured them as debt investment at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 31 December 2021

	Financial investments at FVPL	Financial investments at FVOCI	Financial investments at amortised cost	Maximum exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	144,421	-	-	144,421	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	13,445	-	83,245	96,690	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Limited partnerships	3,317	620	-	3,937	Net gains arising from trading activities, net gains arising from financial investments
Securitisation products	63	-	134	197	Net interest income, Net gains arising from trading activities
Total	161,246	620	83,379	245,245	

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

The information of total size of the unconsolidated structured entities listed above is not readily available from the public domain.

As at 31 December 2020

		Carrying amount			
	Financial investments at FVPL	Financial investments at FVOCI	Financial investments at amortised cost	Maximum exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	243,980	-	-	243,980	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	3,956	-	101,599	105,555	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Limited partnerships	2,729	619	-	3,348	Net gains arising from trading activities, net gains arising from financial investments
Securitisation products	-	_	134	134	Net interest income
Total	250,665	619	101,733	353,017	

The information of total size of the unconsolidated structured entities listed above is not readily available from the public domain.

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

46.1 Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 29).

The following table provides a summary of carrying amounts related to the transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and the associated liabilities:

	Collaterals		Associated	d liabilities
	As at As at		As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Investment securities	_	2,020	_	1,806

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

46.2 Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB13,900 million (31 December 2020: RMB12,640 million).

46.3 Asset securitisation

The Group enters into securitisation transactions in the normal course of business by which it transfers credit assets to special purpose trusts which issue asset-backed securities to investors.

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

As at 31 December 2021, loans with an original value of RMB66,061 million and carrying amount of RMB56,834 million (31 December 2020: RMB53,492 million and RMB41,600 million) have been securitised by the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB13,927 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB15,272 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group retained their continued involvement in securitised credit assets by holding subordinated securities. The value of the assets that the Group continued to recognise was RMB5,529 million (31 December 2020: RMB4,275 million).

46.4 Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the normal course of business. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB12,853 million (31 December 2020: RMB18,806 million) and collected cash totalling RMB8,403 million (31 December 2020: RMB8,790 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with the MOF

As at 31 December 2021, the MOF held 17,732 million (31 December 2020: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2020: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with the MOF (Continued)

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Bonds issued by the MOF	974,910	801,187
	Year ended (31 December
	2021	2020
Interest income Net gains arising from trading activities	26,029 368	22,081 129

The interest rates of the transactions between the Group and MOF are summarised below:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	%	%_
Bonds issued by the MOF	0.13~5.06	0.13~5.32

Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 31 December 2021, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,160 million (31 December 2020: 12,160 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.37% (31 December 2020: 16.37%) of the total share capital.

The National Council for Social Security Fund was incorporated in August 2000, which is an independent legal entity under the management of the Ministry of Finance, responsible for managing and operating the national social security fund. Its legal representative is Liu Wei, its registered capital is RMB8.00 million and its registered address is South Fortune Times Building, No. 11 Fenghuiyuan, Xicheng District, Beijing. The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits which are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
Due to customers	92,373	87,356
	Year ended 3	31 December
	2021	2020
Interest expense	(3,703)	(3,523)

The interest rates of the transactions between the Group and the National Council for Social Security Fund are summarised below:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	%	%
Due to customers	3.50~5.20	3.85~5.30

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 31 December 2021, HSBC held 13,886 million (31 December 2020: 13,886 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 18.70% (31 December 2020: 18.70%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its Co-chief Executive Officer is Liao, Yi Chien David and Surendra Rosha, and its registered address is 1 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The ordinary share capital of HSBC is HKD116,103 million and USD7,198 million, which was divided into 46,441 million ordinary shares. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	3,338	11,328
Derivative financial assets	1,672	2,370
Financial investments at FVPL	1,931	2,709
Financial investments at amortised cost	419	432
Financial investments at FVOCI	4,052	3,354
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	17,083	8,261
Financial liabilities at FVPL	1,424	212
Derivative financial liabilities	1,613	2,963
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	240,864	192,032

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
Interest income	163	203
Interest expense	(95)	(202)
Fee and commission income	1	52
Fee and commission expense	(4)	(8)
Net gains/(losses) from trading activities	2,310	(264)

The interest rates of the transactions between the Group and HSBC are summarised below:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	%	%
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	0.0001~3.60	0.01~3.42
Financial investments at FVPL	0.98~6.00	1.49~6.00
Financial investments at amortised cost	3.26~4.74	3.26~4.74
Financial investments at FVOCI	(0.04)~4.95	0.002~4.95
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(0.40)~4.12	(0.24)~4.12
Financial liabilities at FVPL	0.46~0.69	0.50~0.70

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the period, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these stateowned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in note 24.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
The Bank	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	123,461	141,231
Loans and advances to customers	486	521
Financial investments at FVPL	433	891
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,551	1,240
Financial investments at FVOCI	11,455	8,986
Derivative financial assets	793	1,736
Other assets	766	808
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	14,523	16,236
Derivative financial liabilities	1,851	429
Due to customers	11,683	14,873
Debt securities issued	-	51
Other liabilities	119	97

	Year ended 31 December	
The Bank	2021	2020
Interest income	1,952	2,024
Interest expense	(238)	(377)
Fee and commission income	1,681	1,251
Fee and commission expense	(95)	(191)
Net gains arising from trading activities	818	138
Other operating income	555	570
Other operating expense	(82)	(184)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with subsidiaries (Continued)

The interest rates of the transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are summarised below:

Year	ended	31	Decem	ber
------	-------	----	-------	-----

The Peak	2021	2020
The Bank	%	%
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	0.01~6.40	0.01~5.69
Financial investments at FVPL	1.12~4.00	1.97~4.38
Financial investments at amortised cost	1.07~6.00	1.18~4.70
Financial investments at FVOCI	0.95~4.38	0.95~4.38
Loans and advances to customers	1.29~3.00	1.61~3.97
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(0.48)~2.95	0.01~4.50
Due to customers	0.04~4.00	0.70~4.18
Debt securities issued	5.75	5.75

Transactions with directors, supervisors and senior management

Transactions with directors, supervisors, senior management, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such directors, supervisors and senior management or their close relatives mainly include loans and deposits and are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Due to customers	10	6
Loans and advances to customers	1	1

Compensations of directors and senior management are disclosed in Note 15.

(g) Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in note 25.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2021	As at 31 December 2020
On-balance sheet items	0. 200020. 202.	0. Beechinger 2020
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	500	100
Derivative financial assets	31	7
Loans and advances to customers	6,041	4,767
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	104	44
Derivative financial liabilities	35	16
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	6,947	2,094
Credit related commitments(Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit)	12,126	10,337

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with associates and joint ventures (Continued)

	2021	2020
Interest income	242	195
Interest expense	(6)	(2)
Net losses from trading activities	(13)	(14)

The interest rates of the transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are summarised below:

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
	%	%
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	0.30~3.19	0.30~1.81
Loans and advances to customers	0.30~4.90	2.95~5.39
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	0.0001~0.35	0.01~1.55
Due to customers	0.75~2.03	0.30~1.89

Transactions with other related parties

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Loans and advances to customers	1,080	744
Financial investments at amortised cost	_	204
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	1,204	92
Due to customers	79,787	42,313

	Year ended 3	31 December
	2021	2020
Interest income	22	45
Interest expense	(2.543)	(1.593)

The interest rates of the transactions between the Group and other related parties are summarised below:

Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
	%	%
Loans and advances to customers	0.30~4.79	0.30~5.06
Financial investments at amortised cost	3.78	3.19~3.78
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	0.30~2.20	0.30~3.15
Due to customers	0.30~4.18	0.30~4.18

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

	As at 31 December	er 2021	As at 31 December	er 2020
	Balances	%	Balances	%
On-balance sheet items				
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	3,838	0.01	11,428	0.02
Derivative financial assets	1,703	4.34	2,377	4.38
Loans and advances to customers	7,122	0.11	5,512	0.10
Financial investments	981,312	27.85	807,886	24.96
Due to and placements from banks and other				
financial institutions	18,391	0.01	8,397	0.01
Financial liabilities at FVPL	1,424	2.85	212	0.72
Derivative financial liabilities	1,648	4.57	2,979	5.33
Due to customers	172,170	2.45	129,675	1.96
Off-balance sheet items				
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	247,811	3.48	194,126	3.51
Credit related commitments(Guarantees,				
acceptances and letters of credit)	12,126	0.64	10,337	0.62

	Year ended 31 Decer	mber 2021	Year ended 31 December 2020		
	Amount	%	Amount	%	
Interest income	26,456	7.01	22,524	6.10	
Interest expense	(6,347)	2.94	(5,320)	2.47	
Fee and commission income	1	-	52	0.11	
Fee and commission expense	(4)	0.08	(8)	0.19	
Net gains/(losses) from trading activities	2,665	0.11	(149)	Not applicable	

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The reportable geographical operating segments derive their revenue primarily from commercial banking services and investing activities, including deposits, loans, bills, trade financing, money market placements and takings, and securities investments, etc.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, and Anhui Province:
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province, and Shandong Province; (3)
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan Province, and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province, Shanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia Autonomous Region, and Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region;
- Northeastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province; (6)
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague, Johannesburg;
- Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre.

The revenue from external parties is reported to the Board of Directors and the senior management in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As the Group's major revenue is derived from interest, and the Board of Directors and the senior management relies primarily on net interest income to assess the performance of segments, the interest income and expenses for all reportable segments are presented on a net basis.

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the segment performance on the basis of profit before tax. Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information

				Year	ended 31 Decemb	er 2021			
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Bohai Rim Economic	Ocatual Ohioc	Wasters Obins	North Eastern	0	Hand Office	Tatal
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External interest income	74,720	34,117	36,732	47,925	32,359	10,039	18,082	123,672	377,646
External interest expense	(48,442)	(21,514)	(37,735)	(25,027)	(15,472)	(9,411)	(7,584)	(50,768)	(215,953)
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	21,275	6,424	24,200	7,087	1,800	5,192	18	(65,996)	-
Net interest income	47,553	19,027	23,197	29,985	18,687	5,820	10,516	6,908	161,693
Fee and commission income	14,540	3,652	5,739	5,803	3,064	1,238	2,488	15,761	52,285
Fee and commission expense	(2,941)	(39)	(77)	(101)	(26)	(18)	(233)	(1,277)	(4,712)
Net fee and commission income	11,599	3,613	5,662	5,702	3,038	1,220	2,255	14,484	47,573
Net gains arising from trading activities	7,031	376	380	659	1,824	12	(784)	13,846	23,344
Net gains arising from financial investments	849	-	27	-	-	18	589	(172)	1,311
Insurance business income	16,459	-	-	-	-	-	56	-	16,515
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	-	-	-	-	-	-	47	230	277
Other operating income	15,316	416	954	734	551	203	456	405	19,035
Total operating income -net	98,807	23,432	30,220	37,080	24,100	7,273	13,135	35,701	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(7,451)	(4,828)	(8,046)	(9,019)	(10,600)	(9,582)	(977)	(15,868)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,020)	(6)	(8)	(14)	(58)	(212)	-	(2)	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17,037)	-	-	-	-	-	(17)	-	(17,054)
Other operating expense	(26,518)	(6,571)	(8,854)	(9,125)	(5,922)	(3,378)	(4,372)	(25,304)	(90,044)
Profit before tax	45,781	12,027	13,312	18,922	7,520	(5,899)	7,769	(5,473)	93,959
Income tax									(5,020)
Net profit for the year									88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,814)	(909)	(1,133)	(1,116)	(954)	(498)	(469)	(1,206)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(17,500)	(660)	(494)	(864)	(488)	(265)	(141)	(2,535)	(22,947)

Year ended 31 December 2020

			Bohai Rim						
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern			
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External interest income	69,139	29,870	34,257	43,757	29,309	9,248	23,605	129,916	369,101
External interest expense	(47,044)	(19,874)	(35,346)	(23,741)	(15, 176)	(9,090)	(14,820)	(50,674)	(215,765)
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	23,063	6,369	21,884	7,625	2,324	5,189	19	(66,473)	-
Net interest income	45,158	16,365	20,795	27,641	16,457	5,347	8,804	12,769	153,336
Fee and commission income	11,724	3,370	5,173	5,560	3,001	1,154	2,802	16,514	49,298
Fee and commission expense	(2,137)	(47)	(71)	(69)	(25)	(19)	(226)	(1,618)	(4,212)
Net fee and commission income	9,587	3,323	5,102	5,491	2,976	1,135	2,576	14,896	45,086
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	3,443	171	253	485	57	16	(346)	9,765	13,844
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments	507	-	-	-	-	-	2,420	(1,750)	1,177
Insurance business income	15,103	-	-	-	-	-	67	-	15,170
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	-	-	-	-	-	-	50	172	222
Other operating income	14,321	495	1,218	629	497	174	285	270	17,889
Total operating income -net	88,119	20,354	27,368	34,246	19,987	6,672	13,856	36,122	246,724
Credit impairment losses	(7,443)	(4,301)	(7,287)	(10,201)	(1,679)	(3,028)	(1,156)	(26,964)	(62,059)
Other assets impairment losses	(486)	-	1	-	-	(4)	5	-	(484)
Insurance business expense	(15,699)	-	-	-	-	-	(30)	-	(15,729)
Other operating expense	(25,848)	(6,376)	(8,188)	(8,471)	(5,882)	(3,248)	(4,222)	(19,792)	(82,027)
Profit before tax	38,643	9,677	11,894	15,574	12,426	392	8,453	(10,634)	86,425
Income tax									(6,855)
Net profit for the year									79,570
	(4.770)	(000)	(1.11)	(4.000)	(0.45)	(400)	(100)	(4.070)	(7,000)
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,779)	(902)	(1,114)	(1,096)	(945)	(486)	(488)	(1,078)	(7,888)
Capital expenditure	(19,236)	(545)	(760)	(1,460)	(561)	(273)	(193)	(1,130)	(24,158)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

		As at 31 December 2021								
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic Zone	Central China	Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets	2,881,066	1,059,386	1,711,386	1,277,003	881,918	409,288	1,095,657	4,459,033	(2,141,041)	11,633,696
Including:										
Investments in associates and joint ventures	4	-		1		-	201	5,573	_	5,779
Unallocated assets										32,061
Total assets										11,665,757
Segment liabilities	(2,658,802)	(1,042,577)	(1,688,784)	(1,239,658)	(870,308)	(417,068)	(1,046,572)	(3,863,904)	2,141,041	(10,686,632)
Unallocated liabilities										(1,889)
Total liabilities										(10,688,521)

As	at :	31	Decem	ber	2020

	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic Zone	Central China	Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets	2,564,088	930,550	1,567,967	1,196,795	825,149	385,027	1,114,676	4,226,501	(2,141,128)	10,669,625
Including:										
Investments in associates and joint ventures	4	-	-	6	-	-	203	4,468	-	4,681
Unallocated assets										27,991
Total assets										10,697,616
Segment liabilities	(2,359,977)	(918,511)	(1,549,435)	(1,165,323)	(811,091)	(386,178)	(1,057,224)	(3,711,091)	2,141,128	(9,817,702)
Unallocated liabilities										(1,286)
Total liabilities										(9,818,988)

Given the adjustment to the standards of dividing segments and evaluation guidelines of income allocation within segment, the comparative figures were stated under existing standards

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. The "Others Business" segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

		Year end	ed 31 December 202	1	
	Corporate	Personal			
	Banking	Banking	Treasury	Other	
	Business	Business	Business	Business	Total
External net interest income	69,804	53,414	38,353	122	161,693
Inter-segment net interest income/					
(expense)	16,291	18,260	(34,551)	_	_
Net interest income	86,095	71,674	3,802	122	161,693
Net fee and commission income	10,341	30,743	6,330	159	47,573
Net gains arising from trading activities	8,883	2,073	12,040	348	23,344
Net gains arising from financial					
investments	(323)	313	1,321	-	1,311
Share of profits of associates and joint					
ventures	6	-	-	271	277
Insurance business income	56	16,459	-	-	16,515
Other operating income	15,406	2,857	35	737	19,035
Total operating income - net	120,464	124,119	23,528	1,637	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(47,024)	(19,079)	(259)	(9)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,265)	(55)	_	_	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17)	(17,037)	-	_	(17,054)
Other operating expense					
- Depreciation and amortisation	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
- Others	(35,267)	(40,350)	(5,404)	(924)	(81,945)
Profit before tax	32,950	43,138	17,224	647	93,959
Income tax					(5,020)
Net profit for the year					88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(8,332)	(12,636)	(1,817)	(162)	(22,947)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income	61,666	49,328	42,280	62	153,336
Inter-segment net interest income/	01,000	10,020	12,200	02	100,000
(expense)	18,634	16,978	(35,612)	-	-
Net interest income	80,300	66,306	6,668	62	153,336
Net fee and commission income	11,254	28,090	5,585	157	45,086
Net gains arising from trading activities	3,909	1,444	8,371	120	13,844
Net gains arising from financial					
investments	(140)	396	926	(5)	1,177
Share of profits of associates and joint					
ventures	(8)	_	-	230	222
Insurance business income	32	15,138	-	-	15,170
Other operating income	14,408	2,530	219	732	17,889
Total operating income - net	109,755	113,904	21,769	1,296	246,724
Credit impairment losses	(33,072)	(28,214)	(772)	(1)	(62,059)
Other assets impairment losses	(489)	-	-	5	(484)
Insurance business expense	(30)	(15,699)	-	-	(15,729)
Other operating expense					
- Depreciation and amortisation	(1,430)	(2,250)	(176)	(52)	(3,908)
- Others	(34,150)	(38,444)	(4,537)	(988)	(78,119)
Profit before tax	40,584	29,297	16,284	260	86,425
Income tax					(6,855)
Net profit for the year					79,570
Depreciation and amortisation	(2,949)	(4,433)	(407)	(99)	(7,888)
Capital expenditure	(9,033)	(13,574)	(1,247)	(304)	(24,158)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

		As at	31 December 2021		
	Corporate	Personal			
	Banking	Banking	Treasury	Other	
	Business	Business	Business	Business	Total
Segment assets	4,645,110	2,385,982	4,530,160	72,444	11,633,696
Including:					
Investments in associates and joint					
ventures	-	-	-	5,779	5,779
Unallocated assets					32,061
Total assets					11,665,757
Segment liabilities	(4,999,768)	(2,533,625)	(3,078,851)	(69,663)	(10,681,907)
Unallocated liabilities					(6,614)
Total liabilities					(10,688,521)

		As at	31 December 2020		
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets	4,192,292	2,067,778	4,346,218	63,337	10,669,625
Including:					
Investments in associates and joint ventures	-	-	-	4,681	4,681
Unallocated assets					27,991
Total assets					10,697,616
Segment liabilities	(4,832,353)	(2,312,508)	(2,598,865)	(70,190)	(9,813,916)
Unallocated liabilities					(5,072)
Total liabilities					(9,818,988)

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

49 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

Statement of financial position of the Bank

(a) Statement of financial position of the Bank		
	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
ASSETS		
Cash and balances with central banks	721,912	807,383
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	720,824	670,148
Derivative financial assets	38,426	54,494
Loans and advances to customers	6,083,046	5,441,506
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	507,745	391,648
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,147,313	1,980,248
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	472,635	555,787
Investments in associates and joint ventures	5,118	4,178
Investments in subsidiaries	79,269	79,272
Property and equipment	50,297	50,500
Deferred income tax assets	29,950	26,262
Other assets	86,801	69,219
assets	10,943,336	10,130,645
	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Liabilities		
Due to banks and other financial institutions	1,807,016	1,672,012
Financial liabilities at FVPL	16,799	23,972
Derivative financial liabilities	36,740	54,311
Due to customers	6,769,618	6,404,997
Certificates of deposits issued	882,435	627,011
Current income tax liabilities	2,952	2,643
Deferred income tax liabilities	41	58
Debt securities issued	413,552	408,906
Other liabilities	98,910	107,985
Total liabilities	10,028,063	9,301,895
Equity		
Share capital	74,263	74,263
Other equity investments	174,790	133,292
· ·	44,952	44,952
Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds	129,838	<i>'</i>
,		88,340
Capital surplus	111,226	111,226
Other reserves	336,666	324,383
Retained earnings	218,328	185,586
Total equity	915,273	828,750
Total equity and liabilities	10,943,336	10,130,645

The financial statements of the Bank were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Statement of changes in equity of the Bank 9

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued)

49

	Total	828,750	75,219	(1,040)	74.179			41,498	(23,541)			(1,755)		(3,858)	ı	15 0	יוח ו	1	915,273	
	Retained	185,586	75,219	1	75.219			i	(23,541)			(1,755)		(3,858)	(13,318)			(2)	218,328	
	Others	1,375	1	16	16	?		í	1			ı		í	í				1,391	
	Actuarial changes reserve	(142)	1	55	55	}		i	1			i		í	í			1	(87)	
	Translation reserve on foreign operations	(1,964)	1	(1,840)	(1.840)	((-)		i	1			ı		í	i			1	(3,804)	
	Cash flow hedge reserve	40	1	13	60	?		1	1			ı		i	1			1	53	
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities measured at designated FVPL	12	1	(36)	(36)			1	1			1		1	i.			1	(24)	
Oth	th Revaluation reserve for financial assets measured at m designated FVOCI	(692)	1	752	752			•	1			ı		1	1			2	(12)	
	Statutory m general general reserve	115,920	1	1	1			1	1			ı		1	6,421			1	122,341	
	scretionary	139,764	1	1	1			1	1			ı		1	i.			1	139,764	
	Statutory Discretionary reserve	70,147	1	1	ı			•	1			ı		1	6,897			1	77,044	
	Capital	111,226	1	1	ı			1	1			ı		1	1			1	111,226	
	Perpetual bonds	88,340	1	1	ı			41,498	1			ı		1	1			•	129,838	
	Preference shares	44,952	1	1	1			1	1			1		1	1			1	44,952	
	Share capital	74,263	1	1	1			•	1			ı		1	1			•	74,263	
	σ	As at 1 January 2021	Net profit for the year	Other comprehensive income	Total comprehensive income	المارية	Capital contribution by holders of other equity	instruments	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders	Dividends paid	to preference	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	Transferred from other	comprehensive	income	As at 31 December 2021	

(All amount

	ar ended 31 December 2021 ts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)													
	Total	761,755	696'89	(5,408)	63,561		31,221	(23,393)		(2,714)		(1,680)	1	828,750
	Retained	155,944	696'89	1	696'89		I	(23,393)		(2,714)		(1,680)	(11,540)	185,586
	Others	1,363	ı	12	12		ı	I		1		ı	1	1,375
	Actuarial changes reserve	(10)	ı	(132)	(132)		I	ı		ı		1	1	(142)
	Translation reserve on foreign operations	293	1	(2,257)	(2,257)		I	ı		ı		1	1	(1,964)
	uation or the ges in isk of ancial oilities ed at nated Cash flow FVPL hedge reserve	(18)	ı	28	28		I	ı		ı		ı	1	40
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities measured at designated FVPL hec	5	ı	7	_		I	ı		ı		ı	1	12
ŧ	ress Revaluation reserve for c financial t assets measured at m designated FVOCI	2,327	ı	(3,096)	(3,096)		ı	ı		1		ı	1	(20)
	Statutory n general reserve	111,455	ı	1	I		ı	ı		1		1	4,465	115,920
	iscretionary	139,764	1	1	ı		1	ı		ı		ı	1	139,764
	Statutory Discretionary reserve reserve	63,072	ı	ı	I		I	ı		ı		ı	7,075	70,147
	Capital	113,427	ı	1	I		(2,201)	ı		ı		ı	1	111,226
	Perpetual bonds	39,994	ı	ı	I		48,346	ı		ı		ı	1	88,340
	Preference shares	59,876	ı	ı	I		(14,924)	ı		ı		ı	1	44,952
	Share capital	74,263	ı	ı	1		I	ı		I		ı	1	74,263
	σ	As at 1 January 2020	Net profit for the year	Other comprehensive income	Total comprehensive income	Capital contribution by holders of other equity	instruments Dividends paid to	ordinary shareholders	Dividends paid	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	As at 31 December 2020

49

(Q)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

50 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in current year.

51 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

In February 2022, the Bank issued a tier-2 capital bond of RMB30,000 million with the maturity date in 2032 and a coupon rate of 3.45% on the national interbank bond market. The Bank has an option to exercise its right of redemption at the end of 2027.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Currency concentrations	310
International claims	314
Overdue and restructured assets	318
Segmental information of loans	316
Loans and advances to customers	31

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

	USD	HKD	Others	Total
As at 31 December 2021				
Spot assets	1,016,873	233.474	174.843	1,425,190
Spot lassets Spot liabilities	(956,839)	(305,411)	(125,300)	(1,387,550)
Forward purchases	1,446,642	227,581	171,559	1,845,782
Forward sales	(1,571,846)	(130,762)	(222,085)	(1,924,693)
Net option position	5,503	(12)	(747)	4,744
Net long/(short) position	(59,667)	24,870	(1,730)	(36,527)
Net structural position	121,168	31,246	7,799	160,213

	USD	HKD	Others	Total
As at 31 December 2020				
Spot assets	971,473	232,530	200,619	1,404,622
Spot liabilities	(866,247)	(339,250)	(131,716)	(1,337,213)
Forward purchases	1,130,911	298,686	81,772	1,511,369
Forward sales	(1,293,531)	(155,669)	(141,908)	(1,591,108)
Net option position	(1,878)	41	2,663	826
Net long/(short) position	(59,272)	36,338	11,430	(11,504)
Net structural position	117,569	30,147	11,065	158,781

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the CBIRC in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Mainland China.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Mainland China excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, holdings of trade bills and certificates of deposits and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2021	Bank	Official sector	private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	448,033	122,959	717,912	_	1,288,904
Of which attributed to Hong Kong	62,204	21,533	304,709		388,446
North and South America	34,071	21,351	65,018	_	120,440
Africa	442	1,887	-	-	2,329
Europe	42,156	3,878	23,337	_	69,371
	524,702	150,075	806,267	-	1,481,044

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2020	Bank	Official sector	private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	509,860	53,881	568,620	-	1,132,361
Of which attributed to Hong Kong	129,213	23,119	299,229	-	451,561
North and South America	41,818	28,597	70,286	_	140,701
Africa	575	613	-	-	1,188
Europe	42,235	2,727	31,132	-	76,094
	594,488	85,818	670,038	-	1,350,344

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

3.1 Balance of overdue loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:		
- Less than 3 months	23,164	25,480
- 3 to 6 months	15,966	10,884
- 6 to 12 months	13,467	23,261
- Over 12 months	34,565	30,578
	87,162	90,203
Percentage (%):		
- Less than 3 months	0.35	0.44
- 3 to 6 months	0.24	0.19
- 6 to 12 months	0.21	0.40
- Over 12 months	0.53	0.51
	1.33	1.54

3.2 Overdue and restructured loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	8,792	8,299
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	1,625	2,394
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months		
in total loans	0.02	0.04

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

4.1 Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 De	cember 2020
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	Allowance for
	customers	losses	customers	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
-Yangtze River Delta	22,399	(13,277)	20,149	(11,213)
-Pearl River Delta	5,559	(3,389)	7,332	(4,050)
-Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,893	(9,786)	17,058	(12,068)
-Central China	19,224	(10,244)	18,788	(10,673)
-Western China	9,661	(6,402)	9,220	(6,136)
-North Eastern China	12,090	(9,299)	10,998	(7,891)
-Head Office	10,831	(10,064)	10,567	(10,466)
Subtotal	93,657	(62,461)	94,112	(62,497)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	3,139	(1,421)	3,586	(843)
Total	96,796	(63,882)	97,698	(63,340)

4.2 Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 De	cember 2020
		Allowance for		
		impairment		Allowance for
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
-Yangtze River Delta	16,399	(9,189)	15,722	(10,996)
-Pearl River Delta	5,853	(3,166)	6,167	(3,208)
-Bohai Rim Economic Zone	9,749	(6,561)	14,517	(10,140)
-Central China	15,170	(8,080)	14,405	(8,252)
-Western China	7,176	(4,333)	7,312	(4,748)
-North Eastern China	9,119	(6,644)	10,283	(7,194)
-Head Office	20,468	(12,767)	18,251	(13,048)
Subtotal	83,934	(50,740)	86,657	(57,586)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	3,228	(1,516)	3,546	(976)
Total	87,162	(52,256)	90,203	(58,562)
Fair value of collaterals	42,319	Not applicable	44,069	Not applicable

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

5.1 The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors (gross)

	As at 3	31 December 20)21	As at 3	1 December 202	20
			Amount covered			Amount covered
Hong Kong		%	by collaterals		%	by collaterals
Corporate loans						
Manufacturing						
 Petroleum and chemical 	1,130	0.54	148	1,325	0.68	-
– Electronics	1,577	0.76	25	4,441	2.28	21
- Textile and clothing	148	0.07	7	312	0.16	6
 Other manufacturing 	25,506	12.24	5,284	15,599	8.02	5,401
Production and supply of power, heat, gas						
and water	1,418	0.68	320	861	0.44	365
Construction	5,051	2.42	1,159	4,469	2.30	1,009
Transportation, storage and postal service	9,482	4.55	3,375	14,550	7.48	2,540
Information transmission, software and IT						
services	3,537	1.70	20	3,257	1.67	8
Wholesale and retail	15,584	7.48	4,052	15,912	8.18	3,657
Finance	6,730	3.23	826	5,339	2.74	594
Real estate	60,900	29.23	16,186	55,315	28.43	16,532
Leasing and commercial services	11,711	5.62	3,838	6,636	3.41	2,903
Others	22,489	10.79	4,175	29,347	15.09	5,640
Total corporate loans	165,263	79.31	39,415	157,363	80.88	38,676
Personal loans						
Mortgage	29,857	14.33	29,837	23,621	12.14	23,616
Credit cards	94	0.05	_	97	0.05	-
Others	13,149	6.31	12,539	13,492	6.93	12,745
Total personal loans	43,100	20.69	42,376	37,210	19.12	36,361
Gross amount of loans and advances to						
customers before impairment allowance	208,363	100.00	81,791	194,573	100.00	75,037
Outside Hong Kong	6,352,037			5,653,851		

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 52% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 52%).

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

5.2 Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 31 December 2021		As at 31 De	cember 2020	
	Allowance for impairment Impaired loans losses Impaired loans i				
			Allowance for		
			impairment losses		
Corporates	77,628	(49,172)	78,925	(48,335)	
Individuals	19,168	(14,710)	18,773	(15,005)	
	96,796	(63,882)	97,698	(63,340)	
Fair value of collaterals	46,194	Not applicable	46,359	Not applicable	

Collaterals held against such loans mainly include cash deposits and mortgages over properties.

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the years are disclosed below:

	Year ended 31 December 2021		Year ended 31 December 2020			
	Recoveries				Recoveries	
		Loans and	of loans and		Loans and	of loans and
		advances	advances		advances	advances written
		written off as	written off in		written off as	off in previous
	New provisions	uncollectible	previous years	New provisions	uncollectible	years
Corporates	45,986	(32,886)	4,443	29,855	(33,248)	3,340
Individuals	16,959	(14,633)	1,881	26,414	(20,580)	1,712
	62,945	(47,519)	6,324	56,269	(53,828)	5,052

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION RELATED TO LEVERAGE RATIO

Leverage ratio disclosure is disclosed according to Note 3 Leverage Ratio Disclosure Format of the Measures for the Administration of the Leverage Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised).

Reconciliation of Regulatory Consolidation and Accounting Consolidation

(in millions of RMB)

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
1	Total consolidated assets	11,665,757	10,697,615
2	Adjustments of consolidation	(91,385)	(70,282)
3	Adjustments item of customer's assets	0	0
4	Adjustments of derivatives	41,498	33,616
5	Adjustments of securities financing transactions	725	2,022
6	Adjustments of off-balance sheet item	1,021,988	844,885
7	Other Adjustments	(6,010)	(5,252)
8	Balance of adjusted on- and off-balance sheet assets	12,632,573	11,502,604

Leverage Ratio Information

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
1	On-balance-sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	11,426,283	10,495,090
2	Less: Deduction of tier-1 capital	(6,010)	(5,252)
3	Balance of adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	11,420,273	10,489,838
4	Replacement costs of derivatives (less eligible margin)	39,220	54,236
5	Potential risk exposure of derivatives	41,498	33,616
6	Sum of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet	0	0
7	Less: Assets receivable from providing eligible margin	0	0
8	Less: Derivative assets resulting from the transactions with central counterparties in providing clearing settlement services for customers	0	0
9	Notional principal of sold credit derivatives	0	0
10	Less: Deductible balance of sold credit derivatives	0	0
11	Derivative asset balance	80,718	87,852
12	Accounting asset balance of securities financing transactions	108,869	78,007
13	Less: Balance of deductible securities financing transaction assets	0	0
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure of securities financing transactions	725	2,022
15	Balance of securities financing transaction assets from acting for securities financing transactions	0	0
16	Securities financing assets balance	109,594	80,029
17	Balance of off-balance-sheet items	2,373,602	2,007,150
18	Less: Balance of off-balance-sheet items arising from the reduction of credit transfer	(1,351,614)	(1,162,265)
19	Adjusted off-balance sheet items balance	1,021,988	844,885
20	Net tier-1 capital	960,225	862,221
21	Adjusted balance of on- and off-balance sheet assets	12,632,573	11,502,604
22	Leverage ratio (%)	7.60	7.50

APPENDIX 2: THE DAILY AVERAGE LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND ITS DETAILS OF THE GROUP IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2021

Seria	al Number	Amount before conversion	Amount after conversion
The	qualified high-quality liquid assets		
1	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,143,415
Cash	Outflow		
2	Retail deposits, small business deposits, including:	2,283,598	218,861
3	Stable deposit	187,863	9,287
4	Less stable deposit	2,095,735	209,574
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, including:	4,773,737	2,005,883
6	Business relationship deposit (excluding agency business)	2,658,589	663,356
7	Non-business relationship deposit (including all counterparties)	2,099,114	1,326,493
8	Unsecured debt	16,034	16,034
9	Secured funding		12,989
10	Other items, including:	2,201,657	1,262,724
11	Cash outflow relates to derivatives and other collateral/pledged assets	1,227,188	1,209,533
12	Cash outflow relates to loss of funding on asset-blocked securities	162	162
13	Committed credit and liquidity facilities	974,307	53,029
14	Other contractual obligation to extend funds	58,341	58,341
15	Contingent funding obligations	1,825,657	67,107
16	Total expected cash outflow		3,625,905
Casl	n Inflow		
17	Secured lending (including reverse repos and securities borrowing)	103,994	102,556
18	Inflows from fully performing exposure	837,116	545,173
19	Other cash inflow	1,241,241	1,222,887
20	Total expected cash inflow	2,182,351	1,870,616
			Amount after
			adjustment
21	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,031,441
22	Net cash outflow		1,755,289
23	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)		115.70

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2021

			Unweigh Less than	ited value		Weighted value
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
Avai	lable Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	950,277	_	_	150,433	1,100,710
2	Regulatory Capital	950,277	_	_	143,733	1,094,010
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	6,700	6,700
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	847,332	1,609,483	10,059	760	2,230,672
5	Stable deposits	190,908	2,990	625	568	185,365
6	Less stable deposits	656,424	1,606,493	9,434	192	2,045,307
7	Wholesale funding	2,606,884	3,291,982	725,454	444,407	3,023,305
8	Operational deposits	2,524,843	117,421	39,694	8,173	1,349,152
9	Other wholesale funding	82,040	3,174,561	685,761	436,234	1,674,153
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	_
11	Other liabilities	54,954	311,985	18,282	361,707	387,256
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				27,725	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	54,954	311,985	18,282	333,982	387,256
14	Total available stable funding					6,741,944
	uired Stable Funding Item					- , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					337,642
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	99,183	100	1,500	500	50,891
	financial institutions					
17	Loans and securities	73,115	1,804,015	1,048,456	4,680,628	5,312,307
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	31,502	-	_	4,680
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	360,390	196,460	81,808	234,096
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	130	1,371,656	813,953	2,735,257	3,411,535
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	18,336	6,582	32,987	33,900
22	Residential mortgages	_	686	832	1,394,361	1,185,966
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	_	-
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	72,985	39,781	37,211	469,202	476,030
25 26	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	189,303	70 451	0.146	58,456	296,987
27	Other assets Physical traded commodities (including gold)	26,431	70,451	9,146	50,450	296,967

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2021 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Unweigh Less than	ited value		Weighted value
Seria	Serial Number		6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				9,757	8,294
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				30,101	2,376
30	Derivative with additional requirements				27,725	5,545
31	All other assets not included in the above	162,872	70,451	9,146	18,598	258,306
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,189,068	135,138
33	Total required stable funding					6,132,965
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					109.93

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2021

		Unweighted value Less than 6			Weighted value	
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
Available Stable Funding Item						
1	Capital	970,768	_	_	139,972	1,110,740
2	Regulatory Capital	970,768	_	_	139,972	1,110,740
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	898,313	1,577,874	10,109	775	2,249,286
5	Stable deposits	213,205	3,057	634	540	206,591
6	Less stable deposits	685,108	1,574,817	9,475	235	2,042,694
7	Wholesale funding	2,855,911	3,201,260	786,525	464,642	3,121,409
8	Operational deposits	2,787,487	117,955	39,697	6,786	1,479,356
9	Other wholesale funding	68,424	3,083,305	746,828	457,855	1,642,054
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	_
11	Other liabilities	59,399	232,740	109,046	247,800	312,855
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				36,101	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	59,399	232,740	109,046	211,699	312,855
14	Total available stable funding					6,794,290
Required Stable Funding Item						0,101,200
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					373,711
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	98,421	340	2,000	_	50,381
	financial institutions	,		•		,
17	Loans and securities	42,612	1,855,894	1,015,633	4,753,861	5,382,024
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	26,216	-	_	3,896
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	334,814	195,396	101,570	249,490
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities	-	1,416,380	791,861	2,792,283	3,470,996
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	12,499	7,116	34,380	32,155
22	Residential mortgages	_	714	883	1,447,908	1,231,520
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	_	-
24 25	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	42,611	77,770	27,494	412,099	426,121
26	Other assets	191,296	68,009	9,493	77,511	310,191
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	26,357	30,009	3,433	77,511	22,404
	,a. a aaaa aaaattoo (irrotaairig gola)	_0,007				,,

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2021 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Unweigh Less than 6	ted value		Weighted value
Seria	Serial Number		months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				10,288	8,745
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				39,220	3,119
30	Derivative with additional requirements				36,101	7,220
31	All other assets not included in the above	164,938	68,009	9,493	28,003	268,703
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,228,439	137,793
33	Total required stable funding					6,254,099
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					108.64

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Contents

Financial Statements:		26 Deferred income tax	
Independent auditor's report	162	27 Other assets	
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other		28 Due to and placements from banks and other fin	ancial
comprehensive Income	171	institutions	
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	173	29 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or lo	oss
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	174	30 Due to customers	
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	176	31 Certificates of deposit issued	
		32 Debt securities issued	
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements:	178	33 Other liabilities	
1 General		34 Share capital and capital surplus	
2 Summary of significant accounting policies		35 Other equity instruments	
3 Financial risk management		36 Other reserves and retained earnings	
4 Net interest income		37 Dividends	
5 Fee and commission income		38 Non-controlling interests	
6 Fee and commission expense		39 Contingencies	
7 Net gains arising from trading activities		40 Commitments	
8 Insurance business income		41 Collaterals	
9 Other operating income		42 Other comprehensive income	
10 Credit impairment losses		43 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows	
11 Other assets impairment losses		44 Consolidated structured entities	
12 Insurance business expense		45 Unconsolidated structured entities	
13 Other operating expenses		46 Transfers of financial assets	
14 Staff costs and benefits		47 Related party transactions	
15 Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior		48 Segmental analysis	
management		49 Financial statements of the bank	
16 Income tax		50 Non-adjusting events after reporting period	
17 Basic and diluted earnings per share		51 Comparative figures	
18 Cash and balances with central banks			
19 Due from and placements with banks and other fina	ancial	Unaudited supplementary financial information:	300
institutions		1 Currency concentrations	
20 Derivative financial instruments		2 International claims	
21 Loans and advances to customers		3 Overdue and restructured assets	
22 Financial investments		4 Segmental information of loans	
23 Principal subsidiaries		5 Loans and advances to customers	

24 Investments in associates and joint ventures

25 Property and equipment

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 171 to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("the Code"), together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group uses an expected credit loss ("ECL") model to measure the loss allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial instruments.

The determination of ECL allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees is subject to the application of a number of key parameters and assumptions, including the credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustment factors. Extensive management judgment is involved in the selection of those parameters and the application of the assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees included the following:

- with the assistance of KPMG's IT specialists, understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the credit approval, recording, monitoring, the credit risk staging, ECL model update and the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers. financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists, assessing the appropriateness of the ECL model used to determine the loss allowances and the appropriateness of the key parameters and assumptions in the model, which included credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustments, and assessing the appropriateness of related key management judgment.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The determination of the ECL allowance is heavily dependent on the external macro environment and the Group's internal credit risk management strategy. The ECL allowance for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments to corporates and financial guarantees are derived from estimates including historical losses, internal and external credit grading and other factors. The ECL allowance for personal loans and advances and credit related commitments to individuals are derived from estimates whereby management takes into consideration historical overdue data, historical loss experience and other factors.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters involving judgement, critically assessing input parameters by seeking evidence from external sources and comparing to the Group's internal records including historical loss experience and type of collateral. As part of these procedures, we inquired the reasons for management's revisions to estimates and input parameters, compared with prior period and considered the consistency of judgement.
- comparing the macroeconomic forward-looking information used in the model with market information to assess whether they were aligned with market and economic development.
- assessing the completeness and accuracy of key data used in the ECL model. For key internal data, we compared the total balance of the loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees used by management to assess the ECL allowance with the general ledger to check the completeness of the data. We also selected samples to compare information of individual loan and advance to customers, financial investment at amortised cost, credit related commitment and financial guarantee with the underlying agreements and other related documentation. In addition, we checked the accuracy of key external data used by management by comparing them with public sources.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Management also exercises judgement in determining the quantum of loss given default based on a range of factors. These include the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of any collaterals, and repayment sources of the borrower. Management refers to valuation reports of collaterals issued by qualified third party valuers and considers the impact of various factors including the market price, status and use when assessing the value of collaterals. The enforceability, timing and means of realisation of the collateral also have an impact on the recoverable amount of the collateral.

- for key parameters used in the ECL model which were derived from system-generated internal data, assessing the accuracy of input data by comparing the input data with original documents on a sample basis. In addition, we involved KPMG's IT specialists to assess the logics and compilation of the loans and advances' overdue information on a sample basis.
- evaluating the reasonableness of management's assessment on whether the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees has, or has not, increased significantly since initial recognition and whether the mentioned financial instruments are credit-impaired. We assessed the staging of corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees by industry sectors and used a risk-based approach to select samples in industries which are more vulnerable to the current economic situation and samples which met specific risk criteria. We checked overdue information, made enquiries of the client managers about the borrowers' business operations, inspected borrowers' financial information and researched about borrowers' businesses, to check the credit risk of the borrower, and the reasonableness of the risk stage.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

of the Group.

We identified the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees as a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and management judgment involved and because of its significance to the financial results and capital

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- evaluating the reasonableness of loss given default for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees. We selected samples to evaluate the recoverable amount by considering the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of collateral, and repayment sources of the borrower. Evaluating management's assessment based on the category, condition and use of the collateral. For valuation reports of collateral issued by qualified third party valuers, we evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraiser. We also evaluated the timing and means of realisation of collateral, evaluated the forecast cash flows, considered the viability of the Group's recovery plans.
- selecting samples and assessing the accuracy of the Group's calculation on the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Consolidation assessment of structured entities

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (4)(c) Structured entities, Note 2 (31)(d) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Consolidation of structured entities", and "Note 44 Structured entities, Note 45 Unconsolidated structured entities" to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities.

The Group may acquire an ownership interest in a structured entity, through initiating, managing and/or investing in trust investment plans, asset management plans, funds, Wealth Management Products ("WMPs") and securitization products. The Group may also retain partial interests in derecognised assets due to guarantees or securitisation structures.

The Group is required to consider the power it possesses, its exposure to variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect returns to determine whether the Group retain any partial interests in a structured entity or should consolidate a structured entity. These factors are not purely quantitative and need to be considered collectively in the overall substance of the transactions.

We identified the recognition of interests in and consolidation of structured entities as a key audit matter because of the complex nature of certain of these structured entities and because of the judgement exercised by management in the qualitative assessment of the terms and the nature of each entity.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities included the following:

- assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities.
- selecting significant structured entities of each key product type and performing the following procedures:
 - inspecting the related contracts. establishment documents and information disclosed to the investors to understand the purpose of the establishment of the structured entity and the involvement the Group has with the structured entity and to assess management's judgement over whether the Group has the ability to exercise power over the structured entity;
 - inspecting the risk and reward structure of the structured entity, including any capital or return quarantee, provision of liquidity support, commission paid and distribution of the returns, to assess management's judgement as to the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the Group's involvement in such an entity;
 - inspecting management's analysis of the structured entity, including qualitative analysis and the calculation of the magnitude and variability associated with the Group's economic interests in the structured entity, to assess management's judgement over the Group's ability to affect its own returns from the structured entity;
 - assessing management's judgement over whether the structured entity should be consolidated or not.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5) Financial instrument, Note 2 (31)(b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Fair value of financial instruments", and "Note 3 (4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

Convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, certain trusts and asset management plans, equity derivatives, etc, held by the Group, whose fair value are determined based on certain unobservable inputs, were classified by the Group as level 3 in fair value measurement.

Management determines the fair value of these financial assets using a variety of techniques. The valuation methods mainly include discounted cash flows and comparable company, involving various unobservable inputs such as objective company's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts, etc.

We identified valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 instruments' fair value as a key audit matter because of the amount of these financial assets are significant, and because of the degree of complexity involved in the valuation techniques and significant judgement is required to be exercised by management in determining the inputs used in the valuation models.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 included the following:

- understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the application of valuation models and front office and back office reconciliations for financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining an understanding of the valuation method used by management (including whether there is any change in the valuation method in this year) and assessing whether the valuation method selected is appropriate with reference to the prevailing accounting standards.

with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining inputs independently and assessing the reasonableness of the inputs applied by management by comparing the results of our own valuations with that of management.

assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in relation to financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 against prevailing accounting standards, including fair value hierarchy information, etc..

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS**

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS** (Continued)

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Chan Siu Tung.

Certified Public Accountants

8 th Floor, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2023

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Interest income		418,122	377,646
Interest expense		(248,185)	(215,953)
Net interest income	4	169,937	161,693
Fee and commission income	5	49,339	52,285
Fee and commission expense	6	(4,700)	(4,712)
Net fee and commission income		44,639	47,573
Net gains arising from trading activities	7	17,607	23,344
Net gains arising from financial investments		494	1,311
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at			
amortised cost		64	46
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures		292	277
Insurance business income	8	18,100	16,515
Other operating income	9	22,459	19,035
Net operating income		273,528	269,748
Credit impairment losses	10	(60,411)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	11	(1,897)	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	12	(19,380)	(17,054)
Other operating expenses	13	(93,625)	(90,044)
Profit before tax		98,215	93,959
Income tax	16	(6,185)	(5,020)
Net profit for the year		92,030	88,939

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Other comprehensive income, net of tax			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(7,745) (669)	3,649 (870)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		1,219 -	(394) –
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		2,004 (1,204)	891 (463)
Translation differences for foreign operations Others		8,562 136	(3,450) 14
Subtotal		2,303	(623)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Actuarial losses on pension benefits Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income		(34)	55 (1,555)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss Others		(133) (1)	(36)
Subtotal		(1,469)	(1,534)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	42	834	(2,157)
Total comprehensive income for the year		92,864	86,782
Net profit attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		92,149 (119) 92,030	87,581 1,358 88,939
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		92,607 257 92,864	85,696 1,086 86,782
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	17	1.14	1.10

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
ASSETS			
Cash and balances with central banks	18	806,102	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	19	690,421	632,708
Derivative financial assets	20	69,687	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	21	7,136,677	6,412,201
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	22	705,357	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	22	2,450,775	2,203,037
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	22	799,075	681,729
Investments in associates and joint ventures	24	8,750	5,779
Property and equipment	25	194,169	171,194
Deferred income tax assets	26	38,771	32,061
Other assets	27	92,635	114,617
Total assets		12,992,419	11,665,757
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	28	2,034,894	1,947,768
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	29	47,949	50,048
Derivative financial liabilities	20	46,804	36,074
Due to customers	30	7,949,072	7,039,777
Certificates of deposits issued	31	1,092,366	892,020
Current income tax liabilities	01	3,937	4,725
Debt securities issued	32	530,861	503,525
Deferred income tax liabilities	26	1,786	1,889
Other liabilities	33	249,010	212,695
Total liabilities		11,956,679	10,688,521
EQUITY		11,550,075	10,000,021
Share capital	34	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	35	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds		129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	34	111,429	111,428
Other reserves	36	369,259	346,092
Retained earnings	36	293,668	258,074
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		1,023,409	964,647
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		8,873	9,424
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments		3,458	3,165
Non-controlling interests	38	12,331	12,589
Total equity		1,035,740	977,236
Total equity and liabilities		12,992,419	11,665,757

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi

Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

						equity	attributable to	equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	e parent company									
I		Other equity instruments	ruments						Other reserves						A	Attributable to non- controlling	n- controlling	
G.	Share capital Note 34	Preference Share Note 35	Perpetual bonds Note 35	Capital surplus Note 34	Statutory reserve Note 36	Discretionary surplus reserve Note 36	Statutory general reserve Note 36	Revaluation reserve and impairment for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	Revaluation creserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	Translation differences for foreign operations	Actuarial changes reserve	Others	Retained earnings Notes 36,37	Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company	Non- controlling interests of ordinary shares	Non- controlling interests of other equity instruments Note 35	ս
As at 1 January 2022 Total comprehensive	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,428	29,967	140,022	130,280	1,531	(24)	(104)	(6,884)	(87)	1,391	258,074	964,647	9,424	3,165	977,236
income Dividends paid to	•		•	•	•		•	(8,355)	(133)	797	8,048	(34)	135	92,149	92,607	(155)	412	92,864
ordinary shares	•	•	1	•	•	•	•	•	•	1	•	•	•	(26,363)	(26,363)	(366)	•	(26,759)
preference shares	•	ı	ı	•	1	•	1	1	•	ı	•	•	•	(1,832)	(1,832)	1		(1,832)
perpetual bond holders holders haid to	•	•	•	•	1	1	1	1	•	1	•	1		(5,651)	(5,651)	•	•	(5,651)
non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities																	2	£
Transfer to reserves					8,187	160	14,261							(22,608)			(e11)	(e11)
I ranster of other comprehensive																		
income to retained earnings								101	•	•			1	(101)				
Others Š	٠	٠	•	-	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	٠	•		-	•	•	-
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,723)	(157)	693	1,164	(121)	1,526	293,668	1,023,409	8,873	3,458	1,035,740

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated) For the year ended 31 December 2021

any	Attributable to non-controlling		.c. w			portion of	s gains or losses		inchi monte difference Artinain	INSTRUMENT CONTRIBUTION ACTUARIST STREET STR	in cash itow tor toneign changes Hetaned of honder conventions received Others constituted of	redges updaturis reserve ories amilitys company states institutions. Notes 56,37 Note 35	2 (532) (3,517) (142) 1,375 214,448 866,607 8,763 3,258 878,628	CO PART COLLEGE CO. TARREST CO.	6) 428 (3,367) 35 16 87,351 85,696 1,US/ 29 86,782		41,498	אסטפי (אסטפי איז אסטפי) אסטפי	(1989) - (1999) (1999) (1999)		(92(1) (92(1) (92(1)		(3,858) (3,858) (3,658)					(122) (123) (123)	(4/745)				(29)		
							A				Othors	N College	1,375	Š	<u>.</u>		1		ı				- (3,858)					1	1				1		
				\$	Ф	of	SS		olifferoncoo	CILIERGICES	tor toreign	operations	(8,517)	i c	(3,367)		1		1														1		
f the parent company	Other reserves	Revaluation	reserve for the	ordinges III	credit risk of	the financial	liabilities	designated	ot foir volluo	at lair value	through profit in c	00 IO	12	č	(9g)				1		1							1	1				-		
equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company			Revaluation	i revaluation	reserve and	impairment for	financial assets	at fair value	odto dollord		Statutory comprehensive	yerida reserve Note 36	123,163 456		- 1,019		1		1				1					1	7,117				99		
											Statutory	Note 36 Note 36	72,431 139,930		1		1		1									1	7,536 92				1		
	instruments										Perpetual Control cumulus		88,340 111,428		1		41,498		1		1							1	1				1		
	Other equity instruments										Preference Chain anaital Chain	_	74,263 44,952		1		1		1		1		ı					1	1				1		
													As at 1 January 2021	Total comprehensive	Income Canital contribution	to holders of other	equity instruments	Dividends paid to	Dividends paid	to preference	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders	Interest paid to	non-cumulative	suboruniated adolfrional tier-1	capital securities	holders	Transferred to reserves	Transfer of other	comprehensive	income to retained	earnings	As at 31 December	

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Note	2022	2021
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit before tax:	98,215	93,959
Adjustments for:		
Provision for impairment losses	60,411	66,371
Provision for other assets impairment losses	1,897	2,320
Provision for insurance contracts reserve	13,457	15,518
Depreciation and amortisation	16,150	14,839
Provision/(reversal) for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation	56	(199)
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	(739)	(454)
Interest income from financial investments	(97,311)	(88,262)
Fair value net losses/(gains)	4,171	(1,474)
Net gains on investments in associates and joint ventures	(292)	(277)
Net gains on financial investments	(494)	(1,311)
Interest expense on debt securities issued	15,807	16,341
Interest expense on lease liabilities	179	176
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities	111,507	117,547
Net (increase)/decrease in balances with central banks	(57,272)	14,515
Net decrease/(increase) in due from and placements with banks and other		
financial institutions	6,251	(106,359)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(740,988)	(776,234)
Net increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	(86,355)	(128,020)
Net increase in other assets	(11,755)	(23,469)
Net increase in due to and placements from banks and other financial		
institutions	78,740	161,477
Net (decrease)/increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or		
loss	(5,357)	2,317
Net increase in due to customers and certificates of deposits issued	1,012,585	674,635
Net increase in other liabilities	73,605	35,329
Net (decrease)/increase in value-added tax and other taxes payable	(829)	1,431
Income tax paid	(11,911)	(7,944)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities	368,221	(34,775)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries, associated ventures and joint			
ventures		(2,780)	(869)
Cash payments for financial investments		(1,232,873)	(895,518)
Cash received on disposal or redemption of financial investments		879,650	750,323
Dividends received		870	734
Interest received from financial investments		94,863	88,760
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(2,094)	(2,467)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets		11	507
Acquisition of property, equipment		(29,561)	(20,480)
Cash received from disposal of property, equipment		7,017	3,462
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(284,897)	(75,548)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issue of other equity instruments		-	41,498
Proceeds from issue of debt securities		182,492	96,121
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(163,432)	(88,834)
Payment of interest on debt securities		(15,384)	(15,350)
Repayment of principal and interest of lease liabilities		(2,581)	(2,413)
Dividends paid		(33,555)	(29,152)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		(515)	(564)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities		(32,975)	1,306
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		4,146	(3,795)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		54,495	(112,812)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		194,308	307,120
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	43	248,803	194,308
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		323,377	291,450
Interest paid		(201,693)	(185,593)

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank, headquartered in Shanghai, which was reorganized on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The Bank possesses the Finance Permit No. B0005H131000001 issued by the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the "CBIRC") of the PRC with the registration number of 9131000010000595XD.

The Bank's A Shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and H Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with the stock codes of 601328 and 03328 respectively.

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB") and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2 (3) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and investment property which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2 (31).

The financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest million, which is the functional currency of the Group.

Changes in accounting policies

Standards and amendments effective in 2022 relevant to and adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following amendments to the IFRSs issued by the IASB that are first effective for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments effective in 2022 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

		Notes
Amendments to IFRS 3	Reference to the Conceptual Framework	(i)
Amendments to IAS 37	Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 16	Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use	(iii)
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41	Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020	(iv)

Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments have updated IFRS 3 Business combinations, to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, and added an exception to the requirement to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework to determinate what constitutes an asset or a liability in a business combination. The exception relates to liabilities and contingent liabilities that would have been within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21. The Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not recognise contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the acquisition date.

Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify the meaning of 'costs to fulfil a contract' for the purposes of assessing whether a contract is onerous. In particular, the amendments explain that such costs comprise the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts. The amendments also clarify that, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, an entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than merely on assets dedicated to that contract.

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. The amendments also clarify that an entity is 'testing whether the asset is functioning properly' when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset, and that the financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment.

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41: Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41: Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020, which provides an optional relief for the measurement of cumulative translation differences to certain first-time adopters, clarifies the types of fees to be included when assessing the derecognition of financial liability, amends an illustrative example accompanying IFRS 16, 'Leases', and removes the requirement to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring fair value.

The adoption of these standards and amendments does not have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022

The Group has not adopted the following new standards and amendments that have been issued by the IASB but are not vet effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3)Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022 (Continued)

	`	Effective for annual periods beginning on or after	Notes
IFRS 17	Insurance Contracts	1 January 2023	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	1 January 2023	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 8	Definition of Accounting Estimates	1 January 2023	(iii)
Amendments to IAS 12	Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction	1 January 2023	(iv)
Amendments to IFRS 16	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	1 January 2024	(v)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2020)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2024	(vi)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2022)	Non-current Liabilities with Covenants	1 January 2024	(vi)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	The effective date has now been deferred indefinitely	(∨ii)

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Amendments to IFRS 17 were issued in June 2020 and December 2021 to address stakeholder concerns and implementation challenges. IFRS 17 sets out a single principle-based standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts in the financial statements of the issuers of those contracts.

IFRS 17 should be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, and the amendments should be applied at the same time. The Group will adopt IFRS 17 from 1 January 2023. The Group will change its accounting policies from the beginning of 2023 and disclose its financial statements in accordance with IFRS 17 and its amendments since the first quarterly report of 2023. Based on a preliminary assessment, the Group anticipates that the adoption of IFRS 17 and its amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments clarify that an entity will be required to disclose its "material" accounting policy information as opposed to "significant" accounting policies and provide additional guidance on how to identify material accounting policy information. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide additional guidance and examples to explain and illustrate the application of the "four-step materiality process" to accounting policy information.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments now define "accounting estimates" as "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty" and remove the definition of "a change in accounting estimate". The amendments also clarify that the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates unless they result from the correction of prior period errors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022 (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction The amendments specify how entities should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition. As a result, entities will need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add to the requirements explaining how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains, including cases with variable lease payments in the leaseback.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (vi) The amendments to IAS 1 (2020) concern the requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-current. In particular, the amendments specify the condition of an entity to classify a liability as non-current requires that a right to defer settlement must exist at the end of the reporting period and have substance, and clarify that classification is unaffected by management's intentions or expectations about whether the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.

The amendments also specify the classification of liabilities that will or may be settled by issuing an entity's own equity instruments. When a liability includes a counterparty conversion option that involves a transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, the classification of such liability is not affected only when the conversion option is recognised separately from the host liability as an equity component under IAS 32.

The amendments to IAS 1 (2022) specify that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current. Covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting date (i. e. future covenants) do not affect a liability's classification at that date. However, an entity is required to disclose information regarding the risk that the non-current liabilities subject to future covenants could become repayable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 amendments defer the effective date of the 2020 amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. If an entity applies one of these two amendments for an earlier period, the other amendments should also be applied for that period.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Its Associate or Joint (vii)

The amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.

Except for the above-mentioned impact of IFRS 17 and its amendments, the adoption of the above new standards and amendments issued but not yet effective is not expected to have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are not consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combinations is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisitiondate fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests (b)

For acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Loses control of a subsidiary due to the disposal of a portion of an equity investment, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive are reclassified to profit or loss and retained earning.

Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entities, for example when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, and key activities are directed by contractual agreement. Structured entities often have restricted activities and a narrow and well-defined objective. Examples of structured entities include investment funds, trusts, securitisation vehicles and asset backed financings. Involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in Note 44 and 45.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(d) Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement through a separate entity, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal form, contract terms, and other facts and circumstances. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an activity, and exists only when the decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

The results of an associate or a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is an indication of possible impairment with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested as a single asset for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of sale) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate or joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit ("CGU") or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group performs an impairment test on goodwill at least once a year.

On disposal of the related CGU or group of CGUs, any attributable amount of goodwill net of allowances for impairment losses, if any, is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss for the period. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss for the period when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Group recognises the difference as follows:

- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i. e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.
- In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

The method of determining fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement date. For financial instruments with active markets, the Group uses quotations from active markets to determine their fair value, and for financial instruments where there is no active market, the Group uses valuation techniques to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques include references to prices used in recent market transactions by parties familiar with the situation and voluntary transactions, the current fair value of other financial instruments with reference to the same substantially, the discounted cash flow method and the option pricing model.

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i. e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POCI') financial assets assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition - the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
- Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- The Group's business model for managing the asset; and
- The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. According to the business category, these financial assets are presented as 'Cash and balances with central banks', 'Due from banks and other financial institutions', 'Loans and advances to customers' and 'Financial investments at amortised cost' respectively. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. According to the business category, respectively, these financial assets are presented as 'Loans to customers' and 'Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income'. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net gains arising from financial investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on the debt investment, which is measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and presented as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5)Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e. g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i. e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

When, and only when, the Group changes the business model for managing its financial assets, shall it reclassify all affected financial assets, and apply the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the Group reclassifying financial assets.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective (refer to Note 2 (5)(b)); that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, listed as 'Financial investments at FVPL'. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to sell. When this election is used, fair value gains or losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 'Net gains arising from financial investments' when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on equity investments at FVPL are recognised as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group assesses the expected credit losses ('ECL') of debt instrument assets at amortised cost and FVOCI, exposures arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantees. The Group recognises a loss allowance accordingly at each reporting date.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value, discounted at effective interest rate or the credit-adjusted effective interest rate on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, of all cash shortfalls (i. e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The Group's method of measuring ECLs of financial instruments reflects the following elements: (i) unbiased weighted average probability determined by the results of evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) time value of money; (iii) reasonable and evidence-based information about past events, current conditions, and future economic forecasts that are available at no additional cost or effort at the end of the reporting period.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the balance sheet date.

Except for trade receivables and contract assets, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments.

- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet date;
- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group classifies financial instruments into three stages and makes provisions for expected credit losses accordingly, depending on whether credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, whether a financial instrument is credit-impaired.

The definition of financial instruments three stages as follows:

- Stage 1: Financial instruments without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For these assets, expected credit losses are recognised for the following 12 months.
- Stage 2: For financial instruments with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime if there is no objective evidence of impairment.
- Stage 3: For financial assets with objective evidence of impairment as at the balance sheet date, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime.

Financial instruments that have low credit risk

The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low if the financial instrument has a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5)Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- a significant increase in credit risk is determined when internal and external rating during the reporting period is below (i) the Group's credit acceptance standards;
- The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition; (ii)
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the financial instruments' credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for debt investments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group recognises loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at FVTPL in contingent liabilities. (See Note 33 (1)).

Write-off

The book value of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
- Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the Group applies continuing involvement approach. Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors. The Group holds part or all of the subordinated tranche notes, which are not transferrable before both the principals and interests of the senior transhe notes are repaid. The Group serves as the asset management supplier, providing services including loan collection for the investment pool, keeping accounting records related to the investment pool and issuing reports as the service agency. The assets under securitisation are used to repay the principals and interests of the senior tranche notes first after deducting related taxation and expenses, and the remaining assets under securitisation are repaid to the Group and subordinated tranche notes investors. The Group derecognises the transferred assets in full or in part based on the extent of the risks and rewards retained over.

The Group evaluates the extent to which it transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to the other party and determines whether it retains control while applying the accounting policy in respect of asset securitisation.

- The financial asset is derecognised when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- The financial asset continues to be recognised when the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and does not retain control it derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and retains control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. The Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5)Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e. g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial asset did not gualify for derecognition, a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; when continuing involvement approach applies, see note 2 (5)(a); and
- Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (refer to Note 2 (28)).

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i. e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is more than 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (i) and (ii) below are met:

- The financial instrument includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; and
- If the financial instrument will or may be settled in the Group's own equity instruments, it is a non-derivative instrument that includes no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments; or a derivative that will be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the fair value of proceeds received, net of direct issuance expenses.

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid (combined) instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

- The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;
- A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative; and
- The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated or qualified as hedging instruments, including those intended to provide effective economic hedges of specific interest rate and foreign exchange risks, but do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognised in "Net trading gains" in the income statement.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5)Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment of hedging effectiveness both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, that is, the extent to which changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedge instrument can offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items resulting from the hedge risk.

The hedging relationship should meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. That means the hedging instrument and hedged item have values that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk.
- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

- Increase or decrease in the amounts of hedged items or hedging instruments;
- Significant changes in counterparties' credit risk.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised (the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument does not constitute an expiration or termination), or the hedging relationship ceases to meet the risk management objective, or to meet other qualifying criteria for hedging accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Fair value hedge

Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses over the period to maturity and recorded as net interest income.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

Cash flow hedge

Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the statement of profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability at the same time, the financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Otherwise, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Interest income and expense

The "Interest income" and "Interest expense" in the Group's income statement are the interest income and expense calculated by using the effective interest method on debt investment at amortised cost, debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at amortised cost, etc.

For those purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. For those financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have become credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

(7) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised when the Group fulfills its performance obligation, either over time or at a point in time when a customer obtains control of the service.

For the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue when control is passed to the customer at a certain point in time. For the performance obligations satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue according to the progress toward satisfaction of the obligation over the time.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)Assets transferred under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date at a fixed or determinable price are not derecognised in the statement of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are presented under "due to banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the selling price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific future date are not recognised in the statement of financial position. The cost of purchasing such assets is presented under "due from banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(10) Precious metals

Precious metals that are not related to the Group's trading activities are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Precious metals that are related to the Group's trading activities are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from re-measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(11) Property and equipment

The Group's property and equipment mainly comprise buildings, construction in progress, equipment and transportation equipment

The assets purchased or constructed are initially measured at acquisition cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the property and equipment are included in the cost of the property and equipment if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting date.

Buildings comprise primarily office premises. The estimated useful lives, depreciation rate and estimated residual value rate of buildings, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement are as follows:

	Estimated Useful	Estimated net	Annual
Type of assets	lives	Residual value	depreciation rate
Buildings	25 - 50 years	3%	1.94% - 3.88%
Equipment	3 - 11 years	3%	8.82% - 32.33%
Transportation equipment (excluding equipment under operating	4 - 8 years	3%	12.13% - 24.25%
leases)			

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(11) Property and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a property and equipment when it is ready for intended use.

Equipment under operating leases where the Group is the lessor is aircraft or vessel. The estimated useful lives and depreciation rate of the aircraft or vessel are determined considering their conditions and the estimated residual values are determined by external appraiser using historical data on an item-by-item basis. The estimated useful lives range from 5 to 25 years.

(12) Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, and foreclosed non-financial assets are initially recognised at cost. At the end of each reporting period, foreclosed non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the net realisable value. When the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment allowance is recognised.

When a foreclosed asset is disposed, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group disposes of foreclosed assets through various means. In principle, foreclosed assets should not be transferred for own use, but, in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business or management purposes, they are transferred at their net carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and equipment.

When a foreclosed asset needs to be transferred for own use, it is transferred at its carrying amount including the impairment allowance at the transition day.

Foreclosed assets of the Group mainly include buildings and land use rights.

(13) Land use rights

Land use rights are classified as other assets and amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term.

(14) Intangible assets

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is available for use, its original cost is amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised.

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when necessary.

An intangible asset is derecongnised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecongnised.

(15) Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both and initially measured at cost.

As there is an active property market in the location in which the Group's investment property is situated, and the Group can obtain the market price and other relevant information regarding the same or similar type of property from the property market so as to reasonably estimate the fair value of the investment property; therefore, the Group uses the fair value model for subsequent measurement of the investment property, with changes in the fair value included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(15) Investment property (Continued)

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognises the amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss for the period.

(16) Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the impairment of deferred tax assets and financial assets, with the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any indication that an asset may be impaired exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired and it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the CGU to which the asset belongs.

CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets, and the cash inflows generated by a CGU are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU, group of CGUs) is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the expected future cash flows. The Group considers all relevant factors in estimating the present value of future cash flows, such as the expected future cash flows, the useful life and the discount rate.

Testing CGU with goodwill for impairment (a)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by the Group at least annually, or whenever there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs are impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs. The recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs are the estimated future cash flows, which are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU or group of CGUs with allocated goodwill.

At the time of impairment testing of a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, there may be an indication of an impairment of an asset within the CGU containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the asset for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that asset before testing for impairment on the CGU or group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Similarly, there may be an indication of an impairment of a CGU within a group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the CGU for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that CGU, before testing for impairment the group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.

Impairment loss

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is recognised as an impairment loss and charged to the profit or loss.

For a CGU or a group of CGUs, the amount of impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, and then reduces the carrying amount of other assets (other than goodwill) within the CGU or group of CGUs, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(16) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(c) Reversing an impairment loss

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss of the non-financial asset except for goodwill decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss. A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(17) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, the customer has both of the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

The Group as Lessee

The Group recognises the right-of-use asset on the start date of the lease term and recognises the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made when it is reasonably determined to exercise purchase option or terminate lease option. Variable rent determined based on a certain proportion of sales is not included in the lease payments and is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's right-of-use assets include leased properties, venues, parking lots, advertising spaces, vehicles and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, the lease payments already paid on or before the lease start date, the initial direct costs etc., and deducts any lease incentives received. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life if the Group could reasonably determine to obtain the ownership at the expiration of the lease term; if it is unsure whether the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained at the expiration of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the recoverable value is lower than the book value of the right-of-use asset, the Group reduces the book value to the recoverable value.

For short-term leases with a lease term shorter than 12 months and leases of asset with low value when it is new, the Group recognises relevant rental expenses on a straight-line basis in profit or loss or in the related asset costs in each lease period rather than recognising the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate lease if both: (a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and (b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification, the Group remeasures the lease term and the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset for lease modifications that decrease the scope or term of the lease, and recognised the gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss. The Group makes a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(17) Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as Lessor

Operating Lease

When the Group leases out its own buildings and properties, equipment and transportation vehicles, the rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable rent gained by the Group is recognised in rental income when incurred.

Finance Lease

As lessor of the finance lease, the Group recognises the finance lease receivables for the finance lease on the commencement date of the lease period and derecognises the related assets. Finance lease receivables are recognised at the net lease investment to "Loans and advances to customers" for the initial measurement. The net lease investment is the sum of the unsecured residual value and the present value of the lease payments unreceived at the commencement date of the lease period discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

Finance lease receivables are derecognised when the contractual rights of receiving cash from the finance lease receivables have expired or have been transferred and all substantial risks and rewards regarding the lease have been transferred.

During the lease period, the lessor applies the fixed periodic interest rate to calculate the interest income for each period. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(18) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase under balances with central banks, due from banks and other financial institutions.

(19) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the provision.

(20) Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(20) Income taxes (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(21) Share capital

(a) Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares issued.

(b) Share issue costs

External costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(22) Dividend distribution

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the period in which they are declared and approved by the Bank's shareholders.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(22) Dividend distribution (Continued)

Dividends on preference shares

Preference share dividend distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(c) Distribution on perpetual bonds

Perpetual bond interest distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the interest distribution approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(23) Acceptances

Acceptances comprise the Group's commitments on payment for bills that are issued to customers. Acceptances are accounted for as credit related commitments and financial guarantees and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments.

(24) Staff costs and benefits

(a) Staff costs

Staff costs include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds, labor union fees as well as staff education expenses and housing allowance. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the staff costs payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

The Group participates in the employee social security systems established by the government, including medical insurance, housing funds and other social securities, in accordance with relevant requirements. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Post-employment benefits

The Group divides post-employment benefit plans into defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions. Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. During the reporting period, post-employment benefits for the employees of the Group mainly include payment to basic retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, annuity plan and supplementary retirement benefits.

Basic retirement insurance

Employees of the Group have joined basic retirement insurance arranged by local ministry of labour and social security. The Group makes monthly contributions to the retirement insurance according to the base and proportion set by local government. When employees retire, local ministry of labour and social security is responsible for the payment of the basic pension to the retired employees. Such basic retirement insurance is a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the amounts payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

Annuity plan

Employees of domestic branches who retire at or after 1 January 2009 participate in the annuity plan established by the Group. The Group contributes a certain portion of employees' gross salaries to the annuity plan. Such annuity plan is a defined benefit plan. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(24) Staff costs and benefits (Continued)

(b) Post-employment benefits (Continued)

Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees of domestic branches who retired at or before 31 December 2008. Such supplementary retirement benefits are defined benefit plans. The Group accrues a liability based on actuarial techniques and recognises all actuarial gains or losses in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains or losses will not be reversed to profit or loss subsequently. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability and recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(c) Early retirement expenses

The Group pays the welfare benefits for employees, who have not yet reached the statutory retirement age limit and are approved by the Group to voluntarily retire from their employment, from the early retirement date to the statutory retirement age limit. These welfare benefits are recognised in profit or loss based on the discounted cash flow calculation over the implementation period. The Group reviews present value of the welfare benefits on each reporting date, with any changes recognised in profit or loss.

(25) Foreign currency translation

Renminbi ("RMB") is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as their functional currency. The Bank and the Group's foreign subsidiaries choose their respective functional currencies on the basis of the primary economic environment in which they operate. The Group adopts RMB to prepare its consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i. e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date and those on initial recognition or at the previous reporting date are recognised in profit or loss for the period, except that (i) exchange differences related to hedging instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign exchange risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (ii) exchange differences arising from non-monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as shares) denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the carrying amounts (other than the amortised cost) of monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised as other comprehensive income; and (iii) exchange differences arising on a foreign currency monetary item that forms part of the Bank's net investment in a foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions or a rate that approximates the spot exchange rates of the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(25) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or upon a loss of control over a foreign operation due to disposal of certain interest in it or other reasons, the Group transfers the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of this foreign operation and foreign currency monetary items that form part of the net investment in such foreign operation attributable to the owners' equity of the Group and presented under shareholder's equity in the statement of financial position, to profit or loss in the period in which the disposal occurs.

In case of a disposal or other reason that does not result in the Group losing control over a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit and loss. For partial disposals of equity interests in foreign operations which are associates and joint ventures, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of foreign operations is reclassified to profit or loss.

(26) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable and can be reliably estimated, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(27) Insurance contracts

Insurance contracts classification and division

Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Group has undertaken significant insurance risk, relative to an insured event or occurrence. The Group issues primarily life insurance contracts, which insure events associated with mortality over a long duration. The Group also issues non-life insurance contracts, which cover short-term casualty and health insurance risk. When necessary, the Group enters into reinsurance contracts to transfer insurance risks to a reinsurer. A significant insurance risk test is performed at inception of the insurance contracts.

Under the contract the insurer signed with the policyholder, the insurer may undertake insurance risk or other risks, or both insurance risk and other risks.

Where the Group undertakes both the insurance risk and other risks, and the insurance risk and other risks can be distinguished and separately measured, the insurance risk shall be separately accounted for as insurance contracts while the other risks shall be accounted for as either investment contracts or service contracts. Where the insurance risk and other risks cannot be distinguished from each other, or can be distinguished but cannot be separately measured, significant insurance risk test shall be performed at the contract's initial recognition date. If the insurance risk is significant, the contract is classified as an insurance contract; otherwise, it is classified as an investment contract or service contract.

Insurance income recognition

Insurance premium income is recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

- (i) The insurance contract is issued, and related insurance risk is undertaken by the Group;
- The related economic benefits are likely to flow to the Group; and (ii)
- Related income can be reliably measured. (iii)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(27) Insurance contracts (Continued)

(b) Insurance income recognition (Continued)

Premiums from long-term life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when due from policyholders. Premiums related to short-term non-life insurance contracts are recognised when received at the inception of the policy, as unearned insurance premiums in the consolidated statement of financial position, and are amortised on a straight-line basis into the consolidated income statement over the term of the policy. When the Group has transferred insurance risk through reinsurance contracts, the Group calculates the amount of premium ceded and the reinsurers' share of expenses and recognises them through the consolidated income statement in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contracts.

(c) Insurance contract reserves

Insurance contract liabilities are measured based on a reasonable estimate of the amount of payments that the Group will be required to make to fulfil its obligations under the insurance contracts, which represents the difference between expected future cash outflows and inflows related to such contracts. A reasonable estimate of expected future net cash flows is determined based on information currently available as at the end of the reporting period. The Group has considered the impact of time value in the liability calculation for long-term life insurance.

The Group performs liability adequacy tests based on information currently available, as at the reporting date. Additional insurance contract liabilities should be recorded if any deficiency exists.

(28) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of guarantee fees, and the best estimate of the expected credit loss provision required to settle the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

The impairment allowance of loan commitments provided by the Group is measured by ECL. The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For credit related commitments and financial guarantees, the loss allowance is recognised as an provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group can not separately identify the ECL on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECL on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined ECL exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the ECL are recognised as a provision.

(29) Fiduciary activities

In activities where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as trustee, custodian or agent, the assets and income arising from the transaction together with the related undertakings to return the assets to customers are excluded from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group conducts entrusted lending for the third-party lenders. The Group grants loans to borrowers, as trustee, according to the instruction of the third-party lenders who fund these loans. The Group is responsible for the arrangement and collection of the entrusted loans and receives a commission for the services rendered. As the Group does not assume the risks and rewards of the entrusted loans and does not provide funding for the corresponding entrusted funds, the entrusted loans are not recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(30) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors and the senior management team represented by the governor as its chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group with all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) that component can earn revenues and incur expenses from ordinary activities; (ii) the component's operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (iii) discrete financial information for the component is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic characteristics, and certain conditions are satisfied, they may be aggregated into a single operating segment. Intra-segment income and expenses are eliminated. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are considered in determining segment performance.

The Group has the following segments: Head Office, Yangtze River Delta, Central China, Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Pearl River Delta, Western China, Northeastern China and Overseas.

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance require the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

(a) Measurement of ECL

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and credit related commitments and financial guarantees, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e. g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Note 3(1) specifies the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques used in the measurement of expected credit loss and also discloses the sensitivity of expected credit losses to changes in these factors.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;
- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings;
- Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3(1).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm's length transactions, observable prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted interest rates, and commonly used market pricing models. To the extent practical, models use observable data such as interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option volatilities, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty's), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market observable data. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation techniques including review of valuation model assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumptions, the quality of market data, whether markets are active or inactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approval processes. Valuation techniques are validated and periodically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at the financial reporting date.

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax various jurisdictions; principally, in Mainland China and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC. There are certain transactions and activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group has made estimates for application of tax legislation and items of uncertainty taking into account existing tax legislation and past practice. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax in the period during which such a determination is made.

(d) Consolidation of structured entities

Where the Group acts as asset manager of or investor in structured entities, the Group makes significant judgement on whether the Group controls and should consolidate these structured entities. When performing this assessment, the Group assesses the Group's contractual rights and obligations in light of the transaction structures, and evaluates the Group's power over the structured entities, performs analysis and tests on the variable returns from the structured entities, including but not limited to commission income and asset management fees earned as the asset manager, the retention of residual income, and, if any, the liquidity and other support provided to the structured entities. The Group also assesses whether it acts as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which it is entitled for asset management services, the Group's exposure to variability of returns from its other interests in the structured entities, and the rights held by other parties in the structured entities.

(e) Derecognition of financial assets

In judging whether the transaction in which a loan transfer through packaging and asset securitisation is consistent with the termination confirmation of a financial asset, the Group needs to assess whether the Group meets the criteria for the transfer of financial assets and whether almost all risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan are transferred. If there is neither a transfer nor a retention of almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the transferred loan, the Group will further assess whether control over the transferred loan has been retained. In assessing and judging, the Group has taken into account a wide range of factors, such as whether trading arrangements are accompanied by repurchase clauses. The Group sets situational assumptions and uses the future cash flow discount model for risk and compensation transfer testing. The Group derecognised the loan only if the loan has been transferred and almost all risks and benefits in ownership have been transferred to another subject. If the Group retains almost all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred loan, it shall continue to confirm the loan and at the same time recognise the proceeds received as a financial liability. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained almost all of the risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan and has not waived its control over the loan, the financial assets concerned are recognised to the extent that the loan continues to be involved and the relevant liability is recognised accordingly.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are periodically reviewed for impairment by the Group and where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the asset's expected future cash flow.

Fair value is usually based on market prices, and the management obtains it from professional appraisal agencies. Disposal costs include legal fees and taxes related to the asset disposal. When estimating the present value of the expected future cash flow of fixed assets leased out by the subsidiary, the management takes the rental amount agreed in the lease contract and the value of the assets at the end of the lease term as the basis for estimating future cash flows, and determines an appropriate discount rate for the calculation of the present value of future cash flows in various scenarios.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Group is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Corporate Business Department, Inclusive Finance Department, Retail Credit Business Department, Pacific Credit Card Centre, International Banking Department, Credit Management Department, Credit Authorisation Department, Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office, Asset Preservation Department, Financial institution Department and Financial Market Department. They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(i) Loans and advances to customers

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more guidance on credit investment, formulate guidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of post-loan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk filtering, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal, etc.

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and pre-warning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating business management system and combining relevant system function control, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various monitoring and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through customer classification and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(ii) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The investment in those debts and bills is to have better credit quality assets while maintaining readily available liquidity resource. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued) (a)

Treasury business (Continued)

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and WMPs set up by banking financial institutions. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right, ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and issuers of inter-bank WMPs, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i. e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i. e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market fluctuations. Collateral or other security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except when the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

Credit-related commitments (iii)

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

Credit risk quality

In accordance with the Guideline for Loan Credit Risk Classification issued by the CBIRC, the Group measures and manages the quality of corporate and personal loans and advances by classifying loans into the following five categories: normal, special-mention, substandard, doubtful and loss, of which substandard, doubtful and loss loans are regarded as nonperforming loans.

The five categories of loan classification into which the Group classifies its loans and advances to customers are set out below:

Normal: Borrowers can honour the terms of their loans. There is no reason to doubt their ability to repay principal

and interest in full on a timely basis.

Special-mention: Borrowers are able to service their loans currently, although repayment may be adversely affected by

specific factors.

Substandard: Borrowers' ability to service their loans is in question and they cannot rely entirely on normal operating

revenues to repay principal and interest. Losses may ensue even when collaterals or guarantees are

invoked.

Borrowers cannot repay principal and interest in full and significant losses will need to be recognised Doubtful:

even when collaterals or guarantees are invoked.

Only a small portion or none of the principal and interest can be recovered after taking all possible Loss:

measures and exhausting all legal remedies.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL. Definition of above stages see Notes 2(5)(a).

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-onyear Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario". The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted guarterly, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

As at 31 December 2022, The Group forecasts the 2023 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be 5.2% in the Basic Scenario. The Group fully considered the macroeconomic forecast for 2023 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models.

The Group determined the weightings of "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario" with macro data analysis and expert's judgement and maintain relative stability.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available. When the management believed that the forecast model could not fully reflect recent credit or economic events, management overlay adjustments could be used to supplement ECL allowances.

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group measures sensitivity analysis on the macro-economic indicators used in prospective estimation. As at 31 December 2022, if the optimistic/pessimistic scenario weighting increases or decreases by 10%, and the prediction of economic indicators changed correspondingly, the change of the impairment allowance does not exceed 5%.

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk

financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group classified the credit risk levels of financial assets measured by ECL into "Low" (credit risk in good condition), "Medium" (increased credit risk), and "High" (credit risk in severe condition), based on the quality of assets. The credit risk level is used for the purpose of the group's internal credit risk management. "Low" refers to assets with good credit quality. There is no sufficient reason to doubt that the assets are not expected to fulfill its contractual obligation to repay or if there is any other behaviors breaching the debt contracts that would significantly impact the repayment of debt according to contract terms. "Medium" refers to assets facing obvious negative factors impacting its repayment capacity, but not yet have non-repayment behaviors. "High" refers to non-repayment according to the debt contract terms, or other behaviors breaching the debt contracts or having significant impact on the repayment of debt according to contract terms.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below analyses exposure to credit risk of major financial instruments included in expected credit losses assessment. The balance of financial instruments below is the maximum exposure to credit risk of these instruments in the Group.

		As at 31 December 2022						
				Domestic	Overseas and		Allowance for Impairment	Group Carrying
	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	766,436	_	_	766,436	25,827	792,263	_	792,263
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,945,613	79,199	60,506	4,085,318	521,838	4,607,156	(134,409)	4,472,747
Stage 1	3,866,961	-	-	3,866,961	485,011	4,351,972	(51,219)	4,300,753
Stage 2	78,652	79,199	-	157,851	18,873	176,724	(35,112)	141,612
Stage 3	-	-	60,506	60,506	17,954	78,460	(48,078)	30,382
at FVOCI	322,364	2	36	322,402	63	322,465	-	322,465
Stage 1	315,497	-	-	315,497	63	315,560	-	315,560
Stage 2	6,867	2	-	6,869	-	6,869	-	6,869
Stage 3	-	-	36	36	_	36	-	36
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,261,444	20,181	19,743	2,301,368	65,139	2,366,507	(41,769)	2,324,738
Stage 1	2,247,634	-	-	2,247,634	63,522	2,311,156	(17,576)	2,293,580
Stage 2	13,810	20,181	-	33,991	1,357	35,348	(10,273)	25,075
Stage 3	-	-	19,743	19,743	260	20,003	(13,920)	6,083
Due from and placements with banks								
and other financial institutions	366,086	-	-	366,086	325,369	691,455	(1,034)	690,421
Stage 1	366,086	-	-	366,086	321,673	687,759	(1,032)	686,727
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,696	3,696	(2)	3,694
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,318,706	1,341	1,125	2,321,172	132,367	2,453,539	(2,764)	2,450,775
Stage 1	2,318,706	-	-	2,318,706	129,095	2,447,801	(1,547)	2,446,254
Stage 2	-	1,341	-	1,341	2,641	3,982	(260)	3,722
Stage 3	-	-	1,125	1,125	631	1,756	(957)	799
Debt investments at FVOCI	380,020	-	-	380,020	403,732	783,752	-	783,752
Stage 1	380,020	-	-	380,020	400,510	780,530	-	780,530
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	2,794	2,794	-	2,794
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	428	428	-	428
On-balance sheet total	10,360,669	100,723	81,410	10,542,802	1,474,335	12,017,137	(179,976)	11,837,161

		As at 31 December 2022					
				Allowance for			
	Domestic	Overseas and		Impairment	Group Carrying		
	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount		
Credit related commitments							
and financial guarantees							
Stage 1	2,153,567	54,654	2,208,221	(10,226)	2,197,995		
Stage 2	11,469	765	12,234	(1,065)	11,169		
Off-balance sheet total	2,165,036	55,419	2,220,455	(11,291)	2,209,164		

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

							Allowance for	
				Domestic	Overseas and		Impairment	Group Carrying
	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	667,440	-	-	667,440	53,990	721,430	-	721,430
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,449,747	66,771	69,992	3,586,510	504,061	4,090,571	(121,252)	3,969,319
Stage 1	3,364,303	-	-	3,364,303	479,277	3,843,580	(37,786)	3,805,794
Stage 2	85,444	66,771	-	152,215	17,158	169,373	(34,382)	134,991
Stage 3	-	-	69,992	69,992	7,626	77,618	(49,084)	28,534
at FVOCI	182,148	34	10	182,192	2,514	184,706	-	184,706
Stage 1	178,511	-	-	178,511	2,514	181,025	-	181,025
Stage 2	3,637	34	-	3,671	-	3,671	-	3,671
Stage 3	-	-	10	10	-	10	-	10
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,198,737	14,554	18,932	2,232,223	52,873	2,285,096	(38,837)	2,246,259
Stage 1	2,198,737	3,375	-	2,202,112	52,329	2,254,441	(19,617)	2,234,824
Stage 2	-	11,179	-	11,179	308	11,487	(4,510)	6,977
Stage 3	-	-	18,932	18,932	236	19,168	(14,710)	4,458
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	411,963	-	-	411,963	223,051	635,014	(2,306)	632,708
Stage 1	411,963	-	-	411,963	219,552	631,515	(2,304)	629,211
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,499	3,499	(2)	3,497
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,124,848	-	1,088	2,125,936	80,059	2,205,995	(2,958)	2,203,037
Stage 1	2,121,126	-	-	2,121,126	77,343	2,198,469	(1,695)	2,196,774
Stage 2	3,722	-	-	3,722	515	4,237	(371)	3,866
Stage 3	-	-	1,088	1,088	2,201	3,289	(892)	2,397
Debt investments at FVOCI	250,966	-	-	250,966	414,501	665,467	-	665,467
Stage 1	250,966	-	-	250,966	410,700	661,666	-	661,666
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,772	3,772	-	3,772
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	29	29	-	29
On-balance sheet total	9,285,849	81,359	90,022	9,457,230	1,331,049	10,788,279	(165,353)	10,622,926

	As at 31 December 2021				
	Domestic	Overseas and		Allowance for	Group Carrying
	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	Impairment losses	amount
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees					
Stage 1	1,814,432	45,815	1,860,247	(8,736)	1,851,511
Stage 2	6,916	732	7,648	(506)	7,142
Off-balance sheet total	1,821,348	46,547	1,867,895	(9,242)	1,858,653

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets measured at FVTPL which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

Maximum exposure to credit risk

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		
Derivative financial instruments	69,687	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	27	27
Debt securities	252,953	247,934
Fund investments and other asset management products	359,200	305,176
Precious metal contracts	24,557	21,924
Total	706,424	614,281

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued) (c)

Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

Collaterals	Maximum loan-to-value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured, while revolving individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek additional collaterals and pledges from the counterparties as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

	As at 31 December 2022					
				Exposure		
		Impairment		covered by		
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral		
Credit impaired assets						
Loans and advances to customers						
Loans and advances to customers at amortised						
cost	98,463	(61,998)	36,465	50,145		
Loans and advances to customers at fair value						
through other comprehensive income	36	_	36	36		
Financial investments						
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,756	(957)	799	876		
Debt investments at fair value through other						
comprehensive income	428	_	428	-		

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

As at 31 December 202	21
-----------------------	----

		Impairment		Fair value of
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral held
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised				
cost	96,786	(63,794)	32,992	46,184
Loans and advances to customers at fair value				
through other comprehensive income	10	-	10	10
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	3,289	(892)	2,397	4,876
Debt investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	29	-	29	_

Master netting arrangements

The Group may enter into master netting arrangements or similar agreements with the counterparties to reduce credit risk furtherly. The related credit risk of contracts will reduce when settled on a net basis. Each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

(d) Derivative instruments

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, commodity, interest rate and other derivative contracts with other financial institutions and customers. The management has established limits for these contracts based on counterparties, industry sectors and countries. Actual credit risk exposures are regularly monitored and controlled by the management.

Credit risk-weighted amounts

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Counterparty credit risk-weighted amounts	39,298	53,789

The credit risk-weighted amounts are the amounts calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the CBIRC and are dependent on, amongst other factors, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the maturity of each type of contract. The credit risk-weighted amounts stated above have not taken the effects of netting arrangements into account.

(e) Foreclosed assets

(6) 1 010010004 400010		
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Buildings	1,400	1,424
Land use rights	8	8
Others	4	5
Gross	1,412	1,437
Less: Impairment allowances	(412)	(407)
Net	1,000	1,030

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

		As at 31 December 2022		
	Mainland China	Hong Kong	Others	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	768,985	1,874	21,404	792,263
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	423,549	109,971	156,901	690,421
Derivative financial assets	23,345	38,787	7,555	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,765,667	232,934	138,076	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	620,463	11,249	4,998	636,710
Debt investments at FVOCI	400,661	225,274	157,817	783,752
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,369,077	48,398	33,300	2,450,775
Other financial assets	24,935	5,456	5,930	36,321
Total	11,396,682	673,943	525,981	12,596,606
Off-balance sheet exposures		'		
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,118,222	12,737	9,499	1,140,458
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	1,049,643	18,257	12,097	1,079,997
Total	2,167,865	30,994	21,596	2,220,455

		As at 31 Decemb	or 0001	
	Mainland China		er 2021 Others	Total
	IVIAII IIAI IU OI III IA	Hong Kong	Others	TOtal
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	670,925	28,814	21,387	721,126
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	463,774	68,572	100,362	632,708
Derivative financial assets	26,989	9,284	2,947	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	6,065,792	206,433	139,976	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	511,854	6,511	56,669	575,034
Debt investments at FVOCI	394,613	58,562	212,292	665,467
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,161,046	6,621	35,370	2,203,037
Other financial assets	52,737	11,201	3,567	67,505
Total	10,347,730	395,998	572,570	11,316,298
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	879,413	6,458	12,073	897,944
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	943,804	23,598	2,549	969,951
Total	1,823,217	30,056	14,622	1,867,895

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 Decemb	per 2021
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	2,000,365	27.42	1,780,637	27.14
Central China	1,196,075	16.39	1,092,985	16.66
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,137,282	15.59	965,957	14.72
Pearl River Delta	978,749	13.41	857,521	13.07
Western China	875,476	12.00	774,445	11.80
Head Office	481,741	6.60	492,884	7.52
Overseas	376,277	5.16	348,948	5.32
North Eastern China	250,190	3.43	247,023	3.77
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	7,296,155	100.00	6,560,400	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 48.

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 December 2021		
	%		%	
823,156	11.28	763,419	11.64	
836,532	11.46	732,565	11.16	
163,532	2.24	102,338	1.56	
162,110	2.22	168,825	2.57	
137,316	1.88	126,354	1.93	
47,373	0.65	40,781	0.62	
29,275	0.40	26,817	0.41	
296,926	4.07	267,450	4.07	
729,818	10.00	650,742	9.92	
519,857	7.13	419,820	6.40	
429,222	5.88	382,201	5.83	
342,617	4.70	268,772	4.10	
254,447	3.49	215,554	3.29	
176,696	2.42	157,729	2.40	
148,747	2.04	132,633	2.02	
128,762	1.76	122,196	1.86	
118,246	1.62	120,216	1.83	
68,246	0.94	60,718	0.93	
40,168	0.55	34,133	0.52	
94,839	1.31	77,884	1.19	
218,295	2.99	136,722	2.08	
4,929,648	67.57	4,275,304	65.17	
1,512,648	20.73	1,489,517	22.70	
477,746	6.55	492,580	7.51	
376,113	5.15	302,999	4.62	
2,366,507	32.43	2,285,096	34.83	
7,296,155	100.00	6,560,400	100.00	
	823,156 836,532 163,532 162,110 137,316 47,373 29,275 296,926 729,818 519,857 429,222 342,617 254,447 176,696 148,747 128,762 118,246 68,246 40,168 94,839 218,295 4,929,648 1,512,648 477,746 376,113 2,366,507	823,156 11.28 836,532 11.46 163,532 2.24 162,110 2.22 137,316 1.88 47,373 0.65 29,275 0.40 296,926 4.07 729,818 10.00 519,857 7.13 429,222 5.88 342,617 4.70 254,447 3.49 176,696 2.42 148,747 2.04 128,762 1.76 118,246 1.62 68,246 0.94 40,168 0.55 94,839 1.31 218,295 2.99 4,929,648 67.57 1,512,648 20.73 477,746 6.55 376,113 5.15 2,366,507 32.43	823,156 11.28 763,419 836,532 11.46 732,565 163,532 2.24 102,338 162,110 2.22 168,825 137,316 1.88 126,354 47,373 0.65 40,781 29,275 0.40 26,817 296,926 4.07 267,450 729,818 10.00 650,742 519,857 7.13 419,820 429,222 5.88 382,201 342,617 4.70 268,772 254,447 3.49 215,554 176,696 2.42 157,729 148,747 2.04 132,633 128,762 1.76 122,196 118,246 1.62 120,216 68,246 0.94 60,718 40,168 0.55 34,133 94,839 1.31 77,884 218,295 2.99 136,722 4,929,648 67.57 4,275,304 1,512,648 20.73 1,489,517 477,746 6.55 492,580	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers (Continued)

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

(2)Market risk

Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the CBIRC, the Group's financial instrument positions are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the trading book. The banking book consists of all financial instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

(a) VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(a) VaR (Continued)

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

	Year ended 31 December 2022					
	31 December					
Items	2022	Average	Maximum	Minimum		
VaR	631	565	771	298		
Including: Interest rate risk	558	570	790	282		
Foreign exchange risk	107	90	154	43		

Year ended 31 December 2021

21	December

Items	2021	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	261	381	746	256
Including: Interest rate risk	269	306	453	197
Foreign exchange risk	133	209	743	100

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

Changes in net profit

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves -100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	10,860 (10,860)	10,562 (10,562)

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

Changes in other comprehensive income

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves -100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(17,667) 17,861	(12,995) 14,012

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

Changes in net profit

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
5% appreciation of RMB	(327)	(1,803)
5% depreciation of RMB	327	1,803

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

Changes in other comprehensive income

31 December 2022	31 December 2021
	31 December 2021
5% appreciation of RMB (1,138) 5% depreciation of RMB 1,138	(1,403)

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding nonmonetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing and maturity mismatching of assets and liabilities, and the fluctuation of market interest rates, as well as from the adjustments in the interest rate policies made by the PBOC. On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group pays high attention to the transition of interest rate benchmark and has established a task force to speed up the launch and implementation of interest rate benchmark reform project. At the current stage, the progress of this reform is basically on schedule. The first batch exited the market on 1 January 2022 have already complete transition successfully, and the remaining transition of USD libor is ready on schedule, and the impact of the methods of benchmark transition on interest rate risk is generally under control, which has a relatively limited substantial impact on the operations.

The Group has initially established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

						Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	787,224	-	_	-	_	18,878	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	335,968	104,925	205,097	38,075	1,592	4,764	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	69,687	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	1,811,683	958,323	3,475,560	342,513	205,882	342,716	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	12,769	24,727	143,074	50,189	65,437	409,161	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	27,790	52,466	510,213	790,849	1,040,333	29,124	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	47,273	110,274	240,595	195,614	181,231	24,088	799,075
Other assets	495	-	_	-		333,830	334,325
Total assets	3,023,202	1,250,715	4,574,539	1,417,240	1,494,475	1,232,248	12,992,419
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,221,722)	(256,095)	(518,409)	(24,137)	(3,433)	(11,098)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(3,009)	(4,475)	(4,068)	(21,484)	-	(14,913)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(46,804)	(46,804)
Due to customers	(3,896,914)	(624,232)	(1,444,736)	(1,863,246)	(19)	(119,925)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(121,671)	(255,586)	(842,192)	(228,889)	(265,306)	(164,316)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	(5,243,316)	(1,140,388)	(2,809,405)	(2,137,756)	(268,758)	(357,056)	(11,956,679)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,220,114)	110,327	1,765,134	(720,516)	1,225,717	875,192	1,035,740

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued) (c)

						Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	714,689	-	-	-	_	20,039	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	274,884	105,476	212,107	28,423	7,950	3,868	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	39,220	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	1,752,819	740,873	2,904,431	442,783	259,155	312,140	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	32,659	52,942	90,657	35,428	45,306	381,491	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	18,908	35,803	262,899	1,009,017	846,114	30,296	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	49,415	109,842	91,364	227,236	181,312	22,560	681,729
Other assets	458	_	_	_	_	323,193	323,651
Total assets	2,843,832	1,044,936	3,561,458	1,742,887	1,339,837	1,132,807	11,665,757
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,167,169)	(261,570)	(486,143)	(20,848)	(2,889)	(9,149)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,196)	(1,266)	-	(11,637)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(36,074)	(36,074)
Due to customers	(3,787,796)	(534,784)	(1,020,946)	(1,607,059)	(39)	(89,153)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(125,188)	(183,613)	(722,988)	(224,408)	(216,154)	(142,503)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(5,105,107)	(981,962)	(2,240,273)	(1,853,581)	(219,082)	(288,516)	(10,688,521)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,261,275)	62,974	1,321,185	(110,694)	1,120,755	844,291	977,236

Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB6.9646 (31 December 2021: RMB6.3757) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.8933 (31 December 2021: RMB0.8176), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2022	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central					
banks	761,360	24,466	3,029	17,247	806,102
Due from and placements with					
banks and other financial					
institutions	355,917	284,404	30,206	19,894	690,421
Derivative financial assets	34,610	27,496	4,928	2,653	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,585,252	255,653	205,170	90,602	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	605,884	62,679	4,513	32,281	705,357
Financial investments at amortised					
cost	2,316,741	92,370	20,047	21,617	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	421,630	304,276	15,846	57,323	799,075
Other assets	154,352	166,603	6,110	7,260	334,325
Total assets	11,235,746	1,217,947	289,849	248,877	12,992,419
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks					
and other financial institutions	(1,637,331)	(324,092)	(17,291)	(56,180)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(26,181)	(9,147)	(1,119)	(11,502)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	(32,994)	(7,062)	(5,292)	(1,456)	(46,804)
Due to customers	(7,191,205)	(431,120)	(272,029)	(54,718)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(1,666,144)	(178,479)	(10,284)	(23,053)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	(10,553,855)	(949,900)	(306,015)	(146,909)	(11,956,679)
Net position	681,891	268,047	(16,166)	101,968	1,035,740
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	2,043,649	133,379	14,386	29,041	2,220,455

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2021	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central					
banks	659,377	32,034	30,113	13,204	734,728
Due from and placements with					
banks and other financial					
institutions	316,755	276,807	19,944	19,202	632,708
Derivative financial assets	32,268	5,982	482	488	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	5,882,592	294,495	164,923	70,191	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	539,513	79,414	727	18,829	638,483
Financial investments at amortised					
cost	2,169,831	29,760	812	2,634	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	309,518	283,663	37,699	50,849	681,729
Other assets	173,258	137,483	7,292	5,618	323,651
Total assets	10,083,112	1,139,638	261,992	181,015	11,665,757
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks					
and other financial institutions	(1,496,464)	(389,507)	(22,857)	(38,940)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(34,217)	(3,196)	(41)	(12,594)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	(27,910)	(7,021)	(614)	(529)	(36,074)
Deposits from customers	(6,341,729)	(387,816)	(262,148)	(48,084)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(1,392,157)	(176,573)	(20,418)	(25,706)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(9,292,477)	(964,113)	(306,078)	(125,853)	(10,688,521)
Net position	790,635	175,525	(44,086)	55,162	977,236
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	1,683,043	137,706	19,797	27,349	1,867,895

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group cannot obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(a) Liquidity risk management process

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc.;
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities;
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions;
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	135,461	167,626	94,515	217,059	78,603	15,386	708,650
Loans and advances to customers	52,307	-	-	541,275	375,385	1,916,512	2,323,601	3,995,748	9,204,828
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,734	45,012	189,021	73,448	76,065	731,540
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	28,653	56,763	652,487	931,575	1,223,543	2,893,820
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	11,022	41,574	340,732	271,680	215,671	896,479
Other financial assets	2,054	-	41,760	-	-	-	_	_	43,814
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	55,913	758,200	577,091	759,310	613,588	3,315,811	3,678,907	5,526,413	15,285,233
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	_	(812,999)	(391,858)	(246,329)	(538,680)	(46,374)	(13,610)	(2,049,850)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,901)	(3,928)	(6,209)	(5,338)	(23,437)	-	(49,813)
Due to customers	-	-	(3,119,909)	(869,509)	(629,734)	(1,460,728)	(1,923,273)	(20)	(8,003,173)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	_	_	(97,197)	(241,229)	(753,631)	(14,860)	(234)	(1,107,151)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(16,125)	(10,346)	(123,394)	(234,952)	(227,919)	(612,736)
Other financial liabilities	_	-	(98,112)	(2,461)	(701)	(2,057)	(5,168)	(21,217)	(129,716)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)	<u> </u>		(4,041,921)	(1,381,078)	(1,134,548)	(2,883,828)	(2,248,064)	(263,000)	(11,952,439)
Net position	55,913	758,200	(3,464,830)	(621,768)	(520,960)	431,983	1,430,843	5,263,413	3,332,794

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3)Liquidity risk (Continued)

Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2021	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	630,776	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	88,993	171,571	89,939	229,521	47,273	11,908	639,205
Loans and advances to customers	50,266	-	-	526,302	331,408	1,600,584	1,962,475	4,708,281	9,179,316
Financial investments at FVTPL	-	376,060	2,697	25,865	47,830	96,235	53,221	56,240	658,148
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,397	-	-	18,705	41,124	328,799	1,216,983	983,448	2,591,456
Financial investments at FVOCI	29	16,262	-	17,767	57,326	129,941	327,239	205,699	754,263
Other financial assets	4,198	-	63,307		_	-		-	67,505
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	56,890	1,023,098	258,645	760,210	567,931	2,385,080	3,607,191	5,965,576	14,624,621
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(816,423)	(339,984)	(249, 157)	(500,344)	(47,994)	(8,049)	(1,961,951)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(11,631)	(24,958)	(1,999)	(10,248)	(1,287)	-	(50,123)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(2,917,674)	(896,297)	(548,993)	(1,062,886)	(1,719,819)	(40)	(7,145,709)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(102,215)	(159,431)	(627,356)	(15,167)	(29)	(904, 198)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(8,495)	(12,810)	(125,943)	(243,207)	(177,668)	(568, 123)
Other financial liabilities	_	-	(47,545)	(157)	(719)	(1,547)	(27,187)	(64,710)	(141,865)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		<u> </u>	(3,793,273)	(1,372,106)	(973,109)	(2,328,324)	_(2,054,661)	(250,496)	(10,771,969)
Net position	56,890	1,023,098	(3,534,628)	(611,896)	(405,178)	56,756	1,552,530	5,715,080	3,852,652

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	42	2	6	1	-	51
- Interest rate contracts and others	1,078	2,057	7,949	22,168	4,691	37,943
Total	1,120	2,059	7,955	22,169	4,691	37,994
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	(111)	(4)	(57)	_	_	(172)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(525)	(1,136)	(3,976)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,450)
Total	(636)	(1,140)	(4,033)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,622)
As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	10	1	23	-	-	34
- Interest rate contracts and others	416	823	2,880	7,044	647	11,810
Total	426	824	2,903	7,044	647	11,844
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	-	(34)	(27)	-	-	(61)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(408)	(900)	(3,096)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,774)
Total	(408)	(934)	(3,123)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,835)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on						
- Cash inflow	923,004	899,228	1,213,145	141,467	11,248	3,188,092
- Cash outflow	(924,062)	(898,343)	(1,211,701)	(141,797)	(11,106)	(3,187,009)
Total	(1,058)	885	1,444	(330)	142	1,083

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) **Derivative financial instruments cash flows** (Continued)

Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on						
- Cash inflow	1,095,392	879,647	1,404,576	111,697	14,918	3,506,230
- Cash outflow	(1,094,721)	(879,191)	(1,402,398)	(109,071)	(15,480)	(3,500,861)
Total	671	456	2,178	2,626	(562)	5,369

(d) Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	135,359	167,125	93,769	212,200	70,862	11,106	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,404	11,392	14,522	21,553	14,816	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	31,901	-	-	523,724	340,210	1,763,309	1,822,050	2,655,483	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,301	43,907	178,534	66,400	68,955	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	25,067	46,691	523,131	804,463	1,050,624	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	9,069	38,363	306,910	243,875	185,058	799,075
Other assets	2,054	223,001	70,499	_	_	1,167	37,604	-	334,325
Total assets	35,507	981,201	605,728	742,690	574,671	2,999,773	3,066,807	3,986,042	12,992,419
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(812,938)	(391,535)	(245,168)	(530,014)	(44,293)	(10,946)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,866)	(3,923)	(6,196)	(5,257)	(21,707)	-	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(8,133)	(10,589)	(13,964)	(10,858)	(3,260)	(46,804)
Due to customers	-	-	(3,118,072)	(869,185)	(628,192)	(1,452,998)	(1,880,606)	(19)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	-	-	(110,657)	(131,455)	(266,282)	(865,400)	(233,613)	(270,553)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	<u> </u>	<u></u>	(4,052,533)	(1,404,231)	(1,156,427)	(2,867,633)	(2,191,077)	(284,778)	(11,956,679)
Net amount on liquidity gap	35,507	981,201	(3,446,805)	(661,541)	(581,756)	132,140	875,730	3,701,264	1,035,740

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d) Maturity analysis (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2021	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	630,776	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	88,993	171,428	89,547	225,329	45,687	11,724	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	6,099	7,172	13,032	11,052	1,865	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	34,913	-	-	504,850	289,612	1,435,771	1,309,429	2,837,626	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	-	376,060	2,697	25,684	47,293	92,313	43,656	50,780	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,397	-	-	18,227	37,752	284,065	1,014,207	846,389	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	29	16,262	-	17,504	56,506	120,183	289,879	181,366	681,729
Other assets	4,198	187,187	93,428	150	18	505	35,656	2,509	323,651
Total assets	41,537	1,210,285	288,766	743,942	528,204	2,171,198	2,749,566	3,932,259	11,665,757
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(816,423)	(339,771)	(247,890)	(491,785)	(44,522)	(7,377)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(11,631)	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,202)	(1,266)	-	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(5,493)	(6,739)	(11,698)	(10,266)	(1,878)	(36,074)
Due to customers	-	-	(2,917,672)	(892,406)	(544,620)	(1,043,211)	(1,641,829)	(39)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	_	-	(59,181)	(113,511)	(198,029)	(739,771)	(285,206)	(219,156)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities			(3,804,907)	(1,376,135)	(999,273)	(2,296,667)	_(1,983,089)	(228,450)	(10,688,521)
Net amount on liquidity gap	41,537	1,210,285	(3,516,141)	(632,193)	(471,069)	(125,469)	766,477	3,703,809	977,236

(e) Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	1,011,599	36,001	32,397	1,079,997
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	962,440	175,396	2,622	1,140,458
Total	1,974,039	211,397	35,019	2,220,455

As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	924,244	30,785	14,922	969,951
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	757,497	138,818	1,629	897,944
Total	1,681,741	169,603	16,551	1,867,895

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Certain financial assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair value or with fair value disclosed for financial reporting purposes. The fair value has been determined using appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. The appropriateness of the valuation techniques and the inputs to the fair value measurements are reviewed by the Board of Directors periodically.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1,2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date:
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities, certificates of deposit, loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals and debt securities issued. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the yield curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards, swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method and Black-Scholes model; the fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include recent market prices, the relevant yield curve, exchange rates and counterparty's credit spread. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant yield curve, exchange rate, level of volatilities and counterparty's credit spread, etc. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, unlisted funds, unlisted equities and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments is determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as Discount for Lack of Marketability (DLOM). The Group has established internal control procedures to monitor the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and due to customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 31 Dece	ember 2022	As at 31 Decei	mber 2021
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
Financial asset Financial investments at amortised cost	2,450,775	2,484,041	2,203,037	2,234,814
Financial liabilities Debt securities issued	(516,353)	(514,389)	(491,372)	(496,082)

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not measured at fair value

Debt securities issued

As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	64,532	2,346,708	72,801	2,484,041
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	-	(514,389)	_	(514,389)
As at 31 December 2021	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	7,757	2,138,742	88,315	2,234,814
Financial liabilities				

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

(496,082)

(496,082)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued) (4)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

	As at 31 December 2022			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	6,585	243,646	2,722	252,953
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	154,825	178,969	25,406	359,200
Equity securities and others	5,725	4,164	58,758	68,647
Precious metal contracts	_	24,557	_	24,557
Derivative financial instruments	-	68,509	1,178	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	_	27	_	27
Subtotal	167,135	519,872	88,064	775,071
At fair value through other comprehensive				
income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	145,987	636,929	836	783,752
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	7,929	1,603	5,791	15,323
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	_	322,429	36	322,465
Subtotal	153,916	960,961	6,663	1,121,540
Total assets	321,051	1,480,833	94,727	1,896,611
		As at 31 Dece	ember 2022	
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	_	(47,949)	_	(47,949)
Derivative financial instruments	_	(46,804)	_	(46,804)
Debt securities issued		(14,508)	_	(14,508)
Total liabilities	_	(109,261)	_	(109,261)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	13,308	231,473	3,153	247,934
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	685	287,847	16,644	305,176
Equity securities and others	7,826	5,081	50,542	63,449
Precious metal contracts	_	21,924	_	21,924
Derivative financial instruments	-	38,183	1,037	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	_	27	_	27
Subtotal	21,819	584,535	71,376	677,730
At fair value through other comprehensive				
income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	239,205	425,966	296	665,467
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	7,357	1,636	7,269	16,262
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		184,696	10	184,706
Subtotal	246,562	612,298	7,575	866,435
Total assets	268,381	1,196,833	78,951	1,544,165

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(50,048)	_	(50,048)
Derivative financial instruments	-	(36,074)	_	(36,074)
Debt securities issued	_	(12,153)	_	(12,153)
Total liabilities	-	(98,275)	-	(98,275)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items

	Financial assets at	Financial assets at FVOCL
Balance at 1 January 2022	71,376	7,575
Total gains or losses		
- Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	1,278	787
- Other comprehensive income	_	(2,275)
Additions	18,657	634
Disposals and settlement	(3,369)	(85)
Transfer from other levels	122	27
Balance at 31 December 2022	88,064	6,663
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities		
held by the Group as at 31 December 2022		
- Realised gains	2,384	785
- Unrealised losses	(1,106)	(2,273)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued) (4)

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items (Continued)

	Financial assets at	Financial assets at
	FVTPL	FVOCL
Balance at 1 January 2021	65,024	8,166
Total gains or losses		
- Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	4,951	48
- Other comprehensive income	-	(1,233)
Additions	10,723	975
Disposals and settlement	(9,286)	(381)
Transfer to other levels	(36)	
Balance at 31 December 2021	71,376	7,575
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities		
held by the Group as at 31 December 2021		
- Realised gains	1,998	46
- Unrealised losses	2,000	(1,231)

These financial instruments with fair values determined based on unobservable inputs are primarily convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, part of the trust and asset management plan, equity derivatives and part of loans and advances to customers. The fair value of these financial instruments is determined primarily using discounted cash flow method and market comparison method. These valuation methods involve inputs from various unobservable assumptions such as cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders: and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The Group management adopts administrative measures issued by the CBIRC, which was developed based on guideline issued by the Basel Committee, in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of regulatory capital on a quarterly basis. The quarterly monitored information is then submitted to CBIRC.

The Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) specified the regulatory requirements for minimum capital, capital conservation buffer, additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks, countercyclical buffer and Pillar II capital as follows:

- Minimum regulatory requirements for core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio are 5%,6% and 8%, respectively;
- Capital conservation buffer requires additional 2.5% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks requires additional 0.75% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Should the regulators require countercyclical buffer under particular circumstances or regulators impose additional Pillar II capital requirements for specific banks, these requirements shall be met within the specified time limits.

The Group's capital as monitored by its Planning and Finance Department and as divided to 3 levels consists of the following:

- Core tier-1 capital, including ordinary shares, eligible portion of capital surplus, statutory reserve, statutory general reserve, retained earnings, eligible portion of non-controlling interests and translation reserve on foreign operations;
- Additional tier-1 capital, including Additional tier-1 capital instruments issued and related premium and eligible portion of non-controlling interests;
- Tier-2 capital, including tier-2 capital instruments issued and related premium, excess loan loss provisions and eligible portion of non-controlling interests.

The Group's deductible items from core tier-1 capital include: Goodwill, other intangible assets (except land use rights), investments in core tier-1 capital of financial institutions with controlling interests but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

In April 2014, the CBIRC officially approved the implementation of the advanced approach of capital management, and the Group has steadily promoted the implementation and deepened application of advanced methods in accordance with regulatory requirements. The Group expanded the implementation scope of advanced methods and ended the transition period with the approval of CBRC in 2018. According to the implementation scope of the advanced methods of capital management approved by the CBRC, the Group elected to use elementary internal rating based ("IRB") approach for credit risk exposures, internal model approach for market risk exposures and standardised approach for operational risk exposures which is compliant with regulatory requirements. For credit risk exposures not covered by IRB, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the weight method. For market risk exposures not covered by internal model approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the standardised method. For operational risk exposures not covered by standardised approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by basic index method. The capital ratios calculated based on Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

Items	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	10.06	10.62
Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	12.18	13.01
Capital adequacy ratio (%)	14.97	15.45
Core tier-1 capital	847,105	789,887
Core tier-1 capital deductions	(6,941)	(6,010)
Net core tier-1 capital	840,164	783,877
Additional tier-1 capital	176,480	176,348
Net tier-1 capital	1,016,644	960,225
Tier-2 capital	233,673	179,732
Net capital	1,250,317	1,139,957
Risk-weighted assets	8,350,074	7,379,912

NET INTEREST INCOME

	2022	2021
Interest income		
Loans and advances to customers	291,905	266,419
Financial investments	97,311	88,262
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	17,886	12,266
Balances with central banks	11,020	10,699
Subtotal	418,122	377,646
Interest expense		
Due to customers	(163,457)	(140,982)
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(44,696)	(38,581)
Certificates of deposit issued	(24,225)	(20,049)
Debt securities issued	(15,807)	(16,341)
Subtotal	(248,185)	(215,953)
Net interest income	169,937	161,693

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

	2022	2021
Bank cards	19,141	20,136
Wealth management business	10,154	11,775
Custody and other fiduciary business	7,496	7,484
Agency services	4,980	5,664
Investment banking	3,093	3,120
Guarantee and commitment	2,884	2,527
Settlement services	1,364	1,296
Others	227	283
Total	49,339	52,285

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

	2022	2021
Bank card business	2,454	2,560
Settlement and agency services	1,865	1,744
Others	381	408
Total	4,700	4,712

NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

	2022	2021
Financial instruments at FVTPL	5,808	20,621
Foreign exchange	5,737	2,539
Interest rate instruments and others	6,062	184
Total	17,607	23,344

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

Net gains arising from trading activities for the year ended 31 December 2022 included a net gain of RMB274 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021: a net loss of RMB227 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

INSURANCE BUSINESS INCOME

	2022	2021
Premiums earned	18,429	17,141
Less: Premiums ceded	(329)	(626)
Total	18,100	16,515

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

	2022	2021
Leasing income	14,969	13,843
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	1,953	2,020
Revaluation of investment properties	739	183
Net gain on the disposal of fixed and foreclosed assets	166	454
Other miscellaneous income	4,632	2,535
Total	22,459	19,035

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

10 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2022	2021
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	57,066	63,339
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	2,358	1,998
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	840	158
Debt investments at FVOCI	598	(87)
Financial investments at amortised cost	(198)	(124)
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	(1,333)	1,085
Others	1,080	2
Total	60,411	66,371

11 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2022	2021
Operating lease assets	1,882	1,981
Foreclosed assets	8	284
Precious metal	7	55
Total	1,897	2,320

12 INSURANCE BUSINESS EXPENSE

	2022	2021
Change in insurance reserves	13,456	15,643
Add: Change in insurance reserves recovered from reinsurers	1	958
Surrenders	4,938	1,084
Others	985	(631)
Total	19,380	17,054

13 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

	2022	2021
Staff costs and benefits (Note 14)	39,314	36,825
General operating and administrative expenses	28,861	29,621
Costs of operating lease business	9,879	9,108
Depreciation and amortisation	8,650	8,099
Tax and surcharges	3,119	3,001
Provision/(reversal) for outstanding litigations	56	(199)
Others	3,746	3,589
Total	93,625	90,044

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS

	Note	2022	2021
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies		26,918	25,383
Post-employment benefit	(1)	4,326	4,093
Other social security and benefit costs		8,070	7,349
Total		39,314	36,825

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by municipal and provincial governments in Mainland China, under which it is required to make monthly contributions to these plans at rates ranging from 10% to 27% of the employees' basic salary for the year. The Group's contributions to these pension plans are charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

Employees who retire at or after 1 January 2009 can voluntarily participate in an Annuity Plan. The Bank contributes to the Annuity Plan based on certain percentage of the employees' gross salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 December 2022, there are no forfeited contributions under the Group's retirement benefit plans which can be used to deduct contributions payable for future years.

The amount recognised in profit or loss in the year is as follows:

	2022	2021
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	2,674	2,494
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	1,626	1,575
Total	4,300	4,069

The amount payable at the end of the year is as follows:

	2022	2021
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	85	105
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	41	50
Total	126	155

Defined benefit plans

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees in Mainland China, who retired at or before 31 December 2008. The Group's obligations in respect of supplementary retirement benefits are calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that the Group is committed to pay to the employees after their retirement using actuarial techniques. Such benefits, which are estimated by using key parameters such as inflation rate and mortality ratio, are discounted to their present values. The discount rate is the yield on government bonds at the end of reporting date, the maturity dates of which approximate to the terms of the Group's obligations. Actuarial gains or losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income, and amendments to pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of unfunded obligations.

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Mainland China are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Statement of financial position		
- Net obligations for pension benefits	396	385

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	2022	2021
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	26	24
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income	34	(55)
Total	60	(31)

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

Movements in the unfunded obligations over the year are as follows:

	2022	2021
Present value of unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year	385	467
Retirement benefits paid during the year	(49)	(51)
Interest expense	22	21
Past service cost	4	3
Net actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the current year	34	(55)
Present value of unfunded obligations at the end of the year	396	385

The average duration of the supplementary retirement benefits plan at 31 December 2022 is 11.43 years (31 December 2021: 12.31 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of RMB39 million (2021: RMB39 million) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

The supplementary retirement benefits plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest risk, longevity risk and inflation risk. A decrease in the government bond yield will increase the present value of unfunded obligations. The present value of unfunded obligations is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability. The present value of unfunded obligations is also measured by future payment standards, which are determined by inflation rate. Hence, an increase in inflation rate will increase the present value of the unfunded obligations.

The principal actuarial assumptions regarding interest risk and inflation risk used by the Group are discount rate and inflation rate, which were 2.99% (31 December 2021: 3.07%) and 1.99% (31 December 2021: 0.81%) respectively as at 31 December 2022. In the meantime, assumptions regarding future mortality rate are set based on published statistics by the CBIRC. An average longevity of a pensioner after retirement at age 60 for male is 23.13 years while a pensioner after retirement at age 55 for female is 33.13 years.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the unfunded obligation are discount rate, inflation rate and mortality. The sensitivity analysis below is based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

- If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher/(lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by RMB27 million/ (increase by RMB30 million).
- If the expected inflation rate increases/(decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB30 million/(decrease by RMB27 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

If the life expectancy increases/(decreases) by one year for men and women, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB35 million/(decrease by RMB36 million).

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of the actual change in the unfunded obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value at the end of the reporting period of the unfunded obligation has been calculated in the same method as that applied in calculating the unfunded obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis in prior years.

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation

(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 D	December 2022	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	656	248	904
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	656	234	890
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	_	_	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	_	-	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	_	_	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	_	_	-	-
Mr. Chen, Shaozong	_	_	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	_	_	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	_	_	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	_	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	_	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	_	_	_	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	_	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	_	_	-	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	_	-	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	112	_	_	112
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	_	656	234	890
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	_	_	_	_
Mr. Li, Yao	_	280	_	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	_	267	_	267
Mr. Su, Zhi	_	132	_	132
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	_	1,010	239	1,249
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Po, Ying	_	1,010	240	1,250
Total	1,062	6,327	1,673	9,062

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued)

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2022			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Song, Hongjun	_	_	_	-
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	_	_	_	-
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	155	_	_	155
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	_	_	_	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	_	_	_	-
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	_	128	_	128
Total	155	128	_	283

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	-	619	210	829
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	619	206	825
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Chan Siu Chung	-	-	-	_
Mr. Song, Hongjun	-	-	-	_
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	_
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	-	-	-	_
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	310	-	-	310
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	-	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	-	-	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	-	-	-	_
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	-	-	330
Supervisors				
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	-	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	-	-	-	-
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	260	-	260
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	-	260	-	260
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	-	956	211	1,167
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	-	962	211	1,173
Ms. Po, Ying	-	79	18	97
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	258	87	345
Ms. Feng, Bing		819	211	1,030
Total	1,260	5,112	1,154	7,526

(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total	
Former directors and supervisors					
Mr. Du, Yarong	-	416	84	500	
Mr. Cai, Yunge	-	103	34	137	
Mr. He, Zhaobin	_	73	22	95	
Total	-	592	140	732	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued)

- The total compensation package for directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2022 has not yet been finalised in accordance with regulations of the PRC relevant authorities. The amount of the compensation not provided for is not expected to have significant impact to the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The final compensation will be disclosed in a separate announcement when determined. The final total compensation for the year ended 31 December 2021 was disclosed in the Information on the First Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in 2023 issued on 1 March 2023.
- (b) Employee supervisors Mr. Guan Xingshe, Ms. Lin Zhihong, Ms. Feng Bing and Ms. Po Ying received compensation according to their positions as employees of the Bank and did not receive additional compensation as employee supervisors.
- (c) During 2022 and 2021, there was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
- (d) Other benefits include social insurance, housing allowances, enterprise annuity paid by the Bank.

(2) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the related years are as follows:

	2022	2021
Salary	15	15
Discretionary bonuses	11	13
Employer's contribution to pension scheme and other benefits	2	2
Total	28	30

Emoluments of the above five highest paid individuals in the Group are within the following bands:

	2022	2021
HKD4,000,001 – 4,500,000	2	-
HKD4,500,001 - 5,000,000	1	1
HKD5,000,001 - 5,500,000	1	3
HKD5,500,001 - 6,000,000	_	-
HKD6,000,001 - 6,500,000	_	-
HKD6,500,001 - 7,000,000	_	-
HKD7,000,001 - 7,500,000	-	-
HKD7,500,001 - 8,000,000	-	-
HKD8,000,001 - 8,500,000	-	-
HKD8,500,001 - 9,000,000	-	-
HKD9,000,001 - 9,500,000	-	-
HKD9,500,001 - 10,000,000	1	-
HKD10,000,001 – 10,500,000	_	1
Total	5	5

During 2022 and 2021, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

16 INCOME TAX

	2022	2021
Current income tax		
- Enterprise income tax	9,919	7,522
 Hong Kong profits tax 	464	608
- Other countries or regions	715	753
Subtotal	11,098	8,883
Deferred income tax (Note 26)	(4,913)	(3,863)
Total	6,185	5,020

The provision for enterprise income tax in Mainland China is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Mainland China. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Mainland China shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25%. The major reconciliation items are as follows:

	Note	2022	2021
Profit before tax		98,215	93,959
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%		24,554	23,490
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in other countries or regions		122	(207)
Effects of non-deductible expenses	(1)	4,356	2,445
Effects of non-taxable income	(2)	(20,982)	(19,663)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years		(487)	(111)
Others		(1,378)	(934)
Income tax		6,185	5,020

Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs. (1)

Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds (2)and fund investment income gained in Mainland China.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

	2022	2021
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company	92,149	87,581
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,832)	(1,755)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(5,651)	(3,858)
Net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company	84,666	81,968
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions) at the end		
of the period	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	1.14	1.10

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,832 million on preference shares and interests of RMB5,651 million on perpetual bond declared for the year was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the parent company. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the year ended 31 December 2022, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

18 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cash	13,839	13,298
Mandatory reserve deposits	683,401	624,340
Surplus reserve deposits	103,823	90,350
Fiscal deposits	4,700	6,436
Accrued interest	339	304
Total	806,102	734,728

The Group is required to place statutory reserves with the PBOC and overseas central banks, including RMB and foreign currency deposit reserves and foreign exchange risk reserves for forward foreign exchange sales businesses, which are not allowed to be used in the Group's daily operations.

Surplus reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	120,905	83,372
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	34,371	36,422
Accrued interest	368	298
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(209)	(202)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
- Securities	49,715	59,964
- Bills	6,995	13,512
Accrued interest	11	33
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(88)	(141)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	80,566	111,677
Banks operating outside Mainland China	126,829	77,490
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Mainland China	196,730	194,502
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Mainland China	70,572	54,176
Accrued interest	4,393	3,568
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(737)	(1,963)
Total	690,421	632,708

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, due from banks and other financial institutions of the Group included pledged deposits, risk reserves and other deposits. The use of these deposits is restricted.

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or hedging purposes, including forwards, swaps and options.

The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments provide a reference of the business scale for those financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative financial instruments may become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market foreign exchange rates, interest rates or commodity price relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair values of derivative financial instruments held are set out in the following tables.

As at 31 December 2022	Contractual/ Notional Amount	Fair value	s
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,406,796	34,499	(34,648)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,076,875	35,188	(12,156)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	6,483,671	69,687	(46,804)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021	Contractual/Notional Amount	Fair values	8
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,501,041	27,195	(24,899)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,626,588	12,025	(11,175)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,127,629	39,220	(36,074)

Hedge accounting

Notional amount and fair value of hedging instruments included in the above derivative financial instruments are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022	Contractual/ Notional Amount	Fair value	s
		Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	75,883	2,043	(1,202)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges	177.797	15.934	(20)
Total	253,680	17,977	(1,222)

As at 31 December 2021	Contractual/Notional Amount	Fair values	
		Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments			
in cash flow hedges	71,805	519	(973)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments			
in fair value hedges	141,731	1,871	(1,274)
Total	213,536	2,390	(2,247)

(1) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective. The hedged items include debt investments at FVOCI, loans and advances to customers, placements from banks and financial investments at amortised cost.

The following table shows the profit or loss effects of the fair value hedges:

	2022	2021
Net gains/(losses) from fair value hedges:		
Hedging instruments	15,231	4,405
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	(15,553)	(4,386)
Total	(322)	19

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks, and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include debt investments at FVOCI, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, debt securities issued, loans and advances to customers and due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions. The Group mainly uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the supporting of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised RMB2,564 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,133 million) from effective portion of cash flow hedge in other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies RMB1,606 million from other comprehensive income to profit or loss (31 December 2021: RMB617 million). Gains or losses arising from ineffective portion of cash flow hedge were immaterial. There were no transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting had to be ceased as a result of the highly probable cash flows no longer being expected to occur.

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) Loans and advances to customers

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	6,973,663	6,375,667
- Carried at FVOCI	322,465	184,706
- Carried at FVTPL	27	27
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(176,178)	(160,089)
Accrued interest	18,608	13,985
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(1,908)	(2,095)
	7,136,677	6,412,201

(2) Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Unsecured loans	2,461,988	2,085,835
Guaranteed loans	1,179,381	1,056,138
Loans secured by collateral	2,579,866	2,488,276
Pledged loans	1,074,920	930,151
Total	7,296,155	6,560,400

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance

Movements of ECL allowance for principal - Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:

		For the year ended 31 December 2022			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime		
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2022	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	3,904	(3,553)	(351)	_	
Transfer to Stage 2	(5,520)	7,051	(1,531)	_	
Transfer to Stage 3	(261)	(13,341)	13,602	_	
Provision	13,044	15,867	28,351	57,262	
Written-offs and disposals	-	_	(46,242)	(46,242)	
Recovery of loans and advances written off in					
previous years	_	_	5,146	5,146	
Others	225	469	(771)	(77)	
As at 31 December 2022	68,795	45,385	61,998	176,178	

		For the year ended	31 December 2021	
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	43,426	32,870	62,978	139,274
Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(142)	142	_	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(391)	-	391	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		(7,598)	7,598	_
Provision	14,593	13,243	34,951	62,787
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(47,151)	(47,151)
Recovery of loans and advances written off in				
previous years	_	-	6,324	6,324
Others	(83)	235	(1,297)	(1,145)
As at 31 December 2021	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2022 Transfers:	937	48	88	1,073
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	_
Transfer to Stage 2	_	_	_	_
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(22)	23	_
Provision	586	214	40	840
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(71)	(71)
Others	_	_	(1)	(1)
As at 31 December 2022	1,522	240	79	1,841

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

As at 1 January 2021 878 47 362 1, Transfers: Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net (64) 64 - Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net (20) - Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - Others - Others (64) 64 - (64) 64 - (70) - (80) 78 (9368) (60) 78					
As at 1 January 2021 878 47 362 1, Transfers: Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net (64) 64 - Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net (20) - Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - Others - (4)		Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
Transfers: Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net (64) 64 - Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net (20) - 20 Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - - - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - - (368) (64) Others - - (4)		12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net (64) 64 - Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net (20) - 20 Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - - - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - - (368) (64) Others - - (4)	As at 1 January 2021	878	47	362	1,287
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net (20) - 20 Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - - - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - - - (368) (4) Others - - (4)	Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net - - - Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - - - (368) (64) Others - - - (4)	Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(64)	64	_	_
Provision/(reversal) 143 (63) 78 Written-offs and disposals - - - (368) (4) Others - - - (4)	Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(20)	-	20	-
Written-offs and disposals - - (368) (4) Others - - (4)	Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	_	_		-
Others – – (4)	Provision/(reversal)	143	(63)	78	158
V/	Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(368)	(368)
As at 31 December 2021 937 48 88 1,	Others	_	_	(4)	(4)
	As at 31 December 2021	937	48	88	1,073

(4) Overdue loans analysed by security type

	As at 31 December 2022				
		Overdue	Overdue		
		between three	between one		
	Overdue within	months and one	year and three	Overdue over	
	three months	year	years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	12,049	10,165	5,279	100	27,593
Guaranteed loans	2,626	8,632	3,532	1,315	16,105
Loans secured by collateral	11,399	9,193	8,867	2,584	32,043
Pledged loans	1,663	5,490	1,405	529	9,087
Total	27,737	33,480	19,083	4,528	84,828

As at 31 December 2021

		Overdue between	Overdue between		
	Overdue within	three months and	one year and	Overdue over	
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	10,351	10,096	5,215	1,035	26,697
Guaranteed loans	3,315	7,693	6,853	2,364	20,225
Loans secured by collateral	7,729	8,925	12,324	3,419	32,397
Pledged loans	1,769	2,719	2,772	583	7,843
Total	23,164	29,433	27,164	7,401	87,162

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Financial investments at FVTPL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
	72,510	45,482
Listed in Hong KongListed outside Hong Kong	210,783	200,197
- Listed outside Hong Kong - Unlisted	422,064	392,804
Total	705,357	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	,	,
- Listed in Hong Kong	27,336	13,474
Listed outside Hong Kong	2,265,215	2,044,176
- Unlisted	132,584	120,387
Accrued interest	28,404	27,958
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(2,764)	(2,958)
Total	2,450,775	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI		
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	157,408	168,690
- Listed outside Hong Kong	536,770	417,119
- Unlisted	81,242	73,382
Accrued interest	8,332	6,276
Subtotal	783,752	665,467
Equity investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	5,600	3,238
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	3,932	5,755
- Unlisted	5,791	7,269
Subtotal	15,323	16,262
Total	799,075	681,729

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in "Listed outside Hong Kong".

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the Solely Payments of Principal and Interest Test ("SPPI test").

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB785 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB615 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Financial investments at FVTPL		
- Governments and central banks	102,349	99,079
- Banks and other financial institutions	80,601	100,898
- Corporate entities	69,443	46,655
- Public sector entities	560	1,302
Total	252,953	247,934
Bond investments at amortised cost		
- Governments and central banks	2,148,425	1,922,479
- Banks and other financial institutions	164,060	117,156
- Corporate entities	44,734	47,035
- Public sector entities	22,708	21,201
Total	2,379,927	2,107,871
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Governments and central banks	375,231	304,365
- Banks and other financial institutions	294,348	254,601
- Corporate entities	99,511	101,931
- Public sector entities	14,662	4,570
Total	783,752	665,467

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022				
	Stage 1 Stage 2 Lifetime Stage 3 Lifetime				
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2022	1,695	371	892	2,958	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	126	(126)	_	-	
Transfer to Stage 2	(2)	2	_	_	
Transfer to Stage 3	_	_	_	_	
(Reversal)/Provision	(274)	12	64	(198)	
Others	2	1	1	4	
As at 31 December 2022	1,547	260	957	2,764	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2021			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	1,844	682	524	3,050
Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	274	(274)	-	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	_	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	_	(399)	399	_
(Reversal)/provision	(420)	104	192	(124)
Others	(3)	258	(223)	32
As at 31 December 2021	1,695	371	892	2,958

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022				
	Stage 1 Stage 2 Lifetime Stage 3 Lifetime				
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2021	555	10	456	1,021	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	-	
Transfer to Stage 2	(3)	3	_	-	
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(20)	21	_	
Provision	1	24	573	598	
Others	76	(4)	(160)	(88)	
As at 31 December 2022	628	13	890	1,531	

	For the year ended 31 December 2021			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	670	11	563	1,244
Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(9)	9	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		_		_
(Reversal)/provision	(115)	1	27	(87)
Others	9	(11)	(134)	(136)
As at 31 December 2021	555	10	456	1,021

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proportion of s	shares held	Means of acquisition
			·····,			240		Direct	Indirect	
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Xu Bin	RMB14,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 8 Century Avenue, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Zhang Hongliang	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Wang Qingyan	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Zheng Zhiyang	RMB10,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment
BoCom International Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as BoCom Securities Company Limited)	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 68 Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment
China BoCom Insurance Co., Ltd.	Zhang Jian	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment
Dayi BoCom Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Liu Yike	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 168-170 Central Fumin Road, Dayi County, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment
Zhejjang Anji BoCom Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Tower 1, Changshuo Square, Changshuo Street, Anji County, Huzhou City, Zheijang Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Xinjiang Shihezi BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Fang Linhai	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	No. 127 Dongyi Road, Shihezi, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Qingdao Laoshan BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	No. 156 Shenzhen Road, Laoshan District, Qingdao, Shandong	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Meng Yu	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	7 Rue de la Chapelle, L-1325 Luxembourg, Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda	Sun Xu	BRL700,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Avenida Barão de Tefé,34, salas 1701,1702,1801 e 1802, Saúde, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Brazil	Non-financial industry	Investment	100.00	-	Establishment
BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL469,300,389	Foreign legal entity	Av Barão de Tefé,34-20th, Rio de Janeiro Brazil,20220-460	Brazil	Financial industry	Commercial banking	-	80.00	Investment

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	6,474	4,062
Share of net profit of associates for the year	1,866	1,599
Share of other equity changes of associates for the year	114	93
Dividend income	(283)	(204)
Subtotal	8,171	5,550
Investments in joint ventures	579	229
Total	8,750	5,779

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 9.01%).

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 10.60%).

25 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

			Equipment And		
		Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	
	Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2022	74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
Additions	417	1,060	4,858	38,830	45,165
Construction in progress transfer in	505	(505)	_	_	-
Transfer in from investment					
properties	329	_	_	_	329
Transfer into investment properties	(139)	_	_	_	(139)
Decreases	(236)	(3)	(2,000)	(7,319)	(9,558)
As at 31 December 2022	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2022	(29,395)	_	(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
Charge for the year	(2,793)	_	(2,612)	(9,629)	(15,034)
Transfer into investment properties	17	_	_	_	17
Decreases	101	_	1,854	1,884	3,839
As at 31 December 2022	(32,070)		(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2022	_	(16)	_	(2,488)	(2,504)
Provision for impairment	_	_	_	(1,882)	(1,882)
Decrease	_	_	_	238	238
As at 31 December 2022		(16)		(4,132)	(4,148)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2022	43,493	3,499	9,225	137,952	194,169

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

			Equipment And		
		Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	
	Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2021	72,397	3,369	26,655	136,705	239,126
Additions	236	1,351	3,486	16,758	21,831
Disposals	(572)	-	(2,687)	(9,596)	(12,855)
Construction in progress transfer					
in/(out)	1,727	(1,727)	-	-	-
Transfer in from investment					
properties	899	-	-	-	899
Transfer into investment properties	_	-	-	-	_
Other transfers out		(30)			(30)
As at 31 December 2021	74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2021	(26,944)	-	(20,679)	(21,241)	(68,864)
Charge for the year	(2,738)	-	(2,242)	(6,738)	(11,718)
Disposals	287	-	2,592	2,430	5,309
Transfer into investment properties	_	_	_	_	_
As at 31 December 2021	(29,395)	- _	(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2021	_	(16)	_	(775)	(791)
Provision for impairment	_	-	_	(1,981)	(1,981)
Decrease	_	_	-	268	268
As at 31 December 2021		(16)		(2,488)	(2,504)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2021	45,292	2,947	7,125	115,830	171,194

As at 31 December 2022, the net book value of the aircrafts and vessels used as collateral for borrowings was RMB52,416 million (31 December 2021: RMB57,988 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the property and equipment with re-registration procedure not completed amounted to RMB174 million (31 December 2021: RMB198 million). However, this registration process does not affect the rights of the Group to these assets.

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2021: 16.5%).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 December 2021	
	Deductible/		Deductible/	
	(taxable)	Deferred income	(taxable)	Deferred income
	temporary	tax assets/	temporary	tax assets/
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)
Deferred income tax assets				
Allowance for impairment of assets	134,772	33,693	119,972	29,993
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	57,312	14,328	36,074	9,250
Provisions	11,928	2,982	9,672	2,418
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	10,492	2,623	5,132	1,283
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL	9,484	2,371	-	-
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL	340	85	_	-
Others	6,835	1,709	7,067	1,767
Subtotal	231,163	57,791	177,917	44,711
Deferred income tax liabilities				
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	(68,464)	(17,116)	(39,220)	(9,667)
Changes in fair value of investment properties	(3,232)	(808)	(3,020)	(755)
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(1,780)	(445)	(6,240)	(1,560)
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL	(668)	(167)	-	-
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL	(499)	(125)	(3,464)	(866)
Others	(8,580)	(2,145)	(6,764)	(1,691)
Subtotal	(83,223)	(20,806)	(58,708)	(14,539)
Net deferred income tax assets	147,940	36,985	119,209	30,172

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Deferred income tax assets	38,771	32,061
Deferred income tax liabilities	(1,786)	(1,889)
	2022	2021
Net opening balance	30,172	26,705
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in the current		
year	4,913	3,863
Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in the		
current year	1,900	(396)
Net ending balance	36,985	30,172

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Accounts receivable and temporary payments		36,775	66,062
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1)	(3,003)	(3,265)
Advance payments		22,100	16,328
Precious metal		7,814	4,878
Right-of-use assets	(2)	6,931	6,777
Investment properties	(3)	6,387	6,340
Interest receivable	(4)	2,054	4,250
Land use rights and others		1,998	2,077
Intangible assets	(5)	1,954	1,797
Foreclosed assets		1,000	1,030
Long-term deferred expenses		879	721
Refundable deposits		495	458
Goodwill	(6)	407	395
Unsettled assets		31	31
Others		6,813	6,738
Total		92,635	114,617

(1) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at 1 January 2022	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2022
Other receivables and prepayments	(3,265)	(3,435)	2,798	992	(8)	(77)	(8)	(3,003)
	As at					Recoveries		As at

	As at					Recoveries		As at
	1 January	Amounts				after written-	Exchange	31 December
	2021	accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	offs	differences	2021
Other receivables and prepayments	(2,764)	(2,137)	1,020	1,111	(356)	(140)	1	(3,265)

(2) Right-of-use assets

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cost:		
Opening balance	13,980	13,693
Additions	2,704	2,946
Decreases	(2,354)	(2,659)
As at the end of the year	14,330	13,980
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,203)	(7,024)
Additions	(2,380)	(2,416)
Decreases	2,184	2,237
As at the end of the year	(7,399)	(7,203)
Net book value	6,931	6,777
Lease liabilities	6,775	6,640

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(2) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, committed by leases but not yet commenced amount to RMB97 million (as at 31 December 2021: RMB158 million).

(3) Investment properties

	As at 1 January 2022	Decreases of the year	Gains on property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2022
Investment properties	6,340	(190)	166	71	6,387
	As at				As at
	1 January	Decreases of the	Gains on property	Exchange	31 December
	2021	year	revaluation	differences	2021
Investment properties	7,353	(899)	183	(297)	6,340

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices of the similar properties.

As at 31 December 2022, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

				As at
				31 December
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2022
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	_	-	922	922
Commercial property units located outside Hong				
Kong	_	_	5,465	5,465

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Market Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, vacancy rate, future rent income years, capitalisation rate and unit price, etc.

(4) The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(5) Intangible assets

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2022	4,504
Additions	627
Disposals	(15)
As at 31 December 2022	5,116
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2022	(2,707)
Amortisation expense	(467)
Disposals	12
As at 31 December 2022	(3,162)
Net book value	1,954

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(5) Intangible assets (Continued)

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2021	3,888
Additions	633
Disposals	(17)
As at 31 December 2021	4,504
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2021	(2,338)
Amortisation expense	(376)
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2021	(2,707)
Net book value	1,797

(6) Goodwill

	As at 1 January 2022	Addition during the year	Decrease during the year	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2022
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	_	_	_	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance	100				400
Company Limited BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	122 73	_	_	12	122 85
Total	395	_	_	12	407

	As at				As at
	1 January	Addition during	Decrease during	Exchange	31 December
	2021	the year	the year	differences	2021
Bank of Communications					
International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	-	-	-	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance					
Company Limited	122	-	_	-	122
BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	79	_		(6)	73
Total	401	-		(6)	395

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Borrowing from central banks	398,293	334,794
Accrued interest	4,787	4,564
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	254,973	242,492
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	8,839	11,871
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	803,430	831,784
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	7,699	6,810
Accrued interest	3,652	3,683
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	210,818	284,232
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	201,042	170,980
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	200	2,364
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	10,204	8,583
Accrued interest	2,344	860
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities	128,298	44,710
Accrued interest	315	41
Total	2,034,894	1,947,768

29 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Certificates of deposit issued	22,253	1,400
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	11,502	15,247
Notes issued	1,701	1,385
Short position of securities held for trading	5	134
Others (1)	12,488	31,882
Total	47,949	50,048

⁽¹⁾ As at 31 December 2022, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

Except for certificates of deposit issued by branch in Hong Kong, notes issued by BoCom International Holdings Company Limited, and shares of consolidated structured entities held by other parties rather than the Group which are designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial liabilities held for trading.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

29 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Difference between carrying amount and maturity amount		
Fair values	36,442	34,667
Amount payable at maturity	(36,723)	(34,709)
	(281)	(42)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

30 DUE TO CUSTOMERS

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Corporate demand deposits	1,989,383	2,061,672
Corporate time deposits	2,887,650	2,488,348
Personal demand deposits	885,013	850,831
Personal time deposits	2,070,711	1,551,981
Other deposits	4,227	3,359
Due to customers	7,836,984	6,956,191
Accrued interest	112,088	83,586
Total	7,949,072	7,039,777

As at 31 December 2022, deposits from customers comprised deposits pledged as collateral of RMB331,318 million (as at 31 December 2021: RMB220,878 million).

31 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by Head office, the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost.

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Carried at amortised cost:			
Bonds	(1)	306,030	332,072
Tier-2 capital bonds	(2)	198,951	148,342
Subordinated bonds	(3)	4,800	4,800
Accrued interest		6,572	6,158
Subtotal		516,353	491,372
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds	(1)	14,508	12,153
Total		530,861	503,525

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

				Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
The Bank								
19 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	50,000	2019/11/25	3 years	-	50,000
19 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	40,000	2019/12/11	3 years	-	40,000
20 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.18	50,000	2020/08/05	3 years	50,000	50,000
20 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.50	40,000	2020/11/11	3 years	40,000	40,000
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB	Mainland China	3.40	40,000	2021/04/06	3 years	40,000	40,000
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Mainland China	2.75	30,000	2022/06/15	3 years	29,999	-
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.98	30,000	2022/12/09	3 years	29,998	-
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond	RMB	Mainland China	2.42	20,000	2022/08/05	3 years	19,999	-
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.96	10,000	2022/12/09	3 years	9,999	-
17 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.88	300	2017/05/15	5 years	-	1,912
17 medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.90	600	2017/12/04	5 years	-	3,825
18 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.85	700	2018/05/17	5 years	4,876	4,462
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.25	2,800	2020/01/22	2 years	-	2,289
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.58	1,300	2020/01/22	3 years	9,055	8,287
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.75	100	2020/06/05	3 years	696	637
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.80	650	2020/07/20	3 years	4,528	4,143
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.90	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,786	2,550
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,560	5,084
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.80	350	2020/09/10	3 years	2,438	2,231
21 Macau PA-medium-term notes	MOP	Macau China	0.85	1,200	2021/12/15	2 years	1,038	951
P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	199	200
Subtotal							251,171	256,571

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

				Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
Subsidiaries								
19 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.68	5,000	2019/05/20	3 years	-	4,998
19 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	5,000	2019/07/08	3 years	-	4,998
19 Leasing 03	RMB	Mainland China	3.49	3,500	2019/10/21	3 years	-	3,498
20 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	3,000	2020/11/05	3 years	2,998	2,996
21 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.62	4,000	2021/03/01	3 years	3,996	3,993
21 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.45	3,000	2021/04/22	3 years	2,627	2,625
22 Pearl notes	RMB	Mainland China	2.90	2,400	2022/12/15	3 years	1,680	-
19 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	800	2019/01/22	3 years	-	3,693
19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	3,001	2,766
19 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.20	120	2019/04/12	3 years	-	765
19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.175	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,228	1,129
19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	809	723
19 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.05	180	2019/10/25	3 years	-	1,148
19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.075	600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,450	1,585
20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.95	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,842	1,710
20 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.83	300	2020/03/02	3 years	1,628	1,492
20 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	1.75	350	2020/07/14	3 years	1,661	1,515
20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.70	450	2020/07/14	5 years	1,616	1,348
21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.125	500	2021/06/18	3 years	2,181	1,865
21 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong China	1.07	775	2021/09/27	3 years	692	634
13 Azure Orbit	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	500	2013/03/06	10 years	3,482	3,187
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	950	2018/01/25	5 years	6,615	6,047
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,728	1,580
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	3.50	1,050	2017/03/21	5 years	-	6,692
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,736	1,589
20 Financial Investing 01	RMB	Mainland China	2.70	3,000	2020/03/11	3 years	2,998	2,999
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,995	6,990
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	3,223	2,890
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110%SELIC	200	2019/01/30	5 years	52	46
22 Brazil bonds 01	BRL	Brazil	CDI +2.60	270	2022/02/07	10 years	357	-
22 Brazil bonds 02	BRL	Brazil	CDI +2.40	200	2022/11/29	10 years	264	-
Subtotal							54,859	75,501
Total							306,030	332,072

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows:

							Fair value at	Fair value at
				Par value			the end of the	the beginning
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	year	of the year
Subsidiaries								
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	3,120	3,027
19 Hong Kong USD medium-term notes	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.78	800	2019/03/21	3 years	-	5,106
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	2,000	2020/01/22	2 years	-	2,034
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	0.95	1,200	2021/12/13	2 years	1,031	980
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	1,004	1,006
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	1.80	1,200	2022/03/21	2 years	1,039	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.20	2,800	2022/03/21	2 years	2,834	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	2.375	400	2022/03/21	3 years	2,661	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.05	1,420	2022/11/30	2 years	1,426	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	4.75	200	2022/11/30	3 years	1,393	_
Total							14,508	12,153

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
The Bank									
17 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	4.50	30,000	2017/04/11	10 years	(a)	-	29,978
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(b)	29,998	29,998
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Mainland China	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(c)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(d)	39,997	39,996
21 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(e)	29,999	30,000
22 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.45	30,000	2022/02/23	10 years	(f)	29,999	-
22 BoComm 02A	RMB	Mainland China	3.03	37,000	2022/11/11	10 years	(g)	36,998	-
22 BoComm 02B	RMB	Mainland China	3.36	13,000	2022/11/11	15 years	(h)	12,999	
Subtotal								189,989	139,971
Subsidiaries									
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	5.15	2,000	2018/09/18	10 years	(i)	1,996	1,996
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(j)	6,966	6,375
Subtotal								8,962	8,371
Total								198,951	148,342

⁽a) The Group has redeemed full face value of 17 BoComm by exercising redemption option on 13 April 2022.

⁽b) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 25 February 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02A at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2032, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- (i) The Group has an option to redeem 18 Leasing 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 20 September 2023, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise (j) the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U. S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(3) Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(a)	3,000	3,000
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(a)	1,800	1,800
Total								4,800	4,800

(a) BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem the bonds at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and CBIRC is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.

33 OTHER LIABILITIES

	Note	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Insurance liabilities		89,435	74,493
Clearing and settlement		22,704	24,056
Temporary receipts		35,912	16,015
Staff compensation payable		16,802	14,401
Expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and			
financial guarantees	(1)	11,291	9,242
Lease liabilities		6,775	6,640
Deposits received for finance lease		6,414	6,842
VAT and other taxes payable		4,811	5,639
Special purpose funding		1,949	2,108
Provision for outstanding litigations	(2)	520	472
Dividends payable		378	81
Others		52,019	52,706
Total		249,010	212,695

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	For the year ended 31 December 2022						
	Stage 1	Stage 1 Stage 2 Lifetime Stage 3 Lifetime					
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2022	8,736	506	_	9,242			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	24	(24)	_	-			
Transfer to Stage 2	(333)	333	_	_			
Transfer to Stage 3	_	_	_	_			
Provision	1,798	560	_	2,358			
Others	1	(310)	_	(309)			
As at 31 December 2022	10,226	1,065	_	11,291			

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2021						
	Stage 1 12-month	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime				
	ECL	ECL	ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2021	6,858	3,642	_	10,500			
Transfers:							
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2 net	(37)	37	_	-			
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3 net	-	-	-	-			
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3 net	_	_	_	_			
Provision	1,925	73	_	1,998			
Others	(10)	(3,246)	_	(3,256)			
As at 31 December 2021	8,736	506	_	9,242			

(2) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

-/ Woverholds in the provision for outstanding ingations										
	As at	Amounts	Amounts	Amounts		As at				
	1 January	during accrued	settled during	reversed	Exchange	31 December				
	2022	the year	the year	during the year	differences	2022				
Provision for outstanding litigations	472	223	(8)	(167)	-	520				
	As at	Amounts during		Amounts		As at				
	1 January	accrued the	Amounts settled	reversed during	Exchange	31 December				
	2021	year	during the year	the year	differences	2021				
Provision for outstanding litigations	1,032	99	(361)	(298)	-	472				

24 CHADE CADITAL AND CADITAL SLIDDLLIS

34 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS			
		Ordinary shares of	
	(in millions)	RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2022	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	74,263	111,429
	Number of shares	Ordinary shares of	
	(in millions)	RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 31 December 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

111,428

34 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

	As at 1 January 2022	Additions	Reductions	As at 31 December 2022
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	658	1	_	659
Total	111,428	1	_	111,429
	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2021	Additions	Reductions	2021
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	658	-	-	658

111,428

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(1) Preference shares

Total

(a) Preference shares outstanding at the end of the year

						in originai				
		Accounting	Dividend		Amount in	currency (in	In RMB		Conversion	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	shares	millions)	(in millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
Domestic preference shares										
Preference shares in RMB	2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity date	Mandatory	No conversion during the period
Less: Issuance fees							(48)			
Carrying amount							44,952			

(b) Movements of preference shares issued

	As at 1 January 2022	Movemer	nts	As at 31 December 2022
		Additions	Decreases	
Domestic references-shares				
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	_	_	450,000,000
In RMB (millions)	44,952	-	_	44,952

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

Main clauses (c)

Domestic preference shares

Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method (Continued)

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

(v) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the CBIRC approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 7 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

(2) Perpetual bonds

(a) Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the period

			Original			In original		
		Accounting	interest		Amount in	currency	In RMB	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	shares	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity
19 BoComm perpetual bonds (i)	18 September 2019	Equity	4.20	RMB100/bond	400,000,000	40,000	40,000	No fixed maturity date
20 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	23 September 2020	Equity	4.59	RMB100/bond	300,000,000	30,000	30,000	No fixed maturity date
21 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	8 June 2021	Equity	4.06	RMB100/bond	415,000,000	41,500	41,500	No fixed maturity date
Perpetual bonds in USD (iii)	11 November 2020	Equity	3.80	Not less than USD200,000/bond	Not applicable	2,800	18,366	No fixed maturity date
				Total			129,866	
				Less: Issuance fees			(28)	
				Carrying amount			129,838	

(b) Main clauses

(i) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the raising fund was received on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Perpetual bonds (Continued) (2)

Main clauses (Continued) (b)

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the CBIRC but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the raising fund was received on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the raising fund was received on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(iii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 11 November 2020, and the raising fund was received on 18 November 2020. The specified denomination of the bonds is not less than USD200,000, the exceeding part need to be integral multiple of USD1000 and issued at 100% of the specified denomination. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the CBIRC, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds. Once the principal amount of the Bonds (in whole or in part) has been written-off, such relevant written-off portion of the bonds will not be restored or become payable again in any circumstances (including where the relevant Non-Viability Triggering Event ceases to continue), and any accrued but unpaid distribution in respect of such relevant written-off portion of the bonds shall cease to be payable. In addition, there will be no compensation in any form to remedy the loss of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	1,023,409	964,647
 Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company 	848,619 44,952 129,838	789,857 44,952 129,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	12,331	12,589
 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of non-cumulative subordinated 	8,873	9,424
additional Tier-1 capital securities (Note 38)	3,458	3,165

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the year ended 31 December 2022 are disclosed in Note 37.

36 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
The Group	2022	Appropriate	Decrease	2022
Statutory reserve	79,967	8,187	_	88,154
Discretionary reserve	140,022	160	_	140,182
Total	219,989	8,347	_	228,336

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20). The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Group's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by regulation requirements of belonged industries or location, also need to make such general reserve.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
The Group	2022	Appropriate	Decrease	2022
Statutory general reserve	130,280	14,261	_	144,541

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

As at 1 January 2022	258,074
Profit for the year	92,149
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(8,187)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(160)
Appropriation to general reserve	(14,261)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(26,363)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders	(5,651)
Others	(101)
As at 31 December 2022	293,668
As at 1 January 2021	214,448
Profit for the year	87,581
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(7,536)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(92)
Appropriation to general reserve	(7,117)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(23,541)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(1,755)
Interest to perpetual bond holders	(3,858)
Others	(56)
As at 31 December 2021	258,074

37 DIVIDENDS

	2022	2021
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	26,363	23,541
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,832	1,755
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	5,651	3,858

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- (1) Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- (2) Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- (3) Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity. The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

37 DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Pursuant to the approval by the 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 28 June 2022, the Bank appropriated a cash dividend of RMB0.355 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB26,363 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding as at 31 December 2021, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 29 April 2022, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends of RMB1,831,500,000 with a dividend yield of 4.07%.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds in USD amounting to RMB909 million on 18 November 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,377 million on 25 September 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2019 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,680 million on 20 September 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2021 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,685 million on 10 June 2022.

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 31 December 2022, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3,458 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

Issue Date 3 March 2020 Face Value USD500 million First Call Date 3 March 2025 Distribution Rate (i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum (ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum if the redemption right is not exercised Frequency of distribution payments Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 capital securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB119 million during the year ended 31 December 2022.

39 CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 33. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Outstanding litigations	2,017	4,096
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 33)	520	472

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

39 CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Operating lease receipts

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircraft and vessels leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft and vessel under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Within 1 year	16,880	13,186
After 1 year and within 2 years	15,635	12,864
After 2 years and within 3 years	14,209	12,269
After 3 years and within 4 years	12,954	11,184
After 4 years and within 5 years	11,374	10,204
After 5 years	43,924	38,879
Total	114,976	98,586

40 COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loan commitments		
- Under 1 year	10,129	3,936
- 1 year and above	71,743	57,657
Credit card commitments	998,125	908,358
Acceptance bills	536,574	368,120
Letters of guarantee	420,167	373,630
Letters of credit commitments	183,717	156,194
Total	2,220,455	1,867,895

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Contracted but not provided for	94,654	71,053

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The investors of Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds have early redemption right while the Group has the obligation to buy back those Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The redemption price is the principal value of the Certificated Bonds or Savings Bonds plus unpaid interest till redemption date. As at 31 December 2022, the principal value of the certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds that the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB66,715 million (31 December 2021: RMB78,594 million). The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds on a back-to-back basis but will pay interest and principal at maturity. As at 31 December 2022, The Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds through the Group will not be material (31 December 2021: not material).

The original maturities of these bonds vary from 1 to 5 years.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (31 December 2021: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

41 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. The carrying amount of these collaterals and the balance of operations related are listed below:

	Pledged assets		Associated liabilities		
	As at As at		As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2022	2021	2022	2021	
Investment securities	751,853	382,640	692,106	326,776	
Bills	2,112	3,531	2,112	3,531	
Total	753,965	386,171	694,218	330,307	

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 46 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for borrowing from central banks or placements from banks by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB4,217 million in total (31 December 2021: RMB5,090 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

The Group received debt securities and bills as collateral in connection with the securities lending transactions and the purchase of assets under resale agreements. The Group did not hold any collateral that can be resold or re-pledged on balance sheet date when non-defaulting.

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 31 December 2022		
	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	(9,692)	1,947	(7,745)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(892)	223	(669)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	1,438	(219)	1,219
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	_	_	_
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity	2,564	(560)	2,004
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,606)	402	(1,204)
Translation difference on foreign operations	8,562	_	8,562
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,417)	116	(1,301)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(133)	-	(133)
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	(34)	-	(34)
Others	144	(9)	135
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,066)	1,900	834

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value			
through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	4,594	(945)	3,649
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,160)	290	(870)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value			
through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	(466)	72	(394)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss		_	-
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash			
flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity	1,133	(242)	891
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(617)	154	(463)
Translation difference on foreign operations	(3,450)	_	(3,450)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,830)	275	(1,555)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(36)	-	(36)
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	55	-	55
Others	16	_	16
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,761)	(396)	(2,157)

43 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cash and balances with central banks	117,662	103,648
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	131,141	90,660
Total	248,803	194,308

44 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns. As at 31 December 2022, the consolidated structured entities amounted to RMB177,225 million (31 December 2021: RMB182,733 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through acting as sponsors of structured entities or investments in structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 31 December 2022, those unconsolidated structured entities sponsored by the Group consist primarily of funds, trusts, asset management products, limited partnerships, WMPs with principals not guaranteed by the Group and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities, and such income is not significant to the Group. In addition, the Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of the non-principal guaranteed WMPs set up by the Group amounted to RMB1,206,901 million, the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB531,253 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB569,762 million (As at 31 December 2021: the balance of the non-principal guaranteed WMPs set up by the Group amounted to RMB1,426,253 million, the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB547,188 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB721,946 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB10,154 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB11,775 million), and no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated WMPs (For the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

	Carrying amount				
	Financial	Financial	Financial		
	investments at	investments at	investments at	Maximum	
	FVTPL	amortised cost	FVOCI	exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	199,024	-	-	199,024	Net gains arising from trading activities
Equity investment	1,325	-	352	1,677	Net gains arising from trading activities, other comprehensive income
Trusts and asset management products	9,141	60,463	-	69,604	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	170	261	-	431	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	209,660	60,724	352	270,736	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

	Financial	Financial	Financial		
	investments at	investments at	investments at	Maximum	
	FVTPL	amortised cost	FVOCI	exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	146,439	-	-	146,439	Net gains arising from trading activities
Equity investment	1,299	-	620	1,919	Net gains arising from trading activities, other comprehensive income
Trusts and asset management products	13,445	83,245	-	96,690	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	63	134	-	197	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	161,246	83,379	620	245,245	

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 28).

The transferred financial assets that are not derecognised of sales and repurchase agreements by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB6,030 million, and the associated liabilities amounted to RMB5,140 million.

Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB4,513 million (31 December 2021: RMB13,900 million).

(3) Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Asset securitisation (Continued)

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

As at 31 December 2022, loans with an original value of RMB88,308 million and carrying amount of RMB63,538 million (31 December 2021: RMB66,061 million and RMB56,834 million) have been securitised by the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB36,174 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB13,927 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group retained their continued involvement in securitised credit assets by holding subordinated securities. The value of the assets that the Group continued to recognise was RMB5,529 million (31 December 2021: RMB5,529 million).

Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the normal course of business. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB2,243 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB12,853 million) and collected cash totalling RMB1,423 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB8,403 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with the MOF

As at 31 December 2022, the MOF held 17,732 million (31 December 2021: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2021: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Bonds Issued by the MOF		
Financial investments at FVTPL	31,464	96.082
Financial investments at amortised cost	871,172	742,510
Financial investments at FVOCI	201,369	136,318
	2022	2021
Interest income on the government bonds	29,227	26,421

Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 31 December 2022, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,155 million (31 December 2021: 12,160 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.37% (31 December 2021: 16.37%) of the total share capital.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund (Continued)

The National Council for Social Security Fund was incorporated in August 2000, which is an independent legal entity under the management of the Ministry of Finance, responsible for managing and operating the national social security fund. Its legal representative is Liu Wei, its registered capital is RMB8.00 million and its registered address is South Fortune Times Building, No. 11 Fenghuiyuan, Xicheng District, Beijing. The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits which are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Due to customers	92,409	92,373
	2022	2021
Interest expenses	(3,846)	(3,703)

Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 31 December 2022, HSBC held 13,886 million (31 December 2021: 13,886 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 18.70% (31 December 2021: 18.70%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its Co-chief Executive Officer is Liao, Yi Chien David and Surendra Rosha, and its registered address is 1 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The ordinary share capital of HSBC is HKD116,103 million and USD7,198 million, which was divided into 46,441 million ordinary shares. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	2,819	3,338
Derivative financial assets	1,902	1,672
Loans and advances to customers	403	-
Financial investments at FVTPL	2,271	1,931
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,755	419
Financial investments at FVOCI	6,140	4,052
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	26,508	17,083
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	1,830	1,424
Derivative financial liabilities	1,722	1,613
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	153,484	240,864
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	16	_

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures (Continued)

	2022	2021
Interest income	355	163
Interest expense	(1,596)	(95)
Fee and commission income	100	1
Fee and commission expense	(8)	(4)

(4) Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the period, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these stateowned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in note 23.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

The Bank	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	169,576	123,461
Loans and advances to customers	505	486
Financial investments at FVTPL	237	433
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,861	1,551
Financial investments at FVOCI	10,280	11,455
Derivative financial assets	902	793
Other assets	734	766
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	9,246	14,523
Derivative financial liabilities	9,572	1,851
Due to customers	8,313	11,683
Other liabilities	279	119
The Bank	2022	2021
Interest income	3,811	1,952
Interest expense	(296)	(238)
Fee and commission income	1,524	1,681
Fee and commission expense	(55)	(95)
Other operating income	637	555
Other operating expense	(175)	(82)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(6) Transactions with directors, supervisors and senior management

Transactions with directors, supervisors, senior management, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such directors, supervisors and senior management or their close relatives mainly include loans and deposits and are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers	1	1
Due to customers	10	10

Compensations of directors and senior management are disclosed in Note 15.

(7) Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in note 24.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	_	500
Derivative financial assets	1,212	31
Loans and advances to customers	20,765	6,041
Financial investments at amortised cost	102	_
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	907	104
Derivative financial liabilities	25	35
Due to customers	84	-
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	4,594	6,947
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	6,400	12,126
	2022	2021
Interest income	373	242
Interest expense	(2)	(6)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(8) Transactions with other related parties

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
On hallow wheel there	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items		
Loans and advances to customers	677	1,080
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	331	1,204
Due to customers	70,307	79,787
Off-balance sheet items		
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	904	-
	2022	2021
Interest income	14	22
Interest expense	(2,748)	(2,543)

(9) Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

As at 31 Decemb	er 2022	As at 31 December	er 2021
Balances	%	Balances	%
2,819	0.41	3,838	0.61
3,114	4.47	1,703	4.34
21,846	0.31	7,122	0.11
33,735	4.78	98,013	15.35
874,029	35.66	742,929	33.72
207,509	25.97	140,370	20.59
(27,746)	1.36	(18,391)	0.94
(1,830)	3.82	(1,424)	2.85
(1,747)	3.73	(1,648)	4.57
(162,810)	2.05	(172,170)	2.45
158,078	2.44	247,811	3.48
7,320	0.33	12,126	0.64
2022		2021	
Amount	%	Amount	%
29,969	7.07	26,848	7.02
(8,192)	3.30	(6,347)	2.94
100	0.20	1	_
(8)	0.17	(4)	0.08
	2,819 3,114 21,846 33,735 874,029 207,509 (27,746) (1,830) (1,747) (162,810) 158,078 7,320 2022 Amount 29,969 (8,192) 100	2,819 0.41 3,114 4.47 21,846 0.31 33,735 4.78 874,029 35.66 207,509 25.97 (27,746) 1.36 (1,830) 3.82 (1,747) 3.73 (162,810) 2.05 158,078 2.44 7,320 0.33 2022 Amount % 29,969 7.07 (8,192) 3.30 100 0.20	Balances % Balances 2,819 0.41 3,838 3,114 4.47 1,703 21,846 0.31 7,122 33,735 4.78 98,013 874,029 35.66 742,929 207,509 25.97 140,370 (27,746) 1.36 (18,391) (1,830) 3.82 (1,424) (1,747) 3.73 (1,648) (162,810) 2.05 (172,170) 158,078 2.44 247,811 7,320 0.33 12,126 2022 2021 Amount % Amount 29,969 7.07 26,848 (8,192) 3.30 (6,347) 100 0.20 1

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating segments are identified based on the structure of the Group's internal organization and management requirements. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments. Net interest income and expense relating to third parties are disclosed in external net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

Segment revenues, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. The basis for allocation is mainly based on occupation of or contribution to resources. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Geographical operating segment information

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Head Office: Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre;
- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, and Anhui Province;
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan
 Province, and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province, and Shandong Province;
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province, Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia Autonomous Region, and Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region;
- North Eastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province;
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague, Johannesburg.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

The geographical operating segment information of the Group is summarised as follows:

		Year ended 31 December 2022							
			Bohai Rim						
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern			
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	28,193	13,195	(1,906)	23,356	18,025	(516)	10,903	78,687	169,937
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	23,929	7,099	26,649	7,765	1,568	6,358	121	(73,489)	-
Net interest income	52,122	20,294	24,743	31,121	19,593	5,842	11,024	5,198	169,937
Fee and commission income	14,130	3,854	5,343	5,560	2,894	1,092	2,226	14,240	49,339
Fee and commission expense	(2,811)	(42)	(70)	(153)	(21)	(15)	(239)	(1,349)	(4,700)
Net fee and commission income	11,319	3,812	5,273	5,407	2,873	1,077	1,987	12,891	44,639
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities	3,362	274	177	651	(173)	78	(471)	13,709	17,607
Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments	948	-	27	-	-	17	(146)	(352)	494
Share of (loss)/profits of associates and joint ventures	(55)	-	-	-	-	-	65	282	292
Insurance business income	18,023	-	-	-	-	-	77	-	18,100
Other operating income	17,569	582	1,252	1,043	868	266	384	495	22,459
Total operating income -net	103,288	24,962	31,472	38,222	23,161	7,280	12,920	32,223	273,528
Credit impairment losses	(6,154)	(6,968)	(13,868)	(870)	(7,281)	(3,961)	(4,357)	(16,952)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal	(1,884)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(1)	(7)	-	1	(1,897)
Insurance business expense	(19,356)	-	-	-	-	-	(24)	-	(19,380)
Other operating expense	(28,305)	(6,955)	(9,177)	(9,484)	(6,674)	(3,371)	(4,748)	(24,911)	(93,625)
Profit/(loss) before tax	47,589	11,037	8,425	27,866	9,205	(59)	3,791	(9,639)	98,215
Income tax									(6,185)
Net profit for the year									92,030
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,793)	(945)	(1,141)	(1,135)	(956)	(497)	(508)	(1,675)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(25,091)	(340)	(210)	(391)	(856)	(190)	(441)	(3,989)	(31,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

			Bohai Rim						
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern			
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	26,278	12,603	(1,003)	22,898	16,887	628	10,498	72,904	161,693
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	21,275	6,424	24,200	7,087	1,800	5,192	18	(65,996)	
Net interest income	47,553	19,027	23,197	29,985	18,687	5,820	10,516	6,908	161,693
Fee and commission income	14,540	3,652	5,739	5,803	3,064	1,238	2,488	15,761	52,285
Fee and commission expense	(2,941)	(39)	(77)	(101)	(26)	(18)	(233)	(1,277)	(4,712)
Net fee and commission income	11,599	3,613	5,662	5,702	3,038	1,220	2,255	14,484	47,573
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities	7,031	376	380	659	1,824	12	(784)	13,846	23,344
Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments	849	-	27	-	-	18	589	(172)	1,311
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	-	-	-	-	-	-	47	230	277
Insurance business income	16,459	-	-	-	-	-	56	-	16,515
Other operating income	15,316	416	954	734	551	203	456	405	19,035
Total operating income -net	98,807	23,432	30,220	37,080	24,100	7,273	13,135	35,701	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(7,451)	(4,828)	(8,046)	(9,019)	(10,600)	(9,582)	(977)	(15,868)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,020)	(6)	(8)	(14)	(58)	(212)	-	(2)	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17,037)	-	-	-	-	-	(17)	-	(17,054)
Other operating expense	(26,518)	(6,571)	(8,854)	(9,125)	(5,922)	(3,378)	(4,372)	(25,304)	(90,044)
Profit/(loss) before tax	45,781	12,027	13,312	18,922	7,520	(5,899)	7,769	(5,473)	93,959
Income tax									(5,020)
Net profit for the year								_	88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,814)	(909)	(1,133)	(1,116)	(954)	(498)	(469)	(1,206)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(17,500)	(660)	(494)	(864)	(488)	(265)	(141)	(2,535)	(22,947)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

					As at 31 De	ecember 2022				
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic Zone	Central China	Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	3,195,976	1,234,660	1,889,591	1,410,944	971,233	459,731	1,147,589	4,949,397	(2,305,473)	12,953,648
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,439	-	-	1	-	-	1,125	6,185	-	8,750
Unallocated assets										38,771
Total assets										12,992,419
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,929,814)	(1,219,145)	(1,872,761)	(1,364,697)	(960,633)	(462,599)	(1,086,273)	(4,364,445)	2,305,474	(11,954,893) (1,786)
Total liabilities										(11,956,679)

As at 31 December 2021

			Bohai Rim							
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern				
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	2,881,066	1,059,386	1,711,386	1,277,003	881,918	409,288	1,095,657	4,459,033	(2,141,041)	11,633,696
Investments in associates and joint										
ventures	4		-	1	_		201	5,573	-	5,779
Unallocated assets										32,061
Total assets										11,665,757
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,658,802)	(1,042,577)	(1,688,784)	(1,239,658)	(870,308)	(417,068)	(1,046,572)	(3,863,904)	2,141,041	(10,686,632) (1,889)
Total liabilities										(10,688,521)

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. The "Others Business" segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

		Year end	ed 31 Decembe	r 2022	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income	79,079	44,883	45,831	144	169,937
Inter-segment net interest income/					
(expense)	16,197	24,406	(40,603)	_	_
Net interest income	95,276	69,289	5,228	144	169,937
Net fee and commission income	9,984	28,095	6,381	179	44,639
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading					
activities	3,204	566	13,850	(13)	17,607
Net (loss)/gains arising from					
financial investments	(13)	887	(398)	18	494
Share of profits/(loss) of associates					
and joint ventures	28	(1)	(54)	319	292
Insurance business income	77	18,023	_	_	18,100
Other operating income	17,626	3,044	786	1,003	22,459
Total operating income-net	126,182	119,903	25,793	1,650	273,528
Credit impairment (losses)/reversal	(38,073)	(23,889)	1,552	(1)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment losses	(1,891)	(6)	_	_	(1,897)
Insurance business expense	(24)	(19,356)	_	_	(19,380)
Other operating expense					
 Depreciation and amortisation 	(3,359)	(4,557)	(583)	(151)	(8,650)
- Others	(37,394)	(40,997)	(4,877)	(1,707)	(84,975)
Profit/(loss) before tax	45,441	31,098	21,885	(209)	98,215
Income tax					(6,185)
Net profit for the year					92,030
Depreciation and amortisation	(3,359)	(4,557)	(583)	(151)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(27,190)	(3,692)	(457)	(169)	(31,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

	Corporate	Personal Banking	Treasury		
	Banking Business	Business	Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income	74,792	47,357	39,422	122	161,693
Inter-segment net interest income/					
(expense)	17,100	17,840	(34,940)	_	
Net interest income	91,892	65,197	4,482	122	161,693
Net fee and commission income	10,341	30,743	6,330	159	47,573
Net gains arising from trading					
activities	8,522	1,553	12,940	329	23,344
Net gains arising from financial					
investments	40	833	438	-	1,311
Share of profits of associates and					
joint ventures	6	-	-	271	277
Insurance business income	56	16,459	-	-	16,515
Other operating income	15,153	2,857	269	756	19,035
Total operating income-net	126,010	117,642	24,459	1,637	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(47,024)	(19,079)	(259)	(9)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,265)	(55)	_	-	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17)	(17,037)	_	-	(17,054)
Other operating expense					
 Depreciation and amortisation 	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
Others	(35,500)	(40,167)	(4,996)	(1,282)	(81,945)
Profit before tax	38,263	36,844	18,563	289	93,959
Income tax	,			_	(5,020)
Net profit for the year					88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(8,332)	(12,636)	(1,817)	(162)	(22,947)

		As at	31 December 20	022	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets Including:	5,448,671	2,256,628	5,202,781	45,568	12,953,648
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,427	3	1,436	4,884	8,750
Unallocated assets					38,771
Total assets					12,992,419
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(5,312,511)	(3,150,383)	(3,424,365)	(63,697)	(11,950,956) (5,723)
Total liabilities					(11,956,679)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

	Corporate	Personal			
	Banking	Banking	Treasury		
	Business	Business	Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets	4,770,278	2,197,968	4,588,862	76,588	11,633,696
Including:					
Investments in associates and					
joint ventures	1,156	4	-	4,619	5,779
Unallocated assets					32,061
Total assets					11,665,757
Segment liabilities	(4,999,768)	(2,533,625)	(3,078,851)	(69,663)	(10,681,907)
Unallocated liabilities					(6,614)
Total liabilities					(10,688,521)

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

49 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Assets		
Cash and balances with central banks	801,402	721,912
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	793,966	720,824
Derivative financial assets	65,871	38,426
Loans and advances to customers	6,767,462	6,083,046
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	577,709	507,745
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,353,127	2,147,313
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	625,454	472,635
Investments in associates and joint ventures	6,300	5,118
Investments in subsidiaries	84,279	79,269
Property and equipment	51,038	50,297
Deferred income tax assets	36,248	29,950
Other assets	60,844	86,801
Total assets	12,223,700	10,943,336

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

49 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued)

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank (Continued)

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Liabilities and Equity		
Liabilities		
Due to banks and other financial institutions	1,864,487	1,807,016
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	32,172	16,799
Derivative financial liabilities	54,805	36,740
Due to customers	7,644,612	6,769,618
Certificates of deposits issued	1,080,787	882,435
Current income tax liabilities	2,572	2,952
Debt securities issued	461,224	413,552
Deferred income tax liabilities	-	41
Other liabilities	120,021	98,910
Total liabilities	11,260,680	10,028,063
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Equity		
Share capital	74,263	74,263
Other equity investments	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	111,227	111,226
Other reserves	353,238	336,666
Retained earnings	249,502	218,328
Total equity	963,020	915,273
Total equity and liabilities	12,223,700	10,943,336

The financial statements of the Bank were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

For the year ended 31 December 2022 ed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank 49 (2)

					(All an	nounts ex	xpressed in	millions
	Total	915,273	81,592	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	1 ←	963,020
	Retained	218,328	83,986	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651) (18,959)	(7)	249,502
	Others	1,391	4		1	1 1	1 1	1,435
	Actuarial changes reserve	(87)	(34)	ı	•	1 1	1 1	(121)
	Translation differences for foreign operations	(3,804)	3,689	1		1 1	1 1	(115)
	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	53	(88)	1	ı	1 1	1 1	(36)
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	(24)	(133)	ı	•	1 1	1 1	(157)
Ot	Revaluation reserve and impairment reserve for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	(12)	(5,871)	ı		1 1	7	(5,876)
	fir Statutory general or reserve	122,341	ı	ı	•	-11,437	1 1	133,778
	Discretionary	139,764	1	ı	•	1 1	1 1	139,764
	Statutory	77,044		ı	1	7,522	1 1	84,566
	Capital	111,226		1	•	1 1	1 —	111,227
struments	Perpetual bonds	129,838		1	1	1 1	1 1	129,838
Other equity instruments	Preference	44,952	1	1	•	1 1	1 1	44,952
	Share capital	74,263	1		ı	1 1	1 1	74,263
		As at 1 January 2022	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders Dividends paid	to preference shareholders Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders Transfer to reserves	Transferred from other comprehensive income Others	As at 31 December 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amount

nts ex						of R		unle	ess (- 1		stated)			82		=		2)		8	1		ı	က
										Total	828,750	74,179			41,498		(23,541)		(1,755)		(3,858)				915,273
									Retained	earnings	185,586	75,219			ı		(23,541)		(1,755)		(3,858)	(13,318)		(2)	218,328
										Others	1,375	16			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	1,391
								Actuarial	changes	reserve	(142)	83			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	(87)
							Translation	differences	for foreign	operations	(1,964)	(1,840)			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	(3,804)
				Effective	portion of	gains or losses	on hedging	instruments	in cash flow	hedges	40	13			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	53
Other reserves	Revaluation	reserve for the	changes in	credit risk of	the financial	liabilities	designated	at fair value	through	profit or loss	12	(36)			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	(24)
0		Revaluation	reserve and	impairment	reserve for	financial assets	at fair value	through other	comprehensive	income	(692)	752			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		2	(12)
						J.			Statutory c	general reserve	115,920	ı			ı		ı		ı		ı	6,421		1	122,341
									Discretionary	reserve	139,764	ı			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	139,764
									Statutory	reserve	70,147	ı			ı		ı		ı		ı	6,897		1	77,044
										Capital surplus	111,226	1			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	111,226
truments									Perpetual	Donds	88,340	1			41,498		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	129,838
Other equity instruments									Preference	Share	44,952	1			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	44,952
										Share capital	74,263	I			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	74,263
											As at 1 January 2021	Total comprehensive income	Capital contribution by	holders of other equity	instruments	Dividends paid to ordinary	shareholders	Dividends paid to preference	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	Transferred from other	comprehensive income	As at 31 December 2021

49

(2)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

50 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Profit distribution after reporting period

On 30 March 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed to appropriate RMB8,399 million to the statutory reserve and RMB13,399 million to the statutory general reserve. A cash dividend of RMB0.373 (before tax) for each share, totalling RMB27,700 million, calculated based on the total number of shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares (RMB1 per share) as at 31 December 2022 was also proposed. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

51 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in current year.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Currency concentrations	30
International claims	302
Overdue and restructured assets	300
Segmental information of loans	304
Loans and advances to customers	309

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

USD	HKD	Others	Total
908,713	259,892	241,149	1,409,754
(942,837)	(300,722)	(145,452)	(1,389,011)
1,203,294	190,054	141,921	1,535,269
(1,386,509)	(105,679)	(208,133)	(1,700,321)
(89)	94	1,292	1,297
(217,428)	43,639	30,777	(143,012)
145,847	29,508	7,788	183,143
	908,713 (942,837) 1,203,294 (1,386,509) (89) (217,428)	908,713 259,892 (942,837) (300,722) 1,203,294 190,054 (1,386,509) (105,679) (89) 94 (217,428) 43,639	908,713 259,892 241,149 (942,837) (300,722) (145,452) 1,203,294 190,054 141,921 (1,386,509) (105,679) (208,133) (89) 94 1,292 (217,428) 43,639 30,777

As at 31 December 2021	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	1,016,873	233,474	174,843	1,425,190
Spot liabilities	(956,839)	(305,411)	(125,300)	(1,387,550)
Forward purchases	1,446,642	227,581	171,559	1,845,782
Forward sales	(1,571,846)	(130,762)	(222,085)	(1,924,693)
Net option position	5,503	(12)	(747)	4,744
Net (short) /long position	(59,667)	24,870	(1,730)	(36,527)
Net structural position	121,168	31,246	7,799	160,213

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the CBIRC in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Mainland China.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Mainland China excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, holdings of trade bills and certificates of deposits and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2022	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	680,295	109,709	711,608	_	1,501,612
Of which attributed to Hong Kong	211,057	66,346	350,515	_	627,918
North and South America	20,389	12,455	28,645	_	61,489
Africa	701	1,702	96	_	2,499
Europe	10,389	593	25,469	_	36,451
Total	711,774	124,459	765,818	_	1,602,051

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2021	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	448,033	122,959	717,912	-	1,288,904
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	62,204	21,533	304,709		388,446
North and South America	34,071	21,351	65,018	-	120,440
Africa	442	1,887	-	-	2,329
Europe	42,156	3,878	23,337	_	69,371
Total	524,702	150,075	806,267	_	1,481,044

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

(1) Balance of overdue loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:		
- Less than 3 months	27,737	23,164
- 3 to 6 months	16,524	15,966
- 6 to 12 months	16,956	13,467
- Over 12 months	23,611	34,565
Total	84,828	87,162
Percentage (%):		
- Less than 3 months	0.38	0.35
- 3 to 6 months	0.23	0.24
- 6 to 12 months	0.23	0.21
- Over 12 months	0.32	0.53
Total	1.16	1.33

(2) Overdue and restructured loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	13,660	8,792
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	1,533	1,625
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months		
in total loans	0.02	0.02

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

(1) Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 De	cember 2021
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	Allowance for
	customers	losses	customers	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
- Yangtze River Delta	21,107	(11,898)	22,399	(13,277)
- Pearl River Delta	8,403	(4,872)	5,559	(3,389)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	10,707	(8,992)	13,893	(9,786)
- Central China	14,520	(6,287)	19,224	(10,244)
- Western China	9,333	(6,022)	9,661	(6,402)
- North Eastern China	13,595	(10,588)	12,090	(9,299)
- Head Office	9,310	(8,158)	10,831	(10,064)
Subtotal	86,975	(56,817)	93,657	(62,461)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	11,551	(5,260)	3,139	(1,421)
Total	98,526	(62,077)	96,796	(63,882)

(2) Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 December 2021	
		Allowance for		
		impairment		Allowance for
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
- Yangtze River Delta	9,076	(5,276)	16,399	(9,189)
- Pearl River Delta	7,165	(4,091)	5,853	(3,166)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	9,361	(7,438)	9,749	(6,561)
- Central China	13,298	(5,261)	15,170	(8,080)
- Western China	6,707	(3,553)	7,176	(4,333)
- North Eastern China	9,661	(7,065)	9,119	(6,644)
- Head Office	20,116	(15,595)	20,468	(12,767)
Subtotal	75,384	(48,279)	83,934	(50,740)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	9,444	(4,809)	3,228	(1,516)
Total	84,828	(53,088)	87,162	(52,256)

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors (gross)

	As at 3	1 December 20	22	As at 3)21	
Hong Kong		%	Amount covered by collaterals		%	Amount covered by collaterals
Corporate loans						
Manufacturing						
- Petroleum and chemical	356	0.15	1	1,130	0.54	148
- Electronics	1,247	0.52	13	1,577	0.76	25
- Textile and clothing	308	0.13	5	148	0.07	7
- Other manufacturing	8,010	3.37	3,692	25,506	12.24	5,284
Production and supply of power, heat,						
gas and water	717	0.30	429	1,418	0.68	320
Construction	6,961	2.93	1,418	5,051	2.42	1,159
Transportation, storage and postal	-,		,,,,,	-,		.,
service	10,829	4.56	2,421	9,482	4.55	3,375
Information transmission, software and	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		,	-, -		-,-
IT services	4,264	1.79	56	3,537	1.70	20
Wholesale and retail	12,633	5.32	3,425	15,584	7.48	4,052
Finance	5,419	2.28	1,136	6,730	3.23	826
Real estate	98,548	41.49	24,474	60,900	29.23	16,186
Leasing and commercial services	10,948	4.61	4,235	11,711	5.62	3,838
Others	23,321	9.82	1,352	22,489	10.79	4,175
Total corporate loans	183,561	77.27	42,657	165,263	79.31	39,415
Personal loans						
Residential mortgages	39,705	16.71	39,575	29,857	14.33	29,837
Credit cards	105	0.04	_	94	0.05	-
Others	14,214	5.98	3,467	13,149	6.31	12,539
Total personal loans	54,024	22.73	43,042	43,100	20.69	42,376
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers before impairment						
allowance	237,585	100.00	85,699	208,363	100.00	81,791
Outside Hong Kong	7,058,570			6,352,037		

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 47% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 52%).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(2) Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 De	cember 2021
		Allowance for		
		impairment		Allowance for
	Impaired loans	losses	Impaired loans	impairment losses
Corporates	78,523	(48,157)	77,628	(49,172)
Individuals	20,003	(13,920)	19,168	(14,710)
	98,526	(62,077)	96,796	(63,882)

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the years are disclosed below:

	Year ended 31 December 2022			Year ended 31 December 2021		
			Recoveries	Recoveries		
		Loans and	of loans and		Loans and	of loans and
		advances	advances written		advances	advances written
		written off as	off in previous		written off as	off in previous
	New provisions	uncollectible	years	New provisions	uncollectible	years
Corporates	35,060	(24,584)	3,339	45,986	(32,886)	4,443
Individuals	23,042	(21,729)	1,807	16,959	(14,633)	1,881
	58,102	(46,313)	5,146	62,945	(47,519)	6,324

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION RELATED TO LEVERAGE RATIO

Leverage ratio disclosure is disclosed according to Note 3 Leverage Ratio Disclosure Format of the Measures for the Administration of the Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised).

Reconciliation of Regulatory Consolidation and Accounting Consolidation

(in millions of RMB)

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
1	Total consolidated assets	12,992,419	11,665,757
2	Adjustments of consolidation	(106,912)	(91,385)
3	Adjustments item of customer's assets	0	0
4	Adjustments of derivatives	36,022	41,498
5	Adjustments of securities financing transactions	23,078	725
6	Adjustments of off-balance sheet item	1,411,948	1,021,988
7	Other Adjustments	(6,941)	(6,010)
8	Balance of adjusted on- and off-balance sheet assets	14,349,614	12,632,573

Leverage Ratio Information

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
1	On-balance-sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	12,636,526	11,426,283
2	Less: Deduction of tier-1 capital	(6,941)	(6,010)
3	Balance of adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	12,629,585	11,420,273
4	Replacement costs of derivatives (less eligible margin)	67,164	39,220
5	Potential risk exposure of derivatives	38,544	41,498
6	Sum of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet	0	0
7	Less: Assets receivable from providing eligible margin	0	0
8	Less: Derivative assets resulting from the transactions with central counterparties in providing clearing settlement services for customers	0	0
9	Notional principal of sold credit derivatives	0	0
10	Less: Deductible balance of sold credit derivatives	0	0
11	Derivative asset balance	105,708	80,718
12	Accounting asset balance of securities financing transactions	179,295	108,869
13	Less: Balance of deductible securities financing transaction assets	0	0
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure of securities financing transactions	23,078	725
15	Balance of securities financing transaction assets from acting for securities financing transactions	0	0
16	Securities financing assets balance	202,373	109,594
17	Balance of off-balance-sheet items	3,046,801	2,373,602
18	Less: Balance of off-balance-sheet items arising from the reduction of credit transfer	(1,634,853)	(1,351,614)
19	Adjusted off-balance sheet items balance	1,411,948	1,021,988
20	Net tier-1 capital	1,016,644	960,225
21	Adjusted balance of on- and off-balance sheet assets	14,349,614	12,632,573
22	Leverage ratio (%)	7.08	7.60

APPENDIX 2: THE DAILY AVERAGE LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND ITS DETAILS OF THE GROUP IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022

Seria	al Number	Amount before conversion	Amount after conversion
The	qualified high-quality liquid assets		
1	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,388,723
Cash	Outflow		
2	Retail deposits, small business deposits, including:	2,747,732	264,967
3	Stable deposit	194,182	9,612
4	Less stable deposit	2,553,550	255,355
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, including:	5,101,270	2,111,148
6	Business relationship deposit (excluding agency business)	2,826,136	705,160
7	Non-business relationship deposit (including all counterparties)	2,236,905	1,367,759
8	Unsecured debt	38,229	38,229
9	Secured funding		15,686
10	Other items, including:	2,210,427	1,123,232
11	Cash outflow relates to derivatives and other collateral/pledged assets	1,080,242	1,062,060
12	Cash outflow relates to loss of funding on asset-blocked securities	303	303
13	Committed credit and liquidity facilities	1,129,882	60,869
14	Other contractual obligation to extend funds	80,052	80,052
15	Contingent funding obligations	2,026,501	71,890
16	Total expected cash outflow		3,666,975
Cash	n Inflow		
17	Secured lending (including reverse repos and securities borrowing)	134,793	134,793
18	Inflows from fully performing exposure	915,705	599,583
19	Other cash inflow	1,101,042	1,078,657
20	Total expected cash inflow	2,151,540	1,813,033
			Amount after
			adjustment
21	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,250,835
22	Net cash outflow		1,853,942
23	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)		122.00

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2022

			Weighted value			
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
	lable Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	1,005,711	_	_	139,991	1,145,702
2	Regulatory Capital	1,005,711	_	_	139,991	1,145,702
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises		1,990,094	37,115	3,837	2,621,888
5	Stable deposits	197,301	3,331	1,436	388	192,353
6	Less stable deposits	673,209	1,986,763	35,679	3,449	2,429,535
7	Wholesale funding	2,639,920	3,746,288	832,878	519,564	3,299,608
8	Operational deposits	2,587,049	149,406	91,243	21,283	1,435,132
9	Other wholesale funding	52,871	3,596,882	741,635	498,280	1,864,476
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	_
11	Other liabilities	73,897	363,653	76,111	273,427	284,973
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				88,908	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	73,897	363,653	76,111	184,519	284,973
14	Total available stable funding					7,352,171
Req	uired Stable Funding Item					
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					363,582
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	124,560	330	-	-	62,445
	financial institutions					
17	Loans and securities	44,065	1,913,109	1,189,402	5,238,268	5,901,618
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	_	38,760	_	-	5,800
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	363,101	224,579	143,593	310,348
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	24	1,466,731	917,934	3,128,351	3,843,404
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	5,890	5,222	42,848	33,407
22	Residential mortgages	_	812	986	1,481,925	1,260,535
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	_	_
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	44,041	43,706	45,903	484,399	481,531
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	_	_	-	_	-
26 27	Other assets Physical traded commodities (including gold)	195,605 24,270	81,220	11,198	166,694	370,161 20,630

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2022 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Weighted value			
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				12,283	10,441
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				107,173	18,265
30	Derivative with additional requirements				88,908	17,782
31	All other assets not included in the above	171,334	81,220	11,198	47,237	303,044
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,525,380	147,217
33	Total required stable funding					6,845,021
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					107.41

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022

			Unweighted value Less than				
Seri	al Number	No Maturity		6-12 months	Over 1 year		
Ava	ilable Stable Funding Item						
1	Capital	1,028,679	_	_	189,989	1,218,668	
2	Regulatory Capital	1,028,679	_	_	189,989	1,218,668	
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_	
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	931,216	2,089,356	27,536	3,900	2,758,479	
5	Stable deposits	220,228	3,809	1,588	461	214,804	
6	Less stable deposits	710,988	2,085,547	25,948	3,440	2,543,675	
7	Wholesale funding	2,767,604	3,597,655	1,031,300	525,278	3,369,274	
8	Operational deposits	2,732,850	154,711	111,654	21,443	1,521,050	
9	Other wholesale funding	34,754	3,442,944	919,646	503,835	1,848,224	
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	_	
11	Other liabilities	70,852	284,674	110,805	226,356	293,314	
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				46,804		
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	70,852	284,674	110,805	179,553	293,314	
14	Total available stable funding					7,639,736	
Req	uired Stable Funding Item						
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					433,150	
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	135,643	110	2,089	2,000	70,921	
	financial institutions						
17	Loans and securities	55,095	1,947,208	1,209,764	5,326,997	6,013,531	
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	32,126	-	_	4,817	
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	358,813	216,292	144,291	306,259	
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	-	1,501,692	936,071	3,175,773	3,910,020	
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	8,215	12,809	43,857	39,019	
22	Residential mortgages	_	812	959	1,467,783	1,248,502	
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	-	-	
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	55,095	53,764	56,441	539,150	543,935	
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	_	_	-	_	_	
26	Other assets	206,197	85,060	12,321	84,406	338,479	
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	32,025				27,221	

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Sorie	al Number	Unweighted value Less than No Maturity 6 months 6-12 months Over 1 year				Weighted value
		NO Maturity	0 1110111113	0-12 1110111113		
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative				12,225	10,391
	contracts and contributions to default funds					
	of central counterparties					
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				69,687	22,883
30	Derivative with additional requirements				46,804	9,361
31	All other assets not included in the above	174,172	85,060	12,321	2,495	268,623
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,422,457	142,411
33	Total required stable funding					6,998,492
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					109.16

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTENTS

Financ	cial statements:		26	Due to and placements from banks and other	
Indepe	ndent auditor's report	158		financial institutions	
Conso	idated statement of profit or loss and other		27	Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or	
com	prehensive income	167		loss	
Conso	idated statement of financial position	169	28	Deposits from customers	
Conso	idated statement of changes in equity	170	29	Certificates of deposit issued	
Conso	idated statement of cash flows	172	30	Debt securities issued	
			31	Other liabilities	
Notes	to the consolidated financial statements:	174	32	Share capital and capital surplus	
1	General		33	Other equity instruments	
2	Summary of significant accounting policies		34	Other reserves and retained earnings	
3	Financial risk management		35	Dividends	
4	Net interest income		36	Non-controlling interests	
5	Fee and commission income		37	Contingencies	
6	Fee and commission expense		38	Commitments	
7	Net gains arising from trading activities		39	Collaterals	
8	Other operating income		40	Other comprehensive income	
9	Credit impairment losses		41	Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows	
10	Other assets impairment losses		42	Consolidated structured entities	
11	Other operating expenses		43	Unconsolidated structured entities	
12	Staff costs		44	Transfers of financial assets	
13	Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior		45	Related party transactions	
	management		46	Segmental analysis	
14	Income tax		47	Financial statements of the bank	
15	Basic and diluted earnings per share		48	Non-adjusting events after reporting period	
16	Cash and balances with central banks		49	Audit fees	
17	Due from and placements with banks and other		50	Comparative figures	
	financial institutions				
18	Derivative financial instruments		Unaud	ited supplementary financial information:	308
19	Loans and advances to customers		1	Currency concentrations	
20	Financial investments		2	International claims	
21	Principal subsidiaries		3	Overdue and restructured assets	
22	Investments in associates and joint ventures		4	Segmental information of loans	
23	Property and equipment		5	Loans and advances to customers	

24 Deferred income tax25 Other assets

F-317 157

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 167 to 307, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("the Code"), together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

158 F-318

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group uses an expected credit loss ("ECL") model to measure the loss allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial instruments.

The determination of ECL allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees is subject to the application of a number of key parameters and assumptions, including the credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustment factors. Extensive management judgment is involved in the selection of those parameters and the application of the assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees included the following:

- with the assistance of KPMG's IT specialists, understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the credit approval, recording, monitoring, the credit risk staging, ECL model update and the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists, assessing the appropriateness of the ECL model used to determine the loss allowances and the appropriateness of the key parameters and assumptions in the model, which included credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustments, and assessing the appropriateness of related key management judgment.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The determination of the ECL allowance is heavily dependent on the external macro environment and the Group's internal credit risk management strategy. The ECL allowance for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments to corporates and financial guarantees are derived from estimates including historical losses, internal and external credit grading and other factors. The ECL allowance for personal loans and advances and credit related commitments to individuals are derived from estimates whereby management takes into consideration historical overdue data, historical loss experience and other factors.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters involving judgement, critically assessing input parameters by seeking evidence from external sources and comparing to the Group's internal records including historical loss experience and type of collateral. As part of these procedures, we inquired the reasons for management's revisions to estimates and input parameters, compared with prior period and considered the consistency of judgement.
- comparing the macroeconomic forward-looking information used in the model with market information to assess whether they were aligned with market and economic development.
- assessing the completeness and accuracy of key data used in the ECL model. For key internal data, we compared the total balance of the loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees used by management to assess the ECL allowance with the general ledger to check the completeness of the data. We also selected samples to compare information of individual loan and advance to customers, financial investment at amortised cost, credit related commitment and financial guarantee with the underlying agreements and other related documentation. In addition, we checked the accuracy of key external data used by management by comparing them with public sources.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

Management also exercises judgement in determining the quantum of loss given default based on a range of factors. These include the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of any collaterals, and repayment sources of the borrower. Management refers to valuation reports of collaterals issued by qualified third party valuers and considers the impact of various factors including the market price, status and use when assessing the value of collaterals. The enforceability, timing and means of realisation of the collateral also have an impact on the recoverable amount of the collateral.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters used in the ECL model which were derived from system-generated internal data, assessing the accuracy of input data by comparing the input data with original documents on a sample basis. In addition, we involved KPMG's IT specialists to assess the logics and compilation of the loans and advances' overdue information on a sample basis.
- evaluating the reasonableness of management's assessment on whether the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees has, or has not, increased significantly since initial recognition and whether the mentioned financial instruments are credit-impaired. We assessed the staging of corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees by industry sectors and used a risk-based approach to select samples in industries which are more vulnerable to the current economic situation and samples which met specific risk criteria. We checked overdue information, made enquiries of the client managers about the borrowers' business operations, inspected borrowers' financial information and researched about borrowers' businesses, to check the credit risk of the borrower, and the reasonableness of the risk stage.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

We identified the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees as a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and management judgment involved and because of its significance to the financial results and capital of the Group.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- evaluating the reasonableness of loss given default for credit-impaired corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees. We selected samples to evaluate the recoverable amount by considering the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of collateral, and repayment sources of the borrower. Evaluating management's assessment based on the category, condition and use of the collateral. For valuation reports of collateral issued by qualified third party valuers, we evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraiser. We also evaluated the timing and means of realisation of collateral, evaluated the forecast cash flows, considered the viability of the Group's recovery plans.
- selecting samples and assessing the accuracy of the Group's calculation on the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Consolidation assessment of structured entities

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(4)(c) Structured entities, Note 2(32)(d) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Consolidation of structured entities", and "Note 42 Structured entities, Note 43 Unconsolidated structured entities" to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities.

The Group may acquire an ownership interest in a structured entity, through initiating, managing and/or investing in trust investment plans, asset management plans, funds and wealth management products ("WMPs"). The Group may also retain partial interests in assets due to guarantees or securitisation structures.

The Group is required to consider the power it possesses, its exposure to variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect returns to determine whether the Group retain any partial interests in a structured entity or should consolidate a structured entity. These factors are not purely quantitative and need to be considered collectively in the overall substance of the transactions.

We identified the recognition of interests in and consolidation of structured entities as a key audit matter because of the complex nature of certain of these structured entities and because of the judgement exercised by management in the qualitative assessment of the terms and the nature of each entity.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities included the following:

- assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities.
- selecting significant structured entities of each key product type and performing the following procedures:
 - inspecting the related contracts, internal establishment documents and information disclosed to the investors to understand the purpose of the establishment of the structured entity and the involvement the Group has with the structured entity and to assess management's judgement over whether the Group has the ability to exercise power over the structured entity;
 - inspecting the risk and reward structure of the structured entity, including any capital or return guarantee, provision of liquidity support, commission paid and distribution of the returns, to assess management's judgement as to the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the Group's involvement in such an entity;
 - inspecting management's analysis of the structured entity, including qualitative analysis and the calculation of the magnitude and variability associated with the Group's economic interests in the structured entity, to assess management's judgement over the Group's ability to affect its own returns from the structured entity;
 - assessing management's judgement over whether the structured entity should be consolidated or not.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5) Financial instrument, Note 2(32)(b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Fair value of financial instruments", and "Note 3(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, certain trusts and asset management plans, equity derivatives, etc, held by the Group, whose fair value are determined based on certain unobservable inputs, were classified by the Group as level 3 in fair value measurement.

Management determines the fair value of these financial assets using a variety of techniques. The valuation methods mainly include discounted cash flows and comparable company, involving various unobservable inputs such as objective company's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts, etc.

We identified valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 instruments' fair value as a key audit matter because of the amount of these financial assets are significant, and because of the degree of complexity involved in the valuation techniques and significant judgement is required to be exercised by management in determining the inputs used in the valuation models.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 included the following:

- understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the application of valuation models and front office and back office reconciliations for financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining an understanding of the valuation method used by management (including whether there is any change in the valuation method in this year) and assessing whether the valuation method selected is appropriate with reference to the prevailing accounting standards.

with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining inputs independently and assessing the reasonableness of the inputs applied by management by comparing the results of our own valuations with that of management.

 assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in relation to financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 against prevailing accounting standards, including fair value hierarchy information, etc..

164 F-324

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
 We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Chan Siu Tung.

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2024

166 F-326

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Interest income		459,861	418,067
Interest expense		(295,738)	(248,185)
Net interest income	4	164,123	169,882
Fee and commission income	5	47,148	49,339
Fee and commission expense	6	(4,144)	(4,484)
Net fee and commission income		43,004	44,855
Net gains arising from trading activities	7	23,224	17,607
Net gains arising from financial investments		727	494
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at			
amortised cost		40	64
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures		356	292
Other operating income	8	26,580	24,216
Net operating income		258,014	257,346
Credit impairment losses	9	(56,908)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment losses	10	(1,062)	(1,897)
Other operating expenses	11	(100,346)	(96,923)
Profit before tax		99,698	98,115
Income tax	14	(6,446)	(6,160)
Net profit for the year		93,252	91,955

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		7,534 (664)	(7,737) (669)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		1,089 -	1,219 -
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(660) 50	2,004 (1,204)
Translation differences for foreign operations Others		2,152 (2,367)	8,562 (641)
Subtotal		7,134	1,534
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Actuarial losses on pension benefits Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income		33 988	(34)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss Others		458 (313)	(133)
Subtotal		1,166	(1,400)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	40	8,300	134
Total comprehensive income for the year		101,552	92,089
Net profit attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		92,728 524 93,252	92,102 (147) 91,955
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		100,862 690 101,552	92,122 (33) 92,089
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	15	1.15	1.14

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022 (Restated)
ASSETS			
Cash and balances with central banks	16	898,022	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	17	859,642	690,421
Derivative financial assets	18	67,387	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	19	7,772,060	7,135,454
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	20	642,282	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	20	2,573,911	2,450,775
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	20	887,949	799,075
Investments in associates and joint ventures	22	8,990	8,750
Property and equipment	23	217,751	194,169
Deferred tax assets	24	40,379	39,512
Other assets	25	92,099	92,269
Total assets		14,060,472	12,991,571
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	26	2,424,537	2,034,894
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	27	56,557	47,949
Derivative financial liabilities	18	50,975	46,804
Deposits from customers	28	8,551,215	7,949,072
Certificates of deposits issued	29	1,027,461	1,092,366
Income tax payable		4,538	3,937
Debt securities issued	30	592,175	530,861
Deferred tax liabilities	24	2,407	1,786
Other liabilities	31	251,157	250,380
Total liabilities		12,961,022	11,958,049
EQUITY			
Share capital	32	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	33	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds		129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	32	111,428	111,429
Other reserves	34	400,805	368,808
Retained earnings	34	326,744	292,734
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		1,088,030	1,022,024
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		7,912	8,040
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments		3,508	3,458
Non-controlling interests	36	11,420	11,498
Total equity		1,099,450	1,033,522
Total equity and liabilities		14,060,472	12,991,571

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ren Deqi Chairman and Executive Director

Liu Jun
Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President

EQUITY Z CHANGES For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated) O F STATEMENT CONSOLIDATED

						unba	y attributable	Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	r the parent con	npany								
		Omer equit	Uner equity instruments						Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities	Effective portion of gains or						Non-control	Non-controlling interests	
	Share capital Note 32	Preference Share Note 33	Perpetual bonds Note 33	Capital surplus Note 32	Statutory reserve Note 34	Discretionary surplus reserve Note 34	Statutory general reserve Note 34	fair value through other comprehensive income	designated at fair value through i profit or i loss	losses on hedging ' in cash flow hedges	Translation differences for foreign operations	Actuarial changes reserve	Others	Retained earnings Notes 34,35	Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company	Attributable to ordinary shares	Attributable to other equity instruments	Total
As at 31 December 2022 (Restated)	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,664)	(157)	693	1,164	(121)	1,016	292,734	1,022,024	8,040	3,458	1,033,522
impact of adoption of accounting policies amendments	1	1	ı	I	1	1	1	191	1	1	1	1	1	127	318	190	ı	208
As at 1 January 2023	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,473)	(157)	693	1,164	(121)	1,016	292,861	1,022,342	8,230	3,458	1,034,030
Total comprehensive income	1	•	•	•	•	1	1	7,880	428	(609)	2,050	æ	(1,678)	92,728	100,862	200	18	101,552
Dividends paid to ordinary shares	•	1	1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1	1	•	(27,700)	(27,700)	(308)	•	(28,008)
Dividends paid to preference shares Interest paid to perpetual bond	1	•	1	•	i .	•	•	ı	•	ı	ı	ı	1	(1,832)	(1,832)	•	•	(1,832)
holders	1	1	•	•	•	•	1	•	•	1	1		1	(2,641)	(2,641)	•	•	(2,641)
Interest paid to non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1																		
capital securities holders	1	•	•	•	•	٠	•	1	•	•	•	•	•	1	•	٠	(131)	(131)
Transfer to reserves Transfer of other comprehensive	1	•	•	•	9,073	217	14,512	1	•	•	•	•	1	(23,802)	•	•		•
income to retained earnings	•	1	1	٠	•	•	•	(130)	•	•	1	1	•	130	٠	•	٠	•
Others	•	•	•	E	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Œ	(219)	•	(220)
As at 31 December 2023	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,428	97,227	140,399	159,053	1,277	301	84	3,214	(88)	(662)	326,744	1,088,030	7,912	3,508	1,099,450

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		Total	975,793	92,089	(26,759)	(1,832)	(5,651)	(119)		1	-	1,083,522	
	ling interests	Attributable to other equity instruments Note 33	3,165	412	ı	ı	ī	(119)	1	1	1	3,458	
	Non-controlling interests	Attributable to ordinary shares	8,881	(442)	(386)	1	1	1	1	ı	1	8,040	
		Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company	963,747	92,122	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	ı	ı	1 -	-	1,022,024	
		Retained earnings	257,187	92,102	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	1	(22,608)	(101)	1	292,734	
		Others	1,379	(363)	1	ı	1	1	1	1	1	1,016	
		Actuarial changes reserve	(87)	(34)	1	1	ı	ı	1	ı	1	(121)	
		Translation differences for foreign operations	(6,884)	8,048	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	1,164	
any		Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	(104)	797	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	693	
ne parent compa	erves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	(24)	(133)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	(157)	
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	Other reserves	Revaluation reserve and impalment for francial assets at fair value through other comprehensive to	1,530	(8,295)	ı	ı	ı	1	1	101	1	(6,664)	
ty attributable t		Statutory general reserve Note 34	130,280	1	1	1	ı	ı	14,261	ı	1	144,541	
Edu		Discretionary surplus reserve Note 34	140,022	1	1	1	1	1	160	1	1	140,182	
		Statutory reserve Note 34	79,967	1	1	1	1	1	8,187	1	1	88,154	
		Capital surplus Note 32	111,428	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	111,429	
	instruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	129,838	
	Other equity instruments	Preference Share Note 33	44,952	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	44,952	
		Share capital	74,263	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	74,263	
			As at 1 January 2022 (Restated)	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shares	Dividends paid to preference shares Interest paid to perpetual bond	holders Interest paid to non-cumulative	subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities holders	Transfer to reserves Transfer of other comprehensive	income to retained earnings	Others	As at 31 December 2022	

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit before tax:	99,698	98,115
Adjustments for:		
Provision for credit impairment losses	56,908	60,411
Provision for other assets impairment losses	1,062	1,897
Depreciation and amortisation	18,279	16,150
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation	(14)	56
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	(793)	(739)
Interest income from financial investments	(111,647)	(97,311)
Fair value net (gains)/losses	(5,304)	4,171
Net gains on investments in associates and joint ventures	(356)	(292)
Net gains on financial investments	(193)	(494)
Interest expense on debt securities issued	16,395	15,807
Interest expense on lease liabilities	147	179
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities	74,182	97,950
Net increase in balances with central banks	(7,027)	(57,272)
Net (increase)/decrease in due from and placements with banks and other		
financial institutions	(222,855)	6,251
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(678,863)	(741,007)
Net decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	68,810	(86,355)
Net decrease/(increase) in other assets	8,378	(11,755)
Net increase in due to and placements from banks and other financial		
institutions	399,145	78,740
Net decrease in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	(8,510)	(5,357)
Net increase in deposits from customers and certificates of deposits issued	487,415	1,012,585
Net increase in other liabilities	23,345	87,181
Net increase/(decrease) in value-added tax and other taxes payable	472	(829)
Income tax paid	(7,169)	(11,911)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities	137,323	368,221

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries, associated ventures and joint			
ventures		-	(2,780)
Cash payments for financial investments		(1,203,846)	(1,232,873)
Cash received on disposal or redemption of financial investments		1,013,044	879,650
Dividends received		744	870
Interest received from financial investments		111,423	94,863
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(2,450)	(2,094)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets		25	11
Acquisition of property, equipment		(45,141)	(29,561)
Cash received from disposal of property, equipment		9,578	7,017
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(116,623)	(284,897)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issue of debt securities		196,102	182,492
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(137,871)	(163,432)
Payment of interest on debt securities		(15,092)	(15,384)
Repayment of principal and interest of lease liabilities		(2,514)	(2,581)
Dividends paid		(35,298)	(33,555)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		(439)	(515)
Net cash flows generated/(used in) from financing activities		4,888	(32,975)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		1,070	4,146
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		26,658	54,495
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		248,803	194,308
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	41	275,461	248,803
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		350,078	323,364
Interest paid		(241,668)	(201,693)

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank, headquartered and registered in Shanghai, which was reorganized on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB") and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(3) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(2) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and investment property which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2(32).

The financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest million, which is the functional currency of the Group.

(3) Changes in accounting policies

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group

In the current reporting period, the Group has adopted the following International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and amendments issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period.

174 F-334

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

		Note
IFRS 17	Insurance Contracts	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 8	Definition of Accounting Estimates	(iii)
Amendments to IAS 12	Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction	(iv)
Amendments to IAS 12	International tax reform - Pillar Two model rules	(v)

(i) IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Amendments to IFRS 17 were issued in June 2020 and December 2021 to address stakeholder concerns and implementation challenges. IFRS 17 sets out a single principle-based standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts in the financial statements of the issuers.

In accordance with IFRS 17, the Group: (1) adjusted the recognition principles for insurance revenue. Insurance revenue will be recognized over the coverage period based on the provision of services, and the investment component and other non-insurance services that can be clearly distinguished will be split from the insurance contract. The premium corresponding to the investment component, other non-insurance services and the inseparable investment component were excluded from the insurance revenue; (2) revised the measurement of insurance contract liabilities, including revising measurement models for insurance contracts, revising the measurement of contractual service margin ("CSM"), the methods for measuring CSM at the transition date, and the method for determining the discount rate of insurance contract liabilities, etc.

The Group adopted IFRS 17 on 1 January 2023. According to the transitional provisions of IFRS 17, for insurance contracts that occurred before the the transition date (1 January 2023) of which measurements were not was in inconformity to IFRS 17, the Group has made retrospective adjustments and recognised the cumulative effect as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2022, and comparative information was adjusted meanwhile. In addition, according to the transitional provisions of IFRS 17, the Group also reassessed the business model for managing financial assets and revoked the previous designation, to reclass the category and measurement of financial assets. The Group recognised the cumulative effect as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2023, without adjusting the comparative information.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

(i) IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (Continued)

The effects of adopting IFRS 17 on each of the line items in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

	Before		After
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments
ASSETS			
Loans and advances to customers	7,136,677	(1,223)	7,135,454
Deferred tax assets	38,771	741	39,512
Other assets	92,635	(366)	92,269
LIABILITIES			
Other liabilities	249,010	1,370	250,380
EQUITY			
Other reserves	369,259	(451)	368,808
Retained earnings	293,668	(934)	292,734
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,873	(833)	8,040

The effects of adopting IFRS 17 on each of the line items in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

	Before		After
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments
Net operating income	273,528	(16,182)	257,346
Other operating expenses	(113,005)	16,082	(96,923)
Net profit for the year	92,030	(75)	91,955
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	834	(700)	134

The Group adopted IFRS 17, recognising the cumulative effect of class and measurement of financial assets as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2023. The effects on each of the line items in the consolidated balance sheet as at 1 January 2023 are as follows:

	Before		After
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments
ASSETS			
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	705,357	688	706,045
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,450,775	(19,151)	2,431,624
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	799,075	18,971	818,046
EQUITY			
Other reserves	368,808	191	368,999
Retained earnings	292,734	127	292,861
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,040	190	8,230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments clarify that an entity will be required to disclose its "material" accounting policy information as opposed to "significant" accounting policies and provide additional guidance on how to identify material accounting policy information. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide additional guidance and examples to explain and illustrate the application of the "four-step materiality process" to accounting policy information.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(iii) Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments now define "accounting estimates" as "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty" and remove the definition of "a change in accounting estimate". The amendments also clarify that the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates unless they result from the correction of prior period errors.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(iv) Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments specify how entities should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition. As a result, entities will need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(v) Amendments to IAS 12, International tax reform - Pillar Two model rules

The Group has adopted International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules-Amendments to IAS 12 upon their release on 23 May 2023. The amendments provide a temporary mandatory exception from deferred tax accounting for the income tax arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules. The amendments also introduce disclosures requirements about such tax, including the estimated exposure to Pillar Two income tax. The recognition exception and disclosure about such exception are effective immediately upon issuance of the amendments. The other disclosure requirements are applicable to the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The mandatory exception applies retrospectively. However, because no new legislation to implement the top-up tax was enacted or officially implemented at 31 December 2023 in any jurisdiction in which the Group operates and no related deferred taxes were recognised at that date, the retrospective application has no impact on the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ending 31 December 2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective in the current reporting period and have not been adopted before their effective dates by the Group

The Group has not adopted the following new or amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

			Effective for annual periods	
			beginning on or after	Note
(1)	Amendments to IFRS 16	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	1 January 2024	(i)
(2)	Amendments to IAS 1 (2020)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2024	(ii)
(3)	Amendments to IAS 1 (2022)	Non-current Liabilities with Covenants	1 January 2024	(ii)
(4)	Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7	Supplier Finance Arrangements	1 January 2024	(iii)
(5)	Amendments to IAS 21	Lack of exchangeability	1 January 2025	(iv)
(6)	Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between An Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture	The effective date has now been deferred.	(v)

(i) Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add to the requirements explaining how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains, including cases with variable lease payments in the leaseback.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments to IAS 1 (2020) concern the requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-current. In particular, the amendments specify the condition of an entity to classify a liability as non-current requires that a right to defer settlement must exist at the end of the reporting period and have substance, and clarify that classification is unaffected by management's intentions or expectations about whether the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.

The amendments also specify the classification of liabilities that will or may be settled by issuing an entity's own equity instruments. When a liability includes a counterparty conversion option that involves a transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, the classification of such liability is not affected only when the conversion option is recognised separately from the host liability as an equity component under IAS 32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

- (3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
- (b) Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective in the current reporting period and have not been adopted before their effective dates by the Group (Continued)
- (ii) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Continued)

The amendments to IAS 1 (2022) specify that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current. Covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect a liability's classification at that date. However, an entity is required to disclose information regarding the risk that the non-current liabilities subject to future covenants could become repayable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 amendments defer the effective date of the 2020 amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. If an entity applies one of these two amendments for an earlier period, the other amendments should also be applied for that period.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments contain disclosure requirements to enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on a company's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of exchangeability

The amendments specify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not, and how an entity determines a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability.

Under the amendments, entities are required to provide additional disclosures to help users evaluate how a currency's lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected to affect, its financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(v) Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation

(a) Subsidiary undertakings

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are not consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combinations is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition – date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

For acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Loses control of a subsidiary due to the disposal of a portion of an equity investment, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive are reclassified to profit or loss and retained earning.

180 F-340

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(c) Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entities, for example when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, and key activities are directed by contractual agreement. Structured entities often have restricted activities and a narrow and well-defined objective. Examples of structured entities include investment funds, trusts, securitisation vehicles and asset backed financings. Involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in Notes 42 and 43.

(d) Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement through a separate entity, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal form, contract terms, and other facts and circumstances. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an activity, and exists only when the decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

The results of an associate or a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is an indication of possible impairment with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested as a single asset for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of sale) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate or joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit ("CGU") or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group performs an impairment test on goodwill at least once a year.

On disposal of the related CGU or group of CGUs, any attributable amount of goodwill net of allowances for impairment losses, if any, is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(5) Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss for the period. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss for the period when an asset is newly originated.

The method of determining fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement date. For financial instruments with active markets, the Group uses quotations from active markets to determine their fair value, and for financial instruments where there is no active market, the Group uses valuation techniques to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques include references to prices used in recent market transactions by parties familiar with the situation and voluntary transactions, the current fair value of other financial instruments with reference to the same substantially, the discounted cash flow method and the option pricing model.

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement methods (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (Continued)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets – assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition – the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
- Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- The Group's business model for managing the asset; and
- The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net gains arising from financial investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on the debt investment, which is measured at FVTPL and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and presented as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

When, and only when, the Group changes the business model for managing its financial assets, shall it reclassify all affected financial assets, and apply the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the Group reclassifying financial assets.

184 F-344

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective (refer to Note 2(5)(b)); that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to sell. When this election is used, fair value gains or losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 'Net gains arising from financial investments' when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on equity investments at FVTPL are recognised as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group assesses the expected credit losses ('ECL') of debt instrument assets at amortised cost and FVOCI, exposures arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantees. The Group recognises a loss allowance accordingly at each reporting date.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value, discounted at effective interest rate or the credit-adjusted effective interest rate on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The Group's method of measuring ECLs of financial instruments reflects the following elements: (i) unbiased weighted average probability determined by the results of evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) time value of money; (iii) reasonable and evidence-based information about past events, current conditions, and future economic forecasts that are available at no additional cost or effort at the end of the reporting period.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the balance sheet date.

Except for trade receivables and contract assets, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments.

- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet date;
- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group classifies financial instruments into three stages and makes provisions for expected credit losses accordingly, depending on whether credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, whether a financial instrument is credit-impaired.

The definition of financial instruments three stages as follows:

- Stage 1: Financial instruments without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For these assets, expected credit losses are recognised for the following 12 months.
- Stage 2: For financial instruments with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime if there is no objective evidence of impairment.
- Stage 3: For financial assets with objective evidence of impairment as at the balance sheet date, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime.

Financial instruments that have low credit risk

The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low if the financial instrument has a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) a significant increase in credit risk is determined when internal and external rating during the reporting period is below the Group's credit acceptance standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the financial instruments' credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for debt investments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group recognises loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at FVTPL in contingent liabilities. (See Note 31(1)).

Write-off

The book value of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
- Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the Group applies continuing involvement approach. Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors. The Group evaluates the extent to which it transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to the other party and determines whether it retains control while applying the accounting policy in respect of asset securitisation.

- The financial asset is derecognised when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- The financial asset continues to be recognised when the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and does not retain control it derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and retains control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. The Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

(b) Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial asset did not qualify for derecognition, a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; when continuing involvement approach applies, see note 2(5)(a); and
- Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (refer to Note 2 (29)).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is more than 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (i) and (ii) below are met:

- (i) The financial instrument includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; and
- (ii) If the financial instrument will or may be settled in the Group's own equity instruments, it is a non-derivative instrument that includes no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments; or a derivative that will be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the fair value of proceeds received, net of direct issuance expenses.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid (combined) instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

- The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;
- A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative; and
- The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated or qualified as hedging instruments, including those intended to provide effective economic hedges of specific interest rate and foreign exchange risks, but do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognised in "Net trading gains" in the income statement.

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment of hedging effectiveness both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, that is, the extent to which changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedge instrument can offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items resulting from the hedge risk.

The hedging relationship should meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. That means the hedging instrument and hedged item have values that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk;
- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

- Increase or decrease in the amounts of hedged items or hedging instruments;
- Significant changes in counterparties' credit risk.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised (the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument does not constitute an expiration or termination), or the hedging relationship ceases to meet the risk management objective, or to meet other qualifying criteria for hedging accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

(i) Fair value hedge

Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses over the period to maturity and recorded as net interest income.

(ii) Cash flow hedge

Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the statement of profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability at the same time, the financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Otherwise, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

(6) Interest income and expense

The "Interest income" and "Interest expense" in the Group's income statement are the interest income and expense calculated by using the effective interest method on debt investment at amortised cost, debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at amortised cost, etc.

For those purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. For those financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have become credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

(7) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised when the Group fulfills its performance obligation, either over time or at a point in time when a customer obtains control of the service.

For the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue when control is passed to the customer at a certain point in time. For the performance obligations satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue according to the progress toward satisfaction of the obligation over the time.

(8) Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

(9) Assets transferred under repurchase agreements

(a) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date at a fixed or determinable price are not derecognised in the statement of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are presented under "due to banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the selling price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(b) Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific future date are not recognised in the statement of financial position. The cost of purchasing such assets is presented under "due from banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9) Assets transferred under repurchase agreements (Continued)

(c) Securities lending

Securities lending transactions are generally secured, with collateral taking the form of securities or cash. Securities lent to counterparties by the Group are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Securities borrowed from counterparties by the Group are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Cash collateral received or advanced is recognised as a liability or an asset in the consolidated financial statements.

(10) Precious metals

Precious metals that are not related to the Group's trading activities are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Precious metals that are related to the Group's trading activities are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from re-measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(11) Property and equipment

The Group's property and equipment mainly comprise buildings, construction in progress, equipment and transportation equipment.

The assets purchased or constructed are initially measured at acquisition cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the property and equipment are included in the cost of the property and equipment if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting date.

Buildings comprise primarily office premises. The estimated useful lives, depreciation rate and estimated residual value rate of buildings, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement are as follows:

Type of assets	Estimated Useful lives	Estimated net Residual value	Annual depreciation rate
Buildings	25 - 50 years	3%	1.94% - 3.88%
Equipment	3 - 11 years	3%	8.82%-32.33%
Transportation equipment (excluding equipments under operating leases)	4 - 8 years	3%	12.13% - 24.25%
Equipments under operating leases	4 - 30 years	5% - 10%	3.00% - 23.75%

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(11) Property and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a property and equipment when it is ready for intended use.

Equipments under operating leases where the Group is the lessor is aircraft and vessel etc. The estimated useful lives and depreciation rate are determined considering their conditions and the estimated residual values are determined by external appraiser using historical data on an item-by-item basis.

(12) Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, and foreclosed non-financial assets are initially recognised at cost. At the end of each reporting period, foreclosed non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the net realisable value. When the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment allowance is recognised.

When a foreclosed asset is disposed, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group disposes of foreclosed assets through various means. In principle, foreclosed assets should not be transferred for own use, but, in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business or management purposes, they are transferred at their net carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and equipment.

When a foreclosed asset needs to be transferred for own use, it is transferred at its carrying amount including the impairment allowance at the transition day.

Foreclosed assets of the Group mainly include buildings and land use rights.

(13) Land use rights

Land use rights are classified as other assets and amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term.

(14) Intangible assets

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is available for use, its original cost is amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised.

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when necessary.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(15) Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both and initially measured at cost.

As there is an active property market in the location in which the Group's investment property is situated, and the Group can obtain the market price and other relevant information regarding the same or similar type of property from the property market so as to reasonably estimate the fair value of the investment property; therefore, the Group uses the fair value model for subsequent measurement of the investment property, with changes in the fair value included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognises the amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss for the period.

(16) Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the impairment of deferred tax assets and financial assets, with the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any indication that an asset may be impaired exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired and it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the CGU to which the asset belongs.

CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets, and the cash inflows generated by a CGU are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU, group of CGUs) is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the expected future cash flows. The Group considers all relevant factors in estimating the present value of future cash flows, such as the expected future cash flows, the useful life and the discount rate.

(a) Testing CGU with goodwill for impairment

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by the Group at least annually, or whenever there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs are impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs. The recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs are the estimated future cash flows, which are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU or group of CGUs with allocated goodwill.

At the time of impairment testing of a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, there may be an indication of an impairment of an asset within the CGU containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the asset for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that asset before testing for impairment on the CGU or group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Similarly, there may be an indication of an impairment of a CGU within a group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the CGU for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that CGU, before testing for impairment the group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(16) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment loss

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is recognised as an impairment loss and charged to the profit or loss.

For a CGU or a group of CGUs, the amount of impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, and then reduces the carrying amount of other assets (other than goodwill) within the CGU or group of CGUs, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

(c) Reversing an impairment loss

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss of the non-financial asset except for goodwill decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss. A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(17) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, the customer has both of the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

(a) The Group as Lessee

The Group recognises the right-of-use asset on the start date of the lease term and recognises the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made when it is reasonably determined to exercise purchase option or terminate lease option. Variable rent determined based on a certain proportion of sales is not included in the lease payments and is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's right-of-use assets include leased properties, venues, parking lots, advertising spaces, vehicles and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, the lease payments already paid on or before the lease start date, the initial direct costs etc., and deducts any lease incentives received. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life if the Group could reasonably determine to obtain the ownership at the expiration of the lease term; if it is unsure whether the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained at the expiration of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the recoverable value is lower than the book value of the right-of-use asset, the Group reduces the book value to the recoverable value.

For short-term leases with a lease term shorter than 12 months and leases of asset with low value when it is new, the Group recognises relevant rental expenses on a straight-line basis in profit or loss or in the related asset costs in each lease period rather than recognising the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(17) Leases (Continued)

(a) The Group as Lessee (Continued)

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate lease if both:(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and (b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification, the Group remeasures the lease term and the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset for lease modifications that decrease the scope or term of the lease, and recognised the gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss. The Group makes a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications.

(b) The Group as Lessor

Operating Lease

When the Group leases out its own buildings and properties, equipment and transportation vehicles, the rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable rent gained by the Group is recognised in rental income when incurred.

Finance Lease

As lessor of the finance lease, the Group recognises the finance lease receivables for the finance lease on the commencement date of the lease period and derecognises the related assets. Finance lease receivables are recognised at the net lease investment to "Loans and advances to customers" for the initial measurement. The net lease investment is the sum of the unsecured residual value and the present value of the lease payments unreceived at the commencement date of the lease period discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

Finance lease receivables are derecognised when the contractual rights of receiving cash from the finance lease receivables have expired or have been transferred and all substantial risks and rewards regarding the lease have been transferred.

During the lease period, the lessor applies the fixed periodic interest rate to calculate the interest income for each period. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(18) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase under balances with central banks, due from banks and other financial institutions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(19) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the provision.

(20) Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

(a) Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a single transaction that is not a business combination, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (or deductible loss) and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred tax is also not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(20) Income taxes (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(21) Share capital

(a) Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares issued.

(b) Share issue costs

External costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(22) Preference shares and perpetual bonds

At initial recognition preference shares and perpetual bonds issued by the Group are classified as financial liabilities or equity instruments based on their contractual terms and economic substance with reference to the definition of financial liabilities and equity instruments.

Preference shares and perpetual bonds issued by the Group that should be classified as equity instruments are recognised in equity based on the actual proceeds received. Any distribution of dividends or interests during the instruments' duration is treated as profit appropriation. When the preference shares and perpetual bonds are redeemed according to the contractual terms, the redemption amount is recognised as a deduction from equity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(23) Dividend distribution

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the period in which they are declared and approved by the Bank's shareholders.

(b) Dividends on preference shares

Preference share dividend distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(c) Distribution on perpetual bonds

Perpetual bond interest distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the interest distribution approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(24) Acceptances

Acceptances comprise the Group's commitments on payment for bills that are issued to customers. Acceptances are accounted for as credit related commitments and financial guarantees and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments.

(25) Staff costs and benefits

(a) Staff costs

Staff costs include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds, labor union fees as well as staff education expenses and housing allowance. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the staff costs payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

The Group participates in the employee social security systems established by the government, including medical insurance, housing funds and other social securities, in accordance with relevant requirements. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(b) Post-employment benefits

The Group divides post-employment benefit plans into defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions. Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. During the reporting period, post-employment benefits for the employees of the Group mainly include payment to basic retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, annuity plan and supplementary retirement benefits.

Basic retirement insurance

Employees of the Group have joined basic retirement insurance arranged by local ministry of labour and social security. The Group makes monthly contributions to the retirement insurance according to the base and proportion set by local government. When employees retire, local ministry of labour and social security is responsible for the payment of the basic pension to the retired employees. Such basic retirement insurance is a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the amounts payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(25) Staff costs and benefits (Continued)

(b) Post-employment benefits (Continued)

Annuity plan

Employees of domestic branches who retire at or after 1 January 2009 participate in the annuity plan established by the Group. The Group contributes a certain portion of employees' gross salaries to the annuity plan. Such annuity plan is a defined benefit plan. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees of domestic branches who retired at or before 31 December 2008. Such supplementary retirement benefits are defined benefit plans. The Group accrues a liability based on actuarial techniques and recognises all actuarial gains or losses in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains or losses will not be reversed to profit or loss subsequently. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability and recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(c) Early retirement expenses

The Group pays the welfare benefits for employees, who have not yet reached the statutory retirement age limit and are approved by the Group to voluntarily retire from their employment, from the early retirement date to the statutory retirement age limit. These welfare benefits are recognised in profit or loss based on the discounted cash flow calculation over the implementation period. The Group reviews present value of the welfare benefits on each reporting date, with any changes recognised in profit or loss.

(26) Foreign currency translation

Renminbi ("RMB") is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as their functional currency. The Bank and the Group's foreign subsidiaries choose their respective functional currencies on the basis of the primary economic environment in which they operate. The Group adopts RMB to prepare its consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date and those on initial recognition or at the previous reporting date are recognised in profit or loss for the period, except that (i) exchange differences related to hedging instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign exchange risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (ii) exchange differences arising from non-monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as shares) denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the carrying amounts (other than the amortised cost) of monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised as other comprehensive income; and (iii) exchange differences arising on a foreign currency monetary item that forms part of the Bank's net investment in a foreign operation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(26) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions or a rate that approximates the spot exchange rates of the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or upon a loss of control over a foreign operation due to disposal of certain interest in it or other reasons, the Group transfers the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of this foreign operation and foreign currency monetary items that form part of the net investment in such foreign operation attributable to the owners' equity of the Group and presented under shareholder's equity in the statement of financial position, to profit or loss in the period in which the disposal occurs.

In case of a disposal or other reason that does not result in the Group losing control over a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit and loss. For partial disposals of equity interests in foreign operations which are associates and joint ventures, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of foreign operations is reclassified to profit or loss.

(27) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable and can be reliably estimated, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(28) Insurance contracts

(a) Level of aggregation

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are aggregated into groups for measuring purposes. Groups of contracts are determined by first identifying portfolios of contracts, each comprising contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts in different product lines are expected to be in different portfolios. Each portfolio is then divided into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohorts into three groups:

- (i) Any contracts that onerous on initial recognition;
- (ii) Any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; and
- (iii) Any remaining contracts in the annual cohort.

When a contract is recognized, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the contract does not qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group in which future contracts may be added.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(28) Insurance contracts (Continued)

(b) Contract boundaries

The measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the Group.

For insurance contracts, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group can compel the policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide services (including insurance coverage and investment services).

For investment contracts with DPF, the cash flows are within the contract boundary if they result from a substantive obligation of the Group to deliver cash at a present or future date.

(c) Measurement - Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF

On initial recognition, the Group measures a group of contracts as the total of (a) fulfilment cash flows, which comprise estimates of future cash flows, adjusted to reflect the time value of money and the associated financial risks, and a risk adjustment for non-financial risk; and (b) the CSM. The fulfilment cash flows of a group of contracts do not reflect the Group's non-performance risk.

Subsequently, the carrying amount of a group of contracts at each reporting date is the sum of the liability of remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims. The liability for remaining coverage comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to services that will be provided under the contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at that date. The liability for incurred claims includes the fulfilment cash flows for incurred claims and expenses that have not yet been paid, including claims that have been incurred but not yet reported.

(d) Insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the Group belongs. Insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of contracts using systematic and rational methods based on the total premiums of each group.

Insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the related contracts are recognized as separate assets and tested for recoverability, whereas other insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the estimate of the present value of future cash flows as part of the measurement of the related contracts.

(29) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of guarantee fees, and the best estimate of the expected credit loss provision required to settle the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(29) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

The impairment allowance of loan commitments provided by the Group is measured by ECL. The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For credit related commitments and financial guarantees, the loss allowance is recognised as an provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group can not separately identify the ECL on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECL on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined ECL exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the ECL are recognised as a provision.

(30) Fiduciary activities

In activities where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as trustee, custodian or agent, the assets and income arising from the transaction together with the related undertakings to return the assets to customers are excluded from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group conducts entrusted lending for the third-party lenders. The Group grants loans to borrowers, as trustee, according to the instruction of the third-party lenders who fund these loans. The Group is responsible for the arrangement and collection of the entrusted loans and receives a commission for the services rendered. As the Group does not assume the risks and rewards of the entrusted loans and does not provide funding for the corresponding entrusted funds, the entrusted loans are not recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.

(31) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors and the senior management team represented by the governor as its chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group with all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) that component can earn revenues and incur expenses from ordinary activities; (ii) the component's operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (iii) discrete financial information for the component is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic characteristics, and certain conditions are satisfied, they may be aggregated into a single operating segment. Intra-segment income and expenses are eliminated. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are considered in determining segment performance.

The Group has the following segments: Head Office, Yangtze River Delta, Central China, Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Pearl River Delta, Western China, Northeastern China and Overseas.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(32) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance require the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

(a) Measurement of ECL

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and credit related commitments and financial guarantees, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Note 3(1) specifies the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques used in the measurement of expected credit loss and also discloses the sensitivity of expected credit losses to changes in these factors.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;
- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings;
- Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3(1).

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm's length transactions, observable prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted interest rates, and commonly used market pricing models. To the extent practical, models use observable data such as interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option volatilities, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty's), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market observable data. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation techniques including review of valuation model assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumptions, the quality of market data, whether markets are active or inactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approval processes. Valuation techniques are validated and periodically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at the financial reporting date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(32) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax various jurisdictions; principally, in Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC. There are certain transactions and activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group has made estimates for application of tax legislation and items of uncertainty taking into account existing tax legislation and past practice. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax in the period during which such a determination is made.

(d) Consolidation of structured entities

Where the Group acts as asset manager of or investor in structured entities, the Group makes significant judgement on whether the Group controls and should consolidate these structured entities. When performing this assessment, the Group assesses the Group's contractual rights and obligations in light of the transaction structures, and evaluates the Group's power over the structured entities, performs analysis and tests on the variable returns from the structured entities, including but not limited to commission income and asset management fees earned as the asset manager, the retention of residual income, and, if any, the liquidity and other support provided to the structured entities. The Group also assesses whether it acts as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which it is entitled for asset management services, the Group's exposure to variability of returns from its other interests in the structured entities, and the rights held by other parties in the structured entities.

(e) Derecognition of financial assets

In judging whether the transaction in which a loan transfer through packaging and asset securitisation is consistent with the termination confirmation of a financial asset, the Group needs to assess whether the Group meets the criteria for the transfer of financial assets and whether almost all risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan are transferred. If there is neither a transfer nor a retention of almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the transferred loan, the Group will further assess whether control over the transferred loan has been retained. In assessing and judging, the Group has taken into account a wide range of factors, such as whether trading arrangements are accompanied by repurchase clauses. The Group sets situational assumptions and uses the future cash flow discount model for risk and compensation transfer testing. The Group derecognised the loan only if the loan has been transferred and almost all risks and benefits in ownership have been transferred to another subject. If the Group retains almost all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred loan, it shall continue to confirm the loan and at the same time recognise the proceeds received as a financial liability. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained almost all of the risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan and has not waived its control over the loan, the financial assets concerned are recognised to the extent that the loan continues to be involved and the relevant liability is recognised accordingly.

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are periodically reviewed for impairment by the Group and where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the asset's expected future cash flow.

Fair value is usually based on market prices, and the management obtains it from professional appraisal agencies. Disposal costs include legal fees and taxes related to the asset disposal. When estimating the present value of the expected future cash flow of fixed assets leased out by the subsidiary, the management takes the rental amount agreed in the lease contract and the value of the assets at the end of the lease term as the basis for estimating future cash flows, and determines an appropriate discount rate for the calculation of the present value of future cash flows in various scenarios.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Group is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

(a) Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Corporate and Institutional Banking Department, Inclusive Finance Department/Rural Revitalization Finance Department, Retail Credit Department, Pacific Credit Card Center, International Banking Department/Offshore Banking Center, Credit Management Department, Credit Approval Department, Risk Management Department, Non-Performing Asset Management Department, Financial institution Department (Commercial Papre Center)/Asset Management Center and Global Markets Department (Commercial Paper Center). They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(i) Loans and advances to customers

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more guidance on credit investment, formulate guidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of post - loan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk monitoring, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal.

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and prewarning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating business management system and combining relevant system function control, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various supervisory and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through customer classification and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(ii) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The investment in those debts and bills is to have better credit quality assets while maintaining readily available liquidity resource. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and branch based on the credit approval authority and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(ii) Treasury business (Continued)

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and wealth management products set up by banking financial institutions. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right, ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and issuers of inter-bank wealth management products, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i.e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i.e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market fluctuations. Collateral is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except when the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

(iii) Credit-related commitments

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

(iv) Credit risk quality

In accordance with the Rules on Risk Classification of Financial Assets of Commercial Banks (Order No. 1 [2023] of the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and People's Bank of China), the Group conducts classified management of financial assets. Financial assets are classified by their level of risk into the five categories of Normal, Special-Mention, Substandard, Doubtful, and Loss, with the latter three collectively referred to as non-performing assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk quality (Continued)

The core of the five categories are defined as follows:

Normal: The debtor is capable of meeting its contractual obligations and there is no objective evidence

indicating that the principal, interests, and income cannot be paid in full and on time.

Special-mention: The debtor is currently capable of paying the principal, interests, and income notwithstanding a

number of factors that might adversely affect its capacity to meet its contractual obligations.

Substandard: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full or the financial assets have

undergone credit impairment.

Doubtful: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full and the financial assets

have undergone significant credit impairment.

Loss: None or only a minimum fraction of the financial assets can be recovered after exhausting all available

options.

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes:
- the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) The changed internal and external ratings are worse than the Group's credit access standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk, and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

The criteria adopted by the Group to determine whether a credit impairment occurs under IFRS 9 is consistent with the internal credit risk management objectives for relevant financial instrument, in addition to consideration of quantitative and qualitative indicators. In general, the Group considers a financial instrument to be credit-impaired or otherwise in default when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-on-year Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario". The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted semiannually, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

As at 31 December 2023, The Group forecasts the 2024 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be 5% in the Basic Scenario. The Group fully considered the macroeconomic forecast for 2024 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models.

The Group determined the weightings of "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario" with macro data analysis and expert's judgement and maintain relative stability.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available. When the management believed that the forecast model could not fully reflect recent credit or economic events, management overlay adjustments could be used to supplement ECL allowances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types and so on.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group measures sensitivity analysis on the macro-economic indicators used in prospective estimation. As at 31 December 2023, if the optimistic/pessimistic scenario weighting increases or decreases by 10%, and the prediction of economic indicators changed correspondingly, the change of the impairment allowance does not exceed 5%.

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group adopts credit rating methods to monitor the credit risk status of its debt instrument portfolio. The Group classified the credit risk levels of financial assets measured by ECL into "Low" (credit risk in good condition), "Medium" (increased credit risk), and "High" (credit risk in severe condition), based on the quality of assets. The credit risk level is used for the purpose of the group's internal credit risk management. "Low" refers to assets with good credit quality. There is no sufficient reason to doubt that the assets are not expected to fulfill its contractual obligation to repay or if there is any other behaviors breaching the debt contracts that would significantly impact the repayment of debt according to contract terms. "Medium" refers to assets facing obvious negative factors impacting its repayment capacity, but not yet have non-repayment behaviors. "High" refers to non-repayment according to the debt contract terms, or other behaviors breaching the debt contracts or having significant impact on the repayment of debt according to contract terms.

The following table is the summary of the group's credit risk exposure of the main financial instruments included in the ECL assessment scope. The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the worst credit risk exposure at the end of each reporting period, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The credit risk exposure to the Group at the end of each reporting period primarily arises from credit and treasury operations. For on balance sheet assets, the maximum credit risk exposure refers to the book value of financial assets after deducting loss provisions. In addition, off balance sheet items such as loan commitment, credit card commitment, Banker's acceptance, letter of guarantee, guarantee and letter of credit also include credit risk. And the maximum credit risk exposure of these off balance sheet items is the balance after the provision of estimated liabilities.

Allowanoo

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

							Allowance	
					Overseas		for	Maximum
	Low	Medium		Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 31 December 2023	risk	risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	862,742	-	-	862,742	22,803	885,545	-	885,545
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	4,458,676	81,134	67,245	4,607,055	478,432	5,085,487	(152,862)	4,932,625
Stage 1	4,378,790	-	-	4,378,790	437,523	4,816,313	(60,962)	4,755,351
Stage 2	79,886	81,134	-	161,020	22,627	183,647	(38,395)	145,252
Stage 3	-	-	67,245	67,245	18,282	85,527	(53,505)	32,022
at FVOCI	398,335	125	19	398,479	-	398,479	-	398,479
Stage 1	391,313	-	_	391,313	-	391,313	-	391,313
Stage 2	7,022	125	_	7,147	-	7,147	-	7,147
Stage 3	-	-	19	19	-	19	-	19
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,355,913	30,662	19,808	2,406,383	66,717	2,473,100	(50,913)	2,422,187
Stage 1	2,336,427	_	_	2,336,427	66,017	2,402,444	(19,710)	2,382,734
Stage 2	19,486	30,662	_	50,148	385	50,533	(16,945)	33,588
Stage 3	-	_	19,808	19,808	315	20,123	(14,258)	5,865
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	441,228	_	_	441,228	420,963	862,191	(2,549)	859,642
Stage 1	441,228	_	_	441,228	412,770	853,998	(2,543)	851,455
Stage 2	_	_	_	_	8,193	8,193	(6)	8,187
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,477,019	2,784	1,136	2,480,939	96,610	2,577,549	(3,638)	2,573,911
Stage 1	2,477,019	_	_	2,477,019	95,803	2,572,822	(1,662)	2,571,160
Stage 2	-	2,784	_	2,784	382	3,166	(997)	2,169
Stage 3	_	_	1,136	1,136	425	1,561	(979)	582
Debt investments at FVOCI	417,918	103	_	418,021	455,245	873,266	_	873,266
Stage 1	417,918	-	-	417,918	452,134	870,052	_	870,052
Stage 2	-	103	_	103	2,983	3,086	_	3,086
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	128	128	-	128
On-balance sheet total	11,411,831	114,808	88,208	11,614,847	1,540,770	13,155,617	(209,962)	12,945,655

As at 31 December 2023	Domestic branches	Overseas and subsidiaries	Group total	Provisions	Maximum exposure to credit risk
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees					
Stage 1	2,172,236	47.799	2,220,035	(8,275)	2,211,760
Stage 2	12,331	225	12,556	(551)	12,005
Off-balance sheet total	2,184,567	48,024	2,232,591	(8,826)	2,223,765

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

							Allowance	
					Overseas		for	Maximum
	Low	Medium		Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 31 December 2022	risk	risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	766,436	-	-	766,436	25,827	792,263	-	792,263
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,945,613	79,199	60,506	4,085,318	521,838	4,607,156	(134,409)	4,472,747
Stage 1	3,866,961	-	-	3,866,961	485,011	4,351,972	(51,219)	4,300,753
Stage 2	78,652	79,199	-	157,851	18,873	176,724	(35,112)	141,612
Stage 3	-	-	60,506	60,506	17,954	78,460	(48,078)	30,382
at FVOCI	322,364	2	36	322,402	63	322,465	-	322,465
Stage 1	315,497	-	-	315,497	63	315,560	-	315,560
Stage 2	6,867	2	-	6,869	-	6,869	-	6,869
Stage 3	-	-	36	36	-	36	-	36
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,261,444	20,181	19,743	2,301,368	63,949	2,365,317	(41,769)	2,323,548
Stage 1	2,247,634	-	-	2,247,634	62,332	2,309,966	(17,576)	2,292,390
Stage 2	13,810	20,181	-	33,991	1,357	35,348	(10,273)	25,075
Stage 3	-	-	19,743	19,743	260	20,003	(13,920)	6,083
Due from and placements with banks and other								
financial institutions	366,086	-	-	366,086	325,369	691,455	(1,034)	690,421
Stage 1	366,086	-	-	366,086	321,673	687,759	(1,032)	686,727
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,696	3,696	(2)	3,694
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,318,706	1,341	1,125	2,321,172	132,367	2,453,539	(2,764)	2,450,775
Stage 1	2,318,706	_	_	2,318,706	129,095	2,447,801	(1,547)	2,446,254
Stage 2	-	1,341	-	1,341	2,641	3,982	(260)	3,722
Stage 3	-	-	1,125	1,125	631	1,756	(957)	799
Debt investments at FVOCI	380,020	-	-	380,020	403,732	783,752	-	783,752
Stage 1	380,020	-	-	380,020	400,510	780,530	-	780,530
Stage 2	_	-	_	_	2,794	2,794	-	2,794
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	428	428	-	428
On-balance sheet total	10,360,669	100,723	81,410	10,542,802	1,473,145	12,015,947	(179,976)	11,835,971

As at 31 December 2022	Domestic branches	Overseas and subsidiaries	Group total	Provisions	Maximum exposure to credit risk
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees					
Stage 1	2,153,567	54,654	2,208,221	(10,226)	2,197,995
Stage 2	11,469	765	12,234	(1,065)	11,169
Off-balance sheet total	2,165,036	55,419	2,220,455	(11,291)	2,209,164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets measured at FVTPL which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

	Maximum exposure to credit risk		
	As at		
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss			
Derivative financial instruments	67,387	69,687	
Loans and advances to customers	19	27	
Debt securities	227,242	252,953	
Fund and trust management products	180,911	209,180	
Equity investments and other investments	73,770	72,204	
Precious metal contracts	4,524	24,557	
Other debt investments	155,835	146,463	
Total	709,688	775,071	

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

	Maximum Ioan-
Collaterals	to-value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will strengthen collection through short message reminders, telephone calls, letters, judicial proceedings and other means as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

As at 31 December 2023	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	105,650	(67,763)	37,887	50,316
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	19	_	19	16
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,561	(979)	582	832
Debt investments at FVOCI	128	-	128	-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	98,463	(61,998)	36,465	50,145
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	36	-	36	36
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,756	(957)	799	876
Financial investments at FVOCI	428	_	428	-

Master netting arrangements

The Group may enter into master netting arrangements or similar agreements with the counterparties to reduce credit risk furtherly. The related credit risk of contracts will reduce when settled on a net basis. Each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

(d) Derivative instruments

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, commodity, interest rate and other derivative contracts with other financial institutions and customers. The management has established limits for these contracts based on counterparties, industry sectors and countries. Actual credit risk exposures are regularly monitored and controlled by the management.

Credit risk-weighted amounts

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Counterparty credit risk-weighted amounts	46,882	39,298

The credit risk-weighted amounts are the amounts calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the former China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the "former CBIRC") and are dependent on, amongst other factors, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the maturity of each type of contract. The credit risk-weighted amounts stated above have not taken the effects of netting arrangements into account.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(e) Foreclosed assets

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Buildings	1,366	1,400
Land use rights	8	8
Others	10	4
Gross	1,384	1,412
Less: Impairment allowances	(439)	(412)
Net	945	1,000

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

Chinese			
Mainland	Hong Kong	Others	Total
865,236	1,578	18,731	885,545
649,279	83,984	126,379	859,642
31,029	29,982	6,376	67,387
7,421,635	217,391	133,034	7,772,060
552,977	9,664	5,871	568,512
467,473	223,644	182,149	873,266
2,513,000	43,769	17,142	2,573,911
27,536	5,948	5,510	38,994
12,528,165	615,960	495,192	13,639,317
1,186,022	6,118	13,111	1,205,251
1,004,082	18,895	4,363	1,027,340
2,190,104	25,013	17,474	2,232,591
	865,236 649,279 31,029 7,421,635 552,977 467,473 2,513,000 27,536 12,528,165 1,186,022 1,004,082	Mainland Hong Kong 865,236 1,578 649,279 83,984 31,029 29,982 7,421,635 217,391 552,977 9,664 467,473 223,644 2,513,000 43,769 27,536 5,948 12,528,165 615,960 1,186,022 6,118 1,004,082 18,895	Mainland Hong Kong Others 865,236 1,578 18,731 649,279 83,984 126,379 31,029 29,982 6,376 7,421,635 217,391 133,034 552,977 9,664 5,871 467,473 223,644 182,149 2,513,000 43,769 17,142 27,536 5,948 5,510 12,528,165 615,960 495,192 1,186,022 6,118 13,111 1,004,082 18,895 4,363

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets (Continued)

Concentration risk for geographical sectors (Continued)

	Chinese			
As at 31 December 2022	Mainland	Hong Kong	Others	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	768,985	1,874	21,404	792,263
Due from and placements with banks and other financial				
institutions	423,549	109,971	156,901	690,421
Derivative financial assets	23,345	38,787	7,555	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,764,444	232,934	138,076	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	616,906	11,249	4,998	633,153
Debt investments at FVOCI	400,661	225,274	157,817	783,752
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,369,077	48,398	33,300	2,450,775
Other financial assets	24,569	5,456	5,930	35,955
Total	11,391,536	673,943	525,981	12,591,460
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,118,222	12,737	9,499	1,140,458
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,049,643	18,257	12,097	1,079,997
Total	2,167,865	30,994	21,596	2,220,455

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 December 2022	
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	2,226,422	27.98	1,999,175	27.40
Central China	1,290,880	16.22	1,196,075	16.40
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,288,078	16.19	1,137,282	15.59
Pearl River Delta	1,051,204	13.21	978,749	13.42
Western China	947,510	11.91	875,476	12.00
Head Office	528,330	6.64	481,741	6.60
North Eastern China	265,215	3.33	250,190	3.43
Overseas	359,446	4.52	376,277	5.16
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 46.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets (Continued)

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

954,586	<u>%</u>		%
· ·			
· ·			
	12.00	836,532	11.46
905,624	11.38	823,156	11.28
866,601	10.89	729,818	10.00
489,080	6.15	519,857	7.13
466,137	5.86	429,222	5.88
391,742	4.92	342,617	4.70
292,168	3.67	254,447	3.49
188,716	2.37	176,696	2.42
159,183	2.00	148,747	2.04
141,254	1.78	128,762	1.77
116,467	1.46	118,246	1.62
81,176	1.02	68,246	0.94
38,159	0.48	40,168	0.55
88,640	1.11	94,839	1.30
304,452	3.83	218,295	2.99
5,483,985	68.92	4,929,648	67.57
1,462,634	18.39	1,512,648	20.74
489,725	6.15	477,746	6.55
520,741	6.54	374,923	5.14
2,473,100	31.08	2,365,317	32.43
7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00
	489,080 466,137 391,742 292,168 188,716 159,183 141,254 116,467 81,176 38,159 88,640 304,452 5,483,985 1,462,634 489,725 520,741 2,473,100	866,601 10.89 489,080 6.15 466,137 5.86 391,742 4.92 292,168 3.67 188,716 2.37 159,183 2.00 141,254 1.78 116,467 1.46 81,176 1.02 38,159 0.48 88,640 1.11 304,452 3.83 5,483,985 68.92 1,462,634 18.39 489,725 6.15 520,741 6.54 2,473,100 31.08	866,601 10.89 729,818 489,080 6.15 519,857 466,137 5.86 429,222 391,742 4.92 342,617 292,168 3.67 254,447 188,716 2.37 176,696 159,183 2.00 148,747 141,254 1.78 128,762 116,467 1.46 118,246 81,176 1.02 68,246 38,159 0.48 40,168 88,640 1.11 94,839 304,452 3.83 218,295 5,483,985 68.92 4,929,648 1,462,634 18.39 1,512,648 489,725 6.15 477,746 520,741 6.54 374,923 2,473,100 31.08 2,365,317

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk

Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the former CBIRC, the Group's financial instrument positions are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the trading book. The banking book consists of all financial instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

(a) VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc.. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

		Year ended 31 December 2023				
Items	31 December 2023	Average	Maximum	Minimum		
VaR	199	390	681	196		
Including: Interest rate risk	184	338	572	171		
Foreign exchange risk	106	131	275	36		
	31 December	Year ended 31 December 2022 31 December				
Items	2022	Average	Maximum	Minimum		
VaR	631	565	771	298		
Including: Interest rate risk	558	570	790	282		
Foreign exchange risk	107	90	154	43		

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in net profit		
	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	11,574	10,860	
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(11,574)	(10,860)	

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Onlanges	Onlanges in Other		
	comprehensive income			
	As at	As at		
	31 December	31 December		
	2023	2022		
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(17,882)	(17,667)		
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	20,084	17,861		

Changes in other

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes.

The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

	Changes in net profit		
	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
5% appreciation of RMB	837	(327)	
5% depreciation of RMB	(837)	327	

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

		Changes in other comprehensive income		
	As at A			
	31 December	31 December		
	2023	2022		
5% appreciation of RMB	(3,481)	(1,138)		
5% depreciation of RMB	3,481	1,138		

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing risk due to maturity mismatching of asset and liability businesses, and basis risk due to inconsistent pricing benchmarks.

On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group pays high attention to the transition of interest rate benchmark and has established a task force to speed up the launch and implementation of interest rate benchmark reform project. As at 30 June 2023, all LIBOR priced products discontinued quoting. The Group steadily promoted the conversion work in strict accordance with the scheduled exit time of each LIBOR product to achieve a smooth transition between the old and new benchmark interest rates, and carries out related businesses in an orderly manner.

The Group has established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	884,284	_	_	_	_	13,738	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	434,995	148,731	232,858	36,844	17	6,197	859,642
Derivative financial assets	_	_	_	-	-	67,387	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	1,924,013	1,178,073	3,741,404	453,813	177,729	297,028	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	16,558	18,941	90,093	63,598	62,685	390,407	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	11,920	65,591	179,537	1,101,787	1,186,480	28,596	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	34,805	88,610	104,644	404,770	231,057	24,063	887,949
Other assets	1,161	_			_	358,058	359,219
Total assets	3,307,736	1,499,946	4,348,536	2,060,812	1,657,968	1,185,474	14,060,472
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,453,238)	(276,568)	(634,551)	(40,657)	(6,535)	(12,988)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(2,941)	(126)	(13,658)	(27,341)	-	(12,491)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(50,975)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(3,951,448)	(686,639)	(1,363,898)	(2,398,185)	(3)	(151,042)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(132,766)	(317,076)	(657,052)	(313,319)	(307,974)	(149,551)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	(5,540,393)	(1,280,409)	(2,669,159)	(2,779,502)	(314,512)	(377,047)	(12,961,022)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,232,657)	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	808,427	1,099,450
As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Non-interest bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	787,224	-	-	-	-	18,878	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	335,968	104,925	205,097	38,075	1,592	4,764	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	69,687	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	1,811,554	958,019	3,474,803	342,512	205,882	342,684	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	12,769	24,727	143,074	50,189	65,437	409,161	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	27,790	52,466	510,213	790,849	1,040,333	29,124	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	47,273	110,274	240,595	195,614	181,231	24,088	799,075
Other assets	495					334,205	334,700
Total assets	3,023,073	1,250,411	4,573,782	1,417,239	1,494,475	1,232,591	12,991,571
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(1,221,722)	(256,095)	(518,409)	(24,137)	(3,433)	(11,098)	(2,034,894)
' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '	(1,221,722) (3,009)	(256,095) (4,475)	(518,409) (4,068)	(24,137) (21,484)	(3,433)	(11,098) (14,913)	(2,034,894) (47,949)
other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL					(3,433)		
other financial institutions					(3,433) - - (19)	(14,913)	(47,949)
other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	(3,009)	(4,475)	(4,068)	(21,484)	-	(14,913) (46,804)	(47,949) (46,804)
other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers	(3,009) - (3,896,914)	(4,475) - (624,232)	(4,068) - (1,444,736)	(21,484) - (1,863,246)	- (19)	(14,913) (46,804) (119,925)	(47,949) (46,804) (7,949,072)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

As at 31 December 2023, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB7.0827 (31 December 2022: RMB6.9646) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.9062 (31 December 2022: RMB0.89327), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

As at 31 December 2023	RMB	USD (RMB Equivalent)	HKD (RMB Equivalent)	Others (RMB Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	863,157	16,398	2,583	15,884	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	523,097	264,554	33,678	38,313	859,642
Derivative financial assets	39,341	21,204	4,059	2,783	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	7,276,689	208,367	189,991	97,013	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	567,556	57,516	3,210	14,000	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,468,066	76,789	14,221	14,835	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	455,213	338,548	17,033	77,155	887,949
Other assets	158,175	184,010	6,402	10,632	359,219
Total assets	12,351,294	1,167,386	271,177	270,615	14,060,472
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(2,071,836)	(284,634)	(7,232)	(60,835)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(45,060)	(7,693)	(1,107)	(2,697)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	(36,367)	(6,239)	(5,342)	(3,027)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(7,870,593)	(373,200)	(253,858)	(53,564)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(1,645,750)	(183,905)	(23,108)	(24,975)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	(11,669,606)	(855,671)	(290,647)	(145,098)	(12,961,022)
Net position	681,688	311,715	(19,470)	125,517	1,099,450
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	2,055,142	135,069	13,899	28,481	2,232,591

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2022	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	761,360	24,466	3,029	17,247	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	355,917	284,404	30,206	19,894	690,421
Derivative financial assets	34,610	27,496	4,928	2,653	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,584,029	255,653	205,170	90,602	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	605,884	62,679	4,513	32,281	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,316,741	92,370	20,047	21,617	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	421,630	304,276	15,846	57,323	799,075
Other assets	154,748	166,603	6,089	7,260	334,700
Total assets	11,234,919	1,217,947	289,828	248,877	12,991,571
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(1,637,331)	(324,092)	(17,291)	(56,180)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(26,181)	(9,147)	(1,119)	(11,502)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	(32,994)	(7,062)	(5,292)	(1,456)	(46,804)
Deposits from customers	(7,191,205)	(431,120)	(272,029)	(54,718)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(1,667,539)	(178,479)	(10,258)	(23,054)	(1,879,330)
Total liabilities	(10,555,250)	(949,900)	(305,989)	(146,910)	(11,958,049)
Net position	679,669	268,047	(16,161)	101,967	1,033,522
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	2,043,649	133,379	14,386	29,041	2,220,455

(e) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

(3) Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group is not able to obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(a) Liquidity risk management

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc.;
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities;
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions;
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	Up to 1 month	1 – 3 months	3 - 12 months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets			-				700.0		
Cash and balances with central banks	_	695,143	202,550	_	329	_			898,022
Due from and placements with banks and		000,140	202,000		OLO				000,022
other financial institutions	_	_	70,228	337,245	132,864	244,157	78,396	20,173	883,063
Loans and advances to customers	76,918	_	· -	536,179	526,757	2,005,894	2,627,952	3,681,800	9,455,500
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,695	51,696	117,071	102,928	68,783	668,798
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	14,630	74,810	250,806	1,351,540	1,350,430	3,043,219
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	19,138	47,199	143,138	519,908	285,228	1,029,367
Other financial assets	2,003	-	36,991	-	-	-	-	-	38,994
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	80,086	780,297	551,834	922,887	833,655	2,761,066	4,680,724	5,406,414	16,016,963
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(906,104)	(544,729)	(265,996)	(649,323)	(66,668)	(17,997)	(2,450,817)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,562)	(14,672)	(29,191)	-	(58,700)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,192,693)	(886,873)	(701,788)	(1,406,736)	(2,522,115)	(3)	(8,710,208)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(116,088)	(293,059)	(615,261)	(15,678)	(455)	(1,040,541)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(4,264)	(20,884)	(76,961)	(321,073)	(263,540)	(686,722)
Other financial liabilities	-	-	(79,863)	(2,308)	(533)	(2,362)	(5,449)	(6,014)	(96,529)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		(577)	(4,189,665)	(1,555,955)	(1,283,822)	(2,765,315)	(2,960,174)	(288,009)	(13,043,517)
Net position	80,086	779,720	(3,637,831)	(633,068)	(450,167)	(4,249)	1,720,550	5,118,405	2,973,446

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	135,461	167,626	94,515	217,059	78,603	15,386	708,650
Loans and advances to customers	52,307	-	-	541,086	375,055	1,915,727	2,323,574	3,995,721	9,203,470
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,734	45,012	189,021	73,448	76,065	731,540
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	28,653	56,763	652,487	931,575	1,223,543	2,893,820
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	11,022	41,574	340,732	271,680	215,671	896,479
Other financial assets	2,054	-	41,394						43,448
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	55,913	758,200	576,725	759,121	613,258	3,315,026	3,678,880	5,526,386	15,283,509
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(812,999)	(391,858)	(246,329)	(538,680)	(46,374)	(13,610)	(2,049,850)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,901)	(3,928)	(6,209)	(5,338)	(23,437)	-	(49,813)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,119,909)	(869,509)	(629,734)	(1,460,728)	(1,923,273)	(20)	(8,003,173)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(97,197)	(241,229)	(753,631)	(14,860)	(234)	(1,107,151)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(16,125)	(10,346)	(123,394)	(234,952)	(227,919)	(612,736)
Other financial liabilities		-	(98,112)	(2,461)	(701)	(2,057)	(5,168)	(21,217)	(129,716)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)	_	_	(4,041,921)	(1,381,078)	(1,134,548)	(2,883,828)	(2,248,064)	(263,000)	(11,952,439)
Net position	55,913	758,200	(3,465,196)	(621,957)	(521,290)	431,198	1,430,816	5,263,386	3,331,070

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity contracts 	6	11	8	14		39
Interest rate contracts and others	932	2,688	9,242	20,428	2,915	36,205
Total	938	2,699	9,250	20,442	2,915	36,244
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	(6)	(19)	(78)	(60)	-	(163)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(484)	(1,588)	(5,236)	(10,488)	(1,473)	(19,269)
Total	(490)	(1,607)	(5,314)	(10,548)	(1,473)	(19,432)
	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over 5	
As at 31 December 2022	1 month	months	months	years	years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	42	2	6	1	-	51
- Interest rate contracts and others	1,078	2,057	7,949	22,168	4,691	37,943
Total	1,120	2,059	7,955	22,169	4,691	37,994
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	(111)	(4)	(57)	_	_	(172)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(525)	(1,136)	(3,976)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,450)
Total	(636)	(1,140)	(4,033)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,622)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments settled on - Cash inflow - Cash outflow	1,135,990 (1,135,816)	1,077,307 (1,075,969)	1,980,490 (1,981,905)	144,136 (144,536)	11,585 (11,553)	4,349,508 (4,349,779)
Total	174	1,338	(1,415)	(400)	32	(271)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments settled on						
Cash inflow	923,004	899,228	1,213,145	141,467	11,248	3,188,092
- Cash outflow	(924,062)	(898,343)	(1,211,701)	(141,797)	(11,106)	(3,187,009)
Total	(1,058)	885	1,444	(330)	142	1,083

(d) Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

A I 04 D	0	H. J. J. J.	O. D	Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	T . (1)
As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	695,143	202,550	-	329	-	-	-	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	70,015	336,651	131,534	238,325	70,169	12,948	859,642
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,916	14,014	16,290	17,992	11,175	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	46,696	-	-	518,606	485,650	1,847,322	2,117,921	2,755,865	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,357	51,042	111,629	88,343	63,286	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	13,927	69,928	194,362	1,107,467	1,187,224	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	18,815	45,034	124,703	449,115	235,526	887,949
Other assets	2,003	247,290	69,547			4,165	36,214		359,219
Total assets	49,864	1,027,587	584,177	911,272	797,531	2,536,796	3,887,221	4,266,024	14,060,472
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(906,104)	(544,069)	(264,549)	(637,782)	(59,622)	(12,411)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,561)	(14,379)	(27,342)	-	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(7,795)	(12,030)	(18,144)	(10,465)	(2,541)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,191,422)	(878,497)	(687,874)	(1,370,261)	(2,423,158)	(3)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities			(92,833)	(138,310)	(329,373)	(676,462)	(329,228)	(311,532)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	_	(577)	(4,201,364)	(1,570,364)	(1,295,387)	(2,717,028)	(2,849,815)	(326,487)	(12,961,022)
Net amount on liquidity gap	49,864	1,027,010	(3,617,187)	(659,092)	(497,856)	(180,232)	1,037,406	3,939,537	1,099,450

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d) Maturity analysis (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	135,359	167,125	93,769	212,200	70,862	11,106	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,404	11,392	14,522	21,553	14,816	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	31,901	-	-	523,562	339,907	1,762,551	1,822,050	2,655,483	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,301	43,907	178,534	66,400	68,955	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	25,067	46,691	523,131	804,463	1,050,624	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	9,069	38,363	306,910	243,875	185,058	799,075
Other assets	2,054	223,001	70,133			1,908	37,604		334,700
Total assets	35,507	981,201	605,362	742,528	574,368	2,999,756	3,066,807	3,986,042	12,991,571
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(812,938)	(391,535)	(245, 168)	(530,014)	(44,293)	(10,946)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,866)	(3,923)	(6,196)	(5,257)	(21,707)	-	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(8,133)	(10,589)	(13,964)	(10,858)	(3,260)	(46,804)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,118,072)	(869,185)	(628,192)	(1,452,998)	(1,880,606)	(19)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities		-	(110,657)	(131,467)	(266,303)	(865,454)	(233,651)	(271,798)	(1,879,330)
Total liabilities		_	(4,052,533)	(1,404,243)	(1,156,448)	(2,867,687)	(2,191,115)	(286,023)	(11,958,049)
Net amount on liquidity gap	35,507	981,201	(3,447,171)	(661,715)	(582,080)	132,069	875,692	3,700,019	1,033,522

(e) Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc.. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	953,626 980,707	31,706 215,611	42,008 8,933	1,027,340 1,205,251
Total	1,934,333	247,317	50,941	2,232,591
As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,011,599	36,001	32,397	1,079,997
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	962,440	175,396	2,622	1,140,458
Total	1,974,039	211,397	35,019	2,220,455

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value. The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing a sound system of internal control over valuation and is ultimately responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control and for reviewing and approving the policy for fair value accounting valuation of financial instruments. The Group has constructed an institutional approach and internal mechanism related to fair value valuation, which specifies valuation techniques, parameter selection and information disclosure, as well as the corresponding division of responsibilities.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- (i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- (ii) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- (iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities and certificates of deposit without quotations from active market, unimpaired loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals and debt securities issued. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the yield curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method and Black-Scholes model. The fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include recent market prices, the relevant yield curve, exchange rates and counterparty's credit spread. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant yield curve, exchange rate, level of volatilities and counterparty's credit spread, etc.. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, impaired loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, restricted stock units, unlisted equities, unlisted funds and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments are determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, the valuation methods used were mainly the discounted cash flow method and the market comparable companies method, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as interest's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts. The Group has established internal control procedures to monitor the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and deposits from customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 Decem	ber 2022
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,573,911	2,635,222	2,450,775	2,484,041
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	(566,611)	(569,680)	(516,353)	(514,389)
Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not med As at 31 December 2023	asured at fair value Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	4,282	2,573,820	57,120	2,635,222
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued		(569,680)		(569,680)
As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	64,532	2,346,708	72,801	2,484,041
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	_	(514,389)	-	(514,389)

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, deposits from customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	13,035	-	13,035
Debt securities	1,187	223,348	2,707	227,242
Fund and asset management products	105,771	49,082	26,058	180,911
Equity investments and other investments	4,686	870	68,214	73,770
Precious metal contracts	-	4,524	-	4,524
Other debt investments	-	155,835	-	155,835
Derivative financial instruments	-	66,362	1,025	67,387
Loans and advances to customers		19	<u> </u>	19
Subtotal	111,644	513,075	98,004	722,723
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	2,523	868,192	2,551	873,266
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	8,544	-	6,139	14,683
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		398,460	19	398,479
Subtotal	11,067	1,266,652	8,709	1,286,428
Total assets	122,711	1,779,727	106,713	2,009,151
As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Placements from banks and other financial institutions	-	(11,464)	-	(11,464)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(6)	(56,015)	(536)	(56,557)
Derivative financial instruments	-	(50,975)	-	(50,975)
Debt securities issued		(25,564)	-	(25,564)
Total liabilities	(6)	(144,018)	(536)	(144,560)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	6,585	243,646	2,722	252,953
Fund and asset management products	154,825	32,506	21,849	209,180
Equity investments and other investments	5,725	4,164	62,315	72,204
Precious metal contracts	-	24,557	-	24,557
Other debt investments	-	146,463	-	146,463
Derivative financial instruments	-	68,509	1,178	69,687
Loans and advances to customers		27		27
Subtotal	167,135	519,872	88,064	775,071
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	145,987	636,929	836	783,752
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	7,929	1,603	5,791	15,323
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		322,429	36	322,465
Subtotal	153,916	960,961	6,663	1,121,540
Total assets	321,051	1,480,833	94,727	1,896,611
As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(47,949)	_	(47,949)
Derivative financial instruments	-	(46,804)	-	(46,804)
Debt securities issued		(14,508)	_	(14,508)
Total liabilities	_	(109,261)	_	(109,261)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis have no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

Reconciliation of Level 3 items

	Financial assets at FVTPL	Financial assets at FVOCI	Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Balance at 1 January 2023	88,064	6,663	
Total gains or losses			
- Net gains arising from trading activities	586	78	_
- Other comprehensive income	_	316	_
Additions	31,051	2,209	(536)
Disposals and settlement	(21,697)	(565)	_
Transfer from other levels	-	8	-
Balance at 31 December 2023	98,004	8,709	(536)
Total gains generated by financial assets held by the Group as at			
31 December 2023			
- Realised gains	3,411	75	_
- Unrealised gains	579	406	-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items (Continued)

	Financial assets	Financial assets
	at FVTPL	at FVOCI
Balance at 1 January 2022	71,376	7,575
Total gains or losses		
 Net gains arising from trading activities 	1,278	787
- Other comprehensive income	-	(2,275)
Additions	18,657	634
Disposals and settlement	(3,369)	(85)
Transfer from other levels	122	27
Balance at 31 December 2022	88,064	6,663
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets held by the Group as at		
31 December 2022		
- Realised gains	2,384	785
- Unrealised losses	(1,106)	(2,273)

(5) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

(6) Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The Group management adopts administrative measures issued by the former CBIRC, which was developed based on guideline issued by the Basel Committee, in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of regulatory capital on a quarterly basis. The quarterly monitored information is then submitted to China's National Financial Regulatory Administration (the "NFRA").

The Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for Trial Implementation) specified the regulatory requirements for minimum capital, capital conservation buffer, additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks, countercyclical buffer and Pillar II capital as follows:

- Minimum regulatory requirements for common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio are 5%, 6% and 8%, respectively;
- Capital conservation buffer requires additional 2.5% on common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks requires additional 0.75% on common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Should the regulators require countercyclical buffer under particular circumstances or regulators impose additional Pillar II capital requirements, these requirements shall be met within the specified time limits.

The Group's capital as monitored by its Planning and Finance Department consists of the following:

- Common equity tier-1 capital, including ordinary shares, eligible portion of capital surplus, statutory reserve, discretionary reserve, statutory general reserve, retained earnings, eligible portion of noncontrolling interests and others;
- Additional tier-1 capital, including Additional tier-1 capital instruments issued and related premium and eligible portion of non-controlling interests;
- Tier-2 capital, including tier-2 capital instruments issued and related premium, excess loan loss provisions and eligible portion of non-controlling interests.

The Group's deductible items from common equity tier-1 capital include: Goodwill, other intangible assets (except land use rights), investments in common equity tier-1 capital of financial institutions with controlling interests but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

In 2014, the former CBIRC officially approved the implementation of the advanced approach of capital management, and the Group has steadily promoted the implementation and deepened application of advanced methods in accordance with regulatory requirements. The Group expanded the implementation scope of advanced methods and ended the transition period with the approval of the former CBIRC in 2018. According to the implementation scope of the advanced methods of capital management approved by the former CBIRC, the Group elected to use internal rating based ("IRB") approach for credit risk exposures, internal model approach for market risk exposures and standardised approach for operational risk exposures which is compliant with regulatory requirements. For credit risk exposures not covered by IRB, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the weighted approach. For market risk exposures not covered by internal model approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the standardised approach. For operational risk exposures not covered by standardised approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by basic indicator approach.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The capital ratios calculated based on Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for Trial Implementation) are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
Items	2023	2022
Common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	10.23	10.06
Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	12.22	12.18
Capital adequacy ratio (%)	15.27	14.97
Common equity tier-1 capital	912,456	847,105
Common equity tier-1 capital deductions	(7,062)	(6,941)
Net common equity tier-1 capital	905,394	840,164
Additional tier-1 capital	176,289	176,480
Net tier-1 capital	1,081,683	1,016,644
Tier-2 capital	269,433	233,673
Net capital	1,351,116	1,250,317
Risk-weighted assets	8,850,786	8,350,074

4 NET INTEREST INCOME

	2023	2022
Interest income		
Loans and advances to customers	306,150	291,850
Financial investments	111,647	97,311
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	29,671	17,886
Balances with central banks	12,393	11,020
Subtotal	459,861	418,067
Interest expense		
Deposits from customers	(192,982)	(163,457)
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(55,150)	(44,696)
Certificates of deposit issued	(31,211)	(24,225)
Debt securities issued	(16,395)	(15,807)
Subtotal	(295,738)	(248,185)
Net interest income	164,123	169,882

5 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

	2023	2022
Bank cards business	18,762	19,141
Custody and other fiduciary business	8,004	7,496
Wealth management business	7,808	10,154
Agency services	5,274	4,980
Guarantee and commitment	3,201	2,884
Investment banking	2,521	3,093
Settlement services	1,375	1,364
Others	203	227
Total	47,148	49,339

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

	2023	2022
Bank card business	2,341	2,454
Settlement and agency services	1,551	1,649
Others	252	381
Total	4,144	4,484

7 NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

	2023	2022
Financial instruments at FVTPL	18,512	5,808
Interest rate instruments and others	7,799	6,062
Foreign exchange	(3,087)	5,737
Total	23,224	17,607

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

Net gains arising from trading activities for the year ended 31 December 2023 included a net loss of RMB57 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: a net gain of RMB274 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

	2023	2022
Leasing income	19,478	14,969
Insurance business income	1,902	1,712
Net gains on the disposal of fixed and foreclosed assets	793	739
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	681	1,953
Revaluation of investment properties	(176)	166
Other miscellaneous income	3,902	4,677
Total	26,580	24,216

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

9 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2023	2022
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	54,211	57,066
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,502	(1,333)
Debt investments at FVOCI	1,027	598
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	733	840
Financial investments at amortised cost	45	(198)
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	(2,269)	2,358
Others	1,659	1,080
Total	56,908	60,411

10 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2023	2022
Operating lease assets	1,007	1,882
Foreclosed assets	61	8
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2	-
Assets to be disposed	(1)	-
Precious metal	(7)	7
Total	1,062	1,897

11 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

	2023	2022
Staff costs and benefits (Note 12)	41,092	39,314
General operating and administrative expenses	26,750	28,187
Costs of operating lease business	13,803	9,879
Depreciation and amortisation	9,527	8,650
Insurance business expense	4,429	4,615
Tax and surcharges	3,172	3,119
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigations	(14)	56
Others	1,587	3,103
Total	100,346	96,923

12 STAFF COSTS

	Note	2023	2022
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies		27,797	26,918
Post-employment benefit	(1)	4,797	4,326
Other social security and benefit costs		8,498	8,070
Total		41,092	39,314

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by municipal and provincial governments in Chinese Mainland, under which it is required to make monthly contributions to these plans based on certain percentage of the employees' basic salary for the year. The Group's contributions to these pension plans are charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

Employees who retire at or after 1 January 2009 can voluntarily participate in an Annuity Plan. The Bank contributes to the Annuity Plan based on certain percentage of the employees' gross salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 December 2023, there are no forfeited contributions under the Group's retirement benefit plans which can be used to deduct contributions payable for future years.

The amount recognised in profit or loss in the year is as follows:

	2023	2022
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	2,971	2,674
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	1,805	1,626
Total	4,776	4,300

The amount payable at the end of the year is as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Payable for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	84	85
Payable for annuity plan	41	41
Total	125	126

Defined benefit plans

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees in Chinese Mainland, who retired at or before 31 December 2008. The Group's obligations in respect of supplementary retirement benefits are calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that the Group is committed to pay to the employees after their retirement using actuarial techniques. Such benefits, which are estimated by using key parameters such as inflation rate and mortality ratio, are discounted to their present values. The discount rate is the yield on government bonds at the end of reporting date, the maturity dates of which approximate to the terms of the Group's obligations. Actuarial gains or losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income, and amendments to pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of unfunded obligations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Chinese Mainland are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Statement of financial position		
Net obligations for pension benefits	331	396

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	2023	2022
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	21	26
Components of defined benefit (gains)/costs recognised in other comprehensive income	(33)	34
Total	(12)	60

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

Movements in the unfunded obligations over the year are as follows:

	2023	2022
Present value of unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year	396	385
Retirement benefits paid during the year	(53)	(49)
Interest expense	18	22
Past service cost	3	4
Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in the current year	(33)	34
Present value of unfunded obligations at the end of the year	331	396

The average duration of the supplementary retirement benefits plan at 31 December 2023 is 10.78 years (31 December 2022: 11.43 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of RMB37 million (2022: RMB39 million) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

The supplementary retirement benefits plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest risk, longevity risk and inflation risk. A decrease in the government bond yield will increase the present value of unfunded obligations. The present value of unfunded obligations is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability. The present value of unfunded obligations is also measured by future payment standards, which are determined by inflation rate. Hence, an increase in inflation rate will increase the present value of the unfunded obligations.

The principal actuarial assumptions regarding interest risk and inflation risk used by the Group are discount rate and inflation rate, which were 2.70% (31 December 2022: 2.99%) and 0.42% (31 December 2022: 1.99%) respectively as at 31 December 2023. In the meantime, assumptions regarding future mortality rate are set based on published statistics by the former CBIRC. An average longevity of a pensioner after retirement at age 60 for male is 23.13 years (31 December 2022: 23.13 years) while a pensioner after retirement at age 55 for female is 33.13 years (31 December 2022: 33.13 years).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

(1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2023			Year ended 31 December 2023
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors	<u> </u>			
Mr. Ren, Degi	_	673	267	940
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	673	255	928
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chan, Siu Chung	-	-	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	-	-	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	-	-	-	_
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	-	_	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	310	_	_	310
Mr. Wong Tin Chak	78	-	-	78
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	673	255	928
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	-	_
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	280	-	280
Mr. Su, Zhi	-	260	-	260
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	-	1,040	250	1,290
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	-	1,040	250	1,290
Ms. Feng, Bing	-	816	250	1,066
Ms. Po, Ying	-	1,034	256	1,290
Total	1,028	6,769	1,783	9,580
(in thousands of RMB)		Veer ended 31	December 2023	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	232	_	_	232
Total	232	_	-	232

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

(1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation (Continued)

(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 D	ecember 2022	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	656	248	904
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	656	234	890
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	_	_	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	-	_	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	-	_	-	-
Mr. Chan, Siu Chung	-	_	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	_	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	_	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	_	-	-
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	_	_	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	_	_	_	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	_	_	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	112	-	-	112
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	656	234	890
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	_	-	-
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	267	-	267
Mr. Su, Zhi	_	132	-	132
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	_	1,010	239	1,249
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Po, Ying		1,010	240	1,250
Total	1,062	6,327	1,673	9,062
(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 D	ecember 2022	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Song, Hongjun	_	_	_	_
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	_	_	_	_
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	155	_	_	155
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	_	_	_	_
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	_	_	_	_
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	_	128	_	128
Total	155	128	-	283

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

- (1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation (Continued)
- (a) The total compensation package for directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2023 has not yet been finalised in accordance with regulations of the PRC relevant authorities. The amount of the compensation not provided for is not expected to have significant impact to the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The final compensation will be disclosed in a separate announcement when determined. The final total compensation for the year ended 31 December 2022 was disclosed in the Information on the First Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in 2024 issued on 28 February 2024.
- (b) Employee supervisors Mr. Guan Xingshe, Ms. Lin Zhihong, Ms. Feng Bing and Ms. Po Ying received compensation according to their positions as employees of the Bank and did not receive additional compensation as employee supervisors.
- (c) During 2023 and 2022, there was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
- (d) Other benefits include social insurance, housing allowances, enterprise annuity paid by the Bank.

(2) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the related years are as follows:

	2023	2022
Salary	35	25
Discretionary bonuses	58	64
Employer's contribution to pension scheme and other benefits	13	7
Total	106	96

Emoluments of the above five highest paid individuals in the Group are within the following bands:

	2023	2022
CNY16,000,001 – 16,500,000	_	1
CNY16,500,001 - 17,000,000	_	1
CNY17,000,001 - 17,500,000	-	_
CNY17,500,001 - 18,000,000	-	-
CNY18,000,001 - 18,500,000	-	-
CNY18,500,001 - 19,000,000	-	-
CNY19,000,001 - 19,500,000	-	-
CNY19,500,001 - 20,000,000	-	1
CNY20,000,001 - 20,500,000	1	-
CNY20,500,001 - 21,000,000	1	1
CNY21,000,001 - 21,500,000	1	-
CNY21,500,001 - 22,000,000	1	-
CNY22,000,001 - 22,500,000	-	-
CNY22,500,001 - 23,000,000	-	-
CNY23,000,001 - 23,500,000	1	1
Total	5	5

During 2023 and 2022, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 INCOME TAX

	2023	2022
Current income tax		
- Enterprise income tax	5,604	9,919
- Hong Kong profits tax	802	464
- Other countries or regions	929	715
Subtotal	7,335	11,098
Deferred income tax (Note 24)	(889)	(4,938)
Total	6,446	6,160

The provision for enterprise income tax in Chinese Mainland is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Chinese Mainland. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Chinese Mainland shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25%. The major reconciliation items are as follows:

	Note	2023	2022
Profit before tax		99,698	98,115
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%		24,924	24,529
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in other countries or regions		(73)	122
Effects of non-deductible expenses	(1)	6,554	4,356
Effects of non-taxable income	(2)	(23,746)	(20,982)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years		163	(487)
Others		(1,376)	(1,378)
Income tax		6,446	6,160

- (1) Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs.
- (2) Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds and fund investment income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

	2023	2022
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company	92,728	92,102
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,832)	(1,832)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(5,641)	(5,651)
Net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company	85,255	84,619
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions)		
at the end of the year	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	1.15	1.14

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,832 million on preference shares and interests of RMB5,641 million on perpetual bond declared for the year was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the parent company. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the year ended 31 December 2023, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

16 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Cash	12,477	13,839
Mandatory reserve deposits	694,211	683,401
Surplus reserve deposits	190,073	103,823
Fiscal deposits	932	4,700
Accrued interest	329	339
Total	898,022	806,102

The Group is required to place statutory reserves with the PBOC and overseas central banks, including RMB and foreign currency deposit reserves and foreign exchange risk reserves for forward foreign exchange sales businesses, which are not allowed to be used in the Group's daily operations.

Surplus reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	74,753	120,905
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	34,045	34,371
Accrued interest	425	368
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(267)	(209)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
- Securities	200,438	49,715
– Bills	499	6,995
Accrued interest	56	11
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(602)	(88)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	107,522	80,566
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	115,803	126,829
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Chinese Mainland	257,638	196,730
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Chinese Mainland	65,272	70,572
Accrued interest	5,740	4,393
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1,680)	(737)
Total	859,642	690,421

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, due from banks and other financial institutions of the Group included pledged deposits, risk reserves and other deposits. The use of these deposits is restricted.

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which changes in response to the changes in a specified foreign exchange rate, interest rate, commodity price or other similar variables. The Group utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or hedging purposes, including forwards, swaps and options.

The notional amount of a derivative represents the underlying amount of the specific financial instruments mentioned above. It indicates the volume of business transacted by the Group but does not reflect the risk

The notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments held by the Group are set out below:

	Contractual/ notional			
As at 31 December 2023	amount	ount Fair values		
		Assets	Liabilities	
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	4,455,867	38,859	(39,293)	
Interest rate contracts and others	3,451,974	28,528	(11,682)	
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,907,841	67,387	(50,975)	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

	Contractual/		
	notional		
As at 31 December 2022	amount	Fair value	es
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,406,796	34,499	(34,648)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,076,875	35,188	(12,156)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	6,483,671	69,687	(46,804)

(1) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

The gain and loss arising from the ineffective portion recognized in net trading gains were immaterial in 2023 and 2022.

	As at 31 December 2023			As at 31 December 2022			
	Contractual/			Contractual/			
	notional	Fair va	alues	notional Fair values		Line items in the statement	
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position
Interest rate contract	230,540	12,002	(898)	177,797	15,934	(20)	Derivative financial assets/liabilities

(a) The changes in fair value of the hedging instruments and net gains or losses arising from the hedged risk relating to the hedged items are set out below:

	2023	2022
Net losses from fair value hedges:		
Hedging instruments	(4,669)	15,231
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	4,565	(15,553)
Total	(104)	(322)

(b) The following table shows the fair value hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1 –3	3 –12	1 –5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2023	1,279	7,715	14,762	132,865	73,919	230,540
As at 31 December 2022	1,252	2,457	10,686	100,884	62,518	177,797

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

- (1) Fair value hedge (Continued)
- (c) Details of the Group's hedged items in fair value hedges are as follows:

			As at 31 Decei		
	Accumulated adjustments Carrying amount of hedged items to the fair value of hedged item				
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	204,123	-	(10,967)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	17,042	(884)	(10)	2	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers/Debt securities issued
Total	221,165	(884)	(10,977)	2	_
	As at 31 December 2022 Accumulated adjustments Carrying amount of hedged items to the fair value of hedged item				
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	163,017	- '	(15,916)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	1,791	-	(111)	-	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers
Total	164,808	-	(16,027)	-	

(2) Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers, debt investments at FVOCI, debt securities issued, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, certificates of deposits issued and other assets. The Group mainly uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Gains and losses arising from the portion of hedge ineffectiveness recognised in cash flow hedges were not material in 2023 and 2022.

	As at 31 December 2023			As a	at 31 December 2		
	Contractual/			Contractual/			
	notional	Fair v	alues	notional	Fair v	alues	Line items in the statement
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position
Foreign exchange contract	148,892	1,225	(2,103)	54,918	1,068	(1,201)	Derivative financial assets/ liabilities
Interest rate contract	22,063	603	(22)	20,965	975	(1)	Derivative financial assets/
Total	170,955	1,828	(2,125)	75,883	2,043	(1,202)	

(a) The following table shows the cash flow hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1 –3	3 –12	1 –5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2023	13,911	43,152	78,265	32,117	3,510	170,955
As at 31 December 2022	5,874	13,719	26,589	22,997	6,704	75,883

(b) Information on the Group's risk exposures in cash flow hedges and the impact on equity and profit or loss is as follows:

2023

	hedged items				Hedging instruments	
			Fair value changes on hedging instruments recognised in	Reclassifications from the cash		
			Other comprehensive	flow hedge reserve to profit	Line item in the statement of profit or loss	cash flow hedge
	Assets	Liabilities	income	or loss	including reclassifications	reserve
Foreign risk	34,461	(107,383)	440	(85)	Net gains arising from trading activities	(350)
Interest risk	1,422	(20,662)	385	18	Net gains arising from trading activities	266
Total	35,883	(128,045)	825	(67)		(84)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

2022

	hedged it	ems			Hedging instruments	
			Fair value changes			
			on hedging			
			instruments	Reclassifications		
			recognised in	from the cash		
			Other	flow hedge		
			comprehensive	reserve to profit	Line item in the statement of profit or loss	cash flow
	Assets	Liabilities	income	or loss	including reclassifications	hedge reserve
Foreign risk	29,479	(52,009)	(1,414)	1,606	Net gains arising from trading activities	(7)
Interest risk	2,618	(16,481)	(1,150)		None	(686)
Total	32,097	(68,490)	(2,564)	1,606		(693)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) Loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	7,558,587	6,972,473
- Carried at FVOCI	398,479	322,465
- Carried at FVTPL	19	27
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(203,775)	(176,178)
Accrued interest	21,380	18,575
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(2,630)	(1,908)
Total	7,772,060	7,135,454

(2) Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Unsecured loans	2,883,274	2,461,988
Guaranteed loans	1,288,963	1,179,381
Loans secured by collateral	2,904,861	2,579,866
Pledged loans	879,987	1,073,730
Total	7,957,085	7,294,965

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:

	Fo	or the year ended 3	31 December 2023			
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2023	68,795	45,385	61,998	176,178		
Transfers:						
Transfer to Stage 1	6,721	(5,464)	(1,257)	-		
Transfer to Stage 2	(3,045)	7,082	(4,037)	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	(598)	(12,526)	13,124	_		
Provision	8,735	20,655	24,014	53,404		
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(31,046)	(31,046)		
Recovery of loans and advances written off						
in previous years	-	-	5,662	5,662		
Others	64	208	(695)	(423)		
As at 31 December 2023	80,672	55,340	67,763	203,775		
	For the year ended 31 December 2022					
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3			
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2022	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089		
Transfers:						
Transfer to Stage 1	3,904	(3,553)	(351)	-		
Transfer to Stage 2	(5,520)	7,051	(1,531)	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	(261)	(13,341)	13,602	_		

13,044

225

68,795

15,867

469

45,385

28,351

(46, 242)

5,146

61,998

(771)

57,262

(46, 242)

5,146

176,178

(77)

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023			
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2023 Transfers:	1,522	240	79	1,841
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	-
Transfer to Stage 2	-	-	-	-
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	-	-
Provision/(reversal)	759	(49)	23	733
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(53)	(53)
Recovery of loans and advances written off				
in previous years	-	-	17	17
Others		_	(4)	(4)
As at 31 December 2023	2,281	191	62	2,534

Provision

Others

Written-offs and disposals

As at 31 December 2022

in previous years

Recovery of loans and advances written off

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance (Continued)

		For the year ended (31 December 2022	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2022	937	48	88	1,073
Transfers:				
Transfer to Stage 1	-	-	-	-
Transfer to Stage 2	-	-	-	-
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(22)	23	-
Provision	586	214	40	840
Written off in previous years	-	-	(71)	(71)
Others			(1)	(1)
As at 31 December 2022	1,522	240	79	1,841

(4) Overdue loans analysed by security type

Ac at 21	Dogom	her 2023

	Overdue within three months	Overdue between three months and one year	Overdue between one year and three years	Overdue over three years	Total
Unsecured loans	22,164	9,447	6,363	135	38,109
Guaranteed loans	2,851	9,326	7,081	1,549	20,807
Loans secured by collateral	14,614	12,731	8,898	4,618	40,861
Pledged loans	2,098	3,423	4,478	345	10,344
Total	41,727	34,927	26,820	6,647	110,121

As at 31 December 202	2

		Overdue	Overdue		
		between three	between one		
	Overdue within	months and	year and	Overdue over	
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	12,049	10,165	5,279	100	27,593
Guaranteed loans	2,626	8,632	3,532	1,315	16,105
Loans secured by collateral	11,399	9,193	8,867	2,584	32,043
Pledged loans	1,663	5,490	1,405	529	9,087
Total	27,737	33,480	19,083	4,528	84,828

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Financial investments at FVTPL		
- Listed in Hong Kong	33,898	72,510
- Listed outside Hong Kong	189,509	210,783
- Unlisted	418,875	422,064
Total	642,282	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost		
- Listed in Hong Kong	22,977	27,336
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	2,433,583	2,265,215
- Unlisted	93,268	132,584
Accrued interest	27,721	28,404
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(3,638)	(2,764)
Total	2,573,911	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI		
Debt investments at FVOCI		
 Listed in Hong Kong 	68,428	157,408
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	710,140	536,770
- Unlisted	85,366	81,242
Accrued interest	9,332	8,332
Subtotal	873,266	783,752
Equity investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	3,765	5,600
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	4,827	3,932
- Unlisted	6,091	5,791
Subtotal	14,683	15,323
Total	887,949	799,075

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in Listed outside Hong Kong.

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the SPPI test.

The Group designates part of non-trading equity investments as financial investments measured at FVOCI.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB652 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB785 million). For the year ended 31 December 2023, The Group's cumulative gain transferred from other comprehensive income to unappropriated profits as a result of the disposal of such equity investments amounted to RMB130 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB101 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Financial investments at FVTPL		
- Governments and central banks	107,622	102,349
- Banks and other financial institutions	81,756	80,601
- Corporate entities	37,823	69,443
- Public sector entities	41	560
Total	227,242	252,953
Financial investments at amortised cost		
- Governments and central banks	2,325,862	2,148,425
- Banks and other financial institutions	130,444	164,060
- Corporate entities	44,057	44,734
- Public sector entities	17,768	22,708
Total	2,518,131	2,379,927
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Governments and central banks	403,116	375,231
- Banks and other financial institutions	336,966	294,348
- Corporate entities	115,340	99,511
- Public sector entities	17,844	14,662
Total	873,266	783,752

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023							
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total				
As at 31 December 2022 Changes in accounting policies	1,547	260	957	2,764 (8)				
As at 1 January 2023 Transfers:	1,539	260	957	2,756				
Transfer to Stage 1	-	_	_	_				
Transfer to Stage 2	(6)	6	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	-	(6)	6	_				
Provision/(reversal)	127	229	(311)	45				
Others	2	508	327	837				
As at 31 December 2023	1,662	997	979	3,638				

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total As at 1 January 2022 371 892 2,958 1,695 Transfers: Transfer to Stage 1 126 (126)Transfer to Stage 2 (2) 2 Transfer to Stage 3 (Reversal)/provision (274)12 64 (198)Others 2 1 1 4 As at 31 December 2022 1,547 260 957 2,764

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023							
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3					
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total				
As at 31 December 2022	628	13	890	1,531				
Changes in accounting policies	8			8				
As at 1 January 2023	636	13	890	1,539				
Transfers:								
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	-	-				
Transfer to Stage 2	<i>(3)</i>	3	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(5)	6	-				
Provision	451	22	554	1,027				
Write-offs during the year	-	-	(362)	(362)				
Others	11	(10)	226	227				
As at 31 December 2023	1,094	23	1,314	2,431				
	F	For the year ended 31 December 2022						
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3					
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total				
As at 1 January 2022	555	10	456	1,021				
Transfers:								
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	-	-				
Transfer to Stage 2	(3)	3	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(20)	21	_				
Provision	1	24	573	598				
Others	76	(4)	(160)	(88)				

628

13

890

1,531

As at 31 December 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proport shares Direct		Means of acquisition
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Xu Bin	RMB20,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Zhang Hongliang	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Wang Qingyan	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Chen Wei	RMB15,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment
BoCom International Holdings Company Limited	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment
China BoCom Insurance Co., Ltd.	Zhu Junxian	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment
Dayi BoCom Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Liu Yike	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	Sichuan, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment
Zhejiang Anji BoCom Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Zhejiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Xinjiang Shihezi BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Fang Linhai	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Xinjiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Qingdao Laoshan BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Shandong, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Meng yu	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.	Sun Xu Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL700,000,000 n BRL469,300,389	Foreign legal entity Foreign legal entity	Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Rio de Janeiro, Brazil		Non-financial industry Financial industry	Investment Commercial banking	100.00	80.00	Establishment Investment

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

22 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	6,474	6,474
Share of net profit of associates	2,204	1,866
Share of other equity changes of associates	103	114
Dividend income	(372)	(283)
Allowance for impairment losses	(2)	_
Subtotal	8,407	8,171
Investments in joint ventures	583	579
Total	8,990	8,750

The Group performed impairment tests on investments in associates and joint ventures. The recoverable amount of the associates and joint ventures is determined based on the discounted future cash flows of the associates and joint ventures. The cash flow projections are based on financial forecasts approved by management of the the associates and joint ventures. The average growth rates, discount rate, and other assumptions adopted to forecast cash flows respectively reflect the specific risks associated with them.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd., National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. and Guomin Pension & Insurance Co., Ltd..

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 9.01%).

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 10.60%).

National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Shanghai on 14 July 2020. The registered capital of the entity is RMB88,500 million, and the principal activities of the entity are fund management activities. The Group held 8.47% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 8.47%).

Guomin Pension & Insurance Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Beijing on 22 March 2022. The registered capital of the entity is RMB11,150 million, and the principal activities of the entity are pension insurance activities. The Group held 8.97% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 8.97%).

23 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

		Construction in	Equipments and transportation	Equipments under operating	
	Buildings	progress	equipments	leases	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2023	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Additions	1,521	631	3,881	42,935	48,968
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	2,033	(2,033)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	701	-	-	-	701
Decreases	(1,579)	(71)	(2,392)	(12,277)	(16,319)
As at 31 December 2023	78,239	2,042	31,801	206,036	318,118
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2023	(32,070)	-	(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Charge for the year	(2,770)	-	(3,553)	(9,322)	(15,645)
Decreases	787		2,174	3,117	6,078
As at 31 December 2023	(34,053)		(22,466)	(39,499)	(96,018)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2023	-	(16)	-	(4,132)	(4,148)
Charge for the year	-	-	-	(1,007)	(1,007)
Decrease				806	806
As at 31 December 2023	-	(16)	_	(4,333)	(4,349)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2023	44,186	2,026	9,335	162,204	217,751

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

	Buildings	Construction in progress	Equipments and transportation equipments	Equipments under operating leases	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2022	74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
Additions	417	1,060	4,858	38,830	45,165
Construction in progress transfer in	505	(505)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	329	-	-	-	329
Transfer into investment properties	(139)	-	-	-	(139)
Decreases	(236)	(3)	(2,000)	(7,319)	(9,558)
As at 31 December 2022	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2022	(29,395)	-	(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
Charge for the year	(2,793)	-	(2,612)	(9,629)	(15,034)
Transfer into investment properties	17	-	-	-	17
Decreases	101		1,854	1,884	3,839
As at 31 December 2022	(32,070)		(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2022	-	(16)	-	(2,488)	(2,504)
Charge for the year	-	-	-	(1,882)	(1,882)
Decrease				238	238
As at 31 December 2022		(16)	-	(4,132)	(4,148)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2022	43,493	3,499	9,225	137,952	194,169

As at 31 December 2023, the net book value of the operating leased aircrafts, vessels and equipments used as collateral for borrowings was RMB64,550 million (31 December 2022: RMB52,416 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the property and equipment with re-registration procedure not completed amounted to RMB173 million (31 December 2022: RMB174 million). However, this registration process does not affect the rights of the Group to these assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 31 Decer	mber 2023	As at 31 December 2022		
	Deductible/	Deferred			
	(taxable)	income tax	Deductible/	Deferred	
	temporary	assets/	(taxable) temporary	income tax assets/	
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)	
Deferred income tax assets					
Allowance for impairment of assets	143,596	35,899	134,772	33,693	
Changes in fair value of derivative					
financial liabilities	53,312	13,328	57,312	14,328	
Provisions	9,524	2,381	11,928	2,982	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	8,264	2,066	9,824	2,456	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	6,456	1,614	11,688	2,922	
Others	20,948	5,237	14,889	3,723	
Subtotal	242,100	60,525	240,413	60,104	
Deferred income tax liabilities					
Changes in fair value of derivative					
financial assets	(64,920)	(16,230)	(68,464)	(17,116)	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	(2,704)	(676)	(1,167)	(292)	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(2,120)	(530)	(1,780)	(445)	
Others	(20,468)	(5,117)	(18,098)	(4,525)	
Subtotal	(90,212)	(22,553)	(89,509)	(22,378)	
Net deferred income tax assets	151,888	37,972	150,904	37,726	

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities	40,379 (2,407)	39,512 (1,786)
Net opening balance	2023	2022 30,655
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in the current year Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in the current year	889 (643)	4,938 2,133
Net ending balance	37,972	37,726

267

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Accounts receivable and temporary payments		38,582	36,409
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1)	(2,752)	(3,003)
Advance payments		15,734	22,019
Precious metal		9,410	7,814
Right-of-use assets	(2)	6,653	6,931
Investment properties	(3)	5,525	6,387
Interest receivable	(4)	2,003	2,054
Land use rights and others		1,913	1,998
Intangible assets	(5)	2,715	1,954
Long-term deferred expenses		1,191	879
Refundable deposits		1,161	495
Foreclosed assets		945	1,000
Goodwill	(6)	415	407
Unsettled assets		31	31
Others		8,573	6,894
Total		92,099	92,269

(1) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at 1 January 2023	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 31 December 2023
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(3,003)	(5,250)	4,183	659	(3)	(94)	756	(2,752)
	As at 1 January 2022	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 31 December 2022
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(3,265)	(3,435)	2,798	992	(8)	(77)	(8)	(3,003)

(2) Right-of-use assets

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Cost:		
Opening balance	14,330	13,980
Additions	2,496	2,704
Decreases	(3,049)	(2,354)
As at the end of the year	13,777	14,330
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,399)	(7,203)
Additions	(2,369)	(2,380)
Decreases	2,644	2,184
As at the end of the year	(7,124)	(7,399)
Net book value	6,653	6,931
Lease liabilities	6,501	6,775
·		

As at 31 December 2023, committed by leases but not yet commenced amount to RMB89 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB97 million).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(3) Investment properties

	As at 1 January 2023	Decreases of the year	Property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2023
Investment properties	6,387	(701)	(176)	15	5,525
	As at				As at
	1 January	Decreases	Property	Exchange	31 December
	2022	of the year	revaluation	differences	2022
Investment properties	6,340	(190)	166	71	6,387

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices and other related information of the similar properties.

As at 31 December 2023, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

				As at
				31 December
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2023
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	_	_	708	708
Commercial property units located outside Hong Kong			4,817	4,817

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Market Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, vacancy rate, future rent income years, capitalisation rate and unit price.

(4) The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(5) Intangible assets

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2023	5,116
Additions	1,303
Disposals	(7)
As at 31 December 2023	6,412
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2023	(3,162)
Charge for the year	(542)
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2023	(3,697)
Net book value	2,715
·	

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(5) Intangible assets (Continued)

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2022	4,504
Additions	627
Disposals	(15)
As at 31 December 2022	5,116
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2022	(2,707)
Charge for the year	(467)
Disposals	12
As at 31 December 2022	(3,162)
Net book value	1,954

(6) Goodwill

BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited

BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.

Total

	As at 1 January 2023	Addition during the year	Decrease during the year	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2023
Bank of Communications					
International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	-	-	-	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance					
Company Limited	122	-	-	-	122
BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.	85	_		8	93
Total	407			8	415
	As at				As at
	1 January	Addition during	Decrease	Exchange	31 December
	2022	the year	during the year	differences	2022
Bank of Communications					
International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	_	_	_	200

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

122

73

395

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

122

85

407

12

12

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Borrowing from central banks	523,905	398,293
Accrued interest	6,205	4,787
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	287,427	254,973
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	6,139	8,839
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	831,249	803,430
- Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	5,069	7,699
Accrued interest	3,297	3,652
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	255,733	210,818
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	201,452	201,042
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	1,500	200
- Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	11,479	10,204
Accrued interest	2,807	2,344
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities	285,176	128,298
Bills	2,437	_
Accrued interest	662	315
Total	2,424,537	2,034,894

27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Certificates of deposit issued	41,187	22,253
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	2,697	11,502
Notes issued	692	1,701
Short position of securities held for trading	103	5
Others (1)	11,878	12,488
Total	56,557	47,949

(1) As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Corporate demand deposits	2,050,524	1,989,383
Corporate time deposits	2,991,467	2,887,650
Personal demand deposits	884,746	885,013
Personal time deposits	2,473,410	2,070,711
Other deposits	3,240	4,227
Deposits from customers	8,403,387	7,836,984
Accrued interest	147,828	112,088
Total	8,551,215	7,949,072

As at 31 December 2023, deposits from customers comprised deposits pledged as collateral of RMB344,014 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB331,318 million).

29 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by Head office, the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost.

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Carried at amortised cost:			
Bonds	(1)	327,009	306,030
Tier-2 capital bonds	(2)	227,067	198,951
Subordinated bonds	(3)	4,800	4,800
Accrued interest		7,735	6,572
Subtotal		566,611	516,353
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds	(1)	25,564	14,508
Total		592,175	530,861

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	Par value (CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Ending balance	Opening balance
The Deal	Ouriency	- Issue place		(001)	- Issue date	Waturity	Dalance	Dalance
The Bank	DMD	Obiasas Maialand	0.10	F0 000	0000/00/05	0		E0 000
20 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.18	50,000	2020/08/05	3 years	-	50,000
20 Bocomm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.50	40,000	2020/11/11	3 years	-	40,000
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.40	40,000	2021/04/06	3 years	40,000	40,000
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.75	30,000	2022/06/15	3 years	29,999	29,999
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.98	30,000	2022/12/09	3 years	29,999	29,998
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.42	20,000	2022/08/05	3 years	19,999	19,999
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.96	10,000	2022/12/09	3 years	10,000	9,999
23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	30,000	2023/03/27	3 years	29,999	-
23 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.77	30,000	2023/04/25	3 years	29,999	_
23 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.59	38,000	2023/07/18	3 years	37,999	_
23 Bocomm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.70	30,000	2023/09/22	3 years	29,999	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	60	2023/06/29	3 years	424	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	20	2023/06/29	3 years	141	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	50	2023/06/29	3 years	353	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	40	2023/06/29	3 years	283	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	15	2023/06/29	3 years	106	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.60	475	2023/08/30	3 years	3,362	_
18 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.85	700	2018/05/17	5 years	_	4,876
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.58	1,300	2020/01/22	3 years	_	9,055
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.75	100	2020/06/05	3 years	_	696
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.80	650	2020/07/20	3 years	_	4,528
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.90	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,831	2,786
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,654	5,560
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.80	350	2020/09/10	3 years	_	2,438
BOCOM Float 11/13/24	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.323	490	2023/11/15	364 days	3,488	_
21 Macau PA-medium-term notes	MOP	Macau, China	0.85	1,200	2021/12/15	2 years	_	1,038
P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan, China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	196	199
Subtotal							274,831	251,171

272 F-432

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

			Coupon rate	Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
Subsidiaries								
20 Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.65	3,000	2020/11/05	3 years	-	2,998
21 Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.62	4,000	2021/03/01	3 years	4,000	3,996
21 Leasing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.45	3,000	2021/04/22	3 years	2,629	2,627
22 Pearl notes	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.90	2,400	2022/12/15	3 years	1,680	1,680
23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	3,000	2023/11/09	3 years	2,995	_
23 Bocomm Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.88	3,000	2023/12/08	3 years	2,992	_
19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	3,587	3,001
19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,251	1,228
10 LICD madium tarm nates OF	HCD	Llang Kang China	Libor + 1.175	000	0010/00/05	Eurora	004	000
19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	804	809
19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic Libor + 1.075	600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,753	1,450
20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic Libor + 0.95	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,895	1,842
20 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic Libor + 0.83	300	2020/03/02	3 years	-	1,628
20 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.75	350	2020/07/14	3 years	_	1,661
20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic Libor + 1.70	450	2020/07/14	5 years	1,492	1,616
21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.125	500	2021/06/18	3 years	2,082	2,181
21 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.07	775	2021/09/27	3 years	702	692
23 RMB Private Bond 01	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.50	1,000	2023/03/07	2 years	999	- 002
23 HKD medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.85	775	2023/03/08	1 year	702	_
23 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.85	385	2023/03/00	•	349	_
23 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	450	2023/03/10	1 year 1 year	3,184	
23 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.55	55	2023/03/10	•	- 0,104	_
23 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China		50		1 year	19	_
	USD		5.50 5.00		2023/03/15 2023/03/28	1 year	261	_
23 USD medium-term notes 07		Hong Kong, China		37		10 months		-
23 USD medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	115	2023/06/21	11 months	812	-
23 USD medium-term notes 09	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	30	2023/07/18	10 months	212	-
23 CNY medium-term notes 01	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.00	760	2023/07/26	3 years	758	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 02	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/10/18	1 years	400	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 03	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.30	700	2023/10/20	3 years	698	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 04	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/11/20	3 years	399	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 05	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.35	300	2023/12/01	3 years	300	_
23 USD medium-term notes 10	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+1.00	240	2023/12/20	3 years	706	
13 Azure Orbit	USD	Hong Kong, China	3.75	500	2013/03/06	10 years	-	3,482
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong, China	3.75	950	2018/01/25	5 years		6,615
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,760	1,728
AzureNova	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,767	1,736
20 Financial Investing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.70	3,000	2020/03/11	3 years	-	2,998
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,997	6,995
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	3,257	3,223
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110% SELIC	200	2019/01/30	5 years	57	52
22 Brazil bonds 01	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.60	270	2022/02/07	10 years	390	357
22 Brazil bonds 02	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.40	200	2022/11/29	10 years	289	264
Subtotal	 						52,178	54,859
Total							327,009	306,030

Egir value

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows: (Continued)

								Fair value
							Fair value	at the
			Coupon rate	Par value			at the end	beginning
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	of the year	of the year
The Bank								
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	50	2023/06/26	5 years	355	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 10	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	40	2023/06/26	5 years	284	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 11	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	50	2023/06/26	5 years	355	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 13	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.60	25	2023/08/30	3 years	179	-
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong, China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	3,231	3,120
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	0.95	1,200	2021/12/13	2 years	-	1,031
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	1,001	1,004
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.80	1,200	2022/03/21	2 years	1,086	1,039
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.20	2,800	2022/03/21	2 years	2,818	2,834
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.375	400	2022/03/21	3 years	2,766	2,661
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.05	1,420	2022/11/30	2 years	1,421	1,426
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.75	200	2022/11/30	3 years	1,417	1,393
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	2,700	2023/02/28	2 years	2,491	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	2.97	3,800	2023/02/28	2 years	3,826	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.875	600	2023/02/28	3 years	4,334	_
Total							25,564	14,508

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
The Bank									
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(a)	29,998	29,998
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(b)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(c)	39,997	39,997
21 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(d)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.45	30,000	2022/02/23	10 years	(e)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 02A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.03	37,000	2022/11/11	10 years	(f)	36,999	36,998
22 BoComm 02B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.36	13,000	2022/11/11	15 years	(g)	12,999	12,999
23 BoComm 01A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.30	15,000	2023/11/15	10 years	(h)	14,999	-
23 BoComm 01B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.40	15,000	2023/11/15	15 years	(i)	15,000	
Subtotal								219,989	189,989
Subsidiaries									
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	5.15	2,000	2018/09/18	10 years	(j)	-	1,996
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(k)	7,078	6,966
Subtotal								7,078	8,962
Total								227,067	198,951

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- (a) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (b) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (c) The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (d) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (e) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 25 February 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (f) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02A at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2027, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (g) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2032, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (h) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2028, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (i) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2033, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (j) The Group had exercised the redemption right and redeem 18 Leasing 02 at the par value as a whole on 20 September 2023.
- (k) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the partial or entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(3) Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(a)	3,000	3,000
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(a)	1,800	1,800
Total								4,800	4,800

- (a) BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem the bonds at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and NFRA is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.
- (4) As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not had any defaults in respect of payments of principal or interest or other breaches with respect to the debt securities issued.

31 OTHER LIABILITIES

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Insurance contract liabilities		111,207	105,889
Clearing and settlement		56,930	58,616
Staff compensation payable		17,979	16,802
Expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments			
and financial guarantees	(1)	8,826	11,291
Lease liabilities		6,501	6,775
Deposits received for finance lease		5,904	6,414
VAT and other taxes payable		5,283	4,811
Special purpose funding		1,796	1,949
Provision for outstanding litigations	(2)	503	520
Dividends payable		254	378
Others		35,974	36,935
Total		251,157	250,380

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	For the year ended 31 December 2023						
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3				
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2023	10,226	1,065	_	11,291			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	547	(547)	-	-			
Transfer to Stage 2	(211)	211	-	-			
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	_	-			
Reversal	(2,213)	(56)	-	(2,269)			
Others	(74)	(122)		(196)			
As at 31 December 2023	8,275	551		8,826			

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

31 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2022						
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3				
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2022	8,736	506	_	9,242			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	24	(24)	-	-			
Transfer to Stage 2	(333)	333	_	_			
Transfer to Stage 3	_	-	_	_			
Provision	1,798	560	-	2,358			
Others	1	(310)		(309)			
As at 31 December 2022	10,226	1,065	_	11,291			

(2) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

	As at 1 January 2023	Amounts reversed during the year	Amounts settled during the year	As at 31 December 2023
Provision for outstanding litigations	520	(14)	(3)	503
		Amounts	Amounts	
	As at	provision	settled	As at
	1 January	during	during	31 December
	2022	the year	the year	2022
Provision for outstanding litigations	472	56	(8)	520

32 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS

	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of (RMB1 each)	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2023	74,263	74,263	111,429
As at 31 December 2023	74,263	74,263	111,428
	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of (RMB1 each)	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2022 As at 31 December 2022	74,263 74,263	74,263 74,263	111,428 111,429

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

	As at 1 January 2023	Additions	Reductions	As at 31 December 2023
Share premium	110,770	-	-	110,770
Other capital reserve	659		(1)	658
Total	111,429		(1)	111,428
	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2022	Additions	Reductions	2022
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	658	1		659
Total	111,428	1	_	111,429

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(1) Preference shares

(a) Preference shares outstanding at the end of the year

						In original				
		Accounting	Dividend		Amount	currency	In RMB		Conversion	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	in shares	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
Domestic preference shares										
Preference shares in RMB	2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity date	Mandatory	No conversion during the year
Less: Issuance fees							(48)			
Carrying amount							44,952			

(b) Movements of preference shares issued

	As at 1 January 2023	Movem	ients	As at 31 December 2023
		Additions	Decreases	
Domestic references-shares				
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	-	_	450,000,000
In RMB (millions)	44,952	-	-	44,952

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses

Domestic preference shares

(i) Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

(ii) Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

(iii) Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

Domestic preference shares (Continued)

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method (Continued)

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

(v) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 7 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

(2) Perpetual bonds

(a) Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the year

			Original			In original		
	Issue date	Accounting classification	interest rate %	Issue price	Amount in shares	currency (in millions)	In RMB (in millions)	Maturity
	- 13300 0010	Classification	-1010 /0	- Issue price	3110103	(111 11111110113)	(111 11111110113)	- Waturity
19 BoComm perpetual bonds (i)	18 September 2019	Equity	4.20	RMB100/bond	400,000,000	40,000	40,000	No fixed maturity date
20 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	23 September 2020	Equity	4.59	RMB100/bond	300,000,000	30,000	30,000	No fixed maturity date
21 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	8 June 2021	Equity	4.06	RMB100/bond	415,000,000	41,500	41,500	No fixed maturity date
Perpetual bonds in USD(iii)	11 November 2020	Equity	3.80	Not less than	Not applicable	2,800	18,366	No fixed maturity date
				USD200,000/				
				bond				
Total							129,866	
Less: Issuance fees							(28)	
Carrying amount							129,838	

(b) Main clauses

(i) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the raising fund was received on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the regulatory but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(ii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the raising fund was received on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the raising fund was received on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(iii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 11 November 2020, and the raising fund was received on 18 November 2020. The specified denomination of the bonds is not less than USD200,000, the exceeding part need to be integral multiple of USD1000 and issued at 100% of the specified denomination. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(3) Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	1,088,030	1,022,024
- Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company	913,240	847,234
- Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company	44,952	44,952
- Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company	129,838	129,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	11,420	11,498
- Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	7,912	8,040
- Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of non-cumulative subordinated		
additional Tier-1 capital securities (Note 36)	3,508	3,458

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 35.

34 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2023	Appropriate	Decrease	2023
Statutory reserve	88,154	9,073	_	97,227
Discretionary reserve	140,182	217		140,399
Total	228,336	9,290	_	237,626

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20). The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Bank's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by local regulation requirements, also need to make such general reserve.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2023	Appropriate	Decrease	2023
Statutory general reserve	144,541	14,512	_	159,053

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

	Note	
As at 31 December 2022		292,734
Changes in accounting policies		127
As at 1 January 2023		292,861
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent company		92,728
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(9,073)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		(217)
Appropriation to general reserve		(14,512)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(27,700)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(5,641)
Others		130
As at 31 December 2023	(1)	326,744
As at 1 January 2022		257,187
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent company		92,102
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(8,187)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		(160)
Appropriation to general reserve		(14,261)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(26,363)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(5,651)
Others		(101)
As at 31 December 2022		292,734

(1) Retained earnings at the end of the year

As at 31 December 2023, the consolidated retained earnings attributable to the Bank included retained earnings transferred to share capital by the Bank's subsidiary amounting to RMB6 billion (As at 31 December 2022: Nil). The Bank's subsidiary did not provide the Bank with the option to receive equivalent cash dividends or profits.

(2) Distributable profits

The Bank's distributable profit is based on its retained profits as determined under PRC and IFRSs, whichever is lower. The amount that the Bank's subsidiaries can legally distribute is determined by referring to their profits as reflected in their financial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations and principles promulgated by the local regulatory bodies. These profits may differ from those dealt with in these financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 DIVIDENDS

	2023	2022
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	27,700	26,363
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,832	1,832
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	5,641	5,651

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- (1) Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- (2) Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- (3) Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity. The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 27 June 2023, the Bank appropriated a cash dividend of RMB0.373 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB27,700 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding as at 31 December 2022, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 28 April 2023, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends of RMB1,832 million with a dividend yield of 4.07%.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds in USD amounting to RMB899 million on 18 November 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,377 million on 25 September 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2019 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,680 million on 20 September 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2021 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,685 million on 10 June 2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 31 December 2023, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3,508 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

Issue Date	3 March 2020
Face Value	USD500 million
First Call Date	3 March 2025
Distribution Rate	(i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum
	(ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing
	US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum if the redemption right is not
	exercised
Frequency of distribution payments	Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 capital securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB131 million during the year ended 31 December 2023.

37 CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 31. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Outstanding litigations	1,480	2,017
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 31)	503	520

Future receivables from operating leases

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircrafts, vessels and equipments leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft, vessel and equipments under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Within 1 year	18,835	16,880
After 1 year and within 2 years	17,470	15,635
After 2 years and within 3 years	16,327	14,209
After 3 years and within 4 years	14,904	12,954
After 4 years and within 5 years	12,935	11,374
After 5 years	53,932	43,924
Total	134,403	114,976

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

38 COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Loan commitments	'	
- Under 1 year	6,013	10,129
- 1 year and above	82,507	71,743
Credit card commitments	938,820	998,125
Acceptance bills	544,473	536,574
Letters of guarantee	455,646	420,167
Letters of credit commitments	205,132	183,717
Total	2,232,591	2,220,455

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Contracted but not provided for	87,143	94,654

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The investors of Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds have early redemption right while the Group has the obligation to buy back those Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The redemption price is the principal value of the Certificated Bonds or Savings Bonds plus unpaid interest till redemption date. As at 31 December 2023, the principal value of the certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds that the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB63,381 million (As at 31 December 2022: RMB66,715 million).

The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds on a back-to-back basis but will pay interest and principal at maturity. As at 31 December 2023, The Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds through the Group will not be material (As at 31 December 2022: not material).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (As at 31 December 2022: Nil).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

39 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. The carrying amount of these collaterals and the balance of operations related are listed below:

	Pledged assets		Associated	liabilities	
	As at	As at	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	2023	2022	
Investment securities	1,047,336	751,853	1,003,758	692,106	
Bills	4,882	2,112	4,882	2,112	
Total	1,052,218	753,965	1,008,640	694,218	

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 44 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for borrowing from central banks or placements from banks by the Group as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB25,263 million in total (31 December 2022: RMB4,217 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

The Group received debt securities and bills as collateral in connection with the securities lending transactions and the purchase of assets under resale agreements. The Group did not hold any collateral that can be resold or re-pledged on balance sheet date when non-defaulting.

40 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 31 December 2023		
	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	9,400 (885)	(1,866) 221	7,534 (664)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	1,378 -	(289) -	1,089 -
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(825) 67	165 (17)	(660) 50
Translation difference on foreign operations Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of	2,152 736	- 252	2,152 988
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL Actuarial gains on pension benefits Others	458 33 (3,571)	- - 891	458 33 (2,680)
Other comprehensive income for the year	8,943	(643)	8,300

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

40 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

	Year ended 31 December 2022		
	Before tax		Net of
	amount	Tax effect	tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	(9,683)	1,946	(7,737)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(892)	223	(669)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	1,438	(219)	1,219
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	-	_	_
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity	2,564	(560)	2,004
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,606)	402	(1,204)
Translation difference on foreign operations	8,562	_	8,562
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,302)	88	(1,214)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(133)	-	(133)
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	(34)	_	(34)
Others	(913)	253	(660)
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,999)	2,133	134

41 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Cash and balances with central banks	202,550	117,662
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	72,911	131,141
Total	275,461	248,803

42 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

43 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through acting as sponsors of structured entities or investments in structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 31 December 2023, those unconsolidated structured entities set up and sponsored by the Group consist primarily of wealth management products, funds, trusts, asset management products and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB7,808 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB10,154 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of the wealth management products set up and sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB1,302,346 million (As at 31 December 2022: RMB1,206,901 million), the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB511,038 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB594,647 million (As at 31 December 2022: the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB531,253 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB569,762 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated wealth management products (For the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

The Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

		Carrying	amount		
		Financial			
	Financial investments at FVTPL	investments at amortised cost	Financial investments at FVOCI	Maximum exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	164,092	-	333	164,425	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	16,774	47,133	-	63,907	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	174	210		384	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	181,040	47,343	333	228,716	

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

43 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

		Carrying	amount		
		Financial			
	Financial	investments	Financial	Maximum	
	investments	at amortised	investments	exposure	
	at FVTPL	cost	at FVOCI	to loss	Type of income
Funds	200,349	-	352	200,701	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	9,141	60,463	-	69,604	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	170	261		431	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	209,660	60,724	352	270,736	

44 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group enters into transactions in the ordinary course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets to third parties or structured entities. In some cases, these transfers may give rise to full or partial derecognition of the financial assets concerned. In other cases where the transferred assets do not qualify for derecognition as the Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of these assets, the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets.

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 26).

The following table provides a summary of carrying amounts related to the transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and the associated liabilities:

	Collat	erals	Associated liabilities		
	As at	As at	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	2023	2022	
Investment securities	15,005	6,030	12,868	5,140	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

44 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(2) Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 31 December 2023, the face value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB26,010 million (31 December 2022: RMB4,513 million).

(3) Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors.

As at 31 December 2023, loans with an original value of RMB86,153 million (31 December 2022: RMB88,308 million) have been securitised by the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB34,019 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (31 December 2022: the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB36,174 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of asset-backed securities held by the Group in securitisation transactions that were qualified for derecognition was RMB405 million (31 December 2022: RMB431 million), and its maximum exposure approximated to the carrying amount.

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of assets that the Group continues to recognize on the consolidated statement of financial position was RMB5,529 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB5,529 million).

(4) Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the normal course of business. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB3,162 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB2,243 million) and collected cash totalling RMB1,730 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB1,423 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Transactions with the MOF

As at 31 December 2023, the MOF held 17,732 million (31 December 2022: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2022: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1) Transactions with the MOF (Continued)

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Bonds issued by the MOF investment		
Financial investments at FVTPL	65,938	31,464
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,090,685	871,172
Financial investments at FVOCI	123,930	201,369
	2023	2022
Interest income on the government bonds	34,145	29,227

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 31 December 2023, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,155 million (31 December 2022: 12,155 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.37 % (31 December 2022: 16.37%) of the total share capital.

The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits. The transactions are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Deposits from customers	91,625	92,409
	2023	2022
Interest expenses	(3,811)	(3,846)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 31 December 2023, HSBC held 13,886 million (31 December 2022: 13,886 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 18.70% (31 December 2022: 18.70%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its registration is Hong Kong. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures (Continued)

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	6,385	2,819
Derivative financial assets	4,375	1,902
Loans and advances to customers	2,399	403
Financial investments at FVTPL	2,877	2,271
Financial investments at amortised cost	5,453	2,755
Financial investments at FVOCI	7,464	6,140
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	29,552	26,508
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	1,830
Derivative financial liabilities	1,843	1,722
Certificates of deposits issued	37,211	
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	270,596	153,484
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	242	16
	2023	2022
Interest income	860	355
Interest expense	(2,221)	(1,596)
Fee and commission income	148	100
Fee and commission expense	(17)	(8)

(4) Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the year, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these state-owned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(5) Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in Note 21.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
The Bank	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	140,345	169,576
Loans and advances to customers	1,249	505
Financial investments at FVTPL	241	237
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,881	1,861
Financial investments at FVOCI	11,124	10,280
Derivative financial assets	209	902
Other assets	792	734
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	18,642	9,246
Derivative financial liabilities	7,470	9,572
Deposits from customers	5,973	8,313
Other liabilities	374	279
The Bank	2023	2022
Interest income	6,619	3,811
Interest expense	(444)	(296)
Fee and commission income	1,585	1,524
Fee and commission expense	(45)	(55)
Other operating income	663	637
Other operating expense	(233)	(175)

(6) Transactions with key management personnel

The key management personnel are those persons who have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and control the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including members of the board of directors and the board of supervisors, and executive officers.

Transactions key management personnel, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such key management personnel or their close relatives and are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers	-	1
Deposits from customers	10	10

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(6) Transactions with key management personnel (Continued)

Compensations of directors and supervisors are disclosed in Note 13. The senior executives' annual compensation during the year is as follows:

(in thousands of RMB) Year ended 31 Decembe				
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive President				
Mr. Yin, Jiuyong	_	605	255	860
Executive Vice President				
Mr. Huang, Hongyuan	_	605	267	872
Mr. Zhou, Wanfu	_	605	255	860
Mr. Hao, Cheng	_	605	255	860
Mr. Qian, Bin	_	605	267	872
Director of Operations				
Mr. Tu, Hong	_	1,110	265	1,375
Mr. Wang, Wenjin	_	555	137	692
Mr. Lin, Hua	_	1,110	265	1,375
Chief Risk Officer				
Mr. Liu, Jianjun	_	555	134	689
Secretary to the Board				
Mr. He, Zhaobin	_	555	137	692
Former Secretary to the Board				
Mr. Gu, Sheng	_	83	21	104
Total		6,993	2,258	9,251
(in thousands of DMP)		Year ended 31 D	Doomhor 2022	
(in thousands of RMB) Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
	Emolaments	Tierraneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive President		=0.		700
Mr. Yin, Jiuyong	-	591	139	730
Executive Vice President			40	400
Mr. Huang, Hongyuan	-	148	40	188
Mr. Zhou, Wanfu	-	591	139	730
Mr. Hao, Cheng	-	591	139	730
Mr. Qian, Bin	-	591	153	744
Director of Operations		4 000	450	4.450
Mr. Tu, Hong	_	1,000	153	1,153
Chief Risk Officer		1 000	150	1 150
Mr. Lin, Hua	_	1,000	153	1,153
Secretary to the Board		1 000	440	4 440
Mr. Gu, Sheng	_	1,000	118	1,118
Former Executive Vice President		- 44	107	000
Mr. Guo, Mang	_	541	127	668
Former Chief Expert Mr. Wang, Feng.		83	12	95
Mr. Wang, Feng Total				
TUIAI	_	6,136	1,173	7,309

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(7) Transactions with associates and joint ventures (Continued)

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in Note 22.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,005	-
Derivative financial assets	1,048	1,212
Loans and advances to customers	9,759	20,765
Financial investments at amortised cost	-	102
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	809	907
Derivative financial liabilities	17	25
Deposits from customers	1,161	84
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	4,690	4,594
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	21,806	6,400
	2023	2022
Interest income	369	373
Interest expense	(67)	(2)

(8) Transactions with other related parties

Transactions with other related parties are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items		
Loans and advances to customers	983	677
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	303	331
Deposits from customers	86,199	70,307
Off-balance sheet items		
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	200	904
	2023	2022
Interest income	19	14
Interest expense	(3,674)	(2,748)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(9) Transactions with Annuity Fund

Apart from the obligations for defined contributions to the Annuity Fund and normal banking transactions, no other material transactions were conducted between the Group and the bank with the Annuity Fund for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(10) Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 December 2022	
	Balances	%	Balances	%
On-balance sheet items				
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	7,390	0.86	2,819	0.41
Derivative financial assets	5,423	8.05	3,114	4.47
Loans and advances to customers	13,141	0.17	21,846	0.31
Financial investments at FVTPL	68,815	10.71	33,735	4.78
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,096,138	42.59	874,029	35.66
Financial investments at FVOCI	131,394	14.80	207,509	25.97
Due to and placements from banks and				
other financial institutions	(30,664)	1.62	(27,746)	1.36
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	_	_	(1,830)	3.82
Derivative financial liabilities	(1,860)	3.65	(1,747)	3.73
Deposits from customers	(178,995)	2.09	(162,810)	2.05
Certificates of deposits issued	(37,211)	3.62	<u> </u>	-
Off-balance sheet items				
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	275,286	3.48	158,078	2.44
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees		1.00	7,320	0.33
	2023		2022	
	Amount	%	Amount	%
Interest income	35,393	7.57	29,969	7.07
Interest expense	(9,773)	3.30	(8,192)	3.30
Fee and commission income	148	0.31	100	0.20
Fee and commission expense	(17)	0.41	(8)	0.17

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating segments are identified based on the structure of the Group's internal organization and management requirements. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. Net interest income and expense relating to third parties are disclosed in external net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

Segment revenues, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. The basis for allocation is mainly based on occupation of or contribution to resources. Income tax is managed on a group basis and is not allocated to operating segments.

Geographical operating segment information

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Head Office: Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre;
- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province and Anhui Province:
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province and Shandong Province;
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province,
 Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia
 Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region and Tibet Autonomous Region;
- North Eastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province;
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

The geographical operating segment information of the Group is summarised as follows:

Year	ended	31	Decem	ber	2023
------	-------	----	-------	-----	------

					North			
Yangtze	Pearl	Eastern	Central	Western	Eastern			
River Delta	River Delta	Zone	China	China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
21,995	10,379	(3,212)	20,894	17,232	(1,525)	13,336	85,024	164,123
28,476	9,527	27,809	9,261	2,150	7,275	1,059	(85,557)	-
50,471	19,906	24,597	30,155	19,382	5,750	14,395	(533)	164,123
11,845	3,866	5,506	5,853	3,144	1,216	2,077	13,641	47,148
(1,364)	(35)	(76)	(97)	(21)	(14)	(186)	(2,351)	(4,144)
10,481	3,831	5,430	5,756	3,123	1,202	1,891	11,290	43,004
5,924	380	298	494	(108)	20	1,207	15,009	23,224
1,596	1	-	-	-	15	(617)	(268)	727
(15)	-	-	-	-	-	63	308	356
23,109	403	529	504	405	213	822	595	26,580
91,566	24,521	30,854	36,909	22,802	7,200	17,761	26,401	258,014
(7,633)	(9,491)	(846)	(6,282)	(7,225)	(781)	(6,071)	(18,579)	(56,908)
(1,029)	1	1	(3)	(10)	(23)	-	1	(1,062)
(35,320)	(7,155)	(9,250)	(9,765)	(6,758)	(3,458)	(5,742)	(22,898)	(100,346)
47,584	7,876	20,759	20,859	8,809	2,938	5,948	(15,075)	99,698
								(6,446)
								93,252
(1,781)	(955)	(1,178)	(1,176)	(956)	(497)	(569)	(2,415)	(9,527)
(40,918)	(257)	(398)	(668)	(380)	(271)	(294)	(3,833)	(47,019)
	River Delta 21,995 28,476 50,471 11,845 (1,364) 10,481 5,924 1,596 (15) 23,109 91,566 (7,633) (1,029) (35,320) 47,584	River Delta	River Delta River Delta Zone 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 28,476 9,527 27,809 50,471 19,906 24,597 11,845 3,866 5,506 (1,364) (35) (76) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,924 380 298 1,596 1 - (15) - - 23,109 403 529 91,566 24,521 30,854 (7,633) (9,491) (846) (1,029) 1 1 (35,320) (7,155) (9,250) 47,584 7,876 20,759	Yangtze River Delta Pearl River Delta Eastern Zone Central China 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 20,894 28,476 9,527 27,809 9,261 50,471 19,906 24,597 30,155 11,845 3,866 5,506 5,853 (1,364) (35) (76) (97) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,756 5,924 380 298 494 1,596 1 - - (15) - - - 23,109 403 529 504 91,566 24,521 30,854 36,909 (7,633) (9,491) (846) (6,282) (1,029) 1 1 (3) (35,320) (7,155) (9,250) (9,765) 47,584 7,876 20,759 20,859	Yangtze River Delta Pearl River Delta Eastern Zone Central China Western China 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 20,894 17,232 28,476 9,527 27,809 9,261 2,150 50,471 19,906 24,597 30,155 19,382 11,845 3,866 5,506 5,853 3,144 (1,364) (35) (76) (97) (21) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,756 3,123 5,924 380 298 494 (108) 1,596 1 - - - (15) - - - - 23,109 403 529 504 405 91,566 24,521 30,854 36,909 22,802 (7,633) (9,491) (846) (6,282) (7,225) (1,029) 1 1 (3) (10) (35,320) (7,155) (9,250) (9,765) (6,758)	Yangtze River Delta Pearl River Delta Eastern Zone Central China Western China China Eastern China China 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 20,894 17,232 (1,525) 28,476 9,527 27,809 9,261 2,150 7,275 50,471 19,906 24,597 30,155 19,382 5,750 11,845 3,866 5,506 5,853 3,144 1,216 (1,364) (35) (76) (97) (21) (14) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,756 3,123 1,202 5,924 380 298 494 (108) 20 1,596 1 - - - - (15) - - - - - 23,109 403 529 504 405 213 91,566 24,521 30,854 36,909 22,802 7,200 (7,633) (9,491) (846) (6,282) (7,225)	Yangtze River Delta Pearl River Delta Eastern Zone Central China Western China China North Eastern China China 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 20,894 17,232 (1,525) 13,336 28,476 9,527 27,809 9,261 2,150 7,275 1,059 50,471 19,906 24,597 30,155 19,382 5,750 14,395 11,845 3,866 5,506 5,853 3,144 1,216 2,077 (1,364) (35) (76) (97) (21) (14) (186) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,756 3,123 1,202 1,891 5,924 380 298 494 (108) 20 1,207 1,596 1 - - - - 15 (617) (15) - - - - - 63 23,109 403 529 504 405 213 822 91,566	Yangtze River Delta Pearl River Delta Eastern Zone Central China Western China China China Overseas Head Office 21,995 10,379 (3,212) 20,894 17,232 (1,525) 13,336 85,024 28,476 9,527 27,809 9,261 2,150 7,275 1,059 (85,557) 50,471 19,906 24,597 30,155 19,382 5,750 14,395 (533) 11,845 3,866 5,506 5,853 3,144 1,216 2,077 13,641 (1,364) (35) (76) (97) (21) (14) (186) (2,351) 10,481 3,831 5,430 5,756 3,123 1,202 1,891 11,290 5,924 380 298 494 (108) 20 1,207 15,009 1,596 1 - - - - - 63 308 23,109 403 529 504 405 213

Year ended 31 December 2022

			Bohai Rim Economic North			North			
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Eastern Zone	Central China	Western China	Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	28,138	13,195	(1,906)	23,356	18,025	(516)	10,903	78,687	169,882
	23,929	7,099	26,649	7,765	1,568	6,358	121	(73,489)	-
Net interest income/(expense) Fee and commission income Fee and commission expense	52,067	20,294	24,743	31,121	19,593	5,842	11,024	5,198	169,882
	14,336	4,016	5,554	5,827	3,069	1,183	2,226	13,128	49,339
	(2,620)	(42)	(70)	(153)	(21)	(15)	(214)	(1,349)	(4,484)
Net fee and commission income Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments Share of (loss)/profits of associates and joint ventures Other operating income	11,716	3,974	5,484	5,674	3,048	1,168	2,012	11,779	44,855
	3,362	274	177	651	(173)	78	(471)	13,709	17,607
	948	-	27	-	-	17	(146)	(352)	494
	(55)	-	-	-	-	-	65	282	292
	18,908	582	1,252	1,043	868	266	802	495	24,216
Total net operating income	86,946	25,124	31,683	38,489	23,336	7,371	13,286	31,111	257,346
Credit impairment losses Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal Other operating expense	(6,154)	(6,968)	(13,868)	(870)	(7,281)	(3,961)	(4,357)	(16,952)	(60,411)
	(1,884)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(1)	(7)	-	1	(1,897)
	(31,213)	(6,955)	(9,177)	(9,484)	(6,674)	(3,371)	(5,138)	(24,911)	(96,923)
Profit/(loss) before tax	47,695	11,199	8,636	28,133	9,380	32	3,791	(10,751)	98,115
Income tax Net profit for the year									(6,160) 91,955
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(1,793)	(945)	(1,141)	(1,135)	(956)	(497)	(508)	(1,675)	(8,650)
	(25,091)	(340)	(210)	(391)	(856)	(190)	(441)	(3,989)	(31,508)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

					As at 31 Dece	ember 2023				
Segment assets Including:	Yangtze River Delta 3,581,356	Pearl River Delta 1,280,694	Bohai Rim Economic North Eastern Zone 2,097,935	Central China 1,498,173	Western China 1,025,178	North Eastern China 471,772	Overseas 1,204,469	- Head Office 5,486,713	Eliminations (2,626,197)	Total
Investments in associates and joint										
ventures	1,427	-	-	1	-	-	1,038	6,524	-	8,990
Unallocated assets										40,379
Total assets										14,060,472
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(3,451,137)	(1,269,395)	(2,074,193)	(1,479,208)	(1,013,057)	(470,188)	(1,101,049)	(4,726,585)	2,626,197	(12,958,615) (2,407)
Total liabilities										(12,961,022)
	Yangtze	Pearl	Bohai Rim Economic North		As at 31 Dece	North				
	River Delta	River Delta	Eastern Zone	Central China	Western China	Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	3,194,409	1,234,660	1,889,591	1,410,944	971,233	459,731	1,147,452	4,949,513	(2,305,474)	12,952,059
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,439	-	-	1	-	-	1,010	6,300	-	8,750
Unallocated assets										39,512
Total assets										12,991,571
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,931,210)	(1,219,145)	(1,872,761)	(1,364,697)	(960,633)	(462,599)	(1,086,247)	(4,364,445)	2,305,474	(11,956,263) (1,786)
Total liabilities										(11,958,049)

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. Others Business segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

· ·					
	Corporate Banking Business	Year ende Personal Banking Business	ed 31 December Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	84,507 7,061	23,300 48,702	56,346 (55,763)	(30)	164,123
Net interest income/(expense) Net fee and commission income Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities Net (loss)/gains arising from financial investments Share of profits/(loss) of associates and	91,568 9,985 4,681 (204)	72,002 28,325 1,465 939	583 4,495 17,281 (8)	(30) 199 (203)	164,123 43,004 23,224 727
joint ventures	46	4.007	(15)	325	356
Other operating income Total net operating income	21,506 127,582	4,087 106,818	22,944	379 670	26,580 258,014
Credit impairment losses Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal Other operating expense	(30,050) (1,068)	(25,039) 5	(1,818)	(1)	(56,908) (1,062)
Depreciation and amortisationOthers	(3,486)	(5,283)	(614)	(144)	(9,527)
Profit/(loss) before tax	(42,419) 50,559	(42,961)	(4,733) 15,779	(706) (180)	99,698
Income tax					(6,446)
Net profit for the year				_	93,252
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(3,486) (42,813)	(5,283) (3,578)	(614) (448)	(144) (180)	(9,527) (47,019)
		Year end	ed 31 December	2022	
	Corporate Banking	Personal Banking	Treasury	Other	

		Year ende	ed 31 December 2	2022	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	80,160	45,194	44,551	(23)	169,882
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	13,671	24,617	(38,288)		
Net interest income/(expense)	93,831	69,811	6,263	(23)	169,882
Net fee and commission income	10,008	29,919	4,749	179	44,855
Net gains arising from trading activities	3,473	558	13,556	20	17,607
Net (loss)/gains arising from financial investments	(13)	887	(398)	18	494
Share of profits/(loss) of associates and					
joint ventures	28	(1)	(54)	319	292
Other operating income	17,679	4,988	1,013	536	24,216
Total net operating income	125,006	106,162	25,129	1,049	257,346
Credit impairment (losses)/reversal	(39,700)	(22,262)	1,552	(1)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment losses	(1,891)	(6)	-	-	(1,897)
Other operating expense					
 Depreciation and amortisation 	(3,354)	(4,600)	(545)	(151)	(8,650)
- Others	(37,651)	(45,203)	(4,837)	(582)	(88,273)
Profit before tax	42,410	34,091	21,299	315	98,115
Income tax					(6,160)
Net profit for the year					91,955
Depreciation and amortisation	(3,354)	(4,600)	(545)	(151)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(27,187)	(3,736)	(416)	(169)	(31,508)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Business information (Continued)					
		As at	31 December 20	23	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets Including:	6,138,677	2,305,171	5,534,582	41,663	14,020,093
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,457	1,429	-	5,104	8,990
Unallocated assets					40,379
Total assets					14,060,472
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(5,474,229)	(3,620,670)	(3,802,004)	(57,174)	(12,954,077) (6,945)
Total liabilities					(12,961,022)
		As at	31 December 202	22	
	Corporate	Personal			
	Banking	Banking	Treasury	Other	
	Business	Business	Business	Business	Total
Segment assets Including:	5,447,892	2,267,232	5,191,367	45,568	12,952,059
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,427	1,439	_	4,884	8,750
Unallocated assets					39,512
Total assets					12,991,571
Segment liabilities	(5,312,199)	(3,152,334)	(3,424,096)	(63,697)	(11,952,326)

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

(5,723)

(11,958,049)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Assets		
Cash and balances with central banks	893,502	801,402
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	923,931	793,966
Derivative financial assets	63,846	65,871
Loans and advances to customers	7,400,621	6,767,462
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	504,152	577,709
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,497,643	2,353,127
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	705,189	625,454
Investments in associates and joint ventures	6,524	6,300
Investments in subsidiaries	83,845	84,279
Property and equipment	50,058	51,038
Deferred income tax assets	36,520	36,248
Other assets	66,037	60,844
Total assets	13,231,868	12,223,700
	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Liabilities and Equity Liabilities		
Due to banks and other financial institutions	2,224,251	1 06/ /07
		1.004.407
		1,864,487 32.172
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	42,335	32,172
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	42,335 52,972	32,172 54,805
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers	42,335 52,972 8,243,835	32,172 54,805 7,644,612
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 – 120,021
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 – 120,021
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,226	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds Capital surplus	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,227
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds Capital surplus Other reserves	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,226 381,063	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,227 353,238

The financial statements of the Bank were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (continued) (2) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank

						All all	iouri	15 6	xpres	, 5
	Total	963,020	87,072	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)	•	E	1,014,918	
	Retained	249,502	81,030	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)	(21,783)	•	273,576	
	Others	1,435	(14)	1	•	•	i.	•	1,421	
	Actuarial changes reserve	(121)	88	1	•	•	i.	•	(88)	
	Translation differences for foreign operations	(116)	845	•	1	٠	•	•	726	
	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	(37)	(111)	•	•	1	•	•	(148)	
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	(157)	458	•	1	1	•	1	301	
Othe	Revaluation reserve and impairment reserve for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	(5,874)	4,834			•	•	1	(1,040)	
	Statutory general reserve	133,778	1	•	1	•	13,384	•	147,162	
	Statutory Discretionary reserve	139,764			•	•	•	1	139,764	
	Statutory	84,566	1		1		8,399	•	92,965	
,	Capital	111,227	1	•	1	1	•	E	111,226	
nstruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838	•	1	1	•	•	•	129,838	
Other equity instruments	Preference Share	44,952	•		1	•	•	•	44,952	
,	Share capital	74,263	1	•	ı	1	•	•	74,263	
	S.	As at 1 January 2023	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders	Shareholders	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	Others	As at 31 December 2023	

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (Continued)

(2)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		Other equity instruments	instruments					8	Other reserves						
									Revaluation						
								Revaluation	reserve for the						
								reserve and	changes in						
								impairment	credit risk of	Effective					
								reserve for	the financial	portion of					
								financial assets	liabilities	gains or losses					
								at fair value	designated	on hedging	Translation				
							Statutory	through other	at fair value	instruments	differences	Actuarial			
		Preference	Perpetual	Capital	Statutory	Discretionary	general	comprehensive	through	in cash flow	for foreign	changes		Retained	
	Share capital	Share	spuoq	surplus	reserve	reserve	reserve	income	profit or loss	hedges	operations	reserve	Others	earnings	Total
As at 1 January 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,226	77,044	139,764	122,341	(12)	(24)	53	(3,804)	(87)	1,391	218,328	915,273
Total comprehensive income	I	1	ı	I	ı	ı	1	(2,869)	(133)	(06)	3,688	(34)	44	83,986	81,592
Dividends paid to ordinary															
shareholders	1	1	I	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	(26,363)	(26,363)
Dividends paid to															
preference shareholders	I	1	I	I	I	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	(1,832)	(1,832)
Interest paid to perpetual															
bond holders	1	1	ı	ı	1	1	ı	1	ı	1	ı	I	ı	(5,651)	(5,651)
Transfer to reserves	1	ı	ı	ı	7,522	ı	11,437	I	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	(18,959)	ı
Transferred from other															
comprehensive income	ı	ı	ı	-	1	ı	ı	I	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	-
Others	1	1	1	1	1	1	ı	7	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	(7)	ı
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,227	84,566	139,764	133,778	(5,874)	(157)	(37)	(116)	(121)	1,435	249,502	963,020

306 F-466

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Profit distribution after reporting period

On 27 March 2024, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed to appropriate RMB8,103 million to the statutory reserve and RMB13,175 million to the statutory general reserve. A cash dividend of RMB0.375 (before tax) for each share, totalling RMB27,849 million, calculated based on the total number of shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares (RMB1 per share) as at 31 December 2023 was also proposed. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

49 AUDIT FEES

In 2023, KPMG and its network member firms were paid a professional audit service fee of RMB75 million by the Group for the audit of the financial statements of the Group (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB61 million).

50 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in current year.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023

1 CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

261,197 (142,071) 339,376 (453,434) 843	1,487,486 (1,276,808) 2,283,686 (2,533,652) (714)
339,376 (453,434)	2,283,686 (2,533,652)
(453,434)	(2,533,652)
843	(714)
5,911	(40,002)
7,771	207,482
Others	Total
241,149	1,409,754
(145,452)	(1,389,011)
141,921	1,535,269
(208,133)	(1,700,321)
1,292	1,297
30,777	(143,012)
7,788	183,143
	7,771 Others 241,149 (145,452) 141,921 (208,133) 1,292 30,777

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the China's National Financial Regulatory Administration in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Chinese Mainland.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Chinese Mainland excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Chinese Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, trade bills and certificates of deposits held and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023	Bank	Official sector	Non-bank Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	683,105	110,199	744,482		1,537,786
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	184,678	71,713	349,970	-	606,361
North and South America	26,415	14,771	34,063	_	75,249
Africa	1,497	1,495	324	-	3,316
Europe	18,162	645	37,467		56,274
Total	729,179	127,110	816,336		1,672,625
			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2022	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	680,295	109,709	711,608	-	1,501,612
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	211,057	66,346	350,515	-	627,918
North and South America	20,389	12,455	28,645	_	61,489
Africa	701	1,702	96	_	2,499
Europe	10,389	593	25,469		36,451
Total	711,774	124,459	765,818	_	1,602,051

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

(1) Balance of overdue loans

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:		
- Less than 3 months	41,727	27,737
- 3 to 6 months	14,838	16,524
- 6 to 12 months	20,089	16,956
- Over 12 months	33,467	23,611
Total	110,121	84,828
Percentage (%):	·	
- Less than 3 months	0.52	0.38
- 3 to 6 months	0.19	0.23
- 6 to 12 months	0.25	0.23
- Over 12 months	0.42	0.32
Total	1.38	1.16

(2) Overdue and restructured loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	40,836	13,660
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	6,306	1,533
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue		
above 3 months in total loans	0.08	0.02

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

(1) Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 Dece	ember 2023	As at 31 Decer	mber 2022
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	Allowance for
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	impairment
	customers	losses	customers	losses
Chinese mainland				
 Yangtze River Delta 	20,563	(11,492)	21,107	(11,898)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	16,472	(10,418)	10,707	(8,992)
- Central China	13,311	(7,048)	14,520	(6,287)
- Pearl River Delta	12,214	(7,065)	8,403	(4,872)
- North Eastern China	11,221	(8,406)	13,595	(10,588)
- Western China	9,443	(5,473)	9,333	(6,022)
- Head Office	9,392	(8,118)	9,310	(8,158)
Subtotal	92,616	(58,020)	86,975	(56,817)
Hong Kong, Macau,				
Taiwan and overseas regions	13,053	(9,805)	11,551	(5,260)
Total	105,669	(67,825)	98,526	(62,077)

(2) Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 Decen	nber 2022
		Allowance for		Allowance for
		impairment		impairment
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	losses
Chinese mainland				
- Head Office	28,064	(20,774)	20,116	(15,595)
 Yangtze River Delta 	14,191	(7,624)	9,076	(5,276)
- Central China	14,155	(6,568)	13,298	(5,261)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,302	(8,181)	9,361	(7,438)
- Pearl River Delta	11,803	(6,546)	7,165	(4,091)
- Western China	8,184	(3,652)	6,707	(3,553)
- North Eastern China	7,697	(5,667)	9,661	(7,065)
Subtotal	97,396	(59,012)	75,384	(48,279)
Hong Kong, Macau,				
Taiwan and overseas regions	12,725	(2,579)	9,444	(4,809)
Total	110,121	(61,591)	84,828	(53,088)

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by geographical and industry sectors (gross)

As at 31 December 2023			As at 3	22		
			Amount			Amount
			covered by			covered by
Hong Kong		%	collaterals		%	collaterals
Corporate loans						
Real estate	75,477	33.63	23,943	98,548	41.49	24,474
Manufacturing	21,120	9.40	3,519	9,921	4.17	3,711
Transportation, storage and postal service	12,411	5.52	2,966	10,829	4.56	2,421
Wholesale and retail	11,372	5.06	3,615	12,633	5.32	3,425
Leasing and commercial services	10,562	4.70	3,855	10,948	4.61	4,235
Finance	7,000	3.11	1,150	5,419	2.28	1,136
Construction	6,619	2.94	1,562	6,961	2.93	1,418
Information transmission, software and						
IT services	6,592	2.93	42	4,264	1.79	56
Accommodation and catering	2,153	0.96	2,153	-	_	_
Production and supply of power,						
heat, gas and water	149	0.07	149	717	0.30	429
Others	14,902	6.63	1,262	23,321	9.82	1,352
Total corporate loans	168,357	74.90	44,216	183,561	77.27	42,657
Personal loans						
Mortgage	41,652	18.53	41,580	39,705	16.71	39,575
Credit cards	121	0.05	_	105	0.04	_
Others	14,658	6.52	14,015	14,214	5.98	3,467
Total personal loans	56,431	25.10	55,595	54,024	22.73	43,042
Gross amount of loans and advances to						
customers before impairment allowance	224,788	100.00	99,811	237,585	100.00	85,699
Outside Hong Kong	7,732,297			7,057,380		

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 48% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 50%).

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(2) Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 Dec	ember 2022
	Allowance for impairment			Allowance for
				impairment
	Impaired loans	losses	Impaired loans	losses
Corporates	85,546	(53,567)	78,523	(48,157)
Individuals	20,123	(14,258)	20,003	(13,920)
Total	105,669	(67,825)	98,526	(62,077)

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the period are disclosed below:

	Year ended 31 December 2023			Year er	nded 31 Decembe	r 2022
		Recoveries of loans and Loans and advances advances written off				Recoveries
						of loans and
					Loans and	advances
					advances	written off
	New	written off as	in previous	New	written off as	in previous
	provisions	uncollectible	years	provisions	uncollectible	years
Corporates	26,060	(9,871)	3,166	35,060	(24,584)	3,339
Individuals	28,077	(21,228)	2,513	23,042	(21,729)	1,807
Total	54,137	(31,099)	5,679	58,102	(46,313)	5,146

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION RELATED TO LEVERAGE RATIO

Leverage ratio disclosure is disclosed according to Note 3 Leverage Ratio Disclosure Format of the Measures for the Administration of the Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised).

RECONCILIATION OF REGULATORY CONSOLIDATION AND ACCOUNTING CONSOLIDATION

(in millions of RMB)

•		
	₽r	HE II
_	٠.	

Number	Item	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
1	Total consolidated assets	14,060,472	12,992,419
2	Adjustments of consolidation	(134,383)	(106,912)
3	Adjustments item of customer's assets	-	-
4	Adjustments of derivatives	38,611	36,022
5	Adjustments of securities financing transactions	74,225	23,078
6	Adjustments of off-balance sheet item	1,365,162	1,411,948
7	Other Adjustments	(7,062)	(6,941)
8	Balance of adjusted on- and off-balance sheet assets	15,397,025	14,349,614

LEVERAGE RATIO INFORMATION

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Saria	ш
Seria	ш

Number	Item	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
1	On-balance-sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities		
	financing transactions)	13,658,311	12,636,526
2	Less: Deduction of tier-1 capital	(7,062)	(6,941)
3	Balance of adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives		
	and securities financing transactions)	13,651,249	12,629,585
4	Replacement costs of derivatives (less eligible margin)	66,497	67,164
5	Potential risk exposure of derivatives	39,501	38,544
6	Sum of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet	-	-
7	Less: Assets receivable from providing eligible margin	-	-
8	Less: Derivative assets resulting from the transactions with central		
	counterparties in providing clearing settlement services for customers	-	-
9	Notional principal of sold credit derivatives	-	-
10	Less: Deductible balance of sold credit derivatives	-	-
11	Derivative asset balance	105,998	105,708
12	Accounting asset balance of securities financing transactions	212,421	179,295
13	Less: Balance of deductible securities financing transaction assets	-	-
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure of securities financing transactions	62,195	23,078
15	Balance of securities financing transaction assets from acting for		
	securities financing transactions	-	-
16	Securities financing assets balance	274,616	202,373
17	Balance of off-balance-sheet items	3,120,948	3,046,801
18	Less: Balance of off-balance-sheet items arising from the reduction of		
	credit transfer	(1,755,786)	(1,634,853)
19	Adjusted off-balance sheet items balance	1,365,162	1,411,948
20	Net tier-1 capital	1,081,683	1,016,644
21	Adjusted balance of on- and off-balance sheet assets	15,397,025	14,349,614
22	Leverage ratio (%)	7.03	7.08

APPENDIX 2: THE DAILY AVERAGE LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND ITS DETAILS OF THE GROUP IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Serial Number	er	Amount before conversion	Amount after conversion
The qu	alified high-quality liquid assets		
1	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,299,092
Cash (Dutflow		
2	Retail deposits, small business deposits, including:	3,229,426	312,581
3	Stable deposit	205,463	10,185
4	Less stable deposit	3,023,963	302,396
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, including:	5,206,468	2,252,779
6	Business relationship deposit (excluding agency business)	2,782,680	693,565
7	Non-business relationship deposit (including all counterparties)	2,406,592	1,542,018
8	Unsecured debt	17,196	17,196
9	Secured funding		6,668
10	Other items, including:	2,406,769	1,342,550
11	Cash outflow relates to derivatives and other collateral/pledged assets	1,290,413	1,282,883
12	Cash outflow relates to loss of funding on asset-blocked securities	762	762
13	Committed credit and liquidity facilities	1,115,594	58,905
14	Other contractual obligation to extend funds	71,200	71,200
15	Contingent funding obligations	2,538,146	74,379
16	Total expected cash outflow		4,060,157
Cash I	nflow		
17	Secured lending (including reverse repos and securities borrowing)	212,346	212,345
18	Inflows from fully performing exposure	1,130,668	810,371
19	Other cash inflow	1,325,073	1,303,676
20	Total expected cash inflow	2,668,087	2,326,392
			Amount after
			adjustment
21	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,230,254
22	Net cash outflow		1,733,765
23	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)		128.50

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			l lassa lala			Weighted
Serial			Unweight Less than	.ed value 6-12		value
Number		No Maturity	6 months	months	Over 1 year	
		NO Maturity	- Unionities	1110111115	- Over 1 year	
	Stable Funding Item				400.000	4.054.50
1	Capital	1,064,541	_	_	189,990	1,254,53
2	Regulatory Capital	1,064,541	_	_	189,990	1,254,53
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	-	
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	907,754	2,462,857	21,982	6,068	3,070,374
5	Stable deposits	212,669	6,189	612	2,370	210,86
6	Less stable deposits	695,085	2,456,668	21,369	3,698	2,859,50
7	Wholesale funding	2,709,596	4,301,683	710,823	535,153	3,359,08
8	Operational deposits	2,666,461	235,607	38,046	23,082	1,493,13
9	Other wholesale funding	43,135	4,066,076	672,777	512,071	1,865,94
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	-	-	-	-	
11	Other liabilities	79,605	323,183	53,130	339,039	352,36
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				80,209	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the	79,605	323,183	53,130	258,830	352,36
	above categories					
14	Total available stable funding					8,036,35
Required	Stable Funding Item					
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					395,80
16	Business relationship deposits held at other financial institutions	98,351	310	_	-	49,33
17	Loans and securities	91,467	2,573,874	1,117,160	5,455,319	6,329,67
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	41,682	_	-	6,24
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non-Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	561,694	145,359	139,069	296,00
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	24	1,794,063	927,510	3,491,341	4,319,52
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	23,784	928	48,031	43,57
22	Residential mortgages	-	854	1,030	1,429,542	1,216,05
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	_	-	
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	91,444	175,582	43,260	395,367	491,84
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	-	-	_	-	
26	Other assets	114,105	98,374	14,923	234,231	346,36
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	18,766				15,95
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				15,202	12,92
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				124,174	6,72
30	Derivative with additional requirements				77,998	15,60
31	All other assets not included in the above	95,339	98,374	14,923	94,854	295,17
32	Off-balance-sheet items	-,	-,,	-,	3,934,033	145,37
33	Total required stable funding				, , , , , , , , ,	7,266,54
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					110.5

Notes:

- 1. The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- 2. The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			11	la di cale a		Weighted
Cautal			Unweight			value
Serial Number		No Maturity	Less than 6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
	Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	1,092,641	_	_	219,989	1,312,630
2	Regulatory Capital	1,092,641	_	_	219,989	1,312,630
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	932,020	2,512,776	13,867	5,983	3,130,252
5	Stable deposits	222,227	6,717	506	2,324	220,302
6	Less stable deposits	709,793	2,506,059	13,361	3,658	2,909,950
7	Wholesale funding	2,923,180	3,940,579	1,015,024	541,684	3,509,075
8	Operational deposits	2,880,401	243,999	40,030	20,427	1,602,643
9	Other wholesale funding	42,779	3,696,580	974,994	521,256	1,906,433
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	· -	_	_	· -	_
11	Other liabilities	83,574	322,513	17,412	308,536	340,809
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities	ŕ	ŕ	ŕ	47,101	,
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the	83,574	322,513	17,412	261,435	340,809
	above categories		,	,	, , , ,	,
14	Total available stable funding					8,292,766
Required	Stable Funding Item					, , , , , ,
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					479,548
16	Business relationship deposits held at other financial institutions	71,727	_	2,044	12,295	49,181
17	Loans and securities	67,503	2,672,650	1,160,308	5,504,720	6,388,110
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	_	59,550	354	_	9,042
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non-Level 1	_	661,096	166,786	139,361	321,918
	assets or unsecured		ŕ	ŕ	,	,
20	Loans to retail and small business customers,	0	1,784,069	943,403	3,554,308	4,374,511
	non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks			·		
	and public sector entities.					
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	_	9,706	1,249	55,683	41,672
22	Residential mortgages	_	848	1,018	1,418,881	1,206,982
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	_	_	_	_	
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as	67,503	167,088	48,747	392,169	475,657
	high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	ŕ	ŕ	ŕ	,	•
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	_	_	_	_	_
26	Other assets	110,866	81,326	13,026	143,336	277,187
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	13,828	ŕ	ŕ	,	11,754
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			16,850	14,323
	contributions to default funds of central counterparties				,,,,,,	,
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				80,826	10,535
30	Derivative with additional requirements				45,257	9,051
31	All other assets not included in the above	97,039	81,326	13,026	45,660	231,525
32	Off-balance-sheet items	,	,3	,	3,938,181	144,362
33	Total required stable funding				-,- 3-, !	7,338,389
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					113.01

Notes:

- 1. The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- 2. The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(I) Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

	Three months ender 2024	ed 31 March 2023
Interest income	114,704	112,010
Interest expense	(73,146)	(71,362)
Net interest income	41,558	40,648
Fee and commission income	12,838	13,774
Fee and commission expense	(959)	(1,089)
Net fee and commission income	11,879	12,685
Net gains arising from trading activities	6,267	8,304
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets	600	(132)
measured at amortised cost	39	15
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	93	53
Other operating income	6,804	5,611
Net operating income	67,201	67,169
Credit impairment losses	(14,424)	(15,398)
Other assets impairment losses	(174)	(72)
Other operating expenses	(25,254)	(25,297)
Profit before tax	27,349	26,402
Income tax	(2,096)	(1,451)
Net profit for the period	25,253	24,951

Three months ended 31 March

	2024	2023
Other comprehensive income, net of tax		
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to		
profit or loss:		
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income		
Amount recognised in equity	5,148	733
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(547)	6
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at	(547)	O
fair value through other comprehensive income		
Amount recognised in equity	(332)	(115)
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	, ,	, ,
Amount recognised in equity	(43)	305
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	278	(424)
Translation differences for foreign operations	(474)	(1,788)
Others	(2,181)	(61)
Subtotal	1,849	(1,344)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to		
profit or loss:		
Actuarial losses on pension benefits	(1)	(1)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at	(207)	
fair value through other comprehensive income	(205)	665
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated at fair value through		
profit or loss	(198)	(114)
Others	(264)	(17)
Subtotal	(668)	533

	Three months ended 31 March	
	2024	2023
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	1,181	(811)
Total comprehensive income for the period	26,434	24,140
Net profit attributable to:		
Shareholders of the parent company	24,988	24,633
Non-controlling interests	265	318
	25,253	24,951
Total comprehensive income attributable to:		
Shareholders of the parent company	26,534	23,578
Non-controlling interests	(100)	562
	<u>26,434</u>	24,140
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	0.34	0.33

(II) Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

	As at 31 March 2024	As at 31 December 2023
ASSETS		
Cash and balances with central banks	761,645	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and		
other financial institutions	939,332	859,642
Derivative financial assets	68,092	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	8,011,710	7,772,060
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	626,751	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,536,707	2,573,911
Financial investments at fair value through other		
comprehensive income	891,616	887,949
Investments in associates and joint ventures	9,062	8,990
Property and equipment	221,898	217,751
Deferred tax assets	40,439	40,379
Other assets	130,839	92,099
Total assets	14,238,091	14,060,472
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
LIABILITIES		
Due to and placements from banks and		
other financial institutions	2,299,489	2,424,537
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	59,034	56,557
Derivative financial liabilities	50,061	50,975
Deposits from customers	8,679,901	8,551,215
Certificates of deposits issued	1,182,471	1,027,461
Income tax payable	6,604	4,538
Debt securities issued	578,849	592,175
Deferred tax liabilities	2,621	2,407
Other liabilities	253,243	251,157
Total liabilities	13,112,273	12,961,022

	As at 31 March 2024	As at 31 December 2023
EQUITY		
Share capital	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	111,428	111,428
Other reserves	402,425	400,805
Retained earnings	351,658	326,744
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	1,114,564	1,088,030
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares Equity attributable to non-controlling interests	7,744	7,912
of other equity instruments	3,510	3,508
Non-controlling interests	11,254	11,420
Total equity	1,125,818	1,099,450
Total equity and liabilities	14,238,091	14,060,472

(III) Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows

	Three months ended 31 March 2024 2023	
Cook flows from an anating activities.		
Cash flows from operating activities: Profit before tax:	27 240	26 402
Adjustments for:	27,349	26,402
Provision for credit impairment losses	14,424	15,398
Provision for other assets impairment losses	174	72
Depreciation and amortization	4,766	4,611
Provision/(reversal) for outstanding litigation and unsettled	4,700	7,011
obligation	70	(36)
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	(9)	(220)
Interest income on financial investments	(28,261)	(27,036)
Fair value and foreign exchange net gains	(332)	(4,511)
Net gains on investments in associates and joint ventures	(93)	(53)
Net (gains)/losses on financial investments	(555)	132
Interest expense on debt securities issued	4,114	3,834
Interest expense on lease liabilities	43	41
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities	21,690	18,634
Net decrease/(increase) in balances with central banks Net increase in due from and placements with banks and other	43,467	(15,481)
financial institutions	(82,134)	(107,572)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(255,883)	(397,612)
Net decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or		
loss	17,849	37,240
Net increase in other assets	(42,110)	(42,777)
Net decrease in due to and placements from banks and other		
financial institutions	(115,616)	(22,254)
Net increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value		
through profit or loss	191	(8,278)
Net increase in deposits from customers and certificates of		
deposit issued	288,123	691,322
Net decrease in other liabilities	(1,071)	(20,524)
Net increase in value-added tax and other taxes payable	607	799
Income taxes paid	(873)	(520)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities	(125,760)	132,977

	Three months end 2024	ded 31 March 2023
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Cash payments for financial investments	(186,648)	(284,180)
Proceeds from disposal or redemption of financial investments	223,882	172,347
Dividends received	5	2
Interest received from financial investments	23,449	19,975
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets	(98)	(465)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets	3	1
Acquisition of property, equipment	(8,629)	(11,613)
Cash received from disposal of property and equipment	917	2,236
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing activities	52,881	(101,697)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from issue of debt securities	5,380	47,393
Repayment of principals and interest of lease liabilities	(584)	(648)
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued	(19,619)	(23,468)
Payment of interest on debt securities	(2,997)	(2,184)
Dividends paid	(42)	(172)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests	(66)	(65)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities	(17,928)	20,856
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash		
equivalents held	(765)	(1,018)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents	(91,572)	51,118
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	275,461	248,803
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	183,889	299,921
Net cash flows from operating activities include:		
Interest received	85,693	83,714
Interest paid	(69,202)	(62,535)

ISSUER

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

AUDITORS OF THE BANK

for the year ended 31 December 2021

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor 22/F, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central Hong Kong

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023

KPMG

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor 8/F, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central Hong Kong

FISCAL AGENT AND PAYING AGENT

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

CMU LODGING AND PAYING AGENT

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English law

To the Joint Lead Managers as to English law

Linklaters

11th Floor, Alexandra House Chater Road Hong Kong Allen Overy Shearman Sterling
9th Floor, Three Exchange Square
Central
Hong Kong

To the Issuer as to PRC law

King & Wood Mallesons

17th Floor, One ICC Shanghai International Commerce Center 999 Middle Huai Hai Road Xuhui District, Shanghai 200031 PRC

To the Joint Lead Managers as to PRC law

JunHe LLP

20th Floor 8 Jianguomenbei Avenue Beijing 100005 PRC

Appendix 2 Supplemental Offering Circular dated 4 December 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the supplemental offering circular following this page (the "Supplemental Offering Circular"), and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of this Supplemental Offering Circular. In accessing this Supplemental Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive any information from us as a result of such access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE DOWNLOADED, FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES. ANY DOWNLOADING, FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS SUPPLEMENTAL OFFERING CIRCULAR IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED THEREIN.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view this Supplemental Offering Circular or make an investment decision with respect to the securities, investors must not be located in the United States. This Supplemental Offering Circular is being sent at your request and by accepting the e-mail and accessing this Supplemental Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Issuer"), Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, Bank of China Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch, Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch, BOCOM International Securities Limited, CCB International Capital Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, CLSA Limited, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong Branch, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch and Standard Chartered Bank (together, the "Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes"), and Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch, Bank of China Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, CLSA Limited, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch and Standard Chartered Bank (together, the "Joint Lead Managers for the CNY Notes") and together with the Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes, the "Joint Lead Managers") that you and any customers you represent are persons outside the United States and the electronic mail address that you gave us and to which this e-mail has been delivered is not located in the United States and that you consent to delivery of the attached Supplemental Offering Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

Notice to capital market intermediaries and prospective investors pursuant to paragraph 21 of the Hong Kong SFC Code of Conduct – Important Notice to Prospective Investors: Prospective investors should be aware that certain intermediaries in the context of the offering of each of the Series (as defined in this Supplemental Offering Circular), including certain Joint Lead Managers are "capital market intermediaries" (together, the "CMIs") subject to Paragraph 21 of the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the Securities and Futures Commission (the "SFC Code"). This notice to prospective investors is a summary of certain obligations the SFC Code imposes on such CMIs, which require the attention and cooperation of prospective investors. Certain CMIs may also be acting as "overall coordinators" (together, the "OCs") for the offering and are subject to additional requirements under the SFC Code.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the Issuer, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank"), a CMI or its group companies would be considered under the SFC Code as having an association ("Association") with the Issuer, the Bank, the CMI or the relevant group company. Prospective investors associated with the Issuer, the Bank or any CMI (including its group companies) should specifically disclose this when placing an order for the relevant Series of Notes and should disclose, at the same time, if such orders may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant offering. Prospective investors who do not disclose their Associations are hereby deemed not to be so associated. Where prospective investors disclose their Associations but do not disclose that such order may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant offering, such order is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to such offering.

Prospective investors should ensure, and by placing an order prospective investors are deemed to confirm, that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute duplicated orders (i.e. two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more CMIs). If a prospective investor is an asset management arm affiliated with any Joint Lead Manager, such prospective investor should indicate when placing an order if it is for a fund or portfolio where the Joint Lead Manager or its group company has more than 50 per cent. interest, in which case it will be classified as a "proprietary order" and subject to appropriate handling by CMIs in accordance with the SFC Code and should disclose, at the same time, if such "proprietary order" may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the offering of the relevant Series of Notes. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not a "proprietary order". If a prospective investor is otherwise affiliated with any Joint Lead Manager, such that its order may be considered to be a "proprietary order" (pursuant to the SFC Code), such prospective investor should indicate to the relevant Joint Lead Manager when placing such order. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not a "proprietary order". Where prospective investors disclose such information but do not disclose that such "proprietary order" may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to the relevant offering, such "proprietary order" is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to such offering.

Prospective investors should be aware that certain information may be disclosed by CMIs (including private banks) which is personal and/or confidential in nature to the prospective investor. By placing an order, prospective investors are deemed to have understood and consented to the collection, disclosure, use and transfer of such information by the Joint Lead Managers and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, including to the Issuer, the Bank, any OCs, relevant regulators and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, it being understood and agreed that such information shall only be used for the purpose of complying with the SFC Code, during the bookbuilding process for the offering of each Series of Notes. Failure to provide such information may result in that order being rejected.

You are reminded that this Supplemental Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession this Supplemental Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver this Supplemental Offering Circular to any other person. You should not reply by e-mail to this notice, and you may not purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the "Reply" function on your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.

The materials relating to the offering of securities to which this Supplemental Offering Circular relates do not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the underwriters or any affiliate of the underwriters is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the underwriters or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer (as defined in this Supplemental Offering Circular) in such jurisdiction. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and transfer of securities and on the distribution of this Supplemental Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale" in the Original Offering Circular (as defined in this Supplemental Offering Circular) and this Supplemental Offering Circular.

This Supplemental Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Issuer, the Bank, the Joint Lead Managers, any person who controls any of the Joint Lead Managers, any director, officer, employee nor agent of the Issuer, the Bank, the Joint Lead Managers, or affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between this Supplemental Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request from the Joint Lead Managers. You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(a joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Issue of U.S.\$300,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027 Issue of CNY3,600,000,000 2.38 per cent. Notes due 2026 each issued under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme

This supplemental offering circular (this "Supplemental Offering Circular") is supplemental to, forms part of and must be read and construed in conjunction with, to the offering circular dated 22 July 2024 (the "Original Offering Circular", together with this Supplemental Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular") prepared by Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Issuer"), in connection with the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme described in the Original Offering Circular (the "Programme"). This Supplemental Offering Circular is prepared in connection with the U.S.\$300,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027 (the "USD Notes") and the CNY3,600,000,000 2.38 per cent. Notes due 2026 (the "CNY Notes") each to be issued by the Issuer under the Programme only and does not otherwise modify the Programme. Terms given a defined meaning in the Original Offering Circular shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the same meaning when used in this Supplemental Offering Circular. In this Supplemental Offering Circular, references to "Notes" are to any of the USD Notes and the CNY Notes; and references to a "Series of Notes" or to a "Series" are to the USD Notes and the CNY Notes, separately. To the extent there is any inconsistency between any statement in this Supplemental Offering Circular and any statement in the meanings given to them in the Original Offering Circular.

Application will be made to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKSE") for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Notes by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) ("Professional Investors") only. This Supplemental Offering Circular is for distribution to Professional Investors only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer and the Bank confirm that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the HKSE on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer and the Bank confirm that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The HKSE has not reviewed the contents of this Supplemental Offering Circular, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Supplemental Offering Circular to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Supplemental Offering Circular. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the HKSE is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, the Bank or the Group or quality of disclosure in this Supplemental Offering Circular. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the HKSE take no responsibility for the contents of this Supplemental Offering Circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Supplemental Offering Circular.

The USD Notes and the CNY Notes will be issued in registered form and initially represented by relevant Global Certificate which will be registered in the name of, and lodged with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority and deposited on or about the Issue Date (as defined in the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of the USD Notes and the CNY Notes) with a sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service (the "CMU"), operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "HKMA").

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. The Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States except in accordance with Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. For a description of thean and certain restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and the distribution of the Original Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale" in the Original Offering Circular. The Notes may be subject to additional selling restrictions as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Each Series of Notes is expected to be assigned a rating of "A2" by Moody's. The Programme has been rated "A2" by Moody's and "A" by Fitch. These ratings are only correct as at the date of this Supplemental Offering Circular. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction, revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks and may not be suitable for all investors. See "Risk Factors" herein and in the Original Offering Circular for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the Notes. Investors should have sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to evaluate the information contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular and the Original Offering Circular and the merits and risks of investing in the Notes in the context of their financial position and particular circumstances. Investors also should have the financial capacity to bear the risks associated with an investment in the Notes. Investors should not purchase the Notes unless they understand and are able to bear risks associated with the Notes.

The sections of the Original Offering Circular entitled "Summary Financial Information", "Risk Factors", "Capitalisation and Indebtedness", "Use of Proceeds", "Description of the Bank", "Risk Management and Internal Control", "Description of the Bank's Assets and Liabilities", "Substantial Shareholders", "Management of the Bank", "Subscription and Sale" and "General Information" have been supplemented and/or amended with the information in this Supplemental Offering Circular.

With effect from the date of this Supplemental Offering Circular the information appearing in the Original Offering Circular with respect to the Notes shall be amended and/or supplemented by the inclusion of the information set out below.

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes

Bank of Communications Bank of China HSBC

Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes

Agricultural Bank of China	BOCOM International	CCB International	China CITIC Bank International	China Everbright Bank Hong Kong Branch
China International Capital Corporation	China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch	CITIC Securities	CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited	Crédit Agricole CIB
Guotai Junan International	Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong Branch	ICBC	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch	Standard Chartered Bank

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers for the CNY Notes

Bank of Communications	Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch	Bank of China	China CITIC Bank International	China Everbright Bank Hong Kong Branch
China International Capital Corporation	China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch	CITIC Securities	CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited	Crédit Agricole CIB
Guotai Junan International	HSBC	ICBC	Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch	Standard Chartered Bank

Supplemental Offering Circular dated 4 December 2024

IMPORTANT NOTICE

This Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules") for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer, the Bank and the Group (as defined below). The Issuer and the Bank accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

The Notes will be issued on the terms set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" in the Original Offering Circular, as amended and/or supplemented by the Pricing Supplement in respect of the USD Notes (the "USD Notes Pricing Supplement") and the Pricing Supplement in respect of the CNY Notes (the "CNY Notes Pricing Supplement", together with the USD Notes Pricing Supplement, the "Pricing Supplements"), each set out in this Supplemental Offering Circular. This Supplemental Offering Circular and the Original Offering Circular must be read and construed together with any amendments or supplements hereto and with any information incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to the Notes, must be read and construed together with the relevant Pricing Supplement. This Supplemental Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated and form part of the Original Offering Circular.

The distribution of this Supplemental Offering Circular (together with the Original Offering Circular) and the Pricing Supplements and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Supplemental Offering Circular (together with the Original Offering Circular) comes are required by the Issuer, the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, Bank of China Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch, Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch, BOCOM International Securities Limited, CCB International Capital Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, CLSA Limited, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong Branch, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch and Standard Chartered Bank (together, the "Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes"), and Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch, Bank of China Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, CLSA Limited, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch and Standard Chartered Bank (together, the "Joint Lead Managers for the CNY Notes" and together with the Joint Lead Managers for the USD Notes, the "Joint Lead Managers") to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. None of the Issuer, the Group or the Joint Lead Managers represents that this Supplemental Offering Circular (together with the Original Offering Circular) or the Pricing Supplements may be lawfully distributed, or that the Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Group or the Joint Lead Managers which would permit a public offering of the Notes or distribution of this Supplemental Offering Circular (together with the Original Offering Circular)

2199430447 1

or the Pricing Supplements in any jurisdiction where action for such purposes is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and none of this Supplemental Offering Circular (together with the Original Offering Circular), the Pricing Supplements or any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

There are restrictions on the offer and sale of the Notes and the circulation of documents relating thereto, in certain jurisdictions including, but not limited to, the United States of America, the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, Japan, Hong Kong, the PRC, Singapore and Taiwan, and to persons connected therewith. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States. The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes and on the distribution of the Original Offering Circular, the Supplemental Offering Circular and each of the Pricing Supplement, see "Subscription and Sale" in the Original Offering Circular. The Notes may be subject to additional selling restrictions as set out in each of the Pricing Supplements.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the USD Notes and the CNY Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Listing of the Programme and the Notes on the HKSE is not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Notes, the Issuer or the Group. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Issuer, the Group and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. See "*Risk Factors*" herein and in the Original Offering Circular for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the Notes.

No person has been authorised by the Issuer or the Group to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) or any other document entered into in relation to the Notes and the sale of Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Group or any of the Joint Lead Managers.

No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Joint Lead Managers, any fiscal agent, paying agents or any of their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the information contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular, and nothing contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular is, or should be, relied upon as a promise or representation by the Joint Lead Managers, fiscal agent, paying agent or their officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents. The Joint Lead Managers, the fiscal agent, the paying agents and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers, the fiscal agent, the paying agents or their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Supplemental Offering Circular or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Joint Lead Managers or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group or the issue and offering of the Notes. The Joint Lead Managers, the fiscal agent, the paying agents and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in

tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Supplemental Offering Circular or any such statement.

Neither the delivery of this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) nor the Pricing Supplements nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any circumstances create any implication that the information contained this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) is true subsequent to the date hereof or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change, in the prospects or financial or trading position of the Issuer of the Group since the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Joint Lead Managers expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Group during the term of the Notes or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information coming to their attention.

None of the Joint Lead Managers or any Agents (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" in the Original Offering Circular) has separately verified the information contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular or the Original Offering Circular. To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers or any Agents or any director, officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any such person makes any representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Supplemental Offering Circular or the Original Offering Circular. To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers or any Agents or any director, officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any such person accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Supplemental Offering Circular or the Original Offering Circular or for any other statement made or purported to be made by any Joint Lead Manager, any Agent, or any director, officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any such person or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Notes or the issue and offering of the Notes. Each Joint Lead Manager and each Agent accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Supplemental Offering Circular or the Original Offering Circular or any such statement.

Neither this Supplemental Offering Circular nor the Original Offering Circular describes all of the risks and investment considerations (including those relating to each investor's particular circumstances) of an investment in the Notes. Each potential purchaser of the Notes should refer to and consider carefully the Original Offering Circular, this Supplemental Offering Circular and the Pricing Supplements for the Notes, which may describe additional risks and investment considerations associated with such Notes. The risks and investment considerations identified in this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) and the Pricing Supplements are provided as general information only. Investors should consult their own financial and legal advisers as to the risks and investment considerations arising from an investment in the Notes and should possess the appropriate resources to analyse such investment and the suitability of such investment in their particular circumstances.

Neither this Supplemental Offering Circular, the Original Offering Circular nor any other information provided or incorporated by reference in connection with the Programme and the Notes are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Group or the Joint Lead Managers, or any director, officer, employee, agent or affiliate of any such person that any recipient, of this Supplemental Offering Circular or of any such information, should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of the Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer and the Group. Each potential purchaser of the Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Supplemental Offering Circular (read together with the Original Offering Circular) and its purchase of the Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Joint Lead Managers or the Agents or any agent or affiliate

of any such person undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Supplemental Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Joint Lead Managers, the Agents or any of them.
The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of the Notes and distribution of this Supplemental Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale" in the Original Offering Circular, as supplemented by "Subscription and Sale" in this Supplemental Offering Circular.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Certain financial information in this Supplemental Offering Circular has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "2021 Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 21 April 2022, on the website of the HKSE, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the "2022 Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 25 April 2023, on the website of the HKSE and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the "2023 Historical Financial Statements" together with the 2021 Historical Financial Statements and the 2022 Historical Financial Statements, the "Historical Financial Statements"), which were published on 22 April 2024, on the website of the HKSE. The Historical Financial Statements were prepared and presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRS") and have been audited by PwC and KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISA").

Certain financial information in this Supplemental Offering Circular has been derived from the unaudited but reviewed condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Group as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2024 (the "2024 Interim Financial Information"), which were published on 28 August 2024, on the website of the HKSE. The 2024 Interim Financial Information has been reviewed by KPMG in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity".

Furthermore, certain financial information in this Supplemental Offering Circular has been derived from the unaudited condensed consolidated third quarter financial statements of the Group as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2024 (the "2024 Third Quarter Financial Information"), which were published on 30 October 2024, on the website of the HKSE.

The 2024 Interim Financial Information and the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information have not been audited by PwC or KPMG. Consequently, the 2024 Interim Financial Information or the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information should not be relied upon by you to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit, as appropriate. Investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Group's financial condition and results of operations. The 2024 Interim Financial Information and the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition and results of operations of the Group as at and for the full financial year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group implemented the *International Financial Reporting Standard 17—Insurance Contracts* and its amendments ("**IFRS 17**") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board from 1 January 2023 ("**new insurance contracts standard**"). The main amendments of the IFRS 17 include adjusting the recognition principles for insurance revenue and revising the measurement of insurance contract liabilities. Changes in the accounting policies have not had any material impact on the Group's financial position and operating results. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to and re-presented the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports.

Unless otherwise stated, all financial data contained herein which is stated as relating to the Bank are referring to the consolidated data of the Group.

In this Supplemental Offering Circular, because certain amounts have been rounded, totals of columns or rows of numbers in tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items, and actual numbers may differ from those contained herein due to rounding.

Solely for the sake of convenience, this Supplemental Offering Circular contains translations of certain Renminbi amounts into US dollar amounts. Unless indicated otherwise, the translation of Renminbi amounts into US dollar amounts has been made at the rate of RMB7.2672 to U.S.\$1.00, the noon buying rate as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on 28 June 2024. These translations should not be construed as representations that the Renminbi amounts could actually be converted into any US dollar amounts at the rates indicated or at all.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements under "Risk Factors", "Business" and elsewhere in this Supplemental Offering Circular constitute "forward-looking statements". The words including "believe", "expect", "plan", "anticipate", "schedule", "estimate", "may", "will", "would", "could", "aim", "intend", "project", "potential", "future", "seek", "should" and similar words or the negative thereof, or expressions identify forward-looking statements. In addition, all statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Supplemental Offering Circular, including, but without limitation, those regarding the financial position, business strategy, prospects, capital expenditure and investment plans of the Group and the plans and objectives of the Group's management for its future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to the Group's operations), are forward-looking statements.

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results or performance of the Group to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group's present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. The Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the Issuer's or the Group's expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances, on which any such statements were based. This Supplemental Offering Circular discloses, under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere, important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Issuer's expectations. All subsequent written and forward-looking statements attributable to the Issuer or persons acting on behalf of the Issuer are expressly qualified in their entirety by such cautionary statements.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Series of the Notes, one or more of the Joint Lead Managers as Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the relevant Pricing Supplement may over allot that relevant Series of Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of that Series of Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of that Series of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of that Series of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Supplemental Offering Circular should be read and construed in conjunction with the Original Offering Circular (and the documents incorporated by reference therein) and all amendments and supplements from time to time to this Supplemental Offering Circular, which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part

of, this Supplemental Offering Circular and which shall be deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this
Supplemental Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any such document is inconsistent
with such contents.
Copies of all such documents which are so deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form part of, this
Supplemental Offering Circular and the Original Offering Circular will be available free of charge during usual
business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) from the specified offices of the Issuer
and of the Fiscal Agent.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION	9
RISK FACTORS	18
PRICING SUPPLEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE USD NOTES	35
PRICING SUPPLEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE CNY NOTES	50
CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS	58
USE OF PROCEEDS	59
DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK	60
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL	83
DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	89
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS	97
MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK	98
BANKING REGULATION AND SUPERVISION IN THE PRC	110
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	112
GENERAL INFORMATION	113
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-Pages

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth the summary consolidated financial information of the Group as at and for the periods indicated.

The summary consolidated financial information as at and for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 set forth below is derived from the Historical Financial Statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS. The summary consolidated financial information as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2024 and the summary consolidated financial information as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2023 and 2024 set forth below are derived from the 2024 Interim Financial Information and the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information, respectively, which are prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Historical Financial Statements have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA. The 2024 Interim Financial Information and the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information have not been audited by PwC or KPMG. Investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Group's financial condition and results of operations. Such summary consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with such published audited consolidated financial statements and the unaudited consolidated third quarter financial statements and the notes thereto.

The 2024 Interim Financial Information and the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition and results of operations of the Group as at and for the full financial year ending 31 December 2024.

With effect from 1 January 2023, the Group adopted IFRS 17 under which the Group was required to adjust certain amounts recognised in the Group's audited consolidated financial statements. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to and re-presented the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports. Please refer to Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) of the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements for the effects of the adoption of IFRS 17.

The Group's financial information as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 was restated in the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements and may not be directly comparable against the 2022 Historical Financial Statements. Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures prior to 31 December 2022 against the financial figures on or after 31 December 2022 and when evaluating the Group's financial position and results of operations.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023

The consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set forth below are extracted from the Historical Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA.

As at 31 December

<u>-</u>				
	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	2023
-		(RMB in m	illion)	
		(audite	,	
		(ununc	α)	
Assets				
Cash and balances with central banks	734,728	806,102	806,102	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	632,708	690,421	690,421	859,642
Derivative financial assets	39,220	69,687	69,687	67,387
Financial investments at fair value through profit	37,220	02,007	02,007	07,307
or loss	638,483	705,357	705,357	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,203,037	2,450,775	2,450,775	2,573,911
Financial investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	681,729	799,075	799,075	887,949
Loans and advances to customers	6,412,201	7,136,677	7,135,454	7,772,060
Investment in associates and joint ventures	5,779	8,750	8,750	8,990
Property and equipment	171,194	194,169	194,169	217,751
Deferred tax assets	32,061	38,771	39,512	40,379
Other assets	114,617	92,635	92,269	92,099
Total assets	11,665,757	12,992,419	12,991,571	14,060,472
Liabilities				
Due to and placements from banks and other				
financial institutions	1,947,768	2,034,894	2,034,894	2,424,537
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	50,048	47,949	47,949	56,557
Derivative financial liabilities	,		,	,
	36,074 7,039,777	46,804 7,949,072	46,804	50,975 8,551,215
Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued			7,949,072	, ,
•	892,020	1,092,366	1,092,366	1,027,461
Income tax payable Deferred tax liabilities	4,725 1,889	3,937 1,786	3,937 1,786	4,538 2,407
Debt securities issued	503,525	530,861	530,861	592,175
Other liabilities				
-	212,695	249,010	250,380	251,157
Total liabilities	10,688,521	11,956,679	11,958,049	12,961,022
Equity				
Share capital	74,263	74,263	74,263	74,263
Other equity Instruments	174,790	174,790	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838	129,838	129,838

			A	As at 31 December
	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	2023
-		(RMB in n	nillion)	
		(audite	ed)	
Capital surplus	111,428	111,429	111,429	111,428
Other reserves	346,092	369,259	368,808	400,805
Retained earnings	258,074	293,668	292,734	326,744
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	964,647	1,023,409	1,022,024	1,088,030
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	9,424	8,873	8,040	7,912
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments	3,165	3,458	3,458	3,508
Non-controlling interests	12,589	12,331	11,498	11,420
Total equity	977,236	1,035,740	1,033,522	1,099,450
Total equity and liabilities	11,665,757	12,992,419	12,991,571	14,060,472

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Years 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023

The consolidated statements of Profit or Loss and Other comprehensive income of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set forth below are extracted from the Historical Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been audited by PwC or KPMG, as the case may be, in accordance with ISA.

			Year en	ded 31 December
_	2021	2022 (RMB in million unles	2022 (after restatement)	2023
		(audit	,	
Interest income	377,646	418,122	418,067	459,861
Interest expense	(215,953)	(248,185)	(248,185)	(295,738)
Net interest income	161,693	169,937	169,882	164,123
Fee and commission income	52,285	49,339	49,339	47,148
Fee and commission expense	(4,712)	(4,700)	(4,484)	(4,144)
Net fee and commission income	47,573	44,639	44,855	43,004
Net gains arising from trading activities	23,344	17,607	17,607	23,224
Net gains arising from financial investments	1,311	494	494	727
Including: Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost	46	64	64	40
Share of profits of associates and joint venture	277	292	292	356
Insurance business income	16,515	18,100	-	-
Other operating income	19,035	22,459	24,216	26,580

			Y ear ende	d 31 Decembe
_	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	202
_		(RMB in million unless	otherwise stated)	
		(audite	<i>d</i>)	
Net operating income	269,748	273,528	257,346	258,01
Credit impairment losses	(66,371)	(60,411)	(60,411)	(56,90
Other assets impairment losses	(2,320)	(1,897)	(1,897)	(1,06
Insurance business expense	(17,054)	(19,380)	-	
Other operating expense	(90,044)	(93,625)	(96,923)	(100,34
Profit before tax	93,959	98,215	98,115	99,69
Income tax	(5,020)	(6,185)	(6,160)	(6,44
Net profit for the period	88,939	92,030	91,955	93,2
Other comprehensive income				
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:				
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI				
Amount recognised in equity	3,649	(7,745)	(7,737)	7,5
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(870)	(669)	(669)	(66
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI				
Amount recognised in equity	(394)	1,219	1,219	1,0
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	-	-	-	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedges				
Amount recognised in equity	891	2,004	2,004	(66
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(463)	(1,204)	(1,204)	
Others	14	136	(641)	(2,36
Translation difference on foreign operations	(3,450)	8,562	8,562	2,1
Subtotal	(623)	2,303	1,534	7,1
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:				
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension benefits	55	(34)	(34)	
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income	(1,555)	(1,301)	(1,214)	ç
Changes in fair value attributable to change in the credit risk of financial liability designated at	(1,555)	(1,501)	(1,217)	,
FVPL	(36)	(133)	(133)	4
Others	2	(1)	(19)	(31
Subtotal	(1,534)	(1,469)	(1,400)	1,1
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	(2,157)	834	134	8,3
Total Comprehensive income for the year	86,782	92,864	92,089	101,5

			Year ende	ed 31 December
_	2021	2022	2022 (after restatement)	2023
_		(RMB in million unless	s otherwise stated)	
		(audite	ed)	
Shareholders of the parent company	87,581	92,149	92,102	92,728
Non-controlling interests	1,358	(119)	(147)	524
Total comprehensive income attributable to:				
Shareholders of the parent company	85,696	92,607	92,122	100,862
Non-controlling interests	1,086	257	(33)	690
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent				
company (in RMB yuan)	1.10	1.14	1.14	1.15

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2023, 30 June 2024 and 30 September 2024

The consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, 30 June 2024 and 30 September 2024 as set forth below is extracted from the 2023 Historical Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and have been audited by KPMG in accordance with ISA, the 2024 Interim Financial Information prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS and reviewed by KPMG in accordance with International Standards on Review Engagements 2410, and from the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS, respectively.

	As at 31 December	As at 30 June	As at 30 September
	2023	2024	2024
	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)
	(audited)	(reviewed)	(unaudited)
Assets			
Cash and balances with central banks	898,022	737,032	727,476
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	859,642	848,684	894,954
Derivative financial assets	67,387	79,459	63,588
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	642,282	613,900	694,823
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,573,911	2,489,110	2,536,924
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive			
income	887,949	920,070	994,646
Loans and advances to customers	7,772,060	8,066,326	8,238,069
Investment in associates and joint ventures	8,990	9,354	11,546
Property and equipment	217,751	227,878	231,835
Deferred tax assets	40,379	40,078	39,371
Other assets	92,099	146,023	161,477

	As at 31 December	As at 30 June	As at 30 September
	2023	2024	2024
	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)	(RMB in million)
Total assets	14,060,472	14,177,914	14,594,709
Liabilities			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	2,424,537	2,257,871	2,385,006
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	56,557	59,551	55,456
Derivative financial liabilities	50,975	60,380	52,835
Due to customers	8,551,215	8,650,116	8,727,029
Certificates of deposits issued	1,027,461	1,128,611	1,314,416
Income tax payable	4,538	3,261	3,895
Deferred tax liabilities	2,407	2,533	2,510
Debt securities issued	592,175	599,046	642,238
Other liabilities	251,157	297,254	271,570
Total liabilities	12,961,022	13,058,623	13,454,955
Equity			
Share capital	74,263	74,263	74,263
Other equity Instruments	174,790	174,790	174,796
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838	129,844
Capital surplus	111,428	111,428	111,422
Other reserves	400,805	427,719	427,985
Retained earnings	326,744	319,174	339,442
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	1,088,030	1,107,374	1,127,908
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	7,912	8,384	8,355
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments	3,508	3,533	3,491
Non-controlling interests	11,420	11,917	11,846
Total equity	1,099,450	1,119,291	1,139,754
Total equity and liabilities	14,060,472	14,177,914	14,594,709

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Six Months Ended 30 June 2023 and 2024 and Nine Months Ended 30 June 2023 and 2024

The condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2024 and nine months ended 30 September 2023 and 2024 as set forth below is extracted from the 2024 Interim Financial Information prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS and reviewed by KPMG in accordance with International Standards on Review Engagements 2410, and from the 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS, respectively.

	Six months	ended 30 June	Nine months ended 30 September		
	2023	2024	2023	2024	
	(RMB in million unle	ess otherwise	(RMB in million unle	ess otherwise	
	stated)		stated) (unaudited)		
	(reviewed	<i>l</i>)			
Interest income	228,406	228,038	345,220	340,379	
Interest expense	(146,019)	(143,804)	(221,095)	(213,583	
Net interest income	82,387	84,234	124,125	126,796	
Fee and commission income	26,691	22,933	37,207	32,278	
Fee and commission expense	(2,111)	(1,933)	(3,092)	(2,925)	
Net fee and commission income	24,580	21,000	34,115	29,353	
Net gains arising from trading activities	17,637	12,089	21,135	16,529	
Net gains arising from financial investments	(32)	934	269	1,905	
Including: Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of					
financial assets measured at amortised cost	10	104	23	377	
Share of profits of associates and joint venture	161	307	221	400	
Other operating income	12,574	13,986	19,266	21,428	
Net operating income	137,307	132,550	199,131	196,411	
Credit impairment losses	(36,346)	(33,021)	(48,431)	(44,841	
Other assets impairment (losses)	(594)	(467)	(622)	(647	
Other operating expense	(50,693)	(51,384)	(76,487)	(78,037	
Profit before tax	49,674	47,678	73,591	72,886	
Income tax	(3,108)	(1,853)	(3,911)	(3,474	
Net profit for the period	46,566	45,825	69,680	69,412	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax					
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:					
Changes in fair value of debt instruments					
measured at fair value through other					
comprehensive income Amount recognised in equity	2,923	8,561	2,499	10,765	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(190)	(801)	(293)	(1,249	
Expected credit losses of debt instruments	(190)	(601)	(273)	(1,24)	
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income					
Amount recognised in equity	448	(254)	860	73	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	_	_	_	-	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge					
Amount recognised in equity	(1,079)	339	(838)	191	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	888	(31)	299	(160	
Others	(1,220)	(2,734)	2,985	(1,002	
Translation difference on foreign operations	3,865	(34)	(1,458)	(3,231	
Subtotal	5,635	5,046	4,054	5,387	

	Six months ended 30 June			Nine months ended 30 September		
	2023		2024	2023	2024	
	(RMB in million unless otherwise stated) (reviewed)		se (RM	(RMB in million unless otherwise stated) (unaudited)		
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:						
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income	1,129	1	1,251	796	1,190	
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension benefits	4		_	19	(7	
Changes in fair value attributable to change in the credit risk of financial liability designated at						
FVPL	(148)	((219)	(111)	(415	
Others	(225)	((460)	(285)	(193	
Subtotal	760		572	419	58	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	6,395		5,618	4,473	5,968	
Total comprehensive income for the period	52,961	51	1,443	74,153	75,380	
Net profit attributable to:						
Shareholders of the parent company	46,039	45	5,287	69,166	68,69	
Non-controlling interests	527		538	514	72	
	46,566	45	5,825	69,680	69,41	
Total comprehensive income attributable to:						
Shareholders of the parent company	51,959	50	0,710	73,323	74,31	
Non-controlling interests	1,002		733	830	1,06	
	52,961	51	1,443	74,153	75,38	
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the Bank (in RMB yuan)	0.57		0.56	0.84	0.8	
Financial Indicators				As at/for the six months ended 30	As at/for th nine month ended 3	
	As at/ for the years ended 31 Decen		31 December	June	September	
	2021	2022	2023	2024	202	
			(%)			
Return on average assets ⁽¹⁾	0.80	0.75	0.69	0.65	0.6	
Cost-to-income ratio ⁽²⁾	27.67	29.65	30.04	29.94	30.3	
Non-performing loan ratio ⁽³⁾	1.48	1.35	1.33	1.32	1.3	
Provision coverage ratio	166.50	180.68	195.21	204.82	203.8	
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio ⁽⁴⁾	13.01	12.18	12.22	12.25	12.2	
Core Tier 1 / Common Equity Tier 1 capital						

				As at/for the	As at/for the
				six months	nine months
				ended 30	ended 30
	As at/ for the years ended 31 December			June	September
_	2021	2022	2023	2024	2024
-			(%)		
Capital adequacy ratio ⁽⁴⁾	15.45	14.97	15.27	16.34	16.22

Notes:

- (1) Calculated by dividing annualised net profit of the reporting period by the average of total assets at the beginning and the end of the reporting period.
- (2) Calculated as operating expenses divided by net operating income after the deduction of other operating expenses, consistent with the financial report in accordance with China Accounting Standards.
- (3) Calculated according to the regulatory standards.
- (4) Calculated pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks and relevant regulations by the National Banking and Insurance Regulatory Administration, including all of the Group's domestic and overseas branches and subsidiaries of those financial institutions (excluding insurance companies).

RISK FACTORS

The risk factors relevant to the Issuer, the Bank and the Notes shall consist of the risk factors set out herein and in the section entitled "Risk Factors" of the Original Offering Circular. Prior to making any investment decision, prospective investors should consider carefully all of the information in this Supplemental Offering Circular and the Original Offering Circular, including but not limited to the risks and uncertainties described below. The Bank believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to repay principal, pay interest or other amounts or fulfil other obligations on or in connection with the Notes may occur for other reasons and the Bank does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Notes are exhaustive. The following factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and each of the Bank and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. Any of the risks or uncertainties described below, as well as additional risks or uncertainties, including those which are not currently known to the Bank or which the Bank currently deems to be immaterial, may affect the Group's business, financial condition or results of operations or the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.

The sub-section entitled "Risks Relating to the Bank's Business" of "Risk Factors" on pages 19 to 35 in the Original Offering Circular shall be deemed to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Risks Relating to the Bank's Business

Uncertainties and instability in global market conditions could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group has been, and in the future will continue to be, materially affected by geo-political, economic and market conditions, including factors such as the liquidity of the global financial markets, any Sino-U.S. trade friction, recent conflicts between Russian and Ukraine, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, the destabilisation of the Middle East region following conflicts between Israel and Hamas, the level and volatility of debt and equity prices, interest rates, currency and commodities prices, investor sentiment, inflation, and the availability and cost of capital and credit. International Monetary Fund revised global GDP growth forecasts downward for 2023 in response to the economic slowdown caused by Russia's war in Ukraine, tighter global financing costs and the financial market conditions.

Since 2017, there has been a more inward-looking policy agenda in the U.S. aimed at encouraging U.S. companies to bring back jobs, renegotiating trade pacts and stimulating the domestic economy via infrastructure spending and tax reforms. In Europe, the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, and any prolonged period of uncertainty which results, could have a significant negative impact on international markets. These could include further falls in stock exchange indices, a fall in the value of the Pound, an increase in exchange rates between the Pound and the Euro and/or greater volatility of markets in general due to the increased uncertainty.

The implications of these developments for the world and the Group are significant. First, a rise in global trade protectionism may negatively impact the trade-dependent economies in Asia. Second, the interplay of U.S. fiscal and monetary policies, and ongoing quantitative easing programmes in Japan and Europe may lead to more volatile global capital flows, which could in turn impact global growth. Third, financial market volatility and increased uncertainty may have a broader global economic impact that may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The international economy has faced complex and intertwined changes in 2023, with the phenomenon of "three highs and one low" (high inflation, high interest rate, high debt and low growth). This adds to the uncertain global economic outlook.

To the extent uncertainty regarding the economic outlook negatively impacts consumer confidence and consumer credit factors globally, the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations could be significantly and adversely affected.

Investors should be aware that there are recent historical financial crises and boom-bust cycles in multiple markets in both emerging and developed economies which leads to risks for all financial institutions, including the Group. In addition, the Group remains subject to the risks posed by the indirect economic effect of the global credit crisis, some of which cannot be anticipated and the vast majority of which are not under its control. The Group also remains subject to counterparty risk arising from financial institutions that can fail or are otherwise unable to meet their obligations under their contractual commitment to the Group. If there is another global or regional financial crisis or a downturn in the economic condition of the Group's primary markets, this would likely have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

If the Bank is unable to effectively maintain the quality of its loan portfolio or to manage its offbalance sheet statement exposures, its financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Results of the Bank's operations may be negatively impacted by its non-performing loans. Under IFRS, the accounting standards that are applicable to the Bank, loans are impaired if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of loans. In this regard, the Bank seeks to continue to improve its credit risk management policies, procedures and systems, and has been able to effectively control the level of its non-performing loans in recent years, despite the ongoing weak macroeconomic environment. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Bank's total non-performing loan balance were RMB96,796 million, RMB98,526 million, RMB105,688 million and RMB108,971 million respectively, and its non-performing loan ratios were 1.48 per cent., 1.35 per cent., 1.33 per cent. and 1.32 per cent., respectively. However, there can be no assurance that the Bank's credit risk management policies, procedures and systems are free from any deficiency. The occurrence of any deficiencies in the Bank's credit risk management policies, procedures and systems may result in an increase in the level of its non-performing loans and adversely affect the quality of its loan portfolio. As a result, there can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to continue to effectively control the level of nonperforming loans in its loan portfolio. In particular, the amount of the Bank's reported non-performing loans and the ratio of its non-performing loans to its loans and advances to customers may increase in the future as a result of deterioration in the quality of its loan portfolio. Such deterioration may occur for a variety of reasons, including factors which are beyond the Bank's control, such as a recent slowdown in economic growth and other adverse macroeconomic trends in China, the significant decline in market liquidity of China's interbank market or a deterioration in the financial condition or results of operations of the Bank's borrowers, which could impair the ability of the Bank's borrowers to service their debt. These include the Bank's corporate and individual loan borrowers, as well as the domestic and overseas commercial banks and non-bank financial institutions with whom the Bank engages in interbank lending activities. If such a deterioration occurs, it could materially and adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the Bank has issued credit related commitments, guarantees and letters of credit. The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required. These instruments represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties. As a result, these instruments carry similar credit risk as loans and in the event of default by the relevant customers, the Bank's financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank has a concentration of loans to certain industries and borrowers, and any significant or extended downturn in any of these industries or deterioration in the financial condition of the Bank's major borrowers may adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

As at 30 June 2024, approximately 11.45 per cent., 12.27 per cent., 11.22 per cent., 6.39 per cent., 5.89 per cent. and 4.89 per cent. of the Bank's loans were concentrated in the transportation, storage and postal services sector, the manufacturing sector, the leasing and commercial services sector, the real estate sector, the water conservancy, environmental and other public facilities sector and the production and supply of electric power, heat, gas and water sector, respectively. Although the Bank follows credit risk management policies with respect to extensions of credit to different industry sectors, including credit extension guidelines for different industry sectors, closely monitors its credit risks in different industries and has recently enhanced its guidelines in extending credit, any significant or extended downturn in any of these sectors may reduce the borrowing activities in these sectors, increase the level of the Bank's non-performing loans, impaired loans and related provision for impaired loans, reduce the Bank's net profit and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

In accordance with PRC national policies aimed at restricting the over-development of certain industries with excess capacity, including wind power equipment, steel, cement, coal, chemical and flat glass, among other industries, the Bank adopts a strict policy towards making loans to these industries. In order to reduce its loan exposure and strictly control risks associated with loans to these high-risk industries, the Bank carefully manages the size of its loans to these industries. If the PRC government introduces policies which further restrict these industries and/or these industries otherwise experience deterioration in their operations, such changes may adversely affect the quality of the Bank's loans to these industries.

Governmental financing platforms primarily comprise state-owned or state-run investment or financing institutions whose financing activities are primarily applied to infrastructure construction or governmental investment projects of a quasi-social welfare nature and whose financing activities are fully or partially indemnified or guaranteed by local financial authorities. In recent years, the Bank made continuous improvement in the monitoring and management of its loans, by ways of raising standards and introducing stricter requirements for guarantees. Similar measures in disbursement control and with respect to new projects were implemented on loans made to local government financing platforms. The default of any portion of such loans for any reason, including macroeconomic volatility or policy changes, may adversely affect the quality of the Bank's loans to these entities.

As at 30 June 2024, 17.67 per cent. of the Bank's loans were mortgage loans and 6.39 per cent. of its loans were lent to the real estate sector, which together accounted for 24.06 per cent. of the Bank's gross amount of loans and advances before impairment allowance. In recent years, the PRC real estate market has been subject to volatility and property prices have experienced significant fluctuations. The PRC government has in recent years, from time to time, imposed macroeconomic control measures that are aimed at preventing the real estate market and certain other industries from over-heating, such as setting minimum down payment requirements and minimum mortgage rates on residential housing purchases, imposing value-added taxes on the transfer of certain residential properties and levying mandatory personal income tax for second home sales and imposing the "three red lines" (which refers to prescribed asset to liability ratio, net debt to equity ratio and cash to short-term borrowings ratio requirements) on certain real estate developers to control their growing debt levels and restore the real estate's sector growth to more sustainable levels. Such measures may adversely affect the growth and quality of the Bank's loans related to real estate and such other industries. As the result of these cooling down measures, the PRC real estate sector has slowed down materially, which has resulted in a financial crisis in the sector and lead to defaults on bonds issued by certain real estate companies. This has in turn had negative impact on property prices and transaction volumes and resulted in an oversupply of residential and commercial properties. As a result, the PRC government has recently promulgated certain stimulus measures to support the PRC real estate market and certain real estate property developers, but there is no guarantee that any such measures could achieve their intended effect. A continued decline in the PRC's real estate market may materially and adversely affect the quality of the Bank's existing loans and the Bank's ability to generate new loans and recover on its loans in the event of default as the value of the real estate secured loans may decrease, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operation. In accordance with the PRC government's macroeconomic policy and the guidance and compliance requirements of the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the Bank aims to maintain a cautious approach to real estate development loans, and has further adopted industry-specific risk management procedures with respect to the real estate sector. The Bank has also adopted a rigorous mortgage evaluation system to ensure the quality of its mortgage customers. In addition, the Bank regularly subjects its assets to multi-factor stress tests, including movements in housing prices, which the Bank's loans have been able to withstand without significant deterioration.

According to Measures for the Administration of the Large Exposures of Commercial Banks (商業銀行大額風險暴露管理辦法) issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the total outstanding credit exposure to a single group customer may not exceed 15 per cent. of the net capital base of a bank and the total outstanding loans to the same borrower shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the net capital base of a bank. The Bank is currently in compliance with these regulatory requirements.

If any of the sectors in which the Bank's loans are highly concentrated significantly deteriorates, the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. Moreover, any inaccurate assessment of the credit risks regarding the borrowers in any of these sectors may adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank is subject to risks associated with real estate related loans.

The Bank's loans and advances to the real estate sector primarily comprise loans issued to real estate companies and individual housing loans. The Bank's loans issued to real estate companies include, among others, loans for real estate development, land reservation loans and asset-backed loans.

With respect to its real estate loans, the Bank follows strictly its credit risk management procedures, including ongoing credit monitoring of borrowers' financial information, and strict enforcement of repayment schedules. In addition, the Bank has established a regional risk alert system and loan policy adjustment mechanism applicable to the real estate sector. The Bank has instructed its branches to strengthen research of regional and local real estate market conditions, adjust credit guidelines applicable to real estate loans and implement different credit limits to reflect different levels of risk for these loans. However, the real estate market may be affected by factors beyond the Bank's control, including cyclical economic volatility and downturns. In addition, the PRC government has in recent years, from time to time, imposed macroeconomic control measures that are aimed at preventing the real estate market from over-heating and also transforming the real estate market into a steady, healthy and sound market for necessity but not speculation. Such factors may adversely affect the growth and quality of the Bank's loans to the real estate industry and its financial condition and results of operations. As the result of these cooling down measures, the PRC real estate sector has slowed down materially, which has resulted in a financial crisis in the sector and lead to defaults on bonds issued by certain real estate companies. This has in turn had negative impact on property prices and transaction volumes and resulted in an oversupply of residential and commercial properties. As a result, the PRC government has recently promulgated certain stimulus measures to support the PRC real estate market and certain real estate property developers, but there is no guarantee that any such measures could achieve their intended effect. A continued decline in the PRC's real estate market may materially and adversely affect the quality of the Bank's existing loans and the Bank's ability to generate new loans and recover on its loans in the event of default as the value of the real estate secured loans may decrease, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operation.

Deterioration in the debt repayment abilities of local government financing vehicles to which the Bank extends loans may adversely affect its asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's loans to local government financing platforms are mainly made to the investment and financing platforms of various development zones, state-owned asset management companies, land reserve companies and urban construction investment companies, covering a number of industries including the production and supply of electric power, heat, gas and water, water conservancy, environmental and other public facilities, transportation, storage and postal services, leasing and commercial services, real estate and manufacturing.

Recently, with the aim of reinforcing the risk management of loans to local government financing platforms, the PRC State Council, the CBIRC (now the NAFR) and the PBOC, along with several other PRC regulatory authorities promulgated a series of notices, guidelines and other regulatory documents to direct PRC banks and other financial institutions to optimise and strengthen their risk management measures regarding their loans to local government financing platforms. The Bank has consistently focused on the risks associated with loans to the local government financing platforms through a series of measures such as imposing stringent regional controls on disbursing loans to local government financing platforms, establishing a list of approved cities and lending limits and establishing credit and credit product related policies. Through such measures, the risks associated with loans to local government financing platforms, the aggregate volume of loans and their investment direction are subject to control with the goal of ensuring that the Bank's loans are primarily disbursed to key construction and development areas of the state and projects of high quality. While the Bank has taken various measures to reduce the risks of default, unfavourable developments in macroeconomic conditions, adverse changes to state policies, adverse changes to the financial condition of local governments or other factors may adversely affect the debt repayments of these financing platforms, which may in turn materially and adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's outstanding loans are heavily concentrated in certain regions, and any significant downturn in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

As at 30 June 2024, approximately 28.42 per cent., 13.15 per cent. and 16.05 per cent. of the Bank's loans and advances were concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and the Bohai Rim Economic Zone, respectively. In addition, a substantial portion of the Bank's corporate customers and the majority of its branches, sub-branches and self-service centres are located in the Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai Rim Economic Zone and the Pearl River Delta. The Bank currently expects that the future growth of its corporate and personal finance businesses, especially its corporate and individual loan businesses, will continue to be concentrated in these areas. Any significant economic downturn in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, any inaccurate assessment of the credit risks regarding the borrowers in any of these regions may adversely affect the Bank's asset quality, financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of the Bank's loans are secured by collateral or pledge (the "security") or guarantees. Any significant decline in the value of the collateral or deterioration of the financial condition of the guarantors or any failure by the Bank to enforce its rights as a creditor may adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of the Bank's loans is secured by collateral or pledge or guarantees. The loans secured by collateral and pledge are collectively referred to as the loans secured by security. The Bank's loan security primarily includes real estate and other assets that are located in the PRC, the value of which may significantly fluctuate or decline due to factors beyond the Bank's control, including macroeconomic factors affecting the PRC economy. An economic slowdown in the PRC may lead to a downturn in the PRC real estate markets, which may in turn result in declines in the value of the security securing many of the Bank's

loans to levels below the outstanding principal balance of such loans. Any decline in the value of the security securing the Bank's loans may result in a reduction in the amount the Bank can recover from security realisation and an increase in its impairment losses.

The Bank conducts internal re-evaluations of security regularly, and it hires independent appraisers to re-evaluate certain security from time to time. However, the Bank may not have current information on the value of such security, which may adversely affect the accurate assessment of its loans secured by such security. Losses might also result from the Bank's failure to conduct property preservation in a timely or proper manner while the borrowers' financial and credit conditions deteriorate. In addition, in certain circumstances, the Bank's rights to the security securing its loans may have lower priority than certain other rights.

In China, the procedures for liquidating or otherwise realising the value of security in the form of tangible assets may be protracted and it may be difficult to enforce claims in respect of such security. As a result, it may be difficult and time-consuming for the Bank to take control of and liquidate the security securing the impaired loans.

With respect to guarantees of the Bank's loans provided by third parties, the Bank is subject to the risk that the financial condition of the guarantors of these loans may deteriorate significantly, or that a court or other judicial or government authorities may declare such guarantees to be invalid. The Bank is therefore exposed to the risk that it may not be able to recover all or any part of the amount of these guarantees in respect of its loans.

As a result, any significant decline in the value of the security or deterioration of the financial condition of the guarantors or any failure by the Bank to enforce its rights as a secured creditor may adversely affect the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may not be able to manage the various risks it will face as the Bank expands the range of its products and services, which also include non-commercial banking financial products and services.

Part of the Bank's strategy is to expand the range of products and services that the Bank offers to its customers in the PRC and overseas, including non-commercial banking financial products and services. For example, the Bank has recently introduced and sought to strengthen new products and services in the areas of wealth management (such as its "Win to Fortune" accounts), mobile banking (such as its e-Mobile BOCOM product), insurance, finance leasing, asset management, trust services, offshore financial services, custodian and investment banking services. The Bank operates its non-commercial banking financial products and services through separate subsidiaries. In 2000, the Bank established BoCom Insurance, formerly China Communications Insurance Co., Ltd. prior to the change in its name in 2007) to provide different types of general insurance products and services to its customers. BoCom Schroder Fund, which was established in 2005 as a joint venture with Schroder Investment Management Limited and the China International Marine Containers (Group) Co., Ltd., offers wealth management products and services. In 2007, the Bank established BoCom International Holdings through the restructuring and integration of its wholly owned subsidiary BOCOM International Securities Limited (registered and established in June 1998) to provide investment banking, securities trading and asset management services. In January 2010, the Bank acquired a controlling interest in China Life CMG Life Assurance Co., Ltd. from China Life Insurance Company Limited. The company, which the Bank renamed BoComm Life Insurance Company Limited following the acquisition, offers life insurance products and services. With the acquisition, the Bank became the first of the domestic banks in the PRC to acquire a controlling interest in a domestic insurance company and receive an insurance license. In 2019, the Bank established BOCOM Wealth to continuously enrich and optimise the wealth management product service system. In August 2020, the Bank incorporated BOCOM Financial Technology Company Limited (交銀金融科技有限公司) to explore innovations of FinTech talent management technology introduction, and research and development mechanism of application system and

promote the digital and intelligent transformation of the Bank. In 2022, the Bank steadily pursued digital transformation by achieving breakthroughs in retail transformation, supply chain finance and the financial ecosystem. The Bank has also entered into a cooperation arrangement with HSBC with respect to credit card and other financial products and services. As the Bank expands the range of its products and services, it will be exposed to new and potentially increasingly complex risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

- the Bank may not have sufficient experience or expertise in certain new products and services and may not compete effectively in these areas;
- the Bank's new products and services may not be accepted by its customers or meet its expectations for profitability;
- the Bank may need to hire additional qualified personnel who may not be available on commercially viable terms:
- the Bank may not have sufficient financial, operational, management and other human resources to support the expanded range of its products and services;
- the Bank may have disagreements with the joint venture partners and other entities with which the Bank offers certain of its new financial products and services, and they may be unable or unwilling to continue their arrangements with the Bank due to financial difficulties or other reasons;
- the Bank may be faced with risks in integrating the acquired businesses with which the Bank offers certain of these new products and services;
- the Bank may fail to obtain regulatory approval for its new products or services;
- a slowdown in China's economic development could adversely affect the ability of personal borrowers and credit card holders to make payments, thereby increasing the probability of defaults and reducing the demand for personal loans and credit cards; and
- the Bank may not be successful in enhancing its risk management and internal control capabilities and information technology systems to support a broader range of products and services.

Any or all of these types of risks could have an adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may not be able to detect money laundering and other illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis, which could expose it to additional liability and harm its business or reputation.

The Bank is required to comply with applicable anti-money-laundering, anti-terrorism laws and other regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong and other jurisdictions where the Bank has operations. These laws and regulations require the Bank, among other things, to adopt and enforce "know your customer" policies and procedures and to report suspicious and large transactions to the applicable regulatory authorities in different jurisdictions. While the Bank has adopted policies and procedures aimed at detecting and preventing the use of its banking network for money laundering activities or by terrorists and terrorist-related organisations and individuals generally, such policies and procedures may not completely eliminate instances where the Bank may be used by other parties to engage in money laundering or other illegal or improper activities. To the extent the Bank may fail to fully comply with applicable laws and regulations, the relevant government agencies to whom the Bank reports have the power and authority to impose fines and other penalties on the Bank, which could harm its business and reputation, which in turn may negatively affect the Bank's ability to service the Notes and to satisfy its other obligations under the Notes.

Any failure or ineffectiveness in implementing its centralised management may adversely affect the Bank's business operations, financial condition and reputation.

The Bank's efforts to centralise its management and initiatives it has undertaken and continues to undertake to improve management of its branches may not be sufficient to prevent all irregular transactions or incidents. Furthermore, in the event that any irregular transactions or incidents occur, the Bank may not be able to timely detect and take appropriate measures to resolve them. If incidents or other irregular transactions do occur, relevant PRC regulatory authorities may take disciplinary actions or impose fines or other types of penalties against the Bank, and the Bank's business and reputation as a result may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank is subject to a number of risks inherent in the Bank's business, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk, and there can be no assurance that the Bank's risk management and internal control policies and procedures can protect the Bank against all such risks.

In its operations as a commercial bank, the Bank is subject to a number of risks inherent in the Bank's business, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. One of the principal risks inherent in the Bank's business is credit risk. The Bank may not be able to effectively implement its credit risk management system or continue to improve it so that it can function effectively. The Bank's credit rating system process involves detailed analysis of the borrower's credit risk, taking into account both quantitative and qualitative factors. The qualitative factors are, by their nature, subject to the individual judgment of the Bank's employees. In exercising their judgment, if the Bank's employees are not able to assign an accurate credit rating to a borrower, the Bank may be exposed to risks associated with the inaccurate assessment. In addition, the Bank may not be able to timely detect potential risks associated with particular industries or types of customers, such as affiliated entities or groups of customers, or, due to limited resources or tools available to the Bank, its employees may not be able to effectively implement them. With respect to market risk, the Bank's methods to manage market risks, including observing historical market behaviour, may not be able to timely or precisely predict future market risk exposures, which could be significantly greater than those indicated by historical measures. Liquidity risk is inherent in banking operations and can be heightened by a number of factors, including changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena such as financial market instability. While it is the Bank's policy to manage its liquidity prudently, exceptional market events may materially and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations. The Bank may also be exposed to the risk of unexpected increases in the cost of funding its asset portfolio at appropriate maturities and the risk of being unable to liquidate a position in a timely manner and/or at a reasonable price. With respect to operational risk, the Bank's internal control system is the essential means to maintain the integrity of its business, financial condition and results of operation. Although the Bank has significantly enhanced its risk management and internal control policies and procedures in recent years in an effort to improve its risk management capabilities and enhances its internal control, including its internal audit function, there can be no assurance that the Bank's staff will be able to consistently follow these policies and guidelines at all times.

There can be no assurance that the Bank's risk management and internal control policies and procedures will adequately control, or protect the Bank against, all credit, market, liquidity and other risks. Further, the Bank's risk management capabilities are limited by the information, tools or technologies available to it. Information, including information provided by third parties, may not be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated in all cases. There can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to continue to upgrade its risk management tools and information technology systems, or operate such tools and systems and monitor and analyse the effectiveness of such tools and systems. To the extent that the Bank cannot effectively enhance its risk management and internal controls or its risk management and internal control system are not effectively implemented or consistently applied, the Bank's business operations, financial results and reputation may be materially and adversely affected.

The Bank's business, reputation and prospects may be adversely affected if the Bank is not able to timely detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties.

The Bank is subject to fraud and other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties, which could adversely affect the Bank's business, reputation or prospects. Such misconduct could take a variety of forms including, among other things:

- hiding unauthorised or illegal activities that may result in unknown and unmanaged risks or losses;
- engaging in unauthorised transactions to the Bank's detriment, breaching applicable laws or its internal control procedures or violating financial accounting rules;
- improper extensions of credit;
- misapplying or failing to apply the loan classification standards thereby resulting in misclassifications within the Bank's loan portfolio;
- engaging in misrepresentation or fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise improper activities when marketing or selling products to the Bank's customers;
- improperly using or disclosing confidential information;
- falsifying or concealing information, including illegal or unlawful activities or credit information, during the credit application or loan classification process;
- binding the Bank to transactions that exceed authorised limits; and
- accepting bribes, soliciting illegal commission payments and embezzling the Bank's money.

The Bank has in the past experienced incidents of fraud and other misconduct committed by employees, customers and other third parties. Although these incidents have not materially adversely affected the Bank's financial condition or results of operations, the Bank has enhanced its risk management and internal controls to avoid future occurrences of similar incidents. Specifically, the Bank has strengthened its auditing efforts over key business processes and key personnel as well as strengthened its efforts in identifying illegal dealings between its employees and customers. While the Bank seeks to continue improving its risk management and internal control systems, including internal audit, management information systems, reporting procedures and staff awareness, to help prevent and detect such fraud or misconduct, the Bank cannot predict whether or when such fraud or misconduct will happen and in what form, and there can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to timely detect or prevent such fraud or misconduct. As a result, the Bank's business, reputation and prospects may be adversely affected if the Bank is not able to timely detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, customers or other third parties.

The Bank's banking business may be adversely affected by inflationary pressure.

China has continued to experience high inflationary pressure in recent years due to, among other things, improvement of liquidity in the global financial system, rises in asset prices and cost. The Bank believes that under the PRC government's macroeconomic control, inflation is currently being kept under control. Meanwhile, the spread between bank deposit and bank loans is effectively controlled and protected by the government, and as long as such control persists, the Bank anticipates that its business will be somewhat insulated from inflation impacts. Nonetheless, if the inflationary pressure intensifies and if the Bank's interest margin narrows as a result of governmental action, the Bank's business and operation results may be materially and adversely affected.

The growth rate of the Bank's loan portfolio may slow down, and the Bank may not be successful in implementing its strategies to grow its business.

The Bank's total loans and advances to customers have grown significantly in recent years, increasing from RMB6,560,400 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB7,294,965 million as at 31 December 2022, representing an increase of 11.20 per cent., and increased further to RMB7,957,085 million as at 31 December 2023, representing an increase of 9.08 per cent. The Bank's total loans and advances to customers as at 30 June 2024 has further increased to RMB8,267,734 million, representing an increase of 3.90 per cent. The growth of the Bank's loan portfolio may be affected by various factors, such as China's macroeconomic policies and capital constraints. In the future, the growth rate of the Bank's loan portfolio may slow down, or the Bank's loan portfolio may not grow or may even decline. In addition, due to the constraints from the amount of its regulatory capital, the Bank may adopt strategies to reduce its reliance on its loan portfolio or expand its activities in other lower risk businesses that have relatively lower capital requirements. Any of the foregoing factors could impact the growth of the Bank's loan portfolio and thereby adversely affect the Bank's business and future prospects.

In addition, the Bank has implemented a variety of strategies to grow its business, including continuing to expand its domestic and overseas branch network and introducing new products and services, such as mobile banking services, additional fee-based services, such as wealth management services, additional credit card products and services and insurance products and services. The Bank may not be successful in implementing its strategies to grow its business, and the Bank's efforts to provide new products and services may strain its resources and divert management attention from its core lending business.

The Bank may need additional capital in the future, and it may not be able to obtain such capital on acceptable terms, or at all, which may result in a lower capital adequacy ratio.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision formally promulgated Basel III in December 2010. On 26 October 2023, the NAFR promulgated the Capital Management Rules, which became effective on 1 January 2024. According to the Capital Management Rules, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio of 5 per cent., a minimum tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of 6 per cent. and a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent. The capital conservation buffer requirement for the Bank is 2.5 per cent., which should be satisfied through Common Equity Tier-1 Capital. In addition, pursuant to the Provisions on Additional Regulation of Systemically Important Banks (for Trial Implementation) and the list of systemically important banks jointly announced by the PBOC and the CBIRC (now the NAFR), the Bank is designated as a domestic systemically important bank and is required to maintain additional capital. The relevant regulatory authorities are also able to impose countercyclical capital buffer requirements on an individual bank from time to time. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio were 10.30 per cent., 12.25 per cent. and 16.34 per cent., respectively, which satisfy the regulation requirements. Although the Bank was in compliance with the regulatory requirements as at 30 June 2024, future developments could affect the Bank's ability to continue to satisfy applicable capital adequacy requirements, including:

- changes in PRC accounting rules or in the guidelines regarding the calculation of the capital adequacy ratios of commercial banks;
- increases in the minimum capital adequacy requirements by the banking regulators;
- increases in the Bank's risk-weighted assets as a result of the rapid expansion of its business;
- decreases in the value of the Bank's investment assets;
- losses resulting from deterioration in the Bank's asset quality; and
- decreases in the Bank's net profits and thus decreases in its retained earnings.

In order for the Bank to grow, remain competitive, enter into new businesses, expand its base of operations or meet regulatory capital adequacy requirements, the Bank may require new funding in the future. Moreover, the Bank may need to raise additional capital in the event of any increase in the minimum regulatory capital adequacy requirements by the NAFR or large losses in its loan portfolio that result in a reduction of its shareholders' equity. The Bank's ability to obtain additional capital in the future is subject to a variety of factors, including:

- its future financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;
- any necessary government regulatory approvals;
- its credit rating;
- general market conditions, especially conditions for capital-raising activities by commercial banks and other financial institutions; and
- economic, political and other conditions both within and outside the PRC.

If the Bank is unable to obtain sufficient additional capital in a timely and cost-effective manner, its business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

If the Bank fails to meet the capital adequacy requirements, the NAFR may require it to take corrective actions, including, for example, restricting the growth of its loans and other assets or restricting its declaration or distribution of dividends. These measures could adversely affect the Bank's reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's liabilities mainly comprise short-term funding, principally in the form of deposits, and the Bank's liquidity may be materially and adversely affected if a substantial portion of its short-term deposits fails to roll over upon maturity or if the Bank's banking business is not able to attract sufficient deposits to fund its loan activities.

The Bank regularly monitors the maturity gap between assets and liabilities and assesses liquidity risk of different periods. Most of the funding requirements of the Bank's banking business are met through short-term funding, principally in the form of deposits, including customer deposits and interbank deposits. In the past, the Bank's customer deposits have been a stable source of funding for its banking business since the short-term deposits are normally not withdrawn until the maturities of them. There can be no assurance, however, that this practice will continue. If a substantial portion of the Bank's depositors take out their demand deposits or do not roll over deposited funds upon maturity, the Bank's liquidity could be materially and adversely affected, and the Bank may be required to seek more expensive sources of short-term or long-term funding to finance its operations. There can be no assurance that the Bank will be able to obtain finance on normal commercial terms when necessary. Besides, the Bank's ability to obtain additional funding is subject to other factors of which may not be under the Bank's control such as the deterioration in overall market conditions, severe disruptions in financial markets or the poor prospects of Bank's industries with significant credit exposure. These factors could adversely affect the liquidity, business, financial conditions and operation performance of the Bank and have further adverse effect on the market value of the Notes and the Bank's ability of performing obligations under the Notes.

The Bank's loan classification may be different in certain respects from those applicable to banks in certain other countries or regions.

The Bank classifies its loans as "normal", "special-mention", "substandard", "doubtful" and "loss" by using the five-category classification system according to PRC regulations. The Bank's five-category classification system may be different in certain respects from those of banks incorporated in other countries or regions. As a result, it may reflect a different degree of risk than would be reported if the Bank were incorporated in those countries or regions.

The Bank may be exposed to risks relating to labour and employment.

The Bank faces intense competition in recruiting and retaining employees as other banks are competing for the same pool of talent. Given that PRC labour laws and regulations allow employees to freely choose their jobs, the Bank's employees may choose to resign at any time to pursue other opportunities and may seek to take with them customer relationships that they have developed while working for the Bank. Consequently, the Bank has entered into confidentiality agreements with all of its employees and non-compete agreements with its senior management and other staff members owing a special duty of confidentiality which specify the scope, territory and duration of non-competition. There can be no assurance that such confidentiality agreements and non-compete agreements will enable the Bank to retain its employees effectively or at all.

The Bank may not be able to hire, train or retain a sufficient number of qualified staff.

Most aspects of the Bank's business are dependent on the quality of its staff. The Bank devotes considerable resources to recruiting, training and compensating these personnel. However, the Bank faces increased competition in recruiting and retaining these individuals as other banks are competing for the same pool of potential employees. In addition, the Bank's employees may choose to resign at any time to pursue other opportunities and may seek to divert customer relationships that they have developed while working for the Bank. The majority of the Bank's employees are not subject to non-compete agreements.

The Bank's corporate finance operations depend to a significant extent on qualified relationship managers to distribute the Bank's products, and the Bank plans to increase the number and efficiency of these relationship managers. In addition, the Bank intends to increase the number of financial advisers employed by its personal finance operations and enhance their training. However, these plans may not be implemented successfully, if at all.

The Bank's largest shareholders may individually or collectively take actions that are not in, and may conflict with, the best interests of the Bank or the Noteholders.

As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's top three shareholders, the MOF, HSBC and the National Council for Social Security Fund, collectively own, directly and indirectly, 59.3 per cent. of the Bank's outstanding shares. Accordingly, the Bank's largest shareholders may have the ability to individually or collectively exercise significant influence over the Bank's business, including matters relating to:

- the issuance of new securities;
- the election of the Bank's directors and supervisors;
- the Bank's management, especially the composition of its senior management, due to their significant influence over the Bank's Board;
- the Bank's business strategies and policies;
- the timing and amount of the distribution of dividends;
- any plans relating to mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures, investments or divestitures; and
- amendments to the Bank's articles of association (the "Articles of Association").

The Bank's largest shareholders may individually or collectively take actions that investors may not agree with or that are not in the best interests of the Bank or the Noteholders.

The Bank's operations management is dependent on the proper functioning and improvement of its information technology systems. Inability to maintain an effective technology system may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank's business is highly dependent on the ability of its information technology systems to timely and accurately collect and process a large amount of financial and other information across numerous and diverse

markets and products at its various branches and subsidiaries, at a time when transaction processes and volumes have become increasingly complex and large. The proper functioning of the Bank's financial control, risk management, accounting or other data collection and processing systems, together with the communication networks connecting the Bank's various branches and its main data processing centre, is critical to the Bank's businesses and to its ability to compete effectively. Although the Bank has backup systems that could be used in the event of catastrophe or failure of the primary systems, a partial or complete failure of any of these primary systems or communication networks could adversely affect the decision-making process, the risk management and internal controls of the Bank as well as its timely response to changing market conditions. If the Bank cannot maintain an effective data collection and management system, the Bank's business operations, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, the Bank must continually make significant investments, upgrades and improvements in its information technology infrastructure in order to remain competitive. The quality and timing of information available to and received by the Bank's management through its existing information systems may not be sufficient to manage risks or to plan for and respond to changes in market conditions and other developments in the Bank's operations. The Bank may experience difficulties in upgrading, developing and expanding its information technology systems quickly enough to accommodate its growing customer base.

The Bank generates and processes a large amount of data, and any improper use or disclosure of such data could subject us to significant reputational, financial, legal, and operational consequences, and deter current and potential customers from using its services.

The Bank generates and processes a large quantity of personal and transaction data. It faces risks inherent in handling large volumes of data and in protecting the security of such data. In particular, the Bank faces a number of challenges relating to data from transactions and other activities on its platforms, including:

- protecting the data in and hosted on its system, including against attacks on its system by outside parties or fraudulent behaviour by its employees;
- addressing concerns related to privacy and sharing, safety, security, and other factors; and
- complying with applicable laws, rules, and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, disclosure, or security of personal information, including any requests from regulatory and government authorities relating to such data.

Any systems failure or security breach or lapse that result in the release of user data could harm the Bank's reputation and brand and, consequently, its business, in addition to exposing it to potential legal liability. Any failure, or perceived failure, to comply with the Bank's privacy policies or with any regulatory requirements or privacy protection-related laws, rules, and regulations could result in proceedings or actions against it by governmental entities or others. These proceedings or actions may subject the Bank to significant penalties and negative publicity, require the Bank to change its business practices, increase its costs, and severely disrupt its business.

The Bank is subject to domestic and international laws relating to the collection, use, retention, security, and transfer of personally identifiable information, with respect to its customers and employees. In many cases, these laws do not only apply to third-party transactions, but may also restrict transfers of personally identifiable information among the Bank and its affiliates. Several jurisdictions have passed laws in this area, and other jurisdictions are considering imposing additional restrictions. These laws continue to develop and may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Complying with emerging and changing international requirements may cause the Bank to incur substantial costs or require it to change its business practices, and failure to comply with any data protection laws could subject the Bank to significant penalties and negative publicity and severely disrupt its operations.

The Bank may be affected by the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance.

On 7 July 2017, the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong Kong (the "FIRO") came into operation. The FIRO provides for, among other things, the establishment of a resolution regime for authorised institutions and other within scope financial institutions (as defined in FIRO) (including the holding company of a within scope financial institution) in Hong Kong which may be designated by the relevant resolution authorities, which may include the Bank to the extent it conducts licensed activities in Hong Kong. The resolution regime seeks to provide the relevant resolution authorities with administrative powers to bring about timely and orderly resolution in order to stabilise and secure continuity for a failing authorised institution or within scope financial institution (including the holding company of a within scope financial institution) in Hong Kong. In particular, the relevant resolution authority is provided with powers to affect contractual and property rights as well as payments (including in respect of any priority of payment) that creditors would receive in resolution. These may include, but are not limited to, powers to cancel, write off, modify, convert or replace all or a part of the Notes or the principal amount of, or interest on, the Notes, and powers to amend or alter the contractual provisions of the Notes, all of which may adversely affect the value of the Notes, and the holders thereof may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result. Holders of the Notes may become subject to and bound by the FIRO. The implementation of FIRO remains untested and certain detail relating to FIRO will be set out through secondary legislation and supporting rules. Therefore, the Bank is unable to assess the full impact of FIRO on the financial system generally, the Bank's counterparties, the Bank, any of its consolidated subsidiaries, its operations and/or its financial position.

Certain PRC regulations limit the Bank's ability to diversify its investments, and as a result, a decrease in the value of a particular type of investment may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

As a result of current PRC regulatory restrictions, substantially all of the Bank's Renminbi-denominated investment assets are concentrated in a limited number of investments permitted for PRC commercial banks, such as debt securities issued by central governments and central banks, public sector entities, banks and other financial institutions. The Bank is only permitted to a limited degree to invest in debt and equity securities of eligible corporate entities. These restrictions on the Bank's ability to diversify its investment portfolio limit the Bank's ability to seek an optimal return. In addition, the Bank is exposed to a certain level of risk as a result of the concentration of its Renminbi-denominated investment securities. For example, any deterioration of the financial condition of commercial banks in China would increase the risks associated with holding their debt securities. Consequently, a decrease in the value of any of these types of investments could have a material adverse effect on the Bank's financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank may be subject to administrative sanctions, fines and other penalties for violations, particularly for using its funds in a manner that is inconsistent with, or impermissible under, the applicable limitations set forth in the PRC Commercial Banking Law.

The PRC Commercial Banking Law, which became effective in July 1995 and last amended in 2015, prohibits any investment by a PRC financial institution in a non-financial institution. The Bank's holdings or investments were completed prior to the enactment of the 1995 PRC Commercial Banking Law. The Bank has been unable to completely dispose of these investments primarily because: (1) certain of these institutions are undergoing bankruptcy or liquidation; (2) the Bank's investments in certain institutions is small, making it difficult to find a buyer for these investments; and (3) the Bank is unable to find buyers for some of the investments due to their poor market liquidity and low rates of return. The Bank has been active in its efforts to terminate these investments, including making provisions for impairment; writing off or disposing of these investments in accordance with relevant rules and policy changes; actively seeking purchasers for its shareholdings in these institutions; and otherwise disposing of these investments in accordance with reasonable market terms. While the Bank has not been subject to any material administrative sanctions, fines or other penalties for such investments, there can be no assurance that the relevant regulatory authorities

would not take additional actions against the Bank in the future. Any future administrative sanctions, fines or other penalties, including those discussed above, may have a material adverse effect on the Bank's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Bank is subject to various PRC and overseas regulatory requirements, and the Bank's failure to fully comply with such requirements, if any, could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation.

The Bank is subject to various PRC and overseas regulatory requirements, and the PRC and overseas regulatory authorities conduct periodic inspections, examinations and inquiries in respect of its compliance with such requirements. On occasion the Bank fails to comply with certain requirements and guidelines set by the relevant regulatory authorities. If sanctions, fines and other penalties are imposed on the Bank for failing to comply with applicable requirements, guidelines or regulations, the Bank's business, financial condition, results of operations and its reputation may be materially and adversely affected.

Notwithstanding that such business activities may not themselves be subject to sanctions, the Group may face secondary sanctions if it is determined to be providing material support to countries or entities that are the subject of sanctions. If the Group engages in any prohibited transactions by any means, or if it is otherwise determined that any of its transactions violated sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. State Department, any other agency of the U.S. government, the United Kingdom, the European Union or any other relevant governmental entity, the Group could be subject to penalties, and the Group's reputation and ability to conduct future business in the United States or with U.S. entities, or in other relevant jurisdictions, could be affected, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations and the Issuer's ability to make payments, and satisfy the Group's other obligations, under the Notes may also be adversely affected.

The Bank is subject to counterparty risks in its derivative transactions.

The Bank acts primarily as an intermediary in domestic and international foreign exchange and derivative markets, and the Bank currently has foreign currency forward and swap arrangements with a number of domestic and international banks, financial institutions and other entities. The Bank also has interest rate swap arrangements. The Bank does not typically enter into foreign currency or interest rate derivative arrangements for its own account but are subject to credit risk from its various counterparties. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's derivative financial assets and liabilities amounted to RMB79,459 million and RMB60,380 million, respectively. Although the Bank believes that the overall credit quality of its counterparties is adequate, there can be no assurances that parties which the Bank has significant exposures to will not face difficulty in paying amounts on derivative contracts when due.

The Bank has expanded its business in jurisdictions other than China, which has increased the complexity of the risks that the Bank faces.

In recent years, the Bank has continued to expand its international operations. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank had overseas subsidiaries branches and representative offices in Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg (including the representative office). As at 30 June 2024, the Bank had established 23 overseas branches (sub-branches) and representative offices in 18 countries and regions, with 66 overseas operating outlets.

The Bank's international expansion into multiple jurisdictions exposes it to a variety of regulatory and business challenges and risks and has increased the complexity of the Bank's risks in a number of areas, including currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, regulatory and compliance risk, reputational risk and operational risk. The loan portfolio of the Bank's international branches includes foreign currency-denominated loans to PRC companies engaged in international trade. This exposes the Bank to additional risks including default risk resulting from the failure in the performance of the import or export agreements

by any party, trade protectionist measures or other factors, and the Bank's inexperience in various aspects of the economic and legal framework in overseas markets. Adverse market conditions in these international jurisdictions may result in mark-to-market and realised losses on the investment assets held by the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries and increase their cost of funding. Furthermore, despite the Bank's best efforts to comply with all applicable regulations in all the jurisdictions in which the Bank operates, there may be incidents of its failure to comply with the regulations in certain jurisdictions. Regulators have the power to bring administrative or judicial proceedings against the Bank or its employees, representatives, agents and third-party service providers, which could result, among other things, in suspension or revocation of one or more of the Bank's licenses, cease and desist orders, fines, civil penalties, criminal penalties or other disciplinary actions. In addition, the recent global financial crisis is expected to lead to significant regulatory changes in various jurisdictions, including those in which the Bank has operations. These changes may include changes with respect to capital and liquidity ratios, cross-border capital flows and consumer protection.

The extent and impact of such changes is difficult to anticipate and estimate and such changes could have an adverse impact on the Bank's growth, capital adequacy and profitability. If the Bank is unable to manage the risks resulting from its international expansion, its business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The Bank may not possess the relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates in respect of some of the properties held by it, and the Bank may be required to seek alternative premises for some of its offices due to its landlords' lack of relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates.

The Bank may not hold the land use right certificates or building ownership certificates of some land or buildings it occupies. The Bank will apply for relevant land use right certificates and building ownership certificates that it does not yet hold. Upon obtaining the relevant certificates for these properties, the Bank will have the legal right to occupy, let, transfer and mortgage such property. The Bank may not be able to obtain all of the title deeds for the defective properties and the Bank is uncertain how the Bank's rights as owner/occupier of these defective properties would be adversely affected as a result of the absence of the title deeds as described above.

The Bank leases multiple properties as its operating offices for its branches in China. There can be no assurance that the lessors of all these properties possess the relevant land use right certificates or building ownership certificates and third parties may therefore challenge the validity of the Bank's lease. If any of the Bank's leases were terminated as a result of being challenged by third parties, the Bank may be forced to seek alternative premises for these offices. If the Bank fails to find alternatives of these offices with acceptable terms, the Bank's business, financial conditions and operation performance may be adversely affected.

The Bank has increased its allowance for impairment losses to cover future actual losses and estimated losses to its loan portfolio in accordance with the implementation of IFRS 9.

The Bank determines a level of allowance for impairment losses and recognises any related provisions made in a year using the concept of impairment under IFRS 9. The Bank's provisioning policies may be different in certain respects from those of banks incorporated in certain other countries or regions which do not assess loans under IFRS 9. As a result, the Bank's allowance for impairment losses, as determined under the provisioning policies, may differ from those that would be reported if it was incorporated in those countries or regions.

As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Bank's allowance for impairment losses were RMB160,089 million, RMB176,178 million, RMB203,775 million and RMB220,543 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Bank's provision coverage ratio, calculated by dividing the outstanding balance of its impairment allowances by the outstanding balance

of impaired loans, was 166.50 per cent., 180.68 per cent., 195.21 per cent. and 204.82 per cent., respectively. The Bank's business, financial position and results of operations may be affected by its policies regarding provisioning. If the Bank's approach to provisioning policies proves not to be adequate, the Bank's business, financial position and results of operations may be negatively affected, which in turn may negatively affect the Bank's ability to service the Notes and to satisfy its other obligations under the Notes.

Historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results of operations.

The historical financial information of the Group included in this Supplemental Offering Circular may not be indicative of its current or future financial results. With effect from 1 January 2023, the Group adopted IFRS 17 under which the Group was required to adjust certain amounts recognised in the Group's audited consolidated financial statements. According to the transitional provisions of the new insurance contracts standard, the Group has made retrospective adjustments to the financial reports and reorganised the financial reports for each period of 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the IFRS 17. The comparative data has been restated based on the retrospectively adjusted financial reports. For further details regarding the restatement, please refer to Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) of the Group's 2023 Historical Financial Statements for the effects of the adoption of IFRS 17.

Investors should note that the Group's financial information is not intended to represent or predict the results of operations of any future periods. The Group's future results of operations may change materially if its future growth does not follow the historical trends for various reasons, including factors beyond the Group's control, such as changes in economic environment, changes in laws and regulations applicable to the Group's business, and the competitive landscape of the industries in which the Group operates its business. Furthermore, the future results of operations of the Group may also fluctuate or change materially as a result of the business model of the Group and the accounting treatments applied thereto. Since the historical financial information of the Group may not be indicative of its current or future results of operations, there is no assurance that the Group will not record an operating loss in the future, which may have a negative effect on the Group's payment capabilities.

PRICING SUPPLEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE USD NOTES

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and are Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products).

Pricing Supplement dated 4 December 2024 Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Legal entity identifier (LEI) of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.: 549300AX1UM10U30HK09

Issue of U.S.\$300,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027 (the "Notes") under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of the Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the offering circular dated 22 July 2024 (the "Original Offering Circular") and the supplemental offering circular dated 4 December 2024 (the "Supplemental Offering Circular", and together with the Original Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular"). This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular and this Pricing Supplement.

This Pricing Supplement is for distribution to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the "**Hong Kong Stock Exchange**") ("**Professional Investors**") only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Pricing Supplement, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Pricing Supplement to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Pricing Supplement. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, or quality of disclosure in this Pricing Supplement. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Pricing Supplement.

The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers or their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Managers or on their behalf in

connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Programme or the issue and offering of the Notes under the Programme. The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Pricing Supplement or any such statement.

This Pricing Supplement, together with the Offering Circular, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pricing Supplement and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

1	Issuer:	Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
2	(i) Series Number:	56
	(ii) Tranche Number:	01
	(iii) Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Not Applicable
3	Specified Currency or Currencies:	U.S. Dollar (" U.S.\$ ")
4	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	U.S.\$300,000,000
5	(i) Issue Price:	100.00 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
	(ii) Gross proceeds:	U.S.\$300,000,000
6	Use of Proceeds:	The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes
7	(i) Specified Denominations:	U.S.\$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof
	(ii) Calculation Amount:	U.S.\$1,000
8	(i) Issue Date:	11 December 2024
	(ii) Interest Commencement Date:	Issue Date
9	Maturity Date:	Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to 11 December 2027
10	Interest Basis:	SOFR Compounded Index + 0.57 per cent. Floating Rate (further particulars specified below)
11	Redemption/Payment Basis:	Redemption at par
12	Change of Interest or Redemption/ Payment Basis:	Not Applicable
13	Put/Call Options:	Not Applicable
14	(i) Status of the Notes:	Senior Notes

(ii) Regulatory approval for issuance of Certificate of Examination and Registration of Notes obtained:

Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises

(企業借用外債審核登記證明)

(發改辦外債[2024]661號) obtained on 25

October 2024

15 The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited Listing:

on 12 December 2024

16 Method of distribution: Syndicated 17 Private Bank Rebate/Commission: Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

18 Fixed Rate Note Provisions Not Applicable 19 Floating Rate Note Provisions **Applicable**

> Interest Period(s): Each period beginning on (and including) the

> > Interest Commencement Date or any Specified Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Specified Interest Payment Date, subject to adjustment in with accordance the Business

Convention set out in (iv) below

Specified Interest Payment Dates: 11 March, 11 June, 11 September and 11

> December in each year up to and including the Maturity Date, with the first Interest Payment Date being 11 March 2025, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iv)

below

(iii) Interest Period Date(s): Not Applicable

(iv) Business Day Convention: Modified Following Business Day

Convention

(v) Business Centre(s) (Condition 5(j)): Hong Kong and New York

(vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)

is/ are to be determined:

(vii) Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the Calculation Agent):

Kong Branch as Fiscal Agent

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong

(viii) Screen Rate Determination (Condition Not Applicable

5(b)(iii))

(viii)(A) Screen Rate Determination (SOFR) (Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)):

> SOFR Compounded Index, as defined in and Reference Rate:

> > to be determined in accordance with the

Schedule hereto

• Interest Determination Date: The fifth U.S. Government Securities

Business Day prior to the last day of each

Interest Accrual Period

• SOFR Observation Shift Days: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

• SOFR Index_{Start}: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

• SOFR Index_{End}: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

Not Applicable

U.S.\$1,000

(ix) ISDA Determination (Condition Not Applicable

5(b)(iii)(A)):

(x) Margin(s): + 0.57 per cent. per annum

(xi) Minimum Rate of Interest: Not Applicable(xii) Maximum Rate of Interest: Not Applicable(xiii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): Actual/360

(xiv) Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in

the Conditions:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions
 Index Linked Interest Note Provisions
 Dual Currency Note Provisions
 Not Applicable
 Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

Call Option
 Put Option
 Not Applicable
 Not Applicable

25 Final Redemption Amount of each Note U.S.\$1,000 per Calculation Amount

26 Early Redemption Amount

Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) or Event of Default (Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27 Form of Notes: Registered Notes

Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Certificates in the limited circumstances

specified in the Global Certificate

28	Financial Centre(s) (Condition 7(h)) or other special provisions relating to payment dates:	Not Applicable	
29	Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):	Not Applicable	
30	Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:	Not Applicable	
31	Details relating to Instalment Notes:	Not Applicable	
32	Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:	Not Applicable	
33	Consolidation provisions:	Not Applicable	
34	Other terms or special conditions:	Refer to Schedule	
DISTR	IBUTION		
35	(i) If syndicated, names of Managers:	Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners	
		Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch Bank of China Limited	
		The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited	
		Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners	
		Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch	
		Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch	
		BOCOM International Securities Limited	
		CCB International Capital Limited	
		China CITIC Bank International Limited	
		China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch	
		China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited	
		China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch	

CLSA Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment

Bank

Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong)

Limited

Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong

Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

(Asia) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Limited, Singapore Branch

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank

(ii) Stabilisation Manager (if any): Any of the Managers appointed and acting in

its capacity as stabilisation manager provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as

the Stabilisation Manager

36 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: Not Applicable

37 U.S. Selling Restrictions Reg. S Category 1; TEFRA Not Applicable

38 Additional selling restrictions: Not Applicable

39 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: Not Applicable

40 Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: Not Applicable

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

41 ISIN Code: HK0001089223 42 Common Code: 295725834

43 CMU Instrument Number: BCMKLN24058

Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear,
Clearstream and the CMU and the relevant

identification number(s):

le relevant

Not Applicable

45 Delivery: Delivery against payment

46 Additional Paying Agents (if any): Not Applicable

47 Rating: The Notes to be issued are expected to be

rated:

Moody's: A2

GENERAL

48 Translation of the aggregate principal

amount of Notes issued:

Not Applicable

In the case of Registered Notes, specify the

location of the office of the Registrar if other

than Hong Kong:

Not Applicable

In the case of Bearer Notes, specify the location of the office of the Fiscal Agent if other than London:

Not Applicable

HONG KONG SFC CODE OF CONDUCT

51 Contact email addresses where underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should be sent:

dcm@bankcomm.com.hk dcmhk@bocgroup.com hk_syndicate_omnibus@hsbc.com.hk

52 Marketing and Investor Targeting Strategy:

As indicated in the Offering Circular

LISTING APPLICATION

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, any of the Managers named as Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the Stabilisation Manager in this Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot and effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT

Except as disclosed in the Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 30 June 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD. HONG KONG BRANCH

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

By:

Duly authorised

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

SCHEDULE

The following provisions shall be added to the Conditions as Condition 5(b)(iii)(D) (Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)) and Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)) solely for the purposes of the Notes:

5(b)(iii)(D) Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)

(x) SOFR Compounded Index: Where Screen Rate Determination (SOFR) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined and where the Reference Rate is specified as being SOFR Compounded Index, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the SOFR Compounded Index plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Interest Determination Date (subject to Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)).

For the purposes of this Condition 5(b)(iii)(D):

"SOFR Compounded Index" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the compounded average of daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") reference rates for each day during the relevant SOFR Observation Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR Index", with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means:

- (a) the SOFR Index value as published on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or about 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR Index Determination Time"); provided that in the event that the value originally published by the SOFR Administrator at or about 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on any U.S. Government Securities Business Day is subsequently corrected and such corrected value is published by the SOFR Administrator on the original date of publication, then such corrected value, instead of the value that was originally published, shall be deemed the SOFR Index value as of the SOFR Index Determination Time in relation to such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and
- (b) if a SOFR Index value does not so appear as specified in (a) above of this definition, then:
 - if a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to SOFR, then SOFR Compounded Index shall be the rate determined pursuant to Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)(y) (SOFR Index Unavailable); or

- (ii) if a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR, then SOFR Compounded Index shall be the rate determined pursuant to Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)).
- "SOFR Index_{End}" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date which is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period (or in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date);
- "SOFR Index_{Start}" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date which is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement preceding the first day of such Interest Accrual Period;
- "dc" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;
- "SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor administrator of the SOFR Index value and Secured Overnight Financing Rate;
- "SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the SOFR Administrator (currently being, https://apps.newyorkfed.org/markets/autorates/sofr-avg-ind), or any successor source;
- "SOFR Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
- "SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date which is the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the first date of such Interest Accrual Period (and in respect of the first Interest Accrual Period, the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the Issue Date) to, but excluding, the date which is the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period (or in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date); and
- "U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.
- (y) SOFR Index Unavailable: If a SOFR Index value is not published on the relevant Interest Determination Date and a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date has not occurred with respect to SOFR, then the SOFR Index shall be calculated in accordance with the Compounded SOFR formula and the related definitions as set out below in this Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)(y):
 - "Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page" means the Bloomberg screen designated "SOFRRATE" or any successor page or service;
 - "Compounded SOFR" means, for the applicable Interest Accrual Period for which the SOFR Index is not available, the rate of return on a daily compounded interest investment during the relevant SOFR Observation Period (with the daily SOFR reference rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) and calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting percentage will be

rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)):

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_n} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

where:

"d_c" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"d_o" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period:

"i" means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to d_0 , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Days in chronological order from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant SOFR Observation Period (each a "U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i)");

"ni" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i);

"Reuters Page USDSOFR=" means the Reuters page designated "USDSOFR=" or any successor page or service;

"SOFR" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day:

- (a) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time, as such rate is reported on the Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time, as such rate is reported on the Reuters Page USDSOFR=, or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate that appears at the SOFR Determination Time on the SOFR Administrator's Website; or
- (b) if the rate specified in (a) above does not appear, the SOFR published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor administrator of the SOFR Index value and Secured Overnight Financing Rate;

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the SOFR Administrator (currently being, https://apps.newyorkfed.org/markets/autorates/sofr-avg-ind), or any successor source;

"SOFR Determination Time" means approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"SOFR_i" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, is equal to SOFR in respect of that U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i);

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of each Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days equal to the Observation Shift Days preceding the first date in such Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days equal to the number of Observation Shift Days preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period;

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

5(b)(iii)(E) Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)

- (x) Benchmark Replacement. If the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the-then current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.
- (y) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes: In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, any of the Agents shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required to give effect to this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E). Noteholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting any such changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps to be taken by any of the Agents (if required). Further, none of the Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations, decisions or elections made by the Issuer or its designee with respect to any Benchmark Replacement or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.
- (z) Decisions and Determinations: Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer or its designee, as applicable, and (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the Noteholders or any other party.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of Condition 5(b)(iii)(D) (Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)) and this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E):

"Benchmark" means, initially, SOFR Compounded Index; provided that if the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR Compounded Index (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement;

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of:
 - (1) the alternate reference rate that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof); and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of:
 - (1) the ISDA Fallback Rate; and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of:
 - (1) the alternate reference rate that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted reference rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time; and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its designee determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) of the definition of "SOFR Benchmark Event", the later of:
 - (1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein;
 - (2) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of "SOFR Benchmark Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"designee" means a designee as selected and separately appointed by the Issuer in writing;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time, including the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (as amended or supplemented from time to time);

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (1) if the Benchmark is the SOFR Compounded Index, the SOFR Index Determination Time; or (2) if the Benchmark is not the SOFR Compounded Index, the time determined by the Issuer or its designee after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;

"SOFR Benchmark Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

PRICING SUPPLEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE CNY NOTES

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and are Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products).

Pricing Supplement dated 4 December 2024

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Legal entity identifier (LEI) of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.: 549300AX1UM10U30HK09

Issue of CNY3,600,000,000 2.38 per cent. Notes due 2026 (the "Notes") under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of the Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the offering circular dated 22 July 2024 (the "Original Offering Circular") and the supplemental offering circular dated 4 December 2024 (the "Supplemental Offering Circular", and together with the Original Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular"). This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular and this Pricing Supplement.

This Pricing Supplement is for distribution to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the "**Hong Kong Stock Exchange**") ("**Professional Investors**") only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Pricing Supplement, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Pricing Supplement to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Pricing Supplement. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, or quality of disclosure in this Pricing Supplement. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Pricing Supplement.

The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers or their respective officers, employees, affiliates,

advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Managers or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Programme or the issue and offering of the Notes under the Programme. The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Pricing Supplement or any such statement.

This Pricing Supplement, together with the Offering Circular, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pricing Supplement and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

53	Issuer:	Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
54	(i) Series Number:	57
	(ii) Tranche Number:	01
	(iii) Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Not Applicable
55	Specified Currency or Currencies:	Renminbi ("CNY")
56	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	CNY3,600,000,000
57	(i) Issue Price:	100.00 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
	(ii) Gross proceeds	CNY3,600,000,000
58	Use of Proceeds:	The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes
59	(i) Specified Denominations:	CNY1,000,000 and integral multiples of CNY10,000 in excess thereof
	(ii) Calculation Amount:	CNY10,000
60	(i) Issue Date:	11 December 2024
	(ii) Interest Commencement Date:	Issue Date
61	Maturity Date:	Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to 11 December 2026
62	Interest Basis:	2.38 per cent. Fixed Rate (further particulars specified below)
63	Redemption/Payment Basis:	Redemption at par
64	Change of Interest or Redemption/ Payment Basis:	Not Applicable
65	Put/Call Options:	Not Applicable
66	(i) Status of the Notes:	Senior Notes

Regulatory approval for issuance of

Notes obtained:

Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises

(企業借用外債審核登記證明)

(發改辦外債[2024]661號) obtained on 25

October 2024

67 Listing: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on

12 December 2024

68 Method of distribution: Syndicated Private Bank Rebate/Commission: 69 Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

Fixed Rate Note Provisions 70 Applicable

> Rate of Interest: 2.38 per cent. per annum payable semi-(i)

> > annually in arrear

(ii) Interest Payment Date(s): 11 June and 11 December in each year,

> commencing on 11 June 2025 until the Maturity Date, adjusted in accordance with the Modified

Following Business Day Convention

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): Each Fixed Coupon Amount shall be

> calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest CNY0.01

(CNY0.005 being rounded upwards)

(iv) Broken Amount: Not Applicable

(v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): Actual/365 (Fixed) (vi) Determination Date(s) (Condition 5(j)): Not Applicable (vii) Other terms relating to the method of

calculating interest for Fixed Rate

Notes:

Not Applicable

71 Floating Rate Note Provisions Not Applicable 72 Zero Coupon Note Provisions Not Applicable 73 Index Linked Interest Note Provisions Not Applicable 74 **Dual Currency Note Provisions** Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

75 Call Option Not Applicable 76 **Put Option** Not Applicable

77 Final Redemption Amount of each Note CNY10,000 per Calculation Amount

78 Early Redemption Amount

> Early Redemption Amount(s) per CNY10,000 Calculation Amount payable on

redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) or Event of Default (Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

79	Form of Notes:	Registered Notes Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Certificates in the limited circumstances specified in the Global Certificate
80	Financial Centre(s) (Condition 7(h)) or other special provisions relating to payment dates:	Hong Kong
81	Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):	Not Applicable
82	Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:	Not Applicable
83	Details relating to Instalment Notes:	Not Applicable
84	Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:	Not Applicable
85	Consolidation provisions:	Not Applicable
86	Other terms or special conditions:	Not Applicable
C	ISTRIBUTION	
87	(i) If syndicated, names of Managers:	Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners
		Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
		Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
		Bank of China Limited
		China CITIC Bank International Limited
		China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
		China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited
		China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
		CLSA Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia)

Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited,

Dubai (DIFC) Branch

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank

(ii) Stabilisation Manager (if any): Any of the Managers appointed and acting in

its capacity as stabilisation manager provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the

Stabilisation Manager

88 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: Not Applicable

89 U.S. Selling Restrictions Reg. S Category 1; TEFRA Not Applicable

90 Additional selling restrictions: Not Applicable

91 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: Not Applicable

92 Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: Not Applicable

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

93 ISIN Code: HK0001089066
 94 Common Code: 295726563
 95 CMU Instrument Number: BCMKFN24057
 96 Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear, Not Applicable

Clearstream and the CMU and the relevant

identification number(s):

97 Delivery: Delivery against payment

98 Additional Paying Agents (if any): Not Applicable

99 Rating: The Notes to be issued are expected to be

rated:

Moody's: A2

GENERAL

100 The aggregate principal amount of Notes issued has been translated into US dollars at the rate of CNY7.2738 = U.S.\$1.00, producing a sum of (for Notes not denominated in US dollars):

U.S.\$494,926,998.27

101 In the case of Registered Notes, specify the location of the office of the Registrar if other than Hong Kong:

Not Applicable

In the case of Bearer Notes, specify the location of the office of the Fiscal Agent if other than London:

Not Applicable

HONG KONG SFC CODE OF CONDUCT

103 Contact email addresses where underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should be sent:

dcm@bankcomm.com.hk

hk_syndicate_omnibus@hsbc.com.hk

SYNHK@sc.com

104 Marketing and Investor Targeting Strategy: As indicated in the Offering Circular

LISTING APPLICATION

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, any of the Managers named as Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the Stabilisation Manager in this Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot and effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT

Except as disclosed in the Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 30 June 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD. HONG KONG BRANCH

(A jo	oint stock company incorporated in the People	s Republic of China with limited liability)
Ву:	 Duly authorised	

CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The section "Capitalisation and Indebtedness" on page 95 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Capitalisation and Indebtedness of the Bank

The following table sets forth the actual consolidated debt and capitalisation of the Bank as at 30 June 2024. Investors should read this table in conjunction with the Bank's unaudited but reviewed consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the notes thereto included in this Supplemental Offering Circular.

Except for the translation amount shown in U.S.\$, the Bank's unaudited but reviewed consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2024 set forth below are derived from the published unaudited consolidated financial statements as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2024.

	As at 30 June 2024	
	(RMB in million)	$(U.S.\$ in million)^{(3)}$
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
Debt		
Debt securities issued	599,046	82,431
Other borrowings ⁽¹⁾	10,907,987	1,500,989
Total debt	11,507,033	1,583,420
Equity		
Share capital	74,263	10,219
Other equity instruments	174,790	24,052
Capital surplus	111,428	15,333
Other reserves	427,719	58,856
Retained earnings	319,174	43,920
Non-controlling interests	11,917	1,640
Total equity	1,119,291	154,020
Total capitalisation ⁽²⁾	12,626,324	1,950,946

Notes:

Unless otherwise disclosed in this Supplemental Offering Circular, there has not been any material change in the capitalisation of the Bank since 30 June 2024.

⁽¹⁾ Other borrowings include amounts due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions and deposits from customers.

⁽²⁾ Total capitalisation equals the sum of total debt and total equity.

⁽³⁾ For convenience only, all translations from Renminbi into U.S. dollars are made at the rate of RMB7.2672 to U.S.\$1.00, the noon buying rate as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on 28 June 2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the USD Notes and the CNY Notes issued under the Programme shall each be used for the Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK

The section "Description of the Bank" on pages 99 to 121 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

OVERVIEW

Founded in 1908, the Bank is one of the note-issuing banks with the longest history in modern China. In 1986, the State Council of the PRC decided to reorganise the Bank. The Bank reopened after reorganisation on 1 April 1987. It is the first nationwide state-owned joint-stock commercial bank in China, with the head office located in Shanghai. The Bank made its first public offering of its H shares and listing on the HKSE in June 2005, and its first public offering of its A shares and listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in May 2007. The Group was ranked in Fortune 500 for sixteen consecutive years, and ranked No. 48 in 2023. The Group ranked No.9 among the Global Top 1000 World Banks 2023 rated by *The Banker*.

Substantially all of the Bank's operations are located in the PRC and the Bank is headquartered in Shanghai. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 253 domestic branches, including 38 provincial branches and directly-managed branches and 215 branches managed by provincial branches, most of which are concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Rim Economic Zone, as well as large cities in other areas. Through this network and other distribution channels, the Group provides a broad range of financial products and services to its corporate and personal finance customers. As at 30 June 2024, in addition to its PRC operations, the Bank had branches or subsidiaries which are located in Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. The "Others Business" segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and for the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group's profit before tax were RMB93,959 million, RMB98,215 million (before restatement)/ RMB98,115 million (after restatement), RMB99,698 million and RMB47,678 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group had total assets of RMB11,665,757 million, RMB12,992,419 million (before restatement)/ RMB12,991,571 million (after restatement), RMB14,060,472 million and RMB14,177,914 million, respectively, gross amount of loans and advances to customers before allowance for impairment of RMB6,560,400 million, RMB7,296,155 million (before restatement)/ RMB7,294,965 million (after restatement), RMB7,957,085 million and RMB8,267,734 million, respectively, total amounts due to customers of RMB7,039,777 million, RMB7,949,072 million (before restatement)/ RMB7,949,072 million (after restatement), RMB8,551,215 million and RMB8,650,116 million, respectively, and total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company of RMB964,647 million, RMB1,023,409 million (before restatement)/ RMB1,022,024 million (after restatement), RMB1,088,030 million and RMB1,107,374 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group's non-performing loan ratios were 1.48 per cent., 1.35 per cent. (before and after restatement), 1.33 per cent. and 1.32 per cent., respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the Group's provision coverage ratios were 166.50 per cent., 180.68 per cent. (before and after restatement), 195.21 per cent. and 204.82 per cent., respectively.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Highlights of third quarter 2024 results

The 2024 Third Quarter Financial Information was published on 30 October 2024 on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. During the third quarter of 2024, the Group insisted on the principle of making progress while maintaining stability, implementing the new development concept in a complete, accurate and comprehensive manner. The Group focused on the primary task of seeking high-quality development, and thoroughly practiced the political and popular nature of financial work, and its operating performance improved.

As at 30 September 2024, the total assets of the Group increased by 3.80 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB14,594.709 billion. The total liabilities increased by 3.81 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB13,454.955 billion. Shareholders' equity (attributable to shareholders of the Bank) increased by 3.67 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB1,127.908 billion. For nine months ended 30 September 2024, the net operating income decreased by 1.37 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to RMB196.411 billion. The net profit (attributable to shareholders of the Bank) decreased by 0.69 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to RMB68.690 billion. The annualised return on average assets and the annualised return on weighted average net assets were 0.65 per cent. and 9.06 per cent., respectively, representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.04 percentage point and a decrease of 0.77 percentage point respectively.

Proposed appointments of executive directors

The Board of the Bank has resolved to propose to appoint Mr. Ai Dong as an Non-executive Director, a member of the Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee) and a member of the Audit Committee. In accordance with the laws, regulations and the articles of association of the Bank, Mr. Ai's position as a Non-executive Director and positions in the special committees of the Board shall become effective after he is appointed as a Non-executive Director by a general meeting of the Bank and his qualification as a Non-executive Director is approved by the NAFR. After the qualification of Mr. Ai as a non-executive Director becomes effective, Mr. Chen Junkui will cease to serve as a non-executive Director, a member of the Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee) and a member of the Audit Committee.

The biographical details of Mr. Ai are as follows:

Mr. Ai Dong, born in 1975, is of Chinese nationality. Mr. Ai served as the deputy director of the Finance Department of China National Tobacco Corporation, also a director of National Small and Medium Enterprises Development Fund Company Limited and a supervisor of China Tobacco Magazine Company Limited. Mr. Ai served as the director of the Comprehensive Division and deputy director of the Accounting Division of the Finance Department of China National Tobacco Corporation, the finance manager of Zimbabwe Tianze Tobacco Company Limited, and the staff member of Third Research Institute of the Aerospace Industry Corporation. Mr. Ai obtained a bachelor's degree in taxation from Tianjin Business School in 1998.

Opening of Bank of Communications (DIFC Branch)

Bank of Communications (DIFC Branch) (the "**DIFC Branch**") has been officially opened in Dubai International Financial Centre, the UAE on 27 November 2024 in local time. The Bank remains committed to its prudent and compliant operational philosophy, leverages its strengths in global development, balances growth with security, and actively builds a financial bridge connecting domestic and overseas markets. By doing so, the Bank aims to contribute financial support to China's high-level opening-up and the establishment of a

new development paradigm. In recent years, the Bank has steadily advanced its global service network, covering major international financial centers and spanning five continents. Following the opening of the DIFC Branch, the Bank now operates 24 overseas branches (subsidiaries) and representative offices worldwide, with 67 overseas business outlets. The DIFC Branch is the Bank's first banking institution established in the Middle East. The DIFC Branch will fully leverage its strategic location, focusing on key areas of China-Arab cooperation to deliver high-quality financial services to Chinese enterprises expanding abroad, as well as to institutions engaged in trade and investment activities between the Middle East and China. The DIFC Branch will actively support high-level opening-up, facilitate the high-quality development of the Belt and Road Initiative, and contribute to the construction of the "Five Cooperation Frameworks" between China and Arab states, thereby advancing the China-Arab community with a shared future.

THE BANK'S AWARDS

The Bank believes the brand of "Bank of Communications" is one of the most recognised financial service brand names in China. The Bank ranked No. 9 among the Top 1000 World Banks 2023 by The Banker. The Bank was honoured in Fortune 500 for sixteen consecutive years and was ranked No. 48 in 2023. In 2023, the Bank was awarded the "First Prize of Shanghai Financial Innovation" by Shanghai Municipal People's Government, "First Prize of FinTech Development Award" by the PBOC, "Best Personal Mobile Banking Award" and "Best Corporate Mobile Banking and Corporate Internet Banking Awards" by China Financial Certification Authority, "Data Governance Best Practice Award" by International Data Management Association, "Best Custodian, Pension, China" by The Asset, and "ESG Best Practice Examples for Listed Companies 2023 by China Listed Companies Association. In 2022, the Bank was awarded "Best Cash Management Bank, China" by *The Asset*, "Top 10 Transaction Banking Innovation Award" by *The Banker*, "First prize of FinTech Development Award" by the PBOC, "Innovation Achievement award" by the MOF and Information Technology of the PRC, "Digital Pioneer Enterprise Award" by Tencent, "Best Custodian, Pension, China" by The Asset, "The 17th People's Enterprise Social Responsibility Award - Annual Enterprise Award The 19th People's Ingenuity Award – Ingenuity Service Award" by People, cn, "MSCI ESG Rating Grade A" by Morgan Stanley Capital International. In 2021, the Bank was awarded "Advanced Unit in National Poverty Alleviation" by the CPC Central Committee, the State Council, "First prize of FinTech Development Award in 2020" and "Assessment A+ on Protecting Financial Consumers' Rights and Interests of the People's Bank of China in 2020" by the PBOC, "First prize of Shanghai Financial Innovation Achievement Award in 2020" by Shanghai Municipal People's Government, "Best Open Bank Award, Best Corporate Mobile Banking Award and Best Personal Mobile Banking Award" by China Financial Certification Authority ("CFCA"), "Best Bank for Payment and Settlement Solution (Project of Intelligent Financial Services Platform of Jiangsu Financial Leasing)" by The Asset, "Best Bank for International Business" by Trade Finance, "Best Innovative Investment Bank in 2021" and "Best Bank for Securitisation Deal in 2021" by Asia Money and "Credit Card Centre in 2021" by 21st Century Business Herald. Besides, the Bank was also awarded "Excellent Bank for Brand Construction in 2021" by China.com.cn and "2021 People's Corporate Social Responsibility - Corporate Performance Award" by People.cn.

THE BANK'S COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

A fast-growing state-owned bank in China with sustainable improvement in value creation

Known as a "centuries-old bank", the Bank established its time-honoured financial brand with a long-standing history and accumulative competitive advantages. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets of the Group amounted to RMB14,177,914 million. As at 30 June 2024, the deposits from customers of the Group reached RMB8,650,116 million and the loans and advances balances of the Group amounted to RMB8,066,326 million. The Bank enjoys high recognition and reputation nationwide. The Bank was ranked in Fortune 500 for sixteen

consecutive years, and ranked No. 48 in 2023. The Bank ranked No. 9 among the Top 1000 World Banks 2023 by *The Banker*.

The Bank has always been a pioneer of reformation in banking sector since reorganisation. The Bank is the first national joint-stock commercial bank in China, the first integrated commercial bank to carry out banking, insurance and securities businesses and the first domestic large scale commercial bank to successfully bring in foreign capital and to list overseas. In 2015, the Bank took the initiative to be responsible for the financial pilot reform in China after its reformation plan, BoCom's Plan to Strengthen Reformation, approved by the State Council. In taking "creating shared value and providing the best service" as its core value, the Bank will continue to implement reformation as appropriate and place emphasis on the continuous strategic landscape for stronger wealth management characteristics, with an aim to become a bank with top wealth management businesses and global competitive capabilities in the world.

The Bank is one of the first banks to initiate the concept of wealth management services in the industry. The brand and characteristics of wealth management became more and more prominent with the continuous development of the Bank's wealth management service system. The Bank has also obtained various licenses relating to trust, leasing, fund, insurance, securities and financial investment, to develop its wealth management business. In 2019, the Bank set up and continuously expanded its asset management subsidiary and fund management subsidiary. The Bank has built up a product and service system categorised by wealth preservation and incrementation, financial planning and risk hedging in order to provide online and offline financial services in relation to on-and-off balance sheet and debt and equity investment. Targeting retail customers, the Bank also integrated certain retail services into the system with respect to wealth management, family trust, insurance broker and asset management. As at 30 June 2024, the individual financial AUM managed by domestic branches was RMB5,266,502 million, representing an increase of 5.29 per cent. over the end of the previous year; and number of monthly active users ("MAU") of personal mobile banking increased by 4.96 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB45.2217 million. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group reported fee and commission income from wealth management business of RMB4,121 million through the consignment of wealth management products, funds and wealth management business.

The Group maintains constant and steady growth in terms of its business scale. The Group's corporate banking businesses routinely increased. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's corporate loan balance increased by RMB271.860 billion or 5.25 per cent. as compared with the end of the previous year, in which related loans to the manufacturing industry, SRDI (specialised, refine, differential, innovative), green credit and the agriculture-related loans increased 8.37 per cent., 37.87 per cent., 5.96 per cent., and 9.34 per cent., respectively, all exceeding the average growth rate of the Group's loans. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the business volume of industrial value chain financing increased by 23.99 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, and the scitech finance credit customers increased by 17.60 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the balance of loans of inclusive loans for small and micro enterprises amounted to RMB683,175 million, representing an increase of 15.74 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the number of customers with loan balances was 377.5 thousand, representing an increase of 10.55 per cent. over the end of the previous year. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the industrial chain finance business volume reached RMB304,249 million, increased by 8.51 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

The Group's personal banking business also showed an upward trend. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's balance of personal deposits increased by 6.85 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB3,588,270 million, and its balance of personal loans increased by 3.34 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB2,555,798 million. As at 30 June 2024, the credit cards of domestic banking institutions remaining in force reached approximately 65 million. As at 30 June 2024, the accumulated number of debit cards issued amounted to approximately 181 million, representing a net increase of approximately 4 million over the end of the previous year. The Group also focused on developing consumer finance, optimising its online application named "Benefit

Loan" (namely online credit consumption loans launched by the Bank for qualified customers), leveraging its FinTech services and improving its intelligent risk management capabilities during the same period. The Bank accelerated the innovation and iteration of personal consumer loan products, on the basis of meeting customers' diversified financial needs concerning clothing, food, housing, travel and medical care to improve the whole-process customer experience. The Bank also provided supporting differentiated credit policies and service solutions to enhance consumer loan services for new citizens. It actively provided relief measures to the retail credit customers affected by the pandemic. As at 30 June 2024, the personal consumption loan balance of domestic banking institutions increased by 30.08 per cent. over the end of the previous year, and the market share of personal consumption loans domestic banking institutions increased by 0.88 percentage point over the end of the previous year.

Committed to building the international and comprehensive financial service platform

The Bank is committed to becoming a first-class international bank with advantages in international businesses and delivering global financial services. The Bank is one of the most internationalised domestic banks in China and its international layouts are at the forefront with respect to its domestic counterparts. Its overseas banking institutions have initially sprouted up within the Asia-Pacific area. The layout of offshore service network has been progressing steadily. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank established 23 overseas branches (subsidiaries) and representative offices with 66 overseas operating outlets, providing customers with comprehensive financial services including deposits, loans and advances, international settlement, trade financing and foreign currency exchange. In the year of 2024, the Bank strengthened the convenience of trade and the construction of CNY cross-border payment scenarios, while enhancing financial services in the field of foreign investment and foreign trade. As at 31 December 2023, the receipt and payment of cross-border Renminbi increased by 23.30 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 31 December 2023, cross-border Renminbi trade financing balance increased by 91.92 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank had established overseas banking service network with 1,045 banks in 131 countries and regions, and opened 201 service accounts for 93 overseas Renminbi participating banks in 29 countries and regions, and opened 113 foreign currency clearing accounts in 29 currencies with 66 banks in 32 countries and regions. In addition, for the six months ended 30 June 2024, the net profit of the Group's overseas banking institutions was RMB5,905 million, accounting for 13.04 per cent. of the Group's total net profit. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets of the Group's overseas banking institutions was RMB1,246,721 million, accounting for 8.79 per cent. of the Group's total assets.

To facilitate the globalisation of domestic enterprises, the Bank and HSBC has also jointly launched a program named "1+1 Global Financial Services" to provide related services and advice. The Bank also connected to the "Single Window" of the customs to provide one-stop trading, settlement and financing services to foreign trade companies. In addition, the Bank developed a new format of trade services, actively connected the Bank with cross-border e-Commerce enterprises and integrated foreign trade service platforms to improve the foreign exchange settlement autonomy and capital turnover efficiency of medium, small and micro enterprises. To enhance its global influence, the Bank is also devoted to promoting the integration of its businesses. To be facilitated by its various wholly-owned and controlling subsidiaries, the Group provides comprehensive financial services and products to its customers, comprising fund, trust, financial leasing, onshore insurance, investment banking, offshore insurance, debt-to-equity swap and wealth management.

BoCom Schroder Fund, whose primary businesses are fund raising, fund sales and asset management, was awarded "Golden Bull Fund Management Company" by *China Securities Journal*, "Golden Fund Top Company Award" by *Shanghai Securities Journal* and "Top 10 Star Fund Company Award" by *Securities Times* in 2023. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were RMB8.176 billion and RMB6.746 billion respectively, and the public fund under management reached RMB552.0 billion. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB0.491 billion.

Staying committed to fulfil the original mission as a trust company to serve the real economy, BoCom International Trust focuses on, among others, trust loans, equity investment trusts, credit asset securitisation, corporate asset securitisation, qualified domestic institutional investor (QDII), family trusts, charitable trusts. It was awarded "Integrity Trust - Excellent Company Award" by *Shanghai Securities News*, "Golden Bull Award for One-Year Trust TOF/FOF" by *China Securities Journal* and "Top Ten Family Trust Management Innovation Award" by *The Banker* in 2023. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets, net assets and the AUM were RMB18.837 billion, RMB16.588 billion and RMB602.0 million, respectively, and the trust assets under management amounted to RMB602.0 billion, reflecting an increase of 10.22 per cent. over the end of the previous year. BoCom International Trust's net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB443 million, representing an increase of 0.58 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. It has been rated as Level A (the highest level) for eight consecutive years in the industry rating launched by the China Trustee Association.

BoCom Leasing continues to promote financing leasing and operating leasing in sectors such as aviation, shipping and energy power, transportation infrastructure, equipment manufacturing and livelihood services. It was awarded "Jinnuo 2024 Annual Award for Financial Brand Innovation Cases" by *China Banking and Insurance News* in 2024, and "Gold Medal List of Chinese Financial Institutions - Best Financial Leasing Company of the Year" by *Financial Times*, "Banking ESG Practices – Green Finance Exemplary Award" by *China Banking and Insurance News* and "Best Financial Leasing Company of the Year" by *Global Leasing Industry Competitiveness Forum* in 2023. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets, net assets and balance of leasing assets amounted to RMB432,788 million, RMB47,353 million and RMB380,637 million, respectively. As at 30 June 2024, BoCom Leasing's net profit reached RMB2,146 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.20 per cent. In addition, as at 30 June 2024, it owned and managed 458 ships and RMB141,091 million of aircraft charter assets. BoCom Leasing was the largest leasing company in the domestic merchant fleet. As at 30 June 2024, it has a fleet of 303 planes and had aviation leasing assets of RMB100,037 million.

In relation to onshore insurance, BoCommLife remains committed to provide life insurance, health insurance, accident insurance and reinsurance business. It was awarded "Examples of Excellence in ESG Practices" by *The Financial Sector* and "Gold Medal Insurance Product Ark Award" by *Securities Times*. As at 30 June 2024, BoCommLife's total assets and net assets were RMB139,933 million and RMB6,684 million respectively. BoCommLife took the initiative to optimise its business structure, focusing on the development of value-based term business. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCommLife achieved insurance service income of RMB1,249 million, representing an increase of 42.44 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, achieving operating income of RMB3,485 million, which increased by 14.25 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, and realising a net profit of RMB788 million during the six months ended 30 June 2024, an increase of 102.86 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

With respect to offshore insurance, BoCom Insurance expands its banking-related insurance business domestically and overseas and officially obtains the full-coverage aviation insurance license issued by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority (namely, No. 5 Aviation Insurance License and No.11 Aviation Liability Insurance License). As at 30 June 2024, BoCom Insurance had total assets and net assets of HKD1,387 million and HKD569 million, respectively. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 amounted to HKD10.77 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 169 per cent..

As one of the first pilot banks to implement debt-to equity swap as determined by the State Council, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment is mainly engaged in debt-to-equity swap and supporting services. As at 30 June 2024, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment's total assets and net assets were RMB67,889 million and RMB25,118 million, respectively. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB1,505 million, representing a decrease of 50.80 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company from the subsidiaries¹ amounted to RMB5,455 million, the proportion of which to the Group's net profit was 12.05 per cent. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets of the Group's subsidiaries were RMB710,281 million, the proportion of which to the total assets of the Group was 5.01 per cent.

Prominent wealth management services

The Group grasped market opportunities and cooperated with sophisticated fund managers to manage its funds and investments, aiming to create conventional, popular and featured wealth management products and build up the name of BOCOM Wealth. In addition, the Group strengthened the operation of full volume of customers, brought wealth management products' and service brand's superiorities into full play, better met the multi-level wealth management needs of the people. As at 30 June 2024, individual financial AUM managed by domestic branches of the Group increased by 5.29 per cent. over the end of the previous year, whereas the personal mobile banking MAU increased by 4.96 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, there were 90.9 thousand private banking customers of the Group, representing an increase of 6.89 per cent. over the end of the previous year; the assets of private banking customers under management of the Group were RMB1,246.8 billion, representing an increase of 6.89 per cent. over the end of the previous year. In addition, the Group has established comprehensive service brands for its customers in relation to wealth preservation. The Group provided retail and individual customers, corporations and financial institutions with comprehensive financial services, building up a complete series structure comprising "Win to Fortune", a corporate and interbank wealth management brand of the Bank providing comprehensive one-stop wealth management solutions for corporate, government institutions and interbank financial customers through intelligent financial service and digital transformation and "OTO Fortune", a main brand of retail business of the Bank with core value of "creating and sharing abundant wealth with noble virtue" devoted to realising value maintenance and appreciation of wealth for customers. As at 30 June 2024, the number of qualified customers of OTO Fortune increased by 5.36 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB2.5497 million. As at 30 June 2024, the scale of AUM increased by 5.29 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB5,266,502 million.

Comprehensive and robust risk management

The Board of Directors of the Bank assumed the ultimate responsibility, served the highest function of decision making and monitored the Bank's risk management through its Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee. The Bank's Senior Management established a Risk Management Committee, namely the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee, and two business review committees, namely the Credit and Investment Review Committee and the High-risk Asset Review Committee. The business review committees were guided by and reported to the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee. Each provincial and directly managed branch, overseas branch, subsidiary and directly operating institution correspondingly established the Risk Management Committee accordingly referring to the aforementioned framework, which served as the main platform to study the prevention and control of systematic and regional risks and decision-making risks on major issues, ensured that the comprehensive risk management system had been implemented throughout the Group.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group reinforced risk identification and prompted risk response. The business accountability mechanism for credit granting of key customers was continuously deepened, the approval procedures of credit business were also continuously deepened, the post-loan management was continuously improved and enhanced. The Bank continuously strengthened the credit risk identification and management in key sectors, further optimised systems and models of risk monitoring, assessment and measurement, and the direct operation and management mechanism for the asset preservation was significantly

Excluding Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) S.A., Bank of Communications (Brazil) Co., Ltd. and Bank of Communications (Hong Kong), same applies hereinafter

effective. By maintaining strict asset quality classification standards, the foundation of asset quality was continuously strengthened, and the asset quality was steadily improved. As at 30 June 2024, the balance of non-performing loans was RMB108,971 million and the non-performing loan ratio was 1.32 per cent., representing an increase of RMB3,283 million and a decrease of 0.01 percentage point, respectively, over the end of the previous year.

Experienced and professional management team and talent pool

The Group's senior management has an average of more than 20 years' experience in banking practice and is well experienced in management. Among the Group's senior management, Mr. Ren Degi, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive Director, has over 30 years' experience in banking sector, holding important positions. In 2023, the Bank continued to optimise the talent development system and mechanism as well as the talent policy in key areas, and strengthened the professional talent team building to provide strong talent protection to facilitate and promote the Bank's high-quality development and digital transformation. The Bank continuously deepened the reform of the talent development system and mechanism, established and improved the relevant criteria, issued the "Action Plan for Enhancing the Quality of Key Talents of the Ban of Communications", which enhanced the talent quality to the level of the Bank's strategic development, and strived to establish a talent work pattern of coordination and join management. Focusing on the Bank's digital transformation strategy, the Bank focused on promoting the implementation of the "Ten Thousand People Technology Engagement Plan", with the proportion of newly recruited science and technology graduates in the Bank has increased to 70 per cent. in 2023. The Bank intensified the opening up of high-level leading talent to attract global talent, and achieved a breakthrough in talent attraction in 2023, with around 10 high-level talents introduced in key shortage areas such as financial technology, risk measurement, compliance and anti-money laundering.

The Group also adheres to pursue operational improvements and actively reforms its corporate governance structure in a professional manner. Currently, the Bank has established its modern corporate governance mechanism comprising the Shareholders' General Meeting, the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors and Senior Management with clearly defined roles, authorities and responsibilities. Based on their mutual coordination and individual operation, the Group protects the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders and other stakeholders and functions fairly and efficiently.

Strategic cooperation with HSBC

In 2022, the Bank and HSBC were strongly committed to promote the cooperation in various fields under the framework of the strategic cooperation mechanism, as well as consolidating the mutually beneficial and win-win cooperation situation. The Bank and HSBC held the top-level meetings at the Chairman/Group Chairman through online channels; established and conducted the dialogue mechanism for the President/Group CEO; communicated the significant matters of business development in a timely manner, and determined the direction and route of cooperation. The Bank and HSBC steadily promoted cooperation in various fields under the unified framework of "1+1 Global Financial Service" based on the market-oriented principles. The Bank and HSBC have joined hands to provide syndicated loans to "going out" Chinese enterprises, continued to promote cross-border Renminbi settlement, interbank bond trading and other business corporation, as well as promote fund distribution corporation in a steadily increasing scale. The Bank and HSBC continued to maintain their advantages in overseas corporation. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount of bond underwriting and cooperative syndicated loans by the Bank in Hong Kong grew by 18 per cent. and 32 year per cent. on a year-on-year basis, respectively.

Under the framework of "Resources and Experience Sharing (RES)", both parties focused on the transformation and development, business innovation and other issues, and also continued carrying out the mutual training and business experience exchange. In 2022, the Bank and HSBC successfully resumed Hong Kong exchange

projects, and promoted in-depth exchanges around trade finance, sci-tech finance and green finance by organising three key training sessions.

2024 marks the 20th anniversary of the Bank and HSBC cooperation. The Bank intends to work with HSBC through close communication and collaboration to further expand cooperation in key areas and key fields around the common strategic priorities of both parties to produce more fruitful results.

THE GROUP'S PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Bank provides the customers with corporate banking, personal banking and interbank and financial market businesses. Corporate banking businesses include offering deposits and loans, supply chain finance, cash management, international settlement and trade finance, investment banking, asset custody, wealth management and all kinds of intermediary businesses to corporate customers and government agencies. Personal banking businesses include services such as deposits and loans, wealth management, bank cards, private banking and all kinds of intermediary businesses for individual customers. Interbank and financial market businesses include cooperation with customers in the markets of interest rates, exchange rates, commodities, providing comprehensive services such as investment and financing, transactions, agency, settlement and liquidation. In addition, the Group is involved in businesses in financial leasing, fund, trust, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity conversion and asset management through wholly-owned or controlling subsidiaries.

Corporate Banking Business

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's corporate deposit balance decreased to RMB4,907,584 million. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's corporate loan balance was RMB5,451,393 million, representing an increase of RMB271,860 million or 5.25 per cent. over the end of the previous year, among which short term loans increased by RMB66,934 million, and medium and long-term loans increased by RMB204,926 million, the proportion of medium and long-terms in loans and advances to customers increased to 47.03 per cent.

Customer development

The Bank continuously optimised the management of corporate customers by tiered classification and built a refined and professional service system. As at 30 June 2024, the total number of corporate customers of domestic branches increased by 3.45 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

For group customers, the Bank increased its services and support for national strategies such as the building of a strong power in technology, manufacturing, green development, digital economy and agriculture. It also established a group—wide integrated and collaborative service system and continued to optimise customer service policies and credit procedures in order to improve service level and business synergy. As at 30 June 2024, the total number of the Bank's group customers reached 105,300, representing an increase of 7,792 over the end of the previous year. In terms of government institutions customers, the Bank actively participated in the construction of digital government and the process of digital transformation of cities, helped to provide convenient administrative services, and built a system of intelligent government products. As at 30 June 2024, the number of government institutions customers reached 79,300, representing an increase of 2,368 over the end of the previous year. For small and micro basic customers, the Bank further implemented the strategy of "Internet Management, Online Management and Remote Management", and established a new generation for the call system, enhanced support for digital batch financial services, and improved the quality and efficiency of online-offline collaborative services. As at 30 June 2024, the number of small and micro basic customers reached 2,524.8 thousand, representing an increase of 80.1 thousand over the end of the previous year.

Scenario construction

The Bank intensively explored scenario construction through digital thinking and gained noticeable achievement in subdivided scenarios such as medical care, industrial parks, central corporate treasury and

interbank fund management. The "Credit for Medical Treatment" initiative has been launched in 90 cities, including Shanghai, Dalian, Guangzhou, Xiamen and Zibo, to solve the problem of queuing for medical treatment through the new model of "Treatment First and Payment Later". With the focus on "fee collection" and "fee reconciliation", the Group created a comprehensive service solution combining both online and offline channels to offer distinct features in different scenarios, including industrial parks and electricity payment. The total number of customers signed up on the Intelligent Financial Services Platform exceeded 140,300, representing an increase of 1,800 over the end of the previous year, with a collection and settlement volume of RMB1,265,451 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 37.89 per cent.. The Group actively served the construction of a treasury system for central and state-owned enterprises, and the Group is among the first in the industry to launch account monitoring services based on the request of customers to enhance the visibility of their accounts. With a focus on the informatisation of enterprise financial management, the Group launched an inter-bank fund management system to address the pain points and difficulties of enterprises in inter-bank fund management.

Services to inclusive small and micro enterprises

The Group has continued to increase the scale and coverage of its credit business to strengthen financial support to key areas including small and micro enterprises who are first-time lenders, credit lending, sci-tech-based small and micro enterprises, and small and micro manufacturing enterprises. The Group has created a unified brand for inclusive finance and rural revitalisation – BoCom Zhanyetong and BoCom Yinongtong, to enable the driving of online standard products and customised scenario products. The Group consistently optimises its business processes to facilitate remote audio and video verification, direct connection and handling of mortgage registrations, as well as centralised post-loan monitoring and management. By focusing on customer operation pain points in payroll, tax, personnel and other issues, the Group provides the BoCom Jiaoxintong digital platform free of charge to support enterprises in their transformation and upgrade. The Group consistently enhances its evaluation, incentive and resource mechanisms to promote the "conduct of inclusive finance by all employees". By concentrating on technological empowerment, the Bank has consolidated the digital risk control system and strengthened post-loan management and compliance management to firmly uphold the risk bottom line.

As at 30 June 2024, the balance of inclusive loans to small and micro enterprises was RMB638,175 million, representing an increase of 15.74 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the number of customers with loan balances was 377.5 thousand, representing an increase of 10.55 per cent. over the end of the previous year. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the accumulated average interest rate of inclusive loans to small and micro enterprises was 3.32 per cent., representing a year-on-year decrease of 11 basis points. As at 30 June 2024, the non-performing loan ratio of inclusive small and micro enterprises was 0.72 per cent., representing an increase of 0.02 percentage point over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, 2,792 business outlets of the Bank provided financing services to small and micro enterprises.

Industrial chain finance

By capturing the strategic opportunity brought about by the construction of a modern industrial system, the Bank continues to conduct the "100 cores and 1,000 chains" initiatives, with a focus on key customer groups such as central and state-owned enterprises, strategic customers and leading local enterprises, increasing the support given to key sectors, including manufacturing, scientific and technological innovation and green development, as well as assisting the real economy to strengthen, supplement and extend the industrial chain. The Bank enhanced the iterative optimisation and marketing of the self-built smart transaction chain platform, continued its integration with core enterprises and third-party supply chain platforms, and created digital scenario-based service features for industrial chain finance. The Bank continued to enrich its rapid financing product line to improve service efficiency, optimise the customer experience, and enhance the digitalisation of business development. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the industrial chain financial business volume

was RMB304,249 million, representing an increase of 8.51 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 30 June 2024, the number of upstream and downstream enterprises in the industrial chain amounted to 36,700, representing an increase of 23.99 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

Sci-tech finance

The Bank proactively adhered to the strategy of strengthening the country through science and technology, reinforced the connection between industry and finance, and leveraged the advantage of full licenses to provide sci-tech enterprises with diversified financial products and services throughout their entire life cycle in order to excel in sci-tech finance area. The Bank optimised customer structure and asset structure by focusing on, among others, serving strategic emerging industries, advanced manufacturing industries, sci-tech innovation, green and low-carbon, and the upgrading of traditional industries. The Bank focused on key clients including high-tech enterprises, sci-tech small and micro enterprises, national manufacturing leaders, specialised and new "little giants", specialised and new small and micro enterprises, and model companies for national technology innovation, to build an "eight specialists" mechanism to serve sci-tech innovation enterprises. In addition, the Bank also launched the "BoCom Sci-tech Innovation" brand to introduce exclusive service solutions covering the four major product lines of "equity, debt, lending and rental" and the three major scenarios of "industrial chain, business cycle and industrial park". Focusing on the different life stages of inclusive sci-tech innovation enterprises, the Bank has improved the level of online financing services. As at 30 June 2024, the number of sci-tech finance credit customers increased by 5.89 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the loan balance of strategic emerging industries increased by 16.05 per cent. compared with the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, there were 5,092 "little giant" enterprises of "specialisation, delicacy, characterisation and novelty", with a market coverage rate of 41.79 per cent., and their loan balances increased by 17.60 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Investment bank

The Bank continues to consolidate a comprehensive range of products for all customers and establish itself as the most innovative investment bank. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the bond underwriting according to NAFMII (debt financing instruments for non-financial enterprises) reached RMB109.580 billion. The Bank strives to serve the sci-tech financial strategy by providing services such as bill underwriting, M&A loans, and as at 30 June 2024, equity investment to sci-tech enterprises amounting to RMB8.51 billion. The Bank promoted the establishment of BoCom Sci-tech Innovation - Shanghai sci-tech finance master-feeder fund to meet the needs of technology start-ups for equity investment with the purpose of reaching customers at an earlier stage. The Bank served the green development strategy and witnessed rapid growth in the green bond underwriting business, green M&A loans, and the green equity investment business. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank implemented RMB38.45 billion in green finance investment banking business, representing a year-on-year growth of 107.6 per cent. The Bank was invited to join as a member of the Green Bond Standards Committee jointly established by the PBOC and the CSRC. In order to meet the reasonable direct financing needs of real estate enterprises, as at 31 December 2023, the Bank had underwritten real estate corporate bonds of RMB13.59 billion, representing an increase of 56.5 per cent. on a year-on-year basis, taking advantage of its diversified product portfolios such as private enterprise bond financing and credit risk mitigation warranty (CRMW). In order to shape new advantages in digital finance, the Bank continued to iteratively upgrade the "Win to Fortune e-Smart" information consultancy system. The first batch of hybrid sci-tech innovation bills in interbank market underwritten by the Bank as the lead underwriter won the "Excellence Award" of the Science and Technology Innovation Centre of Shanghai Financial Industry Federation.

Personal Banking Business

As at 30 June 2024, the balance of personal deposits of the Group amounted to RMB3,588,270 million representing an increase of 6.85 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the balance of personal loans was RMB2,555,798 million, representing an increase of 3.34 per cent. over the end of the

previous year, and the market share² of personal consumption loans of domestic branches increased by 0.88 percentage point over the end of the previous year.

Retail customers and AUM

The Bank deepened the management of retail customer stratification and classification to build precise customer profiles for the purpose of enabling the sophisticated and intelligent reach to different customer groups. The Bank strived to promote retail digital transformation by creating an integrated "online + offline" full process service system, enriched financial service scenarios, enhanced the effectiveness of customer acquisition and activation within all channels and scenarios, improved the ability for value creation, and enabled sustained and stable growth in AUM. As at 30 June 2024, the number of retail customers of domestic branches (including debit card and credit card customers) increased by 1.35 per cent. over the end of the previous year to 195 million. As at 30 June 2024, the number of qualified customers of OTO Fortune increased by 5.36 per cent. over the end of the previous year to 2.5497 million. As at 30 June 2024, the scale of AUM increased by 5.29 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB5,266,502 million.

Wealth management

Adhering to the customer orientation, the Bank constantly improved it product offerings, enhancing the availability and coverage of its services so as to benefit its customers with secured and profitable financial products with high liquidity and to meet the increasing demand for wealth management products. The Bank proactively responded to the unfavourable external environment to build a robust full-chain operating system for the wealth management business. Further driven by investment and research, the Bank integrated group resources to establish a collaborative investment strategic meeting mechanism within the entire Group. By holding on to the principles of openness and integration, the Bank selected high-quality products from the market to enrich inclusive financial products with low starting points and stable returns, and established strict selection criteria for "OTO Best Choice" products to maintain its leading performance. The Bank adopted a data driven approach to facilitate the re-engineering and reshaping of asset allocation, operating system, and service models to empower business development. The Bank also improved customer accompaniment by working with leading partner institutions to leverage an open wealth management platform to provide outstanding full-process services. The "OTO Best Choice" product series outperformed its market counterparts in 2024. As at 30 June 2024, the balance of personal public funds product on consignment was RMB220,059 million; the balance of personal wealth management products on consignment was RMB895,186 million; and the balance of insurance products on consignment was RMB315,662 million.

Payment and scenarios

The Bank increased financial support for consumption by launching promotional activities for the purchase of automobiles, household items, home electrical appliances and conduced time-honoured carnival-themed marketing activities together with China UnionPay. Themed debit cards were issued alongside a reduction of handling fees and an increased promotion of benefits such as consumption discounts for four major types of new citizens made up of migrant workers and farmers, self-employed business owners and small and micro entrepreneurs, white-collar workers, and college students, as well as elderly people moving alongside their children. The Bank also provided support to flexible employment workers to settle their provident fund and pension insurance through mobile banking or in branches. As at 30 June 2024, a total of 1.3647 million debit cards were issued to new citizens and the accumulated number of debit cards issued amounted to approximately 181.32 million, representing a net increase of approximately 3.38 million over the end of the previous year.

_

² Among 17 commercial banks.

The Bank enhanced financial services through digital transformation to build a service model of "finance + technology + scenarios". The Bank focused on the construction of government affairs scenarios and government APP for citizens, and provided full-link financial services from account management, bill collection, consumer lending to quick payment for the purpose of improving its service capabilities in high-frequency scenarios such as travel and payment. In specific transportation scenarios, such as the charging of new energy vehicles, public transportation, and ETC travel, the Bank provided convenient services to more than 70 million passengers in 360 urban areas across the country. The Bank focused on medical and health scenarios, optimised the payment process for medical treatment, expanded service scenarios such as community hospitals, cross provincial medical treatment, and drug purchases, and established a mobile payment platform for medical insurance, so as to provide convenient and beneficial payment services. By leveraging BoCom smart schools, the Bank provided comprehensive, secured, and intelligent solutions to meet the financial needs of teachers and students. The Bank provided agency settlement services for student loans granted by China Development Bank in 11 provinces (autonomous regions and municipalities). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the proportion of customers acquired through online channels accounted for 26.88 per cent., representing an increase of 9.01 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

Consumer finance

The Bank adapted to the new changes and trends in the real estate market and actively supported residents' demand for both rigid and improved housing and it successfully completed the stock mortgage interest rate adjustment project, with the whole process of digitisation to enhance customer experience. In order to serve the country's strategy of expanding domestic demand, the Bank innovated and launched new citizen exclusive consumer loans for college graduates "Elite Benefit Loan", and enhanced end-to-end digital operations to better cover diverse customer credit needs. The Bank set up a new automobile scene loan matrix process, which combined credit and mortgage, head office and branch, online and offline. As a result of the Bank's increased cooperation with car brands and dealers, the balance of new energy vehicle loans accounted for nearly 50 per cent. The Bank promoted digital transformation in depth, relied on enterprise-level architecture to improve the efficiency of product innovation, and took data as the core driving force; furthermore, the Bank upgraded digital risk prevention and control system, supported unified risk management and differentiated operations, and promoted business accessibility, thereby greatly improving management efficiency.

Private banking

By adhering to a customer-oriented philosophy, the Bank improved product structure and research services, and strengthened wealth finance features. The Bank consistently enriched its product offering by selecting high-quality products from the market and increasing the supply of low-volatility products and private equity products with multiple terms and strategies. It also launched innovative solutions, such as equity and real estate family trusts, insurance family trusts, and family trusts, to continuously enhance the unique features of its wealth management services. The Bank enhanced its asset allocation by improving the "private banking selection" quantitative model and optimising product selection to assist customers with negative market risks and reduce the fluctuation of investment portfolios. The Bank established an investment and research driving mechanism to steadfastly conduct research on the macroeconomic environment and major types of assets, fixed income products, equity investment products, precious metals and foreign exchanges, to provide support for the Group's asset management and wealth management business. The Bank proactively promoted shared prosperity by launching an innovative charitable trust ecosystem to give full play to the synergy of "finance + charity" to implement a number of charitable trust projects, such as "White Tea Charity Program", "Heartfelt Happiness", and "Let's Light Up Dreams", to form a virtuous cycle for multiple parties to participate in charity.

As at 30 June 2024, there were 90.9 thousand private banking customers of the Group, representing an increase of 8.76 per cent. over the end of the previous year; the assets of private banking customers under management

of the Group was RMB1,246.8 billion, representing an increase of 6.89 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Credit card

The Bank proactively promoted consumption to benefit people's livelihoods. With the goal of "giving back to customers, brand building, and stimulating consumption", the Bank renewed and upgraded the "Red Hot Friday" activity. The Bank also launched a number of large-scale card-payment activities, such as the Yearly Prize, the Double-Five Shopping Festival, the 618 Shopping Festival and the Double 11 E-commerce Festival, to boost consumption. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank focused on premium customer segments to launch a variety of card products, such as new citizen credit cards and car owner credit cards. As at 30 June 2024, the total spending of credit cards reached RMB1,236.299 billion and ranked third in the industry, remaining unchanged from the beginning of the year. As at 31 December 2023, among the new active users, high-quality target customers accounted for 64.86 per cent., representing an increase of 17.93 percentage points over the end of the previous year.

As at 30 June 2024, the cards in force reached approximately 64.89 million and as at 30 June 2024, accounts receivables from domestic branches reached RMB496,178 million, representing an increase of RMB6,572 million over the end of the previous year.

Pension finance

The Bank proactively served the national strategy of coping with the aging population and strived to deliver a remarkable performance in pension finance. The Bank solidly promoted its personal pension business, with the scale of personal pension accounts continuing to grow. The Bank also integrated various government affairs with people's livelihood scenarios to continuously optimise the customer experience and improve the availability and convenience of services. A total of 159 types of products were sold on a commission basis, with all categories of product shelves available, maintaining an industry leading position in terms of the total number of products offered. The Bank continued to strengthen account management and custody services of the national social security fund, basic pension funds and enterprise (occupational) annuity, with the scale of pension custody ranking at the forefront in the industry. By serving the construction of the national inclusive elderly care service system, the Bank proactively promoted the development of its special inclusive pension refinancing business, improving financial support for elderly care service institutions. As at 30 June 2024, the credit balance of the elderly care service industry was increased by 28.83 per cent. and the number of credit customers was increased by 17.02 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Giving full play to the advantages of integrated operations, in 2023, the Bank's subsidiaries proactively carried out the pension finance business, with the management scale of pension target funds ranking first in the industry, and the yield of pension wealth management products being among the leaders in the market. To leverage the inclusive protection offered by insurance products, the Bank offered the first personal pension annuity insurance product and relaxed the age limit for pension annuity products to serve the diversified pension wealth management needs of the people.

Inter-bank and Financial Market Business

The Bank actively supported the construction of a modern financial system with Chinese characteristics. The Bank intensively participated in the financial market development of bonds, currencies and foreign exchange within China, improved its market making and quotation ability, deepened its business cooperation in financial market, optimised its professional custody services, and transformed financial market products into quality services that meet the needs of economic and social development as well as the demands of all kinds of customers, constantly strengthening the capabilities to serve the real economy.

Inter-bank business

The Bank optimised the settlement business within the financial market, ensuring its smooth operations. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the volume of the Bank's agency clearing business in the Shanghai Clearing House, the volume of the agency settlement business in the Shanghai Gold Exchange, and the volume of the securities and futures settlement business were leading the market. The Bank proactively participated in the innovation of the financial market, being the first to carry out standard interest rate swap agency clearing business, and one of the first to carry out agency clearing business for foreign currency pairs in the Shanghai Clearing House. The Bank acted as clearing agent for the first foreign institutional investor participating in the central counterparty clearing business for interbank standard bond forward transactions, and processed the first agency clearing business of "Southbound Trading" for domestic investors. The Bank enriched the scene of interbank cooperation in order to better meet the financial service needs of all kinds of customers. At the same time, the Bank served the construction of the local market, and as at 30 June 2024, the Bank carried out third party deposit service cooperation with 107 securities companies, financing and lending deposit service cooperation with 93 securities companies, and transferred service cooperation with 148 futures companies, in order to serve customers and market investment transactions in the market. In addition, the Bank strengthened its cooperation with cross-border inter-bank payment and clearing limited companies, vigorously expanded domestic and foreign participants, and helped the people to expand the global network of cross border payment systems. The Bank actively applies the deployment of new products of the people's cross-border payment system to provide safe and efficient renminbi cross-border payment services for enterprises to "go out". As at 30 June 2024, the standard payers of the cross-border payment system and the number of customers of the Bank ranked at the forefront of the market.

Financial market business

Focusing on national strategies and the needs of the real economy, the Bank leveraged a combination of investment and trading instruments to provide financial support to major strategies, key regions, and weak links, for the purpose of serving high-quality economic development.

The Bank gave full play to its role as "financial stabiliser" as a leading state-owned bank, and proactively conducted market making, quotations and trading to help shape the "Shanghai Price". For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the trading volume in Renminbi currency market amounted to RMB44.03 trillion; the trading volume in foreign currency market amounted to U.S.\$348.2 billion; the trading volume of Renminbi bonds amounted to RMB3.10 trillion; the trading volume in interbank foreign exchange market amounted to U.S.\$2.02 trillion; the trading volume of self-operated gold amounted to 3,376.5 tons, maintaining its market position as an active trading bank.

Serving the construction of Shanghai as an international financial centre, the Bank was one of the first to conduct innovative businesses such as "Swap Connect", green repurchasing, standard interest rate swap contract trading, the central counterparty clearing business of foreign currency pairs in the interbank market, and single-click trading of foreign exchange options. As one of the first batch of quotation agencies, the Bank created the "BoCom 1-5 Years Treasury Bond Basket" strategy and completed the first batch of trading.

Asset custody business

The Bank met the needs of residents for wealth management and asset allocation, maintained the improvement in the capacity of high-quality custody products, and expanded the custody business of public funds. Focusing on the "three pillars" of old-age care of stabilising the current capacity, promoting growth, and optimising services, the Bank consolidated its brand advantage in the pension custody business. It also focused on expanding the customer groups of interbank cooperation and the custody market of various asset management products. By focusing on key industries encouraged and supported by national policies, such as sci-tech innovation, "specialisation, delicacy, characterisation and novelty" enterprises, the Bank improved its

comprehensive service system and expanded its custody business for private equity funds. By seizing the opportunities afforded by policies promoting connectivity of financial markets, the Bank promoted the development of cross-border custody business. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's assets under custody reached RMB14.37 trillion.

INTEGRATED OPERATION

The Group has developed a structure where the commercial banking business serves as the core, closely integrated and connected with other financial sectors including financial leasing, funds, wealth management, trust, insurance, overseas securities, and debt-to-equity swaps. This arrangement provides comprehensive financial services to customers. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, net profits of subsidiaries³ that are attributable to shareholders of the Bank amounted to RMB5,455 million, the proportion of which to the Group's net profit was 12.05 per cent. As at 30 June 2024, total assets of the subsidiaries¹ was RMB710,281 million, the proportion of which to the total assets of the Group was 5.01 per cent.

Major Subsidiaries

BoCom Leasing

As the Bank's wholly-owned subsidiary, BoCom Leasing was set up in December 2007 with a registered capital of RMB20.0 billion as at 30 June 2024. The main business scope includes financing leasing and operating leasing in sectors such as aviation, shipping and energy power, transportation infrastructure, equipment manufacturing and livelihood services. BoCom Leasing was elected as the Chief Administration Unit of China Banking Association (CBA) Financial Leasing Committee and the director unit of the Financial leases Professional Committee of the Shanghai Banking Association. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Leasing adhered to the development strategies of "Professionalism, Internationalisation, Differentiation and Characteristics", and was deeply engaged in aviation, shipping, traditional financing leasing and other businesses. As at 30 June 2024, total assets, net assets and leasing assets were RMB432,788 million, RMB47,353 million and RMB380,637 million respectively. As at 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing's total assets, leasing assets, operating income, net profit and other main business indicators were ranked first in the financial leasing industry. As at 30 June 2024, it owned and managed 458 ships and RMB141,091 million of aircraft charter assets. BoCom Leasing was the largest leasing company in the domestic merchant fleet, as at 30 June 2024, it had a fleet of 303 planes and had aviation leasing assets cost RMB100,037 million. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, its net profit was RMB2,146 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.20 per cent. BoCom Leasing has won a total of 13 internal and external honorary awards, with its "Communication Case of Serving the Real Economy" winning the "Jinnuo 2024 Annual Award for Financial Brand Innovation Cases" issued by China Banking and Insurance News.

In 2024, BoCom Leasing deeply served the major national strategies and continued to increase support for key strategic regions such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, the Yangtze River Delta, and Guangdong-Hong Kong Macau. As at 31 December 2023, the balance of leasing assets of BoCom Leasing in these three regions accounted to RMB104.4 billion, representing an increase of 20.76 per cent. over the end of the previous year, accounting for 47 per cent. of domestic business. Focusing on "a new development stage, philosophy and pattern, as well as high-quality development", BoCom Leasing deepened its transformation and innovation, and supported the self-development of high-level technologies. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Leasing invested RMB14,966 million in new infrastructure and new energy leasing businesses, accounting for more than 50% of its total investment in equipment leasing business. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Leasing

-

Excluding Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) S.A., Bank of Communications (Brazil) Co., Ltd. and Bank of Communications (Hong Kong).

provided services to 58 sci-tech enterprises and the balance of leasing assets of BoCom in the manufacturing industry amounted to RMB30,488 million, representing an increase of 17.82% over the end of the previous year. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Leasing was the only financial leasing company selected as a sci-tech finance pilot institution by the Shanghai Office of the former CBIRC (now the NAFR) and took the lead in establishing the Shanghai Financial Leasing Service Integrated Circuit Industrial Laboratory.

BoCom International Trust

BoCom International Trust was set up in October 2007 with a registered capital of RMB5,765 million, of which the Bank and Hubei Provincial Communications Investment Group Co., Ltd. contributed 85 per cent. and 15 per cent. shares respectively as at 30 June 2024. The main business scope includes, among others, trust loans, equity investment trusts, securities investment trusts, credit asset securitisation, corporate asset securitisation, qualified domestic institutional investor (QDII), family trusts, charitable trusts. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom International Trust adhered to the principle of stability, set the strategic goal of creating "the most trustworthy first-class trust company", accelerated the transformation and development and deepened the synergy effect of the Group. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets, net assets and the assets under management of BoCom International Trust were RMB18,837 million, RMB16,588 million and RMB602,000 million respectively. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB443 million, representing an increase of 0.58 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. BoCom International Trust has been rated as Level A (the highest level) for eight consecutive years in the industry rating launched by the China Trustee Association.

In 2024, in accordance with the regulatory requirements of the "Three Categories" of trust management, BoCom International Trust made intensive efforts in the fields of asset service trusts, asset management trusts, and charity trusts to promote the development of business transformation. The "Thousand Points of Light" family service trusts were innovatively launched to promote the inclusive application of trusts. As at 31 December 2023, the size of the family wealth management business reached RMB14,948 million, representing an increase of 70.02 per cent. over the end of the previous year, the size of self-managed fixed-income standard products reached RMB105,859 million, representing an increase of 74.39 per cent. over the end of the previous year and 13 charitable trusts were set up covering, among others, rural revitalisation, education subsidies, medical care, helping the elderly and the disabled.

BoCom Schroder Fund

BoCom Schroder Fund was set up in August 2005 with a registered capital of RMB0.2 billion as at 30 June 2024. It was jointly contributed by the Bank, Schroder Investment Management Limited and China International Marine Containers (Group) Co., Ltd., with the shares accounting for 65 per cent., 30 per cent. and 5 per cent. respectively. The primary businesses include fund raising, fund sales and asset management. BoCom Schroder Fund has won the "Golden Bull Fund Management Company" award for five consecutive years, and once again secured the "grand slam" of Golden Bull, Star Fund and Golden Fund awards. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets and net assets of BoCom Schroder Fund were RMB8,176 million and RMB6,746 million respectively, and the public fund under management reached RMB552 billion. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB491 million.

BoCom Schroder Fund continuously improved core competitiveness in investment research, forming a product system with clear risk-return characteristics in areas such as equity investment, multi-asset investment, fixed-income investment, and its investment advisory strategy, striving to develop into a first-class fund company with core competitiveness for high-quality development to help the Group deepen its wealth finance features. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Schroder Fund strived to actively meet people's diverse investment needs, promoted the planning of pension target Fund of Funds and fixed income products, and delivered a strong performance in pension finance and inclusive finance. For the year ended 31 December 2023, BoCom Schroder Fund fulfilled its institutional responsibility towards public equity funds by insisting on

maintaining equity funds at a low-level and with a countercyclical layout, being the first batch of financial institutions to participate in public fund rate reform, and purchasing its own equity funds several times. In October 2023, the BoCom Schroders Ruiyuan 3-year Fixed Period Open Hybrid Securities Investment Fund of RMB1,668 million was issued, becoming the first profit-giving floating rate fund established after the public fund rate reform that had raised the largest amount in the market.

BOCOM Wealth

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, BOCOM Wealth was set up in June 2019 with a registered capital of RMB8.0 billion as at 30 June 2024. It primarily issues wealth management products of fixed income, equity, commodities, financial derivatives and hybrid categories to customers. In 2024, BOCOM Wealth adhered to the customer-centric and investor- oriented principles and adjusted the focus of product design and issuance in a timely manner. It actively expanded consignment agencies outside the Bank, and the balance of products sold under consignment outside the Bank reached RMB822,195 million, accounting for 56.35 per cent. of the balance of products for the six months ended 30 June 2024. It has preliminarily established an open and diversified omni-channel system with the Bank as the main body. As at 30 June 2024, the balance of wealth management products increased by 18.49 per cent. over the end of the previous year to RMB1,459,117 million. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were RMB13,626 million and RMB13,263 million respectively. Its net profit for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was RMB0.711 billion, indicating an increase of 19.42 per cent. on a year-on-year basis.

In 2024, BOCOM Wealth adhered to the "dual drive" of assets and liabilities, constantly improving the inclusive feature of wealth management, accelerating digital transformation, keeping the risk bottom-line, and helping the Group create the features of wealth finance. Recently, BOCOM Wealth has won many awards, such as the "Golden Toad Award", the "Jiefu Award", and the "2023 Outstanding Bond Investment and Trading Institution Award". In addition, BOCOM Wealth was awarded the "Outstanding Case of Elderly-Friendly Financial Services" title at the "2023 Innovative Cases of Financial Consumer Protection and Services" event.

BoCommLife

BoCommLife was set up in January 2010 with a registered capital of RMB5.1 billion, of which the Bank and the MS&AD Insurance Group contributed 62.50 per cent. and 37.50 per cent. shares respectively as at 30 June 2024. The business scope includes life insurance, health insurance, accident insurance and reinsurance businesses of the aforementioned insurances in Shanghai as well as regions where its branches were established. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were RMB139,933 million and RMB6,684 million respectively. BoCommLife actively grasped the market demand, actively optimised the business structure, and vigorously developed the value oriented regular delivery business, achieving insurance service income of RMB1,249 million, which increased by 42.44 per cent. on a year on-year basis, and realising a net profit of RMB788 million for the six months ended 30 June 2024, representing an increase of 102.86 per cent, on a yearon-year basis. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCommLife gave full play to the economic "shock absorber" and "social stabiliser" functions of the insurance industry. With a synergy effect within the Group, it further created the business characteristics of "inclusiveness, pensions and wealth" to meet the insurance needs of all customers. In terms of inclusive finance, BoCommLife has developed various types of inclusive insurance products for specific groups, and it is promoting the Shanghai one-stop insurance service platform project called "Insurance Code", as well as the "Huhuibao" co-insurance plan, an urban customised commercial medical insurance initiative. In terms of pension finance, it has upgraded and improved its third-pillar commercial pension insurance products, and established a "pension insurance + home-based elderly care service" system. In terms of wealth finance, it focused on the wealth protection and inheritance needs of high-net-worth customers, starting with insurance premium and insurance premium trusts to meet the one-stop service needs of customers within the Group.

BOCOM Financial Asset Investment

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, it was set up in December 2017 with a registered capital of RMB15.0 billion as at 30 June 2024. As one of the first pilot banks to implement debt-to-equity swap as determined by the State Council, it is mainly engaged in debt-to-equity swap and supporting services. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, it made efforts to develop the main business of market-oriented debt-to-equity swap, and actively reduced leverage ratio and controlled risks for the real economy. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, its net incremental investment of the year was RMB4,800 million. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, its net profit was RMB1,505 million, representing a decrease of 50.80 per cent. on a year-on-year basis. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were RMB67,889 million and RMB25,118 million respectively. As at 30 June 2024, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment filed 28 funds through its subsidiary, BOCOM Capital Management Co., Ltd. with a contribution scale of RMB18,529 million, representing an increase of 52.51 per cent., which further strengthened the momentum of the development of the equity investment business.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BOCOM Financial Asset Investment adhered to its original responsibility of serving the real economy. Guided by the "14th Five-Year Plan" of the Bank, it focused on scitech finance, green finance, support for the private economy, and other key fields to take its advantage of equity investment and improve its comprehensive financial service capabilities.

BoCom International Holdings

BoCom International Holdings was set up in June 1998 (formerly known as Communications Securities Co., Ltd. It changed its name to BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited in May 2007). It was listed on the main board of the HKSE on 19 May 2017. The main businesses include securities brokerage and margin financing, corporate financing and underwriting, asset management and consulting, investment and loan. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's shareholding in BoCom International Holdings was 73.14 per cent. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom International Holdings focused on key national regions such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, Yangtze River Delta, the Greater Bay Area and Hainan Free Trade Port, actively responded to market shocks, endeavored to reduce operating losses and promoted the transformation of its operating structure. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were HKD17,162 million and HKD1,579 million respectively. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom International Holdings' loss decreased on a year-on-year basis, with a net loss of HKD355 million.

BoCom Insurance

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, it was set up in November 2000 with a registered capital of HKD0.4 billion as at 30 June 2024. The main business includes the operation of 17 types of general insurances approved by the Insurance Authority of Hong Kong. In 2023, A.M. Best, an international professional rating agencies in insurance industry, assigned BoCom Insurance with a financial strength rating of "A-" (Excellent) and a long-term issuer credit rating of "A-" (Excellent), and recognised both items with a "Stable" outlook. As at 30 June 2024, its total assets and net assets were HKD1,387 million and HKD569 million respectively. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Insurance realised a net profit of HKD10.77 million, representing a year on-year increase of 169 per cent..

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, BoCom Insurance actively served the risk protection needs of Hong Kong residents in the areas of residences, travel, commerce and trade, and provided risk management support to Hong Kong's science and innovation-oriented medium, small-and-micro businesses. At the same time, BoCom Insurance is collaborating with the insurance industry to provide assistance to farming, breeding and forestry reinsurance arrangements as part of the effort to support "agriculture, rural areas and farmers" in the Chinese Mainland. It has also signed a cooperation memorandum with partners in the Chinese Mainland and actively participated in the construction of the Hong Kong International Risk Management Centre and the Shanghai International Reinsurance Centre. Its gross premiums for the year ended 31 December 2024, increased

by 7.25 per cent. on a year-on-year basis to HKD300 million, reaching a record high. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the premium profits before expenditure were HKD28.67 million, representing an increase of 53.88 per cent on a year-on-year basis and the net compensation rate was 30.86 per cent., maintaining a favorable condition.

GLOBAL SERVICE CAPABILITIES

The Group has formed an overseas operating network covering major international financial centres across five continents, with 23 overseas branches (sub-branches) and representative offices worldwide and 66 overseas operating outlets as at 30 June 2024. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, net profit of overseas banking institutions of the Group was RMB5,905 million, accounting for 13.04 per cent of the Group's net profit. As at 30 June 2024, the total assets of overseas banking institutions were RMB1,246,721 million, accounting for 8.79 per cent. of the Group's total assets.

The Bank strengthened the convenience of trade and the construction of CNY cross-border scenarios, while enhancing financial services in the field of foreign investment and foreign trade. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the receipt and payment of cross-border Renminbi increased by 23.30 per cent. year-on-year. As at 31 December 2023, cross-border Renminbi trade financing balance increased by 91.92 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Hong Kong Branch

Established in 1934, Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the "Hong Kong Branch") is the Bank's largest overseas branch. In addition to foreign exchange deposits, foreign exchange loans and international settlement services, the Hong Kong Branch also provides non-banking services through its subsidiaries.

The Hong Kong Branch has placed an increasing emphasis on serving personal finance customers. For corporate finance operations, the Hong Kong Branch targets, among others, listed companies and large PRC state-owned enterprises. In addition, the Hong Kong Branch also actively participates in the syndicated loan market. In addition to generating interest income, the Hong Kong Branch continues to focus on generating fee income. The Hong Kong Branch provides a variety of fee-based products and services.

On 29 January 2018, the Bank established Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) in order to expand and intensify the Bank's retail and private banking business. The activities, assets and liabilities which constitute the retail and private banking businesses of the Hong Kong Branch were transferred to the Bank of Communications (Hong Kong).

Other overseas branches

Other overseas branches and subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 were:

- The Bank's New York branch commenced operation in November 1991.
- The Bank's Tokyo branch commenced operation in December 1995.
- The Bank's Singapore branch commenced operation in September 1996.
- The Bank's Seoul branch commenced operation in August 2005.
- The Bank's Frankfurt branch commenced operation in October 2007.
- The Bank's Macau branch commenced operation in November 2007.
- The Bank's Ho Chi Minh City branch commenced operation in February 2011.

- The Bank's London branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's Sydney branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's San Francisco branch commenced operation in November 2011.
- The Bank's Taipei branch commenced operation in July 2012.
- The Bank's representative office in Toronto was opened in November 2014.
- The Bank's tier-2 branch in Brisbane commenced operation in April 2015.
- The Bank's subsidiary in Luxembourg commenced operation in May 2015.
- The Bank's subsidiary's branch in Paris commenced operation in November 2016.
- The Bank's subsidiary's branch in Rome commenced operation in November 2016.
- Banco BBM S.A. became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank in November 2016.
- The Bank's tier-2 branch in Melbourne commenced operation in December 2018.
- The Bank's Prague branch commenced operation in May 2019.
- The Bank's Johannesburg branch commenced operation in November 2020.

Internationalisation development

The Group actively responded to changes in internal and external situations, carried out operation and management in a stable and orderly manner, consolidated the advantages of global development, continuously optimised the development structure, and coordinated development and security. The Group is also actively serving the country's new development pattern of opening up to the outside world at a high level and providing financial services for Chinese enterprises going global. To build financial bridges connecting internal and external markets, and to provide financial protection for the smooth flow of the domestic and international "double cycle", the Group will place compliance and sound operation at the top priority, guard the bottom line of risk and safety, strengthen dynamic monitoring and risk pre-study and predetermination, and build the foundation of sustainable and high-quality development of offshore banks.

International settlement and trade financing

The Bank actively supported the stabilisation of foreign investment and foreign trade. It built Silk Road e-commerce/cross-border e-commerce platforms and a direct linking market procurement platform to support small and micro merchants carry out export collection settlement based on electronic transaction information. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank has 24 projects under the new forms of foreign trade, with a business volume of RMB42,143 million, representing an increase of 147.05 per cent. year-on-year. The Bank launched a shipping finance integrated service plan, a high-quality development financial service platform for Sino-Europe trains, and an electronic bill of lading finance service plan, included three small currency businesses such as Brazilian real, Hungarian forint and Polish zloty, and iteratively upgraded the digital exchange rate risk-prevention service system to keep improving the quality and efficiency of financial services for foreign trade enterprises. The Bank actively connected with the PBOC, SAFE and other government – regulatory platforms, increased technology enablement, promoted more convenient receipt of fees and payment of service trade and capital account, and steadily carried out new forms of offshore international trade. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank's international settlements reached USD241,159 million. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's cross-border trade financing amounted to RMB44,094 million.

Overseas service network

The Group's layout of its offshore service network has been progressing steadily. As at 30 June 2024, the Group had 23 overseas branches and representative offices in Hong Kong, New York, London, Singapore, Tokyo, Frankfurt, Luxembourg and Sydney, etc., with 66 overseas operating outlets, providing customers with comprehensive financial services such as deposits, loans, international settlements, trade finance and foreign exchange. Additionally, the Group had established an overseas service network with the head offices of 1,045 banks across 131 countries and regions, and it had opened 201 service accounts for 93 overseas Renminbi participating banks in 29 countries and regions and has opened 113 foreign currency clearing accounts in 29 currencies with 66 banks in 32 countries and regions.

Cross-border Renminbi transactions

The Bank proactively promotes the internationalisation of the Renminbi, launching financial innovations such as the pilot project for cross-border asset transfer innovation business and the purchase of domestic asset-backed securities held by BOCOM Wealth. In Shanghai, the Bank established a unique FTZ offshore bond integrated financial services system of "investor, underwriter, trustee, the clearing bank of CGSDTC, and the local clearing bank", with its clearing business ranking first in the market as at 30 June 2024. In Hainan province and Hengqin, Guangdong province, the Bank launched electric fence services. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's cross-border renminbi settlement of domestic banking institutions reached RMB876.555 billion.

Offshore businesses

The Bank strengthened the integrated development of offshore and onshore businesses as well as the integrated operation of non-resident accounts, and fully explored the business potentials of the integration of Yangtze River Delta and Lin-Gang Special Area of Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone. As at 30 June 2024, the asset balance of offshore business amounted to U.S.\$13,790 million.

MARKETING

The Bank develops specific marketing strategies for both corporate and personal banking clients. The Bank's head office organises bank-wide marketing and provides supporting resources for local marketing efforts formulated and coordinated by the Bank's branches. The Bank's sub-branches are responsible for the implementation of local marketing plans.

The Bank has created marketing strategies based on region, customer size and product type. The Bank focuses its advertising spending on television advertising, outdoor billboards, and to a lesser extent, internet, print and radio advertising. Regionally, in addition to continuing to focus on the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, and Bohai Rim Economic Zone regions, the Bank pays specific attention to other economic zones and projects, such as Shanghai's "Two Centres" plan to develop into an international financial and shipping centre. The Bank also develops marketing strategies based on customer segmentation. The Bank intends to continue to strengthen branding efforts for the specific products it offers. For example, the Bank will continue to promote its personal banking business service brand of "OTO Fortune" (沃德財富), and corporate business service brand of "Win to Fortune" (蘊通財富), as well as promote more customised and comprehensive wealth management solutions and product combinations under those brands and gradually position its brand as the "wealth management bank".

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Bank's information technology systems are integral to the Bank's business operations, including its customer services, transaction processing, risk management and financial management. The Bank believes that the establishment of advanced information technology systems complement its overall business strategies and

will greatly improve its operational efficiency and the quality of its customer services as well enhance its risk and financial management capabilities. The Bank has invested and will continue to make profound investments in promoting its information technology systems.

The Bank expects to increasingly leverage information technology to drive its business in the future. In addition to the upgrades and improvements the Bank has made in recent years to its information technology systems, the Bank will continue to upgrade and integrate its information technology systems to facilitate operational efficiency, risk management and business development.

EMPLOYEES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a total of 93,408 employees, of whom 86,945 employees were based in domestic banking institutions and 2,602 were local employees in overseas branches (sub-branches). As at 30 June 2024, there were 3,861 employees in total working for the Bank's subsidiaries, excluding staff dispatched from the Head Office and branches.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Bank conducts business under the brand names and logos of "交通銀行", "太平洋卡", "Bank of Communications" "蘊通財富 WINTOFORTUNE", "沃德 OTO", "交銀沃德", "BOCOM FORTUNE", "交銀 理財" and "得利寶". The Bank has registered, or is in the process of applying for registration or renewal of, these brand names and logos and other related logos in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Bank is also the registered owner of the domain name "www.bankcomm.com".

LEGAL AND REGULATORY PROCEEDINGS

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group was not involved in any material litigation and arbitration. As at 30 June 2024, the Group was involved in certain outstanding litigations/arbitrations as defendant or third party with an amount of approximately RMB1,404 million. The Bank believes that there is sufficient provision for current and pending litigations and arbitrations against the Bank or its branches. Even if any judgment or award of the said current and pending litigations or arbitrations against the Bank or its branches is adverse to the Bank, the Bank does not anticipate that any such cases (individually or jointly) would have a material adverse impact on the Bank's financial condition or results of operations.

PROPERTIES

The address of the headquarter of the Bank is No.188 Yin Cheng Zhong Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai, China. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 253 domestic branches, including 38 branches at provinces, autonomous regions or municipalities level or directly-managed level and 215 branches managed by branches at provinces, autonomous regions or municipalities level, most of which are concentrated in the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Rim Economic Zone, as well as large cities in other areas. As at 30 June 2024, in addition to its PRC operations, the Bank had branches or subsidiaries which are located in Hong Kong, New York, San Francisco, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The section "Risk Management and Internal Control" on pages 122 to 127 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Board of Directors of the Bank established the overall risk appetite of "Stability, Balance, Compliance and Innovation" for the Bank and further set specific indicators of risk limits for various risks including credit, market, operation, liquidity, interest rate of banking book, information technology and country to exercise strict control over various risk types. In 2024, the Group consistently adhered to the bottom-line thinking, integrated development and safety, promoted the modernisation of risk governance system and governance capability, solidly carried out the action of Year of Post-loan investment Management, strengthened the unified risk management of the Group, enhanced the comprehensive risk management capabilities, continuously promoted the digital transformation of risk management and promoted the high-quality development of the entire Bank with high-quality risk management.

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors of the Bank assumed the ultimate responsibility, served the highest function of decision-making and monitored the Bank's risk condition through the subordinate Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee. The Bank's senior management established the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee, as well as two business review committees namely the Credit and Investment Review Committee and the Risk Asset Review Committee. The business review committees were guided by and reported regularly to the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee. Each provincial and directly managed branch, overseas branch and subsidiary established the Comprehensive Risk Management and Internal Control Committee accordingly based on the aforementioned framework, which served as the main platform to study the prevention and control of systematic and regional risks and decision-making risk management on major issues, ensuring that the comprehensive risk management system had been implemented throughout the Group.

Risk Management Tool

The Group continued to promote the digital transformation of risk management and was committed to building a full- process, full-coverage digital risk management system oriented to market-oriented, customer- oriented, grass roots-oriented and urgency-oriented, building a bank-wide risk data base, constructing enterprise-level risk management applications, and enhancing the level of risk management intelligence. In 2022, the Risk Management Department/Risk Measurement Centre at the sub-department level under Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office was established to strengthen the unified risk measurement and monitoring throughout the Group. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank further promoted the construction of the Risk Measurement Centre, strengthened the supply of risk management tools such as measurement models for strategic areas and risk monitoring, and continuously enhanced the Group's risk measurement and monitoring capabilities. The Group also built a unified model management system and completed preparations for the implementation of the new capital regulations.

Credit Risk Management

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank continued to strengthen centralised credit risk management. The Bank actively served the real economy, optimised the structure of credit assets, vigorously developed the green finance, and adopted the structural monetary policy tools (such as the special refinancing) to support key areas such as carbon emission reduction, clean and efficient use of coal, transportation and logistics, scientific and technological innovation, inclusive pensions, equipment renovation, and "guaranteed delivery of houses". The Bank continuously optimised the framework of its credit granting policy, proactively implemented major national strategies and regulatory requirements, closely tracked market changes, and

expanded the coverage of special strategic guidance on the basis of the outline of the credit granting and risk policy, the guidelines on industry investment, and the "one policy for one bank" principle. The Bank continued to improve the degree of online and automation in the credit approval process, completed docking with the unified registration and publicity system for the financing of movable property in the Credit Information Centre of the PBOC, and started the promotion of online real estate mortgage registration throughout China, enabling the "cross-provincial registration" of mortgage loans in many cities across the country. Risk classification became more sophisticated as the asset quality steadily improved.

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank strengthened its risk identification process and accelerated risk resolution. The business accountability mechanism for granting credit to key customers was continuously enhanced, alongside the approval procedures for the credit business. The post-loan (post-investment) management, risk monitoring and early-warning measures were also continuously enhanced, aiming to upgrade system tools. The Bank consistently reinforced credit risk screening and management in key areas. Moreover, the Bank intensified its effort in the collection of non-performing assets, focusing on key areas to leverage professional disposal capabilities of the Head Office for steady and orderly risk exposure management in significant items. The direct operations and management mechanism for asset preservation provide to be remarkably effective. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the disposal of non-performing loans reached RMB29.59 billion, of which the substantial recovery amount was RMB13.20 billion.

The Bank adheres to the regulatory requirements and maintains strict asset risk classification standards. The foundation of asset quality has been continuously strengthened, leading to a steady improvement in asset quality level. As at 30 June 2024, the Group's non-performing loan balance stood at RMB108,971 million, with a non-performing loan ratio of 1.32 per cent., representing an increase of RMB3,283 million and a decrease of 0.01 percentage point, respectively, compared with the end of the previous year. Additionally, the percentage of overdue loan balance increased compared with the beginning of the year. The Group adopts prudent classification criteria for overdue loans. Domestic corporate loans overdue for more than 60 days have been classified as non-performing loans. Furthermore, all loans overdue for more than 90 days have been classified as non-performing loans, with loans overdue for more than 90 days accounting for 69.04 per cent. of non-performing loans.

Distribution of loans by five categories of loan classification

	As at 30 June 2024		As at 31 Dec	ember 2023	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 December 2021	
	Proportion			Proportion		Proportion		Proportion
	Balance	(%)	Balance	(%)	Balance	(%)	Balance	(%)
			(in milli	ons of RMB unl	ess otherwise sta	nted)		
Categories								
Pass loan	8,021,208	97.02	7,731,141	97.16	7,091,355	97.21	6,374,975	97.17
Special mention loan	137,555	1.66	120,256	1.51	105,084	1.44	88,629	1.35
Total performing loan	8,158,763	98.68	7,851,397	98.67	7,196,439	98.65		
balance							6,463,604	98.52
Sub-standard loan	23,776	0.29	28,523	0.36	40,465	0.55	52,960	0.81
Doubtful loan	29,990	0.36	32,383	0.41	33,257	0.46	25,978	0.40
Loan loss	55,205	0.67	44,782	0.56	24,804	0.34	17,858	0.27
Total non-performing loan	108,971	1.32	105,688	1.33	98,526	1.35		
balance							96,796	1.48
Total	8,267,734	100.00	7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00	6,560,400	100.00

As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 30 June 2024, the breakdown of the Bank's migration rate stipulated by the CBIRC (now the NAFR) is as follows:⁽¹⁾

	30 June 2024	31 December 2023	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
		(%)		
Loan migration rates				
Pass loan migration rate	0.91	1.70	1.89	1.86
Special mention loan migration rate	16.31	24.12	26.55	45.72
Sub-standard loan migration rate	49.36	57.06	52.87	29.61
Doubtful loan migration rate	50.49	58.63	26.61	17.42

Note:

Market Risk Management

Market risk refers to the risk of losses of on-and-off balance sheet businesses of the Group arising from unfavourable changes in interest rate, exchange rate, commodity price and share price. Interest rate risk and exchange rate risk are the major market risks encountered by the Group.

The objective of the Group's market risk management is to proactively identify, measure, monitor, control and report its market risks in accordance with the risk appetite determined by the Board of Directors. By using methods and means of quota management, risk hedging and risk transfer, the Group was able to manage its market risk exposure to an acceptable level and pursued a maximisation of its risk-adjusted profits based on its controlled risks.

The Group measures capital employed using the internal modelling approach for general market risks related to exchange rate risk and trading book interest rate risk for legal entities and it adopts the standardised approach for market risks not covered by the internal modelling approach. The internal modelling approach calculates value at risk ("VaR") and stressed value at risk ("SVaR") using the historical simulation method. This involves a historical observation period of one year, a holding period of ten business days and a one-tailed confidence interval of 99 per cent. The Bank systematically gathers its capital trading positions and the latest market data in a timely manner for daily position valuation and sensitivity analysis. Additionally, the VaR for market risk is measured separately across the dimensions of risk factors, portfolios and products, using the historical simulation method daily. Additionally, return tests are conducted daily to verify the accuracy of the VaR model. The results from the internal modelling approach are applied to capital measurement, limit monitoring, performance appraisal, risk monitoring and analysis.

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group kept improving the market risk management system, improved management policies and procedures, optimised the risk management system, strengthened product management, optimised limit setting, and improved derivatives business risk management. The Group closely monitored the financial market fluctuations, strengthened market research and judgement, enhanced risk monitoring and early warning systems, enhanced the risk assessment and inspection, and maintained strict control over various market risk exposure limits to. These measures collectively contributed to a continuous improvement in the level of market risk management.

⁽¹⁾ Data calculated pursuant to the Notice on the Distribution of the Regulatory Indicator and Calculation Formula for Off-Field Investigation issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR).

Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the commercial bank cannot obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfil other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The main factors affecting the liquidity risk include, among others, early withdrawal by deposit customers, deferred repayment by loan customers, mismatch of asset and liability structure, difficulty in asset realisation and decline in financing capability.

The governance structure of liquidity risk management of the Group consisted of a decision-making body comprised the Board of Directors and its Special Committees and Senior Management, a supervisory body comprised the Board of Supervisors and the Audit and Supervision Bureau and an executive body comprised the Finance and Management Department, Financial Markets Department, Risk Management Department, Operations and Channels Management Department, the subsidiaries, the branches, and the competent authorities in charge of the Head Office of various businesses.

The Group annually determined liquidity risk appetite and formulated liquidity risk management strategies and policies according to business strategies, business characteristics, financial strength, financing abilities, overall risk appetite and market influence.

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group continue to enhance its liquidity risk management system. It flexibly adjusted its liquidity management strategies and business development structure and the pace in a timely manner, promoting the coordinated growth of its asset and liability businesses. The Group expanded its diversified financing channels and issued bonds with longer maturities to secure stable funding. Additionally, it conducted thorough cash flow measurement and analysis, and closely monitored liquidity risk indicators to ensure liquidity safety and the smooth functioning of these indicators during major holidays and critical times. The Group also organised liquidity risk emergency drills to enhance its response speed and improve its liquidity risk management capabilities.

The Group regularly conducted liquidity risk stress tests, considering numerous factors that could affect liquidity levels. Suitable stress scenarios were devised to thoroughly assess these factors. The outcomes of these stress tests showed that the Bank's liquidity risk remained manageable across different stress scenarios.

Operational Risk Management

The Group has established a complete operational risk management system commensurate with the nature, scale and product complexity of the Bank's business, and standardised the workflow of operational risk self assessment, monitoring of key risk indicators and operational risk event management. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the construction of operational risk management system was further improved, the operational risk governance framework was optimised, the integrated management of operational risk for the Group was strengthened, the monitoring and assessment of operational risk in key areas was enhanced; and the Group's business continuity and outsourcing risk management was strengthened.

Legal Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group has established a compliance management system tailored to its operation scale, business scope and risk level. It has continuously strengthened its ability to identify, monitor, prevent, control and resolve compliance risks. This has enhanced the quality and efficiency of compliance management, effectively ensured lawful and compliant operation and high-quality development. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank further improved its compliance management system and institutional tools, refined the inspection and rectification mechanisms and promoted the development of a compliance culture. It also undertook key tasks such as enhancing anti-money laundering customer due diligence, data governance and advancing digital transformation, thereby continuously enhance its anti-money laundering management capability.

Reputation Risk Management

The Group implemented the Administrative Measures for Reputational Risk of Bank and Insurance Institution (for Trial Implementation) and adhered to the management strategy of prevention-oriented, effective disposal, timely repair and comprehensive coverage. At the institutional level, the Measures for Reputation Risk Management of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. was revised to continuously improve the Group's reputation risk management system. At the implementation level, the Group excelled in front-end management, response and resolution of critical timelines and key events, and accelerated the digital transformation of reputation risk management. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group's reputational risk management system operated effectively, ensuring that reputational risks were appropriately managed and controlled.

Cross-industry, Cross-Border and By-Country Risk Management

The Group has established a robust cross-industry and cross-border risk management system characterised by "unified management, clear divisions of labour, complete tools, IT support, risk quantification and substantial consolidation." This system ensures that the risk management practices of its subsidiaries and offshore banks align with both the Group's unified requirements and the specific mandates of their respective supervisory authorities, effectively mitigating potential risks from cross-industry and cross-border operations.

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, in response to uncertainties from external changes, the Bank strengthened the risk management of its overseas institutions. Enhancements were made to the system, the assessment mechanisms were optimised, and various contingency plans were developed and rehearsed to ensure smooth business operations. Key areas such as liquidity, business continuity and the asset quality of offshore institutions were strengthened. Moreover, the Group enhanced consolidated management, refined the full lifecycle management of subsidiaries at all levels, and bolstered the Group's unified risk management and risk preferences transmission. Moving forward, the Bank will further strengthen country risk management by increasing the frequency of monitoring country risk exposure, enhancing the management of country risk limits, conducting detailed country risk analysis and ratings, continuously monitoring and promptly responding to country risk events, and integrating country risk management requirements throughout the entire process of relevant business development.

Management of Large Exposure Risk

The Group thoroughly implemented the requirements of the *Measures for the Management of Large Risk Exposures of Commercial Banks* issued by the CBIRC (now the NAFR), promoted the development of the management system and optimised management process and organisation structure. The Group continuously monitored large risk exposures, strictly adhered to various delegated authorities' standards and enhanced the Group's capability to prevent systemic and regional risks. During the six months ended 30 June 2024, all indicators of the Group's large risk exposure complied with regulatory requirements.

Climate and Environmental Risk Management

The Group actively supports the objectives of achieving "carbon peak and carbon neutrality." It promotes the integration of climate and environmental risks into its comprehensive risk management system, continuously enhances its governance structure, strengthens institutional constraints, enhances risk assessments, and optimises the management and control measures according to the risk appetite determined by the Board of Directors. These efforts are aimed at effectively responding to the new challenges posed by climate change and the socio-economic transition towards low-carbon alternatives.

During the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Bank continued to improve its carbon data management capabilities, formulated and promulgated the *Administrative Measures for Carbon Emissions of Investment and Financing Customers of Bank of Communications*, and standardised the workflow, estimation methods and application scenarios for carbon emissions measurement for investment and financing customers. The Bank

also measured investment and financing carbon emissions in eight key industries that are associated with high carbon emissions and certain industries with high transformation risks, with the goal of continuously improving the coverage of carbon data and refining it. The Bank also steadily promoted climate risk stress testing, continued to enhance scenario analysis and research, explored the construction of scenarios related to transformation risk and physical risk, and assessed the potential impact of such risks on the Bank.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BANK'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The section "Description of the Bank's Assets and Liabilities" on pages 128 to 135 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

ASSETS

The Bank's total assets as at 30 June 2024 were RMB14,177,914 million, which represents an increase of 0.84 per cent. from RMB14,060,472 million as at 31 December 2023. The four principal components of the Bank's assets consist of loans and advances to customers (after provision), financial investments, cash and balances with central banks and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. As at 30 June 2024, the balances (after provision) of the Bank's loans and advances to customers, financial investments, cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions and others constituted 56.89 per cent., 28.38 per cent., 5.20 per cent., 5.98 per cent. and 3.55 per cent., respectively, of its total assets. The following table sets forth the balances of significant components of the Bank's total assets as at the dates indicated:

2024	
848,684	
79,459	
8,066,326	
613,900	
2,489,110	
920,070	
9,354	
227,878	
40,078	
146,023	
4,177,914	
2	

Note:

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's Common Equity Tier-1 Capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio being 10.30 per cent., 12.25 per cent. and 16.34 per cent., respectively.

Loans and Advances to Customers

As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's corporate loans and personal loans represented approximately 65.94 per cent. and 30.91 per cent., respectively, of its total loans and advances to customers. While the Bank's corporate banking business remains its core banking business, the Bank believes that the PRC personal banking sector

⁽¹⁾ Other assets consist of interest receivable, settlement accounts, other receivables and prepayments, investment properties, land use rights and others, intangible assets, long-term deferred expenses, precious metal, foreclosed assets, goodwill, refundable deposits and unsettled assets.

continues to offer significant growth opportunities. As part of the Bank's growth strategy, the Bank has taken, and will continue to take, various initiatives to enhance its personal banking business. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's personal loans reached RMB2,555,798 million, representing an increase of RMB82,698 million or 3.34 per cent. compared to 31 December 2023.

The balances (after provision) of Bank's loans and advances to customers represent a significant portion of its assets and accounted for 56.89 per cent. of its total assets as at 30 June 2024. The balance (after provision) of the Bank's loans and advances to customers increased by 3.79 per cent. to RMB8,066,326 million as at 30 June 2024 from RMB7,772,060 million as at 31 December 2023.

Distribution of Loans by Industry

The Bank's corporate loan portfolio represents a broad range of industries, but is concentrated in particular in the transportation, storage and postal services, manufacturing, leasing and commercial services, water conservancy, environmental and other public services and real estate sectors. The following table sets forth the Bank's corporate loan portfolio by industry and as a percentage of its loan portfolio as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 Dec	ember 2022	31 Dec	ember 2023	30 June 2024	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
			(RME	in million, ex	ccept percento	uges)		
Corporate loans	4,138,582	63.09	4,711,353	64.58	5,179,533	65.09	5,451,393	65.94
Transportation, storage and postal services	763,419	11.64	823,156	11.28	905,624	11.38	946,420	11.45
Manufacturing	732,565	11.16	836,532	11.46	954,586	12.00	1,015,063	12.27
Leasing and commercial services	650,742	9.92	729,818	10.00	866,601	10.89	927,265	11.22
Water conservancy, environmental and other public services	382,201	5.83	429,222	5.88	466,137	5.86	487,327	5.89
Real estate	419,820	6.40	519,857	7.13	489,080	6.15	527,977	6.39
Wholesale and retail	215,554	3.29	254,447	3.49	292,168	3.67	304,701	3.69
Production and supply of electric power, heat, gas	269 772	4.10	242 617	4.70	201 742	4.02	404 226	4.80
and water	268,772	4.10	342,617	4.70	391,742	4.92	404,336	4.89
Construction	157,729	2.40	176,696	2.42	188,716	2.37	226,852	2.74
Mining	120,216	1.83	118,246	1.62	116,467	1.46	120,052	1.45
Finance	132,633	2.02	148,747	2.04	159,183	2.00	138,889	1.68
Education, science, culture and public health.	122,196	1.86	128,762	1.76	141,254	1.78	148,464	1.80
Others	77,884	1.19	94,839	1.31	88,640	1.11	88,097	1.07
Accommodation and catering	34,133	0.52	40,168	0.55	38,159	0.48	34,964	0.42
Information transmission, software and information technology services	60,718	0.93	68,246	0.94	81,176	1.02	80,986	0.98
Personal loans	2,285,096	34.83	2,365,317	32.43	2,473,100	31.08	2,555,798	30.91
Discounted bills	136,722	2.08	218,295	2.99	304,452	3.83	260,543	3.15
Total	6,560,400	100.00	7,294,965	100.00	7,957,085	100.00	8,267,734	100.0

As at 30 June 2024, the Group continued to strengthen its financing support for the real economy, with manufacturing industry loans increasing by RMB60,477 million; transportation, storage and postal services industry loans increasing by RMB40,796 million; leasing and commercial services industry loans increasing by RMB60,664 million; water conservancy, environmental and other public facilities industry loans increasing by RMB21,190 million; and electric power, heat, gas and water production and supply industry loans increasing by RMB12,594 million.

Personal Banking Loan Concentration by Product

The Bank's personal finance loan portfolio consists primarily of mortgage loans, credit card advances and others. The following table sets forth the Bank's personal finance loan portfolio by products and as a percentage of its personal finance loan portfolio as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 Dec	ember 2022	31 Dec	ember 2023	30 June 2024	
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
			(RMI	3 in million, ex	xcept percenta	iges)		
Mortgage	1,489,517	65.18	1,512,648	63.92	1,462,634	59.14	1,460,961	57.16
Credit card	492,580	21.56	477,746	20.19	489,725	19.80	496,289	19.42
Personal business loans	188,293	8.24	239,271	10.11	343,585	13.89	374,991	14.67
Others ⁽¹⁾	114,706	5.02	135,652	5.78	177,156	7.17	223,557	8.75
Total personal loans	2,285,096	100.00	2,365,317	100.00	2,473,100	100.00	2,555,798	100.00

As at 30 June 2024, the personal loan balance was RMB2,555,798 million, representing an increase of RMB82,698 million or 3.34 per cent. over the end of the previous year, the proportion of which in loans and advances to customers increased by 3.34 percentage points to 30.91 per cent. over the end of the previous year, among which mortgage loans decreased by RMB1,673 million or 0.11 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, the proportion of mortgage loans in loans and advances to customers decreased by 0.72 percentage point to 17.67 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, credit card loans increased by RMB6,564 million or 1.34 per cent. over the end of the previous year. As at 30 June 2024, discounted bills decreased by RMB43,909 million or 14.42 per cent. over the end of the previous year.

Maturity of Loans

When a short-term loan is renewed following repayment within the credit term of the loan, no re-application for a credit line is required, provided such loan is drawn in accordance with relevant rules and within the effective credit line. Upon expiration of the credit term of a loan, a borrower must re-apply for a new loan, subject to the Bank's standard credit approval procedures. The interest rates for the Bank's Renminbidenominated loans and advances are regulated by the PBOC, and banks have discretion to determine the interest rates for Renminbi-denominated loans and advances within a permitted range. The interest rate for discounted bills is determined with reference to the PBOC market re-discount interest rate.

Borrower Concentration

Under the current PRC banking regulations, the aggregate amount of the Bank's loan exposure to any single borrower may not exceed 10 per cent. of its net capital. The Bank is currently in compliance with this regulatory requirement.

Loans and Advances Balances by Geographical Segments

The following table sets forth the geographic distribution of the Bank's gross loans and advances as at the dates indicated:

		As at 31 December	As at 30 June	
	2021	2022	2023	2024
			(RMB in million)	
Yangtze River Delta	1,780,637	1,999,175	2,226,422	2,349,459
Pearl River Delta	857,521	978,749	1,051,204	1,086,817
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	965,957	1,137,282	1,288,078	1,327,289
Central China	1,092,985	1,196,075	1,290,880	1,336,311
Western China	774,445	875,476	947,510	984,747
North Eastern China	247,023	250,190	265,215	268,887
Overseas	348,948	376,277	359,446	342,101
Head office (1)	492,884	481,741	528,330	572,123
Total	6,560,400	7,294,965	7,957,085	8,267,734

Note:

The Bank's business is concentrated on the economically developed areas of China. As at 30 June 2024, the Bank's loans and advances balances from Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, Bohai Rim Economic Zone and Central China accounted for 28.42 per cent., 13.15 per cent., 16.05 per cent. and 16.16 per cent., respectively, of its total loans and advances balances.

LOAN QUALITY

The Bank measures and monitors the asset quality of the Bank's loan portfolio through its loan classification system. The Bank classifies its loans using a five-category loan classification system, which complies with the applicable regulatory guidelines.

The Bank intends to continue to improve its loan quality and to generate stable profits while maintaining its credit risk exposure within acceptable parameters through a diversified loan portfolio. The Bank has established an integrated credit risk management system with comprehensive policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk across its organisation. See the section headed "*Risk Management and Internal Control*".

Impaired loans are a concept under IFRS, which has been adopted by the Bank in the preparation of its financial statements set forth in this Supplemental Offering Circular. A loan is impaired if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of such loan. Non-performing loan is used to refer to a loan that is classified as "substandard", "doubtful" or "loss" under the five-category loan classification system established by the CBIRC (now the NAFR).

Overdue loans are (1) for loans with a specific expiry date – these loans should be treated as overdue where the principal or interest is overdue and remains unpaid as at the reporting date; (2) for loans with regular instalments – these loans should be treated as overdue when an instalment payment is overdue and remains unpaid as at the reporting date.

⁽¹⁾ Head Office included the Pacific Credit Card Centre.

Provision for Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances to Customers

Since 2017, for a financial asset that is individually significant, the Group assesses the asset individually for impairment. For a financial asset that is not individually significant, the Group assesses the asset individually for impairment or includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset (whether significant or not), it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively reassesses them for impairment. Assets for which an impairment loss is individually recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If financial assets carried at amortised cost are impaired, the carrying amounts of the financial assets are reduced to the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The amount of reduction is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or loss and is recorded through the use of an allowance account. When a financial asset is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss. If, subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost, there is objective evidence of a recovery in value of the financial assets which can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. However, the reversal is made to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Effective from 1 January 2018, IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses – the expected credit losses ("ECL") model, which constitutes a change from the incurred loss model in the International Accounting Standards ("IAS") 39.

Under IFRS 9, ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. A credit loss is the difference between the total cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the total cash flows that the Group expects to receive discounted at the original effective interest rate, i.e. the present value of the total cash flows shortage. Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets shall be discounted at the credit-adjusted effective interest rate. The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects (1) an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (2) the time value of money; and (3) reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Bank's individually identified impaired loans and its loans overdue by more than 90 days as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2022	31 December 2023	30 June 2024
		(RMB in million, ex		
Non-performing loans	96,796	98,526	105,688	108,971
Loans overdue by more than 90 days	63,998	57,091	68,394	75,233
Non-performing loan ratio	1.48%	1.35%	1.33%	1.32%

Distribution of non-performing loans by region

The following table sets forth the geographic distribution of the Bank's non-performing loans as at the dates indicated:

	As at 31 December 2021			As at 31 Dec	cember 2022	As at 31 December 2023		As at 30 June 2024				
	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio	Amount	% of total loans	Non- performing loan ratio
					(RM	B in million, ex	cept percenta	iges)				
Yangtze River Delta	22,399	23.14	1.26	21,107	21.42	1.06	20,582	19.47	0.92	21,858	20.06	0.93
Pearl River Delta	5,559	5.74	0.66	8,403	8.53	0.86	12,214	11.56	1.16	13,841	12.70	1.27
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,893	14.35	1.44	10,707	10.87	0.94	16,472	15.59	1.28	13,945	12.80	1.05
Central China	19,224	19.86	1.76	14,520	14.74	1.21	13,311	12.59	1.03	13,922	12.78	1.04
Western China	9,661	9.98	1.25	9,333	9.47	1.07	9,443	8.93	1.00	8,781	8.06	0.89
North Eastern China	12,090	12.49	4.89	13,595	13.80	5.43	11,221	10.62	4.23	10,808	9.92	4.02
Head Office ⁽¹⁾	10,831	11.19	2.20	9,310	9.45	1.93	9,392	8.89	1.78	11,542	10.59	2.02
Overseas	3,139	3.24	0.90	11,551	11.72	3.07	13,053	12.35	3.63	14,274	13.10	4.17
Total	96,796	100.00	1.48	98,526	100.00	1.35	105,688	100.00	1.33	108,971	100.00	1.32

Notes:

TRADING ASSETS

The Bank invests in and trades Renminbi-denominated and foreign currency-denominated listed and unlisted debt and equity securities for its own account to (1) maintain the stability and diversification of the Bank's assets, (2) maintain adequate sources of back-up liquidity to match the Bank's funding requirements, and (3) supplement income from the Bank's core lending activities.

The Bank's investment securities include primarily securities issued by central governments and central banks, securities issued by banks and other financial institutions, securities issued by corporate entities, as well as a small portion of investment securities issued by public sector entities.

The Bank's trading assets include primarily listed and unlisted debt and equity securities, as well as derivative financial instruments, issued by banks and financial institutions, corporate entities, governments and central banks and public sector entities. The majority of the unlisted bonds in this category are traded in the interbank market in the PRC.

From 1 January 2018, the Bank applied IFRS 9 and records and reclassifies its investment securities and trading assets on its statement of financial position as financial assets by measurement of fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or amortised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI.

⁽²⁾ Head Office included the Pacific Credit Card Centre.

The following table sets forth the Bank's debt securities at FVPL as analysed by issuer as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2022	31 December 2023	30 June 2024						
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount						
		(RMB in million, except percentages)								
Governments and central										
banks	99,079	102,349	107,622	84,249						
Public sector entities	1,302	560	41	109						
Banks and other financial										
institutions	100,898	80,601	81,756	62,994						
Corporate entities	46,655	69,443	37,823	24,024						

LIABILITIES AND SOURCES OF FUNDS

The Group's total liabilities as at 30 June 2024 were RMB13,058,623 million, which represents an increase of 0.75 per cent. from RMB12,961,022 million as at 31 December 2023. The amount of the Group's deposits from customers accounted for 66.24 per cent. of its total liabilities as at 30 June 2024. The Bank obtains funding for its lending and investment activities from a variety of sources, both domestic and international. The Bank's principal sources of funding are corporate and individual deposits. The Bank's funding operations are designed to ensure both a stable source of funds and effective liquidity management. The Bank continuously adjusts its funding operations to minimise funding costs and also endeavours to match currencies and maturities with those of its loan portfolio.

The table below illustrates the balance and breakdown of the Group's deposits from customers as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2021		31 De	ecember 2022	31 De	31 December 2023 30		30 June 2024
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
			(RM	AB in million, ex	cept percentage	es)		
Corporate deposits	4,550,020	64.63	4,877,033	61.36	5,041,991	58.96	4,907,584	56.73
Corporate demand deposits	2,061,672	29.28	1,989,383	25.03	2,050,524	23.98	1,913,371	22.12
Corporate time deposits	2,488,348	35.35	2,887,650	36.33	2,991,467	34.98	2,994,213	34.61
Personal deposits	2,402,812	34.13	2,955,724	37.18	3,358,156	39.27	3,588,270	41.48
Personal demand deposits	850,831	12.09	885,013	11.13	884,746	10.35	960,959	11.11
Personal time deposits	1,551,981	22.04	2,070,711	26.05	2,473,410	28.92	2,627,311	30.37
Other deposits	3,359	0.05	4,227	0.05	3,240	0.04	2,196	0.03
Accrued interest	83,586	1.19	112,088	1.41	147,828	1.73	152,066	1.76
Total due to customers	7,039,777	100.00	7,949,072	100.00	8,551,215	100.00	8,650,116	100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF DEPOSITS BY GEOGRAPHY

The following table sets forth the distribution of the Bank's deposit balances as at the dates indicated:

	31 December 2022		31 De	ecember 2023	:	30 June 2024
	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total	Amount	% of total
		(RM	AB in million, es	xcept percentage	(s)	
Yangtze River Delta	2,157,812	27.15	2,363,907	27.64	2,440,668	28.22
Pearl River Delta	1,024,315	12.89	1,057,766	12.37	1,018,297	11.77
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,671,923	21.02	1,825,945	21.35	1,797,394	20.78
Central China	1,260,425	15.86	1,365,881	15.99	1,404,465	16.24
Western China	846,610	10.65	894,662	10.46	901,265	10.42
North Eastern China	391,719	4.93	426,274	4.98	438,011	5.06
Overseas	480,408	6.04	465,463	5.44	494,581	5.72
Head office	3,772	0.05	3,489	0.04	3,369	0.04
Accrued interest	112,088	1.41	147,828	1.73	152,066	1.76
Total	7,949,072	100.00	8,551,215	100.00	8,650,116	100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The section "Substantial Shareholders" on page 136 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The table below sets forth certain information regarding ownership of outstanding shares of the Bank as at 30 June 2024 by those persons who hold or are beneficially interested in any substantial part of the share capital of the Bank.

Particulars of shareholdings disclosed pursuant to H shares regulatory requirements

As at 30 June 2024, to the knowledge of the directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Bank, the substantial shareholders and other persons (excluding the directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Bank) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial shareholders	Capacity	Number of A shares	Nature of interest ⁽¹⁾	Approximate percentage of total issued A shares	Approximate percentage of total issued shares
				- (%	%)
MOF	Beneficial owner	13,178,424,446 (2)	Long position	33.57	17.75
HSBC Holding plc	Interest of controlled corporations	19,300(3)	Long position	0.00	0.00
National Council for Social Security Fund	Beneficial owner	3,105,155,568 (4)	Long position	7.91	4.18
Name of substantial shareholders	Capacity	Number of H shares	Nature of interest ⁽¹⁾	Approximate percentage of total issued H shares ⁽⁸⁾	Approximate percentage of total issued shares ⁽⁸⁾
					%)
MOF	Beneficial owner	4,553,999,999(2)	Long position	13.01	6.13
HSBC Holding plc	Interest of controlled corporations	14,135,636,613 ⁽³⁾	Long position	40.37	19.03
National Council for Social	Beneficial owner	9,063,702,332(4)	Long position	25.89	12.21

Notes:

Security Fund.....

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, no other person (excluding the Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executive of the Bank) or corporation were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as holding any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank that would fall to be disclosed to the Bank and the HKSE pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

⁽¹⁾ Long positions held other than through equity derivatives.

⁽²⁾ To the knowledge of the Bank, as at 30 June 2024, the MOF held 4,553,999,999 H shares and 13,178,424,446 A shares of the Bank, respectively, representing 6.13 per cent. and 17.75 per cent. of the total ordinary shares issued by the Bank.

HSBC Holdings plc wholly owns HSBC Asia Holdings Limited, which wholly owns HSBC. As at 30 June 2024, HSBC beneficially held 19,300 A shares and 14,135,636,613 H shares of the Bank. Pursuant to the SFO, HSBC Holdings plc was deemed to own the interests associated with the 14,135,636,613 H shares and 19,300 A shares held by HSBC.

⁽⁴⁾ To the knowledge of the Bank, as at 30 June 2024, the SSF held a total of 9,063,702,332 H shares and 3,105,155,568 A shares (please refer to the details in the 2024 Interim Financial Statements) of the Bank, respectively representing 12.21 per cent. and 4.18 per cent. of the Bank's total ordinary shares issued.

MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK

The section "Management of the Bank" on pages 137 to 149 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

GENERAL

As at the date of this Supplemental Offering Circular, the Board of the Bank currently comprises 18 members being four executive directors, eight non-executive directors and six independent non-executive directors. Each director of the Bank is elected at a shareholder meeting for a term of three years, which is renewable upon reelection. The chairman and the vice chairman of the Board are elected by a simple majority of the Board.

The business address of the directors, supervisors and senior management personnel named below is No. 188 Yin Cheng Zhong Road, Pudong District, Shanghai, PRC, 200120.

DIRECTORS

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the directors of the Bank.

Name	Position
Mr. REN Deqi	Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. ZHANG Baojiang	Vice Chairman and Executive Director
Mr. YIN Jiuyong	Executive Director
Mr. ZHOU Wanfu	Executive Director
Mr. LI Longcheng	Non-executive Director
Mr. WANG Linping	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHANG Baosheng	Non-executive Director
Mr. LIAO, Yi Chien David	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHAN Siu Chung	Non-executive Director
Mr. MU Guoxin	Non-executive Director
Mr. CHEN Junkui	Non-executive Director
Mr. LUO Xiaopeng	Non-executive Director
Mr. SHI Lei	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. ZHANG Xiangdong	Independent Non-executive Director
Ms. LI Xiaohui	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. MA Jun	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. WONG Tin Chak	Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. XIAO Wei	Independent Non-executive Director

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. REN Deqi, Chairman and Executive Director. Mr. Ren serves as the Chairman of the Board from 16 January 2020. He has been a Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President of the Bank since August 2018. Mr. Ren resigned as President of the Bank on 13 December 2019 and served as Acting President from 13 December 2019 to 6 July 2020. Mr. Ren worked successively in the Changling Sub-branch of Yueyang Branch,

Yueyang City Central Sub-branch, Yueyang Branch, Credit Management Committee Office and Credit Risk Management Department of China Construction Bank ("CCB") from July 1988 to August 2003. He successively served as Deputy General Manager of Credit Approval Department, General Manager of Risk Control Department, General Manager of Credit Management Department, President of the Hubei Provincial Branch and General Manager of Risk Management Department of CCB from August 2003 to May 2014. He served as Executive Vice President of Bank of China ("BOC") from July 2014 to November 2016, and served as Executive Director and Executive Vice President of BOC from December 2016 to June 2018; during such period, he also served as Non-executive Director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited from October 2015 to June 2018 and President of Shanghai RMB Trading Unit of BOC from September 2016 to June 2018. Mr. Ren obtained his master's degree in engineering from Tsinghua University in 1988 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. ZHANG Baojiang, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President. Mr. Zhang has been serving as an Executive Director of the Bank and the Vice Chairman of the Board since August 2024, and as the President of the Bank since June 2024. Mr. Zhang held various positions in Agricultural Development Bank of China, including Vice President, President of the Anhui Branch, Director of the General Office of the Head Office, Vice President of the Shaanxi Branch, Deputy General Manager (In Charge of Work) of the Policy Research Office, Deputy Director of the General Office, and Deputy General Manager of the Research Office of the Head Office. Mr. Zhang obtained his master's degree in Economics from the Graduate School of the Party School of the Central Committee of Communist Party of China in 1998 and his doctoral degree in Economics from the Graduate School of the Party School of the Central Committee of Communist Party of China in 2004.

Mr. YIN Jiuyong, Executive Director and Executive Vice President. Mr. Yin has been serving as an Executive Director of the Bank since February 2024 and as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since September 2019. Mr. Yin held various positions in Agricultural Development Bank of China, including Executive Vice President, Director of the General Office, President of the Henan Branch, General Manager and Deputy General Manager of the First Customer Department (during the period, Mr. Yin served a temporary position as Deputy Manager of Business Department of the Baoding Branch and Executive Vice President of the Baoding Branch), Deputy Director of the First Credit Department, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Division, Deputy Division Chief of Comprehensive Division of the First Industrial and Commercial Credit Department, and Deputy Division Chief of Purchase and Sale Division of the Industrial and Commercial Credit Department. Mr. Yin obtained his doctoral degree in agriculture from China Agricultural University in 1993 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. ZHOU Wanfu, Executive Director and Executive Vice President. Mr. Zhou has been serving as an Executive Director of the Bank since February 2024 and as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since July 2020. Mr. Zhou held various positions in Agricultural Bank of China, including Secretary of the Board of Directors, General Manager of the Strategic Planning Department, Director of Tianjin Training Institute, Executive Vice President of Chongqing Branch, General Manager of the Asset and Liability Management Department of the Head Office, Deputy General Manager of the Budget and Finance Department, Deputy General Manager of the Asset and Liability Management Department, Executive Vice President of the Ningbo Branch, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Planning Department and Deputy Division Chief of the Development and Planning Department. Mr. Zhou obtained his master's degree in economics from the Graduate School of the People's Bank of China in 1988 and obtained his MBA degree from Nanyang Technological University in Singapore in 2003.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Longcheng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Li has been serving as a Non-executive Director since June 2020. Mr. Li served as the Director of Heilongjiang Supervision Bureau of the MOF since April 2019, the Chief Inspector of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2015 to April 2019, the Chief Inspector of Liaoning Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2012 to August 2015,

the Deputy Inspector of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from August 2008 to August 2012; the Deputy Inspector of Zhejiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF from January 2006 to August 2008. From January 1995 to January 2006, Mr. Li successively served as a Staff Member of the General Division, a Senior Staff Member of the General Division, the Deputy Director of the General Division, the Director of the First Division and the Assistant Commissioner of Heilongjiang Supervision & Inspection Office of the MOF. From August 1986 to January 1995, Mr. Li worked in Beijing Forestry Management Cadres College of the MOF and Heilongjiang Finance Department. Mr. Li obtained a doctorate degree in management from Northeast Forestry University in 2003.

Mr. WANG Linping, Non-executive Director. Mr. Wang has served as Level-one inspector of the Retired Cadres Bureau of the MOF since December 2019, Chairman of China Finance and Economic Media Group from June 2018 to December 2019, department level cadre of the MOF from March 2018 to June 2018. From May 2004 to March 2018, he successively served as chief and director-level cadre of the Financial Division and vice minister and minister of the Department of Administrative Finance of the Liaison Office of the Central People's Government in Macao Special Administrative Region. From July 1994 to May 2004, Mr. Wang successively served as chief staff member, assistant researcher of the Management Division of Retirement Funds of Administrative Institutions, deputy director and researcher of Pension Security Division of the Social Security Department of the MOF, and from August 1986 to July 1994, he served successively as a staff member, deputy chief staff member and chief staff member of the Party Committee of the MOF. Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor's degree in philosophy from Zhongnan University of Finance and Economy in 1986.

Mr. CHANG Baosheng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chang has been serving as a Non-executive Director since January 2021, and holds position at Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Mr. Chang served as Level-two Inspector and Deputy Inspector of the Ningxia Supervision Bureau of the MOF. Mr. Chang served as Deputy Inspector, Assistant Commissioner, Deputy Director of the Third Business Department, Deputy Director of the Second Business Department and Deputy Director of the General Office of Ningxia Supervision and Inspection Office of the MOF. Mr. Chang graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1989.

Mr. LIAO, Yi Chien David, Non-executive Director. Mr. Liao has been serving as a Non-executive Director of the Bank since May 2021 and he also serves as Co-chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of HSBC, a substantial shareholder of the Bank, and Chief Administrative Officer and a member of the Group Executive Committee of the HSBC Group. Additionally, Mr. Liao serves as the Chairman of HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited and a Non-executive Director of Hang Seng Bank Limited. Prior to his current role, Mr. Liao served as group general manager at HSBC, head of Asia Pacific Global Banking Coverage of HSBC, president and chief executive officer of HSBC China, head of Global Banking and Markets at HSBC China, executive vice president of HSBC China, treasurer of HSBC China and executive director of HSBC Group. Mr. Liao previously worked at IBJ International (now Mizuho International). Mr. Liao obtained a bachelor's degree with honours from the University of London in 1995.

Mr. CHAN Siu Chung, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chan has been serving as a Non-executive Director since October 2019. Mr. Chan has been serving as the Co-head of Markets for Greater China Region at HSBC, a substantial shareholder of the Bank, since August 2013. Mr. Chan joined HSBC in 1986, and from July 1986 to July 2013, Mr. Chan successively served as the Senior Dealer, Senior Interest Rate Dealer, Head of Hong Kong Dollar Interest Rate and Derivatives Trading, Head of Trading in Hong Kong, and concurrently served as Deputy Head of Global Markets Asia Pacific and Head of Trading in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering in 1986 and obtained his master's degree from Macquarie University in Australia of Applied Finance in 1994.

Mr. MU Guoxin, Non-executive Director. Mr. Mu has been serving as a Non-executive Director since August 2022. Mr. Mu is currently the Director of Fund Finance Department of the National Council for Social Security Fund, a substantial shareholder of the Bank. Mr. Mu also serves as a Non-executive Director of China CITIC

Limited and a Non-independent Director of COFCO Fulinmen Co. Mr. Mu served as the Director and the Deputy Director of the Fund Finance Department, Chief of the Accounting Division, the Deputy Chief of Accounting Division of Finance and Accounting Department of the National Council for Social Security Fund and Deputy Chief of the System Division II of the Accounting Department of the MOF. Mr. Mu obtained a master's degree of public administration from a joint programme organised by Peking University and the National Institute of Administration in July 2008 and he is a Senior Accountant.

Mr. CHEN Junkui, Non-executive Director. Mr. Chen has been serving as a Non-executive Director since June 2019. Mr. Chen has been serving as the Deputy General Manager for China Tobacco Jiangsu Industrial Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen also serves as a Supervisor of China Tobacco Machinery Group Co., Ltd., China Tobacco International Inc. and China Tobacco Magazine House Co., Ltd., Director of Nantong Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd., Zhuhai Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd. and Kunming Cellulose Fibers Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen successively served as the Deputy Director-General of the Financial Management and Supervision (Internal Audit) Department of the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration, the Deputy Head, Head of the Finance and Asset Department of China Tobacco Machinery Group Co., Ltd. from December 2005 to February 2019, the Principal Staff Member in Financial Management Department of China Tobacco Investment Management Co. from September 2005 to December 2005, a Cadre of Financial Department and the Senior Staff Member and Principal Staff Member of Financial Department of National Tobacco Commodity Company (Cigarette Filter Material Company) from September 2000 to September 2005, and worked in Beijing Bureau of Geology and Mineral from July 1997 to September 2000. Mr. Chen obtained his master's degree in management science from Capital University of Economics and Business in July 2002 and he is a Senior Accountant.

Mr. LUO Xiaopeng, Non-executive Director. Mr. Luo has been serving as a Non-executive Director since August 2022. Mr. Luo is currently the President of Capital Operation Department of Capital Airport Group, a substantial shareholder of the Bank (as defined in the Interim Measures for the Management of Equity in Commercial Banks). He also serves as a Supervisor of Tianjin Binhai International Airport Co., Ltd., Jilin Civil Airport Group Co., Ltd. and Jiangxi Airport Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Luo was formerly the Financial Controller of Inner Mongolia Civil Aviation Airport Group Co., Ltd., Secretary of the Board of Directors and General Manager of Finance Department of Beijing Capital International Airport Co., Ltd. Mr. Luo obtained a master's degree of finance from Jiangxi Finance and Economics University in 2003 and he is a Senior Accountant.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHI Lei, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Shi has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since December 2019. Mr. Shi currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Hangzhou Meideng Technology Co., Ltd., a Professor, a Doctoral Supervisor of Fudan University and the Head of the Public Economic Research Centre of Fudan University. Mr. Shi joined Fudan University in 1993, since then, he subsequently served as the Head of the China Socialism Market Economy Research Centre, the Director of the Publicity Department of the Communist Party Committee of Fudan University, and the Secretary of the Communist Party Committee of Fudan University Economics College. Currently, Mr. Shi also serves as the Independent Non-executive Director of Ko Yo Chemical (Group) Limited and Sanxiang Impression Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi obtained his Doctorate degree from the Institute of Economics at Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences in 1993. Mr. Shi enjoys the special allowance of the State Council.

Mr. ZHANG Xiangdong, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since August 2020. Prior to his retirement, Mr. Zhang served as a Non-executive Director of Bank of China Limited from July 2011 to June 2018 and a Non-executive Director of China Construction Bank Corporation from November 2004 to June 2010 (acting as Chairman of the Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors from April 2005 to June 2010). From January 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Zhang concurrently served as Member of China International Economic and Trade

Arbitration Commission. From August 2001 to November 2004, he successively served as Vice President of Haikou Branch of the PBOC and Deputy Director General of Hainan Branch of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange concurrently, Deputy Director General and Inspector of the General Affairs Department of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange. From September 1999 to September 2001, Mr. Zhang concurrently served as a Member of the Issuance Approval Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor's degree in law from Renmin University of China in 1986, graduated with a postgraduate degree in international economic law from Renmin University of China in 1988 and obtained a master's degree in law in 1990 and he is a Senior Economist.

Ms. LI Xiaohui, Independent Non-executive Director. Ms. Li has been serving as an Independent Nonexecutive Director of the Bank since November 2020. Ms. Li has been a Professor and Doctoral Supervisor at the School of Accounting, Central University of Finance and Economics from September 2003. Ms. Li also services an independent non-executive director of Fangda Special Steel Technology Co., Ltd., State Grid Information and Communication Co., Ltd., Poly Culture Group Co., Ltd., and BBMG Corporation, external supervisor of Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd., member of the Professional Technical Advisory Committee of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, member of the Audit Committee of the Accounting Society of China and member of the Audit Standards Committee of the China Internal Audit Association. From July 2001 to August 2003, she worked in the Professional Standards Department of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. From April 1993 to August 1998, Ms. Li worked successively in Cangzhou Accounting Firm, Cangshi Accounting Firm and the State-owned Assets Administration under Hebei Province Department of Finance. Ms. Li is a national leading accountant, and a member of the Professional Technical Advisory Committee of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Audit Committee of the Accounting Society of China and a member of the Audit Standards Committee of the China Internal Audit Association. Ms. Li currently serves as Independent Director of Fangda Special Steel Technology Co., Ltd., State Grid Information and Communication Co., Ltd., Jizhong Energy Co., Ltd., and Camel Group Co., Ltd. Ms. Li previously served as Director of Fangda Carbon New Material Co., Ltd., Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. and China U-Ton Holdings Limited. Ms. Li obtained a doctorate degree in economics from Central University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and she is a Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. MA Jun, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Ma has been serving as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since August 2022 and he also serves as the Chairman of Capacity-Building Alliance for Sustainable Investment. Mr. Ma is currently the Independent Director of China Taiping Life Insurance (Hong Kong), Independent Director of Postal Savings Bank of China Ubank, Director of the Green Finance Committee of China Society for Finance, Co-Chairman of the Steering Committee of the "Belt and Road" Green Investment Principals, President of the Beijing Green Finance Association (Beijing Emissions Trading Association) and Chairman of the Hong Kong Green Finance Association. Mr. Ma served as President of the Institute of Finance and Sustainability, a Member of the Monetary Policy Committee of the People's Bank of China; Director of the Finance and Development Research Centre, Institute of International Finance, Tsinghua University and Director of the Green Finance Development Research Centre; Chief Economist of the Research Bureau of the People's Bank of China. He also served as Chief Economist, Investment Strategist and Managing Director for Greater China of Deutsche Bank AG; Senior Economist and Adviser to the World Bank and Economist at the International Monetary Fund. Mr. Ma also served for the Development Research Centre of the State Council. Mr. Ma obtained his doctor's degree in economics from Georgetown University, USA in 1994.

Mr. WONG Tin Chak, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Wong has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since November 2023 and he is an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Since November 2022, Mr. Wong has been the Chief Partner of Shanghai Dekun Tianyu Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) and a member of the Digital Economy Strategy Committee of the Chinese Association of Development Strategy Studies. He has previously worked as, among others, a Chief Commercial Officer, a Risk Advisory Managing Partner and a member of

Management Committee of Deloitte China, a member of the Risk Advisory Management Committee of Deloitte Asia Pacific, an Audit and Assurance Deputy Managing Partner and a Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants and a Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor of social science degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1988, majoring in accounting and economics.

Mr. XIAO Wei, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Xiao has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since September 2024. Mr. Xiao served as Chief Audit Officer of Bank of China Limited since November 2014 and retired in November 2020. He has previously worked as, among others, General Manager of the Financial Management Department of the Head Office, Vice President of the Beijing branch, Chief Financial Officer of the Beijing branch, Assistant General Manager and Deputy General Manager of the Asset, and Liability Management Department of the Head Office. Mr. Xiao obtained his doctoral degree in economics from Renmin University of China in 1994.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Bank comprises members of the senior management and secretary of the Board, of which, members of the senior management include, among others, the president, executive vice presidents, chief business officer, chief risk officer and HSBC strategic cooperation adviser. The Bank adopts the system of accountability by the president under the leadership of the Board. The president is accountable to the Board, whereas various functional departments, branch offices and other members of senior management of the Bank are accountable to the president. The president has the right to organise, develop and operate management activities in accordance with laws, regulations, the Bank's Articles of Association and authorisation from the Board.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning members of the senior management of the Bank.

Name	Position
Mr. ZHANG Baojiang	President
Mr. YIN Jiuyong	Executive Vice President
Mr. ZHOU Wanfu	Executive Vice President
Mr. QIAN Bin	Executive Vice President, Chief Information Officer
Mr. TU Hong	Chief Business Officer (Interbank and Market Business Sector)
Mr. HE Zhaobin	Company Secretary
Mr. LIN Hua	Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business Sector)
Mr. LIU Jianjun	Chief Risk Officer
Mr. WANG Wenjin	Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business Sector)
Mr. CHO, Kwok Hung Arthur	Senior Management Member, BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Consultant

Mr. ZHANG Baojiang, please refer to details in "Executive Directors".

Mr. YIN Jiuyong, please refer to details in "Executive Directors".

Mr. ZHOU Wanfu, please refer to details in "Executive Directors".

Mr. QIAN Bin, Executive Vice President. Mr. Qian has been serving as an Executive Vice President of the Bank since July 2021. Mr. Qian has concurrently been serving as Chief Information Officer of the Bank since October 2022. Mr. Qian served as General Manager and Principal of the Internet Finance Department, General Manager of Data Centre (Shanghai), Deputy General Manager of the Private Banking Department, Deputy General Manager of the Information Technology Department and Director of the Technology Security Centre, Deputy General Manager of the Information Technology Department and Assistant to General Manager of the Information Technology Department of the Shanghai Branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. Mr. Qian obtained his MBA degree from The University of Hong Kong – Fudan University IMBA Programme in 2004 and he is a Senior Engineer.

Mr. HE Zhaobin, Secretary of the Board of Directors. Mr. He has been serving as the Secretary of the Board of Directors of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. He served as, among others, a Non-executive Director of the Bank, Deputy Director of National Agricultural Comprehensive Development Office of the State, Deputy Director of Agriculture Comprehensive Reform Group Office of the State Council, Deputy Director of the Department of Supervision and Inspection of the MOF (Vice Mayor in Huangshi municipal people's government in Hubei Province during this period), Division Chief, and Deputy Division Chief. Mr. He obtained his master's degree in public administration in China National School of Administration and Peking University in 2007 and he is a Certified Public Accountant and a Senior Economist.

Mr. TU Hong, Chief Business Officer (Inter-bank and Market Business Sector). Mr. Tu has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Inter-bank and Market Business Sector) of the Bank since September 2018, and concurrently serves as the President of Shanghai Branch of the Bank since April 2022. Mr. Tu held various positions in the Bank, including Chairman of the Board of BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd., Directors of the General Manager of the Financial Institution Department of the Bank's Head Office, during which period he concurrently served as Chief Executive Officer of the Asset Management Business Centre, Chief Executive Officer of the Financial Market Business Centre/Precious Metal Business Centre, General Manager of the Financial Market Department, General Manager of the New York Branch, Deputy General Manager of the International Business Department of the Bank's Head Office, Executive Vice President of the Guangzhou Branch, Division Chief of the General Administration of Foreign Exchange Business of the Beijing Branch, Deputy Manager of the Foreign Exchange Credit Department and Executive Vice President of the Sanyuan Sub-branch, serving the Bank for 34 years. Mr. Tu obtained his master's degree in economics from Fudan University in 1998.

Mr. LIN Hua, Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business). Mr. Lin has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Retail and Private Business) of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. Lin held various positions in the Bank, including Chief Risk Officer, General Manager of the Risk Management Department, Director of Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office, President of the Jiangsu Branch, President and Executive Vice President (on behalf, performed the duties of the President) of the Jiangsi Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Shanghai Branch, Senior Manager of the Credit Department, Division Chief of the Credit Management Division, Director and Deputy Director (in charge of overall work) of the General Office, Assistant to Manager of the Marketing Department and Assistant to Division Chief of the Credit Division of the Shanghai Branch, serving the Bank for 35 years. Mr. Lin obtained his MBA degree from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2004 and he is a Senior Economist.

Mr. LIU Jianjun, Chief Risk Officer. Mr. Liu has been serving as the Chief Risk Office since June 2023. Mr. Liu has been concurrently serving as the General Manager of the Risk Management Department of the Bank since June 2023. Mr. Liu held various positions in the Bank, including Chief Expert, President of the Beijing Branch and Chief Executive Officer of the Beijing Management Department (Group Customer Department), Executive Vice President of the Beijing Management Department (Group Customer Department), President, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Jilin Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior

Credit Executive of the Changchun Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Beijing Branch, etc, serving the Bank for 35 years. Mr. Liu obtained his MBA degree from Beijing Institute of Technology in 2003 and he is an Intermediate Economist.

Mr. WANG Wenjin, Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business). Mr. Wang has been serving as the Chief Business Officer (Corporate and Institution Business Sector) of the Bank since June 2023. He has been concurrently serving as the Vice President of the Management Headquarters of the Bank for the Integrated Development of Yangtze River Delta since July 2023 and General Manager of the Corporate and Institutional Banking Department of the Bank since October 2019.Mr. Wang held various positions in the Bank, including, among others, General Manager of the Pension Finance Department, President and Executive Vice President of the Fujian Branch, Executive Vice President and Senior Credit Executive of the Hunan Branch, Executive Vice President and Assistant to President of the Changsha Branch, President of the Yueyang Branch, Division Chief of the Corporate Business Division, Deputy Division Chief and Assistant to Division Chief of the Credit Management Division of the Changsha Branch, serving the Bank for 29 years. Mr. Wang obtained his master's degree in management from Hunan University in 2008.

Mr. CHO, Kwok Hung Arthur, BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Consultant. Mr. Cho has been serving as the BoCom-HSBC Strategic Cooperation Consultant since April 2023. He was the Chief Risk Officer of Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited, Risk Management Consultant assigned by HSBC to the Bank (as an expatriate employee of HSBC), President of HSBC Shanghai Branch, Director of Credit Risk Training of HSBC (China), Director of Commercial Banking School of HSBC Asia Pacific, Director of Corporate Banking Training Department of HSBC Asia Pacific, Senior Training Manager (Credit Risk) and Deputy Department Head of HSBC Asia Pacific. Mr Cao obtained his MBA degree from the City University of Hong Kong in 1996.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

In accordance with the requirements of the company law of the PRC and the Bank's Articles of Association, the board of supervisors of the Bank monitors the Board's execution of the resolutions approved at shareholders' meetings and decisions made within the Board's scope of power. The board of supervisors of the Bank also monitors the senior management's implementation of resolutions approved at shareholders' general meetings and Board's meetings, and the business activities that were carried out within the senior management's scope of power. The board of supervisors is also responsible for monitoring the performance of the directors and senior management, and for investigating the Bank's financial condition.

The board of supervisors of the Bank includes the following members:

Mr. XU Jiming, Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and Shareholder Supervisor. Mr. Xu has been serving as the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and a Shareholder Supervisor of the Bank since October 2021. Mr. Xu serves as the Chairman of the Labour Union of the Bank and the standing committee member of the 14th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference concurrently. Mr. Xu served as the standing committee member of the 13th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Xu served as Head of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Group and Head of the Discipline Inspection Group of the Party Leadership Group. Mr. Xu also held various positions in the National Audit Office, including Director of the General Office, Director of the Department of Administration Institutions Audit, Director of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Director of the Audit Cadre Training Centre, Director and Deputy Director of the Audit Bureau of Health and Drugs, Deputy Director of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Division Chief Level), Division Chief of the First Division of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit, Division Chief of the Comprehensive Division of the Department of Foreign Funds Application Audit and Deputy Division Auditor of the Second Division of the Department of Foreign Funds

Application Audit. Mr. Xu obtained his doctoral degree in economics from EHESS (École des hautes études en sciences socials) in 1995 and he is a Senior Auditor.

Mr. WANG Xueqing, Shareholder Supervisor. Mr. Wang has been serving as a Shareholder Supervisor of the Bank since June 2017. Mr. Wang has been concurrently serving as Deputy General Manager Daqing Oilfield Co., Ltd. (Daging Petroleum Administration Bureau), a substantial shareholder of the Bank. Mr. Wang also serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daqing Petroleum (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd., Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daqing Energy (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd., Director of DPS Indonesia Co. Ltd., Director of China Petroleum Halfaya Co., Ltd. and Executive Vice President of the Six Council of China Association of Plant Engineering. Mr. Wang served as Director of Finance Department of Daqing Oilfield Company from October 2009 to February 2018. From July 2008 to October 2009, Mr. Wang was appointed as Director of Financial Assets of the First Department in Daqing Oilfield Company. He was Head of the Accounting Department (Centre) of the Financial Assets Department in Daqing Oilfield Company and became Section Chief, First Deputy Director and Director from November 1999 to July 2008. At present, Mr. Wang holds difference positions including Chairman of the Board of Directors of Daqing Petroleum (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd. and Daqing Energy (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd., Director of Qingdao Qingxin Plastic Co. Ltd. and DPS Indonesia Co. Ltd., Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of Daqing Oilfield Lishen Pump Co. Ltd. and PTINDOSPECENERGY and Vice President of the Sixth Council of China Association of Plant Engineering. Mr. Wang obtained a master's degree in accounting from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in June 2002. He is also a Professorate Senior Accountant.

Mr. CHEN Hanwen, External Supervisor. Mr. Chen has been serving as an External Supervisor of the Bank since April 2019. Mr. Chen is currently a professor in Nanjing Audit University and he is a Professor, doctoral supervisor and contact of the Postdoctoral Research Station of University of International Business and Economics, chair professor of China Business Executives Academy, Dalian, co-editor in chief of China Journal of Accounting Studies (publication of the Accounting Society of China), member of Editorial Board of Auditing Research (publication of the China Audit Society), member of the Senior Professional Rank Evaluation Committee of the National Audit Office, member of the Professional Ethics Committee of China Institute of Certified Public Accountant,, executive council member of the China Audit Society, Independent Nonexecutive Director of Bank of Suzhou Co., Ltd., China Shenhua Energy Company Limited and Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen worked as the Secretary General of the Academic Committee of Xiamen University from January 2014 to June 2015, the Vice President of the Graduate School from August 2012 to June 2015, the vice president of School of Management from June 2008 to August 2012, Dean of the Accounting Department of Xiamen University from May 2004 to December 2008, and received the prestigious Xiamen University Nangiang Award for outstanding contributions. Mr. Chen currently acts as an Independent Director of Yango Group Co., Ltd (form April 2017 to April 2020), Dalian Wanda Commercial Properties (from May 2017 to March 2022), Beijing Sanyuan Gene Pharmacy Co. Ltd. (from November 2018 to November 2021), Xiamen International Bank (from May 2013 to May 2019) and Xiamen Bank (from January 2015 to January 2021). Mr. Chen acted as independent non-executive director of Industrial Securities from September 2011 to November 2017 and Minsheng Holdings from December 2015 to December 2017. Mr. Chen obtained his doctoral degree in economics from Xiamen University in 1997.

Mr. SU Zhi, External Supervisor. Mr. Su has been serving as an External Supervisor of the Bank since June 2022 and as the Independent Non-executive Director of Jilin JLU Communication Design Institute Co., Ltd.. Mr. Su is currently the Special Appointed Professor of "Longma Scholars", the Double Appointed Professor and the Tutor for Doctoral Students of the School of Statistics and Mathematics and the School of Finance, as well as the first Chief Dean of the Department of Financial Technology at Central University of Finance and Economics. He is also the Executive Director of Central University of Finance and Economics & University of Electronic Science and Technology of China Joint Research Data Centre, the Deputy Director of the Academic Committee of Institute of International Technology Development of Research Centre of the State Council, the

Professional Consultant in Financial Technology of Beijing Xicheng District Government, the Special Appointed Expert of "Sci-Tech Finance Expert Think Tank" of Beijing Haidian District Financial Services Office, the Special Researcher of the International Monetary Institute of Renmin University of China, the Special Appointed Professor of the Business Model Innovation Centre of Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management, the Senior External Expert of Centralised Procurement Management Committee of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, the Guiding Expert of Postdoctoral Fellow of Shenzhen Stock Exchange; the Co-Tutor of Postdoctoral Fellow of JD Finance, as well as the Independent Directors of Shanghai Haohai Biological Technology Co., Ltd. and Fujian Start Group Co., Ltd.. Mr. Su obtained his doctoral degree in quantitative economics from Jilin University in 2006.

Mr. GUAN Xingshe, Employee Supervisor. Mr. Guan has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since October 2018. He has been concurrently serving as the Director of the Office of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank since August 2018. From September 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Guan served as General Manager of Department of General Affairs of the Bank. Mr. Guan held various positions from May 2003 to September 2011, including Deputy Manager of Henan Branch (Zhengzhou), Secretary of the Commission for Discipline Inspection (from September 2007 to September 2011) and Senior Credit Executive (from May 2006 to June 2008). He also held several positions from December 1994 to May 2003, including Deputy Division Chief of Finance and Accounting Department of Zhengzhou Branch, Deputy Division Chief of Internal Audit Division (in charge of overall work), Deputy Director of Finance and Accounting Department (in charge of overall work), Division Chief of Finance and Accounting Department (during which he took a temporary post in Internal Audit Division of the Head Office from April 2002 to March 2003). From April 1993 to December 1994, Mr. Guan served as Deputy Division Chief of Financial Audit Department of Zhengzhou Audit Bureau. Mr. Guan obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1988 and his master's degree in economics from Xiamen University in 1999. Mr. Guan is a Senior Auditor.

Ms. LIN Zhihong, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Lin has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since December 2020. Ms. Lin has been concurrently serving as Head of the Audit and Supervision Bureau of the Bank and Supervisor of the BoCom Financial Asset Investment Co., Ltd. Previously, she also served as Non-executive Director of BoCom International Holdings Co., General Manager of the Financial Service Centre (Business Operation Department) of the Head Office, General Manager of the Budget and Finance Department (Data and Information Management Centre), General Manager, Deputy General Manager and Senior Budget Manager of the Budget and Finance Department, serving the Bank for 33 year. Ms. Lin obtained her EMBA degree from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010 and she is an Intermediate Accountant.

Ms. FENG Bing, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Feng has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since December 2020, and she also serves as Deputy General Manager and Integrity Commissioner and Senior Expert of the Bank's Singapore Branch. Ms. Feng held various positions in the Bank, including Director of the Office of Labour Union, Executive Vice President of Labour Union, Secretary of Youth League Committee, Deputy General Manager, Senior Manager of Structural Planning, Senior Manager of Performance Management (During the period, she served a temporary position in the Jiaxing Branch of the Bank as Executive Vice President) and Deputy Senior Manager of Performance Management of the Human Resource Department of the Bank's Head Office, and she also served as Deputy Head of Economic Research Office of the Development Research Department of the Bank's Head Office, serving the Bank for 23 years. Ms. Feng obtained her master's degree in national economics from University of Shanghai for Science and Technology in 2000 and she is a Senior Economist.

Ms. PO Ying, Employee Supervisor. Ms. Po has been serving as an Employee Supervisor of the Bank since November 2021. Ms. Po is currently the Head of Sub-bureaus of Audit Supervision of the Bank and the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd. Previously, she

served as the General Manager of the Equity and Investment Management Department of the Bank, the General Manager of the Strategic Investment Department of the Bank's Head Office, the non-executive director of BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited and a non-executive director of Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. Ms. Po also served as the vice president of Suzhou Branch of the Bank, senior manager of management accounting, senior manager of management accounting and pricing of the Budget and Finance Department of the head office of the Bank, deputy director of the Management Accounting Division of the Financial Accounting (Budget Finance) Department of the head office of the Bank, deputy director of the Finance Division of the Financial Accounting Department of the head office of the Bank and deputy director and assistant director of the Planning Division of Nanning Branch of the Bank, serving the Bank for 27 years. Ms. Po obtained a master's degree in economics from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 1996 and she is a Senior Accountant.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors set up Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee), Audit Committee, Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee, Personnel and Remuneration Committee and Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee, among which, the Strategy Committee and Inclusive Finance Development Committee perform duties in combination, the Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee assumed the responsibilities of the US Risk Management Committee and the Personnel and Remuneration Committee performed the functions of both nomination and remuneration.

The Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee)

The Strategy Committee (Inclusive Finance Development Committee) is primarily responsible for formulating the operations and management objectives as well as long-term development plans, regularly analysing and evaluating the results of capital management, conducting research and making recommendations on major equity investment plans. The committee supervises and inspects the implementation of the annual business plans, examines and assesses the implementation of corporate governance system. Furthermore, it formulates and reviews the strategic plans for the development of inclusive financial business and business operating plan, and also evaluates the achievements of inclusive finance business development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 25 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for proposing the appointments, changes or removals of the Bank's auditors, monitoring the Bank's internal audit system and its implementation, acting as the communication channel between the Bank's internal and external auditors, reviewing the Bank's financial information and disclosure, examining the Bank's accounting policies, financial position and financial reporting procedures, and monitoring the implementation of the Bank's internal controls. The Audit Committee and the senior management have reviewed the Bank's accounting policies and practices and discussed issues relating to internal controls and financial reporting including reviewing interim financial reports. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held five meetings and reviewed and approved 31 proposals.

The Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee

The Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee is primarily responsible for monitoring and evaluating the risk management and controls of the Bank in areas of credit, market, operations, compliance, case prevention, money laundering and terrorism financing; periodically assessing the risks, management status and risk tolerance level; supervising and evaluating the risk management of America-related operations, reviewing significant related party transactions, asset disposals, asset pledges or external guarantees;

approving policies and procedures of money laundering risk management; reviewing anti-money laundering reports regularly, keeping abreast of major money laundering risk events and their resolutions, and evaluating the status of anti-money laundering risk management. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management and Related Party Transaction Control Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 42 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board of Directors on its scale and structure according to the operating results, the scale of assets and the structure of shareholding; approving and amending the policies on diversification of members of the Board of Directors; making recommendations to the Board of Directors on formulating the selection procedures and assessment criteria for the Bank's directors and senior management personnel and reviewing the basic systems and policies of remuneration management; proposing suggestions on the remuneration distribution plan of directors and senior management and submitting them to the Board of Directors for approval. The Personnel and Remuneration Committee performed the functions both as a Nomination Committee and a Remuneration Committee.

The Personnel and Remuneration Committee's nomination procedures for the directors and senior management of the Bank are as follows: Firstly, understand the Bank's demands for directors and senior management in time. Secondly, extensively search for candidates of directors and senior management. Thirdly, determine the initial candidates and obtain their agreements. Fourthly, convene the meetings of the Personnel & Remuneration Committee to conduct examinations for the qualification of the initial candidates. Fifthly, propose to the Board of Directors about the election of new directors and the appointment of new senior management. Sixthly, implement other following duties based on decisions and feedback of the Board of Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee held five meetings, reviewed and approved 21 proposals and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee

The Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee is primarily responsible for formulating the Bank's social responsibility strategies and policies, reviewing the achievements of the social responsibility targets and submitting the Annual Social Responsibility Report to the Board of Directors; researching and assessing the measures of the ESG performance and promoting ESG information disclosure; reviewing the strategies, policies and goals on protecting the consumers' rights, studying key issues and significant policies on consumer's rights protection, approving external donations; reviewing credit policies concerning environmental and sustainable development. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Social Responsibility (Environmental, Social and Governance) and Consumer Protection Committee held four meetings, reviewed and approved 12 proposals and reports and presented professional recommendations to the Board of Directors.

BANKING REGULATION AND SUPERVISION IN THE PRC

The section entitled "NDRC" on pages 155 to 156 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deemed to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with:

NDRC

On 14 September 2015, the NDRC published the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations (關於推進企業發行外債備案登記制管理改革的通知) (the "Circular 2044"), which came into effect on the same date.

On 5 January 2023, the NDRC published the Administrative Measures for the Examination and Registration of Medium- and Long-Term Foreign Debts of Enterprises (企業中長期外債審核登記管理辦法) (the "Order 56"), which came into effect on 10 February 2023 and repealed the Circular 2044 on the same date. The Order 56 applies to medium and long-term foreign debts with a maturity of more than one year that are borrowed from overseas by enterprises within the territory of the PRC and by overseas enterprises or branches controlled by aforementioned PRC enterprises, denominated in local or foreign currency, and of which principal is repaid with payment of interest as agreed. For the purpose of the Order 56, the forms of foreign debts include but are not limited to senior bonds, perpetual bonds, capital bonds, medium-term notes, convertible bonds, exchangeable bonds, financial leasing, and commercial loans. Before borrowing any foreign debt, the Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises (企業借用外債審核登 記證明) ("Examination and Registration Certificate") shall be obtained from the NDRC, and such certificate shall be valid for one year from the date of issuance and be automatically invalidated upon expiry. Apart from the foregoing pre-issuance requirement, the Order 56 stipulates post-issuance filing requirements as following: (1) filing the information of foreign debts within 10 business days after borrowing each foreign debt; (2) filing the information on the borrowing of foreign debts within 10 business days upon the expiration of the Examination and Registration Certificate; (3) filing the information on the use of proceeds raised from foreign debts, including, among others, the repayment of principal with the payment of interest, plans and arrangements, and major business indicators, within five business days prior to the end of January and the end of July each year. In addition, in case of any major event that may affect the normal performance of debt obligations, enterprises shall promptly report relevant information and take risk control measures to prevent the spill-over of onshore default risks and cross default risks. With respect to conducts in violation of the Order 56, legal liabilities and consequences to enterprises borrowing foreign debts have been stipulated in the Order 56. If any enterprise borrows foreign debts in violation of the Order 56, the NDRC will take disciplinary actions such as holding an interview and giving a public warning against the relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. If any application documents to apply for foreign debt approval submitted by enterprises contain concealing, false record, misleading statement, or material omission, the NDRC will give a warning to relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. If the approval is obtained by concealment, deception, bribery, or any other improper means, such approval will be revoked. For any enterprise failing to comply with filing and reporting requirements under the Order 56, the NDRC will order such enterprise to take rectification actions within a prescribed time limit; and if the circumstances are severe or the enterprise fails to take rectification action within the prescribed time limit, give a warning to the relevant enterprise and its principal liable person. Furthermore, conducts in violation of the Order 56 committed by enterprises will be publicised on, among others, the Credit China (信用中國) website and the National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System (國家企業信用信 息公示系統).

The NDRC issued the Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises (企業借用外債審核登記證明) (發改辦外債[2024]661 號) to the Bank on 25 October 2024 (the "NDRC Certificate"). The recipient may at its own discretion issue notes of any amount up to the granted amount under such annual foreign debt quota, although it still has to make post-issuance filing within 10 business days after

the completion of the issuance of the relevant notes. The relevant Issuer is entitled to utilise the annual quota of the Bank under the NDRC Certificate. As such, the relevant Issuer is not required to carry out any pre-issuance registration in relation to the Notes pursuant to the Order 56, as the issue size and other terms and conditions of the Notes will all fall within the scope of the NDRC Certificate. However, the relevant Issuer and the Bank still have to comply with regulations regarding risk management and interim and ex-post supervision of the Order 56 and any other rules and regulations promulgated by the NDRC in relation with the supervision and management of foreign debt from time to time.

As new regulation, the Order 56 and the NDRC Certificate will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities, and it remains unclear what impact non-compliance will have on the legality, enforceability and validity of the Notes.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The section entitled "Subscription and Sale – Selling Restrictions – Singapore" on pages 175 to 176 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deemed to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with:

"Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the CMP Regulations 2018, unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)."

GENERAL INFORMATION

The sub-sections entitled "Listing", "Authorisations", "No Material Adverse Change" and "Auditor" in "General Information" on pages 178 to 179 of the Original Offering Circular shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

- 1. **Listing**: The Programme is listed on the HKSE under which the Notes will be issued by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only on the HKSE within the 12-month period after the date of the Original Offering Circular. Separate application will be made to the HKSE for listing of, and permission to deal in, the Notes by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only. Such listing of, and permission to deal in, the Notes is expected to become effective on 12 December 2024.
- 2. Authorisations: Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations as may be required in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the issue of the Offering Circular and this Supplemental Offering Circular. The establishment of the Programme have been duly authorised by a resolution of the Board of the Bank dated 27 October 2017 and the issue of the Notes has been duly authorised by the Bank's internal resolution. The Issuer has obtained and has agreed to obtain from time to time all necessary internal consents, approvals and authorisations for the issues of each Series of Notes under the Programme.
- 3. **No Material Adverse Change**: Except as disclosed in this Supplemental Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 30 June 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.
- 4. Auditors: PwC, the Bank's previous independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021 has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2021. KPMG, the Bank's independent auditor for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 has audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.
- 5. KPMG, the Bank's independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2023, has reviewed, and rendered unqualified review report on, the interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the six months ended 30 June 2024 in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity".

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021, which have been audited by PwC, in accordance with IFRS, please refer to the Original Offering Circular.

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022	
Independent Auditor's Report (1)	F-1
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	F-10
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-12
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-13
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-15
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-17
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-139
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023	
Independent Auditor's Report (2)	F-152
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	F-161
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-163
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-164
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-166
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-168
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-302
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the six months en 2024	ded 30 June
Report on review of interim financial information (3).	F-311
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Co	•
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-314
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-315
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	F-317
Notes to the Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	F-319
Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information	F-409
Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Information for the nine months ended 30 2024) September
	omprehensive F-424
Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	F-427
Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	E 420

Notes:

- The independent auditor's report on the Group's consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2022 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2022. Page references referred to in the abovenamed reports refer to pages set out in such annual report.
- (2) The independent auditor's report on the Group's consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2023 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's annual reports for the year ended 31 December 2023. Page references referred to in the abovenamed reports refer to pages set out in such annual report.
- The report on review of interim financial information on the Group's unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2024 set out herein is reproduced from the Group's interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024. Page references referred to in the above-named report refer to pages set out in such interim report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 171 to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("the Code"), together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group uses an expected credit loss ("ECL") model to measure the loss allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial instruments.

The determination of ECL allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees is subject to the application of a number of key parameters and assumptions, including the credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustment factors. Extensive management judgment is involved in the selection of those parameters and the application of the assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees included the following:

- with the assistance of KPMG's IT specialists, understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the credit approval, recording, monitoring, the credit risk staging, ECL model update and the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers. financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists, assessing the appropriateness of the ECL model used to determine the loss allowances and the appropriateness of the key parameters and assumptions in the model, which included credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustments, and assessing the appropriateness of related key management judgment.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The determination of the ECL allowance is heavily dependent on the external macro environment and the Group's internal credit risk management strategy. The ECL allowance for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments to corporates and financial guarantees are derived from estimates including historical losses, internal and external credit grading and other factors. The ECL allowance for personal loans and advances and credit related commitments to individuals are derived from estimates whereby management takes into consideration historical overdue data, historical loss experience and other factors.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters involving judgement, critically assessing input parameters by seeking evidence from external sources and comparing to the Group's internal records including historical loss experience and type of collateral. As part of these procedures, we inquired the reasons for management's revisions to estimates and input parameters, compared with prior period and considered the consistency of judgement.
- comparing the macroeconomic forward-looking information used in the model with market information to assess whether they were aligned with market and economic development.
- assessing the completeness and accuracy of key data used in the ECL model. For key internal data, we compared the total balance of the loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees used by management to assess the ECL allowance with the general ledger to check the completeness of the data. We also selected samples to compare information of individual loan and advance to customers, financial investment at amortised cost, credit related commitment and financial guarantee with the underlying agreements and other related documentation. In addition, we checked the accuracy of key external data used by management by comparing them with public sources.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Management also exercises judgement in determining the quantum of loss given default based on a range of factors. These include the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of any collaterals, and repayment sources of the borrower. Management refers to valuation reports of collaterals issued by qualified third party valuers and considers the impact of various factors including the market price, status and use when assessing the value of collaterals. The enforceability, timing and means of realisation of the collateral also have an impact on the recoverable amount of the collateral.

- for key parameters used in the ECL model which were derived from system-generated internal data, assessing the accuracy of input data by comparing the input data with original documents on a sample basis. In addition, we involved KPMG's IT specialists to assess the logics and compilation of the loans and advances' overdue information on a sample basis.
- evaluating the reasonableness of management's assessment on whether the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees has, or has not, increased significantly since initial recognition and whether the mentioned financial instruments are credit-impaired. We assessed the staging of corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees by industry sectors and used a risk-based approach to select samples in industries which are more vulnerable to the current economic situation and samples which met specific risk criteria. We checked overdue information, made enquiries of the client managers about the borrowers' business operations, inspected borrowers' financial information and researched about borrowers' businesses, to check the credit risk of the borrower, and the reasonableness of the risk stage.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5)(a) Financial instrument - Impairment, Note 2 (31)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Measurement of ECL", and "Note 21 Loans and advances to customers, Note 22 Financial investments, Note 33 (1) Other liabilities - expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 10 Credit impairment losses, Note 3 (1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

We identified the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees as a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and management judgment involved and because of its significance to the financial results and capital of the Group.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- evaluating the reasonableness of loss given default for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees. We selected samples to evaluate the recoverable amount by considering the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of collateral, and repayment sources of the borrower. Evaluating management's assessment based on the category, condition and use of the collateral. For valuation reports of collateral issued by qualified third party valuers, we evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraiser. We also evaluated the timing and means of realisation of collateral, evaluated the forecast cash flows, considered the viability of the Group's recovery plans.
- selecting samples and assessing the accuracy of the Group's calculation on the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial quarantees.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Consolidation assessment of structured entities

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (4)(c) Structured entities, Note 2 (31)(d) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Consolidation of structured entities", and "Note 44 Structured entities, Note 45 Unconsolidated structured entities" to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities.

The Group may acquire an ownership interest in a structured entity, through initiating, managing and/or investing in trust investment plans, asset management plans, funds, Wealth Management Products ("WMPs") and securitization products. The Group may also retain partial interests in derecognised assets due to guarantees or securitisation structures.

The Group is required to consider the power it possesses, its exposure to variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect returns to determine whether the Group retain any partial interests in a structured entity or should consolidate a structured entity. These factors are not purely quantitative and need to be considered collectively in the overall substance of the transactions.

We identified the recognition of interests in and consolidation of structured entities as a key audit matter because of the complex nature of certain of these structured entities and because of the judgement exercised by management in the qualitative assessment of the terms and the nature of each entity.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities included the following:

- assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities.
- selecting significant structured entities of each key product type and performing the following procedures:
 - inspecting the related contracts. establishment documents and information disclosed to the investors to understand the purpose of the establishment of the structured entity and the involvement the Group has with the structured entity and to assess management's judgement over whether the Group has the ability to exercise power over the structured entity;
 - inspecting the risk and reward structure of the structured entity, including any capital or return quarantee, provision of liquidity support, commission paid and distribution of the returns, to assess management's judgement as to the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the Group's involvement in such an entity;
 - inspecting management's analysis of the structured entity, including qualitative analysis and the calculation of the magnitude and variability associated with the Group's economic interests in the structured entity, to assess management's judgement over the Group's ability to affect its own returns from the structured entity;
 - assessing management's judgement over whether the structured entity should be consolidated or not.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2 (5) Financial instrument, Note 2 (31)(b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements - Fair value of financial instruments", and "Note 3 (4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

Convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, certain trusts and asset management plans, equity derivatives, etc, held by the Group, whose fair value are determined based on certain unobservable inputs, were classified by the Group as level 3 in fair value measurement.

Management determines the fair value of these financial assets using a variety of techniques. The valuation methods mainly include discounted cash flows and comparable company, involving various unobservable inputs such as objective company's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts, etc.

We identified valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 instruments' fair value as a key audit matter because of the amount of these financial assets are significant, and because of the degree of complexity involved in the valuation techniques and significant judgement is required to be exercised by management in determining the inputs used in the valuation models.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 included the following:

- understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the application of valuation models and front office and back office reconciliations for financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining an understanding of the valuation method used by management (including whether there is any change in the valuation method in this year) and assessing whether the valuation method selected is appropriate with reference to the prevailing accounting standards.

with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining inputs independently and assessing the reasonableness of the inputs applied by management by comparing the results of our own valuations with that of management.

assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in relation to financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 against prevailing accounting standards, including fair value hierarchy information, etc..

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL **STATEMENTS**

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
 in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
 control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Chan Siu Tung.

Certified Public Accountants

8 th Floor, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2023

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Interest income		418,122	377,646
Interest expense		(248,185)	(215,953)
Net interest income	4	169,937	161,693
Fee and commission income	5	49,339	52,285
Fee and commission expense	6	(4,700)	(4,712)
Net fee and commission income		44,639	47,573
Net gains arising from trading activities	7	17,607	23,344
Net gains arising from financial investments		494	1,311
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at			
amortised cost		64	46
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures		292	277
Insurance business income	8	18,100	16,515
Other operating income	9	22,459	19,035
Net operating income		273,528	269,748
Credit impairment losses	10	(60,411)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	11	(1,897)	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	12	(19,380)	(17,054)
Other operating expenses	13	(93,625)	(90,044)
Profit before tax		98,215	93,959
Income tax	16	(6,185)	(5,020)
Net profit for the year		92,030	88,939

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Other comprehensive income, net of tax			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(7,745) (669)	3,649 (870)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income		(555)	(0,0)
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		1,219 -	(394) -
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		2,004 (1,204)	891 (463)
Translation differences for foreign operations Others		8,562 136	(3,450)
Subtotal		2,303	(623)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Actuarial losses on pension benefits Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income		(34)	55 (1,555)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss Others		(133) (1)	(36)
Subtotal		(1,469)	(1,534)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	42	834	(2,157)
Total comprehensive income for the year		92,864	86,782
Net profit attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		92,149 (119) 92,030	87,581 1,358 88,939
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		92,607 257 92,864	85,696 1,086 86,782
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	17	1.14	1.10

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS ASSETS Cash and balences with central banks 18 806,102 734,728 Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions 19 690,627 632,708 Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions 19 690,687 39,220 Loans and advances to customers 21 7,136,677 6,412,201 Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 22 795,357 638,483 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 2,450,775 6,38,483 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 2,450,775 6,38,483 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 2,450,775 6,38,483 Financial insettlements at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 2,450,775 6,31,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 26 38,771 32,061 5,779 Investments in associates and joint ventures 26 38,771 32,061 6,062 Other sassets 27 92,635 111,665,767			As at	As at
Cash and balances with central banks 18 806,102 734,728 Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions 19 690,421 632,708 Debrivative financial assets 20 69,687 39,220 Loans and advances to customers 21 7,136,677 6,412,201 Financial investments at a flar value through profit or loss 22 795,357 63,839 Financial investments at flar value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Financial investments at flar value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 24 8,750 5,779 Property and equipiment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Total assets 12,92,419 11,665,757 Property and equipiment 25 19,941,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 27 92,635 111,617 Total assets 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial l		Note		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions 19 690,421 632,708	ASSETS			
Derivative financial assets 20 69,687 39,220 Loans and advances to customers 21 7,136,677 6,412,201 Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 22 705,357 638,483 Financial investments at amortised cost 22 2,450,775 2,203,037 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 29 43,994 1,947,768 Financial liabilities 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at a fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Pue to customers 30 7,949,072 7,099,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 820	Cash and balances with central banks	18	806,102	734,728
Loans and advances to customers 21 7,136,677 6,412,201 Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 22 705,357 638,483 Financial investments at a mortised cost 22 2,450,775 2,203,037 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 24 8,750 5,779 Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 27 92,635 114,665,757 Total assets 27 92,635 114,665,757 Total assets 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of depo	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	19	690,421	632,708
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 22 705,357 638,483 Financial investments at amortised cost 22 2,450,775 2,203,037 Financial investments at amortised cost 22 799,075 681,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 24 8,750 5,779 Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES ************************************	Derivative financial assets	20	69,687	39,220
Financial investments at amortised cost 22 2,450,775 2,203,037 Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 24 8,750 5,779 Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Total assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,66 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 32 50,861 503,525	Loans and advances to customers	21	7,136,677	6,412,201
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 799,075 681,729 Investments in associates and joint ventures 24 8,750 5,779 Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1 1 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Perivative financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Perivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred in	Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	22	705,357	638,483
Investments in associates and joint ventures	Financial investments at amortised cost	22	2,450,775	2,203,037
Property and equipment 25 194,169 171,194 Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 3 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 3 47,263 74,263 Other liabilities 34 74,263 <t< td=""><td>Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income</td><td>22</td><td>799,075</td><td>681,729</td></t<>	Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	22	799,075	681,729
Deferred income tax assets 26 38,771 32,061 Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 503,661 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 3 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 3 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 3 3 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 3	Investments in associates and joint ventures	24	8,750	5,779
Other assets 27 92,635 114,617 Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Currient income tax liabilities 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 34<	Property and equipment	25	194,169	171,194
Total assets 12,992,419 11,665,757 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 32 530,861 503,525 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deterred income tax liabilities 36 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 34 74,263 7	Deferred income tax assets	26	38,771	32,061
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES LIABILITIES LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 20 46,804 36,074 20 46,804 36,074 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	Other assets	27	92,635	114,617
LIABILITIES Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 505,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 34 111,429	Total assets		12,992,419	11,665,757
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions 28 2,034,894 1,947,768 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 34 74,263 74,263 Total liabilities 34	LIABILITIES AND EQUITY			
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 47,949 50,048 Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 32 530,861 503,525 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Derivative financial liabilities 20 46,804 36,074 Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY 5 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 34 111,429 111,428 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equit	·	28	2,034,894	1,947,768
Due to customers 30 7,949,072 7,039,777 Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 34 74,263 74,263 Total requity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 </td <td><u> </u></td> <td></td> <td>47,949</td> <td></td>	<u> </u>		47,949	
Certificates of deposits issued 31 1,092,366 892,020 Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165	Derivative financial liabilities		46,804	
Current income tax liabilities 3,937 4,725 Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,458 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589				
Debt securities issued 32 530,861 503,525 Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236 <td></td> <td>31</td> <td>1,092,366</td> <td>892,020</td>		31	1,092,366	892,020
Deferred income tax liabilities 26 1,786 1,889 Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY *** *** 74,263 74,263 Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236				4,725
Other liabilities 33 249,010 212,695 Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236				503,525
Total liabilities 11,956,679 10,688,521 EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236				
EQUITY Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Other liabilities	33	249,010	212,695
Share capital 34 74,263 74,263 Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Total liabilities		11,956,679	10,688,521
Other equity instruments 35 174,790 174,790 Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	EQUITY			
Including: Preference shares 44,952 44,952 Perpetual bonds 129,838 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	·			
Perpetual bonds 129,838 Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Other equity instruments	35	174,790	174,790
Capital surplus 34 111,429 111,428 Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Other reserves 36 369,259 346,092 Retained earnings 36 293,668 258,074 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 1,023,409 964,647 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares 8,873 9,424 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments 3,458 3,165 Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Perpetual bonds		129,838	129,838
Retained earnings36293,668258,074Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company1,023,409964,647Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares8,8739,424Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments3,4583,165Non-controlling interests3812,33112,589Total equity1,035,740977,236	Capital surplus	34	111,429	111,428
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company1,023,409964,647Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares8,8739,424Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments3,4583,165Non-controlling interests3812,33112,589Total equity1,035,740977,236	Other reserves	36	369,259	346,092
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares8,8739,424Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments3,4583,165Non-controlling interests3812,33112,589Total equity1,035,740977,236	Retained earnings	36	293,668	258,074
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments3,4583,165Non-controlling interests3812,33112,589Total equity1,035,740977,236	Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		1,023,409	964,647
Non-controlling interests 38 12,331 12,589 Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		8,873	9,424
Total equity 1,035,740 977,236	Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments		3,458	3,165
	Non-controlling interests	38	12,331	12,589
Total equity and liabilities 12,992,419 11,665,757	Total equity		1,035,740	977,236
	Total equity and liabilities		12,992,419	11,665,757

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi

Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

						edni	ity attributable to	shareholders of th	equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company									
		Other equity instruments	struments						Other reserves						A	Attributable to non- controlling	1- controlling	
				•				Revaluation reserve and impairment for	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial	Effective portion of					I			
						Discretionary	Statutory	financial assets at fair value through other	liabilities designated at fair value	losses on hedging instruments	Translation differences	Actuarial			Attributable to the shareholders	Non- controlling interests	Non- controlling interests of	
	Share capital Note 34	Preference Share Note 35	Perpetual bonds Note 35	Capital surplus Note 34	Statutory reserve Note 36	surplus reserve Note 36	general reserve Note 36	comprehensive	=	in cash flow hedges	for foreign operations	changes	Others	Retained earnings Notes 36,37	of the parent company	of ordinary shares	other equity instruments Note 35	Total
As at 1 January 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,428	796'62	140,022	130,280	1,531	(24)	(104)	(6,884)	(87)	1,391	258,074	964,647	9,424	3,165	977,236
income income	1	•	•	•	•	•	•	(8,355)	(133)	797	8,048	(34)	135	92,149	92,607	(155)	412	92,864
Ordinary shares	•	1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	1	(26,363)	(26,363)	(396)	•	(26,759)
Dividends paid to preference shares Interest raid to	1	•	•	•	•	1	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	(1,832)	(1,832)	1	1	(1,832)
perpetual bond holders	•	•	1	1	1	•	1	,		1	•	•	•	(5,651)	(5,651)	•	•	(5,651)
non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1																		
capital securities holders					- 8187	1 091	14.261	1 1						- (9.2 608)			(119)	(119)
Transfer of other comprehensive income to retained																		
earrings		1 1		٠ -			1 1	101					1 1	(101)	٠ -	1 1		1 +
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,723)	(157)	693	1,164	(121)	1,526	293,668	1,023,409	8,873	3,458	1,035,740

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated) For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to non-controlling	Attributable to the Non-controlling Non-controlling Aduarial shareholders interests of	Retained of the parent of ordinary Others earnings company shares Notes 36,37	(142) 1,375 214,448 886,607 8,763 3,258 878,628	55 16 87,581 85,696 1,057 29 86,782	000 FF	1 488	(23,541) (396) - (23,837)	(1,755)	(3,858) (3,858)		(122) (123)		1 99	87) 1,391 258,074 964,647 9,424 3,165 977,236
		2				1	- (23,541)	- (1,755)			1			
	Addraria			55		1	ı	1	ı		ı	1		
	Translation	for foreign operations	(8,517)	(8,367)		1	ı	1	ı		1	ı	1	(6,884)
	Effective portrion of gains or losses on hedging instruments	in cash flow hedges	(232)	428		1	I	1	1		1	ı	1	(104)
equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial the financial labilities designated at fair value	-	12	(36)							1	1	1	(24)
le to shareholders of	Revaluation reserve and impairment for financial assets at fair value through other	Ü	3 456	- 1,019			1	,	'		1		- 55	0 1,531
equity attributab		ary Statutory rve general reserve 36 Note 36	90 123,163	1			1	1	ı		ı	92 7,117	1	22 130,280
		Statutory Discretionary reserve surplus reserve Note 36 Note 36	72,431 139,930	ı		1	1	1			ı	7,536	1	79,967 140,022
		Stat Capital surplus res Note 34 Not	111,428 72	ı		ı	1	ı	ı		ı	_	1	111,428 79
fruments		Perpetual bonds Cap Note 35	88,340		90	488 884-	1	1	1		ı	1	1	129,838
Other equity instruments		Preference Share Note 35	44,952	1		1	1	ı	ı		ı	ı	1	44,952
	'	Share capital Note 34	74,263	1		1	1	1	ı		1	ı	1	74,263
			As at 1 January 2021 Total commensive	income	Capital contribution to holders of other	equity instruments Dividends paid to	ordinary shareholders Dividends paid	to preference shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	Interest paid to non-ounulative subordinated additional tier-1	capital securiles holders	Transferred to reserves Transfer of other	comprehensive income to retained earnings	As at 31 December 2021

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Note	2022	2021
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit before tax:	98,215	93,959
Adjustments for:		
Provision for impairment losses	60,411	66,371
Provision for other assets impairment losses	1,897	2,320
Provision for insurance contracts reserve	13,457	15,518
Depreciation and amortisation	16,150	14,839
Provision/(reversal) for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation	56	(199)
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	(739)	(454)
Interest income from financial investments	(97,311)	(88,262)
Fair value net losses/(gains)	4,171	(1,474)
Net gains on investments in associates and joint ventures	(292)	(277)
Net gains on financial investments	(494)	(1,311)
Interest expense on debt securities issued	15,807	16,341
Interest expense on lease liabilities	179	176
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities	111,507	117,547
Net (increase)/decrease in balances with central banks	(57,272)	14,515
Net decrease/(increase) in due from and placements with banks and other		
financial institutions	6,251	(106,359)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(740,988)	(776,234)
Net increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	(86,355)	(128,020)
Net increase in other assets	(11,755)	(23,469)
Net increase in due to and placements from banks and other financial		
institutions	78,740	161,477
Net (decrease)/increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or		
loss	(5,357)	2,317
Net increase in due to customers and certificates of deposits issued	1,012,585	674,635
Net increase in other liabilities	73,605	35,329
Net (decrease)/increase in value-added tax and other taxes payable	(829)	1,431
Income tax paid	(11,911)	(7,944)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities	368,221	(34,775)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2022	2021
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries, associated ventures and joint			
ventures		(2,780)	(869)
Cash payments for financial investments		(1,232,873)	(895,518)
Cash received on disposal or redemption of financial investments		879,650	750,323
Dividends received		870	734
Interest received from financial investments		94,863	88,760
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(2,094)	(2,467)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets		11	507
Acquisition of property, equipment		(29,561)	(20,480)
Cash received from disposal of property, equipment		7,017	3,462
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(284,897)	(75,548)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issue of other equity instruments		-	41,498
Proceeds from issue of debt securities		182,492	96,121
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(163,432)	(88,834)
Payment of interest on debt securities		(15,384)	(15,350)
Repayment of principal and interest of lease liabilities		(2,581)	(2,413)
Dividends paid		(33,555)	(29,152)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		(515)	(564)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities		(32,975)	1,306
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		4,146	(3,795)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		54,495	(112,812)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		194,308	307,120
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	43	248,803	194,308
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		323,377	291,450
Interest paid		(201,693)	(185,593)

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank, headquartered in Shanghai, which was reorganized on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The Bank possesses the Finance Permit No. B0005H131000001 issued by the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the "CBIRC") of the PRC with the registration number of 9131000010000595XD.

The Bank's A Shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and H Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with the stock codes of 601328 and 03328 respectively.

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB") and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2 (3) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and investment property which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2 (31).

The financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest million, which is the functional currency of the Group.

Changes in accounting policies

Standards and amendments effective in 2022 relevant to and adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following amendments to the IFRSs issued by the IASB that are first effective for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3)Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments effective in 2022 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

		Notes
Amendments to IFRS 3	Reference to the Conceptual Framework	(i)
Amendments to IAS 37	Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 16	Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use	(iii)
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41	Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020	(iv)

Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments have updated IFRS 3 Business combinations, to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, and added an exception to the requirement to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework to determinate what constitutes an asset or a liability in a business combination. The exception relates to liabilities and contingent liabilities that would have been within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21. The Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not recognise contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the acquisition date.

Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify the meaning of 'costs to fulfil a contract' for the purposes of assessing whether a contract is onerous. In particular, the amendments explain that such costs comprise the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts. The amendments also clarify that, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, an entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than merely on assets dedicated to that contract.

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. The amendments also clarify that an entity is 'testing whether the asset is functioning properly' when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset, and that the financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment.

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41: Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41: Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020, which provides an optional relief for the measurement of cumulative translation differences to certain first-time adopters, clarifies the types of fees to be included when assessing the derecognition of financial liability, amends an illustrative example accompanying IFRS 16, 'Leases', and removes the requirement to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring fair value.

The adoption of these standards and amendments does not have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022

The Group has not adopted the following new standards and amendments that have been issued by the IASB but are not vet effective.

Effective for annual

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3)Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022 (Continued)

		periods beginning on or after	Notes
IFRS 17	Insurance Contracts	1 January 2023	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	1 January 2023	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 8	Definition of Accounting Estimates	1 January 2023	(iii)
Amendments to IAS 12	Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction	1 January 2023	(iv)
Amendments to IFRS 16	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	1 January 2024	(v)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2020)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2024	(vi)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2022)	Non-current Liabilities with Covenants	1 January 2024	(vi)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	The effective date has now been deferred indefinitely	(vii)

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Amendments to IFRS 17 were issued in June 2020 and December 2021 to address stakeholder concerns and implementation challenges. IFRS 17 sets out a single principle-based standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts in the financial statements of the issuers of those contracts.

IFRS 17 should be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, and the amendments should be applied at the same time. The Group will adopt IFRS 17 from 1 January 2023. The Group will change its accounting policies from the beginning of 2023 and disclose its financial statements in accordance with IFRS 17 and its amendments since the first quarterly report of 2023. Based on a preliminary assessment, the Group anticipates that the adoption of IFRS 17 and its amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments clarify that an entity will be required to disclose its "material" accounting policy information as opposed to "significant" accounting policies and provide additional guidance on how to identify material accounting policy information. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide additional guidance and examples to explain and illustrate the application of the "four-step materiality process" to accounting policy information.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments now define "accounting estimates" as "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty" and remove the definition of "a change in accounting estimate". The amendments also clarify that the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates unless they result from the correction of prior period errors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective and have not been adopted before their effective dates in 2022 (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction The amendments specify how entities should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition. As a result, entities will need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add to the requirements explaining how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains, including cases with variable lease payments in the leaseback.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (vi) The amendments to IAS 1 (2020) concern the requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-current. In particular, the amendments specify the condition of an entity to classify a liability as non-current requires that a right to defer settlement must exist at the end of the reporting period and have substance, and clarify that classification is unaffected by management's intentions or expectations about whether the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.

The amendments also specify the classification of liabilities that will or may be settled by issuing an entity's own equity instruments. When a liability includes a counterparty conversion option that involves a transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, the classification of such liability is not affected only when the conversion option is recognised separately from the host liability as an equity component under IAS 32.

The amendments to IAS 1 (2022) specify that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current. Covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting date (i. e. future covenants) do not affect a liability's classification at that date. However, an entity is required to disclose information regarding the risk that the non-current liabilities subject to future covenants could become repayable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 amendments defer the effective date of the 2020 amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. If an entity applies one of these two amendments for an earlier period, the other amendments should also be applied for that period.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Its Associate or Joint (vii)

The amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.

Except for the above-mentioned impact of IFRS 17 and its amendments, the adoption of the above new standards and amendments issued but not yet effective is not expected to have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial information.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are not consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combinations is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisitiondate fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests (b)

For acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Loses control of a subsidiary due to the disposal of a portion of an equity investment, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive are reclassified to profit or loss and retained earning.

Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entities, for example when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, and key activities are directed by contractual agreement. Structured entities often have restricted activities and a narrow and well-defined objective. Examples of structured entities include investment funds, trusts, securitisation vehicles and asset backed financings. Involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in Note 44 and 45.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(d) Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement through a separate entity, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal form, contract terms, and other facts and circumstances. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an activity, and exists only when the decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

The results of an associate or a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is an indication of possible impairment with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested as a single asset for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of sale) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate or joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit ("CGU") or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group performs an impairment test on goodwill at least once a year.

On disposal of the related CGU or group of CGUs, any attributable amount of goodwill net of allowances for impairment losses, if any, is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss for the period. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss for the period when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Group recognises the difference as follows:

- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i. e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.
- In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

The method of determining fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement date. For financial instruments with active markets, the Group uses quotations from active markets to determine their fair value, and for financial instruments where there is no active market, the Group uses valuation techniques to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques include references to prices used in recent market transactions by parties familiar with the situation and voluntary transactions, the current fair value of other financial instruments with reference to the same substantially, the discounted cash flow method and the option pricing model.

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i. e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired ('POCI') financial assets – assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition – the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
- Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- The Group's business model for managing the asset; and
- The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. According to the business category, these financial assets are presented as 'Cash and balances with central banks', 'Due from banks and other financial institutions', 'Loans and advances to customers' and 'Financial investments at amortised cost' respectively. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. According to the business category, respectively, these financial assets are presented as 'Loans to customers' and 'Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income'. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net gains arising from financial investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on the debt investment, which is measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and presented as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5)Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e. g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i. e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

When, and only when, the Group changes the business model for managing its financial assets, shall it reclassify all affected financial assets, and apply the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the Group reclassifying financial assets.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective (refer to Note 2 (5)(b)); that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, listed as 'Financial investments at FVPL'. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to sell. When this election is used, fair value gains or losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 'Net gains arising from financial investments' when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on equity investments at FVPL are recognised as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group assesses the expected credit losses ('ECL') of debt instrument assets at amortised cost and FVOCI, exposures arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantees. The Group recognises a loss allowance accordingly at each reporting date.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value, discounted at effective interest rate or the credit-adjusted effective interest rate on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, of all cash shortfalls (i. e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The Group's method of measuring ECLs of financial instruments reflects the following elements: (i) unbiased weighted average probability determined by the results of evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) time value of money; (iii) reasonable and evidence-based information about past events, current conditions, and future economic forecasts that are available at no additional cost or effort at the end of the reporting period.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the balance sheet date.

Except for trade receivables and contract assets, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments.

- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet date;
- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group classifies financial instruments into three stages and makes provisions for expected credit losses accordingly, depending on whether credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, whether a financial instrument is credit-impaired.

The definition of financial instruments three stages as follows:

- Stage 1: Financial instruments without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For these assets, expected credit losses are recognised for the following 12 months.
- Stage 2: For financial instruments with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime if there is no objective evidence of impairment.
- Stage 3: For financial assets with objective evidence of impairment as at the balance sheet date, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime.

Financial instruments that have low credit risk

The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low if the financial instrument has a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) a significant increase in credit risk is determined when internal and external rating during the reporting period is below the Group's credit acceptance standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the financial instruments' credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for debt investments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group recognises loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at FVTPL in contingent liabilities. (See Note 33 (1)).

Write-off

The book value of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
- Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the Group applies continuing involvement approach. Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors. The Group holds part or all of the subordinated tranche notes, which are not transferrable before both the principals and interests of the senior transhe notes are repaid. The Group serves as the asset management supplier, providing services including loan collection for the investment pool, keeping accounting records related to the investment pool and issuing reports as the service agency. The assets under securitisation are used to repay the principals and interests of the senior tranche notes first after deducting related taxation and expenses, and the remaining assets under securitisation are repaid to the Group and subordinated tranche notes investors. The Group derecognises the transferred assets in full or in part based on the extent of the risks and rewards retained over.

The Group evaluates the extent to which it transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to the other party and determines whether it retains control while applying the accounting policy in respect of asset securitisation.

- The financial asset is derecognised when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- The financial asset continues to be recognised when the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and does not retain control it derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and retains control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. The Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e. g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial asset did not gualify for derecognition, a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; when continuing involvement approach applies, see note 2 (5)(a); and
- Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (refer to Note 2 (28)).

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i. e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is more than 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (i) and (ii) below are met:

- The financial instrument includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; and
- If the financial instrument will or may be settled in the Group's own equity instruments, it is a non-derivative instrument that includes no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments; or a derivative that will be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the fair value of proceeds received, net of direct issuance expenses.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid (combined) instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

- The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;
- A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative; and
- The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated or qualified as hedging instruments, including those intended to provide effective economic hedges of specific interest rate and foreign exchange risks, but do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognised in "Net trading gains" in the income statement.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment of hedging effectiveness both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, that is, the extent to which changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedge instrument can offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items resulting from the hedge risk.

The hedging relationship should meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. That means the hedging instrument and hedged item have values that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk.
- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

- Increase or decrease in the amounts of hedged items or hedging instruments;
- Significant changes in counterparties' credit risk.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised (the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument does not constitute an expiration or termination), or the hedging relationship ceases to meet the risk management objective, or to meet other qualifying criteria for hedging accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

(i) Fair value hedge

Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses over the period to maturity and recorded as net interest income.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

Cash flow hedge

Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and gualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the statement of profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability at the same time, the financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Otherwise, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Interest income and expense

The "Interest income" and "Interest expense" in the Group's income statement are the interest income and expense calculated by using the effective interest method on debt investment at amortised cost, debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at amortised cost, etc.

For those purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. For those financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have become credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

(7) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised when the Group fulfills its performance obligation, either over time or at a point in time when a customer obtains control of the service.

For the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue when control is passed to the customer at a certain point in time. For the performance obligations satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue according to the progress toward satisfaction of the obligation over the time.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9) Assets transferred under repurchase agreements

(a) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date at a fixed or determinable price are not derecognised in the statement of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are presented under "due to banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the selling price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(b) Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific future date are not recognised in the statement of financial position. The cost of purchasing such assets is presented under "due from banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(10) Precious metals

Precious metals that are not related to the Group's trading activities are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Precious metals that are related to the Group's trading activities are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from re-measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(11) Property and equipment

The Group's property and equipment mainly comprise buildings, construction in progress, equipment and transportation equipment

The assets purchased or constructed are initially measured at acquisition cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the property and equipment are included in the cost of the property and equipment if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting date.

Buildings comprise primarily office premises. The estimated useful lives, depreciation rate and estimated residual value rate of buildings, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement are as follows:

	Estimated Useful	Estimated net	Annual
Type of assets	lives	Residual value	depreciation rate
Buildings	25 - 50 years	3%	1.94% - 3.88%
Equipment	3 - 11 years	3%	8.82% - 32.33%
Transportation equipment (excluding equipment under operating	4 - 8 years	3%	12.13% - 24.25%
leases)			

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(11) Property and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a property and equipment when it is ready for intended use.

Equipment under operating leases where the Group is the lessor is aircraft or vessel. The estimated useful lives and depreciation rate of the aircraft or vessel are determined considering their conditions and the estimated residual values are determined by external appraiser using historical data on an item-by-item basis. The estimated useful lives range from 5 to 25 years.

(12) Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, and foreclosed non-financial assets are initially recognised at cost. At the end of each reporting period, foreclosed non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the net realisable value. When the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment allowance is recognised.

When a foreclosed asset is disposed, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group disposes of foreclosed assets through various means. In principle, foreclosed assets should not be transferred for own use, but, in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business or management purposes, they are transferred at their net carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and equipment.

When a foreclosed asset needs to be transferred for own use, it is transferred at its carrying amount including the impairment allowance at the transition day.

Foreclosed assets of the Group mainly include buildings and land use rights.

(13) Land use rights

Land use rights are classified as other assets and amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term.

(14) Intangible assets

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is available for use, its original cost is amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised.

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when necessary.

An intangible asset is derecongnised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecongnised.

(15) Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both and initially measured at cost.

As there is an active property market in the location in which the Group's investment property is situated, and the Group can obtain the market price and other relevant information regarding the same or similar type of property from the property market so as to reasonably estimate the fair value of the investment property; therefore, the Group uses the fair value model for subsequent measurement of the investment property, with changes in the fair value included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(15) Investment property (Continued)

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognises the amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss for the period.

(16) Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the impairment of deferred tax assets and financial assets, with the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any indication that an asset may be impaired exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired and it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the CGU to which the asset belongs.

CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets, and the cash inflows generated by a CGU are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU, group of CGUs) is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the expected future cash flows. The Group considers all relevant factors in estimating the present value of future cash flows, such as the expected future cash flows, the useful life and the discount rate.

(a) Testing CGU with goodwill for impairment

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by the Group at least annually, or whenever there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs are impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs are the estimated future cash flows, which are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU or group of CGUs with allocated goodwill.

At the time of impairment testing of a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, there may be an indication of an impairment of an asset within the CGU containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the asset for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that asset before testing for impairment on the CGU or group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Similarly, there may be an indication of an impairment of a CGU within a group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the CGU for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that CGU, before testing for impairment the group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.

(b) Impairment loss

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is recognised as an impairment loss and charged to the profit or loss.

For a CGU or a group of CGUs, the amount of impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, and then reduces the carrying amount of other assets (other than goodwill) within the CGU or group of CGUs, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(16) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(c) Reversing an impairment loss

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss of the non-financial asset except for goodwill decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss. A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(17) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, the customer has both of the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

The Group as Lessee

The Group recognises the right-of-use asset on the start date of the lease term and recognises the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made when it is reasonably determined to exercise purchase option or terminate lease option. Variable rent determined based on a certain proportion of sales is not included in the lease payments and is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's right-of-use assets include leased properties, venues, parking lots, advertising spaces, vehicles and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, the lease payments already paid on or before the lease start date, the initial direct costs etc., and deducts any lease incentives received. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life if the Group could reasonably determine to obtain the ownership at the expiration of the lease term; if it is unsure whether the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained at the expiration of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the recoverable value is lower than the book value of the right-of-use asset, the Group reduces the book value to the recoverable value.

For short-term leases with a lease term shorter than 12 months and leases of asset with low value when it is new, the Group recognises relevant rental expenses on a straight-line basis in profit or loss or in the related asset costs in each lease period rather than recognising the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate lease if both: (a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and (b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification, the Group remeasures the lease term and the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset for lease modifications that decrease the scope or term of the lease, and recognised the gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss. The Group makes a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(17) Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as Lessor

Operating Lease

When the Group leases out its own buildings and properties, equipment and transportation vehicles, the rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable rent gained by the Group is recognised in rental income when incurred.

Finance Lease

As lessor of the finance lease, the Group recognises the finance lease receivables for the finance lease on the commencement date of the lease period and derecognises the related assets. Finance lease receivables are recognised at the net lease investment to "Loans and advances to customers" for the initial measurement. The net lease investment is the sum of the unsecured residual value and the present value of the lease payments unreceived at the commencement date of the lease period discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

Finance lease receivables are derecognised when the contractual rights of receiving cash from the finance lease receivables have expired or have been transferred and all substantial risks and rewards regarding the lease have been transferred.

During the lease period, the lessor applies the fixed periodic interest rate to calculate the interest income for each period. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(18) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase under balances with central banks, due from banks and other financial institutions.

(19) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the provision.

(20) Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

(a) Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(20) Income taxes (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(21) Share capital

(a) Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares issued.

(b) Share issue costs

External costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(22) Dividend distribution

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the period in which they are declared and approved by the Bank's shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(22) Dividend distribution (Continued)

Dividends on preference shares

Preference share dividend distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(c) Distribution on perpetual bonds

Perpetual bond interest distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the interest distribution approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(23) Acceptances

Acceptances comprise the Group's commitments on payment for bills that are issued to customers. Acceptances are accounted for as credit related commitments and financial guarantees and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments.

(24) Staff costs and benefits

(a) Staff costs

Staff costs include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds, labor union fees as well as staff education expenses and housing allowance. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the staff costs payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

The Group participates in the employee social security systems established by the government, including medical insurance, housing funds and other social securities, in accordance with relevant requirements. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Post-employment benefits

The Group divides post-employment benefit plans into defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions. Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. During the reporting period, post-employment benefits for the employees of the Group mainly include payment to basic retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, annuity plan and supplementary retirement benefits.

Basic retirement insurance

Employees of the Group have joined basic retirement insurance arranged by local ministry of labour and social security. The Group makes monthly contributions to the retirement insurance according to the base and proportion set by local government. When employees retire, local ministry of labour and social security is responsible for the payment of the basic pension to the retired employees. Such basic retirement insurance is a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the amounts payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

Annuity plan

Employees of domestic branches who retire at or after 1 January 2009 participate in the annuity plan established by the Group. The Group contributes a certain portion of employees' gross salaries to the annuity plan. Such annuity plan is a defined benefit plan. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(24) Staff costs and benefits (Continued)

(b) Post-employment benefits (Continued)

Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees of domestic branches who retired at or before 31 December 2008. Such supplementary retirement benefits are defined benefit plans. The Group accrues a liability based on actuarial techniques and recognises all actuarial gains or losses in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains or losses will not be reversed to profit or loss subsequently. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability and recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(c) Early retirement expenses

The Group pays the welfare benefits for employees, who have not yet reached the statutory retirement age limit and are approved by the Group to voluntarily retire from their employment, from the early retirement date to the statutory retirement age limit. These welfare benefits are recognised in profit or loss based on the discounted cash flow calculation over the implementation period. The Group reviews present value of the welfare benefits on each reporting date, with any changes recognised in profit or loss.

(25) Foreign currency translation

Renminbi ("RMB") is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as their functional currency. The Bank and the Group's foreign subsidiaries choose their respective functional currencies on the basis of the primary economic environment in which they operate. The Group adopts RMB to prepare its consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i. e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date and those on initial recognition or at the previous reporting date are recognised in profit or loss for the period, except that (i) exchange differences related to hedging instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign exchange risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (ii) exchange differences arising from non-monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as shares) denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the carrying amounts (other than the amortised cost) of monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised as other comprehensive income; and (iii) exchange differences arising on a foreign currency monetary item that forms part of the Bank's net investment in a foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions or a rate that approximates the spot exchange rates of the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(25) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or upon a loss of control over a foreign operation due to disposal of certain interest in it or other reasons, the Group transfers the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of this foreign operation and foreign currency monetary items that form part of the net investment in such foreign operation attributable to the owners' equity of the Group and presented under shareholder's equity in the statement of financial position, to profit or loss in the period in which the disposal occurs.

In case of a disposal or other reason that does not result in the Group losing control over a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit and loss. For partial disposals of equity interests in foreign operations which are associates and joint ventures, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of foreign operations is reclassified to profit or loss.

(26) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable and can be reliably estimated, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(27) Insurance contracts

(a) Insurance contracts classification and division

Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Group has undertaken significant insurance risk, relative to an insured event or occurrence. The Group issues primarily life insurance contracts, which insure events associated with mortality over a long duration. The Group also issues non-life insurance contracts, which cover short-term casualty and health insurance risk. When necessary, the Group enters into reinsurance contracts to transfer insurance risks to a reinsurer. A significant insurance risk test is performed at inception of the insurance contracts.

Under the contract the insurer signed with the policyholder, the insurer may undertake insurance risk or other risks, or both insurance risk and other risks.

Where the Group undertakes both the insurance risk and other risks, and the insurance risk and other risks can be distinguished and separately measured, the insurance risk shall be separately accounted for as insurance contracts while the other risks shall be accounted for as either investment contracts or service contracts. Where the insurance risk and other risks cannot be distinguished from each other, or can be distinguished but cannot be separately measured, significant insurance risk test shall be performed at the contract's initial recognition date. If the insurance risk is significant, the contract is classified as an insurance contract; otherwise, it is classified as an investment contract or service contract.

(b) Insurance income recognition

Insurance premium income is recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

- (i) The insurance contract is issued, and related insurance risk is undertaken by the Group;
- (ii) The related economic benefits are likely to flow to the Group; and
- (iii) Related income can be reliably measured.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(27) Insurance contracts (Continued)

(b) Insurance income recognition (Continued)

Premiums from long-term life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when due from policyholders. Premiums related to short-term non-life insurance contracts are recognised when received at the inception of the policy, as unearned insurance premiums in the consolidated statement of financial position, and are amortised on a straight-line basis into the consolidated income statement over the term of the policy. When the Group has transferred insurance risk through reinsurance contracts, the Group calculates the amount of premium ceded and the reinsurers' share of expenses and recognises them through the consolidated income statement in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contracts.

(c) Insurance contract reserves

Insurance contract liabilities are measured based on a reasonable estimate of the amount of payments that the Group will be required to make to fulfil its obligations under the insurance contracts, which represents the difference between expected future cash outflows and inflows related to such contracts. A reasonable estimate of expected future net cash flows is determined based on information currently available as at the end of the reporting period. The Group has considered the impact of time value in the liability calculation for long-term life insurance.

The Group performs liability adequacy tests based on information currently available, as at the reporting date. Additional insurance contract liabilities should be recorded if any deficiency exists.

(28) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of guarantee fees, and the best estimate of the expected credit loss provision required to settle the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

The impairment allowance of loan commitments provided by the Group is measured by ECL. The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For credit related commitments and financial guarantees, the loss allowance is recognised as an provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group can not separately identify the ECL on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECL on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined ECL exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the ECL are recognised as a provision.

(29) Fiduciary activities

In activities where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as trustee, custodian or agent, the assets and income arising from the transaction together with the related undertakings to return the assets to customers are excluded from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group conducts entrusted lending for the third-party lenders. The Group grants loans to borrowers, as trustee, according to the instruction of the third-party lenders who fund these loans. The Group is responsible for the arrangement and collection of the entrusted loans and receives a commission for the services rendered. As the Group does not assume the risks and rewards of the entrusted loans and does not provide funding for the corresponding entrusted funds, the entrusted loans are not recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(30) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors and the senior management team represented by the governor as its chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group with all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) that component can earn revenues and incur expenses from ordinary activities; (ii) the component's operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (iii) discrete financial information for the component is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic characteristics, and certain conditions are satisfied, they may be aggregated into a single operating segment. Intra-segment income and expenses are eliminated. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are considered in determining segment performance.

The Group has the following segments: Head Office, Yangtze River Delta, Central China, Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Pearl River Delta, Western China, Northeastern China and Overseas.

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance require the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

(a) Measurement of ECL

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and credit related commitments and financial guarantees, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e. g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Note 3(1) specifies the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques used in the measurement of expected credit loss and also discloses the sensitivity of expected credit losses to changes in these factors.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;
- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings;
- Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3(1).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm's length transactions, observable prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted interest rates, and commonly used market pricing models. To the extent practical, models use observable data such as interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option volatilities, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty's), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market observable data. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation techniques including review of valuation model assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumptions, the quality of market data, whether markets are active or inactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approval processes. Valuation techniques are validated and periodically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at the financial reporting date.

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax various jurisdictions; principally, in Mainland China and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC. There are certain transactions and activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group has made estimates for application of tax legislation and items of uncertainty taking into account existing tax legislation and past practice. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax in the period during which such a determination is made.

(d) Consolidation of structured entities

Where the Group acts as asset manager of or investor in structured entities, the Group makes significant judgement on whether the Group controls and should consolidate these structured entities. When performing this assessment, the Group assesses the Group's contractual rights and obligations in light of the transaction structures, and evaluates the Group's power over the structured entities, performs analysis and tests on the variable returns from the structured entities, including but not limited to commission income and asset management fees earned as the asset manager, the retention of residual income, and, if any, the liquidity and other support provided to the structured entities. The Group also assesses whether it acts as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which it is entitled for asset management services, the Group's exposure to variability of returns from its other interests in the structured entities, and the rights held by other parties in the structured entities.

(e) Derecognition of financial assets

In judging whether the transaction in which a loan transfer through packaging and asset securitisation is consistent with the termination confirmation of a financial asset, the Group needs to assess whether the Group meets the criteria for the transfer of financial assets and whether almost all risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan are transferred. If there is neither a transfer nor a retention of almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the transferred loan, the Group will further assess whether control over the transferred loan has been retained. In assessing and judging, the Group has taken into account a wide range of factors, such as whether trading arrangements are accompanied by repurchase clauses. The Group sets situational assumptions and uses the future cash flow discount model for risk and compensation transfer testing. The Group derecognised the loan only if the loan has been transferred and almost all risks and benefits in ownership have been transferred to another subject. If the Group retains almost all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred loan, it shall continue to confirm the loan and at the same time recognise the proceeds received as a financial liability. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained almost all of the risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan and has not waived its control over the loan, the financial assets concerned are recognised to the extent that the loan continues to be involved and the relevant liability is recognised accordingly.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(31) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are periodically reviewed for impairment by the Group and where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the asset's expected future cash flow.

Fair value is usually based on market prices, and the management obtains it from professional appraisal agencies. Disposal costs include legal fees and taxes related to the asset disposal. When estimating the present value of the expected future cash flow of fixed assets leased out by the subsidiary, the management takes the rental amount agreed in the lease contract and the value of the assets at the end of the lease term as the basis for estimating future cash flows, and determines an appropriate discount rate for the calculation of the present value of future cash flows in various scenarios.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Group is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

(a) Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Corporate Business Department, Inclusive Finance Department, Retail Credit Business Department, Pacific Credit Card Centre, International Banking Department, Credit Management Department, Credit Authorisation Department, Risk Management Department/Internal Control and Crime Prevention Office, Asset Preservation Department, Financial institution Department and Financial Market Department. They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(i) Loans and advances to customers

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more guidance on credit investment, formulate guidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of post-loan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk filtering, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal, etc.

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and pre-warning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating business management system and combining relevant system function control, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various monitoring and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through customer classification and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(ii) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The investment in those debts and bills is to have better credit quality assets while maintaining readily available liquidity resource. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued) (a)

Treasury business (Continued)

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and WMPs set up by banking financial institutions. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right, ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and issuers of inter-bank WMPs, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i. e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i. e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market fluctuations. Collateral or other security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except when the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

Credit-related commitments (iii)

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

Credit risk quality

In accordance with the Guideline for Loan Credit Risk Classification issued by the CBIRC, the Group measures and manages the quality of corporate and personal loans and advances by classifying loans into the following five categories: normal, special-mention, substandard, doubtful and loss, of which substandard, doubtful and loss loans are regarded as nonperforming loans.

The five categories of loan classification into which the Group classifies its loans and advances to customers are set out below:

Normal: Borrowers can honour the terms of their loans. There is no reason to doubt their ability to repay principal

and interest in full on a timely basis.

Special-mention: Borrowers are able to service their loans currently, although repayment may be adversely affected by

specific factors.

Substandard: Borrowers' ability to service their loans is in question and they cannot rely entirely on normal operating

revenues to repay principal and interest. Losses may ensue even when collaterals or guarantees are

invoked.

Borrowers cannot repay principal and interest in full and significant losses will need to be recognised Doubtful:

even when collaterals or guarantees are invoked.

Only a small portion or none of the principal and interest can be recovered after taking all possible Loss:

measures and exhausting all legal remedies.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL. Definition of above stages see Notes 2(5)(a).

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-onyear Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario". The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted guarterly, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

As at 31 December 2022, The Group forecasts the 2023 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be 5.2% in the Basic Scenario. The Group fully considered the macroeconomic forecast for 2023 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models.

The Group determined the weightings of "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario" with macro data analysis and expert's judgement and maintain relative stability.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available. When the management believed that the forecast model could not fully reflect recent credit or economic events, management overlay adjustments could be used to supplement ECL allowances.

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group measures sensitivity analysis on the macro-economic indicators used in prospective estimation. As at 31 December 2022, if the optimistic/pessimistic scenario weighting increases or decreases by 10%, and the prediction of economic indicators changed correspondingly, the change of the impairment allowance does not exceed 5%.

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk

financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group classified the credit risk levels of financial assets measured by ECL into "Low" (credit risk in good condition), "Medium" (increased credit risk), and "High" (credit risk in severe condition), based on the quality of assets. The credit risk level is used for the purpose of the group's internal credit risk management. "Low" refers to assets with good credit quality. There is no sufficient reason to doubt that the assets are not expected to fulfill its contractual obligation to repay or if there is any other behaviors breaching the debt contracts that would significantly impact the repayment of debt according to contract terms. "Medium" refers to assets facing obvious negative factors impacting its repayment capacity, but not yet have non-repayment behaviors. "High" refers to non-repayment according to the debt contract terms, or other behaviors breaching the debt contracts or having significant impact on the repayment of debt according to contract terms.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below analyses exposure to credit risk of major financial instruments included in expected credit losses assessment. The balance of financial instruments below is the maximum exposure to credit risk of these instruments in the Group.

				As at 31 Dec	ember 2022			
							Allowance for	Group
				Domestic	Overseas and		Impairment	Carrying
	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	766,436	_	_	766,436	25,827	792,263	-	792,263
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,945,613	79,199	60,506	4,085,318	521,838	4,607,156	(134,409)	4,472,747
Stage 1	3,866,961	_	_	3,866,961	485,011	4,351,972	(51,219)	4,300,753
Stage 2	78,652	79,199	_	157,851	18,873	176,724	(35,112)	141,612
Stage 3	_	_	60,506	60,506	17,954	78,460	(48,078)	30,382
at FVOCI	322,364	2	36	322,402	63	322,465	_	322,465
Stage 1	315,497	_	_	315,497	63	315,560	_	315,560
Stage 2	6,867	2	_	6,869	_	6,869	_	6,869
Stage 3	_	_	36	36	_	36	_	36
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,261,444	20,181	19,743	2,301,368	65,139	2,366,507	(41,769)	2,324,738
Stage 1	2,247,634	_	_	2,247,634	63,522	2,311,156	(17,576)	2,293,580
Stage 2	13,810	20,181	_	33,991	1,357	35,348	(10,273)	25,075
Stage 3	_	_	19,743	19,743	260	20,003	(13,920)	6,083
Due from and placements with banks								
and other financial institutions	366,086	_	_	366,086	325,369	691,455	(1,034)	690,421
Stage 1	366,086	_	_	366,086	321,673	687,759	(1,032)	686,727
Stage 2	_	_	_	_	3,696	3,696	(2)	3,694
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,318,706	1,341	1,125	2,321,172	132,367	2,453,539	(2,764)	2,450,775
Stage 1	2,318,706	_	_	2,318,706	129,095	2,447,801	(1,547)	2,446,254
Stage 2	_	1,341	_	1,341	2,641	3,982	(260)	3,722
Stage 3	_	_	1,125	1,125	631	1,756	(957)	799
Debt investments at FVOCI	380,020	_	_	380,020	403,732	783,752	_	783,752
Stage 1	380,020	_	_	380,020	400,510	780,530	_	780,530
Stage 2	-	_	_	_	2,794	2,794	_	2,794
Stage 3		_	-	-	428	428	-	428
On-balance sheet total	10,360,669	100,723	81,410	10,542,802	1,474,335	12,017,137	(179,976)	11,837,161

		As a	t 31 December 202	22	
				Allowance for	
	Domestic	Overseas and		Impairment	Group Carrying
	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
Credit related commitments					
and financial guarantees					
Stage 1	2,153,567	54,654	2,208,221	(10,226)	2,197,995
Stage 2	11,469	765	12,234	(1,065)	11,169
Off-balance sheet total	2,165,036	55,419	2,220,455	(11,291)	2,209,164

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

							Allowance for	
				Domestic	Overseas and		Impairment	Group Carrying
	Low risk	Medium risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	losses	amount
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	667,440	-	-	667,440	53,990	721,430	-	721,430
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,449,747	66,771	69,992	3,586,510	504,061	4,090,571	(121,252)	3,969,319
Stage 1	3,364,303	-	-	3,364,303	479,277	3,843,580	(37,786)	3,805,794
Stage 2	85,444	66,771	-	152,215	17,158	169,373	(34,382)	134,991
Stage 3	-	-	69,992	69,992	7,626	77,618	(49,084)	28,534
at FVOCI	182,148	34	10	182,192	2,514	184,706	-	184,706
Stage 1	178,511	-	-	178,511	2,514	181,025	-	181,025
Stage 2	3,637	34	-	3,671	-	3,671	-	3,671
Stage 3	-	-	10	10	-	10	-	10
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,198,737	14,554	18,932	2,232,223	52,873	2,285,096	(38,837)	2,246,259
Stage 1	2,198,737	3,375	-	2,202,112	52,329	2,254,441	(19,617)	2,234,824
Stage 2	-	11,179	-	11,179	308	11,487	(4,510)	6,977
Stage 3	-	-	18,932	18,932	236	19,168	(14,710)	4,458
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	411,963	-	-	411,963	223,051	635,014	(2,306)	632,708
Stage 1	411,963	-	-	411,963	219,552	631,515	(2,304)	629,211
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,499	3,499	(2)	3,497
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,124,848	-	1,088	2,125,936	80,059	2,205,995	(2,958)	2,203,037
Stage 1	2,121,126	-	-	2,121,126	77,343	2,198,469	(1,695)	2,196,774
Stage 2	3,722	-	-	3,722	515	4,237	(371)	3,866
Stage 3	-	-	1,088	1,088	2,201	3,289	(892)	2,397
Debt investments at FVOCI	250,966	-	-	250,966	414,501	665,467	-	665,467
Stage 1	250,966	-	-	250,966	410,700	661,666	-	661,666
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	3,772	3,772	-	3,772
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	29	29	-	29
On-balance sheet total	9,285,849	81,359	90,022	9,457,230	1,331,049	10,788,279	(165,353)	10,622,926

	As at 31 December 2021				
	Domestic	Overseas and		Allowance for	Group Carrying
	branches	subsidiaries	Group total	Impairment losses	amount
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees					
Stage 1	1,814,432	45,815	1,860,247	(8,736)	1,851,511
Stage 2	6,916	732	7,648	(506)	7,142
Off-balance sheet total	1,821,348	46,547	1,867,895	(9,242)	1,858,653

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets measured at FVTPL which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

Maximum exposure to credit risk

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		
Derivative financial instruments	69,687	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	27	27
Debt securities	252,953	247,934
Fund investments and other asset management products	359,200	305,176
Precious metal contracts	24,557	21,924
Total	706,424	614,281

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued) (c)

Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

Collaterals	Maximum loan-to-value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured, while revolving individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek additional collaterals and pledges from the counterparties as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

		As at 31 Dec	ember 2022	
				Exposure
		Impairment		covered by
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised				
cost	98,463	(61,998)	36,465	50,145
Loans and advances to customers at fair value				
through other comprehensive income	36	_	36	36
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,756	(957)	799	876
Debt investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	428	_	428	-

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

As at 31 December 20

		Impairment		Fair value of
	Gross exposure	allowance	Carrying amount	collateral held
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised				
cost	96,786	(63,794)	32,992	46,184
Loans and advances to customers at fair value				
through other comprehensive income	10	-	10	10
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	3,289	(892)	2,397	4,876
Debt investments at fair value through other				
comprehensive income	29	-	29	_

Master netting arrangements

The Group may enter into master netting arrangements or similar agreements with the counterparties to reduce credit risk furtherly. The related credit risk of contracts will reduce when settled on a net basis. Each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

(d) Derivative instruments

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, commodity, interest rate and other derivative contracts with other financial institutions and customers. The management has established limits for these contracts based on counterparties, industry sectors and countries. Actual credit risk exposures are regularly monitored and controlled by the management.

Credit risk-weighted amounts

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Counterparty credit risk-weighted amounts	39,298	53,789

The credit risk-weighted amounts are the amounts calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the CBIRC and are dependent on, amongst other factors, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the maturity of each type of contract. The credit risk-weighted amounts stated above have not taken the effects of netting arrangements into account.

(e) Foreclosed assets

(0)		
	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Buildings	1,400	1,424
Land use rights	8	8
Others	4	5
Gross	1,412	1,437
Less: Impairment allowances	(412)	(407)
Net	1,000	1,030

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

		As at 31 Decemb	er 2022	
	Mainland China	Hong Kong	Others	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	768,985	1,874	21,404	792,263
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	423,549	109,971	156,901	690,421
Derivative financial assets	23,345	38,787	7,555	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,765,667	232,934	138,076	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	620,463	11,249	4,998	636,710
Debt investments at FVOCI	400,661	225,274	157,817	783,752
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,369,077	48,398	33,300	2,450,775
Other financial assets	24,935	5,456	5,930	36,321
Total	11,396,682	673,943	525,981	12,596,606
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,118,222	12,737	9,499	1,140,458
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	1,049,643	18,257	12,097	1,079,997
Total	2,167,865	30,994	21,596	2,220,455

		As at 31 Decemb	or 0001	
	Mainland China		er 2021 Others	Total
	IVIAII IIAI IU OI III IA	Hong Kong	Others	TOtal
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	670,925	28,814	21,387	721,126
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	463,774	68,572	100,362	632,708
Derivative financial assets	26,989	9,284	2,947	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	6,065,792	206,433	139,976	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	511,854	6,511	56,669	575,034
Debt investments at FVOCI	394,613	58,562	212,292	665,467
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,161,046	6,621	35,370	2,203,037
Other financial assets	52,737	11,201	3,567	67,505
Total	10,347,730	395,998	572,570	11,316,298
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	879,413	6,458	12,073	897,944
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	943,804	23,598	2,549	969,951
Total	1,823,217	30,056	14,622	1,867,895

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 Decemb	per 2021
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	2,000,365	27.42	1,780,637	27.14
Central China	1,196,075	16.39	1,092,985	16.66
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,137,282	15.59	965,957	14.72
Pearl River Delta	978,749	13.41	857,521	13.07
Western China	875,476	12.00	774,445	11.80
Head Office	481,741	6.60	492,884	7.52
Overseas	376,277	5.16	348,948	5.32
North Eastern China	250,190	3.43	247,023	3.77
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	7,296,155	100.00	6,560,400	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 48.

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 Decemb	per 2022	As at 31 December	er 2021
		%		%
Corporate loans				
Transportation, storage and postal service	823,156	11.28	763,419	11.64
Manufacturing	836,532	11.46	732,565	11.16
 Machinery 	163,532	2.24	102,338	1.56
- Electronics	162,110	2.22	168,825	2.57
- Petroleum and chemical	137,316	1.88	126,354	1.93
- Steel	47,373	0.65	40,781	0.62
 Textile and clothing 	29,275	0.40	26,817	0.41
 Other manufacturing 	296,926	4.07	267,450	4.07
Leasing and commercial services	729,818	10.00	650,742	9.92
Real estate	519,857	7.13	419,820	6.40
Water conservancy, environmental and other public				
services	429,222	5.88	382,201	5.83
Production and supply of power, heat, gas and				
water	342,617	4.70	268,772	4.10
Wholesale and retail	254,447	3.49	215,554	3.29
Construction	176,696	2.42	157,729	2.40
Finance	148,747	2.04	132,633	2.02
Education, science, culture and public health	128,762	1.76	122,196	1.86
Mining	118,246	1.62	120,216	1.83
Information transmission, software and IT services	68,246	0.94	60,718	0.93
Accommodation and catering	40,168	0.55	34,133	0.52
Others	94,839	1.31	77,884	1.19
Discounted bills	218,295	2.99	136,722	2.08
Total corporate loans	4,929,648	67.57	4,275,304	65.17
Personal loans				
Residential mortgages	1,512,648	20.73	1,489,517	22.70
Credit cards	477,746	6.55	492,580	7.51
Others	376,113	5.15	302,999	4.62
Total personal loans	2,366,507	32.43	2,285,096	34.83
Gross amount of loans and advances before				
impairment allowances	7,296,155	100.00	6,560,400	100.00

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers (Continued)

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

(2) Market risk

Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the CBIRC, the Group's financial instrument positions are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the trading book. The banking book consists of all financial instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

(a) VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(a) VaR (Continued)

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

		Year ended 31 December 2022					
	31 December						
Items	2022	Average	Maximum	Minimum			
VaR	631	565	771	298			
Including: Interest rate risk	558	570	790	282			
Foreign exchange risk	107	90	154	43			

Year ended 31 December 2021

Changes in not profit

	31 December			
Items	2021	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	261	381	746	256
Including: Interest rate risk	269	306	453	197
Foreign exchange risk	133	209	743	100

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in	i net pront
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	10,860	10,562
-100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(10,860)	(10,562)

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in other co	mprehensive income
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(17,667)	(12,995)
-100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	17,861	14,012

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

Changes in net profit

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
5% appreciation of RMB	(327)	(1,803)
5% depreciation of RMB	327	1,803

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against HKD and USD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

Changes in other comprehensive income

31 December 2022	31 December 2021
	31 December 2021
5% appreciation of RMB (1,138) 5% depreciation of RMB 1,138	(1,403)

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding nonmonetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing and maturity mismatching of assets and liabilities, and the fluctuation of market interest rates, as well as from the adjustments in the interest rate policies made by the PBOC. On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group pays high attention to the transition of interest rate benchmark and has established a task force to speed up the launch and implementation of interest rate benchmark reform project. At the current stage, the progress of this reform is basically on schedule. The first batch exited the market on 1 January 2022 have already complete transition successfully, and the remaining transition of USD libor is ready on schedule, and the impact of the methods of benchmark transition on interest rate risk is generally under control, which has a relatively limited substantial impact on the operations.

The Group has initially established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

						Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	787,224	_	_	_	_	18,878	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	335,968	104,925	205,097	38,075	1,592	4,764	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	69,687	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	1,811,683	958,323	3,475,560	342,513	205,882	342,716	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	12,769	24,727	143,074	50,189	65,437	409,161	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	27,790	52,466	510,213	790,849	1,040,333	29,124	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	47,273	110,274	240,595	195,614	181,231	24,088	799,075
Other assets	495	-	_	-	_	333,830	334,325
Total assets	3,023,202	1,250,715	4,574,539	1,417,240	1,494,475	1,232,248	12,992,419
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,221,722)	(256,095)	(518,409)	(24,137)	(3,433)	(11,098)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(3,009)	(4,475)	(4,068)	(21,484)	-	(14,913)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(46,804)	(46,804)
Due to customers	(3,896,914)	(624,232)	(1,444,736)	(1,863,246)	(19)	(119,925)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(121,671)	(255,586)	(842,192)	(228,889)	(265,306)	(164,316)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	(5,243,316)	(1,140,388)	(2,809,405)	(2,137,756)	(268,758)	(357,056)	(11,956,679)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,220,114)	110,327	1,765,134	(720,516)	1,225,717	875,192	1,035,740

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued) (c)

						Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	714,689	-	-	-	-	20,039	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	274,884	105,476	212,107	28,423	7,950	3,868	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	39,220	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	1,752,819	740,873	2,904,431	442,783	259,155	312,140	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	32,659	52,942	90,657	35,428	45,306	381,491	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	18,908	35,803	262,899	1,009,017	846,114	30,296	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	49,415	109,842	91,364	227,236	181,312	22,560	681,729
Other assets	458	_		_		323,193	323,651
Total assets	2,843,832	1,044,936	3,561,458	1,742,887	1,339,837	1,132,807	11,665,757
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,167,169)	(261,570)	(486,143)	(20,848)	(2,889)	(9,149)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,196)	(1,266)	-	(11,637)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(36,074)	(36,074)
Due to customers	(3,787,796)	(534,784)	(1,020,946)	(1,607,059)	(39)	(89,153)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(125,188)	(183,613)	(722,988)	(224,408)	(216,154)	(142,503)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(5,105,107)	(981,962)	(2,240,273)	(1,853,581)	(219,082)	(288,516)	(10,688,521)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,261,275)	62,974	1,321,185	(110,694)	1,120,755	844,291	977,236

Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB6.9646 (31 December 2021: RMB6.3757) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.8933 (31 December 2021: RMB0.8176), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2022	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central					
banks	761,360	24,466	3,029	17,247	806,102
Due from and placements with					
banks and other financial					
institutions	355,917	284,404	30,206	19,894	690,421
Derivative financial assets	34,610	27,496	4,928	2,653	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,585,252	255,653	205,170	90,602	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	605,884	62,679	4,513	32,281	705,357
Financial investments at amortised					
cost	2,316,741	92,370	20,047	21,617	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	421,630	304,276	15,846	57,323	799,075
Other assets	154,352	166,603	6,110	7,260	334,325
Total assets	11,235,746	1,217,947	289,849	248,877	12,992,419
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks					
and other financial institutions	(1,637,331)	(324,092)	(17,291)	(56,180)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(26,181)	(9,147)	(1,119)	(11,502)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	(32,994)	(7,062)	(5,292)	(1,456)	(46,804)
Due to customers	(7,191,205)	(431,120)	(272,029)	(54,718)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(1,666,144)	(178,479)	(10,284)	(23,053)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	(10,553,855)	(949,900)	(306,015)	(146,909)	(11,956,679)
Net position	681,891	268,047	(16,166)	101,968	1,035,740
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	2,043,649	133,379	14,386	29,041	2,220,455

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2)Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2021	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central					
banks	659,377	32,034	30,113	13,204	734,728
Due from and placements with					
banks and other financial					
institutions	316,755	276,807	19,944	19,202	632,708
Derivative financial assets	32,268	5,982	482	488	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	5,882,592	294,495	164,923	70,191	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	539,513	79,414	727	18,829	638,483
Financial investments at amortised					
cost	2,169,831	29,760	812	2,634	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	309,518	283,663	37,699	50,849	681,729
Other assets	173,258	137,483	7,292	5,618	323,651
Total assets	10,083,112	1,139,638	261,992	181,015	11,665,757
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks					
and other financial institutions	(1,496,464)	(389,507)	(22,857)	(38,940)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(34,217)	(3,196)	(41)	(12,594)	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	(27,910)	(7,021)	(614)	(529)	(36,074)
Deposits from customers	(6,341,729)	(387,816)	(262,148)	(48,084)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities	(1,392,157)	(176,573)	(20,418)	(25,706)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities	(9,292,477)	(964,113)	(306,078)	(125,853)	(10,688,521)
Net position	790,635	175,525	(44,086)	55,162	977,236
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	1,683,043	137,706	19,797	27,349	1,867,895

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group cannot obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(a) Liquidity risk management process

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc.;
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities;
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions;
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	Up to	1 – 3 months	3 – 12 months	1 – 5 vears	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	_	688.101	117,662	_	339	_	_	_	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other		000,101	,						300,102
financial institutions	_	_	135,461	167,626	94,515	217,059	78,603	15,386	708,650
Loans and advances to customers	52,307	_	_	541,275	375,385	1,916,512	2,323,601	3,995,748	9,204,828
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,734	45,012	189,021	73,448	76,065	731,540
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	28,653	56,763	652,487	931,575	1,223,543	2,893,820
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	11,022	41,574	340,732	271,680	215,671	896,479
Other financial assets	2,054	-	41,760	-	_	-	-	-	43,814
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	55,913	758,200	577,091	759,310	613,588	3,315,811	3,678,907	5,526,413	15,285,233
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(812,999)	(391,858)	(246,329)	(538,680)	(46,374)	(13,610)	(2,049,850)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,901)	(3,928)	(6,209)	(5,338)	(23,437)	-	(49,813)
Due to customers	-	-	(3,119,909)	(869,509)	(629,734)	(1,460,728)	(1,923,273)	(20)	(8,003,173)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(97,197)	(241,229)	(753,631)	(14,860)	(234)	(1,107,151)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(16,125)	(10,346)	(123,394)	(234,952)	(227,919)	(612,736)
Other financial liabilities	-	-	(98,112)	(2,461)	(701)	(2,057)	(5,168)	(21,217)	(129,716)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)			(4,041,921)	(1,381,078)	(1,134,548)	(2,883,828)	(2,248,064)	(263,000)	(11,952,439)
Net position	55,913	758,200	(3,464,830)	(621,768)	(520,960)	431,983	1,430,843	5,263,413	3,332,794

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued) (b)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2021	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	630,776	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	88,993	171,571	89,939	229,521	47,273	11,908	639,205
Loans and advances to customers	50,266	-	-	526,302	331,408	1,600,584	1,962,475	4,708,281	9,179,316
Financial investments at FVTPL	-	376,060	2,697	25,865	47,830	96,235	53,221	56,240	658,148
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,397	-	-	18,705	41,124	328,799	1,216,983	983,448	2,591,456
Financial investments at FVOCI	29	16,262	-	17,767	57,326	129,941	327,239	205,699	754,263
Other financial assets	4,198	-	63,307		_	-		-	67,505
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	56,890	1,023,098	258,645	760,210	567,931	2,385,080	3,607,191	5,965,576	14,624,621
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(816,423)	(339,984)	(249,157)	(500,344)	(47,994)	(8,049)	(1,961,951)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(11,631)	(24,958)	(1,999)	(10,248)	(1,287)	-	(50,123)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(2,917,674)	(896,297)	(548,993)	(1,062,886)	(1,719,819)	(40)	(7,145,709)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(102,215)	(159,431)	(627,356)	(15,167)	(29)	(904, 198)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(8,495)	(12,810)	(125,943)	(243,207)	(177,668)	(568, 123)
Other financial liabilities	_	-	(47,545)	(157)	(719)	(1,547)	(27,187)	(64,710)	(141,865)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		<u> </u>	(3,793,273)	(1,372,106)	(973,109)	(2,328,324)	_(2,054,661)	(250,496)	(10,771,969)
Net position	56,890	1,023,098	(3,534,628)	(611,896)	(405,178)	56,756	1,552,530	5,715,080	3,852,652

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	42	2	6	1	-	51
- Interest rate contracts and others	1,078	2,057	7,949	22,168	4,691	37,943
Total	1,120	2,059	7,955	22,169	4,691	37,994
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	(111)	(4)	(57)	_	-	(172)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(525)	(1,136)	(3,976)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,450)
Total	(636)	(1,140)	(4,033)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,622)
As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange and commodity						
contracts	10	1	23	_	-	34
- Interest rate contracts and others	416	823	2,880	7,044	647	11,810
Total	426	824	2,903	7,044	647	11,844
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	-	(34)	(27)	-	-	(61)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(408)	(900)	(3,096)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,774)
Total	(408)	(934)	(3,123)	(6,989)	(381)	(11,835)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on						
- Cash inflow	923,004	899,228	1,213,145	141,467	11,248	3,188,092
- Cash outflow	(924,062)	(898,343)	(1,211,701)	(141,797)	(11,106)	(3,187,009)
Total	(1,058)	885	1,444	(330)	142	1,083

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) **Derivative financial instruments cash flows** (Continued)

Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on						
- Cash inflow	1,095,392	879,647	1,404,576	111,697	14,918	3,506,230
- Cash outflow	(1,094,721)	(879,191)	(1,402,398)	(109,071)	(15,480)	(3,500,861)
Total	671	456	2,178	2,626	(562)	5,369

(d) Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 - 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	135,359	167,125	93,769	212,200	70,862	11,106	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,404	11,392	14,522	21,553	14,816	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	31,901	-	-	523,724	340,210	1,763,309	1,822,050	2,655,483	7,136,677
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,301	43,907	178,534	66,400	68,955	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	25,067	46,691	523,131	804,463	1,050,624	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	9,069	38,363	306,910	243,875	185,058	799,075
Other assets	2,054	223,001	70,499	-	-	1,167	37,604	-	334,325
Total assets	35,507	981,201	605,728	742,690	574,671	2,999,773	3,066,807	3,986,042	12,992,419
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(812,938)	(391,535)	(245,168)	(530,014)	(44,293)	(10,946)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,866)	(3,923)	(6,196)	(5,257)	(21,707)	-	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(8,133)	(10,589)	(13,964)	(10,858)	(3,260)	(46,804)
Due to customers	-	-	(3,118,072)	(869,185)	(628,192)	(1,452,998)	(1,880,606)	(19)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	-	-	(110,657)	(131,455)	(266,282)	(865,400)	(233,613)	(270,553)	(1,877,960)
Total liabilities	<u>-</u> _	<u>-</u>	(4,052,533)	(1,404,231)	(1,156,427)	(2,867,633)	(2,191,077)	(284,778)	(11,956,679)
Net amount on liquidity gap	35,507	981,201	(3,446,805)	(661,541)	(581,756)	132,140	875,730	3,701,264	1,035,740

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d) Maturity analysis (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12			
As at 31 December 2021	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	1 – 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	630,776	103,648	-	304	-	-	-	734,728
Due from and placements with banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	88,993	171,428	89,547	225,329	45,687	11,724	632,708
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	6,099	7,172	13,032	11,052	1,865	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	34,913	-	-	504,850	289,612	1,435,771	1,309,429	2,837,626	6,412,201
Financial investments at FVTPL	-	376,060	2,697	25,684	47,293	92,313	43,656	50,780	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,397	-	-	18,227	37,752	284,065	1,014,207	846,389	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI	29	16,262	-	17,504	56,506	120,183	289,879	181,366	681,729
Other assets	4,198	187,187	93,428	150	18	505	35,656	2,509	323,651
Total assets	41,537	1,210,285	288,766	743,942	528,204	2,171,198	2,749,566	3,932,259	11,665,757
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(816,423)	(339,771)	(247,890)	(491,785)	(44,522)	(7,377)	(1,947,768)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(11,631)	(24,954)	(1,995)	(10,202)	(1,266)	-	(50,048)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(5,493)	(6,739)	(11,698)	(10,266)	(1,878)	(36,074)
Due to customers	-	-	(2,917,672)	(892,406)	(544,620)	(1,043,211)	(1,641,829)	(39)	(7,039,777)
Other liabilities		-	(59,181)	(113,511)	(198,029)	(739,771)	(285,206)	(219,156)	(1,614,854)
Total liabilities			(3,804,907)	(1,376,135)	(999,273)	(2,296,667)	_(1,983,089)	(228,450)	(10,688,521)
Net amount on liquidity gap	41,537	1,210,285	(3,516,141)	(632,193)	(471,069)	(125,469)	766,477	3,703,809	977,236

Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	1,011,599	36,001	32,397	1,079,997
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	962,440	175,396	2,622	1,140,458
Total	1,974,039	211,397	35,019	2,220,455

As at 31 December 2021	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related				
commitments	924,244	30,785	14,922	969,951
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	757,497	138,818	1,629	897,944
Total	1,681,741	169,603	16,551	1,867,895

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Certain financial assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair value or with fair value disclosed for financial reporting purposes. The fair value has been determined using appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. The appropriateness of the valuation techniques and the inputs to the fair value measurements are reviewed by the Board of Directors periodically.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1,2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date:
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities, certificates of deposit, loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals and debt securities issued. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the yield curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards, swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method and Black-Scholes model; the fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include recent market prices, the relevant yield curve, exchange rates and counterparty's credit spread. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant yield curve, exchange rate, level of volatilities and counterparty's credit spread, etc. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, unlisted funds, unlisted equities and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments is determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as Discount for Lack of Marketability (DLOM). The Group has established internal control procedures to monitor the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and due to customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 31 Decem	nber 2022	As at 31 December 2021		
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value	
Financial asset Financial investments at amortised cost	2,450,775	2,484,041	2,203,037	2,234,814	
Financial liabilities Debt securities issued	(516,353)	(514,389)	(491,372)	(496,082)	

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial liabilities

Debt securities issued

As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset Financial investments at amortised cost	64,532	2,346,708	72,801	2,484,041
Financial liabilities Debt securities issued	_	(514,389)	_	(514,389)
As at 31 December 2021	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	7,757	2,138,742	88,315	2,234,814

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

(496,082)

(496,082)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

	As at 31 December 2022			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	6,585	243,646	2,722	252,953
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	154,825	178,969	25,406	359,200
Equity securities and others	5,725	4,164	58,758	68,647
Precious metal contracts	_	24,557	_	24,557
Derivative financial instruments	-	68,509	1,178	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	_	27	_	27
Subtotal	167,135	519,872	88,064	775,071
At fair value through other comprehensive				
income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	145,987	636,929	836	783,752
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	7,929	1,603	5,791	15,323
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	_	322,429	36	322,465
Subtotal	153,916	960,961	6,663	1,121,540
Total assets	321,051	1,480,833	94,727	1,896,611
		As at 31 Dec	ember 2022	
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	_	(47,949)	_	(47,949)
Derivative financial instruments	_	(46,804)	_	(46,804)
Debt securities issued	_	(14,508)	_	(14,508)
Total liabilities	_	(109,261)	_	(109,261)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	13,308	231,473	3,153	247,934
Fund investments and other asset management				
products	685	287,847	16,644	305,176
Equity securities and others	7,826	5,081	50,542	63,449
Precious metal contracts	-	21,924	-	21,924
Derivative financial instruments	-	38,183	1,037	39,220
Loans and advances to customers	-	27	_	27
Subtotal	21,819	584,535	71,376	677,730
At fair value through other comprehensive				
income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	239,205	425,966	296	665,467
Investments in equity instruments designated at				
FVOCI	7,357	1,636	7,269	16,262
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	-	184,696	10	184,706
Subtotal	246,562	612,298	7,575	866,435
Total assets	268,381	1,196,833	78,951	1,544,165

As at 31 December 2021

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(50,048)	_	(50,048)
Derivative financial instruments	-	(36,074)	_	(36,074)
Debt securities issued	_	(12,153)	_	(12,153)
Total liabilities	-	(98,275)	-	(98,275)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items

		Financial assets at
	FVTPL	FVOCL
Balance at 1 January 2022	71,376	7,575
Total gains or losses		
 Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 	1,278	787
- Other comprehensive income	_	(2,275)
Additions	18,657	634
Disposals and settlement	(3,369)	(85)
Transfer from other levels	122	27
Balance at 31 December 2022	88,064	6,663
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities		
held by the Group as at 31 December 2022		
- Realised gains	2,384	785
- Unrealised losses	(1,106)	(2,273)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items (Continued)

	Financial assets at	Financial assets at
	FVTPL	FVOCL
Balance at 1 January 2021	65,024	8,166
Total gains or losses		
 Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 	4,951	48
- Other comprehensive income	-	(1,233)
Additions	10,723	975
Disposals and settlement	(9,286)	(381)
Transfer to other levels	(36)	
Balance at 31 December 2021	71,376	7,575
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets and liabilities		
held by the Group as at 31 December 2021		
- Realised gains	1,998	46
- Unrealised losses	2,000	(1,231)

These financial instruments with fair values determined based on unobservable inputs are primarily convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, part of the trust and asset management plan, equity derivatives and part of loans and advances to customers. The fair value of these financial instruments is determined primarily using discounted cash flow method and market comparison method. These valuation methods involve inputs from various unobservable assumptions such as cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts.

(5) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

(6) Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The Group management adopts administrative measures issued by the CBIRC, which was developed based on guideline issued by the Basel Committee, in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of regulatory capital on a quarterly basis. The quarterly monitored information is then submitted to CBIRC.

The Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) specified the regulatory requirements for minimum capital, capital conservation buffer, additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks, countercyclical buffer and Pillar II capital as follows:

- Minimum regulatory requirements for core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio are 5%,6% and 8%, respectively;
- Capital conservation buffer requires additional 2.5% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks requires additional 0.75% on core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Should the regulators require countercyclical buffer under particular circumstances or regulators impose additional Pillar II capital requirements for specific banks, these requirements shall be met within the specified time limits.

The Group's capital as monitored by its Planning and Finance Department and as divided to 3 levels consists of the following:

- Core tier-1 capital, including ordinary shares, eligible portion of capital surplus, statutory reserve, statutory general reserve, retained earnings, eligible portion of non-controlling interests and translation reserve on foreign operations;
- Additional tier-1 capital, including Additional tier-1 capital instruments issued and related premium and eligible portion of non-controlling interests;
- Tier-2 capital, including tier-2 capital instruments issued and related premium, excess loan loss provisions and eligible portion of non-controlling interests.

The Group's deductible items from core tier-1 capital include: Goodwill, other intangible assets (except land use rights), investments in core tier-1 capital of financial institutions with controlling interests but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

In April 2014, the CBIRC officially approved the implementation of the advanced approach of capital management, and the Group has steadily promoted the implementation and deepened application of advanced methods in accordance with regulatory requirements. The Group expanded the implementation scope of advanced methods and ended the transition period with the approval of CBRC in 2018. According to the implementation scope of the advanced methods of capital management approved by the CBRC, the Group elected to use elementary internal rating based ("IRB") approach for credit risk exposures, internal model approach for market risk exposures and standardised approach for operational risk exposures which is compliant with regulatory requirements. For credit risk exposures not covered by IRB, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the weight method. For market risk exposures not covered by internal model approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the standardised method. For operational risk exposures not covered by standardised approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by basic index method. The capital ratios calculated based on Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional) are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

	As at	As at
Items	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	10.06	10.62
Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	12.18	13.01
Capital adequacy ratio (%)	14.97	15.45
Core tier-1 capital	847,105	789,887
Core tier-1 capital deductions	(6,941)	(6,010)
Net core tier-1 capital	840,164	783,877
Additional tier-1 capital	176,480	176,348
Net tier-1 capital	1,016,644	960,225
Tier-2 capital	233,673	179,732
Net capital	1,250,317	1,139,957
Risk-weighted assets	8,350,074	7,379,912

NET INTEREST INCOME

	2022	2021
Interest income		
Loans and advances to customers	291,905	266,419
Financial investments	97,311	88,262
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	17,886	12,266
Balances with central banks	11,020	10,699
Subtotal	418,122	377,646
Interest expense		
Due to customers	(163,457)	(140,982)
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(44,696)	(38,581)
Certificates of deposit issued	(24,225)	(20,049)
Debt securities issued	(15,807)	(16,341)
Subtotal	(248,185)	(215,953)
Net interest income	169,937	161,693

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

	2022	2021
Bank cards	19,141	20,136
Wealth management business	10,154	11,775
Custody and other fiduciary business	7,496	7,484
Agency services	4,980	5,664
Investment banking	3,093	3,120
Guarantee and commitment	2,884	2,527
Settlement services	1,364	1,296
Others	227	283
Total	49,339	52,285

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

	2022	2021
Bank card business	2,454	2,560
Settlement and agency services	1,865	1,744
Others	381	408
Total	4,700	4,712

7 NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

	2022	2021
Financial instruments at FVTPL	5,808	20,621
Foreign exchange	5,737	2,539
Interest rate instruments and others	6,062	184
Total	17,607	23,344

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

Net gains arising from trading activities for the year ended 31 December 2022 included a net gain of RMB274 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021: a net loss of RMB227 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

8 INSURANCE BUSINESS INCOME

	2022	2021
Premiums earned	18,429	17,141
Less: Premiums ceded	(329)	(626)
Total	18,100	16,515

9 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

	2022	2021
Leasing income	14,969	13,843
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	1,953	2,020
Revaluation of investment properties	739	183
Net gain on the disposal of fixed and foreclosed assets	166	454
Other miscellaneous income	4,632	2,535
Total	22,459	19,035

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

10 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2022	2021
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	57,066	63,339
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	2,358	1,998
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	840	158
Debt investments at FVOCI	598	(87)
Financial investments at amortised cost	(198)	(124)
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	(1,333)	1,085
Others	1,080	2
Total	60,411	66,371

11 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2022	2021
Operating lease assets	1,882	1,981
Foreclosed assets	8	284
Precious metal	7	55
Total	1,897	2,320

12 INSURANCE BUSINESS EXPENSE

	2022	2021
Change in insurance reserves	13,456	15,643
Add: Change in insurance reserves recovered from reinsurers	1	958
Surrenders	4,938	1,084
Others	985	(631)
Total	19,380	17,054

13 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

	2022	2021
Staff costs and benefits (Note 14)	39,314	36,825
General operating and administrative expenses	28,861	29,621
Costs of operating lease business	9,879	9,108
Depreciation and amortisation	8,650	8,099
Tax and surcharges	3,119	3,001
Provision/(reversal) for outstanding litigations	56	(199)
Others	3,746	3,589
Total	93,625	90,044

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS

	Note	2022	2021
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies		26,918	25,383
Post-employment benefit	(1)	4,326	4,093
Other social security and benefit costs		8,070	7,349
Total		39,314	36,825

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by municipal and provincial governments in Mainland China, under which it is required to make monthly contributions to these plans at rates ranging from 10% to 27% of the employees' basic salary for the year. The Group's contributions to these pension plans are charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

Employees who retire at or after 1 January 2009 can voluntarily participate in an Annuity Plan. The Bank contributes to the Annuity Plan based on certain percentage of the employees' gross salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 December 2022, there are no forfeited contributions under the Group's retirement benefit plans which can be used to deduct contributions payable for future years.

The amount recognised in profit or loss in the year is as follows:

	2022	2021
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	2,674	2,494
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	1,626	1,575
Total	4,300	4,069

The amount payable at the end of the year is as follows:

	2022	2021
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	85	105
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	41	50
Total	126	155

Defined benefit plans

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees in Mainland China, who retired at or before 31 December 2008. The Group's obligations in respect of supplementary retirement benefits are calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that the Group is committed to pay to the employees after their retirement using actuarial techniques. Such benefits, which are estimated by using key parameters such as inflation rate and mortality ratio, are discounted to their present values. The discount rate is the yield on government bonds at the end of reporting date, the maturity dates of which approximate to the terms of the Group's obligations. Actuarial gains or losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income, and amendments to pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of unfunded obligations.

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Mainland China are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Statement of financial position		
- Net obligations for pension benefits	396	385

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	2022	2021
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	26	24
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive income	34	(55)
Total	60	(31)

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

Movements in the unfunded obligations over the year are as follows:

	2022	2021
Present value of unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year	385	467
Retirement benefits paid during the year	(49)	(51)
Interest expense	22	21
Past service cost	4	3
Net actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the current year	34	(55)
Present value of unfunded obligations at the end of the year	396	385

The average duration of the supplementary retirement benefits plan at 31 December 2022 is 11.43 years (31 December 2021: 12.31 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of RMB39 million (2021: RMB39 million) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

The supplementary retirement benefits plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest risk, longevity risk and inflation risk. A decrease in the government bond yield will increase the present value of unfunded obligations. The present value of unfunded obligations is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability. The present value of unfunded obligations is also measured by future payment standards, which are determined by inflation rate. Hence, an increase in inflation rate will increase the present value of the unfunded obligations.

The principal actuarial assumptions regarding interest risk and inflation risk used by the Group are discount rate and inflation rate, which were 2.99% (31 December 2021: 3.07%) and 1.99% (31 December 2021: 0.81%) respectively as at 31 December 2022. In the meantime, assumptions regarding future mortality rate are set based on published statistics by the CBIRC. An average longevity of a pensioner after retirement at age 60 for male is 23.13 years while a pensioner after retirement at age 55 for female is 33.13 years.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the unfunded obligation are discount rate, inflation rate and mortality. The sensitivity analysis below is based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

- If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher/(lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by RMB27 million/ (increase by RMB30 million).
- If the expected inflation rate increases/(decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB30 million/(decrease by RMB27 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

(c) If the life expectancy increases/(decreases) by one year for men and women, the defined benefit obligation would increase by RMB35 million/(decrease by RMB36 million).

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of the actual change in the unfunded obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value at the end of the reporting period of the unfunded obligation has been calculated in the same method as that applied in calculating the unfunded obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis in prior years.

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation

(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 D	December 2022	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	656	248	904
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	656	234	890
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	_	_	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	_	-	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	_	_	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	_	_	-	-
Mr. Chen, Shaozong	_	_	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	_	_	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	_	_	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	_	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	_	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	_	_	_	_
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	_	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	_	_	-	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	_	-	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	112	_	_	112
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	_	656	234	890
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	_	_	_	_
Mr. Li, Yao	_	280	_	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	_	267	_	267
Mr. Su, Zhi	_	132	_	132
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	_	1,010	239	1,249
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	830	239	1,069
Ms. Po, Ying	_	1,010	240	1,250
Total	1,062	6,327	1,673	9,062

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued)

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2022			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Song, Hongjun	-	_	_	-
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	_	_	_	-
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	155	_	_	155
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	-	_	_	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	_	_	_	-
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	_	128	_	128
Total	155	128	_	283

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	619	210	829
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	619	206	825
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Chan Siu Chung	-	-	-	-
Mr. Song, Hongjun	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	-
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	-	-	-	-
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	_	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	310	-	-	310
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	-	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	-	-	-
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	-	-	-	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	_	-	330
Supervisors				
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	-	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	-	-	-	-
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	260	-	260
Mr. Ju, Jiandong	-	260	-	260
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	-	956	211	1,167
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	-	962	211	1,173
Ms. Po, Ying	-	79	18	97
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	258	87	345
Ms. Feng, Bing	_	819	211	1,030
Total	1,260	5,112	1,154	7,526

(in thousands of RMB)		Year ended 31 December 2021			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total	
Former directors and supervisors					
Mr. Du, Yarong	-	416	84	500	
Mr. Cai, Yunge	-	103	34	137	
Mr. He, Zhaobin	_	73	22	95	
Total	-	592	140	732	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Directors', supervisors' and senior management's emoluments before taxation (Continued)

- (a) The total compensation package for directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2022 has not yet been finalised in accordance with regulations of the PRC relevant authorities. The amount of the compensation not provided for is not expected to have significant impact to the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The final compensation will be disclosed in a separate announcement when determined. The final total compensation for the year ended 31 December 2021 was disclosed in the Information on the First Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in 2023 issued on 1 March 2023.
- (b) Employee supervisors Mr. Guan Xingshe, Ms. Lin Zhihong, Ms. Feng Bing and Ms. Po Ying received compensation according to their positions as employees of the Bank and did not receive additional compensation as employee supervisors.
- (c) During 2022 and 2021, there was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
- (d) Other benefits include social insurance, housing allowances, enterprise annuity paid by the Bank.

(2) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the related years are as follows:

	2022	2021
Salary	15	15
Discretionary bonuses	11	13
Employer's contribution to pension scheme and other benefits	2	2
Total	28	30

Emoluments of the above five highest paid individuals in the Group are within the following bands:

	2022	2021
HKD4,000,001 - 4,500,000	2	_
HKD4,500,001 - 5,000,000	1	1
HKD5,000,001 - 5,500,000	1	3
HKD5,500,001 - 6,000,000	-	-
HKD6,000,001 - 6,500,000	-	-
HKD6,500,001 - 7,000,000	-	-
HKD7,000,001 - 7,500,000	-	-
HKD7,500,001 - 8,000,000	-	-
HKD8,000,001 - 8,500,000	-	-
HKD8,500,001 - 9,000,000	-	-
HKD9,000,001 - 9,500,000	-	-
HKD9,500,001 - 10,000,000	1	-
HKD10,000,001 – 10,500,000	_	1
Total	5	5

During 2022 and 2021, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

16 INCOME TAX

	2022	2021
Current income tax		
- Enterprise income tax	9,919	7,522
- Hong Kong profits tax	464	608
- Other countries or regions	715	753
Subtotal	11,098	8,883
Deferred income tax (Note 26)	(4,913)	(3,863)
Total	6,185	5,020

The provision for enterprise income tax in Mainland China is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Mainland China. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Mainland China shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25%. The major reconciliation items are as follows:

	Note	2022	2021
Profit before tax		98,215	93,959
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%		24,554	23,490
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in other countries or regions		122	(207)
Effects of non-deductible expenses	(1)	4,356	2,445
Effects of non-taxable income	(2)	(20,982)	(19,663)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years		(487)	(111)
Others		(1,378)	(934)
Income tax		6,185	5,020

Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs. (1)

Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds and fund investment income gained in Mainland China.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

	2022	2021
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company	92,149	87,581
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,832)	(1,755)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(5,651)	(3,858)
Net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company	84,666	81,968
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions) at the end		
of the period	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	1.14	1.10

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,832 million on preference shares and interests of RMB5,651 million on perpetual bond declared for the year was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the parent company. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the year ended 31 December 2022, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

18 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cash	13,839	13,298
Mandatory reserve deposits	683,401	624,340
Surplus reserve deposits	103,823	90,350
Fiscal deposits	4,700	6,436
Accrued interest	339	304
Total	806,102	734,728

The Group is required to place statutory reserves with the PBOC and overseas central banks, including RMB and foreign currency deposit reserves and foreign exchange risk reserves for forward foreign exchange sales businesses, which are not allowed to be used in the Group's daily operations.

Surplus reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	120,905	83,372
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	34,371	36,422
Accrued interest	368	298
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(209)	(202)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
- Securities	49,715	59,964
- Bills	6,995	13,512
Accrued interest	11	33
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(88)	(141)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	80,566	111,677
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	126,829	77,490
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Mainland China	196,730	194,502
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Mainland China	70,572	54,176
Accrued interest	4,393	3,568
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(737)	(1,963)
Total	690,421	632,708

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, due from banks and other financial institutions of the Group included pledged deposits, risk reserves and other deposits. The use of these deposits is restricted.

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or hedging purposes, including forwards, swaps and options.

The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments provide a reference of the business scale for those financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative financial instruments may become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market foreign exchange rates, interest rates or commodity price relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair values of derivative financial instruments held are set out in the following tables.

As at 31 December 2022	Contractual/ Notional Amount	Fair value	s
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,406,796	34,499	(34,648)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,076,875	35,188	(12,156)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	6,483,671	69,687	(46,804)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021	Contractual/Notional Amount	Fair values	
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,501,041	27,195	(24,899)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,626,588	12,025	(11,175)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,127,629	39,220	(36,074)

Hedge accounting

Notional amount and fair value of hedging instruments included in the above derivative financial instruments are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022	Contractual/ Notional Amount	Fair value	s
		Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	75,883	2,043	(1,202)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges	177,797	15,934	(20)
Total	253,680	17,977	(1,222)

As at 31 December 2021	Contractual/Notional Amount	Fair values	
		Assets	Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments			
in cash flow hedges	71,805	519	(973)
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments			
in fair value hedges	141,731	1,871	(1,274)
Total	213,536	2,390	(2,247)

(1) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective. The hedged items include debt investments at FVOCI, loans and advances to customers, placements from banks and financial investments at amortised cost.

The following table shows the profit or loss effects of the fair value hedges:

	2022	2021
Net gains/(losses) from fair value hedges:		
Hedging instruments	15,231	4,405
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	(15,553)	(4,386)
Total	(322)	19

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks, and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include debt investments at FVOCI, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, debt securities issued, loans and advances to customers and due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions. The Group mainly uses regression analysis to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the supporting of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised RMB2,564 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,133 million) from effective portion of cash flow hedge in other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies RMB1,606 million from other comprehensive income to profit or loss (31 December 2021: RMB617 million). Gains or losses arising from ineffective portion of cash flow hedge were immaterial. There were no transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting had to be ceased as a result of the highly probable cash flows no longer being expected to occur.

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Loans and advances to customers

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	6,973,663	6,375,667
- Carried at FVOCI	322,465	184,706
- Carried at FVTPL	27	27
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(176,178)	(160,089)
Accrued interest	18,608	13,985
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(1,908)	(2,095)
	7,136,677	6,412,201

(2) Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Unsecured loans	2,461,988	2,085,835
Guaranteed loans	1,179,381	1,056,138
Loans secured by collateral	2,579,866	2,488,276
Pledged loans	1,074,920	930,151
Total	7,296,155	6,560,400

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance

Movements of ECL allowance for principal - Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2022	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089
Transfers:				
Transfer to Stage 1	3,904	(3,553)	(351)	_
Transfer to Stage 2	(5,520)	7,051	(1,531)	-
Transfer to Stage 3	(261)	(13,341)	13,602	_
Provision	13,044	15,867	28,351	57,262
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(46,242)	(46,242)
Recovery of loans and advances written off in				
previous years	_	_	5,146	5,146
Others	225	469	(771)	(77)
As at 31 December 2022	68,795	45,385	61,998	176,178

	For the year ended 31 December 2021			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	43,426	32,870	62,978	139,274
Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(142)	142	_	-
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(391)	-	391	_
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		(7,598)	7,598	_
Provision	14,593	13,243	34,951	62,787
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(47,151)	(47,151)
Recovery of loans and advances written off in				
previous years	-	-	6,324	6,324
Others	(83)	235	(1,297)	(1,145)
As at 31 December 2021	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2022 Transfers:	937	48	88	1,073
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	_
Transfer to Stage 2	_	_	_	_
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(22)	23	_
Provision	586	214	40	840
Written-offs and disposals	_	_	(71)	(71)
Others	_	_	(1)	(1)
As at 31 December 2022	1,522	240	79	1,841

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

		•		
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime	
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2021	878	47	362	1,287
Transfers:				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(64)	64	_	_
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	(20)	-	20	-
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net	_	_	_	_
Provision/(reversal)	143	(63)	78	158
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(368)	(368)
Others	_	_	(4)	(4)
As at 31 December 2021	937	48	88	1,073

(4) Overdue loans analysed by security type

	As at 31 December 2022				
		Overdue	Overdue		
		between three	between one		
	Overdue within	months and one	year and three	Overdue over	
	three months	year	years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	12,049	10,165	5,279	100	27,593
Guaranteed loans	2,626	8,632	3,532	1,315	16,105
Loans secured by collateral	11,399	9,193	8,867	2,584	32,043
Pledged loans	1,663	5,490	1,405	529	9,087
Total	27,737	33,480	19,083	4,528	84,828

As at 31 December 2021

		Overdue between	Overdue between		
	Overdue within	three months and	one year and	Overdue over	
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	10,351	10,096	5,215	1,035	26,697
Guaranteed loans	3,315	7,693	6,853	2,364	20,225
Loans secured by collateral	7,729	8,925	12,324	3,419	32,397
Pledged loans	1,769	2,719	2,772	583	7,843
Total	23,164	29,433	27,164	7,401	87,162

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Financial investments at FVTPL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
	72,510	45,482
Listed in Hong KongListed outside Hong Kong	210,783	200,197
- Listed outside Hong Kong - Unlisted	422,064	392,804
Total	705,357	638,483
Financial investments at amortised cost	,	,
- Listed in Hong Kong	27,336	13,474
Listed outside Hong Kong	2,265,215	2,044,176
- Unlisted	132,584	120,387
Accrued interest	28,404	27,958
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(2,764)	(2,958)
Total	2,450,775	2,203,037
Financial investments at FVOCI		
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	157,408	168,690
- Listed outside Hong Kong	536,770	417,119
- Unlisted	81,242	73,382
Accrued interest	8,332	6,276
Subtotal	783,752	665,467
Equity investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	5,600	3,238
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	3,932	5,755
- Unlisted	5,791	7,269
Subtotal	15,323	16,262
Total	799,075	681,729

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in "Listed outside Hong Kong".

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the Solely Payments of Principal and Interest Test ("SPPI test").

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB785 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB615 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Financial investments at FVTPL		
- Governments and central banks	102,349	99,079
- Banks and other financial institutions	80,601	100,898
- Corporate entities	69,443	46,655
- Public sector entities	560	1,302
Total	252,953	247,934
Bond investments at amortised cost		
- Governments and central banks	2,148,425	1,922,479
- Banks and other financial institutions	164,060	117,156
- Corporate entities	44,734	47,035
- Public sector entities	22,708	21,201
Total	2,379,927	2,107,871
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Governments and central banks	375,231	304,365
- Banks and other financial institutions	294,348	254,601
- Corporate entities	99,511	101,931
- Public sector entities	14,662	4,570
Total	783,752	665,467

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

		For the year ended 31 December 2022					
	Stage 1 Stage 2 Lifetime Stage 3 Lifetime						
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2022	1,695	371	892	2,958			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	126	(126)	_	_			
Transfer to Stage 2	(2)	2	_	-			
Transfer to Stage 3	_		_	_			
(Reversal)/Provision	(274)	12	64	(198)			
Others	2	1	1	4			
As at 31 December 2022	1,547	260	957	2,764			

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2021				
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime		
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2021	1,844	682	524	3,050	
Transfers:					
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	274	(274)	_	-	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-	
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		(399)	399	-	
(Reversal)/provision	(420)	104	192	(124)	
Others	(3)	258	(223)	32	
As at 31 December 2021	1,695	371	892	2,958	

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2022					
	Stage 1 Stage 2 Lifetime Stage 3 Lifetime					
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2021	555	10	456	1,021		
Transfers:						
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	-		
Transfer to Stage 2	(3)	3	_	-		
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(20)	21	_		
Provision	1	24	573	598		
Others	76	(4)	(160)	(88)		
As at 31 December 2022	628	13	890	1,531		

	For the year ended 31 December 2021				
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime		
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2021	670	11	563	1,244	
Transfers:					
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2, net	(9)	9	_	_	
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3, net	-	-	-	-	
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3, net		_		_	
(Reversal)/provision	(115)	1	27	(87)	
Others	9	(11)	(134)	(136)	
As at 31 December 2021	555	10	456	1,021	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proportion of s	shares held	Means of acquisition
			·····,			240		Direct	Indirect	
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Xu Bin	RMB14,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 8 Century Avenue, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Zhang Hongliang	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Wang Qingyan	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Zheng Zhiyang	RMB10,000,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 333 Lujiazui Ring Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai	Mainland China	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment
BoCom International Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as BoCom Securities Company Limited)	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 68 Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment
China BoCom Insurance Co., Ltd.	Zhang Jian	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	No. 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment
Dayi BoCom Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Liu Yike	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	No. 168-170 Central Fumin Road, Dayi County, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment
Zhejjang Anji BoCom Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Tower 1, Changshuo Square, Changshuo Street, Anji County, Huzhou City, Zheijang Province	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Xinjiang Shihezi BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Fang Linhai	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	No. 127 Dongyi Road, Shihezi, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Qingdao Laoshan BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	No. 156 Shenzhen Road, Laoshan District, Qingdao, Shandong	Mainland China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Meng Yu	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Luxembourg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	7 Rue de la Chapelle, L-1325 Luxembourg, Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda	Sun Xu	BRL700,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Avenida Barão de Tefé,34, salas 1701,1702,1801 e 1802, Saúde, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Brazil	Non-financial industry	Investment	100.00	-	Establishment
BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL469,300,389	Foreign legal entity	Av Barão de Tefé,34-20th, Rio de Janeiro Brazil,20220-460	Brazil	Financial industry	Commercial banking	-	80.00	Investment

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	6,474	4,062
Share of net profit of associates for the year	1,866	1,599
Share of other equity changes of associates for the year	114	93
Dividend income	(283)	(204)
Subtotal	8,171	5,550
Investments in joint ventures	579	229
Total	8,750	5,779

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 9.01%).

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 10.60%).

25 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

			Equipment And		
		Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	
	Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2022	74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
Additions	417	1,060	4,858	38,830	45,165
Construction in progress transfer in	505	(505)	_	-	_
Transfer in from investment					
properties	329	_	_	-	329
Transfer into investment properties	(139)	_	_	-	(139)
Decreases	(236)	(3)	(2,000)	(7,319)	(9,558)
As at 31 December 2022	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2022	(29,395)	_	(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
Charge for the year	(2,793)	_	(2,612)	(9,629)	(15,034)
Transfer into investment properties	17	_	_	-	17
Decreases	101		1,854	1,884	3,839
As at 31 December 2022	(32,070)		(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2022	_	(16)	_	(2,488)	(2,504)
Provision for impairment	_	_	_	(1,882)	(1,882)
Decrease	_	_	_	238	238
As at 31 December 2022		(16)		(4,132)	(4,148)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2022	43,493	3,499	9,225	137,952	194,169

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

		Equipment And		
	Construction in	Transportation	Aircraft and	
Buildings	progress	equipment	vessels	Total
72,397	3,369	26,655	136,705	239,126
236	1,351	3,486	16,758	21,831
(572)	-	(2,687)	(9,596)	(12,855)
1,727	(1,727)	-	-	-
899	-	-	-	899
-	-	-	-	-
	(30)	_		(30)
74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
(26,944)	-	(20,679)	(21,241)	(68,864)
(2,738)	-	(2,242)	(6,738)	(11,718)
287	-	2,592	2,430	5,309
_	_		_	_
(29,395)		(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
_	(16)	-	(775)	(791)
-	-	-	(1,981)	(1,981)
_	_		268	268
	(16)		(2,488)	(2,504)
45,292	2,947	7,125	115,830	171,194
	72,397 236 (572) 1,727 899 - - - 74,687 (26,944) (2,738) 287 - (29,395)	Buildings progress 72,397 3,369 236 1,351 (572) - 1,727 (1,727) 899 - - - - (30) 74,687 2,963 (26,944) - (2,738) - 287 - - - (29,395) - - - - - - - - - - - (16) - - - - - (16) - - -	Buildings Construction in progress Transportation equipment 72,397 3,369 26,655 236 1,351 3,486 (572) - (2,687) 1,727 (1,727) - 899 - - - - - - (30) - 74,687 2,963 27,454 (26,944) - (20,679) (2,738) - (2,242) 287 - 2,592 - - - (29,395) - (20,329) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <t< td=""><td>Buildings Construction in progress Transportation equipment Aircraft and vessels 72,397 3,369 26,655 136,705 236 1,351 3,486 16,758 (572) - (2,687) (9,596) 1,727 (1,727) - - 899 - - - - - - - - (30) - - 74,687 2,963 27,454 143,867 (26,944) - (20,679) (21,241) (2,738) - (2,242) (6,738) 287 - 2,592 2,430 - - - - (29,395) - (20,329) (25,549) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -</td></t<>	Buildings Construction in progress Transportation equipment Aircraft and vessels 72,397 3,369 26,655 136,705 236 1,351 3,486 16,758 (572) - (2,687) (9,596) 1,727 (1,727) - - 899 - - - - - - - - (30) - - 74,687 2,963 27,454 143,867 (26,944) - (20,679) (21,241) (2,738) - (2,242) (6,738) 287 - 2,592 2,430 - - - - (29,395) - (20,329) (25,549) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

As at 31 December 2022, the net book value of the aircrafts and vessels used as collateral for borrowings was RMB52,416 million (31 December 2021: RMB57,988 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the property and equipment with re-registration procedure not completed amounted to RMB174 million (31 December 2021: RMB198 million). However, this registration process does not affect the rights of the Group to these assets.

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2021: 16.5%).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 Dec	ember 2021
	Deductible/		Deductible/	
	(taxable)	Deferred income	(taxable)	Deferred income
	temporary	tax assets/	temporary	tax assets/
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)
Deferred income tax assets				
Allowance for impairment of assets	134,772	33,693	119,972	29,993
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	57,312	14,328	36,074	9,250
Provisions	11,928	2,982	9,672	2,418
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	10,492	2,623	5,132	1,283
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL	9,484	2,371	-	-
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL	340	85	-	-
Others	6,835	1,709	7,067	1,767
Subtotal	231,163	57,791	177,917	44,711
Deferred income tax liabilities				
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments	(68,464)	(17,116)	(39,220)	(9,667)
Changes in fair value of investment properties	(3,232)	(808)	(3,020)	(755)
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(1,780)	(445)	(6,240)	(1,560)
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL	(668)	(167)	-	-
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL	(499)	(125)	(3,464)	(866)
Others	(8,580)	(2,145)	(6,764)	(1,691)
Subtotal	(83,223)	(20,806)	(58,708)	(14,539)
Net deferred income tax assets	147,940	36,985	119,209	30,172

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Deferred income tax assets	38,771	32,061
Deferred income tax liabilities	(1,786)	(1,889)
	2022	2021
Net opening balance	30,172	26,705
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in the current		
year	4,913	3,863
Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in the		
current year	1,900	(396)
Net ending balance	36,985	30,172

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS

	Note	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Accounts receivable and temporary payments		36,775	66,062
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1)	(3,003)	(3,265)
Advance payments	. ,	22,100	16,328
Precious metal		7,814	4,878
Right-of-use assets	(2)	6,931	6,777
Investment properties	(3)	6,387	6,340
Interest receivable	(4)	2,054	4,250
Land use rights and others		1,998	2,077
Intangible assets	(5)	1,954	1,797
Foreclosed assets		1,000	1,030
Long-term deferred expenses		879	721
Refundable deposits		495	458
Goodwill	(6)	407	395
Unsettled assets		31	31
Others		6,813	6,738
Total		92,635	114,617

(1) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at					Recoveries		As at
	1 January	Amounts				after written-	Exchange	31 December
	2022	accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	offs	differences	2022
Other receivables and prepayments	(3,265)	(3,435)	2,798	992	(8)	(77)	(8)	(3,003)

	As at					Recoveries		As at
	1 January	Amounts				after written-	Exchange	31 December
	2021	accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	offs	differences	2021
Other receivables and prepayments	(2,764)	(2,137)	1,020	1,111	(356)	(140)	1	(3,265)

(2) Right-of-use assets

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cost:		
Opening balance	13,980	13,693
Additions	2,704	2,946
Decreases	(2,354)	(2,659)
As at the end of the year	14,330	13,980
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,203)	(7,024)
Additions	(2,380)	(2,416)
Decreases	2,184	2,237
As at the end of the year	(7,399)	(7,203)
Net book value	6,931	6,777
Lease liabilities	6,775	6,640

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(2) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, committed by leases but not yet commenced amount to RMB97 million (as at 31 December 2021: RMB158 million).

(3) Investment properties

	As at 1 January 2022	Decreases of the year	Gains on property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2022
Investment properties	6,340	(190)	166	71	6,387
	As at				As at
	1 January	Decreases of the	Gains on property	Exchange	31 December
	2021	year	revaluation	differences	2021
Investment properties	7,353	(899)	183	(297)	6,340

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices of the similar properties.

As at 31 December 2022, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

				As at
				31 December
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2022
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	_	-	922	922
Commercial property units located outside Hong				
Kong	_	_	5,465	5,465

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Market Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, vacancy rate, future rent income years, capitalisation rate and unit price, etc.

(4) The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(5) Intangible assets

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2022	4,504
Additions	627
Disposals	(15)
As at 31 December 2022	5,116
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2022	(2,707)
Amortisation expense	(467)
Disposals	12
As at 31 December 2022	(3,162)
Net book value	1,954

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(5) Intangible assets (Continued)

	Software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2021	3,888
Additions	633
Disposals	(17)
As at 31 December 2021	4,504
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2021	(2,338)
Amortisation expense	(376)
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2021	(2,707)
Net book value	1,797

(6) Goodwill

	As at 1 January 2022	Addition during the year	Decrease during the year	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2022
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	_	_	_	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance	100				400
Company Limited BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	122 73	_	_	12	122 85
Total	395	_	_	12	407

	As at				As at
	1 January	Addition during	Decrease during	Exchange	31 December
	2021	the year	the year	differences	2021
Bank of Communications					
International Trust Co., Ltd.	200	_	_	_	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance					
Company Limited	122	-	-	-	122
BANCO BoCom BBM S. A.	79	_	_	(6)	73
Total	401	-		(6)	395

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Borrowing from central banks	398,293	334,794
Accrued interest	4,787	4,564
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	254,973	242,492
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	8,839	11,871
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	803,430	831,784
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	7,699	6,810
Accrued interest	3,652	3,683
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Mainland China	210,818	284,232
- Banks operating outside Mainland China	201,042	170,980
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Mainland China	200	2,364
- Other financial institutions operating outside Mainland China	10,204	8,583
Accrued interest	2,344	860
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities	128,298	44,710
Accrued interest	315	41
Total	2,034,894	1,947,768

29 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Certificates of deposit issued	22,253	1,400
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	11,502	15,247
Notes issued	1,701	1,385
Short position of securities held for trading	5	134
Others (1)	12,488	31,882
Total	47,949	50,048

⁽¹⁾ As at 31 December 2022, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

Except for certificates of deposit issued by branch in Hong Kong, notes issued by BoCom International Holdings Company Limited, and shares of consolidated structured entities held by other parties rather than the Group which are designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial liabilities held for trading.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

29 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Difference between carrying amount and maturity amount		
Fair values	36,442	34,667
Amount payable at maturity	(36,723)	(34,709)
	(281)	(42)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

30 DUE TO CUSTOMERS

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Corporate demand deposits	1,989,383	2,061,672
Corporate time deposits	2,887,650	2,488,348
Personal demand deposits	885,013	850,831
Personal time deposits	2,070,711	1,551,981
Other deposits	4,227	3,359
Due to customers	7,836,984	6,956,191
Accrued interest	112,088	83,586
Total	7,949,072	7,039,777

As at 31 December 2022, deposits from customers comprised deposits pledged as collateral of RMB331,318 million (as at 31 December 2021: RMB220,878 million).

31 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by Head office, the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost.

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Carried at amortised cost:			
Bonds	(1)	306,030	332,072
Tier-2 capital bonds	(2)	198,951	148,342
Subordinated bonds	(3)	4,800	4,800
Accrued interest		6,572	6,158
Subtotal		516,353	491,372
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds	(1)	14,508	12,153
Total		530,861	503,525

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

				Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
The Bank								
19 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	50,000	2019/11/25	3 years	-	50,000
19 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.35	40,000	2019/12/11	3 years	-	40,000
20 Bocomm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.18	50,000	2020/08/05	3 years	50,000	50,000
20 Bocomm 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.50	40,000	2020/11/11	3 years	40,000	40,000
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB	Mainland China	3.40	40,000	2021/04/06	3 years	40,000	40,000
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Mainland China	2.75	30,000	2022/06/15	3 years	29,999	-
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.98	30,000	2022/12/09	3 years	29,998	-
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond	RMB	Mainland China	2.42	20,000	2022/08/05	3 years	19,999	-
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.96	10,000	2022/12/09	3 years	9,999	-
17 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.88	300	2017/05/15	5 years	-	1,912
17 medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.90	600	2017/12/04	5 years	-	3,825
18 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.85	700	2018/05/17	5 years	4,876	4,462
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.25	2,800	2020/01/22	2 years	-	2,289
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.58	1,300	2020/01/22	3 years	9,055	8,287
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.75	100	2020/06/05	3 years	696	637
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.80	650	2020/07/20	3 years	4,528	4,143
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.90	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,786	2,550
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,560	5,084
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.80	350	2020/09/10	3 years	2,438	2,231
21 Macau PA-medium-term notes	MOP	Macau China	0.85	1,200	2021/12/15	2 years	1,038	951
P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	199	200
Subtotal							251,171	256,571

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

				Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
Subsidiaries								
19 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.68	5,000	2019/05/20	3 years	-	4,998
19 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	5,000	2019/07/08	3 years	-	4,998
19 Leasing 03	RMB	Mainland China	3.49	3,500	2019/10/21	3 years	-	3,498
20 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	3,000	2020/11/05	3 years	2,998	2,996
21 Leasing 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.62	4,000	2021/03/01	3 years	3,996	3,993
21 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.45	3,000	2021/04/22	3 years	2,627	2,625
22 Pearl notes	RMB	Mainland China	2.90	2,400	2022/12/15	3 years	1,680	-
19 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	800	2019/01/22	3 years	-	3,693
19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	3,001	2,766
19 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.20	120	2019/04/12	3 years	-	765
19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.175	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,228	1,129
19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	809	723
19 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.05	180	2019/10/25	3 years	-	1,148
19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.075	600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,450	1,585
20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.95	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,842	1,710
20 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.83	300	2020/03/02	3 years	1,628	1,492
20 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	1.75	350	2020/07/14	3 years	1,661	1,515
20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+1.70	450	2020/07/14	5 years	1,616	1,348
21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.125	500	2021/06/18	3 years	2,181	1,865
21 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong China	1.07	775	2021/09/27	3 years	692	634
13 Azure Orbit	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	500	2013/03/06	10 years	3,482	3,187
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	3.75	950	2018/01/25	5 years	6,615	6,047
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,728	1,580
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	3.50	1,050	2017/03/21	5 years	-	6,692
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,736	1,589
20 Financial Investing 01	RMB	Mainland China	2.70	3,000	2020/03/11	3 years	2,998	2,999
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Mainland China	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,995	6,990
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	3,223	2,890
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110%SELIC	200	2019/01/30	5 years	52	46
22 Brazil bonds 01	BRL	Brazil	CDI +2.60	270	2022/02/07	10 years	357	-
22 Brazil bonds 02	BRL	Brazil	CDI +2.40	200	2022/11/29	10 years	264	_
Subtotal							54,859	75,501
Total							306,030	332,072

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows:

							Fair value at	Fair value at
				Par value			the end of the	the beginning
	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	year	of the year
Subsidiaries								
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	3,120	3,027
19 Hong Kong USD medium-term notes	USD	Hong Kong China	3MLibor+0.78	800	2019/03/21	3 years	-	5,106
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	2,000	2020/01/22	2 years	-	2,034
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	0.95	1,200	2021/12/13	2 years	1,031	980
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	1,004	1,006
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong China	1.80	1,200	2022/03/21	2 years	1,039	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.20	2,800	2022/03/21	2 years	2,834	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong China	2.375	400	2022/03/21	3 years	2,661	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	RMB	Hong Kong China	3.05	1,420	2022/11/30	2 years	1,426	-
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong China	4.75	200	2022/11/30	3 years	1,393	-
Total							14,508	12,153

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
The Bank									
17 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	4.50	30,000	2017/04/11	10 years	(a)	-	29,978
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(b)	29,998	29,998
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Mainland China	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(c)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(d)	39,997	39,996
21 BoComm	RMB	Mainland China	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(e)	29,999	30,000
22 BoComm 01	RMB	Mainland China	3.45	30,000	2022/02/23	10 years	(f)	29,999	-
22 BoComm 02A	RMB	Mainland China	3.03	37,000	2022/11/11	10 years	(g)	36,998	-
22 BoComm 02B	RMB	Mainland China	3.36	13,000	2022/11/11	15 years	(h)	12,999	
Subtotal								189,989	139,971
Subsidiaries									
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Mainland China	5.15	2,000	2018/09/18	10 years	(i)	1,996	1,996
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(j)	6,966	6,375
Subtotal								8,962	8,371
Total								198,951	148,342

⁽a) The Group has redeemed full face value of 17 BoComm by exercising redemption option on 13 April 2022.

⁽b) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 25 February 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02A at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2032, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- (i) The Group has an option to redeem 18 Leasing 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 20 September 2023, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the CBIRC's permission is acquired in advance and the Group's capital structure fulfills the CBIRC requirements on capital if the redemption is exercised.
- The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise (j) the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U. S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(3) Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Mainland China	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(a)	3,000	3,000
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Mainland China	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(a)	1,800	1,800
Total								4,800	4,800

(a) BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem the bonds at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and CBIRC is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.

33 OTHER LIABILITIES

	Note	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Insurance liabilities		89,435	74,493
Clearing and settlement		22,704	24,056
Temporary receipts		35,912	16,015
Staff compensation payable		16,802	14,401
Expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and			
financial guarantees	(1)	11,291	9,242
Lease liabilities		6,775	6,640
Deposits received for finance lease		6,414	6,842
VAT and other taxes payable		4,811	5,639
Special purpose funding		1,949	2,108
Provision for outstanding litigations	(2)	520	472
Dividends payable		378	81
Others		52,019	52,706
Total		249,010	212,695

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	For the year ended 31 December 2022							
	Stage 1							
	12-month ECL	ECL	ECL	Total				
As at 1 January 2022	8,736	506	_	9,242				
Transfers:								
Transfer to Stage 1	24	(24)	_	_				
Transfer to Stage 2	(333)	333	_	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	-	_	_	_				
Provision	1,798	560	_	2,358				
Others	1	(310)	_	(309)				
As at 31 December 2022	10,226	1,065	_	11,291				

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2021							
	Stage 1 12-month	Stage 2 Lifetime	Stage 3 Lifetime					
	ECL	ECL	ECL	Total				
As at 1 January 2021	6,858	3,642	-	10,500				
Transfers:								
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 2 net	(37)	37	-	_				
Transfer between Stage 1 and Stage 3 net	-	-	-	-				
Transfer between Stage 2 and Stage 3 net	_		_	_				
Provision	1,925	73	-	1,998				
Others	(10)	(3,246)	_	(3,256)				
As at 31 December 2021	8,736	506	_	9,242				

(2) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

(2) Movements in the provi-	z) Woverhelds in the provision for outstanding inigations											
	As at	Amounts	Amounts	Amounts		As at						
	1 January	during accrued	settled during	reversed	Exchange	31 December						
	2022	the year	the year	during the year	differences	2022						
Provision for outstanding litigations	472	223	(8)	(167)	-	520						
	As at	Amounts during		Amounts		As at						
	1 January	accrued the	Amounts settled	reversed during	Exchange	31 December						
	2021	year	during the year	the year	differences	2021						
Provision for outstanding litigations	1,032	99	(361)	(298)	_	472						

ON CHARE CARITAL AND CARITAL CLIRRING

34 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS			
	Number of shares	Ordinary shares of	
	(in millions)	RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2022	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	74,263	111,429
	Number of shares	Ordinary shares of	
	(in millions)	RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 31 December 2021	74,263	74,263	111,428

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

	As at 1 January 2022	Additions	Reductions	As at 31 December 2022
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	658	1	_	659
Total	111,428	1		111,429
	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2021	Additions	Reductions	2021
Share premium	110,770	_	_	110,770

658

111,428

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(1) Preference shares

Other capital reserve

Total

(a) Preference shares outstanding at the end of the year

						in originai				
		Accounting	Dividend		Amount in	currency (in	In RMB		Conversion	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	shares	millions)	(in millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
Domestic preference shares										
Preference shares in RMB	2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity date	Mandatory	No conversion during the period
Less: Issuance fees							(48)			
Carrying amount							44,952			

(b) Movements of preference shares issued

	As at 1 January 2022	Movements		As at 31 December 2022
		Additions	Decreases	
Domestic references-shares				
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	_	_	450,000,000
In RMB (millions)	44,952	-	-	44,952

658

111,428

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

Main clauses (c)

Domestic preference shares

Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method (Continued)

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

(v) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the CBIRC approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 7 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

(2) Perpetual bonds

(a) Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the period

			Original			In original		
		Accounting	interest		Amount in	currency	In RMB	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	shares	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity
19 BoComm perpetual bonds (i)	18 September 2019	Equity	4.20	RMB100/bond	400,000,000	40,000	40,000	No fixed maturity date
20 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	23 September 2020	Equity	4.59	RMB100/bond	300,000,000	30,000	30,000	No fixed maturity date
21 BoComm perpetual bonds (ii)	8 June 2021	Equity	4.06	RMB100/bond	415,000,000	41,500	41,500	No fixed maturity date
Perpetual bonds in USD (iii)	11 November 2020	Equity	3.80	Not less than USD200,000/bond	Not applicable	2,800	18,366	No fixed maturity date
				Total			129,866	
				Less: Issuance fees			(28)	
				Carrying amount			129,838	

(b) Main clauses

(i) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the raising fund was received on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2)Perpetual bonds (Continued)

Main clauses (Continued) (b)

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the CBIRC but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the raising fund was received on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the raising fund was received on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions, by which the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(iii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 11 November 2020, and the raising fund was received on 18 November 2020. The specified denomination of the bonds is not less than USD200,000, the exceeding part need to be integral multiple of USD1000 and issued at 100% of the specified denomination. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the CBIRC, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds. Once the principal amount of the Bonds (in whole or in part) has been written-off, such relevant written-off portion of the bonds will not be restored or become payable again in any circumstances (including where the relevant Non-Viability Triggering Event ceases to continue), and any accrued but unpaid distribution in respect of such relevant written-off portion of the bonds shall cease to be payable. In addition, there will be no compensation in any form to remedy the loss of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	1,023,409	964,647
 Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company 	848,619 44,952 129,838	789,857 44,952 129,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	12,331	12,589
 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of non-cumulative subordinated 	8,873	9,424
additional Tier-1 capital securities (Note 38)	3,458	3,165

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the year ended 31 December 2022 are disclosed in Note 37.

36 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
The Group	2022	Appropriate	Decrease	2022
Statutory reserve	79,967	8,187	_	88,154
Discretionary reserve	140,022	160	_	140,182
Total	219,989	8,347	_	228,336

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20). The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Group's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by regulation requirements of belonged industries or location, also need to make such general reserve.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
The Group	2022	Appropriate	Decrease	2022
Statutory general reserve	130,280	14,261	_	144,541

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

As at 1 January 2022	258,074
Profit for the year	92,149
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(8,187)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(160)
Appropriation to general reserve	(14,261)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(26,363)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders	(5,651)
Others	(101)
As at 31 December 2022	293,668
As at 1 January 2021	214,448
Profit for the year	87,581
Appropriation to statutory reserve	(7,536)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve	(92)
Appropriation to general reserve	(7,117)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders	(23,541)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders	(1,755)
Interest to perpetual bond holders	(3,858)
Others	(56)
As at 31 December 2021	258,074

37 DIVIDENDS

	2022	2021
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	26,363	23,541
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,832	1,755
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	5,651	3,858

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- (1) Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- (2) Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- (3) Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity. The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

37 DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Pursuant to the approval by the 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 28 June 2022, the Bank appropriated a cash dividend of RMB0.355 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB26,363 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding as at 31 December 2021, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 29 April 2022, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends of RMB1.831.500.000 with a dividend yield of 4.07%.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds in USD amounting to RMB909 million on 18 November 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,377 million on 25 September 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2019 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,680 million on 20 September 2022.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2021 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,685 million on 10 June 2022.

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 31 December 2022, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3.458 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

Issue Date 3 March 2020 Face Value USD500 million First Call Date 3 March 2025 Distribution Rate (i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum (ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum if the redemption right is not exercised Frequency of distribution payments Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 capital securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB119 million during the year ended 31 December 2022.

39 CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 33. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Outstanding litigations	2,017	4,096
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 33)	520	472

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

39 CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Operating lease receipts

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircraft and vessels leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft and vessel under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
Within 1 year	16,880	13,186
After 1 year and within 2 years	15,635	12,864
After 2 years and within 3 years	14,209	12,269
After 3 years and within 4 years	12,954	11,184
After 4 years and within 5 years	11,374	10,204
After 5 years	43,924	38,879
Total	114,976	98,586

40 COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loan commitments		
– Under 1 year	10,129	3,936
- 1 year and above	71,743	57,657
Credit card commitments	998,125	908,358
Acceptance bills	536,574	368,120
Letters of guarantee	420,167	373,630
Letters of credit commitments	183,717	156,194
Total	2,220,455	1,867,895

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Contracted but not provided for	94,654	71,053

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The investors of Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds have early redemption right while the Group has the obligation to buy back those Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The redemption price is the principal value of the Certificated Bonds or Savings Bonds plus unpaid interest till redemption date. As at 31 December 2022, the principal value of the certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds that the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB66,715 million (31 December 2021: RMB78,594 million). The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds on a back-to-back basis but will pay interest and principal at maturity. As at 31 December 2022, The Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds through the Group will not be material (31 December 2021: not material).

The original maturities of these bonds vary from 1 to 5 years.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (31 December 2021: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

41 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. The carrying amount of these collaterals and the balance of operations related are listed below:

	Pledged assets		Associated liabilities	
	As at	As at	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December
	2022	2021	2022	2021
Investment securities	751,853	382,640	692,106	326,776
Bills	2,112	3,531	2,112	3,531
Total	753,965	386,171	694,218	330,307

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 46 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for borrowing from central banks or placements from banks by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB4,217 million in total (31 December 2021: RMB5,090 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

The Group received debt securities and bills as collateral in connection with the securities lending transactions and the purchase of assets under resale agreements. The Group did not hold any collateral that can be resold or re-pledged on balance sheet date when non-defaulting.

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 31 December 2022		
	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(9,692) (892)	1,947 223	(7,745) (669)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	1,438 -	(219) -	1,219 -
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	2,564 (1,606)	(560) 402	2,004 (1,204)
Translation difference on foreign operations Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of	8,562 (1,417)	116	8,562 (1,301)
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL Actuarial gains on pension benefits Others	(133) (34) 144	- - (9)	(133) (34) 135
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,066)	1,900	834

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

42 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value			
through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	4,594	(945)	3,649
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,160)	290	(870)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value			
through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity	(466)	72	(394)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss		_	-
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash			
flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity	1,133	(242)	891
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(617)	154	(463)
Translation difference on foreign operations	(3,450)	_	(3,450)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,830)	275	(1,555)
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(36)	-	(36)
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	55	-	55
Others	16	_	16
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,761)	(396)	(2,157)

43 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cash and balances with central banks	117,662	103,648
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	131,141	90,660
Total	248,803	194,308

44 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns. As at 31 December 2022, the consolidated structured entities amounted to RMB177,225 million (31 December 2021: RMB182,733 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through acting as sponsors of structured entities or investments in structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 31 December 2022, those unconsolidated structured entities sponsored by the Group consist primarily of funds, trusts, asset management products, limited partnerships, WMPs with principals not guaranteed by the Group and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities, and such income is not significant to the Group. In addition, the Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of the non-principal guaranteed WMPs set up by the Group amounted to RMB1,206,901 million, the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB531,253 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB569,762 million (As at 31 December 2021: the balance of the non-principal guaranteed WMPs set up by the Group amounted to RMB1,426,253 million, the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB547,188 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB721,946 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB10,154 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB11,775 million), and no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated WMPs (For the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

		Carrying	amount		
	Financial	Financial	Financial		
	investments at	investments at	investments at	Maximum	
	FVTPL	amortised cost	FVOCI	exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	199,024	-	-	199,024	Net gains arising from trading activities
Equity investment	1,325	-	352	1,677	Net gains arising from trading activities, other comprehensive income
Trusts and asset management products	9,141	60,463	-	69,604	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	170	261	-	431	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	209,660	60,724	352	270,736	

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

Carrying	amount

		,9			
	Financial	Financial	Financial		
	investments at	investments at	investments at	Maximum	
	FVTPL	amortised cost	FVOCI	exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	146,439	-	-	146,439	Net gains arising from trading activities
Equity investment	1,299	-	620	1,919	Net gains arising from trading activities, other comprehensive income
Trusts and asset management products	13,445	83,245	-	96,690	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	63	134	-	197	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	161,246	83,379	620	245,245	

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 28).

The transferred financial assets that are not derecognised of sales and repurchase agreements by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB6,030 million, and the associated liabilities amounted to RMB5,140 million.

Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB4,513 million (31 December 2021: RMB13,900 million).

(3) Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(3) Asset securitisation (Continued)

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

As at 31 December 2022, loans with an original value of RMB88,308 million and carrying amount of RMB63,538 million (31 December 2021: RMB66,061 million and RMB56,834 million) have been securitised by the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB36,174 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB13,927 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group retained their continued involvement in securitised credit assets by holding subordinated securities. The value of the assets that the Group continued to recognise was RMB5,529 million (31 December 2021: RMB5,529 million).

(4) Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the normal course of business. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB2,243 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB12,853 million) and collected cash totalling RMB1,423 million (For the year ended 31 December 2021: RMB8,403 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Transactions with the MOF

As at 31 December 2022, the MOF held 17,732 million (31 December 2021: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2021: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Bonds Issued by the MOF		
Financial investments at FVTPL	31,464	96.082
Financial investments at amortised cost	871,172	742,510
Financial investments at FVOCI	201,369	136,318
	2022	2021
Interest income on the government bonds	29,227	26,421

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 31 December 2022, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,155 million (31 December 2021: 12,160 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.37% (31 December 2021: 16.37%) of the total share capital.

F-123

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund (Continued)

The National Council for Social Security Fund was incorporated in August 2000, which is an independent legal entity under the management of the Ministry of Finance, responsible for managing and operating the national social security fund. Its legal representative is Liu Wei, its registered capital is RMB8.00 million and its registered address is South Fortune Times Building, No. 11 Fenghuiyuan, Xicheng District, Beijing. The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits which are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Due to customers	92,409	92,373
	2022	2021
Interest expenses	(3,846)	(3,703)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 31 December 2022, HSBC held 13,886 million (31 December 2021: 13,886 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 18.70% (31 December 2021: 18.70%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its Co-chief Executive Officer is Liao, Yi Chien David and Surendra Rosha, and its registered address is 1 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The ordinary share capital of HSBC is HKD116,103 million and USD7,198 million, which was divided into 46,441 million ordinary shares. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	2,819	3,338
Derivative financial assets	1,902	1,672
Loans and advances to customers	403	-
Financial investments at FVTPL	2,271	1,931
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,755	419
Financial investments at FVOCI	6,140	4,052
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	26,508	17,083
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	1,830	1,424
Derivative financial liabilities	1,722	1,613
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	153,484	240,864
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	16	

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures (Continued)

	2022	2021
Interest income	355	163
Interest expense	(1,596)	(95)
Fee and commission income	100	1
Fee and commission expense	(8)	(4)

(4) Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the period, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these stateowned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in note 23.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
The Bank	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	169,576	123,461
Loans and advances to customers	505	486
Financial investments at FVTPL	237	433
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,861	1,551
Financial investments at FVOCI	10,280	11,455
Derivative financial assets	902	793
Other assets	734	766
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	9,246	14,523
Derivative financial liabilities	9,572	1,851
Due to customers	8,313	11,683
Other liabilities	279	119
The Bank	2022	2021
Interest income	3,811	1,952
Interest expense	(296)	(238)
Fee and commission income	1,524	1,681
Fee and commission expense	(55)	(95)
Other operating income	637	555
Other operating expense	(175)	(82)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(6) Transactions with directors, supervisors and senior management

Transactions with directors, supervisors, senior management, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such directors, supervisors and senior management or their close relatives mainly include loans and deposits and are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers	1	1
Due to customers	10	10

Compensations of directors and senior management are disclosed in Note 15.

(7) Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are carried out under normal commercial terms and paid at market rates. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in note 24.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	_	500
Derivative financial assets	1,212	31
Loans and advances to customers	20,765	6,041
Financial investments at amortised cost	102	-
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	907	104
Derivative financial liabilities	25	35
Due to customers	84	_
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	4,594	6,947
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	6,400	12,126
	2022	2021
Interest income	373	242
Interest expense	(2)	(6)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(8) Transactions with other related parties

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2022	As at 31 December 2021
On-balance sheet items	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers	677	1,080
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	331	1,204
Due to customers	70,307	79,787
Off-balance sheet items		
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	904	-
	2022	2021
Interest income	14	22
Interest expense	(2,748)	(2,543)

(9) Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

As at 31 Decemb	er 2022	As at 31 December	er 2021
Balances	%	Balances	%
2,819	0.41	3,838	0.61
3,114	4.47	1,703	4.34
21,846	0.31	7,122	0.11
33,735	4.78	98,013	15.35
874,029	35.66	742,929	33.72
207,509	25.97	140,370	20.59
(27,746)	1.36	(18,391)	0.94
(1,830)	3.82	(1,424)	2.85
(1,747)	3.73	(1,648)	4.57
(162,810)	2.05	(172,170)	2.45
158,078	2.44	247,811	3.48
7,320	0.33	12,126	0.64
2022		2021	
Amount	%	Amount	%
29,969	7.07	26,848	7.02
(8,192)	3.30	(6,347)	2.94
100	0.20	1	_
(8)	0.17	(4)	0.08
	2,819 3,114 21,846 33,735 874,029 207,509 (27,746) (1,830) (1,747) (162,810) 158,078 7,320 2022 Amount 29,969 (8,192) 100	2,819 0.41 3,114 4.47 21,846 0.31 33,735 4.78 874,029 35.66 207,509 25.97 (27,746) 1.36 (1,830) 3.82 (1,747) 3.73 (162,810) 2.05 158,078 2.44 7,320 0.33 2022 Amount % 29,969 7.07 (8,192) 3.30 100 0.20	Balances % Balances 2,819 0.41 3,838 3,114 4.47 1,703 21,846 0.31 7,122 33,735 4.78 98,013 874,029 35.66 742,929 207,509 25.97 140,370 (27,746) 1.36 (18,391) (1,830) 3.82 (1,424) (1,747) 3.73 (1,648) (162,810) 2.05 (172,170) 158,078 2.44 247,811 7,320 0.33 12,126 2022 2021 Amount % Amount 29,969 7.07 26,848 (8,192) 3.30 (6,347) 100 0.20 1

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating segments are identified based on the structure of the Group's internal organization and management requirements. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments. Net interest income and expense relating to third parties are disclosed in external net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

Segment revenues, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. The basis for allocation is mainly based on occupation of or contribution to resources. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Geographical operating segment information

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Head Office: Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre;
- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, and Anhui Province:
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan Province, and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province, and Shandong Province;
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province, Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia Autonomous Region, and Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region;
- North Eastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province;
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague, Johannesburg.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

The geographical operating segment information of the Group is summarised as follows:

				Year	ended 31 Decemb	er 2022			
			Bohai Rim						
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern			
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	28,193	13,195	(1,906)	23,356	18,025	(516)	10,903	78,687	169,937
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	23,929	7,099	26,649	7,765	1,568	6,358	121	(73,489)	-
Net interest income	52,122	20,294	24,743	31,121	19,593	5,842	11,024	5,198	169,937
Fee and commission income	14,130	3,854	5,343	5,560	2,894	1,092	2,226	14,240	49,339
Fee and commission expense	(2,811)	(42)	(70)	(153)	(21)	(15)	(239)	(1,349)	(4,700)
Net fee and commission income	11,319	3,812	5,273	5,407	2,873	1,077	1,987	12,891	44,639
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities	3,362	274	177	651	(173)	78	(471)	13,709	17,607
Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments	948	-	27	-	-	17	(146)	(352)	494
Share of (loss)/profits of associates and joint ventures	(55)	-	-	-	-	-	65	282	292
Insurance business income	18,023	-	-	-	-	-	77	-	18,100
Other operating income	17,569	582	1,252	1,043	868	266	384	495	22,459
Total operating income -net	103,288	24,962	31,472	38,222	23,161	7,280	12,920	32,223	273,528
Credit impairment losses	(6,154)	(6,968)	(13,868)	(870)	(7,281)	(3,961)	(4,357)	(16,952)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal	(1,884)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(1)	(7)	-	1	(1,897)
Insurance business expense	(19,356)	-	-	-	-	-	(24)	-	(19,380)
Other operating expense	(28,305)	(6,955)	(9,177)	(9,484)	(6,674)	(3,371)	(4,748)	(24,911)	(93,625)
Profit/(loss) before tax	47,589	11,037	8,425	27,866	9,205	(59)	3,791	(9,639)	98,215
Income tax									(6,185)
Net profit for the year									92,030
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,793)	(945)	(1,141)	(1,135)	(956)	(497)	(508)	(1,675)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(25,091)	(340)	(210)	(391)	(856)	(190)	(441)	(3,989)	(31,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

			Bohai Rim						
	Yangtze River	Pearl River	Economic			North Eastern			
	Delta	Delta	Zone	Central China	Western China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	26,278	12,603	(1,003)	22,898	16,887	628	10,498	72,904	161,693
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	21,275	6,424	24,200	7,087	1,800	5,192	18	(65,996)	_
Net interest income	47,553	19,027	23,197	29,985	18,687	5,820	10,516	6,908	161,693
Fee and commission income	14,540	3,652	5,739	5,803	3,064	1,238	2,488	15,761	52,285
Fee and commission expense	(2,941)	(39)	(77)	(101)	(26)	(18)	(233)	(1,277)	(4,712)
Net fee and commission income	11,599	3,613	5,662	5,702	3,038	1,220	2,255	14,484	47,573
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities	7,031	376	380	659	1,824	12	(784)	13,846	23,344
Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments	849	-	27	-	-	18	589	(172)	1,311
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures	-	-	-	-	-	-	47	230	277
Insurance business income	16,459	-	-	-	-	-	56	-	16,515
Other operating income	15,316	416	954	734	551	203	456	405	19,035
Total operating income -net	98,807	23,432	30,220	37,080	24,100	7,273	13,135	35,701	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(7,451)	(4,828)	(8,046)	(9,019)	(10,600)	(9,582)	(977)	(15,868)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,020)	(6)	(8)	(14)	(58)	(212)	-	(2)	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17,037)	-	-	-	-	-	(17)	-	(17,054)
Other operating expense	(26,518)	(6,571)	(8,854)	(9,125)	(5,922)	(3,378)	(4,372)	(25,304)	(90,044)
Profit/(loss) before tax	45,781	12,027	13,312	18,922	7,520	(5,899)	7,769	(5,473)	93,959
Income tax								_	(5,020)
Net profit for the year									88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,814)	(909)	(1,133)	(1,116)	(954)	(498)	(469)	(1,206)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(17,500)	(660)	(494)	(864)	(488)	(265)	(141)	(2,535)	(22,947)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

					As at 31 De	ecember 2022				
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic Zone	Central China	Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	3,195,976	1,234,660	1,889,591	1,410,944	971,233	459,731	1,147,589	4,949,397	(2,305,473)	12,953,648
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,439	-	-	1	_	-	1,125	6,185	-	8,750
Unallocated assets										38,771
Total assets										12,992,419
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,929,814)	(1,219,145)	(1,872,761)	(1,364,697)	(960,633)	(462,599)	(1,086,273)	(4,364,445)	2,305,474	(11,954,893) (1,786)
Total liabilities										(11,956,679)

As at 31 December 2021

	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic Zone	Central China	Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	2,881,066	1,059,386	1,711,386	1,277,003	881,918	409,288	1,095,657	4,459,033	(2,141,041)	11,633,696
Investments in associates and joint ventures	4	-	-	1	-	-	201	5,573	-	5,779
Unallocated assets										32,061
Total assets										11,665,757
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,658,802)	(1,042,577)	(1,688,784)	(1,239,658)	(870,308)	(417,068)	(1,046,572)	(3,863,904)	2,141,041	(10,686,632) (1,889)
Total liabilities										(10,688,521)

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. The "Others Business" segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

		Year end	ed 31 Decembe	r 2022	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income Inter-segment net interest income/	79,079	44,883	45,831	144	169,937
(expense)	16,197	24,406	(40,603)	_	_
Net interest income	95,276	69,289	5,228	144	169,937
Net fee and commission income Net gains/(loss) arising from trading	9,984	28,095	6,381	179	44,639
activities Net (loss)/gains arising from	3,204	566	13,850	(13)	17,607
financial investments Share of profits/(loss) of associates	(13)	887	(398)	18	494
and joint ventures	28	(1)	(54)	319	292
Insurance business income	77	18,023	_	-	18,100
Other operating income	17,626	3,044	786	1,003	22,459
Total operating income-net	126,182	119,903	25,793	1,650	273,528
Credit impairment (losses)/reversal	(38,073)	(23,889)	1,552	(1)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment losses	(1,891)	(6)	_	-	(1,897)
Insurance business expense Other operating expense	(24)	(19,356)	_	-	(19,380)
 Depreciation and amortisation 	(3,359)	(4,557)	(583)	(151)	(8,650)
- Others	(37,394)	(40,997)	(4,877)	(1,707)	(84,975)
Profit/(loss) before tax	45,441	31,098	21,885	(209)	98,215
Income tax					(6,185)
Net profit for the year					92,030
Depreciation and amortisation	(3,359)	(4,557)	(583)	(151)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(27,190)	(3,692)	(457)	(169)	(31,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

	Corporate	Personal Banking	Treasury		
	Banking Business	Business	Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income	74,792	47,357	39,422	122	161,693
Inter-segment net interest income/					
(expense)	17,100	17,840	(34,940)	_	
Net interest income	91,892	65,197	4,482	122	161,693
Net fee and commission income	10,341	30,743	6,330	159	47,573
Net gains arising from trading					
activities	8,522	1,553	12,940	329	23,344
Net gains arising from financial					
investments	40	833	438	-	1,311
Share of profits of associates and					
joint ventures	6	-	-	271	277
Insurance business income	56	16,459	-	-	16,515
Other operating income	15,153	2,857	269	756	19,035
Total operating income-net	126,010	117,642	24,459	1,637	269,748
Credit impairment losses	(47,024)	(19,079)	(259)	(9)	(66,371)
Other assets impairment losses	(2,265)	(55)	_	-	(2,320)
Insurance business expense	(17)	(17,037)	_	-	(17,054)
Other operating expense					
 Depreciation and amortisation 	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
Others	(35,500)	(40,167)	(4,996)	(1,282)	(81,945)
Profit before tax	38,263	36,844	18,563	289	93,959
Income tax	,			_	(5,020)
Net profit for the year					88,939
Depreciation and amortisation	(2,941)	(4,460)	(641)	(57)	(8,099)
Capital expenditure	(8,332)	(12,636)	(1,817)	(162)	(22,947)

		As at	31 December 20)22	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets Including:	5,448,671	2,256,628	5,202,781	45,568	12,953,648
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,427	3	1,436	4,884	8,750
Unallocated assets					38,771
Total assets					12,992,419
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(5,312,511)	(3,150,383)	(3,424,365)	(63,697)	(11,950,956) (5,723)
Total liabilities					(11,956,679)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Segment assets Including:	4,770,278	2,197,968	4,588,862	76,588	11,633,696
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,156	4	_	4,619	5,779
Unallocated assets					32,061
Total assets					11,665,757
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(4,999,768)	(2,533,625)	(3,078,851)	(69,663)	(10,681,907) (6,614)
Total liabilities					(10,688,521)

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

49 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Assets		
Cash and balances with central banks	801,402	721,912
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	793,966	720,824
Derivative financial assets	65,871	38,426
Loans and advances to customers	6,767,462	6,083,046
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	577,709	507,745
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,353,127	2,147,313
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	625,454	472,635
Investments in associates and joint ventures	6,300	5,118
Investments in subsidiaries	84,279	79,269
Property and equipment	51,038	50,297
Deferred income tax assets	36,248	29,950
Other assets	60,844	86,801
Total assets	12,223,700	10,943,336

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

49 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued)

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank (Continued)

•		
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Liabilities and Equity		
Liabilities		
Due to banks and other financial institutions	1,864,487	1,807,016
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	32,172	16,799
Derivative financial liabilities	54,805	36,740
Due to customers	7,644,612	6,769,618
Certificates of deposits issued	1,080,787	882,435
Current income tax liabilities	2,572	2,952
Debt securities issued	461,224	413,552
Deferred income tax liabilities	-	41
Other liabilities	120,021	98,910
Total liabilities	11,260,680	10,028,063
	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Equity		
Share capital	74,263	74,263
Other equity investments	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	111,227	111,226
Other reserves	353,238	336,666
Retained earnings	249,502	218,328
Total equity	963,020	915,273
Total equity and liabilities	12,223,700	10,943,336

The financial statements of the Bank were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (5)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued)

49

					(All an	nounts exp	pressed in	million
	Total	915,273	81,592	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	1 +	963,020
	Retained	218,328	83,986	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651) (18,959)	(7)	249,502
	Others	1,391	4			1 1	1 1	1,435
	Actuarial changes reserve	(87)	(34)		•	1 1	1 1	(121)
	Translation differences for foreign operations	(3,804)	3,689	1	•	1 1		(115)
	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	53	(88)	•	•	1 1	1 1	(36)
Other reserves	_	(24)	(133)		1	1 1	1 1	(157)
Oth	Revaluation reserve for the reserve and changes in impairment credit risk of reserve for the financial assets liabilities at fair value comprehensive through other recomprehensive through profit or loss	(12)	(5,871)	ı	1	1 1	7 -	(5,876)
	fin Statutory t general oc reserve	122,341	•	ı	1	11,437	1 1	133,778
	Discretionary reserve	139,764		ı	1	1 1		139,764
	Statutory I reserve	77,044	ı	•	•	7,522	1 1	84,566
ı	Capital	111,226	ı	•	•	1 1	1 +	111,227
truments	Perpetual bonds	129,838		1	•	1 1	1 1	129,838
Other equity instruments	Preference Share	44,952			ı	1 1	1 1	44,952
	Share capital	74,263	1	ı	1	1 1	1 1	74,263
		As at 1 January 2022	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders Dividends paid	to preference shareholders Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders Transfer to reserves	Iransferred from other comprehensive income Others	As at 31 December 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts

nts ex								unle	ess (othe	rwise	stated)													
										Total	828,750	74,179			41,498		(23,541)		(1,755)		(3,858)	ı		1	915,273
									Retained	earnings	185,586	75,219			ı		(23,541)		(1,755)		(3,858)	(13,318)		(2)	218,328
										Others	1,375	16			ı		I		ı		ı	ı		ı	1,391
								Actuarial	changes	reserve	(142)	22			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		I	(87)
							Translation	differences	for foreign	operations	(1,964)	(1,840)			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	(3,804)
				Effective	portion of	gains or losses	on hedging	instruments	in cash flow	hedges	40	13			ı		ı		ı		1	ı		1	53
Other reserves	Revaluation	reserve for the	changes in	credit risk of	the financial	liabilities ga	designated	at fair value	through	profit or loss	12	(36)			ı		1		ı		ı	ı		1	(24)
Ōţ		Revaluation re	reserve and	impairment	reserve for	financial assets	at fair value	through other	comprehensive	income	(20)	752			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		വ	(12)
						ılı		+	Statutory co	general reserve	115,920	ı			ı		ı		ı		ı	6,421		1	122,341
									Discretionary	reserve	139,764	ı			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		ı	139,764
									Statutory	reserve	70,147	I			ı		ı		ı		ı	6,897		1	77,044
										bonds Capital surplus	111,226	ı			1		1		1		ı	ı		1	111,226
uments									Perpetual	bonds Ca	88,340	ı			41,498		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	129,838
Other equity instruments									Preference	Share	44,952	1			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	44,952
										Share capital	74,263	I			ı		ı		ı		ı	ı		1	74,263
											As at 1 January 2021	Total comprehensive income	Capital contribution by	holders of other equity	instruments	Dividends paid to ordinary	shareholders	Dividends paid to preference	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	Transferred from other	comprehensive income	As at 31 December 2021

49

(2)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

50 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Profit distribution after reporting period

On 30 March 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed to appropriate RMB8,399 million to the statutory reserve and RMB13,399 million to the statutory general reserve. A cash dividend of RMB0.373 (before tax) for each share, totalling RMB27,700 million, calculated based on the total number of shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares (RMB1 per share) as at 31 December 2022 was also proposed. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

51 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in current year.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Currency concentrations	30
International claims	302
Overdue and restructured assets	300
Segmental information of loans	304
Loans and advances to customers	309

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

As at 31 December 2022	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	908,713	259,892	241,149	1,409,754
Spot liabilities	(942,837)	(300,722)	(145,452)	(1,389,011)
Forward purchases	1,203,294	190,054	141,921	1,535,269
Forward sales	(1,386,509)	(105,679)	(208,133)	(1,700,321)
Net option position	(89)	94	1,292	1,297
Net (short) /long position	(217,428)	43,639	30,777	(143,012)
Net structural position	145,847	29,508	7,788	183,143

As at 31 December 2021	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	1,016,873	233,474	174,843	1,425,190
Spot liabilities	(956,839)	(305,411)	(125,300)	(1,387,550)
Forward purchases	1,446,642	227,581	171,559	1,845,782
Forward sales	(1,571,846)	(130,762)	(222,085)	(1,924,693)
Net option position	5,503	(12)	(747)	4,744
Net (short) /long position	(59,667)	24,870	(1,730)	(36,527)
Net structural position	121,168	31,246	7,799	160,213

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the CBIRC in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Mainland China.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Mainland China excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, holdings of trade bills and certificates of deposits and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2022	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	680,295	109,709	711,608	_	1,501,612
Of which attributed to Hong Kong	211,057	66,346	350,515	_	627,918
North and South America	20,389	12,455	28,645	_	61,489
Africa	701	1,702	96	_	2,499
Europe	10,389	593	25,469	_	36,451
Total	711,774	124,459	765,818	_	1,602,051

			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2021	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	448,033	122,959	717,912	-	1,288,904
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	62,204	21,533	304,709		388,446
North and South America	34,071	21,351	65,018	-	120,440
Africa	442	1,887	-	-	2,329
Europe	42,156	3,878	23,337		69,371
Total	524,702	150,075	806,267	-	1,481,044

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

(1) Balance of overdue loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:		
- Less than 3 months	27,737	23,164
- 3 to 6 months	16,524	15,966
- 6 to 12 months	16,956	13,467
- Over 12 months	23,611	34,565
Total	84,828	87,162
Percentage (%):		
- Less than 3 months	0.38	0.35
- 3 to 6 months	0.23	0.24
- 6 to 12 months	0.23	0.21
- Over 12 months	0.32	0.53
Total	1.16	1.33

(2) Overdue and restructured loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	13,660	8,792
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	1,533	1,625
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months		
in total loans	0.02	0.02

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

(1) Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 Dec	ember 2022	As at 31 De	cember 2021
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	Allowance for
	customers	losses	customers	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
- Yangtze River Delta	21,107	(11,898)	22,399	(13,277)
- Pearl River Delta	8,403	(4,872)	5,559	(3,389)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	10,707	(8,992)	13,893	(9,786)
- Central China	14,520	(6,287)	19,224	(10,244)
- Western China	9,333	(6,022)	9,661	(6,402)
- North Eastern China	13,595	(10,588)	12,090	(9,299)
- Head Office	9,310	(8,158)	10,831	(10,064)
Subtotal	86,975	(56,817)	93,657	(62,461)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	11,551	(5,260)	3,139	(1,421)
Total	98,526	(62,077)	96,796	(63,882)

(2) Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 Decem	ber 2022	As at 31 De	cember 2021
		Allowance for		
		impairment		Allowance for
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	impairment losses
PRC domestic regions				
- Yangtze River Delta	9,076	(5,276)	16,399	(9,189)
- Pearl River Delta	7,165	(4,091)	5,853	(3,166)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	9,361	(7,438)	9,749	(6,561)
- Central China	13,298	(5,261)	15,170	(8,080)
- Western China	6,707	(3,553)	7,176	(4,333)
- North Eastern China	9,661	(7,065)	9,119	(6,644)
- Head Office	20,116	(15,595)	20,468	(12,767)
Subtotal	75,384	(48,279)	83,934	(50,740)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas regions	9,444	(4,809)	3,228	(1,516)
Total	84,828	(53,088)	87,162	(52,256)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors (gross)

	As at 3	1 December 20	22	As at 31 December 2021		
Hong Kong		%	Amount covered by collaterals		%	Amount covered by collaterals
Corporate loans						
Manufacturing						
- Petroleum and chemical	356	0.15	1	1,130	0.54	148
- Electronics	1,247	0.52	13	1,577	0.76	25
- Textile and clothing	308	0.13	5	148	0.07	7
- Other manufacturing	8,010	3.37	3,692	25,506	12.24	5,284
Production and supply of power, heat,						
gas and water	717	0.30	429	1,418	0.68	320
Construction	6,961	2.93	1,418	5,051	2.42	1,159
Transportation, storage and postal	-,		,,,,,	-,		.,
service	10,829	4.56	2,421	9,482	4.55	3,375
Information transmission, software and	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		,	-, -		-,-
IT services	4,264	1.79	56	3,537	1.70	20
Wholesale and retail	12,633	5.32	3,425	15,584	7.48	4,052
Finance	5,419	2.28	1,136	6,730	3.23	826
Real estate	98,548	41.49	24,474	60,900	29.23	16,186
Leasing and commercial services	10,948	4.61	4,235	11,711	5.62	3,838
Others	23,321	9.82	1,352	22,489	10.79	4,175
Total corporate loans	183,561	77.27	42,657	165,263	79.31	39,415
Personal loans						
Residential mortgages	39,705	16.71	39,575	29,857	14.33	29,837
Credit cards	105	0.04	_	94	0.05	-
Others	14,214	5.98	3,467	13,149	6.31	12,539
Total personal loans	54,024	22.73	43,042	43,100	20.69	42,376
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers before impairment						
allowance	237,585	100.00	85,699	208,363	100.00	81,791
Outside Hong Kong	7,058,570			6,352,037		

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 47% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 52%).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHERS

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(2) Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 31 December 2022		As at 31 De	ecember 2021	
	Allowance for				
		impairment		Allowance for	
	Impaired loans losses		Impaired loans	impairment losses	
Corporates	78,523	(48,157)	77,628	(49,172)	
Individuals	20,003	(13,920)	19,168	(14,710)	
	98,526	(62,077)	96,796	(63,882)	

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the years are disclosed below:

	Year ended 31 December 2022		Year ended 31 December 2021			
		Recoveries				Recoveries
		Loans and	of loans and		Loans and	of loans and
		advances	advances written		advances	advances written
		written off as	off in previous		written off as	off in previous
	New provisions	uncollectible	years	New provisions	uncollectible	years
Corporates	35,060	(24,584)	3,339	45,986	(32,886)	4,443
Individuals	23,042	(21,729)	1,807	16,959	(14,633)	1,881
	58,102	(46,313)	5,146	62,945	(47,519)	6,324

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION RELATED TO LEVERAGE RATIO

Leverage ratio disclosure is disclosed according to Note 3 Leverage Ratio Disclosure Format of the Measures for the Administration of the Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised).

Reconciliation of Regulatory Consolidation and Accounting Consolidation

(in millions of RMB)

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
1	Total consolidated assets	12,992,419	11,665,757
2	Adjustments of consolidation	(106,912)	(91,385)
3	Adjustments item of customer's assets	0	0
4	Adjustments of derivatives	36,022	41,498
5	Adjustments of securities financing transactions	23,078	725
6	Adjustments of off-balance sheet item	1,411,948	1,021,988
7	Other Adjustments	(6,941)	(6,010)
8	Balance of adjusted on- and off-balance sheet assets	14,349,614	12,632,573

Leverage Ratio Information

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
1	On-balance-sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	12,636,526	11,426,283
2	Less: Deduction of tier-1 capital	(6,941)	(6,010)
3	Balance of adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions)	12,629,585	11,420,273
4	Replacement costs of derivatives (less eligible margin)	67,164	39,220
5	Potential risk exposure of derivatives	38,544	41,498
6	Sum of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet	0	0
7	Less: Assets receivable from providing eligible margin	0	0
8	Less: Derivative assets resulting from the transactions with central counterparties in providing clearing settlement services for customers	0	0
9	Notional principal of sold credit derivatives	0	0
10	Less: Deductible balance of sold credit derivatives	0	0
11	Derivative asset balance	105,708	80,718
12	Accounting asset balance of securities financing transactions	179,295	108,869
13	Less: Balance of deductible securities financing transaction assets	0	0
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure of securities financing transactions	23,078	725
15	Balance of securities financing transaction assets from acting for securities financing transactions	0	0
16	Securities financing assets balance	202,373	109,594
17	Balance of off-balance-sheet items	3,046,801	2,373,602
18	Less: Balance of off-balance-sheet items arising from the reduction of credit transfer	(1,634,853)	(1,351,614)
19	Adjusted off-balance sheet items balance	1,411,948	1,021,988
20	Net tier-1 capital	1,016,644	960,225
21	Adjusted balance of on- and off-balance sheet assets	14,349,614	12,632,573
22	Leverage ratio (%)	7.08	7.60

APPENDIX 2: THE DAILY AVERAGE LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND ITS DETAILS OF THE GROUP IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022

Seria	al Number	Amount before conversion	Amount after conversion
The	qualified high-quality liquid assets		
1	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,388,723
•	Outflow		2,000,720
2	Retail deposits, small business deposits, including:	2,747,732	264,967
3	Stable deposit	194,182	9,612
4	Less stable deposit	2,553,550	255,355
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, including:	5,101,270	2,111,148
6	Business relationship deposit (excluding agency business)	2,826,136	705,160
7	Non-business relationship deposit (including all counterparties)	2,236,905	1,367,759
8	Unsecured debt	38,229	38,229
9	Secured funding		15,686
10	Other items, including:	2,210,427	1,123,232
11	Cash outflow relates to derivatives and other collateral/pledged assets	1,080,242	1,062,060
12	Cash outflow relates to loss of funding on asset-blocked securities	303	303
13	Committed credit and liquidity facilities	1,129,882	60,869
14	Other contractual obligation to extend funds	80,052	80,052
15	Contingent funding obligations	2,026,501	71,890
16	Total expected cash outflow		3,666,975
Cash	n Inflow		
17	Secured lending (including reverse repos and securities borrowing)	134,793	134,793
18	Inflows from fully performing exposure	915,705	599,583
19	Other cash inflow	1,101,042	1,078,657
20	Total expected cash inflow	2,151,540	1,813,033
			Amount after
			adjustment
21	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,250,835
22	Net cash outflow		1,853,942
23	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)		122.00

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2022

		Unweighted value Less than				Weighted value
Seri	al Number	No Maturity		6-12 months	Over 1 year	
Ava	ilable Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	1,005,711	_	_	139,991	1,145,702
2	Regulatory Capital	1,005,711	_	_	139,991	1,145,702
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	870,511	1,990,094	37,115	3,837	2,621,888
5	Stable deposits	197,301	3,331	1,436	388	192,353
6	Less stable deposits	673,209	1,986,763	35,679	3,449	2,429,535
7	Wholesale funding	2,639,920	3,746,288	832,878	519,564	3,299,608
8	Operational deposits	2,587,049	149,406	91,243	21,283	1,435,132
9	Other wholesale funding	52,871	3,596,882	741,635	498,280	1,864,476
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	_
11	Other liabilities	73,897	363,653	76,111	273,427	284,973
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				88,908	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	73,897	363,653	76,111	184,519	284,973
14	Total available stable funding					7,352,171
Req	uired Stable Funding Item					
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					363,582
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	124,560	330	_	_	62,445
	financial institutions					
17	Loans and securities	44,065	1,913,109	1,189,402	5,238,268	5,901,618
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	38,760	-	-	5,800
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	363,101	224,579	143,593	310,348
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	24	1,466,731	917,934	3,128,351	3,843,404
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	5,890	5,222	42,848	33,407
22	Residential mortgages	_	812	986	1,481,925	1,260,535
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	_	-
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	44,041	43,706	45,903	484,399	481,531
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	-	_	-	-	-
26	Other assets	195,605	81,220	11,198	166,694	370,161
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	24,270				20,630

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2022 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Unweighted value Less than lo Maturity 6 months 6-12 months Over 1 vea			Weighted value
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				12,283	10,441
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				107,173	18,265
30	Derivative with additional requirements				88,908	17,782
31	All other assets not included in the above	171,334	81,220	11,198	47,237	303,044
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,525,380	147,217
33	Total required stable funding					6,845,021
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					107.41

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022

				Weighted value		
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	Less than 6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
Avai	lable Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	1,028,679	_	_	189,989	1,218,668
2	Regulatory Capital	1,028,679	_	_	189,989	1,218,668
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	_
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	931,216	2,089,356	27,536	3,900	2,758,479
5	Stable deposits	220,228	3,809	1,588	461	214,804
6	Less stable deposits	710,988	2,085,547	25,948	3,440	2,543,675
7	Wholesale funding	2,767,604	3,597,655	1,031,300	525,278	3,369,274
8	Operational deposits	2,732,850	154,711	111,654	21,443	1,521,050
9	Other wholesale funding	34,754	3,442,944	919,646	503,835	1,848,224
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	-
11	Other liabilities	70,852	284,674	110,805	226,356	293,314
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				46,804	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the above categories	70,852	284,674	110,805	179,553	293,314
14	Total available stable funding					7,639,736
Reg	uired Stable Funding Item					
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					433,150
16	Business relationship deposits held at other	135,643	110	2,089	2,000	70,921
	financial institutions					
17	Loans and securities	55,095	1,947,208	1,209,764	5,326,997	6,013,531
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	32,126	-	-	4,817
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non- Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	358,813	216,292	144,291	306,259
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	-	1,501,692	936,071	3,175,773	3,910,020
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	8,215	12,809	43,857	39,019
22	Residential mortgages	_	812	959	1,467,783	1,248,502
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	-	_	-
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	55,095	53,764	56,441	539,150	543,935
25 26	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities Other assets	206,197	85,060	10 201	84,406	338,479
26 27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	32,025	00,000	12,321	04,400	27,221
21	r riysical traded commodities (including gold)	02,020				۲۱,۷۲۱

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022 (CONTINUED)

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Unweighted value Less than			Weighted value
Seria	al Number	No Maturity	6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				12,225	10,391
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				69,687	22,883
30	Derivative with additional requirements				46,804	9,361
31	All other assets not included in the above	174,172	85,060	12,321	2,495	268,623
32	Off-balance-sheet items				3,422,457	142,411
33	Total required stable funding					6,998,492
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					109.16

Notes:

- The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 167 to 307, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("the Code"), together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The Group uses an expected credit loss ("ECL") model to measure the loss allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial instruments.

The determination of ECL allowance of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees is subject to the application of a number of key parameters and assumptions, including the credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustment factors. Extensive management judgment is involved in the selection of those parameters and the application of the assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees included the following:

- with the assistance of KPMG's IT specialists, understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the credit approval, recording, monitoring, the credit risk staging, ECL model update and the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists, assessing the appropriateness of the ECL model used to determine the loss allowances and the appropriateness of the key parameters and assumptions in the model, which included credit risk staging, probability of default, loss given default, exposure at default, adjustments for forward-looking information and other adjustments, and assessing the appropriateness of related key management judgment.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

The determination of the ECL allowance is heavily dependent on the external macro environment and the Group's internal credit risk management strategy. The ECL allowance for corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments to corporates and financial guarantees are derived from estimates including historical losses, internal and external credit grading and other factors. The ECL allowance for personal loans and advances and credit related commitments to individuals are derived from estimates whereby management takes into consideration historical overdue data, historical loss experience and other factors.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters involving judgement, critically assessing input parameters by seeking evidence from external sources and comparing to the Group's internal records including historical loss experience and type of collateral. As part of these procedures, we inquired the reasons for management's revisions to estimates and input parameters, compared with prior period and considered the consistency of judgement.
- comparing the macroeconomic forward-looking information used in the model with market information to assess whether they were aligned with market and economic development.
- assessing the completeness and accuracy of key data used in the ECL model. For key internal data, we compared the total balance of the loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees used by management to assess the ECL allowance with the general ledger to check the completeness of the data. We also selected samples to compare information of individual loan and advance to customers, financial investment at amortised cost, credit related commitment and financial guarantee with the underlying agreements and other related documentation. In addition, we checked the accuracy of key external data used by management by comparing them with public sources.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

Management also exercises judgement in determining the quantum of loss given default based on a range of factors. These include the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of any collaterals, and repayment sources of the borrower. Management refers to valuation reports of collaterals issued by qualified third party valuers and considers the impact of various factors including the market price, status and use when assessing the value of collaterals. The enforceability, timing and means of realisation of the collateral also have an impact on the recoverable amount of the collateral.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- for key parameters used in the ECL model which were derived from system-generated internal data, assessing the accuracy of input data by comparing the input data with original documents on a sample basis. In addition, we involved KPMG's IT specialists to assess the logics and compilation of the loans and advances' overdue information on a sample basis.
- evaluating the reasonableness of management's assessment on whether the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees has, or has not, increased significantly since initial recognition and whether the mentioned financial instruments are credit-impaired. We assessed the staging of corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees by industry sectors and used a risk-based approach to select samples in industries which are more vulnerable to the current economic situation and samples which met specific risk criteria. We checked overdue information, made enquiries of the client managers about the borrowers' business operations, inspected borrowers' financial information and researched about borrowers' businesses, to check the credit risk of the borrower, and the reasonableness of the risk stage.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5)(a) Financial instrument – Impairment, Note 2(32)(a) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Measurement of ECL", and "Note 19 Loans and advances to customers, Note 20 Financial investments, Note 31(1) Other liabilities – expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees, Note 9 Credit impairment losses, Note 3(1) Credit risk" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

We identified the measurement of ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees as a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and management judgment involved and because of its significance to the financial results and capital of the Group.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

- evaluating the reasonableness of loss given default for credit-impaired corporate loans and advances, financial investments at amortised cost, corporate credit related commitments and financial guarantees. We selected samples to evaluate the recoverable amount by considering the financial situation of the borrower, the guarantee type, the seniority of the claim, the recoverable amount of collateral, and repayment sources of the borrower. Evaluating management's assessment based on the category, condition and use of the collateral. For valuation reports of collateral issued by qualified third party valuers, we evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraiser. We also evaluated the timing and means of realisation of collateral, evaluated the forecast cash flows, considered the viability of the Group's recovery plans.
- selecting samples and assessing the accuracy of the Group's calculation on the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the ECL allowance for loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortised cost, credit related commitments and financial guarantees against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Consolidation assessment of structured entities

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(4)(c) Structured entities, Note 2(32)(d) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Consolidation of structured entities", and "Note 42 Structured entities, Note 43 Unconsolidated structured entities" to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter

Structured entities are generally created to achieve a narrow and well defined objective with restrictions around their ongoing activities.

The Group may acquire an ownership interest in a structured entity, through initiating, managing and/or investing in trust investment plans, asset management plans, funds and wealth management products ("WMPs"). The Group may also retain partial interests in assets due to guarantees or securitisation structures.

The Group is required to consider the power it possesses, its exposure to variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect returns to determine whether the Group retain any partial interests in a structured entity or should consolidate a structured entity. These factors are not purely quantitative and need to be considered collectively in the overall substance of the transactions.

We identified the recognition of interests in and consolidation of structured entities as a key audit matter because of the complex nature of certain of these structured entities and because of the judgement exercised by management in the qualitative assessment of the terms and the nature of each entity.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities included the following:

- assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities.
- selecting significant structured entities of each key product type and performing the following procedures:
 - inspecting the related contracts, internal establishment documents and information disclosed to the investors to understand the purpose of the establishment of the structured entity and the involvement the Group has with the structured entity and to assess management's judgement over whether the Group has the ability to exercise power over the structured entity;
 - inspecting the risk and reward structure of the structured entity, including any capital or return guarantee, provision of liquidity support, commission paid and distribution of the returns, to assess management's judgement as to the exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the Group's involvement in such an entity;
 - inspecting management's analysis of the structured entity, including qualitative analysis and the calculation of the magnitude and variability associated with the Group's economic interests in the structured entity, to assess management's judgement over the Group's ability to affect its own returns from the structured entity;
 - assessing management's judgement over whether the structured entity should be consolidated or not.
- assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation to the measurement of interests in and consolidation of structured entities against prevailing accounting standards.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3

Refer to the accounting policy in "Note 2(5) Financial instrument, Note 2(32)(b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – Fair value of financial instruments", and "Note 3(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities" to the consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter

Convertible bonds, unlisted equities, unlisted funds, certain trusts and asset management plans, equity derivatives, etc, held by the Group, whose fair value are determined based the fo

on certain unobservable inputs, were classified by the Group as level 3 in fair value measurement.

Management determines the fair value of these financial assets using a variety of techniques. The valuation methods mainly include discounted cash flows and comparable company, involving various unobservable inputs such as objective company's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earning ratio and liquidity discounts, etc.

We identified valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 instruments' fair value as a key audit matter because of the amount of these financial assets are significant, and because of the degree of complexity involved in the valuation techniques and significant judgement is required to be exercised by management in determining the inputs used in the valuation models.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 included the following:

- understanding and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls of financial reporting over the application of valuation models and front office and back office reconciliations for financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3.
- with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining an understanding of the valuation method used by management (including whether there is any change in the valuation method in this year) and assessing whether the valuation method selected is appropriate with reference to the prevailing accounting standards.

with the assistance of KPMG's financial risk management specialists and on a sample basis, obtaining inputs independently and assessing the reasonableness of the inputs applied by management by comparing the results of our own valuations with that of management.

 assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in relation to financial assets measured at fair value classified as level 3 against prevailing accounting standards, including fair value hierarchy information, etc..

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
 that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
 effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
 We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Chan Siu Tung.

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2024

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Interest income		459,861	418,067
Interest expense		(295,738)	(248,185)
Net interest income	4	164,123	169,882
Fee and commission income	5	47,148	49,339
Fee and commission expense	6	(4,144)	(4,484)
Net fee and commission income		43,004	44,855
Net gains arising from trading activities	7	23,224	17,607
Net gains arising from financial investments		727	494
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at			
amortised cost		40	64
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures		356	292
Other operating income	8	26,580	24,216
Net operating income		258,014	257,346
Credit impairment losses	9	(56,908)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment losses	10	(1,062)	(1,897)
Other operating expenses	11	(100,346)	(96,923)
Profit before tax		99,698	98,115
Income tax	14	(6,446)	(6,160)
Net profit for the year		93,252	91,955

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

7,534 (664)	(7,737) (669)
1,089	1,219 -
(660) 50	2,004 (1,204)
2,152 (2,367)	8,562 (641)
7,134	1,534
33	(34)
458 (313)	(133) (19)
1,166	(1,400)
8,300	134
101,552	92,089
92,728 524 93,252	92,102 (147) 91,955
100,862	92,122 (33) 92,089
1.15	1.14
	524 93,252 100,862 690 101,552

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022 (Restated)
ASSETS			
Cash and balances with central banks	16	898,022	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	17	859,642	690,421
Derivative financial assets	18	67,387	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	19	7,772,060	7,135,454
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	20	642,282	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	20	2,573,911	2,450,775
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	20	887,949	799,075
Investments in associates and joint ventures	22	8,990	8,750
Property and equipment	23	217,751	194,169
Deferred tax assets	24	40,379	39,512
Other assets	25	92,099	92,269
Total assets		14,060,472	12,991,571
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY LIABILITIES			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	26	2,424,537	2,034,894
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	27	56,557	47,949
Derivative financial liabilities	18	50,975	46,804
Deposits from customers	28	8,551,215	7,949,072
Certificates of deposits issued	29	1,027,461	1,092,366
Income tax payable		4,538	3,937
Debt securities issued	30	592,175	530,861
Deferred tax liabilities	24	2,407	1,786
Other liabilities	31	251,157	250,380
Total liabilities		12,961,022	11,958,049
EQUITY			
Share capital	32	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	33	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds		129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	32	111,428	111,429
Other reserves	34	400,805	368,808
Retained earnings	34	326,744	292,734
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		1,088,030	1,022,024
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		7,912	8,040
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments		3,508	3,458
Non-controlling interests	36	11,420	11,498
Total equity		1,099,450	1,033,522
Total equity and liabilities		14,060,472	12,991,571

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ren Deqi Chairman and Executive Director Liu Jun
Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President
F-163

EQUITY Z CHANGES For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated) 0 F STATEMENT CONSOLIDATED

		<u></u>	.5	508	2	25	@ G	27	11)		(131)			(220)	
		Total	1,033,522	32	1,034,030	101,552	(28,008)	(a, E)	(5,641)		E			(2)	1,099,450
	Non-controlling interests	Attributable to other equity instruments	3,458	1	3,458	181	•		1		(131)		•	•	3,508
	Non-control	Attributable to ordinary shares	8,040	190	8,230	200	(308)		•		•		٠	(219)	7,912
		Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company	1,022,024	318	1,022,342	100,862	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)		•		•	(1)	1,088,030
		Retained earnings	292,734	127	292,861	92,728	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)		1 000 000	(20,002)	130	•	326,744
		Others	1,016	1	1,016	(1,678)	1		•		•		1	•	(662)
		Actuarial changes reserve	(121)	1	(121)	SS	•		•		•		٠	•	(88)
		Translation differences for foreign operations	1,164	1	1,164	2,050	•		•		•		٠	•	3,214
npany		Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	693	ı	693	(609)	•		•		•		٠	•	84
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	Other reserves	reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	(157)	1	(157)	428	•		•		•		•	•	301
		Revaluation reserve and impairment for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	(6,664)	191	(6,473)	7,880	•		•		•		(130)	•	1,277
y attributable		Statutory general reserve Note 34	144,541	1	144,541	•	1		1		1 0	710,41	1	•	159,053
Edun		Discretionary surplus reserve Note 34	140,182	1	140,182	٠	٠		•		1 1	117	•	•	140,399
		Statutory reserve Note 34	88,154	1	88,154	•	•		•		1 600	8/0/8	•	•	97,227
		Capital surplus	111,429	1	111,429	٠	•		1		•		•	(111,428
	Other equity instruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838	1	129,838		•		٠	•	129,838				
	Other equity	Preference Share Note 33	44,952	1	44,952	•	•	1	•		•		•	•	44,952
		Share capital	74,263	1	74,263	•	1		•		•		•	•	74,263
			As at 31 December 2022 (Restated)	Impact of adoption of accounting policies amendments	As at 1 January 2023	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shares	Unidends paid to preference snares Interest paid to perpetual bond	holders	Interest paid to non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1	capital securities holders	Transfer of other comprehensive	income to retained earnings	Others	As at 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2022 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		Total	975,793	92,089	(26,759)	(1,832)	(5,651)	(119)		1 -	-	1,033,522		
	g interests	Attributable to other equity instruments	3,165	412	1	1	ı	(119)		1		3,458		
	Non-controlling interests	Attributable to A ordinary shares	8,881	(442)	(380)	1	1	1	1	1		8,040		
		Attributable to the shareholders / company	963,747	92,122	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	1	1	1 -	-	1,022,024		
		Retained earnings	257,187	92,102	(26,363)	(1,832)	(5,651)	1	(22,608)	(101)	1	292,734		
		Others	1,379	(363)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1,016		
		Actuarial changes reserve	(87)	(33)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	(121)		
		Translation differences for foreign operations	(6,884)	8,048	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1,164		
any	Other reserves	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	(104)	797	1	1	1	1	ı	ı	1	693		
he parent comp		Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value or loss	(24)	(133)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	(157)		
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		Revaluation reserve and impairment for francial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	1,530	(8,295)	1	1	1	1	1	101	1	(6,664)		
y attributable to		Statutory general reserve Note 34	130,280	1	1	1	1	1	14,261	1	1	144,541		
Edul		Discretionary surplus reserve Note 34	140,022	1	1	1	1	1	160	1	1	140,182		
		Statutory reserve Note 34	79,967	1	1	1	ı	1	8,187	1	1	88,154		
			Capital surplus Note 32	111,428	1	1	1	ı	1	1	1 -	-	111,429	
	instruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	129,838		
	Other equity instruments	Preference Share Note 33	44,952	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	44,952		
		Share capital Note 32	74,263	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	74,263		
			As at 1 January 2022 (Restated)	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shares	Dividends paid to preference shares Interest paid to perpetual bond	holders Interest paid to non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1	capital securities holders	Transfer to reserves Transfer of other comprehensive	income to retained earnings	Others	As at 31 December 2022		

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities:			(Flootated)
Profit before tax:		99,698	98,115
Adjustments for:		99,090	90,110
Provision for credit impairment losses		56,908	60,411
Provision for other assets impairment losses		1,062	1,897
Depreciation and amortisation		18,279	16,150
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation		(14)	56
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets		(793)	(739)
Interest income from financial investments		(111,647)	(97,311)
Fair value net (gains)/losses		(5,304)	4,171
Net gains on investments in associates and joint ventures		(356)	(292)
Net gains on financial investments		(193)	(494)
Interest expense on debt securities issued		16,395	15,807
Interest expense on lease liabilities		147	179
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities		74,182	97,950
Operating cash nows before movements in operating assets and habilities			97,930
Net increase in balances with central banks		(7,027)	(57,272)
Net (increase)/decrease in due from and placements with banks and other			
financial institutions		(222,855)	6,251
Net increase in loans and advances to customers		(678,863)	(741,007)
Net decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		68,810	(86,355)
Net decrease/(increase) in other assets		8,378	(11,755)
Net increase in due to and placements from banks and other financial			
institutions		399,145	78,740
Net decrease in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss		(8,510)	(5,357)
Net increase in deposits from customers and certificates of deposits issued		487,415	1,012,585
Net increase in other liabilities		23,345	87,181
Net increase/(decrease) in value-added tax and other taxes payable		472	(829)
Income tax paid		(7,169)	(11,911)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities		137,323	368,221

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	Note	2023	2022 (Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries, associated ventures and joint			
ventures		-	(2,780)
Cash payments for financial investments		(1,203,846)	(1,232,873)
Cash received on disposal or redemption of financial investments		1,013,044	879,650
Dividends received		744	870
Interest received from financial investments		111,423	94,863
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(2,450)	(2,094)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets		25	11
Acquisition of property, equipment		(45,141)	(29,561)
Cash received from disposal of property, equipment		9,578	7,017
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(116,623)	(284,897)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issue of debt securities		196,102	182,492
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(137,871)	(163,432)
Payment of interest on debt securities		(15,092)	(15,384)
Repayment of principal and interest of lease liabilities		(2,514)	(2,581)
Dividends paid		(35,298)	(33,555)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		(439)	(515)
Net cash flows generated/(used in) from financing activities		4,888	(32,975)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		1,070	4,146
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		26,658	54,495
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		248,803	194,308
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	41	275,461	248,803
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		350,078	323,364
Interest paid		(241,668)	(201,693)

The accompanying notes form a part of these consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank, headquartered and registered in Shanghai, which was reorganized on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (the "IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB") and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(3) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(2) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and investment property which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2(32).

The financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest million, which is the functional currency of the Group.

(3) Changes in accounting policies

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group

In the current reporting period, the Group has adopted the following International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and amendments issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

		Note
IFRS 17	Insurance Contracts	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	(ii)
Amendments to IAS 8	Definition of Accounting Estimates	(iii)
Amendments to IAS 12	Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction	(iv)
Amendments to IAS 12	International tax reform – Pillar Two model rules	(v)

(i) IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Amendments to IFRS 17 were issued in June 2020 and December 2021 to address stakeholder concerns and implementation challenges. IFRS 17 sets out a single principle-based standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts in the financial statements of the issuers.

In accordance with IFRS 17, the Group: (1) adjusted the recognition principles for insurance revenue. Insurance revenue will be recognized over the coverage period based on the provision of services, and the investment component and other non-insurance services that can be clearly distinguished will be split from the insurance contract. The premium corresponding to the investment component, other non-insurance services and the inseparable investment component were excluded from the insurance revenue; (2) revised the measurement of insurance contract liabilities, including revising measurement models for insurance contracts, revising the measurement of contractual service margin ("CSM"), the methods for measuring CSM at the transition date, and the method for determining the discount rate of insurance contract liabilities, etc.

The Group adopted IFRS 17 on 1 January 2023. According to the transitional provisions of IFRS 17, for insurance contracts that occurred before the the transition date (1 January 2023) of which measurements were not was in inconformity to IFRS 17, the Group has made retrospective adjustments and recognised the cumulative effect as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2022, and comparative information was adjusted meanwhile. In addition, according to the transitional provisions of IFRS 17, the Group also reassessed the business model for managing financial assets and revoked the previous designation, to reclass the category and measurement of financial assets. The Group recognised the cumulative effect as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2023, without adjusting the comparative information.

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

(i) IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (Continued)

The effects of adopting IFRS 17 on each of the line items in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

	Before		After
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments
ASSETS			
Loans and advances to customers	7,136,677	(1,223)	7,135,454
Deferred tax assets	38,771	741	39,512
Other assets	92,635	(366)	92,269
LIABILITIES			
Other liabilities	249,010	1,370	250,380
EQUITY			
Other reserves	369,259	(451)	368,808
Retained earnings	293,668	(934)	292,734
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,873	(833)	8,040

The effects of adopting IFRS 17 on each of the line items in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

	Before	Before		
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments	
Net operating income	273,528	(16,182)	257,346	
Other operating expenses	(113,005)	16,082	(96,923)	
Net profit for the year	92,030	(75)	91,955	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	834	(700)	134	

The Group adopted IFRS 17, recognising the cumulative effect of class and measurement of financial assets as an adjustment to retained earnings and other equity items as at 1 January 2023. The effects on each of the line items in the consolidated balance sheet as at 1 January 2023 are as follows:

	Before		After
	adjustments	Adjustments	adjustments
ASSETS			
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	705,357	688	706,045
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,450,775	(19,151)	2,431,624
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	799,075	18,971	818,046
EQUITY			
Other reserves	368,808	191	368,999
Retained earnings	292,734	127	292,861
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,040	190	8,230

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2023 relevant to and adopted by the Group (Continued)

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments clarify that an entity will be required to disclose its "material" accounting policy information as opposed to "significant" accounting policies and provide additional guidance on how to identify material accounting policy information. The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide additional guidance and examples to explain and illustrate the application of the "four-step materiality process" to accounting policy information.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(iii) Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments now define "accounting estimates" as "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty" and remove the definition of "a change in accounting estimate". The amendments also clarify that the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates unless they result from the correction of prior period errors.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(iv) Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments specify how entities should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition. As a result, entities will need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision.

The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

(v) Amendments to IAS 12, International tax reform - Pillar Two model rules

The Group has adopted International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules-Amendments to IAS 12 upon their release on 23 May 2023. The amendments provide a temporary mandatory exception from deferred tax accounting for the income tax arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules. The amendments also introduce disclosures requirements about such tax, including the estimated exposure to Pillar Two income tax. The recognition exception and disclosure about such exception are effective immediately upon issuance of the amendments. The other disclosure requirements are applicable to the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The mandatory exception applies retrospectively. However, because no new legislation to implement the top-up tax was enacted or officially implemented at 31 December 2023 in any jurisdiction in which the Group operates and no related deferred taxes were recognised at that date, the retrospective application has no impact on the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ending 31 December 2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective in the current reporting period and have not been adopted before their effective dates by the Group

The Group has not adopted the following new or amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

			Effective for annual periods	
			beginning on or after	Note
(1)	Amendments to IFRS 16	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	1 January 2024	(i)
(2)	Amendments to IAS 1 (2020)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	1 January 2024	(ii)
(3)	Amendments to IAS 1 (2022)	Non-current Liabilities with Covenants	1 January 2024	(ii)
(4)	Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7	Supplier Finance Arrangements	1 January 2024	(iii)
(5)	Amendments to IAS 21	Lack of exchangeability	1 January 2025	(iv)
(6)	Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between An Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture	The effective date has now been deferred.	(v)

(i) Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add to the requirements explaining how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains, including cases with variable lease payments in the leaseback.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments to IAS 1 (2020) concern the requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-current. In particular, the amendments specify the condition of an entity to classify a liability as non-current requires that a right to defer settlement must exist at the end of the reporting period and have substance, and clarify that classification is unaffected by management's intentions or expectations about whether the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.

The amendments also specify the classification of liabilities that will or may be settled by issuing an entity's own equity instruments. When a liability includes a counterparty conversion option that involves a transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, the classification of such liability is not affected only when the conversion option is recognised separately from the host liability as an equity component under IAS 32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

- (3) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
- (b) Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective in the current reporting period and have not been adopted before their effective dates by the Group (Continued)
- (ii) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Continued)

The amendments to IAS 1 (2022) specify that only covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current. Covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect a liability's classification at that date. However, an entity is required to disclose information regarding the risk that the non-current liabilities subject to future covenants could become repayable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 amendments defer the effective date of the 2020 amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. If an entity applies one of these two amendments for an earlier period, the other amendments should also be applied for that period.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments contain disclosure requirements to enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on a company's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of exchangeability

The amendments specify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not, and how an entity determines a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability.

Under the amendments, entities are required to provide additional disclosures to help users evaluate how a currency's lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected to affect, its financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(v) Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation

(a) Subsidiary undertakings

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are not consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combinations is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition – date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

For acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiaries is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Loses control of a subsidiary due to the disposal of a portion of an equity investment, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive are reclassified to profit or loss and retained earning.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(c) Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entities, for example when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, and key activities are directed by contractual agreement. Structured entities often have restricted activities and a narrow and well-defined objective. Examples of structured entities include investment funds, trusts, securitisation vehicles and asset backed financings. Involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in Notes 42 and 43.

(d) Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement through a separate entity, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal form, contract terms, and other facts and circumstances. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an activity, and exists only when the decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

The results of an associate or a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate or a joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is an indication of possible impairment with respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested as a single asset for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of sale) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate or joint venture, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4) Consolidation (Continued)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit ("CGU") or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group performs an impairment test on goodwill at least once a year.

On disposal of the related CGU or group of CGUs, any attributable amount of goodwill net of allowances for impairment losses, if any, is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(5) Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss for the period. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss for the period when an asset is newly originated.

The method of determining fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at the measurement date. For financial instruments with active markets, the Group uses quotations from active markets to determine their fair value, and for financial instruments where there is no active market, the Group uses valuation techniques to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques include references to prices used in recent market transactions by parties familiar with the situation and voluntary transactions, the current fair value of other financial instruments with reference to the same substantially, the discounted cash flow method and the option pricing model.

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement methods (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (Continued)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets – assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition – the Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
- Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- The Group's business model for managing the asset; and
- The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured from these financial assets. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net gains arising from financial investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on the debt investment, which is measured at FVTPL and is not part of a hedging relationship, is recognised in profit or loss and presented as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

When, and only when, the Group changes the business model for managing its financial assets, shall it reclassify all affected financial assets, and apply the reclassification prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in the Group reclassifying financial assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective (refer to Note 2(5)(b)); that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to sell. When this election is used, fair value gains or losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 'Net gains arising from financial investments' when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on equity investments at FVTPL are recognised as 'Net gains arising from trading activities'.

Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group assesses the expected credit losses ('ECL') of debt instrument assets at amortised cost and FVOCI, exposures arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantees. The Group recognises a loss allowance accordingly at each reporting date.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value, discounted at effective interest rate or the credit-adjusted effective interest rate on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The Group's method of measuring ECLs of financial instruments reflects the following elements: (i) unbiased weighted average probability determined by the results of evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) time value of money; (iii) reasonable and evidence-based information about past events, current conditions, and future economic forecasts that are available at no additional cost or effort at the end of the reporting period.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the balance sheet date.

Except for trade receivables and contract assets, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments.

- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet date;
- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group classifies financial instruments into three stages and makes provisions for expected credit losses accordingly, depending on whether credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, whether a financial instrument is credit-impaired.

The definition of financial instruments three stages as follows:

- Stage 1: Financial instruments without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For these assets, expected credit losses are recognised for the following 12 months.
- Stage 2: For financial instruments with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime if there is no objective evidence of impairment.
- Stage 3: For financial assets with objective evidence of impairment as at the balance sheet date, expected credit losses are recognised for the remaining lifetime.

Financial instruments that have low credit risk

The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low if the financial instrument has a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) a significant increase in credit risk is determined when internal and external rating during the reporting period is below the Group's credit acceptance standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in the financial instruments' credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for debt investments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group recognises loss allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at FVTPL in contingent liabilities. (See Note 31(1)).

Write-off

The book value of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
- Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the Group applies continuing involvement approach. Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors. The Group evaluates the extent to which it transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to the other party and determines whether it retains control while applying the accounting policy in respect of asset securitisation.

- The financial asset is derecognised when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- The financial asset continues to be recognised when the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and does not retain control it derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.
- When the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and retains control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. The Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

(b) Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as liabilities measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial asset did not qualify for derecognition, a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; when continuing involvement approach applies, see note 2(5)(a); and
- Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (refer to Note 2 (29)).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is more than 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (i) and (ii) below are met:

- (i) The financial instrument includes no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; and
- (ii) If the financial instrument will or may be settled in the Group's own equity instruments, it is a non-derivative instrument that includes no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments; or a derivative that will be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the fair value of proceeds received, net of direct issuance expenses.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid (combined) instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

- The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;
- A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the definition of a derivative; and
- The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated or qualified as hedging instruments, including those intended to provide effective economic hedges of specific interest rate and foreign exchange risks, but do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognised in "Net trading gains" in the income statement.

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment of hedging effectiveness both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, that is, the extent to which changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedge instrument can offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items resulting from the hedge risk.

The hedging relationship should meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

- There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. That means the hedging instrument and hedged item have values that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk;
- The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
- The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (Continued)

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

- Increase or decrease in the amounts of hedged items or hedging instruments;
- Significant changes in counterparties' credit risk.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised (the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument does not constitute an expiration or termination), or the hedging relationship ceases to meet the risk management objective, or to meet other qualifying criteria for hedging accounting.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

(i) Fair value hedge

Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses over the period to maturity and recorded as net interest income.

(ii) Cash flow hedge

Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with all, or a component of, a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the statement of profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated with the related hedged item is reported. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(5) Financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

When the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to offset recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability at the same time, the financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Otherwise, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

(6) Interest income and expense

The "Interest income" and "Interest expense" in the Group's income statement are the interest income and expense calculated by using the effective interest method on debt investment at amortised cost, debt investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at amortised cost, etc.

For those purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. For those financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have become credit-impaired financial assets, the Group calculates the interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

(7) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised when the Group fulfills its performance obligation, either over time or at a point in time when a customer obtains control of the service.

For the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognises revenue when control is passed to the customer at a certain point in time. For the performance obligations satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue according to the progress toward satisfaction of the obligation over the time.

(8) Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.

(9) Assets transferred under repurchase agreements

(a) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date at a fixed or determinable price are not derecognised in the statement of financial position. The proceeds from selling such assets are presented under "due to banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the selling price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

(b) Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific future date are not recognised in the statement of financial position. The cost of purchasing such assets is presented under "due from banks and other financial institutions" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9) Assets transferred under repurchase agreements (Continued)

(c) Securities lending

Securities lending transactions are generally secured, with collateral taking the form of securities or cash. Securities lent to counterparties by the Group are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Securities borrowed from counterparties by the Group are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Cash collateral received or advanced is recognised as a liability or an asset in the consolidated financial statements.

(10) Precious metals

Precious metals that are not related to the Group's trading activities are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Precious metals that are related to the Group's trading activities are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from re-measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(11) Property and equipment

The Group's property and equipment mainly comprise buildings, construction in progress, equipment and transportation equipment.

The assets purchased or constructed are initially measured at acquisition cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the property and equipment are included in the cost of the property and equipment if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write down the cost of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting date.

Buildings comprise primarily office premises. The estimated useful lives, depreciation rate and estimated residual value rate of buildings, equipment, transportation equipment and property improvement are as follows:

Type of assets	Estimated Useful lives	Estimated net Residual value	Annual depreciation rate
Buildings	25 - 50 years	3%	1.94% - 3.88%
Equipment	3 - 11 years	3%	8.82%-32.33%
Transportation equipment (excluding equipments under operating leases)	4 - 8 years	3%	12.13% - 24.25%
Equipments under operating leases	4 - 30 years	5% - 10%	3.00% - 23.75%

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(11) Property and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a property and equipment when it is ready for intended use.

Equipments under operating leases where the Group is the lessor is aircraft and vessel etc. The estimated useful lives and depreciation rate are determined considering their conditions and the estimated residual values are determined by external appraiser using historical data on an item-by-item basis.

(12) Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, and foreclosed non-financial assets are initially recognised at cost. At the end of each reporting period, foreclosed non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the net realisable value. When the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment allowance is recognised.

When a foreclosed asset is disposed, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group disposes of foreclosed assets through various means. In principle, foreclosed assets should not be transferred for own use, but, in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business or management purposes, they are transferred at their net carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and equipment.

When a foreclosed asset needs to be transferred for own use, it is transferred at its carrying amount including the impairment allowance at the transition day.

Foreclosed assets of the Group mainly include buildings and land use rights.

(13) Land use rights

Land use rights are classified as other assets and amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term.

(14) Intangible assets

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is available for use, its original cost is amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised.

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when necessary.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(15) Investment property

Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both and initially measured at cost.

As there is an active property market in the location in which the Group's investment property is situated, and the Group can obtain the market price and other relevant information regarding the same or similar type of property from the property market so as to reasonably estimate the fair value of the investment property; therefore, the Group uses the fair value model for subsequent measurement of the investment property, with changes in the fair value included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognises the amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss for the period.

(16) Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the impairment of deferred tax assets and financial assets, with the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any indication that an asset may be impaired exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired and it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount based on the CGU to which the asset belongs.

CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets, and the cash inflows generated by a CGU are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU, group of CGUs) is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the expected future cash flows. The Group considers all relevant factors in estimating the present value of future cash flows, such as the expected future cash flows, the useful life and the discount rate.

(a) Testing CGU with goodwill for impairment

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment by the Group at least annually, or whenever there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs are impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs. The recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGUs are the estimated future cash flows, which are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU or group of CGUs with allocated goodwill.

At the time of impairment testing of a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated, there may be an indication of an impairment of an asset within the CGU containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the asset for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that asset before testing for impairment on the CGU or group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Similarly, there may be an indication of an impairment of a CGU within a group of CGUs containing the goodwill. Under such circumstances, the Group tests the CGU for impairment first, and recognises any impairment loss for that CGU, before testing for impairment the group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(16) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment loss

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is recognised as an impairment loss and charged to the profit or loss.

For a CGU or a group of CGUs, the amount of impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, and then reduces the carrying amount of other assets (other than goodwill) within the CGU or group of CGUs, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

(c) Reversing an impairment loss

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss of the non-financial asset except for goodwill decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss. A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(17) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, the customer has both of the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

(a) The Group as Lessee

The Group recognises the right-of-use asset on the start date of the lease term and recognises the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments. The lease payments include fixed payments and payments to be made when it is reasonably determined to exercise purchase option or terminate lease option. Variable rent determined based on a certain proportion of sales is not included in the lease payments and is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's right-of-use assets include leased properties, venues, parking lots, advertising spaces, vehicles and equipment etc. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, the lease payments already paid on or before the lease start date, the initial direct costs etc., and deducts any lease incentives received. The leased asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life if the Group could reasonably determine to obtain the ownership at the expiration of the lease term; if it is unsure whether the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained at the expiration of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the recoverable value is lower than the book value of the right-of-use asset, the Group reduces the book value to the recoverable value.

For short-term leases with a lease term shorter than 12 months and leases of asset with low value when it is new, the Group recognises relevant rental expenses on a straight-line basis in profit or loss or in the related asset costs in each lease period rather than recognising the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(17) Leases (Continued)

(a) The Group as Lessee (Continued)

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate lease if both:(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and (b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease modification, the Group remeasures the lease term and the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset for lease modifications that decrease the scope or term of the lease, and recognised the gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss. The Group makes a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications.

(b) The Group as Lessor

Operating Lease

When the Group leases out its own buildings and properties, equipment and transportation vehicles, the rental income arising from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable rent gained by the Group is recognised in rental income when incurred.

Finance Lease

As lessor of the finance lease, the Group recognises the finance lease receivables for the finance lease on the commencement date of the lease period and derecognises the related assets. Finance lease receivables are recognised at the net lease investment to "Loans and advances to customers" for the initial measurement. The net lease investment is the sum of the unsecured residual value and the present value of the lease payments unreceived at the commencement date of the lease period discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

Finance lease receivables are derecognised when the contractual rights of receiving cash from the finance lease receivables have expired or have been transferred and all substantial risks and rewards regarding the lease have been transferred.

During the lease period, the lessor applies the fixed periodic interest rate to calculate the interest income for each period. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(18) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid assets, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and assets with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase under balances with central banks, due from banks and other financial institutions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(19) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account factors pertaining to a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the provision.

(20) Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

(a) Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a single transaction that is not a business combination, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (or deductible loss) and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred tax is also not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(20) Income taxes (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(21) Share capital

(a) Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares issued.

(b) Share issue costs

External costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(22) Preference shares and perpetual bonds

At initial recognition preference shares and perpetual bonds issued by the Group are classified as financial liabilities or equity instruments based on their contractual terms and economic substance with reference to the definition of financial liabilities and equity instruments.

Preference shares and perpetual bonds issued by the Group that should be classified as equity instruments are recognised in equity based on the actual proceeds received. Any distribution of dividends or interests during the instruments' duration is treated as profit appropriation. When the preference shares and perpetual bonds are redeemed according to the contractual terms, the redemption amount is recognised as a deduction from equity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(23) Dividend distribution

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the period in which they are declared and approved by the Bank's shareholders.

(b) Dividends on preference shares

Preference share dividend distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(c) Distribution on perpetual bonds

Perpetual bond interest distribution is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Bank's financial statements in the period in which the interest distribution approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

(24) Acceptances

Acceptances comprise the Group's commitments on payment for bills that are issued to customers. Acceptances are accounted for as credit related commitments and financial guarantees and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments.

(25) Staff costs and benefits

(a) Staff costs

Staff costs include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds, labor union fees as well as staff education expenses and housing allowance. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the staff costs payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

The Group participates in the employee social security systems established by the government, including medical insurance, housing funds and other social securities, in accordance with relevant requirements. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(b) Post-employment benefits

The Group divides post-employment benefit plans into defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions. Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. During the reporting period, post-employment benefits for the employees of the Group mainly include payment to basic retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, annuity plan and supplementary retirement benefits.

Basic retirement insurance

Employees of the Group have joined basic retirement insurance arranged by local ministry of labour and social security. The Group makes monthly contributions to the retirement insurance according to the base and proportion set by local government. When employees retire, local ministry of labour and social security is responsible for the payment of the basic pension to the retired employees. Such basic retirement insurance is a defined contribution plan. During the reporting period in which employees have rendered services, the Group recognises the amounts payable as a liability with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or the cost of assets where appropriate.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(25) Staff costs and benefits (Continued)

(b) Post-employment benefits (Continued)

Annuity plan

Employees of domestic branches who retire at or after 1 January 2009 participate in the annuity plan established by the Group. The Group contributes a certain portion of employees' gross salaries to the annuity plan. Such annuity plan is a defined benefit plan. Related expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees of domestic branches who retired at or before 31 December 2008. Such supplementary retirement benefits are defined benefit plans. The Group accrues a liability based on actuarial techniques and recognises all actuarial gains or losses in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains or losses will not be reversed to profit or loss subsequently. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability and recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(c) Early retirement expenses

The Group pays the welfare benefits for employees, who have not yet reached the statutory retirement age limit and are approved by the Group to voluntarily retire from their employment, from the early retirement date to the statutory retirement age limit. These welfare benefits are recognised in profit or loss based on the discounted cash flow calculation over the implementation period. The Group reviews present value of the welfare benefits on each reporting date, with any changes recognised in profit or loss.

(26) Foreign currency translation

Renminbi ("RMB") is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries operate. Therefore, the Bank and the Group's domestic subsidiaries choose RMB as their functional currency. The Bank and the Group's foreign subsidiaries choose their respective functional currencies on the basis of the primary economic environment in which they operate. The Group adopts RMB to prepare its consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

At the reporting date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date and those on initial recognition or at the previous reporting date are recognised in profit or loss for the period, except that (i) exchange differences related to hedging instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign exchange risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (ii) exchange differences arising from non-monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as shares) denominated in foreign currencies and changes in the carrying amounts (other than the amortised cost) of monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised as other comprehensive income; and (iii) exchange differences arising on a foreign currency monetary item that forms part of the Bank's net investment in a foreign operation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(26) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions or a rate that approximates the spot exchange rates of the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or upon a loss of control over a foreign operation due to disposal of certain interest in it or other reasons, the Group transfers the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of this foreign operation and foreign currency monetary items that form part of the net investment in such foreign operation attributable to the owners' equity of the Group and presented under shareholder's equity in the statement of financial position, to profit or loss in the period in which the disposal occurs.

In case of a disposal or other reason that does not result in the Group losing control over a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit and loss. For partial disposals of equity interests in foreign operations which are associates and joint ventures, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences arising on translation of financial statements of foreign operations is reclassified to profit or loss.

(27) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable and can be reliably estimated, it will then be recognised as a provision.

(28) Insurance contracts

(a) Level of aggregation

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are aggregated into groups for measuring purposes. Groups of contracts are determined by first identifying portfolios of contracts, each comprising contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts in different product lines are expected to be in different portfolios. Each portfolio is then divided into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohorts into three groups:

- (i) Any contracts that onerous on initial recognition;
- (ii) Any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; and
- (iii) Any remaining contracts in the annual cohort.

When a contract is recognized, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the contract does not qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group in which future contracts may be added.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(28) Insurance contracts (Continued)

(b) Contract boundaries

The measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the boundary of each contract in the Group.

For insurance contracts, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group can compel the policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide services (including insurance coverage and investment services).

For investment contracts with DPF, the cash flows are within the contract boundary if they result from a substantive obligation of the Group to deliver cash at a present or future date.

(c) Measurement - Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF

On initial recognition, the Group measures a group of contracts as the total of (a) fulfilment cash flows, which comprise estimates of future cash flows, adjusted to reflect the time value of money and the associated financial risks, and a risk adjustment for non-financial risk; and (b) the CSM. The fulfilment cash flows of a group of contracts do not reflect the Group's non-performance risk.

Subsequently, the carrying amount of a group of contracts at each reporting date is the sum of the liability of remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims. The liability for remaining coverage comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to services that will be provided under the contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at that date. The liability for incurred claims includes the fulfilment cash flows for incurred claims and expenses that have not yet been paid, including claims that have been incurred but not yet reported.

(d) Insurance acquisition cash flows

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the Group belongs. Insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of contracts using systematic and rational methods based on the total premiums of each group.

Insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the related contracts are recognized as separate assets and tested for recoverability, whereas other insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the estimate of the present value of future cash flows as part of the measurement of the related contracts.

(29) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of guarantee fees, and the best estimate of the expected credit loss provision required to settle the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of profit and loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(29) Credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

The impairment allowance of loan commitments provided by the Group is measured by ECL. The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For credit related commitments and financial guarantees, the loss allowance is recognised as an provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group can not separately identify the ECL on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECL on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined ECL exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the ECL are recognised as a provision.

(30) Fiduciary activities

In activities where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as trustee, custodian or agent, the assets and income arising from the transaction together with the related undertakings to return the assets to customers are excluded from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group conducts entrusted lending for the third-party lenders. The Group grants loans to borrowers, as trustee, according to the instruction of the third-party lenders who fund these loans. The Group is responsible for the arrangement and collection of the entrusted loans and receives a commission for the services rendered. As the Group does not assume the risks and rewards of the entrusted loans and does not provide funding for the corresponding entrusted funds, the entrusted loans are not recognised as assets and liabilities of the Group.

(31) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors and the senior management team represented by the governor as its chief operating decision maker.

An operating segment is a component of the Group with all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) that component can earn revenues and incur expenses from ordinary activities; (ii) the component's operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (iii) discrete financial information for the component is available to the Group. If two or more operating segments have similar economic characteristics, and certain conditions are satisfied, they may be aggregated into a single operating segment. Intra-segment income and expenses are eliminated. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are considered in determining segment performance.

The Group has the following segments: Head Office, Yangtze River Delta, Central China, Bohai Rim Economic Zone, Pearl River Delta, Western China, Northeastern China and Overseas.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(32) Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance require the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

(a) Measurement of ECL

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and credit related commitments and financial guarantees, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Note 3(1) specifies the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques used in the measurement of expected credit loss and also discloses the sensitivity of expected credit losses to changes in these factors.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;
- Criteria for determining whether or not there was a significant increase in credit risk, or a default or impairment loss was incurred;
- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement, and the application of economic scenarios and weightings;
- Management overlay adjustments due to significant uncertain factors not covered in the models; and
- The estimated future cash flows for loans and advances to customers and financial investments at amortised cost for which DCF model was used to calculate ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note 3(1).

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques include the use of recent arm's length transactions, observable prices for similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis using risk-adjusted interest rates, and commonly used market pricing models. To the extent practical, models use observable data such as interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option volatilities, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty's), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market observable data. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation techniques including review of valuation model assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumptions, the quality of market data, whether markets are active or inactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approval processes. Valuation techniques are validated and periodically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at the financial reporting date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(32) Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax various jurisdictions; principally, in Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC. There are certain transactions and activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group has made estimates for application of tax legislation and items of uncertainty taking into account existing tax legislation and past practice. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially estimated, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax in the period during which such a determination is made.

(d) Consolidation of structured entities

Where the Group acts as asset manager of or investor in structured entities, the Group makes significant judgement on whether the Group controls and should consolidate these structured entities. When performing this assessment, the Group assesses the Group's contractual rights and obligations in light of the transaction structures, and evaluates the Group's power over the structured entities, performs analysis and tests on the variable returns from the structured entities, including but not limited to commission income and asset management fees earned as the asset manager, the retention of residual income, and, if any, the liquidity and other support provided to the structured entities. The Group also assesses whether it acts as a principal or an agent through analysis of the scope of its decision-making authority over the structured entities, the remuneration to which it is entitled for asset management services, the Group's exposure to variability of returns from its other interests in the structured entities, and the rights held by other parties in the structured entities.

(e) Derecognition of financial assets

In judging whether the transaction in which a loan transfer through packaging and asset securitisation is consistent with the termination confirmation of a financial asset, the Group needs to assess whether the Group meets the criteria for the transfer of financial assets and whether almost all risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan are transferred. If there is neither a transfer nor a retention of almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the transferred loan, the Group will further assess whether control over the transferred loan has been retained. In assessing and judging, the Group has taken into account a wide range of factors, such as whether trading arrangements are accompanied by repurchase clauses. The Group sets situational assumptions and uses the future cash flow discount model for risk and compensation transfer testing. The Group derecognised the loan only if the loan has been transferred and almost all risks and benefits in ownership have been transferred to another subject. If the Group retains almost all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the transferred loan, it shall continue to confirm the loan and at the same time recognise the proceeds received as a financial liability. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained almost all of the risks and rewards in the ownership of the loan and has not waived its control over the loan, the financial assets concerned are recognised to the extent that the loan continues to be involved and the relevant liability is recognised accordingly.

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are periodically reviewed for impairment by the Group and where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the asset's expected future cash flow.

Fair value is usually based on market prices, and the management obtains it from professional appraisal agencies. Disposal costs include legal fees and taxes related to the asset disposal. When estimating the present value of the expected future cash flow of fixed assets leased out by the subsidiary, the management takes the rental amount agreed in the lease contract and the value of the assets at the end of the lease term as the basis for estimating future cash flows, and determines an appropriate discount rate for the calculation of the present value of future cash flows in various scenarios.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Group is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

(a) Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Corporate and Institutional Banking Department, Inclusive Finance Department/Rural Revitalization Finance Department, Retail Credit Department, Pacific Credit Card Center, International Banking Department/Offshore Banking Center, Credit Management Department, Credit Approval Department, Risk Management Department, Non-Performing Asset Management Department, Financial institution Department (Commercial Papre Center)/Asset Management Center and Global Markets Department (Commercial Paper Center). They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(i) Loans and advances to customers

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more guidance on credit investment, formulate guidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of post - loan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk monitoring, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal.

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and prewarning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating business management system and combining relevant system function control, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various supervisory and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through customer classification and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(ii) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The investment in those debts and bills is to have better credit quality assets while maintaining readily available liquidity resource. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and branch based on the credit approval authority and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(ii) Treasury business (Continued)

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and wealth management products set up by banking financial institutions. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right, ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and issuers of inter-bank wealth management products, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i.e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i.e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market fluctuations. Collateral is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except when the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

(iii) Credit-related commitments

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

(iv) Credit risk quality

In accordance with the Rules on Risk Classification of Financial Assets of Commercial Banks (Order No. 1 [2023] of the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and People's Bank of China), the Group conducts classified management of financial assets. Financial assets are classified by their level of risk into the five categories of Normal, Special-Mention, Substandard, Doubtful, and Loss, with the latter three collectively referred to as non-performing assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk quality (Continued)

The core of the five categories are defined as follows:

Normal: The debtor is capable of meeting its contractual obligations and there is no objective evidence

indicating that the principal, interests, and income cannot be paid in full and on time.

Special-mention: The debtor is currently capable of paying the principal, interests, and income notwithstanding a

number of factors that might adversely affect its capacity to meet its contractual obligations.

Substandard: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full or the financial assets have

undergone credit impairment.

Doubtful: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full and the financial assets

have undergone significant credit impairment.

Loss: None or only a minimum fraction of the financial assets can be recovered after exhausting all available

options.

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes:
- the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) The changed internal and external ratings are worse than the Group's credit access standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk, and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

The criteria adopted by the Group to determine whether a credit impairment occurs under IFRS 9 is consistent with the internal credit risk management objectives for relevant financial instrument, in addition to consideration of quantitative and qualitative indicators. In general, the Group considers a financial instrument to be credit-impaired or otherwise in default when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-on-year Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario". The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted semiannually, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

As at 31 December 2023, The Group forecasts the 2024 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be 5% in the Basic Scenario. The Group fully considered the macroeconomic forecast for 2024 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models.

The Group determined the weightings of "Basic Scenario", "Optimistic Scenario" and "Pessimistic Scenario" with macro data analysis and expert's judgement and maintain relative stability.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available. When the management believed that the forecast model could not fully reflect recent credit or economic events, management overlay adjustments could be used to supplement ECL allowances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types and so on.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group measures sensitivity analysis on the macro-economic indicators used in prospective estimation. As at 31 December 2023, if the optimistic/pessimistic scenario weighting increases or decreases by 10%, and the prediction of economic indicators changed correspondingly, the change of the impairment allowance does not exceed 5%.

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group adopts credit rating methods to monitor the credit risk status of its debt instrument portfolio. The Group classified the credit risk levels of financial assets measured by ECL into "Low" (credit risk in good condition), "Medium" (increased credit risk), and "High" (credit risk in severe condition), based on the quality of assets. The credit risk level is used for the purpose of the group's internal credit risk management. "Low" refers to assets with good credit quality. There is no sufficient reason to doubt that the assets are not expected to fulfill its contractual obligation to repay or if there is any other behaviors breaching the debt contracts that would significantly impact the repayment of debt according to contract terms. "Medium" refers to assets facing obvious negative factors impacting its repayment capacity, but not yet have non-repayment behaviors. "High" refers to non-repayment according to the debt contract terms, or other behaviors breaching the debt contracts or having significant impact on the repayment of debt according to contract terms.

The following table is the summary of the group's credit risk exposure of the main financial instruments included in the ECL assessment scope. The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the worst credit risk exposure at the end of each reporting period, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The credit risk exposure to the Group at the end of each reporting period primarily arises from credit and treasury operations. For on balance sheet assets, the maximum credit risk exposure refers to the book value of financial assets after deducting loss provisions. In addition, off balance sheet items such as loan commitment, credit card commitment, Banker's acceptance, letter of guarantee, guarantee and letter of credit also include credit risk. And the maximum credit risk exposure of these off balance sheet items is the balance after the provision of estimated liabilities.

Allowanoo

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

							Allowance	
					Overseas		for	Maximum
	Low	Medium		Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 31 December 2023	risk	risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	862,742	-	-	862,742	22,803	885,545	-	885,545
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	4,458,676	81,134	67,245	4,607,055	478,432	5,085,487	(152,862)	4,932,625
Stage 1	4,378,790	-	-	4,378,790	437,523	4,816,313	(60,962)	4,755,351
Stage 2	79,886	81,134	_	161,020	22,627	183,647	(38,395)	145,252
Stage 3	-	-	67,245	67,245	18,282	85,527	(53,505)	32,022
at FVOCI	398,335	125	19	398,479	-	398,479	-	398,479
Stage 1	391,313	-	_	391,313	-	391,313	-	391,313
Stage 2	7,022	125	_	7,147	-	7,147	-	7,147
Stage 3	-	-	19	19	-	19	-	19
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,355,913	30,662	19,808	2,406,383	66,717	2,473,100	(50,913)	2,422,187
Stage 1	2,336,427	-	_	2,336,427	66,017	2,402,444	(19,710)	2,382,734
Stage 2	19,486	30,662	_	50,148	385	50,533	(16,945)	33,588
Stage 3	-	_	19,808	19,808	315	20,123	(14,258)	5,865
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	441,228	_	_	441,228	420,963	862,191	(2,549)	859,642
Stage 1	441,228	_	_	441,228	412,770	853,998	(2,543)	851,455
Stage 2	_	_	_	_	8,193	8,193	(6)	8,187
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,477,019	2,784	1,136	2,480,939	96,610	2,577,549	(3,638)	2,573,911
Stage 1	2,477,019	_	_	2,477,019	95,803	2,572,822	(1,662)	2,571,160
Stage 2	-	2,784	_	2,784	382	3,166	(997)	2,169
Stage 3	-	_	1,136	1,136	425	1,561	(979)	582
Debt investments at FVOCI	417,918	103	_	418,021	455,245	873,266	-	873,266
Stage 1	417,918	-	-	417,918	452,134	870,052	-	870,052
Stage 2	_	103	-	103	2,983	3,086	-	3,086
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	128	128	-	128
On-balance sheet total	11,411,831	114,808	88,208	11,614,847	1,540,770	13,155,617	(209,962)	12,945,655

As at 31 December 2023	Domestic branches	Overseas and subsidiaries	Group total	Provisions	Maximum exposure to credit risk
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees					
Stage 1	2,172,236	47.799	2,220,035	(8,275)	2,211,760
Stage 2	12,331	225	12,556	(551)	12,005
Off-balance sheet total	2,184,567	48,024	2,232,591	(8,826)	2,223,765

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

							Allowance	
					Overseas		for	Maximum
	Low	Medium		Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 31 December 2022	risk	risk	High risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	766,436	-	-	766,436	25,827	792,263	-	792,263
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	3,945,613	79,199	60,506	4,085,318	521,838	4,607,156	(134,409)	4,472,747
Stage 1	3,866,961	-	-	3,866,961	485,011	4,351,972	(51,219)	4,300,753
Stage 2	78,652	79,199	-	157,851	18,873	176,724	(35,112)	141,612
Stage 3	-	-	60,506	60,506	17,954	78,460	(48,078)	30,382
at FVOCI	322,364	2	36	322,402	63	322,465	-	322,465
Stage 1	315,497	-	-	315,497	63	315,560	-	315,560
Stage 2	6,867	2	-	6,869	-	6,869	-	6,869
Stage 3	-	-	36	36	-	36	-	36
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,261,444	20,181	19,743	2,301,368	63,949	2,365,317	(41,769)	2,323,548
Stage 1	2,247,634	_	_	2,247,634	62,332	2,309,966	(17,576)	2,292,390
Stage 2	13,810	20,181	_	33,991	1,357	35,348	(10,273)	25,075
Stage 3	_	_	19,743	19,743	260	20,003	(13,920)	6,083
Due from and placements with banks and other								
financial institutions	366,086	_	_	366,086	325,369	691,455	(1,034)	690,421
Stage 1	366,086	_	_	366,086	321,673	687,759	(1,032)	686,727
Stage 2	_	_	_	_	3,696	3,696	(2)	3,694
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,318,706	1,341	1,125	2,321,172	132,367	2,453,539	(2,764)	2,450,775
Stage 1	2,318,706	_	_	2,318,706	129,095	2,447,801	(1,547)	2,446,254
Stage 2	_	1,341	_	1,341	2,641	3,982	(260)	3,722
Stage 3	_	_	1,125	1,125	631	1,756	(957)	799
Debt investments at FVOCI	380,020	-	_	380,020	403,732	783,752	-	783,752
Stage 1	380,020	_	_	380,020	400,510	780,530	_	780,530
Stage 2	_	_	_	_	2,794	2,794	_	2,794
Stage 3	-	_	-	-	428	428	-	428
On-balance sheet total	10,360,669	100,723	81,410	10,542,802	1,473,145	12,015,947	(179,976)	11,835,971

As at 31 December 2022	Domestic branches	Overseas and subsidiaries	Group total	Provisions	Maximum exposure to credit risk
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees					
Stage 1	2,153,567	54,654	2,208,221	(10,226)	2,197,995
Stage 2	11,469	765	12,234	(1,065)	11,169
Off-balance sheet total	2,165,036	55,419	2,220,455	(11,291)	2,209,164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets measured at FVTPL which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

	Maximum exposure to credit risk		
	As at		
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss			
Derivative financial instruments	67,387	69,687	
Loans and advances to customers	19	27	
Debt securities	227,242	252,953	
Fund and trust management products	180,911	209,180	
Equity investments and other investments	73,770	72,204	
Precious metal contracts	4,524	24,557	
Other debt investments	155,835	146,463	
Total	709,688	775,071	

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

	Maximum loan-
Collaterals	to-value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will strengthen collection through short message reminders, telephone calls, letters, judicial proceedings and other means as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

As at 31 December 2023	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	105,650	(67,763)	37,887	50,316
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	19	_	19	16
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,561	(979)	582	832
Debt investments at FVOCI	128	-	128	-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	98,463	(61,998)	36,465	50,145
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	36	-	36	36
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,756	(957)	799	876
Financial investments at FVOCI	428	_	428	-

Master netting arrangements

The Group may enter into master netting arrangements or similar agreements with the counterparties to reduce credit risk furtherly. The related credit risk of contracts will reduce when settled on a net basis. Each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

(d) Derivative instruments

The Group undertakes its transactions in foreign exchange, commodity, interest rate and other derivative contracts with other financial institutions and customers. The management has established limits for these contracts based on counterparties, industry sectors and countries. Actual credit risk exposures are regularly monitored and controlled by the management.

Credit risk-weighted amounts

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Counterparty credit risk-weighted amounts	46,882	39,298

The credit risk-weighted amounts are the amounts calculated with reference to the guidelines issued by the former China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (the "former CBIRC") and are dependent on, amongst other factors, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the maturity of each type of contract. The credit risk-weighted amounts stated above have not taken the effects of netting arrangements into account.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(e) Foreclosed assets

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Buildings	1,366	1,400
Land use rights	8	8
Others	10	4
Gross	1,384	1,412
Less: Impairment allowances	(439)	(412)
Net	945	1,000

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

Chinese			
Mainland	Hong Kong	Others	Total
865,236	1,578	18,731	885,545
649,279	83,984	126,379	859,642
31,029	29,982	6,376	67,387
7,421,635	217,391	133,034	7,772,060
552,977	9,664	5,871	568,512
467,473	223,644	182,149	873,266
2,513,000	43,769	17,142	2,573,911
27,536	5,948	5,510	38,994
12,528,165	615,960	495,192	13,639,317
1,186,022	6,118	13,111	1,205,251
1,004,082	18,895	4,363	1,027,340
2,190,104	25,013	17,474	2,232,591
	865,236 649,279 31,029 7,421,635 552,977 467,473 2,513,000 27,536 12,528,165 1,186,022 1,004,082	Mainland Hong Kong 865,236 1,578 649,279 83,984 31,029 29,982 7,421,635 217,391 552,977 9,664 467,473 223,644 2,513,000 43,769 27,536 5,948 12,528,165 615,960 1,186,022 6,118 1,004,082 18,895	Mainland Hong Kong Others 865,236 1,578 18,731 649,279 83,984 126,379 31,029 29,982 6,376 7,421,635 217,391 133,034 552,977 9,664 5,871 467,473 223,644 182,149 2,513,000 43,769 17,142 27,536 5,948 5,510 12,528,165 615,960 495,192 1,186,022 6,118 13,111 1,004,082 18,895 4,363

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets (Continued)

Concentration risk for geographical sectors (Continued)

	Chinese			
As at 31 December 2022	Mainland	Hong Kong	Others	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	768,985	1,874	21,404	792,263
Due from and placements with banks and other financial				
institutions	423,549	109,971	156,901	690,421
Derivative financial assets	23,345	38,787	7,555	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,764,444	232,934	138,076	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	616,906	11,249	4,998	633,153
Debt investments at FVOCI	400,661	225,274	157,817	783,752
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,369,077	48,398	33,300	2,450,775
Other financial assets	24,569	5,456	5,930	35,955
Total	11,391,536	673,943	525,981	12,591,460
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,118,222	12,737	9,499	1,140,458
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,049,643	18,257	12,097	1,079,997
Total	2,167,865	30,994	21,596	2,220,455

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 Decemb	er 2022
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	2,226,422	27.98	1,999,175	27.40
Central China	1,290,880	16.22	1,196,075	16.40
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,288,078	16.19	1,137,282	15.59
Pearl River Delta	1,051,204	13.21	978,749	13.42
Western China	947,510	11.91	875,476	12.00
Head Office	528,330	6.64	481,741	6.60
North Eastern China	265,215	3.33	250,190	3.43
Overseas	359,446	4.52	376,277	5.16
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 46.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets (Continued)

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 December 2022	
		%		%
Corporate loans				
Manufacturing	954,586	12.00	836,532	11.46
Transportation, storage and postal service	905,624	11.38	823,156	11.28
Leasing and commercial services	866,601	10.89	729,818	10.00
Real estate	489,080	6.15	519,857	7.13
Water conservancy, environmental and				
other public services	466,137	5.86	429,222	5.88
Production and supply of power, heat, gas and water	391,742	4.92	342,617	4.70
Wholesale and retail	292,168	3.67	254,447	3.49
Construction	188,716	2.37	176,696	2.42
Finance	159,183	2.00	148,747	2.04
Education, science, culture and public health	141,254	1.78	128,762	1.77
Mining	116,467	1.46	118,246	1.62
Information transmission, software and IT services	81,176	1.02	68,246	0.94
Accommodation and catering	38,159	0.48	40,168	0.55
Others	88,640	1.11	94,839	1.30
Discounted bills	304,452	3.83	218,295	2.99
Total corporate loans	5,483,985	68.92	4,929,648	67.57
Personal loans				
Mortgages	1,462,634	18.39	1,512,648	20.74
Credit cards	489,725	6.15	477,746	6.55
Others	520,741	6.54	374,923	5.14
Total personal loans	2,473,100	31.08	2,365,317	32.43
Gross amount of loans and advances before				
impairment allowances	7,957,085	100.00	7,294,965	100.00

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk

Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the former CBIRC, the Group's financial instrument positions are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the trading book. The banking book consists of all financial instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

Voor anded 31 December 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

(a) VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc.. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

	fear ended 31 December 2023						
Items	31 December 2023	Average	Maximum	Minimum			
VaR	199	390	681	196			
Including: Interest rate risk	184	338	572	171			
Foreign exchange risk	106	131	275	36			
	31 December	Year ended 31 De	cember 2022				
Items	2022	Average	Maximum	Minimum			
VaR	631	565	771	298			
Including: Interest rate risk	558	570	790	282			
Foreign exchange risk	107	90	154	43			

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in net profit		
	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	11,574	10,860	
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(11,574)	(10,860)	

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

comprehensive income		
As at		
31 December 31 [
2023	2022	
(17,882)	(17,667)	
20,084	17,861	
	comprehension As at 31 December 2023 (17,882)	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes.

The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

	Changes in net profit		
	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
5% appreciation of RMB	837	(327)	
5% depreciation of RMB	(837)	327	

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

		Changes in other comprehensive income		
	As at A			
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022		
5% appreciation of RMB	(3,481)	(1,138)		
5% depreciation of RMB	3,481	1,138		

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing risk due to maturity mismatching of asset and liability businesses, and basis risk due to inconsistent pricing benchmarks.

On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group pays high attention to the transition of interest rate benchmark and has established a task force to speed up the launch and implementation of interest rate benchmark reform project. As at 30 June 2023, all LIBOR priced products discontinued quoting. The Group steadily promoted the conversion work in strict accordance with the scheduled exit time of each LIBOR product to achieve a smooth transition between the old and new benchmark interest rates, and carries out related businesses in an orderly manner.

The Group has established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	884,284	-	_	_	_	13,738	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	434,995	148,731	232,858	36,844	17	6,197	859,642
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	-	-	67,387	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	1,924,013	1,178,073	3,741,404	453,813	177,729	297,028	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	16,558	18,941	90,093	63,598	62,685	390,407	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	11,920	65,591	179,537	1,101,787	1,186,480	28,596	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	34,805	88,610	104,644	404,770	231,057	24,063	887,949
Other assets	1,161					358,058	359,219
Total assets	3,307,736	1,499,946	4,348,536	2,060,812	1,657,968	1,185,474	14,060,472
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,453,238)	(276,568)	(634,551)	(40,657)	(6,535)	(12,988)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(2,941)	(126)	(13,658)	(27,341)	-	(12,491)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(50,975)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(3,951,448)	(686,639)	(1,363,898)	(2,398,185)	(3)	(151,042)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(132,766)	(317,076)	(657,052)	(313,319)	(307,974)	(149,551)	(1,877,738)
Other habilities			(0,000,450)	(2 770 502)	(314,512)	(377,047)	(12,961,022)
Total liabilities	(5,540,393)	(1,280,409)	(2,669,159)	(2,779,502)	(017,012)	3011/011/	
	(5,540,393)	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	808,427	1,099,450
Total liabilities	<u></u>						
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,232,657)	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	808,427 Non-interest	1,099,450
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022	(2,232,657)	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	808,427 Non-interest	1,099,450
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	Non-interest bearing	1,099,450 Total
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	Non-interest bearing	1,099,450 Total
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224	219,537 1-3 months	1,679,377 3-12 months	(718,690) 1-5 years	1,343,456 Over 5 years	Non-interest bearing	1,099,450 Total 806,102
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224	219,537 1-3 months	1,679,377 3-12 months	(718,690) 1-5 years	1,343,456 Over 5 years	Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684	Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161	Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 -	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 -	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 -	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 -	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 -	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 -	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 -	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 -	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 -	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities Due to and placements from banks and	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495 3,023,073	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274 - 1,250,411	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 - 4,573,782	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 - 1,417,239	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 - 1,494,475	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205 1,232,591	Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700 12,991,571
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495 3,023,073	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274 - 1,250,411 (256,095)	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 - 4,573,782 (518,409)	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 - 1,417,239	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 - 1,494,475	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205 1,232,591 (11,098)	Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700 12,991,571
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495 3,023,073	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274 - 1,250,411 (256,095)	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 - 4,573,782 (518,409)	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 - 1,417,239	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 - 1,494,475	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205 1,232,591 (11,098) (14,913)	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700 12,991,571 (2,034,894) (47,949) (46,804) (7,949,072)
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495 3,023,073 (1,221,722) (3,009) -	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274 - 1,250,411 (256,095) (4,475)	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 - 4,573,782 (518,409) (4,068) -	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 - 1,417,239 (24,137) (21,484)	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 - 1,494,475 (3,433)	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205 1,232,591 (11,098) (14,913) (46,804)	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700 12,991,571 (2,034,894) (47,949) (46,804)
Total liabilities Total interest sensitivity gap As at 31 December 2022 Assets Cash and balances with central banks Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions Derivative financial assets Loans and advances to customers Financial investments at FVTPL Financial investments at amortised cost Financial investments at FVOCI Other assets Total assets Liabilities Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers	(2,232,657) Up to 1 month 787,224 335,968 - 1,811,554 12,769 27,790 47,273 495 3,023,073 (1,221,722) (3,009) - (3,896,914)	219,537 1-3 months - 104,925 - 958,019 24,727 52,466 110,274 - 1,250,411 (256,095) (4,475) - (624,232)	1,679,377 3-12 months - 205,097 - 3,474,803 143,074 510,213 240,595 - 4,573,782 (518,409) (4,068) - (1,444,736)	(718,690) 1-5 years - 38,075 - 342,512 50,189 790,849 195,614 - 1,417,239 (24,137) (21,484) - (1,863,246)	1,343,456 Over 5 years - 1,592 - 205,882 65,437 1,040,333 181,231 - 1,494,475 (3,433) - (19)	808,427 Non-interest bearing 18,878 4,764 69,687 342,684 409,161 29,124 24,088 334,205 1,232,591 (11,098) (14,913) (46,804) (119,925)	1,099,450 Total 806,102 690,421 69,687 7,135,454 705,357 2,450,775 799,075 334,700 12,991,571 (2,034,894) (47,949) (46,804) (7,949,072)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

As at 31 December 2023, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB7.0827 (31 December 2022: RMB6.9646) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.9062 (31 December 2022: RMB0.89327), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

As at 31 December 2023	RMB	USD (RMB Equivalent)	HKD (RMB Equivalent)	Others (RMB Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	863,157	16,398	2,583	15,884	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	523,097	264,554	33,678	38,313	859,642
Derivative financial assets	39,341	21,204	4,059	2,783	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	7,276,689	208,367	189,991	97,013	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	567,556	57,516	3,210	14,000	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,468,066	76,789	14,221	14,835	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	455,213	338,548	17,033	77,155	887,949
Other assets	158,175	184,010	6,402	10,632	359,219
Total assets	12,351,294	1,167,386	271,177	270,615	14,060,472
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(2,071,836)	(284,634)	(7,232)	(60,835)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(45,060)	(7,693)	(1,107)	(2,697)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	(36,367)	(6,239)	(5,342)	(3,027)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(7,870,593)	(373,200)	(253,858)	(53,564)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(1,645,750)	(183,905)	(23,108)	(24,975)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	(11,669,606)	(855,671)	(290,647)	(145,098)	(12,961,022)
Net position	681,688	311,715	(19,470)	125,517	1,099,450
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	2,055,142	135,069	13,899	28,481	2,232,591

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2022	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	761,360	24,466	3,029	17,247	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	355,917	284,404	30,206	19,894	690,421
Derivative financial assets	34,610	27,496	4,928	2,653	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	6,584,029	255,653	205,170	90,602	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	605,884	62,679	4,513	32,281	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,316,741	92,370	20,047	21,617	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	421,630	304,276	15,846	57,323	799,075
Other assets	154,748	166,603	6,089	7,260	334,700
Total assets	11,234,919	1,217,947	289,828	248,877	12,991,571
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(1,637,331)	(324,092)	(17,291)	(56,180)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(26,181)	(9,147)	(1,119)	(11,502)	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	(32,994)	(7,062)	(5,292)	(1,456)	(46,804)
Deposits from customers	(7,191,205)	(431,120)	(272,029)	(54,718)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities	(1,667,539)	(178,479)	(10,258)	(23,054)	(1,879,330)
Total liabilities	(10,555,250)	(949,900)	(305,989)	(146,910)	(11,958,049)
Net position	679,669	268,047	(16,161)	101,967	1,033,522
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	2,043,649	133,379	14,386	29,041	2,220,455

(e) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

(3) Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group is not able to obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(a) Liquidity risk management

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc.;
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities:
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions;
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	695,143	202,550	-	329	-	-	-	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	70,228	337,245	132,864	244,157	78,396	20,173	883,063
Loans and advances to customers	76,918	-	-	536,179	526,757	2,005,894	2,627,952	3,681,800	9,455,500
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,695	51,696	117,071	102,928	68,783	668,798
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	14,630	74,810	250,806	1,351,540	1,350,430	3,043,219
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	19,138	47,199	143,138	519,908	285,228	1,029,367
Other financial assets	2,003	-	36,991						38,994
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	80,086	780,297	551,834	922,887	833,655	2,761,066	4,680,724	5,406,414	16,016,963
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and other									
financial institutions	-	-	(906,104)	(544,729)	(265,996)	(649,323)	(66,668)	(17,997)	(2,450,817)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,562)	(14,672)	(29,191)	-	(58,700)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,192,693)	(886,873)	(701,788)	(1,406,736)	(2,522,115)	(3)	(8,710,208)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(116,088)	(293,059)	(615,261)	(15,678)	(455)	(1,040,541)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(4,264)	(20,884)	(76,961)	(321,073)	(263,540)	(686,722)
Other financial liabilities		-	(79,863)	(2,308)	(533)	(2,362)	(5,449)	(6,014)	(96,529)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		(577)	(4,189,665)	(1,555,955)	(1,283,822)	(2,765,315)	(2,960,174)	(288,009)	(13,043,517)
Net position	80,086	779,720	(3,637,831)	(633,068)	(450,167)	(4,249)	1,720,550	5,118,405	2,973,446

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	135,461	167,626	94,515	217,059	78,603	15,386	708,650
Loans and advances to customers	52,307	-	-	541,086	375,055	1,915,727	2,323,574	3,995,721	9,203,470
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,734	45,012	189,021	73,448	76,065	731,540
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	28,653	56,763	652,487	931,575	1,223,543	2,893,820
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	11,022	41,574	340,732	271,680	215,671	896,479
Other financial assets	2,054		41,394						43,448
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	55,913	758,200	576,725	759,121	613,258	3,315,026	3,678,880	5,526,386	15,283,509
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(812,999)	(391,858)	(246,329)	(538,680)	(46,374)	(13,610)	(2,049,850)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,901)	(3,928)	(6,209)	(5,338)	(23,437)	-	(49,813)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,119,909)	(869,509)	(629,734)	(1,460,728)	(1,923,273)	(20)	(8,003,173)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(97,197)	(241,229)	(753,631)	(14,860)	(234)	(1,107,151)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(16,125)	(10,346)	(123,394)	(234,952)	(227,919)	(612,736)
Other financial liabilities			(98,112)	(2,461)	(701)	(2,057)	(5,168)	(21,217)	(129,716)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)	_		(4,041,921)	(1,381,078)	(1,134,548)	(2,883,828)	(2,248,064)	(263,000)	(11,952,439)
Net position	55,913	758,200	(3,465,196)	(621,957)	(521,290)	431,198	1,430,816	5,263,386	3,331,070

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	6	11	8	14	_	39
Interest rate contracts and others	932	2,688	9,242	20,428	2,915	36,205
Total	938	2,699	9,250	20,442	2,915	36,244
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	(6)	(19)	(78)	(60)	-	(163)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(484)	(1,588)	(5,236)	(10,488)	(1,473)	(19,269)
Total	(490)	(1,607)	(5,314)	(10,548)	(1,473)	(19,432)
	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over 5	
As at 31 December 2022	1 month	months	months	years	years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	42	2	6	1	_	51
- Interest rate contracts and others	1,078	2,057	7,949	22,168	4,691	37,943
Total	1,120	2,059	7,955	22,169	4,691	37,994
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange and commodity 						
contracts	(111)	(4)	(57)	-	-	(172)
- Interest rate contracts and others	(525)	(1,136)	(3,976)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,450)
Total	(636)	(1,140)	(4,033)	(7,073)	(740)	(13,622)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments settled on						
- Cash inflow	1,135,990	1,077,307	1,980,490	144,136	11,585	4,349,508
Cash outflow	(1,135,816)	(1,075,969)	(1,981,905)	(144,536)	(11,553)	(4,349,779)
Total	174	1,338	(1,415)	(400)	32	(271)

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments settled on						
Cash inflow	923,004	899,228	1,213,145	141,467	11,248	3,188,092
- Cash outflow	(924,062)	(898,343)	(1,211,701)	(141,797)	(11,106)	(3,187,009)
Total	(1,058)	885	1,444	(330)	142	1,083

(d) Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	695,143	202,550	-	329	-	-	-	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	70,015	336,651	131,534	238,325	70,169	12,948	859,642
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,916	14,014	16,290	17,992	11,175	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	46,696	-	-	518,606	485,650	1,847,322	2,117,921	2,755,865	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,357	51,042	111,629	88,343	63,286	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	13,927	69,928	194,362	1,107,467	1,187,224	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	18,815	45,034	124,703	449,115	235,526	887,949
Other assets	2,003	247,290	69,547			4,165	36,214		359,219
Total assets	49,864	1,027,587	584,177	911,272	797,531	2,536,796	3,887,221	4,266,024	14,060,472
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(906,104)	(544,069)	(264,549)	(637,782)	(59,622)	(12,411)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,561)	(14,379)	(27,342)	-	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(7,795)	(12,030)	(18,144)	(10,465)	(2,541)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,191,422)	(878,497)	(687,874)	(1,370,261)	(2,423,158)	(3)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities		_	(92,833)	(138,310)	(329,373)	(676,462)	(329,228)	(311,532)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	<u>-</u>	(577)	(4,201,364)	(1,570,364)	(1,295,387)	(2,717,028)	(2,849,815)	(326,487)	(12,961,022)
Net amount on liquidity gap	49,864	1,027,010	(3,617,187)	(659,092)	(497,856)	(180,232)	1,037,406	3,939,537	1,099,450

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d) Maturity analysis (Continued)

				Up to	1 – 3	3 – 12	1 – 5	Over	
As at 31 December 2022	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	688,101	117,662	-	339	-	-	-	806,102
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	135,359	167,125	93,769	212,200	70,862	11,106	690,421
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,404	11,392	14,522	21,553	14,816	69,687
Loans and advances to customers	31,901	-	-	523,562	339,907	1,762,551	1,822,050	2,655,483	7,135,454
Financial investments at FVTPL	276	54,776	282,208	10,301	43,907	178,534	66,400	68,955	705,357
Financial investments at amortised cost	799	-	-	25,067	46,691	523,131	804,463	1,050,624	2,450,775
Financial investments at FVOCI	477	15,323	-	9,069	38,363	306,910	243,875	185,058	799,075
Other assets	2,054	223,001	70,133		_	1,908	37,604		334,700
Total assets	35,507	981,201	605,362	742,528	574,368	2,999,756	3,066,807	3,986,042	12,991,571
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(812,938)	(391,535)	(245, 168)	(530,014)	(44,293)	(10,946)	(2,034,894)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	-	(10,866)	(3,923)	(6,196)	(5,257)	(21,707)	-	(47,949)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(8,133)	(10,589)	(13,964)	(10,858)	(3,260)	(46,804)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,118,072)	(869,185)	(628,192)	(1,452,998)	(1,880,606)	(19)	(7,949,072)
Other liabilities		_	(110,657)	(131,467)	(266,303)	(865,454)	(233,651)	(271,798)	(1,879,330)
Total liabilities			(4,052,533)	(1,404,243)	(1,156,448)	(2,867,687)	(2,191,115)	(286,023)	(11,958,049)
Net amount on liquidity gap	35,507	981,201	(3,447,171)	(661,715)	(582,080)	132,069	875,692	3,700,019	1,033,522

(e) Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc.. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	953,626	31,706	42,008	1,027,340
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	980,707	215,611	8,933	1,205,251
Total	1,934,333	247,317	50,941	2,232,591
As at 31 December 2022	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,011,599	36,001	32,397	1,079,997
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	962,440	175,396	2,622	1,140,458
Total	1,974,039	211,397	35,019	2,220,455

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value. The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing a sound system of internal control over valuation and is ultimately responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control and for reviewing and approving the policy for fair value accounting valuation of financial instruments. The Group has constructed an institutional approach and internal mechanism related to fair value valuation, which specifies valuation techniques, parameter selection and information disclosure, as well as the corresponding division of responsibilities.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- (i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- (ii) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- (iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities and certificates of deposit without quotations from active market, unimpaired loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals and debt securities issued. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the yield curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method and Black-Scholes model. The fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include recent market prices, the relevant yield curve, exchange rates and counterparty's credit spread. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant yield curve, exchange rate, level of volatilities and counterparty's credit spread, etc.. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, impaired loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, restricted stock units, unlisted equities, unlisted funds and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments are determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, the valuation methods used were mainly the discounted cash flow method and the market comparable companies method, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as interest's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts. The Group has established internal control procedures to monitor the Group's exposure to such financial instruments.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and deposits from customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 Decem	ber 2022
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,573,911	2,635,222	2,450,775	2,484,041
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	(566,611)	(569,680)	(516,353)	(514,389)
Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not med As at 31 December 2023	asured at fair value Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	4,282	2,573,820	57,120	2,635,222
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued		(569,680)		(569,680)
As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial asset				
Financial investments at amortised cost	64,532	2,346,708	72,801	2,484,041
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	_	(514,389)	-	(514,389)

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, deposits from customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	13,035	-	13,035
Debt securities	1,187	223,348	2,707	227,242
Fund and asset management products	105,771	49,082	26,058	180,911
Equity investments and other investments	4,686	870	68,214	73,770
Precious metal contracts	-	4,524	-	4,524
Other debt investments	-	155,835	-	155,835
Derivative financial instruments	-	66,362	1,025	67,387
Loans and advances to customers		19		19
Subtotal	111,644	513,075	98,004	722,723
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	2,523	868,192	2,551	873,266
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	8,544	-	6,139	14,683
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		398,460	19	398,479
Subtotal	11,067	1,266,652	8,709	1,286,428
Total assets	122,711	1,779,727	106,713	2,009,151
As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Placements from banks and other financial institutions	-	(11,464)	-	(11,464)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(6)	(56,015)	(536)	(56,557)
Derivative financial instruments	_	(50,975)	_	(50,975)
Debt securities issued	-	(25,564)	_	(25,564)
Total liabilities	(6)	(144,018)	(536)	(144,560)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Debt securities	6,585	243,646	2,722	252,953
Fund and asset management products	154,825	32,506	21,849	209,180
Equity investments and other investments	5,725	4,164	62,315	72,204
Precious metal contracts	-	24,557	-	24,557
Other debt investments	-	146,463	-	146,463
Derivative financial instruments	-	68,509	1,178	69,687
Loans and advances to customers		27		27
Subtotal	167,135	519,872	88,064	775,071
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	145,987	636,929	836	783,752
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	7,929	1,603	5,791	15,323
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		322,429	36	322,465
Subtotal	153,916	960,961	6,663	1,121,540
Total assets	321,051	1,480,833	94,727	1,896,611
As at 31 December 2022	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(47,949)	_	(47,949)
Derivative financial instruments	-	(46,804)	-	(46,804)
Debt securities issued		(14,508)	_	(14,508)
Total liabilities	_	(109,261)	_	(109,261)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis have no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

Reconciliation of Level 3 items

	Financial assets at FVTPL	Financial assets at FVOCI	Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Balance at 1 January 2023	88,064	6,663	_
Total gains or losses			
- Net gains arising from trading activities	586	78	_
- Other comprehensive income	_	316	_
Additions	31,051	2,209	(536)
Disposals and settlement	(21,697)	(565)	_
Transfer from other levels	-	8	-
Balance at 31 December 2023	98,004	8,709	(536)
Total gains generated by financial assets held by the Group as at			
31 December 2023			
- Realised gains	3,411	75	-
- Unrealised gains	579	406	-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items (Continued)

	Financial assets	Financial assets
	at FVTPL	at FVOCI
Balance at 1 January 2022	71,376	7,575
Total gains or losses		
 Net gains arising from trading activities 	1,278	787
- Other comprehensive income	-	(2,275)
Additions	18,657	634
Disposals and settlement	(3,369)	(85)
Transfer from other levels	122	27
Balance at 31 December 2022	88,064	6,663
Total gains/(losses) generated by financial assets held by the Group as at		
31 December 2022		
- Realised gains	2,384	785
- Unrealised losses	(1,106)	(2,273)

(5) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

(6) Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The Group management adopts administrative measures issued by the former CBIRC, which was developed based on guideline issued by the Basel Committee, in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of regulatory capital on a quarterly basis. The quarterly monitored information is then submitted to China's National Financial Regulatory Administration (the "NFRA").

The Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for Trial Implementation) specified the regulatory requirements for minimum capital, capital conservation buffer, additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks, countercyclical buffer and Pillar II capital as follows:

- Minimum regulatory requirements for common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio are 5%, 6% and 8%, respectively;
- Capital conservation buffer requires additional 2.5% on common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Additional capital surcharge for systemically important banks requires additional 0.75% on common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio;
- Should the regulators require countercyclical buffer under particular circumstances or regulators impose additional Pillar II capital requirements, these requirements shall be met within the specified time limits.

The Group's capital as monitored by its Planning and Finance Department consists of the following:

- Common equity tier-1 capital, including ordinary shares, eligible portion of capital surplus, statutory reserve, discretionary reserve, statutory general reserve, retained earnings, eligible portion of noncontrolling interests and others;
- Additional tier-1 capital, including Additional tier-1 capital instruments issued and related premium and eligible portion of non-controlling interests;
- Tier-2 capital, including tier-2 capital instruments issued and related premium, excess loan loss provisions and eligible portion of non-controlling interests.

The Group's deductible items from common equity tier-1 capital include: Goodwill, other intangible assets (except land use rights), investments in common equity tier-1 capital of financial institutions with controlling interests but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

In 2014, the former CBIRC officially approved the implementation of the advanced approach of capital management, and the Group has steadily promoted the implementation and deepened application of advanced methods in accordance with regulatory requirements. The Group expanded the implementation scope of advanced methods and ended the transition period with the approval of the former CBIRC in 2018. According to the implementation scope of the advanced methods of capital management approved by the former CBIRC, the Group elected to use internal rating based ("IRB") approach for credit risk exposures, internal model approach for market risk exposures and standardised approach for operational risk exposures which is compliant with regulatory requirements. For credit risk exposures not covered by IRB, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the weighted approach. For market risk exposures not covered by internal model approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the standardised approach. For operational risk exposures not covered by standardised approach, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by basic indicator approach.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

The capital ratios calculated based on Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for Trial Implementation) are as follows:

Items	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	10.23	10.06
Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio (%)	12.22	12.18
Capital adequacy ratio (%)	15.27	14.97
Common equity tier-1 capital	912,456	847,105
Common equity tier-1 capital deductions	(7,062)	(6,941)
Net common equity tier-1 capital	905,394	840,164
Additional tier-1 capital	176,289	176,480
Net tier-1 capital	1,081,683	1,016,644
Tier-2 capital	269,433	233,673
Net capital	1,351,116	1,250,317
Risk-weighted assets	8,850,786	8,350,074

4 NET INTEREST INCOME

	2023	2022
Interest income		
Loans and advances to customers	306,150	291,850
Financial investments	111,647	97,311
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	29,671	17,886
Balances with central banks	12,393	11,020
Subtotal	459,861	418,067
Interest expense		
Deposits from customers	(192,982)	(163,457)
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(55,150)	(44,696)
Certificates of deposit issued	(31,211)	(24,225)
Debt securities issued	(16,395)	(15,807)
Subtotal	(295,738)	(248,185)
Net interest income	164,123	169,882

5 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2023	2022
18,762	19,141
8,004	7,496
7,808	10,154
5,274	4,980
3,201	2,884
2,521	3,093
1,375	1,364
203	227
47,148	49,339
	18,762 8,004 7,808 5,274 3,201 2,521 1,375 203

0000

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

6 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

	2023	2022
Bank card business	2,341	2,454
Settlement and agency services	1,551	1,649
Others	252	381
Total	4,144	4,484

7 NET GAINS ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

	2023	2022
Financial instruments at FVTPL	18,512	5,808
Interest rate instruments and others	7,799	6,062
Foreign exchange	(3,087)	5,737
Total	23,224	17,607

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

Net gains arising from trading activities for the year ended 31 December 2023 included a net loss of RMB57 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: a net gain of RMB274 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

	2023	2022
Leasing income	19,478	14,969
Insurance business income	1,902	1,712
Net gains on the disposal of fixed and foreclosed assets	793	739
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	681	1,953
Revaluation of investment properties	(176)	166
Other miscellaneous income	3,902	4,677
Total	26,580	24,216

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

9 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2023	2022
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	54,211	57,066
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,502	(1,333)
Debt investments at FVOCI	1,027	598
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	733	840
Financial investments at amortised cost	45	(198)
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	(2,269)	2,358
Others	1,659	1,080
Total	56,908	60,411

10 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

	2023	2022
Operating lease assets	1,007	1,882
Foreclosed assets	61	8
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2	-
Assets to be disposed	(1)	-
Precious metal	(7)	7
Total	1,062	1,897

11 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

	2023	2022
Staff costs and benefits (Note 12)	41,092	39,314
General operating and administrative expenses	26,750	28,187
Costs of operating lease business	13,803	9,879
Depreciation and amortisation	9,527	8,650
Insurance business expense	4,429	4,615
Tax and surcharges	3,172	3,119
(Reversal)/provision for outstanding litigations	(14)	56
Others	1,587	3,103
Total	100,346	96,923

12 STAFF COSTS

	Note	2023	2022
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies		27,797	26,918
Post-employment benefit	(1)	4,797	4,326
Other social security and benefit costs		8,498	8,070
Total		41,092	39,314

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by municipal and provincial governments in Chinese Mainland, under which it is required to make monthly contributions to these plans based on certain percentage of the employees' basic salary for the year. The Group's contributions to these pension plans are charged to profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

Employees who retire at or after 1 January 2009 can voluntarily participate in an Annuity Plan. The Bank contributes to the Annuity Plan based on certain percentage of the employees' gross salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 December 2023, there are no forfeited contributions under the Group's retirement benefit plans which can be used to deduct contributions payable for future years.

The amount recognised in profit or loss in the year is as follows:

	2023	2022
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	2,971	2,674
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	1,805	1,626
Total	4,776	4,300

The amount payable at the end of the year is as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Payable for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	84	85
Payable for annuity plan	41	41
Total	125	126

Defined benefit plans

The Group pays supplementary retirement benefits to employees in Chinese Mainland, who retired at or before 31 December 2008. The Group's obligations in respect of supplementary retirement benefits are calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that the Group is committed to pay to the employees after their retirement using actuarial techniques. Such benefits, which are estimated by using key parameters such as inflation rate and mortality ratio, are discounted to their present values. The discount rate is the yield on government bonds at the end of reporting date, the maturity dates of which approximate to the terms of the Group's obligations. Actuarial gains or losses and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income, and amendments to pension plan are recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of unfunded obligations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Chinese Mainland are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Statement of financial position		
Net obligations for pension benefits	331	396

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	2023	2022
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	21	26
Components of defined benefit (gains)/costs recognised in other comprehensive income	(33)	34
Total	(12)	60

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

Movements in the unfunded obligations over the year are as follows:

	2023	2022
Present value of unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year	396	385
Retirement benefits paid during the year	(53)	(49)
Interest expense	18	22
Past service cost	3	4
Net actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in the current year	(33)	34
Present value of unfunded obligations at the end of the year	331	396

The average duration of the supplementary retirement benefits plan at 31 December 2023 is 10.78 years (31 December 2022: 11.43 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of RMB37 million (2022: RMB39 million) to the defined benefit plan during the next financial year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

The supplementary retirement benefits plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest risk, longevity risk and inflation risk. A decrease in the government bond yield will increase the present value of unfunded obligations. The present value of unfunded obligations is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability. The present value of unfunded obligations is also measured by future payment standards, which are determined by inflation rate. Hence, an increase in inflation rate will increase the present value of the unfunded obligations.

The principal actuarial assumptions regarding interest risk and inflation risk used by the Group are discount rate and inflation rate, which were 2.70% (31 December 2022: 2.99%) and 0.42% (31 December 2022: 1.99%) respectively as at 31 December 2023. In the meantime, assumptions regarding future mortality rate are set based on published statistics by the former CBIRC. An average longevity of a pensioner after retirement at age 60 for male is 23.13 years (31 December 2022: 23.13 years) while a pensioner after retirement at age 55 for female is 33.13 years (31 December 2022: 33.13 years).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

(1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2023			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	673	267	940
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	673	255	928
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chan, Siu Chung	-	-	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	-	-	-
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	-	-	-	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	-	-	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	310	-	-	310
Mr. Wong Tin Chak	78	-	-	78
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	673	255	928
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	-	-
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	280	-	280
Mr. Su, Zhi	-	260	-	260
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	-	1,040	250	1,290
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	-	1,040	250	1,290
Ms. Feng, Bing	-	816	250	1,066
Ms. Po, Ying	-	1,034	256	1,290
Total	1,028	6,769	1,783	9,580
(in thousands of RMB)		Vear ended 31	December 2023	
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	232			232
Total	232		_	232

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

(1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation (Continued)

(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2022			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive directors				
Mr. Ren, Deqi	_	656	248	904
Mr. Liu, Jun	-	656	234	890
Non-executive directors				
Mr. Li, Longcheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Wang, Linping	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chang, Baosheng	-	-	-	-
Mr. Liao, Yijian	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chan, Siu Chung	-	-	-	-
Mr. Mu, Guoxin	-	-	-	-
Mr. Chen, Junkui	-	-	-	-
Mr. Luo, Xiaopeng	-	-	-	-
Independent non-executive directors				
Raymond Woo Chin Wan	310	-	-	310
Mr. Cai, Haoyi	-	-	-	-
Mr. Shi, Lei	310	-	-	310
Mr. Zhang, Xiangdong	-	-	-	-
Ms. Li, Xiaohui	330	-	-	330
Mr. Ma, Jun	112	-	-	112
Supervisors				
Mr. Xu, Jiming	-	656	234	890
Mr. Wang, Xueqing	-	-	-	-
Mr. Li, Yao	-	280	-	280
Mr. Chen, Hanwen	-	267	-	267
Mr. Su, Zhi	-	132	-	132
Mr. Guan, Xingshe	-	1,010	239	1,249
Ms. Lin, Zhihong	-	830	239	1,069
Ms. Feng, Bing	-	830	239	1,069
Ms. Po, Ying		1,010	240	1,250
Total	1,062	6,327	1,673	9,062
(in thousands of RMB)	Year ended 31 December 2022			
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Former directors and supervisors				
Mr. Song, Hongjun	-	-	-	-
Mr. Liu, Haoyang	-	_	_	-
Jason Yeung Chi Wai	155	_	_	155
Mr. Zhang, Minsheng	-	_	_	-
Ms. Xia, Zhihua	-	_	_	-
Mr. Ju, Jiandong		128	_	128
Total	155	128		283

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

13 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

- (1) Directors' and supervisors' emoluments before taxation (Continued)
- (a) The total compensation package for directors and supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2023 has not yet been finalised in accordance with regulations of the PRC relevant authorities. The amount of the compensation not provided for is not expected to have significant impact to the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The final compensation will be disclosed in a separate announcement when determined. The final total compensation for the year ended 31 December 2022 was disclosed in the Information on the First Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in 2024 issued on 28 February 2024.
- (b) Employee supervisors Mr. Guan Xingshe, Ms. Lin Zhihong, Ms. Feng Bing and Ms. Po Ying received compensation according to their positions as employees of the Bank and did not receive additional compensation as employee supervisors.
- (c) During 2023 and 2022, there was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
- (d) Other benefits include social insurance, housing allowances, enterprise annuity paid by the Bank.

(2) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the related years are as follows:

	2023	2022
Salary	35	25
Discretionary bonuses	58	64
Employer's contribution to pension scheme and other benefits	13	7
Total	106	96

Emoluments of the above five highest paid individuals in the Group are within the following bands:

	2023	2022
CNY16,000,001 – 16,500,000	-	1
CNY16,500,001 - 17,000,000	_	1
CNY17,000,001 - 17,500,000	_	-
CNY17,500,001 - 18,000,000	-	-
CNY18,000,001 - 18,500,000	-	-
CNY18,500,001 - 19,000,000	-	-
CNY19,000,001 - 19,500,000	-	-
CNY19,500,001 - 20,000,000	-	1
CNY20,000,001 - 20,500,000	1	-
CNY20,500,001 - 21,000,000	1	1
CNY21,000,001 - 21,500,000	1	-
CNY21,500,001 - 22,000,000	1	-
CNY22,000,001 - 22,500,000	-	-
CNY22,500,001 - 23,000,000	-	-
CNY23,000,001 - 23,500,000	1	1
Total	5	5

During 2023 and 2022, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

14 INCOME TAX

	2023	2022
Current income tax		
- Enterprise income tax	5,604	9,919
- Hong Kong profits tax	802	464
- Other countries or regions	929	715
Subtotal	7,335	11,098
Deferred income tax (Note 24)	(889)	(4,938)
Total	6,446	6,160

The provision for enterprise income tax in Chinese Mainland is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Chinese Mainland. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Chinese Mainland shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25%. The major reconciliation items are as follows:

	Note	2023	2022
Profit before tax		99,698	98,115
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%		24,924	24,529
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in other countries or regions		(73)	122
Effects of non-deductible expenses	(1)	6,554	4,356
Effects of non-taxable income	(2)	(23,746)	(20,982)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years		163	(487)
Others		(1,376)	(1,378)
Income tax		6,446	6,160

- (1) Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs.
- (2) Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds and fund investment income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

15 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

	2023	2022
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company	92,728	92,102
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,832)	(1,832)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(5,641)	(5,651)
Net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company	85,255	84,619
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions)		
at the end of the year	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	1.15	1.14

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,832 million on preference shares and interests of RMB5,641 million on perpetual bond declared for the year was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the parent company. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the year ended 31 December 2023, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

16 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Cash	12,477	13,839
Mandatory reserve deposits	694,211	683,401
Surplus reserve deposits	190,073	103,823
Fiscal deposits	932	4,700
Accrued interest	329	339
Total	898,022	806,102

The Group is required to place statutory reserves with the PBOC and overseas central banks, including RMB and foreign currency deposit reserves and foreign exchange risk reserves for forward foreign exchange sales businesses, which are not allowed to be used in the Group's daily operations.

Surplus reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

17 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	74,753	120,905
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	34,045	34,371
Accrued interest	425	368
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(267)	(209)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
- Securities	200,438	49,715
– Bills	499	6,995
Accrued interest	56	11
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(602)	(88)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	107,522	80,566
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	115,803	126,829
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Chinese Mainland	257,638	196,730
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Chinese Mainland	65,272	70,572
Accrued interest	5,740	4,393
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1,680)	(737)
Total	859,642	690,421

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, due from banks and other financial institutions of the Group included pledged deposits, risk reserves and other deposits. The use of these deposits is restricted.

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which changes in response to the changes in a specified foreign exchange rate, interest rate, commodity price or other similar variables. The Group utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or hedging purposes, including forwards, swaps and options.

The notional amount of a derivative represents the underlying amount of the specific financial instruments mentioned above. It indicates the volume of business transacted by the Group but does not reflect the risk

The notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments held by the Group are set out below:

	Contractual/ notional		
As at 31 December 2023	amount	Fair va	alues
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	4,455,867	38,859	(39,293)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,451,974	28,528	(11,682)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,907,841	67,387	(50,975)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

	Contractual/		
	notional		
As at 31 December 2022	amount	Fair v	alues
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange and commodity contracts	3,406,796	34,499	(34,648)
Interest rate contracts and others	3,076,875	35,188	(12,156)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	6,483,671	69,687	(46,804)

(1) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

The gain and loss arising from the ineffective portion recognized in net trading gains were immaterial in 2023 and 2022.

	As at 31 December 2023			As a	t 31 December 20			
	Contractual/		Contractual/					
	notional	Fair va	alues	notional	notional Fair values		Line items in the statement	
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position	
Interest rate contract	230,540	12,002	(898)	177,797	15,934	(20)	Derivative financial assets/liabilities	

(a) The changes in fair value of the hedging instruments and net gains or losses arising from the hedged risk relating to the hedged items are set out below:

	2023	2022
Net losses from fair value hedges:		
Hedging instruments	(4,669)	15,231
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	4,565	(15,553)
Total	(104)	(322)

(b) The following table shows the fair value hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1 –3	3 –12	1 –5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2023	1,279	7,715	14,762	132,865	73,919	230,540
As at 31 December 2022	1,252	2,457	10,686	100,884	62,518	177,797

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

- (1) Fair value hedge (Continued)
- (c) Details of the Group's hedged items in fair value hedges are as follows:

	As at 31 December 2023 Accumulated adjustments				
	Carrying amount of	f hedged items	to the fair value of	f hedged item	_
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	204,123	-	(10,967)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	17,042	(884)	(10)	2	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers/Debt securities issued
Total	221,165	(884)	(10,977)	2	
	Carrying amount of	hedged items	As at 31 Decer Accumulated ac to the fair value of	djustments	
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	163,017	-	(15,916)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	1,791	-	(111)	-	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers
Total	164,808	-	(16,027)	-	

(2) Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers, debt investments at FVOCI, debt securities issued, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, certificates of deposits issued and other assets. The Group mainly uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Gains and losses arising from the portion of hedge ineffectiveness recognised in cash flow hedges were not material in 2023 and 2022.

	As at 31 December 2023		As a	at 31 December 2			
	Contractual/			Contractual/			
	notional	Fair v	alues	notional	Fair v	alues	Line items in the statement
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position
Foreign exchange contract	148,892	1,225	(2,103)	54,918	1,068	(1,201)	Derivative financial assets/ liabilities
Interest rate contract	22,063	603	(22)	20,965	975	(1)	Derivative financial assets/
Total	170,955	1,828	(2,125)	75,883	2,043	(1,202)	

(a) The following table shows the cash flow hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1 –3	3 –12	1 –5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 31 December 2023	13,911	43,152	78,265	32,117	3,510	170,955
As at 31 December 2022	5,874	13,719	26,589	22,997	6,704	75,883

(b) Information on the Group's risk exposures in cash flow hedges and the impact on equity and profit or loss is as follows:

2023

	hedged ite	ms			Hedging instruments	
			Fair value changes			
			on hedging			
			instruments	Reclassifications		
			recognised in	from the cash		
			Other	flow hedge		
			comprehensive	reserve to profit	Line item in the statement of profit or loss	cash flow hedge
	Assets	Liabilities	income	or loss	including reclassifications	reserve
Foreign risk	34,461	(107,383)	440	(85)	Net gains arising from trading activities	(350)
Interest risk	1,422	(20,662)	385	18	Net gains arising from trading activities	266
Total	35,883	(128,045)	825	(67)		(84)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

2022

	hedged i	tems			Hedging instruments	
			Fair value changes			
			on hedging			
			instruments	Reclassifications		
			recognised in	from the cash		
			Other	flow hedge		
			comprehensive	reserve to profit	Line item in the statement of profit or loss	cash flow
	Assets	Liabilities	income	or loss	including reclassifications	hedge reserve
Foreign risk	29,479	(52,009)	(1,414)	1,606	Net gains arising from trading activities	(7)
Interest risk	2,618	(16,481)	(1,150)		None	(686)
Total	32,097	(68,490)	(2,564)	1,606		(693)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) Loans and advances to customers

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	7,558,587	6,972,473
- Carried at FVOCI	398,479	322,465
- Carried at FVTPL	19	27
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(203,775)	(176,178)
Accrued interest	21,380	18,575
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(2,630)	(1,908)
Total	7,772,060	7,135,454

(2) Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at	As at
	31 December	31 December
	2023	2022
Unsecured loans	2,883,274	2,461,988
Guaranteed loans	1,288,963	1,179,381
Loans secured by collateral	2,904,861	2,579,866
Pledged loans	879,987	1,073,730
Total	7,957,085	7,294,965

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:

	Fo	or the year ended (31 December 2023			
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2023	68,795	45,385	61,998	176,178		
Transfers:						
Transfer to Stage 1	6,721	(5,464)	(1,257)	_		
Transfer to Stage 2	(3,045)	7,082	(4,037)	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	(598)	(12,526)	13,124	-		
Provision	8,735	20,655	24,014	53,404		
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(31,046)	(31,046)		
Recovery of loans and advances written off						
in previous years	-	-	5,662	5,662		
Others	64	208	(695)	(423)		
As at 31 December 2023	80,672	55,340	67,763	203,775		
	For the year ended 31 December 2022					
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3			
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2022	57,403	38,892	63,794	160,089		
Transfers:						
Transfer to Stage 1	3,904	(3,553)	(351)	_		
Transfer to Stage 2	(5,520)	7,051	(1,531)	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	(261)	(13,341)	13,602	_		
Duran dialora	10.044	15.007	00.051	F7.000		

Provision 13,044 15,867 28,351 57,262 Written-offs and disposals (46, 242)(46, 242)Recovery of loans and advances written off in previous years 5,146 5,146 Others 225 469 (771) (77)As at 31 December 2022 68,795 45,385 61,998 176,178

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023				
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2023 Transfers:	1,522	240	79	1,841	
Transfer to Stage 1	-	-	_	-	
Transfer to Stage 2	-	-	-	-	
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	-	-	
Provision/(reversal)	759	(49)	23	733	
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(53)	(53)	
Recovery of loans and advances written off					
in previous years	-	_	17	17	
Others			(4)	(4)	
As at 31 December 2023	2,281	191	62	2,534	

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

19 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2022				
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3		
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2022	937	48	88	1,073	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	-	-	-	-	
Transfer to Stage 2	-	-	-	-	
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(22)	23	-	
Provision	586	214	40	840	
Written off in previous years	-	-	(71)	(71)	
Others			(1)	(1)	
As at 31 December 2022	1,522	240	79	1,841	

(4) Overdue loans analysed by security type

Ac at 21	Dogom	her 2023

		Overdue	Overdue		
		between three	between one		
	Overdue within	months and	year and	Overdue over	
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	22,164	9,447	6,363	135	38,109
Guaranteed loans	2,851	9,326	7,081	1,549	20,807
Loans secured by collateral	14,614	12,731	8,898	4,618	40,861
Pledged loans	2,098	3,423	4,478	345	10,344
Total	41,727	34,927	26,820	6,647	110,121

Ac at 21	December	2022
AS at 3 t	December	////

		Overdue	Overdue		
		between three	between one		
	Overdue within	months and	year and	Overdue over	
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total
Unsecured loans	12,049	10,165	5,279	100	27,593
Guaranteed loans	2,626	8,632	3,532	1,315	16,105
Loans secured by collateral	11,399	9,193	8,867	2,584	32,043
Pledged loans	1,663	5,490	1,405	529	9,087
Total	27,737	33,480	19,083	4,528	84,828

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
Financial investments at FVTPL			
- Listed in Hong Kong	33,898	72,510	
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	189,509	210,783	
- Unlisted	418,875	422,064	
Total	642,282	705,357	
Financial investments at amortised cost			
- Listed in Hong Kong	22,977	27,336	
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	2,433,583	2,265,215	
- Unlisted	93,268	132,584	
Accrued interest	27,721	28,404	
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(3,638)	(2,764)	
Total	2,573,911	2,450,775	
Financial investments at FVOCI			
Debt investments at FVOCI			
- Listed in Hong Kong	68,428	157,408	
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	710,140	536,770	
- Unlisted	85,366	81,242	
Accrued interest	9,332	8,332	
Subtotal	873,266	783,752	
Equity investments at FVOCI			
 Listed in Hong Kong 	3,765	5,600	
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	4,827	3,932	
- Unlisted	6,091	5,791	
Subtotal	14,683	15,323	
Total	887,949	799,075	

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in Listed outside Hong Kong.

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the SPPI test.

The Group designates part of non-trading equity investments as financial investments measured at FVOCI.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB652 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB785 million). For the year ended 31 December 2023, The Group's cumulative gain transferred from other comprehensive income to unappropriated profits as a result of the disposal of such equity investments amounted to RMB130 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB101 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	
Financial investments at FVTPL			
- Governments and central banks	107,622	102,349	
- Banks and other financial institutions	81,756	80,601	
- Corporate entities	37,823	69,443	
- Public sector entities	41	560	
Total	227,242	252,953	
Financial investments at amortised cost			
- Governments and central banks	2,325,862	2,148,425	
- Banks and other financial institutions	130,444	164,060	
- Corporate entities	44,057	44,734	
- Public sector entities	17,768	22,708	
Total	2,518,131	2,379,927	
Debt investments at FVOCI			
- Governments and central banks	403,116	375,231	
- Banks and other financial institutions	336,966	294,348	
- Corporate entities	115,340	99,511	
- Public sector entities	17,844	14,662	
Total	873,266	783,752	

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023				
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3		
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total	
As at 31 December 2022	1,547	260	957	2,764	
Changes in accounting policies	(8)			(8)	
As at 1 January 2023	1,539	260	957	2,756	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	-	_	
Transfer to Stage 2	(6)	6	_	-	
Transfer to Stage 3	-	(6)	6	_	
Provision/(reversal)	127	229	(311)	45	
Others	2	508	327	837	
As at 31 December 2023	1,662	997	979	3,638	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total As at 1 January 2022 371 892 2,958 1,695 Transfers: Transfer to Stage 1 126 (126)Transfer to Stage 2 (2) 2 Transfer to Stage 3 (Reversal)/provision (274)12 64 (198)Others 2 1 1 4 As at 31 December 2022 1,547 260 957 2,764

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	For the year ended 31 December 2023						
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3				
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total			
As at 31 December 2022	628	13	890	1,531			
Changes in accounting policies	8		<u> </u>	8			
As at 1 January 2023	636	13	890	1,539			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	-	_	-	_			
Transfer to Stage 2	<i>(3)</i>	3	-	-			
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(5)	6	-			
Provision	451	22	554	1,027			
Write-offs during the year	-	-	(362)	(362)			
Others	11_	(10)	226	227			
As at 31 December 2023		23	1,314	2,431			
	F	For the year ended 31 December 2022					
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3				
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2022 Transfers:	555	10	456	1,021			
Transfer to Stage 1	-	_	_	_			
Transfer to Stage 2	(3)	3	_	_			
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(20)	21	-			
Provision	1	24	573	598			
Others	76	(4)	(160)	(88)			
As at 31 December 2022		13	890	1,531			

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proport shares Direct		Means of acquisition
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Xu Bin	RMB20,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Zhang Hongliang	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Wang Qingyan	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Chen Wei	RMB15,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment
BoCom International Holdings Company Limited	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment
China BoCom Insurance Co., Ltd.	Zhu Junxian	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment
Dayi BoCom Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Liu Yike	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	Sichuan, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment
Zhejiang Anji BoCom Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Zhejiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Xinjiang Shihezi BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Fang Linhai	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Xinjiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Qingdao Laoshan BoCom Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Shandong, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Meng yu	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bocom Brazil Holding Company Ltda BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.	Sun Xu Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL700,000,000 BRL469,300,389	Foreign legal entity Foreign legal entity	Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Rio de Janeiro, Brazil		Non-financial industry Financial industry	Investment Commercial banking	100.00	80.00	Establishment Investment

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

22 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	6,474	6,474
Share of net profit of associates	2,204	1,866
Share of other equity changes of associates	103	114
Dividend income	(372)	(283)
Allowance for impairment losses	(2)	
Subtotal	8,407	8,171
Investments in joint ventures	583	579
Total	8,990	8,750

The Group performed impairment tests on investments in associates and joint ventures. The recoverable amount of the associates and joint ventures is determined based on the discounted future cash flows of the associates and joint ventures. The cash flow projections are based on financial forecasts approved by management of the the associates and joint ventures. The average growth rates, discount rate, and other assumptions adopted to forecast cash flows respectively reflect the specific risks associated with them.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd., National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. and Guomin Pension & Insurance Co., Ltd..

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 9.01%).

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 10.60%).

National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Shanghai on 14 July 2020. The registered capital of the entity is RMB88,500 million, and the principal activities of the entity are fund management activities. The Group held 8.47% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 8.47%).

Guomin Pension & Insurance Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Beijing on 22 March 2022. The registered capital of the entity is RMB11,150 million, and the principal activities of the entity are pension insurance activities. The Group held 8.97% of equity interest in this associate as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 8.97%).

23 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

			Equipments and	Equipments	
		Construction in	transportation	under operating	
	Buildings	progress	equipments	leases	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2023	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Additions	1,521	631	3,881	42,935	48,968
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	2,033	(2,033)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	701	-	-	-	701
Decreases	(1,579)	(71)	(2,392)	(12,277)	(16,319)
As at 31 December 2023	78,239	2,042	31,801	206,036	318,118
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2023	(32,070)	-	(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Charge for the year	(2,770)	-	(3,553)	(9,322)	(15,645)
Decreases	787		2,174	3,117	6,078
As at 31 December 2023	(34,053)	- -	(22,466)	(39,499)	(96,018)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2023	-	(16)	-	(4,132)	(4,148)
Charge for the year	-	-	-	(1,007)	(1,007)
Decrease				806	806
As at 31 December 2023	-	(16)	_	(4,333)	(4,349)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2023	44,186	2,026	9,335	162,204	217,751

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

23 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

	Buildings	Construction in progress	Equipments and transportation equipments	Equipments under operating leases	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2022	74,687	2,963	27,454	143,867	248,971
Additions	417	1,060	4,858	38,830	45,165
Construction in progress transfer in	505	(505)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	329	-	-	-	329
Transfer into investment properties	(139)	-	-	-	(139)
Decreases	(236)	(3)	(2,000)	(7,319)	(9,558)
As at 31 December 2022	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2022	(29,395)	-	(20,329)	(25,549)	(75,273)
Charge for the year	(2,793)	-	(2,612)	(9,629)	(15,034)
Transfer into investment properties	17	-	-	-	17
Decreases	101		1,854	1,884	3,839
As at 31 December 2022	(32,070)		(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2022	-	(16)	-	(2,488)	(2,504)
Charge for the year	-	-	-	(1,882)	(1,882)
Decrease				238	238
As at 31 December 2022		(16)	-	(4,132)	(4,148)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2022	43,493	3,499	9,225	137,952	194,169

As at 31 December 2023, the net book value of the operating leased aircrafts, vessels and equipments used as collateral for borrowings was RMB64,550 million (31 December 2022: RMB52,416 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the property and equipment with re-registration procedure not completed amounted to RMB173 million (31 December 2022: RMB174 million). However, this registration process does not affect the rights of the Group to these assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2022: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 December 2022		
	Deductible/	Deferred			
	(taxable)	income tax	Deductible/	Deferred	
	temporary	assets/	(taxable) temporary	income tax assets/	
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)	
Deferred income tax assets					
Allowance for impairment of assets	143,596	35,899	134,772	33,693	
Changes in fair value of derivative					
financial liabilities	53,312	13,328	57,312	14,328	
Provisions	9,524	2,381	11,928	2,982	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	8,264	2,066	9,824	2,456	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	6,456	1,614	11,688	2,922	
Others	20,948	5,237	14,889	3,723	
Subtotal	242,100	60,525	240,413	60,104	
Deferred income tax liabilities					
Changes in fair value of derivative					
financial assets	(64,920)	(16,230)	(68,464)	(17,116)	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	(2,704)	(676)	(1,167)	(292)	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(2,120)	(530)	(1,780)	(445)	
Others	(20,468)	(5,117)	(18,098)	(4,525)	
Subtotal	(90,212)	(22,553)	(89,509)	(22,378)	
Net deferred income tax assets	151,888	37,972	150,904	37,726	

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities	40,379 (2,407)	39,512 (1,786)
Net opening balance	2023 37,726	2022 30,655
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in the current year Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in the current year	889	4,938 2,133
Net ending balance	37,972	37,726

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Accounts receivable and temporary payments		38,582	36,409
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1)	(2,752)	(3,003)
Advance payments		15,734	22,019
Precious metal		9,410	7,814
Right-of-use assets	(2)	6,653	6,931
Investment properties	(3)	5,525	6,387
Interest receivable	(4)	2,003	2,054
Land use rights and others		1,913	1,998
Intangible assets	(5)	2,715	1,954
Long-term deferred expenses		1,191	879
Refundable deposits		1,161	495
Foreclosed assets		945	1,000
Goodwill	(6)	415	407
Unsettled assets		31	31
Others		8,573	6,894
Total		92,099	92,269

(1) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at 1 January 2023	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 31 December 2023
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(3,003)	(5,250)	4,183	659	(3)	(94)	756	(2,752)
	As at 1 January 2022	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 31 December 2022
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(3,265)	(3,435)	2,798	992	(8)	(77)	(8)	(3,003)

(2) Right-of-use assets

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Cost:		
Opening balance	14,330	13,980
Additions	2,496	2,704
Decreases	(3,049)	(2,354)
As at the end of the year	13,777	14,330
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,399)	(7,203)
Additions	(2,369)	(2,380)
Decreases	2,644	2,184
As at the end of the year	(7,124)	(7,399)
Net book value	6,653	6,931
Lease liabilities	6,501	6,775

As at 31 December 2023, committed by leases but not yet commenced amount to RMB89 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB97 million). F-261

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(3) Investment properties

	As at 1 January 2023	Decreases of the year	Property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2023
Investment properties	6,387	(701)	(176)	15	5,525
	As at				As at
	1 January	Decreases	Property	Exchange	31 December
	2022	of the year	revaluation	differences	2022
Investment properties	6,340	(190)	166	71	6,387

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices and other related information of the similar properties.

As at 31 December 2023, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

				As at
				31 December
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2023
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	-	_	708	708
Commercial property units located outside Hong Kong			4,817	4,817

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Market Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, vacancy rate, future rent income years, capitalisation rate and unit price.

(4) The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(5) Intangible assets

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2023	5,116
Additions	1,303
Disposals	
As at 31 December 2023	6,412
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2023	(3,162)
Charge for the year	(542)
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2023	(3,697)
Net book value	2,715

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

25 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(5) Intangible assets (Continued)

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2022	4,504
Additions	627
Disposals	
As at 31 December 2022	5,116
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2022	(2,707)
Charge for the year	(467)
Disposals	
As at 31 December 2022	(3,162)
Net book value	1,954

(6) Goodwill

Company Limited

Total

BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.

	As at 1 January 2023	Addition during the year	Decrease during the year	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2023
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd. BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance	200	-	-	-	200
Company Limited	122	_	_	_	122
BANCO BoCom BBM S.A.	85	-	_	8	93
Total	407			8	415
	As at				As at
	1 January	Addition during	Decrease	Exchange	31 December
	2022	the year	during the year	differences	2022
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd. BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance	200	-	-	-	200

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

122

73

395

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

122

85

407

12

12

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Borrowing from central banks	523,905	398,293
Accrued interest	6,205	4,787
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	287,427	254,973
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	6,139	8,839
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	831,249	803,430
- Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	5,069	7,699
Accrued interest	3,297	3,652
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	255,733	210,818
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	201,452	201,042
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	1,500	200
 Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland 	11,479	10,204
Accrued interest	2,807	2,344
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities	285,176	128,298
Bills	2,437	-
Accrued interest	662	315
Total	2,424,537	2,034,894

27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Certificates of deposit issued	41,187	22,253
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	2,697	11,502
Notes issued	692	1,701
Short position of securities held for trading	103	5
Others (1)	11,878	12,488
Total	56,557	47,949

⁽¹⁾ As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Corporate demand deposits	2,050,524	1,989,383
Corporate time deposits	2,991,467	2,887,650
Personal demand deposits	884,746	885,013
Personal time deposits	2,473,410	2,070,711
Other deposits	3,240	4,227
Deposits from customers	8,403,387	7,836,984
Accrued interest	147,828	112,088
Total	8,551,215	7,949,072

As at 31 December 2023, deposits from customers comprised deposits pledged as collateral of RMB344,014 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB331,318 million).

29 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by Head office, the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost.

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at	As at
	Note	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Carried at amortised cost:			
Bonds	(1)	327,009	306,030
Tier-2 capital bonds	(2)	227,067	198,951
Subordinated bonds	(3)	4,800	4,800
Accrued interest		7,735	6,572
Subtotal		566,611	516,353
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds	(1)	25,564	14,508
Total		592,175	530,861

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

	Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	Par value (CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Ending balance	Opening balance
The Deal.		10000 piaco		(00.)				
The Bank 20 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.18	50,000	2020/08/05	3 years		50,000
20 Bocomm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.50	40,000	2020/06/03	•	_	40,000
	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.40			3 years	40,000	40,000
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond	RMB			40,000	2021/04/06	3 years	,	,
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	KIVIB	Chinese Mainland	2.75	30,000	2022/06/15	3 years	29,999	29,999
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.98	30,000	2022/12/09	3 years	29,999	29,998
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.42	20,000	2022/08/05	3 years	19,999	19,999
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.96	10,000	2022/12/09	3 years	10,000	9,999
23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	30,000	2023/03/27	3 years	29,999	-
23 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.77	30,000	2023/04/25	3 years	29,999	_
23 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.59	38,000	2023/07/18	3 years	37,999	_
23 Bocomm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.70	30,000	2023/09/22	3 years	29,999	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	60	2023/06/29	3 years	424	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	20	2023/06/29	3 years	141	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	50	2023/06/29	3 years	353	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	40	2023/06/29	3 years	283	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.65	15	2023/06/29	3 years	106	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.60	475	2023/08/30	3 years	3,362	-
18 medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.85	700	2018/05/17	5 years	-	4,876
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.58	1,300	2020/01/22	3 years	-	9,055
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.75	100	2020/06/05	3 years	-	696
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.80	650	2020/07/20	3 years	-	4,528
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.90	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,831	2,786
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,654	5,560
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong, China	3MLibor+0.80	350	2020/09/10	3 years	-	2,438
BOCOM Float 11/13/24	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.323	490	2023/11/15	364 days	3,488	-
21 Macau PA-medium-term notes	MOP	Macau, China	0.85	1,200	2021/12/15	2 years	-	1,038
P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan, China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	196	199
Subtotal							274,831	251,171

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

			Coupon rate	Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
Subsidiaries								
20 Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.65	3,000	2020/11/05	3 years	-	2,998
21 Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.62	4,000	2021/03/01	3 years	4,000	3,996
21 Leasing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.45	3,000	2021/04/22	3 years	2,629	2,627
22 Pearl notes	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.90	2,400	2022/12/15	3 years	1,680	1,680
23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	3,000	2023/11/09	3 years	2,995	-
23 Bocomm Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.88	3,000	2023/12/08	3 years	2,992	-
19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	3,587	3,001
19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,251	1,228
			Libor + 1.175					
19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	804	809
19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,753	1,450
		3 3 3, 3	Libor + 1.075			. ,	,	,
20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,895	1,842
			Libor + 0.95					
20 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	300	2020/03/02	3 years	_	1,628
		0 0,	Libor + 0.83			,		,
20 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.75	350	2020/07/14	3 years	_	1,661
20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	3M Synthetic	450	2020/07/14	5 years	1,492	1,616
		3 3 3, 3	Libor + 1.70			. ,	, -	,
21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.125	500	2021/06/18	3 years	2,082	2,181
21 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.07	775	2021/09/27	3 years	702	692
23 RMB Private Bond 01	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.50	1,000	2023/03/07	2 years	999	_
23 HKD medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.85	775	2023/03/08	1 year	702	_
23 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.85	385	2023/03/10	1 year	349	_
23 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	450	2023/03/10	1 year	3,184	_
23 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.55	55	2023/03/15	1 year	_	_
23 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	50	2023/03/15	1 year	19	_
23 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.00	37	2023/03/28	10 months	261	_
23 USD medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	115	2023/06/21	11 months	812	_
23 USD medium-term notes 09	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	30	2023/07/18	10 months	212	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 01	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.00	760	2023/07/26	3 years	758	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 02	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/10/18	1 years	400	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 03	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.30	700	2023/10/20	3 years	698	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 04	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/11/20	3 years	399	_
23 CNY medium-term notes 05	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.35	300	2023/12/01	3 years	300	_
23 USD medium-term notes 10	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+1.00	240	2023/12/20	3 years	706	_
13 Azure Orbit	USD	Hong Kong, China	3.75	500	2013/03/06	10 years	_	3,482
5 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong, China	3.75	950	2018/01/25	5 years	_	6,615
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,760	1,728
AzureNova	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,767	1,736
20 Financial Investing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.70	3,000	2020/03/11	3 years	_	2,998
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,997	6,995
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	3,257	3,223
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110% SELIC	200	2019/01/30	5 years	57	52
22 Brazil bonds 01	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.60	270	2022/02/07	10 years	390	357
22 Brazil bonds 02	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.40	200	2022/11/29	10 years	289	264
Subtotal							52,178	54,859
Total							327,009	306,030
Total							021,000	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows: (Continued)

								Fair value
			0	Danisalisa			Fair value	at the
			Coupon rate	Par value			at the end	beginning
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	of the year	of the year
The Bank								
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	50	2023/06/26	5 years	355	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 10	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	40	2023/06/26	5 years	284	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 11	USD	Chinese Mainland	5.24	50	2023/06/26	5 years	355	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 13	USD	Chinese Mainland	SOFR+0.60	25	2023/08/30	3 years	179	-
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong, China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	3,231	3,120
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	0.95	1,200	2021/12/13	2 years	-	1,031
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	1,001	1,004
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.80	1,200	2022/03/21	2 years	1,086	1,039
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.20	2,800	2022/03/21	2 years	2,818	2,834
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.375	400	2022/03/21	3 years	2,766	2,661
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.05	1,420	2022/11/30	2 years	1,421	1,426
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.75	200	2022/11/30	3 years	1,417	1,393
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	2,700	2023/02/28	2 years	2,491	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	2.97	3,800	2023/02/28	2 years	3,826	-
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.875	600	2023/02/28	3 years	4,334	-
Total							25,564	14,508

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
The Bank									
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(a)	29,998	29,998
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(b)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(c)	39,997	39,997
21 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(d)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.45	30,000	2022/02/23	10 years	(e)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 02A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.03	37,000	2022/11/11	10 years	(f)	36,999	36,998
22 BoComm 02B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.36	13,000	2022/11/11	15 years	(g)	12,999	12,999
23 BoComm 01A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.30	15,000	2023/11/15	10 years	(h)	14,999	-
23 BoComm 01B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.40	15,000	2023/11/15	15 years	(i)	15,000	
Subtotal								219,989	189,989
Subsidiaries									
18 Leasing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	5.15	2,000	2018/09/18	10 years	(j)	-	1,996
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(k)	7,078	6,966
Subtotal								7,078	8,962
Total								227,067	198,951

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- (a) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (b) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (c) The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (d) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (e) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 25 February 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (f) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02A at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2027, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (g) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2032, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (h) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2028, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (i) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2033, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (j) The Group had exercised the redemption right and redeem 18 Leasing 02 at the par value as a whole on 20 September 2023.
- (k) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the partial or entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

30 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(3) Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(a)	3,000	3,000
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(a)	1,800	1,800
Total								4,800	4,800

- (a) BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem the bonds at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and NFRA is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.
- (4) As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not had any defaults in respect of payments of principal or interest or other breaches with respect to the debt securities issued.

31 OTHER LIABILITIES

	Note	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Insurance contract liabilities		111,207	105,889
Clearing and settlement		56,930	58,616
Staff compensation payable		17,979	16,802
Expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments			
and financial guarantees	(1)	8,826	11,291
Lease liabilities		6,501	6,775
Deposits received for finance lease		5,904	6,414
VAT and other taxes payable		5,283	4,811
Special purpose funding		1,796	1,949
Provision for outstanding litigations	(2)	503	520
Dividends payable		254	378
Others		35,974	36,935
Total		251,157	250,380

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	For the year ended 31 December 2023							
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3					
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total				
As at 1 January 2023	10,226	1,065	_	11,291				
Transfers:								
Transfer to Stage 1	547	(547)	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 2	(211)	211	_	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	_	_	_	_				
Reversal	(2,213)	(56)	_	(2,269)				
Others	(74)	(122)		(196)				
As at 31 December 2023	8,275	551		8,826				

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

31 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(1) Movements in the expected credit impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2022								
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3						
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total					
As at 1 January 2022	8,736	506	_	9,242					
Transfers:									
Transfer to Stage 1	24	(24)	-	-					
Transfer to Stage 2	(333)	333	-	-					
Transfer to Stage 3	_	_	_	-					
Provision	1,798	560	_	2,358					
Others	1_	(310)		(309)					
As at 31 December 2022	10,226	1,065	-	11,291					

(2) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

	As at 1 January 2023	Amounts reversed during the year	Amounts settled during the year	As at 31 December 2023
Provision for outstanding litigations	520	(14)	(3)	503
		Amounts	Amounts	
	As at	provision	settled	As at
	1 January	during	during	31 December
	2022	the year	the year	2022
Provision for outstanding litigations	472	56	(8)	520

32 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS

	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of (RMB1 each)	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2023	74,263	74,263	111,429
As at 31 December 2023	74,263	74,263	111,428
	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of (RMB1 each)	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2022 As at 31 December 2022	74,263 74,263	74,263 74,263	111,428 111,429

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

32 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

	As at 1 January 2023	Additions	Reductions	As at 31 December 2023
Share premium Other capital reserve	110,770 659			110,770 658
Total	111,429		(1)	111,428
	As at			As at 31 December
Oleana automium	2022	Additions	Reductions	2022
Share premium Other capital reserve	110,770 658	1		110,770 659
Total	111,428	1		111,429

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(1) Preference shares

(a) Preference shares outstanding at the end of the year

						In original				
		Accounting	Dividend		Amount	currency	In RMB		Conversion	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	in shares	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
Domestic preference shares										
Preference shares in RMB	2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity date	Mandatory	No conversion during the year
Less: Issuance fees							(48)			
Carrying amount							44,952			

(b) Movements of preference shares issued

	As at 1 January 2023 Moveme		nents	As at 31 December 2023	
		Additions	Decreases		
Domestic references-shares					
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	-	_	450,000,000	
In RMB (millions)	44,952	-	_	44,952	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses

Domestic preference shares

(i) Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

(ii) Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

(iii) Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

Domestic preference shares (Continued)

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method (Continued)

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

(v) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 7 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

(2) Perpetual bonds

(a) Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the year

Maturity
Maturity
•
No fixed maturity date
No No

(b) Main clauses

(i) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the raising fund was received on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the regulatory but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(ii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the raising fund was received on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the raising fund was received on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(b) Main clauses (Continued)

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

(iii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 11 November 2020, and the raising fund was received on 18 November 2020. The specified denomination of the bonds is not less than USD200,000, the exceeding part need to be integral multiple of USD1000 and issued at 100% of the specified denomination. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

F-276

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(3) Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	1,088,030	1,022,024
- Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company	913,240	847,234
- Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company	44,952	44,952
- Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company	129,838	129,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	11,420	11,498
- Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	7,912	8,040
 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of non-cumulative subordinated 		
additional Tier-1 capital securities (Note 36)	3,508	3,458

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 35.

34 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2023	Appropriate	Decrease	2023
Statutory reserve	88,154	9,073	_	97,227
Discretionary reserve	140,182	217		140,399
Total	228,336	9,290	_	237,626

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20). The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Bank's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by local regulation requirements, also need to make such general reserve.

	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2023	Appropriate	Decrease	2023
Statutory general reserve	144,541	14,512	-	159,053

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

	Note	
As at 31 December 2022		292,734
Changes in accounting policies		127
As at 1 January 2023		292,861
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent company		92,728
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(9,073)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		(217)
Appropriation to general reserve		(14,512)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(27,700)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(5,641)
Others		130
As at 31 December 2023	(1)	326,744
As at 1 January 2022		257,187
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent company		92,102
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(8,187)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		(160)
Appropriation to general reserve		(14,261)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(26,363)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(5,651)
Others		(101)
As at 31 December 2022		292,734

(1) Retained earnings at the end of the year

As at 31 December 2023, the consolidated retained earnings attributable to the Bank included retained earnings transferred to share capital by the Bank's subsidiary amounting to RMB6 billion (As at 31 December 2022: Nil). The Bank's subsidiary did not provide the Bank with the option to receive equivalent cash dividends or profits.

(2) Distributable profits

The Bank's distributable profit is based on its retained profits as determined under PRC and IFRSs, whichever is lower. The amount that the Bank's subsidiaries can legally distribute is determined by referring to their profits as reflected in their financial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations and principles promulgated by the local regulatory bodies. These profits may differ from those dealt with in these financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 DIVIDENDS

	2023	2022
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	27,700	26,363
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,832	1,832
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	5,641	5,651

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- (1) Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- (2) Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- (3) Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity. The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 27 June 2023, the Bank appropriated a cash dividend of RMB0.373 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB27,700 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding as at 31 December 2022, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 28 April 2023, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends of RMB1,832 million with a dividend yield of 4.07%.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds in USD amounting to RMB899 million on 18 November 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2020 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,377 million on 25 September 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2019 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,680 million on 20 September 2023.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2021 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,685 million on 10 June 2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

36 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 31 December 2023, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3,508 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

Issue Date	3 March 2020
Face Value	USD500 million
First Call Date	3 March 2025
Distribution Rate	(i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum
	(ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing
	US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum if the redemption right is not
	exercised
Frequency of distribution payments	Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 capital securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB131 million during the year ended 31 December 2023.

37 CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 31. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Outstanding litigations	1,480	2,017
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 31)	503	520

Future receivables from operating leases

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircrafts, vessels and equipments leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft, vessel and equipments under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Within 1 year	18,835	16,880
After 1 year and within 2 years	17,470	15,635
After 2 years and within 3 years	16,327	14,209
After 3 years and within 4 years	14,904	12,954
After 4 years and within 5 years	12,935	11,374
After 5 years	53,932	43,924
Total	134,403	114,976

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

38 COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Loan commitments		
- Under 1 year	6,013	10,129
– 1 year and above	82,507	71,743
Credit card commitments	938,820	998,125
Acceptance bills	544,473	536,574
Letters of guarantee	455,646	420,167
Letters of credit commitments	205,132	183,717
Total	2,232,591	2,220,455

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Contracted but not provided for	87,143	94,654

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The investors of Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds have early redemption right while the Group has the obligation to buy back those Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds. The redemption price is the principal value of the Certificated Bonds or Savings Bonds plus unpaid interest till redemption date. As at 31 December 2023, the principal value of the certain Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds that the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB63,381 million (As at 31 December 2022: RMB66,715 million).

The MOF will not provide funding for the early redemption of these Certificated Bonds and Savings Bonds on a back-to-back basis but will pay interest and principal at maturity. As at 31 December 2023, The Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds through the Group will not be material (As at 31 December 2022: not material).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (As at 31 December 2022: Nil).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

39 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. The carrying amount of these collaterals and the balance of operations related are listed below:

	Pledged	assets	Associated liabilities		
	As at	As at As at As at		As at	
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	2023	2022	
Investment securities	1,047,336	751,853	1,003,758	692,106	
Bills	4,882	2,112	4,882	2,112	
Total	1,052,218	753,965	1,008,640	694,218	

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 44 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for borrowing from central banks or placements from banks by the Group as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB25,263 million in total (31 December 2022: RMB4,217 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

The Group received debt securities and bills as collateral in connection with the securities lending transactions and the purchase of assets under resale agreements. The Group did not hold any collateral that can be resold or re-pledged on balance sheet date when non-defaulting.

40 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 31 December 2023			
	Before tax amount	Tax effect	Net of tax amount	
Other comprehensive income Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income				
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	9,400 (885)	(1,866) 221	7,534 (664)	
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income				
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	1,378 -	(289) -	1,089 -	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges				
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(825) 67	165 (17)	(660) 50	
Translation difference on foreign operations Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of	2,152 736	- 252	2,152 988	
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL Actuarial gains on pension benefits Others	458 33 (3,571)	- - 891	458 33 (2,680)	
Other comprehensive income for the year F-282	8,943	(643)	8,300	

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

40 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

	Year ended 31 December 2022			
	Before tax		Net of	
	amount	Tax effect	tax amount	
Other comprehensive income				
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income				
Amount recognised in equity	(9,683)	1,946	(7,737)	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(892)	223	(669)	
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income				
Amount recognised in equity	1,438	(219)	1,219	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	_	_	_	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges				
Amount recognised in equity	2,564	(560)	2,004	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,606)	402	(1,204)	
Translation difference on foreign operations	8,562	_	8,562	
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	(1,302)	88	(1,214	
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of				
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(133)	-	(133)	
Actuarial gains on pension benefits	(34)	-	(34)	
Others	(913)	253	(660	
Other comprehensive income for the year	(1,999)	2,133	134	

41 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Cash and balances with central banks	202,550	117,662
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	72,911	131,141
Total	275,461	248,803

42 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

43 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through acting as sponsors of structured entities or investments in structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 31 December 2023, those unconsolidated structured entities set up and sponsored by the Group consist primarily of wealth management products, funds, trusts, asset management products and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB7,808 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB10,154 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of the wealth management products set up and sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB1,302,346 million (As at 31 December 2022: RMB1,206,901 million), the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB511,038 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB594,647 million (As at 31 December 2022: the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB531,253 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB569,762 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated wealth management products (For the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

The Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

		Carrying	amount		
		Financial			
	Financial investments at FVTPL	investments at amortised cost	Financial investments at FVOCI	Maximum exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	164,092	-	333	164,425	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	16,774	47,133	-	63,907	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	174	210		384	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	181,040	47,343	333	228,716	

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

43 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

		Carrying	amount		
		Financial			
	Financial	investments	Financial	Maximum	
	investments	at amortised	investments	exposure	
	at FVTPL	cost	at FVOCI	to loss	Type of income
Funds	200,349	_	352	200,701	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	9,141	60,463	-	69,604	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	170	261	-	431	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	209,660	60,724	352	270,736	

44 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group enters into transactions in the ordinary course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets to third parties or structured entities. In some cases, these transfers may give rise to full or partial derecognition of the financial assets concerned. In other cases where the transferred assets do not qualify for derecognition as the Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of these assets, the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets.

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 26).

The following table provides a summary of carrying amounts related to the transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and the associated liabilities:

	Collat	erals	Associated liabilities		
	As at	As at	As at	As at	
	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2023	2022	2023	2022	
Investment securities	15,005	6,030	12,868	5,140	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

44 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(2) Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 31 December 2023, the face value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB26,010 million (31 December 2022: RMB4,513 million).

(3) Asset securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors.

As at 31 December 2023, loans with an original value of RMB86,153 million (31 December 2022: RMB88,308 million) have been securitised by the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB34,019 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (31 December 2022: the Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB36,174 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of asset-backed securities held by the Group in securitisation transactions that were qualified for derecognition was RMB405 million (31 December 2022: RMB431 million), and its maximum exposure approximated to the carrying amount.

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of assets that the Group continues to recognize on the consolidated statement of financial position was RMB5,529 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB5,529 million).

(4) Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the normal course of business. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB3,162 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB2,243 million) and collected cash totalling RMB1,730 million (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB1,423 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Transactions with the MOF

As at 31 December 2023, the MOF held 17,732 million (31 December 2022: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2022: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1) Transactions with the MOF (Continued)

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Bonds issued by the MOF investment		
Financial investments at FVTPL	65,938	31,464
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,090,685	871,172
Financial investments at FVOCI	123,930	201,369
	2023	2022
Interest income on the government bonds	34,145	29,227

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 31 December 2023, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,155 million (31 December 2022: 12,155 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.37 % (31 December 2022: 16.37%) of the total share capital.

The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits. The transactions are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Deposits from customers	91,625	92,409
	2023	2022
Interest expenses	(3,811)	(3,846)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 31 December 2023, HSBC held 13,886 million (31 December 2022: 13,886 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 18.70% (31 December 2022: 18.70%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its registration is Hong Kong. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures (Continued)

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items	•	
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	6,385	2,819
Derivative financial assets	4,375	1,902
Loans and advances to customers	2,399	403
Financial investments at FVTPL	2,877	2,271
Financial investments at amortised cost	5,453	2,755
Financial investments at FVOCI	7,464	6,140
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	29,552	26,508
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	1,830
Derivative financial liabilities	1,843	1,722
Certificates of deposits issued	37,211	
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	270,596	153,484
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	242	16
	2023	2022
Interest income	860	355
Interest expense	(2,221)	(1,596)
Fee and commission income	148	100
Fee and commission expense	(17)	(8)

(4) Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the year, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these state-owned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(5) Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in Note 21.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
The Bank	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	140,345	169,576
Loans and advances to customers	1,249	505
Financial investments at FVTPL	241	237
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,881	1,861
Financial investments at FVOCI	11,124	10,280
Derivative financial assets	209	902
Other assets	792	734
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	18,642	9,246
Derivative financial liabilities	7,470	9,572
Deposits from customers	5,973	8,313
Other liabilities	374	279
The Bank	2023	2022
Interest income	6,619	3,811
Interest expense	(444)	(296)
Fee and commission income	1,585	1,524
Fee and commission expense	(45)	(55)
Other operating income	663	637
Other operating expense	(233)	(175)

(6) Transactions with key management personnel

The key management personnel are those persons who have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and control the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including members of the board of directors and the board of supervisors, and executive officers.

Transactions key management personnel, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such key management personnel or their close relatives and are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers	-	1
Deposits from customers	10	10

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(6) Transactions with key management personnel (Continued)

Compensations of directors and supervisors are disclosed in Note 13. The senior executives' annual compensation during the year is as follows:

n thousands of RMB) Year ended 31 December 2023				
Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive President				
Mr. Yin, Jiuyong	_	605	255	860
Executive Vice President				
Mr. Huang, Hongyuan	_	605	267	872
Mr. Zhou, Wanfu	_	605	255	860
Mr. Hao, Cheng	_	605	255	860
Mr. Qian, Bin	_	605	267	872
Director of Operations				
Mr. Tu, Hong	_	1,110	265	1,375
Mr. Wang, Wenjin	_	555	137	692
Mr. Lin, Hua	_	1,110	265	1,375
Chief Risk Officer				
Mr. Liu, Jianjun	_	555	134	689
Secretary to the Board				
Mr. He, Zhaobin	_	555	137	692
Former Secretary to the Board				
Mr. Gu, Sheng	_	83	21	104
Total		6,993	2,258	9,251
(in thousands of DMP)		Year ended 31 D	Doomhor 2022	
(in thousands of RMB) Name	Emoluments	Remuneration	Other benefits	Total
	Emolaments	Tierraneration	Other benefits	Total
Executive President		=0.		700
Mr. Yin, Jiuyong	-	591	139	730
Executive Vice President			40	400
Mr. Huang, Hongyuan	-	148	40	188
Mr. Zhou, Wanfu	-	591	139	730
Mr. Hao, Cheng	-	591	139	730
Mr. Qian, Bin	-	591	153	744
Director of Operations		4 000	450	4.450
Mr. Tu, Hong	_	1,000	153	1,153
Chief Risk Officer		1 000	150	1 150
Mr. Lin, Hua	_	1,000	153	1,153
Secretary to the Board		1 000	440	4 440
Mr. Gu, Sheng	_	1,000	118	1,118
Former Executive Vice President		- 44	107	000
Mr. Guo, Mang	_	541	127	668
Former Chief Expert Mr. Wang, Feng.		83	12	95
Mr. Wang, Feng Total				
TUIAI	_	6,136	1,173	7,309

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(7) Transactions with associates and joint ventures (Continued)

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in Note 22.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,005	-
Derivative financial assets	1,048	1,212
Loans and advances to customers	9,759	20,765
Financial investments at amortised cost	-	102
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	809	907
Derivative financial liabilities	17	25
Deposits from customers	1,161	84
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	4,690	4,594
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	21,806	6,400
	2023	2022
Interest income	369	373
Interest expense	(67)	(2)

(8) Transactions with other related parties

Transactions with other related parties are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
On-balance sheet items		-
Loans and advances to customers	983	677
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	303	331
Deposits from customers	86,199	70,307
Off-balance sheet items		
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	200	904
	2023	2022
Interest income	19	14
Interest expense	(3,674)	(2,748)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(9) Transactions with Annuity Fund

Apart from the obligations for defined contributions to the Annuity Fund and normal banking transactions, no other material transactions were conducted between the Group and the bank with the Annuity Fund for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(10) Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

	As at 31 December 2023		As at 31 December 2022	
	Balances	%	Balances	%
On-balance sheet items				
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	7,390	0.86	2,819	0.41
Derivative financial assets	5,423	8.05	3,114	4.47
Loans and advances to customers	13,141	0.17	21,846	0.31
Financial investments at FVTPL	68,815	10.71	33,735	4.78
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,096,138	42.59	874,029	35.66
Financial investments at FVOCI	131,394	14.80	207,509	25.97
Due to and placements from banks and				
other financial institutions	(30,664)	1.62	(27,746)	1.36
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	_	(1,830)	3.82
Derivative financial liabilities	(1,860)	3.65	(1,747)	3.73
Deposits from customers	(178,995)	2.09	(162,810)	2.05
Certificates of deposits issued	(37,211)	3.62		-
Off-balance sheet items				
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	275,286	3.48	158,078	2.44
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	22,248	1.00	7,320	0.33
	2023		2022	
	Amount	%	Amount	%
Interest income	35,393	7.57	29,969	7.07
Interest expense	(9,773)	3.30	(8,192)	3.30
Fee and commission income	148	0.31	100	0.20
Fee and commission expense	(17)	0.41	(8)	0.17

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating segments are identified based on the structure of the Group's internal organization and management requirements. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. Net interest income and expense relating to third parties are disclosed in external net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

Segment revenues, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. The basis for allocation is mainly based on occupation of or contribution to resources. Income tax is managed on a group basis and is not allocated to operating segments.

Geographical operating segment information

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Head Office: Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre;
- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province and Anhui Province:
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province and Shandong Province;
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province,
 Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia
 Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region and Tibet Autonomous Region;
- North Eastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province;
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2023 H Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

The geographical operating segment information of the Group is summarised as follows:

Year	ended	31	Decem	ber	2023
------	-------	----	-------	-----	------

			Bohai Rim Economic North			North			
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Eastern Zone	Central China	Western China	Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	21,995 28,476	10,379 9,527	(3,212) 27,809	20,894 9,261	17,232 2,150	(1,525) 7,275	13,336 1,059	85,024 (85,557)	164,123 -
Net interest income/(expense) Fee and commission income Fee and commission expense	50,471 11,845 (1,364)	19,906 3,866 (35)	24,597 5,506 (76)	30,155 5,853 (97)	19,382 3,144 (21)	5,750 1,216 (14)	14,395 2,077 (186)	(533) 13,641 (2,351)	164,123 47,148 (4,144)
Net fee and commission income Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments Share of (loss)/profits of associates and joint ventures Other operating income	10,481 5,924 1,596 (15) 23,109	3,831 380 1 - 403	5,430 298 - - - 529	5,756 494 - - 504	3,123 (108) - - 405	1,202 20 15 - 213	1,891 1,207 (617) 63 822	11,290 15,009 (268) 308 595	43,004 23,224 727 356 26,580
Total net operating income	91,566	24,521	30,854	36,909	22,802	7,200	17,761	26,401	258,014
Credit impairment losses Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal Other operating expense	(7,633) (1,029) (35,320)	(9,491) 1 (7,155)	(846)	(6,282) (3) (9,765)	(7,225) (10) (6,758)	(781) (23) (3,458)	(6,071) - (5,742)	(18,579) 1 (22,898)	(56,908) (1,062) (100,346)
Profit/(loss) before tax	47,584	7,876	20,759	20,859	8,809	2,938	5,948	(15,075)	99,698
Income tax Net profit for the year									93,252
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(1,781) (40,918)	(955) (257)	(1,178) (398)	(1,176) (668)	(956) (380)	(497) (271)	(569) (294)	(2,415) (3,833)	(9,527) (47,019)

Year	ended 31	December	2022

			Bohai Rim						
			Economic						
			North			North			
	Yangtze	Pearl	Eastern	Central	Western	Eastern			
	River Delta	River Delta	Zone	China	China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	28,138	13,195	(1,906)	23,356	18,025	(516)	10,903	78,687	169,882
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	23,929	7,099	26,649	7,765	1,568	6,358	121	(73,489)	-
Net interest income/(expense)	52,067	20,294	24,743	31,121	19,593	5,842	11,024	5,198	169,882
Fee and commission income	14,336	4,016	5,554	5,827	3,069	1,183	2,226	13,128	49,339
Fee and commission expense	(2,620)	(42)	(70)	(153)	(21)	(15)	(214)	(1,349)	(4,484)
Net fee and commission income	11,716	3,974	5,484	5,674	3,048	1,168	2,012	11,779	44,855
Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities	3,362	274	177	651	(173)	78	(471)	13,709	17,607
Net gains/(loss) arising from financial investments	948	-	27	-	-	17	(146)	(352)	494
Share of (loss)/profits of associates and joint ventures	(55)	-	-	-	-	-	65	282	292
Other operating income	18,908	582	1,252	1,043	868	266	802	495	24,216
Total net operating income	86,946	25,124	31,683	38,489	23,336	7,371	13,286	31,111	257,346
Credit impairment losses	(6,154)	(6,968)	(13,868)	(870)	(7,281)	(3,961)	(4,357)	(16,952)	(60,411)
Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal	(1,884)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(1)	(7)	-	1	(1,897)
Other operating expense	(31,213)	(6,955)	(9,177)	(9,484)	(6,674)	(3,371)	(5,138)	(24,911)	(96,923)
Profit/(loss) before tax	47,695	11,199	8,636	28,133	9,380	32	3,791	(10,751)	98,115
Income tax									(6,160)
Net profit for the year								-	91,955
Depreciation and amortisation	(1,793)	(945)	(1,141)	(1,135)	(956)	(497)	(508)	(1,675)	(8,650)
Capital expenditure	(25,091)	(340)	(210)	(391)	(856)	(190)	(441)	(3,989)	(31,508)
			F-29	4					

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

					As at 31 Dece	ember 2023				
Segment assets	Yangtze River Delta 3,581,356	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic North Eastern Zone 2,097,935	Central China 1,498,173	Western China 1,025,178	North Eastern China 471,772	Overseas 1,204,469	Head Office 5,486,713	Eliminations (2,626,197)	Total 14,020,093
Including:										
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,427	-	-	1	-	-	1,038	6,524	-	8,990
Unallocated assets										40,379
Total assets										14,060,472
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(3,451,137)	(1,269,395)	(2,074,193)	(1,479,208)	(1,013,057)	(470,188)	(1,101,049)	(4,726,585)	2,626,197	(12,958,615) (2,407)
Total liabilities										(12,961,022)
	Yangtze River Delta	Pearl River Delta	Bohai Rim Economic North Eastern Zone	Central China	As at 31 Dece Western China	North Eastern China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	3,194,409	1,234,660	1,889,591	1,410,944	971,233	459,731	1,147,452	4,949,513	(2,305,474)	12,952,059
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,439	-	-	1	-	-	1,010	6,300	-	8,750
Unallocated assets										39,512
Total assets										12,991,571
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(2,931,210)	(1,219,145)	(1,872,761)	(1,364,697)	(960,633)	(462,599)	(1,086,247)	(4,364,445)	2,305,474	(11,956,263) (1,786)
Total liabilities										(11,958,049)

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. Others Business segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

			ed 31 December	2023	
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	84,507 7,061	23,300 48,702	56,346 (55,763)	(30)	164,123 -
Net interest income/(expense) Net fee and commission income Net gains/(loss) arising from trading activities Net (loss)/gains arising from financial investments Share of profits/(loss) of associates and	91,568 9,985 4,681 (204)	72,002 28,325 1,465 939	583 4,495 17,281 (8)	(30) 199 (203) -	164,123 43,004 23,224 727
joint ventures Other operating income	46 21,506	4,087	(15) 608	325 379	356 26,580
Total net operating income	127,582	106,818	22,944	670	258,014
Credit impairment losses Other assets impairment (losses)/reversal Other operating expense	(30,050) (1,068)	(25,039) 5	(1,818)	(1)	(56,908) (1,062)
Depreciation and amortisationOthers	(3,486) (42,419)	(5,283) (42,961)	(614) (4,733)	(144) (706)	(9,527) (90,819)
Profit/(loss) before tax	50,559	33,540	15,779	(180)	99,698
Income tax			<u> </u>	_	(6,446)
Net profit for the year				_	93,252
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(3,486) (42,813)	(5,283) (3,578)	(614) (448)	(144) (180)	(9,527) (47,019)
	Corporate Banking Business	Year end Personal Banking Business	ed 31 December : Treasury Business	2022 Other Business	Total
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	80,160 13,671	45,194 24,617	44,551 (38,288)	(23)	169,882
Net interest income/(expense) Net fee and commission income Net gains arising from trading activities Net (loss)/gains arising from financial investments Share of profits/(loss) of associates and joint ventures	93,831 10,008 3,473 (13)	69,811 29,919 558 887	6,263 4,749 13,556 (398)	(23) 179 20 18	169,882 44,855 17,607 494
Other operating income	17,679	4,988	1,013	536	24,216
Total net operating income	125,006	106,162	25,129	1,049	257,346
Credit impairment (losses)/reversal Other assets impairment losses Other operating expense	(39,700) (1,891)	(22,262) (6)	1,552 -	(1) -	(60,411) (1,897)
Depreciation and amortisationOthers	(3,354) (37,651)	(4,600) (45,203)	(545) (4,837)	(151) (582)	(8,650) (88,273)
Profit before tax	42,410	34,091	21,299	315	98,115
Income tax					(6,160)
Net profit for the year				_	91,955
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(3,354) (27,187) F -2	(4,600) (3,736)	(545) (416)	(151) (169)	(8,650) (31,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

46 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Total liabilities

	As at	31 December 20	23	
Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
6,138,677	2,305,171	5,534,582	41,663	14,020,093
2,457	1,429	-	5,104	8,990
				40,379
				14,060,472
(5,474,229)	(3,620,670)	(3,802,004)	(57,174)	(12,954,077) (6,945)
				(12,961,022)
	As at	31 December 202	22	
Corporate	Personal			
Banking	Banking	Treasury	Other	
Business	Business	Business	Business	Total
5,447,892	2,267,232	5,191,367	45,568	12,952,059
2,427	1,439	_	4,884	8,750
				39,512
				12,991,571
(5,312,199)	(3,152,334)	(3,424,096)	(63,697)	(11,952,326) (5,723)
	Banking Business 6,138,677 2,457 (5,474,229) Corporate Banking Business 5,447,892 2,427	Corporate Banking Business 6,138,677 2,305,171 2,457 1,429 (5,474,229) (3,620,670) As at Corporate Banking Business 5,447,892 2,267,232 2,427 1,439	Corporate Banking Business Personal Business Treasury Business 6,138,677 2,305,171 5,534,582 2,457 1,429 - (5,474,229) (3,620,670) (3,802,004) As at 31 December 202 Corporate Banking Business Banking Treasury Business 5,447,892 2,267,232 5,191,367 2,427 1,439 -	Banking Business Banking Business Treasury Business Other Business 6,138,677 2,305,171 5,534,582 41,663 2,457 1,429 - 5,104 (5,474,229) (3,620,670) (3,802,004) (57,174) As at 31 December 2022 Corporate Banking Banking Treasury Business Business Business Business 5,447,892 2,267,232 5,191,367 45,568 2,427 1,439 - 4,884

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various business segments have been adjusted.

(11,958,049)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

47 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK

(1) Statement of financial position of the Bank

	As at 31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Assets		
Cash and balances with central banks	893,502	801,402
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	923,931	793,966
Derivative financial assets	63,846	65,871
Loans and advances to customers	7,400,621	6,767,462
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	504,152	577,709
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,497,643	2,353,127
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	705,189	625,454
Investments in associates and joint ventures	6,524	6,300
Investments in subsidiaries	83,845	84,279
Property and equipment	50,058	51,038
Deferred income tax assets	36,520	36,248
Other assets	66,037	60,844
Total assets	13,231,868	12,223,700
	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Liabilities and Equity Liabilities		
Due to banks and other financial institutions	2,224,251	1 06/ /07
		1.004.407
		1,864,487 32.172
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	42,335	32,172
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	42,335 52,972	32,172 54,805
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers	42,335 52,972 8,243,835	32,172 54,805 7,644,612
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 – 120,021
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 – 120,021
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,226	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 — 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds Capital surplus	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,227
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities Deposits from customers Certificates of deposits issued Current income tax liabilities Debt securities issued Deferred income tax liabilities Other liabilities Total liabilities Equity Share capital Other equity investments Including: Preference shares Perpetual bonds Capital surplus Other reserves	42,335 52,972 8,243,835 1,011,664 3,507 526,939 119 111,328 12,216,950 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,226 381,063	32,172 54,805 7,644,612 1,080,787 2,572 461,224 - 120,021 11,260,680 74,263 174,790 44,952 129,838 111,227 353,238

The financial statements of the Bank were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Chairman and Executive Director: Ren Deqi Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President: Liu Jun

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

(Continued)	
HE BAIN	the Bank
4/ TINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Contin	Statement of changes in equity of the Bank
IALSIAIE	nt of chang
PINANC	Statemer
4/	(0)

	Total	963,020	87,072	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)	1 3	E	1,014,918
	Retained	249,502	81,030	(27,700)	(1,832)	(5,641)	(21,783)	•	273,576
	Others	1,435	(14)		•		•	•	1,421
	Actuarial changes reserve	(121)	æ	•	•	•	1	•	(88)
	Translation differences for foreign operations	(116)	842	•	1	•	•		726
	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	(37)	(111)		1	•	1	•	(148)
Other reserves	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	(157)	458	ı	•		•	1	301
Oţ.	Revaluation reserve and impairment reserve for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	(5,874)	4,834	1	1	•	1	1	(1,040)
	Statutory general reserve	133,778		•	1	•	13,384	•	147,162
	Statutory Discretionary reserve	139,764			•	1	1	•	139,764
	Statutory	84,566			1		8,399	•	92,965
	Capital surplus	111,227		•	1	•	1 3	E	111,226
nstruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838		•	1	•	•	•	129,838
Other equity instruments	Preference Share	44,952	•	•	1	•	•	•	44,952
	Share capital	74,263	•	1	1	1	1	•	74,263
		As at 1 January 2023	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders	Shareholders	bond holders	Transfer to reserves	Others	As at 31 December 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

		Other equity instruments	nstruments	1					Other reserves						
								Revaluation	Revaluation reserve for the						
								reserve and	changes in						
								impairment	credit risk of	Effective					
								reserve for	the financial	portion of					
								financial assets	liabilities	gains or losses					
								at fair value	designated	on hedging	Translation				
							Statutory	through other	at fair value	instruments	differences	Actuarial			
		Preference	Perpetual	Capital	Statutony	Discretionary	general	comprehensive	through	in cash flow	for foreign	changes		Retained	
	Share capital	Share	spuod	surplus	reserve	reserve	reserve	income	profit or loss	hedges	operations	reserve	Others	earnings	Total
As at 1 January 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,226	77,044	139,764	122,341	(12)	(24)	53	(3,804)	(87)	1,391	218,328	915,273
Total comprehensive income	1	I	I	ı	ı	ı	1	(5,869)	(133)	(06)	3,688	(34)	44	83,986	81,592
Dividends paid to ordinary															
shareholders	ı	1	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	(26,363)	(26,363)
Dividends paid to															
preference shareholders	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	(1,832)	(1,832)
Interest paid to perpetual															
bond holders	I	1	1	ı	1	ı	1	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	(5,651)	(5,651)
Transfer to reserves	I	1	1	ı	7,522	1	11,437	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	(18,959)	ı
Transferred from other															
comprehensive income	I	ı	ı	-	ı	1	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	-
Others	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	7	1	1	1	ı	ı	(7)	1
As at 31 December 2022	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,227	84,566	139,764	133,778	(5,874)	(157)	(37)	(116)	(121)	1,435	249,502	963,020

(2)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK (Continued) Statement of changes in equity of the Bank (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (All amounts expressed in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

48 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Profit distribution after reporting period

On 27 March 2024, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed to appropriate RMB8,103 million to the statutory reserve and RMB13,175 million to the statutory general reserve. A cash dividend of RMB0.375 (before tax) for each share, totalling RMB27,849 million, calculated based on the total number of shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares (RMB1 per share) as at 31 December 2023 was also proposed. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

49 AUDIT FEES

In 2023, KPMG and its network member firms were paid a professional audit service fee of RMB75 million by the Group for the audit of the financial statements of the Group (For the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB61 million).

50 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in current year.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023

1 CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

As at 31 December 2023	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	982,254	244,035	261,197	1,487,486
Spot liabilities	(849,432)	(285,305)	(142,071)	(1,276,808)
Forward purchases	1,718,050	226,260	339,376	2,283,686
Forward sales	(1,966,153)	(114,065)	(453,434)	(2,533,652)
Net option position	(1,674)	117	843	(714)
Net (short)/long position	(116,955)	71,042	5,911	(40,002)
Net structural position	170,087	29,624	7,771	207,482
As at 31 December 2022	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	908,713	259,892	241,149	1,409,754
Spot liabilities	(942,837)	(300,722)	(145,452)	(1,389,011)
Forward purchases	1,203,294	190,054	141,921	1,535,269
Forward sales	(1,386,509)	(105,679)	(208,133)	(1,700,321)
Net option position	(89)	94	1,292	1,297
Net (short)/long position	(217,428)	43,639	30,777	(143,012)
Net structural position	145,847	29,508	7,788	183,143

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the China's National Financial Regulatory Administration in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Chinese Mainland.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Chinese Mainland excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Chinese Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, trade bills and certificates of deposits held and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023	Bank	Official sector	Non-bank Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	683,105	110,199	744,482		1,537,786
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	184,678	71,713	349,970	-	606,361
North and South America	26,415	14,771	34,063	_	75,249
Africa	1,497	1,495	324	_	3,316
Europe	18,162	645	37,467		56,274
Total	729,179	127,110	816,336		1,672,625
			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2022	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	680,295	109,709	711,608	-	1,501,612
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	211,057	66,346	350,515	-	627,918
North and South America	20,389	12,455	28,645	-	61,489
Africa	701	1,702	96	_	2,499
Europe	10,389	593	25,469		36,451
Total	711,774	124,459	765,818	_	1,602,051

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

(1) Balance of overdue loans

	As at	As at
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:		
- Less than 3 months	41,727	27,737
- 3 to 6 months	14,838	16,524
- 6 to 12 months	20,089	16,956
- Over 12 months	33,467	23,611
Total	110,121	84,828
Percentage (%):		
- Less than 3 months	0.52	0.38
- 3 to 6 months	0.19	0.23
- 6 to 12 months	0.25	0.23
- Over 12 months	0.42	0.32
Total	1.38	1.16

(2) Overdue and restructured loans

	31 December 2023	As at 31 December 2022
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	40,836	13,660
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	6,306	1,533
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue		
above 3 months in total loans	0.08	0.02

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

(1) Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 Dec	ember 2023	As at 31 December 2022		
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	Allowance for	
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	impairment	
	customers	losses	customers	losses	
Chinese mainland					
 Yangtze River Delta 	20,563	(11,492)	21,107	(11,898)	
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	16,472	(10,418)	10,707	(8,992)	
- Central China	13,311	(7,048)	14,520	(6,287)	
- Pearl River Delta	12,214	(7,065)	8,403	(4,872)	
- North Eastern China	11,221	(8,406)	13,595	(10,588)	
- Western China	9,443	(5,473)	9,333	(6,022)	
- Head Office	9,392	(8,118)	9,310	(8,158)	
Subtotal	92,616	(58,020)	86,975	(56,817)	
Hong Kong, Macau,					
Taiwan and overseas regions	13,053	(9,805)	11,551	(5,260)	
Total	105,669	(67,825)	98,526	(62,077)	

(2) Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 31 Dece	ember 2023	As at 31 Dece	mber 2022
		Allowance for		Allowance for
		impairment		impairment
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	losses
Chinese mainland				
- Head Office	28,064	(20,774)	20,116	(15,595)
 Yangtze River Delta 	14,191	(7,624)	9,076	(5,276)
- Central China	14,155	(6,568)	13,298	(5,261)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,302	(8,181)	9,361	(7,438)
- Pearl River Delta	11,803	(6,546)	7,165	(4,091)
- Western China	8,184	(3,652)	6,707	(3,553)
- North Eastern China	7,697	(5,667)	9,661	(7,065)
Subtotal	97,396	(59,012)	75,384	(48,279)
Hong Kong, Macau,				
Taiwan and overseas regions	12,725	(2,579)	9,444	(4,809)
Total	110,121	(61,591)	84,828	(53,088)

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by geographical and industry sectors (gross)

	As at 3	As at 31 December 2023			As at 31 December 2022		
			Amount			Amount	
			covered by			covered by	
Hong Kong		%	collaterals		%	collaterals	
Corporate loans							
Real estate	75,477	33.63	23,943	98,548	41.49	24,474	
Manufacturing	21,120	9.40	3,519	9,921	4.17	3,711	
Transportation, storage and postal service	12,411	5.52	2,966	10,829	4.56	2,421	
Wholesale and retail	11,372	5.06	3,615	12,633	5.32	3,425	
Leasing and commercial services	10,562	4.70	3,855	10,948	4.61	4,235	
Finance	7,000	3.11	1,150	5,419	2.28	1,136	
Construction	6,619	2.94	1,562	6,961	2.93	1,418	
Information transmission, software and							
IT services	6,592	2.93	42	4,264	1.79	56	
Accommodation and catering	2,153	0.96	2,153	-	_	_	
Production and supply of power,							
heat, gas and water	149	0.07	149	717	0.30	429	
Others	14,902	6.63	1,262	23,321	9.82	1,352	
Total corporate loans	168,357	74.90	44,216	183,561	77.27	42,657	
Personal loans							
Mortgage	41,652	18.53	41,580	39,705	16.71	39,575	
Credit cards	121	0.05	_	105	0.04	_	
Others	14,658	6.52	14,015	14,214	5.98	3,467	
Total personal loans	56,431	25.10	55,595	54,024	22.73	43,042	
Gross amount of loans and advances to							
customers before impairment allowance	224,788	100.00	99,811	237,585	100.00	85,699	
Outside Hong Kong	7,732,297			7,057,380			

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 48% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 50%).

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(2) Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 31 Dec	ember 2023	As at 31 Dec	ember 2022
		Allowance for		Allowance for
		impairment		impairment
	Impaired loans	losses	Impaired loans	losses
Corporates	85,546	(53,567)	78,523	(48,157)
Individuals	20,123	(14,258)	20,003	(13,920)
Total	105,669	(67,825)	98,526	(62,077)

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the period are disclosed below:

	Year er	Year ended 31 December 2023			Year ended 31 December 2022		
			Recoveries			Recoveries	
			of loans and			of loans and	
		Loans and	advances		Loans and	advances	
		advances	written off		advances	written off	
	New	written off as	in previous	New	written off as	in previous	
	provisions	uncollectible	years	provisions	uncollectible	years	
Corporates	26,060	(9,871)	3,166	35,060	(24,584)	3,339	
Individuals	28,077	(21,228)	2,513	23,042	(21,729)	1,807	
Total	54,137	(31,099)	5,679	58,102	(46,313)	5,146	

1,365,162

15,397,025

(7,062)

1,411,948

14,349,614

(6,941)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON LEVERAGE RATIO, LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION RELATED TO LEVERAGE RATIO

Leverage ratio disclosure is disclosed according to Note 3 Leverage Ratio Disclosure Format of the Measures for the Administration of the Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised).

RECONCILIATION OF REGULATORY CONSOLIDATION AND ACCOUNTING CONSOLIDATION

(in millions of RMB)

Carial

6

7

8

Serial			
Number	Item	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
1	Total consolidated assets	14,060,472	12,992,419
2	Adjustments of consolidation	(134,383)	(106,912)
3	Adjustments item of customer's assets	-	-
4	Adjustments of derivatives	38,611	36,022
5	Adjustments of securities financing transactions	74,225	23,078

LEVERAGE RATIO INFORMATION

Other Adjustments

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Adjustments of off-balance sheet item

Balance of adjusted on- and off-balance sheet assets

Serial Number	Item	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
1	On-balance-sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities		
	financing transactions)	13,658,311	12,636,526
2	Less: Deduction of tier-1 capital	(7,062)	(6,941)
3	Balance of adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives		,
	and securities financing transactions)	13,651,249	12,629,585
4	Replacement costs of derivatives (less eligible margin)	66,497	67,164
5	Potential risk exposure of derivatives	39,501	38,544
6	Sum of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet	_	-
7	Less: Assets receivable from providing eligible margin	_	-
8	Less: Derivative assets resulting from the transactions with central		
	counterparties in providing clearing settlement services for customers	_	-
9	Notional principal of sold credit derivatives	_	-
10	Less: Deductible balance of sold credit derivatives	_	-
11	Derivative asset balance	105,998	105,708
12	Accounting asset balance of securities financing transactions	212,421	179,295
13	Less: Balance of deductible securities financing transaction assets	_	-
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure of securities financing transactions	62,195	23,078
15	Balance of securities financing transaction assets from acting for		
	securities financing transactions	_	_
16	Securities financing assets balance	274,616	202,373
17	Balance of off-balance-sheet items	3,120,948	3,046,801
18	Less: Balance of off-balance-sheet items arising from the reduction of		
	credit transfer	(1,755,786)	(1,634,853)
19	Adjusted off-balance sheet items balance	1,365,162	1,411,948
20	Net tier-1 capital	1,081,683	1,016,644
21	Adjusted balance of on- and off-balance sheet assets	15,397,025	14,349,614
22	Leverage ratio (%)	7.03	7.08

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON LEVERAGE RATIO, LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO

APPENDIX 2: THE DAILY AVERAGE LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND ITS DETAILS OF THE GROUP IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

Serial Number	er	Amount before conversion	Amount after conversion
The qu	alified high-quality liquid assets		
1	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,299,092
Cash (Dutflow		
2	Retail deposits, small business deposits, including:	3,229,426	312,581
3	Stable deposit	205,463	10,185
4	Less stable deposit	3,023,963	302,396
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, including:	5,206,468	2,252,779
6	Business relationship deposit (excluding agency business)	2,782,680	693,565
7	Non-business relationship deposit (including all counterparties)	2,406,592	1,542,018
8	Unsecured debt	17,196	17,196
9	Secured funding		6,668
10	Other items, including:	2,406,769	1,342,550
11	Cash outflow relates to derivatives and other collateral/pledged assets	1,290,413	1,282,883
12	Cash outflow relates to loss of funding on asset-blocked securities	762	762
13	Committed credit and liquidity facilities	1,115,594	58,905
14	Other contractual obligation to extend funds	71,200	71,200
15	Contingent funding obligations	2,538,146	74,379
16	Total expected cash outflow		4,060,157
Cash I	nflow		
17	Secured lending (including reverse repos and securities borrowing)	212,346	212,345
18	Inflows from fully performing exposure	1,130,668	810,371
19	Other cash inflow	1,325,073	1,303,676
20	Total expected cash inflow	2,668,087	2,326,392
			Amount after
			adjustment
21	The qualified high-quality liquid assets		2,230,254
22	Net cash outflow		1,733,765
23	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)		128.50

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON LEVERAGE RATIO, LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO

APPENDIX 3: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			Harristalid			Weighted
Serial			Unweight Less than	.ed value 6-12		value
Number		No Maturity	6 months	months	Over 1 year	
		NO Maturity	- Unionities	1110111115	- Over 1 year	
	Stable Funding Item				400.000	4.054.50
1	Capital	1,064,541	_	_	189,990	1,254,53
2	Regulatory Capital	1,064,541	_	_	189,990	1,254,53
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	-	
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	907,754	2,462,857	21,982	6,068	3,070,374
5	Stable deposits	212,669	6,189	612	2,370	210,86
6	Less stable deposits	695,085	2,456,668	21,369	3,698	2,859,50
7	Wholesale funding	2,709,596	4,301,683	710,823	535,153	3,359,08
8	Operational deposits	2,666,461	235,607	38,046	23,082	1,493,13
9	Other wholesale funding	43,135	4,066,076	672,777	512,071	1,865,94
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	-	-	-	-	
11	Other liabilities	79,605	323,183	53,130	339,039	352,36
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities				80,209	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the	79,605	323,183	53,130	258,830	352,36
	above categories					
14	Total available stable funding					8,036,35
Required	Stable Funding Item					
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					395,80
16	Business relationship deposits held at other financial institutions	98,351	310	_	-	49,33
17	Loans and securities	91,467	2,573,874	1,117,160	5,455,319	6,329,67
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	41,682	_	-	6,24
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non-Level 1 assets or unsecured	-	561,694	145,359	139,069	296,00
20	Loans to retail and small business customers, non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks and public sector entities.	24	1,794,063	927,510	3,491,341	4,319,52
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	23,784	928	48,031	43,57
22	Residential mortgages	-	854	1,030	1,429,542	1,216,05
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	-	-	_	-	
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	91,444	175,582	43,260	395,367	491,84
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	-	-	_	-	
26	Other assets	114,105	98,374	14,923	234,231	346,36
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	18,766				15,95
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to default funds of central counterparties				15,202	12,92
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				124,174	6,72
30	Derivative with additional requirements				77,998	15,60
31	All other assets not included in the above	95,339	98,374	14,923	94,854	295,17
32	Off-balance-sheet items	-,	-,,	-,	3,934,033	145,37
33	Total required stable funding				, , , , , , , , ,	7,266,54
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					110.5

Notes:

- 1. The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- 2. The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON LEVERAGE RATIO, LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO AND NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO

APPENDIX 4: NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO AND ITEMS FOR THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2023

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

			11			Weighted
0			Unweight			value
Serial Number		No Maturity	Less than 6 months	6-12 months	Over 1 year	
	Stable Funding Item					
1	Capital	1,092,641	_	_	219,989	1,312,630
2	Regulatory Capital	1,092,641	_	_	219,989	1,312,630
3	Other capital instruments	_	_	_	_	-,,
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small enterprises	932,020	2,512,776	13,867	5,983	3,130,252
5	Stable deposits	222,227	6,717	506	2,324	220,302
6	Less stable deposits	709,793	2,506,059	13,361	3,658	2,909,950
7	Wholesale funding	2,923,180	3,940,579	1,015,024	541,684	3,509,075
8	Operational deposits	2,880,401	243,999	40,030	20,427	1,602,643
9	Other wholesale funding	42,779	3,696,580	974,994	521,256	1,906,433
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	_	_	_	_	
11	Other liabilities	83,574	322,513	17,412	308,536	340,809
12	Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities	,	,	,	47,101	
13	All other liabilities and equities not included in the	83,574	322,513	17,412	261,435	340,809
	above categories	00,011	022,010	,	201,100	0.10,000
14	Total available stable funding					8,292,766
	Stable Funding Item					0,202,100
15	Total net stable funding ratio high-quality liquid assets					479,548
16	Business relationship deposits held at other financial institutions	71,727	_	2,044	12,295	49,181
17	Loans and securities	67,503	2,672,650	1,160,308	5,504,720	6,388,110
18	Loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 assets	-	59,550	354	-	9,042
19	Loans to financial institutions secured by non-Level 1	_	661,096	166,786	139,361	321,918
10	assets or unsecured		001,000	100,100	.00,00	021,010
20	Loans to retail and small business customers,	0	1,784,069	943,403	3,554,308	4,374,511
20	non-financial institutions, sovereigns, central banks	· ·	1,101,000	0 10, 100	0,00 1,000	1,01 1,011
	and public sector entities.					
21	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	_	9,706	1,249	55,683	41,672
22	Residential mortgages	_	848	1,018	1,418,881	1,206,982
23	Including: with a risk weight less than or equal to 35%	_	-	- 1,010	-	1,200,002
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as	67,503	167,088	48,747	392,169	475,657
2-7	high-quality liquid assets, including exchange-traded equities	07,000	101,000	40,141	002,100	410,001
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities	_	_	_	_	_
26	Other assets	110,866	81,326	13,026	143,336	277,187
27	Physical traded commodities (including gold)	13,828	0.,020	10,020	. 10,000	11,754
28	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and	10,020			16,850	14,323
20	contributions to default funds of central counterparties				10,000	14,020
29	Net stable funding ratio derivative assets				80,826	10,535
30	Derivative with additional requirements				45,257	9,051
31	All other assets not included in the above	97,039	81,326	13,026	45,660	231,525
32	Off-balance-sheet items	01,000	01,020	10,020	3,938,181	144,362
33	Total required stable funding				3,300,101	7,338,389
34	Net stable funding ratio (%)					113.01

Notes:

- 1. The "no maturity" bucket mentioned in the table above include, but are not limited to, capital with perpetual maturity, non-maturity (demand) deposits, short positions, open maturity positions, non-high-quality liquid assets equities, and physical traded commodities.
- 2. The unweighted value of item 30 "Net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities with additional requirements" is the net stable funding ratio derivative liabilities before the deduction of the variation margin, without differentiation of maturity, and not included in the unweighted value of item 26 "Other assets".

REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

To the Board of Directors of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the accompanying interim financial information, which comprises the interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. as at 30 June 2024, and the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity and the interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six-month period then ended, and explanatory notes. The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the preparation of a report on interim financial information to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof and International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the interim financial information in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on our review, on the interim financial information and to report our conclusion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. A review of the interim financial information consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly we do not express an audit opinion.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim financial information as at 30 June 2024 is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting.

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central, Hong Kong

28 August 2024

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		Six months ended	Six months ended 30 June		
	Note	2024	2023		
Interest income		228,038	228,406		
Interest expense		(143,804)	(146,019)		
Net interest income	4	84,234	82,387		
Fee and commission income	5	22,933	26,691		
Fee and commission expense	6	(1,933)	(2,111)		
Net fee and commission income		21,000	24,580		
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	7	12,089	17,637		
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments		934	(32)		
Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at					
amortised cost		104	10		
Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures		307	161		
Other operating income	8	13,986	12,574		
Net operating income		132,550	137,307		
Credit impairment losses	9	(33,021)	(36,346)		
Other assets impairment losses	10	(467)	(594)		
Other operating expenses	11	(51,384)	(50,693)		
Profit before tax		47,678	49,674		
Income tax	13	(1,853)	(3,108)		
Net profit for the period		45,825	46,566		

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		30 June	
	Note	2024	2023
Other comprehensive income, net of tax			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		8,561 (801)	2,923 (190
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		(254) -	448
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges			
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss		339 (31)	(1,079 888
Translation differences for foreign operations Others		(34) (2,734)	3,865 (1,220
Subtotal		5,046	5,635
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Actuarial revaluation on pension benefits Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income			1,129
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss Others		(219) (460)	(148 (225
Subtotal		572	760
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	39	5,618	6,395
Total comprehensive income for the period		51,443	52,96 ⁻
Net profit attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		45,287 538 45,825	46,039 527 46,566
Total comprehensive income attributable to: Shareholders of the parent company Non-controlling interests		50,710 733	51,95 1,00
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	14	0.56	52,96

The accompanying notes form a part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		As at	As at
	Note	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
ASSETS			
Cash and balances with central banks	15	737,032	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	16	848,684	859,642
Derivative financial assets	17	79,459	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	18	8,066,326	7,772,060
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	19	613,900	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	19	2,489,110	2,573,911
Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income	19	920,070	887,949
Investments in associates and joint ventures	21	9,354	8,990
Property and equipment	22	227,878	217,751
Deferred tax assets	23	40,078	40,379
Other assets	24	146,023	92,099
Total assets		14,177,914	14,060,472
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY			
LIABILITIES			
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	25	2,257,871	2,424,537
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	26	59,551	56,557
Derivative financial liabilities	17	60,380	50,975
Deposits from customers	27	8,650,116	8,551,215
Certificates of deposits issued	28	1,128,611	1,027,461
Income tax payable		3,261	4,538
Debt securities issued	29	599,046	592,175
Deferred tax liabilities	23	2,533	2,407
Other liabilities	30	297,254	251,157
Total liabilities		13,058,623	12,961,022
EQUITY			
Share capital	31	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	32	174,790	174,790
Including: Preference shares		44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds		129,838	129,838
Capital surplus	31	111,428	111,428
Other reserves	33	427,719	400,805
Retained earnings	33	319,174	326,744
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		1,107,374	1,088,030
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares		8,384	7,912
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments		3,533	3,508
Non-controlling interests	35	11,917	11,420
Total equity		1,119,291	1,099,450
Total equity and liabilities		14,177,914	14,060,472

The condensed consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 28 August 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ren Deqi Chairman and Executive Director Zhang Baojiang
Vice Chairman, Executive Director and President

The accompanying notes form a part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Z ഗ Ш CHANG ш 0 ⊢ Z H EM STAT DATI SOLI Z \circ E ഗ Z U Z 0 Ö INTERIM Ш UNAUDIT

EQUITY
For the six months ended 30 June 2024
(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		Total	1,099,450	51,443	(28,019)		(1,832)	(1,685)		(99)	1			1,119,291
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company		Attributable to other equity instruments	3,508	91			·			(99)	1			3,533
		Attributable to other to ordinary equity shares instruments	7,912	642	(170)		٠				٠			8,384
		Attributable to the shareholders At shareholders At company	1,088,030	50,710	(27,849)		(1,832)	(1,685)			٠			1,107,374
		Retained of earnings	326,744	45,287	(27,849)		(1,832)	(1,685)		•	(21,529)		88	319,174
		Others	(993)	(1,983)			í				٠			(2,645)
		Actuarial changes reserve	(8)	٠	•		٠	•			٠		1	(88)
	Other reserves	Translation differences for foreign operations	3,214	(27)			۰	1			٠		•	3,187
		Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	84	307			٠			•	٠		•	391
		Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	301	(219)			٠			•	٠			82
	Othe	Revaluation reserve and impairment for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	1,277	7,345	•		•	•		•	٠		(38)	8,584
		Statutory general co reserve Note 33	159,053	·						•	13,367		•	172,420
		Discretionary surplus reserve Note 33	140,399	•	•		٠				٠		•	140,399
		Statutory reserve	97,227	٠	•		·	•			8,162			105,389
		Capital surplus	111,428	•			•				•		1	111,428
	Other equity instruments	Perpetual bonds	129,838	1			•	•		•	1		1	129,838
		Share Preference apital share ote 31 Note 32	44,952	•			•				•		1	44,952
		Share capital Note 31	74,263	•	'		•			•	•		1	74,263
			As at 1 January 2024	Total comprehensive income	Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders	Dividends paid to preference	shareholders	Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	Interest paid to non-cumulative	subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities holders	Transferred to reserves	Transfer of other	comprehensive income to retained earnings	As at 30 June 2024

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Z

S Ш

CHANG

ш 0

STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED

ED S

CONDEN

INTERIM

UNAUDITED

EQUITY (Continued)
For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		Other equity instruments	nstruments					Ð	Other reserves									
	Share capital Note 31	Preference Share	Perpetual bonds Note 32	Capital Surplus	Statutory reserve Note 33	Discretionary surplus reserve	Statutory general reserve Note 33	Revaluation reserve and impairment for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive	Revaluation reserve for the changes in credit risk of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss	Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges	Translation differences for foreign operations	Actuarial changes reserve	Others	Retained earnings Notes 33,34	Attributable to the shareholders of the parent company	Attroulable to ordrary shares	Attributable to other equity instruments	Total
As at 31 December 2022 (Restated) Impact of adoption of accounting policies amendments	74,263	44,952	129,838	- 111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,664)	(157)	693	1,164	(121)	1,016	292,734	1,022,024	8,040	3,458	1,033,522
As at 1 January 2023 Total comprehensive income	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,429	88,154	140,182	144,541	(6,473)	(157)	(191)	1,164	(121)	1,016 (909)	292,861	1,022,342	8,230	3,458	1,034,030
Dwdends paid to ordinary shareholders Dividends paid to preference	I	I	l	I	ı	I	I	ı	1	ı	í	1	I	(27,700)	(27,700)	(290)	ı	(27,990)
shareholders Interest paid to perpetual bond	I	I	I	ı	I	I	Ĭ	I	1	I	i	ı	I	(1,832)	(1,832)	I	1	(1,832)
holders Interest paid to non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-	I	I	ı	ı	I	ı	I	T	ı	Ī	I	I	1	(1,685)	(1,685)	1	I į	(1,683)
Transferred to reserves Transfer of other	1 1	T T	1 1	1 1	8,468	1 1	13,579	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	(22,047)	1 1	1 1	(3)	(ç <u>)</u>
retained earnings Others	1 1	1 1	1 1	· =	1 1	1 1	1 1	(96)	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	96	18	(519)	1 1	(520)
As at 30 June 2023	74,263	44,952	129,838	111,428	96,622	140.182	158.120	(3 105)	(305)	502	4 865	//17/	107	985 731	1 043 083	8.947	2 560	1 05/1 200

The accompanying notes form a part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		Six months ended	30 June
	Note	2024	2023
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Profit before tax:		47,678	49,674
Adjustments for:			
Provision for credit impairment losses		33,021	36,346
Provision for other assets impairment losses		467	594
Depreciation and amortization		9,512	8,927
Provision for outstanding litigation and unsettled obligation		51	(22)
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets		(377)	(416)
Interest income on financial investments		(55,915)	(55,162)
Net (gains)/losses on fair value and foreign exchange		(1,693)	(600)
Net (gains)/losses on investments in associates and joint ventures		(307)	(161)
Net (gains)/losses arising from financial investments		(829)	32
Interest expense on debt securities issued		8,061	8,036
Interest expense on lease liabilities		89	84
Operating cash flows before movements in operating assets and liabilities		39,758	47,332
Net decrease/(increase) in balances with central banks		29,330	(30,155)
Net decrease/(increase) in due from and placements with banks and other			
financial institutions		7,550	(139,134)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers		(326,103)	(493,878)
Net decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		29,397	40,397
Net increase in other assets		(56,438)	(47,053)
Net (decrease)/increase in due to and placements from banks and other			
financial institutions		(156,987)	76,117
Net increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss		2,007	(7,721)
Net increase in deposits from customers and certificates of deposit issued		199,135	545,780
Net increase in other liabilities		14,041	7,519
Net increase in value-added tax and other taxes payable		483	564
Income tax paid		(4,615)	(4,891)
Net cash flows used in operating activities		(222,442)	(5,123)

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

		Six months ended	30 June
	Note	2024	2023
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries, associated ventures and joint			
ventures		(117)	_
Cash payments for financial investments		(674,206)	(588,084)
Proceeds from disposal or redemption of financial investments		731,976	493,374
Dividends received		317	236
Interest received from financial investments		57,294	53,712
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets		(274)	(1,145)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets and other assets		6	2
Acquisition of property and equipment		(18,857)	(25,723)
Cash received from disposal of property and equipment		1,903	5,400
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing activities		98,042	(62,228)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issue of debt securities		70,876	80,566
Repayment of principal and interest of lease liabilities		(1,119)	(1,340)
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued		(64,804)	(30,585)
Payment of interest on debt securities		(7,387)	(5,690)
Dividends paid		(1,685)	(1,685)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests		(77)	(280)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities		(4,196)	40,986
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents			
held		(1,081)	1,760
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents		(129,677)	(24,605)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		275,461	248,803
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	40	145,784	224,198
Net cash flows from operating activities include:			
Interest received		174,448	172,545
Interest paid		(133,318)	(117,538)

The accompanying notes form a part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

1 GENERAL

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is a national state-owned joint-stock commercial bank, headquartered and registered in Shanghai, which was reorganized on 1 April 1987 upon the approval of Notice Guo Fa (1986) No. 81 issued by the State Council of the PRC and Notice Yin Fa (1987) No. 40 issued by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC").

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") include corporate and personal banking services, interbank and financial market business, financial leasing, fund management, wealth management, trustees, insurance, overseas securities, debt-to-equity swap and other related financial services.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Basis of preparation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with *International Accounting Standard ("IAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting"*, as well as with all applicable disclosure provisions of the *Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited*.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value. The principal accounting policies and methods of computation used in preparing the interim condensed consolidated financial statements are the same as those followed in the preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, which have been audited.

(2) Changes in accounting policies

(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2024 relevant to and adopted by the Group

In the current reporting period, the Group has adopted the following International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and amendments issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), that are mandatorily effective for the current reporting period.

		Note
Amendments to IFRS 16	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2020)	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current	(i)
Amendments to IAS 1 (2022)	Non-current Liabilities with Covenants	(i)
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7	Supplier Finance Arrangements	(i)

(i) Description of this standard and amendment was disclosed in the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The adoption of this standard and amendment does not have a significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(2) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Standards and amendments relevant to the Group that are not yet effective in the current reporting period and have not been adopted before their effective dates by the Group

The Group has not adopted the following new or amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

		Effective for annual periods beginning on or after	Note
Amendments to IAS 21	Lack of exchangeability	1 January 2025	(i)
Amendments to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9	Classification and measurement of financial assets	1 January 2026	(ii)
IFRS 18	Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements	1 January 2027	(iii)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sale or Contribution of Assets between An Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture	The effective date has now been deferred.	(i)

- (i) Descriptions of these standards and amendments were disclosed in the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group anticipates that the adoption of these standards and amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's financial information.
- (ii) Amendments to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9: Classification and measurement of financial assets

The amendments include clarification on the classification of financial assets with ESG and slimier features, new requirements on settlement of financial liabilities through electronic payment system and additional disclosure requirements regarding investment in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent feature.

The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

On April 2024, the IASB published its new standard IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements. The main changes in IFRS 18 compared with the previous requirements in IAS 1 comprise a more structured income statement, disclosures on management defined performance measures and enhanced aggregation and disaggregation of information etc.

The Group has not completed its assessment of the impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements of adopting IFRS 18.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(3) Significant accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The preparation of this interim condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

In preparing this interim condensed consolidated financial statements, the significant judgments made by management in applying the Group's accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as those that applied to the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Group's operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of a certain degree of risks or a portfolio of risks. The Group's aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risks and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The main types of financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, etc.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, monitor the risks and to control the risk limits through reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets and products and the latest best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors sets out risk management strategies, overall risk preference and risk tolerance level. The senior management establishes risk management policies and procedures according to the strategies set by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Department at Head Office serves as the chief department for the Group's risk management and leads the overall risk management duties, of which the crucial ones would be further designated to specific leading departments. The risk management division in each operation department at Head Office, in each domestic and overseas branch and in each subsidiary undertakes specific risk management function. Internal Audit Department is responsible for independent review of risk management and control environment.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a borrower or counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to customers, financial investments, derivative instruments and due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments, financial guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit. Credit risk is a major risk to which the Group is exposed. Therefore, the Group manages and controls the overall credit risk, integrated into the comprehensive risk management, in a prudent manner, and reports regularly to the Senior Management and the Board of Directors of the Group.

(a) Credit risk management

The Group's credit risk management is assumed by major functions such as Corporate and Institutional Banking Department, Inclusive Finance Department/Rural Revitalization Finance Department, Retail Credit Department, Pacific Credit Card Center, International Banking Department/Offshore Banking Center, Credit Management Department, Credit Approval Department, Risk Management Department, Non-Performing Asset Management Department, Financial institution Department (Commercial Paper Center)/Asset Management Center and Global Markets Department (Precious Metals Centre). They are responsible for the standardised management of corporate and retail credit businesses in terms of guidance on credit investment, credit investigation and report, credit approval, loan granting, post-loan management and non-performing loan management.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(i) Loans and advances to customers

As for corporate loans, the Group's relationship managers are responsible for receiving application files submitted by the applicants, conducting pre-loan investigation, assessing the credit risk, and raising the proposed rating. The Group adopts the hierarchical approval system at the branch and Head Office level based on the credit approval authority. Credit line is determined by taking into account the credit record, financial position, collaterals and guarantees of the applicant, overall credit risk of the credit portfolio, macroeconomic regulation and control policies and relevant laws and regulations. The Group keeps a close eye on the economic and financial trend and credit risk profile in the industry, provides more quidance on credit investment, formulate quidance for different industries, strengthens daily risk pre-warning, monitoring and specific risk investigation, identify customers under major risks and material potential risk points, enhances the refinement of post - loan management and centers on customer credit risk management to carry out post-loan management. The independent loan granting centre shall review the compliance, completeness and effectiveness of relevant credit files before loan granting according to the applications for drawdown of credit line. The Group's relationship managers are primarily responsible for post-loan management. The Group adopts a series of tools and approaches, such as risk filtering, list management, risk warning and risk investigation, in daily risk monitoring of corporate loans. The Group manages non-performing loans mainly through (1) collection; (2) restructuring; (3) disposal of collaterals or recourse to the guarantors; (4) litigation or arbitration; (5) disposal.

For retail credit assets, the Group manages the overall risk profile of retail credit business through on-site review and adoption of reporting system on material matters, strengthens daily risk monitoring and prewarning through optimising management system, standardises operation process of retail credit business through formulating business management system and combining relevant system function control, identifies and reveals material potential risks on a timely manner through strengthening risk monitoring and early-warning, and understands and forecasts the quality trends so as to adopt targeted risk control measures in advance by using stress testing and quality migration analysis. In addition, the Group continues to carry out fast response mechanism to address emergencies properly and maintains a list to manage those key risk projects through risk monitoring, guidance, collection and mitigation.

The Group adopts categorised management for retail credit assets on the basis of overdue ageing and guarantee type. With regard to retail credit customers with overdue loans, different approaches are adopted to collect such loans based on their overdue days.

Credit Card Centre of the Group is in charge of the operation and management of credit card business. Credit Card Centre of the Group adopts various supervisory and preventive measures. It reinforces data cross-validation to enhance risk prevention in the approval process, reduces risk exposure to high risk customers through customer classification and enters into the intervention process earlier than scheduled, effectively improves collection result through reasonable allocation of available resources, and optimises data analytic system to further enhance the management of credit card business.

(ii) Treasury business

For treasury business (including debt investments), the Group chooses banks and other financial institutions prudently and balances the credit risk and return rate of investments. By making reference to internal and external credit rating information, the Group approves credits of different levels and uses an appropriate credit limit management system to review and adjust credit lines, aiming to manage the credit risk exposed to the treasury business.

For debt securities, internal and external ratings (such as Standard and Poor's) are used by the Group when available for managing the credit risk exposed to debt securities and bills. The bond issuers involved with the Group are subject to the credit granting review and approval of the Head Office and branch based on the credit approval authority and credit limits are placed on such issuers.

F-322

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(ii) Treasury business (Continued)

Debt investments other than debt securities include investments in fund trust schemes, asset management plans and wealth management products set up by banking financial institutions. The Group implements a rating system for accepting trust companies, securities companies and fund companies, sets credit limits for repurchase parties of trust beneficiary right and ultimate borrowers of targeted asset management plans, and carries out follow-up risk management on a regular basis.

As for derivative instruments, the Group maintains strict limits on net open derivative investment positions (i.e., the difference between long and short contracts), by both amount and maturity. At any time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group (i.e., assets where their fair value is positive), which, in relation to derivative instruments, is only a fraction of the contract's notional amount used to express the amount outstanding. The management has set limits of these contracts according to counterparty, and regularly monitor and control the actual credit risk when the Group concludes foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with other financial institutions and clients.

The Group manages the credit quality of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, and balances arising from transactions for precious metals, by considering the size, financial position, the internal and external credit rating of the banks and other financial institutions. The Head Office monitors and reviews the credit risk of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions by counterparties regularly. Limits are placed on different counterparties.

(iii) Credit-related commitments

Credit risk exposures to financial guarantees are the same as that of loans. However, commercial letters of credit are usually pledged by the relevant shipped goods, and therefore are subject to lower risk compared with direct loans. Credit-related commitments are included in the management of overall credit line granted to the applicant. For customers with transactions beyond the credit limit or infrequent transactions, the applicant shall be requested to provide relevant margin deposits in order to reduce credit risk exposures.

(iv) Credit risk quality

In accordance with the risk classification methods and procedures specified in the *Measures for Risk Classification of Financial Assets of Commercial Banks (Order No. 1 [2023] of the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and People's Bank of China)*, the Group conducts classified management of financial assets. Financial assets are classified by their level of risk into the five categories of Normal, Special-mention, Substandard, Doubtful, and Loss, with the latter three collectively referred to as non-performing assets.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Credit risk management (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk quality (Continued)

The core of the five categories are defined as follows:

Normal: The debtor is capable of meeting its contractual obligations and there is no objective evidence

indicating that the principal, interests, and income cannot be paid in full and on time.

Special-mention: The debtor is currently capable of paying the principal, interests, and income notwithstanding a

number of factors that might adversely affect its capacity to meet its contractual obligations.

Substandard: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full or the financial assets have

undergone credit impairment.

Doubtful: The debtor is incapable of paying the principal, interests, or income in full and the financial assets have

undergone significant credit impairment.

Loss: None or only a minimum fraction of the financial assets can be recovered after exhausting all available

options.

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL")

The Group measures the ECL of financial instruments at amortised cost or debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The Group divides them into 3 stages by assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition to recognise ECL.

The Group measures the ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes:
- the time value of money;
- reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Stage classification

The Group divides them into 3 stages. Stage 1 is "financial assets without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition", at which the Group only needs to measure ECL in the next 12 months. Stage 2 is "financial assets with significant increase in credit risk" and stage 3 is "credit-impaired financial assets", at both of which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into account:

- Principal or interest of the instrument is more than 30 days past due;
- Credit rating of obligor changes significantly. Credit rating is based on both internal and external rating results, and the criteria are as follow:
- (i) The changed internal and external ratings are worse than the Group's credit access standards;
- (ii) The non-retail assets' internal ratings are downgraded by 3 ranks or above upon initial recognition;
- (iii) Significant adverse issues have negative impacts on obligator's repayment ability;
- (iv) Other circumstances of significant increase in credit risk. For example, appearance of other risk alarm indicators which imply growing potential risk, and could cause losses of financial assets to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

Definition of credit-impaired and default

The criteria adopted by the Group to determine whether a credit impairment occurs under IFRS 9 is consistent with the internal credit risk management objectives for relevant financial instrument, in addition to consideration of quantitative and qualitative indicators. In general, the Group considers a financial instrument to be credit-impaired or otherwise in default when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

- Principal or interest of the asset is more than 90 days past due;
- The issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already become insolvent;
- It is becoming probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy;
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties of issuers;
- Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.

The financial assets are moveable between stages. For instance, financial instruments originally classified at stage 1 should be downgraded to stage 2 if events occur such as a significant increase in credit risk. Financial instruments at stage 2 could be upgraded to stage 1 if credit risk decreases and the criteria for the determination of "a significant increase in credit risk" are no longer met.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit-impaired. ECL is the result of discounted product of the weighted average of "probability of default (PD)", "loss given default (LGD)", "exposure at default (EAD)" under the three scenarios, which are defined as follows:

Probability of default (PD) is the probability of default occurring of a client and its assets in a given period of time in the future.

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the total amount of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposure at the time of default by debtor, reflecting the total amount of possible losses likely to be incurred. In general, this includes the utilised credit limit, interest receivable, the anticipated usage of unused credit facilities as well as the related expenses to be incurred.

Loss given default (LGD) represents the percentage of amount of loss to be incurred in the event of default to the total risk exposure. It typically varies by nature of debtor, type and seniority of claim and the availability of collaterals or other credit risk mitigation.

Definition of default has been consistently applied to model establishment of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), loss given default (LGD) in ECL calculation throughout the Group.

Estimation of ECL: the impairment models

The impairment models adopt a top down approach. Through grouping, the models cover the risk exposures of financial institutions, corporates and retailers. The Group has established a macro-economic forecast model driven by the year-on-year Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate to forecast values of macro-economic indicators in multiple categories, including national accounts, price index, foreign trades, fixed asset investments, currency and interest rates, under three scenarios, namely Basic Scenario, Optimistic Scenario and Pessimistic Scenario. The forecasts, after evaluation and confirmation by economic experts and senior management of the Bank, are used in asset impairment model. The macro scenario settings and the rationality of the weightings are reviewed and adjusted semiannually, based on changes in the internal and external economic environment.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group forecasts the 2024 year-on-year growth rate of GDP to be around 5.3% in the Basic Scenario. The Group fully considered the macroeconomic forecast for 2024 when evaluating the forecast information used in the impairment models.

The Group determined the weightings of Basic Scenario, Optimistic Scenario and Pessimistic Scenario with macro data analysis and expert's judgement and maintain relative stability.

Where impairment models could not be established due to lack of data support, the Group endeavoured to select appropriate methods in order to make prospective estimation. The Group made prospective adjustments to impairment calculation of overseas branches regularly based on macro-forecast data from authoritative institutions (such as IMF and the World Bank). For asset portfolios not covered by impairment models, expected loss rate was set by referring to that of similar asset portfolios with impairment models available. When the management believed that the forecast model could not fully reflect recent credit or economic events, management overlay adjustments could be used to supplement ECL allowances.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Expected credit loss ("ECL") (Continued)

Grouping of instruments with similar credit risk characteristics

To calculate the relevance between ECL allowance and macro-economic indicators, a grouping of exposure is performed for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. In performing this grouping, the Group has obtained sufficient information to ensure the data reliability for statistical purposes. Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Group has leveraged supplementary data from both internal and external environments to help establish impairment model. Non-retail assets of the Group are mainly grouped according to industries, while retail assets are mainly grouped based on product types and so on.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group measures sensitivity analysis on the macro-economic indicators used in prospective estimation. As at 30 June 2024, if the optimistic/pessimistic scenario weighting increases or decreases by 10%, and the prediction of economic indicators changed correspondingly, the change of the impairment allowance does not exceed 5%.

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment

The Group adopts credit rating methods to monitor the credit risk status of its debt instrument portfolio. The Group classified the credit risk levels of financial assets measured by ECL into "Low" (credit risk in good condition), "Medium" (increased credit risk), and "High" (credit risk in severe condition), based on the quality of assets. The credit risk level is used for the purpose of the group's internal credit risk management. "Low" refers to assets with good credit quality. There is no sufficient reason to doubt that the assets are not expected to fulfill its contractual obligation to repay or if there is any other behaviors breaching the debt contracts that would significantly impact the repayment of debt according to contract terms. "Medium" refers to assets facing obvious negative factors impacting its repayment capacity, but not yet have non-repayment behaviors. "High" refers to non-repayment according to the debt contract terms, or other behaviors breaching the debt contracts or having significant impact on the repayment of debt according to contract terms.

The following table is the summary of the group's credit risk exposure of the main financial instruments included in the ECL assessment scope. The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the worst credit risk exposure at the end of each reporting period, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The credit risk exposure to the Group at the end of each reporting period primarily arises from credit and treasury operations. For on balance sheet assets, the maximum credit risk exposure refers to the book value of financial assets after deducting loss provisions. In addition, off balance sheet items such as loan commitment, credit card commitment, Banker's acceptance, letter of guarantee, guarantee and letter of credit also include credit risk. And the maximum credit risk exposure of these off balance sheet items is the balance after the provision of estimated liabilities. Its credit risk exposure is mainly distributed in stage I, and its credit risk rating is "low".

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

	,		·	ŕ	Overseas		Allowance for	Maximum
	Low	Medium	High	Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 30 June 2024	risk	risk	risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	698,978	-	-	698,978	26,154	725,132	-	725,132
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	4,752,367	89,934	65,099	4,907,400	471,812	5,379,212	(164,478)	5,214,734
Stage 1	4,679,184	-	-	4,679,184	418,713	5,097,897	(74,959)	5,022,938
Stage 2	73,183	89,934	-	163,117	34,415	197,532	(37,929)	159,603
Stage 3	-	-	65,099	65,099	18,684	83,783	(51,590)	32,193
at FVOCI	332,549	-	14	332,563	144	332,707	-	332,707
Stage 1	329,816	-	-	329,816	144	329,960	_	329,960
Stage 2	2,733	-	_	2,733	_	2,733	_	2,733
Stage 3	_	-	14	14	_	14	_	14
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,426,653	37,434	24,818	2,488,905	66,893	2,555,798	(56,065)	2,499,733
Stage 1	2,407,850	_	_	2,407,850	66,000	2,473,850	(19,182)	2,454,668
Stage 2	18,803	37,434	_	56,237	554	56,791	(18,887)	37,904
Stage 3	_	_	24,818	24,818	339	25,157	(17,996)	7,161
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	558,172	_	_	558,172	293,559	851,731	(3,047)	848,684
Stage 1	558,172	_	_	558,172	286,154	844,326	(3,046)	841,280
Stage 2	-	_	_	_	7,405	7,405	(1)	7,404
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,393,994	2,169	1,160	2,397,323	95,164	2,492,487	(3,377)	2,489,110
Stage 1	2,393,994	_	_	2,393,994	92,830	2,486,824	(1,513)	2,485,311
Stage 2	_	2,169	_	2,169	1,983	4,152	(899)	3,253
Stage 3	_	_	1,160	1,160	351	1,511	(965)	546
Debt investments at FVOCI	418,382	_	_	418,382	485,653	904,035	_	904,035
Stage 1	418,382	_	_	418,382	483,538	901,920	_	901,920
Stage 2	_	_	_	· -	2,038	2,038	_	2,038
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	77	77	-	77
On-balance sheet total	11,581,095	129,537	91,091	11,801,723	1,439,379	13,241,102	(226,967)	13,014,135

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(i) financial instruments included in impairment assessment (Continued)

							Allowance	
					Overseas		for	Maximum
	Low	Medium	High	Domestic	and	Group	Impairment	exposure to
As at 31 December 2023	risk	risk	risk	branches	subsidiaries	total	losses	credit risk
On-balance sheet item								
Cash and balances with central banks								
(Stage 1)	862,742	-	-	862,742	22,803	885,545	-	885,545
Loans and advances to customers-								
Corporate (Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	4,458,676	81,134	67,245	4,607,055	478,432	5,085,487	(152,862)	4,932,625
Stage 1	4,378,790	-	-	4,378,790	437,523	4,816,313	(60,962)	4,755,351
Stage 2	79,886	81,134	-	161,020	22,627	183,647	(38,395)	145,252
Stage 3	-	-	67,245	67,245	18,282	85,527	(53,505)	32,022
at FVOCI	398,335	125	19	398,479	-	398,479	-	398,479
Stage 1	391,313	-	-	391,313	-	391,313	-	391,313
Stage 2	7,022	125	-	7,147	-	7,147	-	7,147
Stage 3	-	-	19	19	-	19	-	19
Loans and advances to customers-Personal								
(Excluding accrued interest)								
at amortised cost	2,355,913	30,662	19,808	2,406,383	66,717	2,473,100	(50,913)	2,422,187
Stage 1	2,336,427	-	-	2,336,427	66,017	2,402,444	(19,710)	2,382,734
Stage 2	19,486	30,662	-	50,148	385	50,533	(16,945)	33,588
Stage 3	-	-	19,808	19,808	315	20,123	(14,258)	5,865
Due from and placements with banks and								
other financial institutions	441,228	-	-	441,228	420,963	862,191	(2,549)	859,642
Stage 1	441,228	-	-	441,228	412,770	853,998	(2,543)	851,455
Stage 2	-	-	-	-	8,193	8,193	(6)	8,187
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,477,019	2,784	1,136	2,480,939	96,610	2,577,549	(3,638)	2,573,911
Stage 1	2,477,019	-	-	2,477,019	95,803	2,572,822	(1,662)	2,571,160
Stage 2	-	2,784	-	2,784	382	3,166	(997)	2,169
Stage 3	-	-	1,136	1,136	425	1,561	(979)	582
Debt investments at FVOCI	417,918	103	_	418,021	455,245	873,266	-	873,266
Stage 1	417,918	_	-	417,918	452,134	870,052	-	870,052
Stage 2	-	103	-	103	2,983	3,086	-	3,086
Stage 3	-	-	-	-	128	128	-	128
On-balance sheet total	11,411,831	114,808	88,208	11,614,847	1,540,770	13,155,617	(209,962)	12,945,655

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(ii) financial instruments not included in impairment assessment

The analysis of credit risk exposure of those financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") which are not included in the impairment assessment are as follows:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Financial assets at FVTPL		
Derivative financial instruments	79,459	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	17	19
Debt securities	171,376	227,242
Fund and trust management products	212,881	180,911
Equity investments and other investments	73,378	73,770
Precious metal contracts	3,914	4,524
Other debt investments	152,351	155,835
Total	693,376	709,688

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular, to individual counterparty, groups, industry segments and geographical regions.

The Group optimises its credit risk structure by placing limits in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers. Such risks are monitored by the Group on a regular basis and subject to annual or more frequent review, whenever necessary.

The exposure to any single borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off- balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group monitors the actual credit risk exposure and credit limits on a daily basis.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet principal and interest repayment obligations. The Group will change their lending limits when appropriate based on the analysis.

Some other specific control and risk mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collaterals

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common practice is to accept collaterals or pledges. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collaterals and pledges. The principal types of collaterals and pledges for loans and advances to customers are:

- Residential properties;
- Business assets such as premises, inventory and receivables;
- Financial instruments such as debt securities and stocks.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

The value of collaterals at the time of loan origination is subject to loan-to-value ratio limits based on collateral types. The principal types of collaterals for corporate loans and personal loans are as follows:

	Maximum loan-
Collaterals	to-value ratio
Cash deposits with the Group	90%
PRC treasury bonds	90%
Financial institution bonds	90%
Publicly traded stocks	60%
Rights to collect fees or right of management	65%
Properties	70%
Land use rights	70%
Vehicles	50%

Long-term loans and advances to corporate and personal customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will strengthen collection through short message reminders, telephone calls, letters, judicial proceedings and other means as soon as impairment indicators are noted for the personal loans and advances.

For loans guaranteed by a third-party guarantor, the Group will assess the financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations of the guarantor.

Collaterals and pledges held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances to customers are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, PRC treasury bonds and the PBOC bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:

As at 30 June 2024	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	108,940	(69,586)	39,354	58,851
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	14	-	14	11
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,511	(965)	546	881
Debt investments at FVOCI	77	<u> </u>	77	-

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Collaterals and other credit enhancements (Continued)

Collaterals (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023	Gross exposure	Impairment allowance	Carrying amount	Exposure covered by collateral
Credit impaired assets				
Loans and advances to customers				
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost	105,650	(67,763)	37,887	50,316
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI	19	-	19	16
Financial investments				
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,561	(979)	582	832
Debt investments at FVOCI	128	-	128	-

Master netting arrangements

The Group may enter into master netting arrangements or similar agreements with the counterparties to reduce credit risk furtherly. The related credit risk of contracts will reduce when settled on a net basis. Each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

(d) Derivative instruments

In accordance with the Administrative Measures for the Capital Management of Commercial Banks issued by China's National Financial Regulatory Administration (the "NFRA"), the Group adopts the standardized approach to measure the credit risk-weighted assets of derivative instruments, including the default risk-weighted assets of non-central counterparties, the credit risk-weighted assets of central counterparties, and the credit valuation adjustment risk-weighted assets.

For further information on counterparty credit risk-weighted assets, please refer to the *Pillar 3 Report at 30 June 2024* published on the official website of the Bank.

(e) Foreclosed assets

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Buildings	1,318	1,366
Land use rights	8	8
Others	10	10
Gross	1,336	1,384
Less: Impairment allowances	(482)	(439)
Net	854	945

Foreclosed assets are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. The Group does not generally occupy foreclosed assets for its own business use. Foreclosed assets are classified as other assets in the statement of financial position.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets

The Group mainly manages concentration risk for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors and also manages concentration risk for financial assets by geographical sectors.

Concentration risk for geographical sectors

	Chinese			
As at 30 June 2024	Mainland	Hong Kong	Others	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	701,316	2,553	21,263	725,132
Due from and placements with banks and other financial				
institutions	658,126	64,277	126,281	848,684
Derivative financial assets	41,974	29,855	7,630	79,459
Loans and advances to customers	7,733,683	206,039	126,604	8,066,326
Financial investments at FVTPL	523,518	10,805	6,199	540,522
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,430,386	42,601	16,123	2,489,110
Debt investments at FVOCI	483,915	234,170	185,950	904,035
Other financial assets	78,150	9,223	628	88,001
Total	12,651,068	599,523	490,678	13,741,269
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,253,048	5,582	14,585	1,273,215
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,015,254	16,365	14,665	1,046,284
Total	2,268,302	21,947	29,250	2,319,499
	01.			
A I 04 D	Chinese		Ollega	T-1-1
As at 31 December 2023	Mainland	Hong Kong	Others _	Total
Financial assets				
Balances with central banks	865,236	1,578	18,731	885,545
Due from and placements with banks and other financial				
institutions	649,279	83,984	126,379	859,642
Derivative financial assets	31,029	29,982	6,376	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	7,421,635	217,391	133,034	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	552,977	9,664	5,871	568,512
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,513,000	43,769	17,142	2,573,911
Debt investments at FVOCI	467,473	223,644	182,149	873,266
Other financial assets	27,536	5,948	5,510	38,994
Total	12,528,165	615,960	495,192	13,639,317
Off-balance sheet exposures				
Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	1,186,022	6,118	13,111	1,205,251
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments	1,004,082	18,895	4,363	1,027,340
Total	2,190,104	25,013	17,474	2,232,591

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(1) Credit risk (Continued)

(f) Concentration risk analysis for financial assets (Continued)

Geographical risk concentration for loans and advances to customers

	As at 30 June	2024	As at 31 Decemb	er 2023
		%		%
Yangtze River Delta	2,349,459	28.42	2,226,422	27.98
Central China	1,336,311	16.16	1,290,880	16.22
Bohai Rim Economic Zone	1,327,289	16.05	1,288,078	16.19
Pearl River Delta	1,086,817	13.15	1,051,204	13.21
Western China	984,747	11.91	947,510	11.91
Head Office	572,123	6.92	528,330	6.64
North Eastern China	268,887	3.25	265,215	3.33
Overseas	342,101	4.14	359,446	4.52
Gross amount of loans and advances to customers	8,267,734	100.00	7,957,085	100.00

Note: The definitions of geographical operating segments are set out in Note 45.

Industry analysis for loans and advances to customers

	As at 30 June	2024	As at 31 December 2023		
		%		%	
Corporate loans					
Manufacturing	1,015,063	12.27	954,586	12.00	
Transportation, storage and postal service	946,420	11.45	905,624	11.38	
Leasing and commercial services	927,265	11.22	866,601	10.89	
Real estate	527,977	6.39	489,080	6.15	
Water conservancy, environmental and					
other public services	487,327	5.89	466,137	5.86	
Production and supply of power, heat, gas and water	404,336	4.89	391,742	4.92	
Wholesale and retail	304,701	3.69	292,168	3.67	
Construction	226,852	2.74	188,716	2.37	
Education, science, culture and public health	148,464	1.80	141,254	1.78	
Finance	138,889	1.68	159,183	2.00	
Mining	120,052	1.45	116,467	1.46	
Information transmission, software and IT services	80,986	0.98	81,176	1.02	
Accommodation and catering	34,964	0.42	38,159	0.48	
Others	88,097	1.07	88,640	1.11	
Discounted bills	260,543	3.15	304,452	3.83	
Total corporate loans	5,711,936	69.09	5,483,985	68.92	
Personal loans					
Mortgages	1,460,961	17.67	1,462,634	18.39	
Credit cards	496,289	6.00	489,725	6.15	
Personal business loans	374,991	4.54	343,585	4.32	
Personal consumption loans	219,994	2.66	173,423	2.18	
Others	3,563	0.04	3,733	0.04	
Total personal loans	2,555,798	30.91	2,473,100	31.08	
Gross amount of loans and advances before					
impairment allowances	8,267,734	100.00	7,957,085	100.00	

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial classification for national economic activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The industry risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers is based on the type of industry of the borrowers.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk

Overview

Market risk is risk of loss on the Group's on balance sheet and off balance sheet businesses, which is originated from the unfavourable changes and fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity price and equity product price. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk, equity product price risk and commodity price risk. The market risk of the Group mainly comprises interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group established an integrated market risk management system, formed a market risk management structure with the separation of front and middle-end platforms and specified the responsibilities, the division of labor and the reporting route of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, Senior Management, Special Committees and other relevant departments to ensure the compliance and effectiveness of market risk management.

In accordance with the *Rules on Capital Management of Commercial Banks* issued by the NFRA, the Group's financial instrument, foreign exchange and commodity positions and other financial instruments recognized by the NFRA are divided into trading book and banking book. The trading book consists of financial instruments, foreign exchange and commodity positions and other financial instruments recognized by the NFRA held either for trading intent or economic hedging against risks of the other items in the trading book. The banking book consists of all instruments other than those included in trading book. The Group recognises, measures, monitors and controls the market risks in trading book and banking book according to their nature and characteristics.

With regard to the exchange rate risk and the interest rate risk of trading book, the Group established an effective limit management system by implementing Net Position, Risk Sensitivity, Value at Risk ("VaR") and other indicators. Meanwhile, with regard to the interest risk of banking book, net interest income simulation and gap analysis are the major tools used by the Group to monitor the interest risk of its overall businesses. In addition, through adequate repricing management and structure adjustment of assets and liabilities, the Group strives to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

The Group has continuously improved the management system of market risk. The Group conducted stress tests on historical scenarios and hypothetical scenarios in the consideration of the Group's major market risk factors. The Group has realised daily automatic collection of trading data and market data in the system. The Group conducted the management of risk capital and VaR quota, and formulated the quota allocation plans.

The Group also applies sensitivity analysis to assess and measure the market risk of trading book and banking book. Sensitivity analysis indicates the impact on the relevant market risk assuming that only a single variable changes. As any risk variable rarely changes isolatedly, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact amount of the change of a risk variable, the results of sensitivity analysis can only provide limited market risk information.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below:

(a) VaR

VaR refers to the maximum loss that an investment portfolio may incur at a given confidence level and holding period caused by the changes in market price factors such as interest rates and exchange rates etc.. The Group adopted the historical simulation method to calculate daily VaR (99% confidence interval, the holding period of one day).

A summary of VaR by risk type including foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk of the trading book of the Group's portfolios is as follows:

Item	30 June 2024	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	241	279	418	155
Including: Interest rate risk	150	160	234	146
Foreign exchange risk	209	247	420	75
		Six months ende	ed 30 June 2023	
Item	30 June 2023	Average	Maximum	Minimum
VaR	252	504	681	243
Including: Interest rate risk	250	448	572	250
Foreign exchange risk	145	116	195	36

(b) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact on net profit of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves:

	Changes in net profit			
	As at	As at		
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023		
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	5,301	11,574		
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(5,301)	(11,574)		

The table below illustrates the impact on other comprehensive income of the Group for the following year based on the structure of financial assets and liabilities as at the date of statement of financial position, resulting from a parallel upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in related yield curves.

	Changes in other		
	comprehensive income		
	As at		
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023	
+100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	(20,962)	(17,882)	
- 100 basis points parallel shift in yield curves	23,889	20,084	

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The above-mentioned impact on other comprehensive income arises from the changes in the fair value of fixed-interest-rate bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The results of the interest rate sensitivity analysis set out in the table above are illustrative only and are based on simplified scenarios. The figures represent the projected impact to the net profit and other comprehensive income caused by the projected movement of current interest risk structure yield curves. This effect, however, does not take into account actions that would be taken by the Group to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes.

The projections above also assume that interest rates of all maturities excluding demand deposits move by the same amount and, therefore, do not reflect the potential impact on net profit due to changes in certain rates while others remain unchanged. The projections are based on other simplified assumptions as well, including that all positions are to be held to maturity. There will be changes to the projection if positions are not held to maturity but it is not expected that the changes would be material.

The Group believes the assumption does not represent the Group's policy on use of funds and interest rate risk management. As a result, the above impact may differ from the actual situation.

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's net profit:

	Changes in net profit		
	As at	As at	
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023	
5% appreciation of RMB	(377)	837	
5% depreciation of RMB	377	(837)	

The table below illustrates the impact of a concurrent appreciation or depreciation of RMB spot and forward rates against USD and HKD by 5% on the Group's other comprehensive income:

	Changes in other			
	comprehen	comprehensive income		
	As at	As at		
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023		
5% appreciation of RMB	(3,501)	(3,481)		
5% depreciation of RMB	3,501	3,481		

The impact on net profit arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the net position of monetary assets (excluding other book value other than amortised cost of monetary assets at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the net position of non-monetary financial assets (excluding non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income) and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value, and the fair value of currency derivatives denominated in RMB.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The impact on other comprehensive income arises from the influences of RMB exchange rate fluctuation on the differences on translation of foreign currency financial statements of foreign operators, the overseas investment portion of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies, other book value other than amortised cost of the non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (such as stock) and monetary items at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The above impact on net profit is based on the assumption that the sensitive position of the Group's year-end exchange rate and currency derivatives denominated in RMB remain unchanged around the year. While in practice, the Group will, based on its judgement on the trend of exchange rate, actively adjust the foreign currency position and use appropriate derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of the foreign currency risk. Therefore, the above impact might differ from the actual situation.

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from interest rate repricing risk due to maturity mismatching of asset and liability businesses, and basis risk due to inconsistent pricing benchmarks.

On 20 July 2013, the PBOC cancelled the lower limit of benchmark interest rates of loans dominated in RMB, allowing financial institutions to determine the loan interest rates independently based on commercial principles. The PBOC cancelled the upper limit of the benchmark interest rates for deposits on 24 October 2015 and established RMB Loan Prime Rate (LPR) as a new pricing benchmark of new loans in 2019. The Group conducts most of its domestic deposit businesses at benchmark interest rates for deposits and conducts most of its domestic loan businesses at LPR published by the PBOC.

The Group has established a relatively complete interest rate risk monitoring system. By using the gap analysis system, the Group regularly monitors the repricing maturity gap of interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities throughout the Group, takes the initiative to adjust the proportion of interest-bearing assets at floating interest rates and fixed interest rates, and adjusts the repricing term structure of interest rate and manages interest rate risk by applying appropriate derivatives such as interest rate swaps based on allocation strategy of assets and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is less vulnerable to interest rate risk.

During the reporting period, the Group closely monitored the interest rate trend for RMB and foreign currencies, conducted specific management of risk limits, and strengthened comprehensive operations and limit monitoring. In addition, the Group, by rationally adjusting the loan repricing strategies, reinforced the specific management of price negotiation to maximise its rate of return while keeping its risks under control.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At the date of statement of financial position, the Group's assets and liabilities categorised by the repricing date or maturity date (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	Non-interest	
As at 30 June 2024	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	723,676	-	-	-	-	13,356	737,032
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	368,877	148,005	279,349	46,092	105	6,256	848,684
Derivative financial assets			-		-	79,459	79,459
Loans and advances to customers	855,247	1,139,181	4,993,453	646,125	152,182	280,138	8,066,326
Financial investments at FVTPL	21,080	30,331	32,674	70,725	40,606	418,484	613,900
Financial investments at amortised cost	23,175	46,113	127,009	1,174,666	1,090,848	27,299	2,489,110
Financial investments at FVOCI	34,731	71,618	79,473	459,700	249,356	25,192	920,070
Other assets	1,180	- 4 405 040			4 500 007	422,153	423,333
Total assets	2,027,966	1,435,248	5,511,958	2,397,308	1,533,097	1,272,337	14,177,914
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and	(4 000 400)	(000 700)	(505.400)	(40.000)	(4.000)	(40 557)	(0.057.074)
other financial institutions	(1,339,163)	(320,702)	(565,188)	(18,939)	(1,322)	(12,557)	(2,257,871)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Derivative financial liabilities	(5,445)	(4,269)	(10,796)	(25,344)	_	(13,697)	(59,551)
Deposits from customers	(3,872,153)	(644,301)	(1,666,207)	(2,300,362)	(14,623)	(60,380) (152,470)	(60,380) (8,650,116)
Other liabilities	(121,441)	(285,574)	(791,272)	(302,052)	(348,559)	(181,807)	(2,030,705)
Total liabilities			(3,033,463)		(364,504)		
	(5,338,202)	(1,254,846)	<u> </u>	(2,646,697) 	<u></u>	(420,911)	(13,058,623)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(3,310,236)	180,402	2,478,495	(249,389)	1,168,593	851,426	1,119,291
	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	Non-interest	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	bearing	Total
Assets							
Cash and balances with central banks	884,284	_	_	_	_	13,738	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and							
other financial institutions	434,995	148,731	232,858	36,844	17	6,197	859,642
Derivative financial assets	-	_	-	-	-	67,387	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	1,924,013	1,178,073	3,741,404	453,813	177,729	297,028	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	16,558	18,941	90,093	63,598	62,685	390,407	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	11,920	65,591	179,537	1,101,787	1,186,480	28,596	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	34,805	88,610	104,644	404,770	231,057	24,063	887,949
Other assets	1,161					358,058	359,219
Total assets	3,307,736	1,499,946	4,348,536	2,060,812	1,657,968	1,185,474	14,060,472
Liabilities							
Due to and placements from banks and							
other financial institutions	(1,453,238)	(276,568)	(634,551)	(40,657)	(6,535)	(12,988)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(2,941)	(126)	(13,658)	(27,341)	-	(12,491)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	(50,975)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(3,951,448)	(686,639)	(1,363,898)	(2,398,185)	(3)	(151,042)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(132,766)	(317,076)	(657,052)	(313,319)	(307,974)	(149,551)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	(5,540,393)	(1,280,409)	(2,669,159)	(2,779,502)	(314,512)	(377,047)	(12,961,022)
Total interest sensitivity gap	(2,232,657)	219,537	1,679,377	(718,690)	1,343,456	808,427	1,099,450
			-339				

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts the majority of its businesses in RMB, and the recording currency is RMB. Certain foreign transactions are conducted in USD, HKD and other currencies. The exchange rate of RMB to USD, HKD or other currencies is subject to the trading rules of China Foreign Exchange Trade System. Exchange rate risk mainly results from currency mismatch between foreign currency assets and liabilities and between off balance sheet currency exposure. The Group has formulated management measures for exchange rate risks, defining the functional division and scope of work of the exchange rate risk management department, risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control methods, and specific measures. Moreover, the Group controls exchange rate risk by setting relevant limits, taking the initiative to adjust the structure of foreign currency assets for a proper matching of currency structure of assets and liabilities, and applying appropriate exchange rate financial derivatives for transfers and hedging based on its own risk tolerance and operating level.

As at 30 June 2024, the exchange rates for US dollar and HK dollar are 1 US dollar to RMB7.1268 (As at 31 December 2023: RMB7.0827) and 1 HK dollar to RMB0.91268 (As at 31 December 2023: RMB0.9062), respectively.

Carrying amounts of the Group's total assets and liabilities categorised by the original currency as at the date of statement of financial position are as follows:

As at 30 June 2024	RMB	USD (RMB Equivalent)	HKD (RMB Equivalent)	Others (RMB Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	699,027	15,926	3,527	18,552	737,032
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	537,995	220,190	47,447	43,052	848,684
Derivative financial assets	52,442	23,171	2,204	1,642	79,459
Loans and advances to customers	7,611,008	190,555	174,812	89,951	8,066,326
Financial investments at FVTPL	539,359	57,700	3,706	13,135	613,900
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,386,450	74,535	13,089	15,036	2,489,110
Financial investments at FVOCI	470,193	355,303	11,525	83,049	920,070
Other assets	211,416	195,132	7,541	9,244	423,333
Total assets	12,507,890	1,132,512	263,851	273,661	14,177,914
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(1,923,619)	(268,257)	(8,769)	(57,226)	(2,257,871)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(43,116)	(11,418)	(1,113)	(3,904)	(59,551)
Derivative financial liabilities	(47,875)	(6,169)	(4,119)	(2,217)	(60,380)
Deposits from customers	(7,966,028)	(375,698)	(243,314)	(65,076)	(8,650,116)
Other liabilities	(1,800,810)	(184,200)	(21,172)	(24,523)	(2,030,705)
Total liabilities	(11,781,448)	(845,742)	(278,487)	(152,946)	(13,058,623)
Net position	726,442	286,770	(14,636)	120,715	1,119,291
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	2,108,143	164,188	13,490	33,678	2,319,499

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(2) Market risk (Continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

		USD (RMB	HKD (RMB	Others (RMB	
As at 31 December 2023	RMB	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Equivalent)	Total
Assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	863,157	16,398	2,583	15,884	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and					
other financial institutions	523,097	264,554	33,678	38,313	859,642
Derivative financial assets	39,341	21,204	4,059	2,783	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	7,276,689	208,367	189,991	97,013	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	567,556	57,516	3,210	14,000	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,468,066	76,789	14,221	14,835	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	455,213	338,548	17,033	77,155	887,949
Other assets	158,175	184,010	6,402	10,632	359,219
Total assets	12,351,294	1,167,386	271,177	270,615	14,060,472
Liabilities					
Due to and placements from banks and					
other financial institutions	(2,071,836)	(284,634)	(7,232)	(60,835)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(45,060)	(7,693)	(1,107)	(2,697)	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	(36,367)	(6,239)	(5,342)	(3,027)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	(7,870,593)	(373,200)	(253,858)	(53,564)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities	(1,645,750)	(183,905)	(23,108)	(24,975)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities	(11,669,606)	(855,671)	(290,647)	(145,098)	(12,961,022)
Net position	681,688	311,715	(19,470)	125,517	1,099,450
Credit related commitments and					
financial guarantees	2,055,142	135,069	13,899	28,481	2,232,591

(e) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk arising from financial assets such as equity investments and derivatives linked to commodity price. The equity investments arise from the proprietary trading of the Group's subsidiaries which hold the qualification of securities dealing and brokerage as well. As for the proprietary trading exposure, the Group enforces strict management of the risk exposure limit and the balance is insignificant to the Group's financial assets. The Group considers the exposure to the other price risk to be insignificant.

(3) Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidity risk is the risk that occurs when the Group is not able to obtain sufficient funds in time and at a reasonable cost to repay debts when they are due, fulfill other payment obligations, or meet other funding needs in the normal course of business. The Group's liquidity risk mainly comes from depositors' early or centralised withdrawals, borrowers' deferred repayment of loans, the amount of assets and liabilities and maturity mismatches.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(a) Liquidity risk management

The Group implements centralised management of liquidity risk and, on the basis of forecasting liquidity requirements, formulates corresponding liquidity management plans and actively manages the liquidity of the Bank. The specific measures mainly include:

- Pay close attention to changes in the macroeconomic situation, central bank monetary policy, capital market dynamics, etc;
- Enhance weighting of core deposits as a percentage of liabilities, so as to improve the stability of liabilities:
- Monitor and manage liquidity position bank-wide by implementing a series of indicators and restrictions:
- Liquidity position management and cash utilisation functions are centralised by the Head offices;
- Maintain an appropriate level of central bank reserves, overnight inter-bank transactions, highly liquid debt investment, actively involve in capital management through open market, monetary market and bond market in order to ensure optimal financing capability at market places;
- Minimise liquidity risk by proper management of asset maturity structures and multi-level liquidity portfolios.

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows

The table below presents the structural analysis by contracted maturities on non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date. The amount of financial assets and liabilities for each period is the amount of undiscounted cash flows. The Group's expected cash flows on these financial instruments may vary significantly from the following analysis. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance although they have been classified as repayable on demand in the following tables.

As at 30 June 2024	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	665,804	70,944	-	284	-	-	-	737,032
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	75,373	256,123	130,081	289,936	102,469	21,378	875,360
Loans and advances to customers	86,555	-	-	488,074	497,984	2,075,565	2,841,442	4,101,311	10,090,931
Financial investments at FVTPL	74	85,301	257,645	34,032	56,057	51,943	105,085	45,032	635,169
Financial investments at amortised cost	961	-	-	26,347	55,387	191,783	1,412,094	1,245,284	2,931,856
Financial investments at FVOCI	46	16,035	-	23,578	39,432	118,976	565,993	309,497	1,073,557
Other financial assets	2,396	-	85,605	-	-	-	-	-	88,001
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	90,032	767,140	489,567	828,154	779,225	2,728,203	5,027,083	5,722,502	16,431,906
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(862,707)	(459,632)	(282,662)	(584,733)	(72,440)	(19,404)	(2,281,578)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(509)	(13,212)	(2,567)	(6,199)	(11,919)	(26,281)	-	(60,687)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,112,880)	(677,010)	(769,480)	(1,824,369)	(2,404,859)	(17,393)	(8,805,991)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(108,016)	(276,764)	(744,637)	(11,036)	(330)	(1,140,783)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(1,407)	(7,903)	(71,809)	(320,667)	(288,547)	(690,333)
Other financial liabilities	-	-	(91,387)	(2,243)	(459)	(2,101)	(7,264)	(3,759)	(107,213)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		(509)	(4,080,186)	(1,250,875)	(1,343,467)	(3,239,568)	(2,842,547)	(329,433)	(13,086,585)
Net position	90,032	766,631	(3,590,619)	(422,721)	(564,242)	(511,365)	2,184,536	5,393,069	3,345,321

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(b) Non-derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

				Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	695,143	202,550	-	329	-	-	-	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	70,228	337,245	132,864	244,157	78,396	20,173	883,063
Loans and advances to customers	76,918	-	-	536,179	526,757	2,005,894	2,627,952	3,681,800	9,455,500
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,695	51,696	117,071	102,928	68,783	668,798
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	14,630	74,810	250,806	1,351,540	1,350,430	3,043,219
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	19,138	47,199	143,138	519,908	285,228	1,029,367
Other financial assets	2,003	_	36,991						38,994
Assets held for managing liquidity risk									
(contractual maturity dates)	80,086	780,297	551,834	922,887	833,655	2,761,066	4,680,724	5,406,414	16,016,963
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(906, 104)	(544,729)	(265,996)	(649,323)	(66,668)	(17,997)	(2,450,817)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,562)	(14,672)	(29,191)	-	(58,700)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,192,693)	(886,873)	(701,788)	(1,406,736)	(2,522,115)	(3)	(8,710,208)
Certificates of deposit issued	-	-	-	(116,088)	(293,059)	(615,261)	(15,678)	(455)	(1,040,541)
Debt securities issued	-	-	-	(4,264)	(20,884)	(76,961)	(321,073)	(263,540)	(686,722)
Other financial liabilities			(79,863)	(2,308)	(533)	(2,362)	(5,449)	(6,014)	(96,529)
Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)		(577)	(4,189,665)	(1,555,955)	(1,283,822)	(2,765,315)	(2,960,174)	(288,009)	(13,043,517)
Net position	80,086	779,720	(3,637,831)	(633,068)	(450,167)	(4,249)	1,720,550	5,118,405	2,973,446

Assets available to repay all of the liabilities and fulfill loan commitments include cash, balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial investment at fair value through profit or loss, etc. In the normal course of business, a majority of matured deposits will not be withdrew immediately on the maturity date but will continue to be kept by the Group. In addition, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can also be disposed of when necessary to obtain funds for repayment of matured debts.

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows

The Group's derivative financial instruments are either settled on a net basis or a gross basis.

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis include foreign exchange contracts, commodity contracts, interest rate contracts and others.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(i) Derivative settled on a net basis (Continued)

The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a net basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 30 June 2024	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange contracts 	20	16	24	23	-	83
- Interest rate contracts	986	2,153	8,229	19,651	2,164	33,183
- Commodity contracts and others	8	4	18	28		58
Total	1,014	2,173	8,271	19,702	2,164	33,324
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange contracts 	(17)	(15)	(20)	(17)	-	(69)
- Interest rate contracts	(426)	(1,154)	(3,907)	(8,030)	(436)	(13,953)
- Commodity contracts and others	<u> </u>	(1)	(14)	(4)		(19)
Total	(443)	(1,170)	(3,941)	(8,051)	(436)	(14,041)
	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets				<u> </u>		
Derivative financial instruments						
- Foreign exchange contracts	4	6	6	_	_	16
- Interest rate contracts	932	2,688	9,242	20,428	2,915	36,205
- Commodity contracts and others	2	5	2	14		23
Total	938	2,699	9,250	20,442	2,915	36,244
Liabilities						
Derivative financial instruments						
 Foreign exchange contracts 	(6)	(4)	(7)	(2)	_	(19)
- Interest rate contracts	(484)	(1,588)	(5,236)	(10,488)	(1,473)	(19,269)
- Commodity contracts and others		(15)	(71)	(58)	_	(144)
Total	(490)	(1,607)	(5,314)	(10,548)	(1,473)	(19,432)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include foreign exchange and commodity derivatives. The table below analyses the undiscounted cash flows of the Group's derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis and are classified based on the remaining contractual period from the balance sheet date to maturity date.

As at 30 June 2024	Up to 1 month	1-3 months	3-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on a gross basis						
Cash inflow	1,480,885	1,217,610	2,893,303	117,172	11,930	5,720,900
- Cash outflow	(1,482,544)	(1,219,119)	(2,892,345)	(117,293)	(9,971)	(5,721,272)
Total	(1,659)	F-344 F-344	958	(121)	1,959	(372)

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Interim Report 2024

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c) Derivative financial instruments cash flows (Continued)

(ii) Derivative settled on a gross basis (Continued)

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Derivative financial instruments						
settled on a gross basis						
Cash inflow	1,135,990	1,077,307	1,980,490	144,136	11,585	4,349,508
- Cash outflow	(1,135,816)	(1,075,969)	(1,981,905)	(144,536)	(11,553)	(4,349,779)
Total	174	1,338	(1,415)	(400)	32	(271)

(d) Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

			Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
-	665,804	70,944	-	284	-	-	-	737,032
-	-	75,115	255,037	128,854	283,235	92,109	14,334	848,684
-	-	-	8,332	10,150	29,045	20,006	11,926	79,459
51,017	-	-	473,160	445,790	1,893,761	2,269,872	2,932,726	8,066,326
74	85,301	257,645	33,492	55,183	48,515	92,368	41,322	613,900
961	-	-	25,339	51,052	139,507	1,181,348	1,090,903	2,489,110
46	16,035	-	23,014	37,521	99,794	489,253	254,407	920,070
2,396	257,369	123,490			4,703	35,375		423,333
54,494	1,024,509	527,194	818,374	728,834	2,498,560	4,180,331	4,345,618	14,177,914
-	-	(862,707)	(459,464)	(280,945)	(576,754)	(64,969)	(13,032)	(2,257,871)
-	(509)	(13,212)	(2,567)	(6,186)	(11,733)	(25,344)	-	(59,551)
-	-	-	(9,353)	(11,250)	(26,675)	(10,999)	(2,103)	(60,380)
-	-	(3,112,496)	(671,279)	(757,811)	(1,774,051)	(2,319,177)	(15,302)	(8,650,116)
-	_	(102,416)	(155,359)	(292,601)	(811,079)	(316,879)	(352,371)	(2,030,705)
-	(509)	(4,090,831)	(1,298,022)	(1,348,793)	(3,200,292)	(2,737,368)	(382,808)	(13,058,623)
54,494	1,024,000	(3,563,637)	(479,648)	(619,959)	(701,732)	1,442,963	3,962,810	1,119,291
	74 961 46 2,396 54,494	- 665,804 51,017 74 85,301 961 46 16,035 2,396 257,369 54,494 1,024,509 (509) (509) (509)	- 665,804 70,944 75,115 51,017 74 85,301 257,645 961 46 16,035 - 2,396 257,369 123,490 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 (862,707) - (509) (13,212) (3,112,496) - (509) (4,090,831)	Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month - 665,804 70,944 - - - 75,115 255,037 - - - 8,332 51,017 - - 473,160 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 961 - - 25,339 46 16,035 - 23,014 2,396 257,369 123,490 - 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 - - (862,707) (459,464) - (509) (13,212) (2,567) - - (9,353) - - (3,112,496) (671,279) - - (102,416) (155,359) - (509) (4,090,831) (1,298,022)	Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month months - 665,804 70,944 - 284 - - 75,115 255,037 128,854 - - - 8,332 10,150 51,017 - - 473,160 445,790 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 55,183 961 - - 25,339 51,052 46 16,035 - 23,014 37,521 2,396 257,369 123,490 - - 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 728,834 - - (509) (13,212) (2,567) (6,186) - - (509) (13,212) (2,567) (6,186) - - - (9,353) (11,250) - - (3,112,496) (671,279) (757,811) - - (309) (4,090,831) (1,298,022) (Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month months months - 665,804 70,944 - 284 - - - 75,115 255,037 128,854 283,235 - - - 8,332 10,150 29,045 51,017 - - 473,160 445,790 1,893,761 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 55,183 48,515 961 - - 25,339 51,052 139,507 46 16,035 - 23,014 37,521 99,794 2,396 257,369 123,490 - - 4,703 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 728,834 2,498,560 - - (862,707) (459,464) (280,945) (576,754) - - (9,353) (11,250) (26,675) - - (3,112,496) (671,279) (757,811) (1,774,051)	Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month months months years - 665,804 70,944 - 284 - - - - 75,115 255,037 128,854 283,235 92,109 - - - 8,332 10,150 29,045 20,006 51,017 - - 473,160 445,790 1,893,761 2,269,872 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 55,183 48,515 92,368 961 - - 25,339 51,052 139,507 1,181,348 46 16,035 - 23,014 37,521 99,794 489,253 2,396 257,369 123,490 - - 4,703 35,375 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 728,834 2,498,560 4,180,331 - - (509) (13,212) (2,567) (6,186) (11,733) (25,344) - <td>Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month months months years 5 years - 665,804 70,944 - 284 - - - - - 75,115 255,037 128,854 283,235 92,109 14,334 - - - 8,332 10,150 29,045 20,006 11,926 51,017 - - 473,160 445,790 1,893,761 2,269,872 2,932,726 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 55,183 48,515 92,368 41,322 961 - - 25,339 51,052 139,507 1,181,348 1,090,903 46 16,035 - 23,014 37,521 99,794 489,253 254,407 2,396 257,369 123,490 - - 4,703 35,375 - 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 728,834 2,498,560 4,180,331 4,345,618</td>	Overdue Undated On Demand 1 month months months years 5 years - 665,804 70,944 - 284 - - - - - 75,115 255,037 128,854 283,235 92,109 14,334 - - - 8,332 10,150 29,045 20,006 11,926 51,017 - - 473,160 445,790 1,893,761 2,269,872 2,932,726 74 85,301 257,645 33,492 55,183 48,515 92,368 41,322 961 - - 25,339 51,052 139,507 1,181,348 1,090,903 46 16,035 - 23,014 37,521 99,794 489,253 254,407 2,396 257,369 123,490 - - 4,703 35,375 - 54,494 1,024,509 527,194 818,374 728,834 2,498,560 4,180,331 4,345,618

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(3) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(d) Maturity analysis (Continued)

				Up to	1–3	3-12	1–5	Over	
As at 31 December 2023	Overdue	Undated	On Demand	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
Assets									
Cash and balances with central banks	-	695,143	202,550	-	329	-	-	-	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	70,015	336,651	131,534	238,325	70,169	12,948	859,642
Derivative financial assets	-	-	-	7,916	14,014	16,290	17,992	11,175	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	46,696	-	-	518,606	485,650	1,847,322	2,117,921	2,755,865	7,772,060
Financial investments at FVTPL	89	70,471	242,065	15,357	51,042	111,629	88,343	63,286	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,003	-	-	13,927	69,928	194,362	1,107,467	1,187,224	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	73	14,683	-	18,815	45,034	124,703	449,115	235,526	887,949
Other assets	2,003	247,290	69,547			4,165	36,214		359,219
Total assets	49,864	1,027,587	584,177	911,272	797,531	2,536,796	3,887,221	4,266,024	14,060,472
Liabilities									
Due to and placements from banks and									
other financial institutions	-	-	(906, 104)	(544,069)	(264,549)	(637,782)	(59,622)	(12,411)	(2,424,537)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	-	(577)	(11,005)	(1,693)	(1,561)	(14,379)	(27,342)	-	(56,557)
Derivative financial liabilities	-	-	-	(7,795)	(12,030)	(18,144)	(10,465)	(2,541)	(50,975)
Deposits from customers	-	-	(3,191,422)	(878,497)	(687,874)	(1,370,261)	(2,423,158)	(3)	(8,551,215)
Other liabilities			(92,833)	(138,310)	(329,373)	(676,462)	(329,228)	(311,532)	(1,877,738)
Total liabilities		(577)	(4,201,364)	(1,570,364)	(1,295,387)	(2,717,028)	(2,849,815)	(326,487)	(12,961,022)
Net amount on liquidity gap	49,864	1,027,010	(3,617,187)	(659,092)	(497,856)	(180,232)	1,037,406	3,939,537	1,099,450

(e) Off-balance sheet items

The off-balance sheet items of the Group primarily comprise loan commitments, credit card commitments, letter of credit commitments, guarantee and letters of guarantee issued, acceptance notes, etc. The table below lists the liquidity analysis of the off-balance sheet items of the Group, and financial guarantees are included at notional amounts and based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at 30 June 2024	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	957,995 1,058,572	39,958 204,824	48,331 9,819	1,046,284 1,273,215
Total	2,016,567	244,782	58,150	2,319,499
As at 31 December 2023	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loan commitments and other credit related commitments Guarantees, acceptances and letters of credit	953,626 980,707	31,706 215,611	42,008 8,933	1,027,340 1,205,251
Total	1,934,333	247,317	50,941	2,232,591

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value. The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing a sound system of internal control over valuation and is ultimately responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control and for reviewing and approving the policy for fair value accounting valuation of financial instruments. The Group has constructed an institutional approach and internal mechanism related to fair value valuation, which specifies valuation techniques, parameter selection and information disclosure, as well as the corresponding division of responsibilities.

Fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- (i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- (ii) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- (iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value of financial instruments with unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets is determined by the open market quotations. These instruments are classified as level 1.

The Group uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments when an open market quotation in active markets is not obtainable.

If the key parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market, the instruments are classified as level 2. The second hierarchy of financial instruments held by the Group mainly includes derivatives, debt securities and certificates of deposit without quotations from active market, unimpaired loans and advances to customers carried at FVOCI, precious metals and debt securities issued. The fair value of RMB denominated bonds is mainly valued based on the interest rate curves of the bonds from China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., while the fair value of the foreign currency denominated bonds is determined based on the valuation results published by Bloomberg. The fair value of foreign currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign currency options is estimated by the discounted cash flow method or Black-Scholes model. The fair value of precious metal contract is mainly determined in accordance with the closing prices of the Shanghai Gold Exchange or the settlement prices of the Shanghai Futures Exchange. The main parameters used in discounted cash flow model include the relevant interest rate curve and exchange rates. Main parameters used in Black-Scholes model include the relevant interest rate curve, exchange rate and volatilities, etc. All parameters used in valuation techniques are substantially observable and obtainable from active open market.

For trust and asset management plan at fair value through profit or loss, impaired loans and advances to customers at fair value through other comprehensive income, the fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow model using unobservable discount rates that reflect credit risk. These financial instruments are classified as level 3.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a) Determination of fair value and valuation techniques (Continued)

For convertible bonds, restricted stock units, unlisted equities, unlisted funds and equity derivatives held by the Group, the fair value of these financial instruments are determined with reference to certain unobservable inputs, and therefore the instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. The management determines the fair value of these financial instruments using a variety of techniques, the valuation methods used were mainly the discounted cash flow method and the market comparable companies method, including using valuation models that incorporate and take into account unobservable inputs such as interest's cash flow, risk-adjusted discount rate, price to book value ratio, price to earnings ratio and liquidity discounts.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities that are not presented at fair value as at the date of statement of financial position. Financial assets and liabilities with carrying amount approximate to fair value, such as cash and balances with central banks, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, and deposits from customers, are not included in the table below.

	As at 30 Jun	e 2024	As at 31 Decei	mber 2023
	Carrying amount	Fair value	Carrying amount	Fair value
Financial assets				
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,489,110	2,596,982	2,573,911	2,635,222
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	(580,668)	(596,173)	(566,611)	(569,680)
Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments	not measured at fair value			
As at 30 June 2024	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets				
Financial investments at amortised cost	4,460	2,544,276	48,246	2,596,982
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued	<u> </u>	(596,173)	<u> </u>	(596,173)
As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets				
Financial investments at amortised cost	4,282	2,573,820	57,120	2,635,222
Financial liabilities				
Debt securities issued		(569,680)		(569,680)

The carrying amounts and fair values of other financial assets and liabilities (including loans and advances to customers at amortised cost, deposits from customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions) are approximately the same, because the interest rates of most of these assets and liabilities are adjusted following the changes in interest rates determined by the PBOC, other regulatory bodies or market.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the three levels are analysed below:

As at 30 June 2024	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	3,358	-	3,358
Debt securities	3,346	165,268	2,762	171,376
Fund and asset management products	140,404	45,275	27,202	212,881
Equity investments and other investments	6,230	888	66,260	73,378
Precious metal contracts	-	3,914	-	3,914
Other debt investments	-	152,351	-	152,351
Derivative financial instruments	-	78,202	1,257	79,459
Loans and advances to customers	<u> </u>	17	<u> </u>	17
Subtotal	149,980	449,273	97,481	696,734
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	2,330	899,419	2,286	904,035
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	9,906	-	6,129	16,035
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		332,693	14	332,707
Subtotal	12,236	1,232,112	8,429	1,252,777
Total assets	162,216	1,681,385	105,910	1,949,511
As at 30 June 2024	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Placements from banks and other financial institutions	_	(8,185)	_	(8,185)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(6)	(59,071)	(474)	(59,551)
Derivative financial instruments	_	(60,380)	_	(60,380)
Debt securities issued	_	(18,378)	_	(18,378)
Total liabilities	(6)	(146,014)	(474)	(146,494)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
At fair value through profit or loss				
Placements with banks and other financial institutions	-	13,035	-	13,035
Debt securities	1,187	223,348	2,707	227,242
Fund and asset management products	105,771	49,082	26,058	180,911
Equity investments and other investments	4,686	870	68,214	73,770
Precious metal contracts	-	4,524	-	4,524
Other debt investments	-	155,835	-	155,835
Derivative financial instruments	-	66,362	1,025	67,387
Loans and advances to customers		19		19
Subtotal	111,644	513,075	98,004	722,723
At fair value through other comprehensive income				
Debt Investments at FVOCI	2,523	868,192	2,551	873,266
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI	8,544	-	6,139	14,683
Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI		398,460	19	398,479
Subtotal	11,067	1,266,652	8,709	1,286,428
Total assets	122,711	1,779,727	106,713	2,009,151
As at 31 December 2023	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Placements from banks and other financial institutions	-	(11,464)	-	(11,464)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL	(6)	(56,015)	(536)	(56,557)
Derivative financial instruments	_	(50,975)	_	(50,975)
Debt securities issued	-	(25,564)		(25,564)
Total liabilities	(6)	(144,018)	(536)	(144,560)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis have no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

Reconciliation of Level 3 items

	Financial assets at FVTPL	Financial assets at FVOCI	Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Balance at 1 January 2024	98,004	8,709	(536)
Total gains or losses			
 Net gains arising from trading activities 	1,697	47	62
- Other comprehensive income	-	10	-
Additions	20,636	1,733	-
Disposals and settlement	(19,694)	(2,070)	-
Transfer to other levels	(3,162)		
Balance at 30 June 2024	97,481	8,429	(474)
Total gains and losses generated by financial assets held by the Group as at 30 June 2024			
- Realised gains and losses	2,042	62	_
- Unrealised gains and losses	2,054	39	62

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(4) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 items (Continued)

	Financial assets at FVTPL	Financial assets at FVOCI	Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Balance at 1 January 2023	88,064	6,663	
Total gains or losses			
- Net gains arising from trading activities	586	78	-
- Other comprehensive income	_	316	-
Additions	31,051	2,209	(536)
Disposals and settlement	(21,697)	(565)	-
Transfer from other levels	-	8	-
Balance at 31 December 2023	98,004	8,709	(536)
Total gains and losses generated by financial assets held by the Group as at 31 December 2023			
- Realised gains and losses	3,411	75	-
- Unrealised gains and losses	579	406	

(5) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The agreement between the Group and the counterparty generally allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such a mutual consent, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting arrangements or similar agreements will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. These financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are not offset in accordance with IFRSs.

(6) Capital management

The "capital" in capital management is a broader concept than "shareholders' equity" on the statement of financial position. The Group's objectives in capital management are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the Group operates;
- To ensure the Group's ability to maintain a stable operation so as to continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Group management adopts the *Administrative Measures for the Capital of Commercial Banks* in monitoring its capital adequacy ratio and the usage of capital continuously. The quarterly monitored information is then submitted to the NFRA.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(6) Capital management (Continued)

Group has steadily promoted the implementation and deepened application of advanced methods in accordance with regulatory requirements. According to the implementation scope of the advanced methods of capital management approved by the regulator, the Group elected to use internal rating based ("IRB") approach for credit risk exposures which is approved by regulatory inspection. For credit risk exposures not covered by IRB, the corresponding portion shall be calculated by the weighted approach. The Group mainly elected to use standardised approach for market risk exposures and standardised approach for operational risk exposures.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's capital adequacy ratio at all levels met the regulatory requirements. For further information on the Group's capital, please refer to the *Pillar 3 Report at 30 June 2024* published on the official website of the Bank.

4 NET INTEREST INCOME

Siv	mont	he	on/	hak	30	Lun	_
OIA.	HIIOHI	шэ	CIII	Jeu	่อบ	Juli	_

	2024	2023
Interest income		
Loans and advances to customers	150,721	153,272
Financial investments	55,915	55,162
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	15,506	13,950
Balances with central banks	5,896	6,022
Subtotal	228,038	228,406
Interest expense		
Deposits from customers	(91,706)	(95,767)
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(28,664)	(26,488)
Certificates of deposit issued	(15,373)	(15,728)
Debt securities issued	(8,061)	(8,036)
Subtotal	(143,804)	(146,019)
Net interest income	84,234	82,387

5 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Six months ended 30 June

	2024	2023
Bank cards business	8,027	10,005
Custody and other fiduciary business	4,681	4,887
Wealth management business	4,121	4,088
Agency services	2,128	3,518
Guarantee and commitment	1,705	1,661
Investment banking	1,299	1,676
Settlement services	896	750
Others	76	106
Total	22,933	26,691

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

6 FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024 202	
Bank card business	1,046	1,130
Settlement and agency services	756	858
Others	131	123
Total	1,933	2,111

7 NET GAINS/(LOSSES) ARISING FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES

	Six months e	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024	2023	
Financial instruments at FVTPL	9,355	13,014	
Interest rate instruments and others	5,459	4,538	
Foreign exchange	(2,725)	85	
Total	12,089	17,637	

Net gains or losses on foreign exchange include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of derivative instruments such as spot and forward contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, currency options and the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities into RMB.

Net gains or losses on interest rate instruments and others include trading gains or losses and fair value changes of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, commodity and other derivatives.

Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities for the six months ended 30 June 2024 included a net loss of RMB10 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2023: a net gain of RMB18 million) in relation to changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

	Six months end	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024 2		
Leasing income	10,058	9,390	
Insurance service income	1,436	1,065	
Net gains on the disposal of property, equipment and other assets	377	416	
Income from sales of precious metal merchandise	235	195	
Revaluation of investment properties	(33)	(1)	
Other miscellaneous income	1,913	1,509	
Total	13,986	12,574	

Other miscellaneous income mainly includes income arising from miscellaneous banking services provided to the Group's customers.

1,148 36,346

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

9 CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI

Financial investments at amortised cost

Debt investments at FVOCI

Others

Total

	Six months ended 30 June 2024 2023		
	31,179	33,800	
	1,373	(112)	
	494	634	
	137	162	
	(8)	313	
	(261)	401	

107

33,021

10 OTHER ASSETS IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024	2023
Operating lease assets	409	581
Foreclosed assets	58	19
Precious metal		(6)
Total	467	594

11 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

	Six months ende	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024	2023	
General operating and administrative expenses	19,354	19,933	
Staff costs (Note 12)	15,376	15,414	
Costs of operating lease business	7,499	6,432	
Depreciation and amortisation	4,891	4,732	
Insurance service expense	1,955	1,907	
Tax and surcharges	1,571	1,605	
Provision for outstanding litigations	51	(22)	
Others	687	692	
Total	51,384	50,693	

12 STAFF COSTS

		Six months ended 30 June		
	Note	2024 2023		
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies		9,415	9,808	
Post-employment benefit	(1)	2,412	2,216	
Other social security and benefit costs		3,549	3,390	
Total		15,376	15,414	

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

12 STAFF COSTS (Continued)

(1) Post-employment benefit

Defined contribution plans

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations and the Group's requirements, the Group make contributions to the relevant organizations and plans based on certain percentage of the employees' basic salary which is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Apart from these monthly contributions, the Group has no further payment obligations.

The amount recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024	2023
Expenses incurred for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	1,502	1,378
Expenses incurred for annuity plan	930	831
Total	2,432	2,209

The amount payable at the end of the period or year is as follows:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Payable for retirement benefit plans and unemployment insurance	81	84
Payable for annuity plan	34	41
Total	115	125

Defined benefit plans

The Group recognizes supplemental retirement benefit obligations under defined benefit plans using actuarial techniques. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined benefit plan obligations are the government bond yield, inflation rates and mortality-ratio. The government bond yield and inflation rate were 2.32% and -0.05% (December 31, 2023: 2.70% and 0.42%), respectively. Assumptions regarding future mortality rate were determined based on the China Life Insurance Industry Experience Life Table, which is a publicly available statistical information for the China region.

The Group's retirement benefit obligations in locations other than Chinese Mainland are immaterial and are made in accordance with the relevant local policies and regulations.

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Statement of financial position		
- Net obligations for pension benefits	316	331

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of the supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

	Six months ended 30 June		
	2024	2023	
Defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss	13	7	
Defined benefit revaluation recognised in other comprehensive income		(4)	
Total	13	3	

Past service cost and interest expense are recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

13 INCOME TAX

	Six months ended 30 June		
	2024	2023	
Current income tax			
- Enterprise income tax	2,082	5,252	
- Hong Kong profits tax	866	420	
- Other countries or regions	382	329	
Subtotal	3,330	6,001	
Deferred income tax (Note 23)	(1,477)	(2,893)	
Total	1,853	3,108	

The provision for enterprise income tax in Chinese Mainland is calculated based on the statutory rate of 25% (2023: 25%) of the assessable income of the Bank and each of the subsidiary established in Chinese Mainland. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions, the shortfall arising from the difference between tax paid by overseas branches and the accrued tax under the regulation of Chinese Mainland shall be compensated by the head office.

The actual taxation on the Group differs from the theoretical amount calculated using the Group's profit before tax at the tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%). The major reconciliation items are as follows:

	Six months ended 30 June		
	Note	2024	2023
Profit before tax		47,678	49,674
Tax calculated at statutory rate of 25%		11,920	12,419
Effects of different tax rates prevailing in other countries or regions		(271)	(29)
Effects of non-deductible expenses	(1)	2,689	3,074
Effects of non-taxable income	(2)	(11,843)	(12,086)
Adjustments for income tax filing of prior years		(221)	151
Others		(421)	(421)
Income tax		1,853	3,108

- (1) Non-deductible expenses primarily represent non-deductible write-offs.
- (2) Non-taxable income primarily represents interest income from PRC treasury bonds and municipal government bonds and fund investment income.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

14 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2024	2023
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company	45,287	46,039
Less: Dividends paid to preference shareholders	(1,832)	(1,832)
Interest paid to perpetual bond holders	(1,685)	(1,685)
Net profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company	41,770	42,522
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (expressed in millions)		
at the end of the period	74,263	74,263
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)	0.56	0.57

For the calculation of basic earnings per share, a cash dividend of RMB1,832 million on preference shares and interests of RMB1,685 million on perpetual bond declared for the period was deducted from the amounts attributable to shareholders of the parent company. The conversion feature of preference shares may lead to the possible existence of contingently issuable ordinary shares. The triggering events of conversion did not occur for the six months ended 30 June 2024, and therefore the conversion feature of preference shares has no effect on the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

15 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Cash	11,900	12,477
Mandatory reserve deposits	664,632	694,211
Surplus reserve deposits	59,044	190,073
Fiscal deposits	1,172	932
Accrued interest	284	329
Total	737,032	898,022

The Group is required to place statutory reserves with the PBOC and overseas central banks, including RMB and foreign currency deposit reserves and foreign exchange risk reserves for forward foreign exchange sales businesses, which are not allowed to be used in the Group's daily operations.

Surplus reserve deposits with central banks are mainly used for capital settlement, financial institution transfer, etc.

Reserve rate for deposits denominated in RMB of the Group's subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is subject to relevant regulations of the PBOC.

Mandatory reserve rate for deposits with central banks of overseas countries and regions is subject to regulations of local regulatory bodies.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

16 DUE FROM AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Due from banks and other financial institutions		
- Banks and other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	107,035	74,753
- Banks and other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	32,887	34,045
Accrued interest	842	425
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(490)	(267)
Financial assets purchased under repurchase agreements		
- Securities	109,366	200,438
– Bills	2,678	499
Accrued interest	18	56
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(458)	(602)
Placements with and loans to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	83,763	107,522
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	134,783	115,803
Placements with and loans to other financial institutions		
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions in Chinese Mainland	313,756	257,638
- Placements with and loans to other financial institutions outside Chinese Mainland	61,180	65,272
Accrued interest	5,423	5,740
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(2,099)	(1,680)
Total	848,684	859,642

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, due from banks and other financial institutions of the Group included pledged deposits, risk reserves and other deposits. The use of these deposits is restricted.

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which changes in response to the changes in a specified foreign exchange rate, interest rate, commodity price or other similar variables. The Group utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or hedging purposes, including forwards, swaps and options.

The notional amount of a derivative represents the underlying amount of the specific financial instruments mentioned above. It indicates the volume of business transacted by the Group but does not reflect the risk.

The notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments held by the Group are set out below:

	Contractual/ notional		
As at 30 June 2024	amount	Fair values	
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts	5,682,167	44,704	(44,984)
Interest rate contracts	3,836,441	31,493	(13,080)
Commodity contracts and others	135,957	3,262	(2,316)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	9,654,565	79,459	(60,380)

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

	Contractual/ notional		
As at 31 December 2023	amount	Fair va	alues
		Assets	Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts	4,437,857	36,040	(37,499)
Interest rate contracts	3,349,227	27,483	(11,509)
Commodity contracts and others	120,757	3,864	(1,967)
Total amount of derivative financial instruments recognised	7,907,841	67,387	(50,975)

(1) Fair value hedge

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in fair value arising from changes in interest rates. Some purchased interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging instruments, whose terms are identical with those of the corresponding hedged items regarding interest rate, maturity and currency. The Group uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging. With the support of testing results, the Group's management considers the hedging relationship to be highly effective.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the six months ended 30 June 2023, the gain and loss arising from the ineffective portion of fair value value hedge were immaterial.

	As at 30 June 2024			As a	t 31 December 20			
	Contractual/	Contractual/						
	notional	Fair values no			Fair va	alues	Line items in the statement	
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position	
Interest rate contract	246,881	13,517	(369)	230,540	12,002	(898)	Derivative financial assets/liabilities	

(a) The changes in fair value of the hedging instruments and net gains or losses arising from the hedged risk relating to the hedged items are set out below:

	Six months er	Six months ended 30 June		
	2024	2023		
Net gains or losses from fair value hedges:				
Hedging instruments	2,131	457		
Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk	(1,900)	(334)		
Total	231	123		

(b) The following table shows the fair value hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 30 June 2024	2,645	760	26,082	136,614	80,780	246,881
As at 31 December 2023	1,279	7,715	14,762	132,865	73,919	230,540

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

- (1) Fair value hedge (Continued)
- (c) Details of the Group's hedged items in fair value hedges are as follows:

	Carrying amount o	of hedged items	As at 30 June 2024 Accumulated adjustments to the fair value of hedged item		
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	216,845	-	(13,082)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	18,537	(1,629)	(18)	1	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers/Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions/Certificates of deposits issued
Total	235,382	(1,629)	(13,100)	1	-
	Carrying amount o	of hedged items	As at 31 Dece Accumulated a to the fair value o	djustments	
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Line items in the statement of financial position
Bonds	204,123	-	(10,967)	-	Financial investments at amortised cost/ Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Others	17,042	(884)	(10)	2	Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions/Loans and advances to customers/Debt securities issued
Total	221,165	(884)	(10,977)	2	

(2) Cash flow hedge

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from foreign exchange risks and uses interest rate swaps to hedge against exposures to cash flow variability primarily resulting from interest rate risks. The hedged items include due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, loans and advances to customers, debt investments at amortised cost, debt investments at FVOCI, debt securities issued, due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions, certificates of deposits issued and other assets. The Group mainly uses regression analysis and critical term match to evaluate the effectiveness of hedging.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the six months ended 30 June 2023, the gain and loss arising from the ineffective portion of cash flow hedge were immaterial.

	As	s at 30 June 2024 As at 31 December 2023			023	23		
	Contractual/			Contractual/				
	notional	Fair va	alues	notional	Fair va	alues	Line items in the statement	
	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	of financial position	
Foreign exchange contract	145,803	1,304	(1,983)	148,892	1,225	(2,103)	Derivative financial assets/ liabilities	
Interest rate contract	36,930	534	(12)	22,063	603	(22)	Derivative financial assets/	
Total	182,733	1,838	(1,995)	170,955	1,828	(2,125)		

(a) The following table shows the cash flow hedge notional amounts with remaining maturity of:

	Up to	1-3	3-12	1-5	Over	
	1 month	months	months	years	5 years	Total
As at 30 June 2024	17,388	33,894	83,716	44,497	3,238	182,733
As at 31 December 2023	13,911	43,152	78,265	32,117	3,510	170,955

(b) Information on the Group's risk exposures in cash flow hedges and the impact on equity and profit or loss is as follows:

Hedged items

	As at 30 June 2024		As at 31 December 2023	
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities
Foreign risk	70,525	(72,760)	34,461	(107,383)
Interest risk	496	(36,244)	1,422	(20,662)
Total	71,021	(109,004)	35,883	(128,045)

Hedging instruments

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

	Fair value changes on hedging instruments recognised in other comprehensive income	Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss	Line item in the statement of profit or loss including reclassifications	Cash flow hedge reserve
Foreign risk Interest risk	(552) 63	41	Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities Nil	(307)
Total	(489)	41		(391)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

		For th	ne six months ended 30 June 2023	
	Fair value			
	changes on			
	hedging			
	instruments	Reclassifications		
	recognised	from the cash		
	in other	flow hedge		
	comprehensive	reserve to	Line item in the statement of profit or loss	Cash flow
	income	profit or loss	including reclassifications	hedge reserve
Foreign risk	1,391	(1,184)	Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	(684)
Interest risk	32		Nil	182
Total	1,423	(1,184)		(502)

18 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) Loans and advances to customers

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Loans and advances to customers		
- Carried at amortised cost	7,935,010	7,558,587
- Carried at FVOCI	332,707	398,479
- Carried at FVTPL	17	19
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(220,543)	(203,775)
Accrued interest	21,823	21,380
Less: Allowance for impairment losses of accrued interest	(2,688)	(2,630)
Total	8,066,326	7,772,060

(2) Loans and advances to customers analysed by security type

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Unsecured loans	3,021,133	2,883,274
Guaranteed loans	1,374,117	1,288,963
Loans secured by collateral	2,737,480	2,904,861
Pledged loans	1,135,004	879,987
Total	8,267,734	7,957,085

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

18 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:

	Fo	r the six months e	nded 30 June 2024	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2024	80,672	55,340	67,763	203,775
Transfers:				
Transfer to Stage 1	4,597	(4,495)	(102)	-
Transfer to Stage 2	(1,798)	2,779	(981)	-
Transfer to Stage 3	(142)	(8,884)	9,026	-
Provision/(reversal)	10,816	12,027	8,262	31,105
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(16,367)	(16,367)
Recovery of loans and advances written off				
in previous years	-	-	2,401	2,401
Others	(4)	49	(416)	(371)
As at 30 June 2024	94,141	56,816	69,586	220,543
	F	or the year ended 3	31 December 2023	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
A + 1 0000	00.705	45.005	01.000	470 470

Stage 2 Lifetime ECL 45,385	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL 61,998	Total 176,178
45,385	61,998	
,		176,178
(5,464)	(1.057)	
(5,464)	(1.057)	
	(1,237)	-
7,082	(4,037)	_
(12,526)	13,124	_
20,655	24,014	53,404
-	(31,046)	(31,046)
-	5,662	5,662
208	(695)	(423)
55,340	67,763	203,775
	7,082 (12,526) 20,655 - - 208	7,082 (4,037) (12,526) 13,124 20,655 24,014 - (31,046) - 5,662 208 (695)

Movements of ECL allowance - Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI:

	For the six months ended 30 June 2024				
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total	
As at 1 January 2024 Transfers:	2,281	191	62	2,534	
Transfer to Stage 1 Transfer to Stage 2 Transfer to Stage 3	- - -	- - -	- - -	- - -	
Provision/(reversal) Written-offs and disposals	178	(45) -	4 (16)	137 (16)	
As at 30 June 2024	2,459	146	50	2,655	

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

18 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(3) Movements of ECL allowance (Continued)

	F	For the year ended 3	1 December 2023	
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total
As at 1 January 2023	1,522	240	79	1,841
Transfers:				
Transfer to Stage 1	-	-	-	-
Transfer to Stage 2	-	-	-	_
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	-	_
Provision/(reversal)	759	(49)	23	733
Written-offs and disposals	-	-	(53)	(53)
Recovery of loans and advances written off				
in previous years	-	-	17	17
Others			(4)	(4)
As at 31 December 2023	2,281	191	62	2,534

(4) Overdue loans analysed by security type

	As at 30 June 2024					
		Overdue	Overdue			
		between three	between one			
	Overdue within	months and	year and	Overdue over		
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total	
Unsecured loans	22,335	14,969	6,069	282	43,655	
Guaranteed loans	3,518	4,210	8,632	1,543	17,903	
Loans secured by collateral	15,382	17,125	12,546	4,663	49,716	
Pledged loans	3,053	2,103	2,745	346	8,247	
Total	44,288	38,407	29,992	6,834	119,521	

	As at 31 December 2023					
		Overdue Overdue				
		between three	between one			
	Overdue within	months and	year and	Overdue over		
	three months	one year	three years	three years	Total	
Unsecured loans	22,164	9,447	6,363	135	38,109	
Guaranteed loans	2,851	9,326	7,081	1,549	20,807	
Loans secured by collateral	14,614	12,731	8,898	4,618	40,861	
Pledged loans	2,098	3,423	4,478	345	10,344	
Total	41,727	34,927	26,820	6,647	110,121	

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

19 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Financial investments at FVTPL	•	
- Listed in Hong Kong	32,427	33,898
- Listed outside Hong Kong	124,033	189,509
- Unlisted	457,440	418,875
Total	613,900	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost		
- Listed in Hong Kong	22,190	22,977
- Listed outside Hong Kong	2,353,182	2,433,583
- Unlisted	90,626	93,268
Accrued interest	26,489	27,721
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(3,377)	(3,638)
Total	2,489,110	2,573,911
Financial investments at FVOCI	•	
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	76,923	68,428
 Listed outside Hong Kong 	726,011	710,140
- Unlisted	91,982	85,366
Accrued interest	9,119	9,332
Subtotal	904,035	873,266
Equity investments at FVOCI		
- Listed in Hong Kong	7,359	3,765
- Listed outside Hong Kong	2,577	4,827
- Unlisted	6,099	6,091
Subtotal	16,035	14,683
Total	920,070	887,949

Debt securities traded in the China domestic inter-bank bond market are included in Listed outside Hong Kong.

The financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets that cannot pass the SPPI test.

The Group designates part of non-trading equity investments as financial investments measured at FVOCI.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group's cash dividends received from equity investments at FVOCI was RMB241 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2023: RMB147 million). For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group's cumulative gain transferred from other comprehensive income to unappropriated profits as a result of the disposal of such equity investments amounted to RMB38 million (for the six months ended 30 June 2023: RMB95 million).

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

19 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Debt securities analysed by issuer are as follows:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Financial investments at FVTPL	'	
- Governments and central banks	84,249	107,622
- Banks and other financial institutions	62,994	81,756
- Corporate entities	24,024	37,823
- Public sector entities	109	41
Total	171,376	227,242
Financial investments at amortised cost	·	
- Governments and central banks	2,284,252	2,325,862
- Banks and other financial institutions	111,098	130,444
- Corporate entities	36,778	44,057
- Public sector entities	12,556	17,768
Total	2,444,684	2,518,131
Debt investments at FVOCI		
- Governments and central banks	448,685	403,116
- Banks and other financial institutions	313,324	336,966
- Corporate entities	125,529	115,340
- Public sector entities	16,497	17,844
Total	904,035	873,266

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of financial investments at amortised cost are summarised as follows:

	For the six months ended 30 June 2024					
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2024 Transfers:	1,662	997	979	3,638		
Transfer to Stage 1	116	(116)	_	-		
Transfer to Stage 2	(1)	1	_	-		
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	-	-		
Provision/(reversal)	(265)	17	(13)	(261)		
Others	1	-	(1)	_		
As at 30 June 2024	1,513	899	965	3,377		

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

19 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

	For the year ended 31 December 2023				
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3		
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total	
As at 31 December 2022	1,547	260	957	2,764	
Changes in accounting policies	(8)			(8)	
As at 1 January 2023	1,539	260	957	2,756	
Transfers:					
Transfer to Stage 1	-	-	-	-	
Transfer to Stage 2	(6)	6	-	-	
Transfer to Stage 3	_	(6)	6	_	
Provision/(reversal)	127	229	(311)	45	
Others	2	508	327	837	
As at 31 December 2023	1,662	997	979	3,638	

The movements in allowance for impairment losses of debt investments at FVOCI are summarised as follows:

	For the six months ended 30 June 2024					
	Stage 1 12-month ECL	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 1 January 2024 Transfers:	1,094	23	1,314	2,431		
Transfer to Stage 1	20	(20)	-	_		
Transfer to Stage 2	(1)	1	-	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	-	-	-	-		
Provision/(reversal)	(32)	(1)	25	(8)		
Written-offs	_	-	(359)	(359)		
Recovery of debt investments						
written off in previous years	-	-	5	5		
Others	<u> </u>		6	6		
As at 30 June 2024	1,081	3	991	2,075		
	F Stage 1 12-month ECL	For the year ended 3 Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	31 December 2023 Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	Total		
As at 31 December 2022	628	13	890	1,531		
Changes in accounting policies	8	_	-	8		
As at 1 January 2023 Transfers:	636	13	890	1,539		
Transfer to Stage 1	_	_	_	_		
Transfer to Stage 2	(3)	3	_	_		
Transfer to Stage 3	(1)	(5)	6	-		
Provision/(reversal)	451	22	554	1,027		
Written-offs	_	_	(362)	(362)		
Others	11	(10)	226	227		
As at 31 December 2023	1,094	23	1,314	2,431		

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

20 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiaries	Legal representative/ Principal	Registered capital	Nature of entity	Place of operation	Place of registration	Nature of business	Principal business	Proport shares h		Means of acquisition
Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.	Xu Bin	RMB20,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial leasing	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications International Trust Co., Ltd.	Tong Xuewei	RMB5,764,705,882	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Trust investment	85.00	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Schroder Fund Management Co., Ltd.	Ruan Hong	RMB200,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Fund management	65.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Wealth Management Co., Ltd.	Zhang Hongliang	RMB8,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Financial products issuing and financial consulting	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited	Wang Qingyan	RMB5,100,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Life Insurance	62.50	-	Investment
Bank of Communications Financial Assets Investment Co., Ltd.	Chen Wei	RMB15,000,000,000	Limited liability company	Shanghai, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Debt-to-equity swaps	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited	Tan Yueheng	HKD2,734,392,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Securities dealing and brokerage	73.14	-	Establishment
China BOCOM Insurance Co., Ltd.	Zhu Junxian	HKD400,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	General insurance and reinsurance	100.00	-	Establishment
Dayi BOCOM Xingmin Rural Bank Ltd.	Liu Yike	RMB230,000,000	Limited liability company	Sichuan, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	97.29	-	Establishment
Zhejiang Anji BOCOM Rural Bank Ltd.	Xu Tong	RMB180,000,000	Joint stock company	Zhejiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Xinjiang Shihezi BOCOM Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Fang Linhai	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Xinjiang, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Qingdao Laoshan BOCOM Rural Bank Company Ltd.	Sheng Liang	RMB150,000,000	Joint stock company	Shandong, China	Chinese Mainland	Financial industry	Commercial banking	51.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited	Meng yu	HKD37,900,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Hong Kong, China	Hong Kong China	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
Bank of Communications (Luxemburg) Limited	Zhang Shuren	EUR350,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Luxembourg	Luxembourg	Financial industry	Commercial banking	100.00	-	Establishment
BOCOM Brazil Holding Company Ltda	Sun Xu	BRL700,000,000	Foreign legal entity	Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Brazil	Non-financial industry	Investment	100.00	-	Establishment
BANCO BOCOM BBM S. A.	Alexandre Lowenkron	BRL469,300,389	Foreign legal entity	Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Brazil	Financial industry	Commercial banking	-	80.00	Investment

As at 30 June 2024, the amount of non-controlling interests of these subsidiaries is insignificant to the Group.

21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Investments in associates		
Investment cost	6,474	6,474
Share of net profit of associates	2,483	2,204
Share of other equity changes of associates	130	103
Dividend income	(446)	(372)
Allowance for impairment losses	(2)	(2)
Subtotal	8,639	8,407
Investments in joint ventures	715	583
Total	9,354	8,990

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

21 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group performed impairment tests on investments in associates and joint ventures. The recoverable amount of the associates and joint ventures is determined based on the discounted future cash flows of the associates and joint ventures. The cash flow projections are based on financial forecasts approved by management of the the associates and joint ventures. The average growth rates, discount rate, and other assumptions adopted to forecast cash flows respectively reflect the specific risks associated with them.

The Group's investments in associates mainly include the investments in Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd., National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. and Guomin Pension&Insurance Co., Ltd.

Jiangsu Changshu Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Changshu City, Jiangsu Province on 3 December 2001. The registered capital of the entity is RMB2,741 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 9.01% of equity interest in this associate as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: 9.01%).

Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Tibet Autonomous Region, PRC on 30 December 2011. The registered capital of the entity is RMB3,320 million, and the principal activities of the entity are banking activities. The Group held 10.60% of equity interest in this associate as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: 10.60%).

National Green Development Fund Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Shanghai on 14 July 2020. The registered capital of the entity is RMB88,500 million, and the principal activities of the entity are fund management activities. The Group held 8.47% of equity interest in this associate as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023; 8.47%).

Guomin Pension&Insurance Co., Ltd. was incorporated in Beijing on 22 March 2022. The registered capital of the entity is RMB11,150 million, and the principal activities of the entity are pension insurance activities. The Group held 8.97% of equity interest in this associate as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023: 8.97%).

22 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

	Buildings	Construction in progress	Equipments and transportation equipments	Equipments under operating leases	Total
Cost					
As at 1 January 2024	78,239	2,042	31,801	206,036	318,118
Additions	35	81	312	19,857	20,285
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	788	(788)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	6	-	-	-	6
Decreases	(96)	(7)	(674)	(3,689)	(4,466)
As at 30 June 2024	78,972	1,328	31,439	222,204	333,943
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2024	(34,053)	_	(22,466)	(39,499)	(96,018)
Charge for the period	(1,395)	-	(1,903)	(4,871)	(8,169)
Decreases	55	-	643	1,974	2,672
As at 30 June 2024	(35,393)	-	(23,726)	(42,396)	(101,515)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2024	-	(16)	-	(4,333)	(4,349)
Charge for the period	-	-	-	(409)	(409)
Decreases	-	-	-	208	208
As at 30 June 2024	-	(16)	-	(4,534)	(4,550)
Net book value					
As at 30 June 2024	43,579	1,312	7,713	175,274	227,878

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

22 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

		0 1 11 1	Equipments and	Equipments	
	Buildings	Construction in	transportation equipments	under operating leases	Total
	— Dullulligs —	progress	equipments -	——————————————————————————————————————	10181
Cost					
As at 1 January 2023	75,563	3,515	30,312	175,378	284,768
Additions	1,521	631	3,881	42,935	48,968
Construction in progress transfer in/(out)	2,033	(2,033)	-	-	-
Transfer from investment properties	701	-	-	-	701
Decreases	(1,579)	(71)	(2,392)	(12,277)	(16,319)
As at 31 December 2023	78,239	2,042	31,801	206,036	318,118
Accumulated depreciation					
As at 1 January 2023	(32,070)	-	(21,087)	(33,294)	(86,451)
Charge for the year	(2,770)	-	(3,553)	(9,322)	(15,645)
Decreases	787	<u> </u>	2,174	3,117	6,078
As at 31 December 2023	(34,053)		(22,466)	(39,499)	(96,018)
Allowance for impairment losses					
As at 1 January 2023	-	(16)	-	(4,132)	(4,148)
Charge for the year	-	-	-	(1,007)	(1,007)
Decreases	<u> </u>		<u>-</u> ,	806	806
As at 31 December 2023		(16)	_	(4,333)	(4,349)
Net book value					
As at 31 December 2023	44,186	2,026	9,335	162,204	217,751

As at 30 June 2024, the net book value of the operating leased aircrafts, vessels and equipments used as collateral for borrowings was RMB66,309 million (As at 31 December 2023: RMB64,550 million).

As at 30 June 2024, the process of obtaining ownership certificate for the Group's buildings with an aggregate original book value of RMB173 million (31 December 2023: RMB173 million) was still in progress. This aforesaid matter would not affect the rights of the Group on these assets.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income taxes for transactions in PRC are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 25% for the six months ended 30 June 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 25%). Deferred income taxes for transactions in Hong Kong are calculated on all temporary differences using an effective tax rate of 16.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

	As at 30 Jur	ne 2024	As at 31 December 2023		
	Deductible/	Deferred	Deductible/	Deferred	
	(taxable)	income tax	(taxable)	income tax	
	temporary	assets/	temporary	assets/	
	differences	(liabilities)	differences	(liabilities)	
Deferred income tax assets					
Allowance for impairment of assets	151,052	37,763	143,596	35,899	
Changes in fair value of derivative financial liabilities	65,192	16,298	53,312	13,328	
Provisions	10,860	2,715	9,524	2,381	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	9,132	2,283	8,264	2,066	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	6,460	1,615	6,456	1,614	
Others	22,524	5,631	20,948	5,237	
Subtotal	265,220	66,305	242,100	60,525	
Deferred income tax liabilities					
Changes in fair value of derivative financial assets	(76,484)	(19,121)	(64,920)	(16,230)	
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL	(4,528)	(1,132)	(2,704)	(676)	
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI	(13,408)	(3,352)	(2,120)	(530)	
Others	(20,620)	(5,155)	(20,468)	(5,117)	
Subtotal	(115,040)	(28,760)	(90,212)	(22,553)	
Net deferred income tax assets	150,180	37,545	151,888	37,972	

The above net deferred income tax assets are disclosed separately on the statements of financial position based on different taxation authorities and entities:

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Deferred income tax assets	40,078	40,379
Deferred income tax liabilities	(2,533)	(2,407)
	For the six months ended	
	30 June 2024	2023
Net opening balance	37,972	37,726
Net change in deferred income tax recognised in income tax expense in		
the current period/year	1,477	889
Net changes in deferred income tax recognised in other comprehensive income in		
the current period/year	(1,904)	(643)
Net ending balance	37,545	37,972

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

24 OTHER ASSETS

	Note	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Accounts receivable and temporary payments		86,597	38,582
Less: Allowance for impairment losses	(1)	(2,172)	(2,752)
Advance payments	(1)	17,410	15,734
Precious metal		8,228	9,410
Right-of-use assets	(2)	6,649	6,653
Investment properties	(3)	5,492	5,525
Intangible assets	(4)	2,599	2,715
Interest receivable	(5)	2,396	2,003
Land use rights and others	. ,	1,887	1,913
Refundable deposits		1,180	1,161
Long-term deferred expenses		1,035	1,191
Foreclosed assets		854	945
Goodwill	(6)	410	415
Unsettled assets		31	31
Others		13,427	8,573
Total		146,023	92,099

(1) Allowance for impairment losses

	As at 1 January 2024	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 30 June 2024
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(2,752)	(2,809)	2,717	708		(44)	8	(2,172)
	As at 1 January 2023	Amounts accrued	Reversal	Written-offs	Transfers in	Recoveries after written-offs	Others	As at 31 December 2023
Accounts receivable and temporary prepayments	(3,003)	(5,250)	4,183	659	(3)	(94)	756	(2,752)

(2) Right-of-use assets

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Cost		
Opening balance	13,777	14,330
Additions	1,260	2,496
Decreases	(1,026)	(3,049)
As at the end of the period/year	14,011	13,777
Accumulated depreciation:		
Opening balance	(7,124)	(7,399)
Additions	(1,119)	(2,369)
Decreases	881	2,644
As at the end of the period/year	(7,362)	(7,124)
Net book value	6,649	6,653
Lease liabilities	6,583	6,501

As at 30 June 2024, the lease payment related to lease contracts signed but not yet commenced amounted to RMB66 million (As at 31 December 2023: RMB89 million).

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

24 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(3) Investment properties

	As at 1 January 2024	Decreases	Property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 30 June 2024
Investment properties	5,525	(6)	(33)	6	5,492
	As at 1 January 2023	Decreases	Property revaluation	Exchange differences	As at 31 December 2023
Investment properties	6,387	(701)	(176)	15	5,525

The Group's investment properties are located in active real estate markets. The external appraisers make reasonable estimation of fair value using market prices and other related information of the similar properties.

As at 30 June 2024, fair value hierarchies of the investment properties of the Group are as follows:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	As at 30 June 2024
Commercial property units located in Hong Kong	_	_	675	675
Commercial property units located outside Hong Kong			4,817	4,817

The valuation of investment properties was performed by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. Valuation methodologies include "Rental Income Approach" and "Market Approach". The inputs to these models mainly include growth rate of rental, vacancy rate, future rent income years, capitalisation rate and unit price.

(4) Intangible assets

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2024	6,412
Additions	193
Disposals	
As at 30 June 2024	6,601
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2024	(3,697)
Charge for the period	(308)
Disposals	3
As at 30 June 2024	(4,002)
Net book value	2,599

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

24 OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(4) Intangible assets (Continued)

	Computer software
Cost	
As at 1 January 2023	5,116
Additions	1,303
Disposals	(7)
As at 31 December 2023	6,412
Accumulated amortization	
As at 1 January 2023	(3,162)
Charge for the year	(542)
Disposals	7
As at 31 December 2023	(3,697)
Net book value	2,715

(5) The interest receivable account only reflects the interest for relevant financial instruments which is due but not received on balance sheet date.

(6) Goodwill

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

As at 1 January 2024	Addition during the period	Decrease during the period	Exchange differences	As at 30 June 2024
200	-	-	-	200
122	-	-	-	122
93			(5)	88
415	-	-	(5)	410
	1 January 2024 200 122 93	1 January Addition 2024 during the period 200 - 122 - 93 -	1 January Addition Decrease 2024 during the period during the period 200 122 93	1 January Addition Decrease during the period during the period during the period differences 200 122 93 - (5)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

		i oi tiio y	bai chaca of boothik	301 2020	
	As at				As at
	1 January	Addition	Decrease	Exchange	31 December
	2023	during the year	during the year	differences	2023
Bank of Communications International					
Trust Co., Ltd.	200	-	-	-	200
BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company					
Limited	122	-	-	-	122
BANCO BOCOM BBM S. A.	85			8	93
Total	407			8	415

At each end of year, the Group performed impairment tests on goodwill. In the test, the Group compares the book value of cash-generating unit (CGU) or CGUs (including goodwill) with the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than the book value, the related difference is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of CGU and CGUs using cash flow models based on the management's approved financial forecasts and fixed growth rates afterwards.

As indicated by the impairment tests, goodwill arising from business combinations is not impaired and therefore, no impairment loss is recognised.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

25 DUE TO AND PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Borrowing from central banks	437,828	523,905
Accrued interest	5,893	6,205
Due to banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	263,422	287,427
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	6,739	6,139
Due to other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	774,998	831,249
- Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	5,889	5,069
Accrued interest	3,378	3,297
Placements from banks		
- Banks operating in Chinese Mainland	246,837	255,733
- Banks operating outside Chinese Mainland	170,278	201,452
Placements from other financial institutions		
- Other financial institutions operating in Chinese Mainland	1,200	1,500
- Other financial institutions operating outside Chinese Mainland	8,820	11,479
Accrued interest	2,534	2,807
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements		
Securities	328,906	285,176
Bills	487	2,437
Accrued interest	662	662
Total	2,257,871	2,424,537

26 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Certificates of deposit issued	41,720	41,187
Financial liabilities related to precious metal contracts	3,904	2,697
Notes issued	764	692
Short position of securities held for trading	262	103
Others (1)	12,901	11,878
Total	59,551	56,557

⁽¹⁾ As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, others mainly are liabilities of consolidated structured entities and shares held by other parties rather than the Group.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no significant changes in the fair value of the Group's financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that were attributable to the changes in credit risk.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

27 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Corporate demand deposits	1,913,371	2,050,524
Corporate time deposits	2,994,213	2,991,467
Personal demand deposits	960,959	884,746
Personal time deposits	2,627,311	2,473,410
Other deposits	2,196	3,240
Deposits from customers	8,498,050	8,403,387
Accrued interest	152,066	147,828
Total	8,650,116	8,551,215

As at 30 June 2024, deposits from customers comprised deposits pledged as collateral of RMB328,126 million (As at 31 December 2023: RMB344,014 million).

28 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS ISSUED

Certificates of deposits at year end were issued by Head office, the Bank's overseas branches and subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost.

29 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED

		As at	As at
	Note	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Carried at amortised cost:			
Bonds	(1)	314,248	327,009
Tier-2 capital bonds	(2)	253,115	227,067
Subordinated bonds	(3)	4,800	4,800
Accrued interest		8,505	7,735
Subtotal		580,668	566,611
Carried at fair value:			
Bonds	(1)	18,378	25,564
Total		599,046	592,175

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

29 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows:

The Bank		Currency	Issue place	Coupon rate %	Par value (CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Ending balance	Opening balance
21 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond of RMB Chinese Manifand 3.40 40,000 2021/04/06 3 years 49,999 29 29 20 20 20 20 20	The Rank				(55.)	10000 0000			
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.75 30,000 2022/05/15 3 years 29,999 29 22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.94 20,000 2022/12/09 3 years 19,999 39 22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 00 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.96 61,000 2022/12/09 3 years 19,999 19 23 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.90 30,000 2023/07/25 3 years 29,999 29 23 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.90 30,000 2023/07/25 3 years 29,999 29 24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.70 30,000 2023/07/25 3 years 29,999 29 24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 29,999 29 24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Manitand 2.14 5,000 2024/05/0		DMD	Chinaca Mainland	2.40	40.000	2021/04/06	2 voore		40,000
22 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.98 30,000 2022/12/09 3 years 29,899 29 22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.42 20,000 2022/12/09 3 years 19,899 18 23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 30,000 2023/07/27 3 years 29,999 29 23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.77 30,000 2023/07/27 3 years 29,999 29 23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.79 38,000 2023/07/26 3 years 29,999 29 23 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.70 30,000 2023/07/23 3 years 29,999 29 24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 22,999 29 24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 5,000	'						-	- 00 000	
22 Booom Green Financial Bond RMB Chinese Mainland 2.42 20,000 2022/08/05 3 years 19,999 19 22 Booom More Shall Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.96 10,000 2022/12/09 3 years 29,993 28 23 Booom More Shall Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.77 30,000 2023/04/25 3 years 29,999 28 23 Booomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.70 30,000 2023/04/25 3 years 29,999 28 24 Booom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 2,999 28 24 Booom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 22 24 Booom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 24,999 22 24 broom Green Financial Bond 01 3,992 24,999 28 24 24,990 20 223,00	' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '						•		29,999
22 Bocom Green Financial Bond 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.96 10,000 2022/12/09 3 years 10,000 10 23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 30,000 2022/01/27 3 years 29,3999 28 23 Bocommen Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 38,000 2023/07/18 3 years 29,999 28 23 Bocommen CP RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 38,000 2023/07/18 3 years 29,999 28 24 Bocom Grand Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 24 Bocom Grand Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/06/23 3 years 4,999 28 24 Bocom Grand Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/06/23 3 years 246 2023/06/29 3 years 246 2023/06/29 3 years 286 2023/06/29 3 years 226	'						•		29,999
23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 30,000 2023/03/27 3 years 29,999 28 28 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.77 30,000 2023/04/25 3 years 29,999 28 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.79 30,000 2023/04/25 3 years 29,999 28 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.70 30,000 2023/09/22 3 years 29,999 29 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 29,999 29 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 29 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 427 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 142 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 285 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 285 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.60 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/07/20 5 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/07/20 5 years 5,596 5 20 Hong Kong Medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2021/07/20 10 years 1,664 19 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,664 19 22 Pearl notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 4,000 200 2021/07/20 3 years 1,664 19 23 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,664 19 24 Boc							•		19,999
23 Bocomm Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.77 30,000 2023/04/25 3 years 29,999 29 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.59 38,000 2023/07/18 3 years 37,999 27 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.59 38,000 2023/07/18 3 years 37,999 27 28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.10 3,000 2023/08/23 3 years 29,999 29 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.10 5,000 2024/06/23 3 years 29,999 29 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.20 25,000 2024/06/23 3 years 24,999 29 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.20 25,000 2024/06/23 3 years 24,999 29 28 Borom 02 RMB Chinese Maintand 2.20 25,000 2024/06/23 3 years 24,999 29 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 142 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 365 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 265 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 265 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3, 386 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3, 386 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3, 386 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3, 386 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3, 386 3 3 years 2, 386 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09 USD Hong Kong, China 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4,		RMB	Chinese Mainland			2022/12/09	3 years		10,000
23 Bocomm 01	23 Bocom Micro Small Enterprises Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	30,000	2023/03/27	3 years	29,999	29,999
28 Bocomm 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.70 30,000 2023/09/22 3 years 29,999 28 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 427 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 427 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 142 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 366 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 366 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 366 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 366 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 368 29 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 3,385 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 1,385 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 1,385 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 4,00 200 2021/07/10 5 years 5,698 5 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 4,00 200 2024/07/10 3 years 2,895 2 21 Lassing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3,62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years 2,995 2 22 Pearl notes 8 21 Lassing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3,62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Lassing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,80 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Lassing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,80 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm La	23 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.77	30,000	2023/04/25	3 years	29,999	29,999
24 Bocomm Green Financial Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.14 5,000 2024/05/23 3 years 4,999 24 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/05/23 3 years 24,999 24 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/05/23 3 years 24,999 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/05/23 3 years 24,999 24 ROSOM RESIDENCE FOR CHINESE AND RESIDENCE FOR CHINESE	23 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.59	38,000	2023/07/18	3 years	37,999	37,999
24 Bocomm 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.20 25,000 2024/05/23 3 years 24,999 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 60 2023/06/29 3 years 427 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 366 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 366 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 107 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 47 2023/06/29 3 years 3,385 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 47 2023/06/29 3 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3MLibor+0.90 400 2020/07/20 5 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 5,698 5 EDCOM Float 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China 4,00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal Tawan, China 4,00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal Tawan, China 4,00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subsidiaries 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 3,65 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 2 28 Loasing 02 RMB Chinese Mairland 3,65 3,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 2 29 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,884 11 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,884 11 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 3,000 2021/07/20 3 years 1,486 11 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mairland 2,80 2,80 200 2024/07/10 3 years 1,	23 Bocomm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.70	30,000	2023/09/22	3 years	29,999	29,999
24 Bocomm 01	24 Bocom Green Financial Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.14	5,000	2024/05/23	3 years	4,999	_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 20 2023/06/29 3 years 142 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 20 2023/06/29 3 years 366 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.85 SOFR+0.85 SOFR+0.80 475 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 20 Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.80 400 2020/07/20 5 years 2 ,2851 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1,20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 5,696 5 BOCOM Float 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.323 490 2023/11/15 364 days 3,514 36 PH-JHTP1D RMB Taiwan, China 4,00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 1966 2044,950 274 Subsidiaries 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3,62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years 2 48 20 Expansion Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 2,995 22 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/18 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing O2 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing O1 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing O2 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing O1 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing O2 RMB Chinese Mainland 2,90 2,900 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 2020 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 2020 202	24 Bocomm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.20	25.000	2024/05/23	-		_
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.65 20 2023/06/29 3 years 356 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.65 50 2023/06/29 3 years 356 356 356 years 285 50 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 285 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.60 475 2023/08/30 3 years 3,385 3 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.60 475 2023/08/30 3 years 3,385 3 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.60 475 2023/08/30 3 years 3,385 3 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/07/20 5 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-10.32 400 2020/07/20 5 years 5,698 5 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20							-		424
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 24 USD 25 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 25 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 26 USD 27 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 28 Hong Kong Mong medium-term notes 06 29 Hong Kong Mong Mong Mong Mong Mong Mong Mong M							-		141
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-0.65 40 2023/06/29 3 years 285 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-0.65 15 2023/06/29 3 years 107 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR-0.60 475 2023/06/29 3 years 107 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China Milbior-0.90 400 2020/07/20 5 years 2,861 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China Milbior-0.90 400 2020/07/20 5 years 5,696 5 BOCOM Roat 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.323 490 2023/11/15 384 days 3,514 3 P14JHTP1D RMB Taiwan, China 4.00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal 20 Hong Kong, China 4.00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years 2 44 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years 2 42 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 2 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,994 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 1,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,994 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/10/09 3 years 1,995 1,470 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/10/09 3 years 1,995 1,470 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/10/09 3 years 1,995 1,470 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/10/09 3 years 1,995 1,470 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 2,200 2023/10/09 5 years 1,996 1 3 USD medium-term notes 0							-		353
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 08 23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 24 Hong Kong, China 25 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 25 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 26 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 27 Hong Kong, China 28 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 29 Hong Kong, China 29 Hong Kong, China 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 20 Hong Kong China 20 USD Hong Kong, China 20 USD Mondum-term notes 01 20 USD Mondum-term notes 01 20 USD Mong China 20 USD Hong Kong, China 20 USD Hong Kong, China 20 USD Mondum-term notes 01 20 USD Mondum-term note							-		
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 12 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.60 475 2023/08/30 3 years 3,385 3 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China 3MUibor+0.90 400 2020/07/20 5 years 2,851 2 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 3,696 5 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 3,696 5 20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 2.00 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal Taiwan, China 4.00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196 Subtotal Taiwan, China 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 4 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 2 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 07 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 07 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.29 2024/05/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.29 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years - 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,465 1 19 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/05/14 5 years 1,496 1 1 19 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,465 1 1 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10							-		283
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06 USD Hong Kong, China 3MLibor+0.90 400 2020/07/20 5 years 2,851 2 2 0Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 5,696 5 BOCOM Float 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 5,696 5 BOCOM Float 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.323 490 2023/11/15 364 days 3,514 3 P14_HTP1D RIMB Taiwan, China 4.00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 166							-		106
20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 1.20 800 2020/09/10 5 years 5,696 5		USD		SOFR+0.60		2023/08/30	3 years		3,362
BOCOM Float 11/13/24 USD Hong Kong, China SOFR+0.323 490 2023/11/15 364 days 3,514 3 7	20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 06	USD		3MLibor+0.90	400	2020/07/20	5 years	2,851	2,831
P14JHTP1D RMB Taiwan, China 4.00 200 2014/12/04 10 years 196	20 Hong Kong medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.20	800	2020/09/10	5 years	5,696	5,654
Subsidiaries 264,950 274 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 4 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years - 2 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/05/16 3 years 1,992 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/05/16 3 years </td <td>BOCOM Float 11/13/24</td> <td>USD</td> <td>Hong Kong, China</td> <td>SOFR+0.323</td> <td>490</td> <td>2023/11/15</td> <td>364 days</td> <td>3,514</td> <td>3,488</td>	BOCOM Float 11/13/24	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.323	490	2023/11/15	364 days	3,514	3,488
Subsidiaries 21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years – 4 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years – 2 22 Pearl notes RIMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years – 2 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,994 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 1,470 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 1 9 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years – 3 1 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3 M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,906 1 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years – 2 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years – 2 21 USD medium-term notes 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 2 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/08 1 year –	P14JHTP1D	RMB	Taiwan, China	4.00	200	2014/12/04	10 years	196	196
21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 4 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years - 2 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.21 2,00 2024/05/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,00 2024/05/16 <td>Subtotal</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>264,950</td> <td>274,831</td>	Subtotal							264,950	274,831
21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 4 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years - 2 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2024/16/18 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,00 2024/06/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,00 2024/05/16 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>									
21 Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.62 4,000 2021/03/01 3 years - 4 21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years - 2 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.21 2,00 2024/05/16 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,00 2024/05/16 <td>Subsidiaries</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Subsidiaries								
21 Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 3.45 3,000 2021/04/22 3 years – 22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,995 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,765 1 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,498 1 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,498 1 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2021/06/18 3 years 2 1,498 1 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2021/06/18 3 years 2 1,498 1 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years 2 1,498 1 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years 2 1,498 1 1 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years 7 07 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 2 3 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -		RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.62	4.000	2021/03/01	3 years	_	4,000
22 Pearl notes RMB Chinese Mainland 2.90 2,400 2022/12/15 3 years 1,684 1 23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.80 3,000 2023/11/09 3 years 2,995 2 23 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/05/16 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/05/16 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 21 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261	•							_	2,629
23 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.88 3,000 2023/12/08 3 years 2,992 2 24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years - 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,765 1 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,906 1 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2020/07/14 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 2 21 USD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	•	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.90		2022/12/15	-	1,684	1,680
24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.10 1,500 2024/06/18 3 years 1,470 24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/09/05 5 years - 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,765 1 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 450	23 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	3,000	2023/11/09	3 years	2,995	2,995
24 Bocomm Leasing 01 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.59 3,000 2024/02/01 3 years 2,994 24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years - 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 811 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 450 2020/07/14 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 20	23 Bocomm Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.88	3,000	2023/12/08	3 years		2,992
24 Bocomm Leasing 02 RMB Chinese Mainland 2.24 2,000 2024/05/16 3 years 1,995 19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years - 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+1.175 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 811 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Goo 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+0.95 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,906 1 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Jibor+1.70 450 2020/07/14 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 2 21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China<	24 Bocomm Leasing Green Bond 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.10	1,500	2024/06/18	3 years	1,470	-
19 USD medium-term notes 02 USD Hong Kong, China 4.375 700 2019/01/22 5 years – 3 19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 400 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 1	24 Bocomm Leasing 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.59	3,000	2024/02/01	3 years	2,994	-
19 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+1.175 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 1,261 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+1.075 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+0.95 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+1.70 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2020/07/14 5 years 1,498 1 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	24 Bocomm Leasing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.24	2,000	2024/05/16	3 years	1,995	-
Libor+1.775 19 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 2.625 200 2019/09/05 5 years 811 19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 500 2020/03/02 5 years 1,906 1 Libor+1.075 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 450 2020/07/14 5 years 1,498 1 Libor+1.70 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 2 21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	19 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.375	700	2019/01/22	5 years	-	3,587
19 USD medium-term notes 07 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic 600 2019/12/10 5 years 1,765 1 1	19 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	•	400	2019/09/05	5 years	1,261	1,251
Libor+1.075 20 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China SM Synthetic Libor+0.95 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China SM Synthetic Libor+1.70 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	19 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.625	200	2019/09/05	5 years	811	804
Libor+0.95 20 USD medium-term notes 04 USD Hong Kong, China 3M Synthetic Libor+1.70 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years - 2 1 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	19 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China		600	2019/12/10	5 years	1,765	1,753
Libor+1.70 21 USD medium-term notes 01 USD Hong Kong, China 1.125 500 2021/06/18 3 years – 2 21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year –	20 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	•	500	2020/03/02	5 years	1,906	1,895
21 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 1.07 775 2021/09/27 3 years 707 23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	20 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China		450	2020/07/14	5 years	1,498	1,492
23 RMB Private Bond 01 RMB Hong Kong, China 3.50 1,000 2023/03/07 2 years 999 23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	21 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.125	500	2021/06/18	3 years	-	2,082
23 HKD medium-term notes 01 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 775 2023/03/08 1 year -	21 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.07	775	2021/09/27	3 years	707	702
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	23 RMB Private Bond 01	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.50	1,000	2023/03/07	2 years	999	999
	23 HKD medium-term notes 01	HKD		4.85	775	2023/03/08	1 year	-	702
23 HKD medium-term notes 02 HKD Hong Kong, China 4.85 385 2023/03/10 1 year -	23 HKD medium-term notes 02	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.85	385	2023/03/10	1 year	-	349
							1 year	-	3,184
23 USD medium-term notes 05 USD Hong Kong, China 5.55 55 2023/03/15 1 year -	23 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.55	55	2023/03/15	1 year	-	-

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

29 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(1) Bonds (Continued)

Detailed information of bonds held at amortised cost is as follows: (Continued)

			Coupon rate	Par value			Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	balance	balance
23 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	50	2023/03/15	1 year	_	19
23 USD medium-term notes 07	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.00	37	2023/03/28	10 months	-	261
23 USD medium-term notes 08	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	115	2023/06/21	11 months	-	812
23 USD medium-term notes 09	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.50	30	2023/07/18	10 months	-	212
23 CNY medium-term notes 01	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.00	760	2023/07/26	3 years	758	758
23 CNY medium-term notes 02	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/10/18	1 years	400	400
23 CNY medium-term notes 03	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.30	700	2023/10/20	3 years	698	698
23 CNY medium-term notes 04	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.50	400	2023/11/20	3 years	399	399
23 CNY medium-term notes 05	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.35	300	2023/12/01	3 years	300	300
23 USD medium-term notes 10	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+1.00	240	2023/12/20	3 years	709	706
24 CNY medium-term notes 01	CNY	Hong Kong, China	3.00	360	2024/03/14	3 years	360	-
24 HKD medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.75	368	2024/05/29	3 years	336	-
24 USD medium-term notes 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.92	150	2024/02/26	3 years	371	-
24 USD medium-term notes 02	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.92	135	2024/03/04	3 years	962	-
24 USD medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.20	30	2024/05/17	3 years	214	-
24 USD medium-term notes 04	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.75	100	2024/05/28	3 years	713	-
24 USD medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	5.00	300	2024/06/26	3 years	1,773	-
24 USD medium-term notes 06	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.68	650	2024/06/26	3 years	3,700	-
10 Year USD bond	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.00	250	2018/01/25	10 years	1,772	1,760
Azure Nova	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.25	250	2017/03/21	10 years	1,778	1,767
20 Financial Investing 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.80	7,000	2020/03/11	5 years	6,998	6,997
21 Bocomm International 01	USD	Hong Kong, China	1.75	500	2021/06/22	5 years	3,279	3,257
19 Brazil bonds	BRL	Brazil	110%SELIC	200	2019/01/30	6 years	57	57
22 Brazil bonds 01	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.60	270	2022/02/07	10 years	370	390
22 Brazil bonds 02	BRL	Brazil	CDI + 2.40	200	2022/11/29	10 years	274	289
Subtotal							49,298	52,178
Total							314,248	327,009

Detailed information of bonds held at fair value is as follows:

								Fair value
							Fair value	at the
			Coupon rate	Par value			at the end	beginning
	Currency	Issue place	%	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	of the period	of the period
The Bank								
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 09	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	50	2023/06/26	5 years	353	355
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 10	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	40	2023/06/26	5 years	282	284
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 11	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	50	2023/06/26	5 years	353	355
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 13	USD	Hong Kong, China	SOFR+0.60	25	2023/08/30	3 years	179	179
19 Hong Kong medium-term notes	HKD	Hong Kong, China	2.85	3,500	2019/03/21	5 years	-	3,231
21 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.15	1,000	2021/12/13	3 years	984	1,001
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	1.80	1,200	2022/03/21	2 years	-	1,086
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.20	2,800	2022/03/21	2 years	-	2,818
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.375	400	2022/03/21	3 years	2,810	2,766
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 04	RMB	Hong Kong, China	3.05	1,420	2022/11/30	2 years	1,397	1,421
22 Hong Kong medium-term notes 05	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.75	200	2022/11/30	3 years	1,420	1,417
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 01	HKD	Hong Kong, China	4.50	2,700	2023/02/28	2 years	2,502	2,491
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 02	RMB	Hong Kong, China	2.97	3,800	2023/02/28	2 years	3,767	3,826
23 Hong Kong medium-term notes 03	USD	Hong Kong, China	4.875	600	2023/02/28	3 years	4,331	4,334
Total							18,378	25,564

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

29 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds

Detailed information of Tier 2 capital bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
The Bank									
19 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.10	30,000	2019/08/14	10 years	(a)	29,998	29,998
19 BoComm 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.49	10,000	2019/08/14	15 years	(b)	9,999	9,999
20 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.24	40,000	2020/05/19	10 years	(c)	39,997	39,997
21 BoComm	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.65	30,000	2021/09/23	10 years	(d)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.45	30,000	2022/02/23	10 years	(e)	29,999	29,999
22 BoComm 02A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.03	37,000	2022/11/11	10 years	(f)	36,999	36,999
22 BoComm 02B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.36	13,000	2022/11/11	15 years	(g)	12,999	12,999
23 BoComm 01A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.30	15,000	2023/11/15	10 years	(h)	14,999	14,999
23 BoComm 01B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.40	15,000	2023/11/15	15 years	(i)	15,000	15,000
24 BoComm 01A	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.45	15,000	2024/04/26	10 years	(j)	15,000	-
24 BoComm 01B	RMB	Chinese Mainland	2.60	11,000	2024/04/26	15 years	(k)	11,000	
Subtotal								245,989	219,989
Subsidiaries									
21 BoComm Hong Kong	USD	Hong Kong, China	2.304	1,000	2021/07/08	10 years	(l)	7,126	7,078
Subtotal								7,126	7,078
Total								253,115	227,067

- (a) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2024, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (b) The Group has an option to redeem 19 BoComm 02 at the par value partially or as a whole on 16 August 2029, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (c) The Group has an option to redeem 20 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 21 May 2025, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (d) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm at the par value partially or as a whole on 27 September 2026, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (e) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 01 at the par value partially or as a whole on 25 February 2027, the last day of the interest-bearing year with early redemption option embedded, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (f) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02A at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2027, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (g) The Group has an option to redeem 22 BoComm 02B at the par value partially or as a whole on 15 November 2032, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

29 DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED (Continued)

(2) Tier 2 capital bonds (Continued)

- (h) The Group has an option to redeem 23 BoComm 01A at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2028, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (i) The Group has an option to redeem 23 BoComm 01B at the par value partially or as a whole on 17 November 2033, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (j) The Group has an option to redeem 24 BoComm 01A at the par value partially or as a whole on 29 April 2029, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (k) The Group has an option to redeem 24 BoComm 01B at the par value partially or as a whole on 29 April 2034, the first day upon the end of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the NFRA's permission is acquired and the Group fulfills the redemption requirements as agreed in the offering documents.
- (I) The Group has an option to redeem 21 BoComm Hong Kong as a whole on 8 July 2026. If the issuer does not exercise the redemption right by 8 July 2026, the interest rate will be readjusted based on the 5-year U.S. Treasury rate plus 140 basis points initial rate differential.

These tier-2 capital bonds have the write-down feature, which allows the Group to write down the partial or entire principals of the bonds when regulatory triggering events as stipulated in the offering documents occur and any accumulated unpaid interest would become not payable. These bonds are regarded as tier-2 capital without any guarantees provided and the proceeds of the debts cannot be used for compensating daily operating loss of the Group.

(3) Subordinated bonds

Detailed information of subordinated bonds is disclosed as follows:

			Coupon	Par value				Ending	Opening
	Currency	Issue place	rate %	(CCY)	Issue date	Maturity	Note	balance	balance
Subsidiary									
21 Insurance 01	RMB	Chinese Mainland	4.30	3,000	2021/03/25	10 years	(a)	3,000	3,000
21 Insurance 02	RMB	Chinese Mainland	3.93	1,800	2021/07/27	10 years	(a)	1,800	1,800
Total								4,800	4,800

- (a) BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited has an option to redeem the bonds at the par value partially or as a whole on the last day of the fifth interest-bearing year, provided that the permission of PBOC and NFRA is acquired in advance and the BOCOM MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited's solvency ratio is not less than 100% if the redemption is exercised.
- (4) As at 30 June 2024, the Group has not had any defaults in respect of payments of principal or interest or other breaches with respect to the debt securities issued.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

30 OTHER LIABILITIES

		As at	As at
	Note	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Insurance contract liabilities		124,249	111,207
Clearing and settlement		54,850	56,930
Dividends payable		30,093	254
Impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees	(1)	10,138	8,826
Staff compensation payable		9,552	17,979
Lease liabilities		6,583	6,501
Deposits received for finance lease		6,120	5,904
VAT and other taxes payable		5,766	5,283
Special purpose funding		1,664	1,796
Provision for outstanding litigations	(2)	553	503
Others		47,686	35,974
Total		297,254	251,157

(1) Movements in the impairment allowance of credit related commitments and financial guarantees

	For	For the six months ended 30 June 2024						
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3					
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total				
As at 1 January 2024	8,275	551	_	8,826				
Transfers:								
Transfer to Stage 1	87	(87)	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 2	(91)	91	-	_				
Transfer to Stage 3	-	_	-	_				
Provision/(reversal)	1,467	(95)	1	1,373				
Others	(1)	(60)		(61)				
As at 30 June 2024	9,737	400	1	10,138				

	For the year ended 31 December 2023						
	Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3						
	12-month ECL	Lifetime ECL	Lifetime ECL	Total			
As at 1 January 2023	10,226	1,065	_	11,291			
Transfers:							
Transfer to Stage 1	547	(547)	-	_			
Transfer to Stage 2	(211)	211	-	_			
Transfer to Stage 3	_	_	-	_			
Provision/(reversal)	(2,213)	(56)	-	(2,269)			
Others	(74)	(122)		(196)			
As at 31 December 2023	8,275	551		8,826			

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

30 OTHER LIABILITIES (Continued)

(2) Movements in the provision for outstanding litigations

	As at 1 January 2024	Accrued/ (reversed) during the period	Settled during the period	As at 30 June 2024
Provision for outstanding litigations	503	51	(1)	553
		Accrued/		
	As at	(reversed)	Settled	As at
	1 January	during	during	31 December
	2023	the year	the year	2023
Provision for outstanding litigations	520	(14)	(3)	503

31 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL SURPLUS

	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2024	74,263	74,263	111,428
As at 30 June 2024	74,263	74,263	111,428
	Number of shares (in millions)	Ordinary shares of RMB1 each	Capital surplus
As at 1 January 2023	74,263	74,263	111,429
As at 31 December 2023	74,263	74,263	111,428

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the number of A shares of the Group was 39,251 million, and the number of H shares of the Group was 35,012 million, both with par value of RMB1 per share.

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group's capital surplus is listed as follows:

	As at 1 January 2024	Additions	Reductions	As at 30 June 2024
Share premium	110,770	-	-	110,770
Other capital reserve	658			658
Total	111,428			111,428
	As at			As at
	1 January			31 December
	2023	Additions	Reductions	2023
Share premium	110,770	-	_	110,770
Other capital reserve	659		(1)	658
Total	111,429	-	(1)	111,428

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

(1) Preference shares

(a) Preference shares outstanding at the end of the period

			Original			In original				
		Accounting	dividend		Amount	currency	In RMB		Conversion	
	Issue date	classification	rate %	Issue price	(in shares)	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity	condition	Conversion
Domestic preference shares										
Preference shares in RMB	2 September 2016	Equity	4.07	RMB100/share	450,000,000	45,000	45,000	No maturity	Mandatory	No conversion during
								date		the period
Less: Issuance fees					,		(48)			
Carrying amount							44,952			

(b) Movements of preference shares issued

	As at			As at
	1 January			30 June
	2024	Additions	Decreases	2024
Domestic preferences shares				
Amount (shares)	450,000,000	-	-	450,000,000
In RMB (millions)	44,952			44,952

(c) Main clauses

Domestic preference shares

(i) Dividend

The domestic preference shares will accrue dividends on their issue price at the relevant dividend rate below:

- From and including the issue date to but excluding the first reset date, at the rate of 3.90% per annum; and
- The dividend rate will be re-priced every five years thereafter with reference to the arithmetic average value (rounding off to 0.01%) of five-year Chinese treasury bonds yield at the date which is 20 transaction days before the reset date (excluding the date) plus a fixed premium of 1.37%. As authorised by the shareholders' annual general meeting, the Board of Directors has the sole discretion to declare and distribute dividends on domestic preference shares.

With effect from 7 September 2021, the Bank has adjusted the dividend rate for the second dividend rate adjustment period to 4.07%.

The dividend for domestic preference shares is non-cumulative. Where the Bank determines to cancel the dividend for domestic preference shares in whole or in part, the omitted dividend will not be carried forward and claimed in the future period. After receiving dividends at the agreed dividend rate, domestic preference shareholders of the Bank will not participate in the distribution of residual profits with ordinary shareholders. Domestic preference shares issued by the Bank have the same dividend distribution order as the offshore preference shares.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

Domestic preference shares (Continued)

(ii) Conditions to distribution of dividends

The Bank could pay dividends while the Bank still has distributable after-tax profit after making up previous years' losses, contributing to the statutory reserve and making general provisions, and the Bank's capital adequacy ratio meets regulatory requirements. Domestic preference shareholders of the Bank are senior to the ordinary shareholders on the right to dividends.

Subject to a resolution to be passed at a shareholders' general meeting of the Bank on each such occasion, the Bank may elect to cancel (in whole or in part) any preference share dividend. The Bank shall not distribute any dividends to its ordinary shareholders before it declares such dividends to preference shareholders for the relevant periods.

(iii) Mandatory conversion trigger events

Upon occurrence of the triggering events as stipulated by the offering documents and subject to regulatory approval, domestic preference shares shall be mandatorily converted into ordinary A Shares of the Bank, partially or entirely. The initial mandatory conversion price is RMB6.25 per share. To balance the interest between preference shareholders and ordinary shareholders, the mandatory conversion price of the preference shares will be cumulatively adjusted in sequence where certain events occur including issuances of bonus shares, capitalisation of reserves, new issuances of ordinary shares at a price lower than the market price (excluding equity increased due to exercise of convertible financing instruments that can be converted into ordinary shares) and rights issues, subject to terms and formulas provided for in the offering documents. Appropriation of dividends to ordinary shareholders is not trigger event for price adjustment.

(iv) Order of distribution and liquidation method

On winding-up of the Bank, distribution to domestic preference shareholders is made after all debts of the Bank (including subordinated debts) and obligations that are issued or guaranteed by the Bank and specifically stated to be distributed prior to the domestic preference shares; all domestic preference shareholders are ranked at the same in the distribution sequence without priority among them and have the same repayment sequence rights as holders of obligations with equivalent rights. In addition, distribution is made to domestic preference shareholders prior to ordinary shareholders.

On winding-up of the Bank, any remaining assets of the Bank shall, after the distributions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the domestic preference shares have been made, be applied to the claims of the domestic preference shareholders equally in all respects with the claims of holders of any parity obligations (which term, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the domestic preference shares and any other preference shares of the Bank issued from time to time to investors outside the PRC) and in priority to the claims of the holders of ordinary shares.

The distribution amount obtained by the domestic preference shareholders shall be the total par value of the issued and outstanding preference shares plus dividends declared but not paid in the current period; if the distribution amount is insufficient, domestic and offshore preference shareholders will share the distribution amount on a proportional basis.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(1) Preference shares (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

Domestic preference shares (Continued)

(v) Redemption

The domestic preference shares are perpetual and have no maturity date. The Bank may, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval and in compliance with the redemption preconditions, redeem all or some of the domestic preference shares on 7 September 2021 and on any preference share dividend payment date thereafter. The redemption period ends at the date when shares are fully converted or redeemed.

(2) Perpetual bonds

(a) Perpetual bonds outstanding at the end of the period

						In original		
		Accounting	Original		Amount	currency	In RMB	
	Issue date	classification	interest rate %	Issue price	(in shares)	(in millions)	(in millions)	Maturity
19 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(i)	18 September 2019	Equity	4.20	RMB100/bond	400,000,000	40,000	40,000	No fixed maturity date
20 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(ii)	23 September 2020	Equity	4.59	RMB100/bond	300,000,000	30,000	30,000	No fixed maturity date
21 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(ii)	8 June 2021	Equity	4.06	RMB100/bond	415,000,000	41,500	41,500	No fixed maturity date
Perpetual bonds in USD (c)(iii)	11 November 2020	Equity	3.80	No less than	Not applicable	2,800	18,366	No fixed maturity date
				USD200,000/bond				
Total							129,866	
Less: Issuance fees							(28)	
Carrying amount							129,838	

(b) Movements of perpetual bonds issued

	As at 1 Ja	nuary 2024	Move	ements	As at 30 June 2024		
	Amount	Par value in	Amount	Par value in	Amount	Par value in	
	(shares)	RMB (millions)	(shares)	RMB (millions)	(shares)	RMB (millions)	
19 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(i)	400,000,000	40,000	-	-	400,000,000	40,000	
20 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(ii)	300,000,000	30,000	-	-	300,000,000	30,000	
21 BoComm perpetual bonds (c)(ii)	415,000,000	41,500	-	-	415,000,000	41,500	
Perpetual bonds in USD (c)(iii)	Not applicable	18,366			Not applicable	18,366	
Total		129,866		-		129,866	

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(c) Main clauses

(i) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB40 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 18 September 2019, and the raising fund was received on 20 September 2019. The denomination of the bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.20%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of Additional tier-1 capital trigger event, namely, the Bank's core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio having fallen to 5.125% (or below), the Bank has the right, subject to the approval of the regulatory but without the need for the consent of the bondholders, to write down whole or part of the aggregate amount of the perpetual bonds then issued and outstanding, in order to restore the core tier-1 capital adequacy ratio to above 5.125%. Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down all the above perpetual bond issued and existing at that time in accordance with the total par value without the consent of the bondholders.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the Additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

(ii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB30 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 23 September 2020, and the raising fund was received on 25 September 2020. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.59%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued RMB41.5 billion undated capital bonds in China's National Inter-Bank Bond Market on 8 June 2021, and the raising fund was received on 10 June 2021. The denomination of the Bonds is RMB100 each and coupon rate of 4.06%. The Bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the Bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds, the principal amount of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Perpetual bonds (Continued)

(c) Main clauses (Continued)

(iii) With the approvals by relevant regulatory authorities, the Bank issued USD2.8 billion undated capital bonds in the offshore market on 11 November 2020, and the raising fund was received on 18 November 2020. The specified denomination of the bonds is not less than USD200,000, the exceeding part need to be integral multiple of USD1000 and issued at 100% of the specified denomination. The coupon rate of the bonds is 3.80%. The bonds adopt a coupon rate adjusted on a stage-by-stage basis and a coupon rate adjustment period for every five years during which interests will be paid at the agreed coupon rate.

The perpetual bonds will continue to be outstanding so long as the Bank's business continues to operate. The bonds have set forth terms regarding the Bank's redemption with pre-conditions. Subject to the satisfaction of the redemption conditions and having obtained the prior approval of the regulatory, the bank is entitled to redeem the bonds after five years since the issue date in whole or in part on the annual interest payment date (including the interest payment date of the fifth year after the issue date). If, after the issuance, the perpetual bonds no longer qualify as additional tier-1 capital as a result of an unforeseeable change or amendment to relevant provisions of supervisory regulations, subject to obtaining the regulatory approval, the Bank may redeem the whole but not part of the perpetual bonds.

The claims in respect of the perpetual bonds are subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors, and subordinated indebtedness that rank senior to the perpetual bonds; and will rank in priority to all classes of equity shares held by the Bank's shareholders and rank pari passu with the claims in respect of any other additional tier-1 capital instruments of the Bank that rank pari passu with the perpetual bonds.

Upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Triggering Event, the Bank has the right to write down/write off in whole or in part, without the need for the consent of the holders of the bonds.

The distributions on the perpetual bonds are non-cumulative, and the Bank shall have the right to cancel, in whole or in part, distributions on the bonds and any such cancellation shall not constitute an event of default. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, use the proceeds from the cancelled distributions to meet other obligations as they fall due. Cancellation of any distributions on the bonds, no matter in whole or in part, will not impose any other restriction on the Bank, except in relation to dividend distributions to ordinary shares.

Investors have no right to redeem their subscription from the Bank. The net proceeds from the Bank's issuance of the above bonds, after deducting offering related expenses, will be used to replenish the additional tier-1 capital of the Bank.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

32 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(3) Interests attributable to holders of other equity instruments

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company	1,107,374	1,088,030
- Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company	932,584	913,240
- Equity attributable to preference shareholders of the parent company	44,952	44,952
- Equity attributable to perpetual bond holders of the parent company	129,838	129,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests	11,917	11,420
- Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,384	7,912
 Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of non-cumulative subordinated 		
additional Tier-1 capital securities (Note 35)	3,533	3,508

Dividends paid to preference shareholders and interest paid to perpetual bond holders for the six months ended 30 June 2024 are disclosed in Note 34.

33 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the appropriation of profits to the statutory general reserve, the discretionary reserve and the distribution of dividends in each year are based on the recommendations of the directors and are subject to the resolutions to be passed at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Pursuant to relevant PRC regulations, the Bank appropriated 10% of its net profit for the year under CAS to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the Bank's registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to compensate losses or to increase share capital upon approval.

	As at 1 January 2024	Appropriate	Decrease	As at 30 June 2024
Statutory reserve	97,227	8,162		105,389
Discretionary reserve	140,399			140,399
Total	237,626	8,162		245,788

Pursuant to relevant PRC banking regulations, since 1 July 2012, the Bank made statutory general reserve from net profit through profit appropriation according to *Administrative Measures for the Provisioning of Financial Enterprises (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20)*. The proportion is determined based on several factors including the Bank's overall exposure to risk, normally no lower than 1.5% of the ending balance of risk assets. The statutory general reserve is an integral part of shareholders' equity but not subject to dividend distribution. The Bank's subsidiaries and overseas branches, if required by local regulation requirements, also need to make such general reserve.

	As at			As at
	1 January			30 June
	2024	Appropriate	Decrease	2024
Statutory general reserve	159,053	13,367		172,420

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

33 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Continued)

Retained earnings

The movements of retained earnings are set out below:

	Note	
As at 1 January 2024		326,744
Profit for the period attributable to shareholders of the parent company		45,287
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(8,162)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		-
Appropriation to general reserve		(13,367)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(27,849)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(1,685)
Others		38
As at 30 June 2024	(1)	319,174
As at 31 December 2022		292,734
Changes in accounting policies		127
As at 1 January 2023		292,861
Profit for the period attributable to shareholders of the parent company		92,728
Appropriation to statutory reserve		(9,073)
Appropriation to discretionary reserve		(217)
Appropriation to general reserve		(14,512)
Dividends payable to ordinary shareholders		(27,700)
Dividends payable to preference shareholders		(1,832)
Interest to perpetual bond holders		(5,641)
Others		130
As at 31 December 2023	(1)	326,744

(1) Retained earnings at the end of the period/year

As at 30 June 2024, the consolidated retained earnings attributable to shareholders of the parent included retained earnings transferred to share capital by the Bank's subsidiary amounting to RMB6.00 billion (As at 31 December 2023: 6.00 billion). The Bank's subsidiary did not provide the Bank with the option to receive equivalent cash dividends or profits.

(2) Distributable profits

The Bank's distributable profit is based on its retained profits as determined under PRC and IFRSs, whichever is lower. The amount that the Group's subsidiaries can legally distribute is determined by referring to their profits as reflected in their financial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations and principles promulgated by the local regulatory bodies. These profits may differ from those dealt with in these financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

34 DIVIDENDS

Six mont	hs ended	30 J	June
----------	----------	------	------

	2024	2023
Dividends to ordinary shareholders of the Bank	27,849	27,700
Dividends to preference shareholders of the Bank	1,832	1,832
Interest to perpetual bond holders of the Bank	1,685	1,685

Under PRC Company Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the net profit after tax as reported in the PRC statutory financial statements can only be distributed as dividends after allowances for the following:

- (1) Making up cumulative losses from prior years, if any;
- (2) Allocations to the non-distributable statutory reserve of 10% of the net profit of the Bank as determined under the relevant PRC accounting standards;
- (3) Allocations to statutory general reserve;
- (4) Allocations to the discretionary reserve upon approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. These funds form part of the shareholders' equity. The cash dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position upon approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the approval by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 26 June 2024, the Bank appropriated a cash dividend of RMB0.375 (before tax) for each ordinary share, with total amount of RMB27,849 million, calculated based on 74,263 million shares outstanding as at 31 December 2023, will be distributed to ordinary shareholders.

Pursuant to the approval by the Board meeting on 26 April 2024, the Bank will appropriate domestic preference dividends of RMB1,832 million with a dividend yield of 4.07%.

The Bank distributed the interest on the 2021 undated capital bonds amounting to RMB1,685 million on 10 June 2024.

35 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests of the Group include equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares and equity attributable to non-controlling interests of other equity instruments. As at 30 June 2024, equity attributable to other equity instruments holders was RMB3,533 million. Other equity instruments were non-cumulative subordinated additional tier-1 capital securities issued by Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited on 3 March 2020.

Issue Date

Face Value

USD500 million
First Call Date

Distribution Rate

(i) from the issue date to the first call date, 3.725% per annum

(ii) for every five calendar years after the first call date, the then-prevailing

US Treasury Rate plus 2.525% per annum if the redemption right is not exercised

Frequency of distribution payments

Semi-annually

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited may determine the policies of distribution payments and whether to redeem the bonds. Therefore, the Group recognised the bonds as equity instruments.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier-1 capital securities, Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited has paid a total distribution of RMB66 million during the six months ended 30 June 2024.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

36 CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

The Group has been involved as defendants in certain lawsuits arising from its normal business operations. Management of the Group believes, based on legal advice, the final result of these lawsuits will not have a material impact on the financial position or operations of the Group. Provision for litigation losses as advised by in-house or external legal professionals is disclosed in Note 30. The total outstanding claims against the Group (as defendant) by a number of third parties at the end of the period/year are summarised as follows:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Outstanding litigations	1,404	1,480
Provision for outstanding litigation (Note 30)	553	503

Future receivables from operating leases

The Group acts as lessor in operating leases principally through aircrafts, vessels and equipments leasing undertaken by its subsidiaries. The future minimum lease receivables on certain aircraft, vessel and equipments under irrevocable operating leases are as follows:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Within 1 year	20,563	18,835
After 1 year and within 2 years	19,286	17,470
After 2 years and within 3 years	18,144	16,327
After 3 years and within 4 years	16,024	14,904
After 4 years and within 5 years	14,622	12,935
After 5 years	57,610	53,932
Total	146,249	134,403

37 COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments and financial guarantees

The following tables provide the contractual amounts of the Group's credit related commitments and financial guarantees which the Group has committed to its customers:

	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Loan commitments		
- Under 1 year	9,324	6,013
- 1 year and above	94,698	82,507
Credit card commitments	942,262	938,820
Acceptance bills	554,066	544,473
Letters of guarantee	480,513	455,646
Letters of credit commitments	238,636	205,132
Total	2,319,499	2,232,591

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

37 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Capital expenditure commitments

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Contracted but not provided for	78,962	87,143

Commitments on security underwriting and bond acceptance

The Group is entrusted by the Ministry of Finance ('MOF') to underwrite certain treasury bonds. The investors of these treasury bonds have a right to redeem the bonds at any time prior to maturity and the Group is committed to honor such redemption requests. The redemption price is calculated as the nominal value of the bond plus payable interest in accordance with the terms of the related early redemption arrangement.

As at 30 June 2024, the nominal value of treasury bonds the Group had the obligation to buy back amounted to RMB59,391 million (As at 31 December 2023: RMB63,381 million). Management of the Group expects the amount of redemption before the maturity dates of these bonds will not be material.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had no announced but unfulfilled irrevocable commitment on security underwriting (As at 31 December 2023: Nil).

38 COLLATERALS

(1) Assets pledged

The Group uses part of its assets as collaterals for interbank repurchase arrangements and other liabilities-related business. The carrying amount of these collaterals are listed below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Investment securities	1,091,918	1,047,336
Bills	2,901	4,882
Total	1,094,819	1,052,218

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements included certain transactions under which the title of the pledged securities has been transferred to counterparties. These transactions have been disclosed in Note 43 transfers of financial assets.

In addition, part of due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions and loans and advances to customers pledged as collateral for borrowing from central banks or placements from banks by the Group as at 30 June 2024 amounted to RMB35,588 million in total (31 December 2023: RMB25,263 million).

(2) Collateral accepted

The Group received debt securities and bills as collateral in connection with the securities lending transactions and the purchase of assets under resale agreements. The Group did not hold any collateral that can be resold or re-pledged on balance sheet date when non-defaulting.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

39 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Six months ended 30 June 2024		
	Before tax		Net of
	amount	Tax effect	tax amount
Other comprehensive income			
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI	10,179	(2,419)	7,760
Amount recognised in equity	11,247	(2,686)	8,561
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,068)	267	(801)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI	(235)	(19)	(254)
Amount recognised in equity	(235)	(19)	(254)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	-	-	_
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in			
cash flow hedges	448	(140)	308
Amount recognised in equity	489	(150)	339
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(41)	10	(31)
Translation difference on foreign operations	(34)	-	(34)
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	1,653	(402)	1,251
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of			
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(219)	-	(219)
Others	(4,270)	1,076	(3,194)
Other comprehensive income for the period	7,522	(1,904)	5,618

	Six months ended 30 June 2023			
	Before tax	Before tax		
	amount	Tax effect	tax amount	
Other comprehensive income				
Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI	3,254	(521)	2,733	
Amount recognised in equity	3,507	(584)	2,923	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(253)	63	(190)	
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI	541	(93)	448	
Amount recognised in equity	541	(93)	448	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	-	-	-	
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments in				
cash flow hedges	(239)	48	(191)	
Amount recognised in equity	(1,423)	344	(1,079)	
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	1,184	(296)	888	
Translation difference on foreign operations	3,865	_	3,865	
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at FVOCI	814	315	1,129	
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of				
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL	(148)	-	(148)	
Actuarial revaluation on pension benefits	4	-	4	
Others	(1,919)	474	(1,445)	
Other comprehensive income for the period	6,172	223	6,395	

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

40 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with maturities of less than or equal to 90 days from date of purchase and used for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	30 June 2023
Cash and balances with central banks	70,944	97,146
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	74,840	127,052
Total	145,784	224,198

41 CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Structured entities consolidated by the Group include certain trust investment plans, funds, and securitisation products issued, managed and invested by the Group. The Group controls these entities because the Group has power over, is exposed to, or has right to variable returns from its involvement with these entities and has the ability to use its power over these entities to affect the amount of the Group's returns.

42 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group has been involved in other structured entities through acting as sponsors of structured entities or investments in structured entities that provide specialised investment opportunities to investors. These structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing units of the products. The Group does not control these structured entities and therefore, these structured entities are not consolidated.

As at 30 June 2024, those unconsolidated structured entities set up and sponsored by the Group consist primarily of wealth management products, funds, trusts, asset management products and securitisation products. The Group earns commission income by providing management services to the investors of these structured entities. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group's commission income from providing services to the structured entities managed by the Group was RMB4,121 million (For the six months ended 30 June 2023: RMB4,088 million).

As at 30 June 2024, the balance of the wealth management products set up and sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB1,518,041 million (As at 31 December 2023: RMB1,302,346 million), the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB569,787 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB595,156 million (As at 31 December 2023: the balance of funds issued by the Group amounted to RMB511,038 million, the balance of trusts and asset management plans and others sponsored by the Group amounted to RMB594,647 million).

For the six months ended 30 June 2024, no interest income from placements and repurchase transactions with those unconsolidated wealth management products (For the six months ended 30 June 2023: Nil).

The Group is also involved in certain structured entities sponsored by the Group or third parties through direct investments. These investments are recognised as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial investments at amortised cost.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

42 UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of interests in unconsolidated structured entities held by the Group through investment was set out as follows:

As at 30 June 2024

		Carrying	amount		
		Financial			
	Financial investments at FVTPL	investments at amortised cost	Financial investments at FVOCI	Maximum exposure to loss	Type of income
Funds	199,435	-	333	199,768	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	13,543	36,666	-	50,209	Interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	188	155		343	Interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	213,166	36,821	333	250,320	

As at 31 December 2023

		Carrying	amount		
	Financial	Financial	Financial	Maximum	
	investments	investments at	investments	exposure	
	at FVTPL	amortised cost	at FVOCI	to loss	Type of income
Funds	164,092	-	333	164,425	Net gains arising from trading activities
Trusts and asset management products	16,774	47,133	-	63,907	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Securitisation products	174	210	_	384	Net interest income, net gains arising from trading activities
Total	181,040	47,343	333	228,716	

43 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group enters into transactions in the ordinary course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets to third parties or structured entities. In some cases, these transfers may give rise to full or partial derecognition of the financial assets concerned. In other cases where the transferred assets do not qualify for derecognition as the Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of these assets, the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets.

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Sales and repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Group sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. Since the repurchase prices are fixed, the Group is still exposed to substantially all the credit risks and market risks and rewards of those securities sold. These securities, which the Group does not have the ability to use during the term of the arrangements, are not derecognised from the financial statements but regarded as "collateral" for the secured lending. In addition, the Group recognises a financial liability for cash received.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

43 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(1) Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group entered into repurchase agreements with certain counterparties. The proceeds from selling such securities are presented as "financial assets sold under repurchase agreements" (Note 25).

The following table provides a summary of carrying amounts related to the transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and the associated liabilities:

	Collaterals		Associated liabilities	
	As at	As at	As at	As at
	30 June	31 December	30 June	31 December
	2024	2023	2024	2023
Investment securities	17,758	15,005	14,686	12,868

(2) Securities lending transactions

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for de-recognition mainly include debt securities lent to counterparties under securities lending agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or repledge those securities lent under agreements to repurchase in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Group has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. As at 30 June 2024, the carrying value of debt securities lent to counterparties was RMB7,250 million (31 December 2023: RMB26,010 million).

(3) Asset securitization

As part of its operational activities, the Group securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to structured entities which then issue securities to investors.

As at 30 June 2024, loans with an original value of RMB86,153 million (31 December 2023: RMB86,153 million) have been securitised by the Group. The Group transferred financial assets amounted to RMB34,019 million through assets backed securitization transactions, and all have met the requirement of derecognition (31 December 2023: RMB34,019 million).

As at 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of asset-backed securities held by the Group in securitisation transactions that were qualified for derecognition was RMB362 million (31 December 2023: RMB405 million), and its maximum exposure approximated to the carrying amount.

The Group retains interests in the form of subordinated tranches which may give rise to the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred assets. Those financial assets are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement, while the rest are derecognised. The extent of the Group's continuing involvement is the extent of risk the Group faces due to changes in the value of the transferred assets. As at 30 June 2024, the Group retained continued involvement in securitised credit assets through holdings of subordinated securities and the carrying amount of assets that the Group continues to recognize on the consolidated statement of financial position was RMB5,416 million (31 December 2023: RMB5,529 million). Meanwhile, the Group recognised the same amount of continuing involved assets and continuing involved liabilities as a result of this event.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

43 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(4) Disposal of non-performing loans and advances to customers

The Group disposes non-performing loans and advances to customers through transferring to third parties in the ordinary course of business. For the six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group had batch transferred non-performing loans and advances to customers with a gross carrying amount of RMB898 million (For the six months ended 30 June 2023: RMB748 million) and collected cash totalling RMB480 million (For the six months ended 30 June 2023: RMB704 million) from the transfer. The difference between the gross carrying amount and the cash collected had been written off. The Group derecognised the non-performing loans and advances to customers from the Group's financial statements at the time of disposal.

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Transactions with the MOF

As at 30 June 2024, the MOF held 17,732 million (As at 31 December 2023: 17,732 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 23.88% (31 December 2023: 23.88%) of the total share capital.

The MOF is a Chinese government ministry, primarily responsible for managing state fiscal revenue and expenditures, and establishing and enforcing taxation policies. The Group enters into banking transactions with the MOF under normal commercial terms and at market rates. These transactions mainly include the purchase and redemption of financial investments issued by the MOF.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Bonds issued by the MOF investment	1,219,719	1,280,553
	Six months e	nded 30 June
	2024	2023
Interest income on the government bonds	17,828	16,320

(2) Transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund

As at 30 June 2024, the National Council for Social Security Fund held 12,169 million (As at 31 December 2023: 12,149 million) ordinary shares of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 16.39% (As at 31 December 2023: 16.36%) of the total share capital.

The Group enters into transactions with the National Council for Social Security Fund in the normal course of business and they mainly include deposits. The transactions are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Deposits from customers	(97,868)	(91,625)
	Six months e	nded 30 June
	2024	2023
Interest expenses	(1,891)	(1,896)

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3) Transactions with the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC") Group and its joint ventures

As at 30 June 2024, HSBC held 14,136 million (As at 31 December 2023: 14,136 million) ordinary shares of the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. which represented 19.03% (As at 31 December 2023: 19.03%) of the total share capital.

HSBC was incorporated in 1866, primarily providing local and international banking services, and related financial services in the Asia-Pacific region. Its registration is Hong Kong. Transactions between the Group and HSBC are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	6,972	6,385
Derivative financial assets	3,727	4,375
Loans and advances to customers	757	2,399
Financial investments at FVTPL	2,309	2,877
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,863	5,453
Financial investments at FVOCI	5,150	7,464
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(37,586)	(29,552)
Derivative financial liabilities	(2,161)	(1,843)
Certificates of deposits issued	(31,326)	(37,211)
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	281,143	270,596
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	243	242

	Six months er	Six months ended 30 June		
	2024	2023		
Interest income	313	321		
Interest expense	(902)	(1,114)		
Fee and commission income	33	42		
Fee and commission expense	(13)	(7)		

(4) Transactions with state-owned entities in PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned and/or controlled by the government through its authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively the "state-owned entities"). During the period, the Group entered into extensive banking transactions with these state-owned entities including, but not limited to, the provision of credit and guarantees, deposits, foreign exchange, derivatives transactions, agency business, underwriting and distribution of bonds issued by the government as well as trading and redemption of securities issued by the government.

Management considers that transactions with state-owned entities are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and that the dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and these state-owned entities are ultimately controlled or owned by the government. The Group has also established pricing policies for products and services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the customers are state-owned entities.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(5) Transactions with subsidiaries

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Basic information and relevant details of subsidiaries are set out in Note 20.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

The Bank	As at 30 June 2024	As at 31 December 2023
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	127,236	140,345
Derivative financial assets	187	209
Loans and advances to customers	1,210	1,249
Financial investments at FVTPL	243	241
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,487	1,881
Financial investments at FVOCI	9,647	11,124
Other assets	1,089	792
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(10,998)	(18,642)
Derivative financial liabilities	(7,320)	(7,470)
Deposits from customers	(6,506)	(5,973)
Other liabilities	(271)	(374)

	Six months ende	ed 30 June
The Bank	2024	2023
Interest income	3,147	3,800
Interest expense	(265)	(249)
Fee and commission income	724	1,027
Fee and commission expense	(17)	(23)
Other operating income	307	353
Other operating expense	(65)	(59)

(6) Transactions with key management personnel

The key management personnel are those persons who have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and control the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including members of the board of directors and the board of supervisors, and executive officers.

Transactions key management personnel, their close relatives and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by either such key management personnel or their close relatives and are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Deposits from customers	(10)	(10)

Compensations of directors and senior management are summarised below:

	Six months er	nded 30 June
	2024	2023
Remuneration and emoluments	8	7
Other benefits	2	1

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(7) Transactions with associates and joint ventures

Transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. Basic information and relevant details of associates and joint ventures are set out in Note 21.

Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
On-balance sheet items		
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	1,191	1,005
Derivative financial assets	1,302	1,048
Loans and advances to customers	10,561	9,759
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(526)	(809)
Derivative financial liabilities	(70)	(17)
Deposits from customers	(385)	(1,161)
Off-balance sheet items		
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	6,917	4,690
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	26,378	21,806
	Six months e	ended 30 June
	2024	2023
Interest income	211	199
Interest expense	(27)	(5)

(8) Transactions with other related parties

Transactions with other related parties are conducted under normal transaction terms and market pricing terms and which comply with normal commercial terms. Details of transaction volumes and outstanding balances are summarised below:

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
On-balance sheet items	·	
Loans and advances to customers	526	983
Due to and placements from banks and other financial institutions	(751)	(303)
Deposits from customers	(101,291)	(86,199)
Off-balance sheet items		
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	380	200
	Six months e	ended 30 June
	2024	2023
Interest income	12	8
Interest expense	(1,619)	(1,021)

(9) Transactions with Annuity Fund

Apart from the obligations for defined contributions to the Annuity Fund and normal banking transactions, no other material transactions were conducted between the Group and the bank with the Annuity Fund for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(10) Proportion of major related party transactions

The major balances and transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. When calculating the proportion of related party transactions, transactions with the subsidiary are not involved.

	As at 30 June 2024		As at 31 Decemb	per 2023
	Balances	%	Balances	%
On-balance sheet items				
Due from and placements with banks and other				
financial institutions	8,163	0.96	7,390	0.86
Derivative financial assets	5,029	6.33	5,423	8.05
Loans and advances to customers	11,844	0.15	13,141	0.17
Financial investments at FVTPL	41,538	6.77	68,815	10.71
Financial investments at amortised cost	1,068,776	42.94	1,096,138	42.59
Financial investments at FVOCI	118,727	12.90	131,394	14.80
Due to and placements from banks and other				
financial institutions	(38,863)	2.14	(30,664)	1.62
Derivative financial liabilities	(2,231)	3.69	(1,860)	3.65
Deposits from customers	(199,554)	2.31	(178,995)	2.09
Certificates of deposits issued	(31,326)	2.78	(37,211)	3.62
Off-balance sheet items				
Notional principal of derivative financial instruments	288,060	2.98	275,286	3.48
Credit related commitments and financial guarantees	27,001	1.16	22,248	1.00
	S	ded 30 June		
	2024		2023	
	Amount	%	Amount	%
Interest income	18,364	7.93	16,848	7.27
Interest expense	(4,439)	3.09	(4,036)	2.76
Fee and commission income	33	0.14	42	0.16
Fee and commission expense	(13)	0.67	(7)	0.33

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating segments are identified based on the structure of the Group's internal organization and management requirements. Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments. Costs of these funds are charged at the Group's cost of capital and disclosed in inter-segment net interest income. Net interest income and expense relating to third parties are disclosed in external net interest income. There are no other material items of income or expenses between the segments.

Segment revenues, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. The basis for allocation is mainly based on occupation of or contribution to resources. Income tax is managed on a group basis and is not allocated to operating segments.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information

The Group's Board of Directors and senior management reviews the Group's operation by the particular economic areas in which the Group's branches and subsidiaries provide products or services. The Group's geographical operating segments are decided based upon location of the assets, as the Group's branches and subsidiaries mainly serve local customers.

The Group's geographical operating segments include provincial and directly managed branches and subsidiaries (if any) in relevant regions, as follows:

- Head Office: Head Office, including the Pacific Credit Card Centre;
- Yangtze River Delta: including Shanghai (excluding Head Office), Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province and Anhui Province:
- Central China: including Shanxi Province, Jiangxi Province, Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan
 Province, Hainan Province and Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone: including Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province and Shandong Province;
- Pearl River Delta: including Fujian Province and Guangdong Province;
- Western China: including Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province, Shaanxi
 Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Ningxia Hui
 Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region and Tibet Autonomous Region;
- North Eastern China: including Liaoning Province, Jilin Province and Heilongjiang Province;
- Overseas: including Hong Kong, New York, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Frankfurt, Macau, Ho Chi Minh City, San Francisco, Sydney, Taipei, London, Luxembourg, Brisbane, Paris, Rome, Brazil, Melbourne, Toronto, Prague and Johannesburg.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

Six months ended 30 June 2024

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

	Yangtze	Pearl	Bohai Rim Economic	Central	Western	North Eastern			
	River Delta	River Delta	Zone	China	China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	10,223	6,008	434	10,195	9,296	(611)	7,245	41,444	84,234
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	14,461	3,378	12,639	4,730	398	3,791	487	(39,884)	-
Net interest income	24,684	9,386	13,073	14,925	9,694	3,180	7,732	1,560	84,234
Fee and commission income	6,903	2,773	3,552	3,947	2,172	921	1,191	1,474	22,933
Fee and commission expense	(605)	(13)	(39)	(40)	(9)	(7)	(88)	(1,132)	(1,933)
Net fee and commission income	6,298	2,760	3,513	3,907	2,163	914	1,103	342	21,000
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	3,155	106	216	347	100	18	1,189	6,958	12,089
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments	644	-	-	-	-	15	(108)	383	934
Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures	(10)	-	-	-	-	-	56	261	307
Other operating income	12,089	158	353	195	247	76	277	591	13,986
Total operating income-net	46,860	12,410	17,155	19,374	12,204	4,203	10,249	10,095	132,550
Credit impairment losses	(7,805)	(5,304)	(3,284)	(3,248)	(2,074)	(1,075)	(611)	(9,620)	(33,021)
Other assets impairment losses	(440)	-	-	-	-	(25)	(2)	-	(467)
Other operating expense	(17,704)	(3,704)	(4,697)	(4,938)	(3,526)	(1,759)	(2,754)	(12,302)	(51,384)
Profit/(loss) before tax	20,911	3,402	9,174	11,188	6,604	1,344	6,882	(11,827)	47,678
Income tax									(1,853)
Net profit for the period									45,825
Depreciation and amortisation	(835)	(475)	(574)	(590)	(470)	(243)	(295)	(1,409)	(4,891)
Capital expenditure	(18,674)	(31)	(56)	(146)	(106)	(50)	(60)	(48)	(19,171)
	Yangtze	Pearl	Bohai Rim Economic	Central	Western	North Eastern			
	River Delta	River Delta	Zone	China	China	China	Overseas	Head Office	Total
External net interest income/(expense)	11,909	5,185	(1,251)	11,024	8,414	(711)	6,037	41,780	82,387
Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	13,585	4,912	13,335	4,669	1,152	3,572	462	(41,687)	-
Net interest income	25,494	10,097	12,084	15,693	9,566	2,861	6,499	93	82,387
Fee and commission income	7,740	3,259	4,182	4,656	2,783	1,154	1,169	1,748	26,691
Fee and commission expense	(804)	(18)	(36)	(56)	(10)	(7)	(99)	(1,081)	(2,111)
Net fee and commission income	6,936	3,241	4,146	4,600	2,773	1,147	1,070	667	24,580
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	5,463	227	150	232	25	39	1,420	10,081	17,637
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments	261	-	-	-	-	10	(114)	(189)	(32)
Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures	(7)	-	-	-	-	-	19	149	161
Other operating income	11,137	168	309	212	162	64	325	197	12,574
Total operating income-net	49,284	13,733	16,689	20,737	12,526	4,121	9,219	10,998	137,307
Credit impairment losses	(6,672)	(5,519)	(3,361)	(4,474)	(3,915)	(1,314)	(2,356)	(8,735)	(36,346)
Other assets impairment losses	(596)	-	1	1	(1)	1	_	-	
	(1=001)	(0. ==0)	(4.0.40)						(594)
Other operating expense	(15,984)	(3,773)	(4,646)	(4,924)	(3,403)	(1,738)	(2,806)	(13,419)	(50,693)
	(15,984)	(3,773)	(4,646)	11,340	5,207	1,070	4,057	(13,419)	
Other operating expense Profit/(loss) before tax Income tax									(50,693) 49,674 (3,108)
Other operating expense Profit/(loss) before tax									(50,693) 49,674
Other operating expense Profit/(loss) before tax Income tax									(50,693) 49,674 (3,108)

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Geographical operating segment information (Continued)

					As at 30	June 2024				
Segment assets	Yangtze River Delta 3,663,027	Pearl River Delta 1,228,672	Bohai Rim Economic North Eastern Zone 2,063,448	Central	Western China 1,031,314	North Eastern China 498,321	Overseas	Head Office 5,130,087	Eliminations (2,243,164)	Total 14,137,836
Including:	0,000,021	1,220,012	2,000,110	1,011,010	1,001,011	100,021	1,210,100	0,100,001	(=,= :0, :0 :)	11,101,000
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,441	-	-	26	-	-	1,161	6,726	-	9,354
Unallocated assets										40,078
Total assets										14,177,914
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(3,553,838)	(1,224,001)	(2,053,886)	(1,519,660)	(1,027,055)	(499,858)	(1,107,077)	(4,313,879)	2,243,164	(13,056,090) (2,533)
Total liabilities										(13,058,623)
			Bohai Rim Economic North		As at 31 D	ecember 2023) North				
	Yangtze		Eastern	Central	Western	Eastern				
	River Delta	River Delta	Zone	China	China	China China	Overseas	Head Office	Eliminations	Total
Segment assets Including:	3,581,356	1,280,694	2,097,935	1,498,173	1,025,178	471,772	1,204,469	5,486,713	(2,626,197)	14,020,093
Investments in associates and joint ventures	1,427	-	-	1	-	-	1,038	6,524	-	8,990
Unallocated assets					_					40,379
Total assets					,	,				14,060,472
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(3,451,137)	(1,269,395)	(2,074,193)	(1,479,208)	(1,013,057)	(470,188)	(1,101,049)	(4,726,585)	2,626,197	(12,958,615) (2,407)
										(2,401)

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various segments have been adjusted.

Business information

The Group is engaged predominantly in banking and related financial activities. It comprises corporate banking, personal banking, treasury and other business. Corporate banking mainly comprises corporate loans, bills, trade financing, corporate deposits and remittance. Personal banking mainly comprises personal loans, personal deposits, credit cards and remittance. Treasury mainly comprises money market placements and takings, financial investment, and securities sold under repurchase agreements. Others Business segment mainly comprises items which cannot be categorised in the above business segments.

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

The business information of the Group is summarised as follows:

	Six months ended 30 June 2024						
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total		
External net interest income/(expense) Inter-segment net interest income/(expense)	43,355 551	13,152 23,238	27,748 (23,789)	(21)	84,234		
Net interest income/(expense) Net fee and commission income	43,906 5,866	36,390 12,532	3,959 2,508	(21) 94	84,234 21,000		
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities Net gains/(losses) arising from financial	2,475	495	9,000	119	12,089		
investments Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates	79	253	600	2	934		
and joint ventures Other operating income	95 10,992	(10) 2,494	377	222 123	307 13,986		
Total operating income-net	63,413	52,154	16,444	539	132,550		
Credit impairment losses Other assets impairment losses Other operating expense	(19,091) (467)	(13,745)	(184)	(1)	(33,021) (467)		
Depreciation and amortisation Others	(1,832) (22,368)	(2,683) (21,464)	(311) (2,429)	(65) (232)	(4,891) (46,493)		
Profit before tax	19,655	14,262	13,520	241	47,678		
Income tax					(1,853)		
Net profit for the period					45,825		
Depreciation and amortisation Capital expenditure	(1,832) (18,780)	(2,683) (335)	(311) (36)	(65) (20)	(4,891) (19,171)		

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

Six r	nonths	ended	30.	lune	2023

Inter-segment net interest income/(expense) 5,974 20,244 (26,218) -		Banking Business	Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total
Net interest income/(expense) 44,167 37,583 652 (15) 82,3 Net fee and commission income 6,406 15,738 2,347 89 24,5 Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 4,866 1,124 11,943 (296) 17,6 Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments 48 177 (257) - 6 Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	net interest income/(expense)	38,193	17,339	26,870	(15)	82,387
Net fee and commission income 6,406 15,738 2,347 89 24,5 Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 4,866 1,124 11,943 (296) 17,6 Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments 48 177 (257) - 6 Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3	ment net interest income/(expense)	5,974	20,244	(26,218)	_	-
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities 4,866 1,124 11,943 (296) 17,6 Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments 48 177 (257) - 6 Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	est income/(expense)	44,167	37,583	652	(15)	82,387
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments 48 177 (257) - 0 Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	and commission income	6,406	15,738	2,347	89	24,580
investments 48 177 (257) — 17 Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) — 142 1 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 1 15,029 117 137,3 1 1,896 1 15,029 117 137,3 1 1,896 1 1 15,029 117 137,3 1 1,896 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1 1,029 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	s/(losses) arising from trading activities	4,866	1,124	11,943	(296)	17,637
Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	s/(losses) arising from financial					
and joint ventures 26 (7) - 142 1 Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	nents	48	177	(257)	_	(32)
Other operating income 10,137 1,896 344 197 12,5 Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	s/(losses) on investments in associates					
Total operating income-net 65,650 56,511 15,029 117 137,3 Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) - (36,3)	int ventures	26	(7)	-	142	161
Credit impairment losses (22,107) (13,255) (984) – (36,3	erating income	10,137	1,896	344	197	12,574
	perating income-net	65,650	56,511	15,029	117	137,307
	pairment losses	(22,107)	(13,255)	(984)	- 1	(36,346)
Other assets impairment losses (600) 6 – – (5	sets impairment losses	(600)	6	-	_	(594)
Other operating expense	erating expense					
- Depreciation and amortisation (1,854) (2,545) (272) (61)	reciation and amortisation	(1,854)	(2,545)	(272)	(61)	(4,732)
- Others (20,951) (22,403) (2,378) (229) (45,9	ers	(20,951)	(22,403)	(2,378)	(229)	(45,961)
Profit/(loss) before tax 20,138 18,314 11,395 (173) 49,6	oss) before tax	20,138	18,314	11,395	(173)	49,674
Income tax (3,1	ax					(3,108)
Net profit for the period 46,5	fit for the period				_	46,566
Depreciation and amortisation (1,854) (2,545) (272) (61) (4,7	ition and amortisation	(1,854)	(2,545)	(272)	(61)	(4,732)
Capital expenditure (26,191) (432) (75) (114) (26,8)	xpenditure	(26,191)	(432)	(75)	(114)	(26,812)

As at 30 June 2024

	As at 30 June 2024					
	Corporate Banking Business	Personal Banking Business	Treasury Business	Other Business	Total	
Segment assets Including:	6,039,921	2,715,494	5,289,818	92,603	14,137,836	
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,647	1,443	_	5,264	9,354	
Unallocated assets					40,078	
Total assets					14,177,914	
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(5,394,025)	(3,845,538)	(3,741,246)	(72,020)	(13,052,829) (5,794)	
Total liabilities					(13,058,623)	

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

(All amounts presented in millions of RMB except when otherwise indicated)

45 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Business information (Continued)

	As at 31 December 2023					
	Corporate	Personal				
	Banking	Banking	Treasury	Other		
	Business	Business	Business	Business	Total	
Segment assets	5,820,739	2,623,109	5,534,582	41,663	14,020,093	
Including:						
Investments in associates and joint ventures	2,457	1,429	-	5,104	8,990	
Unallocated assets					40,379	
Total assets					14,060,472	
Segment liabilities	(5,474,229)	(3,620,670)	(3,802,004)	(57,174)	(12,954,077)	
Unallocated liabilities					(6,945)	
Total liabilities					(12,961,022)	

There were no significant transactions with a single external customer that the Group mainly relied on.

The comparative information was prepared in accordance with the categorisation of the current period since the assessment rules of the income and expense distribution between various segments have been adjusted.

46 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

In July 2024, the Bank issued a RMB30.0 billion 2024 Tier 2 Capital Bonds (Series 2) in China's National Interbank Bond Market, including RMB20.0 billion with a term of 5+5 years and a coupon rate of 2.18% and RMB10.0 billion with a term of 10+5 years and a coupon rate of 2.37%.

In August 2024, the Bank issued 2024 Undated Additional Tier 1 Capital Bonds (Series 1) with the total amount of RMB40.0 billion and a coupon rate of 2.30% in China's National Interbank Bond Market. The proceeds from the issuance of the bonds will be used to replenish the Bank's additional Tier 1 capital.

In July 2024, the Bank completed the first phase investment of RMB1 billion into the China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund Phase III Co., Ltd.

Profit distribution after reporting period

On 28 August 2024, the Board of Directors of the Bank proposed a cash dividend of RMB0.182 (before tax) for each share to both A shares and H shares registered shareholders of the Bank, totalling RMB13,516 million, calculated based on the total number of ordinary shares outstanding of 74,263 million shares as at 30 June 2024. The proposal will be subject to the approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

47 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period's presentation.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

1 CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

As at 30 June 2024	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	931,756	238,753	265,062	1,435,571
Spot liabilities	(840,621)	(273,325)	(150,725)	(1,264,671)
Forward purchases	2,354,555	269,825	455,758	3,080,138
Forward sales	(2,560,944)	(161,363)	(577,121)	(3,299,428)
Net option position	(17,965)	(257)	(1,990)	(20,212)
Net (short)/long position	(133,219)	73,633	(9,016)	(68,602)
Net structural position	183,303	29,585	7,769	220,657
As at 31 December 2023	USD	HKD	Others	Total
Spot assets	982,254	244,035	261,197	1,487,486
Spot liabilities	(849,432)	(285,305)	(142,071)	(1,276,808)
Forward purchases	1,718,050	226,260	339,376	2,283,686
Forward sales	(1,966,153)	(114,065)	(453,434)	(2,533,652)
Net option position	(1,674)	117	843	(714)
Net (short)/long position	(116,955)	71,042	5,911	(40,002)
Net structural position	170,087	29,624	7,771	207,482

The net options position is calculated using the approach set out by the China's National Financial Regulatory Administration in the regulatory report. The net structural position of the Group includes the structural positions of the Group's overseas branches, banking subsidiaries and other subsidiaries substantially involved in foreign exchange. Structural assets and liabilities include:

- Investments in fixed assets and properties, net of depreciation charges;
- Capital and statutory reserve of overseas branches;
- Investments in overseas subsidiaries and related companies; and
- Loan capital.

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

International claims are the sum of cross-border claims in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. The Group is principally engaged in business operations within Chinese Mainland.

In respect of this unaudited supplementary financial information, Chinese Mainland excludes Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Hong Kong"), Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau") and Chinese Taiwan.

International claims include loans and advances to customers, due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions, trade bills and certificates of deposits held and investment securities.

International claims have been disclosed by country or region. A country or region is reported where it constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate amount of international claims, after taking into account any risk transfers. Risk transfers are only made if risk exposure is transferred to other counterparty by risk resolving methods. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through methods of guarantees, collaterals and credit derivatives.

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

2 INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS (Continued)

As at 30 June 2024	Bank	Official sector	Non-bank Private sector	Others	Total
				Others _	
Asia Pacific	660,342	129,874	699,340		1,489,556
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	199,237	82,328	347,243	-	628,808
North and South America	26,822	14,864	34,096	_	75,782
Africa	1,146	1,693	297	-	3,136
Europe	12,554	642	32,847	_	46,043
Total	700,864	147,073	766,580	_	1,614,517
			Non-bank		
As at 31 December 2023	Bank	Official sector	Private sector	Others	Total
Asia Pacific	683,105	110,199	744,482	_	1,537,786
Of which attributed to					
Hong Kong	184,678	71,713	349,970	_	606,361
North and South America	26,415	14,771	34,063	_	75,249
Africa	1,497	1,495	324	_	3,316
Europe	18,162	645	37,467	-	56,274
Total	729,179	127,110	816,336	_	1,672,625

3 OVERDUE AND RESTRUCTURED ASSETS

(1) Balance of overdue loans

	As at	As at	
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023	
Loans and advances to customers which have been overdue for:	·		
- Less than 3 months	44,288	41,727	
- 3 to 6 months	10,327	14,838	
- 6 to 12 months	28,080	20,089	
- Over 12 months	36,826	33,467	
Total	119,521	110,121	
Percentage (%):	·		
- Less than 3 months	0.54	0.52	
- 3 to 6 months	0.12	0.19	
- 6 to 12 months	0.34	0.25	
- Over 12 months	0.45	0.42	
Total	1.45	1.38	

(2) Overdue and restructured loans

	As at	As at
	30 June 2024	31 December 2023
Total restructured loans and advances to customers	60,749	40,836
Including: Restructured loans and advances to customers overdue above 3 months	6,120	6,306
Percentage of restructured loans and advances to customers overdue		
above 3 months in total loans	0.07	0.08

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

4 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION OF LOANS

(1) Impaired loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 30 J	une 2024	As at 31 December 2023		
	Impaired loans	Allowance for	Impaired loans	Allowance for	
	and advances to	impairment	and advances to	impairment	
	customers	losses	customers	losses	
Chinese mainland					
 Yangtze River Delta 	21,841	(12,646)	20,563	(11,492)	
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	13,945	(7,563)	16,472	(10,418)	
- Central China	13,922	(7,218)	13,311	(7,048)	
- Pearl River Delta	13,841	(8,462)	12,214	(7,065)	
- Head Office	11,542	(10,355)	9,392	(8,118)	
- North Eastern China	10,808	(7,884)	11,221	(8,406)	
- Western China	8,781	(5,239)	9,443	(5,473)	
Subtotal	94,680	(59,367)	92,616	(58,020)	
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and					
overseas regions	14,274	(10,269)	13,053	(9,805)	
Total	108,954	(69,636)	105,669	(67,825)	

(2) Overdue loans and advances to customers by geographical area

	As at 30 June 2024		As at 31 Decei	mber 2023
		Allowance for		Allowance for
		impairment		impairment
	Overdue loans	losses	Overdue loans	losses
Chinese mainland				
- Head Office	31,532	(24,311)	28,064	(20,774)
 Yangtze River Delta 	16,757	(8,999)	14,191	(7,624)
- Central China	16,395	(7,507)	14,155	(6,568)
- Pearl River Delta	13,437	(7,976)	11,803	(6,546)
- Western China	12,292	(4,933)	8,184	(3,652)
- Bohai Rim Economic Zone	7,697	(4,634)	13,302	(8,181)
- North Eastern China	6,823	(4,773)	7,697	(5,667)
Subtotal	104,933	(63,133)	97,396	(59,012)
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and				
overseas regions	14,588	(10,182)	12,725	(9,366)
Total	119,521	(73,315)	110,121	(68,378)

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(1) The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors (gross)

	As at 30 June 2024			As at 31 December 2023		
			Amount			Amount
			covered by			covered by
Hong Kong		<u>%</u>	collaterals		<u></u> %	collaterals
Corporate loans						
Real estate	74,019	34.67	25,420	75,477	33.58	23,943
Manufacturing	20,285	9.50	3,051	21,120	9.40	3,519
Leasing and commercial services	10,229	4.79	3,962	10,562	4.70	3,855
Wholesale and retail	9,959	4.66	3,617	11,372	5.06	3,615
Transportation, storage and postal service	9,413	4.41	2,115	12,411	5.52	2,966
Construction	6,554	3.07	1,632	6,619	2.94	1,562
Finance	5,246	2.46	1,458	7,000	3.11	1,150
Information transmission, software and						
IT services	4,670	2.19	51	6,592	2.93	42
Accommodation and catering	2,168	1.02	2,168	2,153	0.96	2,153
Production and supply of power,						
heat, gas and water	-	-	-	149	0.07	149
Others	14,287	6.69	1,502	14,902	6.63	1,262
Total corporate loans	156,830	73.46	44,976	168,357	74.90	44,216
Personal loans						
Mortgage	43,071	20.18	42,999	41,652	18.53	41,580
Personal consumption loans	9,659	4.52	9,214	10,708	4.77	10,087
Personal business loans	322	0.15	322	301	0.13	300
Credit cards	113	0.05	-	121	0.05	-
Others	3,497	1.64	3,472	3,649	1.62	3,628
Total personal loans	56,662	26.54	56,007	56,431	25.10	55,595
Gross amount of loans and advances to						
customers before impairment allowance	213,492	100.00	100,983	224,788	100.00	99,811
Outside Hong Kong	8,054,242			7,732,297		

Note: The classification of industries is consistent with the latest national standards for industry classification (Industrial Classification for National Economic Activities (GB/T 4754-2017) issued by SAC and AQSIQ in 2017).

The risk concentration analysis for loans and advances to customers by industry sectors is based on the Group's internal classification system.

The ratio of collateral and pledge loans to the total loans of the Group was 47% as at 30 June 2024 (As at 31 December 2023: 48%).

UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the six months ended 30 June 2024

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(2) Allowance on loans and advances to customers by type of loan

	As at 30 June 2024		As at 31 Dec	ember 2023
		Allowance for		Allowance for
		impairment		impairment
	Impaired loans	losses	Impaired loans	losses
Corporates	83,797	(51,640)	85,546	(53,567)
Personals	25,157	(17,996)	20,123	(14,258)
Total	108,954	(69,636)	105,669	(67,825)

The amount of new provisions charged to statement of profit or loss, and the amount of loans and advances written off during the period are disclosed below:

	Six months ended 30 June 2024			Six months ended 30 June 2023		
			Recoveries			Recoveries
			of loans and			of loans and
		Loans and	advances		Loans and	advances
	advances		written off		advances	written off
	New	written off as	in previous	New	written off as	in previous
	provisions	uncollectible	years	provisions	uncollectible	years
Corporates	18,093	(7,141)	1,053	20,533	(4,658)	1,598
Personals	13,149	(9,242)	1,348	12,880	(7,201)	1,206
Total	31,242	(16,383)	2,401	33,413	(11,859)	2,804

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.



交通銀行股份有限公司 Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 03328)

RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT FOR THE THIRD QUARTER 2024

The board of directors (the "Board of Directors") of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (the "Bank") is pleased to announce the unaudited results (the "Third Quarter Results") of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the nine months ended 30 September 2024 (the "Reporting Period"). The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors have reviewed and confirmed the Third Quarter Results. This announcement is made pursuant to Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Rule 13.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

I. CORPORATE INFORMATION

	Stock name	Stock code	Stock exchange
A Share H Share	Bank of Communications BANKCOMM	601328 03328	Shanghai Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Domestic Preference Share	BOCOM PREF1	360021	Shanghai Stock Exchange

Secretary of the Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Name He Zhaobin

Contact address No. 188, Yin Cheng Zhong Lu, Pudong New District, Shanghai

Tel 86-21-58766688 Fax 86-21-58798398

E-mail investor@bankcomm.com

II. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(I) Key Financial Data and Financial Indicators

As at 30 September 2024 (the "end of the Reporting Period"), key financial data and financial indicators prepared by the Group under International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") are as follows:

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	(
	30 Se	eptember	31 December	Increase/
		2024	2023	decrease (%)
Total assets	14	4,594,709	14,060,472	3.80
Loans and advances to customers ¹	8	8,442,157	7,957,085	6.10
Total liabilities		3,454,955	12,961,022	3.81
Deposits from customers ¹	8	8,727,029	8,551,215	2.06
Shareholders' equity (attributable to				
shareholders of the parent company)]	1,127,908	1,088,030	3.67
Net assets per share (attributable to				
holders of ordinary shares of				
the parent company, in RMB yuan) ²		12.83	12.30	4.31
	July to	Year-on-year	ar January to	Year-on-year
Sep	tember	increas	e/ September	increase/
	2024	decrease (%	2024	decrease (%)
Net operating income	63,861	3.2	196,411	(1.37)
Profit before tax	25,208	5.4	72,886	(0.96)
Net profit (attributable to shareholders				
of the parent company)	23,403	1.1	9 68,690	(0.69)
Basic earnings per share (attributable to				
holders of ordinary shares of				
the parent company, in RMB yuan) ³	0.28	3.7	0.84	_
Diluted earnings per share (attributable to				
holders of ordinary shares of				
the parent company, in RMB yuan) ³	0.28	3.7	0.84	_
-		Decrease	ed	Decreased
Return on weighted average net assets		by 0.5	19	by 0.77
(annualised, %) ³	9.60	percentage poin	nt 9.06	percentage point

Notes:

- 1. Loans and advances to customers do not include interest receivable of related loans and advances. Deposits from customers include interest payable of related deposits.
- 2. Refer to shareholders' equity attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company after the deduction of other equity instruments against the total issued ordinary shares as at the end of the Reporting Period.
- 3. Calculated pursuant to the requirements of Regulations on the Preparation of Information Disclosure for Companies Offering Securities to the *Public No. 9 Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Asset and Earnings per Share (2010 Revision)* issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission. F-415

III. SHAREHOLDERS' INFORMATION

(I) Total Number of Ordinary Shareholders and Shareholdings

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Bank had a total of 279,874 ordinary shareholders, of which 250,208 were holders of A shares and 29,666 were holders of H shares. The shareholdings of top 10 ordinary shareholders of the Bank are listed as follows:

Name of shareholders	Nature of shareholders	Number of shares held (share)	Percentage (%)	Class of shares	Shares pledged/ marked/ frozen
The Ministry of Finance of the	Government	13,178,424,446	17.75	A Share	Nil
People's Republic of China		4,553,999,999	6.13	H Share	Nil
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ^{2,4} ("HSBC")	Foreign legal entity	14,135,636,613	19.03	H Share	Nil
The National Council for Social	Government	3,105,155,568	4.18	A Share	Nil
Security Fund ^{3,4} ("SSF")		8,433,333,332	11.36	H Share	Nil
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Nominees Limited ^{4,5}	Foreign legal entity	7,716,755,166	10.39	H Share	Unknown
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited	State-owned legal entity	1,891,651,202	2.55	A Share	Nil
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited	Foreign legal entity	1,395,011,767	1.88	A Share	Nil
Capital Airports Holdings Company Limited	State-owned legal entity	1,246,591,087	1.68	A Share	Nil
Shanghai Haiyan Investment Management Co., Ltd. ⁵	State-owned legal entity	808,145,417	1.09	A Share	Nil
Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd. ⁵	State-owned legal entity	745,305,404	1.00	A Share	Nil
FAW Equity Investment (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.	State-owned legal entity	663,941,711	0.89	A Share	Nil

Notes:

- 1. All ordinary shares issued by the Bank are not subject to any sales restrictions. The relevant data and information are based on the Bank's register of members at the Share Registrar and Transfer Office and the information provided by shareholders to the Bank.
- 2. According to the Bank's register of members, the HSBC held 13,886,417,698 H shares of the Bank. HSBC beneficially held 249,218,915 more H shares than shown on the Bank's register of members. The discrepancy was due to a purchase of H shares by HSBC from the secondary market in 2007 and thereafter receiving bonus shares issued by the Bank and participating in the rights issue of the Bank. Those extra shares have been registered under Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Nominees Limited ("HKSCC Nominees Limited").
- 3. Including the 1,970,269,383 A shares of the Bank held by the Sixth Transfer Account for State-owned Capital of SSF. Other than the above shareholdings, the SSF held additional 630,210,000 H shares, which were indirectly held by certain asset managers (including Hong Kong Stock Connect). As at the end of the Reporting Period, the SSF held a total of 12,168,698,900 A shares and H shares of the Bank, representing 16.39% of the Bank's total ordinary shares issued.
- 4. HKSCC Nominees Limited held the H shares of the Bank as a nominee. The aggregate number of shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited represents the total number of H shares of the Bank held by all institutional and individual investors who maintained an account with it as at the end of the Reporting Period. The data did not include 249,218,915 and 7,027,777,777 H shares indirectly held by HSBC and SSF respectively, which were registered under HKSCC Nominees Limited. The data did not include 13,886,417,698 and 1,405,555,555 H shares of the Bank directly held by the aforementioned two shareholders respectively as well, which were registered in the Bank's register of members.
- 5. Shanghai Haiyan Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd. are parties acting in concert as defined under the *Provisional Measures on Shareholdings Administration of Commercial Banks (China Banking Regulatory Commission Order No. 1 of 2018).* 7 subordinate enterprises of China National Tobacco Corporation including Shanghai Haiyan Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd. authorised and entrusted China National Tobacco Corporation to present at the Shareholders' General Meeting of the Bank and to exercise the voting rights on their behalf. HKSCC Nominees Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited. Furthermore, the Bank is not aware of the existence of any related relationship among the other top 10 shareholders, or whether they are parties acting in concert as defined in the *Provisional Measures on Shareholdings Administration of Commercial Banks*.

(II) Total Number of Preference Shareholders and Shareholdings

From January to September 2024, the Bank did not restore any voting right of the preference shares. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the total number of preference shareholders of the Bank was 59. Shareholdings of top 10 preference shareholders are listed as follows:

Name of shareholders	Nature of shareholders	Number of shares held (share)	Percentage (%)	Class of shares	Shares pledged/ marked/ frozen
China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.	State-owned legal entity	100,000,000	22.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
HwaBao Trust Co., Ltd. – HwaBao Trust – Baofu Investment No. 1 Collective Capital Trust Plan	Others	48,910,000	10.87	Domestic preference share	Nil
AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. – AVIC Trust Tianji Win-win No. 2 Securities Investment Collective Capital Trust Plan	Others	20,000,000	4.44	Domestic preference share	Nil
CCB Trust Co., Ltd. – CCB Trust – Jianyue Changhong No. 1 Single Capital Trust	Others	20,000,000	4.44	Domestic preference share	Nil
Ping An Life Insurance Company of China, Ltd. – Self-owned fund	Others	18,000,000	4.00	Domestic preference share	Nil
China National Tobacco Corporation Henan Branch	State-owned legal entity	15,000,000	3.33	Domestic preference share	Nil
China Life Property and Casualty Insurance Company Limited – Traditional – Common insurance product	Others	15,000,000	3.33	Domestic preference share	Nil
Ping An Property & Casualty Insurance Company of China, Ltd. – Traditional – Common insurance product	Others	13,800,000	3.07	Domestic preference share	Nil
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.	State-owned legal entity	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
China National Tobacco Corporation Shandong Branch	State-owned legal entity	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
China Pacific Property Insurance Co., Ltd. – Traditional – Common insurance product-013C-CT001 Shanghai	Others	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
Changjiang Pension Insurance – Bank of China – China Pacific Life Insurance Co., Ltd.	Others	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
China National Tobacco Corporation Guangdong Branch	State-owned legal entity	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil
China National Tobacco Corporation Sichuan Branch	State-owned legal en#t¼18	10,000,000	2.22	Domestic preference share	Nil

Notes:

- 1. All preference shares issued by the Bank are not subject to any sales restrictions.
- 2. Shareholdings of preference shareholders are summarised according to the Bank's register members of preference shareholders.
- 3. "Percentage" refers to the percentage of number of preference shares held by preference shareholders in the total number of preference shares.
- 4. According to the Administrative Measures on the Connected Transactions of Banking and Insurance Institutions issued by the former China Banking and Insurance Regulation Commission, to the knowledge of the Bank, China National Tobacco Corporation Henan Branch, China National Tobacco Corporation Shandong Branch, China National Tobacco Corporation Guangdong Branch, and China National Tobacco Corporation Sichuan Branch are related with Shanghai Haiyan Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd., which are among top 10 ordinary shareholders of the Bank.
- 5. The Bank is not aware of the existence of any related relationship among the top 10 preference shareholders or any relationship between the above shareholders and top 10 ordinary shareholders, or whether they are parties acting in concert.

IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the third quarter of 2024, the Group strictly abided by the guidance of Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for a New Era, and fully implemented the decisions and arrangements of the Communist Party of China (CPC) Central Committee. The Group adhered to the general principle of making progress while maintaining stability, implement the new development concept in a complete, accurate and comprehensive manner. The Group firmly grasped the goal requirements of building China into a strong financial power and the primary task of seeking high-quality development, and thoroughly practiced the political and popular nature of financial work, and its operating performance improved.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the total assets of the Group increased by 3.80% over the end of the previous year to 14,594.709 billion; the total liabilities increased by 3.81% over the end of the previous year to 13,454.955 billion; the shareholders' equity (attributable to shareholders of the parent company) increased by 3.67% over the end of the previous year to 1,127.908 billion. From January to September 2024, the net operating income decreased by 1.37% on a year-on-year basis to 196.411 billion; the net profit (attributable to shareholders of the parent company) decreased by 0.69% on a year-on-year basis to 68.690 billion; the annualised return on average assets (ROAA) and the annualised return on weighted average net assets were 0.65% and 9.06%, representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.04 percentage point and a decrease of 0.77 percentage point respectively.

(I) Analysis on Key Income Statement Items

1. Net interest income

From January to September 2024, the net interest income of the Group increased by 2.671 billion or 2.15% on a year-on-year basis to 126.796 billion, which accounted for 64.56% of the net operating income, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.23 percentage points.

From January to September 2024, the net interest margin of the Group decreased by 2 basis points on a year-on-year basis to 1.28%. The decrease in net interest margin was mainly because on the asset side, as affected by the interest rate adjustment in outstanding mortgage, the reduction in Loan Prime Rate (LPR), the adjustment in policy floor on interest rates for personal mortgage loans and other factors, the rate of return of the customer loan recorded a larger year-on-year decrease. Meanwhile, as affected by the continuous downward impact of the market interest rate center, the rate of return of the securities investment declined year-on-year. To hedge the downward pressure on the rate of return on assets, during the Reporting Period, the Group reasonably arranged the allocation of assets and liabilities, continuously optimised the business structure, strengthened the refined management of deposit and loan pricing, and maintained the relative stability of the net interest margin.

2. Net fee and commission income

From January to September 2024, net fee and commission income of the Group decreased by 4.762 billion or 13.96% on a year-on-year basis to 29.353 billion, which accounted for 14.94% of the net operating income, representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.19 percentage points. The year-on-year decrease of net fee and commission income was mainly due to the "unity of reporting and action" of commission of insurance institutions and the policy adjustment of the industry's rate of public funds, etc., resulting in a year-on-year decline in revenue from agency insurance and fund distribution business; meanwhile, affected by the decrease of credit cards commission income and penalty income, the revenue from bank card business declined year on year.

3. Operating expenses

From January to September 2024, the Group's operating expenses decreased by 0.540 billion or 0.90% on a year-on-year basis to 59.524 billion. The Group's cost-to-income ratio was 30.35%, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.15 percentage point.

4. Asset impairment losses

From January to September 2024, the Group's asset impairment losses decreased by 3.565 billion or 7.27% on a year-on-year basis to 45.488 billion, of which the credit impairment losses decreased by 4.360 billion or 9.38% on a year-on-year basis to 42.124 billion. The Group continuously monitored the focus and direction of the risk situation, strengthened risk identification, improved accurate measurement, made reasonable 1990 provisioning, and maintained adequate loss absorption capacity.

(II) Analysis on Key Balance Sheet Items

1. Loans and advances to customers

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the balance of loans and advances to customers was 8,442.157 billion, representing an increase of 485.072 billion or 6.10% over the end of the previous year, of which the balance of corporate loans increased by 354.067 billion or 6.84% over the end of the previous year to 5,533.600 billion; the balance of personal loans increased by 156.590 billion or 6.33% over the end of the previous year to 2,629.690 billion; the balance of discounted bills decreased by 25.585 billion or 8.40% to 278.867 billion.

2. Deposits from customers

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the balance of deposits from customers increased by 175.814 billion or 2.06% over the end of the previous year to 8,727.029 billion, of which the corporate deposits accounted for 56.30%, representing a decrease of 2.66 percentage points over the end of the previous year; the personal deposits accounted for 41.80%, representing an increase of 2.53 percentage points over the end of the previous year. The demand deposits accounted for 30.96%, representing a decrease of 3.37 percentage points over the end of the previous year; the time deposits accounted for 67.14%, representing an increase of 3.24 percentage point over the end of the previous year.

3. Financial investments

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group's net balance of financial investments increased by 122.251 billion or 2.98% over the end of the previous year to 4,226.393 billion.

4. Asset quality

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group's balance of non-performing loans increased by 5.812 billion or 5.50% over the end of the previous year to 111.500 billion; the non-performing loan ratio decreased by 0.01 percentage point over the end of the previous year to 1.32%; the provision coverage ratio increased by 8.66 percentage points over the end of the previous year to 203.87%; the provision ratio increased by 0.10 percentage point over the end of the previous year to 2.69%.

Distribution of special mention loans and overdue loans by business type

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	30 September 2024				31 December 2023			
	Special	Special	Overdue	Overdue	Special	Special	Overdue	Overdue
	mention loan	mention loan	loan	loan ratio	mention loan	mention loan	loan	loan ratio
	balance	ratio (%)	balance	(%)	balance	ratio (%)	balance	(%)
Corporate loans	93,086	1.68	58,974	1.07	89,192	1.72	62,273	1.20
Personal loans	39,995	1.52	58,367	2.22	30,939	1.25	47,832	1.93
Mortgage	13,465	0.92	17,753	1.22	9,875	0.68	12,236	0.84
Credit cards	22,568	4.45	28,975	5.71	18,673	3.81	28,061	5.73
Personal								
business loans	1,923	0.49	5,692	1.46	903	0.26	3,425	1.00
Personal consumption								
loans and others	2,039	0.75	5,947	2.20	1,488	0.84	4,110	2.32
Discounted bills	10	0.00	12	0.00	125	0.04	16	0.01
Total	133,091	1.58	117,353	1.39	120,256	1.51	110,121	1.38

Distribution of loans and non-performing loans by business type

(in millions of RMB unless otherwise stated)

	30 September 2024				31 December 2023			
				Non-				Non-
			Non-	performing			Non-	performing
		Proportion	performing	loan ratio		Proportion	performing	loan ratio
	Loans	(%)	loans	(%)	Loans	(%)	loans	(%)
Corporate loans	5,533,600	65.55	82,726	1.49	5,179,533	65.09	85,549	1.65
Personal loans	2,629,690	31.15	28,762	1.09	2,473,100	31.08	20,123	0.81
Mortgage	1,460,590	17.31	8,672	0.59	1,462,634	18.39	5,462	0.37
Credit cards	507,465	6.01	12,147	2.39	489,725	6.15	9,385	1.92
Personal								
business loans	391,162	4.63	4,025	1.03	343,585	4.32	2,713	0.79
Personal consumption								
loans and others	270,473	3.20	3,918	1.45	177,156	2.22	2,563	1.45
Discounted bills	278,867	3.30	12	0.00	304,452	3.83	16	0.01
Total	8,442,157	100.00	111,500	1.32	7,957,085	100.00	105,688	1.33

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the asset quality of the Group remained stable. The non-performing loan ratio slightly decreased over the end of the previous year, while the special mention loan ratio and the overdue loan ratio slightly increased over the end of the previous year, but decreased compared with the end of last quarter.

V. CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO

The Group calculated the capital adequacy ratios pursuant to the *Administrative Measures* for the Capital of Commercial Banks and the relevant requirements. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group's capital adequacy ratio, tier-1 capital adequacy ratio and common equity tier-1 capital adequacy ratio were 16.22%, 12.20% and 10.29% respectively, which all met the regulatory requirements.

For further information on the Group's capital measurement, leverage ratio and liquidity coverage ratio, please refer to the *Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Pillar 3 Report at 30 September 2024* to be published at the official website of the Bank at www.bankcomm.com.

VI. PUBLICATION OF THE THIRD QUARTER REPORT

The results announcement will be simultaneously published on the website of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk, as well as the website of the Bank at www.bankcomm.com for the reference of shareholders. The third quarter report 2024 prepared in accordance with China Accounting Standards will be available on the website of the Shanghai Stock Exchange at www.sse.com.cn and the official website of the Bank at www.bankcomm.com.

This announcement is prepared in both Chinese and English. Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese and English versions, the Chinese version should prevail.

By order of the Board

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Ren Deqi

Chairman of the Board

Shanghai, the PRC 30 October 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Bank are Mr. Ren Deqi, Mr. Zhang Baojiang, Mr. Yin Jiuyong, Mr. Zhou Wanfu, Mr. Li Longcheng*, Mr. Wang Linping*, Mr. Chang Baosheng*, Mr. Liao, Yi Chien David*, Mr. Chan Siu Chung*, Mr. Mu Guoxin*, Mr. Chen Junkui*, Mr. Luo Xiaopeng*, Mr. Shi Lei*, Mr. Zhang Xiangdong*, Ms. Li Xiaohui*, Mr. Ma Jun*, Mr. Wong Tin Chak* and Mr. Xiao Wei*.

- * Non-executive directors
- # Independent non-executive directors

APPENDIX FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I. Unaudited interim consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

	Nine months ended 30 September	
	2024	2023
Interest income	340,379	345,220
Interest expense	(213,583)	(221,095)
Net interest income	126,796	124,125
Fee and commission income	32,278	37,207
Fee and commission expense	(2,925)	(3,092)
Net fee and commission income	29,353	34,115
Net gains/(losses) arising from trading activities	16,529	21,135
Net gains/(losses) arising from financial investments Including: Net gains on derecognition of financial	1,905	269
assets measured at amortised cost	377	23
Net gains/(losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures	400	221
Other operating income	21,428	19,266
Net operating income	196,411	199,131
Credit impairment losses	(44,841)	(48,431)
Other assets impairment losses	(647)	(622)
Other operating expenses	(78,037)	(76,487)
Profit before tax	72,886	73,591
Income tax	(3,474)	(3,911)
Net profit for the period	69,412	69,680

Nine months ended 30 S	September
2024	2023

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured		
at fair value through other comprehensive income Amount recognised in equity	10,765	2,499
Amount recognised in equity Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(1,249)	(293)
Expected credit losses of debt instruments measured	(1,24)	(2)3)
at fair value through other comprehensive income		
Amount recognised in equity	73	860
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	_	_
Effective portion of gains or losses on hedging		
instruments in cash flow hedges		
Amount recognised in equity	191	(838)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss	(160)	299
Translation differences for foreign operations	(1,002)	2,985
Others	(3,231)	(1,458)
Subtotal	5,387	4,054
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:		
Actuarial revaluation on pension benefits	(7)	19
Changes in fair value of equity investments designated	· /	
at fair value through other comprehensive income	1,196	796
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk of financial liability designated		
at fair value through profit or loss	(415)	(111)
Others	(193)	(285)
Subtotal	581	419

	Nine months ended 30 September	
	2024	2023
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	5,968	4,473
Total comprehensive income for the period	75,380	74,153
Net profit attributable to:		
Shareholders of the parent company	68,690	69,166
Non-controlling interests	722	514
	69,412	69,680
Total comprehensive income attributable to:		
Shareholders of the parent company	74,317	73,323
Non-controlling interests	1,063	830
	75,380	74,153
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the parent company (in RMB yuan)	0.84	0.84

II. Unaudited interim consolidated statement of financial position

	As at 30 September 2024	As at 31 December 2023
ASSETS		
Cash and balances with central banks	727,476	898,022
Due from and placements with banks and other financial institutions	894,954	859,642
Derivative financial assets	63,588	67,387
Loans and advances to customers	8,238,069	7,772,060
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss	694,823	642,282
Financial investments at amortised cost	2,536,924	2,573,911
Financial investments at fair value through	, ,	, ,
other comprehensive income	994,646	887,949
Investments in associates and joint ventures	11,546	8,990
Property and equipment	231,835	217,751
Deferred tax assets	39,371	40,379
Other assets	161,477	92,099
Total assets	14,594,709	14,060,472
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
LIABILITIES		
Due to and placements from banks		
and other financial institutions	2,385,006	2,424,537
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss	55,456	56,557
Derivative financial liabilities	52,835	50,975
Deposits from customers	8,727,029	8,551,215
Certificates of deposits issued	1,314,416	1,027,461
Income tax payable Debt securities issued	3,895 642,238	4,538 592,175
Deferred tax liabilities	2,510	2,407
Other liabilities	2,510 271,570	251,157
Total liabilities	13,454,955	12,961,022
Total Habilities	13,737,733	12,701,022

	As at 30 September 2024	As at 31 December 2023
EQUITY		
Share capital	74,263	74,263
Other equity instruments	174,796	174,790
Including: Preference shares	44,952	44,952
Perpetual bonds	129,844	129,838
Capital surplus	111,422	111,428
Other reserves	427,985	400,805
Retained earnings	339,442	326,744
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company	1,127,908	1,088,030
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of ordinary shares	8,355	7,912
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests	-,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
of other equity instruments	3,491	3,508
Non-controlling interests	11,846	11,420
Total equity	1,139,754	1,099,450
Total equity and liabilities	14,594,709	14,060,472

III. Unaudited interim consolidated statement of cash flows

	Nine months ended 30 September	
	2024	2023
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit before tax:	72,886	73,591
Adjustments for:	,	
Provision for credit impairment losses	44,841	48,431
Provision for other assets impairment losses	647	622
Depreciation and amortization	14,357	14,004
Provision for outstanding litigation		
and unsettled obligation	63	19
Net gains on the disposal of property,		
equipment and other assets	(471)	(716)
Interest income on financial investments	(83,772)	(83,324)
Net (gains)/losses on fair value and foreign exchange	(3,764)	(4,521)
Net (gains)/losses on investments in associates		
and joint ventures	(400)	(221)
Net (gains)/losses on financial investments	(1,696)	(269)
Interest expense on debt securities issued	12,276	12,228
Interest expense on lease liabilities	135	111
Operating cash flows before movements in		
operating assets and liabilities	55,102	59,955
Net decrease/(increase) in balances with central banks	66,412	(17,773)
Net increase in due from and placements		
with banks and other financial institutions	(50,179)	(52,669)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers	(510,492)	(620,014)
Net (increase)/decrease in financial assets		
at fair value through profit or loss	(46,220)	30,520
Net increase in other assets	(73,247)	(49,447)
Net (decrease)/increase in due to and placements from		
banks and other financial institutions	(32,643)	47,540
Net decrease in financial liabilities	(4.504)	
at fair value through profit or loss	(1,601)	(10,684)
Net increase in deposits from customers		
and certificates of deposit issued	454,529	599,833
Net increase in other liabilities	27,930	25,636
Net (decrease)/increase in value-added tax	(2.11)	4.50
and other taxes payable	(341)	179
Income taxes paid	(4,911)	(5,176)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating		
activities	(115,661)	7,900

•	Nine months ended 3 2024	30 September 2023
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Cash payment for investment in subsidiaries,		
associated ventures and joint ventures	(2,163)	_
Acquisition of minority shareholders' equity	(345)	_
Cash payments for financial investments	(921,117)	(906,131)
Proceeds from disposal or redemption of financial		
investments	868,179	775,632
Dividends received	710	738
Interest received from financial investments	82,078	79,294
Acquisition of intangible assets and other assets	(478)	(1,422)
Cash received from the sale of intangible assets	-	20
and other assets	(20.999)	28
Acquisition of property and equipment	(30,888)	(34,115)
Cash received from disposal of property and equipment	2,865	7,071
Net cash flows generated from/(used in)	(4.4.4.4)	(50.005)
investing activities	(1,154)	(78,905)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from issue of debt securities	149,044	152,156
Repayment of principals and interest of lease liabilities	(1,702)	(1,845)
Repayment of principals of debt securities issued	(97,456)	(91,662)
Payment of interest on debt securities	(12,832)	(11,030)
Dividends paid	(34,419)	(34,447)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests	(222)	(422)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in)		
financing activities	2,413	12,750
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash		
and cash equivalents held	(798)	1,041
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents	(115,200)	(57,214)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	275,461	248,803
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	160,261	191,589
-		·
Not each flave from energing activities include:		
Net cash flows from operating activities include: Interest received	258,044	260,204
Interest paid	(187,758)	,
interest para	(107,730)	(172,260)

ISSUER

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

AUDITORS OF THE BANK

for the year ended 31 December 2021

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor 22/F, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central Hong Kong

KPMG

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor 8/F, Prince's Building 10 Chater Road Central Hong Kong

FISCAL AGENT AND PAYING AGENT

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch 20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT IN RESPECT OF THE USD NOTES AND CNY NOTES

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch 20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

CMU LODGING AND PAYING AGENT

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Branch 20 Pedder Street Central Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English law

Linklaters 11th Floor Alexandra House Chater Road Hong Kong To the Joint Lead Managers as to English law

Allen Overy Shearman Sterling 9th Floor, Three Exchange Square Central Hong Kong

To the Issuer as to PRC law

King & Wood Mallesons

17th Floor, One ICC Shanghai International Commerce Center 999 Middle Huai Hai Road Xuhui District Shanghai 200031 PRC

To the Joint Lead Managers as to PRC law

JunHe LLP

20th Floor 8 Jianguomenbei Avenue Beijing 100005 PRC

Appendix 3 Pricing Supplement for the USD Notes dated 4 December 2024

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and are Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products).

Pricing Supplement dated 4 December 2024 Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Legal entity identifier (LEI) of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.: 549300AX1UM10U30HK09

Issue of U.S.\$300,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2027 (the "Notes") under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of the Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the offering circular dated 22 July 2024 (the "Original Offering Circular") and the supplemental offering circular dated 4 December 2024 (the "Supplemental Offering Circular", and together with the Original Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular"). This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular and this Pricing Supplement.

This Pricing Supplement is for distribution to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the "**Hong Kong Stock Exchange**") ("**Professional Investors**") only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Pricing Supplement, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Pricing Supplement to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Pricing Supplement. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, or quality of disclosure in this Pricing Supplement. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Pricing Supplement.

The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers or their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Managers or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Programme or the issue and offering of the

Notes under the Programme. The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Pricing Supplement or any such statement.

This Pricing Supplement, together with the Offering Circular, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pricing Supplement and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

1	Issuer:	Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
2	(i) Series Number:	56
	(ii) Tranche Number:	01
	(iii) Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Not Applicable
3	Specified Currency or Currencies:	U.S. Dollar (" U.S.\$ ")
4	Aggregate Nominal Amount:	U.S.\$300,000,000
5	(i) Issue Price:	100.00 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
	(ii) Gross proceeds:	U.S.\$300,000,000
6	Use of Proceeds:	The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes
7	(i) Specified Denominations:	U.S.\$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof
	(ii) Calculation Amount:	U.S.\$1,000
8	(i) Issue Date:	11 December 2024
	(ii) Interest Commencement Date:	Issue Date
9	Maturity Date:	Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to 11 December 2027
10	Interest Basis:	SOFR Compounded Index + 0.57 per cent. Floating Rate (further particulars specified below)
11	Redemption/Payment Basis:	Redemption at par
12	Change of Interest or Redemption/ Payment Basis:	Not Applicable
13	Put/Call Options:	Not Applicable
14	(i) Status of the Notes:	Senior Notes
	(ii) Regulatory approval for issuance of Notes obtained:	Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises

(企業借用外債審核登記證明)

(發改辦外債[2024]661號) obtained on 25

October 2024

15 Listing: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

on 12 December 2024

16 Method of distribution: Syndicated

17 Private Bank Rebate/Commission: Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

18 Fixed Rate Note Provisions Not Applicable19 Floating Rate Note Provisions Applicable

(i) Interest Period(s): Each period beginning on (and including) the

Interest Commencement Date or any Specified Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Specified Interest Payment Date, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day

Convention set out in (iv) below

(ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates: 11 March, 11 June, 11 September and 11

December in each year up to and including the Maturity Date, with the first Interest Payment Date being 11 March 2025, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iv)

below

(iii) Interest Period Date(s): Not Applicable

(iv) Business Day Convention: Modified Following Business Day

Convention

(v) Business Centre(s) (Condition 5(j)): Hong Kong and New York

(vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)

is/ are to be determined:

(viii)(A) Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)

(vii) Party responsible for calculating the Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong

Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Kong Branch as Fiscal Agent Amount(s) (if not the Calculation Agent):

(viii) Screen Rate Determination (Condition Not Applicable

5(b)(iii))

(Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)):Reference Rate: SOFR Compounded Index, as defined in and

to be determined in accordance with the

Schedule hereto

• Interest Determination Date: The fifth U.S. Government Securities

Business Day prior to the last day of each

Interest Accrual Period

SOFR Observation Shift Days: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

• SOFR Index_{Start}: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

• SOFR Index_{End}: Five (5) U.S. Government Securities

Business Days

(ix) ISDA Determination (Condition

5(b)(iii)(A)):

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

(x) Margin(s): + 0.57 per cent. per annum

(xi)Minimum Rate of Interest:Not Applicable(xii)Maximum Rate of Interest:Not Applicable

(xiii) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): Actual/360

(xiv) Fall back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in

the Conditions:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions
 Index Linked Interest Note Provisions
 Dual Currency Note Provisions
 Not Applicable
 Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

23 Call Option
 24 Put Option
 Not Applicable
 Not Applicable

25 Final Redemption Amount of each Note U.S.\$1,000 per Calculation Amount

26 Early Redemption Amount

Early U.S.\$1,000 Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) or Event of Default (Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27 Form of Notes: Registered Notes

Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Certificates in the limited circumstances

specified in the Global Certificate

Financial Centre(s) (Condition 7(h)) or other

special provisions relating to payment dates:

Not Applicable

29	Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):	Not Applicable
30	Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:	Not Applicable
31	Details relating to Instalment Notes:	Not Applicable
32	Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:	Not Applicable
33	Consolidation provisions:	Not Applicable
34	Other terms or special conditions:	Refer to Schedule
DISTR	IBUTION	
35	(i) If syndicated, names of Managers:	Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners
		Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch Bank of China Limited
		The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
		Joint Lead Managers and Joint Bookrunners
		Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
		Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch
		BOCOM International Securities Limited
		CCB International Capital Limited
		China CITIC Bank International Limited
		China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
		China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited
		China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
		CLSA Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment

Bank

Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong)

Limited

Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong

Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

(Asia) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Limited, Singapore Branch

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank

(ii) Stabilisation Manager (if any): Any of the Managers appointed and acting in

its capacity as stabilisation manager provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as

the Stabilisation Manager

36 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: Not Applicable

37 U.S. Selling Restrictions Reg. S Category 1; TEFRA Not Applicable

Additional selling restrictions: Not Applicable
 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: Not Applicable

40 Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: Not Applicable

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

41 ISIN Code: HK0001089223
 42 Common Code: 295725834
 43 CMU Instrument Number: BCMKLN24058

43 CMO Instrument Number: BCMKLN24058
44 Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear, Not Applicable

Clearstream and the CMU and the relevant

identification number(s):

45 Delivery: Delivery against payment

46 Additional Paying Agents (if any): Not Applicable

47 Rating: The Notes to be issued are expected to be

rated:

Moody's: A2

GENERAL

48 Translation of the aggregate principal Not Applicable

amount of Notes issued:

49 In the case of Registered Notes, specify the Not Applicable

location of the office of the Registrar if other

than Hong Kong:

In the case of Bearer Notes, specify the location of the office of the Fiscal Agent if other than London:

Not Applicable

HONG KONG SFC CODE OF CONDUCT

51 Contact email addresses where underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should be sent:

dcm@bankcomm.com.hk dcmhk@bocgroup.com hk_syndicate_omnibus@hsbc.com.hk

52 Marketing and Investor Targeting Strategy:

As indicated in the Offering Circular

LISTING APPLICATION

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, any of the Managers named as Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the Stabilisation Manager in this Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot and effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT

Except as disclosed in the Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 30 June 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.

Signed on behalf of

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD. HONG KONG BRANCH

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Ву:

Duly authorised

SCHEDULE

The following provisions shall be added to the Conditions as Condition 5(b)(iii)(D) (Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)) and Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)) solely for the purposes of the Notes:

5(b)(iii)(D) Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)

(x) SOFR Compounded Index: Where Screen Rate Determination (SOFR) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined and where the Reference Rate is specified as being SOFR Compounded Index, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the SOFR Compounded Index plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Interest Determination Date (subject to Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)).

For the purposes of this Condition 5(b)(iii)(D):

"SOFR Compounded Index" means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the compounded average of daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") reference rates for each day during the relevant SOFR Observation Period as calculated by the Calculation Agent as follows:

$$\left(\frac{SOFR\ Index_{End}}{SOFR\ Index_{Start}} - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)) and where:

"SOFR Index", with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means:

- (a) the SOFR Index value as published on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or about 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on such U.S. Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR Index Determination Time"); provided that in the event that the value originally published by the SOFR Administrator at or about 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on any U.S. Government Securities Business Day is subsequently corrected and such corrected value is published by the SOFR Administrator on the original date of publication, then such corrected value, instead of the value that was originally published, shall be deemed the SOFR Index value as of the SOFR Index Determination Time in relation to such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and
- (b) if a SOFR Index value does not so appear as specified in (a) above of this definition, then:
 - if a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have not occurred with respect to SOFR, then SOFR Compounded Index shall be the rate determined pursuant to Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)(y) (SOFR Index Unavailable); or

(ii) if a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR, then SOFR Compounded Index shall be the rate determined pursuant to Condition 5(b)(iii)(E) (Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)).

"SOFR Indexend" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date which is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period (or in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date);

"SOFR Index_{Start}" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the SOFR Index value on the date which is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement preceding the first day of such Interest Accrual Period;

"dc" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor administrator of the SOFR Index value and Secured Overnight Financing Rate:

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the SOFR Administrator (currently being, https://apps.newyorkfed.org/markets/autorates/sofr-avg-ind), or any successor source;

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date which is the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the first date of such Interest Accrual Period (and in respect of the first Interest Accrual Period, the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the Issue Date) to, but excluding, the date which is the number of SOFR Observation Shift Days preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period (or in the final Interest Accrual Period, the Maturity Date); and

- "U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.
- (y) SOFR Index Unavailable: If a SOFR Index value is not published on the relevant Interest Determination Date and a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date has not occurred with respect to SOFR, then the SOFR Index shall be calculated in accordance with the Compounded SOFR formula and the related definitions as set out below in this Condition 5(b)(iii)(D)(y):

"Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page" means the Bloomberg screen designated "SOFRRATE" or any successor page or service;

"Compounded SOFR" means, for the applicable Interest Accrual Period for which the SOFR Index is not available, the rate of return on a daily compounded interest investment during the relevant SOFR Observation Period (with the daily SOFR reference rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) and calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting

percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, 0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876541 per cent. (or 0.09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654 per cent. (or 0.0987654) and 9.876545 per cent. (or 0.09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655 per cent. (or 0.0987655)):

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360}\right) - 1\right) \times \left(\frac{360}{d_c}\right)$$

where:

"dc" means the number of calendar days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"d_o" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant SOFR Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers ascending from one to do, each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Days in chronological order from (and including) the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant SOFR Observation Period (each a "U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i)");

"ni" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, means the number of calendar days from (and including) such U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) up to (but excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i);

"Reuters Page USDSOFR=" means the Reuters page designated "USDSOFR=" or any successor page or service;

"SOFR" means, with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day:

- (a) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time, as such rate is reported on the Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at the SOFR Determination Time, as such rate is reported on the Reuters Page USDSOFR=, or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate that appears at the SOFR Determination Time on the SOFR Administrator's Website; or
- (b) if the rate specified in (a) above does not appear, the SOFR published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which SOFR was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor administrator of the SOFR Index value and Secured Overnight Financing Rate:

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the SOFR Administrator (currently being, https://apps.newyorkfed.org/markets/autorates/sofr-avg-ind), or any successor source;

"SOFR Determination Time" means approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"SOFR_i" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i) in the relevant SOFR Observation Period, is equal to SOFR in respect of that U.S. Government Securities Business Day (i);

"SOFR Observation Period" means, in respect of each Interest Accrual Period, the period from (and including) the date falling a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days equal to the Observation Shift Days preceding the first date in such Interest Accrual Period to (but excluding) the date falling a number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days equal to the number of Observation Shift Days preceding the last day of such Interest Accrual Period;

"SOFR Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

5(b)(iii)(E) Benchmark Replacement (SOFR)

- (x) Benchmark Replacement. If the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the-then current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates.
- (y) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes: In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer or its designee will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, any of the Agents shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, effect such consequential amendments to the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as may be required to give effect to this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E). Noteholders' consent shall not be required in connection with effecting any such changes, including the execution of any documents or any steps to be taken by any of the Agents (if required). Further, none of the Agents shall be responsible or liable for any determinations, decisions or elections made by the Issuer or its designee with respect to any Benchmark Replacement or any other changes and shall be entitled to rely conclusively on any certifications provided to each of them in this regard.
- (z) Decisions and Determinations: Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer or its designee pursuant to this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer or its designee, as applicable, and (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the Noteholders or any other party.

The following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below for purpose of Condition 5(b)(iii)(D) (Screen Rate Determination (SOFR)) and this Condition 5(b)(iii)(E):

"Benchmark" means, initially, SOFR Compounded Index; provided that if the Issuer or its designee determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a SOFR Benchmark Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to SOFR Compounded Index (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) or the thencurrent Benchmark, then "Benchmark" means the applicable Benchmark Replacement;

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of:
 - (1) the alternate reference rate that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof); and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of:
 - (1) the ISDA Fallback Rate; and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of:
 - (1) the alternate reference rate that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted reference rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time; and
 - (2) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer or its designee as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer or its designee giving due consideration to any industryaccepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated Floating Rate Notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to

the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer or its designee decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer or its designee decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer or its designee determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer or its designee determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) of the definition of "SOFR Benchmark Event", the later of:
 - (1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein; and
 - (2) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of "**SOFR Benchmark Event**", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"designee" means a designee as selected and separately appointed by the Issuer in writing;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time, including the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (as amended or supplemented from time to time);

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof) for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (1) if the Benchmark is the SOFR Compounded Index, the SOFR Index Determination Time; or (2) if the Benchmark is not the SOFR Compounded Index, the time determined by the Issuer or its designee after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;

"SOFR Benchmark Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including any daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

Appendix 4 Pricing Supplement for the CNY Notes dated 4 December 2024

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and are Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendation on Investment Products).

Pricing Supplement dated 4 December 2024

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Legal entity identifier (LEI) of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.: 549300AX1UM10U30HK09

Issue of CNY3,600,000,000 2.38 per cent. Notes due 2026 (the "Notes") under the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of the Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the offering circular dated 22 July 2024 (the "Original Offering Circular") and the supplemental offering circular dated 4 December 2024 (the "Supplemental Offering Circular", and together with the Original Offering Circular, the "Offering Circular"). This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Offering Circular and this Pricing Supplement.

This Pricing Supplement is for distribution to professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the "**Hong Kong Stock Exchange**") ("**Professional Investors**") only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this Pricing Supplement, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this Pricing Supplement to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Pricing Supplement. Listing of the Programme or the Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Programme, the Notes, the Issuer, or quality of disclosure in this Pricing Supplement. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Pricing Supplement.

The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors and agents have not independently verified the information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Managers or their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Pricing Supplement or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Managers or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Bank, the Group, the Programme or the issue and offering of the Notes under the Programme. The Managers and their respective officers, employees, affiliates, advisors or agents

accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which might otherwise have in respect of this Pricing Supplement or any such statement.

This Pricing Supplement, together with the Offering Circular, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pricing Supplement and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

1	Issu	uer:	Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
2	(i)	Series Number:	57
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	01
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Not Applicable
3	Spe	ecified Currency or Currencies:	Renminbi ("CNY")
4	Agg	regate Nominal Amount:	CNY3,600,000,000
5	(i)	Issue Price:	100.00 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
	(ii)	Gross proceeds	CNY3,600,000,000
6	Use	e of Proceeds:	The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the Issuer's working capital and general corporate purposes
7	(i)	Specified Denominations:	CNY1,000,000 and integral multiples of CNY10,000 in excess thereof
	(ii)	Calculation Amount:	CNY10,000
8	(i)	Issue Date:	11 December 2024
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	Issue Date
9	Mat	rurity Date:	Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to 11 December 2026
10	Inte	rest Basis:	2.38 per cent. Fixed Rate (further particulars specified below)
11	Red	demption/Payment Basis:	Redemption at par
12	Cha Bas	ange of Interest or Redemption/ Payment is:	Not Applicable
13	Put	/Call Options:	Not Applicable
14	(i)	Status of the Notes:	Senior Notes
	(ii)	Regulatory approval for issuance of Notes obtained:	Certificate of Examination and Registration of Foreign Debts Borrowed by Enterprises (企業

借用外債審核登記證明) (發改辦外債[2024]661

號) obtained on 25 October 2024

15 Listing: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on

12 December 2024

16 Method of distribution: Syndicated

17 Private Bank Rebate/Commission: Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

18 Fixed Rate Note Provisions Applicable

> Rate of Interest: (i) 2.38 per cent. per annum payable semi-

> > annually in arrear

Interest Payment Date(s): (ii) 11 June and 11 December in each year,

> commencing on 11 June 2025 until the Maturity Date, adjusted in accordance with the Modified

Following Business Day Convention

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): Each Fixed Coupon Amount shall be

> calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest CNY0.01

(CNY0.005 being rounded upwards)

(iv) Broken Amount: Not Applicable

(v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 5(j)): Actual/365 (Fixed)

(vi) Determination Date(s) (Condition 5(j)): Not Applicable

(vii) Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate

Notes:

Index Linked Interest Note Provisions

Not Applicable

19 Floating Rate Note Provisions

Not Applicable

Zero Coupon Note Provisions

Not Applicable Not Applicable

22 **Dual Currency Note Provisions**

Not Applicable

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

23 Call Option Not Applicable

24 **Put Option** Not Applicable

25 Final Redemption Amount of each Note CNY10,000 per Calculation Amount

26 Early Redemption Amount

> Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 6(c)) or Event of Default

CNY10,000

20

21

(Condition 10) and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in the Conditions):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27	Form of Notes:	Registered Notes Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Certificates in the limited circumstances specified in the Global Certificate			
28	Financial Centre(s) (Condition 7(h)) or other special provisions relating to payment dates:	Hong Kong			
29	Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):	Not Applicable			
30	Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:	Not Applicable			
31	Details relating to Instalment Notes:	Not Applicable			
32	Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:	Not Applicable			
33	Consolidation provisions:	Not Applicable			
34	Other terms or special conditions:	Not Applicable			
DIST	DISTRIBUTION				
35	(i) If syndicated, names of Managers:	Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Lead			

35	(1)	if syndicated, names of Managers:	Joint	Global	Coordinators,	Joint	Lead

Managers and Joint Bookrunners

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong

Branch

Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong

Branch

Bank of China Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong

Branch

China International Capital Corporation Hong

Kong Securities Limited

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong

Kong Branch
CLSA Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment

Bank

Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

(Asia) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank

(ii) Stabilisation Manager (if any): Any of the Managers appointed and acting in

its capacity as stabilisation manager provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the

Stabilisation Manager

36 If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: Not Applicable

37 U.S. Selling Restrictions Reg. S Category 1; TEFRA Not Applicable

38 Additional selling restrictions: Not Applicable

39 Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: Not Applicable

40 Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: Not Applicable

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

41 ISIN Code: HK0001089066

42 Common Code: 295726563

43 CMU Instrument Number: BCMKFN24057

Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear, Clearstream and the CMU and the relevant

identification number(s):

Not Applicable

45 Delivery: Delivery against payment

46 Additional Paying Agents (if any): Not Applicable

47 Rating: The Notes to be issued are expected to be

rated:

Moody's: A2

GENERAL

The aggregate principal amount of Notes issued has been translated into US dollars at the rate of CNY7.2738 = U.S.\$1.00,

U.S.\$494,926,998.27

producing a sum of (for Notes not denominated in US dollars):

In the case of Registered Notes, specify the location of the office of the Registrar if other than Hong Kong:

Not Applicable

In the case of Bearer Notes, specify the location of the office of the Fiscal Agent if other than London:

Not Applicable

HONG KONG SFC CODE OF CONDUCT

51 Contact email addresses where underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should be sent:

dcm@bankcomm.com.hk hk_syndicate_omnibus@hsbc.com.hk SYNHK@sc.com

Marketing and Investor Targeting Strategy:

As indicated in the Offering Circular

LISTING APPLICATION

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the U.S.\$12,000,000,000 Medium Term Note Programme of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, any of the Managers named as Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) provided that China CITIC Bank International Limited shall not be appointed or acting as the Stabilisation Manager in this Pricing Supplement may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over-allot and effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE STATEMENT

Except as disclosed in the Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Group since 30 June 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.

Signed on behalf of

BANK OF COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD. HONG KONG BRANCH

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Ву:

Duly authorised